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REPORT.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization present their

Third and Final Eeport, as follows:

—

The Committee have had mainly under consideration in the current Session of

Parliament, matters pertaining to the interest of practical agriculture in Eastern

Canada, and the areas available for colonization by agriculturists in the Great West
and Northwest Provinces and Territories of the Dominion.

EXPLORATIONS IN 1907.

Under the head of scientific explorations in the last year, the Committee have had
evidence submitted by Mr. William Mclnnes, Geologist, of the Geological Survey
Branch of the Dominion Government, Department of Interior, of his personal

exploration of the large area lying to the south of the Saskatchewan River and the

Canadian Northern Railway Company's Prince Albert branch line, and of the great

expanse of country lying immediately to the south of the Saskatchewan, and drained

by the Carrot and Pasquia Rivers, a region of which, the witness says, that it con-

tains excellent lands for the purpose of general agriculture.

To Mr. Mclnnes' evidence is appended a valuable record kept by himself, of tem-

peratures in the regions explored by him in 1906 and 1907; those tables are valuable

indices to the capabilities of the regions indicated for wheat rising, in so far as

climatic conditions are contributary to successful agriculture.

Mr. R. E. Young, Dominion Land Surveyor, and Superintendent of Railway
Lands, who has spent twenty years in the West and Northwest of Canada, gave valu-

able evidence before the Committee on the agricultural resources and present condition

of the country. He points out that wheat is successfully raised at Fort Simpson, which
is 900 miles directly north of the International Boundary, and 500 miles north of

Edmonton. To this Mr. Young naively adds the remark, ' We are in a i>osition to

show that the Dominion has broadened considerably from what it was twenty years

ago.'

Mr. Thompson, M.P., for the Yukon Territory, presented for examination by the

Committee, a sample of white oats of the crop of 1907, grown on a farm in 63 degrees

north latitude, in the Valley of the Yukon River. This sample was submitted for

analysis to Mr. Clark, Seed Commissioner of the Department of Agriculture, who re-

ports as follows :
—

' I have, as requested, made a careful test to determine the natural

weight per given volume of these oats and find it 46 pounds to the bushel. I consider

this an exceptionally fine sample of white oats of superior milling qualities.'

EASTERN CANADA.

The Committee had an exhaustive investigation into the industry of tobacco leaf

cultivation in Canada. This branch of agricultural production is mainly confined to

the southwest peninsula of Ontario and to the central portions of the Province of

Quebec.

The evidence submitted to the Committee was by experts in the growing and cur-
ing of various species of tobacco leaf, each distinguished by a specific name and dis-

tinguiished for its adaptability to some of the various manufactured products such as
smoking tobacco, chewing tobacco, &c., &c.

xi
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These are claimed by the several witnesses examined to be quite equal in quality

to the corresponding names of imported tobacco leaf from any part of the United
States and adapted to the various manufactured tobacco products.

The total amount of Canadian tobacco leaf manufactured in Canada is placed

at 4,000,000 pounds and the total consumption of manufactured tobacco in Canada is

variously estimated at form 15,000,000 to 20,000,000 pounds, that is, the total consump-
tion, and it is claimed that the whole of this could be more than produced from Cana-
dian soil, with a large surplus to spare for export. There is a peculiar feature in re-

gard to the consumption of native grown tobacco in Canada, that is, a large quantity

of it is consumed in the raw leaf, of which there is no accounting or estimate.

The evidence submitted at this investigation is of much interest to either actual

or prospective growers, to manufacturers, and as a speculative study, as to what the

tobacco production in Canada may show as an asset amongst the agricultural produc-

tions of the country, in the near future.

THE DAIRY INDUSTEY.

Mr. J. A. Ruddick, Dairy and Cold Storage Commissioner, gave evidence before

the Committee on the progress and present status of the dairying industry in Canada.

The dairying industry is well established in every province of the Dominion, but

Ontario and Quebec continue to be the great centre of this important branch of farm-

ing. The settlers of Northern Alberta appear to be developing the dairy industry to

a greater extent than those of any other western province, and this section promises

to be a very important district in the future. The western provinces do not make
enough dairy produce to supply their own needs, and draw largely from Ontario and

Quebec to make up the shortage.

Good prices have ruled for butter and cheese during the past year, and except

for the dry weather in certain districts and consequent shortage of feed, the season

of 1907 was a very satisfactory one to the dairy farmers. The prospects continue good
for the present season.

It was gratifying to the Committee to learn from Mr. Ruddick's evidence that,

although the exports of dairy produce, mainly butter and cheese, have declined to the

extent of over seven million dollars since 1903, in which year our exports and dairy

produce reached the maximum, the increase in the consumption of milk, butter, cheese

and condensed milk in Canada amounts to several million dollars more than the decline

in the exports. Other figures, quoted from the recent census returns, show that the

value of creamery butter and cheese only, produced in 1907, exceeded in value by over

five million dollars that of 1900, and shows an increase of over two million dollars

since 1905.

The total annual production of dairy produce in Canada is estimated to be nearly

$100,000,000, divided as follows:—

Creamery butter and cheese $36,000,000

Dairy butter 22,000,000

Condensed milk 1,000,000

Milk for direct consumption 35,000,000

Total $94,000,000

The Committee was informed that the condensed milk industry is making con-

siderable growth in Canada.

A HOPEFUL PROSPECTIVE.

The Committee regards it as matter for general congratulations that schools and
colleges are multiplying for the technical and practical education of young men fol-

lowing the pursuit of agriculture, and for the training of young women in the practice

of domestic science, in other words, in the knowledge of good housekeeping, in its

multiplicity of del ail-. Such education imparts to both sexes the dignity of profes-
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sionals in the noble employment of promoting human happiness and in augmenting
all that is desirable in the physical and moral life of humanity, and this is especially

true in reference to the improvements of the conditions or rural life.

The Committee had the pleasure of ocular demonstration of the hold that these

two branches of education has gained in popular estimation, when on the 13th June
ult., by the invitation of Dr. Robertson, C.M.G., President of the Macdonald College,

Ste. Anne de Bellevue. the Committee and as many Members of Parliament as chose

to avail themselves of the opportunity, paid a visit to this great institution for the

teaching of agriculture and domestic science. Here the guests of the day were cor-

dially welcomed and bounteously entertained by President Robertson personally. The
college grounds are spacious, consisting of about 650 acres. The college buildings,

present an almost regal appearance in their magnificent spaciousness, solidity of struc-

ture, architectural design and adaptation to the divisions of the college work. The
existence of the institution, grounds, buildings and equipment, is entirely due to the

philanthropical munificence of Sir William C. Macdonald, who has spent two and a

half million dollars upon the completion of the college and its appurtenances. Besides

which Sir William has transferred to the college trustees, two millions of dollars as

an endowment fund. So much of his wealth, time and energy has Sir William C.

Macdonald spent solely and without hope of personal reward, for the perpetual ad-

vancement and improvement in the conditions of rural life.

Taking into consideration the facts of the case, and the existence of smaller
institutions working along on similar lines, the Committee regard the outlook for the
perpetual prosperity of the farmers in Canada, as assured.

COLONIZATION.

The Committee have had under review the immigration into Canada and the

colonization thereof for the year, together with the agencies and methods pursued for

the obtaining of immigration from the agricultural classes, and the evidence taken
thereon is appended as part second hereto, which together with all evidence taken by
the Committee in the current Session of Parliament is appended hereto as an essen-

tial portion of the Report.

House of Commons, July 18, 1908.

P. H. Mckenzie,
Chairman.
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CANADIAN TOBACCO PRODUCTS.

House of Commons,
Committee Koom No. 34,

Wednesday, March 25, 1908.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met here this

day at 11 o'clock a.m., Mr. McKenzie, chairman, presiding.

The Chairman.—The business before the committee to-day is the consideration

of the tobacco industry in this country. The growth and manufacture of tobacco is

a comparatively new industry in Canada and it is one that from all appearances can

be made a success. The Department of Agriculture has so considered and has been

devoting considerable attention to the matter. In order to develop the industry Mr.

Charlan was put in charge of that work for the Dominion. That gentleman is

with us to-day. Gentlemen interested in the tobacco industry are also present from

the western part of the province of Ontario and also from the province of Quebec.

They will place before you statements as to what is being done, and what ought to be

done, in the interest of the development of tobacco growing in Canada. I have very

much pleasure in introducing to the committee Mr. Felix Charlan, Chief of the

Tobacco division. Department of Agriculture, who will address tlie committee in

French, after which a translation into English of his evidence will be furnished by the

official translator of the department.

Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen,—Last year I had the honour to lay before you the

situation of the tobacco industry in Canada, and I endeavoured to give you an idea of

the probable future of this industry.

With the results obtained at our various experimental fields, during the year 1907,

in spite of unfavourable weather conditions, I am now in a better position to say what
course should be followed in order to insure a speedy development of our industry.

varieties of tobacco.

Our experiments dealt chiefly with varieties. In some parts of Canada, owing to

prevailing climatic conditions, it is evident that we cannot grow varieties which, after

being transplanted, require more than 90 days to complete their development. But
these conditions are not peculiar to our country. The same conditions largely prevail

in some tobacco districts of the United States (Wisconsin, for instance) which are

considered, and rightly so, as the most prosperous districts of the neighbouring
Republic.

experiments conducted in QUEBEC, 190Y.

Three varieties of tobacco were tried in the Province of Quebec in 1907, These
varieties are: Comstock Spanish, Havana Seed Leaf and Connecticut Seed Leaf, The
first of these—the Comstock Spanish—has been a great money maker in Wisconsin,

and produces at the present time most of the binder tobacco imported into Canada,
The results of the trial of this particular variety in Quebec were very satisfactory, and
it is no longer doubtful that we may, in the east of Canada, put it to the same uses

as in Wisconsin, that is the production binders,

2—1



I

2 MR. FELIX CHARLAN

8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

In Canada the product of this variety shows good quality, the leaf has a good
shape, it is firm, elastic, sometimes finer than the leaf of the same variety in Wis-
consin. It is more like the Connecticut product. To make the growing of this variety

as profitable as it should be we must endeavour to obtain a heavier yield per acre,

and to have the products properly graded and cured in order to facilitate their sale

and their uses. This we are now endeavouring to do, as will be shown later.

Good results were obtained from the variety Havana Seed Leaf. This is a variety

from which the Comstock Spanish originated, and it is a difficult matter to distinguish

it from the latter, as the shape of the leaf is very nearly similar. The yield is also about

the same for these twb varieties. In Wisconsin, the Comstock Spanish has the repu-

tation of giving a finer quality of tissue than the Havana Seed leaf, and it is also

claimed that the sweating process, with this variety, give more satisfactory results, but

in the present state of our industry in Canada, we have not been able to verify these

claims. Canadian growers make very little difference between these two varieties,

and they are regarded by packers as very nearly equal.

' As to the Connecticut Seed leaf, the plantations of this variety suffered consider-

ably owing to the unfavourable weather conditions of the year 1907. While other

varieties reach their full development, after transplanting, in 75 or 80 days, the Con-
necticut requires 90 or 95 days in an ordinary year. Therefore, in a cool year, the

growing of Connecticut is very uncertain.

In the Province of Quebec Connecticut Seed leaf has made very slow growth, the

yield being exceedingly light. The farmers of Quebec will do well to be very cautious

about growing this variety until we have been able to develop an earlier strain.

The popularity of the Connecticut Seed leaf among growers comes from the heavy

yields which may be obtained from this variety, in favourable years. Until recent

years the weight of the leaf was considered a matter of greater importance than the

quality ; so, while the products of this variety in the United States are suitable for the

manufacture of cigars, in Canada they can only be used for pipe purposes.

Under such circumstances, the growing of the Connecticut Seed leaf ceases to be

profitable, as earlier varieties, quite as good yielders, if not superior, may be utilized

for pipe smoking, such as the General Grant, Blue Pryor, some improved Chios, or

even the Big-Havana, which has a better aroma than the Connecticut.

Grown as it is at present in Canada, the Connecticut variety yields only a light

proportion of ' binders and a large proportion of thick and tasteless products, the

utilization and marketing of which cannot be effected without the greatest difficulty.

Such a crop leaves a very poor profit to the grower. Under similar treatment the

Comstock and Havana Seed leaf are profitable, as the leaves which are too thick to be
used as binders, may, when sweated be utilized as fillers, or at any rate as excellent

pipe tobacco.

Small plantations of General Grant were also tried in Quebec in 1907. This
variety gave good results, so far as the yield and the quality were concerned. We also

had an experiment of Ohio Seed leaf, a well developed and comparatively early variety,

likely to answer the needs of the growers who are after heavy yields. This variety

will be experimented with on a larger scale in 1908, so that we may have definite infor-

mation as to its value. If it remains as early as it is now, this variety may possi-

bly take the place of the Connecticut.

Whatever criticisms may be made against some of the varities at present grown
in Quebec, we must not undertake to substitute better ones until our industry gets

firmly established, and until we know definitely what the needs of this industry are.

Meanwhile, however, we may try to do away with the most undesirable varieties or

those that are not likely to meet these needs. We hope to do so with our illustration

plots, and by distributing seeds of improved strains.

To conclude, the results of the experiments with Comstock Spanish, Havana Seed
leaf and Connecticut show that the first two varieties are the most suitable for the
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climate of the province of Quebec. Furthermore, they are looked upon with favour

by the men who are thinking of establishing some packing houses in this country.

Therefore their prospects are bright.

ONTARIO.

The same varieties were tried in the province of Ontario. The results obtained

were not conclusive owing to various causes. The weather was not favourable,

and some errors were made by the growers in the handling of the crop, as regards

topping and date of harvesting, the farmers of Essex county not being used to these

varieties of tobacco. Although careful instructions were issued in due time, the

plants were topped too late, and harvested also too late, when over ripe. Such mis-

takes can be easily avoided, and it is not likely that they will occur again.

However, the Ontario farmers who conducted these experiments have been able

to ascertain that these varieties are easily grown, the recovery of the plants after trans-

planting was better than with the Burley, thus decreasing the expense connected with

the work of setting out.

It is not possible to say from these results whether the seed leaf varieties will

make as good a showing in regard to quality of tissue and aroma, in Ontario as in

some parts of Quebec, but I think it is advisable to continue the experiments.

A very interesting variety is the Big Havana, imported from Cuba, which has

been tried by a Leamington grower. Although a little coarse, the products are, never-

theless, very fine, and might be used as fillers if the original aroma were preserved.

We will be able to get definite information if, as we hope, we succeed in having a part

of this crop cured.

NOTES ON THE YIELD IN WEIGHT.

The most noteworthy fact observed in 1907 is the large variation in the yield of

crop per acre with tobaccos of the same variety, in different parts of Canada. In

some districts the experimental plots gave only 1,000 lbs. per acre; while in other

districts the yield was as high as 1,400 to 1,500 lbs. per acre.

As the cost of growing an acre of tobacco rarely falls below $40 or $45 per acre,

a crop of 1,000 lbs. of tobacco, sold at the average price of 8 cents per pound, does not

leave much profit. It should also be noticed that this plant requires minute care during

its period of growth, that the curing and the marketing of the product involve some
risk.

Should these low yields be attributed to the impoverishment of the soil, or to the

mode of farming, in spite of the contrary opinion of the farmers ? This problem awaits

solution, and offers a vast field for experiments. This work we expect to take up at

once. We will experiment with the various fertilizers that can be had in Canada,
and we will also try more intensive cultivation of the soil.

At the Experimental Farm, on a rather light soil, heavily manured, we have
obtained with the Comstock Spanish, yields varying between 1,400 and 1,800 lbs. per

acre, according to the distance between the plants. Such yields should be the average,

so that the growing of the seed leaf varieties might be really profitable. Much remains
to be done in this connection.

ADVANTAGE OF PRODUCING SEED IN CANADA.

We have another duty to perform: that of inducing Canadian farmers to use

only pure seed. We have not the slightest means of control over the dealers in

tobacco seed. Often after the plants are set out, a large proportion of them are found
to be not true to type. This is a source of annoyance to the manufacturer, who often

experiences considerable difficulty in getting a sufficient supply of tobacco of uniform
type. It is also a great drawback for the farmer: for should ho use for seeding the

2-lJ
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seed whic li he has obtained from such a plantation, he will soon get nothing but

products of indefinite type, unmarketable.

In order to form an opinion, by personal observation, of their reliability, I visited

last year some of the seed growers' establishments from which the farmers had been
getting their supplies. This is not the time nor the place to give an idea of the con-

ditions under which these firms operate, but I came to the conclusion that it will be

safer to do without these sources of supply in the future.

The farmer who produces his own seed will have to exercise care so as to protect

the seed bearing plants against cross-fertilization. With such care, and with careful

selection, he will then be able to improve his varieties and strains of tobacco. The
effects of selection are well known and we propose to encourage the farmers to take

up this practice along with the production of seeds.

We have already given information along those lines in some districts, and this

year we will be able to judge whether the farmers have acted upon this information

and with what results.

^ Seed leaf varieties easily ripen their seeds in Canada, and knowing, by actual

observation that the seed obtained in some districts of Quebec yields products which
cannot be distinguished— (at least during the first few generations)—from the products

of American seed, I think it would be greatly to the advantage of the Canadian farmer

to produce his own tobacco seed. He will thus avoid the disagreeable surprises which
so often attend the use of seeds prepared and sold by careless dealers, or due to the

lack of care in seed production in foreign countries, in seed farms beyond our control.

This may also result in the establishment of real Canadian varieties, well adapted to

our soils and climates.

Information along the above lines was given to the tobacco growers in a special

series of meetings recently organized for this purpose.

What I have just said about the seed leaf varieties grown in Quebec applies with
equal force to the tobacco grown in the province of Ontario, particularly the Burley.

We should be able to develop, from improved strains, Canadian types, well adapted to

the climatic and soil conditions of Essex and Kent.

These new types will probably differ very little from similar American tobacco,

and should be in great demand by our industry; they may also find a market in foreign

countries. I may say also, that, with the high reputation of the Ontario Burleys, this

u^ndertaking will be rather easy and the success seems certain.

BRITISH COLUMBIA TOBACCO.

Last year the attention of the committee was called to the growing of tobacco in
British Columbia. I had the opportunity in the fall of visiting the valley of Kelowna,
and of looking over the districts in which tobacco is being grown.

The tobacco I saw in Kelowna is grown from seed imported from Cuba^, and
renewed every third year. The quality of the products is such that they may, up to

a certain extent, be compared to second class Havana. They would do splendidly as

fillers for domestic cigars, which might command a relatively high price; and if—as

is claimed by some opponents of Canadian tobacco—the Quebec seed leaf could never
be utilized except as binders in the manufacture of cigars, the British Columbia
tobacco will supply the fillers. We have now, therefore, leaving out the wrappers, which
generally consists of a Sumatra or Java leaf, all the elements necessary in the cigar
manufacturing industry, viz. : fillers in British Columbia, binders in Quebec (Corn-
stock and Havana seed leaf).

It is not yet known whether this industry can be carried on profitably in British
Columbia owing to the price and t\ie scarcity of help. However, a company with
rather powerful means has just organized in Kelowna for the purpose cf developing
the growing of tobacco on a truly rational and commercial basis, and we will soon be
in a position to know what future is in store for the tobacco growing industry in the
Okanagan valley proper, or on the hills of various heights which surround it, and in
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which many good soils are to. be found. The irrigation will have to be studied closely,

and may give very good results. The company proposes to experiment with the

growing of tobacco under canvas covers, and there is hope that the latter may prove

advantageous.

HOME TOBACCO AND CANADIAN INDUSTRY.

The proposed change in the legislation regulating the entry of tobacco into

Canada, and in the manufactures of the country, has eeen the object of much discus-

sion during the course of last year.

The question, involving as it does, chiefly the manufacturing interests, does not

concern our work. However, it seems to me that it may be examined from a purely

Canadian, and purely agricultural point of view, which has not been done so far.

Looking at it from this point of view, we may say that the most important side of the

question has been overlooked.

The annual production of tobacco in Canada has been estimated, in an approxi-

mate manner, to be about 10,000,000 of pounds. This figure seems rather high if it

applies only to tobacco which is the object of a real trade and not to the tobacco

sold in uncontrolable quantities on ths markets of the province of Quebec by the

farmers who retail their own crop to the consumers.

Until recently the production of tobacco in Canada has not been the object of

careful statistics. The correctness of some estimates may be judged from the fact that

in 1907 the light crop of Ontario was estimated to be 1,000,000 lbs. more than the

crop of 1906, whereas as a matter of fact, it turned out to be one quarter less than

the crop of 1906, owing to the limited plantations and unfavourable weather condi-

tions. We hope to be in a position in the near future to avoid suc^h mistakes, the

Minister of Agriculture having admitted the necessity of collecting special tobacco

statistics, which will give us a more correct idea as to the total production of the

country.

The chief objection brought forward against the proposed change in the legisla-

tion, (increase of the duties or modification in the mode of collection of excise duty) is

that any measure tending to encourage the growing of home tobacco, might prove dis-

astrous, on account of the large proportion of products unsuitable for the manufac-

turing industry, and on account of the changes that would have to be effected in the

management of factories.

Now, supposing that the estimate of 10,000,000 lbs. above referred to is correct,

what is, out of this total, the proportion of really inferior tobacco said to be unsuit-

able for manufacturing purposes? Surely this qualification does not apply to the

Burleys of Ontario, which form half of the total production of Canada and have made
a good reputation for themselves; nor to the class of hea^^ Quebec products manu-
factured into plugs or for pipe smoking, and which were never intended to be used

in the manufacture of cigars; nor to the small varieties called Canadian Canelle,

Petit Rouge, intended for a special class of customers, and which are not produced in

sufficient quantity to meet the demand. The only products about the quality of which
there might be some doubt are the so-called cigar tobaccos, produced only in Kouville,

Montcalm and Joliette counties, in quantities not exceeding 1,000,000 lbs.

If the latter products are of a very low grade of quality, they will never be util-

ized in the manufacture of cigars, or, in any case, only for very common cigars which
could never find favour with the Canadian public, generally very critical. The growing
of this tobacco will therefore have to be abandoned, in spite of any encouragement to

the contrary, and the farmers will be compelled to return to the production of smoking
and chewing tobaccos.

It may perhaps be claimed that these Quebec cig^ir tobaccos do not show as well ns

the products of similar varieties grown in foreign countries. But it mu^^t not bo

forgotten that the lack of experienced packers and of thoroughly equipped packing
houses may, to a large extent, be responsible for the poor showing of these product?.
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Give them suitable treatment, and they may still compare favourably with some
imported tobacco. There is no reason then to refuse to protect our growers. If the

packing industry can alone put these tobaccos into proper shape why not encourage its

establishment in Canada?

But we are also aware that a large proportion of seed leaf products, grown in

Canada, may be used as bindeis. A conclusive proof of this is to be found in the fact

that some Connecticut packers, impressed with the quality of our products, have
expressed a desire to start business in Canada.

Some Canadian manufacturers have gone even further: they assert that some of

the Comstock Spanish and Havana seed leaf grown in Quebec could make excellent

fillers; for ordinary cigars, of course.

Leaving the question of taste aside, I am of the opinion that a large proportion

of such fillers would be of as good quality as imported fillers used in the manufacture
of five cent cigars. The American smoker often pays ten cents apiece for cigars

manufactured with tobacco grown in Pennsylvania and Connecticut without the

slightest trace of Havana. It would be quite as easy to educate the taste of the Cana-
dian public as that of the American public. Provided that a good quality of product
is used, and this product is well prepared, our domestic cigars, although different in

taste from the Havana ciga-s, are nevertheless very agreeable and may suit a certain

class of consumers.

If, however, I am taxed with exaggeration in endorsing the views of such manu-
facturers, let us abandon for a moment—^waiting for the proof to be made later—the

idea that Quebec tobacco may ever be utilized as fillers. The fact remains that this

tobacco—or at least a large proportion of it—^may make excellent binders, quite equal,

in this respect, to the Wisconsin and Pennsylvania products.

As to the .fillers, the establishment of the tobacco growing industry in British

Columbia will enable us to solve this problem. I think I can say, without fear of

being mistaken, that there will be two grades of this kind of tobacco; the first grade

will be supplied by British Columbia, the second, of a different taste, by Quebec, and

later perhaps by some parts of Ontario. On the other hand, if the object of the amend-
ments now before the House of Commons, is to enable this tobacco of doubtful qual-

ity to compete, with some chance of success, with foreign products, we must also admit

that the other ra of the total of the production in Canada, not considered in the dis-

cussion, will also benefit by the new measure.

That these other kinds of tobacco, representing by far the largest part of the pro-

duction, are a source of great profit to the country, no one will deny. That some
measure is necessary in order to protect them, and facilitate their sale by opening new
markets, larger, more regular, and safer, seems equally certain. Can their interests

be sacrificed because the manufacturers do not agree as to the suitability of the Cana-

dian leaf for the manufacture of cigars, and while the growers of the latter form such

an insignificant proportion?

Doubtless our home tobacco is still open to many criticisms. Its most enthusiastic

partisans admit that there is still room for a great deal of improvement. But, since

the function creates the organ, or rather develops it, the opening or the widening of

our home markets would be the best possible stimulant to this industry, which, after

so many mishaps, has, during the last few years, shown what it was able to accomplish.

Encourage the development of the tobacco manufacturing industry in Canada, and
of all its different phases—packing houses and manufactures—and the growing indus-

try, being sure of marketing it^ products, and having a definite object in view; that

of supplying the products required by the manufacturer, will spring into new life and
vigour, and will prosper on a rational basis. Prohibit, or limit the use of home tobacco
in the manufactures of the country and the same state of uneasiness that has prevailed
during the last few years, owing to the uncertainty of the market and the low prices
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offered, to the point of causing a congestion which I hope will only be momentary, will

continue to paralyze the growing industry.

We are now working, as I said at the beginning of this report, to improve the

quality of our tobaccos. This work is progressing favourably. Our products have

suffered so far from the lack of grading and curing, two operations performed in the

packing house. Sorting and curing experiments on a large scale were conducted in

1907. I am in a position to say that excellent results have been obtained so far, fully

realizing the expectations in regard to some of our home products.

Following the results of these experiments we may hope to see a new and import-

ant industry—the packing industry—spring into life in Canada. By preparing our

home grown tobacco so that it may be more readily utilized, this industry will have

an important effect upon the conditions of the market, and will improve the situation

of the farmers.

The duties of the Department of Agriculture will then be to encourage the pro-

duction of suitable tobacco for the requirements of this industry. Eecognizing the

importance and the necessity of this work, the Minister of Agriculture has decided

to increase the staff of the Tobacco Division in order that the latter may be in a

position to devote all the attention necessary to the various and widely scattered

tobacco growing districts of this immense Dominion.

I think the most fitting conclusion I can make to this evidence is to submit some
samples of our home tobacco. You will thus be able to judge of the quality of the

products obtained in Canada at the present time, and to say whether our hopes are

justified, whether it is wise to neglect such a source of wealth, and whether this young
branch of our agricultural industry does not deserve the best encouragement.

By Mr. Armstrong

:

Q. I understood the gentleman to say that tobacco of the same quality that is

produced in Wisconsin can be grown in Western Ontario?

A. In Eastern Canada, in Quebec.

Q. It would be well to find out the nature of that tobacco and the extent to

which it is grown in Canada, if grown at all?

A. The variety of tobacco I am speaking of is the Comstock Spanish. It has

given the best results in Wisconsin, and has been very successful in Canada.

Q. A gentleman present informs me that half a million pounds of this tobacco are

grown in Essex. What success has been experienced in growing it in other provinces?

A. That is a mistake. There has been no Comstock Spanish tobacco grown in

Essex County except in small plots.

Q. Mr. Wigle has grown it in Essex?
A. The tobacco referred to was the Havana Seed Leaf variety. The cultivation

of Comstock Spanish has only been tried this year.

By Mr. Ross (Yale Cariboo):

Q. What is the proper yield per acre?

A. Of Havana Seed Leaf? About from 1,200 to 1,400 lbs.

Q. You say the yields are not sufficient to be profitable. What would you consider

a sufficient quantity?

A. About 1,400 lbs. At the Experimental Farm last year on a light soil, well

manured, we obtained yields of from fourteen to eighteen hundred pounds per acre,

varying with the distances at which the plants were set.

By Mr. Parmalee:

Q. Where does the seed come from?
A. We do not know that. It is bought from dealers in large cities such as Mont-

real or Toronto.
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Q. Does not the Seed Act enable you to check the sale of impure seed?

A. The Seed Act cannot control the production of seed in a foreign country, and
especiallj^ the tobacco seed, which is very small and very hard to recognize. I have

visited'some of the farms where seed is produced in the United States, and(' I haVe
come to the conclusion that the farmer should produce his own tobacco seed. Then,

with selection of the proper plants, we would soon improve our varieties of tobacco.

I have brought with me samples of tobacco grown in different parts of Canada,
which I shall be very glad to have inspected by the committee.

By Mr. Clarke:

Q. You spoke of there being 10,000,000 pounds of tobacco grown in Canada?

A. That is as far as we can ascertain.

Q. What proportion of that would come from the province of Quebec?

A. About one-half from Quebec and one-half from Ontario. We cannot exactly

control the production in Quebec because the farmers sell most of their tobacco in

the raw leaf on the market.

Q. How much of that 10,000,000 pounds would go into manufactured tobacco?

A. The greater part of the tobacco grown in Ontario is manufactured especially

for chewing and plug purposes. One half of the Quebec products are also manufac-

tured. I suppose that about three-quarters of the total production is manufactured.

Q. And the other is sold in the raw condition?

A. Yes, sold in the raw condition.

By Mr. Armstrong:

Q. Where is that grown?
A. In Quebec and sometimes in Ontario.

Q. There is none of the raw leaf exported from the country; it is all manufactured

here?

A. The quantity of leaf exported now is very small. There has been some exporta-

tion, but the quantity is very small.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. You say in your address that the Comstock Spanish grown in Quebec ia a

better variety than that grown in Wisconsin?

A. Yes, I was in Wisconsin last year and I never found there such tobacco as

this (exhibiting a sample of Comstock Spanish grown in Quebec). This is finer than

the Wisconsin tobacco.

Q. Is this a sample of tobacco grown in Joliette?

A. This was grown in Eouville county in Quebec. We can also grow it in Monr-
calm and Joliette counties.

Q. Are you able to say how the product in western Ontario compares with this ?

A. We have not succeeded in growing the same quality of tobacco in western
Ontario. The tobacco produced there of that variety is generally coarser.

Q. Of the same variety?

A. The same variety. Last year we tried some Comstock Spanish tobacco in

Essex county, but it was poorer than this.

Q. How do you account for that?

A. I attribute it to the soil.

By Mr. Armstrong

:

Q. Do you say that the tobacco grown in Quebec is much superior to that grown
in Western Ontario?
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A. The Havana Seed Leaf, not the Burley. The Burley .variety grown in Ontario

cannot be produced in Quebec. What I say is that the Havana Seed Leaf of Quebec
is better and finer than the same variety grown in Western Ontario.

Q. I would like to know what efforts have been made to try and induce the people

of Western Ontario to grow tobacco of better quality?

A. Last year tobacco was grown on ten experimental plots of one acre each in the

counties of Essex and Kent. When the tobacco was cured we found nobody to buy it.

Q. Then you established experimental plots in Western Ontario?

A. Yes.

Q. And tried to induce the people to grow a better quality of tobacco there?

A. That is to say, we have tried other varieties in order to find out what they

could yield in that part of Canada.

Q. That experiment has been a failure?

A. The results were not conclusive. The experiments will be continued.

Q. Why were the results not conclusive?

A. Last year was not a good one for tobacco culture, the atmospheric conditions

were very poor. We cannot succeed in experiments in tobacco culture when the wea-

ther conditions are poor.

Q. I understood fl"om your address that the quality of tobacco gi'own in Canada
deserves severe criticism?

A. Some varieties.

Q. I understood you to say that the quality deserves severe criticism ?

A. What I said was that whatever criticism may be made of some varieties

actually grown in the country it would be useless to try to replace those varieties before
the needs of the manufacturing industry are exactly known.

Q. I would like to know whether there are many of these different varieties that
are not satisfactory?

A. There are a large number of intercrossed varieties that should not be grown in

Canada because they do not yield a satisfactory product.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. Where were these bad varieties grown and to what extent?

A. It is especially in Quebec that those poor tobaccos are grown, but I must also

say that it is in that province that the best cigar tobacco is grown.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. Can you conscientiously say, taking into consideration the climatic conditions,

that better tobacco is grown in Quebec than in Ontario or British Columbia? We
think we can grow better tobacco in Ontario than anywhere else. Of the 15,000.000

pounds of tobacco that we import from the United States how much could be grown
in this country successfully by our Canadian farmers?

A. I suppose that is really a question for a manufacturer to answer, rather than
myself. But we can grow in Quebec the same quality of binders that is grown in

Wisconsin, we can use in Canada the Burley tobacco which is grown in Ontario. Then
we can use the British Columbia tobacco as fillers. We have here some Canadian
cigars with British Columbia fillers.

By Mr. Ross (Yale Cariboo):

Q. As I understand it there is a cigar made out of Kelowna, B.C. tobacco. The
tobacco was especially selected by Mr. Charlan, who also looked after the curing and
saw that the cigars were properly made. Now, as a cigar suiokor of many years' experi-

ence and wonderful variety, I am bound to say that the Kelowna cigar is as well made
and of as good flavour and quality as the very best Havana cigar. Perhaps I should
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not say the very best ; but anybody who will take that cigar will say it is as well made
and of as good quality as a Havana cigar. Now that cigar, as I understand it (exhibit-

ing cigar), is made of Canadian, tobacco.

Mr. Clarke.—Altogether?

Mr. Eoss (Yale Cariboo).—It is altogether made of Canadian tobacco.

A. The wrapper is of Sumatra Leaf, but you have a Canadian filler and a Canadian

binder.

Q. If that can be done once it can be done all the time. How did you get such

good results from Canadian tobacco? The cigar manufacturers tell us, or some of

them do, that they cannot use Canadian tobacco. Here is a good cigar made from
Canadian tobacco and I will leave it to any man to say whether it is not as good a

cigar as he wants to smoke. The question is how do you get such good results?

A. By curing the tobacco properly and by sweating it in the right way. The
on\y thing we lack in Canada is a good packing house.

Q. Will you please tell us where you got the tobacco, the kind of tobacco it is,

under what conditions it was grown, what you did to see that it was cured properly,

and then what was used in the making of the cigar ?

A. The tobacco was grown in Kelowna, British Columbia.

Q. That is the filler?

A. Yes, the filler. The binder must be a Comstock Spanish tobacco grown in

Quebec, and the wrapper is Sumatra Leaf. The filler was grown in British Columbia
about four or five years ago by Mr. Holman. It was sweated by Mr. Hohnan in the

best condition possible and was sent to a good cigar manufacturer in Montreal and
the product is what we now show you. The tobacco is grown from Cuban seed. The
Cuban seed is imported by the Canadian grower and grown for one year only for the

production of seed. The first crop gives such a very small leaf that it would not pay;

it is better to grow seed only from it. For tobacco growing the grower uses seed of

the second or third year, which produces a larger leaf. After the first year he has a

crop of Canadian seed, but he must change his seed about every three or four years,

because as the leaf increases in size the flavour diminishes.

Q. Do you say that the filler of this cigar which we have here is grown from
Cuban seed?

A. From second years' growth developed from Cuban seed.

Q. The seed originally came from Cuba?
A. Yes, from Cuba.

Q. It was planted in Kelowna?
A. Yes.

Q. And the filler was grown in Kelowna ?

A. Yes.

Q. You took that tobacco for the filler down to Montreal?
A. Yes.

Q. As I understand it the principal part of the cigar is the filler. Now who
made the cigar?

A. Mr. Cusson, Montreal.

Q. He used a Canadian filler, a Canadian binder and a Sumatra wrapper?
A. Yes.

Q. The result is that you got as good a cigar as anybody wants to smoke?
A. Yes, I consider this cigar is equal to any 10 cent cigar.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. Mr. Cusson's factory is a foreign factory ?

A. A foreign factory.
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Q. The reason I ask the question is that I see a black stamp on the box?

A. Mr. Ciisson's factory is a foreign factory and he was selected to manufacture

the cigar because he has undertaken most of the work in the Canadian tobacco industry.

He made these cigars especially at our request and the stamp has no significance.

We could just as well have used a red or a green stamp. In this other kind of cigars

(producing cigars) the fillers are made of Comstock Spanish tobacco grown in Mont-

calm county. The fillers and binders were grown in Montcalm county and the only

foreign leaf is the Sumatra wrapper.

By Mr. Boss (Yale Cariboo):

Q. There is no significance, you say, in the box?

A. No, the box is only to put the cigars in.

Q. It is not intended to advertise a brand of cigars?

A. No.
'

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. What kind of tobacco did you put in these cigars as a filler ?

A. Comstock Spanish. As I said a few minutes ago we can use Comstock

Spanish tobacco grown in Canada as a filler and binder.

By Mr. Parmelee:

Q. Has it a good flavour as a filler?

A. Yes.

By Mr. Clarke

:

Q. Some binders have no flavour?

A. Yes, but the Comstock Spanish tobacco has got a flavour sufficient to make

it a good filler or binder.

Q. You have smoked it yourself?

A. Yes.

Q. Is there not a little bitterness in taste?

A. Yes, sometimes, but you have the same bitterness in Havana cigars.

Q. You have brought here some Comstick Spanish tobacco grown in Quebec. I

wish you would compare some tobacco of the same variety which has been brought down
from the counties of Essex and Kent and see where the difference is?

A. Very well.

Sample of Comstock Spanish tobacco grown in the County of Essex produced by

Mr. Darius Wigle and laid before the witness.

Q. Mr. Darius Wigle has produced some Comstock Spanish tobacco grown in

the county of Essex. Will you please look at it and see how it compares with the

sample which you have got?

A, (After examining sample.) The only thing I can tell you about it is that

it has a larger leaf. The texture is not better than the Quebec tobacco.

Q. Is it as good, what difference is there?

A. I suppose it is less gummy. The trouble is that this tobacco is not sweated

and we cannot judge of the quality in its present condition. The sample from Que-
bec is cured and ready to be used for cigar purposes. The other sample is in a raw
state and we can only judge of its texture at present.

Q. The first sample which you have produced this morning has not been sweated?
A. No. It is in a green condition.

Q. What would you say about that variety of Comstock Spanish from K>;iox

county ?

A. I would say that it would make good tobacco.
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By Mr. Clements:

Q. I understand from an answer which you gave this morning that so far as your

experience goes, since you have been in the department, that we can produce a quality

of tobacco in Canada, or a sufficient quantity of tobacco in Canada—^whether it is

grown in Ontario, Quebec or British Columbia—to make a good quality of cigars

sufficient for the ordinary Canadian trade?

A. Yes.

Mr. Clarke.—Or for the public of any country. There is no doubt about that?

A. No doubt whatever.

Q'. I understand from the statement that you have made that one of the greatest

troubles in connection with the Canadian tobacco industry is that we have not proper

packing houses in Canada?
A. Yes, that is the point.

Q. Then you would strongly recommend the establishment of packing houses in

Canada for the proper curing of tobacco? Of course, in order to get that we must
have some encouragement in the shape of government aid or otherwise?

A. I think so.

Q. You consider that is the important need of our growers at the present time?
A. I do.

Having examined the foregoing transcript of my evidence, I testify the same to

be correct.

F. CHAELAN,
Chief of Tobacco Division,

Department of Agriculture.

Mr. Darius Wigle, Kingsville, Ontario, called.—I did not come prepared to de-
liver any address—I did not know that it was necessary—but I thought that I would
be expected to answer questions.

The Chairman.—We do not expect an address. Make your remarks as brief as
possible. No doubt the committee are anxious to question you.

Mr. Clements.—Perhaps I had better put some questions to Mr. Wigle.

Q. I understand that you are a large producer of tobacco and have a large to-
bacco farm in the county of Essex?

A. Yes

Q. How many acres do you grow?

farm^'
^ ^^^^ ^^^"^ growing up till last year from 60 to 80 acres annually, on my

TXT-
^^"^ ^^^'^ "^^""^ ^^^""^ ^^"^^ ^^61^ growing tobacco in Essex county, Mr.

VVigle?

A. I think eleven or twelve years.

Q. And about how much do you grow annually?
A. In the county?

Q. No, yourself?
A. I gi'ow an average of about 70 acres and my tobacco has turned out about 1,400

to 1,700 pounds per acre. I have raised over one ton to the acre, but t^e average crop,
1 should say would be from 1,400 to 1,700 pounds per acre. That depends upon the
variety of tobacco.

Q. What varieties do you grow?
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A. I have grown a number of varieties, including Burley and Connecticut Seed.

Those are the large types of tobacco. I have grown those so that they turned out

about a ton to the acre. I have grown the Comstock Spanish that was just men-

tioned by Mr. Charlan, and here is a sample of that variety which was grown in my
neighbourhood (producing sample). That tobacco was supposed to turn out about

1,000 pounds to the acre, about half a ton.

Q. Is that a sample of the tobacco which Mr. Charlan says is not grown in any

quantity ?

A. Yes.

Mr. Boss (Yale-Cariboo) :

Q. Not grown in sufficient quantity?

A. Not sufficiently grown.

Q. You do not get enough to the acre to make it profitable to grow it?

A. Yes, we do. It depends upon the price.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. Just give me your opinion as to how much of that variety of tobacco is grown
in Essex county or Kent?

A. Well, I am not able to say, but probably 25,000 pounds.

Q. 25,000 pounds?
A. That quantity was probably grown in Essex last year, in 1907.

Q. Taking into consideration the general business of the farmers and the manu-
facturers, what variety do you consider the most profitable so far as your experience

is concerned?

A. Well, whilst the Burley is a good price at 8 cents, it is more profitable to

grow the small tobacco.

By Mr. Boss (Yale Cariboo):

Q. That is chewing tobacco?

A. That is chewing tobacco. With regard to cigar tobaccos, I paid, I am a

packer too, 9 cents for that crop. That is not the purest of it; that is for cigar

binders. We use the inferior grades of that tobacco for fillers.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. From your experience as a tobacco grower do you consider that any of the

soils in the district in which you live in western Ontario are suitable for growing
tobacco?

A. I think they are, in fact I know it.

Q. About how much tobacco can you grow to the acre in that district?

A. Of the chewing tobacco we would grow an average crop of about 1,500 pounds.

Q. And of smoking tobacco?

A. The smoking tobacco would be about 1,000

Q. What is the average cost of growing tobacco?

A. The cost of growing the cheaper tobaccos at the present rate of wages would
be 5 cents, and that of cigar tobaccos, I should judge, would be G cents a pound.

Q. In your opinion have you always had a market, or at least a reaonable market
at reasonable prices, for the tobacco which was grown, sufficient to guarantee vou a
profit?

A. No, we have not until the past year. We have received a fair price for the

chewing tobacco, with the exception of one or two years when there was an over pro-
duction.
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Q. Will you give the committee an idea of why you have not had the encourage-

ment and what would be a remedy for that condition of affairs?

A. I might refer back to 1902.

Q. Give us the details shortly?

A. There was a large quantity—a million pounds, I would say, although some

thought more—a million pounds more or less of cigar leaf produced for one man-
Ward. In addition there was a considerable amount produced outside of that. There

was also probably, of smoking tobacco and cigar tobacco a million and a half pounds.

I built a warehouse and processed upwards of a million pounds of that tobacco for

the cigar trade of our country, but I found whilst there was not a Canadian license

in the^ province of Ontario that I had a great difficulty in introducing these cured

tobaccos. I sold a great number of cases of that tobacco which were^ returned to me

because the excise officers would not allow them to go into the factories.

^
By Mr. Boss (Yale Cariboo):

Q. Why?
A. They had not a Canadian license and for that reason I was hampered with this

stamp business.
. ^v.

Q. Excuse me for interrupting you. You say that our excise otncers would not

allow this tobacco to go into the factory?

A. Yes, a foreign leaf factory.

Mr. Parmelee.—There are three licenses.

By Mr. Clarke:

Q. They would not allow it to go in without paying the extra excise?

A. No, I went and looked into that. If the company was willing to pay the extra

excise, or the excise that was on the American leaf, they were still prohibited from

putting these Canadian tobaccos in.

Q. They did not obey the law?

A. They did not in that respect. Evidently they were ignorant of the law.

Q. Who was the officer?

A. I will cite one, for instance, the officer at London. I made a great many
of these shipments which were returned in the same way but I will cite you one ship-

ment of from 5 to 7 cases to a gentleman in London, Mr. Kelly. After testing my
tobaccos he purchased seven cases. The tobacco was shipped to him and the excise

officers refused to allow him to take it into his factory.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. Pardon me one moment. This was tobacco which went through your packing
house ?

A. Yes, processed tobacco. This (producing sample) would be a sample of the

same kind of tobacco. I happen to have only two samples left out of the million

pounds or thereabouts. 1 sweated about a million pounds of that tobacco.

Q. Is that the Comstock Spanish?
A. That is the Havana Seed Leaf.

By Mr. Boss (Yale Cariboo):

Q. What excuse did the officer give for refusing to allow that tobacco into the
factory ?

A. Well, evidently he did not understand the law sufficiently to know that a cigar
manufacturer was allowed to take that tobacco and pay the same excise duty on it that
he was paying on the American tobacco and manufacture it. After those cases
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had been lying in London waiting for the excise officer to allow them to go into the

manufacturer's factory they were returned to me three months later. I paid the freigh|,

both ways and also the storage while those cases were lying in London. The matter was

recited to the district excise officer at Windsor and he evidently refused to interfere;

but later on, after those cases were returned to my warehouse, the district excise officer

went to Montreal and there learned that he was in error. He then wrote me a letter

of apology for the manner in which he had treated me.

Q. Was the matter of rebates not involved in that question at all?

A. I think not. The officer was not aware that this tobacco could be allowed to

be manufactured.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. I suppose it was a new thing?

A. Yes.

Mr. Parmelee :—They could have made him take out a license or pay the foreign

leaf excise. If he was willing to pay the foreign leaf excise that settled the rebate

question.

By Mr. Clarke:

Q. I suppose the officer did not know, it was the first time the question had arisen ?

A. I travelled with these samples all through the province of Ontario and the

province of Quebec. Although I had probably sold out of that stock in the neigh-

bourhood of 200,000 pounds I became discouraged with my experience and disposed

of the remainder of this cigar tobacco to the Empire Tobacco Company. '

By Mr. Boss (Yale Cariboo):

Q. We had a delegation of cigar manufacturers down here a short time ago and
one of them, the expert at Tuckett's factory, Hamilton, made this statement: That
tobacco of a special character can only be grown in certain districts; that is, you get

your best wrappers from Samatra, your cigarette tobacco from somewhere else, your

fillers from Wisconsin, and that while they can grow tobacco in Essex they cannot grow
tobacco suitable for fillers and cigar wrappers. In other words instead of making a

speciality of growing a certain variety they were trying to grow every variety. What
have you to say in reference to that objection made by the cigar manufacturers ?

A. I have not found a variety of tobacco that was a failure in our county.

Q. They say that is the trouble with you people down there ?

A. I was the person who grew this sample of Comstock Spanish tobacco which
has been submitted to this committee. I am thoroughly familiar with the same
variety grown in Wisconsin, which is used largely by the manufacturers of this country

and I defy the United States or Wisconsin to produce an article equal to this domestic

sample.

By Mr. Clarhe:

Q. Have you been through Wisconsin?
A. No, but I have had a number of their samples expressed to me.

Q. Is that correct what these people say, that in Wisconsin they make a specialty

of this tobacco for binders?

A. They make a specialty of it.

Q. They don't grow Burley?
A. No.
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By Mr. Ross (Yale Cariboo):

Q. Let me develop that argument. We will admit that you can grow just as

good binders in Essex as in Wisconsin?

A. Yes.

Q. Will you, therefore, say that you can grow as good smoking tobacco in Essex

as they can grow somewhere else? Don't you think the soil is adapted for some

particular class of tobacco?

Mr. Clarke.—We have all kinds of soil in Essex county.

A. I find this from my experience: whilst we have all kinds of soil in Essex

county, it depends more upon the process of curing that tobacco than it does upon the

soil and the climate.

Q. Is it not true that there is great variety of soil, in some parts the soil is

much better than in others, Pelee Island, for instance?

A. Yes.
\ .

-

_

By Mr. Clements:

Q. You substantiate what Mr. Charlan says, that there is no question about your

growing the quality of tobacco for all purposes, excepting the finer cigar tobaccos in this

country, do you not?

A. There is no reason why we should not be growing every leaf with the excep-

tion of some of the finest wrappers.

Q. We are producing 10,000,000 pounds of tobacco now; how many millions of

pounds could we produce if we had the market for it, in your opinion ?

Mr. Clarke.—There is no limit.

Q. If necessary in our district we can grow 25 or 30 or 40 million poundjs?

A. Yes, and would do it if the farmers were protected or encouraged, and I am
satisfied that they would get a reasonable price for their tobacco.

Q. You endorse Mr. Charlan's idea that there should be encouragement given for

the establishment of proper packing houses ?

A. Yes. The lack of them is the reason of the grades of tobaccos being con-

demned greatly by the manufacturers of Canada.

Q. What effect has the growing of tobacco upon the soil?

A. I have grown, I think, as much as ten crops in succession upon the same soil.

Here is a sample of Gibhardt (producing sample) being the eleventh crop, the label

says, in succession. I grew that myself.

^
By Mr. Ross (Yale Cariboo):

Q. What is that good for?

A. Chiefly for pipe smoking, if it were properly cured, but it is not.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. Will you tell the committee as briefly as possible what, in your opinion, would
be the best method of handling and curing the crop of tobacco in our district ?

A. In the west? In the first place for the plug, chewing and smoking thia has

been cured especially for those purposes (producing sample). This is Burley and it

is of the 1906 crop. I dampened this considerably and it will keep 100 years and still

be sweet and good. The proper method of curing that is putting it through a kiln,

at a certain degree of heat. That expels all the moisture from the tobacco and fits it

for manufacturing into plug.
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Q. Will you state to the committee if the farmers have suffered any detriment in

growing and curing their tobacco, for instance has there been any neglect from want
of information?

A. As far as the farmer or tobacco grower is concerned I do not see that he is

supposed to cure the tobacco for the manufacturer. He is supposed simply to cut

that tobacco, with the exception of one variety of tobacco and that would be pipe smok-

ing tobacco. That must be cured shortly after it is cut, either by the grower or by some

other person, to get it into the condition which it should be in for pipe smoking. The
farmer can only cut his tobacco and hang it up and let the air cure it. That is all!

that is necessary for him to do with any of. these cigar or plug chewing varieties.

Then the manufacturer or packer must cure that tobacco to suit whatever it is in-

tended to be manufactured into.

Q. Explain the curing process from your own experience as a packer, Mr. Wigle?
A. This leaf (exhibiting sample of Havana Seed) was cured for cigar binders

only.

By Mr. Boss (Yale Cariboo):

Q. You are giving evidence as an expert, and I am not reflecting upon it, buti

you will understand that the manufacturers are always trying to make out that they
cannot get the tobacco they want in Canada ; that it is not properly cured, or the seed

is poor and all that sort of thing. Are you absolutely sure that no improvements can,

be made in your methods of curing tobacco?

A. I would not say, but what there can be improvements made on my method of

curing.

Q. Of course, I do not know anything about the business?

A. I was very anxious to secure something from Mr. Charlan because he prob-

ably knows far more than I do in reference to this matter.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. What is the reason that the quality of the Canadian tobacco has not been
brought up to the standard that it should have been, is it simply through not having'

proper packing-houses to cure it?

A. Yes.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. Is that not a matter which rests with the manufacturers ? You often find that

one manufacturer turns out a better cigar than the others do from the same sample?
A. Sometimes they do.

Q. Is that on account of a better process of curing?
A. Yes, better methods of curing and preparing the tobacco. Each cigar maker

has a different method of preparing his tobacco before it goes into the cigar, although
the tobacco is the same.

By Mr. Parmelee:

Q. It is foreign leaf?

A. It is foreign leaf but he will treat it probably in some way.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. That is a matter for the manufacturer to work out?
A. Yes.

By Mr. Carrier:

Q. In the States of Virginia and Kentucky they have a class of men in their
tobacco industry that are known as re-handlers. Those men go to the farmers?

2—2



18 MR. DARIUS WIOLE

8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

A. That is right.

Q. In the case of our tobacco it has been given a bad name and according to the

old saying ' Give a dog a bad name and they will hang him. ' Our tobacco in this

country for years has had a bad name and the farmers have dealt with the consumers

direct. We want to try and stop that and get the farmers to place their tobacco in

the hands of re-handlers when it will undergo a curing process in expert hands?

A. Yes.

Q. The proper handling of tobacco requires extensive, aiid in our climate, well

heated buildings. Very few men in our province have been willing to go to such an
expense. When th^ industry has been put on a better footing by and by, you will find

men who will be willing to spend thousands of dollars to get the trade into proper

shape by means of this system of re-handling. We want our manufacturers to go
direct to the re-handler and not to the farmer?

A. Yes.

^
Mr. Carrier.—Canadian tobacco has been given a bad name which we are trying

to remove. That is because the tobacco has never been properly cured. We are having
in Quebec on the 17th June next a meeting of the Dominion Wholesale Grocers' Guild.
I am president of the Guild of the Province of Quebec and I have been in correspond-
ence with Mr. Beckett, of Hamilton, the President of the Dominion organization.
I intend at the next meeting of the Guild to read a paper on the subject of Canadian
leaf tobacco and I want every man in the country to learn that with respect to this

tobacco he has been labouring so far under a prejudice.

Mr. Armstrong.—^Have the manufacturers been asked to establish these curing
rooms ?

Mr. Carrier.—They have been doing their own curing. The American Tobacco
Company have started a large factory at Granby of their own and they have been
trying to do away with the re-handlers and curing men and buy the tobacco themselves
from the farmers and perform this process.

Mr. Parmelee.—^They do it better.

Mr. Carrier.—They can do it better.

Mr. Parmelee.—They do it better.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. What would you suggest as a remedy for the existing conditions in the case

of our tobacco growers?

A. I wish to say that I call myself a re-handler of tobacco. We take this tobacco

into our warehouse and it is hand sorted and -sized and then packed into cases and
sweated. Then it is ready for the manufacturers. We draw four hands from each

case and that is generally put into a sample of our goods guaranteeing that every

leaf in the case is equal to the sample.

By Mr. Ross (Yale Cariboo):

Q. To whom do you sell them?
A. To the cigar manufacturers.

Q. What objection do they make to the tobacco as to its quality

A. Some have made no objection, but consider it a good quality of tobacco.

Others object to it and say it was an inferior tobacco.

Q. I still want this point absolutely cleared up if it possibly can be. I can very

well understand why the cigar manufacturers, with the object of leaving things as

they are, attempt to create the impression that they cannot get the tobacco which they

want in Canada, they might have a selfish reason in speaking that way. I think it

would be in the interest of the tobacco growers that an expert like Mr. Wigle should
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put such evidence on record as will convince the public, at least, that there is nothing

in this statement, that we can grow the tobacco that is necessary in Canada. I know
some Montreal and Hamilton manufacturers claim they cannot get the tobacco they

want in Canada, and I would like the fact that the tobacco can be got in Canada
emphasized ?

A. Just here I would say that on my first trip to introduce my processed tobaccos

in 1902, I came to the city of London and when passing Mr. Tuckett's branch I

called there, knowing that they were manufacturing foreign leaf. I asked their

foreman to wrap up a cigar, and test it, from my processed tobacco. He did so and

expressed his views in this way—that it was equal to the very best Havana that they

were putting in their best cigars, Margree. He admitted it to me before a witness

but he said ^ we are not allowed to use it.'

Q. Was that tobacco which you showed that particular firm a special sample or

did it represent the average tobacco grown ?

A. The average processed tobacco. I would have been glad to have sold him
200,000 pounds equal to the sample he prepared that cigar from and would have been

glad to have done it at that time.

By Mr. Carrier:

Q. Do you think that if the duty on foreign leaf were increased it would have

the effect of establishing more re-handlers of tobacco?

A. If the duty were sufficiently increased the packers, or rather the re-handlers

as you call them, would be here by to-morrow morning from the Unitea tStates.

Q. Lots of them?
A. To build warehouses in which to cure our tobaccos the same as they do on the

other side of the line.

Q. You are probably aware that foreign countries like France, Belgium and Italy,

that import their tobaccos from Virginia and Kentucky, are represented by re-handlers

in the United States. Those men prepare the tobaccos so as to give them a flavour

which suits the taste of the consumers in the countries which they represent?

A. They do in some cases.

Q. These re-handlers give the tobacco a special flavour which suits the taste of the

consumers of each country. As a matter of fact the tobacco used in France is pre-

pared in a special manner so that it is adapted to the taste of those people?

A. If the time allowed me was not quite so limited I would read you correspond-

ence with a man in Wisconsin with respect to the manufacturing of this tobacco pro-

viding there was sufficient duty.

By Mr, Ross (Yale Cariboo):

Q. About the matter of duty, you say it ought to be increased ?

A. Yes.

Q. As I imderstand, it is not a question of increasing the duty?
A. Not altogether.

Q. It is more a matter of the re-arrangement of the duty. If the customs duty be

increased and the excise duty correspondingly reduced would that not meet the case?

A. Yes, that will help if it is sufficiently increased in the one case and sufficiently

reduced in-the other.

Q. Let me put it in this way : Do you not think, as a tobacco grower and tobacco

dealer, that taking the customs duties and the excise duties together you have a reason-

able protection in this country for tobacco?

A. There has not been sufficient, especially on the cigar tobacco.

Q. Is the difficulty not more a question of the arrangement of the dutv than the

extent of it?

2—2^
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A. You will understand that the 10 cents per pound on cigar tobacco makes only

$2 difference on 1,000 cigars. The rebate on that would nearly equal one-half, so you
might consider that there was a duty of only $1 a 1,000 upon them.

Q. That is 10 cents a pound duty on the imported leaf?

A. Yes.

Q. There is an excise duty of how much?
A. $6 a thousand.

Q. Supposing we increase the import duty say to 28 cents- a pound?
A. I would not consider it sufficient.

Q. You would not?

A. I think that 35 cents should be placed on it.

Q. That is .35 cents on the raw leaf unstemmed?
A. Yes.

Q. You think that is enough?
A. Yes.

c Q. I am bound to say you are the most reasonable protectionist I have come across

in some time?

A. In advocating 35 cents a pound.

Q. Yes?
A. Customs duty on unstemmed leaf.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. Take this year's crop, under your process of packing or re-handling, could yeu
get this crop prepared say in twelve months for the manufacturer?

A. Yes, in six months.

Q. Would there be any advantage in taking a longer time ?

A. Not very much under the sweating process.

Q. There is no doubt, taking this year's crop, and re-handling it, you could put It

into the manufacturer's hands within a very few months ?

A. Yes, we could put it in their hands by the month of August next.

Q. How long have you felt the need of a change, for instance, with regard to the

stamp and the excise duties?

A. Since I have become a packer, since 1902.

By Mr. Ross (Yale Cariboo):

Q. Since the rebates were granted?
A. I don't know when that rebate came into force.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. You had a Jarge demand for eight or ten years for what tobacco you grew in

Essex county?

A. Yes.

Q. Give us the reason why there has not been such a demand for the last three or

four years?

Q. There is now an over production of tobacco, that is, chewing tobacco?

A. Yes.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. Does that apply only to chewing tobacco ?

A. Yes.

Q. There is a sufficient demand for smoking tobacco?
A. Yes, I think so.
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By Mr. Clements:

Q. You think that if the customs duties were better arranged there would be a

market in Canada for all that you could produce of it?

A. Yes.

Q. What effect would it have on the cigar manufacturers, of course they must be

taken into consideration?

A. It would make little or no difference to the cigar manufacturer, increasing

the custom duty and lowering the excise duty.

By Mr. Clarhe:

Q. Why are they making such an uproar against this proposed legislation ?

A. It would make this difference, that it would probably drive them to change

the brands they already have established and use Canadian leaf.

By Mr. Boss (Yale-Cariboo)

:

Q. I suppose they have worked out convenient connections for getting their

tobacco, and thej^ would have to change them?
A. Yes.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. What effect would it have upon the consumer?
A. No effect upon the consumer.

Q. You think it would have no effect upon the consumer?
A. I don't see that the effect would be noticeable.

By Mr. Boss (Yale-Carihoo)

:

Q. What would be the effect of smoking cigars made out of Canadian tobacco?

A. Well, I have introduced some of them. The people who have smoked them
have found them quite satisfactory,

Q. Did you try one of the cigars produced to-day?

A. I did not have a chance to test it thoroughly. I have smoked a good many
cigars made from Canadian tobacco.

Witness retired.
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House of Commons,,

• Committee Eoom 'No. 30,

Thursdaty, March 26, 1908.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met here this

day at 10 o'clock, a.m., Mr. McKenzie, chairman, presiding.

The Chairman.—As the members of the Committee are aware we intend to con-

tinue the investigation into the cultivation and preparation of tobacco. When we
adjourned yesterday Mr. Darius Wigle from the county of Essex, Ontario, was under
examination. That examination will be now continued.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. You have looked over the schedules and know the legislation which the gov-

ernment propose to enact. In your opinion what effect will the one license and stamp,

with the higher rate of duty, have upon the tobacco industry in your section as well

as in other parts of the country ?

A. One thing it will bring about better methods of curing and preparing ou,r

tobacco for the Canadian manufacturers.

Q. It will bring. about better methods of curing?

A. It will bring about better methods of curing. It will be an inducement to

manufacturers to manufacture Canadian grown tobacco leaf.

Q. Do you think the farmers require any education as to growing tobacco ; should

there be some other assistance given them in the way of instruction by experts, or is

Mr. Charlan, in your opinion, able to take care of the whole of the tobacco-growing

districts? Would you consider his territory too large?

A. Well, as far as Mr. Charlan is concerned, I am unable to answer the question

as to his ability, as I have never conversed with him to any extent, and I was unable

yesterday to understand his address, which was given in French. So far as the farmers

and tobacco growers in Western Ontario are concerned, I feel that they thoroughly

understand growing the crop and taking care of it. Our farmers, however, might be

urged to plant earlier, so that the crop would be harvested in the early fall, whilst the

weather is warmer and drier.

Q. Personaly, I have felt the need of some such change as the government intends

to bring about. When do you think that change should take place? I know the

farmers in my district will refuse to put in any tobacco, if the change is not made
known soon? What is your opinion about that?

The Chairman.—What changes do' you refer to ?

Mr. Clements.—The changes contemplated in the government's proposed legis-

lation ?

A. I would say this in answer to that : The farmers, under the present regulations

have a disposition to not plant very much tobacco during the coming year, because
they have the most of last year's crop on hand, and without they have some guarantee
from the government that there will be a change in the tariff, they will not plant very

much tobacco this year.

Q. How much of last year's crop is in the hands of the farmer at present?
A. I presume that four-fifths of the crop grown last year is still in the hands of

the farmer.
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By Mr. Owen:

Q. What does the American tobacco cost laid down here?

A. Cigar tobacco?

Q Yes?
A. Duty paid?

Q. Yes?
A. About 17 cents a pound for fillers.

Q. And what do you offer yours for in Canada?
A. I would sell it at from 12 to 17 cents a pound, that is fillers.

Q. That is the same quality of tobacco as the American tobacco?

A. It would be a better quality. I would say that my experience in the cured

tobaccos is this: I find that the American people ship their culls to this country

usually. I have seen almost hundreds of invoices showing that they are introducing

that tobacco at 7 cents a pound into the hands of our cigar manufacturers. When
that tobacco passes the international boundary line it has to pay 10 cents a pound,

which would make the price 17 cents a pound. The Canadian farmer growing cigar

tobacco should have from 8 to 10 cents per pound.

Q. Duty?
A. No, he should be paid from 8 to 10 cents per pound, that is the Canadian

grower. The handling and the processing of that tobacco costs 3 cents per pound.

That would be 13 cents. There is a shrinkage of about one cent and a half to two
cents, which would nearly reach an amount of 15 cents. Over and above that we con-

sider profit for the packer, who, however, has to incur other incidental expenses. We
are unable, as packers, in this country, to put a fair quality of cigar leaf in the hands
of the manufacturer as a filler at less than about 17 cents per pound, and 20 to 25 cents

for tobacco as a wrapper or a binder.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. Just one question in connection with that point. You, as a packer, and also

as a grower and purchaser of tobacco, living in the district where the tobacco is pro-

duced, feel that some change, from a legislative standpoint, is necessary in order to

keep the industry alive; that is in the interest of the grower?
A. Yes, there has got to be a change.

Q. And that at once?

A. Yes.

By Mr. McColl:

Q. Would the proposed changes that have been announced by the Minister of

Finance be satisfactory to the farmer or grower?
A. Not altogether, for the reason that the proposed change with respect to chew-

ing tobacco makes a reduction of 2 cents a pound.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. That is, that the grower is 2 cents worse off than he was before?
A. Yes. The manufacturer will benefit to the extent of 2 cents by tlio pro-

posed change. The duty was 35 cents, and it has now been decreased to 33. In refer-

ence to cigar tobaccos, there is a benefit to the grower, as against the cigar manufac-
turer, of 3 cents. The change in regard to stamp and license will certainly be a benefit

to the grower.

Q. What is the percentage of chewing and smoking tobacco grown in your dis-

trict, approximately?
A. I presume that there has been only about one-fourth of cigar tobaccos to three-

fourths of chewing tobaccos. Less than that, probably. To substantiate my remarks
as regards the 7 cent tobacco, I have visited the various packing houses of Ohio and
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the other States, and I would just merely read a letter that I got the other day from
a gentleman writing me from Wisconsin, a gentleman who wishes to take an interest

in my packing house, provided there is sufficient change in the duty and license to

warrant him of a good business in this country. He writes me:
' Dear Sir,—Yours received dated February 25th. I was in the country for two

weeks superintending a farmer's crop, to be assorted; that is why I have delayed

answering yours before. I am a sober and industrious man.
* As to your inquiry of my experience with the tobacco crop. We in this country

jSrst assort it, by separating the good from all damaged tobacco, such as pole rot, or

shed burn, sunburn, frosted and wet tobacco, and rust and ragged leaves; then put

the good over a sizing table graded into one, two, three, four, five, and so on, and then

packed in cases, and sweated, ready for cigar manufacture. After the sweating is

through we draw four hands from each case, as sample, putting the number of the

case on each sample.

The damaged tobacco is put up for export, and much of it is sent to your coun-

try.
The 1906 crop here molded because it was so cold and damp during the sweat-

ing process. Farmers often sprinkle their tobacco to make it heavier, gives us much
trouble and loss in handling it, as it is sure to show on the tobacco after it is sweat.'

Q. May I ask what is about the duty that they have to pay on tobacco now?
A. We have now ten cents on cigar tobacco, and the manufacturer gets the rebate

on his cuttings, he ships his cuttings to Germany and sells them at 12 cents a pound,

and he gets a rebate form the government of 10 cents a pound, so that he realizes 22

cents a pound; the rebate is equal to one-half the duty he pays in the first place, or

about 5 cents per pound at the present time.

Q. As far as the rebate is concerned that is a matter of trade, he gets a rebate of

5 cents a pound or one half what he imports—it means up to one half, he imports

at 10 cents a pound and then he is allowed a rebate of 5 cents a pound when he

exports it, is that it?

A. No, he pays a duty of 10 cents a pound on what he imports, and on the

cuttings from his factory he has the privilege of exporting them, and the government
pays him ten cents a pound for all that he exports, and that 10 cents on what he
exports is almost equal to a half of what he pays in duty.

Q. He is allowed a rebate on the home grown tobacco, is he?

A. No, I am speaking of foreign leaf.

Q. The excise is, of course, the same in both cases?

A. The same in both cases, so that I have always claimed there was not more
than about $1 on a thousand cigars difference in duty between the Canadian or the

domestic cigar and the foreign leaf manufactured by a foreign leaf manufactory.

By Mr. Owen:

Q. I would like to ask a question. As you travel around quite a bit, do our farm-
ers cultivate the land so as to get as many pounds per acre as possible out of the

land?

A. Yes.

Q. As I understand it the land has to be specially prepared and while the plants
are growing the weeds must be kept out, because the plant requires all the nourish-
ment there is in the land, without allowing anything to go into weed. Unless tobacco
is kept very clean it will not do as well as it would if it were kept free from weeds,
is that so?

A. No, it will not.

Q. Do our farmers take every care while the plant is growing to get as many
pounds per acre as possible?
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A. They do in Western Ontario. I am not posted as regards the cultivation of

tobacco in Quebec, but I will venture to say that you can go through the tobacco

fields of Western Ontario and you will not find more on the average than one weed

to the acre, and even you will find ten acres in which there is not a weed to be found.

Mr. Barr.—That is pretty nearly perfection.

Having read the preceding transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

DARIUS WIGLE,
Tobacco Handler.

The Chairman.—^We will now hear Mr. Lewis Wigle, who is likewise from the

County of Essex, in Western Ontario.

Mr. Lewis Wigle, called:—

-

By Mr. Clements:

Q. I understand you have had a good many years experience in buying and grow-

ing tobacco?

A. Yes, I purchased nearly all the tobacco that was grown in the county of

Essex and a good portion of Kent from the year 1864 to 1895.

Q. You are practically one of the pioneers in the tobacco growing industry?

A. Yes, 1 grow the first Burley tobacco in 1894 or '95, I am not sure which. I

grew the Burley tobacco from which the first plug of chewing tobacco was ever

manufactured in the Dominion. I can tell you how I know it was the first. The
Empire Tobacco Company had made up their minds to try to cultivate the growing

of Burley tobacco in this country; they had always been purchasing it to the south,

in the United States, and they felt it might be grown successfully in the prov-

ince of Ontario. Mr. Archibald, who was then one of the partners of the Empire
Tobacco Company, came to Essex county and enquired who had been purchasing the

tobacco in that part of the country. He was told that I had been buying it, so he came
to me with the seed he had purchased in the United States and asked me to plant all

I could myself and to give the balance of the seed to the farmers around that country
who I thought would grow it and prepare it for him. He paid me nine cents a pound
for it, I grew 18 acres, and he was so anxious to test it, to ascertain whether he could

make a success of Canadian Burley with his formula that he induced me to put a

stove in my barn, and attach it to the natural gas pipe, we had natural gas in the

town, in order that I might dry it before nature would do it so that he might get it

to his factory more quickly in order to test it. That is the reason I know that my
tobacco was the first tobacco that was ever manufactured into chewing tobacco in

this country.

Q. You bought for the Empire Tobacco Company for a number of years, for how
long a period?

A. I have bought for them since 1895.

Q. What kind of chewing tobacco do you recommend as the most profitable for

us to grow?
A. Burley is the only tobacco for chewing tobacco.

Q. Why is that?

A. Burley is the only tobacco for chewing tobacco" on account of its absorbing

qualities. It absorbs the sweets, the liquids and moUisses and so forth, that they put

into the tobacco. No other tobacco would do that-.
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Q. Does Mr. Charlan agree with you, you say that Burley is the only tobacco

for chewing tobacco?

A. Burley is the only tobacco that they make a success of in manufacturing into

chewing tobacco.

Q. I understood from Mr. Charlan's evidence yesterday that there is an over

production of Burley tobacco, why is that?

A. There is an over-production because we in Canada do not have our own country

for our own tobacco of that kind; there is too much imported from the United States.

I understand by the returns, brought dowil by the government in 1906 that there were

nearly 10,000,000 pounds of Burley tobacco bought in the United States. We have a-

demand here for between four and five million pounds at the present time.

Q. That is all that the Canadian growers produce?

A. The Canadian manufacturers manufacture Canadian Burley to the extent of

about four or five million pounds a year.

By Mr. Broder:

Q. Do you know the amount of tobacco which is manufactured, imported and all?

A, Do you niean the manufacture of chewing tobacco or how much leaf was
imported from the United States?

Q. I want to know the quantity of leaf of these different kinds of tobacco which
they use?

A, Fifteen millions and some odd pounds were imported in 1906, about twelve

millions of the same kind that we raise, and to my mind no better.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. Would that be practically the same kind?

A. Yes, the same kind.

Q. That all goes into chewing tobacco?

A. Well, they use the bottom leaves, the lighter leaves of Burley, for a certain

kind of smoking tobacco.

Q. Under the present conditions has the Canadian grower a sufficient duty upon
his tobacco, or what protection should there be? Explain to this committee how it is,

for example, that Mr. Macdonald can pay an excise duty of 20 cents, I think it is,

upon the tobacco which he imports ?

A, The excise duty is 25 cents on American and 5 cents on Canadian. He pays

20 cents more excise duty than the manufacturer of Canadian tobacco does.

Q. He pays 20 cents a pound more ?

A. 20 cents a pound more excise and 10 cents duty.

Q. K the tobacco which he imports is the same kind of tobacco that we grow
here and he pays 20 cents a pound more excise and 10 cents duty on it, can you give

any explanation of that?

A. I think so. I think the reason that Mr. Macdonald makes tobacco to suit

the tastes of the people of this country is because they have got accustomed to it and

to his formula. It is a formula that they like and it acts like a patent right on the

kind of tobacco that he makes. I think that if Mr. Macdonald would make chewing

tobacco with his formula out of the Canadian Burley he could make just as good chew-

ing tobacco as he does to-day out of the American Burley.

By Mr. Broder:

Q. Does he not use any Canadian Burley?

A. Not a pound. He takes a license to manufacture American leaf and is not

allowed to manufacture Canadian leaf. It has often seemed to me that if this govern-

ment would give Mr. Macdonald the right to buy fifty or 100 thousand pounds, or

whatever quantity they choose, and manufacture it into chewing tobacco with his
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formula to test whether he cannot make as good out of our tobacco as he does out of

American, it would be a good thing.

By Mr. Gordon:

Q. Would he do so?

A. I don't know whether he would.

Q. I understand he refused absolutely?

A. He was asked to give evidence before the Agriculture Committee in this House

some years ago as to the manufacture of chewing tobacco out of Canadian. He said

then, so I am told, that he had tried to make chewing tobacco out of Canadian leaf

and he could not make a succes of it with his formula and he never would try it

again. But at that time there was not such a thing as Burley tobacco known in this

country. He had been importing Burley tobacco to manufacture into chewing tobacco,

and when he took the leaf tobacco which was grown at that time as a smoking tobacco

it would not absorb as the Burley tobacco did and, of course, he could not make a

success of it. I claim that if he was compelled to manufacture Canadian Burley he

could make just as good a tobacco as he does from the manufacture of American

Burley.

Q. With your experience you have no doubt of that?

A. I might say this : I have been told more than once by an expert purchaser of

tobacco in the United States that he had bought millions of pounds of American
Burley tobacco and shipped to Mr. Macdonald and he never shipped a pound of bet-

ter Burley tobacco than we grow in this country. Now here is the Burley tobacco

grown in the County of Essex (producing sample). They cannot beat that Burley

tobacco in the United States. I was in Kentucky two years ago last October, for a

week, in Woodford county, Kentucky, at a place called Midway, fourteen miles from
Lexington. A cousin of my wife's has a 2,000 acre farm there and he grows 200

acres of Burley tobacco every year. When I told him that I purchased tobacco for

the Empire Tobacco Company in Canada he asked me if I would like to come and
look through the barns and see if he kept the tobacco in the same way as we did. I

went to his barns and found that they were the same as ours. The doors were fixed

with hinges to open out and let the air through. The tobacco was the same kind of

Burley and it was put on the sticks in the same way; in fact everything was done
in the same way only that his Burley was not as large as ours. It was a smaller

tobacco, the stem was smaller, the rib here (pointing to the sample) was smaller, and
it had a finer appearance. But I found out the reason for that in going through the
country. They do not plant that tobacco there in the same way as we do. We plant
it about 3 feet 8 inches apart; they plant theirs 30 inches apart each way. We put
a little over 4,000 plants to the acre; they put nearly 7,000 plants to the acre. So you
can understand that when 7,000 plants are put on an acre the stalk does not grow as

large stems or as large leaf.

By Mr. Broder:

Q. The plant does not get as much sun?
A. The plants are closer and they do not have the space to make them large.

If we in this country planted in the same way we could grow the same kind of Burley.
But we plant 3 feet 8 inches apart and that will not grow Burley as small as in Ken-
tucky. However the Burley that will grow in the county of Essex cannot be beaten
in any country in the world.

TOBACCO GROWING ON PELEE ISLAND.

Q. Was that a sample grown last summer?
A. A year ago last summer. Now, Velee Isahid is in the county of Essex and

16 miles out in the lake, half way between Essex and the United States, you might
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say the State of Ohio. It is about 5 miles one way and perhaps 12 miles the other.

They have there the very same soil that they have in Kentucky—a limestone bottom
—and that is especially adapted to the growth of Burley tobacco. Not only has the

soil on Pelee Island a limestone bottom, but it is out in the lake where the air keeps

the frost away, so that they can plant a week and sometimes two weeks earlier than we
can 16 miles away and the frost remains away for from one to two weeks later in the

fall.

By Mr. Clarke :

Q. Therefore, they can grow a tobacco of better quality?

A. A better quality. They can grow as good Burley tobacco there as they can

anywhere else in the world. The farmers cannot get the plants they want to plant

sometimes. Coming to that point Mr. Darius Wigle said he thought that the farmers

are being educated to plant much earlier. That is a fact. They first began by

sowing seed in beds in the woods, in the open air. They could grow tobacco plants

there but they could not plant them so soon. Then they got to planting the seed

Sinder cotton, they did that for a while, and now they have glass houses to put it

under, and have artificial heat in them so that they can get the growth earlier.

If they can get tobacco in about the first of June it is sure to be a good crop, we
have never missed a crop in the last eleven or twelve years, since we have been growing
Burley tobacco.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. You have no doubt that we can grow tobacco here in Canada equally good,

sufficiently good, not only for chewing, but for ordinary good cigars?

A. I am not so much posted as to the cigar tobacco, but I believe we can grow

Zimmer Spanish and the big Havana and Connecticut seed leaf—all these are smoking

tobaccos that I believe are specially adapted to this country, those three kinds. We
can't grow Cuban tobacco successfully here, and I am told they cannot grow Cuban
tobacco in Florida. The United States import large quantities of Cuban tobacco and
pay a duty on it in that country. They pay millions of dollars of duty on tobacco

they can't grow, but they are sure to fix their tariifs so that they do not pay duty on

tobaccos they can grow. I believe we should do the same thing. I believe there can
be enough tobacco grown in this country to supply the wants of this country, and why
can't we grow it?

By Mr. Carrier:

Q. I suppose you are aware of the fact that this particular brand of tobacco can
only be grown in a certain portion of Cuba, because the soil in that part of the country
is of that particular nature which, I think, gives it that special flavour?

A. I do not think there is any use in discussing that question of Cuban tobacco.

By Mr. Carrier:

Q. You say it is not grown anywhere else than in Cuba, but not even in Cuba
IS it grown all over the island?

By Mr. Mclntyre (Sfrathcona)

:

Q. Do you know anything about tobacco grown in the southern valleys of British

Columbia ?

A. No, but I am told they do grc»w tobacco there. My belief is that tobacco can

be grown wherever corn can be grown.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. That is, you do not think the soil makes much difference?

A. Oh, yes, the soil makes some difference.

Q. How many po-ands per acre does it produce?
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A. In our country it averages 1,400 pounds, that is Burley; and to show thq

extent to which it can be grown, in the county of Essex there are warehouses in Har-
row, in the township of Colchester South; at Kingsville, in the township of South

Gosfield; and Leamington, in the township of Mersea. Now, there were 7,500,000

pounds of Burley tobacco grown in Essex and Kent in 1906. Over 4,000,000 pounds of

that were grown in these three townships, and the people who live in those three town-

ships have the advantage over the outsiders on account of the warehouses being there

and the buyers being there—it is the head centre. Outside of these three places the

outsiders do not have as good a chance to sell their goods ; there is only a demand for

a certain quantity, and the outsiders, I consider, do not have a fair chance when there

is more grown than required. Now, if we had our own country for our own Canadian
tobacco, if we had our own market for the 14,000,000 pounds instead of only 4,000,000

or 5,000,000 pounds—if we had our own market for our own Burley tobacco, I am sure

in Essex and Kent counties alone we can grow from 14,000,000 to 15,000,000 pounds

every year without much exertion. If the farmers were only sure that they had our

own market it would pay them to put up barns to cure it in and prepare the land for

it. We have to lc*eep them back from producing every year. I will tell you what the

Empire Tobbaco Company had me do a year ago last spring. They first had me send

out a circular through the township in which I bought tobacco, the township of Col-

chester South—I bought for them in 1906 1,200,000 pounds in that one township

—

they had me send out a circular to the farmers from whom we had purchased tobacco

the last year asking them not to grow but very little, because they were afraid they

were overstocked and would not be in a position to purchase much. And, to make it

stronger, so that the farmers would not misunderstand them, they sent me personally

with my horse and buggy to tell the people they had better not grow tobacco, because

I would not be there at all this year to buy from them. I have not bought a pound of

the growth of 1907, the output is all on their hands except a few thousand pounds.

Q. Simply because there is no demand for it ?

A. There is no demand for it and the Empire Tobacco Company did not want the

farmers to grow tobacco for which there would be no market.

By Mr. Carrier:

Q. You said you are a buyer for the Empire Tobacco Company?
A. Yes.

Q. Do you not think the prices at which the Empire Tobacco Company is selling

their goods to the trade is not in keeping with the prices they pay to the farmers ?

A. How, selling it?

Q. Excuse me—what you pay to the growers—what are the prices paid usually

by the Empire Tobacco Company to the grower or handler?

A. We bought direct from the farmers.

Q. Is it not ten to twelve cents a pound ?

A. We bought for three or four years at as high as ten, eleven and twelve cents

per pound, then they began to over-produce and then the prices went down. We paid

in 1907, for the growth of 1906, eight cents and six cents and down to four cents.

Q. This tobacco costs the Empire Tobacco Company, domestic grown, about ten

cents a pound, about 2i cents freight, or an average of 12i cents a pound?
A. Yes.

Q. I suppose it costs to manufacture it into plugs about five cents per pound as

a maximum?
A. I don't know about that.

Q. Do you know that the lowest price at which the Empire Tobacco Company is

selling to the trade is 25 cents a pound, what does that represent ? 200 i>er cent profit ?

A. I will put it in another way; Mr. Macdonald pays 10 cents and brings it from
the United States and sells it at 25 cents a pound more, and he puts 12 plugs to the
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pound instead of 8. Now if the American tobacco was kept out of this country and

Mr. Macdonald (was made to manufacture our tobacco with his formula, I believe he

would make as good chewing tobacco as he makes now.

An Hon. Member.—Mr. Macdonald has a monopoly.

A. He has a monopoly, but he wouldn't have a monopoly if Mr. Macdonald's agents

were travelling up and down the concessions in the townships of Essex and Kent
buying his 10,000,000 pounds of leaf there instead of up and -down the side lines of

Kentucky. There would be competition then between him and every other manu-
facturer.

Q. Yes, but you see Mr. Macdonald introduced his tobaccos in this country 25

or 30 years ago, and everybody to-day thinks they can't do without Macdonald's

tobacco any more than they can do without salt and pepper. It is a kind of prejudice,

but he has no tobaccos he sells to the trade at less than 65 cents and this tobacco costs

him 25 to 30 cents to bring it "to this country . Now, he will pay a, customs duty on
that of 28 cents a pound, which with excise duty puts the cost to him up to probably

58 cents or something like that. That tobacco does not cost Mr. Macdonald more than

5 cents a pound to manufacture, and yet it is sold at 80 cents a pound, therefore realiz-

ing a profit of from 50 to 100 per cent. Every day Mr. Macdonald is using a carload

of tobacco and he is making an average of $3,000 a day profit. It is the same with

Mr. Tuckett of Hamilton?
A. I understand all that, but I will give you my version. Up in the county of

Essex, years ago before we grew tobacco, the people thought they could not chew any-

thing but Macdonald tobacco. It took them a long time to get educated to chew
tobacco made out of Canadian leaf. Now there is not one pound of Macdonald tobacco

sold in the western country where there are 100 pounds made out of Canadian leaf

sold. I will tell you what I would do, I would put the duty high enough to keep

American tobacco from coming into this country and I would say to the manufac-
turer, ' You have got to manufacture your chewing tobacco out of Canadian leaf or

quit the business.' To the chewers in this country I would say ' You have got to chew
Canadian tobacco or quit.

'

By Mr. Zimmerman :

Q. Oh, no, that would never do ?

A. If Mr. Macdonald with his formula can make as good chewing tobacco out of

Canadian leaf as he can out of American why should he not do it?

Q. He has built up a business on imported tobaccos and the people of this coun-
try want that?

A. I want to give you an experience which came to my notice. The ex-Reeve of

Pelee Island and I were discussing that very thing six months ago ; he said,

' I want to give you my experience on the chewing of tobacco. I never chewed any
tobacco in my life except Macdonald's until last summer. Then the merchant with

whom I deal at Pelee Island ran out of Macdonald's tobacco and I was compelled

to buy a plug of tobacco made out of Canadian leaf. I chewed that tobacco for three

weeks. I longed at first for the Macdonald tobacco but got used to the Canadian.

At the end of three weeks I took a chew of the Mftcdonald tobacco but spat it out,

and have never chewed a chew of Macdonald tobacco since.
'

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. Won't that apply to smoking tobacco as well?

A. I don't know very much about smoking tobacco.

Q. They can smoke our tobaccos too ?

A. Yes, they can smoke it, too. I think we should do as they do in the United

States. There they say, '"We can gro'iP all the tobacco we want and no other country
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can ship to ns unless they pay 35 cents duty.' That duty is prohibitive. Nobody ever

heard of a Canadian farmer getting a dollar for tobacco shipped by him to the United
States. On the other hand, the farmers there get a million and a half of dollars every

year for supplying the same kind of tobacco to this country that we can grow ourselves.

What we should say is, ' We can grow all the tobacco we want in this country and you
shall not ship any to us.' Make the duty so high that you will not get any customs

revenue out of it
;
keep it out of the country. Or, if you want revenue, put enough

excise duty on it. That is the way they do on the other side.

By Mr, Gordon :

Q. Would you apply that policy to other commodities or just to tobacco?

A. I am talking of tobacco.

Q. I am looking as to what the effect of that policy would be?

A. Well, I would not.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. You do not believe in such a policy for everything?

A. No, I do not belive in that for everything, I am talking about tobacco. If we
ever produce any other product but tobacco, we can feed or export it, but tobacco we
can neither feed nor export.

By Mr. Broder:

Q. You cannot safely encourage the cultivation of tobacco to any extent even if

we had our own market?

A. I have a memorandum here of the tobacco production in the townships that I

know. Take Colchester south and north in South Essex. They grew in 1906 about

1,300,000 pounds. Now I say that if we had our own market for our own tobacco

that would mean a consumption of 14,000,000 pounds of Burley and the production

in that township would be 2,000,000 pounds. That is not a very extravagant statement.

Then take Anderdon and Maldon, I claim they would grow 1,000,000 pounds in the

two townships. The land is not as well adapted for the growth of tobacco, but the

climate is exceptionally good, these townships being situated on the Detroit Biver

and Lake Erie.

By Mr. Glarhe:

Q. I think it is safe to say the County of Essex would produce double its present

consumption ?

A. Gosfield south and north now grow about one million and a half of pounds.

They could grow 2,000,000. Mersea township grew 1,700,000 pounds in 1906. In
that township 2,000,000 pounds could be grown without any difficulty. Tilbury west
and north would produce 1,000,000 pounds, Eochester and Maidstone 1.000,000,

Sandwich south and west, 1,000,000 pounds. That would be a production of 10,000,000

of Burley leaf tobacco in the county of Essex. The county of Kent can grow
10,000,000 pounds. There is no mistake about that because I have bought all through
that county and they have exceptionally good land.

By Mr. Carrier:

Q. I don't know that, they raise a good bean crop there?
A. They prefer to raise tobacco if they can sell it. Now, Pclee Island alone will

grow 2,000,000 pounds.

By Mr. Zimmerman : i

Q. Don't you think that if they improve the quality of Canadian tobacco there
would be no trouble in regard to the sale? I find in Hamilton
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A. Will you please wait a minute until I get through with this statement.

Pelee Island will grow 2,000,000 pounds, and then I claim they can grow outside of the

counties of Essex and Kent, on the north shore of Lake Erie all the way down to

Niagara, over 5,000,000 pounds at least. That would be a total of 27,000,000

pounds by the estimate I have given.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. What would our Quebec friends do^
A. They grow smoking tobacco and we grow Burley tobacco for chewing. .

They cannot grow Burley tobacco successfully there.

By Mr. McOoll:

Q. Would this 27,000,000 pounds be consumed?
A. No, it would not be consumed. The consumption now amounts to only

between 14 and 15 million pounds.

Q. What would you do with the surplus?

A. If we had the market in Canada for all that we use there would be a con-

sumption of 15,000,000 pounds of Canadian tobacco instead of 4,000,000 pounds.

And the consumption would grow; it is like everything else. I see present Mr.
Armstrong, who represents one of the Lambtons. They grow corn in Lambton, don't

they, Mr. Armstrong? Well they can grow tobacco there; there is no mistake about

that. Now about the price. I paid Kobert Wigle, who is a farmer and a cousin of

mine, $1,975 for the product of less than 12 acres for Burley tobacco, at the rate of 11

cents a pound. You can see from this how it would pay the farmer.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. What would be the cost of producing that?

A. It cost about $45 an acre, but it would be $50 an acre now with the price

of labour as it is. Talk about impoverishing the land. I went to buy tobacco from
Mr. Abram Bruner of Olinda a few years ago and I said to him 'That is as nice a

field of tobacco as I have seen in years. Have you grown much tobacco on this land?'

He said, ' I have had fourteen crops on this same land, and out of that number only

one crop of potatoes and thirteen crops of tobacco; I think this is as good tobacco

as I have ever had.

'

By an Honourable Meniher:

Q. Would you not consider that hard on the land?

A. You have got to keep the land fertilized. Some gentlemen asked a while ago

if the farmers up there have to prepare the land specially. They do have to prepare

the land specially. They put on barnyard manure. Now there is a special fertilizer

being used which was brought out by the agent of the American Tobacco Company.
He sells it to the farmers and waits until they sell their tobacco for his payment.

Q. Does this land produce good crops afterwards?

A. Yes, sir, the crop is all right. Now there is a question which Mr. Zimmerman
wanted to ask me.

By Mr. Zimmerman:

Q. I made the statement that if the quality of Canadian tobacco was such that

the cigar and tobacco manufacturers of the country could use it—

?

A. You cannot go into Mr. MacDonald's factory and pick out a better hand out
of his million pounds of American Burley than that (holding up a sample or Canadian
Burley grown in Essex county). They all admit you can pick out a 'hand' here and
there, but not in any quantity first-class.
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I venture to say that you can go to the Empire Tobacco Company's institu-

tion in Granby and you will see millions of pounds of Canadian grown tobacco there

that is better tobacco than Macdonald's. You let an expert go into Macdonald's

tobacco warehouses and see his Burley tobacco that he imports from the United

States, and let that same expert go to Granby and see the tobacco that the Empire

Tobacco Company has, and I will stake my existence they would give their decision

in favour of the Empire Tohacco Company's tobacco—that is all chewing that I am
talking of, all Burley tobacco.

Q. Would it not be to the advantage of the manufacturer to use Canadian tobacco

if it is as good?

A. Yes, I believe it would be to Mr. Macdonald's advantage to-day to use it.

Q. You have to-day 32 cents a pound protection on an article that costs five

cents to raise, and it appears to me you are the highest protected industry in Canada

to-day ?

A. Yes, I know but we are not high enough protected to keep that American

stuff out and that is what we have to do.

Q. Does that argument apply to everything?

A. No, it will not, but we can grow enough for this country, and just about

enough. When we have a market for only 4,000,000 we can grow too much and I will

tell you why.

Q. It is 600 or 700 per cent ?

A. I will tell you why, it is not protected enough, because a man who is disposed

to manufacture Canadian leaf cannot manufacture a pound of American leaf in that

same factory and have his rebates. That is the reason, and the manufacturers of

Canadian leaf manufacture about 4,000,000 pounds a year and the manufacturers

oi Am.erican leaf manufacture between 9,000,000 and 10,000,000 pounds a year. If

you can fix it some way so that the man who manufactures American leaf can also

manufacture Canadian leaf and so give Macdonald a chance to try it, or fix it some
way to make him try it you will find he can manufacture tobacco, out of Canadia^n

Burley as well as he can out of American Burley.

Q. What is the objection of Mr. Macdonald to using Canadian tobacco?

A. Mr. Macdonald pays 20 cents more excise than the manufacturer of Canadian
leaf and 10 cents customs duty. Under the new arrangement the 20 cents excise is

knocked off, and 18 cents is put on the customs, so that he only pays 28 cents in

customs and 5 cents excise.

By Mr. Clarke:

Q. So that it will be an additional advantage that the stem which before did not
pay excise is now paying an extra 18 cents a pound, is not that so?

A. Yes, they ,do not pay the excise on the stems but they pay excise on the
molasses and licorice and all that kind of stuff they put in, which is heavier than
the stem.

Q. Yes, and the regulations provide for them still paying duty on molasses and
everything?

A. Well, I do not know about the molasses and tobacco separately.

Q. When you speak of the 28 cents customs duty instead of the former one of
10 cents, how much will that be increased by the increase on account of the stem,
-what proportion of stem is there?

A. I do not know.

Q. It is one-third or one-fourth, I believe?
A. Yes.

Q. So that would make a difference on a pound of four or five cents ?

A. He does not pay excise on molasses.

Q. That is provided for?

2—3
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A. Did it come in free before?

Q. There was a customs duty before and that is as it is now, that does not
interfere with it ?

A. Now Mr. Macdonald pays 20 cents more excise on the manufactured Canadian
leaf, when he imports molasses doesn't he pay duty on it now?

Mr. Carrier.—Not when it is from the British Isles.

By Mr. Zimmerman:

Q. The conditions are just the same now as they were before as far as that is

concerned ?

A. This molasses will take up just as much weight as the stem.

By Mr. Clarice :

Q. What proportion of the plug does the molasses and other ingredients repre-

sent ?

A. I really cannot tell you that.

Q. Is there any standard?

A. No, I suppose it is according to the formula of the manufacturer, some
would be more and some less.

By Mr. Zimmerman:

Q. I think that in chewing tobacco it runs about 40 per cent?

A. They have been paying 20 cents excise on that 40 per cent that they won't

be paying now.

Q. Yes, but they are paying a percentage, as I understand it, of excise on the

ingredients that go into the plug.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. Yes, and that is continued under the new regulations?

A. I have never seen that.

By Mr. Armstrong

:

Q. Can you suggest any remedy for the present situation?

A. To my mind there is only one remedy, and that is—the Americans put

duty enough on to keep our tobacco out—and I say we ought to put duty enough on

to keep theirs but.

Q. How much protection ought there to be?

A. Well, the Americans put 35 cents on us.

Q. Leave the American duty out?

A. I would consider 35 cents, and if that would not keep it out I would put on
forty—^put on enough to keep it out anyway.

By Mr. Avery:

Q. You said a few minutes ago that Mr. Macdonald won't manufacture Canadian
tobacco ?

A. He doesn't, and I understand he says he won't.

Q. But he can, under the new law?
A. No.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. But he can under the proposed regulations?

A. No, he cannot do it, I don't think he can.
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Q. With the -uniform stamp, the same license for everybody; before he could not

do it, but under the new conditions proposed he can?

By Mr. Zimmerman:

Q. In all fairness, when you deliberately try to wipe out a man's business, he

has worked up a business on certain tobaccos during the last fifty years, he has estab-

lished a trade in tobacco, he has made one brand for fifty years, would you deliberately

come here and advocate the prohibition of that man importing that tobacco upon

which he has built up this trade, in the interest of the farmer?

A. I tell you what I would say to Mr. Macdonald.

Q. I am not speaking about Mr. Macdonald particularly, there are others?

A. Well, I would say this to the manufacturer of the American leaf, ^ keep on

manufacturing but buy your leaf tobacco in our own country.'

Q. That is no reply to my question. There are men who have established a large

business on certain classes of tobacco, their customers want it and are willing to pay

for it, and yet you would deliberately wipe out that man's business ?

A. No, I would not want to wipe out his business. But I will tell you what

I would say :
' I believe we can grow as good Burley tobacco in this country as in the

country that you buy from, and I want you to try some of it.'

Q. Your opinion is only one opinion?

A. That is right.

Q. But the manufacturer's opinion is different?

A. That is right.

By Mr. Armstrong :

Q. Mr. Macdonald, as Mr. Wigle has said, has never tried the Canadian Burley.

Is it unreasonable to ask him to try it?

A. I would ask him to try it.

Mr. Knowles.—I want to raise a point of order, Mr. Chairman. I think the witness

is too much disposed to argument and too contentious. I want to say this, I think it is a

dangerous precedent to have a gentleman come here and advocate some contentious

point such as protection. I can see if we are going to do that we are entering into

a very large problem. Those who are favouring freer trade have just as much right

to bring people here to give adverse opinions. With all respect to the witness, I think
it is a dangerous precedent, and I do not think, in this connection, that members of

parliament want education along the line of protection. The Lord knows we have

plenty of protection in this country at present ; that is my personal view. I think the

witness should give evidence as to facts and not enter into contentious controversial

matters.

Mr. Sproule.—The witness was asked a direct question by the member for

Hamilton, ' What in your opinion would be the remedy ?

'

Mr. Knowles.—Then my quarrel may be with Mr. Zimmerman.

Mr. Sproule.—And the witness tells us what he honestly conceives to be the

right remedy. That is what he was brought here to tell the committee. He comes
from the locality in which the tobacco is grown. Surely he is quite within his rights

to answer questions which are put to him.

Mr. Armstrong.—Mr. Wigle was asked to come hero and give evidence. We want

evidence from practical men like him who have been in the tobacco business for years

and who understand the needs of the industry. I asked Mr. Wigle >a simple question,

to suggest a remedy for the difficulties which now exist. He is suggesting a romody.

2—3i
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Ts there anything wrong in suggesting a remedy even if it is along the line of
increased protection, is there anything unreasonable or unfair about it ?

Mr. Clarke.—Do not let us take up time arguing. I want to ask a few questions
of interest to the farmers.

Mr. Gordon.—I feel very deeply interested in the debate, but I am not satisfied

with the information that has been given. What we want is the increased consump-
tion of Canadian tobacco, and I understand what Mr. Wigle proposes to do is to

compel the consumer to buy Canadian tobacco, or to compel the manufacturer to do

so, even if the consumer does not. Surely a step in the right direction would be to

encourage the farmers to raise the kind of tobacco that will bring them the greater

profit.

By Mr. Clarke :

Q. How long has tobacco been grown in Essex and in Kent ?

^ A. Do you mean all kinds of tobacco ?

Q. Yes ? I wish you would trace briefly the history of that growth ?

A. I believe it was grown more than 100 years ago.

Q. I understand it was grown 200 years ago by the Indians, who were called the

Tobacco Nation ?

A. Yes.

Q. You have lived all your life in Essex, will you state what the growth of tobacco

has been from the beginning ?

A. We used to consider it a good crop if they raised 100,000 pounds in the whole

peninsula.

Q. Tip to what time would that extend?

A. Up to about 1894.

Q. Before that year was any attempt made to grow tobacco in anything like the

proportions that are grown at the present time ?

A. No. It was this Burley tobacco that brought the growing of tobacco into

that country.

Q. About 1894 ?

A. Yes, in the first year this was grown about 80,000 pounds were raised.

Q. I have a statement here which I would like to place on the record. It is

taken from the Leamington ^Post.' It shows that in 1895 the total production was
60,000 pounds ?

A. I said 80,000 pounds, so that I was pretty close to it. I know I bought four

carloads that year and there are 20,000 pounds in a carload.

Q. I will give the statement as I find it here (reads) :

—

Year. Pounds.

1895 60,000

1896 80,000

1897 , 600,000

1898 4,750,000

1899. 2,000,000

1900 3,250,000

1901 2,500,000

1902 1,500,000

1903 3,250,000

1904 5,500,000

1905 6,500,000

1906 7,500,000

A. Are these figures correct?

Q. What year were the 4,000,000 grown?
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A. In 1898, 4,750,000 pounds. In 1898 it was estimated that there were S,000,000

pounds in Essex and Kent and I will tell you what started the growing of it then.

Q. One moment. You think the figures for 1898 are not correct?

A. I think not.

Q. What about the other years approximately?

A. A little more than that was grown each year. In 1897 the tobacco manu-
facturers paid about 12 cents a pound. All the farmers from St. Thomas west to

Windsor were discussing the growing of tobacco. As I had been in the tobacco business

there since 1864 they had me to address farmers' institute meetings on tobacco cul-

ture. I have picked up a circular which I had at that time entitled ' Instructiong

for Growing Tobacco in Canada. ' This circular was distributed among the farmers.

At one meeting the question was asked ' Was it not good to keep the land clear of

weeds and all that V I took one of the clauses contained in these circulars distri-

buted among the farmers—that is away back in 1897—which reads as follows

:

' Keep the weeds out. Keep the suckers pulled off, top low, 14 leaves. Keep the

tobacco worms well cleaned off, they always eat the best part of the leaf and will

destroy the crop. You can't be too particular about that part of it.

'

Q. They put in turkeys now to eat the worms?
A. They put in turkeys now instead of boys; they are cheai>er. I gave the

farmers an address at nearly every institute from lona near St. Thomas, west to

Windsor and Amberstburg, on tobacco culture and I told them at nearly every
meeting ' Tobacco is 12 cents a pound but there is only a demand for 3,000,000

pounds '—that is about what I estimated at that time

—

' Don't grow very much but
raise the best tobacco you can and you will get a fair price for it; but if there is an
over-production prices will surely go down. ' That year prices went down because
the farmers grew too much.

Q. I see the average for that year is 5| cents?

A. The price was about 10 cents and it went down
Q. To nearly one-half?

A. Nearly one-half, yes, because there was too much tobacco grown; more than
was needed to meet the demand.

Q. I am afraid you are responsible for the drop, you told them to grow
tobacco ?

A. They would have grown twice as much if I had not told them not to. I knew
what the demand was and told them at every meeting.

Q. In all these years from 1895 to 1906 there has been a considerable fluctua-
tion in prices?

A. Yes.

Q. Running from 6^ and 5| ? Some years it was 11 cents, running on to about
8 or 9 cents?

A. Something like that.

Q. According to the production?
A. Yes.

Q. The present year, I believe they cannot sell tobacco at all?

A. No;

Q. Do you know what the intention of your company is about buying last sea-

son's crop of tobacco?

A. The manager of the leaf department of the Empire Tobacco Company is

now down in North Carolina, but his brother has been telling the farmers ' We are
not going to buy any tobacco until after the new crop has been put in this year.

'

If there was not too much put in, he said, they were going to buy last year's crop;
but if the farmers planted a lot of tobacco the company were not going to buy any
at all. This was meant to restrain them from growing tobacco.
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Q. The result would be that the farmer would lose his crop if he did?

A. That is it.

By Mr. Zimmerman:

Q. That same condition is existing in Connecticut to-day. I see the American
Tobacco Trust have agreed to purchase the tobacco crop of last year and the year before

that is on hand, provided the farmers will not grow any this year?

A. They are paying a pretty fair price on the average, 15 cents a pound.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. Our Burley is, I think, as good as the Burley they are bringing in, judging

from what everybody says?

A. I am sure it is, from what I know, I am sure of it.

. Q, I am sure of that too?

A. Yes.

^ Q. What prices are paid over in the United States to the farmers for that class

of Burley which we produce in Essex and Kent?
A. The year I was there, two years ago last October, Mr. Parish told me that he

sold the same for 11 cents a pound.

Q. I am told that is about the run of prices over there?

A. Yes.

Q. And while they were paying 11 cents a pound over there the price in Essex

—

A. That would be in 1905 ?

Q. Yes, that was in 1905, and according to this paper the price in Essex at that

time was 8J cents?

A. That may have been the average,, we paid from 11 cents down to 6; it would
average probably 84.

Q. That is not the fact, if you read this you will see that he puts the high price

at 9 and 8^ cents for the average.

A. What year is that?

Q. 1905 ? -

A. That would be for the growth of 1904, jou see, what is it next year?

Q. You would run an average of about 8i cents as against 11 cents which the

farmer got in the United States ?

A. Yes, I might say that the farmers in the United States used to take their

tobacco to the warehouse, to the packing house, as we call them here, and there they

would assort it out, and if the farmer took 10,000 pounds they would sort it into

two or three grades, put it on the floor, one pile here, another here, and another there,

and have the first, second and third grade. Then they would put it up to auction

and ask how much for this pile, and how much for that pile, and how much for the

other pile, and it was sold to the highest bidder and then they packed it up and shipped

it to its destination, that is the way it used to be done. But in Kentucky to-day they

have the head buyer, the same as we have in Essex, and he has his buyers all over

the county, the same as we have in Essex, buying direct from the farmers. I know
thatj because I was introduced to Mr, Zeigler, who was the representative for that

county.

Q. You made a statement that we imported 10,000,000 lbs. of Burley?
A. Yes.

Q. Are you certain that is correct?

A. Well, I understand it was 15,000,000 all kinds.

Q. I got the figures from Mr. Gerald of the Inland Revenue Department, and
they are very, very far from that, and I would like to have it verified.

A. The statement I got is, I think, in the Hansard, in a statement by the Hon.
Mr. Templeman in reply to a question by Mr. Clements, that 9,000,000 pounds odd
went into the factory.
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Q. Was that Burley? Did he say it was Burley?

A. For chewing tobacco.

Q. I think you are mistaken. What the return shows is that we imported about

14,000,000 pounds of tobacco and a little less than 10,000,000 went into the other

factories, that is smoking as well as chewing. The whole importation into G^ni^% is

14,000,000 pounds ?

A. It was 15,165,000 in 1906, and I understood from the answer that Mr.
Templeman gave over 9,000,000 lbs. were Burley.

By Mr. Clments :

Q. That is the question, what went into the plug and chewing tobacco?

By Mr. Clarhe :

Q. Yes, I looked into that, and from Mr. Gerald I got the information that

10,000,000 pounds in round figures went into plug tobacco and 4,000,000 for cigars.

As near as he could estimate 3,000,000 pounds of that which went into the tobacco

factories was for chewing. If that is right there was about 3,000,000 pounds of Burley

leaf imported?

A. I only took the returns, that there were 10,000,000 pounds. I think that all the

kinds of tobacco that go into the manufacture of chewing are the kinds that we can

grow, they are the same kinds that we are growing.

Q. You have been representing the Empire Tobacco Company as a buyer for a

number of years ?

A. Yes.

Q. They take a great portion of the output of Essex and Kent and manufacture

it at Granby ?

A. Yes.

Q. How many other concerns buy tobacco in Western Ontario?

A. The Erie Tobacco Company, Windsor, buy all their tobacco there, they manu-
facture Canadian leaf. There is the Dominion Tobacco Company of Montreal, the

Bock City Tobacco Company.
Q. The Eock City Company buy all Mr. Walker's output ?

A. I do not know that, I know he sells to some person in Quebec.

Q. That is the Rock City Company.
A. They buy outside in Essex as well.

Q. Then there is the McAlpine Company ?

A. Yes, the McAlpine Company have an establishment in Leamington where they

dry the tobacco and prepare it before shipping it to Toronto.

Q. There are five or six concerns buying ?

A. Yes.

Q. Take the last few years, have they all been paying the same prices ? The
farmers are protesting that they all pay the same prices. I have had complaints from
the farmers that there is a combination among all the buyers, so that the farmer does

not get any benefit from the protection, it all goes to the manufacturers.
A. I am quite sure there is no combination as between the Empire Company and

the rest of them. The srnaller concerns have always waited until the Empire Com-
pany has established the price and then they would start in and buy and the Empire
Company has kept on buying until they have cleaned up the crop.

Q. As I imderstand it the Empire has fixed the price ?

A. They have.

Q. And they pay the farmer whatever they choose ?

A. I will say this for the Empire Company that they have always told me when I
come to a good lot of tobacco to pay the farmer the very highest price, and never to
out them down on the price.
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Q. Horn was this arrived at ? Is it done by dividing up the 34 cents protection

tihey have ?

A. No.

Q. Or do they figure out how much it costs the farmer to grow it ?

A. I will tell you what I think ; they have been requiring from 3,000,000 to 4,000,-

000 pounds, their trade has increased and they have been paying good prices in order

to induce the farmers to grow it and the farmers have kept on growing it.

Q. What do you mean by that^—in the United States they, are paying 11 cents

for tobacco and yet they only pay an average of seven cents to the farmers here.

A. That is all they have to pay to induce the farmer to grow 4,000,000 pounds.'

If they had a market for 15,000,000 pounds they would have to pay them 10 cents.

By Mr. Zimmerman:

Q. This protection is not given to the farmer?

A. No, it is not.

By Mr. Clarhe:

Q. Your idea is that the only way the farmer can get the benefit of protection

is to prohibit the importation of it altogether.

A. They prohibit ours, and we can put a 35 cents duty on and that will be pretty

nearly prohibition.

Q. I think those figures which Mr. Carrier brought out with regard to
.

' Pay Roll/

that is the Empire Manufacturing Company's price to the jobber less discount, after

they have paid an excise of 5 cents, leaves them a profit of nearly 45 cents a pound
on Canadian tobacco to the manufacturer. You take the ' Prince of Wales ' that is

the favorite brand of Macdonald with everybody, and his price to the jobber is 63

cents, after paying duty and excise of, 39 cents, that only leaves him 24 cents a pound
profit as against nearly 45 cents a pound that the manufacturer gets on Canadian
tobacco. Now explain about all that profit?

A. What is the cheapest tobacco of the Empire Tobacco Company? You are

quoting their highest price and Macdonald's lowest price. Mr. Macdonald's price is

higher than 67 or 68 cents.

Q. Sixty-three cents?

A. It is not fair to take the highest price of the Empire Tobacco Company and
compare that with the lowest price of Macdonald's. Everybody knows that Mac-
donald does not sell his best tobacco for 63 cents a pound.

Mr. Clarke.—I am not doing that.

By Mr. Carrier:

Q. That is his lowest price?

A. That is his lowest price and you are comparing it with the highest price of
the Empire Tobacco Company. You should compare their lowest price with the lowest

price of Macdonald's.

Q. The lowest price of the Empire Tobacco Company is 46 cents. Now don't

you think, Mr. Wigle, that the outrageous price which these people are placing on their

tobacco is an impediment to the circulation of the tobacco amongst consumers?
A. Let me give you my experience about that.

By Mr. Clarke:

Q. You had better explain that, because the farmers cannot understand why
these men are getting these big profits?

A. I don't know what it <3osts to manufacture tobacco, but a lot of farmers in
the county of Essex figured it out just exactly as you do ; that the cost of producing
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was 5 cents a pound and thej^ got 40 cents on the sale of it, and they said, ^ Why, we
can pay the farmers 10 cents a pound.' They got up the Erie Tobacco Company
composed altogether of farmers and they were bound to pay the stock holders 10

cents a pound for their tobacco. Well, the Empire Company raised the price to 12

cents, and they had to pay the same, but every tme the Eimjpire paid less than 10

cents the farmers' association followed their example. I want to tell you this, that

the farmer who figured the matter out in the same way as you did got out of the

business just as quickly as' he could. Not many of the original farmers who formed
that company has any stock in it to-day, they could not make any money out of it.

Q. Was that in the Erie Company?
A. Yes, 'in the Erie Company.

By Mr. Carrier:

Q. My opinion is that the American Tobacco Company came to Canada with a

big stick; they control all the other manufacturers in the same line and all the

growers ?

A. In what way are they doing that?

Q. You yourself said a moment ago that they are dependent upon the Granby
Company in making their prices. The other manufacturers have got to follow the

Granby Company's prices or else die ?

A. I don't know that.

Q. I think the price they are putting on their lowest class of plug tobacco is

simply outrageous. In my opinion 30 cents would be a reasonable figure and at that

price the consumption would be doubled in this country. I do not think myself, with

the exception perhaps of the Burley which is grown in your country, that the Cana-
dian grown tobacco is up to what it ought to be. And even if your Burley is equal

in quality to the Connecticut Burley why are the farmers in Essex and Kent only

jgetting 8i cents a pound for it while the Connecticut man is getting 11 cents per

pound for tobacco which is exported ?

A. Be'cause the Americans put 35 cents per pound duty on it and won't let us
take our tobacco over.

Q. Excuse me, give somebody else a chance to say something. Why don't you
export this tobacco, if it is as good as you say it is, to France or Belgium ? Those
countries have representatives in the States buying tobacco, why don't they 'come here

and buy Burley tobacco or why don't you send it over there ?

A. Will you let me now talk for a minute. 1 had a cousin, he is dead now, ^Ir.

Jaduthan Wigle, who lost his farm trying to sell tobacco in the old country. He
mortgaged his farm for $2,000 and went over to the old country to try and establish

a market for our Burley tobacco. He met all the manufacturers that he could in

Great Britain and other places and thought he was going to revolutionize the whole
*thing. They were getting Burley from the United States. When he spoke to them
the manufacturers there said :

' We have been buying from the United States. The
tobacco comes to us on the very same conditions that it would from Canada and we
will continue to get it from there.'

By Mr. Olarhe :

Q. Why do they not buy our Burley seeing that it is equal to that of the T^'nited

States ?

A. It is just the same as with Mr. Macdonald's tobacco. He buys his from the

United States and won't trade with anybody else. If we don't make the manufa'o-

turers here do it they won't do it.

Q. There is the Macdonald plug (holding up a plug of tobacco) I

A. Please let me finish. There is the tobacco journal published in England
which contains the names of all the manufacturers in that country, ^fr. Cox of
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Leamington wanted to furnish samples to those manufacturers and wrote to those

whose names were in the Tohacco Journal. He got ready as nice a sample of tobacco

as ever was grown and he fixed it up ready to send over there. He showed it to me
and he said :

' You know something about tobacco, I want to show you if that is not

nice.' I looked at it and said, ' That is as nice a tobacco as there is on the earth,

you could not grow better anywhere, it ought to be good enough for any country.'

He said, ^ I think it is good enough for any country on the earth-' Then I said, ^ If it

'is good enough for any 'country it ought to be good enough for Canada.' Let us fur-

,iiis.h tobacco for Canada first and afterwards supply Great Britain and Ireland if we
!grow more than we need.

Q. I was going to show the difference between the two brands of tobacco. Now
there is 'Prince of Wales' (holding up sample), that is a favorite brand of Mac-
donald's. There is 'Black Watch,' do you know whose tobacco that is ? That is a

high grade of the Empire. Now there is the differen'ce. Can you understand why
people prefer to pay 10 cents, for this smaller plug in preference to the larger ?

A. Because they have got accustomd to it. It is like the man on the Pelee Island

I told you about. Mr. Mackenzie, of Leamington, told me that he was up in the

Owen Sound district some time ago and could not get a pound of Canadian chewing

tobacco. He 'could not chew the Macdonald tobacco because it was not the kind he

was used to.

Mr. Clarke.—An argument against us was attempted to be made on the election

platform. Our opponents said ' There is the Fielding plug ' and holding up the

other tobacco they said ' There is the old Foster plug.'

Mr. Clements.—To offset what Mr. Zimmerman said

The Chairman.—Let Mr. Clarke finish what he was saying.

Mr. Clarke.—I met a fellow chewing some of this Macdonald ' Prince of Wales

'

and I said to him ' You can buy nearly double that quantity of tobacco for the same
price.' He said, ' I don't care what it costs, I am going to chew ' Prince of Wales '."

The Witness.—I heard one man say that when he chews the Macdonald tobacco

his system gets so saturated with the liquids in it that he does not want to chew any
other for a while.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. I want to work out how the farmers can get a better price. You say that under
the duty we have they do not derive any benefit from it, it all goes to the manufac-
turer. Suppose we adopt your view and shut out the American tobacco altogether,

how would you protect the farmers so that they would get a share of that any more
than they do now?

A. The farmer now knows that there is a demand for 4,000,000 pounds and the

manufacturer of tha't quantity keeps telling him, ' Don't grow too much, we cannot
buy it or pay so much for it.' But if the American tobacco was kept out and the

farmer knew that he had a market for 14,000,000 pounds instead of 4,000,000 and
the manufacturer knew he had to buy 14,000,000 pounds the farmers would pretty

nearly have the matter in their own hands. They would say ' You must pay us 10

cents a pound or we will not grow it for you. We have our own country for our own
tobacco and we will not grow it unless you pay us a fair price.' The manufacturers
would then know that they would have to pay the farmers a fair price in order to get
them to grow tobacco.

By Mr. Zimmerman :

Q. Your argument is that the farmer is in the hands of the manufacturer to-day?
A. No, he can only sell so much.
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By Mr. Clarice:

Q. If you shut out the American tobacco the consumer w.ould be at the manu-
facturers' mercy and the farmer also?

A. How is that ?

Q. To-day the farmer is at the mercy of the manufacturer?

A. Yes, if he grows more than 4,000,000 lbs. a year.

Q. If you shut American tobacco out and prevent it from coming in at all then

the consumer would also be at the mercy of the manufacturer, because he would have

to chew the Canadian tobacco or none at all?

A. He would, yes. He would have to chew all that we would grow and if he

wanted any finer quality he would have to pay the duty on it.

Q. How can you regulate the price which the manufacturer would pay the farmer

in that case or which the manufacturer would charge the consumer ?

A. Competition would do that. The different manufacturers would all want a

share of the 14,000,000 pounds of Burley. We claim that we can grow all the Burley
that is required.

Q. I claim so to, and a great deal more?
A. Well, then, why should we keep our market for it, especially when they won't

let us ship a pound to the United States. If they would let us ship our surplus there

it would be a different matter.

Q. I would like to see my way to doing something which would be certain to

benefit the farmers?

A. If the farmer had a market for 14,000,000 pounds of tobacco it would be
better than a market restricted to 4,000,000.

Q.. More people would grow it, but what guarantee would the farmer have? The
duty is 34 cents now ?

A. 28 cents.

Q. '^0, 34, 20 on the excise and 14 on the other ?

A. It is 20 cents more on the excise and 10 cents duty.

Q. And 14 on the stemmed.
A. We were talking about the customs.

Q. They do not put stems into the tobacco, it is 14 on what goes into the toba'cco ?

A. They put the liquids in order to make up for the stem, which comes back to

the same thing.

Q. But they get a difference in the excise of 20 cents ?

A. Yes.

Q. On the manufa'ctured article ?

A. Liquid and everything, molasses, &c.

Q. Yes, so that it is really a great dealmore than 20 cents a pound on the tobacco,

and 14 cents, that is 34 cents.

A. No, you are figuring on the stems, we take the stems out. K pound of stemmed
tobacco, they tell me, will make nearly two pounds of the manufactured article.

Q. Yes, so you are really getting 40 cents a pound on the toba'eeo I

A. They are not.

Q. At the present time the farmer gets no benefit at all from protection?

A. No.

Q. Supposing you make it 35 cents as you propose, what guarantee has the

farmer that he will get anything more thaij he does now ?

A. Because it will keep the American out and he will have a market of 14.000.000
pounds instead of 4,000,000 pounds.

Q. Not 14,000,000, if Mr. Gerald is right, but 3,000,000 more.
A. It must be more than thrtx^ millions more, because I claim we can grow tliir-

teen millions of the fifteen millions. Of the quantity that is brought in, there is

probably 2,000,000 pounds of Cuban which we cannot grow, but I do not care what it
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is, we can grow the majority of that 15,000,000 pounds—the 2,000,000 pounds, probably,

of that fine quality we cannot grow I know.
Q. I believe that" about 4,000,000 pounds comes from Wisconsin and we ought to

be able to grow that with proper assistance ?

A. Yes.

Q. But I do not convince myself with regard to your idea that if the American
tobacco is shut out altogether the farmers would have the manufacturers in their

hands—I do not see how that would be the 'case any more than they have them in

their hands at the present time ?

A. They would have stronger competition, they would have the man who is buy-'

ing in the United States now buying in competition with the other men, and they
would have the benefit of the millions of dollars which are paid to the American farmer
to-day.

Q. What is your own opinion of the proposal to abolish the different kinds of

stamps so that all kinds of tobacco can be made in one factory ?

A. I do not know very much about the stamp. I have understood that the manu-
facturers of cigars were not as much interested in the stamps as, the manufacturers

of chewing tobacco.

Q. You were saying just now that the difficulty now with the manufacturer

is that he icannot bring in Canadian tobacco and use it. Would it be of advantage

to the Canadian trade if he were allowed to do that ?

A. Certainly.

Q. So that if there is a uniform stamp that could be used anywhere it would bene-

fit the Canadian trade?
A. I think it would, but it would be a great deal better if we had our own country

for our own tobacco and if we had the uniform excise the same as they have in the

United States, they have no stamp at all there.

Q. Your idea is that there may be a uniform excise on tobacco?

A. Tes.

Q. That is what is proposed at the present time, and you approve of that ?

A. Yes.

Q. The Ontario government announces that they are going to start an experi-

mental farm on tobacco in the county of Essex, do you know if anything has been

done in that matter?

A. I think they have given seed to Mr. Peterson to be grown, but I haven't heard

how far it has gone.

Q. I understood they were going to establish an experimental farm?
A. No, I do not know that they have gone that far.

Q. Can anything be done to improve the quality of the Canadian tobacco?

A. I will tell you what has brought this Burley tobacco to the high quality it

has attained. The manager of the Empire Tobacco Company sends out a circular

every year, and he has been sending them for years, instructing the farmers how to

grow it. He tells them the best methods,, and impresses upon them that the better

tobacco they grow the more they will get for it. More than that, he had a special

fertilizer made for tobacco and brings that down by the carload.

By Mr. Zimmerman:

Q. They have made very great improvements in the type of tobacco grown during
the last ten years?

A. Certainly, the improvement is 100 i)er cent.

Q. And although the quality of the tobacco has improved years ago they were
getting bigger figures for the poor tobacco than they are to-day for the improved
quality. The more they improve it the less price they get apparently?

A. That is right, because the Yankee stuff comes into competition with them.
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By Mr. Caldwell:

Q. Isn't there something' in the curing of the tobacco ?

A. No, it is cured as' well as anybody can cure it.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. I would like to ask Mr. Wigle if he does not think there is a good deal in the

way the tobacco is manufactured with regard to the quantity that is sold? It suits

the taste better. Is it not a fact that in some factories they use a good deal of

glycerine and licorice, and in other factories they us© molasses?

A. Every factory has a different formula, there is no doubt abouc that.

Q. It suits the taste of one man better than another ?

A. Every manufacturer has his own formula.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. Does not Mr. Wigle think it is a question of prejudice in regard to the

Canadian tobacco, and I am sure my Quebec friends will bear me out in my opinion

with regard to the Canadian tobacco which is this, I had never smoked Canadian

tobacco, and everybody knows I smoke about as much as anybody, but I was on my
farm for a couple of weeks and ran out of the other tobacco and I commenced to

smoke the Canadian. I had never smoked it before, and now I do not want to smoke
anything else, and I say it is the best tobacco anybody can smoke.

By Mr. Caldwell:

Q. If I understand aright Mr. Macdonald's great success has been in the flavour

of his tobacco. A smoker gets attached to a certain flavour and no other fla.vour will

fill his wants. The question to me is, I have often wondered, is that flavour on
account of the use of a dope or drug? I have often thought that there is a possibility

of the flavour being obtained by the use of opium or some other drug which makes it

attractive, so that a smoker becomes attached to a certain kind of tobacco and wants
no other. The experience I have had with Canadian tobacco is, and I have tried all

the brands that I have heard of, that one smoke of Canadian tobacco is about all

that I can stand. I do not know whether it is the flavour, or the rankness of the

tobacco or what it is, but there is something that is not right. I have grown it in

my own grounds but I can't stand it?

A. I stated, I guess it was before you came in, that I believe if Mr. Macdonald
w^ould manufacture that tobacco with his formula he would make just as good chew-
ing tobacco out of it as if he used the American.

By Mr. Boss {Yale Cariboo):

Q. Then why doesn't he do it?

A. Because he said years ago he would never do it, and as long as a man, having
established a brand can go on selling it without having to bother about trying a

difl^erent kind of tobacco he will continue to do so.

Q. Now that develops anothei* point, because we have got to look at every side of

this question. The consumer of Macdonald tobacco has as much right in this country

as the consumer of this tobacco. You say ' Shut out the American tobacco^. ' Now if

you do that what is the consumer going to do who wants to chew the smaller plug?

A. He can do the same as the Americans do. They have got to chew their own
tobacco over there.

Q. I am afraid you are not in active politics at the present time?

A. You did not hear me state an experience a moment ago and you could not

have heard Mr. Clements give his experience. The ex-Rocve of Polee Island told me
not six months ago that he had never chewed any but Macdonald's tobacco in his
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life until they had run out of that tobacco on the island. For three weeks he was
compelled to chew a plug manufactured out of Canadian tobacco, and he said it had
cured him of his love for the Macdonald tobacco. He got so that when he again obtain-

ed a plug of Macdonald tobacco he took a bite of it and then threw it away; he could
not chew it like he could the Canadian plug.

By Mr. Caldwell:

Q. Can you say whether this tobacco is drugged?

A. I don't know about that, but I can say that no two manufacturers have the
same formula for making chewing tobacco. I know that.

Having read over the preceding transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

LEWIS WIGLE.
Tobacco Grower, Leamington, Ont.

Mr. Jerry O'Brien, Chatham, Ont., called and examined.

By Mr. Clements :

Q. To my knowledge you are an extensive manufacturer of cigars and you have

also had some experience in buying Canadian leaf grown in Essex and Kent. I would

like you to give as briefly as possible your ideas as to what you think would be to the

benefit of the Canadian grower as well as the manufacturers ?

Mr. Zimmerman.—That is the point.

Mr. Clements.—They have got to be considered.

Mr. Koss (Yale-Cariboo).—Mr. O'Brien ought to tell us where he is manufac-
turing.

The Witness.—I have been growing tobacco and manufacturing cigars in

Chatham.

By Mr. Clarice :

Q. Chatham, Ontario ?

A. Yes, for a number of years.

By Mr. Ross (Yale-Cariboo) :

Q. Manufacturing what?
A. Foreign leaf tobacco.

Q. Into what, Mr. O'Brien ?

A. Into cigars. From my experience in growing cigar tobaqco up there I think

we can grow tobacco that would take the place of Wisconsin or Connecticut tobacco

for cigars.

Q. That is, for fillers ?

A. Binders and fillers.

By Mr. Clarice :

Q. That is what they use it for ?

A. Yes. At the present time it is suitable for medium goods and I think that

the proposed duty is good.
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By Mr. Ross (Yale-Cariboo) :

Q. Medium in strength you mean ?

A. No, medium in price, that is outside of the high class goods.

By Mr. Clarke :

Q. You mean medium quality I suppose ?

A. Yes. The proposed changes in the duties would be, I think, of great benefit to

the farmer and to the manufacturer also. If the duty is raised as proposed and the

unifoitoi stamp adopted, every manufacturer fwill have a chance to try Canadian
tobacco on its merits. At the present time when any Canadian tobacco is taken into

the factory rebates on cuttings would cease. There is such a prejudice against Cana-
dian tobacco that most of the people would not try it.

By Mr. Boss (Yale- Cariboo) :

Q. Where do you get your tobacco for fillers from, Mr. O'Brien ?

A. I buy some of it in Wisconsin, some in Cuba, some in Connecticut, and quite

a bit of it in Ohio.

By Mr. Clarke :

Q. Is your factory a foreign or cotoibination ?

A. Mine is a foreign,

Q. You have never tried Canadian tobacco in your factory ?

A. No.

Q. There is nothing to prevent any manufacturer from using Canadian tobacco
at the present time, if he chooses to bring it in and pay the additional . expense he
can use Canadian tobacco ?

A. He will lose the rebate as soon as he brings Canadian tobacco into his factory.

Q. He pays the additional excise of 25 cents ?

A. He pays just $6 a thousand. .

Q. That is on cigars ?

A. Yes, that is, what he pays and he can use the Canadian tobacco.

By Mr. Ross (Yale Cariboo) :

Q. Your point is, Mr. O'Brien, that if the duties are re-arranged, you as a manu-
facturer would then use Essex grown tobacco for your binders, do you make that
statement ?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, as a manufacturer, would you say they can grow good tobacco for fillers

in Essex county?

A. Yes, I think if that duty is arranged in the manner proposed that all the
manufacturers in Canada when they see a piece of cigar tobacco which is suitable
will buy it and use it.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. Use it on its merits?

A. There are quite a number of manufacturers and if we all used 5 tons a year
it would make the Burley crop so short that the farmer could get the price he wanted
from the manufacturer to grow it.

By Mr. Zimmerman:

Q. I thougliH; Burley tobacco was only fit for manufacturing chewing tobacco?
A. So it is, but if they grow cigar tobacco it will make such a scarcity of the

Burley.



48 MR. JERRY O'BRIEN

8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

Q. I understand that in different States of the Union they grow different qualities

of tobacco. For instance in Wisconsin they can grow a wrapper, and in Connecticut

they can grow a filler and not a wrapper, and so on in different States. Now how is

that?

A. It is a little bit reversed. In Wisconsin they grow a binder and in Connec-

ticut they grow a binder with very few wrappers.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. The filler is of Havana, is it not, principally?

A. The filler is Zimmer. Zimmer is similar to what is grown in Essex.

Q, Take Tuckett's, their filler is of Havana?
A. I don't know.

Q. It is reputed to be?

A. We all make Havana goods.

^ Q. But I am speaking of the filler now. I understand what they profess to do is

to use Havana for the filler, Wisconsin for the binder, land Sumatra for the wrapper ?

A. Or Connecticut for the binder.

By Mr. Boss (Yale Cariboo):

Q. Is that not the rule?

A. Yes.

Q. That tobacco is grown for special purposes in different places?

A. Yes.

Q. That is the rule?

A. Yes.

Q. If that is the rule—I am not saying it to reflect upon the growers in Essex

—

why should they say that they are more particularly placed there than any other place

in the world to grow tobacco for all purposes ?

Mr. Clarke.—There is no place in the world like Essex.

A. In regard to Essex we have different kinds of soil along that lake shore. I

have bought tobacco from Amher^tburg down as far as St. Thomas. We have a lot

of limestone there which is the same as in Hartford, Connecticut. This is Connecti-

cut or Comstqck Spanish (pointing to sample). There is a cigar tobacco that is

grown up there (pointing to sample), it is a good burning tobacco. It has a white

ash and doesn't blister ahead of the fire, and will hold fire for, I should judge, from
five to seven minutes; it iwill hold fire as good as any Havana tobacco that is imported

here.

By Mr. Zimmerman:

Q. Have you any experience with Kelowna tobacco at all?

A. No.

By Mr. Ross (Yale Cariboo)

:

Q. You ought to get some good tobacco in your factory?

A. Well I have heard some good reports about that tobacco.

By Mr. Zimmerman:

Q. I have smoked it ; it is good and strong, you do not want to smoke more than

one cigar.

By Mr. Blain

:

Q. You have the right soil ; is the climate good ?

A. Yes, we have a good long climate, an early spring and late fall that gives

the tobacco lots of time to ripen and cure properly.
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Q. Is it equal to those portions of the United States that you have referred to?

A. It is similar to that of Ohio, where the great proportion of the filler tobacco

comes from that is used in the manufacture of cigars?

Q. Is it better than Connecticut?

A. Yes.

By Mr. Schell (Oxford) :

Q. How is it you do not use Canadian tobacco in the manufacture of cigars^

if the quality is good?

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. Do you attribute that to the present system of having three separate factor-

ies?

A. Yes, as I stated a few minutes ago you can see by the returns of the amount
of Canadian tobacco used in foreign factories; that I think will satisfy you it can be

blended in beautifully at the present time.

By Mr. Ross (Yale-Cariboo) :

Q. You mean to say that there is a reasonably large amount used at the present

time?

A. Yes.

Q. That is it, although you are not advertising it to the world?
A. Yes.

Q. That is on account of the prejudice against Canadian tobacco. If people

knew generally it went into cigar factories, you fear it would affect cigar trade?

A. I think so.

By Mr. Zimmerman:

Q. You think under the proposed regulations the manufacturer and grower will

be very much benefited?

A. I do, yes.

Q. And that it will be a distinct advantage to have one excise and one stamp?
A. Yes, a big advantage.

Q. And one excise?

A. Yes.

By Mr. Parent:

Q. Can you tell me whether good cigarettes can be made out of Canadian
tobacco ?

A. I never tried it.

Q. You do not know anything about that at all? Are you aware whether experi-

ments have been recently made by manufacturers of cigarettes with Canadian
tobacco ?

A. I never went into that, in regard to the cigarette business.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. As a manufacturer, and as a buyer, you would approve of encouraging trade
in Canadian tobacco and you are perfectly satisfied in your own mind that we can
grow in Essex and Kent counties, or in the Dominion of Canada, taking into consider-

ation British Columbia and Quebec, suitable tobacco for the general trade, I do not
mean it all, buib I mean for anything except the fancy grades?

A. Yes, I tliink tobacco can be grown here suitable for all classes of trade outside

the Sumatra and Havana type.

2—4
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By Mr Sproule :

'

Q. Do you manufacture any kind of tobacco except cigars ?

A. No.

Q. You don't manufacture plug at all?

A. No, not at present.

By Mr. Caldwell :

Q. There is a question that I was speaking of a while ago-,. Is there any flavour-

ing used in the tobacco which is injurious ?

A. I should not think so.

Q. You think not ? •. .

A. I think not.

By Mr. Sprmle :

Q. You don't manufacture cigarettes or cigarette tobacco?
^ A. 'No.

Mr. Darius Wigle.—I would like to ask Mr. O'Brien two or three questions.

The Chairman.—Be as brief as you can.

By Mr. Darius Wigle :

Q. Mr. O'Brien, as a manufacturer of cigars under the American license,

I understand that you have been using Wisconsin binders ?

A. At tiimes, yes.

Q. This is a sample of Comstock Spanish. Can you tell me whether you have
ever procured a better binder from Wisconsin than I have in this sample ? (Produic-

ing sample).

Mr. Boss (Yale-Cariboo).—^You had better identify the sample.

Mr. Darius Wigle.—^This is a sample of Cormstock Spanish tobacco grown in

Kingsville, Essex county, from seed from Wisconsin.

Mr. Clarke.—On whose farm?

Mr. Darius Wigle.—This was grown by Mr. T. Peare, of Kingsville. I paid 9

cents a pound for the crop and I want Mr. O'Brien to give his opinion upon that as a

binder ? -

The Witness.—^Well, I have driven through that section of the country this winter

several times and examined a lot of this big Havana tobacco grown from the seed

that the experts sent up there.

By Mr. Gordon:

Q. You mean ccwnparing it with the big tobacco ?

A. Similar tobacco.

- By Mr. Darius Wigle :

Q. How does it compare with what you have received from Wisconsin ?

A, I have examined a lot of it this winter and it will make a first class binder

for cigars.

By Mr, Clarh.e :

Q. Is that a fair sample ?

A. Yes.

Q. There is a lot of tobacco as good as that ?

A. Some a little finer than that.

By Mr. Darius Wigle :

Q. Outside of that I understand you use the Connecticut seed as a binder ?
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A. Yes.

Q. That is Connecticut seed grown in the township of Mersea. Will you give us

your opinion as regards that quality for a binder ?

A. That is the quality that I have just stated in the case of these two classes of

goods that can take the place of the tobacco that we import from Connecticut and.

Wisconsin.

By Mr. Ross (Yale Cariboo) :

Q. It is just as good ?

A. Yes.

By Mr. Darius Wigle :

Q. Do you get any better tobacco imported from the United States ?

A. The tobacco that comes from there is not in the farmers' hands and is cured

better than the way we get it.
'

By Mr. Zimmerman :

Q. Is that a wrapper or a binder ?

A. This is a binder.

By Mr. Darius Wigle :

Q. In a clean state just as it comes from the farm. What varieties of tobacco

would you recommend to grow in western Ontario for cigars ?

A. Comstock, Spanish, Connecticut and Big Havana.

Having read over the preceding transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

JERRY O'BRIEN,

Tobacco Manufacturer.

Mr. Whitson Baldwin, called.

By Mr. Clarhe:

Q. You are from the township of Colchester South, down on Lake Erie?
A. On the north shore of Lake Erie, it is supposed to be the most southerly

point in Canada.

Q. How long have you been growing tobacco, or been concerned in the growth
of tobacco?

A. I have been interested and concerned in it all my life.

By Mr. Zimmerman

:

Q. That must have been as much as twenty years ago?
A. Yes, quite as much as that. Of course in the growing of Burley, I suppose I

have been growing it for ten years, some other varieties before that.

Q. The growth of Burley commenced about ten or twelve years ago? What
varieties were grown before that time?

A. Well, what we called Thick Set, the Blue Prior and sovernl other varieties

which to-day you would not call tobacco at all; they were a very heavy coarse tobacco
which answered the purpose at that time.

Q. What was done with it then ?

2—4i
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A. It was sent to Montreal, when I first commenced to grow it, by a small vessel.

Q. So that the varieties of this tobacco you grew twenty years ago are not used

at all now?
A. Not used at all.

Q. There is a good deal of complaint, I believe, at the present time, by the farmers

that they have no market for their output?

A. I "can show you hundreds of barns where the tobacco is hanging as it was last

fall because it is not worth while to handle or prepare it for the market because

there is no sale for it.

Q. What do you say as to the quality of the tobacco grown up there?

A. So far as the quality is concerned it has been pronounced first-class. They
have shown you some prepared tobacco and some that was not prepared. There

(indicating sample) is a sample of Comstock, taken out of a bundle just ready to be

given to the buyer, this is Connecticut seed leaf.

Q. Where is this grown?
^ A. In Colchester South.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. Just as it was picked by the farmer?

A. Yes, as it came from the barn pole.

By Mr. Clarhe:

Q. What improvement has there been in the last few years on the part of the

farmer in regard to taking care of it?

A. They have been more careful in growing and the handling of it. Of course

they are trying to grow newer varieties and are becoming better posted in the hand-
ling. When we first commenced to grow tobacco it was almost impossible for the

ordinary grower to cure it at all, which was all due to handling.

Q. I believe there are several things they have to take care oii Keep it free

from sand?

A. That is all in the handling, of course if you allow it to lie on the ground and
get rain on it it collects sand.

Q. And the better care taken with it by the farmer, you think, the better price

he gets?

A. Certainly, one of the great troubles is the worms get at it sometimes if care

is not taken; that is the greatest drawback in the growing of tobacco to-day, but the

price is made by the buyer.

Q. Then it has to be cut at the proper time?
A. That depends upon the setting and the season, whether we get a long season.

I aim to get my tobacco in about the first of June.

Q. What I meant was that it must be in proper condition?

A. Yes, the coarser tobacco such as Burley, there is no trouble about, when to cut

that, it shows for itself when to cut it, but in the finer tobaccos there is a certain time
at which it must be cut. There is the Connecticut seedling, it is very difficult to tell

when that is ready and there are some other varieties with which similar difficulty is

experienced. Take the Kentucky Yellow, for instance, you won't find two plants

beside each other fit to cut the same day even if they were set on the same day. Seed
leaf is not quite so difficult, it will show more difference on different qualities of land

;

if you have strong sandy soil and it runs down to black soil you have a different

result entirely.
[

Q. What is your opinion as to the varieties of soil up there for growing different

kinds of tobacco?

A. We haven't any soil up there but what will grow tobacco. Of course the

heavier soil grows a heavier quality of tobacco.
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Q. But there are diiferent qualities of soil suited to the different varieties of

tobacco?

A. Yes.

Q. And speaking generally you say that the farmers have become pretty expert in

growing tobacco?

A. They are improving their soil and their methods have improved as well.

Q. Some more so than others, I suppose?

A. Certainly.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. What would you suggest in the way of improvement?

A. I have been talking with my neighbours about it and they are very anxious

to have an experimental station started among us with an expert in

charge. It has been said in this house that we do not grow first class tobacco ; we are

-anxious to learn and to be educated along these lines. A number of my neighbours

came to me when they found I was coming here, and they said: When you get down
there we wish you would urge the necessity of an experimental station along thes©

lines and that we have an expert from the United States where the facilities and the

conditions are the same as our own, let it cost what it will, and we will put ourselves

under his direction if the government can do so, in order to start a stripping and
handling plant among us where the best and greatest quantity of tobacco is grown
so that it will be convenient to bring it to the stripping and preparing station, where it

can be made ready to be taken to any market, either our own or foreign market.

Along with that they wish to have some of our younger men, who have been educating

themselves for a higher position, and place them with this expert to educate them
so that they will become experts at the work or better if possible, so that we will have

men of our own, and reliable among us to carry this business on. We cannot always

depend upon hiring the right man in the right place. I noticed when Mr. Wigle was
reading that letter that he had to ask particularly of some man he was trying to

employ if he was of good habits, sober and industrious, which it is necessary he should

be. If we have our own boys we know what these boys can do and what they are

capable of acquiring, and we have numbers of them annually who have been attend-

ing our colleges, trying to place themselves above the common herd and I think they

should be encouraged to become experts in this as in other businesses.

By Mr. Ross (Yale Cariboo) :

Q. In the Agricultural College do they give any attention at all to the questiou-

of tobacco culture ?

A. Not yet.

By Mr. Clarke :

Q. Yes, but they do to the question of chemistry and kinds of soil ?

A. That is where these boys would come in, they would have an advantage in that

respect.

By Mr. Clements :

Q. Besides looking after the growing of the crop and the taking care of the

crop, Mr. Baldwin, do you think that the quality of our tobacco .can be improved if

our people had better buildings than they have for the curing of it ?

A. Yes, I think it could.

Q. And that with proper encouragement the farmers would readily take hold of

it and provide those improved facilities if they were assured of a proper market ?

A. Certainly.

Q. You have no doubt about that ?
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A. I am satisfied that our country can be more than double its present pro-

duction, and would if there was a pri.ce that they would be safe in going into the
business.

Q. Then in your opinion, Mr. Baldwin, a good deal of our tobacco is not kept
in proper buildings, the growers have not proper facilities for keeping it and some-
times it is put in shed^ or open buildings ?

A. Certainly there have been cases of that kind.

Q. With proper buildings for keeping . it the quality would be considerably im-
proved ?

A. I think so, certainly.

By Mr. Zimmerman :

Q. Mr. Clarke touched upon a point which seems to me to be extraordinary as

to the difference between the raiw leaf and the manufactured plug tobacco, that is the

^plug tobacco which is manufactured out of this Burley ?

A. There does seem to be quite a discrepancy between the price received by the

farmer and that receivd by the manufacturer.

Q. How is it that the farmer cannot get any benefit at all by the sale of that ?

'A. It is a very difficult question to answer. If I were to say that there is a

combine amongst the manufacturers in this respect I would perhaps be saying some-

thing that I could not substantiate.

By Mr. Clarke :

Q. But there is that impression ?

A. It is the general impression, but whether it is so or not I cannot say; not so

much of combine as a division of territory.

Q. If it is the fact why people ,can account for it ?

A. Then again when we consider the importation of weed from our neighbours.

By Mr. Zimmerman :

Q. Just on that point. If the tobacco is selling, as one witness says, on the other

side of the line at 11 cents while for tobacco of the' same quality the grower here is

only paid 8J cents a pound, how do you account for the importation?

A. The duty is, not sufficient to keep the American leaf out.

Q. But there is such a tremendous difference in the price ?

Mr. Clarke.—Mr' Zimmerman means if they can buy it cheaper here than
they can in the United States.

A. I cannot answer that question.

Mr. Ross (Yale Cariboo).—You must answer the question.

Mr. Clarke.—If you can.

The Witness.—I must, eh?

Mr. Ross (Yale Cariboo).—You will excuse me, but you cannot get away from
this fact : I asked Canadian manufacturers what was the reason of their paying a bigger
jyrice for the imported article and they replied that it was because they cannot get

the article they want in this country. Now that is a statement of facts by the manu-
facturer and you must answer it. The argument on the face of it that the manu-
facturers are not foolish enough to buy tobacco on the other side if they can get
tobacco of equal quality here at a lower figure ?

A. If they get a better tobacco on the other side it is not in the Burley but only
in the lighter varieties, because I have the opinion of experts from Kentucky ; because
the Burley tobacco grown in Essex has been placed on the St. Louis market and
brought just as good a price as did the Kentucky grown article of the best quality.

Where then is our tobacco inferior?
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Q. I am not answering that, I am only giving you the statement of the manufac-

turers. There should be an answer to it?

A. There are a lot a things there is no answer to.

By Mr. Parmelee:

Q. We are not going into the growing of cigar tobacco to any extent?

A. Not to any extent. One reason is to be found in the price of cigar tobacco.

There has been very little grown. Only since this last year has there been any cigar

tobacco grown at all to note.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. How much Comstock Spanish and Zimmer Spanish is grown ?

A. Eight or ten thousand pounds, perhaps not so much. That is excluding the

Seed Leaf from the Comstock Spanish and the Zimmer Spanish,. There must be

from 50,000 to 100,000 lbs. of Seed Leaf.

By Mr. Zimmerman:

Q. With the introduction of one excise duty on all tobaccos in your opinion is

that going to benefit the grower?

A. Not directly, it will indirectly, because the men here don't know what they

are chewing unless the name is printed on it. Is that satisfactory to you, Mr. Ross?

By Mr. Boss (Yale Cariboo):

Q. Of course, as a canny Scotchman it is absurd to say that the reason Macdonald
will not buy Canadian tobacco is because he has got a prejudice against it. Of course,

he is a very rich man and does not care probably?

A. That is the conclusion I would come tO;, he does not care to handle our tobacco

because he has a prejudice against it.

Mr. Clarke.—I think he has got a brand established and does not like to change it.

Mr. Zimmerman.—'No man is doing more for Canada to-day than Mr. Macdonald.

The Witness.—No one is finding fault with him.

By Mr. Boss (Yale Cariboo):

Q. Do you not think that as far as the chewing public are concerned it is rather

strange they will persist in buying twice as much of Macdonald's small plug as they
do of the bigger plug made out of Canadian tobacco?

A. I cannot agree with you that twice as much of the Macdonald plug is handled.

In our immediate section there is not one-tenth of the Macdonald plug sold to-day
that there was three years ago.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. Not one-tenth you say?

A. Not one-tenth of the quantity there was three years ago.

By Mr. Ross (Yale Cariboo):

Q. I am talking of the national output of Macdonald's plug tobacco and all other

Canadian factories. I am not sure of my figures, but I think there is twice as much
of Macdonald's tobacco chewed in this country as there is of any other variety?

A. I admit that there is a large section of country where nothing but Macdonald's
is sold, the Northwest for instance. The Northwest requires Macdonald tobacco
simply because they have been chewing it and they cannot get any other. I have one
son who used to chew Macdonald tobacco, but at one time he could not get it and
tried chewing tobacco of the Erie Tobacco Company of Windsor. ITo started chewing
that and has not chewed any ]\Iacdonald tobacco since.
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By Mr. Zimmerman:

Q. You ought to work up a prejudice against the Macdonald tobacco. I think

Mr. Macdonald has a prejudice against Canadian grown tobacco.

Mr. Clarke.—Take a brand of anything and it requires time to work up a trade

in it?

A. I don't know that we should work up any particular prejudice. We should

try and foster that which is going to do us the most good. We want to encourage the

use of home-grown tobacco and do away with the importation.

By Mr. Carrier:

Q. You have often heard that Mr. Macdonald has got a secret oi his own for pre-

paring his tobacco?

A. So I understand.

Q. All the other manufacturers in this country tried to copy, or to get the flavour

that Mr. Macdonald places in his ' Prince of Wales Navy ' and have never been able-

to approach it or to improve on it?

A. So I understand.

Q. This has made Mr. Macdonald's fortune. There was only one man in this coun-

try who could do it. His name was Campbell, and he is probably dead now. This
secret has made Mr. Macdonald's fortune?

A. Yes.

Q. No one has ever been able to approach the flavour which Mr. Macdonald puts-

in that tobacco, and the people would rather pay 10 cents for it and get it, than any-

other tobacco.

Mr. Koss (Yale Cariboo) .—You are not arguing that he could not apply the same
flavour to tobacco of the same quality?

Mr." Carrier.—It was not a question of tobacco but of flavour ?

A. It is not a question of tobacco but the flavour, certainly.

By Mr. Parmelee:

Q. You spoke of 8J cents a pound as an exceptionally low price, that is not the

ordinary price?

A. Not the ordinary price.

Q,. And that price is due, I suppose, to the farmers growing more tobacco than;

the market demands, they went into it too fast ?

A. A little too fast.

Q. There are two things that I think you should direct your attention to: you
should devote yourself to producing, perhaps, a larger variety of leaf so that you could

supply the new demand there would be for Canadian leaf for cigar purposes, which-

would give you a larger output. Then you should improve the quality of your tobacco

and keep the production down to within what the demand is likely to be. Of course,

that demand is going to grow, but don't get ahead of it.

A. That would be the advice I would give. I would not advise the farmers to go
too heavily into the cultivation of tobacco. Of course, if the contemplated changes

go through and we get 35 cents a pound duty on tobacco it is going to be an encourage-

ment. I would advise also that an expert should be appointed to instruct the growers
in the handling of this tobacco, because we do not understand the handling of cigar

tobacco. Those tobaccos are more expensive to grow and handle in every respect, and
if we undertake their cultivation we should do it to the greatest amount of profit and'

turn out the best product possible. Now the greatest possible care has to be exercised in

regard to these cigar tobaccos, and to that end we should have expert growers and
handlers. I refer to such varieties as Zimmer and Comstock. The Connecticut does

not soil quite so quickly, but these other tobaccos if they are handled in a rough or
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careless manner you ruin one-quarter of your product at least. The plants should be

rightly cut and hung up without touching the ground. The plant soils very easily

and when in that condition is not even fit for making into a wrapper. So you see

there is your wrapper gone. As to the filler it would not make so much difference.

But the handling of a crop is everything in order to make the tobacco into a first-

class article.

By Mr. Ross (Yale Cariboo):

Q. I want to ask you two questions.* You said a little while ago that a few years

ago you grew abominably bad tobacco in Essex county, what would not be considered

tobacco at all to-day?

A. I would not.

Q. Do you know, as a matter of fact, whether it was when you were growing that

bad tobacco Mr. Macdonald made his experiments with Canadian tobacco?

A. I could not say how far Mr. Macdonald's experiments date back. I have

learned since coming home that it was at that time.

Q. I understand it was at the time you were growing inferior tobacco he made
those experiments and got his prejudice?

A. I guess it probably was. I have learned that it was.

Q. As a grower of first class tobacco, have you or your associates made any

eifort to put that tobacco in Mr. Macdonald's factory, to show him you can grow good
tobacco now?

A. No. It has been shown to him by some of our representatives, Mr. Robinson
and others, but he is a man that it is very hard to approach. Of course as growers

we do not know Mr. Macdonald, we do not have any communication with him; we
are a long way from him; as farmers we do not get very far away from home very

often and I cannot say it has ever been placed before him.

Q. You would not blame him for having a prejudice if all he ever saw was the
tobacco you grew a number of years ago?

A. No, I do not suppose we would.

By Mr. Clarhe:

Q. I suppose that is the way this red stamp and green stamp were so unpopular^
because they were applied to the tobacco that was grown years ago ?

A. No, that seems to have been the original arrangement, the three stamps have
always existed. I do not know whether it was because they were put on Canadian
tobacco years ago, it may have been something like that but I could not say. Of course
we hear a great deal about the red stamp. I do not see a great deal of it. I am not
mingling with smokers as much as I used to, but when the red stamp used to come
up they would shove it aside and take the green.

By Mr. Boss (Yale Cariboo):

Q. Because the red stamp indicates to the world that it is made of poor, home
grown Canadian tobacco.

A. That is your idea, it is a danger sign.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. Your idea is that the uniform stamp would be an iiuprovement?

A. Yes.

Having read over the foregoing transcript of my evidence I find it correct.

W. G. BALDWIN.
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Mr. Peter Lamarsh, township of Mersea Essex county called.

By Mr, Clarice:

Q. You are the deputy reeve of the township of Mersea, in the county of Essex?
A. Yes.

Q. That is the largest township in the county?

A. The largest township in the county.

Q. To what extent is tobacco grown there?

A. It is grown extensively in the township of Mersea, which is one of the
greatest tobacco-growing townships we have, I suppose in the Dominion.

Q. Just state what samples you have with you.

A. This (producing sample) is a sample of white Burley grown in the township
of Mersea; that, I presume is made into chewing tobacco.

Q. What do you say about the quality of that?

^ A. I doubt if it can be beaten in Kentucky or anj^where else.

Q. That sample is put up by the farmers in the usual way?
A. That is the usual way the farmers put it up ready for the buyer.

Q. Have the farmers beconie fairly expert in taking care of the tobacco?
A. They are becoming more and more proficient.

Q. They improve with experience?

A. Yes.

Q. Take the other samples?

A. These (producing samples) were grown in the same vicinity and they are a

splendid quality of tobacco. These are white Burley—I could not procure any cigar

tobacco in the time at my disposal but we have grown some in that vicinity.

By Mr. Zimmerman:

Q. Are these cigar tobaccos?

A. No, chewing.

By Mr. Boss (Yale Cariboo):

Q. Was this sample cut at the proper time?

A, Yes, I think so.

Q. Isn't it a little too ripe ?

A. No, I do not think so. It is very bright and quite clear. Here are some

samples off the limestone in Pelee Island.

By Mr. Clarke:

Q. How does that differ from the other, can you tell me?
A. Well, I can't say that it is any coarser, it is more in case than this Pelee

Island tobacco, and you can't get at the Pelee Island tobacco as well to examine the

quality.

Q. Is it the case that the Pelee Island tobacco has a better reputation than the

mainland?

A. It seems to be, you see the others are of very fine quality.

Q. The buyers pay higher prices for it?

A. I believe the buyers do prefer the Pelee Island tobacco.

Q. What is that other sample, Pelee Island?

A. The same thing, that is for chewing.

Q. Or smoking?

A. They smoke it in Essex a great deal and prefer it to anything they can get,

but it is not a smoking tobacco.

By Mr. Carrier:

Q. It has not a good fiavour?
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A. It has not as good a flavour as the smoking tobacco grown for smoking.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. The farmers there always use this?

A. Yes, they use it.

Q. Is it Burley that they use?

A. Yes.

Q. And they have been using it for a number of years?

A. Well, the farmers use it for both chewing and smoking, after becoming

accustomed to it they do no't want anything else.

Q. Do they chew it in the raw state ?

A. Yes, sir, many of them.

By Mr. ZimmerrmM :

Q. Do they die young ?

Q. No, they live to a good old age.

By Mr. Clarice :

Q. What is your idea about the difficulty between the farmers and the buyer ?

A. Well, there is one difficulty, we know that there is a considerable protection

given to our tobacco and we know that the farmers do not receive any benefit from it

apparently.

Q. Hoiw do you account for that.

A. Well, the only answer I can give is that the parties that are manufacturing

it must take advantage of the whole thing. They must do so because, apparently,

there is no .competition, what you might call practical competition in buying.

By Mr. Zimmerman :

Q. I could understand you now if the price of tobacco was as high here as it is in

the United States. But you claim to raise as good tobacco as they do in the States,

and yet it is three cents a pound higher in the States, and then there is an additional

duty of 34 cents.

By Mr. Parmelee :

Q. Just one moment, I want to get at these facts. Mr. Clarke told us a few
moments ago that the Empire people are selling a plug of chewing for 10 cents which
is twice as large as the plug made by Macdonald.

By Mr. Ross (Yale Cariboo) :

Q. Could the manufacturers pay you as much for your tobacco as they pay for

American tobacco when, in order to compete with the latter they have got to put twice

as much Canadian tobacco into a plug ?

A. Do you want to know my opinion as to why that is ?

Q. Yes ?

A. The only answer I can give you is this : that the Canadian manufaeturor is

competing with a trade that has been established for 30 or 40 years, and you know that

an established trade anywhere in the world is a hard thing to overcome.

Q. I thoroughly agree with you if that is the answer. The next que^ition that

arises is, if they have to do that they cannot pay as much for your tobacco as for the

tobacco they a.re competing with, can they?

A. Well, you would na'turally think they could not do so.

Q. They could not do it?

A. No.
'

Q. If they have to put twice as much tobacco into a plug in order to sell it thoy

cannot pay as much for it?
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A. Tliat looks reasonable, but at the same time if tlie figures which Mr. Clarke

quoted are correct, the manufacturers are certainly making a large enough profit t6

allow the farmers a little of it. They should' not retain the whole of the profit, but

give us a reasonable amount, and not have us growing tobacco at cost or at a loss. I

think the prices which were quoted by Mr. Wigle and the figures which were pub-

lished by the Leamington Post are really a little larger than what we have actually

got.

By Mr. Zimmerman:

Q. That is an outside price?

A. These are outside prices and the majority of tobacco growers have not received

the amounts that have been quoted to-day.

By Mr. Ross (Yale-Garihoo) :

^ Q. In order that you may get the same price as the American growers do for their

tobacco you have got to educate the people who use the American tobacco out of that

J)rejudice ?

A. There is no question about that in my mind and the manufacturer also needs

to be educated.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. How would you legislate in order to prohibit the American tobacco from com-
ing into Canada?

A. Such prohibition is not my natural inclination in regard to trade questions, but

throughout the world tobacco is regarded as a legitimate object of taxation by all

governments. In some countries tobacco is made a government monopoly, and I think

that in the majority of cases tobacco is taxed more heavily than it is by our govern-

ment. It is the same with the Dominion of Canada. Now there is no reason why, if

tobacco is a legitimate object of taxation, we should not tax it sufficiently to introduce

the growing of certain varieties into this country and supply our domestic market.

By Mr. Clarke:

Q. There is this view of it: supposing you prohibit the importation of tobacco

and raise the whole excise, so far as that portion of it is concerned, from Canadian
tobacco, you would not affect the price which is paid to the farmer?

A. If the excise were increased it would depend a great deal upon competition

between the manufacturers.

Q. In the event of excluding importations of American tobacco the whole of the

excise would have to come out of the Canadian leaf?

A. Yes, the Canadian leaf.

By Mr. Carrier:

Q. Do you think it would be advisable for the government to send an expert abroad

having with him the best grades of your tobacco, and try and introduce it ^nto

European countries?

A. I think so, if they could get the tobacco handled properly.

Q. These finer grades of tobacco might be exhibited at the Anglo-French exhibi-

tion in London, and an expert might deliver addresses in their favour?

A. Without doubt.

Q. Bringing out all the good points of Canadian tobaccos?

A. Yes, that might be done. There is something about the tobacco that personally

I do not understand. In that connection let me give you a little experience of my own.

In 1898 I sold my crop of tobacco. It was a very large one and I think I got some 5

or 6 cents a pound. But when I stripped my tobacco I culled it. I took the poor
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leaves—the torn leaves and the lower leaves of the plant—and culled them out. The
prime leaves or the best leaves I placed upon the sticks. When the buyers came to

purchase the tobacco they x^ould not touch the culled leaves, but they bought the good

tobacco. Well, I had, I suppose, fifteen or twenty bales of this culled tobacco, in

50-pound bales or thereabouts, and I placed it in my granary where it could not take

any moisture or where there was no chance of it heating. I kept that tobacco for a

year and a half. My father-in-law, who is a tobacco user, came along and said :
' I

want a bale of that tobacco to use. ' Well, he took away a bale of it. Let me say £rst

that this tobacco was a mixture of Zimmer Spanish, Connecticut Seed Leaf and

Burley. I got my seed from a neighbour who had badly mixed his plants. I think

there would also be another variety or two in addition to those mentioned. Well, my
father-in-law took that tobacco to the village where he lived and the tobacco users there

soon found out that he had some of the weed. One or two begged a little of this

tobacco, and finally they all came there and deserted Macdonald and other tobaccos.

All wanted to use the Canadian leaf, and they very soon stripped my father-in-law of

all that he had and he came back for more. He said that they all admitted that it

was the best tobacco they ever got.

Q. Perhaps you are an exceedingly good hand at curing it?

A. No, I think it was nature that did it. I think the tobacco was cured by
nature in some way.

By Mr. Boss (Yale-Carihoo) :

Q. Were those people not getting that tobacco cheaper?

A. It was not that at all, that would have nothing at all to do with it. They very,

soon came back and bought the balance of that culled tobacco at 2 cents a pound.

By Mr. Carrier:

Q. Don't you think it would be a good idea for the government to issue licenses

to re-handlers for the privilege of handling that tobacco ?

A. I think so. \

Q. I am speaking of the province of Quebec, because there we have not got the

advantage of the beautiful climate such as you have ?

A. Yes, we have a good climate, we are ploughing up there now.

Q. Unfortunately for twenty years in our province the farmers have been selling

their tobacco just as they raised it, they did not understand about the curing or

anything else. The consequence was it gave the tobacco a bad name. The necessary

thing now, I think, is to have that tobacco go. through the hands of experts, wlio

understand all about the curing, before it goes to the trade?

A. Just so.

Q. We want re-handlers to undertake that, men who understand the business and
would pay a license to the government. I believe that the government should put an

excise duty of 1 cent a pound on every pound that goes into the trade.

Mr. Zimmerman.—What is your reason?

Mr. Carrier.—My reason is that all the tobacco should go through the hands of

re-handlers. The purchaser would then know what he was getting. The tobacco would
be graded and prices paid in proportion to the quality. At proscnt tobacco of an

inferior quality goes to the trade the same as the very best, and hence the tobacco

receives a bad name.

The Witness.—That is very true.

By Mr. Carrier:

Q. You see if the government had a proper system of giving licenses to re-handlers

the trade would be placed upon a sound basis?
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A. Or let the government themselves appoint inspectors' and grade the tobacco the

same as they do the grain in the northwest. I have often thought of that. At present

we are handicapped and the buyers, or re-handlers or manufacturers—whatever you

like to call them—will not give the farmers a reasonable price for their tobacco. Let

the government themselves put an excise duty on all tobacco that these men buy, less

a certain fixed price to be paid to the farmer, and it would insure to the farmer a

certain price for his tobacco at any rate.

Q. That is my theory.

A. I have often thought along the same lines. There is one difficulty in buying

county of Essex tobacco, and that is that apparently the best quality such as this

(producing sample) (was bought at probably only one cent per pound higher than other

stuff for which not more than one-half the price should have been paid.

By Mr. Clements:

^ Q. How much more large Burley can you grow than small Burley per acre?

A. I have never had much experience in that. A great deal depends upon the

planting and the distance the plants are set apart and the soil. Mr. Koss, I believe

it was spoke about the difference in climate. He will understand the climate of the

county of Essex when I tell him that when we left there on Tuesday the people were

ploughing. Some years ago I met a party of hunters who were going to the woods

of northern Michigan. They had come from a point 80 miles south of Sandusky,

Ohio, that is pretty far south from us ; we had not had a particle of frost ; that was the

22nd of October, and they told us that they had had frost three weeks before through-

out the state of Ohio that had killed all vegetation.

By Mr. Boss (Yale-Carihov)

:

Q. A remark was made about the Connecticut Yellow not ripening at the same
time, any two plants. Would that difference be on account of the planting or some-
thing in the condition of the plant or the soil? Is that the same tobacco as grown in

Connecticut ?

A. I might say that I have had no experience. Before I close, I spoke of Mr.
Macdonald's prejudice against Canadian tobacco. I have a brother who has been a

very extensive grower, and when he first started to grow White Burley he sent pome
samples to Macdonald and asked him if he would try the Canadian tobacco. Mr.
Macdonad said he had tried the Canadian tobacco once and it had not been a success

in this country. His trial was made many years ago, but if he made the experiment

now he might change his views.

Having read over the above transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

PETER LAMARSH.
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House of Commons^
Committee Koom ISTo. 34^

Friday, March 27, 1908.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met here this

day at 2 o'clock p.m., Mr. McKenzie, Chairman presiding.

Mr. Louis V. Labelle, Joliette, Que., called' and examined.

By Mr. Dubeau:

Q. How long have you been interested in the 'tobacco industry?

A. About 20 years.

Q. You have visited the ' different parts of the provinces of Ontario and Quebeg
where tobecco is grown?

A. Yes, I have made extensive trips throughout those provinces especially

for the purpose of getting acquainted with what was being done and the possibilities

in regard to the tobacco industry, not only from an agricultural, but also from an

industrial point of view.

Q. Have you remarked that the climate in the two provinces affects the cultiva-

tion of tobacco?

A. I remarked a general effect which has been proven long ago by results obtained

and it is this: that in Ontario on account of certain climatic conditions and also the

nature of the soils devoted to that culture, it seemed to permit the production of

certain types to a greater perfection than we can attain in Quebec. I also noticed,

and it is a well known fact proven likewise 'by results, that in Quebec—for the same
reasons, but acting inversely I suppose, or in some way which is not clear to my mind
or to anybody else's mind—we can produce certain types and varieties of tobacco to a

greater perfection than they can in Ontario. I may add just at this moment, if you
will permit me, that this fact is often overlooked. It seems to me that by overlooking

the fact that in one province certain types of tobacco obtain greater success than in

the other, and vice versa, unnecessary rivalry seems to have arisen between the growers

of Ontario and Quebec which should not be the case. This condition of things is not

peculiar to this country but is universal. For instance, in the United States, where
the cultivation of tobacco is very extensive—in fact they are the largest producers of

tobacco in the world—the districts, so far as the agricultural industry is concerned,

are clearly defined and divided. In certain otates they produce a certain type of

tobacco which is never taken out of those States. That is, the culture of that particular

type of tobacco is not transferred to other States, but remains there. Now the tobacco

growing areas are divided into about five great sections. For example, the central

States produce a certain type of tobaccos which is entirely difterent from that produced

in the Eastern States. In the Southern States they produce a certain typo of tobaccos

which is very different indeed from that grown in the Northern States. This is due

to certain climatic conditions combined with the nature of the soils upon which the

tobacco is grown. I am stating this to show that there is no need of confusing the

possibilities of tobacco culture in the provinces of Ontario and Quebec. Now for the

matter which I believe constitutes the object of tliis inquiry or investigation; I

should not think that there need be any rivalry between the provinces of Quebec and
Ontario. I believe we are all agreed that both provinces need facilities for opening

up a market for their respective products. I do not know if whilt I have stated is to

the point and gives you the information which you require. If not, you can ask me to

explain any matters which appear to be in doubt.
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Q. You cannot see that there should be any rivalry as to tobacco production
between the provinces of Quebec and Ontario ?

A. No, there should not be, because in Ontario they can produce certain things

to a greater degree of perfection than we can; and on the other hand we can grow
certain varieties of tobacco in Quebec more successfully than they can in Ontario.

Q, In your opinion is it a good thing to increase the excise duty on the foreign

tobaccos; is it necessary in order to successfully develop the Canadian tobacco

industry?

A. No, I do not think it is a necessity, not a bit. I mentioned a moment ago

that what we need are facilities for our products in Ontario and Quebec to be used
by the manufacturing industry; and the increasing of the duty on the foreign leaf

would not help much to that result so long as the restrictions, which have so far existed,

remain. I would rather have the restrictions done away with, as is proposed, than
have a prohibitive duty put on foreign leaf. I will tell you why I think that. We
liave already, it seems to me, plenty of protection. There is in fact a protection of 30

cents per pound, considering the total duties imposed upon foreign leaf, in favour of

Canadian tobacco. Well, the effect of the increase of duty over what existed prior to

1897 had been felt. That increase of duty was required at that time in order to induce

the manufacturers to use Canadian tobacco in their factories. But if a system of

fiscal or administrative dispositions had not been established, whereby the use of

Canadian tobacco in factories was facilitated, the 10 cent® of increase of duty on the

foreign leaf would have been of no avail. However, in 1897 the factories were opened

up to the use of Canadian leaf to a certain extent; in fact the means were devised

whereby the manufacturers who chose to do so could use the Canadian leaf. They
could do that under a separate license. Now the results of that increase of duty and
the changes in the regulations have worked to the good of the Canadian tobacco pro-

ducers. The proof is to be found in the fact that we are using now almost 5,000,000

pounds of Canadian tobacco out of the total quantity manufactured, whilst before

1897 the amount that went into manufacture was almost nothing. There is an old

saying that the proof of the pudding is in the eating. There we have the proof of the

good which resulted from the measures adopted in 1897. However, sufficient has; not

yet been done because there are other types of tobaccos which we can produce here,

and which would be used by the manufacturers were it not for certain restrictions.

By Mr. Owen:

Q. What restrictions?

A. There are three licenses and different stamps used. Those, briefly, are the

restrictions I mean ; the system of three separate licenses, you see. I iwill not go into

this detail very much because a great deal has been said respecting it in the testimony

that has been taken. I mention these as being the restrictions and objections to the

development of ascertain branch of the manufacturing industry from which we cam

derive great benefit, that is, I mean the tobacco growers. My more particular reason*

for not being so much in favour of increasing the duties is that supposing we madq
the duty prohibitive entirely there might be some reason on the part of the manufac-
turer to complain, because we cannot claim that here in Canada we can produce all

the types and varieties and sub-varieties an'd different grades of leaf which are

required by the manufacturing industry. I quite understand we shall always have

to import from foreign 'countries certain types and grades of tobacco which we can-

not produce here in Canada, and there is nothing extraordinary in this because, even

in the United States, where they produce seven hundred million pounds of tobacco per

year and where also they have all sorts of climates and soils, they have yet to import

30,000,000 pounds of Sumatra leaf. Their reason for that is simply an industrial

one. It is simply because that Sumatra leaf has certain-peculiarities of its own which

cannot be duplicated in the best situated parts of the United States. For the same
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reason we shall always have to import a certain portion of the tobacco which iwill be

required for our tobacco manufacturing industry in all its branches. Therefore, the

manufacturers might have some reason to complain if such a step was taken. And
as producers, supposing we make the duty prohibitive, the result to the growers would

be such that in two years we would fill the country with so much tobacco, I would

not say of all sorts of tobacco, that the price would go down and it would be down for

fifteen years.

By Mr. Clarke:

Q. How would it affect the price to the farmers?

A. Over-production would bring prices down, that is the natural result. And it

seems to me that it is taking a wrong view for the farmers to favour the increase in

the duty. I know lots of farmers are in favour of increasing it, and making it even

prohibitive, but it would work out in practice so that it would first bring the price

down on account of over-production; it is the natural result, and we have the proof

of this, as I will show you in a moment.

Q. May I ask, are you a grower of tobacco ?

A. Yes, sir; I have been a grower for 17 years; I am not engaged in it now. I

quit simply because I thought I would never, live long enough to see the changes

(which are about to take place now. But I will go into it again, now that the change

which I have been waiting for for many years has come.

By the Chairman:

Q. You refer to the changes in the inland revenue?

A. I say this, that the farmers are mistaken in trying to have the price or the

value of tobacco adjusted by means of fiscal meas/ures, because it can only have a

momentary effect. It is impossible to fix the value or price of such a product as

tobacco, or in fact any product of agriculture, by any such means. An industrial

product may, perhaps, be regulated in price to a certain extent by fiscal means, but

no agricultural product can be.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. Wouldn't it have the effect of increasing the demand by giving a wider mar-
ket in Canada?

A. Here is Canada with a tobacco consumption of 20,000,000 pounds in all forms
and shapes, including the foreign importations. All Canada consumes, manufactured
or in the raw state is about 20,000,000 pounds—I would not be sure about the exact

quantity, but it is that more or less, it may be a few hundred thousand pounds under
lOr above that, but that does not make much difference. Now, I've heard gentlemen

say, and they were right in that, when they stated yesterday that in Essex county alone

they can produce 20,000,000 pounds. I claim we can just as easily grow 100,000.000

pounds as 20,000,000 pounds. But if the total capacity for consumption is only

20,000,000 pounds at the present time, supposing we produce 50,000,000 pounds jnst

after making ^iie duty prohibitive, what would be the result? First the country would

be flooded by over production, and for that very reason the price would come down
and the farmers would not obtain what they expect or desire, that is an increase in

the value of their product. But supposing we had the whole 20,000,000 pounds to

raise, if we produce 50,000,000 pounds what will happen?

By Mr. Owen:

Q. Export it?

A. That is all right, but before we can export it we must produce such an artielc

as will first be suitable for our own native industry, and we could export to advantage

Only certain types of tobacco which are cigar types, and which can be produced only

2—5
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under certain favourable conditions, which do not exist now, but which will arise under
the proposed changes now under consideration. That is all right, that is what we have
been clamouring for so long, for a change, not so much by increasing the duty,

but by some improvements in the conditions under which the industry was being
carried on. An intermediate industry will arise out of changed conditions and then

we will supply, I think, the requirements of the country, and then when there is over-

production we can export to foreign countries. Such new conditions will also create

something favourable to the good growers of tobacco and discriminate in their favour
against the bad growers. Then there will be distinction between tobacco and tobacco.

Now there is no distinction made.

By Mr. Owen:

Q. None at all?

A. Hardly any, I will admit there is some, but very little, not enough to attain

the desired results, that is give encouragement to the production of good tobacco, that

is my idea.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. About what quantity is produced in the province of Quebec at the present time?

A. I can only make an estimation which may be altogether wrong, but at the

same time I might say that whatever has been stated in that respect hasn't much better

foundation than my own idea. I would estimate that the production in Quebec is

about 5,000,000 pounds—that is the maximum production that was ever attained.

Q. Can you tell me how much of that amount is cigar tobacco and how much
chewing ?

A. I will tell you, in my estimation nearly all of those types grown there belong

to the cigar types, but in order to make it suitable for cigar purposes it must be

cultivated under certain peculiar conditions which are not observed, because in the

province of Quebec^ and for that matter in the province of Ontario, we haven't yet in

existence any cigar industry worth mentioning.

Q. At the same time into what manufacture does that five millions go?

A. Very little goes into cigars, the most of it goes to the consumer direct from
our farmers without anything being done to it except drying it, as well as can be

done and pressing it in bales.

Q. Is that for smoking?

A. For smoking in the pipe.

Q. Do you grow any for chewing purposes?

A. Some of it is used in factories, but I must admit that western Ontario pro-

duces the Burley type which is far superior for chewing purposes to our tobaccos

in the province of Quebec. Some factories take ours after they have supplied them-

selves with what they want of Burley. For certain purposes, which are matters; of-

detail in the industry, they find it advantageous to take some of our tobacco also

;

but the bulk of it comes from western Ontario. Our tobacco is mostly consumed in

a raw state, and that is why Quebec tobacco has obtained such a bad reputation. It is

because that tobacco has been placed before the consumers in a raw state and that

is about the worst state in which it could be offered to anybody. Now, tobacco is

not a natural product, it is an artificial product, and in order to bring out its quali-

ties it should be treated properly. Now, the intermediate industry, which will arise

out of the new conditions will be created for the particular and specific purpose of

treating that tobacco for industrial purposes. Do you see what I mean?

By Mr. Geoffrion:

Q. Are you in favour of the proposed new fiscal arrangements as announced by
the Minister of Finance?
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A. Yes. I believe they meet exactly wliat is necessary to foster the industry

throughojit Canada. Everywhere in Canada where tobacco can be grown benefit will

be derived from those arrangements. First, because they will do away with difficul-

ties under which certain manufacturers are labouring. It (will permit the introduc-

tion of the leaf in a better state to the manufacturers through the intermediate indus-

try. It will disseminate a knowledge amongst the farmers of certain things which

they at present ignore absolutely. There was no necessity for knowing anything

about those things before. Then the ultimate result will be that after we have sup-

plied our manufacturers we shall be able to export whatever is produced aver and

above the amount necessary for our own consumption. I stated a moment ago that

I believe an increase of duties and the prohibition of importations would mean
simply harm to the growers, because it would have only a momentary effect, and then

I referred en passant to the effect which was caused by changes in 1898.

By Mr. Dugas:

Q. Will you show how the intermediate industry would improve the quality of

the tobacco?

A. Yes. That improvement will be brought about by treating the tobacco

in a certain way and the details of the treatment are these : This intermediate industry

exists under different names in the United States. In certain parts the men engaged

in it are called re-handlers and in other parts packers. It does not matter what name
they go under. The re-handlers are employed in sections where they produce smoking
and chewing tobaccos, while the packers exist in sections where cigar leaf is raised.

That is the only difference there is between the two names. However, these re-

handlers or packers are supplied, or they supply themselves, with buildings which must
be constructed for the special purpose of treating tobacco. In the second place, there

are certain—I would not say secrets, but there are tricks^ of the trade which are known
and acquired by practice only. Now, these re-handlers or packers iwill come over here,

they will know how ,to distinguish between types, they will know how to treat and
classify them, they will know how to pack them for the different branches of industry

or for that matter, for exportation, and they will know how to ferment them. Fer-

mentation is practised in the case of the cigar leaf. The other types of tobaccos,

whether for chewing or ?,moking, are not fermented in the strict sense of the term.

By Mr. Parmelee:

Q. They go through a process?

A. They are put through a process, but not the fermentation process which is given
to the cigar leaf.

Q. But it is a process?

A. Yes, it is a process.

By Mr. Dugas:

Q. All this work is done by the packers?

A. Or re-handlers.

Q. Or re-handlers?

A. Yes. In the United States. And the same would be done here, and that is

where they would increase the quality of the tobacco, because it is the treatment and
process which is absolutely necessary in order to bring out the qualities of the leaf

which exist in a latent state in a good crop.

By Mr. Dugas:

Q. Do you think that our Canadian tob{icco can be exported to a foreign country

without being managed by these packers or re-handlers?

A. No. Simply for this reason, that the foreign markets are not used to special

types of tobacco, absolutely well treated from countries that export tobacco. They

2—5i
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would not take Canadian tobacco in the raw state and with all qualities mixed up and
poorly packed. They would not receive it. We must have these re-handlers or packers
who will prepare the tobacco properly, before we can expect to export.

By Mr. Parmelee:

Q. What is the difficulty in the way of these establishments being started now?
A. The difficulty is this, this has been tried by means of organizations among the

farmers, but it is impossible to bring the farmers to work together towards a certain
goal. There is no inducement for it, take the cigar types, for instance, which should
be grown for the cigar industry exclusively, and we have not that cigar industry here;
it does not exist, or only on a very limited scale, and the - manufacturers who have
attempted it, for the most part have made the mistake of trying to make cigars out
of a leaf that was not properly treated. The re-handlers or packers have no assured
opening for their product which costs them something above what they pay for it,

and therefore are not induced to go into it. They must first be assured that having
added to the value of the tobacco by means of selection and treatment they will find a
market for it so that it will pay them, that is where the difficulty lies exactly.

By Mr. Owen:

Q. Your contention is that our tobacco is not good enough for export ?

A. I beg pardon, sir; I do not say that, and I do not mean that. I simply say it

is not in the proper condition to export.

Q. Is it in the proper condition for home consumption?
A. No, sir.

Q. That is right?

A. I quite agree with you on that, but we have been consuming it in the worst

condition possible. It is an acquired taste for it, and can you prevent a man smoking
straw if he wants to ?

By Mr. Dugas:

Q. As an example of what you have said, did you not prepare some tobacco in

1901, some samples to be sent to Belgium?
A. Not only in that year, but at three different times I sent samples of tobacco

to Belgium myself, and also to Holland, and a good deal of correspondence has resulted

from that. I have none of the letters here, but most of the letters that I received held

out favourable prospects on what I have submitted to them in a very crude state. All

those letters I believe are here at the department, if not all, at least the most important

and most interesting of them are. From my personal experience I might say that our

tobaccos have been highly appreciated by the importers of Belgium and Holland, but

they have always made the remark that the tobacco was not in a suitable state for them
to take it.

Q. It was not finished?

A. Exactly. I sent it in the raw state, because I wanted to find out myself what
should have been done to improve the tobacco, and they explained to me what was
wanted was better assorting and more particularly the fermentation of it.

Q. What was the opinion of those people to whom you sent samples as to the

quality of yQur tobacco in its condition?

A. They stated that this tobacco had in itself qualities which made it at least

equal to some of the types which were received in Belgium land Holland from the

United States, that is exactly what .they said, and then they went on to remark that

our type was in a raw state in which they could not receive it there ; that if we treated

it properly, that is, if we assorted it according to their particular requirements over

there, so that it iwould be suitable for their market, and if we also fermented it the

result would be that it would possibly be a s,uperior article to the Wisconsin tobacco,

which they imported themselves.
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Q. Is there any other place in the world where tobacco is used as it is in this

country, without being preipared?

A. N"o. There is not a single civilized country in the world where tobacco is

consumed in the raw state. I might say, Mr. Dugas, that suppose we went to Central

America, Mexico, Columbia or Brazil, I will leave out Cuba because we should not

compare ourselves with Cuba and for that matter no country can be compared to

Cuba, but take South America, where it is generally thought the conditions are ideal

for the production of tobacco—supposing went to Brazil, to the Bahia district, and

brought some tobacco back in the raw istate, the same as we get it from the farmers

and as it is consumed by lOur farmers here, and went to a manufacturer and had it

made into cigars, and suppose I had some in my pocket and offered them to you, you
and the other gentlemen here .would say, ' This is about the worst stuff I ever smoked
in my life/ That would be the case even if it was Brazilian tobacco, which has the

highest reputation on the market, and yet the fact is that our tobacco is now being

consumed in the raw state.

By Mr. Parmelee:

Q. Just a moment here; you know, as I know, there is in the province of Quebec
an enormous quantity of tobacco consumed in the raw state?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you tell me why a man who has once acquired a taste for it will smoke
no other?

A. I can't explain.

Q. But it is true, isn't it?

A. It is true, but it means we jshould not give personal opinions, on these matters
of taste, we should not dispute upon them ; it is a question of an acquired taste.

Q. I mean this, that the man who is in the habit of smoking the raw leaf, if I

offer him some manufactured tobacco he will politely refuse it?

A. Quite true, but that is limited to the province of Quebec; we have a market
in the province of Quebec for that tobacco.

By Mr. Geoffrion: ,

Q. You mean to say that in Some parts of the province of Quebec, mostly in the
lower counties, that there we do not get smoking, tobacco, for pipe smoking, that is

good; that it is.not really good tobacco we get?

A. Well, good,, I'll admit that it is good, because I find it good myself, but you
will not get everybody to .admit that it is good. '

Q. It is just as good as any other tobacco you can buy at a dollar a pound any-
where ?

A. Yes, that is quite right, but I would say I never tried to make an argument of

that, because my personal taste may be wrong.

Q. I suppose your argument is that we ought to have some depots where it would
be properly prepared?

A. Exactly.

Q. What would you propose aS" to that? Do you think that the proposed reguln-

tion will have the effect of having the producers get together?

A. I do not know exactly how it will happen. I surmise it will happen simply in

this manner : That people having money to invest will find it advantageous to go into

this new branch of business in Canada; and I believe that the proposed new regulations
will create such conditions as will induce people that have money to go into the

business. Now, I have already the proof of that because I have been consulted by men
that meant to go into the business years ago and have been simply waiting for the

creation of these new conditions to do so.

Q. You think they will certainly go into the business now ?
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A. They will certainly go into the business now, and one of them has already

made the necessary arrangements.

By Mr. Broder:

Q. If yon increase the product very much it will result in a surplus that you will

not be able to dispose of even if you get your own market?

A. I have just explained that the new conditions created will give birth to a new
industry which will help us in disposing of our surplus to foreign countries.

By Mr. Dugas

:

Q. I would like to know your opinion in regard to the new regulations. Some of

the witnesses that have been heard before this committee have stated that the new
regulations will result in lowering the duty on foreign leaf from 35 to 33 cents ?

A. I do not see it that way.

Q. What will be the effect as to duty?

A. I have looked into the matter carefully in order to find out whether what I

read in the papers with respect to this was right or not. Mr. Fielding said that it was

a rearrangement without augmentation of or diminution in the duty.

^ By Mr. Parmelee:

Q. Yes, he said that practically?

A. He did not say this absolutely, but in a general way. There might be slight

differences due to the impossibility of getting decimals into line in making the

calculations; but practically there is no increase or decrease in the amount of duty

to be imposed on the foreigner, absolutely none.

By Mr. Dugas:

Q. I see that the new regulations provide ^ on foreign leaf tobacco unstemmed, per

pound 28 cents.' This will be collected before the manufacturers use their tobacco,

and then they will pay 5 cents duty when they place their tobacco on the market.

This brings the duty up to 33 cents?

A. Yes, but there is something overlooked in that calculation. It is this: the

duty of 10 cents is collected on the raw leaf as it comes out of the warehouse and goes

into the factory where it is taken for use and converted into the manufactured pro-

duct. Now, when this comes out of the warehouse again for consumption it pays a

duty of 25 cents. The total duty, therefore, is 36 cents. But this fact should not be

overlooked: the 10 cents duty on the leaf is also on the stem which is taken out in

the manufacturing process, and more especially in the case of chewing tobaccos,

because into chewing tobaccos none of the stems go. Now, in the case of a strictly

chewing tobacco factory this will mean one-third taken off, Now, the 10 cents is also

imposed on that 33 per cent of the weight. But the way it works out is that there is a

difference of 2 cents owing to the change in weight. A duty of 28 cents on the raw
leaf means that this duty is also levied on the stems which are taken out later in the

process of manufacture, which accounts for the apparent superficial difference of 2

cents in the total duty. Twenty-eight and five make 33, and 25 and 10 make 35. But
I am pointing out where the discrepancy is made up. Take 100 pounds of tobacco

which pay 28 cents duty. Then take the stems out of the leaf and it will mean a

change of, we will say 25 per cent. That means a difference of 7 cents. One-fourth

of 28 cents is Y cents, and 28 cents and 7 cents added make 35 cents. Then again

after that tobacco has been converted into chewing plug there will be 5 cents more duty

to pay on it, making the total duty 40 cents. Of course, there will be compensation

for that. You may say that, as I have figured it out, the duty amounts to 40 cents.

But no, it is not that. The licorice and other ingredients that go into the chewing

tobacco replace to a certain extent the stems which have been taken out in the process

of manufacturing chewing tobacco. Therefore, 100 pounds of leaf tobacco, if it has
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been stemmed, produces 100 pounds of manufactured tobacco, because the stems have

been replaced by the licorice, sugar, molasses and everything else that goes into it.

By Mr. Broder:

Q. Do the factories use the stems for any purpose?

A. There is no practical use for stems in this country.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. Do they not make snufi out of it?

A. Very little. There is no snuff trade in this country, or hardly any.

By Mr. Dugas:

Q. It has been said by some witnesses that under the old regulations the govern-

ment collected 25 cents a pound on chewing tobacco, for instance, and collected that

amount on all ingredients which were used in the manufacture of that tobacco. Now
I see in the new regulations that where less than 60 per cent of Canadian raw leaf,

and 10 per cent or more of other material, is used, such material shall be subject to a

duty of 16 cents per pound?
A. This is entirely in favour of Canadian tobacco. It is a direct inducement to

the manufacturers to use Canadian tobacco in combination with foreign leaf.

Q. Thus the duty will not be diminished?

A. It will be increased whenever that clause applies.

Q. Are you aware of the amount of the rebate which was granted to the manu-
facturers for their strips of tobacco?

A. No, not exactly.

Q. I put a question in the House lately and the answer was this: The quantity

of tobacco exported upon which a refund was paid on foreign leaf was 112,891 pounds.

The amount of the refund was $10,737.70. There was an addition to the above of

36i3,518 pounds of cigar cuttings exported upon which a refund of $36,311.80 was
paid. According to the new regulations no such rebate will be paid in the future?

A. That is what I understand. They could not do so under the new regulations,

because the Canadian and foreign leaf will be so mixed up that it will be impossible

to distinguish one from the other. So the government have to do away entirely with

the rebate and that is in our favour. It is not so much in the amount of money that

I see where that will be a gain to us; but in that it closed the factories that wanted
to have those rebates, to the Canadian leaf. That is all, I understand, there is in it.

It is a peculiar thing but, those rebates seem to have closed those factories to the

Canadian leaf.

Q. I have received a letter from Mr. los. Picard, of the Eock City Tobacco Com-
pany, Quebec, complaining of the new regulations as regards cigarettes. Will you
read that letter (handing a letter to witness), and say whether the new regulations

will injure the cigarette business as is claimed there?

A. (After reading the letter) I believe Mr. Picard is mistaken. In making his

calculation he erred in the same way as I did myself when I first worked it out, he
overlooked certain things. I see here a plain calculation which makes the point clear,

and by what I see there is absolutely no difference in the total amount of duty imposed
on the foreign leaf in the case of cigarettes. Therefore, it means that under the new
regulations the protection in favour of Canadian leaf to be used in cigarettes amounts
to exactly the same. That is what I make out from this calculation here, and I know
that I have been doing the same thing myself. There is a slight apparent discrepancy

of about 6 cents per 1,000 cigarettes, but I believe this is due to certain losses which
necessarily occur in that industry, cuttings and things upon which they possibly got

a rebate before, but which they will not receive now under the new regulations.

Therefore, it seems to me that as to the amount of duty it remains absolutely the same
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as it was before. I believe, Mr. Dugas, your correspondent is mistaken in his con-

tention that they are losing a certain advantage which they enjoyed before.

Q. Are you aware of the number of cigarettes which are made yearly with

Canadian tobacco?

A. No, I cannot say that I know the number, or the quantity of tobacco used for

cigarette purposes ; but I would not think it is a great deal.

By Mr. Dubeau:

Q. What will be the effect of the proposed regulations? Will it be to induce the

manufacturers to go among the farmers and establish packing warehouses for

re-handling ?

A. Yes, undoubtedly, and I believe that a moment ago I replied to about the same
question. I will again say that I not only believe, but I am absolutely sure, as I

mentioned a moment ago, some persons of importance in the tobacco industry have

been looking towards the time when such change is made as would warrant their going

into that particular re-handling industry. Now, it looks as if the time had come, and
no later than about four or five days ago I met one of those gentlemen who told me
that if nothing goes wrong with the contemplated change, he will be right into our

tsection among the farmers and start a re-handling establishment there this very spring.

So that, if there is no undue delay I am sure that it will establish the re-handling

industry, but if the carrying out of the contemplated change is postponed so late that

the crop will have started fermenting it will be too late for him to do anything this

year.

By Mr. Dugas:

Q. Are you not aware that last year Mr. Cusson, a cigar manufacturer of

Montreal, bought nearly a half a million pounds of tobacco for the purpose of making
cigars, and there was a man brought from Connecticut to prepare this tobacco, and
that this was done in the expectation that these new regulations would have been
approved last year?

A. Yes, I know that because Mr. Cusson asked me several times what I thought
with respect to the changes, and I told him that in the course of time this would
certainly occur. Well, one day last year he told me, ' I am going right into it,' and
he bought, as you say, Mr. Dugas, between 500,000 and 600,000 pounds—it must have
shrunk some since, but I believe the original weight was between 500,000 and 600,000

pounds, and I know he has brought a gentleman from the IJnited States who is an
expert in treating that tobacco. I was there myself at his warehouse and I looked at

the tobacco and spoke to the gentleman from Connecticut, who told me he was very

much surprised at the quality of it.

Q. Is it not a fact that these cigars we are now smoking were ma(\e out of the

tobacco which Mr. Cusson has bought?

A. I do not know whether these particular cigars are made out of that tobacco,

but I have myself often smoked some very fine cigars which Mr. Cusson gave me. We
talked it over several times, but as to these very cigars I would not vouch that they are

the real thing, but I have been smoking some that I know were made from that

tobacco, and I believe myself that they were Canadian wrapped up in Sumatra.

Q. Are you engaged in the manufacture of cigars?

A. No, I was in the manufacture of tobacco when I became a grower.

By Mr. OlarJce :

Q. Can you tell me what proportion of the leaf is stem? What proportion of the

whole weight does the stem constitute?

A. We have to distinguish in this, Mr. Clarke, because in the smoking tobacco

factories, for instance—there are none such existing exclusively—but I would mention
Sir William Macdonald's factory, where they manufacture only smoking and chewing
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all in the plug, I would estimate that in such a factory the proportion of stem is about

25 per cent of the original weight of the leaf on the average. Because in such a factory

all the tobacco is stemmed, as he never makes plug tobacco with the stems in; but

take for instance the American Tobacco Company, where they make cut tobacco, the

greater proportion of their tobacco that they place on the market contains the stems,

consequently their proportion of stems to the total weight of their production would

on the average be very far below 25 per cent.

Q. I thought the American Tobacco Company imported the tobacco without stems ?

A. They may, I do not know as to that, but I hardly think they do. They may,
but I do not see where the advantage would be for them to do so.

Q. Can you tell how many varieties of smoking tobacco you grow in the province'

of Quebec? You have the Comstock Spanish?

A. Well, I would not say we are growing any types of smoking tobacco, known as

such in the United States, we are not, neither are the growers in Ontario, because the

smoking types which the United States are producing are grown more especially in the

two Carolinas, Virginia, Delaware and also in Kentucky and Ohio. These are the

States where they grow smoking tobacco more particularly known as such, but we are

not growing in Quebec those varieties, we are growing cigar leaf tobacco which we
use for pipe purposes also, and for which such a taste has been acquired as to render

them acceptable to the public as a pipe smoking tobacco. But if you ask me, ' Are you
growing pipe smoking tobacco,' I could not say that we are, according to the American
standards.

Q. I do not mean the pipe smoking tobacco, but this Comstock Spanish, Con-

necticut seed leaf?

A. Those are cigar varieties.

Q. But you grow all of those?

A. Yes.

Q. And you grow Havana leaf, that has been spoken of?

A. There is not so much in varieties as would appear, but it is the types that

should guide us, because the varieties after all differ very slightly. I have read the

names of 121 varieties of seed leaf plants, they are nearly all alike in the field, you
could not distinguish between them.

Q. What is the most profitable type you grow down there?

A. I do not know that I could find a basis for establishing a valuation of the

cost and profit in that sense, I do not know.

Q. Which is the favourite type grown by the farmers ? What is grown there most ?

A. I would say the Havana seed leaf, including the Comstock and the Zimmer
Spanish, which belongs to the Havana seed leaf type. The Havana seed leaf is the

most favourable type to be grown in the province of Quebec. Our possibilities there

are limited, and we should not go beyond our possibilities, that is where many make an
error, they try all sorts of tobacco; I have seen them trying to grow Sumatra in the

province of Quebec, it is impossible, they simply do not know what they are about.

Our possibilities are limited and so they are in your own section. If they ever try

to grow a lot of varieties they will casser sa pipe—^break their pipe—as we say in

Quebec, because their possibilities are limited and they should remain within their

possibilities. So should we also. The Havana seed leaf types are the most advant-

ageous for us because they are very rapid growers and they seem to adapt themselves

to our particular climatic conditions. We have certain soils which, owing to their

chemical composition and natural elements, combined with our particular climatic

conditions produce a result which is sometimes surprising to us. We sometimes
produce a product which is superior even to the parent plant coming from Wisconsin.
That may be a surprise but it is a fact. There is not so much to be wondered at when
we have learned something about tobacco. It is simply that this plant can adapt itself

to the most curious and diversified conditions.
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By Mr. Dubeau:

Q. If I am not mistaken you stated a few minutes ago that the consumption of

Canadian tobacco has increased very much. Did you not find in that fact the indus-

trial value of our Canadian tobacco?

A. Undoubtedly, that is obvious to my mind. It seems to me that the increase

in the consumption of the tobacco manufactured from the Canadian leaf which has

taken place since 1897 undoubtedly means that it has an industrial value and a com-
mercial value, also, and to me it is an absolute proof that the public like it. Is that

an answer to your question? I believe it is absolutely obvious. It was claimed prior

to that increase of duty by manufacturers right here in Ottawa that we would never

be able to use the Canadian leaf for industrial purposes on a large scale. I remember
that perfectly well, because I was here several times discussing the subject and I had
occasion to tell these large manufacturers that the future would prove whether they

were right or wrong, that their own personal opinion might be very respectable indeed

but that it was a little bit tainted by their being interested in objecting to the change
proposed by us. The increase of duty was desired in order to promote the manufac-
ture, and improve the manufacture of Canadian leaf. Then the proof came and we
have it before us. The proof is in the fact that we now use almost 5,000,000 pounds of

Canadian leaf in the manufacture of chewing and smoking tobacco; whether it comes
from Ontario or Quebec is immaterial to the fact. ISTow it is claimed against Cana-
dian tobacco that it will never be suitable for the cigar industry, and the manufac-
turers say that they cannot use the Canadian leaf. I quite admit that they cannot
make a good cigar out of the leaf they get from the farmers as it is produced now.
But what is proposed by these new regulations is to arouse an active interest in the

development of this branch of the industry and prove the possibilities of the cigar

leaf produced in Canada. It is from that that we infer later on the same result will

be obtained in the cigar industry that has been obtained in other branches of the indus-

try. I believe that is answering your question—that there will be an industrial value

in Canadian tobacco.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. In reference to the adaptability of the soil, I want to know whether this gentle-

man can give me an opinion whether you can grow tobacco in the county of Huron.
It would not be as warm a climate probably as you might have in Quebec?

A. I believe that we can grow tobacco almost anywhere, and some authorities

have claimed that tobacco can adapt itself to any climatic conditions, and in fact

tobacco has been produced in the 60th degree of latitude. Whether it has any indus-

trial value is another question. As to being able to produce it, there is no doubt that

any soil will produce it, but of course there are some soils better adapted to produce a

certain standard.

Q. What would be the best kind of soil, gravel or clay or loam?
A. It depends, gravelly or light soils will produce light coloured varieties.

By Mr. Clarhe:

Q. Black mucky soil will also produce good tobacco ?

A. Yes; light soil will produce light coloured varieties and loamy soil will pro-

duce fine textured cigar leaf; sandy loam and heavy clay will produce the heaviest

types of chewing tobacco, not Burley, but the dark kinds.

By Mr. Lewis':

Q. Will the proximity of water have an influence in the growing of tobacco?
A. It may have, but it is so remote and difficult to define that I would not go into

that, except to say that near the ocean where certain currents of wind drive the brine
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of the ocean from the sea to the land it may affect the product so that it will make it

very badly combustible on account of the salt.

Q. How long does it take tobacco to grow?

A. Sixty days for the quick growing varieties, and up to one hundred days

for the slower.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. What is the meaning of the word ' Cavendish,' I do not just understand it?

A. Cavendish is the name which has been used under all administrations in

England and in Canada in reference to tobacco which is pressed into plugs, whether

chewing or smoking; it is the general name which has been given to the manufac-
tured tobacco in plug shape ; that is, the ' cut ' tobacco is different from Cavendish,

which is chewing and smoking plug.

Q. One other question. Under the present law there is a rebate for clippings,

but under the proposed regulations that rebate will not exist. Can you tell me what
(effect that change will have ?

A. Yes, sir. I mean from the point of view of the Canadian grower—it will

have this effect, that in all the factories working under a foreign license and using

foreign leaf exclusively, iJ^ they chOose to use Canadian tobacco in combination with

the foreign they will not be induced to do so as at present on account of this rebate.

Q. That rebate is if they ship the clippings back?
A. Exactly, re-exporting.

Q. Do you know what proportion the clippings bear to the total weight?

A. Mr. Dugas has given the figures; he says that it is something like 300,000

pounds of cigar cuttings exclusively. There are other rebates on manufactured
tobacco, but that is the total of the cigar clippings.

Q. So that this is really an important matter, because where Canadian tobacco

was used they could not get the benefit of that rebate?

A. No:

Q. So that the removal of that difficulty will be of decided advantage to the Cana-
dian grower?

A. Yes. It opens the door of all factories to Canadian tobacco.

By Mr. Dugas:

Q. According to your long experience, Mr. Labelle, is it not a fact .that the com-
mercial value, the real value of tobacco, resides more in the preparation of it than in

the cultivation?

A. Yes. I expressed myself on this point just a little while ago, when I said

that tobacco is not a natural production, it is an artificial product; there are latent

qualities in the crop which must be brought out afterwards. Of course, in ordeT to

make a success in cultivation it must be grown in the best soil for that type, and it

must be cultivated with a view to attaining certain qualities for certain purposes;

yet, even when all these conditions are observed, there will be latent qualities in the

crop w^hich will permit of producing, by preparation and handling, a highly valuable

article for certain definite industrial purposes. But these qualities will be brought
out of the leaf only after certain specific treatment has been given to the product of

the grower, and only then will those qualities be brought out, and it is only after

those qualities have been developed that the crop will be suitable for industrial and
commercial purposes. Therefore, it is more an industrial product than a natural
product, just the same as it is with wine. Wine is simply the juice of grapes, but if

it is only the juice of grapes and not fermented it is not drinkable. Even in the part
of France where they produce the best wine an experienced man may press the grnpcs
and get the juice out of them, but if he does not know how to ferment and to blend



76 MR. J. B. DUGA8 -

8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

it—and it is not so mucli f-'P blending as the conpage which makes the difference—it

will only be grape juice fi^'ter all; it will not be wine.

Having read the foregoing transcript of my evidence I find it correct.

LOUIS y. LABELLE.

Kr. J. B. DtJGAS^ St. Jacques, County of Montcalm, called and examined.

By Mr. Dugas :

Q. You are a tobacco grower ?

A. Yes.

Q. You have considerable experience in tobacco growing ?

A, I have some 17 or 18 years' of experience.

Q. You were charged by the Department of Agriculture of the Dominion to

prepare samples of tobacco to be sent to London and Belgium there to be examined
by experts. Did you go yourself with those samples and will you state to the com-
mittee what was the report thereon ?

A. It was in 1902 or 1903 that I was ordered by the Department of Agriculture

to prepare a certain quantity of our Canadian tobaceo just as w© produce and prepare

it and to go with those lots of tobaccoi and introduce them in the English and Belgium
markets in order to get an appreciation of our product from those people. Invariably

we had the same answer from every one to whom we showed our samples. They
would say * The brut product is good, it looks well and appears to be of fine quality,

but in its natural condition it is not saleable on our markets for the reason that it

is not finished. This tobacco should be sorted and fermented, and re-sorted later on
in order to make it acceptable on all our markets for different uses.' There is some
difference in the demands of different markets. On the English market they prefer

a darker tobacco, that is as they term it there fired, fermented highly when the tobacco

becomes darker in colour; except on the British market where a lighter coloured

tobacco is preferred. On the Belgium market in every instance the light coloured

tobacco is preferred; but there they gave us exactly the same reasons that we had
already met with on the English market, that our tobacco was not finished. The raw

leaf, they said, seemed to be of very good quality but in its actual condition they could

not really give a correct appreciation. While we were there, in Belgium and other

places, they told us. * Why, it is singular, we are doing an extensive trade with the

United States market. You are situated in the neighbourhood of that country, why
don't you prepare your product as they do there. If your tobacco is prepared as it

is in the United States we have no doubt you can do a good trade here with us in

Belgium.' In England they told us the same thing. They remarked : 'If your
tobacco is as good as the American tobacco we will undoubtedly give you the prefer-

ence. We are fellow citizens and if you will give us an article as good as we can buy
in the States we will give you the chance.' The tobacco dealers of England and
Belgium have made a report to this effect. Accordingly the Department of Agricul-

ture thought it would be well to send some one over to Wisconsin, the state that was
most convenient for conducting observations and which was in about our latitude.

Q. Have you not been advised in Belgium or England to recommend to the Min-
ister of Agriculture that he should send somebody to Wisconsin to study the methods

of tobacco culture followed there ?

A. Yes.

t
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Q. And was it not on that account that samples of tobacco were imported from
Wisconsin ?

A. Yes.

Q. It was on the suggestion of those people in England or Belgium that you made
that report to the Minister of Agriculture ?

A. Yes.

Q. And then you were sent there ?

A. I was intending to make my remarks brief and perhaps I have cut them too

short as to that.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. Before you leave the subject of Belgium, do they grow any tobacco over there ?

A. Some.

Q. Do you know what price the growers there get for tobacco ?

A. It varies. I believe that Mr. Charlan would have more knowledge of the price

paid in Belgium for raw leaf.

By Mr. Dugas :

Q. Is there a large market in Belgium for tobacco ?

A. An immense market.

Q. And in England also?

A. In England also.

Q. So that if our tobacco was prepared in proper shape there would be a good

market in England and Belgium for our product?

A. Yes. From the information I got whilst there, the demand is almost unlimit-

ed, because the consumption in England is two pounds per head of the population,

men, women and children, and then besides there is a great importation and exporta-

tion of tobacco.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. What do they pay in Belgium for tobacco? Suppose we exported tobacco to

that country, what would we realize for it?

A. For tobacco in good shape, 15 cents of our Canadian money; that is what
they told me.

Q. Would that be 15 cents here or with the duty in Belgium?
A. 15 cents f.ob.

Q. Here?
A. Here. We would load it.

By Mr. Dugas:

Q. There is no customs duty there?

A. No.

By Mr. Clarice:

Q. I believe the restrictions in Belgiupi are less than in most countries?

A. That is the reason we were sent over there.

By Mr. Dugas:

Q. As to the freight, you say you exported tobacco from Canada to Belgium, is

the freight heavy—^how much did you have?
A. 1,840' pounds of tobacco.

Q. That you exported from Canada to Belgium. How much was the freight?
A. I think I calculated that it amounted to something like one-fourth of a cent

per pound.
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Q. Well, now, will you state what you did in Wisconsin at the time you were

there for the Minister of Agriculture? Did you bring some samples of our own
tobacco from Quebec, and did you show them to those people in Wisconsin?

A. Yes. From the favourable report we had made of the reception of our

tobacco in the European market, the Agricultural Department thought it would be

wise to send some of our Canadian farmers to obtain information as to the methods
of cultivation, etc., in the State of Wisconsin, as that state was the most convenient

and in about the same latitude as Canada. So I was sent over there in company with

Mr. Denis, of Kouville county, for that purpose. We found that the climate is about

the same as ours, because we had left here in the last days of April, I think it was,

and when we got there we found they were hardly any more advanced than we were.

The beds there were just getting made, and we stayed there until the plantation was
about to commence, but we did not stop to see the plantation. We went around there

to see how the work was done in the warehouses and the condition of the different

crops, etc. We found that the Wisconsin tobacco looked a great deal like our own
Canadian tobacco, but we never said anything about it until finally—I had brought

with me some tobacco produced in Montcalm county. I had cured it myself. I did

^ not know much about the quality of it ; I suppose I took what was about the best

quality—and after having examined a good deal of the Wisconsin tobacco in the

warehouses here and there 1 introduced this sample of Canadian tobacco which I had
with me, and I asked one of the prinTjipal handlers and dealers of Jamesville, Mr. S.

B. Heddles—he is an important grower and dealer in tobacco there—and I showed
him the sample, asking him what he thought of it. He looked at it and said that the

tobacco was very good apparently, and passed several remarks on it; he said the

tobacco was really in fine condition to go just then into fermentation. After we
had talked a while on the qualities of this tobacco he asked me where it was grown
and told me -later on that he thought I had picked it up in some of the neighbouring

warehouses. I told him it was tobacco produced in Canada, and he looked at it again

and said: ^ It is really a splendid article in raw leaf, only the form of the leaf is

defective—it should not be so pointed, it should be more rounding and broad,' and he
made the remark that all this variety of tobacco that was packed had a tendency to

coming towards a point in the leaf, and it always left a narrow space between the

fibres. He called his foreman, who substantiated all that the boss had said in refer-

ence to the good qualities of this tobacco. That encouraged me, and I showed the

same samples of tobacco to several other people, and invariably I received the same
comments and the same answers to my questions—that it was of really good quality,

only it was not finished—^what it was but (rough, not sorted).

Q. And did you bring back some seed from that state to plant in your part of

the country?

A. Yes, I brought a small quantity of seed produced in Wisconsin, and from what
I had seen over there I thought myself justified in recommending this type of tobacco

to the Hon. the Minister of Agriculture, and he sent some of this Wisconsin tobacco

seed, which goes by the name of * Comstock Spanish,' Mr. Comstock introduced this

variety of tobacco some forty years ago, so they told me, and it has kept the name
ever since, but it is really Wisconsin tobacco, because we suppose that Comstock died

long since.

Q. What has been the result of your experience with the seed brought from Wis-
consin ?

A. We had this seed distributed in our district, I suppose perhaps five or ten

pounds of this tobacco seed, and invariably it has given satisfaction.From the first

years' seeding, the first crop was considered of excellent quality, and I was inquiring

at our annual convention of the \Tobacco Growers' Association, I met there several

manufacturers and had them to examine the samples that were there on exhibition,

tobacco produced from the imported seed itself, the first year's importation, and the
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second year's growth, that is from seed produced from the plant grown from the

imported seed and also samples of the third year's growth. While between the second

and third year's growth there wasn't really any difference, those experts considered

that as between the first and the second year's crop there was a marked difference

and that in favour of the second year's crop. They said that the production of the

second year was better than that produced from the imported seed the first year.

Q. So according to your experience you have a good product in the tobacco grown
from this Wisconsin tobacco seed ?

A. Yes.

Q. You are aware that Mr. Cusson, "of Montreal, bought some of those tobaccos

last year, had them properly prepared and fermented, and made good cigars out of

them ?

A. Yes. I know Mr. Cusson very well. I see him frequently and often have a

conversation with him concerning tobacco. I have seen his tobacco in the leaf, I

have seen it manufactured into cigars and I have had the pleasure of smoking a great

many of his good cigars.

Q. Are you aware that Mr. Cusson is prepared, under the new regulation, to build

warehouses for packing tobacco in your county, he is ready to go into the business

of preparing tobacco ?

A. I could not say because I have not seen Mr. Cusson since the changes were
annnounced. About a week before the announcement I met him, and we were talking

about what is likely to take place, and he told me that if such would take place he

had about decided to establish himself in Montcalm county or the county of L'Assomp-
tion in the re-handling business. The committee, of course, understand what is meant
by re-handling.

Q. On account of the new regulations foreign manufacturers will have to pay
28 cents duty before using their tobacco. This fact will cause people to go into the

business of re-handling ?

A. Yes, so it seems to me.

Q. There will be a large return to them if they go into that re-handling business?

A. I don't know that it will be necessary. The gentlemen to whom I exhibited

my samples of Canadian tobacco

Q. In Wisconsin ?

A. In Wisconsin remarked that he thought with the protection we then had

—

that was two years ago—and the quality of the tobacco we could produce in Canada,

he had simply a good sure way of making money and if he was not established to

suit himself in Wisconsin, he could not see any better place to establish himself to

make money than in Canada.

Q. He would have been ready to do it under the old regulations ?

A. Under the old regulations, yes.

Q. And he would be more ready to come now under the new regulations ?

A. Yes. I thought it would be well to state this. I had forgotten to do so

before.

By the Chairman:

Q. He wanted to have a hand in the pudding ?

A. Yes, he said he would have a real pudding.

By Mr. Olarhe :

Q. You made the remark two or three times that the opinion expressed in Eng-
land and Belgium in regard to our tobacco was that it was not finished ?

A. Not finished.

Q. What do you mean by that?

A. It is not fermented and sorted in a manner convenient to the manufacturers.

You see the English method is this : The English dealer sends his order to an Ameri-
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can dealer that he wants such and such a tobacco. That is, ready for his lines just as

he wants it.

Q. What needs to be done to our tobacco is the work of the re-handler?

A. Exactly.

Q. And you think the proposed regulations will bring that about?

A. In my opinion.

By Mr. Dugas:

Q. You have been travelling for several years through the United States, and
have also been in England and Belgium. Did you see on the market in those coun-

tries any tobacco which is kept in the very same condition that we place our own
tobacco on the marklet here?

A. I have seen tobacco in many conditions. I have seen tobacco in just as poor,

and I suppose poorer, condition than ours in Central South America, where they ought

to produce the very finest tobacco. The cause of that is, I suppose, just as it is here,

the want of knowing how to prepare it properly.

Q. But no tobacco is put on the regular market elsewhere without being pro-

perly cured, or fermented and sweated?

A. No..

Q. In no market in the world except in Canada ?

A. No. I have come to the conclusion that in its actual condition our tobacco

is not marketable.

Q. And the only way to get our tobacco into proper condition will be to have it

assorted or packed by re-handlers?

A. By some one of experience.

Q. Are you aware that in the United States the manufacturers never buy their

tobacco from the growers, but from the re-handlers or packers?

A. It happens sometimes that the prevailing price not suiting the grower—

I

have seen that in Wisconsin—he will not sell his crop, but will sort it and put it in

fermentation himself and wait for his price. But "fehat is seldom the case.

Q. That is not the regular way ?

A. That is seldom the case. In that instance the manufacturer buys directly

from the farmer who has prepared his tobacco.

Q. According to your experience you searcely ever see the farmers preparing

their own tobacco themselves?

A. Seldom.

By Mr. Clarhe:

Q. There are two questions I would like to ask. They use the expression
* Cavendish ' in the Act. Do you know what that is ?

A. I don't know exactly what it is.

Q. There is one more matter I would like to know from either you or Mr. Labelle

as to the extent of rebate is paid on clippings?

A. Mr. Labelle will answer that.

Having read the foregoing transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

J. B. DUGAS,
Tobacco Farmer.
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THE IMPROVEMENT OF RURAL CONDITIONS.

House of Commons^

Committee Room No. 62,

Wednesday, May 27, 1908.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met here this

day at 11 o'clock a.m., Mr. McKenzie, chairman, presiding.

The Chairman.—Gentlemen: We are very much pleased to have present to-day

Doctor James W. Kobertson, C.M.G., Principal of Macdonald College, Ste. Anne's,

who will address us on a very interesting subject. Doctor Kobertson is not by -any

means a stranger to the committee and the mere mention of his name promises us an

address of far more than ordinary interest. The committee, I know, are always

pleased to hear from him and without further delay I have great pleasure in intro-

ducing him to you.

Dr. Robertson.—Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen :—It has always been a pleasure to

me to come before this committee. I appreciate very highly the quality of its work. Its

reports have been a means whereby sound information on rural conditions has been

spread over the Dominion. For our students in agriculture at Macdonald College I

provide the reports of this committee as the best history of the progress of agriculture

in Canada which can be obtained—a record of important developments and extensions

in rural industries. This committee has also, through its reports, been a very efficient

agent for creating sound public opinion regarding agriculture in Canada. A good

deal is said boastingly sometimes about the ancient nobility of agriculture and the

glories of the occupation and the; volume of the wealth it produces. Much of that is

what we, in college parlance, call hot air; it does not drive any engine. But the

reports of this committee have been the means of creating sound public opinion as

to the relationship of agriculture to the prosperity of Canada, and of creating a right

attitude on the part of railway companies and steamship men tovv^ards agriculture. I

am quite sure that my own feeble efforts, when Commissioner of Agriculture and
Dairying, would not have accomplished so much in the improvment of transportation

for dairy products, meats, fruit, and poultry products, carried through the House ns

the policies and proposals were imder the kindly guidance of the Minister of Agri-

culture—if these had not been endorsed and supported by this committee. I add

my testimony as to the immense value of the carefully edited reports of this com-

mittee, through which guidance has been given to the public, and to railway and
steamship companies and the producers of wealth from the soil, I am glad to come
here and lay before you some convictions and suggestions regarding the still further

improvement of conditions for rural communities, and for the advancement of agri-

culture. While that is one of my objects in coming here, the primary purpose of my
visit IS to renew, in most respectful earnestness, the invitation to the connnittee itself

which I had the honour of offering to your chairman: It woidd give us who are the

staff" of Macdonald College very great pleasure if this committee would come in a

body to that institution and see the place; see its activities, see its farms, live stock

and crops, see its buildings and equipment; and see the possible range of its useful-

ness for every part of Canada. I do not know any institution in Canada from a

visit to which the members would derive more pleasure and more benetit, as members
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of this committee, end perhaps even as members of the House of Commons and the

Senate of Canada. It is one of the new forces which has come into existence in

Canada for the betterment of rural conditions, to move the rural population in a far-

reaching and in a powerful way. It is not competing with any other institution,

because there is none other like it anywhere as yet. It has entered upon a field

hitherto uncultivated in large part. It, however, is co-operating with every other

institution that makes for the betterment of rural conditions in Canada; and it is

complementary to them in so far as it undertakes things which they have not hitherto

attempted.

I need not tell you—it might seem like boasting to tell you—the size and the

cost of our place. Sir William C. Macdonald has spent over two and a half million

dollars, and the whole college plant is not yet completed. Sir William also trans-

ferred to our trustees—the Governors of McGill University—two millions of dollars

as an endowment. Not a dollar has been knowingly wasted; we have put up the best

buildings and put in the best equipment for the purpose which could be procured. I

do not know of any other instance where a private citizen has given so much of his

time and his thought and his wealth, as has Sir William C. Macdonald, wholly and
solely for the public good and absolutely without any effort to secure gain or fame or

honour for himself.

THE MACDONALD COLLEGE LABORATORIES.

Macdonald College is not only an institution for the instruction of young men
and women in class rooms and laboratories. Of that side of its work I do not pro-

pose to speak to-day, because when I had the honour of being before you last year I*

spoke of Macdonald College, to some extent, as a college of instruction for rural life.

But Macdonald College has great research departments and departments of illustra-

tion for the various activities of rural life. It has been planned to obtain further

knowledge, applicable to the conditions of rural life, as a means of making that life

more satisfying to the people. For instance, there is no other institution in Canada
with laboratories for the bacteriology of agriculture that may be compared with those of

Macdonald College. We have just come to know in agriculture, as medical men have

come to know in medicine, that a knowledge of the science of bacteriology is indis-

pensable for an understanding of its principles and methods. The laboratories for

biology, physics and chemistry are equally well equipped for their purposes; and the

professors in charge have zeal, with knowledge and practical ability. The facts of prime

importance in agriculture are not the numbers of bushels per acre in any one year.

It is fundamental to continued prosperity in Canada that the teachers,

the leaders, the guides in farming, should hereafter know more than anybody has

hitherto known regarding the life content of soil for profitable agriculture. Such
a wise and strong statesman as Lord Salisbury said in one of his masterly

speeches, that the great problem, not only of England but of all humanity, is to main-

tain the fertility of the soil by the activity of plants and the activity of bacteria.

That is the problem of humanity; otherwise human life must disappear from the

face of the earth; and in the process poverty must prevail while the land becomes

increasingly poor. The laboratories are only one branch of what has been planned

for at Macdonald College. It would be worth your v/hile coming to see what we

have in those and in other departments.

I would like to refer to another department for a moment. In association with

our Department of Bacteriology (v/hich, as you all know, is under Professor Harrison,

formerly of the Ontario Agricultural College), research work is being looked into in

wnat is called Parasitology. There are several obscure diseases that do much harm
to live stock in Canada, the cause of which nobody knows, and nobody knows the

remedy. Dr. John L. Todd has come to work in our laboratory. His appointment
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was to an associate professorship in McGill University. He is a Canadian by birth,

a graduate of McGill and for a time belonged to the School of Tropical Medicine,

Liverpool. For some three years he was in Africa, where he was engaged in research

work. He will make a study of the diseases caused by animal parasites. While much
attention will be devoted to the study of human diseases in the Faculty of Medicine
of McGill, it is intended that a part of his energies will be spent in the investigation

of diseases of domestic animals. I would like to put in evidence a memorandum by
Dr. Todd in which he asks that veterinary surgeons, ranchmen and farmers everywhere,

if they have knowledge of an obscure disease, will give him information in reference

to- the same, and will send him specimens in order that he may be able, through us,

to render good service to Canada. Dr. Todd says:

* 1. The majority of the causal agents which are at present known to produce

disease are vegetable parasites

—

bacteria, e.g., the bacilli of tuberculosis, typhoid and
diphtheria; the causes of many of the diseases of warm climates and of some of those

occurring in temperate zones have recently been found to be small animal parasites

—

protozoa, e.g., the parasites causing malaria, sleeping sickness, syphilis, and, probably,

scarlet fever and smallpox in men, as well as those producing dourine and Texas cattle

fever or red water and various poultry diseases in domestic animals.
* 2. In consequence of the great importance of this class of diseases, McGill Uni-

versity has established an associate professorship in Parasitology with the object of

studying means for the prevention and cure of diseases caused by animal parasites.

' 3. While much attention will be devoted to the study of human disease, it is

intended that a large part of the energies of the department will be spent in the

investigation of diseases of domestic animals.
' 4. At present only a few of the diseases of Canadian stock and poultry are known

to be caused by protozoa, but it seems very probable that some of the diseases of an
obscure nature, present in this country among domestic animals, may be caused by
such parasites. It is believed that the investigation, along these lines, of such diseases

will yield good results.

' 5. These investigations cannot be successfully undertaken without the coopera-

tion of those, such as veterinary surgeons, farmers and ranchers, who frequently come
in contact with diseased animals. It is through them only that information concerning
the existence of disease can reach the Department of Parasitology.

' 6. It is therefore requested that those who have personal knowledge of any disease

of an obscure nature in domestic animals of any sort will report its existence and
nature to the address given below.

' 7. At present information is particularly wanted concerning " loco " and
" swamp-fever " of cattle and horses, and of " black-head " of turkeys ; information
concerning their distribution, spread and frequency of occurrence is especially

requested.

'8. It is trusted that this effort to combat Canadian cattle disease will be fitly

appreciated and assisted by those whom its success would especially benefit.'

9. Address:

Dr. John L. Todd,

Macdonald College,

Que.

CEREAL HUSBANDRY.

Let me allude briefly to one or two matters which may increase your desire to
visit us. In the Cereal Husbandry Department we are attempting to provide improved
seeds for cereals for the Province of Quebec, and to some extent for the Maritime
Provinces. The Agricultural College at Guclph does that for the province of
Ontario; and the Central Experimental Farm Inrgoly for the eastern portion of thnt
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province. We have come to recognize by experiment and researcii that the seed

grown in any locality, when improved by systematic selection, brings the largest and
best crops in that locality. There does not appear to be any certainty of permanent
improvement from occasionally bringing in seed new to the district and letting it go at

that. I threshed out that idea before this conunittee some ten years ago; and I read

the report of my evidence lately to see if I wanted to modify the opinions expressed

then. After ten years of further observation, investigation and reflection, I regard

the character of those opinions as sound with reference to improvements, possible

and desirable improvements, in the growing of grain crops in Canada. One of the

methods advocated was the improvement of seed grain, by selecting the best seed

from the best crop in the locality for seed for subsequent crops in the locality, and
by keeping up the process annually. That practice is now in a fair way of becoming
general throughout Canada.

At Macdonald College we are carrying on many other experiments and illustra-

tions. For instance with oats, we found last year that the percentage of weight
of hull to total weight of kernel ran from 48 per cent of hull, when the oats were cut

unripe, down to only 28 per cent in the same field with the same variety when the

oats Vv^ere thoroughly ripened What a difference there is in the value of a bushel of

oats for feed if you have 48 per cent of hull (poorer than straw) in the one case, and
only 28 per cent of similar hull in the other.

Another instance of illustration or experimental work has been to show to what
extent the yield and quality of wheat are affected by the date of seeding. On our

farm last year the earliest seeding of wheat gave us 25 bushels to the acre, and with

similar seed of the same variety, on the same soil and with every other condition

alike, the latest date of seeding, four weeks later than the earliest, gave u^s only 10

bushels to the acre. There was a heap of ten-bushel wheat reaped in Eastern Canada
last year for want of the seed being put in in good time. The point is this, that in

the case of wheat the earlier it can be sown on a suitable seed bed the better the

crop. Of all the cereals that applies particularly to wheat.

The work is under the direction of Professor L. S. Klinck, our professor of

Cereal Husbandry. In comparing the productiveness of varieties of grain, chosen

because promising for our locality. Professor Klinck reports the best variety of good

milling wheat (Red Fife) as yielding 34 bushels per acre, the poorest (Huron) 19

bushels. The best variety of oats (Early Triumph) yielded 84 bushels per acre, the

poorest (Fifty Pound Black) 39 bushels. The best variety of barley (Mandscheuri)

yielded 67 bushels per acre, the poorest (Success) 31 bushels.

We have a Pesearch Department in Animal Husbandry, under the direction of

Professor H. S. Arkell. We are only beginning in it, because that unfortunate fire,

when lightning struck our barn last September, consumed our barns, cattle stables

and piggery. We had to put up temporary buildings for the winter; but now we are

putting up permanent and, so far as practicable, fireproof buildings for live stock,

granaries and implements.

THE POULTRY DEPARTMENT.

In the Poultry Department, under Mr. F. C. Elford, we have carried on research

and illustration work since October, 1906; and in that we have something of interest

for you. I have had a good deal of enquiry regarding what I said before this com-
mittee last year about hens that laid eggs during winter in colony houses one board

thick, with the thermometer sometimes as low as 17 degrees below zero in the colony

houses. These enquirers—perhaps I should say these sceptics, in the kindliest sense

of that word—pointed out that the eggs Avould get frozen. It so happened that the

eggs did not get frozen, because with our trap nests the hen cannot get off the nest

until the man comes, which he does twice at least in the foa-enoon, and takes the hens
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off the nests. I might now report further on how these hens have behaved. I am
able to say from the records during the past winter that the egg production of which
I spoke hist year was not at all spasmodic or for the one winter only. We had the

same hens in the same houses during the winter just ended and they kept on laying

eggs from December. In 1906 they were pullets and began in November. To show
you the slight effect of intense cold—and the value of this lesson is especially great

for ]\ranitcba and the Nortlwest, where the people have supposed that they could not

keep poultry profitably during the winter and feed them on their frosted wheat and
waste grains—I cite the case of 125 laying hens in these simple colony houses, one

board thick with no artificial heat of any kind except the hens themselves all v/inter.

The hens never got any soft food in the form of mashes nor any of those troublesome

concoctions of any sort. They never saw water from the time the freezing weather

came in ISTovember until the warm weather of March or April. Instead of Vv^ater they

picked snow, and during the few times when they couldn't run out it was shoveled

in to them,. As a whole, the flock were not laying quite as well last winter Q907-8)

as they were the winter before. I need not detain the committee by many statistics.

On January 26tli they gave 49 eggs; on the 2Yth, 56 eggs; on the 28th, 46 eggs; on

the 29th, v/hen it was 18 below zero in the house, they gave 52 eggs; the next day, 56

eggs; the following day 56 eggs; there was no shrinl^age because of that temperature

of 18 below zero in the house. Then on February 4th they gave 58 eggs ; on February
5th, 35 eggs ; on the 6th, v/hen it was 20 below zero in the- house, they gave 48 eggs

;

on the 7th, 26 eggs; on the 8th, 43 eggs. I give these records for a few days on both

sides of two very cold days. Following a severe drop in the temperature there was a

falling off in the egg production the next day. But it went up again the day after

to the average production.

By Mr. Crawford:

Q. On what are you feeding them?
A. Feeding them chiefly on Manitoba frosted wheat; it is very good stuff.

By Mr. Telford:

Q. Are these houses covered with paper?

A. They are only one board thick; but we put roofing-paper on the roof to keep
the rain out. There is nothing on the sides except the one board of one-inch thick-

ness, tongued and grooved and shrunken at that.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Do you use any artificial heat?

A. No; the colony houses were out in the field without even shelter. At the end
where the roosts are, we put two-ply of lumber with paper between so that there shall

not be any draft. A cotton curtain is let down in front of the roosts on very cold

liights.

EGGS FROM DAMAGED WHEAT.

Now as to the frozen or frosted wheat. I have great faith in the value of poultry

to use up otherwise unsaleable grain. I am not one of those men who contend that a

dairy farmer or a meat-producing farmer should not sell any grain. It is often profit-

able in dairying, beef raising, pig feeding and chicken feeding, to have some of the

best of the grain for sale; the remainder beiug disposed of in the form of animal
products. Last winter we brought down a car load of frosted wheat from the north-

west. It costs us 26 cents a bushel at the purchasing point, which was not a high
price, and about 60 cents a bushel at Ste. Anne do Bellevuo. Our object was not to

buy an especially cheap feed, but to feed the frosted wheat to poultry and find out
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wiiat could be done with it. Here are some of the results. Taking the months of

March, April and up to the 24th of May, those 680 hens consumed 17Y bushels of

frosted wheat. Then they were given also 1,700 pounds of wheat bran which cost

$21.25. In addition to that they were given 850 pounds of meat scraps which we buy
from the packing house. This cost us $21.25. They also got grit and oyster shells

which cost $21.25. We gathered from those hens 27,211 eggs, over 2,267 dozens, which
could have been sold for from 25 to 50 cents a dozen. Every bushel of that frozen

wheat gave us 8 dozens of eggs ; that is the point. That was in a climate which some
times went down to 22 below zero in the colony houses where the hens were kept. I

would not be afraid of Manitoba and the Northwest under those circumstances. It

phov\^s that frozen wheat fed to poultry in that way is far more profitable and satisfy-

ing than when fed to larger stock such as cattle and pigs.

Q. You will admit that the production was a much larger one than the farmer

usually has from his hens?

A. But not larger than the farmer usually could have.

Q. To what do you ascribe your large production?

A. Largely to two things. First of all to the selection of these hens, for a good

many generations, out of hens that have lived under cold conditions and laid eggs

through the winter. Then to the low temperature, fresh air with sunshine, dry feed

and necessary labour by the hens. They cannot get enough to eat without scratching

for it.

Q. Dry feed?

A. Yes dry feed. Then necessary labour, preferable to artificial exercise. The
hens could not get enough to eat without scratching among four inches of roughage
to get their feed. These are simple conditions, nothing but what the ordinary farmer

could have and make use of. If it were a case of building expensive houses and
employing a lot of labour the farmer might be excused from adopting this plan; but

we have simplified it down to a point where any farmer can easily go and do likewise.

But he must exercise care and carry on the work with intelligent thoroughness.

Q. Did you have any special breed?

A. We had six breeds.

A word to show you there is no deterioration in the stock. The hens that were
kept under these cold conditions during the winter of 1906-7 laid eggs that tested

between 87 and 93 per cent of fertility. Then the pullets from those hens are as good
as their mothers. There is no deterioration. The mothers in 1906-7 gave on the

average 28 eggs apiece during the coldest weather before the end of February. The
pullets In 1907-8, which was a severer winter, gave 25 eggs apiece before the end of

February.

Q. What were the breeds?

A. Barred Plymouth Kocks, White Wyandottes, Buff Orpingtons and Ehode
Island Keds. We have also two other breeds'—Black Minorcas and White Leghorns

—

but they did not do as well through the winter.

By Mr. MonJc:

Q. How many hens do you keep in each house?

A. There are from 50 to 25 according to the size of the house. The larger colony

houses are 20 ft. x 14 ft. x 7 ft. high ; the smaller 12 ft. x 8 ft. 7 ft. high.

By Mr. Schell (Oxford):

Q. Did the Eocks prove to be a good quality of fowl?

A. Capital. The Rocks last year gave us eggs that sold for $4.27 per hen. The
cost for feed was $1.44 per hen. There you see is a big margin for labour. I would

not dwell upon this hen business if it were a small thing; but the trend of civiliza-
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tion is towards eating the finer and not the coarser foods. The products of the farm
tliat are coming to have more and more value are pigs and poultry—^bacon and cold

chicken. Those are branches of live stock that we look forward to improve. We
hope to see Quebec and other provinces supplied from our selected strains of poultry.

We shall have a good many cockerels at $1 a head, bred from these strains. I do not

want to be beguiled into giving you a statement at the same length as this for every

department of Macdonald College or I would occupy several sessions of the com-
mittee.

By Mr. Leivis:

Q. Do you allow your hens to go outside during the winter?

A. There is a sm.all door in each colony house through whi3h they can pass in

and out whenever they like.

Q. Do they not suffer from wet or cold feet?

A. Not in the least. We have not had any serious illness or sickness. We lost a

few hens by accident. I do not say that we have found a panacea; we have gone back

to the simple life for poultry—low temperature, fresh air, sunshine, dry feed of suit-

able quality and necessary work.

Q. When allowed outside do the combs of the fowls not get frozen?

A. It is about as cold inside as outside. Our thermometer registered 22 degrees

below zero last winter in the houses where they were. A sparrow does not get frozen

althoug'h it is often out in winter when it is 30 degrees below zero. The Black Min-
orcas and White Leghorns with larger combs we^e kept in a warmer building. Their
combs would have been injured.

By Mr. Mclniyre (Strathcona)

:

Q. How do you produce the necessary labour by the hens?

A. By throwing their feed on the floor, which is covered by a roughage of four

inches of cut straw and chaff. The hen has to scratch in order to get a meal.

Q. Do you change that straw periodically?

A. It is removed from under the roosting place, pushed over and renewed in that

way over the whole floor about once every month. It does not get foul.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. There have been statements made in the newspapers with regard to the value

of poultry products to the effect that it as great as that of the grain production; do

you know whether that is the fact or not?

A. I do Tiot know; it is difficult to ascertain. The total value of the production

of eggs and poultry in the United Kingdom was, according to the latest returns,

$57,000,000 ; in France, $85,000,000 ; in Canada, $16,000,000 ; and in the United States,

$295,000,000. The estimate of the annual value of the world's production of eggs and
poultry has been put at $990,000,000. I did look into this matter comparatively to some
extent. For instance, the province of Nova Scotia, where a large number of barrels

of apples are packed every year, is rated in nearly all descriptions of Canada as a

great fruit-producing province. Now, the poultry products of Nova Scotia are greater

in value annually than the apple production. But the poultiy production of that pro-

vince is hardly every heard of, and the reason of that is that the hen is doing busi-

ness in small numbers and in a humble way in a great many places. The aggregate

of her production is more than the whole apple crop. If you could have improved
methods applied to all Canada, thereby increasing the production from poultry to the

extcHit of only $25 per farm you would have done much to increase the national pros-

perity.
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By Mr. Schell (Oxford):

Q. What grain would you advise the use of?

A. There is nothing better than a mixture of wheat, barley, oats, corn and some
buckwheat. One of the very wasteful practices of the Canadian farmer has been the

selling of grain that is not properly cleaned by the fanning-mill. We take the fanning-

mill and we take out one-fourth of the grain, more or less. That gives a superb

sample of grain to dispose of at the highest price, and the one-quarter that is left is

capital feed for the poultry. Superior crops on the farm come by using the cleaned

selected seed; and the use of the inferior portion as feed for animals is true economy
in agriculture.

By Mr. Lahe:

Q. How much wheat di^ the poultry consume per head ?

A. These hens consumed 19 pounds per head in the three months, March, April

and May; 177 bushels were consumed by the 680 hens from 1st March to 24th May,
and, as I mentioned a moment ago, the product was at the rate of eight dozens of eggs

per bushel of wheat consumed.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Do you intend to refer to vegetable gardening, or do you do any of that?

A. We do a good deal, but time will not permit me to go into details. First of

all, we have the school gardens for children and teachers in order that they may be
trained not merely to manage the production of plants, but to understand the princi-

Ijles of seed selection, of cultivation of soil, of rotation of crops and of protection

against weeds, plant diseases and insects. Then we have the kitchen garden for women
v/ho come for the courses in household science. Then we have about 70 acres of land

given up to small fruits, large fruits and vegetables. We carry on experimental re-

search while we grow supplies for the college dining-room.

The horticultural farm covers an area of about 70 acres. Of this 30 acres are

orchard, 20 of which are devoted to hardy varieties of apples ; the aim being to deter-

mine the best way to grow them to develop not only productive but long-lived trees.

To determine this a series of cultural experiments are begun this season. Each row
running north and south represents a variety, and the orchard is divided into plots

taking three rows east and west for a cultural or fertilizing test as the case may be.

The variety apple orchard covers about j&ve acres, four trees of each variety

being planted. The pear and plum orchard occupies about three acres. The plums
in this orchard are principally those of American origin. Plums of European origin,

and also cherries, are planted as fillers in a part of the commercial orchard.

The area devoted to small fruits and grapes covers about five acres, one acre of

which is in strawberries, now one year planted, and one and a half acres planted this

year. Three-quarters of an acre are in grapes, and the balance in bush and cane fruits.

These are being grown on a commercial scale, and experiments to determine the most
profitable way of growing them are in progress.

Vegetables of various kinds are also grown. Four acres are devoted to the root

crops, such as carrots, turnips, beets and parsnips. One acre to the crops such as

melons, cucumbers, squash and pumpkins, and one acre to tomatoes.

Three acres are planted to onions and about half an acre to celery. About 30

acres are in potatoes. The space between the fruit trees is planted principally to thia

crop, leaving a space of four feet at each side of the trees. Garden peas and beans

occupy four acres. Two acres are planted with asparagus. One acre is devoted to a

small nursery of ornamental stock for planting on the college grounds. The area under

cultivated crop embraces about sixty acres.

The laboratories and greenhouses give the student an opportunity of gaining
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horticultural knowledge in a practical way during the winter months. One green-

house is devoted entirely to giving the students actual work in the laying out, plant-

ing, care and management of trees,, small fruits, and vegetables. The other green-

houses are utilized for the development of greenhouse crops, both flowers and veget-

ables, which are grown along commercial lines; at the same time experiments to

determine, if possible, how best to develop these crops for the greatest profit are being

conducted.

The horticultural department is under the care of Professor Saxby Blair. His

Avork while horticulturist at the branch experimental farm at Nappan, N.S., was of

immense benefit to norticulture in the Maritime Provinces.

MACDONALD COLLEGE TRIPODS.

We are standing at Macdonald College for research work and for illustration

work in three of ttie important matters in agriculture. The use of selected seed on
suitably prepared soil; the proper rotation of crops (which is hardly understood and
certainly is not practiced in the eastern part of Canada, excepting in parts of On-
tario) ; and the protection of crops against v/eeds, insects and diseases. Each one of

these three might increase the average yield of crops as much as 25 per cent within

ten years wherever put into intelligent, careful practice. Our policy at Macdonald
College is not merely to have research work along these lines, but to give illustrations

along these lines wherever our students go, and we hope by and by to make every

graduate of our college a leader to carry out that system of farming on his farm,

under college direction. He shall have selected seed (if need be furnished by the col-

lege), grown on suitably prepared soil; he shall follovv'' a rotation of crops properly

adapted to his locality; and he shall be capable of fighting the weeds, insects and

diseases. Such illustrations on his farm will be a beacon light to the whole locality,

and thus the lessons will be brought home in an effective way.

In our research work because we have the means and the men we want to make
the benefactions of Macdonald College for rural communities extend as widely as

possible. We carry on the work of the college in three departments or schools. In
connection with the School of Agriculture we have the research and illustration depart-

ments of which I have spoken. Then we have Household Science, with research, and
instruction for the homes of the people. That branch treats of the three prim.e neces-

saries of life—food, raiment and housing. It is just as important that the Avoman

should be educated for her sphere of management as the man for his. In the School

for Teachers the instruction and training are for teachers preparing for city and rural

schools. It is important that the rural school and its teacher should stand in with those

two other activities, viz., the occupations and the homes of the parents, and that the

children should be thoroughly trained towards ability for, as well as an understanding

of, what will be required of them in the fields and in the homes. The three-fold

character of the college fits it to train leaders for rural communities.

TENDENCY TOWARDS RURAL LIFE

We are now at a time in the history of Canada when there is not merely need
for a great advance in agriculture, but such a chance for it has never occurred before

in the history of the race. Only recently have we come into possession of tlie intimate
knowledge of nature that enables a man to apply his intelligence in its widest ranges
to agriculture with satisfaction. Until the close of the last century it had been largely

a question of muscular labour and a little bit of intellectual direction, but not very
much. Nowadays, through the great advances which have been made in the control of

natural forces, there is growing up an intelligent preference for life on huid by edu-

cated people. That condition again calls for modifications in education in order that
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tSey and their children may be able to utilize the personal experiences of the schools

in making the best of their lives and opportunities afterwards. A feeling of restless-

ness, of change, of chafing under existing conditions is abroad among the people.

That is not wholly new, but there is a comparatively new feature in the unrest. In-

stead of the movement being all city-ward, there is now a tendency, an instinct, an
inclination to get back to the land, to stay on the land for the sake of the homes and
the families, for the sake of health and security in opportunity of employment and for

the advancement of worthy education. To advance the agricultural and industrial

education of the people of Canada is the highest privilege as it is one of the important

duties of statesmanship. Of all forms of help which a government, representing all

the people, may with safety and benefit give to individuals, the best are those which

help to develop intelligence, power, ability, skill and co-operation with good-will.

ARE WE GOING UP OR DOWN.

It is a question of serious concern to us all whether there is a distinct deteriora-

tion of the English-speaking rural population in progress in the areas of Canada
which lie east of the Great Lakes. That would not be a popular question to discuss

if one were in public life seeking the suffrages of the people. But then the truth

should be told. There is no good reason at least why a Scotchman should not speak

it, speak it as he sees it—remembering the sacred admonition ' speaking the truth in

love.' Eastern Canada could sustain no greater loss than a reduction in its rural

population ; for an intelligent, prosperous and contented rural population is the greatest

asset of any state. Young men have been leaving the rural districts in large num-
bers every year. I will not say one disparaging word as to the attractions which have
drawn them elsewhere, but where the strong, vigorous, enterprising and ambitious
young men and women continue to leave for twenty or thirty years the human life

of the locality is left greatly weakened. The heaps of skulls from France in Northern
Italy and the sprinkling of bleached bones from Napoleon's army in retreat from the

frozen steppes of Kussia together left degeneration in France. When Napoleon robbed

the land of its best youth and left their bodies in trenches from Egypt to Waterloo,

what could be expected but a Sedan and the decadence from which France is now only

recovering. The well-born, well-bred and well-educated youth are our best asset. If

the education of the schools beguiles them, to leave the land in larger numbers than is

mete, we should change the education. If the west lures them they should be given

correct information about the west—and also sound information, interpreted with

insight, about the east. Varied and reliable information regarding the Canada east

of Lake Huron should be put systematically and extensively before the people of Great

Britain.

It is worth while looking the conditions of rural life in Eastern Canada square in

the face and seeing what can be done to make them better. Matters can be mended
in two ways: (1) By making the occupation in each locality more attractive and
profitable to those engaged in farming. That can be done by the spread of knowledge

and the giving of practicable and economical illustrations of application of that know-

ledge to local conditions. (2) By such an adjustment of schools and of training that

the children will be attracted to rural occupations and will be qualified to be success-

ful in them. The best asset we have anywhere is an intelligent, prosperous and con-

tented population, with the children being brought up for life at its best in the

locality.

IS WASTE NECESSARY?

There ha.s been much said about the development of the west; we have not yet

much evidence of development. We have occupied parts of the west; there is no doubt

abcut that. But the occupation of a country is not the same as the development of
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it through making- the most of its resources or its population or its social organiza-

tions. I would like to have this committee forward some constructive statesmanship

in agriculture which would look towards improving the fertility and cleanness of the

fields while the immediate crops gave a satisfying return to the farmers. It is con-

sidered by many that the wastefulness of pioneers is in keeping with the prodigality

of nature; and that the pioneer has the right to dissipate natural resources if he has

thereby improved him.self and the prospects for his family. Take an illustration in

a large vv-ay from the use of coal. During millions of years it was prepared and then

stored in the earth—we suppose for human use. And we have been using it with fine

prodigality, boasting of the millions of tons we mine every year. Yet we learn from
the best authorities that the probabilities are that in 75 years the coal measures of the

United States will be pretty well exhausted, except those at lower levels more difficult

of access and more costly to obtain. Of course, it seems all right for civilization in

the meantime to be using the coal which has given man to a large extent control over

metals and the knowledge of and control over electrical energy. Thereby he has ac-

quired ability to use the inexhaustible resources of water-powers and wind-powers

—

and perhaps by and by he may be able to use sun-power direct. We can now harness

the water-powers of the country and generate heat, light and power from them, which
m.an could never have done, so far as we can see, except for the use he had of coal in

a large prodigal way during all these experimental years. There is a justification, if

you please, for extravagant use of a great natural resource, because of what has re-

sulted from it in gaining control over other still more valuable resources. But when
you exhaust the soil, what do you do? You make the people more careless and less

competent; you leave them less power and more poverty in every respect. On the

other hand, when you preserve and increase the fertility of the soil the people thereby

become increasingly efficient and capable. These two go together. It is for us to see

that the wealth which we have in the fertility of our soil shall be maintained, and that

there shall be continuously improving conditions for the rural population. The soil

fertility, already in our brief term of occupation, is so badly depleted that the averaL-e

crop of wheat in Canada gives just a little more than one-half of the average yield

per acre in old England. That is what occupation of this great heritage of ours by
wasteful methods has done for us.

A GREAT HERITAGE.

Lest any one might think that I underestimate the west, or that I value lightly

the prospects of Canada, which are for the present in a large way bound up with and
determined by the progress of the west, let me briefly review the situation. We have
in Canada in our natural resources for agriculture two vast areas. We have^ coming
eastward from the Atlantic, practically a thousand miles where apple trees thrive and
where the summer is fragant with clover blossoms. These indicate natural conditions

that make human life and human civilization capable of permanence at their best. I

do not know any other two sets of conditions that indicate the suitability of climate

and soil for human life at its best, with equal simplicity and aptness, as do appvo

blossoms and clover.

Then we have a region to the north of Lake Superior which may be fnil of

minerals, with forests and streams suited for great pulp and jniper production. That
area reaching to James Bay and Hudson Baj^ has other resonrces and on its southern

edgeedge some good agricultural lands.

Beyond that region, towards the setting sun, we have a thousand miles of prairie

lands, with the accumtdated fertility for wheat gathered into their surface throiicli

thousands of years. There, as elsewhere, agriculture is not the breaking of clods. It

is the harnessing of sunshine into crops and products for the profit, service and
pleasure of maiikiud.
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Beyond the prairies we have 500 miles of the most magnificent mountain
scenery in the world. Great hills pregnant to bursting with gold and lead and silver,

and some other minerals; and then small valleys in between with wheat and even

peaches as products. I have great faith in Canada, but let us have due regard to the

relative values of great areas and their possible development. I do not know any part

of Canada that has been overpraised as part of the national asset;, but what I want to

emplisise this morning is that in all of eastern Canada, where the bulk of our people

have been living, we have great areas of land which have been neglect-ed and im-

poverished to their, loss and to the nation's loss in a very serious way, and that state

of affairs should be amended.

In playing this great national game of developing Canada let us play it square,

with our convictions clear and unalterable that we are playing it as honourable

trustees for posterity.

PROGRESS IN YIELDS PER ACRE.

There were in 1906 in Canada 611,493 people living on land as occupiers, and the

value of the agricultural property in that year was put at $2,300,000,000. The annual

value of all agTicultural products, on the average for a few years, is something like

$520,000,000 from the farms of the Uominion. I would not detain you with statistics

iibout that. I want to come to a point that is of more definite interest. Taking the

four chief crops, spring wheat, fall wheat, oats and barley, 14,757,118 acres were

grown in Canada in 1907. In the province of Ontario I take a period of ten

years from 1887 to 1896 for comparison with the ten years from 1897 to 1906. I com-
pare the average yields per acre in those two ten-year periods. In that way you may
get a reasonable index of progress or of the opposite. In the province of Ontario,

where most work has been done in the diffusion of knowledge regarding agriculture,

the increased yield per acre on the average during the latter ten years over the former

is quite marked. In fall wheat the increase on the average was at the rate of 13 per

cent. The increased yield of oats was 18-9 per cent. The increased yield of barley

vjsxs. 23-4 per cent. The majority of farmers on whose farms the increases have oc-

curred would account for them by saying :
' We use better seed ; we are following a

sensible rotation, applying manure to the hoed or green crops, and we keep down the

Aveeds as far as we can.' These are the three things that count. Some farmers still

remain unmoved by the progress, but the best of them have made so much progress

that these are the gains reported on the average for the whole province. If similar

rates of improvement were applied to all the w^heat, oats and barley crops in the other

parts of Canada, the total yield last year would have been 52,000,000 bushels more than
was actually harvested. I mean with the same acreage, the same climate and the same
markets. Fifty-two million bushels of grain are worth thinking about.

Take the case of potatoes. The crop last year from 503,546 acres was rated at

66,704,595 bushels. Might I illustrate by quoting the results of experiments and ex-

perience at some of the twenty-nine school gardens which were established under the

Macdonald Eural Schools Fund ?

INSTANCES.FROM SCHOOL GARDENS.

At most of the gardens two plots, side by side, were planted with potatoes under

similar conditions. The treatment of both plots was alike, except in regard to the

spraying with Paris green to destroy the potato beetles and with Bordeaux mixture to

prevent blight. One plot in each garden was sprayed with the mixture three or five

times, as the case might require, whereas the other plot was left unsprayed. In every

case the yield of potatoes from the sprayed lot was larger than the other. The follow-

ing list shows the increased yield resulting from spraying at six gardens: Knowlton,
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Que,, 111 per cent; Richmond, Ont., 100 per cent; Carp, Ont., 85 per cent; March,
Ont., 81 per cent; Guelph, Ont., 43 per cent; Brome, Que., 41 per cent.

If an increase of 40 per cent could be obtained (that is less than the lowest of

the school gardens), think what an immense addition to the value of the crop in

Canada that would bring. And such a result, in a very large way, has been revealed

at Bowesville in Ontario. In that locality the potato industry has been put on a new
footing of profit by the work done at the Macdonald School Garden in that locality.

I take the following extract from the report of the principal of that school, not only

in regard to the potato crop, but in regard to all ordinary crops on the farms

:

^ JBowesville, Ont., which is situated six miles south of the Dominion capital, has

long been regarded as one of the most progressive sections in the progressive county of

Carleton, and it is to the active interest of its people in the welfare of their school

that the credit for a large measure of the success of the movement here is due. They
have never interfered but to aid. Land sufficient to make a school ground comprising

two and one-half acres was purchased and this was enclosed by a neat fence with

turned posts and attractive gates.

' The daily attendance at Bowesville school may be placed at approximately fifty

children, ages ranging from six to sixteen. The plan of dual ownership of garden plots

has been followed here, a senior and junior pupil having joint ownership in a piece

of ground (ten feet by twenty feet), working in conjunction and making a just divi-

sion of the spoils at time of harvest. This plan gets over the difficulty experienced

when juniors are shouldered with the entire responsibility of managing a plot, while

it does not destroy the sense of ownership which makes proud the juvenile gardener.

In laying out and cultivating the garden plots the entire work, with the exception of

the ploughing of the ground, was performed by children, and, it may be added, cheer-

fully performed. Neighbouring farmers brought manure for the garden and ploughed

the ground.
' The experimental plots, belonging to the senior class, deserve special notice.

Experiments in crop rotation, in the effect of clover growth and in potato spraying,

have been carried on and results carefully noted. Bowesville is the centre of the larg-

est potato producing section in eastern Canada, so particular attention was paid to

potato spraying experiments. In addition to the class experimental plots mentioned,

three of the oldest pupils carried on an independent experiment in spraying. Care
was taken that the crop receive neither more nor less attention, other than the spray-

ing, than did the crop in a neighbouring field. Rows of potatoes sprayed with Eoideaux
mixture were grown beside rows receiving ordinary attention. When the resulting

crops were piled side by side in the tool-house showing an increase equivalent to more
than fifty bushels per acre for the sprayed over the unsprayed crops, and also a de-

cided improvement in size and quality, the farmers sat up and did more thinking than

would have been the case had they read of the same results in some agricultural pub-

lication. It is not so much what these plots teach as it is the trend of thought induced.'

Some of you might find it worth while to spend a few days in investigating the

progress at Bowesville for yourselves. The increased yield of potatoes on two plots

grown side by side, where potatoes were sprayed properly by the children compared
with those left unsprayed, ranged all the way from 111 per cent to 41 per cent. That
was not merely in one garden, but taking the range of all the gardens the increase

was from 111 to 41 per cent. Forty per cent increase in the yield of potatoes in

Canada means over 26,000,000 bushels. Think what that represents ! That is not

merely reasoning in the abstract, counting all the chickens before they are hatched.

I do not think you could spend a few hours more profitably than by driving out and

seeing the Bowesville locality. If you talk to the farmers they will tell you that since

the establishment of that school garden they have increased the yield on their farms
throughout the locality. These farmers have copied tlie school garden fence around

their homes throughout the locality. You can there observe some of the facts from
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a definite piece of research illustration work. Men have come all the way from the
United States to Bowesville to see the results.

By Mr. Monk:

,Q. Are there any school gardens in Quebec?
A. There are some ten in that province now.

By Mr. Telford:

Q. Do you. propose to insert directions for the raising of potatoes in your ad-

dress ?

A. You will find those set out in an excellent bulletin by Mr. William T. Macoun,
of the Experim^ental Farm. The point I want to make is this : That while first-rate

information has been given in print and spoken of at Farmers' Institute meetings and
conventions, there has been an absence of definite systematic effort to find instances of

the best things that have been done in agriculture and to give practical illustrations

which will cause them to be repeated elsewhere. That is the next step in the organiza-

tion of agriculture—to make full inquiry and, after patient,' thorough investigation

as to where and how the best things are being done, to give illustrations of them so

that the farmers of other localities may be able to do equally well and may be stimu-

lated to do equally well. I might go on by the hour, I suppose, giving you instances

of improvements in the operations on farms and in the management of farms, but

that would not be a wise use of your valuable time. I could give you the names of

men who have told me that within ten years, since they have put into operation that

plan of agricultural management—selected seed on properly prepared soil, a suitable

rotation of crops and protection against insects, disease and weeds—they have doubled

the quantity of their crops and improved the quality. This within ten years with no
greater area of land. What has been done by a few men can be done by every man
who will bring to bear on local conditions similar methods of intelligent management.

THE ORGANIZATION OF ILLUSTRATIONS.

There is room and need for improvement in the organization of agriculture as

an industry on each farm and also for the organization of agriculture as a national

interest. I mean by this that you may have one man in every township using selected

seed suited to his locality, following a fine rotation of crops, and possessing knowledge

and skill and power to suppress weeds and insects and keep back diseases. That is

advantageous so far as it goes. Its influence might be made to go much further.

What is being done to make the best methods followed by that good man available to

every other man in the township? And not merely to make them available, but to

have them presented in such a way that every other man will want to adopt equally

good methods in his practice? Farmers' Institutes do a great deal. Lectures are use-

ful, and articles in the press direct attention and encourage study. But the definite

object lessons ^i^eferably on illustration farms chosen for that purpose, are also needed

and would supplement the usefulness of all these other agencies. There ought to be

some means of organizing rural life in such a way that fine illustrations of good farm-

ing would be effectively brought before all the people. It is of fundamental importance

that we should provide this illustrative education in agriculture for those who labour

on the land; it is essential for the maintenace of prosperity, of contentment and of

progress.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Where does the ordinary farmer get his selected seed?

A. He may grow it himself. For some years there has been a Canadian Seed

Growers' Association, the members of which select year after year the best heads out
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of their growing crops on a hand-selected seed grain plot. By continuous selection

they keep on improving the mother plot. The grain from that goes out as registered

seed—like foundation registered live stock.

The experimental farms have done great good in the distribution of improved seed

grain and in many other ways, but you know their purpose is largely for experiment

and research rather than for illustration. It has always seemed to me that we have

not illustrations enough, in addition to the experiments, for the benefit of the man
who cannot translate and apply the published results of experiments to his own condi-

tions, but who could copy if he had opportunities of observing in his own locality.

Wliat further would I recommend? Not merely a counsel perfection in the abstract.

I know of no better body than this committee to seek out by scientific enquiry—an

enquiry which shall be thorough, painstaking and careful—the place or places in every

province where agriculture—where rural life—is at its best in regard to the production

of crops, in regard to the disposal of crops, in regard to the maintenance of soil fer-

tility, in regard to tne efliciency of the people in their social relationship and in re-

gard to the contentment of the people with their conditions. There are many places

in Canada like that.

It is worth while to bring about an illustration farm, in every way providing sat-

isfying occupation in a rural district at its best. Such a farm would cause its essen-

tial features, and the fundamental principles that determine its quality, to be re-

peated and applied over and over again. Wherever it prevailed would thereby become
part of the new earth. It is worth while to try to have an illustration rural home at

its very best in all its appointments, in all its activities, and in all its spirit. It is

worth while to help bring about one really good rural school, in every way adapted to

the needs of the people of the locality. It is worth while ta endeavour to have such

a school repeated, over and over again, until the whole land i<s in the way of being

transformed by their infiuence. Where the school, the farm and the home are

each at their best, and in numbers at their best in any locality, there you would have

an illustration rural community worth studying by all men who are concerned for

the weal of their fellows. Where it prevailed would become part of the new heaven,

and of the new earth wherein dwelleth righteousness. To have seen such places, to

have known of their real merits, would bring to every intelligent toiler for the better-

ment of conditions and of life fresh confidence, renewed courage and enlarged enthu-

siasm for education and for rural life. Let me throw a further light on this and then

come back to further discussion of it.

INSTANCE FROM DENMARK.

Some twenty-two years ago I paid a brief visit to the little kingdom of Denmark,
which had then started on a course of development by improved agriculture. Den-
mark had become one of the poorest nations in Europe. Two of her richest provinces

had been taken by Germany, but thx courageous and tenacious Danes were not alto-

gether cast down on that account. Under the leadership of public-spirited citizens

they started in to improve the agriculture of the nation as a means of saving it from
stag-nation. Under the Royal Agricultural Society they selected a number of the best

farmers and farms they could find, and arranged to have selected young men spend

three months or longer on a number of those farms in turn. These young men. who
might be called apprentice students, wrote articles on what they observed, what they

did and what they learned. Returning to their own homes they helped to put into

practice the best methods they had acquired. In a short time the knowledge of the

best farming methods in the kingdom was avaihible to the farmers in every locality.

At the same time they carried on a systematic improvement of the education in their

rural schools, looking towards training the young people into ability for life at its

best in their own locality.
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The little kingdom of Denmark sends to England some of the same sort of pro-

ducts as Canada. And Denmark received in 1903 $8,400,000 more than other compet-
ing countries would have received in the same markets for an equal quantity of the

three products, butter, bacon and eggs. That was the premium obtained by the Danes •

for 'Superiority of quality and condition. Denmark has had illustration farms and

schools for thirty years. The rural population has been educated towards ability, in-

telligence in regard to rural life, and the public spirit that makes for successful co-

operation. That little kingdom receives from England an immensely larger amount
for her farm products than any other country for equal quantities. That is the pre-

mium for superior education of her rural population. Much of it originates in the

rural schools. It leads on to co-operation in many rural activities. Co-operative

creameries, co-operative bacon-curing establishments, cow-testing associations, are but-

instances.

OUTLINE OF SCHEME FOR ILLUSTRATIONS.

I think it is possible in Canada to have similar or greater progress in agriculture.

A systematic enquiry conducted under this committee or by a commission would pave

ihe way for the organization of illustrations. These illustration farms would be no
more remarkable in fifty years or less than are the public schools of to-day. It is

not so long ago since only children who could be sent far from home could obtain a

good education. JSTow the opportunity is close by everybody's door. I think a similar

development for the service of the fundamental occupation of the people—agriculture

—is coming. In the meantime much would be accomplished by even a few illustration

farms in each province. As a bare outline of what might be undertaken I would
propose say five illustration iarms, each with a specialty as well as with g'^nd general

agriculture. Eor an illustration dairy farm I would pick out some young farmer of

intelligence and public spirit. His place should be easy of access to visiting farmers.

Then if he needed a little financial help to put his farm buildings or herd into good

shape that might be arranged. A sum up to $1,000 might be lent to him for those

purposes under an advisory committee. In consideration he would undertake to carry

on his farming according to the counsel and plans of the committee and to let visit-

ing farmers observe and learn. For such service $200 of the loan might be remitted

annually. He should also furnish an annual report of progress for publication. If

he failed in those respects there would be no cancellation of the loan. Under such

skilled advice and supervision as would be furnished, I think it is quite within pro-

bability that within five years that young farmer would have doubled his farm rev-

enue, and if the whole $1,000 were cancelled to him in five years in return for the

labour expended in initiating the new system of farming, in showing visitor<=! what he

was doing and in preparing reports, it would be money well spent. If his success w^ere

seen by many and proclaimed lucidly it would be repeated over and over again;

thousands of men would want to do the same thing with their stables and their cows

and their products.

Another young farmer might be engaged to give similar illustrations with a

specialty of fruit farming; a third man with a poultry farm and pigs; and a fourth

with improved farm machinery and the growing of special seed grain. Another farm
might particularly illustrate the production of beef and horses. A few thousand

dollars expended through the right men in the right places for such illustration work
would have a mighty effect upon rural conditions in the whole Dominion. I would

do likewise if I could with farm homes and with rural schools. The illustrations

would be immensely helpful. But I must not detain the committee with details con-

cerning these ; and at any rate they lie rather on the borderland of subjects with which

the committee deals.

Except in work for research and for instruction of students, the operations of

agriculture can be carried on most economically by those who follow it for what they
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can make out of it. But these men can be helped by expert counsel and supervision,

and if need be a little money, to give fine illustrations of what may be done when the

counsel of highly-trained experts, the knowledge of local conditions, and unselfish

energy with economy are united in the efiort to render definite public service. With
illustrations of the occupation at its best, of the rural home at its best, and the rural

school at its best for the children, we should be in a fair way to make real progress

worthy of our heritage and of our obligations. If I have said a single word about any

part of Canada which might be interpreted as unsympathetic, it was not meant in that

spirit, but was rather the prosaic expression of the warning of Goldsmiths lines :

—

*^ 111 fares the land to hastening ills a prey.

Where wealth accumulates and men decay/

Because I have looked into the homes, the schools and the farms of Canada, and
watched the incoming crowds from the steamers, I go back with renewed zest to labour

for the improvement of conditions for rural life in Canada.

Mr. Chairman, again I cordially invite you to bring the committee with you to

Macdonald College and see for yourselves what we have done and what we are at-

tempting to do. I thank you, Mr. Chairman and gentleman, for having heard me
attentively so long.

On motion of Mr. Lewis, seconded by Mr. Monk, a cordial vote of thanks was
given Dr. Eobertson for his instructive and entertaining address.

Having read over the preceding transcript of my evidence I certify the same to be

correct. -

JAS. W. ROBEETSON,

Principal, Macdonald College.

2—7





MR. J. A. RUDDICK, DAIRY AND COLD STORAGE COMMISSIONER

8 EDWARD VII. APPENDIX No. 2 A. 1908

DEVELOPMENT OF THE DAIRY INDOSTRY IN CANADA.

House of Commons,

Committee Koom No. 34,

Wednesday, July 8, 1908.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met here this

day at 10 o'clock, a.m., Mr. McKenzie, Chairman, presiding.

The Chairman.—I have much pleasure in informing the committee that Mr. J. A.

Euddick, Dairy and Cold Storage Commissioner, has come to-day to address us, as

you will observe by the notices for this meeting, upon the subject of the ' Present

Conditions of the Dairy Industry in Canada.'

Mr. J. A. RuDDiCK.—Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen of the Committee, I am
pleased to have this opportunity of putting before you a few facts concerning the

dairying industry. It has been suggested to me that on this occasion I might confine

my evidence to the present status of the dairy industry in Canada. In previous years

I have covered the ground pretty well in regard to the work carried on by the branch

of the Department of Agriculture, of which I have the honour to be the chief officer.

growth of co-operative dairying in CANADA.

First of all, I would draw the attention of the committee to the extent of the

growth of the factory system of dairying in this country. If you will look at this

map (indicating map on the wall), which has been published with the report of the

Dairy and Cold Storage Commissioner for 1907, you will observe that it is nearly

Covered in some places with red, green and blue dots.,The red dots represent creann

eries, the blue cheese factories and the location of the combined factories is shown by
green dotj.

Begi^^ning in the east we find a number of factories in Prince Edward Island, a

few in Nova Scotia and more again in New Brunswick.

Passing into the province of Quebec, the factories are very numerous in the St.

Lawrence valley and in the Eastern Townships. I would also draw your attention to

the large number of cheese factories in the Lake St. John region. It will be observed

also that there are a large number of creameries in the province of Quebec, especiallv

in the Eastern Townships and on the north shore of the St. Lawrenc-e immediately

below Montreal. Many of the factories in Quebec are also combined factories, milk-

ing both cheese and butter as circumstances seem to warrant.

Passing westward into Ontario, the eastern portion is occupied almost entirely

by cheese factories. There are a few combined factories and only a few creameries.

Factory dairying has not developed much in the counties; immediately around

Toronto, but in southwestern Ontario, the home of the cheese factory, we find a lars^e

number of the largest factories in Canada. The northwestern counties of old Ontario,

including Lambton, Grey and Bruce, constitute the principal butter-making district

of Ontario, although the creameries are located in all the counties throughout the

western peninsula.
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The factory system has been well established in Manitoba, where there are a num-
ber of successful cheese factories and creameries.

The farmers in the province of Saskatchewan have not yet shown much inclin-

ation to take up dairy work, but northern Alberta is fast becoming one of the import-

ant dairying districts of Canada, and there are now over 50 creameries in that part

of the province.

In British Columbia there are a number of well organized creameries doing a

good business. As a matter of fact the creameries in British Columbia average as

large as those in any other part of the country.

The total number of cheese factories and creameries in Canada, by provinces, is

as follows :

—

CHEESE FACTORIES AND CREAMERIES IN CANADA, 1907.

Province

.

Cheese
Factories.

Combined
Cheese

and Butter
Factories.

Creameries.
Skimming
Stations.

Total.

1,096
1,892

23
7

33
36
1
8

86
736
16

102
627

8
10
35
21
6

45
16

1,284
2,806

47
17
68
57
7
53
16

51

2,596 838 870 51 4,355

The first cheese factory ,as some of you know, was started in 1864 in Mr. Schell's

constituency (South Oxford). There was another one started in Hastings county in

1866, and it is claimed that the first cheese factory in the Brockville district was
started about the same time. The factory sytem grew rapidly from the first in west-

ern and central Ontario. A cheese factory was started in Missisquoi county, Quebec,
also in 1864, but the growth of the industry was very slow until after the year 1880,

when the factory system spread rapidly over the settled portions of the whole province.

THE FACTORY SYSTEM DOES NOT INDICATE GROWTH OF THE INDUSTRY.

It has been the practice to estimate the progress of the dairy industry partly on
the factory end of the business and partly on the export trade in butter and cheese.

While the growth of the population was small and the home consumption therefore

about the same one year with another, the export figures indicated with fair accuracy
the increased production from year to year, but during recent years the large annual
increase in population, and the increased purchasing power of the people, have added
so much to the home consumption that the former basis of calculation no longer

serves to indicate the progress of the industry. As a matter of fact, the exports of

butter and cheese from Canada have declined in recent years, the maximum having
been reached in 1903. It has been liiought by some that because of this decrease in

the export trade that the industry, as a whole, was declining. I wish, however, to

point out to the committee to-day that this conclusion is not justified. In order to

make this point clear I desire to submit the following figures :

—
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EXPORTS YEARS ENDING JUNE 30, 1903, AND MARCH 31, 1908.

Lbs. Value.

Cheese, 1903 ^29,099,925 $24,712,943

" 1908 189,987,365 22,887,237

Butter, 1903 34,128,944 6,954,618

1908 4,858,276 1,068,703

Condensed milk, 1903 3,083,810 242,539
" 1908 472,824 43,874

Total values of all products, 1903 $31,910,154
" « 1908 23,999,814

Decrease $ 7,910,340

It is true that these figures show that there has been a decline in five years in

the value of the dairy products exported of $7,910,340, but against that decline the in-

dustry may be credited with an increased consumption as follows:

Increased consumption of:

Milk $4,500,000

Butter (20 lbs. per head) 4,000,000

Cheese 200,000

Condensed milk 300,000

$9,000,000

The above estimates of consumption are based on increased population only.

By Mr. Schell (Oxford):

Q. This calculation is based entirely on the increased population?

A. Yes, and does not take into account the increased purchasing power of the

people generally, which, if the amount were known, would I feel certain be surpris-

ingly large.

Q. I think that would amount to at least 100 per cent, that is the increased pur-

chasing power and the tendency to use more.

A. And the tendency to use more butter because it is of better quality, is an
important factor.

By Mr. McColl:

Q. Perhaps with regard to butter that is not exactly correct. When a butter

factory is established in a neighbourhood the farmers' wives who formerly made
butter and brought it into the local market themselves, send their cream to the

creamery, and then you get a record of it, but you would not have a record of the

amount manufactured under ordinary circumstances?

A. These figures that I have given you are export figures only and there is a

small amount of dairy butter included.

By Mr. Brown:

Q. In regard to the gathering of cream, do you think it is ahead of the old

system ?

A. I do not think it is ahead of the separator system, but there are many dis-

tricts in Canada where it is the only practical system. It has been adopted and it is
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successful in these districts. But where the separator system is practicable, my
advice is to stick to that system.

By Mr. McColl:

Q. I have a butter factory recently established in my riding where they separate

the milk on the farms, each farmer has a separator, and the reason they adopted that

system is that they are enabled in that way to keep the separated milk at home and
use it while it is fresh; it appears that if it is sent to the factory and separated there,

if it stands for some time, it becomes deteriorated and it is not fit for the raising of

calves ?

A. Through the courtesy of Mr. Blue, the chief of the Census and Statistical

Branch, I am able to give the committee some new figures relating to dairy procjuc-

.tion. The Census Branch has just completed a return of the dairy industry in

Canada for 1907, and in order to make a comparison the figures of the census of 1900,

an,d also the figures of the census of manufactures which was taken in 1905 are

(given. The figures furnished by the Census Branch, as I have just stated, are as

follows :

—

Creamery butter and cheese,

value of $29,462,402 $32,402,265 $34,546,701

Condensed milk, value of. .. 269,520 855,409 910,842

Totals $29,731,922 $33,257,674 $35,457,543

Increase in seven years $5,725,621

Increase in last two years 2,199,869

This table does not include milk for direct consumption, nor does it include

dairy butter, the value of which amounts to about $22,000,000. Therefore, I do not

think there is any doubt that the dairy production has increased since 1900, to the

extent at least of $10,000,000 or $12,000,000, which is very considerably more than

the decline in the exports. Calculate it any way you like and you will find that the

production is still increasing. -

I have noticed references in the press deploring the decline in the export trade,

on the assumption that the country is losing on that account. I do not take that

view of it at all, it seems to me that there is quite as much money and just as good
profit in supplying the Canadian public with dairy produce as there is in supplying

the people of any other country. Take the experience of the United States. At one
time they exported a great deal more butter and cheese than we did, although their

maximum never was as high as ours. At the present time, their export trade is

almost nil, yet we find that they are continuing to increase their production very

largely. The increase in the total value of the dairy products of the United States

between 1900 and 1905 was 28 per cent; the total value in 1900 was $130,783,349, and
ill 1905 the total value was $168,182,789. One of the marked increases is in the

growth of the condensed milk production; the total value of the condensed milk pro-

duced in the United States in 1905 was $20,149,282, showing an increase in five years

of 69-5 per cent. That leads me to say a word or two about the condensed milk
industry in this country. I think it is likely to be a very much more important

factor in our dairy trade than it has been in the past. It has been so small in the

past that we have not paid very much attention to it, and we have not taken it into

account in any calculation with regard to our dairying industry.
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CONDENSED MILK.

By Mr. Smith (Oxford):

Q. Will you indicate what condensed milk is and how it is made?

A. There are two kinds made in Canada, ' sweetened ' and ' unsweetened.' In

making the sweetened article, 400 lbs. of millc is condensed by evaporation to 100 lbs.

and 75 lbs. of sugar is added, so that out of the 400 lbs. of milk you have 175 lbs. of

sweetened condensed milk. The unsweetened milk is simply condensed to about the

same proportion, perhaps a little thicker, because the sugar adds considerably to the

consistency of the sweetened milk. They also make a condensed coffee, condensed

cocoa and other drinl^s. In 1900 there were only four establishments in Canada turn-

ing out $269,000 worth of condensed milk. This industry has gradually increased

and in 1908 there are nine or ten condensed milk factories in operation, and one

powdered milk factory. It is stated that they will make considerably over $1,000,000

worth of condensed milk this year.

By Mr. Schell (Oxford):

Q. There is a factory in Ingersoll which is taking in 10,000 gallons of milk
worth $1,000 per day.

A. The Aylmer establishment reports that they will turn out $400,000 worth this

year.

The growth of the condensed milk industry is shown by these figures:

Condensed Milk.

1900. 1905. 1907. 1908.

4 5 9
$269,520 $855,409 $910,842 Over 1 million.

Imports and Exports of Condensed Milk.

1900. 1905. 1908.

$

254,176
Nil.

523,690

$

11,955
268,899
598,466

$

43,874
866, 700

These figures give us an excellent idea of the devolopnient of this industry. In
1900 there was consumed in Canada condensed milk to the value of $523,096 and in

1905 the consumption had increased to $508,465, but in the year ending the 31st

March, 1908, the consumption had increased to $866,700, which shows how our home
consumption is increasing. If we had the actual figures of the home consumption,

and the production of milk and mill^ products on farms in Canada, we would tind
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that the total volume of the trade is very much larger than most of us suppose it to

be. I am pleased to say that the Census Bureau has undertaken to collect complete

statistics of the question. I have made an estimate of the total value of the entire

annual production of milk and milk products in Canada and I put it about like this

:

ESTIMATED TOTAL VALUE OF THE ANNUAL PRODUCTION OF MILK AND MILK PRODUCTS

IN CANADA.

By Mr. Maclaren:

Q. What do you value the milk at? For direct consumption?
A. At twenty cents a gallon.

Q. Will it go at that all over the country ?

A. I think it will, winter and summer. Of course it is very difficult to arrive at

the total consumption of milk in Canada; I have tried two or three different ways of

getting at it. In the first place we will take it on the basis of the consumption per

head, and I have figured that the average consumption of milk would be about a half

a pint per head per day. I find that in the city of London, England, with a popula-

tion almost equal to the population of Canada, the total consumption of milk is

112,000,000 gallons per year. They have the figures of all the milk brought into the

city each day.

Q. What is the average figure of production per cow?
A. It has been figured at about 3,000 lbs., but I think it is slightly above that.

Our records would show that it is.

By Mr. McCoU:

Q. You say that you have taken the milk at 20 cents per gallon, that will be the

average price to the consumer, not to the producer.

A. To the producer.

Q. To the farmer?

A. I think it will average that. Of course it does not average that if the milk

is sold at the factory, but for milk used for direct consumption will. A great many
of the producers sell it direct to the consumer, and others sell it to the dealers in the

city, and I think that is a pretty fair price. In some parts of the country consumers

are paying much higher prices.

Q. A cow is a pretty good machine to have according to those figures at the

present time?

A. The cow is all right.

I have some other figures which I have taken from the recent census:

Creamery butter and cheese

Dairy butter

Condensed milk

Milk for direct consumption.

$36,000,000

22,000,000

1,000,000

35,000,000

$94,000,000

By Mr. Maclaren:
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VALUE OF THE CREAMERY BUTTER AND CHEESE PRODUCED IN CERTAIN COUNTIES IN 1907.

County.

Ontario.

Oxford
Hastings
Leeds
Dundas
Russell ,

Preacott

Quebec.

Beauce
Shefford

Number of

Factories.

50
91
90
70
74
69

164
52

Value of

Creamery Butter
and Cheese
produced.

1,461,333
1,266,421
1,262,598
1,034,798
590,159
546,809

750,362
653,374

Area of

County in acres

.

489,300
1,486,700
576,000
245,200
260,600
316,350

1,210,266
363,008

Production of

Creamery Butter
and Cheese
per acre.

$ cts.

2 98
0 85
2 19
4 22
2 26
1 72

0 82
1 79

Thus we find there are four counties in Ontario which produce over a million

dollars worth of creamery butter and cheese in a year. At the top of the list is the

county of Oxford which produced $1,461,333 worth of butter and cheese, mainly
cheese, last year. I think it is a record for that county and a record for any county

in Canada. In one important respect Dundas county leads them all, and that is in

the high production per acre. I have given the whole area of the county in each

case. Oxford and Dundas are pretty good counties with very little, if any, waste

land. The county of Hastings, on the other hand, has a good deal of waste land and
water surfaces and there is a considerable area in the north in which there are no
factories. The yield for that county is only 85 cents per acre. The county of

Dundas, which is probably the greatest district in Canada for the production of milk,

produced cheese and creamery butter to the value of $4.22 per acre. The county of

Russell produced only $2.26 per acre. Then in the province of Quebec the county of

Shefford, one of the best counties, produced $1.79 per acre. There is also a large

amount of waste land in Shefford.

By Mr. Maclaren (Perth):

Q. What about the milk in that county, are they converting it into butter and
cheese or sending it into the city?

A. They are making both butter and cheese, more butter than cheese. That is

what they are doing this year. Last year they probably produced more cheese than
butter.

Q. Are there any condensed milk factories in that part of the province?

A, Not in Shefford. There are two condensed milk factories in the province of

Quebec, one in Huntingdon and one in L'Assomption.

Q. How do you find these condensed milk factories affecting the cheese and
butter factories in the different parts of the Dominion?

A. The condensed milk factories pay more money for milk than cheese factories

can do and they are taking the milk away from where they are established.

Q. They are closing up the cheese and butter factories?

A. Yes, to some extent.

Q. When farmers have the opportunity of selling to condensed milk factories it

increases the value of the milk?

A. It does, but it is only in a very small proportion of the whole.
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Q. That helps to put Oxford county at the head of the list?

A. I think it would be there even if all the milk were made into cheese.

cow TESTING ASSOCIATIONS.

I have not very much more time and I want to refer briefly to one phase of the

work which my branch of the department is carrying on at the present time. I

quoted some figures to show you the difference in production in different parts of the

country. I might go further than that and quote the records of the Cow Testing

Associations and show that there is a tremendous diifereuce in the yield per cow in

different sections of Canada. We are getting some of the very best records from the

county of Oxford, where one of these associations is organized. We are trying to

carry this information to the farmers in other parts of the country, where they are

not producing as much as they should, in order to show them how they can improve
the profits from dairying by giving more attention to improving their herds. We
have during the last four or five years been organizing the dairy farmers into asso-

ciations for the purpose of weighing and testing the yields of the individual cows in

their herds and I think we have been fairly successful in this work. I will not

trouble you with any details of the work this morning but simply give you an idea of

how far it has been organized. There are this year in operation 82 associations

located as follows: In Ontario 31, Quebec 31, New Brunswick 10, Prince Edward
Island 2, British Columbia 7, Nova Scotia 1. We have not done anything in the

three prairie provinces because the local governments there are doing that work. We
have, however, been giving them some assistance.

Q. How many are there altogether?

A. Eighty-two. The total number of cows tested in June was 7,817. We find

that besides the members of these associations, a very large number of individual

farmers throughout the country have taken this matter up on their own account, and

I feel confident that in a very short time it will have a very profound effect upon the

production of milk in this country.

EXPERIMENTS IN CARING FOR MILK.

There is another way in which we hope to increase the profits from milk produc-

tion, in connection with the cheese factories, by getting more accurate and definite

information as to how milk should be handled at the farms to produce the most
cheese of the best quality. Therefore, I have arranged with the owners of a cheese

factory at Smith's Falls to have members of my staff carry on there an extensive

series of experiments in the handling of milk on the farm; handling the milk as it is

very often, too often, done, and then handling it by proper methods in order to deter-

mine the difference in the quality and the increased amount of cheese made from the

milk when properly handled. I think this information, which will be available for

distribution among the farmers, will be of very great benefit indeed. I must say that

there has been in the past a good deal of guesswork in advising the dairymen as to

how milk should be taken care of. It is only within the last few years that science

has been brought to bear on the question through the study of bacteriology. Before

that no rule prevailed, it was simply rule of thumb methods that were followed and

tiiere was no accurate information concerning it.

MARKETS FOR DAIRY PRODUCE.

I would like to say a word about the markets for Canadian dairy produce. Great

Britain will alv/ays be our principal market. We have a very good market for a

comparatively small quantity in the West Indies. Our friends in the Maritime
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Provinces have taken advantage of that market and are supplying it with a good

article. They practically control the trade in many of the islands and adjacent

countries. There is another opening for a small quantity of butter in the Orient,

and the Western Provinces are sending some butter to that market. But Great

Britain is bound to be the principal market, and as it is the best in the world there

is no reason why we should not devote our chief attention to meeting the demand

there.

SHIPMENT OF GREEN CHEESE.

Q. You are supplying that market with green cheese. Why not stop that

practice ?

A. I think we have succeeded in checking that practice this season.

Q. Is there no arrangement whereby the government can interfere so as to compel

people not to ship their cheese from factories under a certain age, or has any action

been taken in the matter? I think it is a most serious question. Some of us have

spent our lives in trying to improve the quality and raise the reputation of Canadian

cheese, and when success has been attained careless people endanger that reputation

and ruin the market by sending over the product in a green state. I think something

should be done to stop it?

A. I quite agree with Mr. Maclaren that something should be done. I do not

see very well how it can be made a matter of direct legislation. It is impossible for

anyone to say just how long cheese should remain in the factory.

Q. Certainly cheese should remain more than one day in the factory.

A. Some cheese cure much more rapidly than others, depending on the tempera-

ture and the way the cheese is made. Certain cheese would be. more ready to ship

in 10 days than others would be in 3 weeks. I think the matter might be controlled

if a law were enacted to compel the cheesemaker to put the day and the month of

manufacture on the cheese.

Q. We have that law now have we not?

A. It is only permissible, it is not compulsory. It is against the law to make
any misrepresentations as to the date of manufacture but there is nothing to compel

the dating of all cheese. If all cheese and the packages were dated, then the man
who receives them on the other side of the Atlantic would know what was the matter

with them if they were too new. If such a law were enacted it would make a good

deal of difficulty in the trade for a year or two, but I believe in the end it would work
out well and would put a stop to the practice of shipping the cheese in too green a

condition. The dating of cheese has been urged on other grounds with which I have

not been in sympathy, but this question puts a new face on the matter. I might say

that this year there has not been nearly as much fault to find with green cheese ship-

ments '^c' there has been in the last two years. The milk producers themselves, the

patrons of factories, are beginning to see it is in their interest to look after these

things. They are beginning to see that they will be the losers in the end if anything

is done to injure the market. I have referred at length to this question in all my
recent reports and have taken every possible means of wnrning the producers ag;'!il1^^t

a continuance of the practice. I beg to submit a copy of the last circular issued iu

relation to this question.

(CArcidar.)

' Departiment op Acrtculture.

'Branch of the Dairy and Cold Storage Commissioner,

'the shipping of green cheese.

' To whom it may concern

:

'The writer has lost no opportunity during the past two years of i\ilHng

attention to the danger of injuring the Canadian cheese trade by the practice of
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shipping the cheese in a green condition. The question is treated at some length

in my last annual report, where I was able to quote the opinions of leading mer-
chants in Great Britain, all opposed to the practice.

' I am now able to quote from communications on the subject recently

addressed to the Honourable Mr. Fisher, Minister of Agriculture, by The Home
and Foreign Produce Exchange of London, England, and The Bristol Provision

Trade Association, in words which would indicate that harm has already been

done to the cheese trade by this " penny wise, pound foolish " practice.

^ The first-mentioned association writes in part as follows

:

"London, May 2nd, 1908.

"Importers of Canadian cheese into London met in conference to consider

what steps should be taken to bring into prominence the damage which is being

occasioned to the reputation of Canadian cheese owing to the persistent practice

on. the part of Factorymen of sending out their makes before the goods have had
time to mature, and I have been instructed to lay the matter before you in the

hope that prompt and efficient steps may be taken to effect a remedy.

It is unquestionable that there is an increasing tendency for makers to get

quit of their cheese as quickly as possible. In a great many instances goods are

moved out much too soon, in some cases even within two or three days of manu-
facture. The result has been that the natural process of maturing has been

arrested and such cheese arrive here insipid in flavour and in a condition which
reflects anything but credit upon the product. In addition to this, the excessive

moisture militates severely against the sale. In no circumstances should cheese

be allowed to leave the Factory until ten days after manufacture. That is the

minimum of time which should elapse before the goods are moved, and unless

stringent measures are adopted to prevent the Factorjmaen sending their cheese

out earlier, the position of the Canadian article on the London market will

become depreciated."

' The foregoing is from a body of merchants who handle nearly one-half

of the cheese exported from Canada.
* The Bristol Provision Trade Association's letter contains the following

sentence

:

" This means the forcing into consumption of immature, or in other words,

inferior cheese, resulting in widespread dissatisfaction. Needless to say, the

tendency of this is to bring Canadian cheese into disfavour, and if persisted in,

it is bound greatly to curtail consumption."

* It would seem to be unnecessary to add anything to these statements made
by those who are in the best position to speak with authority on the question.

' I would only say that while I was in Great Britain last fall, I found plenty

of evidence to prove that the trade has already been injured by the unbusiness-

like policy of shipping the cheese before they are fit to eat. Whenever this ques-

tion is brought up among dairymen, there seems to be an inclination to put the

blame on the buyer and let it go at that. The buyers are certainly responsible

for encouraging the movement of green cheese, but the dairymen who have been

the losers, and who will be the losers again, should not allow their business to be

injured in this way.

J. A. BUDDICK,
Dairy and Cold Storage Commissioner.

Ottawa, Ont., May 19, 1908.'

Now to return to the question of markets. I notice there is very often a ten-

dency to discuss a great many things in connection with the marketing of cheese and

butter, but the more experience I have of this question and the more information I
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get regarding it, the more I am convinced tliat there is only one thing that is of any-

real importance. The channels of trade are well organized, there is no difficulty

about the shipping of produce, the transportation facilities are excellent, and all the

machinery for the export and for trading in dairy products is well organized between

this country and Great Britain—splendidly organized. There is only one thing that

producers need give special attention to and that is to make an article of superior

quality. If they do that, there will be no trouble about selling at the highest market

value at all times. People worry themselves about whether we shall have cheese

boards or farmers^ exchanges, or whether we shall have inspection here or inspection

there; it does not amount to anything at all compared with what I have mentioned.

Q. What is the good of making the quality of the highest possible grade when
people are shipping cheese that is only a day old?

A. That is being stopped.

Now, as I have only about ten minutes more, I would like to tell the committee
something about the International Dairy Congress which was held at the Hague last

September and which I attended as representative of this country.

THE THIRD INTERNATIONAL DAIRY CONGRESS.

I have prepared for my annual report, which is now in the press, a full account

of this meeting containing all the resolutions which were given effect to by the

various sections.

Q. When will that report be out?

A. I do not know. It is now in the hands of the King's Printer. I might say

that this was a very interesting meeting. Some 26 different countries were repre-

sented by official delegates, and there were voluntary delegates from societies and
different interests making up a total of about 600. The official language was French,

but discussions were carried on in English, Dutch, German and French. To give

you an idea of the international character of the meeting let me tell you that at the

Congress banquet there were 22 nationalities represented and the chairman spoke in 7

languages. The most interesting and useful feature of the Congress to me was to

meet so many men from different parts of the world engaged in the same line of

work as myself. I think that is the chief value of these gatherings. The actual pro-

ceedings are often unimportant, and I noticed in this case that the resolutions, before

they were finally passed, were generally amended to meet the dijBferent views until

there was not very much in them. The discussions were rather of a cut and dried

character as far as the programme was concerned; but the meeting together of dele-

gates, the discussions in the hotels, and the excursions taken with different people

from all over the civilized world—these things were all very interesting and very

valuable. The committee in charge organized a large number of excursions covering

nearly the whole of Holland. Of course, in view of the small extent of country, that

is not a very big undertaking, but we spent some most interesting days visiting the

different dairying districts. Dairying is the national industry of Holland and although

the country is only about as big as that part of Ontario lying west and south of a

line drawn from Southampton to Toronto, they export just about as much dairy pro-

duce as we do and feed over five millions at home, nearly as large a population as our

own. They exported in 1906, $27,042,432 worth of butter and cheese. Of course, the

Dutch people do not eat as much butter as we do, because they consume a large

quantity of margarine, the manufacture of which is a big industry in that country.

We visited some of the large farms and the creamery districts. I would like to have
every owner of a cheese factory and creamery in Canada see some of the building? in

that country. I saw buildings in Friesland that cost $50,000. cre4imer>'- buildings

erected by the farmers themselves. They organize co-operative associations and
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borrow the money to pay for those buildings and then repay the loan at the rate of

about one-fiftieth every year until fully repaid. They have no share capital but

become each and severally responsible for the loan and repay it out of the profits of

the creamery.

By Mr. Mclntyre (Perth):

Q. I suppose the cleanliness was very noticeable?

A. Decidedly so. I visited farms where the cows are kept in one room of the

house, animals and family all under one roof. That is in the winter time, of course,

in the summer time they are out on pasture. The room which was set aside for the

cows was right alongside of the kitchen and the kitchen door opened into it. In the

summer time then they make cheese, they use the stable as a cheese curing room,

and make the cheese in a little room next to the kitchen. The stable is finished with

glazed earthenware and was as clean as it could possibly be. There were lace curtains

on the windows and everything was as neat as you could possibly imagine. Those

^ are the old Dutch farms. I saw one modern stable near Amsterdam in which there

were 200 cows kept to supply milk for that city. For cleanliness, convenience and

appearance, I have never seen anything better than this stable. The cows were of

Dutch breed similar to the Holsteins, but rather coarser. The Hollanders say that

the black and white cows in America are Dutch and not Holstein. The Holsteins

come from that part of Germany which adjoins the mainland of Denmark. I saw
the record at one creamery where 1,150 cows averaged over 8,000 lbs. of mill^ a year.

Of course, they have marvellous pastures in that low-lying country where the water

line is only about 2 feet below the surface.

Q. Are the cattle limited to certain parts of the pasture or do they wander over

the whole field?

A. In Holland the cattle wander over the whole field. In some parts of Europe
they are tethered, particularly in Denmark where they have no fences, but in Holland

the ditches and canals take the place of fences. The country is divided into small

plots in that way.

By Mr. Telford:

Q. Is any part of the country irrigated?

A. There is none of it that you would call irrigated. There are large districts

known as polders, which are really below the level of the sea. These areas have been

reclaimed by the erection of great dykes which keep back the sea. These wonderful

Dutchmen are now at work reclaiming the Zuider Zee in this manner. These low-

lying districts are drained only by means of a system of pumps, which keep the water

down to a certain level—about two feet below the surface. You will understand,

therefore, that drought is unknown. I do not think there is very much in the methods

or practices of any of these countries which can be blindly copied in Canada, but

there are many things we can learn from the Dutch farmers. The wonderful

economies which they practice in many ways would be a very good object lesson to

some of our Canadian farmers. I do not mean the economy of doing without things,

but rather the economy of utilizing waste spaces and materials. Their labour con-

ditions are quite different, and that must always be taken into account. Labour is

very cheap there and the women do a great deal of work on the farm, so that we can-

not apply their methods to our conditions in this country. I might say for the

information of the committee, because I think you take some interest in immigration

matters, that there is a desire on the part of many Dutch farmers to come to this

country. I found a good deal of interest was being taken in Canada. Whenever

I was introduced as the representative of Canada I could see that people became

interested at once. I had a letter from a friend of mine in Holland the other day
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asidng me if I thought he would be justified in accepting a corn-mission from the

Dutch government to come over here and look into Northwest lands, as there were a

large number of their farmers—^men possessed of money who could not buy land in

Holland because there is no land available—and who would like to come to Canada.

I don't think we could do better than encourage these Dutch farmers to come here.

Mr. Maclaren (Perth).—There is lots of room in Ontario and Quebec for dairy-

farmers.

Mr. EuDDiCK.—I do not know that I have anything more to say unless members
of the committee would like to ask questions.

Mr. Maclaren (Perth).—There is a gentleman here from New Zealand. In that

country they are producing a lot of cheese. Are they going to swamp us?

Mr. E.UDDICK.—I do not think so. A good deal has been said about the supply

of cheese on the British market from New Zealand last winter and certainly the per-

centage increase is very considerable. I think it amounts to about 70 per cent over

their previous year's record. That amounts to only 160,000 boxes of cheese, but the

shrinkage in butter more than makes up for the extra shipments of cheese. The
tendency now is to go back to butter. Many factories have found they made a mis-

take in establishing cheese plants and making cheese last year and they are going

back again to butter because it now gives relatively a better price. I do not think

it is likely there will be very much of a permanent increase in the exports of cheese

from New Zealand. There is no doubt it did have some influence on the market last

year, and I think it cost some of the big holders in London considerable money to

buy up the New Zealand cheese on the market in order to keep up the price.

Having read over the preceding transcript of my evidence, I certify the same to

be correct.

J. A. ETJDDICK,

Dairy and Gold Storage Commissioner,
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SOWING AND EEAPING.

House of Commons,

Committee Eoom No. 34,

Wednesday, February 19, 1908.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met here this

day at 11 o'clock, a.m., Mr. McKenzie, chairman, presiding.

The Chairman.—I am pleased to announce to the committee to-day that Mr. G.

H. Clark, Seed Commissioner, is present and will address us upon ' The vitality of

wheat, oats and barley in Manitoba, Saskatchewan and Alberta in relation to the crops

of the year 190Y.' This, I think, will prove a very interesting subject. Mr. Clark
is doing very good work in his branch, and I have no doubt that his address will prove

both interesting and instructive. I was particularly struck with Mr. Clark's investiga-

tions when I visited his department last week, and I think it would be an excellent

idea for as many members of the committee as possible to call at his branch in the

Canadian Building on Slater street and see the nature of the work that he is carrying

on. I do not know of anything more important in connection with agriculture than
the testing and improvement of seeds and seed grain. I would like to say a word or

two upon another matter. My attention has been drawn by readers of our reports to

the fact that the interjection of questions while a speaker is addressing the com-
mittee destroys the continuity of his narrative and draws the speaker into channels
somewhat foreign to the subject with which he is immediately dealing. Now, I would
ask the members of the committee to confine their questions to matters having a direct

bearing upon the subject under discussion, and to put their questions at such a time
that the sequence or form of the narrative shall not be impaired. The reports of our
meetings will then read more intelligently and appropriately. I know that I need
only draw your attention to the matter and the desired end will be reached.

THE WHEAT CROP OF 1907 IN WESTERN CANADA.

Mr. Clark.—Mr. Chairman, Hon. Mr. Fisher, and gentlemen. It always gives me
pleasure to respond to a summons to address this committee. It is a matter of some
regTet to me this morning that I have to bring to your notice a slight misfortune
that has happened to a comparatively few of our people in the Canadian west. I say
a comparatively few. I have estimated that the number of farmers who have suffered
hardship west of Lake Superior and east of the Rocky mountains would not exceed
12 per cent of the population, and of that 12 per cent only those who are carrying
their proverbial eggs in the one grain basket. You may remember that a few years
ago Professor Robertson did considerable towards establishing creameries in ' that
western country. I have heard many unfavourable comments concerning those
creameries in grain districts, but I venture to say that those farmers who are located
within a radius of 20 miles from those creameries and who have maintninrd their
dairy herds will this year have no cause for regret on account of their ostiiblisliment.

It seems to me that the weal of the people of the west will ultimately dopoiid larcrly
on their tendency towards diversified or mixed farming, although grain growing will
doubtless predominate.
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By Mr. Schaffner:

Q. I would like to ask what you mean by that 12 per cent?

A. Taking the total number of farmers between Winnipeg and the Rocky mount-
ains, I am quite sure that the number who have suffered hardship this year will not
exceed 12 per cent.

Q. Do you mean from frost?

A. From frost, from unfavourable climatic conditions.

NARROW-MINDED CONCEPTIONS.

By Mr. Jachson (Selhirh):

Q. You say between Winnipeg and the Rocky mountains. Ought not the lua

miles east of Winnipeg be considered as well?

A. I should say between Port Arthur and the Rocky mountains. I want to men-
tion this fact in particular because you are all aware that when a few farmers have
suffered on account of the frost or from any other cause, we hear a great deal about

their difficulties. That has been the case this year. We have heard this year much
more from that 12 per cent of farmers than we have heard from the remaining 88

per cent who have been favoured with really satisfactory crops. Many of that 88

per cent have had perhaps more profitable crops than at any other time during the

last five years. During a recent trip from Minneapolis to Chicago I was forced to

listen to the conversation among a number of American business men who claimed to

know all about our Canadian conditions, and they were all agreed that the whole of

our grain crop in the west was injured by frost and that the great problem which con-

fronted the governing bodies of Canada was how to feed the people and carry them
over to the next year. I did not make any remark, but I thought of the adage ' what
fools these people be.' I have found, as a rule, that the citizens of the United States

have a very limited and narrow idea of the conditions in Canada; and I want to

assert here before this committee, that it is my judgment, having travelled many
times over the west of Canada in all conditions of climate, that a season of general

misfortune in the west, even in such an unfavourable season as we have had during

the past year, is not possible—at least it is highly improbable. I would consider that

there is no more danger of a general crop failure between Port Arthur and the Rocky
mountains in our Canadian west, than there would be between the Missouri river and

the Rocky mountains in the United States or in the north of Europe. In the north

of Europe the hardships experienced by the farmers this past year are if anything

greater than they have been in our Canadian w^est even in some of the districts which

suffered most.

THE GRAIN CROP OF GREAT BRITAIN, IN 1907.

I had an opportunity a few days ago to read a letter bearing a November

date v/hich was written by the wife of one of my good brother Scotchmen

in Scotland in which she said, writing on a Sunday evening, that she had been to the

kirk in the morning, the preacher had opened the service with a short prayer, and he

then told the congregation to go home and get in their grain. He himself proceeded

to his own farm and got in his grain,—a very sensible man in my opinion. The

writer of the letter went on to say that the grain was scarcely worth the trouble of

bringing it in, because it was almost spoiled with the wet. On the ground that misery

likes company, it would be well for our farmers in the west who have suffered some-

what on account of the frost in certain areas this year to reflect on the condition

of the farmers in Europe who have suffered even greater hardships, through con-

tinued wet.
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It was on the 11th September that I received a communication from my district

assistant located at Calgary. I have three district assistants, one in Winnipeg for the

province of Manitoba, one in Regina for the province of Saskatchewan, and one in

Calgary for the province of Alberta, who devote all their time to their respective

districts. I received a communication from my officer at Calgary stating that they

had had a slight frost about the 21st August, a heavy frost in some districts on the

31st August and a heavier frost again in September. While much of the crop on the

light land and in the districts where they had not too much rainfall promised well,

he intimated to me that it would be necessary this year to investigate and find out

exactly where the farmers would be at in regard to their seed supply for the spring of

1908. I was then authorized to issue orders to each of my assistants to spend five

weeks in travelling through their respective districts, to secure samples of some of the

best grain and some of the grain that had been injured, and forward it to Ottawa for

vitality tests. We have received up to the present time more than 4,800 samples. We
had tested up to the 1st January nearly 2,000 samples, which were reported on in

bulletin form. Of this bulletin we have distributed 60,000 copies to the farmers in

all parts of the west. For this purpose we availed ourselves of the census schedules,

taking in the farmers in the districts where the frosted grain was most prevalent.

By Mr, Broder:

Q. The conditions in the west, I suppose, were largely due to the backward spring?

A. The spring was exceptionally backward this year. 'Not since 1888, I think, has

there been a season during which the climatic conditions approached those which
prevailed in the west this past year. The spring was late, the summer was cool and
cloudy and there was too much precipitation of rain in some districts and that kept

the grain green and growing. Then the early frosts w^hich came earlier and were more
severe than usual did the rest. The northeast part of the province of Manitoba
(pointing to the map), is of comparatively low altitude, and we have found in the

Dauphin district oats of this yearns growth on light soils that will germinate 99

per cent and others on heavier soils that will not germinate more than 10 or 15 per

cent. A line from somewhere near Dauphin, coming down to about the middle of

Marquette, and then into Saskatchewan, near Moosomin, and extending south of the

main line of the Canadian Pacific Eailway, and across at about Areola in an irregular

line to about 50 miles from what is called the semi-arid belt, thence northwest to

include the heavy clayey land about Eegina would roughly include the greater part

of the area that suffered from autumn frosts.

SEEDING THE SOIL.

North of Calgary in Alberta the conditions in respect to frost are variable.

Around Clover Bar in central Alberta there are some very good seed oats this year.

What we undertook to do was to make it clear this year to the farmers of those

western provinces the necessity of having their seed grain tested as to vitality, so

that they could better estimate the quantity of seed that should be sown, having

regard to its percentage of vitality. I am inclined to believe that it would be wise

for the farmers in the west who have clean farms to use their own frosted seed oats,

if they will produce as high as fifty per cent of strong growth, and sow Ihem at the

rate of four bushels per acre. At the best it is very difiieult to get seed that is

absolutely free from noxious weed seeds. By seeding at the rate of four or five

bushels per acre of oats or barley that will germinate 50 per cent or better, unless

the spring season be very cold and backward, should give a satisfactory crop.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. Would five bushels per acre be sufficient, do you think?

A. Yes, of oats or barley that will give 50 per cent strong growth under groeoi-

house conditions and during the first six days.
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By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. To make a really good showing how much do you require per acre of sound

seed?

A. Two bushels.

Hon. Mr. Fisher.—That is of oats.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. And of wheat, how much do you require!

A. About a bushel and a half of good Red Eife wheat would be suSlcient. I

based my estimate of the shortage in seed supply on the actual areas as provided to me
by the Census Commissioner. His figures were based on the actual census areas for

1901 and 1906, and these were increased in geometrical ratio to 1908. I took the

Census Commissioner's figures and by a calculation and estimate worked out, as well

as I could, those areas within the belts in which the grain would not come up to a
50 per cent vitality in the case of oats, and a 60 per cent vitality with reasonably

plump seed, in the case of wheat. Those figures were used in calculating the amount
of seed supply that would be needed in the northwest this year.

By Hon. Mr. Derbyshire

:

Q. Of the 12 per cent that failed, how much later than usual was the seeding

done ?

A. At least a month.

By Mr. Mclntyre (Strathcona)

:

Q. Was it not the conditions that prevailed after seeding?

A. The conditions after seeding had more to do with the late maturity than the

date of seeding.

Q. The seed ought to be sown earlier?

A. Fairly early. Oats should not be sown until at least after the middle of

April. Oats that are sown in the middle of May will ripen within a few days of oats

sown about the middle of April, because rapid growth does not commence until about

the first of June.

By Mr. Crawford:

Q. Is that not the case with all kinds of grain?

A. Yes, but not in all climates.

By Hon. Mr. Perley:

Q. The seed that is sown early ripens first?

A. Yes, but there is not as much difference in the ripening as there may be in

the time of sowing. You can sow wheat in March, say, and again in May, but they

would not be a month apart in dates of ripening.

By Mr. Schaffner:

Q. Are you referring to wheat now?
A. Wheat, oats and barley.

Q. It is more important to get the wheat in early than the oats?

A. It is important, but I do not believe that it is advisable to sow wheat much
before the 1st April. I would say 7th April. It should be sown as soon as possible

after that date. I do not think it is advisable to sow oats until after the middle of

April, say the 20th April for the western provinces.
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Q. There were a lot of oats in the west sown in June last year?

A. Probably.

By Mr. Owen:

Q. Tell us the percentage of wheat, oats and barley which was injured by the

frosting of the crops?

A. There were different degrees of injury. I estimate the area that was injured

so badly that it will not be fit for seed, as not more than 10 per cent. There are

between ten and eleven million bushels of seed wheat required each year for the pro-

vinces of Manitoba, Saskatchewan and Alberta.

Q. According to your statement then there should be a sufficient quantity of

grain in the northwest at the present time?

A. They have in the west all of the wheat they want for seed. All the wheat that

is being asked for, I think, is 1,300,000 bushels, and that is estimated for use at the

rate of two bushels per acre.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. You say that the farmers in the west have now enough seed?

A. They have enough of wheat, but not of oats.

Mr. Wilson (Lennox).—That is news to me.

By Mr. Owens:

Q. Cannot the people purchase all the wheat they require for seed up there?

A. I would not like to be too positive upon that point. Let me say that although

the process of buying at the present time is pretty well advanced, it would be well

in the interest of the farmers of the west not to make too detailed a statement regard-

ing the supplies of seed grain.

By Hon. Mr. Perley:

Q. How much is he paying for wheat now I

A. I do not know.

By Mr. Lahe:

Q. When you speak of the northwest, do you refer from the country westward, or

the country westward from Winnipeg?
A. I refer to the country between Port Arthur and the Rocky mountains. The

one chief risk in sowing seed oats that are slightly frosted, is the weather conditions

that may occur during the first three v/eeks after seeding. If the weather conditions

be favourable for rapid growth during that period, there should not be so much risk

in sowing oats that will germinate more than 50 per cent and which are not slow to

germinate. The rapidity of germination, or what technically is called the vital

energy of the seed, is influenced a great deal by the weather conditions which prevail

during the first month after seeding. I have brought to-day some oats in process of

test in soil to show you. These are of about fourteen days' growth. They will enable

you to see a difference between weak growth and strong growth. These are 100 plants

of relatively strong growth. Here is a lot that gave only about 30 per cent of strong

growth. You can see a large proportion of weak plants in the latter sample. Even
in the poorest samples we usually find some good grain and some that is inferior.

Here, however, is another lot of uniformly weak spindly plants.

By Mr. Owen:

Q. Where do you grow those?

A. We grew those in the seed laboratory under greenhouse conditions.
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Q. At what temperature?

A. Between 64 and 68 degrees,

Q. They are not as healthy to look at as if they were grown in the open air?

A. No, the colour is not quite so good. But under greenhouse conditions we get

more rapid growth than would be obtained under field conditions, because we have
better moisture and we have control over the heat.

By Mr. Broder:

Q. It is more uniform? •

A. Yes. This (showing specimens) is an illustration of the relative vital energy

of the seed. The one shows about 98 per cent of germination in six days. From 100

grains of the other only three came up in six days. The latter, if sown under field

conditions, considering the average moisture in the soil and the climate in the west,

could not be counted on to give a very good crop. If the soil is sufficiently moist and
the weather is warm and continues warm for three weeks after seeding, there is not

so much risk in sowing seed grain of comparatively weak growth; but with frosty

weather and a dry soil the sowing of these weak oats or shrunken wheat, although the

wheat will germinate fairly high, would be disastrous from the point of view of the

satisfactory crop.

I would like to speak for a few minutes on the principles of making germination

tests.

SUPPLEMENTING SEED SUPPLY FOR 1908.

By Mr. Owen:

Q. I understood you to say there was plenty of wheat in the northwest for seeding

this year, plenty of good wheat that will germinate after having been sown?

A. Yes.

Q. Of oats what percentage is short? About how many bushels will need to be

purchased elsewhere?

A. The provinces have said that they must have seed grain that is free from

noxious weed seeds. Mr. Castle, as I understand it, who is doing the buying, must

adhere to the conditions named by the provinces who are to pay for that seed. To
get the total quantity of seed oats which they may need and of the quality that they

desire, which is important, they may have to get perhaps two-thirds of the quantity out-

side of the provinces of Manitoba, Saskatchewan and Alberta. If the provinces should

modify

By Hon. Mr. Perley:

Q. Do they require any seed in Manitoba?

A. They will need seed oats in northern Manitoba. To get the quantity of seed

oats required from western sources it would be necessary that the provinces should

modify their conditions in respect of wild oats in the seed oats. You will understand

that at the present quite a large quantity of the oats have gone forward and have been

mixed with commercial lots in the elevators at Fort William. I think it would be

advisable not to discuss the matter at the present time. Of course, I will answer any

question which this committee may approve of, but I do not want to interfere with

Mr. Castle's operations.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. I understood that Manitoba was not covered by this arrangement?

A. Manitoba, as I understand, is looking after her own seed grain provincially.

That is to say, the provincial authorities are carrying out the work.
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Q. And we have nothing? to do with that?

A. In looking up supplies of seed I may say in a general way that there is a

question of the advisability of bringing seed grain from the coast climates of other

countries. This year there may be considerable really high-class seed go into the west

from England and from Prince Edward Island.

Those oats under western conditions will not do quite so well the first year. They
will not be up to their normal condition even in the second year, but in the third year

they will do quite as well in the west as they do in their native country, and the

farmers in the west can count upon having good results for the next twenty years as

the result of importation. The difficulty with oats, wheat and barley in the west has

been that year after year, the grain is cut a little on the green side. That tends to a

natural deterioration in the stamina and productiveness of the plant. The grain that

will be taken into the west this year will be of exceptionally good quality, having for

generations back reached its full maturity before being harvested. Although for the

first year or two, as I said, it may not give quite as satisfactory a crop as it did in the

climate from which it came, after three years it will give and continue to give

excellent results in the west.

By Mr. Martin (Wellington)

:

Q. Does the seed taken up from Ontario do as well as the seed you speak of?

A. 'Not as well the first year as does the home grown seed, but there is not so great

a difference between Ontario importations and importations from coast climates.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. Are we to understand that the oats in England are of a higher standard than

those in Canada?
A. They are thoroughly matured oats, and perhaps plumper than the western

grown oats. Perhaps on account of their more careful system of farming in Great

Britain their oats are purer as to variety and, I think, better than our own.

By Hon. Mr. Derbyshire:

Q. Do they weigh much more?
A. Yes, per measured bushel.

Q. How much do they weigh per measured bushel?

A. Eorty to fifty pounds.

There are usually many grains of oats in frosted samples in which the germ in

the kernel is not dead, but it is unable to make use of the plant food in the kernel.

The enzymes of the kernel act as a digestive fluid upon the nutritive qualities in the

kernel itself when the germ starts into life. The germ has to depend during the first

four or five days upon the nutriment in the kernel for its sustenance. Now, in these

frosted oats in which the germ is still alive the enzymes are partially destroyed.

When planted in good soil the germ of frosted oats can draw some slight nutrition

from the vegetable mould, and on that account may grow a little faster in the soil

under greenhouse conditions than under the regular methods of germinating seeds.

We have the authority of Noble, Hartz and many others who have given much time

to the study of processes of seed germination, when we say that to give the farmer

an accurate measure of the value of seed to him in respect to its vitality the test is

better made in the standard seed germinator. Report should be made of the pro-

portion of grain that will germinate in four, five or six days and at the end of ten

days.

The soil tests of frosted grain, if conducted under greenhouse conditions, is in

part a measure of the extent to which a particular soil is able to feed a germ that has

lost the ability to feed itself naturally. We can see what this soil will do to feed
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frosted germs of oats that are not able to feed themselves, but I cannot undertake to

say whether these oats that will germinate and give satisfactory growth in this soil

will germinate and grow equally fast under the soil conditions that the farmers have
in the west. On account of these conditions I desire to urge upon all the farmers in

the west the necessity of testing their own oats and barley in their own soil at their

own homes and under their own observation. If the farmers could come to our office

they would see their seed growing in boxes, such as I have here to-day, and they

would get more information as to its condition than they would get from the usual

germinator tests. We use the standard seed germinators because they give a more
accurate measure to the farmer of the vitality and strength of growth of the seed

than the soil test, and the returns from the germinators are more quickly obtained

at much less cost for labour.

From our investigation into the condition of the seed supply for the western

provinces I would say that looking to the future crop of 1908, although there are

small areas for which the governments have undertaken to procure supplies of seed

for the farmers, I have no hesitation in saying that the condition of the seed supply

in the west to-day, with what will be added, will not detract in the slightest from
the prospects of a good crop.

By Mr. Broder:

Q. You would not advise sowing any doubtful seed?

A. I strongly advise no farmer to sow any oats or barley this year, no matter

whether he be in southern Manitoba or in the northern part of Saskatchewan, without

himself, in his own home, testing the grain in the soil, for the purpose of determining

its vitality.

By Mr. Schaffner:

Q. It is not likely when the farmer sows a bushel and a half of wheat, which is

the proportion they sow in the west as a rule—it is not likely that it will all ger-

minate. But taking that quantity of the ordinary seed sown every year, what per-

centage of that would germinate?

A. Under field conditions I would think that what would germinate 100 per cent

in four days in the seed laboratory, will perhaps give 85 plants in the western soil.

Q, Then if 85 per cent of the wheat will germinate, that will be all right?

A. That is taking high-class seed, No. 1 Northern.

Q. Would 85 per cent germinate?

A. Yes.

Q. Then as to oats, you say that if the percentage was 50 per cent it would be

better to sow four bushels to the acre?

A. Yes. Sow four or five or even six bushels of seed that will give fifty, forty or

even thirty per cent of relatively strong growth when tested in their own soil.

By Hon. Mr. Perley:

Q. That would be on account of the cost. If he sows four bushels to the acre,

which he may get at 25 to 30 cents, it is better than by sowing two bushels which will

cost him more?
A. Not so much on account of the cost as on account of the difficulty of procuring

pure seeds. To get seed which is clean—that is what is wanted—I doubt very much
if it will be possible to get all the supply that is asked for.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. Is your department taking any special pains to communicate the information

to the farmers in the northwest as to making these special home tests?
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A. Yes, we have issued 60,000 copies of this bulletin. I brought up two packages

of them this morning.

Q. I understand that, but has the department taken a list of farmers throughout

the west and mailed a copy to every one ?

A. We took the census schedules and mailed the bulletin to the farmers whose

names api)eared thereon.

Q. It seems to me that it would be money well expended for the government to

send fifty or sixty men out to the west to give special instructions to the farmers on

that point. The idea of making such tests will not suggest itself to the average

farmer, I think?

A. We have held this year in the province of Alberta 34 special meetings on seed^

in the province of Saskatchewan 36 special seed fairs, and in the province of Manitoba

the Seed Branch assisted with eleven. The provincial department of Manitoba has also

had a number of seed grain exhibitions in that province.

By Mr. Broder:

Q. Were those exhibitions well attended?

A. Yes, and they were better attended this year than usual on account of the

existing conditions.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. Then I think we may conclude that the information is pretty well disseminated

among the farmers in the northwest as to these suggested home tests?

A. I feel quite sure that it is. We have done everything that we possibly could to

have that information well disseminated because of the danger of the farmers sowing

without testing. If the farmers will test their seed and ascertain what proportion of

it will germinate and sow it accordingly, they will do much to eliminate the possibility

of crop failure.

Q. Have the farmers in the west heretofore adopted any such policy?

A. They have had repeated partial failures of crop in Alberta and Saskatchewan

on account perhaps of there being no seed laboratory from which they could be advised,

no special organization in the west looking after seed grain and prompting them to do

this work. This special investigation was started, as I said a few minutes ago, by my
assistants in Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba, commencing after the first

frosts occurred, and they have been working at it continuously ever since.

Q. Just this year?

A. This last year. Of course, w^e had no seed laboratory until 1902.

By Mr. JacJcson (SeTkirh):

Q. Has the department been doing any testing at suitable points in the west?

A. We have quite a large seed laboratory at Calgary which was established last

year. I have had also to establish a temporary staff at Winnipeg, not to test for the

farmers in general, but for Mr. Castle who is buying at Winnipeg.

By Mr. Mclntyre (Strathcona) :

Q. We have had seed fairs for some j^ears?

A. It is four years since seed fairs were started. They have been very useful ns

well as educational to the farmers, a special marked day for seed grain. Tlie field

competitions in seed grain have also had an exceedingly wholesome influence.

By Mr. Jackson (Selkirk):

Q. What arrangements did your agents adopt to get samples of grain?

2—12



122 MR. G. E. CLARK, SEED COMMISSIONER

8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

A. The first trips of inspection from their district headquarters was made about

the middle of September. At that time the harvest was not very well advanced, but

they collected some samples of grain and forwarded them to the seed laboratory. Thej
also issued letters to secretaries of agricultural societies and men who had been

attending any of the seed fairs in previous years, asking them to forward samples of

their grain to the laboratory for testing.

Q. I notice you have not been getting any samples from northeastern Manitoba,

say about Selkirk?

A. We have had quite a large number from Selkirk since the 1st January.

Q. Your bulletin does not show that?

A. Up to the 20th or 25th December we had no samples from Selkirk. The
usual letters had been sent in to the electo»al district of Selkirk, but no response had
come from it. I pr-esume, like some of the other constituencies in southern Manitoba

By Mr. Schaffner:

Q. There are practically none from southwestern Manitoba?
A. I suppose the farmers there considered the grain was not severely frosted and

immediate action was not necessary.

By Mr. Jachson (Selkirk):

Q. There was not frost at all in our district?

A. I would not like to say there was no frost at all.

Q. There has been none whatever that we have heard of?

A. I think in the constituency of Selkirk they have not suffered materially.

By Mr. Christie:

Q. Have you made any tests of the grain grown in the province of Ontario?

A. This year?

Q. Yes?
A. ISTot very many for vitality. I donit think the grain needs it.

Q. I think the oat crop in a great many parts of Ontario has been a failure for

the last few years?

A. A failure in yield?

Q. A failure in yield and in weight?

A. They were about 83,000,000 bushels short of the average yield in the province

of Ontario last year. On that account the price of oats and barley in the province

is high. I think the percentage of vitality of the grain in Ontario is satisfactory.

Q, I think the crop has been a failure for two or three years in some parts?

A. On account of the climatic conditions.

By Mr. Crawford:

Q. "Were your samples well cleaned?

A. The samples sent are tested in the condition in which the farmers send them.

Q. The farmer would not possibly clean them, but it might raise the standard if

the samples were thoroughly cleaned?

A. We report to him that the standard of vitality would be raised by a thorough

cleaning.

Q. That would apply more to oats?

A. It applies more to oats.

Having read the foregoing transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

GEO. H. CLAEK,
Seed Commissioner.
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EXPLORATIONS IN THE VICINITY OF THE SASKATCHEWAN RIYER.

House of Commons,
Committee Eoom No. 34,

February 26, 1908.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met here this

day at 11 o'clock, a.m., the Chairman, Mr. McKenzie, presiding.

The Chairman.—The business before us to-day is to hear an address from Mr.

W. Mclnnes, Geologist, Geological Survey of Canada, upon his explorations of the

region lying south of the Saskatchewan river, and drained by the Carrot and Pasquia

rivers; also of the district northwest of Lake Winnipeg and east of the province of

Saskatchewan.

Mr. McInnes.—Mr. Chairman and gentlemen: The district explored by me last

summer about which I have to say something this morning, is the area lying to the

south of the Saskatchewan, between that river and the Canadian Northern Railway

Company's Prince Albert branch; and more particularly the region lying immediately

to the south of the Saskatchewan and drained by the Carrot and the Pasquia rivers.

This great region may be divided for convenience, perhaps, into two areas, the lower

area, lying at a height of 900 feet above the sea, consisting of a broad undrained

plain, and a higher area from 1,000 to 1,200 feet above the sea, which contains

excellent land for the purpose of general agriculture.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. What is the distance between the railway and the river?

A. The area is a triangular one. At Prince Albert the distance is nothing, but

it is about eighty miles when you get down to the mouth of the Carrot river, which

joins the Saskatchewan at the Pas Mission, a little over 100 miles from the mouth of

the river at Lake Winnipeg. This great plain that I spoke of extends from the base

of the Pasquia hills, easterly, and northeasterly and north to a considerable distance

beyond the Saskatchewan. It is underlaid by Silurian limestone, with a gentle dip

southwesterly, the limestone overlaid in turn by an irregular form-ation of boulder

clay which comes to the surface in places, but is generally covered by more recent

lacustrine deposits consisting of clays that have been laid down on an ancient lake

bottom. The higher area that I spoke of is underlaid by cretaceous sediments aud

really belongs to the great plains. Over these cretaceous sediments is the ?ania

irregular formation of boulder clay, and over that again the same deposits of lacus-

trine clays with the addition of a vegetable humus—a deep black surface soil, two

feet and upwards in tliickness, exactly the same as that which provides the agricultural

soil of the plains generally. The boulder clay extends to the very suuuuit of the

Pasquia hills. The overlying clays, which really furnish the soil of the iilains, are

not found on the very summit of the Pasquia hills. They are laid down at just as

high an elevation further west, but as a matter of fact it is only the boulder clay tbat

is seen on the very summit of the Pasquia hills at their eastern end.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. What is boulder clay?

A. It is supposed to be the ground moraine of the glacier. That is. it is tb.o

material carried along by the great glacier, made up of detritus abraded from the
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underlying rocks and boulders, picked up as it was traversing the country, and laid

down in a mass without any stratification or regular arrangement, the boulders lying

at various angles and not in layers, as we find the lake deposits or deposits laid down
under water.

Q. Is that clay mixed with boulders?

A. What I have described as the boulder clay is, but that is not the surface clay

of the region.

By Mr. Mclntyre (Strathcona) :

Q. Then for agricultural purposes the vegetable humus that overlies the hills

is not generally stony, the surface is easily cultivateable all over?

A. Yes. I might say that the extreme northeastern portion of the Pasquia hills

have an elevation of about 2,100 feet. The plain at the base of them is only about 900

feet high. The hills rise first by a gradual slope for perhaps 300 feet above the low

land; and then by a very steep slope, often with scarped faces. Some of these faces

are of boulder clay and some of the cretaceous shales, very often quite steep and
^ precipitous. These deposits are very readily eroded by the streams running down

from the hills which cut deep gulches in them, producing a country of steep valleys

and uneven surface. The northeastern side is consequently very much cut up and
would aiford very little land that could be easily cultivated. I mean that it is cut

up into saw-shaped edges. As you go further west the slopes become more gradual

and the hills merge gradually into the great plains, the elevation of the two becoming
approximately the same. The elevation where the Canadian Northern railway crosses

the summit is about 1,600 feet. The railway crosses the summit by very moderate
gradients, merely climbing over a broad, low hill or swell in the surface.

Q. Is there any timber on these hills?

A. Yes, very good timber.

By Mr. Jackson (SeUcirh):

Q. What is the elevation at Prince Albert?

A. I think it is in the vicinity of 1,400 feet.

Q. So 3^ou go down from the swell to Prince Albert?

A. Yes. The summit is about Peesane Sta., 100 miles east of Prince Albert, and
then it is a rolling country from there to Prince Albert.

Q. And where is the Saskatchewan river just there?

A. The Saskatchewan at Prince Albert is jast close to the railway and at the

height of land spoken of it is 40 miles to the north.

Q. Is the Saskatchewan navigable at high water?

A. It is navigable clear away to Prince Albert, with the exception of the rapids

known as Grand Kapids, near the mouth of the river.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Could you go by water to Edmonton?

A. Yes, at high water. Last summer I went down in the Hudson Bay boat from

Prince Albert. This is the way I reached the country.

By Mr. Jackson (Selkirk):

Q. The pilots of that country require to learn the conditions every year, owing

to the existence of sand banks?

A. To a certain extent. There are a nimiber of shifting sand banks, but that

does not apply when the water is moderately high. A person can then travel with

ordinary freedom down the river. Very often in July the water is very high and

not infrequently it remains at a good height practically all summer.
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By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Would you say the country is well wooded?
A. Perhaps I might describe my route last summer. Upon entering this country

I came down the Saskatchewan by a Hudson Bay Company's steamer from Prince

All crt and was brought to the mouth of the Sipanok channel with my canoes, a

distance of, approximately about 140 or 150 miles. We put our canoes in the water

at the mouth of the Sipanok channel. The Sipanok channel is a very curious feature

of the topography of that region. It is a winding channel 60 miles long which flov/s

from the Saskatchewan to the Carrot river. At low water there is no overflow from
the Saskatchewan, but at high water there is a very considerable river, quite large

enough for good sized scows by Vv^hich some of the fur companies take in their sup-

plies.

Q. How far is that from the Pas?

A. By the Saskatchewan it is a little over 100 miles, and by the Carrot river

about 60 miles.

Q. There is no land there fit for agricultural purposes?

A. No. I was going to say that this higher bench, which represents the eastern

edge of the cretaceous sediments, crosses the Carrot river about ten miles above what
is known as the Pas mountain, Indian reserve, or just at the foot of the first heavy
rapid on the Carrot river, a,nd crosses the Saskatchewan river at Birch island. Above
that, this whole country is very excellent agricultural land. Below it is not an
agricultural country because of the imperfect drainage. Standing on the top of the

Pas mountains and looking north, northeast, and east, one sees a vast plain extending
for thirty or forty miles in each direction, absolutely flat, and made up almost entirely

of hay marsh v/ith very numerous large and smaller lakes, and diversified by
occasional small groves of willow and aspen.

By Mr. JacJcson (Selkirk):

Q. Point out on the map where that plain is?

A. It covers all the country here extending from the base of the hills, north-

westerly, northerly and northeasterly to the lov^ hills beyond the Saskatchewan river

(indicating on the map.) Standing here on the edge of the escarpment and looking

out in the indicated directions, the first high land is that away beyond the Saskatche-
wan here, and that is not very high.

Q. That is near the eastern boundary of Saskatchewan?
A. Yes, from the eastern boundary westward for about 50 miles and eastward

for over a hundred.

Q. ITow is the territory that you have just described drained?

A. It is only drained by the Saskatchewan river and its tributaries.

Q. Could any system of drainage be adopted there which would recover thnt land?
A. I was going to suggest—it is a very important matter and one which I think

is very well worth serious consideration—whether it would not be possible by dealing
with the rapids at the mouth of the Saskatchewan river and lowering its level, to

give adequate drainage. There is a fall of about 100 feet. Lake Winnipeg is about
100 feet lower than the Saskatchewan above the rapids. The main rapid which occurs
three or four miles from the mouth is only about three miles lon,g. Almost the entire

fall occurs in that distance. If it were possible to accomplish this drainage, an area

of 5,000 square miles or more—which would mean over three million acivs—could bo
rendered fit for cultivation. This I anticipate would have a soil qiiiio similar to tlio

vegetable humus which covers the plains. It is now being do]-»osited in exactly the
same way that we think the surface soil of the plains was accimiulntod.

By Mr. Staples:

Q. What is the depth of water in the river above the rapids?
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A. Just above tlie rapids? I dont' know. I was not there. I came up by Lake
Winnipegosis and did not pass that part of the country. The river generally is com-
paratively deep, that is 30 feet, with shoals here and there. It is a very rapid flowing-

river.

Q. That territory is in the province of Saskatchewan is it?

A. The eastern boundary of that province runs through it. Part of it lies north

of the boundary of Manitoba in the unapportioned district which still lies in the

Northwest Territories.

Q. What portion of this territory would be in the Northwest Territories?

A. About one-half of it. This is the boundary line
.
(indicating on the map).

This part of the area would be in Saskatchewan and this part in Manitoba.

By Mr. Batz:

Q. Is the bottom of the river at the rapids rock?

A. Yes. It is a hard magnesium limestone, a dolomite. It is very possible and
not at all improbable, I think, that there may be a pre-glacial outlet where the river

originally ran and which is now filled up with drift. The Grand Kapids of the

Saskatchewan now are cut through a gorge in this limestone formation, like the

Niagara gorge on a small scale; and in very many of these cases we find that where a

river has worn its way through a rocky gorge of that sort it is because its old channel

has been filled up at the close of the glacial period by accumulations of glacial drift,

sands and clays, and it had to seek a new channel. The old channel if it could be

found, and if there is one in this case, would probably be low enough to allow the

proper drainage.

Q. My idea was that if the water was deep enough above the rapids it would be a

small thing to blast out the rapids, but if there is a rock bottom all the way along it

would be a difl'erent matter?

A. That has not been entirely ascertained. We knov/ there are two points where
rocks do occur. There are two points between Cedar Lake and the Grand Kapids
where there are smaller rapids also over limestone.

By Mr. Jadeson (Selhirh):

Q. Then your idea would be that just between the boundary of the Northwest
Territories and Saskatchewan there may be an old channel which has been filled up,

where the Saskatchewan takes a bend to the south?

A. At that point ? No, I do not think that is the place, because I was through

that country and I did not see any place where there would have been a channel.

Q. There seems to be a natural water-course to the north just on the boundary
line?

A. It is very much higher country when you get in there.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Point out on the map where you think there might be a possible channel?

A. I thought it possible that there might be a channel running into Lake Winni-
peg. It is not very far from the present channel, probably running from Moose
lake out to the shore of Lake Winnipeg, or northeasterly by the Minago river to the

Nelson. But that is a country that I have never been over. It did not come into my
area of exploration at all last summer, and I have never seen it.

By Mr. Jachson (Sellcirlc)

:

Q. Have you been down the Nelson river?

A. Yes.
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Q. As far as Cross lake?

A. Yes, as far as Split lake, 140 miles beyond Cross lake.

By Mr. Zimmerman:

Q. The Saskatchewan actually empties into Cedar lake and through Cedar lake

into Lake Winnipeg. Cedar lake is really an expansion of the river?

A. Yes, but a very wide one, as much as 20 miles in width, and having an area

quite justifying its being termed a lake.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. You said the same process was going on in that region which had made the

plains fertile. What do you say is the process ?

A. I imagine that the process is by the accumulation of all sorts of marsh
growth—of marsh grasses and all sorts of vegetable matter; the growth being

luxuriant, the accumulation is comparatively rapid and it is protected from destruc-

tion by fire by the wet nature of the country. This decayed vegetable matter is

mixed to a certain extent, very probably, with fine silt and fine clays, deposited by flood

waters.

By Mr. Zimmerman:

Q. That is what has formed the banks in the Saskatchewan, has it not?

A. Yes, and I might speak of that. I did not realize until I examined the con-

ditions there rather closely, why it is that the immediate banks of these rivers are

built up so much higher than the low-lying lands behind. I found by practical

experience last summer that during high water when the Carrot river, for instance,

was in flood, and carrying down an immense amount of sediment, that the clear

water in the back country which ordinarily flows out into the Carrot river is backed

up and fills all that flat country; that really the turbid water which is capable of

dropping sediment only extends back from the bank of the river for three or four

chains. Here it meets the back or clear v/ater and prevents its running off, so that

all this great flat that I speak of is practically receiving no sedimentation or very

little, from the flood waters. During the time of flood, the water covering it is clear

and not depositing any sediment even to within a very short distance back from the

bank ; but close to the river this sedimentation is going on, and higher banks are,

therefore, built up.

Q. This low flat land then is practically on a level with the river, and the shores

of the river have boen practically formed by the accumulation of sand and silt ?

A. Quite so.

By Mr. JacJcson (Sellcirh):

Q. Is all that country which you mention, 5,000 square miles, only 900 feet above

Lake Winnipeg?
A. Nine hundred feet or thereabouts.

Q. What is the height of Lake Winnipeg above the sea?

A. Seven hundred and ten feet I think is the latest figure. At Cedar lake above

the head of the Grand rapids the elevation is about 840 feet, but there is a general

westerly rise in that country, the Saskatchewan being a quick flowing river; and 100

miles up stream, even where there are no rapids, it would be something like 100 ioet

higher.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. How high are the banks of the Saskatchewan?
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A. Through this area that I spoke of, the banks are very low, only four or five

feet in height, and flooded always at high water. There is a ridge at the Pas, a little

over 100 miles from the mouth of the river which is taken advantage by the railway

to cross part of this low land.

Q. Whsxt is the Pas?
A. The Pas is an old English Church mission and also a Hudson Bay post. It is

now of interest chiefly because it is the point selected by the Canadian ISTorthern

Railway for crossing the Saskatchewan with their Hudson Bay branch.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. How long would it take the waters to get down from Edmonton to Lake
Winnipeg. Assuming the water rises at Edmonton four feet on a certain day in June,

when will that rise take place at the mouth of the river ?

A. I have this data as to that: Before leaving Prince Albert we had a telegram

from Edmonton that there was extremely high water there on Sunday night. On
Friday afternoon and Friday night the water was coming up very fast in the Sipanok
channel. That would be a distance as the river runs of 600 miles traversed by the

flood water in five days, or perhaps a little longer as, though our advice told of high

water at Edmonton on Sunday night, it may have reached there earlier.

By Mr. Zimmerman:

Q. There is no timber in the neighbourhood of Cedar lake and Cumberland
House on the North Saskatchewan?

A. When I was in the region north of the Saskatchewan the summer before last,

I saw several small areas of good timber there. The region covered last summer on

the Sipanok channel and Carrot river has some very good timber on the narrow belt

along the banks of the rivers, and extending in places for some distance inland.

Betv/een the two main branches of the Pasquia river also there is an area of spruce

that would furnish timber.

Q, That is on the other side of the Pas?

A. That is above the Pas. I think there is no timber below.

Q. There is a little black birch but thei-e is no land to grow timber on?

A. That is all a part of this low land that we have been considering.

Q. There is a ridge, is there not, between the Pas and Moose lake, and on that

ridge there is a little timber?

A. Yes, that belongs to the other area, the more elevated, limestone covered

country.

By Mr. Staples:

Q. You spoke of the country being covered with grass and you say it is probably

hay marsh?
A. It is mostly a low hay marsh, the grasses often growing in the water or on

very wet land.

Mr. Zimmerman.—It is beautiful meadow grass, there is no finer in the world.

By Mr. Staples:

Q. What is it—a species of blue-joint?

A. There is some blue-joint grass. There are a couple of marsh grasses that I

really do not remember the names of, very excellent grasses though.

Q. What is the temperature of the country? Have you any idea as to whether

it would be fixt for horse ranching or cattle ranching without involving the erection

of extensive buildings?
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Mr, Zimmerman.—If you could get land that would not drown the horses you could

get an immense quantity of hay.

A. The winters are rather long, but the summers are warm, and during the

growing season there are about seventeen hours of possible sunshine per diem.

By Mr. Jackson (Selkirk):

Q. Did you get any information as to that from the Hudson Bay people? Is

the land always covered with water?

A. It is always too wet to be of any great value in its present state, but there

are small areas here and there which are capable of cultivation.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Is it a swampy meadow which you cannot cross? Could a horse travel

over it?

A. There are certain parts where, in an extremely dry season, you could get

areas of that character particularly near the banks of the rivers. At the Pas they

cut quite a lot of hay and at the Indian reserves on the Carrot river. There the

Indians have 80 head of cattle and a number of horses which they own themselves,

and they cut a lot of hay for this stock.

Q. Grass can be cut on the river banks and transported to other points?

A. The Indians cut their hay on their own reserve. They have quite an area

at the back end of the reserve which is high enough for the purpose. The immediate
banks of the rivers, the more elevated ridges, are for the most part wooded.

By Mr. McOraney:

Q. Are these marshes produced by the waters of the river?

A. Yes, they are produced by the absence of any adequate drainage. The water

that covers them does not necessarily come from the river, but it is prevented from
flowing out into the river owing to the relatively high level of the banks and of the

river itself.

Q, What area of country is relatively marsh?
A. This low country I estimated to be about 5,000 square miles.

Q. What would be the effect of deepening the river channel at particular points?

A. If it could be accomplished it would probably drain this area and make it very

excellent agricultural country.

Q. Are there any particular points on the river which came under your observation

which would seem to permit of deepening the channel?

A. I spoke some time ago about the Grand rapids at the mouth of the river. If

by any means a better channel could be made there it might possibly be accomplished.

Of course, there are points in the river above, where it flows over harder rock where
the channel would also have to be deepened.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. There is no question that if that country were drained it vrould make good
farming land?

A. Not in my mind. The land close to the banks is often pretty sandy, but that

is due to this deposit by the flood waters of the river when tlic river is rimning very

fast and carrying a somewhat sandy deposit. As soon as you get back of that strip

it is a sort of black muck.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Is there any gold In that country?

A. I did not rind auy.
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By Mr. Zimmerman:

Q. I was informed that if the Canadian Northern Railway were built out to the

Pas immense quantities of hay could be harvested there?

A, I am sure there could.

Q. There is a settler located between Moose lake and the Pas who has started

horse ranching. He told me himself that he cuts his hay in certain parts there with

a mowing machine?
A. They have- a mowing machine at the Pas I know. I saw the mowing machine

in use there on one of the flats.

By Mr. Staples:

Q. You do not mean to say that you cannot operate a mower on those marshes?
A. It is too wet over the greater part, over limited areas one could be used.

Q. Then it is practically of no value?

A. Of course, this area I was speaking of, this loAver area, must not be confounded
with that lying west of the flrst rapids on the Carrot river which has a much higher

elevation. In the case of that whole area extending from the rapids just spoken of

westerly to the settled lands of the upper Carrot river I think that no better land

could be found. It is quite the same character as the ordinary good lands of the

plains.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. That is the prairie lands?

A. Yes, the prairie lands.

Q. Where is that land, to the south?

A. No, it is to the east of this area of land whi.oh has already been sub-divided

(indicating on the map) further down the Carrot river.

Q. It is bounded on the north by the Carrot river, is it?

A. It extends away on both sides of the Carrot, across towards Saskatchewan
on the north, and in towards the Pas mountains on the other side.

, By Mr. Staples:

Q. What quantity of that higher land is good?

A. Of course, a lot of land here (indicating on the map the upper portion of the

Carrot river) has been sub-divided and occasional settlers have gone in there. The
good undivided portion would make up an area perhaps of 1,000 square miles.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Is that the same kind of land as in the Carrot river valley which has been

laid out and settled?

A. It is the same.

Q. It is just as good soil?

A. Just as good. In going up the river I really thought it was finer country

below the settled district; it was rather a heavier soil. It is exactly the same surface,

but is underlain by a little heavier clay and is not so sandy.

Q. How high are the banks of the Carrot river ?

A. The immediate banks are from ten to fifteen feet, and within 200 or 300 yards

it rises by a gentle slope to 70 feet.

Q. Is that the wooded part of country which you spoke about ?

A. That is covered by a second growth, chiefly of aspen poplar. It is quite small

and it could really be described as a half wooded country, because there are patches
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every here and there of prairie and the forest growth is small and sparse so that it

could be cleared with little labour.

Q. Was it burned over originally?

A. It has been burned over very frequently.

By Mr. Staples:

Q. Is there any spruce there?

A. iSTot in the upper part of it. There is some very excellent spruce along this

part of the Carrot river (indicating on the map the portion of the CaiTot river

immediately above the first long rapid).

Q. What is it like around Cedar lake, what quality of timber is to be found there ?

A. I made no exploration at Cedar lake, but I should doubt whether there is much
timber there; it is for the most part too low for it.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. You spoke of a part of the country where there was timber. Where is that

and what kind of timber is it?

A. The timber of that country is white spruce. There is a belt on either side of

the Sipanok channel, a narrow belt on the more elevated land on the immediate banks,

of white spruce and two sorts of poplar—aspen poplar and balsam poplar. These all

grow to large, clean stemmed trees. Besides these, elm, oak, ash and ash-leaved maple
grow to a fair size, but not so large as the first mentioned trees.

Q. What size would the white spruce be at the bottom?

A. As much as two feet; not averaging that, of course, but averaging fifteen

inches and generally tall and straight.

Q. How large an area v/ould be covered by that white spruce?

A. That I could not say; I do not think a very large area. I went in over this

flat country adjoining the Sipanok channel and I found that the belt of good spruce

varied from a few chains to half a mile or so in width. Back of that the land is too

low and swampy to grow very good timber. Upon the Pasquia hills I saw some very

good timber. At an elevation of 500 feet I saw the best timber that I noticed any-

where in that district. It was white spruce, very tall and clean-stemmed and of large

size.

By Mr. Jackson (Selldrk):

Q. At an elevation of 500 feet?

A. I mean above the plain.

Q. Is there any tamarack in that country?

A. There is some tamarack. I saw a few good tamarack trees, but no large area

of tamarack.

By Mr. Zimmerman:

Q. Not sufiicient to justify lumbering operations?

A. Not in the case of tamarack. Land has been acquired just below the Pas

by the Pigeon Kiver Lumber Company, and they expect to put in a mill during the

coming summer, I understand. This would be for the sawing of white spruce mainly.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Where will they deliver their lumber?

A. It will be carried by the Hudson Bay branch of the Canadian Northern

Eailway which is graded into the Pas. Tlu^ steel was laid last autumn within twenty

miles of that point.



132 MR. W. McINNES, GEOLOGIST

8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

Q. How far is the Pas from Prince Albert?

A. It is a little over 200 miles.

By Mr, Staples:

Q. How far is it from the Pas to Fort Churchill on the Hudson bay?
A. It is about 500 miles to the mouth of the Churchill at Hudson Bay and about

250 miles to v/here the Churchill river drainage is first struck.

Q. That is about half way, is it?

A. About that. I went over that country in 1906.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Do you mean half way to Churchill from Prince Albert? That is not what
you mean?

A. The railway line projected really does not start from Prince Albert. It starts

from a point on the Canadian Northern railway about 150 miles east of Prince

Albert.

Q. The Canadian Northern goes to Prince Albert?

A. Yes, the Hudson Bay branch starts from a point on that line and takes a

northeasterly course crossing the Saskatchewan at the Pas and continuing in about

the same direction to Hudson's Bay at the mouth of the Churchill river.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. What is the name of that place it starts from?
A. Etiamami is the name of the station on the Canadian Northern railway near

which Hudson Bay junction, the point of departure, is situated. The Canadian
Northern now is within 250 miles of the Churchill river, and within about 500 miles

of Churchill harbour on Hudson's bay.

By Mr. Zimmerman:

Q. How far is it from the Canadian Northern station at Etiamami to the Pas?

A. About 80 miles; 50 miles of that is constructed. It may have been all con-

structed, because when I left, in the autumn, the line had been graded practically

to the Saskatchewan, and the steel laid for nearly 60 miles. The part which had the

steel on it had not been ballasted at the time I saw it.

By Mr. Jachson (Selhirh)

:

Q. I should imagine there would be difficulty in that low country in getting a

railway through?

A. Well, the line leaves Etiamami on the flanks of the Pasquia hills and follows

those flanks down to the Pasquia river. Then it strikes a tract of boulder-clay

which extends with intervals of swamp right into the Pas at the Saskatchewan.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. The railway does not get into that low country then?

A. The company had very great difficulty in iinding a practicable road over that

country. The surveyors were at work a great many years and made a great many
explorations before they found a feasible route across to the Pas. For a long time they

thought they w^ould not be able to find one. Even then it w^as in places only a very

narrow ridge of even comparatively dry country, and if they v^^ent off to the right or

left to any great distance they w^ould get into this low country.

Q. The swamp?
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A. Yes, they cut through swampy land for a coi-^iiclerable distance. Along that

ridge, or rather on parts of it, where they are on the fl*anks of the Pasqnia hills there

is some country that could possibly be settled, but it is very little.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Are they operating that railroad now in the winter se^ison?

A. The intention was to open by January 1, as some of the fish companies wanted

to get their fish out, but I have not heard whether that has been done.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Where is the fish to be found?
A. In all of the larger lakes lying north of the Saskatchewan in the vicinity

of the Pas, and beyond.

By Mr. Jaclcson (Selkirk):

Q. I v/ould like to get your opinion as to the country between Norway House
and Cross lake?

A. That will be a part that I will take up now.

Q. I should think that that would be away east of the line of railway?

A. It is, but that is the way I went into that country. In order to reach this

area through which the Hudson Bay railway will pass, I went down Lake Winnipeg
to Norway House and down the Nelson river. The Nelson river lies just at the edgo

of a large basin occupied by lacustrine deposits so that there are limited areas that

could possibly be cultivated. The larger areas are almost bare archean rock—granites,

gneisses and schists. The area through which the railway will run north of the Pas
may be roughly divided into three different tracts of country. There is first the

limestone country, extending from the Pas north for about 40 miles, which is over-

laid by flat-lying limestone or hard dolomites of Cambro-Silurian age. The limestone

on all the higher lands, comes almost to the surface. It has very little soil cover and
is absolutely bare for long distances. On the top of some of the hills, one can walk on
absolutely bare limestone. North of that for the next 100 miles is a clay covered

country which represents the sediments accumulated in the basin of a glacial lake—

a

lake which at the close of the glacial period was held back in the north by a high dam
of ice, and on the west by higher lands. This clay has a thickness of about 100 foot

at the thickest part, gradually becoming thinner and thinner as the land gets higher

until, at about the 950 feet contour the clay disappears and we get the marginal

deposits of the old lake, sands and gravels. The country of this character would be

about 10,000 square miles in extent; approximately that. I do not mean to say that

the 10,000 square miles would be all very excellent country, but the land which i.-s

covered by these lacustrine deposits has that area. The Nelson river being on ii?^

eastern edge it extends westerly to about the foot of Burntwood lake, northerlj' to tlie

Churchill river, and southerly to a little south of the Grass river. There is a linu^-

stone escarpment that marks approximately the southern edge of the clay basin, and

it follows a nearly east and west line just touching the southern end of Rood and
Wekusko lakes.

By Mr. McCraney:

Q. As I understand you there is an old lake basin, and its altitude is lower llinii

the surrounding country?

A. I mean that the sediments which now form the surface of tbat country wore

accumulated in the basin of an ancient lake. They are now 100 or 150 foot deep in

some places in the valleys, just covering the tops of some of the hills, reducing what
wa«?, prior to the glacial time, a country with a somewhat hilly surface to almost a
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plain, by filling all the valleys almost to the level of the hills. It is a country absolutely

devoid of rock or boulders. One can travel up the Burntwood river, for instance, for

100 miles and not see rock at all.

By Mr. Jaclcson (Selhirh) :

Q. Is there timber there?

A. Very little, but there has been timber there. I may say that the river takes

its name from the- fact that the country has been burnt over so much. I saw indica-

tions there of three different burnings within 60 years, an old- one, a more recent one,

and one about 10 years old. Some of the stumps gave evidence that if the country

could be protected from fire it would support a very good growth of timber. On some
of -the islands, or peninsulas cut olf by the surrounding swamp, there are very good
trees now.

Q. Principally birch and poplar, I suppose ?

A. I am speaking of white spruce, which is the only merchantable timber we
get in that country. There is said to be north of Moose lake a very good timber area.

I saw an area north of Cormorant lake of very excellent timber, but limited in

quantity. There is also timber west of Atikameg lake, but I saw only the edge of that.

These timbered areas are all south of the good, clay-covered land.

By Mr. Staples:

Q. Take between the Nelson and the Churchill up to Hudson bay, what is the

character of the soil?

A. This ancient lake that I was speaking of, as far as we can judge, was held

up by an ice barrier on the northern and eastern sides and extended northerly about to

the valley of the Churchill, as, from the description we have from the Indians, this

clay country extends north just about to the Churchill river. North of that, for a

considerable distance, it becomes gravelly again, marking probably the shore line of the

old lake.

Q. What is the distance between the two rivers?

A. At Split lake, where the two are closest, it is about 50 miles. The railway

after crossing the Saskatchewan at the Pas and following the elevated ridge from
the north bank of the Saskatchewan westerly to Atikameg lake and Cormorant lake,

crosses the latter at the narrows and runs northeasterly through the clay country until

it strikes a branch of the Nelson river known as the Burntwood river, which it follows

down to the vicinity of Split lake. From the vicinity of Split lake it crosses by an
extension of the same clay land to a lake at the head of the Little Churchill river.

It then follows the Little Churchill river down to near the head of the Deer river,

another tributary of the main Churchill, and continues in the valley of the Deer
river down to Churchill harbour on Hudson's bay. That is the route which they have
projected.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Did you get any sight of coal or minerals in that section?

A. One object of my exploration in the Pasquia hills was to find out whether
there was any probability of the occurrence of coal there. The Pasquia hills are made
up of Cretaceous soft bitumenous clay shales which burn quite readily in a camp fire,

but which have not enough hydro-carbons to be of any practical value as fuels. This
shale belongs to what is known as the Niobrara division of the Cretaceous. That
is about the middle of the upper Cretaceous. The productive coal areas of the west
lie in the lower Cretaceous which is absent in the county under review, in what is

called the Belly Eiver series of the Upper cretaceous, and in the Laramie and Edmon-
ton beds still higher. Just here (in the Pasquia hills region) the beds are too low



EXPLORATIONS IN TEE VICINITY OF THE SASKATCHEWAN RIVER 135

APPENDIX No. 2

in the geological scale for the productive coal measures of the western plains, and the

Lower Cretaceous beds, which hold the coals in the foot hills, are absent altogether,

having never been deposited.

Q. Between the two?
A. Just between the two. Of course as you get west, we will say to the Prince

Albert and upper Saskatchewan country and a little west of there, you get into a

country where the Belly river coal measures should begin to appear.

Q. That is higher?

A. Still higher. There is a gentle slope southwesterly to all these beds, so that as

you go westerly and southerly you get higher and higher beds at the surface. The
beds on the Pasquia hills, the Niobrara, I found to be as high as 500 feet above the

plain; and from the dip of the strata it would be probably 1,200 feet lower when you
get west of the longitude at Prince Albert. You would thus have a depth of 1,200

feet up to the surface of the ground which would be almost, but not quite enough, to

bring you up to the coal bearing measures of the Belly river series. That is the reason

why I say one may expect to get into the upper coals further west.

By Mr. Shiclair:

Q. West of where? West of a line running south from the vicinity of Prince

Albert.

Q. East of that you would not find coal?

A. No, I would not anticipate it. One cannot be dogmatic, but the measures
that have elsewhere been found productive do not occur there.

By Mr. McCraney:

Q. Coal has been found in the Eagle Lake district west and southwest of Prince
Albert?

A. Yes, I should judge that would be somewhere about the edge of it.

By the Chairman

:

Q. Would you consider that it would be an expensive country to build a railway
through from the Pas north?

A. No, not as compared with our railways in general. It is not a mountainous
country at all, it is not a rough country and a large part of it consists of clay land,

so that it would be comparatively easy to build a railway through it.

By Mr. Jachson (Selkirh):

Q. What about the rivers and lakes?

A. There are not very many and there Vn^ouW be but little heavy bridge work.

By Mr. Cash:

Q. Is there not lots of muskeg there?

A. There are some areas, but the low land which I spoke of on the Saskatohowau
would not be encountered after leaving the Pas. There is no muskeg for wliioh drain-

age could not be provided.

Q. I think you said this country was about the sanie for 50 miles nortli of the Pas?
A. The country for about 40 miles north of the Pas is the Sil\irian liTnostone

country, where the limestones practically form the land surface.

Q. That is where it is raised. But between those ridges it is all iiuiskog so far

as I can see?

A. There are a number of areas of muskeg, but I do not think any larger propor-

tion than is characteristic of our northern country.
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By Mr. Jachson (Sel'kirh):

Q. Is it as bad as that Judas mnskeg east of Winnipeg?
A. You might strike the same areas of muskeg in any of our northern country.

As far as I have been able to see it is not an excepiton ; in fact, taking into con-

sideration this area of clay country there will be less muskeg than the average of

northern regions.

By Mr. Cash:

Q. You think, comparing this line with other railways, it would not be expensive

to construct?

A. My impression is that as compared with other railways it would not be an
expensive line to build. You must consider that it starts at an elevation of only

830 feet or so above sea level at the Saskatchewan, and that the distance is 500 miles

from there to Hudson bay. That is a fall of only 800 feet in a distance of 500 miles,

and there is no height of land to go over in the intervening distance; it is a gradual

slope the whole way.

^ Q. Is it not a fact that in getting to the Pas mountains where the line follows

the Pas ridge from Etiamami for 15 or 20 miles, there is difficult country?

A. They have a bad piece of country to cross there.

Q. It seems to me wherever they go in that direction that is true ?

A. That applies to the country south of the Saskatchewan, between their present

line and the Pas. It does not apply at all to the country north. There you get into an

entirely different countr.y.

Q. I thought it did ?

A. No, there are not the same conditions at all. On the course of the projected

railway the low land ends at the Saskatchewan.

Q. What do you say of the line that is projected from the Pas, do they go west

of Moose lake ?

A. There is a gravel ridge which runs from the Pas right over to Atikameg lake;

it is about 90 feet above the Saskatchewan, and would furnish a most excellent roadbed.

Q. Does the line go west of Cormorant lake?

A. It goes v/est of Cormorant lake and thence northeasterly to Eeed lake mostlv

over a dry rocky country.

By Mr. Jaclcson (Sel'kirh):

Q. I have often been interested in the geological formation of the shore of Lake

Winnipeg consisting of granite and limestone. What is the explanation from a

geological standpoint ?

A. The limestone is a sedimentary series which was deposited on top of the old

Archean gneisses.

Q. Of the granite ?

A. Of the old granite. The old granite belongs to the Archean age. It is loiown

as the Laurentian formation and forms the backbone of the continent. On this has

been laid down the various sedimentary series. In this particular case we know from

the fossils that the sedim.ents are Lower Silurian limestones. These series, which con-

sist of sediments accumulated on an ocean bottom, are laid down flat on top of the

old Archean axis. Just how far they originally extended northerly across this Archean

axis we are unable to say. We have another corresponding sedimentary series comiiig

in from the Hudson bay side, consisting of similar flat Silurian limestone. It extends

inland from Hudson bay for 40 or 50 miles, and south of James bay for over 100

miles, each of these sedimentary basins overlapping the old Archean which protrudes

from underneath them and forms this axis which runs across northern Canada.

Whether the sediments once covered the whole of this area or not we cannot say
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positively. We know from the occurrence of outlying patclies far inland that it has

extended for 40 or 50 miles farther than it does now, having been eroded away simply

by the ordinary weather erosion-.

Q. Take the banks of Lake Winnipeg. Those composed of limestone are from
30 to 50 feet high, and the same way with the granite shores on the other side. It does

not appear that the limestone banks are any higher than the granite banks?

A. I do not remember the particular locality you speak of, but with respect to

the point you raise, it would mean that there had been a slight fault, that the limestone

had dropped a little, that there had been a crack where the present river runs.

By Mr. Oash:

Q. Do you claim that the clay basin you spoke of is fit for agricultural purposes?

A. Yes, a very great deal of it.

Q. It is pretty level ?

A. Yes, it rises from the rivers- with a gentle slope, sometimes terraced, sometimes
just with a gradual slope to heights of 70 and 80 feet, runs back for three or four

miles with a very gradual rise to a little over 100 feet, and then extends for miles at

about that height. One can walk over that country in many places for a great many
miles—I have done so for seven or eight miles—and not see a rock at all.

Q. Is that country crossed by rivers and little lakes?

A. Yes, there are lakes and streams through it generally, not so many, of course,

as in a rocky country like our ordinary northern country. The best agricultural land

would be opened up by the Hudson Bay railroad, which will run right through it,

dividing it almost in half. In all the northern lakes and streams the water is good

—

excellent water; there is no alkali at all. In reference to the Pasquia country, I

neglected to say that just at the base of the Pasquia hills there is a belt of about one'

mile in width that is characterized by salt springs. The vegetation is that wliicli

grows in salt water, and the water is all brackish. One spring which I found near the

shores of the Carrot river, the water from w^hich I had analysed, contained about a

quarter of a pound of sodium chloride—that is common salt—to the gallon. This is

a little lower in salt content than many of the springs they have been using com-
mercially down about Lake Winnipegosis, and higher than some of them.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. How do you explain its presence?

A. We consider it comes from the underlying Silurian dolomites which we Imow
contain crystals of common salt scattered through them. Sometimes where these rocks

come to the surface v/e have been able to find the salt crystals in the rock. We consider

it is the leaching out of these crystals of salt by percolating water that produces tho

brine.

By Mr. Cash:

Q. You spoke of this clay basin sloping in certain directions. In what direction

is the general tendency of the slope ?

A. I should say it slopes with the present slope of the rivers—tho gonoral slope

of that clay country is easterly, with, of course, minor gradients towards tlio lakes and
rivers.

Q. I did not catch exactly what you said about timber. Did you say tliere was
not very much?

A. There is hardly any on this clay covered country. It is nearly all o( quite
recent second growth.

Q. After you get through tho clay country is Humv any more agricultural land
between there and Hudson bay?
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A. I think not. You then get 'into the Arcliean, that is the old granite, and there

would be very small areas.

Q. I read a report somewhere that along a ridge between the Nelson and the

Churchill rivers there was some good agricultural land?

A. There is a ridge just where this railway proposes to go to the west of Split

lake, that would be of the same clay country. But when you reach as high an altitude

as Split lake you are getting into a climate which is really a little too severe for the

purposes of general agriculture. That is just about the northern limit.

By Mr. Martin (Wellington)

:

Q. How hot would it be in the clay belt that you speak of?

A. I was very much surprised at the warmth of the summer I was there, the sum-
mer of 1906, there was no killing frost until September 29.

By Mr. Jachson (SeUcirh):

Q. At what date were you there?

A. I spent one summer.

Q. Were you there late in August?

A. Yes.

Q. Was there any frost that killed the potatoes?

A. We had no frost until September 29. That was the summer before last, you
will remember.

Q. No frost at all?

A. Last summer there was frost while I was in the country further south, that

is on the Carrot river, on September 16. There was no July or August frost. On
August 26 the thermometer just reached the freezing point. The water in a shallow

dish formed a little scum of ice, but it was not sufficient to freeze even the most

tender of the vegetation.

By Mr. Martin (Wellington)

:

Q. How about the spring frosts?

A. In 1906 on the Pas they had all their gardens well up on May 24, and did not

suffer from frost after that time. Last spring on May 24 there was about three feet

of snow where they had planted their garden previously. This does not mean that the

whole country was covered with snow at that date, but only that this garden had

drifted full of snow. However, last summer was not really one to judge by. The

weather was exceptionally severe all through that country and the spring was very late.

By Mr. Cash:

Q. What was the vegetation on the clay belt while you were there, vetches, peas

and so on?

A. Vetches, peas, bluejoint and wild rye were growing luxuriantly on the lower

land and in the slopes of the low ridges. In some places they were to be found on

the tops of the hills, but, of course, growing more sparsely.

By Mr. Jachson (SeUcirh):

Q. On this plain are there the same prairie flowers that we have in Manitoba?

A. Most of them, not all.

Q. Did you notice the wild cucumber and any species of the convolvulus ?

A. The convolvulus grows there and two or three kinds of vetches, together with

very many other flowering plants whose names I cannot recall at the moment.

Generally there is a very luxuriant growth.
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I have here the meteorological records which I kept during the summer, and,

for comparison the meteorological bureau records taken at various points throughout

northern and central Manitoba during the summer, which I obtained from Mr.

Stupart, the Director of the Canadian Meteorological Service.

By Mr. Jackson (SelHrh):

Q. I suggest that these records be inserted in the report. Were they kept by the

Hudson Bay officials?

A. No, I kept them myself, the instruments used being 10-inch maximum and
minimum thermometers of United States Weather Bureau pattern. It will be
noticed that the records of temperatures in this northern region compare not un-

favourably with the records of the same date in many localities that are recognized

wheat raising districts.

TABLE OF TEMPERATURES.
From a record kept by W. Mclnnes in the region N.W. of Lake Winnipeg daring the summer of 1906.

Place. N. Lat. Date.
D Ox)

A.M. Noon. 6 P.M.

o
1906.

o o o

54 15 June 19.. 50 56 54
II II .... 54 30 II 20.. 50 55 52

54 45 „ 21.. 46 48 46 Strong N.W. wind and rain.
II 54 45 „ 22.. 46 48 46 ti II

Valley of Nelson river 54 45 II 23.. 46 61 86
II II 54 45 11 24.. 58 68 64
II M .... 54 45 „ 25.. 52 68 72

55 2f).. 58 70 72
Valley of Nelson river 55 30 " 27.

.

64 76 70
II (1 .... 56 28. 60 78 76

II 29. 66 70 65 Strong S.E. wind
56 II 30.. 58 64 61

_

541 63i 61|

56 15 July 1.. n't. TP,

56 15 2.. 61
56 15 3.. 60 72 70

Lower Burntwood valley .

.

56 4.. 62 84 80
56 5.. 63 82 82

11 II 56 6.. 64 74 72
56 7.. 62 64 72 Rain 7 A.M. to noon
55 4.5 8.. 64 72 72

II M . . 55 45 9.. 54 78 74
55 30 10.. 50 80 82
55 30 11.. 66 84 76

Lower Burntwood valley .

.

55 45 12.. 52 52 52 N.E. wind all A.M.
55 45 13.. 47 52 50 N.E. wind and rain.

55 45 14.. 52 56 60 N.E. wind & rain until noon.
55 45 15.. 46 66 02

Upper Burntwood valley .

.

55 30 16.. 56 70 72
55 30 17.. 60 76 74

II II 55 30 18.. 64 72 74 Two hours rain after noon.
II II 55 30 19.. 60 72 74
tt )• 55 30 20.. 61 74 76
II (1 . . 55 30 21.. 57 67 G() Rain all day.
II 1) 55 30 22,. 57 74 74
It II 55 30 23.. 60 74 76

Burntwood lake 55 30 21.. 58 78 7S
File River valley 55 15 25.. G4 80 76

55 26.. 58 84 78
55 27.. 65 78 77
55 28.. 02 76 76
55 29.. 60 69 68
55 30.

.

58 66 73
55 31.. 58 80 76

Averages for July. . .

.

58^ 73 72
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TABLE OF TEMPERATURES- Confinwed

N. Lat. Date.

o
1906.

54 45 Aug. 1..

54 45 It 2..

54 45 II 3..
54 30 II 4..

54 30 ft 5..

54 30 Aug.
It

6 .

54 45 7..
54 45 It 8 .

54 45 1" 9.

.

54 45 II 10..

54 45 II 11.

.

55 II 12.

.

55 It 13..

55 It 14..

54 45 II 15..
54 45 It 16..

54 45 II 17..
54 45 18..

54 45 II 19.

.

54 45 II 20 .

oU II 21.

.

54 30 It 22.

.

54 30 II 23.

.

54 30 II 24.

.

54 30 II 25.

.

54 15 II 26.

,

54 15 It 27..

54 15 II 28..

54 15 II 29.

.

54 15 II 30.

.

54 15 II 31..

54 15 Sept. 1.

.

54 15 It 2..
54 15 II 3.

.

54 II 4.

.

04 II 5.

.

06 40 It 6.

.

54 • • It 7..
54 16 8.

.

04 15 It 9..

54 15 It 10.

.

54 15 It 11.

.

54 15 It 12.

.

54 15 It 13.

.

54 15 14 .

54 15 It 15..

54 15 16..

54 15 II 17..
54 15 II 18..

54 15 II 19..

54 15 20..

54 21..

54 ti 22..

54 It 23..

54 24..

54 II 25..

54 26..

54 II 27..

53 45 It 28..

53 45 II 29..

53 45 tt 30..

Place.

Methy lake
Between Methy and Reed
lakes

Reed lake

Grassy River valley.

Wekusko lake

Grassy River valley

.

tt II

Wekusko lake

Grassy River valley

Reed lake
It

South of Reed lake.

.

Cowan River valley

.

tt II

It II

Yawningstone lake.

Cormorant lake

Averages for August.

Cormorant lake. . . ,—
Atikameg lake

.

The Pas, Saskatchewan.
Atikameg lake

Cormorant lake

.

Atikameg lake

.

lakes
Reeder lake
The Pas, Saskatchewan.

Averages for September.

6-30

A.M.

60

59
55
55
65
65
64
62
60
60
40
60
56
60
65
60
49
66
57
45
36
47
50
54
57
52
44
43
44
44
56

541

56
56
57
52
42
59
60
50
60
56
51
45
37
48
51
47
56
45
51
43
48
43
48
53
45

43
44
44
30
46

48^

Noon.

72
72
73
73
82
86
76
72
60
78
62
91
78
68
78
88
55
62
68
78
78
78
66
62
65
49
50
58
63

64
61
72
72
64
70
76
70
67
66
54
50
51
50
50
55
64
60
68
54
49
56
52
58
66

56
68
42
46
52

59^

6 P.M. Min. for

24 hrs.

78

66
68
70
72
72
80
80
76
68
68
76
59
83
81
74
78
66
52
68
67
63
71
72
56
60
58
53
54
59
64

68|

64
61
68
63
5S
64
72
72
67
64
48
54
54
50
50
58
60
58
60
54
46
46
56
60
55

46
60
46
48
4,'

571

54
62
54
56
58
47
62
56
42
32
38
34
44
52
40
38
42
40
43
46

46i

46
42
54
49
38
37
57
48
55
55
58
44
36
45
47
44
55
40
50
40
47
42
43
51
44

42
32
41
26
41

434

Light frost at night

90° until 5 P.M.
S.E. wind. Ther.
over.

Rain all P.M.

Light rain 5 to 10
P.M.

S.E. wind. Rain
at night.

Min. average from
12" to 31".

Light rain all day.

First killing frost.
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Place. N. Lat. Date.
6-30

A.M. Noon. 6 P.M. Min. for

24 hrs.

*• o /
1906.

o o o o

54 45 Oct. 1.. 34 48 42 34
53 45 2.. 45 56 48 42
53 45 3.. 45 50 46 42
53 45 4.

,

34 48 42 30
53 45 5.. 35 53 46 Snow at night.

53 15
53 15

6..

M 7..

40
38

42
46

44
46

Sleet at night.

Frost at night.

ABSTRACT OF METEOROLOGICAL OBSERVATIONS, 1906.

MINNEDOSA.

1906.

Temperate RE. Maximum and Minimum Temperaure.

7 a.m. 2 p.m. 7 p.m.
Mean
Max.

Mean
Min.

Max. Min. Monthly
Mean.

July .

September

58-3
55-0
46-5

77 4
72-6
70-4

72-2
70-3

640

77-4

76 4
73-7

54-5
51-0
43-5

87-5
95-5
97-0

41-0
33-2
28-5

63-8
63-7
.58-6

STONY MOUNTAIN.

July

9 a.m.

68-9
65-6

2 p.m.

76-3
75-2

78-0
77-0

54-6
51-9

910
950

460
330

66-3
64-4August

HILLVIEW.

July. !

August,
September.

7 a.m.

56-3
55-1
47-3

2 p.m.

75-9
75-4

731

9 p.m.

63-4
62-5
58-2

761
75-8

741

53-2
50-6

441

87-0
97- 0
98- 0

430
350
280

64-6
63-2
59-

1

i;HANDON.

July 60-8

574
475

76-6

746
72-7

67-8
65-6

591

79-5
78-5

75.1

51 • 7
49 1

41-9

91-3

95 0
100 0

38-5

35 0
LY>0

65-6
63-8
58-5
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Dauphin.

Months.

July
August . .

.

Birtle July
August

j

September
Auveme July

I August....
I
September

Oakdale Park Muly
August . .

.

September.

Mean.

Max.

79 3

Min.

55-4
51- 1
.53 3
490
41-7

54 9
530
45-5

58 0
52- 2
471

Extremes.

Max.

910
94-0
86- 0
94-0

930
970

103-0
101-5
87- 0
940
960

Having examined the preceding transcript of my evidence, I find it correct.

WILLIAM McimTES,
Geologist, Geological Survey of Canada.
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CANADA'S FERTILE NORTHLAND.
House of Commons^

Committee Koom No. 34,

Wednesday^ March 11, 1908.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met here this

day at 11 o'clock, a.m., Mr. McKenzie, Chairman, presiding.

'ihe Chairman.—We have with us to-day Mr. K. E. Young, D.L.S.^ Superin-

tendent of Railway Lands of the Department of the Interior, who will speak on
^ Canada's Fertile Lands North of the Saskatchewan River.'

Mr. Young.—Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen: I think I should at the outset say

that I have evidence at considerable length for every statement that I intend to make
here. I would first explain the large map of the Dominion depending from the wall

on my right on which I have coloured in red the townships that were surveyed on the

1st of January of this- year, the townships of which plans have been published. The
settlement is, of course, confined to the areas coloured in red. You will notice a

small patch of darker red colour around the city of Winnipeg. That is the land that

was surveyed according to a departmental map issued in the year 1873. I have the

map here and I think it is interesting if you would look at it because immediately

outside the limits of the surveyed townships the land is shown topographically in a

very incorrect manner. According to that map the information about the country

outside the surveyed area was very limited indeed. There are about 4,500,000 acres

of land in that small tract that was surveyed in 1873.

The subject of my story to-day is the portion of the Northwest north of the

coloured area. I would like you to look at the map on the other side of the room,

iixat is what is known as the Homestead map published by the Department of the

Interior. I want to devote a few minutes, if you would allow me, to an explanation

of the progress in the coloured portion as shown on the large map. There are three

reasons why I want to do that. I think that when I bring before you in the manner
which I shall endeavour to do, the facts that I have in my possession to-day, the

growth in that settled portion will appear surprising and interesting; and the growth
that we may expect in the settled portion in the future will show that it is of great
importance that we should know and investigate more about the country north of the
coloured portion. If that region is as good as I think it is, investigation is very
necessary, and if it is as bad as some people imagine, it is equally de^^irabie that we
should ascertain all that we can about it. There is another reason why I want to

explain a little about this coloured portion on the map, and that is I think I can show
you in a very brief way and with very few figures that the area of land available in
the surveyed portion of the Northwest is much more limited than many people im-
agine. There is a third reason, and perhaps you will allow me to state it, and that
is I was a resident of the Northwest for nearly tw(^i!i^• yi^nrs nnd I lived there through
all the dark years when we hoped that many tilings would happen which have since
come to pass. I like to dilate upon the progress that has taken place and to tell you
a little about what we expect will happen in the future. It is a little difficult to ex-

plain these things by figures without becoming wearisome, and I am going to illus-

trate some of my points by diagram.

First let me point out the railways on the ITomeste;id map. There are nearly
7,000 miles of railway on that map. I think the exact figures were 6.400 odd on the
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1st June last year, and, therefore, it will be safe to say there are 7,000 miles of rail-

way now. When I landed in the Northwest on 1st May, 1880, there were not any
miles of railway in the ISTorthwest except a half finished line between Emerson and
St. Boniface. We had to cross the Red river into Winnipeg on the ferry. The line

was built by laying ties on the prairie and spiking the rails to them, and that is all

the railway there was.

The population in the settled portion of these three provinces can be safely

stated, I think, at 1,000,000 people. I have made a little effort to get the figures

worked out, and I think that is a fair estimate and not very much outside of the

mark. The Census Bureau has given me an estimate of 6,800,000 as the total popula-

tion, of Canada on the 1st January last, so that we have in the three provinces, ex-

cluding British Columbia, one-seventh of the population of the Dominion at this date.-

Now, I want to illustrate by means of diagrams some of the figures to which I

will draw your attention. There are 120,000,000 acres on the coloured portion of the

map to my right, and I have converted that into a square on the same scale. I do

not know that I could show it in any better way. Here is a square on the same scale

representing the coloured area on the map (holding up square). The area of land

alienated is 86,000,000 acres, which is represented by the somewhat smaller square

and which I place in front of the larger square. The balance around the edge is what

w^e have left in the surveyed portion of the Northwest. I am giving you round figures,

although I have the figures exactly. Now, let us compare the area alienated with the

area under cultivation of 8,500,000 acres represented by this much smaller square.

The area under wheat is 5,000,000 acres represented on the same scale by this smaller

square.

This smaller square represents, as I say, 5,000,000 acres of land, but it also re-

l^resented 100,000,000' bushels of wheat in 1906. The figures of the Department of

Agriculture are 110 odd millions. Those of the Winnipeg Grain Exchange are 92,-

000,000 or 93,000,000, so that I think I am safe in saying there were about 100,000,000

bushels of wheat raised in the Northwest in 1906. Supposing I tal^e the 86,000,000

acres of land and cut off a quarter for the purpose of making a calculation which may
seem to be a rather optimistic one. If I scale the 86,000,000 acres down in that way
to 65,000,000 acres and divide the 5,000,000 acres into it it will go 13 times. Is it not

a fair supposition that we can multiply 100,000,000 by 13 and get 1,300,000,000 bushels

of wheat within a reasonable number of years? If you feel inclined to doubt that

supposition, gentleman, there is just one point I ask you to remember; that is selected

land. It is not land taken at random over an unexplored country; it is selected land.

Over 31,000,000 acres of that land was selected by about 200,000 homesteaders. About
the same amount was selected by seven or eight railways to satisfy their land sub-

sidies, selected by expert land examiners, and while I would not pretend to be an

authority on this subject and to make the statement that there will be raised annually

1-| billions of bushels of wheat, for the purpose of my argument I want to just ask

you to turn that amount into dollars and consider it for a moment. We are not tak-

ing into account oats, barley, flax or rye or the cattle products of that country at all.

Take that area of land with the wheat which can be grown to a lesser extent even than

my figures would give, and it seems a reasonable and safe statement to make that in

the time of people now living there will be the equivalent in money of 1,300,000,000

bushels of wheat. Eemember, there are over 50,000,000 acres of land that have not

gone into that calculation. There are 120,000,000 acres of land surveyed, and I am
only asking you to consider this as applied to 65,000,000 acres.

There is another aspect of this question that I v/ould like to bring to your notice.

I have a telegram here from a gentleman in Saskatoon, and he followed that message

up by a letter. I got these figures because I knew the gentleman, and I particularly

asked him to give me figures that I could absolutely rely upon and quote. I only get

figures from that point, although similar results can be shown from many other points
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in the West. I have no interest in Saskatoon in any way; I do not own an acre of

land there or anywhere else in the Northwest, and do not expect to. Now, this gentle-

man's statement, which I consider very striking, is: ' S76 acres wheat, net cash yield

per acre He wrote me at greater length afterwards. Well, gentlemen, I thinlv

it is quite a striking thing to reflect upon. That man goes into that country and farms

375 acres. He spends $6 or $7 in raising wheat on it, and after the crop has been

harvested he has over $14 per acre to put into the bank.

By Mr. JacJcson (Selhirh) :

Q. What year was that? A. Last year. He has given me a number of other

flgures. Some of them are a great deal more. There is one of $18, but this is a clean

cut statement and that is the reason I took it.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. Was that for 1907? A. That is what I understand from his letter.

By Mr. Thorapson:

Q. Are the 86,000,0^0 acres as yet unclaimed?—A. No, that is the land alienated

from the Crown.

Q. There are about 120,000,000 acres in all? A. Yes, of surveyed land.

Now, about the north country. The first thing I v/ould like to speak: about in

that connection is this: In considering the north country a great many people have

the idea that latitude governs the climate. Of course, that is absolutely untrue. It

is ridiculously untrue, particularly as compared v/ith our country, it does not apply

at all. I will go into the climate question in a few minutes, but in the meantime let

me draw your attention to the fact that that northern region is practically all a

wooded country. The knowledge we have of that country has been obtained by people

who have travelled along the rivers in canoes almost entirely. I would like to ask any
gentleman to try and imagine how much valuable knowledge would have been obtained

of the great and wealthy province of Ontario by means of travelling along the St.

Lawrence, the Ottawa and other rivers as men used to travel in canoes 200 years ago?

And yet that is the kind of knowledge that we have about that north country almost

entirely. Let m^e ask you to notice a, smxall red star on the map, 14 miles outside the

Arctic circle. That is Fort Good Hope on the Mackenzie river. The statem.ent was
made before the Senate Committee last Spring, which was investigating the north
country, that potatoes, cabbages and onions were grown at Fort Good Hope.

A gentleman who gave evidence before the Senate Committee last spring was in

my office about a week or ten days ago. He told me that he was at Fort Good Hope
last summer and he said :

' I saw just as good vegetables growing there as I have
seen in the province of Ontario.' The gentleman in question is Mr. Conroy, of the

Indian Department. Now, the growth of vegetation is rapid, beyond belief to us. in

that north country. I will quote you a statement made by Bishop Clut, who, I think,

was stationed at Fort Providence for many years, and who gave evidence before the

Senate Committee, which was presided over by the late Senator Schultz, in 1888. He
said, speaking of vegetation at Fort Good Hope: 'I have observed this phenomenon:
Towards 7th or 8th Juno vegetation commences and in five or six days the leaves of

the trees had reached their natural size.'

Now, I am going to tell you what tho rod ^^imts on this map mean. Those are

points where wheat has been grown. They v> ( rt^ not selected for any a.uTir-ulturn]

purpose because they are points where the fur trade has been carried on by the Hudson
Bay Company. Thnt is why they are selocted. Another point I would like in r^en-

tion to you is that the inhabit ant.s of tb.nt country, and there are very few of them,
are almost exclusively flesh eaters. They do not eat. and they do not desire to eat,
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wEea't or such products. I want to show you—no doubt many of you ha.ve seen it

before, but it seems to me important—a sample of Ladoga wheat that was grown at

Fort Simpson. Here it is (holding up sample). I got it from Dr. Saunders, Direc-

tor of Experimental Farms. Fort Simpson is the farthest north of these red points

just short of latitude 62 or just about it. I showed that wheat to a gentleman who is

accounted an authority on the subject, and I don't think you could get a better autho-

rity; I am referring to Senator Finlay Young. I ffaid ' Mr. Young, would you please

look at that wheat, but do not refer to the label on the bottle, and tell me what you

think of it' 'i Mr. Young examined the sample in the way that men who are experts

on wheat often do. I think he saw nearly every grain of it* he took good care to do

so. He said ' It is very nice wheat, I would call it good wheat. It has been slightly

frost-ed but I think that wheat would go about 64 pounds to the bushel.' Well the

label on the sample says Ladoga wheat, grown at Fort Simpson on the Mackenzie

River, 62 pounds to the bushel.'

By Mr. Scliaffner :

Q. How many days was it growing ?—A. I could not tell you. I have seen the

statement that wheat is grown in 86 days, that is in some points in the JSTorthwest

country, but I am not sure about that. Now, gtentlemen, here is a sample of wheat
from Fort Vermilion (displaying sample). I showed that also to Mr. Young and
got his opinion on it. In both instances he expressed his opinion before he knew
twhere either of the samples cam.e from_. He said ^ That is pretty nice wheat. It is

not so nice a wheat as the other but I think it would make first rate flour; it is good
wheat.' Now, consider for a moment that the area enclosed by these red spots would
be larger—I think considerably larger—than the entire Province of Ontario. I will

just take a moment to enumerate these points. There is Fort Simpson on the Mac-
kenzie river. Fort Providence—and a witness said before the Senate Committee last

spring that he had seen wheat ready to cut at Fort Providence on the 28th July,

1906, and it was cut a few days later, and good crops of oats and barley at Fort

Liard. You see in the report of the Senate Committee of 1888 that Ex-Judge
McLeod gave evidence and quoted from his father's journal. His father was an

official of the Hudson Bay Company and his journals extend from 1811 to 1849. He
said: ^ Wheat is a sure crop at Fort Liard four times out of five.' Then there is

Fort Chipewyan. Wheat that w^as grown there took the highest award I think at the

Centennial Exhibition in 1876. Then there is Fort Vermilion where a flour mill is

turning out 35 barrels a day. That mill is electrically lighted and equipped in a

modern manner. There were 25,000 bushels of wheat grown at Fort Vermilion in

1906. This farthest point west on the Peace river is Fort Dunvegan. (There are

two or three other points Hudson's Hope, and Fort St. John,, which I have omitted

on account of their being down in the valley.) Proceeding with reference to the

wheat points there are Lesser Slave Lake, Fort McMurray, and He a la Crosse. At
the latter point Professor Macoun found them growing wheat and grinding it with a

horse power mill in 1875. Then there is Stanley Mission, 150 miles north of Prince

Albert on the Churchill river. Archdeacon McKay gave evidence before the Senate

Committee that wheat had b-een grown for seven years in succession at Stanley

Mission. At Cumberland. House, Sir John Pichardson records that wheat was grown
in 1820 when he passed through there. We also have the statements of witnesses

before the Senate Committee that wheat has been grown at Norway House, Cross

Lake and Nelson House.

There have been, a gi'eat many statements made about the probable area avail-

able in that country for settlement. One gentleman, a member of the Alberta Legis-

lature, Mr. Bredin, said that there was 100,000,000 acres of land—he was particularly

referring to the area as far ea3t as the Athabaska and west and north of it—available
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for settlement. Mr. Conroy of llie Indian Department, who has travelled over that

country a great deal, made the statement that there was as much land in that tract

of country as was now settled west of Winnipeg. There is a great deal of evidence

existing as to the probable area of land available in that country. The Minister of

the Interior had an exploration made, I think it was in 1905, of the country between

Pas Mission on the Saskatchewan and Fort Churchill. That party was sent out for

the purpose of exploring the country. They were members of the Geological Survey

of Canada and their statement—which I presume can be absolutely relied upon

—

amounts to this: That there are 10,000 square miles of good clay land between the

Pas and Fort Churchill—6,000,000, odd acres of land. A surveyor of the Indian

Department who had been around Lac la Ronge, told me that he considered the land

surrounding its shores just as good as any land south of the Saskatchewan. There
has been a great deal of other evidence given about that part of the country, which
I will net take time to dwell upon this morning. I think it may be generally stated

that south of the Churchill river, west of the Athabaska and Slave rivers and extend-

ing as far north as Fort Simpson, and perhaps a little farther, there is a good deal

of good land all the way.

Now, as to the climate. Mr. R. F. Stupart, the Director of the Meteorological

Service of Canada, has devoted a good deal of attention to this subject, and he says

that he would consider the mean summer tem.psrature of 57 J degrees was a safe lifnit

up to which you could grow wheat. Tie said that he would not dogmatize on the

subject, but that that would be a safe limit. I think that Dr. Saunders would put it

at a little lower. I have endeavoured to put on that line as near as I could get to it.

I admit the information is not complete, but we have done the best we could from
the evidence supplied by Mr. Stupart. I will trace a line on the map running from
the northeast corner of the province of Manitoba—just outside the spots that I have
mentioned—crossing the Mackenzie river about half way between Fort Wrigley and
Fort Norman;' and then following the eastern slope of the Rockies southerly. During
his evidence before the Senate Committee last spring, Mr. Stupart furnished a table

giving the summer temperature, and I think it is a very striking thing that the sum-
mer temperature of Fort Simpson, Fort Chipewyan and Winnipeg are nearly the same
—that is, from the 1st June to the 20th August or thereabouts—the summer tempera-
ture would therefore be nearly the same as that of the city of Ottawa. It is hard to

understand or believe that a man may be going about here in summer clothing and
that if he could be transported to Fort Simpson in those months that he could wear
the same clothing without discomfort. You may say that it is pretty cold in the
winter. I do not think there is any doubt about it. It is somewhat colder than the
North-west.

By Mr. Schaffner:

Q. Do you say that Ottawa is colder?—A. I do not think that Ottawa is colder

than the North-west.

Q. I think it is this winter. In my opinion, there is no doubt about it?—A.
However, as to that there is just one remark that was made by a witness before the
Senate committee last spring that seems to me to be very pithy and to the point. He
«aid :

' Things don't grow in the winter,'

Mr. Jackson (Selkirk).—They do in British Columbia.

Mr. YouNC.—If the agricultural possibilities are in that country, tlie fact that it

is a cold climate won't deter people from settling there. I have read a few uu favour-
able expression of opinion about that country, but I never heard of any one savin-; that
it was not a healthy country. I gave you the figures a few moments ago of tlic net
result of growing wheat in the vicinity of Saskatoon. I believe that it would be a
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reasonably safe statement to make that better wheat can be grown the further north

you go. Many authorities agree that the further north you go, almost to the northern

limit of the wheat-growing area, the better the wheat that is grown. I believe that the

statement has been made that wheat has been grown at Fort Chipewyan weighing 68

lbs. to the bushel. Men have gone into the most undesirable places on the earth's

surface in search of gold and to carry on gold mining. They have gone into the

hottest and the coldest and the most unhealthy countries for this purpose. Surely

there is no amount of gold mining equal to the results obtained at Saskatoon, viz.,

dollars net per acre ?

I want to meet the point that would arise in a man's mind about the cold winter.

I want to introduce to your notice at this stage something that I have prepared for

this committee this morning. I will fasten it to the map so that you can see it in

its relation to the subject. This is a map of the province of Tobolsk in Siberia. It

is drawn to the same scale as map and placed in the same position as to latitude.

That small dark spot, not quite one-third north of the south part of the province, is

the city of Tobolsk. That city has a population of 20,427 people. The city of Onsk
on the Great Siberian Railway, just on the south boundary and about 100 miles north

of the latitude of Edmonton, has a population of 37,470. The city of Tomsk, which

is not within the province of Tobolsk, but in an adjoining province and in a little

lov/er latitude than Tobolsk, has a population of 52,005. The population of the pro-

vince of Tobolsk was a million and a half of people in 1900.

By Mr. Duncan Ross:

Q. How far up does the line of habitation extend? A. I have a more complete

m.a,p, but I am sorry I did not bring it over. I might say though that two-thirds of

the way up we find a road marked on the map which would indicate settlement I sup-

pose. I also have figures here of the population of some eight or ten town in the

province of Tobolsk. There is one of 1,000, another of 3,000, another of 7,000, one of

8,000, and so on. The farthest nortli is the town of Bere-zoff with a population of

1,073 and in latitude 63.50.

By Mr. Jachson (Elgin):

Q. What information have you as to the number of convicts that were sent in to

that country? A. I don't know as to that. Whether they were convicts or not in

1900 they raised 6,480,000 bushels of wheat, 3,000,000 odd bushels of rye, 972,000

bushels of barley and 10,617,000 bushels of oats. These figures are contained in the

Encyclopedia Brittanica.

By Mr. Armstrong:

Q. Can you give us any idea in what part of that province these crops were
chiefly raised in ; v/as it in the southern portion ? A. It certainly would be. I don't think
there is any question but that it would be in the most southerly portion. All the in-

formation I have would go to show that settlement would not extend to the most
northerly regions. Still the fact that there were towns of 1,000 people in the northern
portion would go to show that there must be something being done there that would
support a town of that size. I have tried to work out some parallel between the
climatic conditions there and our own country, but I am not able to give it to

you exactly. I think that the figures given by the Russian government would prob-
ably be the most favourable that they could furnish. The mean temperature for the
period from September 1 to June 1, which would include the winter months—I think
that is all it is necessary to discuss—would for the province of Tobolsk be practically

the same temperature as at Fort Simpson. It is a very striking thing that a million
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and a half of people live in that province and that they raised 6,480,000 bushels of

wheat in 1900. Surely if our country is as good as v/s think it is, we ought to people

it to as great and even a greater extent, and to complete the parallel between the two

I think I can say without any hesitation that we must have something which they

have not got, and that is the benefit of British institutions.

By Mr. Mclntyre (8tratlicona)

:

Q. The southern boundary of Tobolsk is 100 miles north of Edmonton? A. 1

think it would be. It v/ould be 'just about 10 miles north of Athabaska Landing.

When I was discussing the wheat question in connection with these points that

are coloured red on this map I drev/ attention to the fact that they were not selected

for wheat raising. I want to discuss that point a little further. I say there are three

reasons why we can expect better results in wheat raising in our northern country

than has been accomplished up to the present time. I will quote what Professor

Macoun has stated in a pamphlet relating to the Yukon (reads) :

' When grain ripens in the country and is again sown there, it v/ill take on the

condition's of its environment and mature earlier, and early frosts like those attri-

buted to Manitoba, will have no effect as the crop will mature before they come. I

may rema^rk here that the wheat in the Northwest ripens earlier now than it did twenty

3^ears ago, and many people believe that it is the climate that has changed, whereas

it is only the wheat that has adapted itself to its environment.'

I think that any gentleman who has been following the trend of affairs in the

Northwest will agree Vvuth me that the conditions are better with respect to possible

injury by summer frosts now than they were twenty years ago. I don't think that

can be questioned. That is one reason that is given. Now, I asked a gentleman who
is better able to express an opinion on the point than I am a few days ago what he

thought of that statement of Professor Macoun's. He said :
' I don't altogether agree

with that statement. I do not hesitate at all in saying that the improvement is

marked, but I will account for it in another way. If you raise wheat on virgin soil

on the prairie it will grow to perhaps about the height of a man's shoulder the first

year. The next year it will not be quite so high. The third year it will be perhaps

not so high as the second year, but it will mature earlier. Devote that land to som-C

other use for a year or two and then go back to the cultivation of wheat again, and

you will get the wheat growing to the height of about the second or third year, but

it will mature earlier. The soil is sharpened.' He explained to me that in the Red
River valley, where the land is heavier, it v/ould take very m.any years to bring about

that result, and it would not be of so much value to this generation, but in the lighter

soil, farther west, it has a marked effect, and, as he argued, there is no question

about it.

By Mr. Wright (Renfrew)

:

Q. Will you permit me to give you some information on this point? A. If you
would kindly allow me I would ask you to first let me finish the point with which 1

was dealing. The third reason why we can expect better results in that north country

is because the staff at the Experimental Farm have been steadily ca.rryiiig on experi-

ments with a view to obtaining a variety of wheat that will ripen a few days earlier,

and if they can shorten the term for the ripening of whea,t by four or five days or a

v/eek, it will bring into the certain line as to wheat growing an enormous aixDa of land.

There is no question about it. They have accomplished some good thino-s nlrcady and
tbey expect to accomplish a great deal more.

By Mr. Blain :

Q. Wliat was the quality of the 6,480,000 bushels of wlicat produced in Siberia?

—A. I could not tell you that. There are a great many otlicr statistics about Siberia
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that are interesting. For instance they exported 40,000 lbs. of honey from an adjoin-

ing province in Siberia in 1900 and so cn; I have not the time to enlarge npon it.

There is no question about it that in the north country there are grasses of the

greatest possible value to cattle raising, finer grasses than there are in other parts of

the northwest. I could read from a letter written by Professor Macoun on that

point. I do not like to pass Professor Macoun's name without saying that I believe

that if there is a man whose name will be handed dciwn to posterity in Canada with

honour it is that of Professor John Macoun, because of the optimism he has always

had with regard to that country from the first, (hear, hear.)

I want to draw your attention, or relate to you, a little -incident that happened
to me in the Spring of 1882. I was down at Warren's Landing, at the foot of Lake
Winnipeg, about the 1st June, 1882. It was an isolated place, to some extent, and

rather difficult to get at, and our arrival in June on the first steamer, was the first

intimation they had there of a great many things which had been happening about

the boom at Winnipeg. I was talking v/ith a gentleman there who was connected

with the fur trade and had been in it nearly all his life. H-e was a man of intelli-

gence and was able to talk intelligently about any subject which you might mention,
(vand he was perfectly sa^ne except on one point. I will tell you what he said to me. I

was telling him about all the things that were happening at Winnipeg and among
others the fact that the Canadian Pacific Railway had built enormous shops. He then

said, ' It doesn't make any difference, Mr. Young. They will be allowed to fall to

pieces. That country is no good; it is only good for the fur trade. I have lived nearly

all my life in this country a^nd we old-timers know much better about the country than

anyone else.' ' But,' I said, ' They are spending millions of dollars in building a line

across the prairie.' He said, ^ I don't care, you will find they will take up the tracks.'

That man was able to talk sensibly about anything else, but there you see was the

influence of the fur trade, the influence of the conditions that he was surrounded by;

and you will find that time after time when gentlemen in that northern country who
have been connected with the fur trade are asked about the country their inclination is

always to detract from its value. We hear a lot about the 'Last West.' our Great

West, and its value for settlement. I supose it is the last West and I suppos^e that

it is the last not only for the fur trade of the Hudson Bay Company, but also for

other people who are interested in that trade.

By Mr. Barr :

Q. Their interest is to keep the country for the fur trade?—A. They are not

enthusiastic about encouraging settlement.

By Mr. Jachscn (Selkirk) :

Q. That gentleman might have been acquainted only witii the coimtry east of

Warren's Landing ?—A. He was not giving me any information regarding the North
country that I am talking about, but of the prairie country that was not then

settled.

Q. His opinion was influenced by the country that he had been in for so many
years ?—A. That might be. There is another point that I want to bring to your atten-

tion as to the conditions in the North-west country. About three weeks ago I wrote

to Professor Macoun and gave him a list of questions about that country to which I

asked him to give me answers. I think it is a verj^ remarkable thing that in his reply

he says: 'In my report to Mr. Alexander Mackenzie in 1877, just when I was fresh in

the Northwest, I gave details about certain districts of the northland which I could

not give in a letter, but I would suggest that extracts from this report may be taken

and placed upon file with this letter, as my statements and conclusions as printed 30

years ago still remain without impeachment at the present time.' I think it is a
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remarkable thing that with respect to the country through which Professor Macour!

went in 1872 and 1873, and which excited his enthusiasm—this is the country that T

am trying to tell you about-^he now says of it :
' My statements remain without

impeachment at the present time/ Now, he speaks in this letter of two facts that I

think are very striking. He says: 'In conclusion, I may say that the climate of the

whole northland is a stable one, and as local conditions change it will improve, and

where small spots are now called good land whole areas will take that term. The low

altitude and the long day are "fixed conditions and will always be the same. The
forest will be cleared and the muskegs drained, and as the la,nd becomes drier the

frosty conditions will pass away and a good country will result.'

Now, there are some other sources of wealth in that country. I am going to place

this pointer on the pencil lead line that I have drawn on the map extending from

about the middle of Reindeer Island in Lake Winnipeg northwesterly and crossing

the Peace River about 50 miles north of Peace River Landing. That is the line

shown on a departmental publication issued a year or so ago, the mineral map of

Canada as the northerly limit of prospecting. North of that line there is practically

no prospecting as the note on the map says. The mineral wealth of that country is

very great. There is no question about it but that there are a great variety of mine-

rals. The first thing I want to touch on is petroleum. That has been frequently

spoken of as the petroleum field of the world, and I will give you one point about that.

Mr. McConnell made an examination of that field some years ago for the Theological

Survey and he made a calculation of the amount of crude petroleum which it would
have taken to have saturated the ground to the extent that he had discovered. He
says that the amount of crude petroleum sufiicient to saturate the area that he had
examined would be 6J cubic miles. A witness before the Senate Committee in 1888,

whom I quoted a few minutes ago, ex-Judge McLeod said that there was an area of

100,000 square miles in that country within which there were found indications of

petroleum. There is a tar spring down at Great Slave Lake, there are some I think

on the Mackenzie, and there are 75 miles, or thereabouts, along the Athabaska where

these tar springs are found, caused by the oozing out of petroleum through centuries

of time. I have a photograph here that I can show you of a bank of the Athabaska
river, somewhere near Fort McMurray, and I think from the height of the man
standing on the bank that it would be about 200 feet high. It has been represented

to me as being solid tar or asphaltum. At any rate the soil is saturated with petroleum

to the whole depth of the bank.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. Llave you visited the country yourself?

A. I have not been in hardly any of the country which I have been d^^scribing.

I have been studying a good deal, and I do not think I have got nearly to the end of

my studies yet. There are about one hundred authorities in my office that I have not

yet gone through.

Now as to natura,! gas. It is a matter well known to many people that there

is natural gas in that country. There w^as a well sunk twelve years ago on the Atha-
baska and it has been burning ever since. It is spoken of as the largest gas well in

the world. You will find that a great many travellers who have gone through that

country lit natural gas along the banks of the river and used it for camp purposes.
A gentleman who was there boring for oil told me that ho had used natural g;-vs con-
stantly as it was escaping through cracks or openings in the soil.

Then there is salt. Let me quote again from the evidence given before the
Senate Committee: 'Near ¥ort Smith there is a salt mine which is pri^bably the most
beautifnl and the most abundant in the universe. There is lierc a veritable inonntnin
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of salt. By digging a little in the earth, from 6 inches to a foot, rock salt can be

found there.'

Gold has also been discovered there, also copper. There is no question but that

copper exists at some points in the Barren Lands. Bishop Glut in his evidence before

the Senate Committee spoke of Indians coming into Fort Providence and having

crosses made of copper. I do not thinly that any white man has found out exactly

where that copper came from. At any rate there is lots of copper.

There is also coal. In 1789 when Sir Alexander Mackenzie went down the

Mackenzie river, he found that there was coal in the banks v/hich was burning, and
this extended for many miles along the river. That coal is burning yet.

Iron also exists in many parts of that country. Mr. Tyrrell, I think it is, described .

the country north of Lake Athabaska as being most promising from a mineral point

of view. I cannot enlarge upon the subject of minerals just now, but I merely men-
tion the fact of their existence. I want to ask your attention for a minute or two
upon a point about the mineral question in that country which has impressed me, but

1 do not know whether I can convey that impression to you or not. I want you to

cpnsider Dawson City which is marked with a small red star on the map. I have

here a clipping from the Manitoba Free Press of 20 years ago in which it says that

miners had just discovered gold in the northwestern part of Canada up near Alaska.

That was the first intimation that any gold was to be foimd there. I have the figures

of the Geological Survey showing that over $120,000,000 of gold were taken out from
the Klondike fields up to 1st January last, and it is well known that that amount is

far within the mark. As a matter of fact the output is a great deal more than that.

So much for Dawson City.

Take Bossland, B.C. I lived in that city for two years and I am somewhat
familiar with the conditions. The townsite of Bossland was ungranted land of the

Crown in the year 1894. The Le Boi mine is just on the edge of the townsite and
the total product of gold, silver and copper at Bossland up to the same date as I have

given for Dawson was over $40,000,000.

Now just for a moment let me refer to Fernie, B.C. The coal deposits at Fernie

were unknown 25 or 30 years ago. I got som.e figures from Dr. Haanel about the coal

at Fernie and from the figures which he gave me I make this calculation : There were

1,800,000 tons of coal mined either in the year 1906 or 1907—I am not quite sure

which—in that field. Taking that as a ba.sis it will take 12,222 years to exhaust the

coal at Fernie at that annual production per year.

Another point farther east, not far from our own Ottawa Valley, is Sudbury, the

discovery of the copper and nickel mines of Sudbnry was coincident with the con-

struction of the Canadian Pacific Bailway, and the discovery of Cobalt, still nearer

Ottawa, is a matter of about five or six years. 'Now I think that when you reflect

upon the fact that these discoveries have been made in a prospected portion of Canada,

and consider that probably more than one-third of the total area of the Dominion has

not been prospected at all and that these discoveries have all been within the last 20

years, you will admit that it opens up great possibilities. We have the evidence from
the staff of the Geological Survey as to the discoveries of the past and there is every

reason to expect that there will be equally great mineral discoveries in the Northwest

in the future.

The timber resources of the country I have not got time to dilate upon.

I just want to mention the water powers. There are beyond question water

powers of enormous value in that country and with the development of electricity it

is hard to set a limit on the value which those water powers may have.

I am going to mention one more subject, and that is the fish wealth of the north.

If there was no other source of wealth in that country I think it would be of tre-

mendous importance to the people of Canada to be made aware of the value of the
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fisheries of that country. There are in every lake, river and stream, enormous

quantities of fish; whitefish, lake trout and jackfish in the clear waters and sturgeon

in many rivers; salmon in the rivers running into Hudson Bay and the Arctic Ocean,

and the salmon known as the Inconnu in the Mackenzie river and in Great Slave lake.

I have tried to compile fi-gures that would impress upon you the value of the

fisheries, but I do not know whether I have accomplished anything or not. With such

meagre information as I had I tried to make an estimate of the water area in that

country. Every lake, river and stream probably is full of fish. West of the l:>s'elson

river and north of the settled area, I estimate there are 63,000 square miles of water.

There is a great deal more than that, because there are many smaller lakes that we
have not got any information at all about. That is very nearly the same area as there

is in Lakes Superior, Erie and Huron combined. There are two la.kes, Great Slave

lake and Great Bear lake each of which is larger than Lake Erie, considerably larger.

The natural system of waterways in that country attracts one's notice. I have

not got the figures exactly at hand, but I think it is in the neighbourhood of 1,300

miles from Fort Smith to the mouth of the Mackenzie in which steamers drawing 6

feet can navigate at any time of the year when the river is open. Fourteen miles

above Fort Smith you get into another system of waterways going up the Slave and
up the Feace rivers, with falls not far from Vermilion. Above those falls you can

go for 650 miles up the Peace river to the Rocky Mountains, all navigable. Then
there is the Athabaska river, or a considerable portion of it. So we have very much
over 2,000 miles of navigable waterv/ays in that country.

Now, gentlemen, there is a deduction that seems to follow from all these state-

ments if they amount to anything at all. That deduction is, that it is time that we
knew more about the country. I think it is time more knowledge was acquired, and
I am going to ask you to consider for a few moments a condition somewhat similar

to that which we have here in another part of Canada—I refer to New Ontario.

Previous to about the year 1899, I think, it would be the opinion of anybody who
knows anything of Ontario that the region north of the Canadian Pacific Railway
line v^as of no value v/hatever for any purpose practically speaking. I had always

heard it so spoken of myself, but without dwelling upon it, let me say that it was a

country which did not promise to be ever of any great value. Some six or eight years

ago an exploration of that country was undertaken I believe that for departmental

ljurposes Nev/ Ontario was considered to be the country lying north of the main line

of the Canadian Pacific Railway. The country was divided into ten districts and
there were surveyors appointed who took charge of each district for exploration pur-

poses. Attached to each party was a land examiner, a geologist, and a timber expert.

Well I have been told—I went to some trouble to find out—that the cost of that explor-

ation was $74,000. When the reports of these jsxploring parties were made up the

government were able to announce that there were 16,000,000 acres of clay lands in

New Ontario suitable for settlement. There were nearly 300,000,000 cords of pulp

wood discovered in New Ontario, and I have the statement within the last few days
of the Deputy Commissioner of Lands and Forests—I asked him the question and he
said that the building of the Temiskaming and Northern Railway was a result of that

exploration. The discovery of Cobalt was in consequence of the construction of that

railway, and I believe the fact of there being 16,000,000 acres of clay land in Now
Ontario, which will be traversed from end to end by the Grand Trunk Pacific Rail-

way, was an assurance to the people of Canada that there would be local trafHc on the
line and it would, therefore, be a much more certain enterprise than it otherwise
would have been.

By Mr. Jaclson (Scll'irh):

Q. \Vliereabouts on the map arc those 16,000,000 acres?
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A. The line of the Grand Trunk Pacific, as you see it on the map, runs pretty

nearly through the middle of it. I have not got the exact boundary. There have

been 1,800,000 acres of land surveyed since that exploration took place as a result of

it, and the deputy commissioner in Toronto in writing to me made a very remarkable

statement. He said that in some of the townships it had been found that there was
not one single acre of land which was not suitable for settlement and he added 'I

think that is a record unique in any country.'

Now I am just about through, gentlemen, and I hope I am not wearying you. I

would like you to look at the homestead map. I told you at the outset that there

were practically 7,000 miles of railway.

By Mr. Duncan Ross:

Q. Of constructed railv/ay?

A. There were 6,400 odd miles of railway constructed up to the 1st June last.

Q. In operation?

A. In operation. Those figures w^ere obtained from the Department of Railways
and Canals. The actual number at that time was 6,422, and I think it is safe to say

that there are now 7,000 miles. That excludes every section that is not in actual

operation. Now the line that is coloured green on that map is the Canadian Northern,
the red line is the Canadian Pacific Railway system, and the brown line is the Grand
Trunlv Pacific. You will find three small lines at the lower part of the map in another
colour not far west of Winnipeg, w^hich represent the Hill lines which have just

entered into that country. I think there is no question that Mr. J. J. Hill would not

undertake to enter that country to such an extent if he did not intend to remain
there. Therefore, it is almost certain that the Hill system will spread over that

country as well as the three other systems referred to. Now if you consider the rail-

way situation there and bear in mind the facts which I gave a few minutes ago as to

the result of exploration in New Ontario, have we not the right to expect if we can
demonstrate beyond question by actual exploration that the North country is what I

take it to be that those railway systems will extend into it and occupy and possess it

in the railway sense of the term? The Canadian Northern is at the Pas on the

Saskatchewan, at Prince Albert, at Battleford and at Edmonton. The Canadian
Pacific Railway is at Edmonton. Surely the Grand Trunk Pacific and Mr Hill's

sj-stem would not stop short of it if there was any traffic to be got. I think it is

easily capable of demonstration that before long we shall see railway construction in

that country which will open it up and lead to further discoveries.

I remember when we used to hear in the West, it was an expression used deri-

sively about us from across the line and was used very frequently, that the Canadian
Pacific Railway was ' The Dominion on wheels,' and it was often said that Canada
consisted only of a fringe of settlement along the northern boundary of the United
States. Well, gentlemen, when we consider that Port Simpson is 900 miles north of

the International boundary and that wheat has been successfully grown there under
unfavourable conditions, I think that we are in a. position to show that the Dominion
has broadened considerably from what it was 20 years ago.

By Mr. Armstrong :

Q. Before you sit down will you give us a little information about the timber

lands in the North country? You mentioned the fact that there was a great extent

of timber lands. Could you give us a short description of it?

A. If the committee will allow me to take up the timber question in about a

week's time I will give them a great deal of information on the subject. There are

about 100 authorities in jespect to that country, the statements of men who have
travelled through it and written about it. I have got one of my staff looking through
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those authorities and getting everything that has been said not only about timber, but

about fish. As to the fish the results of the investigations so far have been personally

amazing to me. I could quote, to you the statement of Mr. J. B Tyrrell who said that

140,000 white fish were caught at Fort Providence in ten days' fishing. There were

82,000 caught in two nights' catch on the Beaver river north of Battleford. There is

a statement m.ade by Professor Macoun as having been found in the journals of Sir

John Eoss, I think it was, that six tons of salmon were caught at one haul in the bay

in the Arctic oc^ean into which the Bacii river empties. It is the same story through-

out. Every traveller who has ever mentioned the subject speaks of every lake and

stream cs being full of fish.

By Mr. Duncan Ross:

Q. These are mere fish stories?

A. You can find it in the evidence taken before the Schultz Committee in 1888.

There is where the statement was made.

By Mr. Armstrong

:

Q. Tell us one timber story?

A. I won't undertake to discuss the timber question to-day because I am not quite

prepared.

By Mr. Duncan Ross:

Q. If you are going to discuss the question of timber, the attention of the author-

ities should be drawn to the fact that a lot of timber is being destroyed by fire each

year. That is a question which this committee could very properly discuss in con-

nection with the matter of timber?

A. That is a point that I particularly want to develop in the investigation which
1 am conducting as to the amount of timber which has been destroyed by fire. There

is a tract of country between Lake Winnipeg and Hudson bay, on the Burntwood
river, on which there is some extremely fine timber. But it appears that the Indians

have burned that country over through some superstitious reason of their own for

generations back, and they have practically destroyed all the tim.ber. But at one

time it was a well timbered country, and I believe there is a great wealth of timber

in that north country. At present, however, I am not prepared to discuss the subject.

Mr. Thompson.—Last year from the Yukon, in about latitude 63, I got some
wheat which I submitted to this committee, and also laid on the table of the House.

This year I have some oats grown at the same point which I would be glad if the

committee would examine. (Sample produced and laid upon the table.)

Mr. Young.—I am not going to say anything about the Yukon. I have some
information here that would be interesting to the committee, but it is such a largo

subject that I have confined myself to the statements already given.

By Mr. Duncan Ross:

Q. There is one question which has not been brought out sufficiently, and that is

in connection with the quantity of land under cultivation. You said, if I remember
right, that there were only 8,500,000 acres of land already under cultivation?

A. I gave you the round figures and they were about 8,000,000 acres.

Q. Tliat is in the Northwest, takiug in Manitoba, Alberta, Saskatchewan and the

unorganized territory, and you say there are 86,000,000 acres of lands alienated?

A. Yes, in the surveyed portion. There are practically no lands alienated out-

side the surveyed area.
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Q. What proportion of that 86,000,000 acres of land alienated would you say was
equal to 8,500,000 acres brought under cultivation; I mean as to the character of the

land?

A. What I said was this : Of the 86,000,000 acres of land I cut off one-quarter

and brought it down to 65,000,000, and then I drew attention to the fact

Q. Then the 65,000,000 acres jou consider good agricultural land?

A. I think you can measure agricultural results with safety on 65,000,000 acres.

Then I pointed out that 31,000,000 acres of that land had been selected by home-
steaders, that it is selected land.

Q. Do you say that there are 8,600,000 acres under wheat? .

A. 'No, under grain.

Q. But 31,000,000 acres of land have been taken up by homesteaders?

A. Yes, in round figures.

Q. Now we are getting near the point.

A, And about the same amount has been granted to railways. That is why T

tried to figure out that we were going to have in the future from the land now
surveyed a yield of 1-^- billion bushels of wheat or its equivalent.

By Mr. Thompson:

Q. What is the total area of tillable land?

A. In the north country north of the settled part of the Northwest? We had the

evidence of two witnesses before the Senate Committee last spring. One said there

were 100,000,000 acres of land available in the district from theAthabaska river west.

Another gentleman said that there was as much land available for settlement in that

country as was now settled west of Winnipeg. I don't think that I would like to say

there are 100,000,000 acres.

Q. Mr. Bredin said that before the Senate Committee.

A. Yes. I would not like to adopt that as my own statement; I think it is a

pretty liberal estimate.

By Mr. Herron:

Q. Do you think the land north of the Saskatchewan river, speaking of the two
provinces, is of equal value for all purposes as the land south of it or to anyvfhere

near the same degree?

A. I don't think it would be in the case of Saskatchewan.

Q. Well as to Alberta what would you say?

A. I think perhaps the best part of Alberta is in the north.

Q. I mean including mineral and agricultural possibilities?

A. There are great mineral possibilities in the northern part of Saskatchewan,

but the Churchill river would probably be the limit of agricultural land. There is no
question that up as far as the Churchill river the land is good. That you can expect

just as good results in regard to that land most of the witnesses seem to agree. When
you go north of the Churchill the land is not good. It is a rocky country and sandy.

The mineral possibilities are greater with respect to anything else but petroleum in

the northern part of Saskatchew^an, I think than they are perhax>s in the northern part

of Alberta. But that is not ba^ed upon accurate discoveries, that is the information

which has been given.

By Mr. Thompson:

Q. What is the distance of Eort Providence, Fort Simpson and Fort Liard from

the boundary line?

A. Fort Simpson is 900 miles and 575 miles north of Edmonton.
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By Mr. Duncan Ross:

Q. You liave avoided the Peace River country; why did you not sp^y something

about it ?

A. It was included in the country that I was talking about. I enlarged my
remarks so as to cover a much larger area than the Peace Piver country. I did not

want to forget Saskatchewan.

By Mr. Thompson:

Q. You say that Fort Good Hox>e is fourteen miles below the Arctic circle?

A. Yes.

Q. They raise vegetables there?

A. Yes.

Q. Have they tried to raise wheat?

A. I don't think so, but they raise good vegetables—cabbages and lettuce for

instance.

By Mr. Duncan Ross:

Q. Are you aware of the fact that in the Peace River country last year they had

no summer frosts and better grain than at any other place in the Dominion and that

this winter has been a marvellously mild one? I might say for the information of

the comm_itt6e that I had a letter from a gentleman who was surveying in that country

all last summer. He left there some time at the first of the year and when he reached

Winnipeg he was amazed at the cold weather. The gentleman in question said it had
been bright sunny weather all the winter in the Peace River country ?

A. The statement about that country is borne out by dozens of witnesses. That

can be established by a reference to the evidence taken by the Schultz Committee in

1888 and our more recent report of last year. Witness after witness has made the

same statement. One gentleman said that he had driven for three weeks in that

country in January without an overcoat.

THE TIMBER BELT OF THE NORTH.

The following report of the timber of the m.ost northern central belt of Canada
embraces a wide area, extending east to west from the Hudson bay to the Roclvy

mountains, a distance of nearly one thousand miles, and from the Hudson, i^elson,

Saskatchewan and Athabaska rivers on the south to the Arctic ocean on the north,

a distance of eleven himdred miles.

BARREN LANDS.

By consulting the accompanying map it will be seen that a line dra\\Ti from Fort

Churchill on the Hudson bay in a northwest direction to the mouth of the ]\rackenzie

river divides, roughly, the so-called ' barren lands ' from the timber belt. This, how-
ever, does not mean that trees do not grow north of this line. They are found in

isolated spots along the banks of streams sometimes far within the barren lands. A
fringe of fair-sized trees, for instance, is found along the banks of the Hanbury river

although there are no trees to the north or south of it. It will be noticed that the

forest extends about 750 m.iles farther north on the ]\fackonzic river on the western

side of this tract than along the Hudson Bay on the eastern side. The reason of this

is because of the remarkable mildness of the wes;teru side in comparison with the
eastern. The 55° isothern for summer extends as far south of the Hudson bay as

the Lake of the Woods. About half way between the 49° and 50° north latitude.

It trends northwest from here, crossing the Mackenzie river where the latter crosses
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the 130° west longitude. The total distance from its extreme southern limit to, its

northern limit is about twelve hundred miles. Of course the isotherms for the winter

months do not indicate such a difference in the winter climate.

No effort has been spared to exhaust every available source of information and it

is therefore hoped that the seeker after knowledge as to the timber resources of this

portion of Canada, will find herein a compilation as complete as it is possible to make
it. The information is derived from the most reliable authorities from the time of

Samuel Hearne, 1772, to Elihu Stewart, 1906. The old explorers and travellers in-

cluding Samuel Ilearne, Sir Alexander MacKenzie, Sir John Franklin, Sir George

Back, Sir John Richardson, and many others were consulted as. well as the men of our

own times, including Professor John Macoun, Dr. Dawson, Dr. Bell, R. G. McConnell,

J.B., and J. W. Tyrrell, all connected with the Geological Survey of Canada, Otto

J. Klotz, D.T.S., W. Thibaudeau, C.E., W. Ogilvie, D.L.S., D. C. O'Keefe, D.L.S.,

T. Fawcett, D.T.S., and others.

The thought which comes to the mind again an.d again and which remains as the

lasting impression from the study of the recorded impressions of all these explorers

n,nd travellers is the unanimity of testimony to the enormous loss by fires to the timber
wealth of the north land of Canada. Serious, calamitous and almost irreparable as

the losis from this source has been and continues to be in all parts of Canada, it is

surely far greater in the north. A few reasons for this are:

—

(1) The forest growth is slower towards the north till in the extreme north a tree

over four hundred years old had only attained a diameter of from. 2 to 3 inches,

according to one observer.

(2) The northern forests occupy to a considerable extent la^nd not likely to be re-

quired for agriculture and therefore the more desirable to be retained as a supply for

future needs of the settled portions of the country.

(3) These forests should comprise for all time to come, if kept reasonably free

from fires, one of the finest and most extensive game preserves in the world.

(4) Great possibilities of mineral wealth exist in many portions of the noi'th

country, but the destruction of the forest wealth of the country might easily be the

deciding factor in rendering impossible of economic development vast deposits of

minerals which would otherwise contribute to the general prosperity of the country.

Another conclusion one reaches, in studying the timber question in the north land

of Canada, is the limited area, comparatively speaking, as to which there is any infor-

mation. By a reference to the accom.panying map on which it has been attempted to

show, by colouring, some of the information collected in this report and as fa,r as

possible all the routes of travel followed by the different explorers, this will appear

more plainly. The explorers travelled, as a rule, along the rivers or lakes in canoes,

and in majiy cases their knowledge was only such as could be gained in that way.

Many explorations have been m.ade, it is true, away from the rivers, but the fact

remains that there are thousands of square miles as to which there is absolutely no

inform. a,tion.

This report is divided for convenience into districts comprising generally those

formed by the river basins, commencing on the east with the Hayes, Nelson and

Churchill, across the continent to the Eocky mountains and then north to the Arctic

Ocean, forming roughly the letter ' L.'

NOETI-IWEST TERRITORIES—NORTH OF MANITOBA.

In this portion of the Northwest Territories which is soon to be added to Mani-

toba, the timber would be all good if it were not for the repeated burnings, which have

reduced the average diameter of the trees found there to a foot or ]e?s. Most of the

timber is young and if protected for some years will average a much larger diameter,

as is proved by the size of a few trees that have escaped the fires altogether. Other-
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wise the size and quality of the timber is governed by the climate, the best timber

being found as you go south.

SASKATCHEWAN.

The greater part of northern Saskatchewan is poorly timbered, the best timber

being found in the soutli and southwest of the district mentioned, where the timber

is good and in comparatively small areas, excellent. Unlike the country north of

Manitoba, the size of the timber is governed by the soil and not by latitude. J, B.

Tyrrell found better timber on the Cochrane river, away in the north, than in the

country south of that to the Churchill river; a country rocky and with poor soil.

ALBERTA.

Alberta is more thickly wooded, but the timber, especially in the muskeggy parts,

grows rank and small. Forest fires are to some extent a,ccountable for this as the soil

is excellent and the latitude could not afiect it as the farther north you go the better

the timber gets. Good timber is found on the numerous islands and alluvial flats along

the lower Peace river.

Very good timber is found near the delta of the Athabaska and Peace rivers

though the area, it covers is not very large, but the best timber in all the northwest

is along the Slave river and on the Liard and its tributary, the Nelson.

MACKENZIE RIVER.

Even on the MacKenzie river almost to the Arctic ocean^ the country is well tim-

bered and every man who has travelled down this river has remarked on the wonderful

growth of the trees one hundred miles within the Arctic circle.

NORTH OF MANITOBA^ AND EAST CF SASKATCHEWAN.

The timber of this district (formerly part of Keewatin), although there is little

or none that has not been burned over, is far superior to the country just west of it

in Saskatchewan.

FOREST FIRES,

The forest jfires, however, have perhaps been more destructive in tliis district

than in any other part of Canada. As will be seen in the more detailed account of

the country farther on, the loss by fire has been eaiormous and most of the country

has been burned over many times.

As long ago as 1878 Dr. Eobt. Bell (Geol. Eep., 1879) snye :
' Up to 1878 the

great region covered by the report had been annually devastated by forest fires, rang-

ing over large areas and destroying the timber in different loc^dilies from time to

time, until, perhaps, more than half of it is already swept away. In that year I made
a point of calling the attention of the Indian chiefs and liead-men to tliis great waste,

and informed them that it was tlie wish of the govenuuent that the timber (which the

Indians had not before considered of any value) should not be thus dep>troyod, nnd
requested them to make their temporary fires on the beach or th«o bare rocks, auvl to

extinguish their camp fires in all cases before leaving. This they all ])romised to

attend to and the result has been that during 1870 no forest firos, as far as I could
learn or observe myself, had occurred. The savin.g tlui?; effected is wortJi to the

country many times more than the cost of onr (>xplor;i(ions.- The Tiuli uis, however,
seem to have soon forgotten Dr. Bell's wishes, as no mention was made in later years

as to the prevalence of forest fires being on the decrease.

2—16
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Mr. Wm. Beech, of Fort Churchill, whose evidence on the timber of this portion

of the northwest is referred to further on, says: ' I think that timber notices should

be printed in Cree and Chipewyan so that those Indians might know and be careful

of the timber. Notices as regards fire are sent in English, why not in Cree and
Chipewyan ? They have a type of their own and can read their own languages. They
have books and I have seen their prayer books and bibles. Cree Indians are very good
people.'

Mr, Mclnnes (GodI. Sur. Rep., 1906), speaking about the country near Burnt-

wood river says that occasional white spruce and tamarack attain diameters as great

as 18 inches, and adds that these are trees that have escaped when the surrounding

forest was burned and are sufficient evidence that, but for the repeated fires, there

would be large areas covered with good timber.

DETAILED ACCOUNT HAYES RIVER.

In this district the Hayes river valley possesses the best tiinbers but in the country

nortli the timber gradually deteriorates till along the Churchill there is very little

^ good timber.

In 1884 Dr. Klotz explored the lower part of the Hayes. He noticed that there

was more and larger poplar (5 to 7 inches) here than on the Nelson opposite. ' It is

very marked that the woods on this route are far better than on the Nelson, and there

is a greater proportion of tamarack (probably one-third). Many trees (spruce) would

measure 12 inches in diameter.'

KNEE LAKE.

On the south side of Knee lake there is some fair sized spruce, balsam, tamarack

and birch. Th© birch increases in size as we proceed westward.

STURGEON CREEK.

The Shamattawa river is a tributary of the Hayes. Sturgeon creek is a tributary

of the Shamattawa. Wm. Beech, a pioneer settler at Churchill, who has travelled all

through this country, says (1908) the Hudson Bay people get their timber for manu-

facturing their boats and buildings at Sturgeon creek. He says the timber is from

12 inches to 1^ feet.

god's LAKE.

God's river, a tributary of the Shamattawa, is the outlet for God's and Island

lakes. A. S. Cochrane (Geol. Sur. Rep., 1878-79), reported the timber around God's

lake as m.ore than half burnt over, while the timber around Island lake was still

green. Spruce, the most abundant wood everywhere, attains in many places a very

good size and is used in the form of logs and beams for building purposes. The

tamarack and banksian pine sometimes have a diameter of about 20 inches. Balsam

fir is common and of good size around Island lake, some of the trees measuring

nearly four feet in circumference, but it is scarce at God's lake and only rarely seen

and of small size as far north as Knee lake.

MOLSON L.^vE.

Mr. Beech estimates that at Molson lake, the head waters of the Hayes river,

there were twenty million feet of spruce timber.
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KELSON RIVER VALLEY.

Northwest of tli3 Hayes is the valley of the Nelson river. The timber along the

lower part of the Nelson does not compare favourably with the timber along the lower

part of the Hayes. Throughout its whole length spruce and poplar predominate.

Aspen poplar, says J. B. Tyrrell (1896) is the commonest deciduous tree, as it grows

on the drier uplands everywhere, occasionally forming beautiful forests, but m.ore

often, and especially towards the north, partly covering the surface with scattered

groves of small trees.

Wm. Beech reports districts of good firewood from Flamborough Head to Owl
river.

mSKI LAKE.

The first river of any size running into the Nelson is the Kisemitiskun or Old-

Fish-weir river. J. B. Tyrrell in 1894 was at Niski lake, the headwaters of this river.

The north shore he found covered with a rich growth of dark evergreens. The banks,

close to the water's edge, are clothed with white and black spruce and some small

poplars.

LIMESTONE RAPIDS.

The next river is the Limestone or Mittitto river. At Limestone rapids, says

Dr. Klotz, (Interior Eep., 1884), the spruce is small, although some trees measure T

to 10 inches, and back from the river it is smaller still. The little poplar that is found

is scrubby. The Limestone river runs almost parallel with the Nelson to the north.

The country from the Niski lake, the headwaters of the Old Fish-weir river, to the

lieadv/aters of the Limestone through the long chf^in of lakes, is described by J. B.

Tyrrell (1894) as thickly v/ooded v/ith small timber and towards Cat Fishing lake

much of the timxber had been killed by fire. On the upper part of the Limestone he

found the best timber. He says, ' These banks are wooded with tall white spruce

which looked very beautiful after the monotony of the stunted black spruce forest.'

GULL LAKE.

Below Gull lake the woods, says Dr. Klotz, are somewhat better and almost

exclusively spruce, but there is no merchantable timber. From here to Split lake tho

wood is small, much thereof being brule.

SPLIT LAKE.

The islands in Split lake, he says, as well as the shores are wooded, ehiefiy with
spruce, some tamarack, poplar and birch; the wood is somewhnt better than on the

Nelson, averaging probably 7 inches in diameter. Owen O'Sullivan (Geol. Rep., 1004)

says that here the trees, chiefjy black spruce, are from 4 to 10 inches in diameter.

ASSEAN LAKE.

North of Split lake lies Assean lake, and some way north of this again is Waskaio-
waku lake.

Tho shores of Asscnn lake, snys Mr. O'Sullivan, are well woo lod with black spruce,

tamarack and wh^c A i\vo tbat occurred two years ago ran from its southoastorn

end for several uiiles eastward.

Win. Beech reports that from Split lake to Wasl:aiowalvU lake there is good tim-

ber, s]^.r\ice and some tamarac, one foot to 15 -inches in diameter r.nd'SO feet high.

2—IGi
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From Split lake west the country is divided into three river valleys, the Bnrnt-
wood being the most northerly, the Grass river occupying the centre and the NelsoD

the most southerly part.

BURNTWOOD RIVER.

J. B. Tyrrell (1896) says that on the northern part of the Burntwood river white

si)ruce is rather scarce.

Wm. Mclmies (Geol. Sur. Eep., 1906), describes the timber in this river. He
8nys the forest is a mixed second growth, mainly spruce and tamarack varying in age

from resent brule to 50 years. Along the lower part of the- river but little timber left

is of a size larger than 8 inches in diameter, three feet from the ground. All the drier

parts denuded of old forest by the repeated fires that ha^ve swept over the region, being

covered by forest of only ten years' growth or younger.

OBEI RIVER.

To the north of the valley of the Odei or Heart river, which flows into the Burnt-

wood river from the west on the left bank eight miles from the mouth, is a rolling,

forested country. Here, he says, the forest is mainly spruce and tamarack of about

sixty years' growth, the larger trunks reaching diameters of from 8 to 10 inches, but

the general average not more than 6 inches. In the valleys occasional white spruce

and tamarack attain diameters as great as lo inches. These are trees that have escaped

when the surrounding forest was burned and are sufficient evidence that, but for 1he

repeated fires, there would be large areas covered with good timber.

From here to Pipestone lake tbe recurring forest fires have not only denuded this

section of its trees, but even the stumps have for the most part been burnt away, so

that it is now covered only by an open growth of small white birch, poplar, willow and

banksian pine, with an undergrowth of vetched grasses and small shrubs diversified

here and there, by small open tracts. Where the grass covered surface is free from

trees, this country often presents quite a park-like aspect.

From here to Waskwatin lake the low flat along the river is covered by a sixty

years' growth of timber, mainly of banksian pin© and spruce. The higher plateau

is wooded principally with spruce from 6 to 8 inches in diameter, with scattered

banksian pines, poplars, and white birches succeeding an earlier burned forest that

was even younger when destroyed, and this following a still earlier, that by the

stumps, is shown to have been somewhat larger. Evidently this country has been

subjected to repeated burnings that have followed one another, often at intervals of

comparatively few years.

WASKWATIN LAKE.

Waskwatin lake is d-escribed by J. B. Tyrrell as ^wo.oded with white spruce and

poplar. A supply of timber for building an.d fuel could be obtained from the sur-

rounding country.'

A mixed second growth forest, says Mr, Mclnnes, mainly aspen poplar, covers

all the uplands, while on the islands and on low flats bordering bays of the lake are

found white spruces and poplars of diameters up to one foot.

Contiu.uing along the Burntwood river, Mr. Mclnnes describes the country as

being of the same general character for thirty miles, ' covered for the most part with

a mixed second growth from ten to thirty years old, but with here and there, clumps
of white spruce, with tall and straight trunks, a foot or more in diameter.'

FOOTPRINT LAKE.

At Footprint lake the greater part of the flats and practically all the highland

have been burned over within twenty years, and are clothed now with an. open growth
of small mixed timber.
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Southward of the most southerly bend of the Burntwood river the country is

wooded with banksian pine, poplar and spruce.

NELSON HOUSE.

At Nelson House, J. B. Tyrrell in 1896, said that timber for house logs had to be

collc'Cted from scattered groves and brought several miles up or down the brooks or

across the lake.

FILE RIVER.

From the Burntwood lake along the File river, which is really another name for.

the upper part of Burntwood river, J. W. McLaggan of Strathcona, Alta., (Hudsom

Bay route, J. A. J. McKenna, 1906) says that with the exception of a bunch of spruce*

of about half a million feet, averaging 12 to 14 inches in diameter, there was seen-

nothing but small, scrubby, mixed timber of but little value. The country back from,

the river has been burned over.

GRASS RIVER.

South of this is the valley of the Grass river wliicli covers a much larger area

than the Burntwood, and the timber, where not destroyed by fire, is much better, but

nea.rly the whole area has been burned over. As long ago as 1879, Dr. Robert Bell

(GeoL Rep.) says that in places along the route the woodjs are burnt, but most of the

timber at that time appeared o be green, and of a lirifty growth, the spruce sometimes

measuring over 6 feet in girth which is equivalent to a diameter of 2 feet.

PAIAT LAKE.

At Paint lake, along the lower part of Grass river, the islands are covered with

small mixed timber. On the south side of the lake there is a fairly good bunch of

spruce, suitable for railway ties or pulpwood. Back from the lake the country has

been burnt over but is growing up again with poplar and other trees.

Between Paint and Setting lakes he says there are small bunches of spruce and

poplar, but back from the river the country has been burned over.

SETTING LAKE.

Along the shores of, and on the islands of Setting lake there is, Mr. J. W.
McLaggan estimates (Hudson Bay route, 1906, J. A. J. McKenna) about ten million

feet of young, sound, clear spruce timber, averaging from 12 to 11 inches in diameter.

Below the rapids of Grass river the country has been burned over leaving only a

fow bunch,es of spruce.

J. B. Tyrrell mentions (1896) that the Rowan or mountain-ash grows freely

and has an abundant crop of berries especially around Wikusko and Reed lakes.

HERB LAKE.

From the rapids to Herb lake, says Mr. McLaggan, there are small bunches of

jackpine and tamarack, and on the north side of the lake there are spruce and poplar

fit for railway ties and pulpwood; but back from the lake and the river the country

appeared all burned. Mr. McLaggan expresses the opinion that there must have been

a good timber area bordering these waters, and that, if fire can be kept out, reforest-

ization will soon be eifected.

REED LAKE.

From Reed lake north to Methy lake, he says tlie timber is mainly jackpine and
tamarack of small size, a limited portion of which would be fit for railway ties.
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Erom Red lake west to Elbow lake he saw about two million feet of good spruce

find poplar, averaging from 12 to 14 inches in diameter.

South of Reed lake he passed through low and swampy country covered with

scrubby timber. About a million feet of medium-sized spruce was sighted; the coun-

try was found to have been burned over and growing poplar was found, which in a

few years would make good pulpwood.

From Cranberry to Athapux>uskow lakes he reports a poor growth of scrubby

limber.

UPPER NELSON RR'ER.

We will now return to the Nelson river which we have alrea,dy followed to Split

lake.

Above Split lake, says Dr. Klotz (Interior Rep., 1884) the spruce is only about 4

inches in diameter. The lower limbs soon die from the growth of moss thereon,

leaving only a green top. Tamarack which elsewhere generally grows in swamps, is

found here on the bare rock.

SIPIWISK LAKE.

The whole surface around Sipiwisk lake, he says, is wooded principally with

spruce, some tamarack, pitch-pine, birch and poplar. Spruce sticks there are of 10

inches, yet the exception rather than the rule.

MTJHIGAN LAKE.

The country along the Mulligan river, says J. B. Tyrrell, (1896) has all been

l3urnt over and much of it is now almost treeless, like pi£i,rtly open prairie, with

scattered groves of small poplars and alders.

ECHIMAMISI-I RIVER.

The country along the Echimam-ish river, says Dr. Robert Boll (Geol. Sur, Rep.,

1879), is very swampy and wooded v/ith spruce, tamarack, banksian pine, white birch,

aspen, balm of Gilead, and willow, with a little balsam fir.

In the country north of Norway House the ^voods, according to Dr. Klotz,,.are

good, a,ifording 12 inch spruce sticks. There is considerable balsam also. The coun-

try iS; he says, all wooded but not a forest country.

ROSS ISLAND.

Dr. Robert Bell reports in 1878 that at that time a small area of the timbers had
been preserved on the west side of Ross island, where the West river enters Big-reed

lake and here many of the white spruce measured three feet in dia.meter. Even the

m.ost rocky tracts support a growth of trees large enough to be of value for many
purposes.

NORWAY HOUSE.

Dr. Klotz says that at Norway House, north of Lake Winnip?g, the woods con-

sist of spruce and poplar and some scattered birch and pitchpine. A good stick of

timber would be about 9 inches at the butt.

GUNISAO RIVER.

The Gunisao river is to the northeast oi" Lake Winnipeg but it flovv's iuto the

Nelson river above Norway House. According to J. B. Tyrrell (1S9G) the banks are

wooded with beautiful, tall, v/hite spruce, apparently forming a magnificent coni-
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feroiis forest, but how far back from the river this forest extends was not determined.

There is certainly here a large quantity of valuable timber, much more than was seen

a,nywhero in the country immediately east of Lake Winnipeg-, for most of the surface

farther south has been swept by extensive forest fires within the last decade.

To the northwest of Lake Winnipeg- are a number of lakes which belong to the

Saskatchewan water system.

From Cranberry to Athapupsukow lake Mr. McLaggan, (Hudson Bay route, 1906,

J. A. J. McKenna), describes the timber as poor and scrubby. Some small bunches of

spruce were seen along Athapupuskow lake near the portage, and by Goose river, but

the country has been all burned over, leaving only small clmnps of spruce.

GOOSE LAKE.

The greatest part of the country on the upper end of Goose lake has, he says, been

burnt over, leaving only clumps of spruce and poplar.

C0W^4N RIVER.

After crossing Black Duck lake on the upper parts of the Cowan river he reports

scattered bunches of spruce and tainarack of a size suitable for ties or pulpwood.
Along Cowan river he describes the country as low and flat, with small quantities

of good spruce tim^ber in spots until within a few miles of Black Duck lake, when
bunches of good spruce, estimated at ten million feet, come into view.

CORMORANT LAKE.

On the north side of Cormorant lake, and ajong the creek which connects it vdth

Lake Yawingstone, and on the south side of the latter lake he saw from three to five

million feet of good milling spruce timber.

CHURCHILL Rr\^ER VALLEY.

North of the Nelson Eiver valley lies the valley of the Lower Churchill river.

Owen O'Sullivan in the Geological Survey Ileport (1906) of his trip in 1904.

says wood is scarce at Churchilk The Hudson's Bfiy Company obtain their fuel supply

from, a ravine three miles distant in a southwesterly direction where black spruce

averaging 5 inches in diameter is found.

W. Thibaudeau, C.E., in the 'Hudson Bay Eoute,' 1906, by J. A. J. i\IcKennn,

also says there is no merchantable timber in the vicinity of Churchill, although there

is an, ample supply of tiinber for fuel purposes for many years along both banks of

the Churchill and around Button bay.

SEAL RIVER.

Travelling northwest from Churchill, Dr. Eobt. Bell in 1879 (Geol. Rep.) says

that spruce and taniara.ck are found growing near the sea-coast in favourable situa-

tions as far as Seal river beyond which their northeastern limit curves inland.

EASTERN WOODS.

J. B. Tyrrell in 1893 went from Churchill to York. Almost due cast from
Churchill he came to the Eastern, woods, so called, where Wm. Beech says there is

some good wood. Most of the country crossing Salmon creek, Broad river and Owl
river is open plain.
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BROAD RIVER.

Wm. Beech, however, says that on Broad river there is heavy timber 10 to 15

ijiches within ten miles of the coast, and, he adds, it is a great pulpwood country.

W. Thibaudeau, C.E., who went over much the same ground as Mr. Tyrrell, does

not speak of seeing any timber except four miles from Churchill where he says there is

spruce from 6 to 12 inches, and at Broad river where there is a strip of about four

miles by one-third of a mile wide; there is stunted black spruce from 8 to 14 inches

and he reports the balance of the country is open, level, plain perpetually frozen.

CHURCHILL RIVER.

On the main Churchill river, above its mouth, to Deer river. Beech says there is

some good spruce from 7 to 15 inches in diameter. The country back from the

Churchill appears to be generally poorly timbered.

DEER RIVER.

J. B. Tyrrell reports the sides of the Deer Biver valley are at first thinly wooded,

but as the river is ascended the timber becomes much thicker and heavier. Inland

the country is generally open, but thinly wooded in places. Beech reports that the

timber extends fifty yards only all along the Deer river. On the upper stretches the

trees range from 12 to 20 inches in diameter. Owen O'Sullivan (1904) states that

this whole region has been overrun by fire. Bunches of spruce and tamarack that

escaped the fires were frequently met "close to the water's edge. About half-way

down he came to the open mossy plain, which extends northward to the well wooded
banks of the Great Churchill.

OWL RIVER XISKI LA^IiE.

J. B. Tyrrell found the almost continuous forest began before reaching the

ancient shore line between the Deer river and Ov\d river. At the head of Owl river

he found the remains of a forest fire eighteen years old. Between this and ISTiski

lake, the source of the Kisemitskun river which flows southeast to the ISTelson, the

country was thickly wooded mostly with black spruce.

W. Thibaudeau, says that from the headwaters of the Deer to the Churchill, the

country is covered v/ith scrub spruce and tamarack from 4 to 6 inches in diameter.

There is no timber where they reached the Churchill river, and from hare along the

east side of Little Churchill there is som.e timber from 6 to 14 inches in diameter.

LITTLE CHURCHILL.

Speaking of the lov/er part of the Little Churchill Dr. Eobt. Bell in 1879 says

the timber below the E/Ccluse lakes is burnt all the way to the Great Churchill. In
1904, Owen O'Sullivan says of the same country that from Recluse lakes northward
the country, which has been overrun by a fi.re that occurred some forty years ago,

is now partly covered with bunches of second growth black spruce, tamarack and white

birch.

Of the upper part of this river Dr. Bell reports the country as ' generally green

'

or unburnt. The timber, however, does not seem to be very good as Owen O'Sullivan

speaks of it as covered with black spruce, white birch and tamarack of small size.

Near Waskaiowaku lake there is some black spruce averaging 8 inches in diameter.

WASKAIOWAKU LAKE.

Owen O'Sullivan reports the forest growth around the lake as chiefly black

spruce and white birch of from 4 to 14 inches in diameter, \^hile Thibaudeau reports
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it slightly larger. Thibaudeau says also the ridge between here and Split lake was

thickly wooded with spruce from 4 to 10 inches.

SASKATCHEWAN.

CONDITIONS AND EXTENT OF THE TIMBER.

The extreme east of Saskatchewan and extreme west of what was till lately part

of Keewatin has the poorest timber of all the northern forest country. South of the

Saskatchewan, is the prairie. Directly around the Saskatchewan it is flat and
swampy. Travelling north you almost immediately come to the rocky sterile country.

This country extends to the barren grounds across the Churchill, Reindeer lake,

Cochrane river and on to the Kazen river which flows through the barren lands. The
good timber in Saskatchewan is confined mainly to the country north and northwest

of Prince Albert.

FOREST FIRES.

Fires have been very destructive in Saskatchewan also. R. S. Cook, of Prince

Albert, in his evidence before the Senate Committee, 1907, says. ' There is no calcul-

ating the amount of the timber that has been destroyed, and the very best spruce at

that. The government are now taking steps to try and put a stop to the burning.

They have fire fighters out there during the dry season, but it is such a vast country

it is a very difiicult matter.'

In the rocky country along the Churchill where the soil is poor the forest fires

do not turn the country into prairie as they do along the Beaver. Around Cold lake,

on the border of Saskatchewan and Alberta, R. S. Cook -says the fires have been

very destructive but there has been good timber there. Mr. Eberts, who traversed

this country exploring the proposed route of the C.P.R. says (Domxinion Pacific

Railway report, 1880) ' that the whole of this district (south of the Beaver) was
originally forest, but at present a strip of from five to twenty miles along the Saskat-

chewan is chiefly prairie and to the north, large open tracts were interspersed through
the forest land. These prairies and open tracts were no doubt the result of the fires.

Fires, says Mr. Cook, have been very destructive at Montreal lake and about two-

thirds of the timber immediately around Stanley Mission has been destroyed by fire.

Archdeacon McKay says that in some places the timber has been destroyed by fires for

the time beiug, particularly in the rocky country. The fires seem to be more des-

tructive in that class of country than in the other part.

EASTERN SASKATCHEWAN.

From all accounts there is little or no good timber north of the Saskatchewan
river in eastern Saskatchewan. From the Dom. Pac. Ry. reports of ISSO, we learn

that 'Banksian pine is prevalent on the sand-hills and ridges, but seldom attains a

foot in diameter. Birch and willow are numerous but of little value except for fuel.

North of latitude 56 extending to Chitvchill river the whole country is dcscribe^i as

being absolutely barren consisting of Laurentian rocks in vvhich, however, there are

great possibilities of mineral wealth.

Banksian pine of small size scattered over the rocks and here and there groves

of small spruce in marshy spots were met with.

NORTHERN SAS KATCH EWAN.

J. B. Tyrrell in 1894 explored the lakes and rivi>rs of northern Saskatchewan,

Reindeer lake and river, Cochrane river, Geikio river and the country north to

beyond the tree limit. In hardly any part did he find goiul timber. Rvundeor river
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appears to be fairly well wooded. 'In some parts the river flows through low bottom-
land wooded with small spruce and tamarack behind which rise the rocky ridges.'

At Keindeer lake the growth is still poorer ' a few pines and spruce cling to the
brown, lichen-covered rocks.' The growth north of this is very poor.

•

COCHRANE RIVER.

On the portage to the headwaters of the Thlewiaza river, says Mr. Tyrrell, is a

grove of line, tall,, white spruce, the best spruce seen on the banks of the Cochrane,
and here the Indians seem to resort regularly to obtain wood for their canoes, while

birch bark can be procured from trees on the same sandy ridge a short distance

farther north.

BLUE LAKE.

North of this again at Blue lake he writes, ' The hillsides are wooded with large

white spruce up to 76 inches in circumference (Geol. Sur. Rep. 1896) three feet

from the ground. The western side is wooded with white and black spruce, birch,

alder, willow and straight aspens 4 inches in diameter,' the first of these latter trees

seen for a long time.

ENNADAI LAKE.

At the south end of Ennadai lake the hills are usually wooded but within a

few miles the forest disappears or becomes confined to the ravines and the hillsides

are bare. On the Kazen river which is north of the tree limit, Tyrrell says 'there

are a few groves of larch of fair size.'

CONTRADICTORY EVIDENCE.

Of the country from Lac la Konge south there has been much contradictory

evidence. Surveyors and explorers who have been over the country, J. B. Tyrrell and

different men sent out by the government (Dom. Pac. Ry. Report) say that there is

no good timber there, while Archdeacon. McKay and R. S. Cook, of Prince Albert, say

there is much good timber.

J. B. Tyrrell (1892) says ' South of Lac la Rouge there is some imiorovement in

the timber. On Montreal river small Banksian pine cover the country. ]S[o large

tirabpT, spruce or pine, is seen till nea,r the lake, when on the southern end some
groves of large spruce were seen. Montreal mountain appears to be more than half

burnt over. The largest timber is seen on the watershed south of Montreal and Deer
lakes.' Mr. O'Keefe in his exploration in 1879 (Dominion Pacific Ry. Rep.) says,
' Along English river, in this section, nothing but rock, sand a,iid sv/amps is recorded.'

Mr. Clarke, his assistant, made an excursion south of Lac la Ronge and he said that
' In the northern part there are small sections of fair land south of La.c la Ronge and
surrounding Egg lake. Around the latter lake there is a belt of fine timber, consist-

ing of tamarack, poplar and in places balsam..'

Archdeacon McKay and R. S. Cook (Senate Committee Report, 1907) however,
speak very highly of the timber here. The latter writes that ' to the v/est of Lac la

Ronge the country is all timbered—in some places heavy timber. There is spruce a^td

poplar. The spruce is good enough for lumber and of course it would do for pulp-

wood. As to the country around Lac la Ronge there is timber all through it, wherever
it has not been destroyed by fires.'

Archdeacon McKay explained that he put up a sawmill at Lac la Ronge in the
year 1906, and it is run by water power. The logs that are sawn there are the kind
of timber found in that part of the countr3^ They average seventeen logi to the
thousand feet. They will be logs 14 to 15 feet long. The diameter would be about
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two feet across at the butt-g-ood, large logs, clean timber, very much the same timber

as at Prince Albert. This good timber is scattered all over the country sometimes for

miles.'

Owing to this contradictory evidence it is pretty hard to accept a fair estimate

of the timber here. Archdeacon McKay of course may be speaking of a much more

limited area than the explorers who probably take a. general estimate of the whole

country.

There is no doubt that there is good timber between Lac la Ronge and Prince

Albert.

TIMBER NORTH OF PRINCE ALBERT.

R. S. Cook sa^ys that down through the region imm_ediately north of Prince Albert

and on through to Montreal lake, it is pretty much a timber country. Dr. Hugh Bain
of Prince Albert (Senate Report, 1888), says, ' Immediately north of us we have a

large belt of timber, chiefly spruce, and also a good deal of poplar.' Ee a.lso says that

the true forest just touches the river at Prince Albert. At the present date, twenty

years later, Archdeacon M'^c'Kay says it is all forest practically until 7/ou get about

thirty miles from Prince Albert. The forest fires have no doubt cleared much of the

forest off for thirty miles during that twenty years.

D. C. O'Keefe in the Dominion Government Pacific Railwa;/ Report, 1880, says

that ' North of Prince Albert and v/est of Cumberland House to longitude 107° SO'

much timber was observed. In the south-western part poplar copse prevails, gradually,

emerging into continuous poplar forest which attains its greatest development to the

east of Stinking lake. The balsam and poplar in groves is of large size, in many cases

two feet in diam^eter. Extending eastward from Stinking and Pelican lakes, fine

groves of spruce are frequently mixed v/ith aspen and balsam-poplar, and, on the

borders of the sv/amps, groves of tamarack of all sizes up to 18 inches in diameter are

found.

This well-timbered region also extends first northwest and then west along the

iBeaver river.

R. S. Cook twenty years later, says that ' passing down the Beaver river and
southeast towards Prince Albert, there is a large quantity of very good spruce.

''Witness said that the fires had been very destructive and burned off a good deal of

the top soil. Where that top soil is gone the country is of very little use. It is

;growing up with black birch and second growth poplar. There are openings but to

•no great extent.'

PRINCE ALBERT TO GREEN LAKE.

Professor Macoun in the Senate Report, 1888, speaking from actual observation,

says ' there are immense groves and timber of excellent quality lying between Prince
Albert and Green lake. Very excellent groves of white and black spruce are found
in that country. Of course when I speak of timber I mention only black and white
spruce and jackpine as we call it, that is scrub pine, only it grows very large up there.

These are the trees that are of economic value, besides the balsam poplar, and it only

grows on the islands and alluvial bends along the river bottoms. When you come to

the route of Green lake there is two days' journey through a magnificent country,

boautifully timbered. Crossing the Saskn((^]iewan nt Cnrleton, for two days yon
travel through a prairie country with bluffs here and there. Then you travel for two
dnys through a forest to Green lake. It is a dense forest.'

GREEN LAKE.

Speaking of Green lake he says: ' Timber of this section is of very fair quality,

consisting of spruce, ponlar mid tamarack.'
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STIA'KING AND PELICAN LAKES.

From Stiiilving or AVitchikan lake to Pelican lake Mr. O'Keefe (Dominion Gov-

ernment Pacific Railway Representative, 1880), says 'continued our course through

spruce and tamarack woods of fine timber averaging 20 inches in diameter and from

60 to 60 feet high, which continued for two and half miles, then poplar with birch,

spruce and tamarack prevailed.' Mr. Eberts, speaking of the country west and north

of Pelican lake says, ' this is the southern limit of the true forest. The timber is

large, consisting of spruce, balsam, poplar, banksian pine, and a few trees of yellow

pine from 12 to 30 inches in diameter.'

BEAVER RIVER.

Mr. Eberts explored from here in a northwest direction on the watershed between

the Beaver and the Saskatchewan in the year 1879 (Dominion Government Pacific

Railway Representative). ' The indications suggest that the whole of this district

was originally forest, but at present a strip of from five to twenty miles along the

Saskatchewan is chiefly prairie. To the north large open tracts are interspersed

through the forest land. The standing timber consists of poplar and spruce of good
size, with banksian pine on sandy soil.' Since this time, nearly thirty years ago,

much of this timber has been burnt as R. S. Cook says that around Cold lake on the

border of Saskatchewan and Alberta the fires have been very destructive although

there has been good timber there.

WESTERN SASKATCHEWAN.

Travelling north from here the timber gets poorer. Mr. O'Keefe describes the

country inland from Dore river, a tributary of the Beaver, as -sterile but river banks
well wooded with spruce. South and west of Lac la Plonge are sandy plains, muskeg
and tamarack swamps, while southeast there is some good tamarack and spruce.

ILE A LA CROSSE LAKE.

Bishop L. F. Lafleche (Senate Report 1888) says 'the vegetation (of He a la

Crosse) has a poor appearance and can offer no advantage for the working of the

forests. Autumn fires have devastated them considerably. The principal species of

wood are the cypress which hardly attains a diameter of a foot and a half at the butt,

the spruce, white and red, the birch, the poplar, &c.' In 1879 Mr. O'Keefe reporta

' From the southeast end of the lake (lie a la Crosse) we penetrated (east) to Burnt
Mountain.' He found a fair growth of banksian pine, poplar and birch and in places

tamarck. Then he found a barren plain country similar for twenty miles north and

south. Hon. Wm Christie (Senate Report, 1888) reports that from He a la. Crosse

lake to Portage la Loche the whole country is rock and islands covered with small

trees.

Professor Macoun (Dom. Govt. Pac. Ry. Rep. 1877-78) says that much of tho

land in the vicinity of Methy and Buffalo lakes is covered with banksian pine and

may, therefore, be set down as very poor and sandy. In the more elevated country

only, he observed balsam, -spruce and even there it was of rare occurrence.

The Churchill river was for over lOO years the canoe route for the voyageurs

and explorers travelling to the Mackenzie valley, Sir Alexander Mackenzie, Sir

John Richardson, Sir George Simpson and others. All speak of the Churchill as a

rocky country of small trees or else do not mention the trees at all.
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ALBEKTA.

Leaving the province of Saskatchewan by the Clearwater river you enter Alberta

and the timber gets somewhat better.

W. Ogilvie, D.L.S. (1892), speaking in a general way of this district says that as

a rule the trees are much smaller than people in the eastern provinces are accustomed

to see made into lumber.

FOREST FIKES.

He says that owing to its position the resources of the upper part of the Atha-

backa river stand a chance of being utilized much earlier than those on the lower

river. He continues, * I am sorry to say, however, that long before it will be necessary

to resort to this, much of it may be burned, as such is the case along the trail between

Edmonton and the landing. In 1884 I passed over this trail twice and then saw many
groves of fine spruce, but last summer I saw that much of the best of this timber had
been completely burnt off. Then the country in the immediate vicinity of the land-

ing was all heavily timbered, much of it merchantable. Last summer especially in

the Ta-wat-an-a-velley mid vicinity, the country resembled prairie nearly as much 93

the country in the vicinity of Edmonton does.

CLEARWATER RWER.

T. Fawcett, D.T.S., made a survey of the Clearwater river (in 1888) and connect-
ing waters to Cumberland House following the old canoe route. He reports the valley

for the greater part of the distance is thickly timbered with balsam poplar, white
poplar and birch. A few good trees are found, but those suitable for manufacture
only in small numbers. The balsam poplar grows to an average size of from 6 to 24

inches in diameter, straight and free from limbs, but the timber is not of much value.

About sixty miles up the stream banksian pin is scattered among the other timber,

and the soil becoming sandy, scrubby pine is plentiful. Black spruce and tamarack
also occur but are somewhat scarce. Towards the top of the banks the timber is

much smaller.

CONDITION OF THE TIMBER ON THE ATHABASKA RWER.

Leaving the Clearwater you enter the A^thabask river. Many -years ago there

w.... evidently some very good timber on the river, but now the fires have destroyed a
large proportion of it. The upper or southern parts have the poorest timber. As you
go north the trees get larger until in the delta you find excellent timber.

In the report of 1888, Wm. Ogilvie gives a description of the different trees of
this region. The spruce and poplar found in about equal quantities, greatly out-
number all the others; spruce generally found in groves by itself, seldom exceeds 12
to 14 inches in diameter, and from 100 to 120 feet in height; poplar generally small
but found on many of the flats of a good size. Of the other species of trees he says
the white birch, the only hard wood in the country of any use, is small and crooked
and seldom more than 6 or Y inches in diameter; the pitch pine generally small and
scrubby and of little or no value; ihe tamarack scarce and generally small only found
in marshes and a great deal of it hollow and unsound at the heart. Still he says
that all the way down to the lake ,the country is or was, thickly wooded. W. F. Brcdi'n,
of Lesser Slave lake, twenty years later says (Senate lve]->ort, 1007). the valley of
the Athabaska from where the McLeod river empties into it, to the Grand rapids, a
distance of about 300 miles, is mostly timbered with small timber, poplar and spruce,
not scrub exactly but not much saw timber. Professor Mncoun (Senate Report',
1888), says that all the branches of the Atliaba^^ka and the Athabaska river itself'
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have excellent forests in many pla<3es, sometimes continuous for vei*y many miles.

Then at other times the forest is poor and in some places nothing but small poplars.

The whole region may be taken as a forest country that will produce economic timber.

The same may be said of the country up towards the base of the Rocky mounta.ins,

at the source of Smoky river. Mr. Bredin says that thfe timber might have been fairly

good at one time, but now it is fairly scattered and a great deal of it is grown up
with second growth. From the McLeod river to McMurray the timber is poor while

from McMurray to Lake Athabaska there is some improvement.

EDMONTON.

The wooded country of the upper Athabaska is just north of the great prairies

that extend as faT as Edmonton.

LAKE ST. ANNE.

J. McEvoy (Geological Report, 1897) says the prairie region that exists around

Edmonton gradually disappears towards the west and before Lake St. AvAie is reached

,
the country is to a great extent covered with a thick growth of poplar and cottonwood.

H. A. Macleod (Dom. Govt. Pac. Ry. rep., 1875) says that from Edmonton to the

Rocky mountains the poplar becomes larger, but decreases in quantity, and spruce

appears more frequently with pitch pine and balsam till the woods are entirely made
up of those species. He says that the poplar in the northwest appears to be of better

quality and closer in the grain than that found in Ontario, resemxbling soft maple and
makes very good firewood.

A LOBSTICK VALLEY.

Again, in the Pacific Railway report, 1880, he says there were a fev/ small prairies

in the Lobstick valley, the rest of the country being covered with timber mostly of the

original growth, a large proportion being of good size and fine quality, but brules and
windfalls were numerous and very extensive in this section of the country. Marcus
Smith (Pacific Railway report, 1877-78) reports the spruce and poplar of good size.

Twenty years later (1897) J. McEvoy gives a much less favourable account of the

timber. ' Burnt and green woods of spruce and cottonv/ood alternate along the way.
Fallen timber is plentiful throughout. Thick small timber was seen, but the greater

part has been killed by fire.'

MCLEOD RIVER TO ATHABASKA RIVER.

Continuing he says that all the country from the McLeod to the Athabaska river

had been overrun by fires a few years before and much of the timber destroyed had
been of a merchantable size. It was then a wilderness of bare trunks.

ATHABASKA VALLEY.

As the bottom of the Athabaska valley was approached he found smaller and more

scattered timber. Beyond this, at Cache Pecotte, four miles above Sandstone creek

and below Brule lake, the Athabaska valley v/as to a great extent an open grass

country, having in parts a light growth of scattered pines and some heavier spruce

woods.

MALIGNE AND ROCKY RIVERS.

Before reaching the Rocky mountains Mr. McLeod found on the Maligne and

Rocky rivers much rough w^ooded country, much of the timber fallen.
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JASPER HOUSE.

Proiessor j\Iacoun (Pacific Railway report, 1877-78) says that not raany miles

northwest of Jasper House the aspect of the mountains changes, the slopes lose their

wood and become clothed with grass instead of spruce forest, and the plain instead

of being a continuous forest changes its characteristics to those of park and meadow
land.

BAPTISTE^S RIVER.

Professor Macoun, in his ' History of the Great Northwest,' 1882, says there is an

abundance of fine timber of various species on Baptiste's river.

LESSER SLAVE LAKE.

The Lesser Slave lake region lies between the Athabaska and the Little Smoky
river.

H. A. Conroy reports (Senate Committee, 1907) that some parts of this district

are heavily timbered, while other parts are open. There is an Indian reserve along

the Little Slave river and a portion of that has good timber. He says that the Indians

have the finest piece of timber on the Lesser Slave lake as a reservation. The spruce

is large, and there is a species of poplar that they call the black bark poplar which
grows very large in that vicinity. Mr. Conroy has seen it from 3 to 4 feet across the

stump and 50 and 60 feet high on this low land. The north side of Lesser Slave lake,

he says, is covered with quite a heavy second growth of poplar from 9 to 12 inches

through and very slim and tall, and with some spruce, but not to any extent. North
of this he says there are tv/enty miles of a rolling prairie country which appears as

though it had at one time been burnt and the timber destroyed.

LESSER SLAVE LAKE TO WHITEFISH LAKE.

About half way between Lesser Slave and Whitefish lakes you strike a timber belt

running from that to Whitefish lake, and there is a great deal of poplar and some
spruce, where Mr. Conroy has seen logs two feet through.

LITTLE SLAVE RIVER TO ATHABASKA LANDING.

Prom Little Slave river to Athabask Landing he says the banks of the river

are fringed with timber, probably half a mile to two miles wide. The spruce is fairly

large; in some districts fit for sawlogs, etvd mostly all fit for ties and small building

timber. Some of it was very large spruce for that country, three feet across the stump.

LITTLE SLAVE RWER TO ]\fCMURRAY.

W. Ogilvie reports (1888) the timber on the Athabasca from Little Slave river

down to McMurray as generally small, although alders and willows grow to a si/-o

which would surprise people from the eastern part of the country. He has seen alders

more than 8 inches in diameter and 30 feet high, wliilo willows are often seen one
foot in diameter, and ho has seen one 10 inches. Elihn Stewart (190G) ro|x^rts that the
country along the banks from the landing down for some forty miles has suffered

very much from fires. Below Ihia point less dnmnge has been done to the timber,

which consists of popbn-. bircb, siinu'(\ S:c., flio sin-uce being mostly along the river

and its tributary streams. It is gonernlly vntlier too small for lumber, though some
belts contain trees of sufficient size for that purpose. The appearance from the
steamer vrould indicate that generally the timber is of second growth. The spruce
seems to be overtaking the poplar and will supplant it in time. This timber is well
worth preserving from fire.



174 SUPERINTENDENT OF RAILWAY LANDS

8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

LAC LA BICHE.

East of Athabacka Landing is Lac la Biclie the north shore of v/hich Mr. Eberts

(Pac. Ry. Report 1880) says is thickly timbered with spruce and poplar; the rest ol'

the country covered with the last two trees and with banksian pine and tamarack.

For many miles north Mr. Stewart reports the timber as consisting of poplar,

birch and some spruce, but none of the latter of good quality.

Past the numerous rapids from here to McMurray the standing timber is ver.y

small but nearly the whole district has been burnt over from time to time. There

is very little large enough for lumber.

MCMURRAY TO LAKE ATHABASKA.

W. Ogilvie (1888) says that from McMurray dovN^n to the flats adjoining the lake

the timber is nearly all spruce and poplar. There are a few ridges of pitch pine

which possess no value. Occasionally a few white birch are seen. H. A. Conroy
speaking of the present time (Senate Committee Report 1907) says that on the lower

levels of the Athabaska through to Athabaska lake, there is heavy timber all the way
along. The Indians told him that back from the river it is pretty muskeggy. He
had been up the river every year for eight years. Taking the country as a whole

there is quite a lot of marketable timber. All the lakes and rivers could produce good
timber. There are millions of cords of spruce for pulpwood. W. F. Bredin also speak-

ing of the present day says that it looks like a great alluvial plain from the river along

from Fort McMurray to Lake Athabaska, 200 miles. That country is more or less tim-

bered. He says that the country from McMurray to Lake Athabaska does not seem to

have been as much swept with fires as the country south of that. J. W. Tyrrell who
travelled through here in 1893 says that 132 miles below McMurray, the banks were
thickly drapsd with spruce and poplar woods. Besides spruce and other varieties he
saw balsam trees, the last seen on the northward journey.

BIRCH HILLS.

To the west of Athabaska river below McMurray are the Birch hills. Mr.
McConnell (Geol. Report 1887-88) reports that on the Moose river to the Birch hills

are small aspen, spruce and bangsian pine. The timber on the Birch hills was
largely destroyed by fires.

DELTA OF THE ATPIABASKA.

In the delta of the Athabaska is undoubtedly the finest timber met with in going
north from Edmonton to the lake. W. Ogilvie (1888) says that the spruce are

generally much larger there than on the upper portion of the river, and much more
free from limbs and knots and well suited for use. He says he saw nothing to coim-

pare with it in any part of the Territories (adjoining the prairies) through which
he had been. For some three or four miles back of the lake, on the south side, there

is nothing but willow and small poplar, which gradually merges into the large timber

as we get back from the lake. Hon. Vv^m. Christie (Senate Report 1888) saj^s that

very good w^ood, useful for building purposes, can be got here. In later years trav-

ellers such as Elihu Stewart (1006) make -small mention of the tim.ber here, so proba-

bly it is not nearly so good ns it once was.

PEACE RIVER COUNTRY.

PRAIRIE AND FOREST FIRES.

The Peace river though lying generally farther north than the Athabaska valley

has a great deal more prairie along its banks than the Athabasca. Dr. Dawson (Geol.
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Keport, 1879-80), says that the origin of the prairies of the Peace river is sufficiently

obvious. ' There can bie no doubt that they have been produced and maintained by

fires. The country is naturally a wooded one and where fires have not run for a fevv^

years, young trees begin rapidly to spring up. The fires of cours-e are ultimately

attributable to human agency, and it is probable that before the country was inha-

bited by the Indians it was everywhere densely forest-clad. In its primitive state the

surface was probably covered by a dense and heavy growth of coniferous trees. The^e

forests having bleen destroyed by fire, a second growth, chiefly aspen, but with much
birch in some places, and always everywhere a certain proportion of coniferous trees,

chiefly spruce, has taken its place. The aspen, being a short-lived tree, Yv'hile the

spruce reaches a great age and size, the natural course of events, if undisturbed,

would lead to the re-establishment of th,e old spruoe forests. The total area of pra,irie

land, west of the Smoky river, may be about 3,000 square miles. The remainder of

the surface is generally occupied by second growth forest, occasionally dense, but

more often open apd composed of aspen, birch and cottomvood with a greater or less

proportion of coniferous trees. Some patches of the original forest ivemain, how-
ever, particularly in the river valleys and are composed of much larger trctss, mostly

coniferous, amongst which the spruce is most abundant. Handsome groves of old

and large cottonwoods are also to be found in some of the valleys.' Professor Macoun
(Senate Report, 1888) says that the .aspen never grows large and seldom runs above

a foot in diameter in the Peace river country although he had seen specimens larger

thfi^n that. He would not speak of the aspen as a tree of economical value for the

purposes of export.

ST. JOHN AND DUNVEGAN.

Betv\^N2en St. John, B.C., and Dunvegan, Professor Macoun reports many miles

of beautiful farming country, alternating with spruce, aspen and cypress woods.

DUNVEGAN.

Of the country directly west of Dunvegan he writes that it was almost denuded
of trees, probably by fires, and had much the appearance of prairie. After this the
country assumed a park-like character, almost a dead level and more than half

covered with trees. H. A. Conroy (Senate Com. Report, 1907), had been fourteen
miles north, on the Peace river from Dunvega^n and found timber growing pretty

large. He says there are groves in that country through which a man could drive a

mowing machine, the trees are so far apart.

PEACE TO BATTLE RIVER.

IT. J. Cambie (Dominion Government Papific Railway Report, 1880), says that
from Dunvegan they travelled northwest to the height of land between the Peace
and Battle rivers; twenty-five per cent of the distance lay through woods of smn,ll

poplar, spruce and black pine.

DUNVEGAN TO SMOKY RIVER.

Professor Macoun reports that Mr. Horetsky rode over the portag.^ belween
Smoky river and Dunvegan, a distance of at least forty mik^s and he told liiui it was
a beautiful prairie all the way. Professor Macoun says that as he proceeded up tlio

river from the Smoky he could see that the left bank was a constant succession of
grassy slopes with aspen coiv^e and service berry tliickets in the hollows. The right
bank on the other hand was always wooded, the timber being aspen, white bircli and
spruce. The islands aiid points that formed the secondary bank were iicnerally

2—17
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covered with balsam poplar of a large size, but spruce, aspen and birch were in con-

siderable quantities. H. J. Cambie (Dominion Government Pacific Report, 1880),

SB^s that the timber on the north bank is too small to be of value except for firewood

and fencing.

NORTH HEART RIVER,

Southeast of the Peace along the North Heart river the poplar and spruce is of

small size only three to twelve inches in diameter.

SMOKY RIVER.

In 1874 E. W. , Jarvis made an exploration through a pass of the Rocky moun-
tains and southeast to the Athabaska across the headwaters of the Smoky river and
the num^erous streams and rivers flowing into it, (Dominion (jrovernment Pacific

Railway Report, 18T4-76). Near the mountains he found the country recently

burnt. The balance of the country they found to be composed in places of small black

spruce, growing so close together that they could scarcely force a passage through
them and in others covered w^ith small pine of second growth. H. A. Conroy says

that along the banks of the Little Smoky the spruce grows vejry large. From Smoky
river to Sturgeon lake Mr. Cambie reports the timber of small size consisting of pop-

lar, spruce, birch, willov/s and black pine in a few cases 9 to 12 inches in diameter.

East of the Little Smoky river in the Prairie river country, M,r. Conroy says there

are nice bluffs of tim.ber, mixed, some spruce ajid some poplar, and along the Big
Smoky he reports some very good spruce timber.

DUNVEGAN TO BATTLE RIVER.

Wm.. Ogilvie (Senate Report, 1888) reports that the timber from Dunvegan to

Battle river is thin and poor and in very few places he says could there be found

much that would prove of any value. Here, as on the Athabaska, the timber on the

upper part is not to be compared with that found on the lower. Mr. McConnell in

(Pacific Railv/ay report, 1880) says that here and there along White Mud river are

clumps of aspen and willow, the balance being prairie.

BATTLE RIVER TO VERMILION.

North of this the timber improves. Mr. Ogilvie describes the country from Battle

river to Vermilion as woods and swamp alternating with patches of prairie and open

VA^oods. Near Battle river he says many of the hill sides are bare or scrubby, but on

some of the flats or moderate slopes the timber is of fair size. R. G. McConnell
(Pacific Railway report, 1880) says that there is scarcely any prairie along Battle

river.

From the reports of Professor Macoun (Senate Report, 1888) and Elihu Stewart
(Senate Report, 1907) we see that there is some good timber along this part of th3 river

probably north of Battle river. Professor Macoun says that north of Smoky river,

on the right bank of the Peace, the country soon loses its prairie character and
becomes wholly an aspen forest, which continues down to the delta of the Athabaska

and Peace rivers. On the Peace river, especially on its islands, there are many large

groves of spruce and poplar which attain extraordinary dimensions.

EXCELLENT POPLAR.

Mr. Stewart, twenty years later, speaks very highly of the poplar he saw in this

part of the river, though whether poplar, however fine a quality, would ever be very

valuable for commercial purposes, as he seems to think, is a matter of question. He
says that below the junction of the Smoky they grow very clean and straight trees.
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not over a foot or fourteen inches, making excellent timber, as well as fencing an?!

fuel. In some parts there are stretches of good spruce well adapted for lumbering pur-

poses. There has so far been but little destruction from fire in this quarter, and

there will be an ample supply of timber for local use, if not for exix)rt to the adjoin-

ing prairie regions. He foUow^ed the reading of the preceding extract from his report

with the remark :
' I never saw as fine poplar as I saw there. A considerable number

of poplars were over a foot, but a foot would be a fair average. I have seen poplar

in all parts of the prairie country, but never saw any growing up as straight.' Mr.

Stewart, replying to a question, said he thought it passible to use the poplar wood for

commercial purposes. It is very good poplar. It will make pulp and where it is

large enough it can be sawed. It makes excellent flooring. The white poplar in the

north 'is of a better quality than the poplar in the Ottawa district and in the far west

it is different. As to the extent of tli^e forests, Mr. Stewart remarked that wherever

there was a stream there would be a belt of timber.

W. F. Bredin explained that in the velley of the Peace river, the bottoms of the

river, the islands—and there are large islands in the river—and the points are largely

covered with a heavy growth of spruce which grows to a large size. The largest he

had ever measured was four feet four inches in diamicter. A tree of that kind would
carry its trunk well up, clean of branches, forty or fifty feet. Of course that is an
unusual size, but timber three feet in diameter is common on the hills and in the

lower parts of the bottoms. There is no oak, but there is spruce, birch and poplar.

The poplars grow to a large size. The cottonwcod often grows to four feet in diameter

and the poplar grows to a diameter of two feet.

LOON AND WABISKAW RIVERS.

East of this part of the Peace river lies the valley of the Loon and Wabiskaw
rivers. E. G. McConnell travelled all through this country in 1887. He found
travelling by canoe very precarious. It is a succession of swamps brules, and spruce
and poplar woods, sometimes dense. In places he found tamarack and banksian pine,

but little or no timber of any value.

TERMILION.

At Vermilion, both north and south, Mr. Ogilvie described the country in 1888
as prairie bluff country. Professor Macoun (Pac. Ky. Eep. 1877-78) says that from
the highest point reached near Vermilion as far as he could see the country was
covered with a continuous aspen forest with here and there a group of spruce. Back
from the river much of the country had been burnt over and the timber was either
all gone or in various stages of decay.

LITTLE RED RIVER.

Below Vermilion between Little Bed river and Rapid Bouille, ho described the
river as very wide, islands in every stage of development or decay being the chief
characteristics of the river bed. All the islands were covered with immense balsam
poplar while the aspen constituted the greater part of the general forest on the main-
land.

VERINIILION TO PEACE POINT.

Mr. Ogilvie saj-^ the country from VornilHon to Police Point on the north side
is generally heavily timbered, with occasional parts of op<^n scrnbby woods and small
patches of prairie. On the south side the open woods and prairie are less frequent.

2—i7j
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VERMILION RWER TO LAKE ATHABASKA.

From Vermilion river to Lake Athabaska he says there is a great deal of first

class spruce, much of it being the best he had seen in the country. The sandy and
gravelly ridges here, as elsewhere, were covered with pitch-pine. There is also much
poplar and cottonwood, generally small, mixed with a little white birch and a very

little tamarack.

QUATRE FOURCHES RIVER.

On the Quatre Fourches river in the delta of the Peace, Professor Macoun
(1888) says there is some very fine spruce, with groves of poplar and a few pitch-

pine mixed through it.

LAKE ATHABASKA.

Of the good quality of the timber found at the delta of the Athabasca river we
have already spoken.

SOUTH OF THE LAKE.

J. B. Tyrrell in 1893 described the country south of Lake Athabaska as covered

with a lig-ht grov/th of small banksian pine. There were a few spruce and birch in

the valleys of small streams and on a narrow strip along the lake. In 1892 Mr.
Tyrrell travelled from the Churchill north to the country east of the lake.

EAST OF THE LAKE.

Approaching Wapata lake from the south he found the timber to improve.

Wapus island in Wapata lake he found thickly wooded with spruce, birch, white

poplar and a little larch, and near Black lake white spruce was seen for the first time

since he had left the Churchill. Black river he also found fairly well wooded.

FORT CHIPEWYAN.

Around Fort Chipewyan on the north of the lake Professor Macoun reports the
timber as generally small and nearly all spruce and pitch-pine; a small percentage

of it only being fit for use as lumber. J. B. Tyrrell in 1893, said that back of the

Fort between the rocky hills plenty of small timber for house building and firewood

is found.

NORTH OF THE LAKE.

Along the north shore of the lake he says the chief varieties of timber observed

as they passed along were spruce, white poplar and birch and with these, though of

small size, the country was well covered.

BLACK LAKE AND NORTH.

The country for some way north of Black lake to Chipman lake is heavily tim-

bered. It is a succession of dense spruce swamps, thickets and rocky hills. The tim-

ber is composed of small black spruce, banksian pine, larch and a few balsam poplars.

The shores of Wolverine or Chipman lake are ' heavily and beautifully wooded with

spruce and birch timber.'
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Beyond tins the timber is poor. The Chipman river is scantily wooded with sniaTl

banksian pine, spruce and birch. On Birch lake is a grove of large white spruce.

At Selwyn lake the country is more or less generally wooded with small black spruce,

but on some of the sandy tracts are orchard-like groves of birch.

SLAVE LAKE.

BELOW LAKE ATIIABASKA.

At a distance of some twenty m.iles from Chipewyan says Mr. Stewart the land

becomes higher and is covered v/ith timber and considerable quantities of good spruce

are seen up to 15 inches in diam^eter and of good height. The other varieties are

poplar, birch, tamarack, and willow.

E. G. McConnell (Geol. Eep. 1887-88) says that the country in the vicinity of

the rapids, 100 miles below Lake Alhabaska, is covered with white spruce, banksian

pine, and the rough and smooth-barked poplars. The MacKenzie river steamer was
built here in the winter of 1887. The timber used in its construction was all obtained

from the surrounding forest.

SMITH LANDING TO FORT SMITH.

From Smith Landing to Fort Smith Mr. Stewart says the timber is jaclq)ine, som.e

of which is quite large enough for railway ties. The timber on the heavier soil consists

of black and white poplar, spruce, birch and willow of small size and of little value.

SALT RIVER.

Salt river, says Mr. McConnell, winds through flat w^ooded plains covered with

spmce and aspen, but in parts are the salt plains.

SALT RIVER TO GREAT SLAVE LAKE.

Of the excellence of the forests from Salt river down there can be no doubt. As
long ago as 1772 Samuel Hearne, the first white man to reach Great Slave lake, on his

return journey from the mouth of the Coppermine, entered the mouth of the Slave

river and went up it some distance before starting inland on his journey back to the

Hudson bay. It is very interesting to note what LTearne at that distant date said:
' The woods around this river, particularly the pines and poplars, are the tallest and
stoutest that I have seen in any part of North America. The birch also grows to a

considerable size and some species of the willow are likewise tall; but none of them
have any trunk like those in England.' On the island of the lake near the mouth of

the river, Hearne saw great quantities of driftwood. He says, ' some of this M'ood is

large enongh to make masts for the largest ships that are built. The woods through

which we were to pass were in many places so thick that it was necessary to cut a path

before the women could pass with their sledges; and in other places so much of the

woods had formerly been set on fire and burnt that we wore freqnontly obliged to walk
farther than we otherwise should have done, before we could find green l)rush enough

to floor our tents.'

One hundred and fifteen years lat«r K. G. McConnell (Geol. Kep., 1887-88) says

that on both sides of the river are \ovc] plains which extend without any evident eleva-

tion, as far as the eye can reach, and support exten.sive forests of white spruce and
banksian pine, mingled with larch and smooth and rough barked poplar. The spruce

frequently attains a diameter of 18 inches and affords excellent tin.iber.

Bishop (Tut, O.M.T., (Senate Report, 1888) also says that from Fort Smith to Fort

Resolution there is a great quantity of beautiful forest, white spruce or ordinary larch.

Spruce from two or three feet in diameter is found. The birch of the country is very
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hard and would make good furniture. It is from birch that they make traineaux,

buggies, chairs and snowshoes.'

GEEAT SLAVE LAKE.

HAY RIVER.

Hay river flows into the southwest part of Great Slave lake. Of the country

around, Mr. McConnell (Geol. Rep., 1887-88), says, ' Grassy and partly wooded plains

extend northwards from Peace river and skirt its southern shores. It is the northern

limit of the prairie region. JSTear its mouth the country on both sides is thickly

forested with banksian pine and white spruce to the Alexandra Falls.'

SOUTH OF THE LAKE.

The country from here east to the Slave river is known to be well wooded, but
strange as it may seem, the country from Slave river east has never been explored

since Samuel Hearne passed through it in 1772, one hundred and thirty-six years ago.

Somewhere southeast of the lake Hearne spoke of a long narrow lake ' entirely sur-

rounded with high land which produces a vast quantity of fir trees, but none of them
grow to a great height in those parts. Their branches, however, spread wider than

those of firs three times their height and thickness do in Europe, so that they resemble

an apple tree in shape. They seem rich in tar as the wood of them will burn like a

candle and emit as strong a smell and as much black smoke as the staves of an old tar

barrel. The under woods were so thick in these parts as to render travelling through

them very difficult.' Of the part of Great Slave lake where Hearne crossed it, he says,

' The point where we crossed it, is said to be the narrowest. It is full of islands most
of which are clothed wi;:h fine, tall poplars, birch and pines, &c.'

NORTH OF THE LAKE.

The country to the north of Great Slave lake has been much more thoroughly

examined.

PROVIDENCE TO FORT RAE.

E. G. McConnell (Geol. Eep., 1887-88) wintered at Fort Providence on the Mac-
kenzie and made a winter journey northeast to Port Eae, on the long arm of the

lake that reaches out to the north. From Fort Providence to Birch lake, half the

distance across, he crossed the Grand Brule, the scene of a former destructive fire,

wherein he says there were three wide prairies with the intervening timber belts.

From here on he crossed first a well wooded country where some excellent spruce was
seen, then a more scantily clad country with groves of spruce, poplar, birch and alder

and from thence to Fort Eae a thick spruce forest.

MARTIN RIVER.

J. M. Bell (Geol. Rep., 1904) describes the country along the Martin river and
chain of lakes emptying into the long northern arm of the lake as thickly wooded with
aspen, balsam poplar, canoe-birch, white spruce and banksian pine.

YELLfAVKNIFE RI^^ER.

The Yellowknife river flows i-ito the. eastern s?de of the long arm of the lake
coming from a northern direction. Sir John Frnnklin £nd members of his party
ascended and descended this river, as is related in his journeys of 1819-22. He says
that this river flows between high :ocky banl^s on which there is sufiicient soil to
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support pines, birch and poplars, but in the upper stretches the country has a very-

barren aspect. From here to Fort Enterprise the country is much the same. Mr.
Back (afterwards Sir George Back), one of his party on his winter journey back from
Fort Enterprise, v/rote tha.t after passing Reindeer lake* 'The scenery consisted of

barren rocks and high hills, covered with lofty pine, birch and larch trees. There was
a visible increase of wood, consisting of birch and larch, as we inclined to the south-

ward.

FORT ENTERPRISE.

In his journal of August 19, 1820, Sir John Franldin states that they selected the

site of their winter quarters known as Fort Enterprise. He says :
' The trees were

numerous and of a far greater size than we had supposed them to be yesterday. Som^e

of the pines being thirty or forty feet high and two feet in diameter at the root.'

Near by was the winter river, whose banks, he says, were well clothed with pines. On
the sam.e day they unfortunately set fire to the woods. ' A fire was made on the south

side of tlio river to inform the chief of our arrival, v,/hich, spreading before a strong

wind, caught the whole wood and we were completely enveloped in a cloud of sm.oke

for the three following days.' Their winter quarters were made from wood cut in

the vicinity, though of the size of the logs no mention is m.ade. From here to the

Coppermine river the only trees were scattered dwarf pines.

Of the part of the lake where Samuel Hearne crossed it we have already spoken

of his mention of the islands clothed with fine tall poplars.

EAST OF THE LAKE.

The eastern part of the lake approaches within twenty miles of the ^ Barren

Lands,' as the pines are said by Back to disappear along Artillery lake.

FORT RELIANCE.

The following is on account of the country around old Fort Reliance and north-

east to the barren lands, as described by J. W. Tyrrell in 1901:

—

' Fairchild Point (near old Fort Reliance), which is about ten miles in length, is

well wooded with white spruce from 6 to 12 inches in diameter and is notable as being

the source of timber in that loeality.

The shores of Charlton harbour are sparingly wooded with small spruce and a few
banksian pines. It might be noted here that on Fairchild point a few black poplars

were observed, the last seen on our outward journey.

At Fort Reliance, here and there, are to be seen the charred remains of large

stumps, indicating the apparent recent destruction of the original forest.

The largest young trees, which showed thirty-four to thirty-five years growth, were

from 4 to 6 inches in diameter two feet from the ground, and wore not of stunted

appearance.

At the north end of Burr lake there is situated a nice grove of white spruce

timber, containing trees of 10 to 12 inches diameter. It proved to be the last timber

of any consequence met with before entering the barren lands, excepting some on the

west shore of Artillery lake near Timber bay.

ARTILLERY LAKE.

On the western side of Artillery lake, about ten miles from (he south end. ihe

shore is quite well timbered with small spruce and they continue nortlicrly. nlthougli

thinly scattered, for a distance of twenty miles, eight miles farther nortli tl);iji the

last grove on the cast shore. There the woods cease entirely.'
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MACKENZIE KIVER

ENTRANCE TO MACKENZIE RIVER.

ElihiT Stewart says that the land at the entrance to the Mackenzie river is low

nnd covered with spruce and tamarack of small size. Islands covered with green

timber are numerons and the appearance is suggestive of the lower St. Lawrence.

The timber along the Mackenzie to Fort Simpson is smaller than that found along

the Slave river but nevertheless it is of sufficient size in some cases for lumber.

FORT PROVIDENCE.

Sir John, Franklin (Journey, 1819-22) says that around Fort Providence the

surface of the hills is generally naked, but in the valleys between them a few spruce,

aspen and birch grow.

Sir Alexander MacKenzie (1789) also speaks of the country north of the

Mackenzie after leaving Slave lake as follows: 'He (an Indian) at the same time

informed us that a river falls in from the north, w^hich takes its rise in the Horn
mountain:, now in sight, v*^hich is the country of the Beaver Indians; and that he and

Ids relations frequently meet on that river. He also added, that there were very

extensive plains on both sides of it, which abound in buffaloes and moose deer.'

BEAVER RIVER.

E. G. McConnell (Geol. Survey Hep. 1887-88) says that from Fort Providence

southwest along Beaver river to Lake Bis-tcho is a desolate looking plain scantily

covered with spruce and tamarack. Lake Bis-tcho is surrounded by a flat country,

wooded with spruce, birch and tamarack of fair size.

FORT SIMPSON.

James Anderson of Winnipeg left Fort Simpson in 1852 when eleven y^ars old

(Senate Report 1888). He says 'Bound Fort Simpson itself, I remember the timber

there was very large. It was fir, poplar and birch.' He calls the fir hemlock but

no doubt means the spruce. Poplar and birch he says were the other varieties. He
says that the fir was a very large kind. The men used to square the timber to about

one foot square, for building their houses and the Fort itself was built of squared

timber. He says the way he remembers the birch was, it was used to m.uch in the

making of snow-shoes and other things.

Mr. Stewart (190'6) says there is a small sized saw-mill at Fort Simpson, not

now running, in which lumber 12 inches in width wa'S cut and used in buildings at

this post. ' One cannot but be struck,' he says, ' with the vast quantity of spruce

along the route traversed, (from Fort Providence to Fort Simpson) which is a little

under size., for lumber but would make excellent pulpwood.'

Before describing the timber of the Mackenzie Basin from the Great Slave river

down, we will describe the valley of the Liard rivr.

LIARD RIVER.

The Liard river enters the Mackenzie river at Fort Simpson, just south of lati-

tude 62°, coming in from the south-west. It and the Slave river have undoubtedly
the best timber in the northwest.

NELSON RIVER.

A branch of the Liard extends away -south and is called the Nelson. Wm.
Ogilvie explored this whole region across to the Peace, coming out at Fort St. John.
Across the height of land the timber is very poor. .
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On the Nelson above the forks where the Sicannie chief branch flows in, it is

heavily timbered. Mr. Ogilvie passed many extensive flats covered with beautiful

spruce trees. The valley is quite wide and clothed with fine timbea.^ for a distance

above the forks of about thirty miles.

Farther down above Fort Nelson there are many extensive areas of ox>en woods

which almost might be classed as prairie, no doubt the result of forest fires.

FORT NELSON.

Of Fort Nelson he says it is surrounded by dense, high forest, and as the clear-

ing around it is only a few acres in extent, much of the sun's warmth is lost during

the day. The surface is all heavily v/ooded and there are many very large trees both

spruce and balsam poplar. He selected an average sized balsam poplar at Fort

Nelson, cut it dov/n and made the following measurements of it :—diameter at stump,

exclusive of bark, 29 inches; at first limb, exclusive of bark, 17^ inches; stump to

first limb 90 feet; num-ber of growing rings 145. The bark would add at least 4

inches to the diameter.

WRIC4LEY.

The country about Wrigley he says rs wooded. He noticed a spruce log near the

post that was 20 inches in diameter.

Entering tbe valley of the Liard from the Ma.ckenzie he says there is a good
deal of fine large spruce, which would make better lumber than most of the sprue-

used in the settled part of the territories, but, as it is the Arctic water system it is

practically out of reach. The balsam poplar, or as it i'S called here, cottonwood. is

very plentiful and very large, trees nearly 4 feet in diameter being often seen,

thuogh between 2 or 3 feet is the average diameter of the trees. These two tree§ con-

stitute the great mass of the forest. A few small white birches arc occasionally seea

and more frequently the aspen or poplar. There are also, sometimes, a fev/ balsam

pines on the top of sandy knolls.

A man who had explored the Liard told Mr. Stewart that he had never seen

finer sav/-log timber anywhere. He a,lso said that good birch was found there which

is highly prized by the Indians for bark for their canoes.

E. G. McConnell (Geol. Survey Rep., 1888-89), says that below Fort Liard tiie

river is bordered in many places with wide alluvial flats, covered with tall straight

cottonwood, and large spruce and canoe birch.

MACKENZIE BASIN.

MACKENZIE BASIN.

We have now come almost to the Arctic regions. Although, -except in small qnan-
titi(>8, the forests of the lovv'cr Mackenzie are not of great value commercially it is

interesting to fdllow up what the explorers and others testify as to the re:n.arkable

height and diameter some of the trees attain, considering the extreme northern
latitude in wliich they are found. On the Mackenzie itself tlie forest continues to

within a comparatively short distance from the Arctic Occ.in. The following

extracts are from Sir John Richardson's travels in ISIS :

—

FOREST FIRES IN THE FAR NOHTU.

' The agency of man is working a ch.tyige in (he aspect of (be forest <n-en in the
th,inly peopled north. The woods arc w.;isted by extensive tires, kindled aceidently
or int'ontionally, which spread with rapidity over a wide extent of country, and con-
tinue to burn until they arc extinguished by heavy rains. These conflagrations
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consume even the soil of the drier tracts, and the bare and whitened rocks testify

for centuries to the havoc that has been made. A new growth of timber, however,

sooner or later springs up ; and the soil, when not wholly consumed, being saturated

with alkali, gives birth to a thicket of .aspen instead of the aboriginal spruce.

REMARKABLE SIZE OF THE FOREST.

The frozen sub-soil of the nortliern portions of the vs^oodland country does not

prevent the timber from attaining a good size, for the roots of the white spruce

spread over the icy substratum as they would over smooth rock. As may be expected,

however, the growth of trees is slow in the high latitudes. On the borders of Great

Bear lake, 400 years are required to bring the stem of the white spruce to the thick-

ness of a man's waist. AYhen the tree is exposed to high winds, the fibres of the wood
are spirally twisted; but in sheltered places, or in the midst of the forest, the grain

is straight and the iwood splits freely.

As has been already said, the general aspect of the forest does not alter in tlie

descent of the Mackenzie. The white spruce continues to be the chief tree. In this

quarter (speaking generally), it attains a girth of 4 or 5 feet, and a h,eight of about

60 in a growth of from two to three hundred years, as shown by the annual layers of

wood. One tree, cut down in a sheltered valley nea,r Clark's Hill, south of Great

Bear river, measured the unusual length of one hundred and twenty-two feet, but

was comparatively slender. Most of the timber is twisted, particularly where the

trees grow in exposed situations. The banl^sian pine v/as not traced to the north of

Great Bear Lake river; but the black spruce, in a stunted form, is found on the

borders of sw^amps as far as the woods extend.'

GENEEAL EEMAKKS.

MACKENZIE BASIN.

Mr. Stewart explained that spruce suitable for commercial purposes grows to the

Arctic sea. He was astonished to find that the limit of tree growth extended as far

north as it does. He thought it extended probably ten degrees, or nearly seven hun-

dred miles farther north in this district than in Labrador. The different kinds of

trees that we have in the Mackenzie basin include white spruce, black spruce, the

larch or tamarack which is found as far north as the spruce, the jackpine and the

balsam. Mr. Stewart did not see any balsam in the Arctic circle; but aspen, white

poplar, balm of Gilead and birch are all found down a,s far as Eort Macpherson near

the delta of the Mackenzie.

Mr. McConnell (Senate Report, 1888), says that you get jackpine in places as

fa,r north as Fort Good Hope. Altkough not growing very large some of the trees

would be big enough for railway ties. He explained that the country is not forest

continually like it is here (Ontario), but most of the country is open wood. Nearly

all the muskegs and around the muskegs are covered with black spruce. Mr.

McConnell agrees with other travellers of this region in saying that very little change

in the character of the forest wa,s observed in descending the Mackenzie, and with

the exception of the banksian pine, which disappears south of Bear river, the same

species as previously noticed by Richardson, are found from Great Slave lake to the

mouth of Peel river.

HARDNESS OF THE WOOD IN THE NORTH.

Malcolm McLeod (Senate Report, 1888) says: ^ As to the v/ood of that far north

I would observe that it is remarkably hard. I have a pair of snow shoes of peculiar
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shape, made right and left of birch for frame, like iron in texture, and though

perhaps about a hundred years old 'perfectly sound.'

FORT GOOD HOPE,

Mr. Stewart says that on an island near Fort Good Hope very good spruce timber

is cut into lumber by whip-saws.

BELOW FORT GOOD HOPE.

Below this the timber seems to get poorer, although it improves again farther

north. Mr. Stewart says that below Fort Good Hope the timber is smaller although

some of it has been made into flooring and lumber is made from the timber there.

There is a large supply of spruce suitable for pulp.

NORTHEAST OF FORT GOOD HOPE.

Northeast of Fort Good Hope, through a chain of lakes to the headwaters of the

Iroquois river, K. MacFarlane (Canadian Eecord of Science, vol. IV.) says that the

country appeared to be well timbered in every direction with pines, juniper, several

species of willow, and a few small groves of poplar and birch.

OLD FORT GOOD HOPE.

Mr. McConnell (Geol. Eep., 1887-88) says that along this part of the Mackenzie
below Fort Good Hope the banks are low, the bordering plains are covered with a

scattered growth of willow, spruce and tamarack, v/ith here and there patches of aspen

on the drier ridges. The spruce along part of this reach presents a remarkably stunted

and dwarfish appearance, but this is due more to the marshy character of the ground
than to climatic severity, as the same tree, straight and well grown, was found much
farther north. At old Fort Good Hope, where the river takes a sharp turn to the

vv^egt-southwest, he says groves of white spruce were seen along this reach, containing

trees measuring over 15 inches in diameter, but the average did not exceed 6 inches.

POINT SEPARATION.

At Point Separation, which lies between the junction of the Mackenzie and Peel

rivers, and where Franklin and Richardson were camped, are two spruce trees, says

Mr. Stewart, which were marked as lobsticks at the time of their separation and m
commemoration of that event. ^ Both are still standing (1906), though one of them
is dead. Judging from their appearance at a distance I would say that they are

about 16 inches in diameter and 70 feet in height, and this nearly one hundred miL^s

heyond the Arctic Circle. I have been very much interested in the tenacity of life

shown in the growth of trees under the adverse conditions prevailing in this north

country. Since crossing the Arctic Circle we have seen no vegetation but trees such

as the spruce, birch, tamarack and willow are seen all the way.'

PEEL RIVER.

As they rounded Point Separation and ascended Peel river he says spruce lined

the banks.

FORT MACPIIERSON.

It attains a size of 12 to 16 inches and is used at Fort IMacphorson not only for

their log buildings, but it is also whip-sawed into lumber for general use. and the

birch bark here is used by the Indians for their canoes. For a distance of a few niilos
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from the Peel the country is partially wooded with spruce, birch, balsam-poplar and
willow, but after this the only timber is that found skirting the shores of the small

streams on the way.

BELL RIVER.

A fringe of timber, mostly small spruce, lines the banks of the Bell, but apparently

does not extend far back.

DELTA OF THE MACKENZIE.

Eeturning north again to the delta of the Mackenzie, Mr. McConnell (Senate

Keport, 1888) describes the spruce he saw as over tv/o feet through. Sir John
Richardson descended the delta to the ocean in 1848 and the following is his account

of the timber :

—

SIR JOI-m RICHARDSON, 1848.

THE DELTA.

' Most of the islands constituting the delta of the Mackenzie are alluvial and
many of the smaller ones are merely a ring of white spruce trees and willows on a

sand or mud bank. Twenty-two miles below Point Separation the banks of the river

and the num.erous islands are well w^ooded. The balsam poplars rise to the height of

20 feet and the white spruce to 40 or 50 feet.

At the creek, which bounds Harrison island on the north, the valleys and borders

of the river are well wooded, but the summits of the eminence present only scattered

spruce firs, with stunted tips and widely spreading depressed lov/er branches. The
canoe-birch is frequent, and the trees we measured were about 5 inches in diameter.

The balsam poplar grows to the height of twenty feet. In latitude 68° 55' north the

trees disappeared so suddenly that I could not but attribute their cessation to the

influence of the sea-air. Beyond this line a few stunted spruces only were seen

struggling for existence and some scrubby canoe-birches clinging to the bases of the

hills.'

GREAT BEAR LAKE.

To the southeast of the region just described lies the Great Bear lake which

empties into the Mackenzie river through the Great Bear river. The latter is des-

cribed by J. M. Bell—Geological Survey Report 1904:

—

GREAT BEAR RIVER.

* The clear waters of the Great Bear river join the Mackenzie through a, deep

wooded valley. For the first forty miles the banks are well wooded with white

spruce, canoe birch, aspen and balsam poplar.

MOUNT CHARLES.

Mount Charles rises to a height of 1,500 feet on the left side of the river. In

climbing the hill I was surprised at the size of the trees around its lower slope.

White spruce of about 20 inches diameter were quite common as well as fine speci-

mens of canoe-birch, balsam poplar and aspen.

At the lake the country is quite destitute of trees, as they have all been used

for fuel by the Indians.'
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AGE OF TREES

As was formerly stated, Sir John Richardson says that aronnd Great Bear lake

430 years are required to bring the stem of the white spruce to the thickness of a

man's waist^ and in some places where the tree is exposed to the high winds the

fibres of the wood are spirally twisted.

KEITH BAY.

Between Keith bay and Smith bay J. M. Bell found a small lake well wooded

with white spruce, willows and alders but none of them of great size. Here he saw

the most northern specimen of white birch. The surrounding country was wooded

in the valleys.

NORTHERN SHORE.

The whole northern shore of the lake he found to be particularly dreary and
barren.

LIMESTONE POINT.

It was, he says, a pleasing change from the cheerless, gravelly, treeless shores, to

reach Limestone Point thirty miles west of Foit Confidence, with its pronounced

shoreline and white -spruce in the bay.

FORT CONFIDENCE.

In a letter of J'homas Simpson to his father (says Malcolm McLeod, Senate

Report 1888), he says that the wood at Fort Confidence had been found suitable for

house and boat building. Dr. Bell says that the location of Fort Confidence was one

of the few well wooded spots in Great Bear lake and the trees are fine specimens

worthy of a more southern latitude.

DEASE RIVER.

Sir John Richardson in 1826 says that there were pine trees in clumps in the

Dease river and the valley to the north was well wooded.

EAST SHORE.

West of Fort Confidence along the coast of Dease bay for some distance the

deep bays are well wooded, but towards Cape McDonnell the land gets barren and
continues so till the coast turns east again when the trees improve.

TAKAATCIIO RIVER.

' Some forty-five miles east of Cape McDonnell/ says Dr. Bell, ' a good sized river

enters, probably the Takaatcho. ISTear its mouth,' he says, 'we found great quantities

of driftwood among which were some good sized trunks. I was rather surprised to

sei^ these, but learned afterwards that in the interior the valley of this river is well

wooded.'

MACTAVISII BAY.

* All the eastern shore of MacTavish bay is wooded. In the valleys in tlio interior

and around the bays and sheltered channels this timber may be of ccononiic import-

ance. White spruce is the prevailing forest tree, although cano<^-biich is found as

far north as Eda Travers bay and is sufliciently large in Klarondesk bay to permit
of its bavk being used for making cr.nces. Tamariu'k and both bakam poplar and
aspen abound in Klarondesk bay, although not of any great size.'
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CAMSELL RIVER

South of this, the eastern part of the lake, Dr. Bell describes the Camsell river

and chain of lakes as all well wooded. At Lake Ray, banksian pine was noticed for

the first time.

EIVERS OF AECTIC BASIN.

There remains only to be described the rivers running into the Arctic Ocean.

The first river of importance met v/ith east of the Mackenzie is the Anderson river.

ANDERSON RIVER.

Mr. R. MacFarlane, chief factor Hudson's Bay company, was sent in 1857, by

James Anderson to explore the Anderson river. The report of his trip wp,s published

in the ' Canadian Record of Science,' vol. iv.

CANOE LAKE.

At Cance lake, the headwaters of the Iroquois river, he says the country is toler-

ably wooded in its vicinity. The banks of the Iroquois seem to be all wooded as he

found the naviga^tion impeded by immense quantities of driftwood and he says the

ridges on both sides were well covered with pine and willow.

LOCKHART RIVER.

The country along the Lockhart river below the Iroquois he found better tim-

bered.

On the banks of the Anderson below the Lockhart he found timber of medium
size gradually disappearing as he (went north.

«

ANDERSON RIVER.

On his return trip he proceeded up the Anderson from the Lockhart and found
th-e banks well wooded. Further on nea^r a succession of rapids he found the banks
tolerably wooded. He says, 'The country along the Anderson was latterly very well

wooded, and some goodly pines were seen. The tract 'of country embraced by a line

drawn west from the borders of the woods on the Anderson to the Mackenzie, south-

ward to the Peau de Lievre river (Hti/e Indian river), at Good Hope, is very well

timbered.

ROSS RIVER.

The banks of Ross river he says are partially timbered.

A chain of well wooded hills hp says encircle Colville lake or more probably the

large labe west of the lake miajrked Colville. The banks of Simpson lake he says are

well timbered.

From here southwest towards the Hare Indian river he found the country well

wooded. He says ' the timber consists of pine, juniper, fir, v/illow, and a few groves

of poplar and birch. Some of the pines were of a large size. Th,e belt of timber

which at Fort Anderson extends for over thirty miles to the ea^stward, rapidly nar-

rows and becomes a mere fringe along the Anderson river and disappears to the

northward of the 69th parallel of latitude.
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MACFARLANE RWETi.

Kunning parallel with the Anderson river is the MacFarlane or Wilmot Horton
river. Mr. MacFarlane says that one or two intersecting affluents of the Wilmot
Horton or MacFarlane river flow through valleys in which a few stunted spruce,

birch 'apd v/illows appear at intervals. On the banks of one of these, near its mouth,

he observed a sheltered grove of spruce and willows of larger growth. They met with

no more spruce to the eastward.

COPPERMINE RIVER.

Sir John Franklin (first journey, 1819-22), reached the upper part of the Cop-

permine river at Point lake. He found the ' valleys on its borders interspersed with

clusters of spruce trees. On the borders of such of these lakes as communicate with

the Coppermine river, there are a few groves of spruce trees, generally growing on
accumulations of sand.'

RED ROCK LAKE.

Ked Rock lake is in general narrow, its shelving banks are well clothed with

wood, and even the hills, which attain an elevation of four hundred or five hundred
feet, are ornam'ented half way up vvitb stunted pines.

ROCK-i\EST LAKE.

Rock-TsTest lake (just north of th,e Red Rock lake). ' The only wood is the pine,

which is twenty or thirty feet high, and about one foot in diameter.

FAIP-Y LAKE.

At Fairy lake the river flows between banks of sand thinly wooded, and as we
advanced the ba,rren bills approached the water's edge.

West of that part of the Coppermine river which is nearest to Great Bear lake

Sir John Richardson in 1826 said that they met with wooded valleys and saw much
wood in the valleys far to the west. From the height of land between Coppermine
river and Great Bear lake they had an extensive view of a lower and well wooded
country).

KENDALL RIVER.

In 1S48 he v/rites of the same locality :
' At two we came to another branch of

the Kendall, which runs through a ravine of red and spotted sandstone, under whose
shelter thoro grcvN^ a remarkably fine grove of white spruces. Tlio best grown tree

measured 0:] inches in circumference and did not taper perceptibly for twenty feet

from its root. Its total height was from 40 to 50 feet. Other trees of equal girth
tapered more, and one decayed trunk, which lay on the ground, looked to be consider-

ably thicker.'

BLOODY FALLS.

Of the country above Bloody falls, on the Coppermine, he writes :
' In the exist-

ence of many scattered stumps of decayed spruce fir trees, and the total absence of
young plants, one might be led to iui'ov lliat of late years the climate has deteriorated

and that the country was no longer capable of supporting trees so near the sea coast
as it had formerly done. The largest tree in the clump in which we bivouacked hnd a

circumference of 37 inches at the height of 4 feet from the ground. Its annual layers

were very numerous and fine and indicated centuries of growth, but I was unable to

reckon them.'
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Samuel Hearne, the first wkite man to reach the Coppermine, says in the year

1771 ;
' Near the water's edge there is some wood, but not one tree grows on or near

the top of the hills between which the river runs. There appears to have been

formerly much greater quantity than there is at present; but the trees seem to have

been set on fire soma years ugo and, in ccnseqiuence, there are at present ten stick^lji g
on the ground for one green one v/hich is growing beside them. The whole timber

appears to have been even in its greatest prosperity of so crooked and dwarfed a

growth as to render it of little use for any purpose but firewood.'

In another place he writes :
' The woods grow gradually thinner and smaller as

you approach 1he sea, and the \ist little tuft of pines that I-. .saw is about thirty miles

from the mouth of the river, so that vve meet with nothing between that spot and the

seaside but barren hills and marshes.'

This ends the report as far as the wooded areas of the north are concerned. Even
in the barren lands, however, isolated wooded areas are found, one of the most remark-

able instances of which is the Ark-i-link river described in David T. Hanbury's book

and which river is now called after Mr. Hanbury. The following is the account:

—

HANBURY RWER.

' The peculiarity of the Ark-i-link is that though so far north it is wooded on

either bank, and in places one might say heavily timbered, spruce trees, with butts

measuring 1| to 2 feet across, being by no mea,ns uncommon. It is a long way north

of the limit of trees marked on the maps, and there is a large extent of country to

the south of it destitute of trees.'

After a short walk on either side of the river one reaches the outer edge of the

bush.

Having read over the preceding transcript of my evidence, I certify it correct.

R. E. YOUNG,
Superintendent of Railway Lands,
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PROGRESS WITH AGRICULTURAL EXPERIMENTS.

House of Commons,
Committee Eoom No. 34,

Wednesday, April 1, 1908.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met here this

day at 11 a.m., Mr. McKenzie, Chairman, presiding.

The Chairman.—Dr. William Saunders, C.M.G., Director of Experimental Farms,

is present and will address the Committee to-day. He will deal with a good many
subjects, and I am sure that his remarks will, as usual, prove very interesting. The
Conmiittee is always pleased to listen to an address from Dr. Saunders, and I have

now much pleasure in introducing him to you„

Dr. Saunders.—It affords me much pleasure to respond to the invitation to address

you and to lay before you some facts which have come under my notice in connection

with the growing of crops in different parts of the Dominion.
The season of 1907 was one of unusual character, and the remarkable weather

which prevailed all over the Dominion was the subject of much comment.
At the Central Experimental Farm at Ottawa, owing to the unusually wet and

late spring, most crops were later sown than usual, all sorts of grain being from a

week to ten days beyond the usual period. Further, after seeding had begun it was
interrupted by unfavourable weather which delayed the completion of this important
work. Sowings of barley were made at Ottawa on April 27 and 28, the sowing of

wheat began on April 29, and oats on May 2 and 3.

ONTARIO.

. The crops throughout the province of Ontario have, on the whole, been dis-

appointing. The spring season generally was late and cool, and during the latter part
of the growing period the weather was unusually dry; and while the wheat crop was
nearly an average one, oats—the most important of the grain crops grown in this
province—were very poor both as to yield and quality; and while the area in oats in
Ontario was 200,000 acres more than in 1906, the crop was nearly 25 million bushels
less. The straw also was shorter than usual. Hay and clover showed a decrease of
nearly 800,000 tons. With the partial drying up of the pastures the yield of milk fell

off and the exports of dairy products were lessened to the extent of about five million
dollars.

QUEBEC.

The fanners in Quebec suffered from similar troubles. The yield of Iiav was
very variable and on the whole unsatisfactory. The falling oft' in butter was very
considerable both in Quebec and Ontario. Fortunately for the farmers, the prices of
everything they had to sell were unusually high, and this has helped to make up for
the short crops.

nova SCOTIA.

At Nappan, in Nova Scotia, the cold and wet weather at seeding time was more
pronounced, and the earliest sowing of grain was on 'Mixy 20. Tn many parts of the
maritime provinces grain was not sown until early in June, and in consequence of
frequent wet weather later in the season much of the hay crop suffered serious injury

2-18 191
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Nevertheless, the grain crops generally turned out fairly well, and the Nova Scotia
apple crop was remarkably good, being estimated at two million dollars.

MANITOBA.

In Manitoba, spring work was also delayed by much cold and wet weather. At
the Brandon Experimental Farm the first spring wheat was not sown until May 9,

which was more than two weeks later than usual. Oats were not sown until May 20.

and barley May 27.

SASKATCHEWAN.

At Indian Head, Saskatchewan, the first wheaf sown was on May 6, the sowing
of oats began on May 14, and that of barley a day or two later. On this farm the
average date for the sowing of wheat for the past five years has been April 17. Thus
in 1907 there was a loss of about three weeks in the early part of the growing period.

ALBERTA.

At Lacombe, in Northern Alberta, seeding began a little earlier. Wheat was
sown on May 1, and oats and barley from May 4 to 10. Notwithstanding that the

crops in this district had a little earlier start, the summer season was very short, and
early frosts occurred before the grain was ripe which injured all the varieties of wheat,

also many sorts of oats and barley, so much as to considerably lessen their weight per

bushel and lowered their vitality so as to render them unsuitable for seed.

BRITISH COLUMBIA.

At Agassiz, in British Columbia, where grain is usually sown early, the first

grain, owing to the prevalence of cold and wet weather, was not put in until April 18.

One of the most striking features connected with the weather in Canada, east

of the Rocky mountains, was the unusual prevalence of cold and wet and the slow

growth of the crops. Indeed at one time during the latter part of the growing season

the temperature averaged so low that growth for a time almost ceased, and for a

period of two to three weeks, when the grain is usually filling rapidly, there was
scarcely any advancement perceptible towards maturity. It is said that below 42 F.

wheat ceases to grow, and there must have been considerable periods during the months
of August and September, 1907, when this lov/ temperature was approached.

Nevertheless, the returns in many instances were encouraging. On the experi-

mental plots at Ottawa, spring wheat gave an average of 31 bushels 39 pounds per

acre, oats 76 bushels 5 pounds, and barley 38 bushels 20 pounds.

At Nappan, N.S., the plots of spring wheat gave 28 bushels 26 pounds per acre,

oats 68 bushels 16 pounds, and barley 35 bushels.

At Brandon the varieties of wheat averaged 38 bushels 8 pounds per acre, barley

63 bushels 32 pounds, while the varieties of oats gave the extraordinary average crop

of 114 bushels 24 pounds per acre.

At Indian Head, where in past years the wheat crops have been unusually heavy,

the crops have this year been light. In 1906 the average yield of the wheat plots

was 42 bushels 4 pounds per acre. In 1907 the average yield was 19 bushels 7 pounds,

and all the varieties were more or less injured by frost. Barley and oats gave excellent

returns, the barley averaging 57 bushels and the oats 110 bushels 20 pounds per acre.

At Lacombe, Alberta, the frost came earlier than at Indian Head, and injured all

varieties more or less, and the later sorts were very deficient in weight and low in

vitality. Nevertheless the fourteen varieties of spring wheat under trial gave an

average of 21 bushels 51 pounds per acre, oats 86 bushels 31 pounds; the fifteen

varieties of six-rowed barley gave 57 bushels 26 pounds per acre.
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The relative sho\ving made by the earlier ripening spring wheat, as compared
with the later sorts, is very remarkable, and emphasizes the value of these earlier

maturing varieties, especially in an -unfavourable season or in those districts subject

to frost. At Lacombe the following results were obtained.

Wheat.
Yield

per Acre.
Weight

per Bushel.

Percentage
of

Germination

Bush, Lbs. Lbs.
Late L.ipening Sorts

—

Red Fife 9 38| 9
White Fife 13 37i 9

Earlier Sorts-
29 49 65
34 52 67
31 47 50

Huron i , 17 30 47 87

Showing that although these earlier varieties did not ripen early enough to escape

injury from frost, they had made a long step towards getting ripe, as was shown in

weight per bushel of the sample as harvested and the percentage of germination.

At Indian Head where the injury from frost was not so great these same varieties

stood as follows :

—

Wheat.
Yield

per Acre.
Weight

per Bushel,

Percentage
of

Germination.

Red Fife

Bush. Lbs.

12
17 20
23 20
21 40
19 40
21

Lbs.

White Fife 491

5H
52i
51

51i

87
96
93
90
91

Prestovi

Huron

These figures show a great advancement of the earlier varieties over the later

ones. These wheats were all sown at Indian Head on May 6, and at Lacombe on

May 1 in plots alongside of each other and under the same conditions, so that there

is every reason to believe that the differences shown in crop, weight per bushel and
percentage of germination in favour of the early sorts are entirely due to their early

ripening kabits. Sim.ilar differences are also shown in the field crops. At Indian

Head a field of Red Fife gave grain which weighed 54 pounds per bushel and 67 per

cent germinated, while an adjoining field of Preston gave grain which weighed 02

pounds per bushel and 95 per cent of it germinated.

I have some samples here of these wheats as grown at Brandon, There is a

sample of Preston (producing sample), and here is a sample of Rod Fife (producing

sample). There is ou(^ tiling- I would like to call the attention of the committee to

and that is the variation wliich occurred in different parts of INfanitoba. Saskatchewan
and Alberta in the kind of weather experienced, so that here and there you find a

farmer who has had a very good crop, while his neigbbour witliin n few rwiles of liim

2—18i
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had suffered from frost. I have a sample of Preston wheat which was sent to me by
Mr. F. B. Johnson. His farm is near Moosejaw, Lytham Farm, he calls it. This
wheat weighs 62^ pounds per bushel. While some parts of that district were con-

siderably affected by frost, his grain seems to have escaped frost entirely.

While I am on this subject of the early ripening of wheat, let me state that I

have brought with me a few circulars, prepared by our Cerealist, which were issued

yesterday, in which the subject of the value of these wheats and their comparison with

Ked Fife is discussed. I shall be very glad to leave copies of this circular for the use

of members of the committee.

You have probably noticed in the agricultural journals very great differences of

opinion about these wheats. Some people are rather too extravagant in their, praise,

others are too extravagant in running them down, and occasionally both sides leave

the truth away in the background. What we aim to do in this circular is to present

to the farmers of the western country the facts in regard to these wheats, showing

their relative advantages, so that they may be able to bring their own judgment to

bear on this subject, and decide for themselves as to what sorts they will grow.

As showing that oats and barley are capable of resisting the injurious effects of

frost much more successfully than wheat, the following figures are given of the crops

at Indian Head:

—

Oats.
Yield

per Acre.
Weight

per Bushel.

Percentage
of

(jrermination.

Bush. Lbs.

122 32
123 8
122 2
127 22

Lbs.

39
40
391

39i

88
73
93
90

I have a sample of Ligowo oats here. It was not produced at Indian Head but

at Peace River, and I will refer to it later.

Barley—Six-rowed.
Yield

per acre.

Weight
per Bushel.

Percentage
of

Germination.

Bush. Lbs.

05 30
61 2

Lbs.

50
49^

99
97

Showing that these two varieties of barley which are among the common sorts

grown in the northwest had a germination nearly perfect, while the oats ran from

73 to 90 per cent. The wheat suffered still more, thus indicating that of these three

important varieties of grain, the barley is the least affected by frost, the oats rank

second, and the wheats are the most easily injured of all. ,
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In the case of two-rowed barley the results Avere as follows :

—

Barley—Two-rowed.
Yield

per Acre.
Weight

per Bushel.

Percentage
cf

Germination.

Bush. Lbs.

54 28
58 16

Lbs.
«

49-1

47
84
68

At Laeombe the results obtained at the experimental farm with the same varieties

will confirm this idea. The crops there were lower, the weight per bushel was lower

and the percentage of germination considerably lower. This was due to the fact of

frost being more severe there and coming somewhat earlier.

Results at Lacombe, Alberta.

Oats.
Yield

per Acre.
Weight

per Bushel.

Percentage
of

Germination.

Bush. Lbs. Lbs.

92 22 35 40
107 22 30 53

Improved Ligowo 83 28 32 64
95 10 32^ 58

Barley—Six-rowed.

Claude 60 42 95
72 24 44 96

Barley—Two-rowed

.

37 24 42-^ 72
Danish Chevalier. 32 24 42 82

These figures further confirm the opinion that frost inflicts its greatest injury

on wheat.

With regard to Indian Head the frost did not this year come any earlier than
usual, but the seeding was very late and the growing period unusually cool and wet.

To show that the frost did not come earlier than usual, the following dates of the

occurrence of the first injurious frost for the past six years are given:

—

1902 September 12

1003 " 5

1904

.

" 10

1905 " 12

1906 " 11

1907 " IL'

These figures show how very regular frost is in itvS appoarance in that part of

the country, and, as a rule, frost,. when deferred to nearly the middle of September,

should give ample time, and would have given last year ample time, for the full

ripening of the crop, but for the unfortunate oocurreuce of so nuieh w(^t and cold
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weather at the beginning of the season and extending more or less ail the way
through it

MANITOBA.

In the southern part of that province drought lessened the yield of wheat con-

siderably. Nevertheless, the total yield of wheat in the whole province was nearly

forty million bushels—it was between thirty-nine and forty million bushels—with an
average of 14-22 bushels per acre.

Oats gave a total return of over forty-two million bushels, with an average yield

of 34-8 bushels per acre.

Barley gave a total yield of over sixteen and a half million bushels, with an
average of 25-7 bushels per acre.

Potatoes gave a good yield, over jS.ve million bushels in all from a little over

32,000 acres of land, an average of 157 bushels per acre.

Flax is fast becoming a more important crop. It occupies about 26,000 acres,

giving 317,347 bushels, an average of 12-25 bushels per acre.

Saskatchewan will probably soon overtake Manitoba in wheat production. In
1907 the total crop was 27,691,601 bushels, with an average yield of 14-04 bushels

per acre.

In oats the crop of SaskatcheM^an for 1907 was 23,324,903 bushels.

In barley the crop was 1,350,265 bushels.

With the large influx of population and the rapidly increasing acreage under

cultivation, the output of grain from that province must shortly be very large.

The figures for Alberta are not yet available. Those for Saskatchewan have only

been out two or three days, and the returns for Manitoba about two weeks. The
general impression in regard to the crops of Alberta is that this province will no
doubt show a considerable increase in winter wheat, also a marked increase in spring

crops, but the exact figures cannot be given until the returns of the provincial govern-

ment are published.

The total production of grains for the three northwest provinces has been

estimated as follows:

—

Bushels.

Wheat 70,000,000

Oats 75,000,000

Barley 15,000,000

Total 160,000,000

FEEDING OF PIGS ON FROZEN WHEAT.

In the Reports of the Experimental Farms for 1892 and 1893 Professor Jas. W.
Bobertson, who was then Agriculturist of the Central Experimental Farm, published

the results of some tests carried on at the farm in the feeding of frozen wheat to

swine to determine its value as a ration. I might say that the quantity of frozen

wheat in the Northwest this year will probably be between twenty and thirty million

bushels, a very large quantity of material Avhich is exceedingly valuable for feed and

the use of this grain for feeding purposes to swine can be made to return to the farmer

a very good price, indeed, for the grain. It was found at the time when the experi-

ments referred to were carried on in 1892 and 1893, that when frozen wheat, ground

and soaked for 12 hours, was fed to pigs varying in weight from 60 to 100 pounds, that

they put on flesh at the rate of about 1 pound for each 4 poimds of the frozen wheat

consumed, which is about 15 pounds live weight for each bushel of wheat fed. It

was also found that when skimmed milk was added to the ration, the quantity o.^

grain required to produce each pound of gain was reduced; 7-91 pounds of skimmed
milk being found equal to 1 pound of the frozen wheat.
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Since that time there has been no particular reason for repeating these experi-

ments as there have not been since then till now any large quantities of frozen wheat
seeking a market.

By Mr. Oiven:

Q. In these experiments were the pigs allowed to run at large or were they

penned up?
A. They were penned up at that time, also on the occasion of the recent experi-

ments. Occasionally a late sown or a late maturing variety of wheat has been caught

by frost and injured more or less, but no large quantity of injured wheat has at any

time been thrown upon the market. During the 19 years which have elapsed since

the establishment of the Experimental Farm at Indian Head no general injury such

as that which occurred in 1907 has ever been experienced, and for the past 12 years

the grain crops have been almost iiniformly good, the highest yielding plots of wheat
having averaged over 46 bushels per acre for the whole period.

Now, with so large a part of the crop of 1907 injured, the demand for information

has been great as to the value of frozen wheat as a ration for feeding swine and steors.

Early in the winter, as soon as a supply could be obtained, a carload of frozen wheat
was brought down from Indian Head, one-half of which was No. 1 feed and the other

half No. 2 feed—these are samples, Mr. Chairman, of the two qualities of frozen wheat
(producing samples)—when a number of experiments were planned and put in opera-

tion with swine, steers and poultry. The experiments with swine which were carried on
for about ten weeks are now completed and the results were written up by the Agri-

culturist several days ago and given to the press. The frozen wheat of both grades has
been fed to some pens of swine v/ithout any admixture, to others with skimmed milk,

and in other cases m.ixed with various other feeds such as oats, barley, corn and shorts.

Where these mixtures have been used they have been made with two parts of frozen

wheat and one part of the other variety of grain. The results are interesting and
show good returns from the frozen grain used alone, also when mixed. The average

return will bring the results up to about the same figures as those given for the experi-

ments which were conducted in 1892, A bushel of the grain was sufficient to produce
on the average about 15 lbs. live weight of pork. As pork commands a good price in

different parts of the Northwest, one can easily see that this may be made a good
outlet for quite a large part of this material. I might also say that it was a decidedly
economical sort of grain to feed. No. 1 feed wheat cost 41-i cents per bushel at Indian
Head. It was laid down here for $1.06 per 100 lbs., or $21.20 per ton. The No. 2
feed wheat cost 36^- cents as against 41-| cents for the No. 1, or $19.60 per ton delivered

in Ottawa. We have not found any other grain or feed which we think is quite as

economical as the frozen wheat for the production of pork, when it can be obtained
at prices such as those named.

By Mr. Martin (Wellington) :

Q. Have you any idea which of the grades you tested in feeding hogs were the

best, No. 1 or No. 2 ?

A. In one of our experiments where the hogs were fed on the unmixed frozeii

wheat, grade No. 2 gave a little better results than grade No. 1. One could not
attribute that to the wheat, however, because it would be unreasonable to suppose that
grade No. 2 is of higher quality than grade No. 1. It may perhaps be due to a little

difference in the digestion of the pigs. The Chemist of the Experimental Farms, !^[^.

Frank T. Shutt, made analyses of both these varieties, and the results show that there
is very little difference between No. 1 and No. 2 in their food value.

By Mr. Telford:

Q. What is the difference between frozen wheat and unfrozen wheat?
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A. The experiments conducted have not inchided trials with sound wheat. The
object in view in these experiments was to find out the actual feeding value of

frozen wheat so that a way might be suggested whereby a profitable use might be made
of this material. These experiments have covered quite a large series of pens. Mr.

Grisdale, our Agriculturist, will, I believe, come before you shortly, and I would prefer

that he should give you all the particulars connected with his own experiments. I am
merely giving you the substance of them.

By Mr. Smith (Wentworth) :

Q. Do you say that one bushel of feed wheat would produce 15 lbs. of pork?

A. Yes, 15 lbs. from a bushel, that is 1 lb. for every 4 lbs. of grain. Mr. Grisdale

will give you the number of pigs that were fed in the several experiments. The
number varied, I think, from four to ten pigs in a pen, and he had quite a large series

of experiments going on. He has also carried on experiments with steers, but they

are not quite completed yet. I think this week will about finish that work, so that he

will probably be able to give you the particulars when he comes before you. The
experiments with steers have not, I believe, been quite so satisfactory as with the

swine. It took the steers a longer time to get accustomed to the change of food, and to

get their stomachs in order to digest the material so as to build up flesh rapidly.

By Mr. Owen:

Q. Where are the experiments being made, at the Experimental Farm in Ottawa?
A. Yes, at the Central Experimental Farm here, and they have been going on

since sometime in December, when we got this frozen wheat delivered.

Whilst speaking on the subject of wheat, it might be well to give you the results

of a recent estimate of the Hungarian government in regard to the wheat crop of the

world. The estimate for 1907 was 3,200 million bushels, or about 288 million bushels

less than in 1906. On account of the shortage which has prevailed in so many parts

of the world it is not at all likely that wheat will drop very much in price, not at any
rate until after another harvest is got in, and even then it is not likely, because the

consumption of wheat is increasing throughout the world and I think there is a good
prospect of the present prices being maintained.

By Mr. Owen:

Q. Was not 1906 the greatest wheat year the world has ever seen, were there not
more bushels grown in 1906 than in any previous year up to that time?

A. I do not think it was in 1906, but an earlier year. There was one year I know
when the quantity was unusual, but I cannot recall at the moment what year that was.

It is astonishing how many countries there are engaged in this business of
growing wheat, largely for the British market, as Britain is the principal buyer. In
this effort the whole world joins, so that every month in the year the harvest is going
on in certain countries. In January, Australia, i^ew Zealand and Chili. In February
and March, the East Indies and Upper Egypt. In April, Lower Egypt, Syria, Cyprus,
Persia, Asia Minor, India, Mexico and Cuba. In May, Algeria, Central Asia, China,
Japan, Morocco, Texas and Florida. In June, Turkey, Greece, Italy and a number of
other European countries and some of the Southern States in the American Union.
In July, we have Eoumania, Bulgaria, Austro-Hungary, South of Kussia, Germany,
Switzerland, France, South of England and a number of states of the American
Union. In August we have our own wheat harvest, beginning in the western part of
Ontario. The crops in the Northwest of Canada are largely, mostly entirely, harvested
during that month. In that month also are harvested the crops of Great Britain,
Denmark and North and South Dakota. In September and October, we have Scotland,
Sweden, Norway and the North of Kussia. In November, Peru, South Africa and
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Argentina, whose harvest is continued into December when we also have the harvest in

Burmah. Showing that every month in the j'^ear there are conditions prevailing in

the wheat market brought about by the larger or smaller quantities produced in

these different countries which, as soon as they are harvested, any surplus is shipped

off to those part swhere the supply is needed.

By Mr. Owen:

Q. Is France an exporter of wheat?

A. France is not an exporter of wheat to any extent.

Q. A small extent?

A. To a very small extent. She also imports a certain amount. I cannot from
memory give the exact figures, but she does not export wheat largely. Argentina is

the greatest competitor we have at present, both for wheat and for flax seed, wheat
particularly, and the quantity of wheat produced there has (exceeded what has been

expected. Last year the harvest was exceptionally good.

Q. The United States has about 150 millions to export, has it not, from 100 to

150 millions?

A. Probably about 100 millions. Their exports are somewhat uncertain now by
reason of the increased home consimiption, owdng to increase in population.

Q. They estimate there that 500 million bushels are needed for home consumption.

All over that amount they export ?

A. I think that is probably about correct.

Q. They have an average crop of about 650 million bushels. Sometimes the crop

goes over TOO million bushels and sometimes it is less than 600 million bushels?

A. Yes, their average varies considerably. For several years past the United

States have not been very large exporters. Last year the amount was larger than the

year before.

PROGRESS AT THE LETHBRIDGE EXPERIMENTAL FARM.

I desire to report briefly in regard to the progress made on the new experimental

farms. The experimental farm at Lethbridge was established last year, and consists

of about 400 acres of land, about 100 acres being capable of irrigation, while the other

300 will be especially used for dry farming. We have been M^orking during the year,

and the area broken on the farm now amounts to about 155 acres, 47 on the irrigable

part and the balance on the dry portion. We have planned to surround the 400 acres

with trees and there is a strip of two rods wide broken up for the tree planting around

the farm inside the fence, amounting to 14 acres in all. That is included in the 155

acres of land broken. Fifty-seven acres have been sown with "winter grain and this is

all looking, so the. superintendent reports to me, at the present time in a very li(\dthy

condition.

To get the purest Turkey wheat which could be had, 60 bushels of hand selectcHl

seed was obtained from the Kansas Agricultural College where they have paid special

attention to purifying this variety of grain. Part of this was Turkey lied Xo. 380.

and part of it is a variety known as Kharkov. I might say that this Turkey Red and

Kharkov have both been tested at the Central Farm. Flour was made from them and
baked into bread and they both compare favourably with Red Fife. Eight acres of

each of these two varieties of wheat have been sown alongside of the same area of the

best Alberta grown Turkey Red which could be found, with the object of finding out

how good the grain is that is being grown there, and how it will compare with

the specially selected strains which have been obtained from Kansas. Another field

of 28 acres has been sown from the imported seed from which it is pro|H^sod to draw
supplies for distribution among the farmers throughout that section of country who
may be anxious to get purer seed than they are now sowing.
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Then to obtain data as to the best time for sowing winter wheat, plots of one-

eighth of an acre each were sown at the middle and end of each month from August
15 to November 30.

To gain information as to the quantity of seed which will produce the best

results, eight plots of one-eighth of an acre each were sown on September 3. The
sowings were from one peck per acre up to two bushels per acre. Some of the farmers
growing winter wheat in that part of the country claim that a peck of seed is plenty

and that it gives you a better crop than two bushels. We are testing that point by
having these different quantities grown sown alongside each other under the same
conditions.

Then plots of 10 different varieties of winter wheat, such as are likely to be

valuable in Alberta, have been sown side by side so that their relative earliness and
productiveness could be compared.

Plots have also been sown with winter barley and winter rye to find out hov,

these varieties of grain will succeed.

In some parts of that country the question of breaking for winter wheat as com-
pared with backsetting is also one which is very warmly discussed, and arrangements

have been made to test the relative value of these two methods of preparation for crop.

There are 30 acres on the dry portion and 41 on the irrigable land which are ready

for spring crops. Clover, roots, vegetables, fruits, &c., will be planted on the field

which has been broken and which has been left for the spring sowings, and special

attention will be paid to alfalfa as a fodder plant from which good results are expected.

Some very good results have been obtained in the Morman settlement near Raymond,
also on the farm which was formerly occupied by our present superintendent of the

Lethbridge Experimental Farm. He did remarkably well with fields of alfalfa about

four miles out of Lethbridge. I also saw some fields near Kaymond, when I was there

two years ago, which were doing remarkably well. I noticed in a recent newspaper
paragraph that the average crop of alfalfa for Colorado is given as something over

four tons per acre for the whole state, indicating that it is a very much more prolific

fodder plant than anything we at present have the command of in Canada. That, of

course, can only be had where the season is favourable, and where three or four crops

can be cut.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. How does that compare with the Canadian average?

A. The Canadian average for ordinary hay is 1:18 tons per acre for 1907. In

1906 it was 1:53, and the average for 1882 to 1907 was 1:47 tons per acre. Alfalfa

as yet is not much grown.

It is proposed on the irrigated land to make careful determinations as to the

amount of water used on each crop, also as to the best time in the season to use water

for the different crops. There is a great deal of difference of opinion in regard to that.

I think there is no doubt that farmers in that section of the country where they

have water often use more of it than is good for the crop, on the principle, probably,

that if you are paying for a thing you may as well use enough of it. But it is wise

to get along with as little water as they possibly can. To determine that point all the

water added to the fields at Lethbridge will be measured, so that the actual quantity

used can be accurately determined.

Supplies of the necessary seeds, fruits, ornamental and forest trees have been

forwarded to Lethbridge. The buildings erected during the year were a dwelling for

the superintendent, a cottage for the men, a barn and stable, and a tool house.

At Lacombe, which is located in Northern Alberta, about 70 miles east of

Edmonton, buildings have also been erected during the past year and the crops that

are being produced are reported in this bulletin. No. 58 of the Experimental Earm
Series (producing bulletin). This is an annual crop bulletin and copies of it are
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available to applicants. Particulars of the crops grown on all the experimental farms

are recorded there. At Lacombe about 125 acres are now ready for crop to be sown
during the coming season. A few x)lots were sown with winter wheats during the

autumn, but it is not expected that winter wheat will succeed very well in that district.

It will, however, have a fair and thorough test. A large quantity of forest trees will

be planted, also fruit trees and small fruits. There will also be ornamental planting

for v/Indbreaks and hedges. It is expected that much of such work will be done dur-

ing the coming season.

By Mr. MacLaren:

Q. Are they increasing the planting of trees in Alberta and Saskatchewan?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you going ahead with that kind of work?
A. I have no figures with me to show exactly what we are doing, but I can give

you a summary which will be in substance correct. I think it is ten years ago since

I published in the annual report of the experimental farms an account of what we
had been doing up to that time in the Northwest in the way of stimulating tree growing
and trying to arouse among the people a sentiment in favour of tree planting. Up
to that time there was no provision made by the Department of the Interior for forestry

work, but subsequently a forestry branch was established in that department, and a

considerable appropriation provided which has enabled them to carry on a very useful

work, giving to every farmer who made application from 500 to 5,000 trees, enough to

make a good sized v\dndbreak such as could be seen by any one travelling through the

country where these tree clumps were located. The Department of the Interior requires

notice from the applicant a year before the time the trees are to be put in, so that

they can in the meantime send one of their officers to inspect the ground and see if

it is in proper condition for i)lanting, and if so the following spring the trees are

forwarded. This useful work has not been allowed to interfere at all with the work
which we have been doing. Our work has been done on a much smaller scale, we
have sent mail packages of 100 trees to each farmer and that has given him a start

in tree planting. Then we have introduced among those young trees sent out the

Caragana or Siberian Pea, and some other ornamental shrubs so that by this means
the farmer has been able to make his home more attractive by having a few trees

and shrubs about his grounds such as he probably had around his home in the east

or elsewhere before going to that western country.

By Mr. MacLaren:

Q. They have had fairly good success and the trees are not dying out?

A. Most of the farmers have had very good success. At the time I last reportotl

on it, we had supplied in all about 12,600 farmers with these trees. We had aho
supplied about 14,000 with packages of tree seeds, the seeds being limited to the green

ash and Manitoba maple, both of which are native to the country. From these pack-

ages of seeds the farmers have generally had in two years a lot of young trees to plant

about their buildings and grounds. The efforts of the Forestry Department have, of

course, ovcrshadovv^ed our own, on account of their magnitude. Still that has not

lessened our efforts and the distribution has been kept up at abo\it the same rate as in

the previous twelve years, and every year there are more applications from farmers

than we can possibly supply, showing that the work is appreciated by the people and
that there is ample room for both organizations to carry on the work.

By Mr. Ratz:

Q. I see that in some instances they plant a lot of the Tvussian willow. Does the

department supply those?

A. The Eussiau wi]l->w?
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Q. Yes?
A. We have supplied in earlier years cuttings of the Russian willow. Is it the

yellow-barked wdllow you are speaking of, the tree with a bright yellow bark?

Q. It has a dark bark. Up there it makes a splendid windbreak and grows very ^

rapidly?

A. There are several varieties known as Russian willows. I do not think we
have distributed any dark-barked willow, but we have distributed a golden-barked

species which is a very rapid grower. We have not for the last four or five years

sent out any of these, our attention having been devoted more particularly to the

sending out of young trees. It often happens that the farmer does not take sufficient

care of cuttings, and they are not so uniformly successful as the young trees which
are sent out well rooted and generally two years old.

THE DISTRIBUTION OF SAMPLES OF SEED GRAIN.

I desire also to draw your attention to the efforts we have been continuing in

regard to the improvement of seed grain by the distribution of packages among
farmers all over the Dominion sent through the mail for that purpose. This distribu-

tion is an annual one. The announcement regarding it is usually made about the

end of November. Farmers are notified through the press that applications can be

made at any tim^e up to the 15th of February for these sample packages, but it is not

practicable to receive applications as a rule after that date, because by that time we
have such a large accumulation of requests, generally from fifteen to twenty thousand

or more, so that it is as much as we can do to get those off through the mail before

seeding time begins.

Last year in carrying that arrangement out we distributed 42,1Y5 samples, one
sample to each applicant. Hence we have sent to over 40,000 homes throughout
Canada a sample of one of these useful products during the past year. We are now
busy trying to catch up to the big accumulation which has come in to us before the

15th of February, 1908. About 22,000 have already been sent out and there are

probably 15,000 to 20,000 more to be distributed so that we shall be very busy at this

work until seeding time.

The proportion of samples of each sort of grain sent out in 1907 was as follows :

—

Oats 13,679

Barley 4,074

Wheat 7,769

Peas 623

Indian corn 1,383

Potatoes 14,647

Total 42,175

By Mr. Lalor:

Q. What size are the packages of grain?

A. The packages of wheat and barley each weigh five lbs., enough for a 20th

acre plot. The packages of oats weigh four lbs., sufficient also for a 20th acre plot.

The corn is sent in three lb. packages, and those of peas and potatoes are the same
weight. Thus there are three sizes—5 lbs. for the wheat and barley, 4 lbs. for the

oats, and three lbs. for the other things sent out.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. Where is this grown?
A. Most of the wheat, barley and oats are from the branch experimental farms

in the Northwest. This year our supply came chiefly from Brandon because the

grain at Indian Head was touched with frost. We grow some of the grain here, not
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very much because we have not sufficient land. Three carloads were brought this

year from Brandon and that was supplemented with such material as we could grow
here. ]^otatoes are usually all grown here.

Q. Is the wheat grown at Brandon quite suitable to send to different parts of

the province of Ontario?
A. Yes. In our experience it does very well. We have not found any disadvantage

from change of climate or soil. The question of the modification of these different

sorts of grain by the influence of climate on the crop has perhaps less weight with

the expert grain grower than it has with the farmer; and there is a growing idea

among those who have experimented most that a good sound variety of plump seed

will succeed in almost any district where the soil is good, and climatic conditions

favourable.

Q. It is all right for the farmer in Ontario to make an interchange of wheats

with his brother farmer in the province of Manitoba or elsewhere in the Dominion of

Canada ?

A. We have found that this can be done quite safely in our own experience

Mr. Blain.—That is not generally understood, I think.

By Mr. Martin (Wellington) :

Q. Would the reverse be as advantageous, tnat is to say, the farmer taking seed

from Ontario to the west?

A. That has been done repeatedly. Scarcely a farmer goes to the northwest

from Ontario who does not take some seed grain with him, and I have not heard any
bad results from this except when he takes soft wheats, the introduction of which is

likely to lessen the value of the wheat crop generally in such locality.

By Mr. MacLar-en:

Q. Have they not had great difficulty in the west with wild mustard?
A. They have had a good deal of trouble in some localities.

Q. Are they overcoming the difficulty in any way?
A. The farmers there are beginning to fight the weeds now. They realize that

they have got to fight them sooner or later in a very determined way if they are

going to keep up their average crops.

Q. Do you succeed in sending out pure samples?

A. We have always cleaned all the grain sent out very thoroughly so that there

is no possibility of any weed seeds going out to farmers in that way.

By Mr. Lalor:

Q. Some years ago I was informed that they were using a solution for getting

rid of wild mustard. Has that been applied with any success ?

A. To some extent it has. Sulphate of iron and sulphate of copper are the
chemicals used. These are dissolved in water, put in a spraying apparatus and driven
through the fields at a time when the wheat is perhaps six to eight inches high and
the mustard has grown perhaps as high as the wheat or a little higher. This solution

is then sprayed over those parts of the field where the mustard is most abundant.
The solution does not do the wheat any harm, but kills the mustard. It is rather a
laborious undertaking and does not comm.end itself to many farmers. If they are
advised to give their fields a sprinkling in order to kill these weeds, a few may do it,

but it has not been generally practised, although the results have been well written
up in the agricultural journals, reports, bulletins, &c.

By Mr. MacLaren:

Q. Wliat have you found to be the best eyst^iui for killing the mustard plant,
exterminating it altogether?
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A. Pulling it. That is what we have had to do on the experimental farm here.

It took us nearly ten years before we got quite rid of it. Farmers visiting us can
still occasionally see a mustard plant, and in season we get frequent reminders if any
of these plants are to be seen in flower. They frequently tell us that was a thing

they had seen before but did not expect to find it on the experimental farm. I think

we are pretty well rid of mustard now, but it was a very difiicult thing to eradicate.

By Mr. Telford:

Q. What is the best cure for the Ox-eye daisy?

A. That is a biennial plant, which is not very difficult to get rid of. The first

year from seed it makes a good start, the next year it blooms and then the plant dies.

Knowing the life history it is easy to suggest a remedy. If you plough up the fields

when most of the plants are in their first year's growth you get rid of the greater

part of them and prevent the seed from forming the next year. Of course, one season

will not eradicate such a strong growing plant, but a good rotation of crops will kill

the daisy in a very short time.

^ By Mr. Smith (Oxford):

Q. What about the Sow thistle ?

A. That is a very difficult weed to get rid of. It is enormously abundant in

different parts of Quebec and a great many parts of Ontario too. It is a perennial

plant with a strong and vigorous root system, so you have to thoroughly cultivate the

ground to destroy it. Fallowing and growing hoed crops which v/ill admit of the

frequent use of the cultivator will generally give satisfactory results. Corn grown
in hills so that the cultivator can be used in both directions will soon clean the land.

If you are thorough in your cultivation you can, with such treatment, get rid of the

greater part of that weed in one year.

By Mr. Telford:

Q. In rough land where you cannot cultivate what is the best method of getting

rid of the Ox-eye daisy ?

A. The best way would be to cut the hay, or v/hatever crop you have, before the

daisy gets ripe.

Q. On rocky land, fit only for pasture, is where it is worse?

A. Yes. I know it is most difficult to eradicate because the plant is a strong

grower. I do not know that you could do anything on land like that where you

could not cut the crop, except cut it out with a hoe.

Q. Will salt kill it?

A. No, I do not think you could use anything for the Ox-eye daisy that would not

destroy the grass as well. It is one of these weeds which would require, under such

conditions, a good deal of labour to exterminate it. It is important that none of the

flowers should be allowed to form seed.

EXPERIMENTS IN THE PEACE RIVER COUNTRY.

I desire to say also a few words about some experiments we have been trying

during the past year in the Peace Piver country. Last spring some arrangements were

made for carrying on trial plots of different sorts of farm crops in the Peace Piver

district at Fort Vermilion, which is about 400 miles north from Edmonton in a straight

line. This is a sample of oats which was grown there in 1907 (producing sample).

The man who was conducting these experiments, Mr. Fred. Lawrence, could not get

up to the country in time to sow his seed early, and in the autumn the weather was
cold and backward, much the same as it was in most other parts of Alberta and
Saskatchewan, and the crops were caught by frost before they were fully ripe. It was



PROGRESS WITH AGRICULTURAL EXPERIMENTS 205

APPENDIX No. 2

a cold season to begin with, and growth was slow and there was nothing got from the

grain experiments this year which was satisfactory, for the reason that the frost

affected all the crops. Here is a sample of wheat (producing sample) grown in 1906,

which Mr. Lawrence sent down from there. This sample weighs 64 pounds to the

bushel, and the variety, I believe, is the Ladoga wheat. In many localities on the

Peace river grain is grown in considerable quantities, and usually it is said to ripen

well. The Hudson Bay Company have a good sized roller mill at Vermilion, and the

wheat they grind is produced in that district. From this mill the company is able to

furnish a good deal of flour for their northern posts. It is quite evident, therefore,

that wheat is grown there, and as a rule is said to produce good crops, but last season

being an exceptional one we could not expect to have any great success, Mr. Lawrence,

who was in charge of the experiments, left Edmonton for Vermilion on May 1, and it

was about a fortnight' or three weeks after that before he could get his seed in. There-

fore, it was a late sowing. He sent us a monthly record of the climatic conditions.

He was furnished with meteorological instruments and we have particulars of the

sunshine, the temperature and the rainfall for last summer, which are very interesting.

In July the amount of sunshine was 2Y9 hcrars, whereas at Ottawa we had 235 hours. In
August the sunshine was 278 hours, v/hereas in Ottawa it was 242 hours. Similarly

an increase is shown in September. The records of the sunshine show how the length

of day gives the crops there a great advantage. On some of the days in th middle of

summer the length of sunshine was 15 hours and over, beginning very early in the

morning and extending quite late into the evening. While we do not know exactly

how much advantage results from these long hours of sunshine, there is no doubt they

have an im^portant influence on the early ripening of grain, and will doubtless be of

great advantage to the future of that country.

By Mr. MacLaren:

Q. Will there be a time when we can grow grain largely in that country?

A. I hardly like to venture an opinion, I know so little about it. From the

information we have been able to get it is evident that there are quite large stretches

in many parts of the country where wheat can be grown, but the general conditions

liave rather impressed me with the idea that it would perhaps be better for mixed
farming than for wheat growing. I think a very large part of the country will be

favourable for settlement eventually. We have this encouraging fact that wheat has

been grown there weighing 64 pounds to the bushel, and if it can be grown in one
locality to such advantage there seems no good reason why it cannot be grown in

others. Of course, the soil varies and the conditions vary in different districts, so that

one may be more favourable for the growing of wheat than another, but from what we
have been able to learn there seem to be large districts all through that part of north-

west Canada fairly suitable for the production of wheat. Should these wheat areas

prove insufficient to admit of much export trade, still if farmers can grow their own
wheat in the smaller areas that are suitable for its cultivation, and raise cattle and
produce dairy products in other districts, that will be a great help in settling that

territory, because the farmers will be able to grow their own food as well as feed for

their cattle without sending away for it.

I have brouglit photographs (producing photographs) to show you how pumpkins,
squash and potatoes grow in that country. These were grown at Peace River crossing,

about 300 miles southwest of Vermilion.

Q. If you could guarantee the growing of such crops it would be all riglit ^

A. Yes, as far as they go these products are all right. They were brought down by
Mr. Lawrence to Edmonton, where, as they were perishable, he had them photographed.

I think this is all I had arranged to bring before you at the present time, but
I shall be glad to answer any questions that any of you gentlemen may desire to put
to me.
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By Mr. Lalor:

Q. In connection with samples applied for, are you able to supply all the applic-

ants as a rule?

A, All those whose applications are in by February 15. Even if not received on

that date, if the post office stamp shows that the application was mailed on the 15th

it e:oes into our list and is supplied to the applicant.

By Mr. MacLaren:

Q. Would the Peace River country make a good dairying country, have they got a

good supply of water and all that sort of thing, and are the winters severe?

A. In some places the water is scarce and difficult to get, but I have not been able

to learn yet what varieties of cultivated grasses they can grow there. We sent seed

of some of the best varieties to be tested last year, but the grasshoppers were said to

be troublesome last year, and consumed the young growth.

Q. The experiments have not gone far enough yet?

A. It will require two or three years to get things established. It is to be

regretted that we know so little about that countrj^ notwithstanding the number of

people who have been there, No doubt we shall have fuller information before long.

By Mr. Enowles:

Q. You have not been up there yourself, have you, doctor .

A. No, I have not. I should like to go for some reasons, but it takes nearly all the

summer to get there and return, and it would be difficult for me, with so mudh
important work on my hands, to give that much time to one section of the country.

Having read over the preceding transcript of my evidence, I certify it correct.

WM. SAUNDERS,
Director of Dominion Experimental Farms.
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CHEMICAL BESEARCH IN CANADIAN AGRICULTURE.

House of Commons,

Committee Room No. 34,

Wednesday, March 18, 1908.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met here this

day at 11 o'clock, a.m., the Chairman, Mr. McKenzie, presiding.

The Chairman.—We have with us to-day Mr. Frank T. Shutt, M.A., Chemist

of the Experimental Farms, who will address the committee on various agricultural

subjects that have engaged his attention.

Mr. Shutt.—A period of two years has elapsed since I last had the honour of

addressing this Committee, during this time the work of the Chemical Division of the

Experimental Farms has progressed satisfactorily. Further information of a useful

character has been obtained from pursuing certain investigations of a fundamental
nature and which for many ytars past, have been studied. I refer, for instance, to the

problem of the economic improvement of soils and allied questions. We have also,

in addition to the continuance of these researches, taken up m.any new problems in con-

nection with Canadian agriculture, affecting one or other of its special branches, e.g.,

fruit-growing, dairying, &c. Some of these are still in progress, while many of them
have already been put before the farming public in bulletin form or in our annual

report. It will be my pleasure to-day to bring before you the salient points of some of

the more important of these investigations, trusting you will find the account o.^

general interest and value.

Before entering upon this account, I should like to say a word or two regarding

a branch of our work that furnishes little if any matter for our publications, but yet

is one of the greatest importance and value and which is very highly appreciated by
our farmers. It is one that brings the Chemical Division into direct and immediate
contact with the farming Qommamity—a most desirable matter. I refer to the answer-

ing of agricultural questions received hy mail and the examination of samples of soils,

feeding stuffs,* waters, &c., sent in by the farmers. Our correspondence constantly

increases, and my own time is largely occupied in dealing with it. The demands for

chemical assistance in the way of analysis are far beyond what we can keep up with,

though every effort is made in this direction. The rapid settlement that has gone on

lately in our northwestern provinces and British Columbia, has added largely to our

work in this connection. Every day the mails bring us more work of this character.

To meet in some measure this increase of analytical work, a further assistant to the

chemical staff was appointed last June. This, of course, has allowed us to ex<:end our

usefulness, but I doubt if we could keep pace with the growing diMuands with a staff

of twice its present size. My object in mentioning this is merely to show that there

is a very keen and growing appreciation on the part of our people for assistance of a

chemical nature, and I think this should be highly gratifying to all concerned. Tt

indicates to me that our chemical work for the past twenty years is bearing fruit

and that our people arc learning the value of chemical infornuitiou as applied to

practical agriculture.

2—19 207 • ,
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PROBABLE VALUE OP PEAS AS A CROP FOR THE MAINTENANCE OF SOIL FERTILITY IN THE

NORTHWEST.

It may possibly surprise many of you to hear me speak of the desirability, the

necessity, of carefnliy studying the effect of continuous grain growing on our north-

western soils. Yet, from such investigations as we have been able to carry on, and
from the experience gained in other parts of the world, I am led to say that it is a

subject demanding our immediate and serious consideration. It is quite true that

much of the soil over the wheat growing districts of Manitoba and Saskatchewan
is to-day very rich, in many cases excessively rich, inducing- a growth of straw at the

expense of grain if there be an abundance of moisture in the soil. Nevertheless, we
have undoubted evidence of the most reliable character that a soil does deteriorate

under a system that calls simply for grain growing and summer-fallow, and there are

not wanting farmers in our ISTorthwest to-day who tell us that after 20 or 25 years of

such practice that the yield is falling off. But apart from such testimony we have

facts as revealed by chemical analysis and which cannot be gainsaid, that soils under
such a system of farming are losing considerable amounts of humus and nitrogen in

addition to the plant food removed and lost to the soil in selling the crop. All

operations that tend to open up the soil—ploughing, harrowing, &c.—must result in

the oxidation of humas and the loss of nitrogen. Summer-fallov/ing e:iuses the loss

of a larger amount of nitrogen than is removed in the grain of the following crop.

This fact Ave established by our researches two or three years ego.

But you will say, summer fallowing is necessary, is indispensable. I believe it.

It is necessary for conserving moisture for the succeeding crop, for destroying~weeds,

for making available plant food in the soil. Nevertheless it is a v/asteful practice in

so far as hummus and nitrogen are concerned. Another and important feature in con-

nection with this loss of humus, is that the fibre that binds and holds the soil is

largely gone and as a result there is a considerable drifting and loss of surface soil

under high winds. This is very pronounced in some districts where fallowing has

been in vogue for a number of years.

Naturally clover, as a legume and a nitrogen gatherer would at once suggest itself

as a crop to repair this waste, and for the past three or four years some farmers in the

Northwest have made intelligent and persistent efforts with it, and in many instances

they have been successful. Nevertheless, for several reasons, it has not proved

altogether satisfactory, and we have been looking about for another legume to take its

place, one that will make its growth in the season of seeding and furnish humus
forming material and nitrogen. May not peas fulfil these requirements? It is a

fairly quick growing annual, a nitrogen gatherer and one that will give a good yield

if climatic conditions are at all favourable. I would suggest—the matter is still in

the experimental stage—that in districts where the storing up of soil-moisture is not

necessary the peas might be sown in the spring, and the growth v/ould probably be

sufficient to keep down the weeds. The crops would be ploughed under when the pods

are beginning to set. In some districts it would be advisable to try a modification of

this plan, say, to fallow the land for a month, till the middle of June, and then sow
the peas. The crop would certainly make a considerable draft on the soil moisture at

first, but this loss v/ould be reduced as the peas grew and formed a more or less dense

mat of foliage shading the land and protecting it from drying winds. Very probably

in eight weeks from the time of sowing, the crop would be ready to turn under. In
the following table I present the data from a crop of peas two months old.
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Sown, May 27, collected July 26.
Foliage
per Acre.

Roots
per Acre.

Tons. Lbs. Tons. Lbs.

Yield per acre
Dry matter
Organic and volatile matter.
Ash
Insoluble ash
Phosphoric acid
Potash
Nitrogen

12 1,013 1 1,132

3,376
3,010
366
119
?2

149
119

472
412
GO
37
3
6
10

You will notice that the root system is not extensive, nothing like it is in alfalfa

for instance. But in the stems and leaves there are large amounts of humus-forming

material and nitrogen. This crop furnished nitrogen at the rate of 130 lbs. per acre,

an amount practically identical with many of the clovers. All this nitrogen has not

been appropriated by the peas from the atmosphere, but most probably the greater part

is from that source, say approximately 100 lbs. per acre. The amounts of phosphoric

acid and potash have been drawn from the soil, but in the decay of the peas, subsequent

to the turning under of the crop, they are rendered available for the grain of the

succeeding season.

It is impossible to say as yet how far this proposition of sowing and turning

under pease for keeping up the fertility of our Northwest soils may prove su.ccess-

ful, but I think it well worthy of trial.

No soil, however rich, can be continually cropped with grain (without manure)
without in time showing exhaustion. The most economic way to prevent this exhaus-

tion is to occasionally have a legume crop, and especially is this true when the farmer

does not produce manure. We have shown, indisputably, from field and laboratory

experiments that the humus and nitrogen contents may be materially increased by
this method of green manuring, and we have am^ple data to show the largely increased

yields of all kinds of farm crops succeeding clover or other legume.

Mr. Perley.—Would it be necessary to turn under the peas to obtain this manu-
rial value?

Mr. Shutt.—Yes. The best time would be when about one-third of the crop

has begun to set its pods. It could be rolled and disced and then ploughed under.

Mr. Martin (P.E.I.)—Would wheat ploughed under have the same clfcct?

Mr. Shutt.—No, because wheat is not a nitrogen gatherer. Of course the plough-

ing under of wheat would, like any green crop, add to the soil's humus and improve

it to some extent, but I do not think the plan an economical one, and certainly not

so effective as using a legume. Buckwheat and rye are frequently employed in this

way to add humus when the soil is too poor to grow clover.

Mr. Smith (Oxford).—Docs inoculation with cultures increase the ability of

clover to obtain their nitrogen ?

Mr. Shutt.—It may, but inoculation is not generally necessary, as the gorma

or bacteria are widely present in our soils. Cultures are beneficial when the roots

of the legume do not show nodules. Isolated cases have come under our notice where
inoculation would be desirable, but there is no general necessity for the practice.

Q. How does the clover obtain this free nitrogen from the air?

2—19i
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Mr. Shutt.—It is through the agency of certain germs or bacteria present in the

soil which attach themselves to the roots of the legume. ISTodules then form on the

roots. These bacteria can appropriate the nitrogen gas in the soil, and pass it on to

the host plant, where it is built up into the tissue of leaf, stem and root.

Q. What are cultures?

Mr. Shutt.—They are preparations which furnish these nitrogen-appropriating

bacteria.

Mr. WiLMOT.—At what age would you plough down the clover?

Mr. Shutt.—Preferably soon after it has begun to flower. I think two months'

growth would give in most districts a large amount of material of high fertilizing

value.

Mr. Martin (P.E.I.)—What value do you assign to such a crop of clover?

Mr. Shutt.—It should be approximately the equivalent of* a dressing of ten tons

of ordinary barnyard manure per acre.

Mr. Martin, P.E.I.—How would the cost compare with the manure?

Mr. Shutt.—It should be much cheaper than manure for it can be obtained from

10 to 12 lbs. of clover seed, while manure possibly is worth from $1 to $2 per ton at

a low estimate.

Mr. ScHELL (Oxford).—Would the roots of the clover crop have as much manurial

value as the foliage ?

Mr. Shutt.—No, not quite. Our results show about 90 lbs. of nitrogen in the

foliage (per acre) to about 50 lbs. in the roots. Alfalfa contains a larger proportion

than this in the roots, as it has a very extensive root system. Peas, as we have seen,

has a much smaller proportion in its roots ; its root system is not large.

Mr. Martin (P.E.I.)—In feeding a ton of clover hay, how much of its nitrogen

is lost?

Mr. Shutt.—Possibly with care 70 per cent of its nitrogen could be returned to

the soil in the manure produced. The amount will vary somewhat according to the

nature of the animal and the care taken to retain the liquid portion of the manure.

Q. Would it not be better then to feed the clover than to turn it under?

Mr. Shutt.—Undoubedly, if you have the cattle to feed it to and have the manure
carefully looked after and put back on the land. This does not affect my proposition

thf t clover is a cheap and effective manure, especially on farms where sufficient cattle

aie not kept to maintain fertility.

Q. On what basis do you make this comparison of manure and clover?

Mr. Shutt.—Simply on the nitrogen-content of the two materials. We find by

analysis that a fair crop of clover on an acre of land contains approximately as many
po^mds of nitrogen as will be found in ten tons of ordinary fresh barnyard manure.

Mr. Broder.—There is the labour of putting the manure on the field?

Mr. Shutt.—Yes, and of course there is the labour of sowing the clover seed and

turning under the crop.

You must not think I am advocating this use of clover as a substitute for manure,

but as supplementary to it. You must also remember that on many grain farms in

the Northwest there is but little manure made.
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Q. I know farmers that sow clover with all their grain and plough under the

clover in the fall?

Mr. Shutt.—An excellent practice. In districts where the clover lives through the

winter and when corn or potatoes are to follow, I would advise leaving the clover until

the following spring, allowing one or two v/eeks growth, according to the season, and

then ploughing under.

Mr. Martin^ P.E.I.—I have heard it said that if a ton of clover hay were fed to a

steer the manure would be worth $6 a ton?

Mr. Shutt.—Possibly so, I have not the figures by me. The calculation is made
by assuming the plant food constituents in the manure are worth what we should have

to pay for them in commercial fertilizers and assuming that approximately 80 per

cent of the plant food in the clover is to be found in the manure. I think that the

statement should read that the manure produced from feeding one ton of clover hay

would be worth for its plant food about $6.

Mr. Perley.—Is the nitrogen in the vines or in the roots of the legume?

Mr. Shutt.—-In both. In clover the proportion is about two-thirds in the vines

and one-third in the roots. In alfalfa there is almost as much in the roots of a fully

grown crop as in the foliage. In peas about one-tenth only in the roots.

Q. Where do the nodules on the roots come from, and how are they formed?

Mr. Shutt.—The nodules are excrescences from the roots containing the nitrogen

fixing bacteria. When the bacteria (which are present in the soil) attach themselves

to the roots an irritation is set up and the roots form these nodules to inclose the

bacteria.

Q. Can the legume absorb nitrogen through its leaves?

Mr. Shutt.—No, not so far as we know. The absorption is by means of the

bacteria in the nodules on the roots.

Q. If there are no nodules there is no appropriation of this nitrogen?

Mr. Shutt.—Quite so, without the nodules there are no bacteria present (so far

as we know) to absorb free nitrogen. Without them the clover can only use the com-

bined nitrogen of the soil (nitrates) like other crops. The clover in such a case is not

a nitrogen accumulator.

Q. What is your opinion about inoculation?

Mr. Shutt.—I do not think it is generally necessary. We have found wherd
there has been failure to obtain a good crop of clover that in the majority of cases

the fault was with the soil rather than due to the absence of the nitrogen-fixing

bacteria. The soil may require draining, it may be sour and need liming, it may be

poor in humus and dry out too readily, it may be too heavy and in clods.

When it is thought that inoculation may prove beneficial one of the best plans is

to obtain some surface soil from a field growing clover, broadcast it over the field

that it is wished to inoculate at seeding time and harrow in, 300 lbs. per acre will be

sufiicient.

Mr. Meigs.—IIow can you make clover grow on sandy loam?

Mr. Shutt.—Nothing is bitter than a dressing ot" barnyard manure disced or

harrowed into the soil. Supplement this with a coating of wood ashes, say 30 to 40
bushels per acre, also harrowed in.

If the soil is altogether too poor for clover, I \\ould advise growing buckwheat or

rye and turning them under while green. Then try clover the next year.

Q. If you have not good wood ashes?

Mr. Shutt.—You can then use 300 lbs. basic slag and 150 lbs. muriate of potash.

Broadcast and harrow in when seeding.
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Mr. Martin (P.E.I.)—Do you say that your experiments have shown that summer
fallowing is hard on the soil?

Mr. Shutt.—Yes. It tends to the destruction of the vegetable matter of the soil

and the loss of nitrogen. The amount of nitrogen lost in this way is greater than that

removed in a grain crop.

Mr. Martin.—And you consider the remedy is in clover growing?

Mr. Shutt.—When there is no manure, when a proper rotation of crops cannot be

followed then deterioration of the soil must result unless there is occasionally a

legume, clover or peas for instance, groAvn and turned underV

Under existing conditions summer-fallowing cannot be dispensed with, but we
ought to minimize its evils as far as possible by some such means as I have advocated.

Q. Why do you consider fallov/ing indispensable?

Mr. Shutt.—^Because with continuous grain growing the fields become very

weedy. If there is no hoed crop then there must be fallowing. Further, fallowing is

necessary to conserve moisture for succeeding crops, a very important matter in some

districts.

Mr. Broder.—Would it not be better to clean the land with some crop?

Mr. Shutt.—Yes, certainly. Roots or corn or potatoes are the crops we should

recv/Hiriend for this purpose.

Mr. ScHELL (Oxford).—Is it not true that nitrogen liberated by fallowing is

assimilated by the following crop?

Mr. Shutt.—That is quite true as regards the nitrates so formed, provided they

are not leached away in the meantime. Much available nitrogen is prepared in this

way and the benefit is to be observed in the crop following the fallow. Nevertheless,

the fact remains that this advantage is accompanied by a serious loss of nitrogen to

the soil, partly by denitrification, partly by leaching of nitrates.

Mr. ScHAFFNER.—We in Manitoba must fallow once at least every third year or

wv should have no crop. Are you going to give us a substitute for summer-fallowing ?

Mr. Shutt.—No, not altogether. I think so long as the farmers do not or cannot
kee^ animals, so long as they cannot have a rotation of crops, so long as they grow
grain and nothing else, there must be summer-fallowing. But could it not be modi-

fied according to some such plan as I have suggested—a combination of fallowing and
soil enrichment by growing and turning under pease?

Mr. Schell (Oxford).—Why, do you think, they resort to this summer-fallow-

ing in the Northwest?

Mr. Shutt.—Simply to keep down the weeds and conserve moisture; it is not a

question of liberation of plant food. If the season is favourable the larger number
of the soils are rich enough at present to give good yields.

Q. What do you advise?

Mr. Shutt.—I would suggest, in such districts as will not grow clover success-

fully, to cultivate the land until the middle of June and then sow peas. In two

months' time the crop should be sufiiciently advanced to plough under.

Hon. Mr. Douglas.—We are not concerned about the deterioration of the soil.

We have too much strength in the soil and we get too much straw.

Mr. Shutt.—That is very true of some soils
;
they do not need enrichment. But

soils cannot last for ever under such treatment, no matter how rich, and there are

many soils now that show immistakeably signs' of deterioration.
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Hon. Mr. Douglas.—We got 40 bushels per acre last year from soil that had

been cultivated for 26 years.

OVIr. Shutt.—Undoubtedly there are some soils as yet over-rich in plant food,

but that does not affect my contention respecting the soils of the Northwest in general.

Mr. Bare.—Would it not be difficult to plough under peas?

Mr. Shutt.—The crop could be rolled and then disced.

Mr. Knowles.—Could not the soil be ploughed a little deeper? In such a way
could not the soil be kept fertile where it is of great depth?

Mr. Shutt.—To a certain extent deeper ploughing in such soils would obscure

the deterioration I have spoken of. It would not, however, alter the facts of the case.

Mr. Telford.—Will not roots and worms bring up the plant food ?

Mr. Shutt.—Yes, to a limited extent, but there are no worms in the soil, gener-

ally speaking, of the Northwest.

Mr. ScHAFFNER.—This matter of fallowing is of the greatest importance to the

Northwest; do I understand you are arguing against it?

Mr. Shutt.—No, I am not arguing against it where it is necessary to conserve

moisture. I do not think until there is more mixed farming that we can give up
fallowing. But if we cannot abandon the system we can recognize the injury it may
be doing and endeavour in some measure to lessen that injury. And this I thinlc can

be done in some parts in some such manner as I have suggested.

improvement of muck soils.

A considerable amount of experimental work has been done with muck or peaty

soils, both on our own farm at Ottawa and on farms in various parts of the Dominion.
The reclamation of the soils is a very difficult problem and it is one not yet entirely

solved. Some of these soils have yielded more or less readily to treatment; others

have obstinately refused to improve though treated in various ways.

As you are aware, such soils are essentially vegetable organic matter. In some
Ihis organic matter is well decomposed, in others it is comparatively ' raw,' and in

many instances is very acid. In some there may be considerable amounts of clay,

and in others the mineral or rock matter may be present in traces only.

The first desideratum is through drainage. It does not seem desirable to lay tiles

at th"e outset, but to take off the surface water by open ditches. This will allow the

land to become more firm and compact by settling; it will also aerate the soil and
sweeten it. Tile drainage may then be put in.

If the subsoil is not too deep to be reached by the plough, a certain admixture
of it with the surface soil will be of benefit. Sometimes we can conveniently and at

not too great a cost put on a coating of sand and clay and thus improve them, but
unfortunately, circumstances do not often allow this method of imjirovement.

Wood ashes make an excellent fertilizer for such soils, because they furnish the

mineral elements lacking in the muck, and at the same time correct the natural acidity

of the muck. Frequently there is a deposit of marl in tlu^ neighbourhood, and this

has proved an excellent amendment for muck soils. Gas liuio cnn also bo used to

advantage for them.

In the place of wood ashes I would suggest basic slag and muriate of potash.

Basic slag contains from 15 to 20 per cent phosphoric acid and a large percentage of

free lime. I should advise say 500 lbs. of basic slag and 200 lbs. nuiriate of potash,

harrowing in the mixture.
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Further, at the outset a dressing of barnyard manure will be useful, and this

probably for three reasons

:

1. It supplies the young plant with immediately available food. In crude muck,
though there is plenty of nitrogen, it is not in a condition that is assimilable to crops.

There is practically no potash or lime or phosphoric acid in crude muck that can at

once be utilized by crops. All these elements are furnished in the most desirable

forms by barnyard manure.
2. Until muck has been well drained and aerated and sweetened it will be prac-

tically destitute of those microscopic forms of life that prepare the food in the soil

for our farm crops. All fertile soils teem with this germ life. Barnyard manure
introduces these germs, it inoculates the soil, as it were, with bacteria which will

further decompos-e the muck and convert its nitrogen into nitrates.

3. Manure probably improves the physical condition of muck, making it better

suited to the growth of crops.

Mr. Broder.—^You don't think there is any reclamation without drainage?

Mr. Shutt.—Nothing can be done until you get rid of the free water. Drainage
is essential for this purpose.

Q. Do you consider the nitrogen in muck as unavailable?

. Mr. Shutt.—Mucks differ somewhat in this respect; in some the vegetable matter

is more decomposed than in others. There are certain mucks that cair be taken direct

from the bogs and used as a top , dressing on soils with good effect, but they are

exceptional. In the majority of cases the muck at the outset possesses very little, if

any, available nitrogen.

Q. Why is this?

Mr. Shutt.—The muck is acid or sour. Again it is full of water, to the exclusion

of air. Under these conditions the nitrifying bacteria (which prepare the nitrogenous

food for crops) cannot exist.
*

Mr. Wilson (Russell).—You mentioned Thomas phosphate. Is its phosphoric acid

soluble?

Mr. Shutt.—It is not immediately soluble in water, but becomes more or less

quickly available for crop use in the soil. It is not so active a phosphatic fertilizer

as superphosphate, but for certain soils—those that are sour, deficient in lime and

muck soils—it is better, by reason of its alkaline character.

Q. How rich is it in phosphoric acid?

Mr. Shutt.—It varies in composition. Usually the phosphoric acid lies between

15 per cent and 20 per cent. It should be bought on analysis.

Another point is its degree of fineness. The finer it is the more readily does its

phosphoric acid become available. Information as to 'fineness' should be obtained

before purchasing.

Q. Would it be better than bone-meal?

Mr. Shutt.— Tes, for such soils as we are considering.

Mr. Telford.—What is the proper treatment of an orchard, as regards its soil?

Mr. Shutt.—It would be impossible now to discuss such a subject at all fully;

it would require probably two hours to present the matter in all its phases. One or two

features might, however, be spoken of briefly

:

1. To keep up fertility either manure must be applied or a green crop of some

legume occasionally ploughed under. In addition it may be desirable to give a

dressing of wood ashes, say 40 bushels per acre. Bone meal 300 lbs. and muriate

of potash 100 lbs. per acre could be used instead of wood ashes. •
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2. In localities where drought may prevail it would not be advisable to sow the

clover or other ' cover ' crop early in the season, for such a practice would lead to the

drying out of the soil and the trees would suffer. Cultivation of the soil to conserve

moisture is, under such circumstances, essential, and may be necessary from the open-

ing of the season until July 1 or 15. The cov^r crop can be sown, and if the season

is at all favourable there will be a good growth before the winter sets in.

This whole matter of orchard cultivation was fully dealt with before this com-

mittee about three years ago.

Mr. Christie.—How would it do to sow buckwheat in the orchard and then turn

in the hogs and hens to eat it ?

Mr. SiiUTT.—I would never advise any such practice.

Mr. ScHELL.—You would sow clover?

Mr. Shutt.—Yes, there is no better crop for cover purposes perhaps, but do not

sow too early if the district is one subject to early drought.

ALKALI SOILS.

It is perhaps- desirable that I should refer, briefly, to a bulletin we have just issued

entitled 'Alkali Soils, their nature and reclamination.' In 1904 and again in 1906

T spent some time' in the semi-arid districts of British Columbia and Alberta, studying

their agricultural possibilities and, incidentally, the question of alkali—its occurrence

and removal. The results of this work and of subsequent analyses of many samples
of alkali soil have given us certain information which we felt sure would prove useful

to those already settled, or about to settle, in areas where alkali occurs. Hence, this

bulletin, which treats of the whole question in its various phases.

Mr. Lewis.—Does alkali go very deep into the soil?

Mr. Shutt.—Not necessarily. The depth to which it may be found will vary

somewhat with the season of the year and with the rainfall. Usually it is confined

to the first few inches, though it may extend to a depth of several feet.

Mr. Jackso]^.—In the district between Winnipeg and Stony Mountain, 30 miles

northeast of Winnipeg there is plenty of rain and yet alkali is found in spots all over
that territory. How do you explain that?

Mr. Shutt.—What is the precipitation?

Mr. Jackson.—I don't know, but there is plenty of rain to raise crops.

Mr. Shutt.—There is no doubt that the occurrence of alkali is due in the first

place to insufficiency of rainfall. Secondly it may result from lack of drainage.

Possibly this district is underlaid by an impervious hardpan which prevents drainage.

The matter would have to be studied on the spot and certain analyses made. Further,
some definite information is required regarding the rainfall of the district.

Mr. Lewis.—To what is alkali attributable?

Mr. S iiUTT.—Desintegration and decomposition of the rock matter oi our soils

is constantly, continually taking place. Soils are being formed just as soils are being
worn out, as regards their sojuble mineral constituents. These soluble mineral salts

arise from the ' v/eathering ' of the rock matter of the soil. This weathering takes
place here as well as in semi-arid districts, but in the latter it accumulates, forming
' alkali,' whereas in humid districts, where there is plenty of rain, these salts are
washed down and drained away. The formation of alkali is, as you see, therefore, due
to certain climatic conditions.
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Q. Why is it on the surface?

Mr. Si-iUTT.—Evaporation starts capillary action in the soil and this brings the

solution of these salts to the surface ; the escape or evaporation of the water that held

them in solution leaves the salts (alkali) on or near the surface of the soil.

Q. Would deep ploughing help matters?

Mr. Shutt.—Yes, very considerably. We advocate deep ploughing and frequent

cultivation.

Mr. Crawford.—What effect would manure have ?

Mr. Shutt.—It is very useful. May I read from the bulletin what I say on that

point? I think the matter is dealt with there fairly fully.

'Application of manure.—Heavy and repeated applications of manure—more
especially horse manure—have been found of great value for alkali spots. This treat-

ment is frequently entirely successful in reclaiming the soil in the course of two or

three seasons and may be confidently recommended for trial in cases where the alkali

content is not high.
' Possibly the beneficial action of manure is in three directions : First, as

1^ furnishing immediately available food for the young plant. Thus, while the rootlets

are in the most tender and susceptible stage they readily find nourishment, and the

crop is forced along until it has gained suf&cient robustness and vigour to withstand

a certain amount of alkali. Secondly, the mixing of the manure \^ith the soil must
vastly improve the mechanical condition or texture of the latter, rendering it more
mellow and permeable to water and allov/ing its more ready aeration—in fact, making
the soil a more comfortable foraging ground for roots. And, lastly, while destroying

capillarity in the surface soil it also acts partly as a surface mulch and thus serves

very materially in preventing the accumulation of alkali.'

Mr, Jackson (Selkirk).—I think you are right about the manure. In our district

there is a farmer that had an area of 20 acres out of 160 that was affected by alkali

and he has completely reclaimed it by the use of manure.

We are studying in several of its phases a problem that is engaging the attention

to-day of chemists in several parts of the world—the factors that influence the quality

of wheat. Very briefly, I may bring before you certain results that we have obtained

during the last two years respecting the cause of wheat softening or becoming more
starchy when grown on recently cleared scrub land. This soft or piebald wheat is

characteristic of newly broken scrub. This is well recognized in the northwest.

Mr. Crawford.—You are not speaking of freshly broken prairie ?

Mr. Shutt.—No, I refer to newly broken scrub land. Soft or piebald wheat
contains less protein or gluten than' 'hard' wheat. This fact is brought out well by
the following data,, obtained from samples of wheat grown by Mr. Mooney, of Valley
River, Manitoba, in 1905, on 'breaking' from scrub and on summer-fallow, respec-

tively:

—

INFLUENCE OF SOIL MOISTURE ON THE QUALITY OF WHEAT.

COMPOSITION OF WHEATS—SEASON 1905.

' A' wheat used as seed. : . .

' B,' product of 'A' on breaking. . . . .

' C,' product of ' A ' on summer fallow

Protein.
Per cent,

11- 11

9-93

12-62

(Calculated on the basis of 10 per cent water.)
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If you will examine these samples (exhibits them) you will notice that ^ B Ms
a much softer wheat than either 'A' or ' C The summer-fallow wheat contains

nearly three per cent more gluten than that from the breaking.

In the following year, 1906, we determined the moisture content of the two soils,

summer-fallow and newly broken scrub, every fortnight through the growing season.

We also analysed the wheat as grown on both areas.

The data for the moisture-content are tabulated as follows :

—

WATER IN BREAKING AND SUMMER-FALLOAV SOILS AT VALLEY RIVER^ MAN.^ 1906.

May 5. May 15. May 29. June 22. July 13. Ausr. 2. Aug. 24.

p. c. p. c. p. c. p. c. p. c. p. c. p. c.

32.96 36.49 33.45 30.49. 35.23 30.37 32.84

22.45 23.39 23.39 21.70. 21.24 13.24 18.28

You will observe that throughout the whole growing season from the 1st of May
till the end of August, the nev/iy-broken scrub land contained more moisture than
the fallowed land. This difference in moisture content amounts to 10 per cent or

over on every date at which the samples were collected.

The analyses of the wheats grown on the two soils are as follows:

—

COMPOSITION OF WHEATS SERIES OF 1906.

Wheat used as seed ^ B . ..

^D,' product of ^B' on breaking
' E,' product of ' B ' on summer-fallow . . .

(Calculated on the basis of 10 per cent water.)

Again, the grain grown upon the newly broken scrub is softer (exhibits samples),

containing S-J per cent less gluten than the grain grown on the summer-fallow.
,

I wish to draw your attention to the fact that the softer grain is grown on the

moister soil.

Further, we submitted both soils to analysis and found that the newly broken
scrub land contained 21-54 per cent vegetable matter and -622 per cent nitrogen, while

the fallowed land possessed 13-11 per cent vegetable matter and -38 per cent nitrogen.

My theory or explanation is that the conditions offered by the ' scrub ^ land, viz.,

the large amount of water present and the superabundance of available nitrogeneous

food, prolonged the vegetative or growing period of the wheat, delaying maturitj',

with the result of softening the grain; a short, quick ripening period tends to the

production of a glutinous grain. At least that is our position at present; it is possi-

ble that further Work may alter our views on the subject.

Mr. Crawford.—Why was the scrub land the more moist?

Mr. Shutt.—For two reasons. In the first place it had received a very thorough

working during the previous season. The land was broken in June ami then culti-

vated at intervals to the end of the season. This gave it every opportunity to receive

and retain moisture. Capillarity was destroyed and surface evaporation checked. On
the other hand the ' summer-fallow ' soil only received cultivation to keep down the

weeds.

Secondly, you will have noticed that the scrub land is nuu'h the richer in veget-

able matter, which undoubtedly increased the water-holding capacity of the soil.

Protein.
Per cent.

9-95

10-01

13-52
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Q. "We find that ripening is earlier on the ' breaking ' from prairie than on sum-
mer-fallow.

Mr. Shutt.—Yes, I believe such is usually the ease. My impression is that
summer-fallowed soil is, as a rule, more moist than the freshly broken prairie soil. If

this is the case, then we should expect the grain on the latter to ripen first. In this

respect the ' breaking ' from the prairies and scrub land may differ markedly.
The softer wheat will, I believe, be always found from the moister soil, but the

deterioration (if such it may be called) may not be entirely due to the larger amount
of nitrogeneous food set free for its use. Both these factors may take a part in

prolonging growth and delaying maturity. •

.

Mr. Jackson.—How do you account for the fact that wheat ripens earlier and is

softer on scrub land than on summer-fallow?

Mr. SiiUTT.—I cannot account for it. I am endeavouring to account for the facts

as I found them in this investigation. r

Mr. ScHELL (Oxford).—Don't you think that it is the excess of humus and the

lack of silica that produces soft straw on scrub land?

Mr. Shutt.—I am not prepared to say that softness in straw is due to lack of

silica. We do know that excess of moisture in rich soils, i.e., soils well supplied with

nitrogeneous food, produces rank growth and that such growth is apt to lodge.

Q. You get soft wheat with a soft straw? If so, it is due to lack of silica.

Mr. Shutt.—I have no data on that point.

Mr. Lewis.—What is the difference between prairie soil and the scrub soil?

Mr. Shutt.—The scrub soil, I believe, will be found in the majority of instances

to be the richer in vegetable matter. It will probably be looser and lighter.

the potato scab.

Mr. Jackson (Selkirk).—How do you account for scab on potatoes?

Mr. Shutt.—The scab is a fungus disease. The spores grow on the surface or

skin of the potato and disfigure the tuber. It is most prevalent in soils that have

been heavily dressed with fresh manure; for this reason manure should not be put
in the furrows so as to come into contact with the sets. Nor should potatoes be

planted on newly limed soil, an alkaline condition favours the development of scab.

Probably the best preventive is to soak the potatoes to be used as seed for two
hours in a solution of formaldehyde of the strength of 8 ounces to 15 gallons water.

Mr. Lewis.—^You think an over abundance of manure encourages scab?

Mr. Shutt.—Yes. That fact is well attested. I would advise manuring the

previous crop. Potatoes after a clover crop are usually very clean.

Q. Does scab injure the potatoes as an article of food?

Mr. Shutt.—Just in so far as it ' eats ' into the potato. It is chiefly a surface

disfigurement that can be cut out when preparing the potato for cooking. Of course,

it means loss in the thicker pealing that must be removed.

Q. It does not affect the interior of the potato?

Mr. Shutt.—The attack is from the outside and the injury only extends to the

depth of the growth of the fungus.
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THE FEEDING VALUE OF FROZEN WHEAT.

Mr. Telford.—Plow does frozen wheat compare with sound wheat as to feeding

value? '

Mr. Shutt.—We have analysed a large number of samples of frozen wheat lately,

and invariably find that such wheat is characterized by a high nitrogen content, in

other words, it contains a large proportion of nitrogeneous matter. Our investiga-

tions further show that there is a certain small proportion of this nitrogeneous matter

that is not in the form of true gluten, and hence, of somewhat less feeding value than
gluten. Judiciously fed, however, I think we shall find for certain classes of stock

that frozen wheat is fully equal to sound wheat. Possibly the best results will be

obtained when the finely ground wheat is mixed, say half and half, with bran or

ground oats. It needs something to keep it from forming a glutinous ball in the

stomach that would resist the action of the digestive fluids. Probably cooking, soaking

or scalding may enhance its value.

This frozen wheat is extremely hard and horny. Even when ground to a fine

powder, it may by reason of its hardness res.ist digestion, and a large part of it pass

through the animal unattacked. Probably soaking would do away with this objection-

able feature. Pigs, it appears, are better able to digest it than cows. It has, I believe,

given excellent results in pork production, but for dairy cows it has not proved so

satisfactory.

Q. How much protein does it contain? Plow does it compare with bran and
gluten meal?

Mr. Shutt.—The protein content of such samples of frozen wheat as we have
analysed was between 12 • 0 per cent and 14 • 0 per cent ; usually the so-called ' feed '

wheats (which are this year seriously frosted) contain from 13 per cent to 15-5 per

cent protein.

Q. The percentage of protein is of some importance ?

*Mr. Shutt.—Certainly, protein is the constituent of greatest nutritive value in a

feed. Practically, the value of a feed may be estimated from a knowledge of the per-

centages of protein and of fat.

Q. You think better results should be obtained from feeding the frozen wheat
m_ixed than by itself?

Mr. Shutt.—^Yes ; for several reasons, the chief of which is that it needs some
loose light fodder or feeding stuff to prevent the gluten forming masses in the stomach
which would not be thoroughly digested.

Mr. Wilson (Kussell).—We have fed this wheat to steers, together with ensilage,

but we did not get very good results. We crushed the wheat. The skin dried up and
the hair came off.

Mr. Shutt.—I am inclined to think that the steers got but little nutriment from
the wheat and that their digestion was deranged.

Q. I mixed it with ensilage and thought the ration was well balanced.

Mr. Shutt.—No, I fear not. Wheat is unlike barley and oats; its protein forms

a sticky, glutinous ball in the stomach, which is not the case with the other cereals.

It should be mixed with some other and more bulky dry feed.

Further, as I have said, the very hard character of this frozen wheat is ngainst

its ready digestion. I would suggest soaking.

Q. Gluten meal is a good feed?

Mr. Shutt.—One of the very best. The best brands—there is a good deal of ditTor-

ence between the brands on iho market—contain over 30 per cent protein. It is readily

digested food and uschI jmlicioiusly with other and k^ss concentrated feeding stuffs it

is in the very first rank for dairy and beef stock.
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Mr. Martin (Wellington).—Is there any value to weed seeds taken from the
wheat in Manitoba?

FEEDING VALUE OF SCREENINGS.

Mr. Shutt.—In my report for 1906 there is to be found a number of analyses of

weed seeds a* oC-ftsened from wheat and obtained from the elevator at Port Arthur.

We concluded that while some of these materials had a decided feeding value, others

were comparatively worthless. I may insert some of the analyses here :

—

ANALYSES OF SCREENINGS.

to

Name of Feed. Particulars.

a3

r3
-u
a3

'o

3tein.

t
or

Oil
<u

1 4
o <

Wild buckwheat J. G. King & Co., Port Arthur,
Out 7-48 10 16 2-89 70-00 7 29 2-18

(Small seeds cleaned from flax

—

It M 4 41 '18-78 24-48 33-27 9 51 9-55
Small seeds cleaned from wheat

.

7-62 15-50 9-64 54-86 17 21 5-17
Seeds, broken wheat, sntall oats,

&c., ready for grinding (No. "IS) 8 54 14-12 7-75 56 40 8 36 ' 4-83
Ground seeds obtained by grind-
ing Nd. 23 II II . . 914 17-31 9-74 51-76 6 58 5-49

Ground feed mixture, 25% No. 23
975 13-19 5-27 60-54 7 60 3-68

Ground feed mixture, 25% No. 23
and 75% barley 919 13 00 5-38 62-19 6 34 3-90

Ground feed mixture, 50% No. 23
II II . .

9-90 12-94 514 60-63 7 49 3 90
Flax chaff II II . . 7-68 6-06 4-15 62-55 13 88 5-68

Buckwheat chaff. i II . . 10-00 7.- 87 2-55 63-72 13 22 2-64

.1 II 10-43 11-68 3-62 55-64 14 28 .4-35

Wheat chaff 625 5-31 2-49 45-80 27 50 12-65

You will notice that they differ widely among themselves in protein and fat. The
sample ' small seeds cleaned from flax ' is very high in both these valuable nutrients.

Again, the sample ' flax chaff ' is very low in protein.

Mr. Crawford.—How does the wild buckwheat compare with wheat?

Mr. Shutt.—Wild buckwheat contains between 2 per cent and 3 per cent less

protein than wheat; it is much more fibrous than wheat. Its percentage of fibre is

about 7*5, whereas in wheat the fibre is about 2-5 per cent.

The chaff from wild buckwheat is exceedingly poor stufl ; it is low in protein and
high in fibre.

Mr. Jackson (Selkirk).—Can you give us any statement as to French weed seed?

Mr. Shutt.—No, I cannot. We have not analysed it.

Mr. Telford.—What grain do you consider the best for cattle?

Mr. Shutt.—There is no best grain. A mixture is better than any one grain.

Variety of food is an important matter, for beasts as v/ell as for man, and we should

recognize this fact to a greater extent than is now done. Probably, if one were re-

stricted to a single cereal it would be well to choose barley, stock feeding experiments

point in that direction.

Q. Is it, then, the strongest grain?

Mr. Shutt.—By no means. If the strongest grain were chosen as the only meal

the animal's digestion would soon be deranged.
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EXAMINATION OF FEEDING STUFFS.

In accordance with our custom, many of the more prominent feeding stuffs upon
the market have been analysed during the past year. We should have liked to

present the analyses of all manufactured and milling products sold in Canada, but

that has not been possible. Our examination, therefore, is not a complete one. I trust

the time is not far distant Vvhen through one or other of the branches of the govern-

ment service we shall have an annual analysis made of all manufactured feeds on the

market. On this matter I have given you my views for a number of years past, so I

will say very little further than to again emphasize the desirability of the com-

prehensive, systematic inspection and analysis of feeding stuffs. I consider it quite

as necessary as the analysis of fertilizers ; in fact, it is of greater importance, as more
farmers buy feed than buy fertilizers.

I do not think there is much intentional fraud in this matter, though there is

good evidence that very poor stuff is put on the market at times. Thus, we had a bran

sent to us that contained about three per cent less protein and one-third more fibre

than good bran. It contained oat hulls and other refuse. Then, again, take the

by-products of the starch factories, gluten meal, gluten feed, &c. Some are excellent

feeding stuffs, while other factories trade on the reputation of the honest men and
sell an inferior material.

. Our work in this conection is, I believe, very helpful to the farmer and will be

continued until such time as the systematic inspection that I advocated is adopted.

The analysis of these feeds submitted to us in 1907 will be given in the forthcoming
report.

ROOTS AND SUGAR BEETS.

Large differences exist between the several varieties of roots as regards their dry-

matter content and the richness of this dry matter in sugar. This matter I have
spoken of at former sessions of this Committee, so that it will only be necessary to place

017 record the results obtained during the past season, together with averages from
former years for the purpose of comparison.

Mangels.

Year.
Number of

Varieties
Analysed.

Dry
Matter. Sugar.

1904 10

17
16
10

p.c.

11-69
1004
11-63

12 64

p.c.

6- 62
4-67

5 93
7- 55

1905
1900 ^
1907,.

From these results it is evident that the season at Ottawa last year was favourable
to the growth of a good mangel rich in sugar. However, I must add that we had
selected the ten best varieties to sow, the poorer ones, grown in former years, have been
discarded from the list.

Carrots.

Year. Variety
Analysed.

Dry Matter. Sugar.

1905 11

10
6

p.c.

10 25
10-59

10 3)

p.c.

2-52

3 36
3 01

1900
1907
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The carrots of 1906 and 190Y, it will be noticed, have practically the same com-

position.

Turnips.

Year.
Varieties
Analysed.

Dry Matter. Sugar.

p.c. p.c.

1905 20 10 09 110
1906 20 1218 1-70

1907 14 10 13 110

The data for 1905 and 1907 are practically identical and decidedly lower than

those for 1906.

Sugar Beets.

The sugar beets grown on the several experimental farms are analysed annually.

The varieties grown are those specially noted for a high sugar content, Vilmorin's

Improved, Klein Wanzleben, Tres Riche. The results of the past season, together with
the averages since 1901, are presented in the following tables:

—

Sugar Beets Grown on the Dominion Experimental Farms, 1907.

Variety.

Vilmorin's Improved

Klein Wanzleben.

Tres Riche

Locality.

Brandon, Man ....

Indian Head, Sask.
C.E.F., Ottawa...
Agassiz, B.C
Lacombe, Alta.. .

.

Brandon, Man. . .

.

Indian Head, Sask.
C.E.F., Ottawa . ..

Agasssiz, B.C
Lacombe, Alta
Brandon, Man. , .

.

Indian Head, Sask.
C.E.F., Ottawa, ..

A-gassiz, B.C
Lacombe, Alta

Percentage
of Sugar in

Juice.

Percentage
of Solids
in Juice.

Co-efficient

of Purity.

Average
Weight of
One Root.

Lbs. Ozs.

4
3
2
3
9
4
2
4

7
5
2
3

11
4

Average Percentage of Sugar in Juice in Sugar Beets Grown on the Experimental
Farms—1902-7.

Locality. 1902 1903 1904 1905 1906 1907

15- 87
16- 77

15-33
15 34
11-36
16 54

14-41
16-91
16-62
15 24

16-52
12-45

11 00
14 94

17 08
14- 37
15- 50
.14-91

15-44
17 00
15.92
13-35
17-65

1515

17-44 810 17-32 14-23
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This is, on the whole, a very satisfactory showing. At Brandon, Man., and

Agassiz, B.C., particularly rich roots were grown, whil'^ those from Indian Head,

Sask., and Ottawa, Ont., were eminently suitable for factory purposes. The results

from the beets grown on the newly established experimental farm at Lacombe, Alta.,

do not indicate either a very rich or very pure beet, but judgment as to the suitability

of the district for growing sugar beets must be suspended until further data on the

subject have been obtained. Unfortunately, early and repeated frosts in the autumn
injured the sugar beets grown on the experimental farm, Nappan, N.S., last season,

so that no results were obtained from this station.

INSECTICIDES AND FUNGICIDES.

New Forms of Kerosene Emulsions,

Between two and three years ago we discovered that flour could be used in the

making of emulsions in the place of soap. Since that time we and many orchardists

throughout the Dominion have used large quantities of such an emulsion made simply

with flour, cold or hot water, and coal oil (kerosene), and found it eminently satis-

factory for all the uses for which the ordinary kerosene emulsion is employed, e.g.

:

destruction of aphis, &c. The preparation, which is extremely simple, is as follows :

—

For 11 per cent emulsion.—The requisite amount of coal oil (kerosene) is poured
into the pail or barrel and flour added in the proportion of 8 ounces to 1 quart of coal

oil; the mass thoroughly stirred and the water added—2 gallons for every quart of

coal oil. The whole is then vigorously churned, say, for five minutes, by means of

a pump and coarse nozzle or a wooden paddle or dasher as used in upright churns,

and the emulsion is ready for use. The spray is smooth, easily atomized, and does not

clog the nozzle.

Flour is everywhere obtainable ; indeed, is to be found in every house. 'No heat-

ing of water is necessary, though the quantity of flour can be reduced when the

flour is first scalded. As an emulsion for immediate use it is very highly spoken of

by all who have used it, and in some orchards many barrels were prepared and sprayed
last summer.

Bordeaux-Kerosene Emulsion with Flour,

We have extended this use of flour in the making of emulsions, and found that

this material can be employed in the preparation of many fluids for both summer and
winter use. Several of these sprays are described in my report for 1906, and, there-

fore, I need not enter upon any detailed account of them. But I brought to show you
to-day one which I made more than ten months ago, for I believe it is a spray
destined to become one of great importance in the fight against insect and fungus
pests. It is a combination of Bordeaux mixture and kerosene emulsion. It is, there-

fore, a combined fungicide and insecticide. The sample I show you is ten months
old and the stability of the emulsion is evident from the fact that there is not tlie

slightest trace of the oil showing to-day. The formula is as follows:

—

Bluestone lbs. 4

Lime " 4

Flour " 4

Kerosene .unllons 4
Water " 86

To the diluted slaked lime the kerosene containing the flour is added and the

whole emulsified for five minutes; the solution of bluestone (approximately one-half

of the total volume) is then poured in and the whole well stirred.

2—20



224 FRANK T. SHUTT, M.A., CHIEF CHEMIST

8 EDWARD Vil., A. 1908

The simplicity of preparation, the remarkable stability of the emulsion, the smooth-

ness of the spray producing no clogging of the nozzle all lead to the conclusion that

this Bordeaux-kerosene-flour emulsion will find a large field of employment and be

of particular value in all cases where fungous disease and aphis require attention

at one and the same time.

WELL WATERS FROM FARMS.

In this connection I have merely to say that the work of examination of water

samples from farmers' wells has been continued.

The number of waters from Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba increases as the

country becomes settled. Quite a proportion of these northwestern waters, I regret

to say, are strongly all?:aline or saline in character, and from which a suitable supply

for drinking purposes can only be obtained by distillation. Small household stills that

can be used on the kitchen stoves are manufactured for this purpose. They are fairly

cheap, easily managed and require very little attention, and I should strongly recom-

mend their use in districts where the water is saline.

The barnyard well, with its polluted water, still exists, I am sorry to say, but we
have reason to believe that it is being abandoned, though slowly, for a purer source.

I find it necessary to condemn as quite unfit for use the larger number of waters

drawn from barnyard wells. The well waters in many of our country villages are

also seriously polluted. It seems, therefore, most desirable that the subject of pure

water for our rural population should be constantly and prominently brought before

our people.

Having read the foregoing transcript of my evidence, I certify the same to be

correct.

FEANK T. SHUTT,
Chemist, Dominion Experimental Farms.

>
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STOCK FEEDING EXPERIMENTS.

House of Commons^
Committee Eoom 'B'o. 34.

Friday, April 10, 1908.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met here this

day at 11 o'clock a.m. Mr. McKenzie, Chairman, presiding.

The Chairman.—I have much pleasure in introducing to the Committee Mr. J.

H. Grisdale, Agriculturist, Experimental Farms, who will address us on stock feed-

ing experiments.

Mr. Grisdale.—Mr. Chairman and gentleman:—As you will see from the printed

list of the subjects with which I propose to deal, I would like to take up this morning

some experiments in stock feeding.

general remarks.

Before touching upon any particular experiment I want to devote two or three

minutes to a brief summary of our findings during the last twenty years at the

experimental farm along this line. We have been feeding cattle there in greater or

lesser numbers for that length of time and have reached some conclusions which have

also been backed up by experiments elsewhere—conclusions which are more or less

commonly accepted by farmers, but which, so far at least as some farmers are con-

cerned, do not seem to be considered by them when carrying on their feeding opera-

tions. I may say that we have, during the 20 years time, been able to feed under
almost every condition as to price for stockers, price for beef or finished product, and
price for feeds. In ahnost every case our experiments have left a profit, showing that

the average farmer could, if he would follow the best lines, make beef feeding a

profitable branch of agriculture, and one upon which he might count every year on
a good return. There are, however, certain methods which it is absolutely necessary

to follow, certain conditions to be observed, in order to make a success of it. Of
course, the margin of return will not always be very large. The margin will be
affected by what you have to pay for the stockers, by the cost of the feed and by the

price you are able to obtain for the product when it is finished. Generally speaking,

the price of the finished product is very largely influenced by the quality of the stocker

which you get when you start. We have been experimenting for a number of years

to determine, if possible, the relation which exists between the class of stocker one
gets and the profits that one is likely to make from one's beef feeding operations.

We have found that good stockers are the ones that give the best results. There is,

however, a limit to the length one may go, and one must be careful not to overstep

that limit. The better the quality of stocker bought, the higher the price paid;

therefore, the higher must be the selling price in order to leave a margin of profit.

There is a point beyond which the wise buyer will not go in paying for good stockers.

If he can get one or two animals of extra superior quality out of a carload, on con-

dition of paying a very high price, he may be tempted to pay an extra figure; but it

does not follow that because he pays extra figures that he is going to get an extra figure

when he sells. There is a limit in the price that you can pay for stockers, that is,

you must not go too high in order to get an extra choice animal.

2—21 225
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By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. What about age?

"A. I am just going into that.

Q. And as to price?

A. The price is controlled for us or the farmer by the current market rate. We
usually pay around about 4 cents for stockers or feeders. From 3i to 4| cents are the

prices we find it possible to pay in order to come out with a marg:in of profit at the end
of the year.

THE RIGI-IT AGE.

Now as to age, we have tried feeding yearlings, two-year olds, three-year olds

and four-year olds. The four-year olds were given up after one trial. It does not

pay to feed four-year olds unless you get them very thin and then it is very difiicult

to secure a good lot of them. Among three-year olds one can get good shaped animals
that fatten well. If, at the time one buys them—that is at three years past—^they are

not in too high flesh one can feed them for several months and then have no difficulty

in getting a high price the following spring, for the reason that they are large and
will command the top price as export stock. Therefore, three-year olds are advisable

for fattening purposes. If, however, one can get good, big two-year olds, sappy,

shapy and beefy that is the kind of animal that makes the quickest gains, the cheapest

gains, and commands the highest price in the spring. Yearlings also feed well. We
find, however, that they will not fatten quite so easily and do not make such a fat

carcase as do the older animals, and a further disadvantage is that one cannot profitably

export them. They are so small that the exporters will not buy them and the feeders

are, therefore, left at the mercy of the local buyers in this city or whatever city the

man may be near who is feeding them. We have fattened year-olds and were then

forced to sell to local buyers, although I may say that really good stuff, aged anywhere
from thirteen to twenty-five or twenty-six months always commands a very good price

locally. The carcase gives very nice cuts and is in good demand by the small house-

hold.

By Mr. Jackson (Elgin):

Q. Is any of the stock fed and finished on*' the farm exported?

A. It has been exported. For two or three years it has been sold and consumed
here in Ottawa, but previous to that we exported. We have exported, I think, about
one-half the stock that have been fitted since I came here, probably not quite that
much.

Q. Of course, the price you get here for the stock is really not a good guide for the
farmer to go by. The price you would get for cattle ofi the experimental farm from
local butchers would be in excess of what the ordinary farmer could expect for that

same class of stock when shipped to the British market?

A. 'No., I don't think so. Judging by local market quotations in Toronto and
Montreal I do not see that we get a very much different price.

Q. The price you receive for your stock here is sometimes higher than a drover

would get for his cattle in Toronto or Montreal intended for exportation?

A. Do you mean this year?

Q. I mean during the last three or four years?

A. I do not think so. ] don't think I can agree with you there.

By Mr. Sproule

:

Q. About what price per pound do you get?

A. This year the highest was 5^ cents. Last year I think I got about the same
price. It usually runs from 5 to 5|. Sometimes it reaches 6, but tliat is very seldom.
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By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. What age do you consider the best beef?

A. Fattened off and finished at three years old, that is for the foreign market. If

you get very nice, sappy yearlings you can finish at two years old and get extra choice

beef, but it is not big enough for exporting.

Q. But the flavour is not so good?

A. I think so, but it is a matter of opinion. In my opinion it is just as good. We
had some beef killed here in January. It was only eighteen months old, but it was

extra nice in flavour.

By M'lr. Henderson:

Q. Beef or veal?

A. Beef.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. How much did it weigh?

A. It weighed 1,200 lbs.

By Mr. Burrows:

Q. Do you mean live weight?

A. Yes.,,
. ,

By Mr. Henderson:

Q. I think the general opinion is that a young animal does not produce the

quantity of beef that you can get from a larger animal. What is your opinion on that ?

A. That is the general opinion. If you take an older animal you get a stronger,

beefier flavour, but I think the taste of the average run of people is changing. They
like a mild flavoured beef and you certainly can get that flavour from young stock.

Now, the beef I mentioned as having been killed this last winter was sold on the

Ottawa market, and the butcher who bought it, Mr. Slattery, assured me that he
never had meat that took so well. His customers all wanted more of it.

THE SEASON FOR FEEDING.

By Mr. Burrows:

Q. How many months do you feed?

A. Do you mean the stock v/e have had in the past?

Q. Yes?

A. Anywhere from four to six months. We usually have fed that long. The
season during which the feeding is done seems to be immaterial. We have fed in

the winter, in the spring and all the summer, and we find that we can get just as

good gains stall feeding one season as another. I don't know that that is of very

much importance to the average farmer. The thing we have to demonstrate is that

you can make just as good gains on steers tied up, or in small runs, in summer as

you can in winter. We have fed them for several years now and have got good

results in that way.

I will give you the details of our experiments later on.

HOUSING.

Now, as to housing. We have fed them loose and tied. We have had for them
large roomy quarters and cramped quarters. We have found that allowing about TO

square feet per steer in a box stall, loose, is the method of housing tluit gives the

2—21i
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best results. We find that they will eat more than if tied, and they make better use

of what they eat. A very important factor in connection with the housing is to have

sufficient light, lots of ventilation, lots of air and comfortable quarters. We have tried

experiments with faulty ventilation and good ventilation, and found that the former

cost us money every time. This experiment was tried on i^urpose to see if the ventila-

tion had any effect upon the economy of production of grain.

PREPARATION FOR FEEDING.

JSTow, as to the preparation for feeding. When the cattle come in off the grass

good care is necessary in order to insure their keeping right on making gains.. The
best way we have found is to start them on rape. Have a bit of rape near the build-

ings and then turn them loose and let them pasture until it is covered with snow or

until pretty well eaten off, gradually turning them over to ensilage, roots, straw and
hay. Start them off on a very succulent ration, giving them as little hay and as much
of this juicy feed as possible, but no meal, for quite a length of time. We have found
it advisable not to give them meal until they have been in the stable three weeks,

unless in the case of half-fed animals that it is desired to finish off for the Christmas
or January markets.

MEALING THE STEERS.

We have found it advisable to start with a light meal. Bran, perhaps, is as good
a meal as I know for starting. We have tried various meals and found that none of

them will surpass this as a starter. After they have been on bran for a couple of

weeks it is necessary to begin to give something heavier. The kind of meal to feed

after bran is a matter of market conditions or of the preference of the man who is

feeding. Some men can do better with one kind of feed than with another. It largely

rests with the man who is feeding. He knows how the animals do when they are

eating certain feeds, and he knows how to feed them. A good deal more depends

upon this feature in feeding steers than one would thinlc who is not familiar with

that line of work.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. Do you always feed them on hay for a ration of that kind or do you use straw ?

A. We never give a steer more than about two or three pounds of hay a day.

We give him straw mixed with the ensilage and roots.

By Mr. Wright (Renfrew) : ^ .

Q. Do you cut your straw?

A. We feed our hay long, but the straw is cut and mixed with the ensilage and
roots.

By Mr. Henderson:

Q. What meal ration do you prefer, corn?

A. Corn and gluten are the two meals that I like best. Corn, gluten and oil give

thd best satisfaction. Of course, you cannot feed oil meal pure in very large quan-

tities.

By Mr. Burrows:

Q. What do you call gluten?

A. That is the by-product from a starch factory. They take the corn and extract

the starch. This residue consists of the seed germ and some other internal parts of
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the corn from which the starch has been washed. The husk is not generally included

in what is called gluten.

By Mr. Henderson:

Q. That, of course, can only be obtained in limited quantities ?

A. I believe it is to be obtained all over Ontario, and it is also used very ex-

tensively in the maritime provinces. In the west I have never seen it.

s By Mr. Lewis:.

Q. What is the cost of it?

A. It varies according to the market conditions. It cost this year from $29 to

$30 a ton. It did not cost us that much because we got it early in the season.

By Mr. Wright (Renfrew):

Q. Have you ever fed any refuse rice?

A. No.

By Mr. Gordon:

Q. What percentage of that gluten is digestible?

A. It is nearly all digestible and it is very rich in protein. I think this sample
(exhibiting sample) contains about 34 or 35 per cent of protein.

Q. What percentage of corn would be digestible?

A. Corn also is practically all digestible. Corn, however, is not nearly so rich in

protein. It probably contains 8 or 9 per cent of protein. Starch is removed from
the corn then gluten rich in protein remains.

Q. The claim is set up that no less than 65 per cent of the corn is digestible. I

wonder whether that is correct or not?

A. I am not prepared to say positively. In the feeding tables, as prepared by

different experimental stations and generally accepted, the percentage of digestibility

is given as somewhere around 90.

By Mr. Leivis:

Q. Which do you find the best out of the three meals?

;

A. I believe if I had to confine myself to one I would prefer oil cake, and then I

would! take gluten for second place. I mean the gluten as we have it here, not the

glutem feed as it is sold in some parts. Tor instance, there is the 'Jersey Gluten'

and two or three other brands ; I would not take them. The gluten we are using and
wh?ch is sold by the Edwardsburg Starch Company, is a moav excellent feed.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. What do you ordinarily pay for your meal?

A. For linseed or oil cake meal M^e pay from $30 to $32 per ton.

By Mr. Jackson (Elgin):

Q. Have you any idea of the total output?

A. No, I have not.

Q. It is scarcely a good thing to recommend, I mean it is impossible for the rank

and file of the farmers to use ?

A. It is very extensively used.

Q. We have nothing of that kind up in our country, we have none of those meals
up there?
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A. It is very extensively used in Ontario, Quebec and the maritime provinces.

You are referring to Elgin county. Well, at Brantford there is a factory which turns

out large quantities which, however, is not just as good as the sample I have here.

By Mr. Henderson:

Q. In the matter of cost, which is the most profitable of the three meals ?

A. I believe that oil cake meal, if it can be got for about $30 a ton, is the best.

By Mr. Burrows:

Q. Linseed oil meal?

A. Yes.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Where do you get that?

A. From the Dominion Linseed Oil Company.
Q. What is. it made out of?

A. From flax. ,

The first experiments to which I wish to draw your attention is the feeding of

well-bred in comparison with scrub cattle.

By Mr. Henderson:

Q. Short versus long feed steers is what you have been dealing with?

SHORT VERSUS LONG FEED STEERS.

A. Very well, I will take that first. In these experiments of short versus long

feed we had two lots of steers of seven each. One lot we fed for 130 days and the

other lot for 180 days, not quite two months difference. One lot, of course, had to

be considerably fatter than the other when we put them in. The other lot was quite

as good, but a good deal thinner. We fed them for the length of time that I have

mentioned, and in the case of the long feed we found it cost us $4.26 to make 100
pounds gain, while in the case of the short keep it cost us $4.58, a little more expensive

you see. Further it took a little bit more meal per day in the case of the short feed.

We made a gain in the case of the long feed of 2-36 pounds per day; in the case of

the short feed 2-08 pounds per day. The short feed lot being fatter when they

started, were harder to induce to put on fat. The changing from grass to inside feed-

ing is always a losing operation. There is usually one or two weeks where the cattle

do not make any progress at all. If you take that off the short period it leaves a

relatively lower rate of gain per day. The total cost of feeding those steers was $12.22

per steer in the case of the short keep an-d $20.95 per steer in the case of the long

keep, which were fed a good deal longer time. The selling price was $5.75 per 100

pounds for the long keep and $5.50 per 100 pounds for the short keep. We realized

$12.69 profit on the short keep and $18.23 net profit on the long keep.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. Was that on each animal?

A. Yes, on each animal.

By Mr. Telford:

Q. Did you count anything for labour?

A. No, that is money spent for feed and all expenses connected with it. 'No

credit was given for manure, no charge was made for labour.
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Bu Mr. Schell (Oxford):

Q. Was any i)ortion of the feed cut straw?

A. Yes.

By Mr. Barr:

Q. How long did the experiment last in the case of the long feed?

A. About six months.

Q. And in the case of the short feed?

A. About four months.

By Mr. Henderson:

Q. Do you consider the extra quantity of manure secured in the long feed as full

compensation for the extra labour in feeding for the additional length of time?

A. The manure would, I think, day by day pretty nearly pay for the care whether

it is a long or a short time. The advantage in feeding for a long time is this : That

you can feed relatively more rough feed and a smaller amount of meal than you would

in case of steers kept only for four months. That is, it would not cost any more
for the long-keep steers for meal than it would in the case of the short-keep steers.

The former, however, would consume more stuff that is produced on the farm such as

ensilage, hay and straw, and so make a market for such material. Therein lies the

advantage of the long feed in comparison with the short one.

FINISHING ON GRASS.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Did you experiment with finishing up on grass as the farmers of Ontario

usually do?

A. No, we have not experimented along that line.

By Mr. Jackson (Elgin):

Q. If you do not experiment along that line the authorities of the farm are not

carrying out the experiments as they should. As a matter of fact, fully 50 per cent

of our export stock is finished on the grass and notwithstanding that, in all our ex-

periments during the last 12 years there has not been one of that character?

A. Finishing on grass?

Q. Finishing on grass. It is the custom to let them run on the grass for two or

three months and fully 50 per cent of our export stock is finished that way. It does

seem to me that there should be experiments conducted along that line at the experi-

mental farm?

A. That would be a good line of experiment. The reason it has not been tried

with us is because we have not the grass to put the cattle on.

Q. Surely you could take a field and put 10 or 12 cattle on?

A. We have been carrying on extensive experiments in rotation of crops and soil

cultivation. If we took a field for the purpose suggested by you we would have to

bieak these experiments.

By Mr. MacLaren (Perth):

Q. It would be oasy enough for you to get a field if you ask the minister?

A. I should be delighted to get another field.
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By Mr. Jachson (Elgin):

Q. Fully 50 per cent of our export stock is finished on grass and we consider we
get a profit out of our cattle by turning them out - on our pasture fields during the

summer. All through Western Ontario during the latter part of May, June, July
and August you will find droves of cattle finishing on grass for the export market,

which is practically where the profit comes in in the export trade?

A. We pasture more or less. You understand that we have a large herd of dairy

cattle. We have 100 head of dairy cattle and we have to pasture them. We have not
though^ it 'advisable to pasture beef cattle for the reason that it is very commonly
done by the farmer, and I think very commonly done at a loss. Unless he has rough
land the man who is pasturing his cattle is getting a very small return from it.

Q. If you went into the question I think you would find it would be the other

way ?

A. I have gone into it not with beef cattle, but with dairy cattle.

Mr. Martin (Wellington).—Th'ere are very few cattle finished on grass in Well-

ington county; that is, the cattle we feed through the winter.

By Mr. Juchson (Elgin):

Q. 'The heaviest exportations of cattle from Canada and the United States take

place during July, August and September?

A. You cannot export cattle that are finished on pasture in July. We do not get

lo'ur cattle on to pasture until June 'and we cannot finish them in a month.

Q. I am speaking of Ontario ? -

A. Well, this district is in Ontario.

Q. I am speaking of the cattle producing part of Ontario, and of something

that I know a little about. Our cattle are turned on to the grass the latter part of

fMay and are taken ofiP the pasture field during the period extending from the first

week in July until Septem.ber?

Ai. Well, we cannot make the climate here anything different from what it is?

Q. We want experiments that will assist us in all parts of Canada?

A. You would have to move this farm.

Q. No, I do not think that either?

A. If you wanted to get them off in the month of July you certainly cannot

finish them on pasture in tJais district. There are a great number of cattle pastured

here, but they are sold off in August or September; you cannot get them off pasture

ii^ July. In August and September there are 'a good number expjorted, but not in

July.
^

Q. You are losing the plum of your experiments by not finishing cattle on pasture?

A. I don't agree with you there. I feel that many of our farmers are making a

mistake in devoting too much of their land to pasturing cattle unless it is rough

land. It is a matter of opinion, but that is my 'opinion.

By Mr. Mclntyre (Strathcona)

:

Q. Have you any control of the experiments that are carried on at the other ex-

perimental farms?

A. No.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. What are you basing your opinion on; you are making an absolute statement

on what basis ?

A. I base my opinion on the returns which are obtained.

Q. But you have not made any experiments?
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A. There are areas devoted to pasture here and elsewhere. If you take 100 acres

of first-class land and put cattle on it you will get s^all returns compared with what
you get from the same area cultiyated and farmed; a very much smaller return re-

latively. Therefore, I think good land should not be pastured.

Q. You have not made any experiments?

A. I have made experiments. Pastured fields and cultivated fields were given

similar treatment, and from the latter we g;ot twice as much return as from the

pastured fields.

Q. Did you take your labour into consideration.

A. We took the labour into consideration.

By Mr. Jaclcson (Elgin):

Q. You want to have such a system that you will have a regular flow of cattle

going from this country practically all the year around. There are five months of

summer during which there is no cheaper way of fattening cattle than by turning

them on to the fields?

A. Do you mean that it is a cheaper way?
Q. We think it is a cheaper way of fattening cattle than feeding them in the

stable ?

A. But you Avon't get the same return from the land?

Q. That is a question that you have not tested and that I have^

A. I have tested it.

Q. I may say that I have tested.

A. I have tested also.

The Chairman.—I think we must stop this argument. You are going too far

along the line of pasturing cattle and Mr. Grisdale has been drawn away from his ,

subject.

Mr. Henderson.—What are we here for?

The Chairman.—Mr. Grisdale is dealing with feeding cattle in stables. If you
want to discuss a contrary method of feeding we can take it up another time. Mr.

Grisdale has been drawn away from the programme that he had mapped out.

Mr. Lewis.—He is stating information here which will be spread broadcast over

the country.

The Chairman.—The difficulty is that Mr. Jackson is making a speech and the

professor is not getting on with his subject.

Mr. Jackson (Elgin).—ISTo, I am not making a speech.

Mr. Wilson (Lennox).—We are discussing the feeding of cattle, and if there is

a difference of opinion between those two gentlemen, I think it is well to hear both

sides.

Mr. Lewis.—I think the professor should withdraw his statement and shoukl

conduct experiments in fattening cattle on grass in two or three fields. Then he can
give us his opinion.

Mr. Grisdale.—The opinion I expressed was that you could get more money off

a given area of land by farming than by pasturing it. I decline to witlidraw that

statement unless it is the wish of the Committee.

By Mr. Telford:

Q. I think it will depend entirely upon the character of the land?

A. I referred to good land.
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Q. If the land is cultivated ?

A. That is what I meant.

Q. That is all right. I may say that in the country from which I come the

greater number of cattle are fed in stables. A few are fed on grass, but the greater

part are fed in stalls?

A. If it is a matter of poor land, that is the only way to utilize it without going

to the expense of hiring a lot of men. In such a case it probably woLild be advantag-

eous to pasture it, but if you take a 100-acre farm and turn it into pasture you will

not get the nett returns from pasturing that land that yon would if the farm were
cultivated.

By Mr. Leivis:

Q, Taking fields in rotation, you re-invigorate them by pasturing them ?

A. Yes, I am quite in favour of that. I always advocate pasturing one year in

four or five.

OUTSIDE FEEDING.

By Mr. Mclntyre (Strathcona) :

Q. In the matter of feeding have you experimented at all in regard to temper-
ature? In Alberta a great many people feed their cattle in the winter and leave the

greater number of them absolutely in the open air, subject sometimes to the tem-
perature of 25 and 30 degrees below zero. Others feed their cattle in stables which
they take every precaution to see are kept perfectly warm. Have you any informa-

tion as to the relative value of such methods ?

A. Yes. Last winter we fed a bunch inside and a number outside, and the latter

6- made iust as good gains as the former. I might say further, that at the Brandon
experim'ental farm this year we are feeding one bunch in a warm stable and another

bunch outside in a bluff. The outside cattle looked quit-e as well, if not better, than
those inside when I saw them two weeks ago.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. Do you put them imder shelter at night?

A. No.

Q. Then you had better do away with stables?

A. That would be all right for beef cattle, but would not do for dairy cattle.

By Mr. MacLaren (Perth):

Q. At what temperature do you keep them?

A. The cattle insid-e?

Q. Yes?

A. At a temperature of about 40 'ov 45 degrees for beef cattle.

INFLUENCE OF GOOD BREEDING.

In the case of well bred versus the scrub cattle we find that it pays better to feed

the well bred steer, but there is a certain limit, as I have already said, beyend which
you must not go in paying to get good shapes. We find, as a rule, that well bred steers

do not make much greater gains per day than do the poorly bred, and they will not

put the gains on very much more cheaply. But when it comes to selling tha't is the

time when the well-bred steers show up. We can always get anywhere from half a

cent to 1^ cents more per pound for the well-bred, well-shaped, well-fed steer than
for a scrub steer no matter how fat he is. Hence, so far as our experiments in that

^ line go we are prepared to say that the farmer should pick out the first-class steer up
to a certain limit.
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By Air. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. Is there not a difference in the flavour of the two kinds of meat, the well-bred

and the scrub?

A. I am not prepared tjo say.

Q. That is a question of some importance?

A. I don't think there is so much difference in flavour, but if you take a cut of

porterhouse or sirloin steak from a well-bred well-shaped steer you get more lean

meat better intermingled v/ith fat than you do from a pQorly bred, poorly-fed animal.

By Mr. McColl:

Q. It must be better and more tender meat?
A. I don't think that follows at all. I have never seen it in my own experience

and I have never heard of any one making that claim.

Q. Is there any difference between diff'erent classes of Durhams or Holsteins in

reference to the price and the class of meat?
A. When you buy?

Q. No, when you sell?

A. Yes, from ^ cent up l^o IJ cents.

Q. In favour of which?

A. In favour of the well-bred beef animal.

Q. But distinguishing between different classes?

A. Jers'eys, Guernseys and so on?

Q. No, just fat cattle?

A. Decidedly in favour of the well-bred beef animal—Shorthorn Herefords, Aber-

deen, Angus or Galloways. All these breeds com^m'and equally high prices.

By Mr. Barr:

Q. Which would you recommend?
A. I am not here to distinguish between the beef breeds; I think they are all

good. It is a matter, I think, which has never been settled. We have tried experi-

ments in feeding the different brands, and I have seen them tried elsewhere, but I

never found anything yet to show that one breed was better than another.

By M\r. Lewis:

Q. Do the Aberdeen Angus command a better price than the others?

A. I do not know that they do. They have taken the championship once or

twice at Chicago.

Q. I mean in regard to selling?

A. No, I don't think they do. In the old country there is a cross between the

White Shorthorn and the Aberdeen Angus called the Blue Greys which commands a

premium of probably a shilling or tvvo per cwt. That is the only difference that I

have ever heard of made in the different breeds of cattle.

By Mr. Wright (Renfreiv):

Q. What is the grade between the Shorthorn and the Aberdeen Angus?
A. A White Shorthorn bull and Aberdeen Angus or Galloway cows give Bluo

Greys. These Blue Greys might be called iron greys since the colour is due to an
intermingling in equal quantities almost of white and black linir.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. IIow do the ITerofords class?

A. They are a very good class I think. The ITerofords slunv up in one particular

respect—they are the best grazing cattle we have. No one can ilispute that.
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Blj Mr. Barr:

Q. Are they not more tender than the others in wintering; do they not require

more care?

A. I don't think they do so. I saw a herd of about 100 near Portage la

Prairie. They were left out in the scrub practically all the time and they seemed
to be quite husky when I saw them in March last. I think that is all I had intended

to say about the scrub versus the good cattle.

FROZEN WHEAT FOR BEEF PRODUCTION. .

'

The next point I wish to touch upon is the value of frozen wheat for feeding

purposes. We got a carload, as Dr. Saunders told you a few days ago, from the west,

and I have samples of that wheat here. We fed this wheat to steers for 70 days, and
I will give you the particulars in a minute or two. There are samples here of the

frozen wheat ground and unground. Here are samples of the ground wheats, No. 1

and No. 2 (holding up sample.)

^ By Mr. Mclntyre (Strathcona) :
•

Q. Do you know where that wheat was imported from?
A. It came from Indian Head.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. What did it cost you?
A. Ninety-eight cents for No. 2 and $1.06 for No. 1 landed here. Mr. Shutt

gave me the composition, and I coidd give it to you, but I do not suppose you want
that. We did not feed it pure to any class of steers. I have fed it pure to a lot of swine,

but not steers ; I have never found it satisfactory to feed any one pure grain like that

to steers. Now, taking one lot of steers, which we will call lot B, they weighed on
December 24, 730 pounds average. On March 3 their average weight was 881 pounds,

so that there was a gain of 151 pounds in 70 days, or an average of 2 :15 lbs. gain
per day. The average daily ration was: corn ensilage, 40 pounds; clover hay, 3

pounds; oat straw, 5 pounds; crushed oats, 2 pounds, and frozen wheat No. 1, 3-i

pounds. The cost of a pound of grain was 6 :31 cents during that period, and the cost

of the meal for that one pound of gain was 3 -09 cents. Now, these figures are worth
remembering, because upon them the point of the experiment hangs. Now, we will

take lot C. Their average weight on December 24 was 834 pounds. On March 3 it

had increased to 1,001 pounds, showing 'a gain of 167 pounds in 70 days. The daily

rate of gain was 2 "4 pounds. The average daily ration per head was : Ensilage, 45

pounds; oat straw, 6 pounds; clover hay, 3 pounds; bran, 3-3 pounds; frozen wheat,
2*2 pounds. There was less frozen" wheat there you see. The cost of one pound of

gain was 5*50 cents. The cost of meal per pound gain was 2:52 cents. You will

notice that where the frozen wheat was decreased the cost of 1 lb. of gain w'as a little

lower.

By an Honourable Member:

Q. What value do you put upon the ensilage?

A. $2 a ton.

By Mr. Wilson:

Q. You say you paid $1.06 for the No. 1 frozen wheat?

A. That is per 100 pounds. Of course, we ground the wheat. L'ater on I will

give you a point on that. Now, as to lot D the weight on December 24 was 945

pounds. On March 3 it had increased to 1,090 pounds showings a gain in 70 days of
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145 pounds, the daily rate of gain being 2-07 pounds. We fed as a daily ration 44
pounds of corn ensilage, 3 pounds of hay, 6 pounds of oat straw, 2-66 pounds of bran,

and 2 -78 pounds of frozen wheat. Now, you will notice that the oats along with the

wheat cost more than bran along with the wheat. The cost per pound of gain was 6 -28.

The cost of meal for one pound of gain was 2 -85 cents. Now, we will take lot E.

Their weight on December 24 was 1,068 pounds and finished on March 3 with a weight

of 1,258 pounds, having made a gain of 190 pounds in the 70 days or a daily average

rate of gain of 2 -71 lbs. Their average daily rations was 'as follows : Corn ensilage,

50 pounds; straw, 6^ pounds; clover hay, 3 pounds; gluten, 2*15 pounds; bran 3-17

pounds. The cost of one pound of gain was 5 -33 cents, and the cost of meal for one

pound of gain, 2 -41 cents. Now, the frozen wheat was up against 'a pretty hard pro-

position when it ran against gluten, because, as I have already told you, that is one

of the best foods, possibly not as good as oil meal, but better than corn. The farmer

should know, in my opinion, whether it will pay him to get frozen wheat rather than

corn, gluten, or oil meal to feed his steers in addition to the crop grown on the farm-.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. What do you mean by the 2-41 cents; what does it mean actually?

A. That is the cost of the meal part of the feed required for one pound of gain.

Take lot B where we used the largest amount of frozen wheat, viz., 3 -5 pounds. The
cost for one pound of gain was 6 -31 cents.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. Can you give us the profits realized?

A. The profit has not been figured out yet because there are other experiments

to be concluded.

Q. It looks rather high, 6 -31 cents for a pound of gain ?

A. That is cheap feeding.

Q. What would you sell those steers at per pound?
A. They are sold to go at 51 cents per pound.

Q. Is that profitable?

A. Yes. I think it is quite evident that the honourable gentleman is not a

cattle feeder.

By Mr. Telford:

Q. That increase will be on your beef here?

A. That will be on the live weight.

Q. There will be no reduction for offal, that is the selling price of the actual

dressed beef?

A. We sold the cattle alive and there was no reduction for oft'al.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Where is the weight taken?

A. On the farm. We sell according to the weight on our own scales there. For
the information of those who do not understand this beef feeding business 1 may
say that on steers bought in the fall and sold in the spring you never expect to make
a pound of beef for the price you sell it at; to do so would be a most exceptional con-

dition. You sell at 5i cents a pound live weight. Vou have put on the steer 300
pounds which probably cost you 6 or 7 cents a pound. To start with you got your steer

at 4 cents a pound we will say. There will be about 1,000 pounds at 4 cents, which is

$40. Supposing you sell 1,300 pounds at 5^ cents a pound. That would be $71.50;

so there is a difference of $31.50 between the price at which you buy and the selling

price. You have $31.50 to the good and your feed has cost yon. say. $7 a hundred
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?or the beef produced, which amounts to $21. Deducting that from the $31.50 it

leaves you a margin of $10.50.

By Mr. Wilson:-

Q. You do not allow anything for labour?

A. Nor for the manure either. Labour is such a varying quantity and manure
also that it is tacitly understood by experimenters the world over that both items

shall be excluded.

By Mr. Lewis: .

'

Q. That is a way of balancing things up?
A. That is the way we have of balancing things up.

By Mr. Wilson ( Lennox)

:

Q. Labour would cost considerably more than lormerly with wages at the present

rate?

A. Wages would be miore and manure would be worth more.

I want to say a word or two now about frozen wheat.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. How do you find frozen wheat as a feed for pigs ?

A. I am going to take that up in a few minutes. We find that for steers it has

to be ground very fine otherwise it passes through the animals undigested. It is

absolutely necessary for beef cattle, dairy cattle or horses that it shall be ground
finely.

By Mr. Henderson:

Q. You are speaking now of frozen v/heat?

A. Frozen wheat. .

Q. Does that same principle apply to all kinds of grain for feed purposes; should

it be ground fine?

A. No, I will not say it applies to all kinds of grain, but it had better be ground
if you want to get the best results, but not to the same extent as in the ease of frozen

wheat. The kernels of frozen wheat, if you examine them, you will find are very hard.

If they were soaked for a while it would overcome that hardness, but where fed dry,

they go right into the stomach; they don't have time to soften, and are very difficult

to digest. Therefore, these kernels if not ground, or if badly ground, pass right

through the animal.

By Mr. Levns:

Q. Do you grind it or roll it?

A. We grind it. You can see the way it is prepared from the samples here.

Q. Have you experimented with grain that is rolled, that is, crushed, but not

ground ?

A. I cannot say that we have, but I have seen it done.

Q. That is what they use on the ships. They make it as coarse as they can by

crushing the grain?

A. Yes.

By Mr. Henderson:

Q. Your opinion is that the finer they get the wheat the better?

A. In the case of this wheat, not in all other cases.
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By Mr. Blain:

Q. Would you say that it would pay to bring- frozen wheat to Ontario and feed

it to cattle in competition with grain grown in the province?

A. This year I think it would at the prices we pay. The prices are so high for

bran and other feeds that wheat costing anywhere around $1, $1.10 or $1.15 is a good

feed.

By Mr. Martin (Wellington)

:

Q. In feeding ensilage, clover hay and oat straw and your meals do you mix them
all together?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you cut it up and mix it all together?

A. We don't mix the hay, but we take the ensilage and where we are feeding any

roots we pulp them and mix them together w^ith the si raw, and on top of that when
fed to the cattle we throw the meal.

Q. Do you dampen it?

A. No, there is enough moisture in the roots and ensilage.

Bjj Mr. Lewis:

Q. Did you get the same results from frozen wheat as from unfrozen?

A. We have not made experiments to determine that.

Now, as to summer feeding. I think I have already discussed that pretty well

with Mr. Jackson.

Mr. Jackson (Elgin.)—I don't think you discussed it at all.

Mr. Grisdale.—If you will get me the field I will be only too delighted to experi-

meint in pasturing cattle.

Mr. Jackson (Elgin.)—If the Chairman or Mr. Grisdale will show me where
cattle intended for export are finished for six months of the Canadian year I will

welcome the information. If they can show that they are finished in the stable I

will alter my opinion.

Mr. Martin (V/ellington.)—I can show you a man who has from 250 to 300 head
that he finishes in the stable.

SUMMER FEEDING IN STABLE.

Mr. Grisdale.—We took a bunch of steers three years ago, in April, put them in

the stable and fed them until August 2, and they made quite as good gains during
that period as similar steers fed during the winter, showing that in spite of the warm
weather they did all right inside. They were fed exactly similar feeds as were fed
cattle in winter, and made quite similar gains. For instance, they made a gain of
2-21 pounds per day although it cost a little more in that case, 6-73 cents, to make
a pound of gain.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. In what kind of place were they kept?
A. A very roomy place, our steer barn, a wooden building.

By Mr. Barr:

Q. Were they tied up?

A. No, they were loose. Have you been at our stables, NFr. Jackson?
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By Mr. Jach&on (Elgin):

Q. Yes. That gain was made in s"umnier do you say?
A. They made 203 pounds from April 21 until July 23. I made a mistake in

saying August before. That is for three months they made a little over 60 pounds
a month.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. Did you try the same kind of experiment with cattle outside in the summer
as you did with cattle in the cold weather ?

A. We fed them outside, not on pasture, but in a small yard, and they made
good gains.

Q. They made better gains than they did in the cold weather?

A. During the hot weather ?

Q. Yes?
A. IsTo, they did not make any better, but just as good.

By Mr. Leiuis:

Q. Sixty pounds gain a month is quite an increase?

A. It is fair, about 2 pounds a day,

Q. Do they gain as much as 150 pounds in a month?
A. I have had them gain as much as 150 pounds in a month, but that is excep-

tional, and they won't do it continually. For instance, three weeks ago I had a steer

which made a gain of 90 pounds in two weeks, and the next two weeks the gain was
50 pounds, so that the total gain for the month was 140 pounds. We get them once

in a while to do that. One steer made a gain of over 100 pounds in three weeks. That
was a remarkable steer in my opinion.

Q. What class of steer was that?

A. It was a shorthorn grade.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. Do they make as good gains during the fly season?

A. This bunch to which I refer did. I could not see that it affected them very
much.

Q. Are the flies troublesome down here?

A. Yes. There was a shed into which these steers could go and they were not
exposed to the sun all the time.

Q. Am I correct in understanding you to say that you did not find much differ-

ence in the quality of the food between the worst frozen wheat and the best wheat?
A. We did not try the pure wheat because that injures the steers. We just took

one variety and mixed it with oats or bran.

Q. What was it, the first or second?

A. No. 1

By Mr. Mclntyre (Strathcona)

:

Q. What do you mean by the first grade of wheat as compared with the western

grades ?

A. There are the two samples.

Q. Quite so, but you understand we have grades in the west?

A. These were graded. They are No. 1 and No. 2 frozen wheat or feed wheat.

Q. Is that a commercial grade, No. 1 frozen?

A, I do not think it is a commercial grade.

Q. You bought it on grade?

A. Yes.
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BABY BEEK

The subject we have been experimenting with for quite a number of years is the

feeding- of steers from birth to block. We have found it pays to get them to the

block as quickly as we can. We have put them on the block at the age of 13 months,

and also at two years, and the quicker they are placed in the butcher's hands the more
profitable they are. We have taken similar steers and allowed them to run through

on a light ration, giving them a little bit of meal the first winter, practically no meal

the second winter, and finishing them off the third winter; and they have given us,

as a rule, a very small margin indeed. For the man who has rough pasture and a

lot of rough feed that is not a good way to do, but for the man who wishes to make
beef out of the little bit of arable land he has, shoving the beef forward and getting

it on the market as quickly as he can is the best way of making money. Practically

the same thing applies here that was raised by Mr. Jackson as to the advisability of

pasturing or stall feeding; keeping them inside or letting them run on rough land

and using their product off the rough land. Our experiments show that where they

are properly fed v/e were able to make a profit of from $5 to $25 on steers of from 13

to 18 or 20 months old. That was after paying for the steer and the cost of the feed.

We have had quite a number of experiments along this line and it would be quite a

long process to conduct you through the mazes thereof. However, that in brief is the

result.

SWINE FEEDING.

Now, I come to the question of feeding pigs. In one bunch we had 29 brood

sows and I will give you briefly the amount of feed consumed by them from December

1, 1907, until March 14, 1908. It cost us to feed those 29 sows during the 105

days $135.99. We fed them 37,100 pounds of roots at $2 per ton, 3,788 pounds of

bran at $22 per ton, 4,151 pounds of shorts at $25 per ton, and 1,550 pounds of clover

hay at $7 per ton. During the first seven weeks, that is about 50 days, those sows

cost us just 2| cents per diem to feed showing that it is possible to carry brood sows

through very cheaply even under such adverse conditions as we have at the farm.

The last seven weeks or 50 days it cost us a little more because the sows were getting

nearer the time for farrowing and they had to be in better shape for the litters. They
have farrowed very largely now, I think about 20 of them, and in every case but one

have given us good litters. That one gave only three or four. They are all strong

and healthy notwithstanding the conditions at the experimental farm where we have
a very poor piggery. However, we got the sows through the winter very cheaply;

they are healthy and have given good litters.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. Did you wet your feed or steam it?

A. No, it was fed dry.

Q. Did you feed the hay dry too?

A. We fed the hay in a rack, just as you would feed sheep.

Q. Clover hay?

A. Clover hay.

Q. You would not feed timothy?

A. We would not feed timothy, but we did feed some alfalfa.

,

By Mr. McColl:

Q. Have you made any estimate of what it would take to keep a brood sow and
have her raise two litters of pigs a year?

A. We have estimated that it will cost, if you feed thoni as cheaply as you know
how, from $12 to $15.

2—22
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Q. I estimated $15?

A. Under the system of feeding I have outlined, that we followed this last winter,

it is going to cost us less than that, because in summer we put them on roots or green

feed and they feed very cheaply indeed. In this way we get the best litters every

time. Feeding them too heavily is a great mistake.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. Are you going merely to feed them on roots ?

A. On clover pastures to start with, and then roots afterwards. There is some
little danger in having them on root pasture, however.

Q. What do you mean by root pasture?

A. Take part of a field of roots and fence it off with a bit of sod alongside of it

and included in the pasture.

By Mr. McOoll:

Q. Have you ever tried feeding them pumpkins ?

A. Quite extensively, and they are certainly an excellent feed. We cook them and
mix ni.'^al with them, and I don't think there is anything that will surpass them as a

cheap fattening ration.

By Mr. Wright (Renfrew)

:

Q. Seeds and all?

A. Seeds and all, and they like the seeds best.

By Mr. Mclntyre (Strathcona) :

Q. What about artichokes?

A. They are capital feed for both fattening pigs and brood sows, that is for

about a month in the fall and about two weeks in the spring. After that you must
let them grow or you will have no crop next year. We made some very cheap gains

with artichokes for two or three years running.

FROZEN WHEAT FOR FATTENING PIGS.

Now, as to frozen wheat, we fed it to pigs very extensively. Since swine are

supposed to be particularly suited for making use of this sort of feed it was decided

to give as thorough a test as possible. The results given below are quite incomplete,

but will serve to indicate the high value of different grades of frozen wheat for pork

production.

The hogs were divided into groups of 5 each and fed as follows:—
Lot 1—Frozen wheat No. 1, 200 lbs. with shorts, 100 lbs.

„ 2— No. 1, 200 100 M

„ 3— No. 2, 200 with corn, 100 n
„ 4— No. 2, 200 II only.

„ 5— No. 2, 200 „

„ 6— No. 2, 200 II with barley, 100 »

„ 7— „ No. 1, 200 .1 with oats, 100 »

„ 8— 11 No. 1, 200 „ M _
100

„ 9— „ No. 2, 200 II with skim milk, 3 lbs. daily per pig.

„ 10— II No. 1, 200 II only.

„ 11— „ No. 1, 200 II 11

„ 12— „ No. 1, 100 II No. 2, 100 lbs. ; com, 100 lbs.

"

I
Check lots both fed with the following ration

:

500 lbs. shorts, 300 lbs, corn, 100 lbs. Imperial flour (coarse feeding flour), skim milk
a pound per day per pig, root equal parts by weight with meal fed.
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All pigs were fed on these rations for 56 days, exclusive of Y dciys allowed for

change of ration. The pigs were weighed every Tuesday and careful notes made of

results each week. The summary is as follows :

—

Lot 1 gained at rate of "76 lbs. per day i^er jjig and required 3 9 lbs. meal for 1 lb. gain.
2 -77 M M M 3-7 1
3 M 1-03 „ „ „ 3-9 „ 1
4 M 1-23 „ „ 3-6 „ 1
5 „ -71 <- 3-8 „ 1
6 -81 „ „ „ 41 „ 1
7 ^^ 1-02 „ „ „ 3-9 „ 1
8 „ -66 „ „ „ 3-9 „ 1
9 -86 „ „ 3-4 „ 1
10 „ -94 „ „ „ 4-1 M 1
11 M -79 „ „ „ 3-9 „ 1

12 „ -94 „ „ „ 4-7 ]

1^} -92 M „ „ 3-2 „ 1

The pigs enjoyed uniformly good health. The lots were fairly uniform in size

except in cases where two lots were on the same ration, when one was a heavy lot and
the other a light lot, as for instance, in lots 10 and 11, where pigs in lot 10 averaged
at finish 203-2 lbs., and pigs in lot 11 averaged at finish 140-8 lbs. Weights are ^iven
below.

Average Weight per Pig in Lot in each case.

Lot 99 1—To finish 141-8
2— " 76 0— " 119 2

II 3— " . ... . .. .118 2— " 176-2
4— " 140 0— " 209-2
5— " S5 0— " . . • 124-8
6— ". .. 104 1— " 148-6

II 7— " 112 1- " 169-4
8— " 74 2— " 111-6
9- " 99 0— " 147-2

II 10— " 150 4— " 203-2
11— " 96 3— " 140-8
12— " . 124 8— " 176-7

II 13- " 108 6— " 159-3
14— " 83 8— " 137-2

It will be observed that pigs on pure frozen wheat made excellent gains. It must
be noted, however, that very careful feeding was necessary in lots where pure wheat

was used. On averaging up the weak lot it will be found that gains cost on pure

frozen wheat less than 4 cents per pound live weight This compares very favourably

with gains made on other feeds or mixtures. The wheat should be finely ground.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. I understood you to say that too much frozen wheat would kill the little pigs,

is that because the wheat was frozen?

A. It would not kill them but knock them ofE their feed. They would probably get

stiff and would not go up to the trough and eat.

Q. Would that apply to ordinary wheat?

A. I think it would apply to any one grain, if you undertook to feed your pigs

on it.

Q. It is not because the wheat is frozen?

A. No, I do not think it is.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. Is the wheat equally valuable for tlie pigs up to the tiiuo they reach 75 or TO

pounds, as from that time on?

A. Our smallest pigs experimented with weighed 00 pounds each. We put

them on that feed and they did as well as the bigger pigs.
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By Mr. McOoll:

Q. Did you ever find that a litter of 8 or 9 pigs seemed to be about even in size,

a fairly even bunch, until they weighed 60 or 70 pounds. Then one or two would go up
to 200 pounds and the others will weigh about 150 or 160 pounds?

A. Yes, very often.

Q. Bid you notice that difference more particularly in testing the frozen wheat
than with other feeds, or what is the reason for it?

A. I think there was a little more inclination that way when frozen wheat was
fed. You will notice a little variation in the returns. Some pigs did very well.

There was one that gained 120 pounds in the time the experiments lasted, about 100

days. No other pig gained over 100.

Q. When I was at the farm the man informed me there was one pig which
weighed about 260 pounds. It had gone from about 111 up to 260?

Q. That is the pig I am talking about, that was a white pig. I don't know how
to account for it. These pigs were fairly even in size, but this particular animal
rushed ahead and made far better gains on exactly the same feed; and, strange to

say, in the same bunch one went off his feed.

By Mr. Sproule:

^ Q. Have you found No. 1 and No. 2 feeds to be of exactly the same quality?

A. For pigs No. 2 seemed to be a little the better.

Q. My man tells me that No. 2 frozen wheat is scarcely worth feeding at all.

The ordinary wheat, he thinks, is so far ahead of it as to pay for the difference in

price ?

A. We got good results.

By Mr. McColl:

Q. I understood to the contrary, that in frozen wheat, even in No. 2 there was a

larger percentage of protein than in pure wheat, and it is better for feeding purposes ?

A. It may be better for feeding pure, but for feeding purposes I prefer the other.

Q. The sound wheat?

A. The unfrozen wheat.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Some farmers prefer shorts to wheat?

A. Most of them do. I do myself.

Q. It is preferable?

A. Yes, but it is dearer.

Q. Is it?

A. You cannot get shorts here for less than $27 a ton at present, and the lowest

price last fall was $24 or $25.

Q. What is the difference in price between the feeds?

A. Wheat is about $20 a ton. The other runs from $25 to $27 a ton.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. I understood you to say that it takes about 4 pounds of feed to make one
pound of pork?

A. Yes.

Q. That would be 1^ cents a pound?

A. No, very little more than $1 a 100 pounds.

Q. At the rate you pay for your feed, $25 a ton, it is 1^ cents?

A. Yes.

Q. That makes 5 cents?

A. Yes.
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Q. If you sell your pigs at $4.45, $4.60 or $4.75, where is your profit?

A. Selling at 6 cents we make it pay.

Q. That is the price at which pigs have been running this winter?

A. I sold some pigs for 6 cents and 6^.

Q. That would bring it to $4.50?

A. I sold them over a month ago for 5^. I think our markets are a little better

than yours in the west.

Q. We were selling for $4.40 ?

A. I have no doubt? .

".

By Mr. McColl:

Q. I am buying frozen wheat, No. 1, at 66 cents a bushel. That means $1.10

per hundred for the wheat. It costs 5 cents a hundred for grinding that wheat, which

makes the price

A. $1.15.

Q. $1.15 per 100?

A. Yes.

Q. Which is the cheapest feed you can procure at the present time?

A. Yes, it is the cheapest feed you can procure at the present time.

Mr. Sproule.—Can you buy No. 1 frozen wheat for $1.06 at your place?

Mr. McCoLL.—I bought some feed from the elevator there at 66 cents a bushel,

taking it when I liked.

By Mr. Lalor:

Q. You cannot feed clover hay to pigs as well as sheep and cattle, can you?
A. Yes.

Q. Do they eat it up clean?

A. They will eat lots of it. The 29 brood sows that I have been speaking of ate

about three-quarters of a ton in a couple or three months.

Q. Do you feed them from the rack, the same as you would sheep?

A. Yes. It is a very cheap and good feed, and they like it.

Q. It is a very unusual thing for the ordinary farmer to do?
A* I don't know. There are men that do this, I have seen a good many do it. It

is a cheap and good way of feeding the sows, there is no better feed for them.
Q. You mean that it is a good feed for sows, but not for fattening?
A. Not for fattening. If intended for fattening, you mix it with meal and steam

it. In the case of the brood sows we allowed them to pick it out themselves.

ROOTS FOR SWINE.

I have one more item to deal with, and then I have finished. That is as to the
value of roots for pigs. As I said, in speaking about the sows, we have fed pigs on
roots in the pasture. We just cut off a corner of the root field and turned the pi^s in.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. What kind of roots do you mean ?

A. Different kinds, mangels, turnips, sugar beets and carrots. Thoy would eat the
mangels first, then the sugar beets, then the carrots and then tlio turnips; that was
the order in which they took them, and that was one thing I wished to find out.
There is one difficulty in connection with feeding them in a root field. They are apt
to develop a little too much belly and they don't make as rapid gains as where vou
control the amount of roots fed; so while you save tlio cost of harvesting you lose in
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tlie rate of gain and in the kind of product which yoii get. We compared root pasture

with alfalfa and with red clover pasturing, and then we compared a lot in the barn

which had no pasture at all but which received a certain amount of roots. We found

that the pigs which we had on root pasture cost us $3.82 a hundred. We estimated the

roots at so many bushels per acre, and worked it up that way. Of course, the roots

cost us less unharvested than when they were harvested. Fed in pens on roots the cost

per 100 pounds of gain was $4.23. When the pigs were fed with roots and meal in

the pens the cost was $3.09, and when fed with roots in the pasture the cost was $3.82.

By Mr. 8proule:

Q. At what time of the year did you turn them on to the roots?

A. It was in September. When the pigs were fed on alfalfa pasture the cost

was $3.67, and on red clover pasture $3.52. You will see, therefore, that feeding with

roots and meal in the pen was the cheapest way of fattening them. We have found
that to get quick and profitable returns from fattening pigs they must be kept in

close quarters. If you give the animals a big run they get rid of a certain amount of

their feed. Hence they are better in close quarters.

For breeding stock it is probably better, however, to give the pigs a run. We
haVe had a bunch of young sows out all winter. They have done very well, but, of

course, cost somewhat more to feed than would have been the base had they been inside.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. You did not house them at night?

A. They have cabins.

Q. The pigs would go in themselves ?

A. Yes.

Q. You think they did as well as those that were kept inside?

A. Quite as well, if not better, but it cost a little more to feed them. We did

not feed them for 2| cents a day.

Q. Tell us how much it cost?

A. They were growing sows and they cost us about 6 cents a day each.

Q. What did the others cost?

A. 2| cents to 5 cents.

Q. That is quite a difference?

A. Yes, quite a difference.

Q. The value of your tests would be greater if they were made with sows of the

same age?

A. I have not made such an experiment this year, but two or three years ago
we did that.

Q. You ought to tell us what the age was?

A. In the case of pigs of a similar age three years ago, the cost of increasing

live weight was 6 cents a pound.

Q. That was pigs fed inside ?

A. Yes. Pigs of the same age fed outside cost us 8 cents a pound.

Q. That is more than you said it cost you last winter?

A. But this is another experiment.

Q. I do not see why there should be such a difference?

A. I have seen, pigs that it cost 10 cents a pound to put on weight. With others

the cost was only 2 or 3 cents. I may say, however, in summing up inside versus

outside winter feeding that it usually cost about 1 cent more per pound increase in

live weight when fed outside rather than inside.

There is one other experiment to which I desire to refer. We fed pigs on milk,

on sugar beets and on mangels. Where we fed them on meal and mangels the cost to
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jH'oduce 100 pounds live weight was $6.20. That was in winter and winter feeding is

always more expensive than summer feeding.

By Mr. Henderson:

.

Q. When you speak of sugar beets do you mean the ordinary beet which is grown
in the garden for household consumption, or the beet which is cultivated for the purpose

of making sugar ?

A. I mean the best which is grown for the manufacture of sugar, the Danish

Improved sugar beet.

By Mr. Lalor:

Q. If winter feeding is so expensive it would not be very profitable to the farmers

to sell pork at 6 cents a pound or less ?

A. In the experiments to which I am now alluding the cost of producing 100

pounds live weight was $6.20 with mangels and with sugar beets $5.05, showing that

the sugar beet is very much better than the mangel.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. What about turnips?

A. The pigs eat them with difficulty unless you pulp them.

Q. I mean pulped?

A. We find they are quite equal, if not superior, to the other roots when cooked

or pulped.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. What do you estimate the cost of your roots at?

A. $2 a ton for mangels, $2.50 for sugar mangels, and $3 for sugar beets. The
sugar beets are really put a little too high in comparison with what they cost us to

produce. We get 22 tons of mangels, 18 tons of sugar mangels and about 16 tons of

sugar beets to the acre. Sometimes the yield is a little more, but very seldom less

than that.

By Mr. Lalor:

Q. That is a very high estimate for the ordinary farmer, especially in sugar
beets ?

A. I don't know about the ordinary farmer; I am speaking of our crops for the

last few years.

By Mr. Schell (Oxford)

:

Q. How many tons of turnips do you get?

A. Around 20.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. Now, tell us the kind of feed that makes the best pork?

A. The best pork in my experience is produced by equal parts of cats, peas and
barley, about three pounds of skim miU^ and about as much roots. That is about the
best pork I ever tried. You want to use about as much roots as you are feeding meal;
that is, for every two pounds of meal or gTain there should be two pounds of roots fed.

Q. There used to be an idea that pea fed pork wns the best?

A. No, pea fed pork is apt to become very hard when it is cooked. I have tried

different kinds of pork and I know that pea fed pork is too hard when cooked.
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Q. Corn-fed pork is apt to be too soft, is it not?

A. I have seen corn fed pork of a very nice quality.

By Mr. McColl.

Q. I have had this experience with some young pigs, particularly those that

came in the winter. They went along very well until they were about three or four

weeks old when they took sick, suffered from scouring and died. What is the cause of

that?

A. I cannot tell you. I would like very much to know myself. We have been

trying to find out ; in fact, I have been working for years on it. I think the scouring

is due to some germ. I have thoroughly disinfected the pig" pens every day, but did

not always succeed in making a cure. Sometimes there was a cure, but I could not

always tell how it was brought about. I have seen good results follow where we fed

the little ones some pasteurized or warm milk with a little shorts mixed therein.

Q. Would the sickness be due to the milk of the sow being out of condition ; that

the sow suffered from over-feeding or lack of exercise?

A. It might, but at the farm we are very careful in feeding the sows and we
know they get very wholesome food.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. Do you give them dry feed or wet?

A. Wet.

Q. Do you put your milk in with the other feed?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you give them the milk sour?

A. No, sweet.

Q. Do you put it all in the same barrel?

A. No, we just mix it as we feed it. We mix it in a hand pail and it is prepared

each time it is fed.

Q. You don't put it in a barrel?

A. No.

Q. Because if you did I would like to know what kind of pigs you would raise?

A. No, we don't let the milk sour?

By Mr. Henderson

:

Q. Is it injurious to hogs to feed sour milk to them ?

A. No, not to pigs that are advanced a bit or if you feed sour milk always. T
imagine that if you started feeding sour milk and the little ones gradually became
accustomed to it it would be all right. The trouble occurs when you feed sour milk
one day and the next day feed sweet milk. If you are feeding pigs weighing 100
pounds or more it does not matter, the amount you give them is not sufficient to

cause any trouble; but if the little pigs are getting a good deal of milk and one day
you feed sour milk and the next day sweet milk, then there is going to be trouble sure.

By Mr. McColl:

Q, These steers that you finished at 13 months old, what weight would you get at

that age?

A. The bunch we finished, that is the youngest of the bunch, at 13 months old
weighed 925 lbs. live weight.

Q. And the twenty-months old?

A. They weighed between 1,100 and 1,200 lbs. In fact, some of them went over
1,200, and one lot at 22 months old weighed 1,300 lbs.
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Q. Then the three-year old steers, what do they weigh when finished?

A. Between about 1,300 and 1,500, sometimes 1,600 lbs. live weight.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. You sold the cattle at from 5-| to 6 cents a pound?

A. We got somewhere around that last year. Of course, like other people we
are subject to the market conditions.

Q. With us we sell at 5 cents a pound?
A. In the spring?

Q. Yes.

A. Then we are luckier than you are. We Just get the market price, but I got

a little better price than you last spring.

Bij Mr. Telford:

Q. What percentage would you get from the pigs?

A. Anywhere from 70 to 80 per cent. We don't expect to get less than 70; we
very seldom get over 80. I have known it to go as high as 82.

Q. And what percentage from cattle?

A. That, of course, is a very variable quantity indeed. From well fed steers you
ought to get about 60 per eent and from very well fed steers about 65 per cent.

By Mr. Mclntyre (Strathcona) :

Q. What is the value of barley, oats and roots for fattening pork?
A. What do you mean exactly?

Q. Supposing you were feeding the coarser grain with roots, would you indicate

the value of fattening?

A. I would say that taking the average of pork prices those feeds are worth
about 1 cent a pound for the meal and from $2 to $3 a ton for the roots.

Q. But my question is more particularly as to the suitability of using such feeds ?

A. Whether to sell the grain or to use it for feeding ?

Q. Quite so?

A. By all means use it for feeding for this reason: That you may expect to get

anywhere from a cent to IJ cents a pound for your grain if you put it through your
pig. That is what you mean, isn't it?

Q. Yes?

Having read over the preceding transcript of my evidence, I testify the same to

be correct.

J. H. GRISDALE,
Agriculturist,
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HOUSING, BREEDING AND FEEDING OF POULTRY.

House of Commons,

Committee Koom No. 34,

Thursday, April 23, 1908

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met at 11

o'clock a.m., the Chairman, Mr. McKenzie, presiding.

The Chairman.—I have pleasure in announcing to the Committee that Mr. A. G.

Gilbert, who is in charge of the poultry at the Experimental Farm, will address us

this morning on the subject of the breeding of poultry. The agenda paper, which

will be distributed to the members of the Committee, contains the several matters

which Mr. Gilbert will speak upon. I have much pleasure in introducing Mr. Gilbert

to th'e Committee. .

Mr. Gilbert.—Mr. Chairman and gentlemen : I have very much pleasure in

appearing before you to-day because you have always taken a lively interest in the

operations of the poultry department, and which department when properly managed
is calculated to be of great profit to the farmers of this country. I intend this morn-
ing to bring to your attention such work as will be interesting to you and likely to

result in practical benefit to our agriculturists. In so doing I know I shall receive

your heartiest sympathy.

I beg to call your attention to the follov/ing subjects, all of which are immediately

in connection with the work I am engaged in :

—

1. Some noticeable developments in methods of housing, breeding and feeding of

poultry.

2. What long experience has shown to be the most suitable varieties of poultry

for the farmers of to-day, from the standpoints of eggs and flesh ; also the best method
of management, and for information in regard to which there is much inquiry.

3. A rapidly increasing interest, on the part of farmers, in the poultry branch of

their farm work.

4. If time permits, some interesting features of the work of the past year.

winter poultry houses.

First, we notice the great change that has taken place in the style of winter

house. Not very many years ago the popular idea was that the winter house should

have thick walls, with a window of rather small dimensions, facing south. The great

object was to have a warm house, a result often secured with little consideration for

ventilation, but which is now of first importance. The pendulum has swung the other

way, and a house all cotton on the south side with a window in the centre, or a

wooden house, but with a cotton frame, the latter 12 inches in depth, by width of

the window—above and below the windows—seem to be the most popular types to-day.

Some of these houses are built with a shed attachment for the fowls to find exercise

in by searching for their whole grain food, which is scattered in the litter always to

be found on the floor of a well-kept poultry house. But the shed attachment has

2—24 251



252 MR. A. G. GILBERT, POULTRY MANAGER

8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

been found unnecessary, for, by making the roosting room a little larger, we have the

same principle embraced. I have already stated that we move quickly in these y^ars

and the transition from comparatively old to modern methods has been very sudden

and very rapid. I have different plans of these modern winter poultry houses, one

or two of which, perhaps, the Committee will kindly allow to appear in my evidence.

By Mr. Owen:

Q. Do you use artificial heat?

A. Very little now. We have to use a certain amount for the purpose of com-
parison, but we are gradually getting out of the practice.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox)

:

Q. What do you say those houses are built of?

A. Some of them frame with cotton instead of wood in their southern fronts

and a window in the centre.

Q. They are less expensive?

A. Yes.

By Mr. Burrows:

Q. That cotton front is for ventilation purposes?

A. Yes.

Q. How do you keep your poultry from freezing?

A. There is a cotton frame which drops down in front of where the fowls roost

at night, and they are so kept warm at that time. They also enjoy good ventilation,

Vv^hich is a most important thing. The whole object in our winter care of animals

now is to give them fresh air and plenty of it. We find that we can do so and yet

avoid any risk of the birds freezing.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. You say you are doing away with artificial heat. Is that because you are

building your houses warmer?

A. I can hardly say we are building them warmer, but we are building them
certainly to permit of better circulation of fresh air. At the same time we keep the

fowls warm at night by this cotton frame which falls down in front of their roosting

place.

VALUABLE EXPERIENCE AT A NORTHERN POINT.

I ask your Committee to bear in mind that although we and others who are in

cold winter districts have found these cold winter house habitations fairly successful

that they are yet on trial, and are receiving at our hands careful and thorough inves-

tigation. Our experience is m^ost valuable, for we are in a northern position where

the winters are cold enough to thoroughly test the worth of those different styles of

winter houses. I think your Committee will admit the correctness of this statement,

for on many occasions during the past winter we experienced 15 below zero of cold,

and on several occasions 20, and once 32 below zero.

These experiments, as you can readily imagine, are observed with unusual interest

by the poultry keepers of Manitoba, Alberta, Saskatchewan, &c. The people in these

provinces say that the style of winter houses that will suit your cold winter condi-

tions will likely suit ours. And it is also to be remembered that lumber is scarce

and high in the provinces named. I found that out while attending poultry meetings
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in Manitoba and on visiting different points in Saskatchewan and Alberta a ^ew
years ago. I have received since that time scores of letters from settlers in those

provinces asking my advice as to the style of house most suitable to their winter

conditions. So it is most important to know what is best to advise.

I am of opinion that for the colder portions of Ontario and Quebec the style

of house adopted by the directors of the Pembroke Poultry Yards of Canada, which
are on an extensive scale at Pembroke, Ont., another northern point, would be most
suitable. This company, which has a capital of $40,000, have what they consider the

latest and best in poultry houses, plant, &c. The style of house adopted by their

shrewd management might be termed a compromise between the one extreme of

entirely open front and the bottled-up method of housing the birds. Instead of two

rooms there is only one, and this one room is made slightly larger than the roosting

room with shed attachment. This style of house was first adopted by Mr. L. H.
Baldwin, of Deer Park, Toronto, some years ago when he erected his large poultry

plant in the locality named. Since then it has become much in vogue, presumably
because cheap as well as compact. A description of one of the many apartments in

the long row of buildings forming part of the plant of the Pembroke Poultry Yards
Company will probably best convey an idea of an up to date application of this method.

Each colony of fowls occupies one pen, 10 x 16 feet square. Above and below the

window there is a frame covered with cotton, one foot deep by four broad. The air

through these cotton openings is diffused through the pen without draft, while light

and sunshine find their way through the window.

By Mr. Henderson:

Q. What kind of cotton do you use; the ordinary factory cotton?

A. The ordinary factory cotton selling at five or eight cents a yard.

Q. And just a single ply of it?

A. Yes, a single ply put in the frame above and below.

Q. I thought perhaps you might have two with a space of a few inches between
them. That is the method employed in the small-pox hospital when they are set up
in the fields?

A. That is a capital idea, especially for Manitoba where they, have such ex-

tremely cold dips. We have never found it necessary to have such. One thickness
has so far been found quite sufficient for us.. The ventilation by the means I have
described is considered most satisfactory.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. Did you give the size of the building which has the window in it?

A. 10 x 16. That is the size of one room and the window is four feet square.

By Mr. Henderson:

Q. How many chickens would you have in that?

A. We allow 6 or 7 square feet to each fowl. We generally allow as much room
as possible, but not less than six feet.

By Mr. MacLaren (Perth):

Q. Do they lay eggs in these houses in the cold weather?

A. Yes.

Q. That is the principal part?

A. The Pembroke Company, I may be allowed to state, prcsumnbly invested their

capital for business reasons and not for experimental purposes.

2—24^
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By Mr. Henderson:

Q. It is not much fun for the chickens to live in a cold climate?

A. The point I wish to make is this : If the hens will lay in a cold winter season

at Pembroke, Ont., they should also do so in an equally cold period in Manitoba,

Alberta and Saskatchewan. It is the gaining of such experiences which makes
experimental work of a similar nature, at our equally cold w^inter standpoint, important

to the new settlers in the provinces named. I resume description of a room in the

Pembroke buildings.

The floor of the pen in the hen house at Pembroke is cement and is covered with

the usual quantity of litter. The ceiling is slatted, and above the slates, straw, to a

depth of 12 inches, is placed for the purpose of absorbing moisture. The claim for

this method is that the circulation of air through the cotton compartments and the

absorption of moisture by the straw give perfect freedom from dampness, which is a

most important object to gain.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. Have you a cotton roof as well as cotton sides ?

A. No, just a cotton front. That is as far as we have yet gone in experimental

work of this kind.

This illustration shows the cotton panels above and below the windows, at the

plant of the Poultry Yards of Canada, Pembroke, Ont.

What I am sure w^ill interest your Committee is the fact that during the coldest

period of winter, I was assured there had been no moisture in any of the pens of

the buildings. This result is attributed to the straw above ceiling and ventilation

through the cotton frames. At the north end of the pen are the roosts, platform, and
underneath the latter, the nests. In front of the roosting place there is a cotton-

covered frame 6x8 feet. This frame swings to the wall, and is only used on very
cold nights, for the purpose of keeping the fowls comfortable. The following illustra-

tion shows the cotton frame in front of roosting pen held partly open. It al&o shows
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the roosts, dropping board and nests underneath the latter. All are at the north end

of the pen.

Showing cotton frame in front of roosting place, held partly open ; also

showing roosts, dropping board and nests.

A four compartment hopper contains grit, oyster shells and charcoal. Whole
grain is thrown on the litter on the floor. Drink water is regularly supplied, and
from time to time meat and vegetables. In each pen to the left of the roosting place
there is a small crated inclosure to hold two male birds for use during the breeding
season. I was. assured that the pens so arranged had given entire satisfaction. And
what is most important, I was told that sick fowls had been rare. Such results, gained
at so northern a position, are most important.

By Mr. Henderson:

Q. You have that character of pen at the farm?
A. Yes. We have been trying similar and other styles of houses with different

sorts of fowls for some years past.

Q. Are you giving us your own experience or some other persons?
A. I am giving you a description of one of many up-to-date houses owned by a

private company who have invested a large amount of capital. I prefer to, sometimes,
take outside examples, because I find I am up against it when I am recommending
to the farmers of the country improved methods of housing and managoment, and
in this way: If I tell them what we have and what results we obtain. The farmers
say: 'Oh, that is very well for you, you have the government at your back; you have
the best fac'iliii(>s; Ihe most improved buildings and everything else you desire. But
what can we poor farmers do?' 1 do not take them in that way. I tell them of
farmers who have made money out of their poultry, and I say: 'You are equally
intelligent and can surely do likewise if you will only adopt similar means.' Agaiii,
all our experimental results are described from year to year in our reports.
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By Mr. MacLaren (Perth):

Q. Where is this plant that yoii are speaking of?

A. Pembroke, Ont.

Q. Where the large capital is invested?

A. Yes.

By Mr. Armstrong

:

Q. Wliat success have they had? You spoke of the success they had experienced

in the industry?

A. I am speaking of the success they have met with in the use of their new type

of house rather than as a mercantile venture; however, in this I believe they have

been fairly successful.

Q. Have they paid any dividends ?

A. That I cannot answer.

By Mr. MacLaren (Perth):

Q. How long have they been in existence?

A. Three years.
*

By Mr. Armstrong:

Q. I imderstand you to be advocating the use of the same kind of pens?
A. Exactly. I am showing that by this style of pens the fowls have come through

the winter in good health and without any sickness. The houses have also been free

from dampness.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Have you a record of the eggs laid by hens kept in these cotton front houses
during the different months?

A. Not by the Pembroke Company that I was speaking of. We have a record
of the eggs laid by the fowls in our poultry department, also, the cost of each fowl
and what it has made per year. We give that information in our reports ; that is

part of our work.

DIFFERENT METHODS OF FATTENING CHICKENS.

By Mr. Owen:

Q. Is this company engaged in any other business, or do they devote their whole
time to the hennery?

A. They fatten a large number of poultry for shipment and sale in Montreal and
other city markets, and I believe in so doing they have been fairly successful.

By Mr. MacLaren (Perth):

Q. Are they using the cramming system?

A. No, but they use the crate fattening system.

By Mr. ILenderson:

Q. What kind of system?
A. The crate fattening system. That is the birds are put in crates.
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By Mr. Wilson (Lennox)

:

Q. They are not allowed to rim around?

A. They are not allowed to run around, but are kept quiet and have as little

'exercise as possible.

Q. Is that done in the open air?

A. It is sometimes so done, again in a shed or large covered building.

Q. It would depend upon the time of the year somewhat, I suppose?

A. Operations of that kind generally begin when the chickens are most abundant

in the fall of the year.

Q. Do not firms buy chickens now for the spring or early summer market?

A. Yes, but in limited numbers, as broilers. The most profitable practice is to

obtain the chickens when they can be bought in the greatest number and at the

cheapest price.

Q. The Pembroke firm do not produce their chickens then?

A. They raise chickens, yes; but they have found that by keeping pure-bred

fowls of good quality that they can sell the progeny of these fov/ls for breeding jpur-

poses, at higher prices than they could obtain for them if fattened for table use.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. In other words they buy stockers?

A. Yes, that is exactly what they do for fattening purposes; but they raise their

own pure-bred birds of good quality to sell at a high price to those who wish to pur-

chase a superior class of fowls for breeding purposes.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. Is the crate process of fattening the most successful, in your opinion?

A. The fattening by crate method is certainly efi^ective when chickens of proper

type and quality are used. Crammer or crate fattening is really the business of the

pai-ty of the second part, who is the purchaser. But it is certainly the farmer who
produces, in other words, who hatches and rears the chickens. He is the party of the

first part. It is all important to the farmer, who desires to obtain a sale for his

chickens, as quickly as he can, that he should begin with the right type of fowls which
will give him the suitable chicks for market. Then he must feed his chicks regularly
and house them carefully from time of hatching. If he does this he w^ill find, at

the age of three, three and a half or four months of age, they are fit for sale to

customers for table use or to the parties who buy for fattening purposes. My work is

more directly with the farmers. I have for many years reared chickens as outlined,
which weighed at three months of age and 4 pounds. And many farmers have told

me that they have also done so. Chickens from the earliest stages of their life require
to be fed regularly, generously and carefully if desired to be of first quality. Chickens
which are allowed to pick up their own living never make the better quality of poultry.

I wish to most emphatically put my experience of 25 years on record in relation to the
above points. I hope I have made myself clear.

By Mr. Henderson:

Q. I understand you to say that fattening chickens in the natural way you get a
better chicken?

A. I do not wisli to be understood as belittling crate fattening, br.t my experience
goes to show that if the chickens are not neglected and are given a limited run they
will have a firmness of flesh which they do not get by either the crate fattening or
the cramming systems. The crate fattening and the cramming system is a method
of breaking down tissue by the enforced idleness of the bird. No chickens b.ave
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firmer, more juicy or more wholesome flesh than those which while well fed are allowed

to have a certain amount of run and exercise. And the gain in weight will often he

with the latter.

By Mr. Owen:

Q. Do not the crate fattened fowls bring the highest price in the market '«

A. I did not intend to intrude my experience to such a length on your Committee,

but I am glad that the members are taking an interest in this subject. Permit me to

say that I frequently have had chickens which never saw crate or crammer and they

discounted the crate fattened chicks every time. And farmers can have the same
results if they take the trouble.

By Mr. MacLaren (Perth):

Q. When you talk of the market, do you mean the local m^arket or the market for

export? Generally crammed chickens or crate fattened chickens sell better for export?

A. If I had a good article I never found it hard to get a purchaser at a good price.

Sometimes Vv^e meet a man who wants to get a good article for a second-class price,

but he is going out of date wuth the inferior quality of poultry and other articles of

^ food.

Q. 1 was anxious to know if the chickens fattened in the ordinary way and
exported sell better than those which are fattened in crates and by the cramming
system ?

A. You cannot send too many chickens of superior quality to the British market.

In all cases they will receive the highest value. Our aim should be to produce either

for home market or export, eggs and poultry of the highest quality. And they will

receive proper appreciation both at home and abroad.

By Mr. Owen:

Q. It is important that good care is taken in transportation. Sometimes they

do not arrive in the British market in the very best condition. It is something like

our butter and cheese; there is not the care taken in the transportation that there

should be?

A. If the fowls are properly killed, their crops empty, and the flesh allowed to

cool before being packed, which should be done before they reach the shippers' hands,
there will be comparatively little difficulty. Cold storage facilities are now excellent.

By Mr. MacLaren (Perth):

Q. Have you had any complaints about chickens arriving in bad condition in the
old country?

A. We have never sent any to the old country, but Professor Robertson has done
so, and has been most successful. But there were one or two complaints he told me
about, and upon inquiry it was found that the complaints were due to the birds being
packed before they were cooled, before the animal heat was out of their bodies. Again,
there might have been some food which had decomposed in their crops. However,
all these are matters of detail. To put a superior class of poultry on the market in

proper condition should not be a matter of any great difficulty at this date.

By Mr. Armstrong

:

Q. Are you in charge of the chicken fattening stations?

A. No. Any experimental fattening I was connected with was done at our own
farm, and we were successful on such occasions.

Q. Who has charge of the fattening stations?
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A. The stations at which the fattening by cramming and crate were carried on

were under Professor Eobertson and outside of my department altogether.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. Are they still continued?

A. No, I believe they are not.

Q. What was the result, were the experiments successful or unsuccessful?

A. I can speak feelingly of one result, when I was for two hours and a half under

examination one morning three or four years ago by this Committee, as to the work of

fattening stations with which I had no connection or control.

Q. What are the varieties of fowls that you would recom^mend?

A. Barred Plymouth Rocks, White Wyandottes, Buff and White Orpingtons,

Dorkings, &c. I will come to that presently. If I have answered all the different

questions asked satisfactorily I will proceed with my subject.

DIFFERENT CONDITIONS IN DIFFERENT PROVINCES.

At the Macdonald College, St. Anne de Bellevue, P.Q., the colony house system

of keeping the winter house layers has been to a great extent adopted, and was found
highly successful during the past two cold winters.

(Any of the foregoing style of houses would answer for Ontario or Quebec pro-

vinces, or, indeed, any of the cold winter provinces, should experimental trial prove

them to be suitable.)

For Manitoha.

A Manitoba correspondent has an idea that the large quantities of straw in that

province, and which in many cases go to waste, might be utilized to make comfortable

and cheap poultry houses. Notwithstanding the high price of lumber, there are many
poultry houses made of boards throughout the province. At a meeting in Winnipeg
two years ago, a lady poultry keeper of Headingly, not far from Winnipeg, assured

the audience that she had erected a new poultry house during the year previous of

boards and had paid for it, out of the proceeds of her poultry, in one year.

Sashatcheivan.

A correspondent at Sunny Plains, Sask., wrote me in reply to the question what
style of house he considered most suitable for that province, as follows, dated Febru-

ary 20, 1907 :—
*I regret that I have not the means to try an experimental frame and sod house,

combined. From what I have seen here of frame and sod houses for human habita-

tion, I think a sod house can be made as warm as a frame one, in fact, warmer. A
neighbouring settler here has a sod house which is the easiost one kept warm in the

district, and which is also perfectly dry. I have been thinking that a sod poultry

house might answer well if properly constructed to keep poultry in.'

In a later letter the same correspondent wrote, in relation to the sod made house:

'Last winter showed us that when other buildings sweated, drip|x>d and froze, the

sod house was dry and fresh.' A very important experience indeed in connection with

this kind of house.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. Before you leave that question, did you ever experiment at the farm on the

construction of houses with straw?

A. No, but I think that is a very important point. I have often thought that we
ought to experiment with houses of that kind.
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By Mr. Owen:

Q. Before you recommend them?
A. Yes

By Mr. Lewis:

What kind of straw do they use in thatching?

1 presume they use wheat straw or oat straw, but I have not had any experience

connection.

Have they had any experience at Pembroke of the straw roof in heavy rains?

I really cannot say, but I do not think so.

By Mr. MacLaren (Perth) :

Q. It is not a straw roof you were talking about, but a straw ceiling. There is

a roof over that straw ceiling?

A. Yes, a roof of metal of some light description.

By Mr. Lewis:

^ Q. If there were boards or shingling over a house made of straw, how would you
secure the ventilation?

A. It would be secured by means of a cotton frame in front, as I have described.

Late methods do away with tubes and pipes and holes, in this and that corner, by the

simple and effective plan of having a cotton frame in front, which frame gives a

thorough diffusion of air without draught.

Q. Not by a tube up through the top?

A. No. That style of ventilation has been found non-effective and has gone out

of date.

Q. Do the sod houses decay and disintegrate and tumble down eventually?

A. As to that I have had no experience. I prefer to give you facts which are

within my own knowledge. This correspondent says, in reference to the sod made
house, that it kept dry. He says that when other places were wet and dripping the sod

house was comparatively dry and comfortable, and that is an important point.

By Mr. Owen:

Q. When I was a young man I was quite a hen fancier and I built many hen
houses. I got the best results from one that I built in a corner of the hay mow and
covered it over v/ith hay?

A. That was on the very same principle that poultry houses are being built now.
Q. There v/ere several tons of hay on top of that hen house, and we had plenty

of fresh eggs all the winter?

A. People to-day are imitating that very same principle. It has been proven
that a proper circulation of air does not mean coolness, but a great many people mistake
draught for circulation and a good system of ventilation. It is not.

British Columbia.

A skilled poultry keeper of many years experience in this province says that the

poultry house question, as far as British Columbia is concerned, is simply one of sheds

to protect the fowls from the rains of winter, and secure a dry roosting place at night.

This is to a great extent correct. In the colder districts of this province the cotton

front house would doubtless prove suitable. But genial winter conditions prevail in

this province. I may, however, remark that egg and poultry values are as high, at

times higher, than in our eastern part of the Dominion. So much for the changes
which have taken place in the manner of housing our fouls.

Q.

A.

in that

Q.

A.
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IMPORTANT CHANGE IN THE SYSTEM OF BREEDING OUR BIRDS.

An important change in the manner of breeding our birds is made by the

introduction of trap nests. In January, 1904, the work of building up prolific

egg laying strains of fouls was commenced. There are two methods by which

this purpose may be accomplished. One is by ^ observation ' of the birds, and the

other by ' trap nests.' The latter method wa-s adopted as likely to prove most correct.

I have here a trap nest (exhibiting model). The manner of operating the trap nets,

affixed to one of its legs. On entering a nest to lay the hen involuntarily releases a

hinged door which falls and closes the exit and also prevents another fowl from making
her way into the nest. After the hen in the nest has laid she is released by the

attendant, who notes her number and marks it on a card conveniently situated in each

pen. A complete history of each individual hen is so secured. By this means the good
layers are distinguished from the poor ones. The best layers are selected to breed from,

the others are discarded. By breeding only from the best layers, in the course of a

few years, prolific egg laying strains of fowls are built up. Not only that, but the

best market types are secured as well. This combined result is of the greatest im-

portance, for we obtain by such selection from Barred Plymouth Rocks, White
Wyandottes, Buff or White Orpingtons, Dorkings, ^^c, really dual purpose fov.ds

;

birds that are good for both eggs and flesh, money makers from both standpoints.

And further, by selecting the chickens from these selected layers—while young—in

one of the new pattern winter houses I have been describing, we build up hardy winter

laying strains of fowls as well as prolific egg laying ones. Surely, this is most satis-

factory progress; this obtaining by systematic and careful selection—as comx^ared

with former haphazard methods—strains of fowls which are better layers, better

market types and hardier in every way. Now, Professor Gowell, of the Orono Experi-

mental Station, Maine, 10 years ago found that some fowls laid only seven, nine,

twelve or fifteen eggs a year. They were simply living on the others. He. discarded

them and went on breeding from his best layers and now he has fowls which lay 180

and 200 eggs per year. You will find these facts stated in a bulletin which he has
published.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. What fowls were those?

A. Barred Plymouth Rocks. The same is being now done with White Wyandottes.

TRAP NESTS AND FARMERS.
By Mr. Owen:

Q. The trap nest you speak of would be rather an inconvenient one for th«
average farmer. He would have to have some one there all the time to take note of
the fowls?

A. That is exactly the point that was raised in this Committee wdien I brought the
matter up some three years ago. The farmer should not, as a rule, have more hens
than he can properly^—and that means profitably—attend to. He should not, under
any circumstances, have more than 100 at the outside, and a few choice fowls to sel(>ct

from. I believe you will see at no distant date the provincial govornnu^nt establish
poultry stations for the direct benefit of the farmer. Tliese stations will do the work
of trap nest selection, and the eggs, or the stock, from these selected heiis will be sold
directly to the fanners. Probably county or township councils may take the matter
up if the greater body does not.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. On the principle of fish breeding establishments?
A. Yes, exactly. I believe it would be a good work to have this done at our

branch experimental farms. But I am not an executive officer, and do not presume
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to predict. Such action, however, would be in the direct interests of the farmer. I

appreciate the point that the farmer cannot properly attend to trap nests himself, for

he has very little time in which to do so. If there was a will, however, a way might be

found.

By Mr, Clements:

Q. In regard to this system of houses of which you have been speaking. In the

district from which I come a great many farmers have comparatively little to do in

the winter season, and they go in for raising chickens. It is an occupation they could

not undertake in the spring or the summer, because they would not have time to make
it very profitable. From my own observations I doubt very much whether they could

get the same results from these new pattern houses as they do from their well warmed
and ventilated buildings?

A. I appreciate the point. It is that they cannot afford to carry on the experi-

mental work in trying different patterns of houses, that we are paid to do.

Q. Exactly?

A. Of course, we are doing experimental work, and it is my duty to bring -before

you the results of my experiments from year to year as they progress. Little altera-

tion is required in any old style house. So far as I can speak, and I do not think the

results secured will be contradicted, we have found that the cotton front house is a

great improvement on former methods of housing; the hens are kept in these houses

much healthier and they lay as well.

Q. I think you will agree with me that the winter season is the profitable time for

the production of eggs and not the summer?
A. Certainly. Professor Robertson has found, and he so stated at a public meet-

ing, that fowls in the colony houses at the Macdonald College laid during winter

more eggs than by any other system. The eggs from those hens were sold in the

Montreal market at 50 and 55 cents a dozen, I was informed by Mr. Elford, the poultry

manager and instructor.

By Mr. Owen:

Q. You have talked a great deal about cotton. Is there more virtue in the cotton

fabric than in any other?

A. No.

Q. There is no virtue in the cotton to produce eggs?

A. Not at all. It is only a means of diffusing air. Of course, the best market
types of fowls should be selected. The combination of good layer and market type

is of the greatest importance. We obtain from selecting, say for instance. Barred
Plymouth Rocks or Orpingtons, birds that will put on flesh of good quality and at

the same time be prolific egg layers. By careful and systematic selection it will thus

be seen that the farmer will obtain better results than he can by any other way.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Are the progeny of those fowls which lay a large number of eggs great egg

producers?

A. Yes, we have good and bad strains of milch cow and good and bad strains of

fowls. We select the best specimens from all standpoints and by breeding from them
only build up, in poultry, prolific layers and the best market types.

QUALITY OF EGGS.

By Mr, MacLaren (Perth):

Q. At different seasons of the year you have different qualities of eggs. In what
months of the year do you think fowls produce the best eggs?



HOUSING, BREEDING AND FEEDING OF POULTRY 263

APPENDIX No. 2

A. I think the months of November, December, January, February and March
give us the best eggs.

Q. The quality of the egg is better then than in the summer?
A, Yes. The ordinary fowls are better handled then, because carefully fed.

Wlien they get outside they pick up decayed vegetable and animal matter and the

quality of the egg deteriorates.

By Mr. Armstrong :

Q. Which is the best month of the year in which to buy eggs to store?

A. If you can be sure that the eggs put into storage or into preservative liquid,

are fresh, I think the summer months are the best time. I was going to say, however,

you can get them cheapest, but unless you are sure it is strictly fresh, a cheap egg

may be a very dear one.

Q. The months of July and August are not very safe to begin storing?

A. No, for the reason that eggs of a reliable character are then so hard to get.

Ill this connection a change has taken place in the summer price of eggs. At one

time eggs in summer could be bought at from 10 to 12 cents a dozen. Now you cannot

get reliable eggs under 25 and 30 cents a dozen at a leading establishment.

By Mr. Henderson:

Q. What is the reason for that?

A. That is what I desire to show. In order to secure reliable eggs during the

summer season there should be a guarantee not only that the eggs are strictly fresh,

but that the hens which laid them were cleanly fed. It takes effort and care to place

such guaranteed eggs on sale.

Q. Yes, but 300 miles west of Ottawa, during the summer you can get strictly

new laid eggs at 15 cents a dozen?

A. And in this city not many years ago eggs were sold at 8 and 10 cents a dozen.

Q. You say that in Ottawa the price used to be 10 cents a dozen and now it has
risen to 25 cents. There must be some unnatural reason why the price should be
25 cents here and 15 cents 300 miles west of Ottawa ?

A. I will endeavour to show you the reason.

Q. Do you not think it is owing to the manner in which the eggs are purchased,
in one case it is for cash and in the other case three months' credit is given?

A.~ That may certainly be an influence. But this is an age where people demand
pure food. The pure food quest is a reality. There is a call for strictly new laid ec-gs

of good flavour and quality by people who must have them even at increased cost.

Let me cite an instance. One early summer day about two years ago I was met by
the junior partner of the well known grocery firm of Bate & Co., of this city. He
said :

' Can you give me a regular supply of strictly new laid eggs of good flavour.
We have a class of customers who will have no other kind of article and we are bound
to get such for them if at all possible.' I replied: ^I can give you a limited number,
but you will not pay me what they are worth.' 'What are they worth?' he asked.'
* Twenty cents per dozen,' I answered. He at once said ' I will give you twenty-five
cents for all the guaranteed eggs of the freshness and quality I mentioned that vou
can give me.' Here the producer was approached by the purchaser and a liigher price
offered than asked. I explained to Mr. Bate tliat we might not be able to c-ivc him
many eggs from the farm, as we usually induced our h(Mis to moult early, but that I
might be able to procure the quality of goods he desired from people I could trust
He said, ' As loug as you can guarantee the eggs, I am satisfied.' I certainly got the
quality of eggs he desired and in some cases had them put up in card boxes holdino-
one dozen, with this printed guarantee on the box cover: * Eggdale Poidtry Farnr
Strictly New Laid Eggs. These eggs are guaranteed to be non-fertilized and to have
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been laid by cleanly fed and well kept hens. Selected for and sold only by Messrs.

Bate & Co.' You can see boxes of a similar kind in Messrs. Bryson, Graham & Co.'s

grocery, also of this city, and at other large establishments.

Q. How old should an egg be before you would cease to call it strictly new laid?

A. Six days.

Q. You can get any aniount of eggs in the country that are only three days old?

A. And of good quality?

Q. Yes?
A. Not of as good quality as the guaranteed eggs?

Q. Yes, eveTy bit as good quality as the Ottawa egg?

A. I am not speaking of Ottawa alone, but of the very districts to which you are

referring. I have had eggs sent from Putnam, Ont. They were selected eggs and
25 cents a dozen were paid for them all last summer.

Q. Well, to my mind when an egg that has been fertilized is six days old it is

partly decayed?

A. But such eggs as I mean are not fertilized eggs. The summer market eggs

should be non-fertilized. These eggs to which I have been referring are guaranteed
non-fertilized as well. There is not the slightest doubt about the correctness of the

point raised by the honourable gentleman; if the egg is fertilized and put av/ay in

a warm place during a warm month in summer, the germ is likely to make such pro-

gress that when its development is arrested a certain amount of decomposition is

liable to occur. Let me further explain as to the importance of knowing how the hens

are fed which lay the eggs you eat.

In conversation with a gentleman as to the quality of eggs, he said :
' It is a

most important question. In the district from which I come the people have the habit

of taking the backs off the privies every spring time.'

Q," Is that the practice in Ottawa?

A. I hope not, but I am afraid it is, in many districts. This gentleman

said :
' The fowls eat heartily of that stimulating but nauseating feed. The eggs laid

by the fowls drift into the cities and towns and are sold for whatever price they will

bring.' And I have been informed of similar practices elsewhere. Therefore, I say

that the guaranteed egg is the most desirable to obtain in summer. It requires extra

care in feeding, handling and getting the eggs to the market quickly, and this extra

effort which means more money is one reason why the price of the selected summer
egg is so high.

By Mr. MacLaren (Perth):

Q. The quality of the feed is doubtless a factor in obtaining flavour?

A. Undoubtedly.

Q. The great difficulty is then to buy eggs of desirable quality. Our only safe-

guard is really to find the man who feeds his hens properly and takes precautions to

secure the flavour of the eggs. He should certainly be encouraged by getting a

high price. The bad fellow is encouraged as well as the good fellow under ordinary

conditions ?

A. You would be astonished, if I told you the number of farmers that are

getting on to this 'selected' egg trade. The selling of selected eggs is now a profit-

able part of poultry keeping. I am safe in making this statement. You have only
to ask some of these leading grocers to find out the truth of what I say.

Q. I believe it is so, but the great object is to educate the producers so as to

sell none but eggs of the best quality?

A. Exactly. In order to get the selected egg, extra effort, care and handling are
necessary, and they all m.ean just so much more cost. I now beg to call j^our attention
to improved methods of feeding.
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By Mr. Armstrong

:

Q. Before you leave that subject. The farmers have to keep their eggs for a few

days before they can get them to market. What is the best means of preserving these

eggs in proper condition. I mean on the ordinary farm, where they have not cold

storage or other facilities, so as to get them on the market in the best possible shape?

A. If the eggs are non-fertilized—that is the point V7hi<^h Mr. Henderson raised,

and it is a most important one—if they be so and are placed in a cool, sweet smelling

cellar they will keep well for a certain number of days.

Q. For six days?

A. Yes, for five or six days if the necessary precautions are taken.

I speak now of changes in the methods of feeding.

CHANGES IN THE METHODS OF FEEDING.

Certain radical changes have been introduced in the method of feeding our birds.

These changes followed the introduction of the ' hopper system,' and I have brought a

hopper for your inspection. By the old way the food was given to the fowls. By the

new way the birds help themselves to the food, be it whole or ground grains, grit or

oyster shells, all of which are contained in one or more hoppers. The hoppers are

really feeding troughs divided into compartments. From the hoppers—which are

usually hung on the wall—the hens help themselves to their food whenever they feel

inclined to do so. It is much the same method as the old one of keeping the food
before the birds all the time. In my report of last year I have summarized some of the

statements for and against the hopper system, made by those who have used them, as

follows :

—

For.—^Because labour saving ; preventing waste or fouling of food ; allowing each
bird opportunity to obtain what food it desires; convenient and economical in use.

Against.—For the reason that birds of the heavy breeds are apt to eat too much,
and, as a result, are disinclined to exercise; not economical; fowls are not likely to

go to roost with their crops as full as desirable; fowls scratch or pick out the grain
from the hoppers; when fed outdoors prevents foraging, &g.

For chickens the open trough form of hopper, holding both ground and whole
grain, has been found convenient and beneficial. I think it is safe to say that the
hopper system of feeding has come to stay.

The foregoing, gentlemen, are some of the changes that have taken place in recent
years in the manner outlined. All denote steps forward in the march of progress.

Whether all, or only a certain number of these changes will be found permanent,
remains for experience to decide.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Is this hopper for fattening purposes?

A. Not for fattening purposes, but for the ordinary keeping of poultry.

Q. How much does a hopper cost, say one holding a gallon?

A. I suppose you could get a hopper like the one I have brought with mo for
75 cents, that is the price which is marked on it, but the farmer can make liis hoppers
very cheaply. This is only one style, and there are many different stylos.

By Mr. Henderson:

Q. I thought you preferred keeping the hon nctivo. If so. why gallicr the food
and place it in a dish where it can get its full supply at once without uioving about?

A. I answered that question fully in last year's report. It is an important point,
and I explained the apparent inconsistency by saying that the exorcising of tho fowls
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now a days is not considered of equal importance to variety in rations or the fresh

air and the absence of dampness which existed to a greater or less extent in the old-

fashioned poultry houses.

CARE OF BREEDING STOCK.

Q. Just one more question whicji is connected with this branch of the subject.

Do the hens lay more freely when the male bird is allowed to associate with them or

not? By which method do you get the best results?

A. It does not seem to make any difference. My own practice was, as I have

explained frequently in my reports, to keep the male birds away from the hens which

we feed and gently stimulate to lay in winter. I was at a largely attended meeting in

Sussex, IST.B., a few years ago when one of the audience asked what I thought had
caused the sudden death of a fine male bird. I asked if he had kept the bird with his

laying stock. He replied ' yes.' I then explained that he had probably been feeding

his fowls generously in order to make them lay and he had probably overfed the

cockerel, which had most likely died of apoplexy, the usual consequence of over-

feeding. For that reason I kept away the male birds from our breeding hens.

Another difficulty is that the male birds become over fat and in the spring time are

no good as breeders. Another point. The germs are apt to be weakly in the spring

time, and a small percentage of chickens the result.

Q. I am speaking of a very poor laying strain?

A. It really does not matter.

THE FEEDING OF MEAT.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. Regarding the matter of exercise, I have in mind a very successful poultry man
in my district who makes a good many hundreds of dollars each year out of hi^

poultry. He is very successful, at least he considers that he is from his standpoint,

and I want to know if you approve of his methods. He hangs in his building a

number of pig's livers and lights and other offal, at a certain distance from the ground
in order to give the poultry exercise in getting at it. Do you approve of feeding such
a form of meat to fowls?

A. Yes, when fed in that way fowls are not so likely to take too much as if they
were deprived of meat for some time and then given it in liberal quantity, when they
are apt to over gorge themselves.

Q. This man claims that livers and lights are one of the best foods that he can
possibly feed to his chickens. If deprived of that, what do you offer as a substitute?

A. I would substitute some of the preparations of meat which are made by the
large manufacturing concerns and sold at from 4 to 5 cents a pound, such as beef
scrap.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Is it better to feed meat cooked or raw?
A. It depends upon the manner of feeding. If the livers, &c., have been fed raw,

do not change; if fed cooked, do not give it raw, or diarrhoea may result.

By Mr. MacLaren (Perth):

Q. Should it be cooked in all cases?

A. I prefer its use v/hen cooked, but it really does not matter. The principal
point is to give the fowls meat in some shape.
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I now call your attention to my second subdivision, and it is a most important

one, viz. :

—

WPIAT EXPERIENCE HAS SHOWN TO BE THE BEST VARIETIES OF FOWLS FOR FARMERS, FROM
THE STANDPOINTS OF EGGS AND FLESH.

I make no apology for bringing this phase of poultry keeping to the notice of

your Committee, because I have continuous and numerous inquiries for such informa-

tion from ail parts of the Dominion—especially from the newer western provinces,

which are being so rapidly settled. That such information is appreciated, in the

shape of evidence given before this Committsee, and does good is shown by the following

letter which I beg to submit to your attention.

^ Bridgewater, March 11, 1908.

*Mr. A. G. Gilbert.

^Dear Sir,—I have at present one of your books of evidence given before the

Select Standing Committee, on farm and poultry breeding, and as I keep about 30

hens, I want to ask you to send me the latest evidence on poultry—the one I have is

1904—or any information you can give me. I have taken great pleasure in reading

the evidence. I have learned a lot from it. I have kept hens but did not know how
to have eggs in the winter, but since having your evidence I have had plenty of eggs,

this winter, since the last of November. The pullets commenced to lay the last of

November. I am keeping account of the eggs they lay in each month.'

There is direct proof of practical results from the evidence which I have given

before your Committee. Nothing could be more satisfactory, I am sure, than to find

such practical results.

knowledge of poultry keeping necessary to success.

It is well to understand at the outset that poultry keeping cannot be made profit-

able without a knowledge of how to make it so. The letter I have read shows this.

No matter whether poultry keeping is carried on by joint stock companies, amateurs,

or farmers, a certain knowledge of breed, feed and management is absolutely necessary.

The farmer, beyond doubt, is the most favourably situated as to making his poultry pay.

As I have said in one of my reports. ^ It is essentially his business. He has already

a certain knowledge of live stock, in the majority of cases of poultry keeping. His
stock may not be pure, or his poultry house of the latest or best pattern. But these

are obstacles which can quickly and cheaply be removed. He has the grain, the green
food and other essentials in abundance, in many cases almost in the shape of waste.'

HOW many fowls should a farmer keep?

But despite this it should ever be remembered that to the farmer his poultry is

only one of many branches of his farm work. It would certainly be misleading him to

advise him to keep more fowls or hatch out more chickens than he can properly
which means profitably—handle. From 100 to 150 hens is all that I would advise the
ordinary farmer to keep. And he should be able to hatch and rear from 100 to 150
chickens. If he has help from his family a greater number may be hatched and raised.

I wish to emphasize what I have said before, that the great bulk of our supply of
poultry and eggs must inevitably come from you farmers. And that supply will not
come from the few farmers with a large number of hens each, but rather from the
many farmers with a few hens each. Should a farmer, however, desire to make a
specialty of poultry in combination with fruit growing or dairying, there is no reason
why he should not profitably do so.

By Mr. Schell (Oxford):

Q. In feeding grains is it advisable to throw it amongst cut straw or litter so as
to compel the hens to scratch in order to find the food?

2—25
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A. That seems to be less material nowadays than it was heretofore, because by

this hopper system of feeding the hens help themselves. I am reminded of another

experience which I have noted in last year's report, viz., that fowls are disinclined to

exercise in cold weather.

By Mr. Henderson:

Q. I am afraid you have gone back on your theories of some four or five years

ago ?

A. I am afraid I have if changes in methods necessitate my changing with

them.

Q. I have been instructing the women in my county in your methods and your
ideas about not allowing the cockerels to run with laying hens, giving the hens lots

of exercise, and all that sort of thing, and now I shall have to go back and tell them
differently ?

A. No, I would not like you to do so, because old methods are not entirely aban-

doned, but improved upon. A moderate amount of exercise is beneficial, but it is

quite possible to have too much of even a good thing.

KEEPING TURKEYS.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. Do you raise any turkeys at the experimental farm?

A. No.

Q. Why not?

A. We have not room, to begin with. We have only two acres, but I should like

to have 20. But I presume it is not convenient to give us the latter space.

Q. But the turkey industry is a very profitable one?

A. Yes, I am aware of that.

By Mr. Telford:

Q. What quantity of land should 50 hens have in the summer time?

A. I would allow them one-eighth of an acre, if I could. For a free run, do you
mean?

Q. Yes?
A. And when confined inside they should be allowed no less than six or seven

square feet of floor space each.

Q. Is this mentioned in the evidence which you are going to give us?

A. I think it is. I think all these points are included in the evidence which I
have prepared for this morning.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. You have never raised any turkeys on the farm at all?

A. No. We cannot successfully raise turkeys on limited ground. These birds

are foragers.

By Mr. Henderson:

Q. They are wanderers?

A. Yes.

Q. You need several acres for them?
A. They are really foragers.
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BEST FOWLS FOR THE FARMER.

To continue my address, let me say that the best sort of fowls for the farmer,

indeed for any poultry keeper who desires to make money from both eggs and flesh,

are Barred Plymouth Kocks, White Wyandottes, Buff or White Orpingtons, Dork-

ings, for the reason that all these varieties are good for both eggs and flesh. They
are as nearly the dual purpose fowls as we have in poultry, affording the farmer

opportunity to make money by the eggs laid by them and then by their chickens,

which are of the most approved market type.

HENS SHOULD LAY IN WINTER.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. You stated that you would give us the average number of eggs produced by
this Pembroke Company during the different months of the year ?

A. You must have misunderstood me, I did not get such details from them.

Q. I wanted the information for the different months?

A. The results in egg laying are a matter of management. Well managed fowls

lay best in winter.

Q. Do you mean to say that fowls produce more eggs in winter than in summer ?

A. Yes.

Q. By their proper management?
A. Yes. By proper methods hens will lay better in the winter season, when the

price for eggs is higher than in summer.

By Mr. Clements:

Q. That is the general conclusion?

A. That is the general conclusion. In my evidence and reports for, I am almost
afraid to say how long, I have made that point pretty plain, as many of the older

members of the Committe may remember.
Should eggs only be desired, any variety of the Leghorn or Minorca groups, or

Andalusian breed, will be found excellent egg layers.

VARIETIES KEPT AT THE FARM.

On our poultry division of the experimental farm we have at present th^ following
branches, viz., Barred and White Plymouth Eocks, Buff and White Oi-pingtons, THiite
Wyandottes, Silver Grey Dorkings, Black Minorcas, White Leghorns and Faverolles.
When we have spare eggs to sell from these varieties we do so at $1 per setting, the
purchaser paying express charges. The eggs are packed in a conveniently designed
box which insures their safe carriage.

STRAINS IMPORTANT.

Care should be taken in buying eggs for hatching of either the above named
varieties, to ascertain that they are from good egg laying strains, for there are good
and bad egg laying strains of fowls, as are there good and bad strains of milch cows.
I have already shown the importance to the farmer of a trap nest selected strain of
fowls from both market type and egg-producing standpoints. An important matter in
connection with the possibilities of large margins of profits to bo made from the trap
nest proved prolific la.v^rs and improved market type of fowls, is worth consideration
at this point. If, as many farmer correspondents to the agricultural press have stated
they can make satisfactory margins of profit from the hens of the present day which
lay from 60 to 90 eggs per year (this number is a fair average of the number of eo-crs
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laid by the present day fowls), how much more satisfactory will that margin of profit

be when their fowls lay double the number of eggs per year and are still better market
types ?

WHY NOT NAME OTHER VARIETIES.

It may be said that there are varieties—other than those named—^which are also

excellent layers and market types. Why not name them? I reply, because they are

not in such great numbers throughout the country as the varieties I have named, and
in consequence, are neither so well known, or easy to procure. The Barred Plymouth
variety beyond doubt is held in the greatest number by the farmers of the country

to-day, and deservedly so. I have always given them first place on account of their

merits as egg and flesh producers. Farmers can readily purchase at a cheap price

from one another Barred Plymouth Rock eggs or stock, while other varieties are com-
paratively scarce and held at higher prices. The starting of the farmer, or, other

poultry keeper right is a matter of very great importance. This, I am sure, you will

readily admit.

THE PROPER FEEDING OF POULTRY.

(
Experience of many years in the feeding of poultry by the writer, and that of

many correspondents warrant him in coming to the conclusion that the greatest draw-
back to successful winter egg production throughout the country is lack of variety in

the composition and manner of feeding the rations. Experience has made it very plain

to me that variety in the composition of rations is as important as the rations them-
selves. The following rules in relation to the proper feeding of poultry will be found
beneficial :

—

Variety in composition of rations is necessary to successful winter egg laying and
health of birds. Feed regularly. Where there is variety in rations and a constant

supply of grit, broken oyster shells or other form of lime, roots or green food, and
pure drink, there is not likely to be egg eating or feather picking.

That pullets will do well on rations, which, if fed in same quantity to old hens
of the Asiatic or American breeds, will end fatally.

That the long continued feeding of one kind of grain, or, of other food is likely to

lead to ailment of some kind.

A Suitable Winter Ration.

The following has been found an effective winter egg-producing ration in our
poultry department for several years:

—

Morning.—Wheat, sometimes buckwheat, in proportion of 8 to 10 pounds to 100
fowls. Scatter in the litter on the floor or house or scratching shed attachment.

Eleven a.m.—Steamed lawn clippings, or clover hay, three or four times per week.
Noon.—If found necessary, oats in proportion of 5 pounds to 100 hens. Scatter

in the litter on the floor to keep the fowls busy.

Afternoon.—Mash, composed of such ground grains as are in most abundance.
Feed in quantity of 3 or 4 ounces to each fowl. When mixing the mash add a small
teaspoonful of salt, and another of black pepper, or ground ginger. Occasionally mix
boiled potatoes or turnips in the mash.

Cut green bone or other form of meat should be given in the proportion of one
pound to 15 fowls, three or four times per week in lieu of the steamed lawn clippings,

clover hay or noon ration.

(Should the hopper system of feeding be adopted the same ground or whole grain
can be put in the hopper.)

I again emphasize that it is requisite in any system of feeding that for the good
health of the fowls and to prevent egg eating and feather picking the rations should be
varied and regularly fed.
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Grit, mangels, turnips or other form of vegetable food should be in regular

supply.

TO WHOM TO SELL THE EGOS.

If the above or a similar ration is fed, the laying stock housed in one of the

cotton front houses described, and they are supplied with the requisite grit, broken

oyster shells or old plaster to supply lime, green food and pure drink water, there will

probably be an egg supply to dispose of. And to whom? That is a question I am
frequently asked by correspondents. The following letters are from well known firms

who are egg buyers in Montreal. I may say I had written to these dealers in order to

be able to give authentic and indisputable figures, over their own signatures :

—

Montreal, Thursday January 9, 1908.

Mr. A. G. Gilbert, Poultry Manager,
Dominion of Canada Central Experimental Farm,

Ottawa, Ont.

Dear Sm,—^We are pleased to give you the information respecting the prices

which we have paid during this season for strictly new laid eggs, as requested within

yours of the 6th instant, as follows:

—

1907, September, 25 cents per dozen, f.o.b. Montreal.

1907, October 1 to 14, 30 cents per dozen, f.o.b. Montreal
1907, October 14 to 18, 33 cents per dozen, f.o.b. Montreal.

1907, October 18 to 30, 40 cents per dozen, f.o.b. Montreal.

1907, November to December 20, 50 cents per dozen, f.o.b. Montreal.

1907, December 20 to 24, 45 cents per dozen, f.o.b. Montreal.

1907, December 24 to January, 1908, to date, 40 cents per dozen, f.o.b. Montreal.

Trusting that the foregoing will meet your requirements, we thank you for your
good wishes and extend you ours for a happy and prosperous New Year.

Yours very truly,

GEOEGE GEAHAM.

Montreal, January 11, 1908.

A. G. Gn.BERT, Esq.,

Central Experimental Farm,
Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—^Your favour of the 7th inst., came duly to hand and I have pleasure

in giving you what information I can, re eggs.

During nearly all November and throughout December, I paid 50 cents for the
best new laid eggs. Since the first of the year I am only paying 40 cents, owing to

the increased quantity coming in and the comparatively low price of cold storage

stock. Whether the price, 40 cents, will hold all through this month will depend
greatly on the weather and the quantity of eggs that are sent in.

If it is not too late, I desire to wish you a prosperous and happy New Year.

Eespectfully yours,

WALTEE PAUL.

Montreal, January 11, 1908.

Mr. A. G. Gilbert,

Poultry Manager, Experimental Farm,
Ottawa, Ont.

Dear Sm,—In answer to yours of the 7th, During the month of December we
paid from 40 cents to 45 cents per dozen for new laid ojrgs, nnd this work we hnve
been paying 40 cents per dozen delivered Montreal. We always pay according to the
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demand in the market, and will keep prices up as long as possible until the supplies

get more plentiful. We do not guarantee prices for more than one week at a time at

this season of the year. We are open for a few shipments weekly from any of your
farmers that have strictly new laid eggs to dispose of, and, as I said before, will pay
the highest market prices going in the city.

Yours truly,

HENEY GATEHOUSE.

I have no letter from Messrs. Westgate and Lewis, of McGill College Avenue,
Montreal, but I met Mr. Westgate not many weeks ago at the Macdonald College,

where he was addressing the students attending the poultry course, and he told them
that the prices paid by their firm were much the same as those I have just quoted.

He also made the statement that for the superior quality of poultry from 10 to 15

cents and sometimes 20 cents per pound, according to season, were paid. The earlier

birds getting the best prices. He said, what I know to be unfortunately too true, that

far too much poultry of inferior quality and type were sent to them. Much of the

poultry received by their firm from the country were improperly killed, carelessly

plucked and badly packed. Poultry came to them with their crops filled, or, partially

filled with food which decomposed and ruined the carcase of the bird. Poultry, before

being killed, should be fasted for 24 or 36 hours, and should not be drawn. The better

quality of poultry and strictly fresh eggs would always command good prices when it

reached the proper markets.

PROPER FOOD AND TREATMENT FOR YOUNG CHICKENS.

So much for eggs and poultry. We now consider the best way of treating the

chickens. Whether hatched by hens or incubators, experience of many years has proved

that the farmer who uses either means will get best results by having his chickens out

in the first two weeks of May. In one of my reports it has been shown where the

wives of farmers have used incubators and brooders with great success. In the case

of the hen-hatched chickens the latter were permitted to remain in their nest for

twenty-four or thirty-six hours, when with the mother hen they were placed in a

slatted coop on the grass outside. The coop was so arranged that it could be securely

closed at night, while ventilation was secured. Through the slats the chicks could

run on the grass outside, while the hen remained inside. On the floor of coop was
dry earth to the depth of two inches. On taking the mother hen from her nest she

was given food and water. She had been probably thirty-six hours on the nest, bring-

ing out her chickens and deserved the attention. Apart from this she would be more
likely to brood the chickens contentedly, after being fed, than if hungry or thirsty.

How important it is to have early chicks carefully brooded is well known to all

experienced breeders.

First day.—^Little or no food is required. Towards end of the day a few stale

bread crumbs may be fed.

Second day.—Stale bread soaked in milk and squeezed dry may be given in small
quantity. Feed a little at a time and leave none on the platform. A little hard-

boiled egg finely cut up may be added with benefit. Continue this for a day or two
and add granulated oatmeal; finely crushed wheat may be given at this time.

Continue the stale bread soaked in milk and granulated oatmeal for ten days,

when finely crushed corn may be added to the foregoing with advantage. After 14
days give whole wheat in small quantity at first.

As the chicks grow older they should be given a mash composed of stale bread,

shorts, cornmeal, ground meat, tScc. Finely cut bone or meat will be found a great
incentive to growth at this stage.

On the chickens becoming eight weeks of age their rations may be dropped to

three per day. Care should be taken that they are generously fed at last ration. For
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drink give skimmed milk and water. Wlien fully feathered the mothers of the hen-

hatched chickens should be removed from them. The chickens will be found to return

to their coops as usual, and they, are allowed to remain in them until removed to more
commodious quarters in colony houses. On the incubator-hatched chickens becoming
too large for the brooders they should be removed to colony houses.

A FATTENING RATION.

Should the farmer desire to specially fatten his chickens before sale, or shipment,

his simplest and speediest plan is to put his birds at SJ, 4 or 4^ months of age, in

slatted coops or crates divided into compartments to hold one, or a number of birds up
to four. These coops should have V-shaped feeding troughs in front. The following

fattening ration has been found most effective in our poultry department, viz. :

—

Two parts finely ground oats.

One part finely ground barley.

One part ordinarily ground cornnieal.

After 15th day add beef suet in proportion of one ounce to every four birds.

Mix with skim-milk. If the milk is made near the boiling point the tallow, which
should be chopped fine, will be melted by it when poured on the ground grains. Or,

the tallow may be melted in the hot milk. The birds should be fed all they will eat

twice a day. Carefully collect all uneaten food. Leave none to turn sour, and feed

none in that condition.

Care should be taken to free the birds from vermin before cooping. This may
be done by rubbing sulphur well into the feathers, or by one of the lice-exterminating

powders.

Pens and premises should be kept scrupulously clean.

Grit and water should be supplied regularly. Three weeks should be sufficient to

fatten the birds satisfactorily.

THE MOULTING PERIOD.

Many inquiries are received from time to time as to the proper treatment of fowls

during the tHoulting period, at which time of every year—preferably during the summer
months—the fowls should shed their old coat of feathers, which in the course of time
are replaced by a new one. It is best to have the moulting period in the summer
months. The summer moult usually lasts from eight to ten weeks. Mr. James
Shackleton, a well known authority, contends that by feeding specially prepared
rations this period may be shortened. The following treatment has been successful in

our department for several years. During the early part of July—after the breeding
season is over—the fowls were placed on half the usual quantity of rations for 15 or

20 days. The effect of this treatment was the stoppage of egg production and the
loosening of the old feathers. At the end of 15 or 20 days the full rations were
resumed. A little linseed meal may be added to the mash with benefit on the resump-
tion of full rations. Before the beginning of operations to bring on the moult the cock
birds were removed from the breeding pens and placed in compartments by themselves.

The hens were then allowed to run in small fields where they could find insect life,

clover, grass, &c. For description of ' full rations ' see formula of winter egg produc-
ing ration on a following page. In the breeding of fowls during moult care sliould

be observed that they do not become too fat. The fowls are more apt to become over-
fat, from too generous feeding during the moult than after thoy have got over it

and recommenced laying. It may be interesting to note that in relation to the annual
moult that experience of many years has shown :

—

1. That yearling hens usually moult earlier and easier thnn older ones.

2. That moulting is more gradual in some cases than others.
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3. That the progeny from parent stock which have moulted during summer, in

the majority of cases, have usually moulted at the same period.

4. That moulting hens are much benefited by a run in a field where clover, grass

and insect life may be found.

5. That where moulting fowls are confined to limited quarters that meat in some

form and green food should be regularly supplied.

The foregoing information, if followed, will be found of great service to the

farmers of the country and this, I a sure, is what your Committee desires. It has

direct bearing on the production of eggs arid market poultry.

INCBEASED INTEREST IN POULTRY KEEPING.

I now proceed to briefly bring to your attention my third point, viz. :
' The great

and rapidly developing interest that is being taken, principally, I am warranted in

saying, by farmers in their poultry branch of farm work.' I have a publication issued

by the Provincial Department of Agriculture for 1907 entitled * Crops and Live Stock

of Ontario.' It is issued annually. It has for years quoted the opinions of farmer
correspondents at different points of the province on the value of poultry as a branch
of farm work. In the report of last year there are the opinions of 53 correspondents

given. Of this number 50 reports speak favourably—some very strongly—of poultry

as a paying department of the farms, two are unfavourable and one non-committal.

As instances of the favourable comments you will, I am sure, allow me to quote the

farmer correspondent at Harwick, Kent, who says ' Poultry are the best paying thing

on the farm, but they take careful looking after.' Again, the report from Sydenham,
Grey, says :

' Poultry are selling high. In fact, the economically kept poultry farm
is the best money maker just now, the cost of equipment being taken into considera-

tion.' The report from Minto, Wellington county, says :
^ Good, well-bred poultry, if

properly attended to, will give their owner a clear profit of $1 per hen. We get $4
a piece for Bronze turkey cockerels and $3 for pullets, and so on.' The point I wish
to make is this, that eight or nine years ago there would be only four or five favourable
reports as against perhaps 45 or 50 unfavourable ones. I claim this change in opinion
shows .increased interest in and appreciation of the poultry branch of farm work as a
money maker. Another instance of increasing interest in poultry keeping is, I think,

fairly shown by the great increase in the number of letters received in our Poultry
Division, particularly in recent years. For instance, in 1900 the letters received by
the Poultry Department numbered 1,590, while the report for 1906 gives the number
as 5,098, and report for 1907 now being prepared will, I am sure, show larger figures.

SOME DETAILS OF EXPERIMENTAL WORK.

As to my last sub-head, I hriefly refer to some interesting features of the experi-
mental work of the past year. I may state that the good results of breeding from the
best layers have been satisfactorily shown in several instances. I give only one or
two, as fuller details of results will be given in our annual report.

One is the case of a pen of White Wyandotte pullets which showed an average
each of 62| eggs per year in their first year. In their second year as hens they showed
an average of 81 eggs each per year.

The progeny from the above White Wyandotte fowls showed in their first year,
as pullets, an average of 65 eggs each per year, a slight increase only. But in their
second year, when hens, they showed an average of 104 eggs each, a marked improve-
ment.

Correspondents who have purchased eggs from trap-nested selected stock express
their satisfaction at the improved laying qualities of the birds hatched from these eggs.

As to the cotton front, results, in fertility of eggs, as shown by testing on the
sixth or seventh day, after being put in incubators, is in favour of this cotton front
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style of house as compared with results from a partially warmed house. One instance

:

In 98 eggs laid by Buff Orpington pullets in a cotton front house, on being tested, only

8 were found unfertile. In the case of 38 eggs laid by Barred Plymouth Rock pullets,

in a partially warmed house, when tested no less than 28 eggs were found unfertile.

INEORMATION AS TO TURKEYS, GEESE AND DUCKS.

How They Should be Managed, Fed and Bred.

TURKEYS—HOW TO REAR, KILL, PLUCK, DRESS AND PACK THEM.

It is of first importance that our farmers breed the largest, best and hardiest birds.

Climatic conditions, in the greater part of Canada, are favourable to the breeding of a

large number of turkeys, indeed of all kinds of poultry. There are six varieties of

turkeys, viz. :—^Bronze, Narragansett, White, Black, Buff and Slate. Of these the

Bronze are the largest and heaviest. The standard weights of this variety are :

—

Cock 36 pounds. Hen 20 pounds.

Cockerel 25 " Pullet 16 "

The first requisite in successful breeding is strong, vigorous parent stock. In-

breeding should be avoided. It is admissable to use a good male two years, but not so

to use a young male and pullets of the same family. Young hens weighing 15 to 18

pounds, and older ones of 18 to 20 pounds weight, are the best layers, and make the

best mothers. One male with 10 or 12 hens is a good mating.

Some turkey hens lay more eggs than others. Eighteen to twenty-four eggs

from each hen should be satisfactory. The turkey hen makes the best mother, although

some breeders give the first seven eggs to a common hen. The objection to the latter

is that she is apt to drag the young pullets too much about.

Twenty-five young birds are all that the turkey mother can keep dry and warm.
It is of first importance to keep the young birds in dry quarters. Great care is

necessary in rearing them until they 'shoot the red,' (get wattles, &c.). It must be

borne in mind that young turkeys before ' shooting the red,' are the most tender of

all feathered fowl, and afterwards the hardiest.

Too early setting is not advisable in this latitude. Where the winters are milder

and spring earlier it is different.

After hatching, the youngsters and their mother should be put in comfortable,

dry quarters. Give a grass run if possible. The coop should be roomy, and so con-

veniently situated that mother and brood can easily be driven into it, in case of rain.

Care should be taken that mother and brood do not get into the grass while wet with
the morning dew. It is important to remember this. It is also well to remember
that experienced breeders have traced the death of many young birds, in their early

handling of them, to damp quarters, lice and indigestion, the latter probably from
eating uncooked food. Unclean, carelessly mixed and uncooked food has been the
cause of death in the case of many young and tender birds. The mortality among
young turkeys, from one end of the country to the other, is far too great and is

principally caused by neglect of the points outlined above.

PROPER RATIONS.

For the first few days feed on stale bread soaked in milk and squeezed dry. Mix
with hard-boiled eggs and onions, both chopped finely. Curd or a sort of cheese made
from sour mill^ may also be given.

Later on feed on granulated oatmeal, rolled oats, or a mash made of stale bread,
onion tops, oatmeal, cornmeal or middlings, the whole mixed with skim-millv. The

2r—2Q
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milk should be boiled and a little black pepper dusted into it, before putting it into
the mash.

For the first five or six weeks feed four times daily. Aftei-wards three times.
At the time of ^putting on the red/ uncooked food should not be fed. At this

period the young birds are likely to eat ravenously, but on no account should they be
allowed to gorge themselves. After becoming fully feathered they require nothing but
hard grain.

Turkeys are fond of roaming, and often wander away from headquarters. In
this way many are killed by weasels, skunks and other enemies.

A good plan is to feed the hens and their broods grain every evening, and so

accustom them to coming home. This, of course, when the young birds have reached
the proper age.

TO FATTEN.

Birds may be fattened as in the case of chickens while running outside, or by being
penned up and specially fed. Success has attended the fattening of turkeys in many
instances, by the forcing method. But with the right breed in the first instance, care

and proper food, there should be no difficulty in obtaining the desired flesh development.

KILLING.

The birds intended for shipment to Great Britain are killed in the same manner
as chickens, by dislocation of the neck. Care is necessary in having this properly

done, as the following note of warning from a London poultry purchasing firm to an
Australian agent, shows:

—

'Having purchased the several consignments of frozen poultry which you have
had on show in the exhibition, I have written you our opinion of same. A, the quality

very good; B, trussing very good; C, packing well done; D, killing may be capable

of being very much improved on, as the necks of the birds are invariably very much
discoloured, and appear almost unsaleable through this. I would suggest bleeding at

the mouth, and not so much force used in dislocating the neck. I consider there is

a good market here for your poultry, if you can send it, say, to arrive in England
continuously from January to June.'

It is not likely that bleeding at the mouth will be adopted by those firms who ship

in large numbers. But if this manner of killing is adopted, it should be done as

advised in the case of chickens killed in that way, viz., by the cutting of the roof of

the mouth, at base of the brain, with a narrow sharp knife, lengthwise and across.

If the roof of the mouth is pierced at the base of the brain, death is said to be
instantaneous and painless.

PLUCKING AND DRESSING.

This should be done as outlined in a previous page in the case of chickens.

In plucking, which should begin immediately after dislocation of the neck and be very

carefully done, feathers should be left on the neck for three inches.

PACKING.

Instructions as to packing issued by the Commissioner of Agriculture and
Dairying, are as follows:

—

Every bird should be wrapped neatly in paper, the head with a quantity of ihick

paper to absorb any blood. The birds should be packed with their backs down and
heads to one side.

Twelve to twenty-four birds should be packed in a case. The case should be packed
quite full, so as to prevent birds knocking about inside, during transit or in cold

storage.
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The case recommended is six feet long by twenty inches wide, and from seven

to eleven inches deep. Top, bottom and sides are made of half-inch limiber, with a

strengthening piece in centre, one-half inch thick.

The cocks and hens should be packed in separate cases.

The weights of the birds and their sex should be marked on the left-hand comer
of both ends of the ease.

A quantity of clean straw or wood pulp should be put on the bottom of the case

and on top of contents, with wrapping paper between the birds and packing material,

to prevent any possibility of injury.

SHIPPING BIRDS IN FEATHER.

In shipping birds in feather the following directions should be followed:

—

Kill birds by cutting in roof of mouth as described in previous page.

Before being packed the birds should be thoroughly cooled. Pack in air-tight

barrels.

In packing, the heads of the birds should be on the middle of their backs. The
barrels should be marked so as to describe contents.

DUCKS.

Lbs.
Pekin Drake 8

Young Drake 7

Aylesbury Drake 9

Young Drake 9

Rouen Drake 9

Young Drake , 8

Lbs.
Pekin Duck 7
Young Duck 6

Aylesbury Duck 8

Young Duck 7

Rouen Duck 8

Young Duck 7

Early in the season three to five ducks are allowed to a drake. Later in the season

when running outside, eight or twelve. The drake should not be over two years of age.

Ducks lay from 100 to 140 eggs in a season. The eggs take twenty-eight days to

hatch. Duck eggs are hatched by hens or ducks. They hatch well by incubator.

RATIONS.

For first three or four days, mash of cornmeal, a little hard-boiled egg chopped
fine, ground wheat or oats, or granulated oatmeal, the whole being mixed with
boiling milk. The young birds are very fond of cabbage, lettuce or clover, which
should be chopped fine and may be mixed in mash. Make mash crumbly. Skim-
milk for drink.

Later on a mash may be made of cornmeal, bran and oatmeal, with chopped green
stuff, and mixed with skim-milk boiled.

Feed the young ducks five times per day. Keep them in dry quarters, out of the
hot sun and supply water in limited quantity in shallow dishes, so as to prevent them
ducking into it.

After three or four weeks reduce the rations to four per diem. As the ducklings
grow the rations may be added to by house-waste, ground bone, beef scraps or cooked
meat. Small pieces of charcoal are aids to digestion.

FATTENING.

To fatten, feed on ground grain, meal, beef scraps, &c., made into a mash. Barley
meal is excellent in the soft food. Nothing should be fed that will give the flesh a
bad flavour.

In nine weeks the ducklings should weigh four and a half pounds each and are
ready for market. They should be marketed before the pin feathers begin to grow,
which is likely to occur after ninth week.
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KILLING AND PICKING.

Ducks are best killed by cutting into base of brain at roof of the mouth. Before
killing the feet of the birds should be caught in a loop with head hanging downwards.
Immediately after being killed the picking (dry) should be done. Care should be
taken to prevent injury of any kind to the carcass.

GEESE.

The best known breeds of geese, and their weights, are as follows:—
Lbs. Lbs.

Tonloiise Gander 25 Young Gander 20

Toulouse Goose 23 Young Goose 18

Embden Gander 25 Young Gander 20

Embden Goose 25 Young Goose 18

Mating.—One gander to three females. Mate with large vigorous birds.

,

Management.—In spring make large comfortable nests. In most cases two-

clutches of eggs are laid, sometimes three. Collect the eggs soon after being laid,

as they are easily chilled.

Hatching.—Some breeders who hatch geese on a large scale use incubators. Mrs.

Wolcott, Napoleon, Ohio, in Duchs and Geese, published by the Reliable Poultry

Journal, Quincy, 111., says: *I incubate their first laying with chicken hens, and
frequently let " old mother goose " care for her second hatch. Be sure to have the

hens, chosen for sitters, free from lice. Sprinkle the eggs with warm water twice

during the last week. Oftener in dry hot weather will do no harm. Bemove each

gosling from the nest as it hatches, for they are easily mashed. Keep them in a

flannel cloth in a basket in a good warm place until all are hatched.'

Sometimes the goslings have to be helped out of the shells.

RATIONS.

For first three days.—Oornmeal mixed with hard-boiled eggs, chopped fine, a pinch

of black pepper and a handful of sand. After three days discontinue the eggs, and
give bread soaked in skim or sweet milk, oatmeal, or broken rice boiled until soft,

outer leaves of cabbage, onion tops, and all the grass they can eat. Keep the young
birds from water, but give it to them in liberal quantities to drink. The same
authority recommends as a fattening ration a liberal supply of barley meal and
cornmeal, soaked in buttermilk. A grass run is indispensable. This according to Mr.
O. L. Darlington, Lloyd, N.Y.

KILLING, PLUCKING AND DRESSING.

For local market, the goslings should be ready in twelve to fourteen weeks, and
should be of large size at the end of 16 weeks.

They should be killed by bleeding in the roof of the mouth, and all feathers taken

ofi except on wing tips. For shipment and local market the geese are not drawn.

No birds less than nine pounds each should be shipped to the English market.

They should be packed ten in a case.

NOTES.

Goose eggs hatch in thirty to thirty-four days.

Some breeders assert that the worth of the feathers from a bird should nearly pay
half the cost of its feed for one year.
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I submit with pleasure to your committee the foregoing subjects which directly

affect up-to-date poultry keeping.

Mr. Lewis moved a vote of thanks to Mr. Gilbert.

Mr. Henderson.—That is seconded all round. I have always taken a great deal

of interest in Mr. Gilbert's addresses. They contain a great deal of useful information.

Motion put and carried.

The Chairman.—Mr. Gilbert, I have much pleasure in tendering you the thanks,

of this Committee for your abte address.

Mr. Gilbert.— thank you for your vote of thanks, and for the interest in the

subject which you have displayed. I desire also, gentlemen, to thank you for the

expressed intention of printing a larger number of copies of my evidence than usual,,

because the demand for information in relation to poultry keeping is very great. That
interest is shown not only by the letter which I read this morning, but by other letters

of a similar character which are constantly coming in. I am sure the farmers of the-

country will appreciate any effort you may make on their behalf.

Having read over the foregoing transcript of my evidence, I testify the same to
be correct

A. G. GILBEET,
Manager, Poultry Division, Central Experimental Farm.

2—27
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GROWING OF FOREST TREES IN PLANTATIONS-FRDIT CULTORE.

House of Commons,

Committee Eoom No. 34,

Thursday, May 7, 1908.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met here this

day at 11 o'clock, a.m., Mr. McKenzie, Chairman, presiding.

The Chairman.—We have arranged this morning for an address by Mr. W. T.

Macoun, Horticulturist at the Central Experimental Farm, on ' The Growing of

Forest Trees in Plantations, at the Central Experimental Farm, Ottawa; and Fruit

Culture.' I have very much pleasure in introducing Mr. Macoun to the Committee.

Mr. Macoun.—Mr. Chairman and gentlemen. I have not had very long notice

of the meeting of this Committee, as I believe it was through a change in your plans

that I was called here to-day, but I hope that I have sufficient material available to

engross your attention during the sitting. We are very much interested in our work,

and having been connected with the farm now for more than twenty years, it gives

us quite a fund of information to draw upon. Therefore, I think we should have no
trouble this morning in spending the time profitably.

It is now two years since I appeared before this Committee, and it might, per-

haps, be well to tell you a little about my department at the farm. My title at the

farm is Horticulturist and Curator of the Arboretum and Botanic garden, and my
branch of horticulture naturally divides itself into three departments : The first relat-

ing to fruits and vegetables; the second to our forestry experiments, and the third to

the Arboretum and Botanic garden on the farm.

I hope to speak most of the time this mxorning on our experiments with forest

trees for farms, but I would like to run briefly over the third branch of our work

referred to. That is the Arboretum and Botanic garden, which occupies about 65

acres of land. In this garden we have over 3,000 species and varieties of trees and

shrubs, and over 2,000 species and varieties of herbaceous peremiials. The object of

this botanic garden is to collect there all the plants we can, and find out which will

succeed best in this country and which are the most ornamental, also other informa-

tion regarding rate of growth, flowering period, and so on, so that we may be able to

give the farmers of this country definite information as to the best kinds of trees for

them to plant around their homes to improve their properties. I may say we have

published a great deal of information in regard to this, and I think it has been very

useful to the farmers.

By Mr. Piclmp:

Q. Where is this botanic garden situated?

A. It is on the southeast side of the Central Experimental Farm, ami consists

of 65 acres.

experiments with forest trees at the central EXrEKlMKXTAE FARM, OTTAWA.

The third department to which I would like to deviile mo>;t of the time this

morning, although I may refer to fruits and vegetable's \i\tov on. is that relating

to forest trees. It seems to me that the more information we can get before the
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farmers in regard to planting forest trees on the farm the better, because unfortunately

the farmer has had a great deal to do in the past in cutting down trees in clearing

his property; and the revulsion of feeling in regard to trees has not yet taken place,

speaking generally, among the farmers. That is, the farmer still regards the tree to a

large extent as his enemy; but the younger men and the grandsons are gradually

waking up to the fact that it would be important for them to have on the farm a good

belt of trees or a good block of trees from which they could draw fuel and wood for

other purposes. Fortunately there are still blocks of trees on a great many farms, but

on many others there are not. At the Central Experimental Farm, som.ething over

twenty years- ago, Dr. Saunders, looking ahead, felt that it was very important for us

to have on the farm belts of trees of different kinds where we could demonstrate to

farmers the rate of growth of different forest trees by taking measurements and also

getting information as to the best way for farmers to plant trees either mixed or in

blocks by themselves, the best distances apart, and so on. So in the autumn of 1887

the first planting was done and at the conclusion of most of the planting in the fall

of 1894 we had a belt of trees about one and three-quarter miles long. Along the

western boundary 165 feet wide and along the northern boundary 65 feet wide. In
this forest belt, which occupies about 21 acres, we have growing now about 23,000

trees. The forest trees are arranged in different ways. Some of them are planted

10 X 10 feet apart, others 10 x 5 feet apart, others 5x5 feet apart, and others only

2i feet apart, the object being to find out which was the most satisfactory distance to

plant. Then the trees are arranged in different w^ays. For instance, in some places

we have solid blocks of white pine, in other places solid blocks of tamarack, in other

places solid blocks of black walnut and butternut, in other places solid blocks of ash,

and in other places the trees are mixed so as to have different kinds growing together.

Y7e have in all about 60 kinds of trees under test in these belts.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Are they all native trees?

A. Not all native. There are some of the hardier exotic trees, but most of them

are native trees. We have had, as I say, about 20 years' experience with forest trees

and I should like to tell you a little about how they have behaved.

BEST DISTANCE APART TO PLANT TREES.

We have found that by the planting of trees 10 x 10 feet apart it is necessary to

cultivate them too long for it to be a profitable undertaking. At that distance apart,

unless they are cultivated, the trees make very slow growth for a long time and,

therefore, it would not be wise for the farmer to plant them at that distance. We
found that in order to get the best results it was necessary to cultivate about 8 years

after those trees had been planted 10 x 10 feet apart, that is before they began to meet

and smother the weeds and grasses. We found that by planting trees 5x5 feet apart

we could stop the cultivation in from, four to five years, depending upon the kind of

tree; and we believe that for the farmer, trees planted about 4x4 feet apart, or at

the most 5x5 feet apart, would be the most satisfactory distance, because at that

distance trees would meet in three or four years. We have found too, that planted

5x5 feet apart, the branches of the trees began to die much quicker at the bottom,

which is very important because you can easily understand that the branches start

from practically the centre of the tree, and after they are left on for say 10, 15 or 20

years the knot in the tree comes right through, and as a result your timber is too

knotty. But by having them close so that the earlier branches die off in the early

history of your plantation it makes a clean trunk and clean wood. That is very

important in growing these trees, and that is effected by having the trees closer than

10 feet apart, say 4 or 5 feet apart.
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BEST SIZE OF TREE TO PLANT.

^Viiat age are these trees when planted?

¥/e find the most satisfactory tree to plant is from 9 to 24 inches, not more than

We have planted trees from 9 inches up to 8 or 10 feet.

After four or five years' growth to what size w^ould they attain ?

After the second year they will m.ake from 2 or 2^ to 3 feet or more of growth

depending upon the kind of tree.

By Mr, Blain:
"

Q. Is that the size of tree you would recommend the farmer to plant on his farm?

A. Yes, about 2 feet.

Q. Two feet high?

A. Two feet high. If only planting one row of trees he would, perhaps, need to

be very careful, and if only 9 inches, the trees would be hidden by grass and that sort

of thing. If putting out only a single row it would be better to plant the trees a little

taller than 2 feet.

Q. I may say that in western Ontario they plant a great many trees 10 feet, and

they do very well?

A. You are speaking more of avenue trees ?

Q. Yes?
A. I am speaking of trees for timber purposes at t^e present time.

By Mr. Martin (Wellington) :

Q. If you were to plant a tree a foot high and another two feet high or three

feet high, what would be the difference in their height in say three years' time?
A. I believe that the tree one foot high, providing it has had good cultivation, will

be as tall as the three ioot tree, because the taller the tree the longer it takes for it

to become established, for the reason that the larger the tree the more the roots are

injured in taking it up and the longer it takes to get established. So you can easily

understand the expense would be light in planting a forest plantation by getting these

little trees which can be purchased very cheaply.

Q. If they are to go in a row it is necessary to have them nearly all of the same
size ?

A. For a wind break it does not matter so much, although it is well to start them
out as nearly alike as possible.

RATE OF GROWTH OF FOREST TREES.

We have published in our reports from time to time the height and diameter of

the different trees in these belts. We annually take the measurements of the trees.

The diameter is taken 4 feet 6 inches from the ground, and then we take the total

height each year so that we can tell how much the tree increases in height and
diameter. It might interest you to know just the height of a few of them. For
instance, taking the white pine which was planted in the spring of 1889 when 8 to 10

inches in height and 5x5 feet apart they are now 31 feet 8 inches in height. The last

record I have here is that for the fall of 1906.

By Mr. Pickup:

Q. What is the diameter of that tree?

A. The diameter of that tree, this white pine, is 4i inches, 4 feet 6 inclics from
the ground.

Q. We can beat that in Nova Scotia?

A. Yes, I think you can beat that in Nova Scotia.

2—28i .
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Q. In 30 years they are 9 inches in diameter?

A. Trees both on the eastern coast and the western coast will grow much more
rapidly than they do in the central part of the country. The moisture in the air seems

to be favourable to their growing and they grow much faster. But, as I have already

explained, our work is principally for the two provinces of Ontario and Quebec. Now
white pine planted 10 x 10 feet apart is 30 feet 9 inches in height, compared with

31 feet 8 inches of the white pine planted 5x5 feet apart. This is the average of a

number of years, Several individual trees were measured each year and then we
took the average. The diameter of trees planted 10 x 10 feet apart is practically 7

inches. The reason of that is that the trees get more light and having more light

make more branches, and the more leaves they have the greater growth they make.
But the difficulty in regard to these trees is that the branches are not yet dead at the

bottom. These big branches are growing out now from the base of the trees and that

timber will be very knotty for a long time.

Then in the case of the white ash, which is a very valuable tree in the province
of Ontario, the trees planted 5x5 feet apart at 4 feet 6 inches above the ground have
a diameter of 2| inches, and the height of the tree is 29 feet 3 inches. Planted 10 x 10
feet apart the diameter is 4 inches, 4 feet 6 inches above the ground and the height of

the tree is 30 feet 7 inches. The white ash is a very valuable tree for a farmer and
it would pay him well to grow that species in his plantation.

The following table showing the growth of a number of species of trees, with
other notes regarding them, is submitted:

—

Growth of Trees in Forest Belts at Central Experimental Farm.

Name.

Year

Planted.

Years

Planted.

Height or
Age when
Planted.

Distance.

White Pine. ... 1889 18 8 to 10 inches
1889 18 8tol0 ii . 10 X 10 ft

Scotch Pine. . .

.

1888 19 18 inches . .

.

5 X 5 ft. .....

.

18S8 19 18 „ .... 10 X 10 ft

It .... 1887 20 9 „ ... 3 X 3 ft

Norway Spruce.. 1889 18 18 ,1 .... 5x5ft. ....

1889 18 18 II .... 10 x 10 ft

II . . 1888 19 5 X 10 ft. mxd.
II .

.

1888 19 15 „ ... 5 X 10 ft. mxd.
II 1888 19 15 „ .... 5 X 10 ft. mxd.

European Larch. 1888 19 2 feet 5 x 5 ft.

1888 19 2 1. .. .. 10x10 ft....

Canoe Birch .

.

1889 18 5 X 5 ft

1889 18 3 ,1 10 X 10 ft

White Ash 1889 18 3 1, 5 X 5 ft

1889 18 3 II 10 X 10 ft

White Spruce. .

.

II ...

1888 19 15 inches . .

.

5 X 10 ft. mxd.
1889 18 15 II .... 5x5ft

II .... 1889 18 15 II .... 10 X 10 ft

Soil.

Light sandy loam with gravel.
II II

Low sandy loam with gravel.

.

Light sandy loam with gravel.
Poor, light sandy loam
Light sandy loam
Clay loam
Light sandy soil

Gravelly soil

Low sandy loam
II M

Light sandy ^oam

Black muck
Light sandy loam

.

Gravelly soil

Poor sandy soil ,

.

Ft. Ins.

31 8
30 9
29 5
28 3
31 8
23 1
27 11
35 8
33
37

'2

33 11
33
35

"4

37 8
29 3
30 7
34 6
17 4
20 8

INFLUENCE OF FOREST TREES ON ONE ANOTHER.

Then we have got a good deal of interesting inform^ation from our mixed planta-
tion where different trees are growing, information that will be useful to the farmer
to show him v/hat kind he should avoid planting. I have taken notes which I should
like to give you in regard to a number of these trees showing how they have suffered
under shade; where they have been able to hold their own or where they have suffered
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and died. These notes are taken from a mixed belt of trees planted in 1894. ' The
Austrian pine does not stand the shade well and in some instances it has been killed

outright when shaded by other trees, although it is quite a strong growing tree.

The Scotch pine also suffers badly in shade. In some instances the trees have

been killed outright, and where not killed the leader is destroyed and the tree made
very weak.

White pine stands shade a litrle better than Scotch pine, retaining its leader when
the Scotch pine does not.

Douglas fir is much weakened by shade, but retains its leader.

The Norway spruce stand's the shade better than any of the pines.

The Rocky Mountain blue spruce, or Colorado spruce, stands the shade about as

well as the Norway spruce, but does not stand as m^uch chance of developing as the

Norway, as it grows so slowly.

The American Arbor-vit£Ee or cedar, which forii-is our great cedar swam.ps in

Ontario and Quebec, stands the shade very well, but in dense shade makes very little

growth.

The tamarack pushes up rapidly and is holding its own, but as the foliage is com-
paratively thin it does not hurt other trees.

The American elm has reached the greatest height and is towering above most
other trees. It has made a good straight trunk. This and the box elder, or Manitoba
maple, should do well together. The dense shade of the box elder should force an
upward growth of the elm and the elm be able to hold its own on account of its rapid

growth.
' The red and white ash and box elder.—These are almost as tall as the American

elm and are still holding their own. The dense shade of the box elder is what has
done most to injure the pines. The Manitoba maple, or box elder, makes a very dense

shade, and if put into a plantation it will crowd out almost everything else that

grows less rapidly than it does.

The black ash is little more than half the height of the white ash.

In another belt of trees planted in 1888 notes on other trees were made.
European white birch are the tallest trees, but these are now dying and some are

dead. In about 18 to 19 years the European white birch dies at Ottawa.

By Mr. Sinclair: -

Q. Does that differ from our own white birch?

A. Yes, it is different from our own white birch.

By Mr. Martin (P.E.I.) :

Q. Is the American elm the soft elm?

A. Yes, it is the soft elm, the common elm. '

White oak.—Some trees have been, killed by the shade, but they appear to stand
it fairly well, as trees are alive which are much shaded, although they are making
little growth.

Black walnut.—In the warmer soils this has shot up tall and straight and is

among the leading trees, but many were overshadowed before they got ahead and have
been killed or are barely alive.

Red oak has shot up well and is one of the leading trees.

Rock elm has done well.

Norway m.aple has shot up well and is one of the leading trees.

Hard maple, although slender, is shooting up now and is holding its own.
Red maple, side by side with Norway maple, is affected about the same by shade,

and is about equal in height. Norway maple is, if anything, leading and is the more
vigorous tree.
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White spruce.—Although this stands shade well it has got behind and is not a

leading tree, that is where it is mixed with other kinds.

American mountain ash stands shade well.

By Mr. Christie

:

Q. Did you say that black walnut would not do well when shaded by other trees?

A. It has not done well here.

Q. I have got about fifteen in Red Maple Woods, and I think they are doing better

than those out in the clearing?

A. They are not over-topped by the other trees, are they?

Q. They are right in the midst of red maple timber?

A. Is there a canopy of foliage overhead?

Q. Yes?
A. Then our experience has been different. We have found that the black walnut,

providing it will grow as fast as the other trees, will hold its own. Once it gets

underneath other trees, it does not. Of course, your maple v/oods might not be very

dense.

^ Q. They are the ordinary woods ? . .

A. Very often in a maple wood there are little glades or open places, and those

are the places v/here the black walnut should do well, and if planted on an even'

footing with young maple, black walnut should hold its own, but planted under large

trees it would not stand much chance. From our experience we should suggest to the

farmers that they should plant the trees which will look after themselves best and
quickest. We should say that there should be a foundation of evergreens in the

plantation, which would have the effect of crowding out the branches of the deciduous

tree, and the three best evergreens we have found for this purpose are the white pine,

the Scotch pine, and the Norv/ay spruce. These are all very rapid growing trees,

they will hold their own well in the race with the other deciduous trees, and having
dense foliage they will crowd out the side branches of the latter, and in that way
make cleaner timber than if they were not there. Then among these he should plant

for early use the white birch, the American elm and the tamarack or the European
larch. These make very rapid growth in the first 20 years, and on account of their

thin foliage thej^ do not destroy the pines and hard maple which should also be in the

plantation, and the result is they may be cut out in 20 or 25 years for fuel, if neces-

sary, leaving the plantation for the other trees. Then he should have white ash, hard
maple and red oak, and a few white oak and black walnut. All these trees, by the

proper mixture of them, will grow well together and the farmer will soon have a large

supply of fuel and also wood for other purposes on the farm. The trees which are to

remain longest should be about 10 feet apart with the others between.

Q. Taking the Norway spruce, how would you plant it?

A. In a mixed plantation on a farm the Norway spruce would not be less than
10 feet apart, because the farmer will want his other kinds betv/een them. Even for a
single row of trees 10 to 12 feet apart is a very good distance.

Q. We have planted some and they have grown up but are dying. I think they
were planted too close?

A. We have a row at the farm of Norway spruce. They are planted 10 feet

apart, but my intention is to remove every other tree in a short time and have them
20 feet apart. That will mean that they will be far apart for quite a number of
years. My idea is to leave them until they interlace and then cut them out.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Will the black walnut thrive in Nova Scotia?
'

A. I don't think it will very well. We have found that it needs a very warm
soil. It might thrive in the Annapolis valley in Nova Scotia, but here in Ottawa we
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find that on the heavier soils it won't thrive at all. It needs to be on a warm soil,

although in western Ontario it grows well in the bottom lands. But here you have

got to get a warmer soil or the tree is pretty nearly at a standstill. The farther north

you go and the cooler it is the slower progress the tree makes.

By Mr. Wright (Benfreiv)

:

Q, Is the walnut growing here?

A. Yes, our trees have been bearing fruit for quite a number o± years.

Q, We have one in Renfrew growing on a clay soil?

A. We have a plantation on clay soil, or at least some on clay soil that are doing

fairly well; but on cold sandy soil the trees are practically at a standstill, they don't

make more than an inch or so of growth yearly. On a warm sandy soil they do very

well and on a well drained clay soil they also do well, but not so well as on a warm
sandy and gravelly soil. We find that the farther north the tree grows from its native

place the warmer the soil has to be. We all know how the hard maple starts to climb

the hillside to get into the sunshine. As you go north you find the hard maple, and

other trees, gradually climb the hillsides where they get the light and heat

LEAF BLIGHT OF HORSE CHESTNUT PEAR BLIGHT—APPLE SPOT.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. In western Ontario a large number of horse chestnut trees are dying off. Have
you been experimenting or making inquiries as to the cause?

A. We have looked into that trouble and it is caused by a leaf disease called

Phyllosticta sphwropsoides, but no spray has been satisfactory in checking it up to the

present time, although Bordeaux mixture is recommended. The pear blight is another

disease difficult to control, which is practically impossible to eradicate unless all the

diseased parts arc cut out, and that is an almost impracticable method. The pear
blight has reduced the California pear orchards, I understand, nearly one-half, if not

more, during the last few years since the disease was introduced there, and our fruit

growers in Ontario know what a terrible thing it is. The difficulty is that it is a

bacterial disease. It enters through the fiov^^ers and tender buds and once it gets in

you cannot get it out with any spray. The only plan, as I say, is to keep cutting out

the diseased parts, and even then unless everybody else adopts the practice the disease

spreads very rapidly.

By Mr. Christie:

Q. Does not the horse chestnut do better in a warm climate?

A. Yes.

Q. In the northern part of our county they do not succeed, but in the southern

half they do splendidly?

A. You will not see very many horse chestnuts about Ottawa. Wo have tried

them over and over again. They will live for a number of years and then gradually

get stunted. I do not think there arc very many chestnuts about Ottawa. There are

one or two, I think, on Kent street, but as a rule they do not succeed in this district.

By Mr. Pickup:

Q. You say that the only remedy for the disease you spoke of which communicates
itself to other trees is to cut out the parts affected. Doos the same thing apply to

spots on apples?

A. No.

Q. Would it be necessary for all to spray, right through the district in iho case
of spots on apples?
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A. It is necessary, but not so necessary as in the case of blight; it does not carry

so rapidly. The bacteria of the iDlight are so small they carry very much more
rapidly than the spot. The spores of the spot are small too, but they do not spread

so rapidly.

Q. But still the disease does spread?

A. Oh, yes, it does spread.

Q. From one orchard to the other?

A. Yes, because the birds will carry the spores on their feet from one orchard

to another. The wind will also blow them.

PARTS OF THE FARM SUITABLE FOR FOREST PLANTATIONS.

The parts of a farm which I thiuK are most suitable for such planting as I have
been describing, and such as we have carried on here, are the hillsides and rocky

places ; and there is no reason why, if a farmer is interested in the subject, he should

not be able to cover these places with first-class wood in a comparatively short time.

(.When one considers that white pine will reach a height of over 30 feet in nineteen
years, and that red oak, ash, Scotch pine, Norway spruce, tamarack and all these

trees will reach about the same height in the same period, it shows how soon one could

have a fine plantation; and by putting in some elm and white birch, if there is no
fuel on the farm, a man could have a lot of fuel in the way of birch and elm and red

oak, even in a comparatively short time, because, in our experience, red oak will grow
almost as fast as pine.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. Are any of the farmers in Ontario appropriating any portion of their land to

that purpose to any considerable extent?

A. The Ontario Department of Agriculture now has a forestry station at Guelph

and is prepared, I understand, to furnish these forest trees to the farmers for their

plantation. I hope that a certain number of farmers—I, do not know just how many

—

are taking advantage of this offer and planting trees. The difficulty, of course, with

the farmer is that he is very short of help and it is next to impossible, at least he

thinks it is, for him to start a plantation; that is really the great difficulty. It is

difficult for a government to do all the work and as a result this operation cannot be

pushed as rapidly as it should be.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Does the Ontario Government furnish these trees free?

A. I don't think they furnish them free, but practically so. I understand the

applicant pays the cost of transportation. That is all.

By Mr. Christie:

Q. In the county of Durham trees have been planted on sand hills, is that the

work of the Ontario government?

A. Yes. The government has established plantations in that county, and I think

in Essex also. I know they have done it in the southwestern peninsula and also near

Brighton, in Durham county.

By Mr. Wright (Renfrew):

Q. What are they planting there, white pine?

A. White pine largely, and I think they are also putting out some black locust

and European larch which grows rapidly, and some Scotch pine, I think, also.
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HOW TO PROPAGATE PINES AND OTHER EVERGREENS FROM THE SEED.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Can yau propagate pine from cones?

A. Yes. The method of propagating the pine from cones is somewhat as follows

:

It is really very simple, bnt the seed bed must be looked after pretty thoroughly or

you will lose the little pines. The seeds ripen in the autumn and if you are not in a

timber district you have to climb the trees to get the cones. If you are in a timber

district where the trees are being cut down in the early winter you can go there and
collect the cones. It takes about one bushel of cones to make a pound of seed.

By Mr. Caldwell:

Q. Are any efforts being made to gather the cones here?

A. Practically none, I understand.

Q. In my own locality some young men are making a business of gathering the

cones and selling the seed to the United States. The other day when I was home they

told me they had extracted some $1,600 worth of pine seed, all of which was shipped

to the United States. Americans are coming over here and making a regular business

of buying our pine seed, seemingly for export and not for local use. Doubtless this is

more a provincial matter than it is one aifecting the Dominion, but it would seem
that there is something wrong in not giving the matter attention ourselves. I am
sure they have collected thousands of dollars worth each year in our district?

A. And not only that, but some European houses have sent agents over, or

employed agents in this country to ship seeds to Europe, especially Germany. That
country has had agents in British Columbia looking for seeds of the Douglas nr. I

think, they have also got a certain amount of pine seed from Ontario.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Has any attempt been made to cultivate the Douglas fir in Ontario?

A. Not on a large scale. Douglas fir is doing very well at the Central Experi-

mental Farm here. We have trees there nov/ that are nearly 30 feet in height.

To return to the quetsion of pine seed. The seeds are gathered in the cones and
taken to a dry warm room, and in a very short time, a few weeks, the cones will open

and the seed then drops out. That is screened and then becomes available. The seed

is kept dry during the winter and in the spring is sown broadcast on the surface of the

soil in little beds that are made just as you would prepare a garden for putting in the

small vegetable and flower seeds. Usually the beds are about the width of this table,

about 4 feet wide, and 10 or 12 feet in length, and they arc surrounded by boards

about C or 8 inches high, so as to keep them under control. A little sand is sifted over

the seeds which arc lying on the surface of the soil, but there is practically no depth

of soil put over them. After seeding, the soil is beaten down with the back of a spade,

or other tool, and the bed covered with a lath frame or with boards so as to keep the

bed dark until the seeds germinate, which will be in a comparatively short time. After

they germinate they are covered with lath frames so as to make a half shade. The
laths are the width ol' themselves apart on the frame and the frame is raised about a

foot oft" the bed. The difficulty is that if you have not any shade these little pines

will scald as soon as they come up in our climate. Some bore holes in the boards

surrounding the b(^l lor better circulation of air, as good circidatiou is important.

In parts of Nova Sc'(»ii;i, New Brunswick and Priiu^e Edward Island they come up
readily and thrive \V(>11 without protection. In our climate the nir is so dry tliey scald

off in the bright sunshine and we have to put those laths over tluMu so as to give them

a half shade and moist conditions. Then they germinate in a short tiuie. For the

first season and part of the second it is necessary to keep the laths on. On cloudy
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days the laths are taken off so as to give the pines as much light as possible. At the

beginning of the third season the pines which are only two or three inches high, per-

haps three or four, are taken out and put in plantations, four or five inches apart

each way, or on a farm they might be set out in rows two feet apart and four or five

inches in the rows so that they could be cultivated with a horse. They stay there one

or two years. When they are four years old, by which time they are 8 to 10 inches

high, they are ready for planting and from that time on they will grow very rapidly,

making from two to three feet of growth in a year, and they will soon become quite

large trees.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Does what you say apply to cedar as well as to pine?

A. Yes, to cedar and spruce.

TIME OF PLANTING FOREST TREES CARE REQUIRED.

By Mr. Caldwell:

Q. Do you experience any trouble in transplanting pines?

A. No, but they have to be treated carefully.

By Mr. Letvis:

Q. Would you take pines from the open for transplanting?

A. They do not transplant so readily as nursery grown trees, because they have

very few roots. Out in the open, as a rule, they have a hard struggle to exist, because

there is much rank vegetation around them. The difiiculty is that having such few

roots it is harder for the tree to start. Of course, you can do it, but it must be borne

in mind that the roots of pine trees must never be exposed to the sun, for even two
or three minutes of sunshine may cause them to dry up very rapidly, and once the

gum of trees like pine or spruce dries, it is really the end of them.

Q. What time ought you to transplant?

A. Just as early in the spring as the soil is in good condition.

Q. Ought you to do it twice a year?

A. In some magazines and periodicals it has been stated that the best time to

plant evergreens is in the month of August, I don't know whether that is what you
refer to, or midsummer. That recommendation has, I believe, been largely due to the

advertising of persons who have evergreens for sale. The middle of summer is a com-
paratively slack time for the business of selling trees. The evergreens can be planted

at almost any season of the year, provided you don't let the roots get dry. It has
been advertised that the most successful time is in the middle of summer, but it is

not so. The middle of summer is a very difficult time to transplant.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Is the tree not healthier and stronger in the middle of summer when the buds
are on it?

A. Yes, it is apparently so, but" the difficulty is this: In the middle of summer
when you transplant there is such a tremendous evaporation or transpiration of
moisture going on from the top. The air is so dry and the sun so strong that if you
transplant the tree then,, unless the work is done very carefully the surplus moisture
will be evaporated from the top.

Q. I have known spruce trees planted in Nova Scotia in July that succeeded very
well. Some farmers who planted them have thought it a very suitable season?

A. Yes, they do very well there. As I have already said, the Atlantic coast is much
more favourable to evergreens than the central part of Canada for the reason that the
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air is much moister and trees will stand transplanting there when they will not stand

it in the interior of the country at all on account of the dry winds and the bright sun.

We recommend the planting of evergreens as early in the spring as the ground is fit,

or they can be transplanted with success in the autumn. We have found, however,

that in our climate planting in the fall was not as satisfactory as planting in the

spring.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. What I was referring to was this : It is presumed there are two periods of

growth in the year for evergreens and one for deciduous trees. Is there anything

in that?

A. That is not correct. Evergreens start to grow almost at the same time as other

trees, or just about the same time, in the spring and go right ahead until they stop

growing. They grow very rapidly when they start and then they stop and shed their

leaves just about the same time as other trees, although we don't notice it. If you
go out in September or October you will find the ground literally covered with leaves.

They shed a certain portion of their leaves every year and are very much like other

trees in that respect.

Q. With reference to pine seed have you to keep it away from the frost?

A. ISTo, provided it is dry it is all right. It is not necessary to keep it away, it

won't be injured by frost.

By Mr. Wright (Renfrew) :

Q. How is the red cedar propagated? It seems to be quite different from any
other cedar?

A. The red cedar is really a juniper. That is why the seed is so different. If you
examine the seed you will find it is the same kind of seed as the low-growing juniper

with the little round berry. The seeds of red cedars should be planted before they get

very dry. It is better to plant them in the fall before they get too dry.

By Mr. Kennedy:

Q. Have you grown any British Columbia hemlock or spruce?

A. We have some little ones at the farm that have been sent from British
Columbia, but the hemlocks have not done very well.

Q. Have you anything called the Yew?
A. The Japanese yew is the most satisfactory variety to grow in this country.

Q. There is a native yew in British Columbia?
A. Yes.

By Mr. Pichup:

Q. Is the hackmatack the same species as the juniper?

A. No. It is the same as the tamarack.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Is the juniper a species of larch?

A. No, it is quite distinct. The juniper is a low-growing bush with different

habits and different in appearance.

By Mr. Kennedy:

Q. There used to be a lot of jiiui])ers on this very groiiii<l before it was broken
for the site of the Parliament Buildings?

A. Yes, and on the road going to Aylmcr you will see a lot of them growing on
the rocky soil.
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By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Are they hard to transplant?

A. When they are small they can be transplanted quite easily.

Q. I would like to ask a question with reference to the transplanting of young
cedar trees. In the county of Bruce you go into the woods and you find little cedars

growing there. It is generally mossy and you will pull up a little tree with a bunch
of moss, and when you transi)lant it it does not seem to grow ?

A. The roots are all spread on the surface, and there are yery few roots com-

l)aratively.

Q. What is the best way to make those trees grow? Supposing I plant them out

in the pasture field where they do grow sometimes?

A. The first essential when you remove a tree is to wrap the roots around with a

wet piece of sacking or keep them wet in some way,

Q, I have turned the hose on and kept the roots moist and adopted every precau-

tion ?

A, After you plant them leave a mulch of leaves on the surface, if you like, but

doii't use any manure, because that may burn them. Use anything that will keep the

ground cool and moist. Keeping the surface soil loose with a hoe is necessary unless

the ground is mulched.

Q. Would too much water hurt them?
A. Yes, too much water will hurt them.

Q. I turned the hose on them?
A. You perhaps used too much water.

By the Chairman:

Q. When you pull out a cedar and bring up quite a bunch of stuff with it, should

you plant it just in that way, or should you shake it off so as to keep the soil about
the roots ?

A. I would do the latter. That is the way I would do. If you take a big piece
of moss and put that in with the roots it prevents the soil from getting to the roots.

The moss or turf may all dry out and the roots dry also.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. I have taken out a bunch of stuff as big as my head, but still the tree did not
live?

A. That is the trouble. If you do not keep the roots in close contact with the soil

they will dry out. If you dig a tree which is growing in soil and not in moss keep
the soil attached if possible.

Q. When is the proper time to take the seed of the cedar?

A. Late in the fall. Place it in a dry room and it will dry out and then plant
the first thing in the spring,

Q. No matter how dry it may be?

A. Yes.

Q. Will a beech nut break itself if you plant in soil?

A. A good plan often is to put them in a shallow heap in the fall with three or
four inches of soil over them. In the winter the frost will crack them and then they
are planted the first thing in the spring, an inch or two deep.

Q. What about the horse chestnut?

A. The same thing holds good.

i}. Would you put them in a dry room?
A. No. You must not let these nuts dry.

Q. In the case of the black walnut, if you cut the top root when transplanting,
will it grow?

A. Oh, yes, it will grow well.
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I have some matter prepared relating to the importance of farmers improving
their home grounds or the sirrronndings of their houses, with information regarding

the preparation of the soil, grading and making a lawn, and laying it out with a few
ornamental trees, shrubs and herbaceous plants. That comes in in conection with our

botanic garden work, and I should like very much to include the matter in my evidence,

if agreeable to you, because T think more information should be given to farmers upon
the improvement of their homes. They sadly need it in this country; that you all

know. I will be very glad to answer any questions in regard to it, but I think as we
have been talking so m.uch of forest trees it would be well to include that matter with

the planting of forest belts, so as to make the subject as complete as possible.

THE IMPROVEMENT OF THE HOME GROUNDS.

To those who appreciate and who have been accustomed to attractive surround-

ings, many a farmer's house seems a cheerless place indeed. Exposed to the summer's
sun and to the winter's blast, with rarely a tree, shrub or climber to break the unin-

teresting outline of its four walls, without a lawn or flower garden to separate it from
the fields, it is the farmer's abode; but should we dignify it by the name of home
when it is contrasted with other farmer's homes where fine trees give their refreshing

shade in summer and check the cold winds in winter; where the green lawn slopes

away to the roadway or separates the home grounds from the fields; and flowering

shrubs, flower beds, and borders enliven the scene and make the farmer and his wife

and children truly feel that ' there is no place like home.' With the easy and rapid

means of transportation which we now enjoy in Canada, few farmers' sons and
daughters are unable to visit som.e of our cities and towns during their early years.

Is it any wonder that in many cases when they return home and contrast their home
surroundings with those they have seen they become dissatisfied and long for a brighter

place to live? And while it is true that lack of homelike surroundings is not the only

reason why boys and girls leave the farm when they get an opportunity, it does,

without doubt, influence them in making their decision.

There are two main reasons, we think, why farmers do not improve their home
surroundings, namely, through lack of desire, and because they think they have not

time. There is a third reason which might also be given, namely, want of knovi)ledge,

but inform_ation is now so easily obtained that there is little excuse on that score.

How is it possible to instil a desire in farmers to make their homes more attractive?

If they would only realize that their children would appreciate it and would be more
likely to remain on the farm, the desire would surely come. Once the desire came,
time would be found to do the work.

Making the Lawn.—The soil around the dwelling usually dries up in the spring
before the fields, as the house is, as a rule, built on a slight elevation, hence work
could be begun several days before there was any temptation to go to the fields. A
lawn should be the first object in view, as once the extent of the grounds were defined
by the grass, the further development could be gradual. A well-kept lawn is also much
more attractive than fiower beds in rough ground, and once the lawn has been made
the farmer's wife and family will be able to render valuable assistance with the trees,

shrubs and flower beds.

A large lawn will probably be neglcctod by the average fanner, hence the area
which is to be devoted to grnss should be well cousidered. If possible, there should be
a lawn in front and at one side of the house. A lawn fifty feet wide in front makes a
very good apiu-oach to a house, and if convenient this should be carried the same width
along the side. More lawn would be better, but there should not be less. Tlie less
grass is cut up by roads and paths, the more efi'ective it is, lienoe the paths should be
arranged with a view to lenviiig as large a plot of imbrekon lawn as possible. In
order that the grass may look green most of the summer, there sluMild be n good depth



294 MR. W. T. MACOUN, HORTICULTURIST

8 EDWARD VII., A. 19C8

of soil. If the soil is shallow the grass will be affected by droughts and will be brown
when it should be green, hence the importance of thorough preparation. The better

the soil is prepared the better the grass will grow. When the ground chosen for the

lawn has been staked out and all surface stones and rubbish removed, it should be

given a heavy dressing of rotted manure, and if the soil is poor it might be possible

to apply some loads of good soil with manure. There is no danger of making the soil

too rich. When this is done the soil should be given a deep ploughing, and then be

thoroughly pulverized. A scraper v/ill probably be necessary to grade up the ground
before the final harrowing. Now comes the time when the whole, household can assist.

In order that the lawn should be a creditable one the surface soil should be brought

into as fine condition as possible. All stones should be removed, both small and great

;

the clumps of soil should be broken up, pieces of sod buried where the grass will not

grow Pgain, and all holes filled up with soil. For the best effect in front, there

should be a continuous, gentle, downward slope from the house to the outer edge of the

proposed lawn, and this can be obtained by a judicious use of the shovel, rake and eye.

No pains should be spared to make the surface of the soil smooth. Paths, and if

necessary, a roadway, may now be cut out, but as the edges will no doubt be trodden on
before the lawn is formed, we should advise making them about a foot narrower than

they will eventually be, so that they may be cut to a desired width when a good sward
has been formed. The soil is now ready for the seed, and it may be said here that the

earlier in the spring the seed is sown after the soil is in condition, the better the

results will be. After all the preparatory work which has been done, the prospects of a

good lawn should not be marred by sowing poor seed. A few cents extra for the best

seed will be repaid many times over by the results. We should not advise buying lawn
mixtures. The best lawn grass is Kentucky blue grass or June grass, and this is what
should be bought. As it takes some time for a thick sod to form, weeds are liable to

be troublesome at first, hence a little white clover is a good thing to sow with the grass

seed. This will take the place of weeds and help to thicken up the lawn. There is no
danger of using too much grass seed. Three bushels per acre of seed that has a high
percentage of germinating power will make a good lawn, but double that quantity is

often used. White clover may be mixed with the grass seed at the rate of about ten
pounds per acre. If the lawn is to occupy, say, an area of 100 by 50 feet, it would
only take about six or seven pounds of grass seed and about a pound of clover seed. It
should be sown broadcast and then raked in. If the seed is sown early in the spring,

the soil need not be rolled after seeding, but if there is danger of the soils drying out
before the seed germinates, it should be rolled with a light roller to bring the moisture
to the surface and hasten the germination of the seed. If there are chidren about it

will be necessary to define the border of the lawn in some way at first. A wire is a
good thing for this purpose, but if this cann,ot be obtained binding twine will answer
the purpose. It is necessary to have something continuous, like wire or twine, as
children easily forget, and a few stakes will not stop them. The grass seed will usually
germinate in a few days and grow thriftily, but the grass should not be cut the first

time until it is long enough to be cut with the scythe, as if cut too soon it may be
injured by the sun or dragged out of the soil. Weeds should, however, be cut off with
the scythe in order that the grass may get a good chance to thicken. In order to keep
a lavv^n in good condition, one should have a lawn mower, for once a lawn is established
it will be so much appreciated that there will be a pride in making it look well.

Planting the Home Grounds.—While it would probably not be possible in many
cases to do all the necessary planting of trees, shrubs and vines the first season, a
beginning should be m.ade, even though it be with a vine or two or a few shrubs and
trees. Sometimes planting is put off from year to year because it is thought that there
win not be time to do all that is in our mind, whereas, if a beginning were made and
a little done each year it would be surprising how soon there would be a change in
the appearance of the home surroundings.
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There is nothing which improves a place so quickly as vines, and there is an
advantage in beginning with them, as they can be procured and planted by almost

a-iy memb:r of the household who is old enough to know how to plant anything.

Three of the best climbers are three of our commonest wild plants, namely, the Wild
Clematis or Virgin's Bower, Climbing Bitter-sweet, and Virginian Creeper. If these

vines are not growing somewhere on the farm, one should be able to recall where he

has seen th-em growing wild, and they can usually be obtained v/ithout cost. For a

veranda we prefer the Virgin's Bower, as it has attractive foliage and flowers, and is

not troubled with insects, and hence the veranda is kept cleaner, and one can sit out

with comfort. The Climbing Bitter-sweet is also a very clean vine, and it is not

affected with insects either. It has bright green leaves and although the flowers are

insignificant its highly coloured fruit, which remains on the plant most of the winter,

makes it quite attractive at that season of the year. It is a very strong grower and
will soon add much to the appearance of the place. The third climber, and one which
is perhaps more often used than either of the others, is the Virginian Creeper. As
is well known, this is a rapid grower and will cover a veranda in a short time, and in

the autumn is very attractive on account of its highly coloured foliage. This vine is,

however, much troubled with a little hopping insect called a thrip, which is so destruc-

tive to the foliage that many of the leaves v/ither, and often during the latter part of

the summer the vine is quite disfigured.

This is a very difficult insect to control, and because of this we prefer keeping
this vine more in the background, where its luxuriant grov/th in the early part of the

summer and its brightly tinted foliage in autumn may be seen from the distance.

There is a self-fastening variety of Virginian Creeper which will cling tightly to a

wall, and this is very useful for the side of the house or unsightly outhouses. In the
warmer parts of the province of Ontario the Japanese or Boston Ivy is one of the best

plants for covering walls. There are other climbers with more beautiful flowers than
any of those mentioned, but they are not so hardy. Among the best of these are the

Crimson Rambler rose, the flowers of which are a gorgeous sight in summer; the

Scarlet Trumpet Honeysuckle, and the large flowering varieties of Clematis.
Climbing plants should be dug up with as many roots as possible, but instead

of trying to save all the plant, only about two feet or less of the wood should be left

on, the rest being cut away. If this is done the plant will grow much more thriftily

than if a long piece of wood is left. The earlier in the spring the planting is done
the more growth there will be, but if planting is neglected at the proper time we should
not hesitate to dig up a plant even when it was in leaf, as if the roots are not allowed
to become dry before planting and the soil is moist it will be almost sure to grow,
although it should be well cut back when planted. If the soil close to the house is not
very good, it should be removed to a depth of about eighteen inches and for about two
feet in width where the climbers are to be planted, and replaced with good soil. Tlie
strong growth which is made when this is done will well repay any trouble which is

taken. As the planting is done close to the house, there should not be much disturbance
of the surrounding soil, v/hich, we are taking it for granted, is seeded down with lawn
grass. In planting, the roots should be well buried beneath the surface of the soil and
the latter pressed against them. There is no danger in planting the Virgin's Bower,
Climbing Bitter-sweet and Virginian Creeper too deep. They are better planted a
little on the deep side, as they root readily along the stem and will be in moistor soil.

We have discussed climbers at some length as they are so easily obtained, will make
such an improvement in a short time, and can bo planted by almost any member of the
family, and hence will be more likely to be planted than trees and shrubs, some of
which may have to be ordered from a nursery. If the vines aiv cut back from time
to time they can be kept v/ell under control.

It is a mistake to plant trees too close to a house, as wlien tlioy grow up they
prevent a free circulation of air, and sometimes make the house too dark. Some of our
native trees are among the best for planting, and tliere is no tree wliich in time will
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give such character to the farm home as the American elm. As it is a rapid grov/er

and reaches a great size it should not be planted within fifty feet or more of the house,

and should be placed in such a position that when it grows up it will not shade too

much of the lawn. Elms look well when skirting a roadway, and an avenue made of

these trees is a fine sight, but even one or two will show up well. They have an
advantage over the hard maple in that they may be pruned up when necessary without

losing their graceful appearance. Other large growing trees which may be used with

good efi'ect, but which are too large for a small lawn, are the hard maple, Norway
maple, red oak, white, red and Scotch pines, and the Norway spruce. They may be

grouped at the rear of the house and back of the lawn, and will form an excellent

background if planted in a clump, and will make a splendid windbreak both in winter

and summer.
For shade and ornament on th^e lawn aiid near the house, smaller growing trees

and shrubs may be used to advantage. There are many to choose from, but a few
only will be mentioned, all of which are easy to get and are amiong the most ornamental.

One of the most useful of the smaller growing trees is the European Mountain ash or

Rowan tree. This is a hardy, rapid growing, symmetrical tree and is attractive in

^flower, foliage and fruit. It looks best when the branches are left on near the ground.

Cut-leaved Birch.—While this tree is a little more expensive than some of the

others, it is so graceful and ornamental that one will never tire admiring it. It is

very hardy and a quick grower.

Crab Apple.—There is no tree more suitable for a farmer's lawn, or for any lawn,

for that matter, than a well shaped crab apple tree, the wealth of sweet scented flowers

in the spring and the highly coloured fruit in late summer or autumn making it very

ornamental, and the fruit being always in demand for preserving and jelly making by
the thrifty housewife.

Among ornamental shrubs, the following will give bloom for most of the summer,
among the earliest flowering being the Spiraeas, which begin to bloom early in May,
and become a mass of white flowers. Two of the most satisfactory are Spircea Van
llouttei and Spircea argiita. As these are under five feet in height they may be planted

near the house and look well if several are grouped together. Following the Spirseas

are the Lilacs. There has been such a marked improvement in Lilacs during the past

few years that the old-fashioned kind is now surpassed by many of the nev/er ones,

v/hich vary much in colour and have both single and double flowers; but even if these

cannot be obtained there is no more popular shrub which blooms in the spring than

the common lilac, and it should not be diflicult to get some from friends. Then, there

is the Tartarian Bush Honeysuckle, a hardy shrub, and a very free bloomer, which
grows to about ten to fifteen feet in height. This also blooms in May. Some of the

best shrubs which bloom in J^ne are the common Mock Orange or Philadelphus, and
the large flowering species which blooms a little later; the Snow-ball and the High-
bush Cranberry, the latter being a native species which is not appreciated as much as

it deserves, as the leaves, flowers, and fruit are all ornamental. The fruit remains on
the bush most of the winter, and brightens up the ground in winte^.' very much. A
shrub or small tree not often planted, hxit a very desirable one, is the Japanese or

Tree Lilac. This has white flowers, and grows to a height of fifteen or twenty feet,

and although it does not begin to bloom so young as the common lilac, it is well worth
planting. It blooms from the last of June to early in July. The last shrub which
we shall mention is the large-flowered Hydrangea (Hydrangea paniculaia grandiflora)

.

This blooms during the months of August and September, and the immense panicles

of flowers must be familiar to every one. In order to succeed best the Hydrangea needs
plenty of moisture and should be pruned back severely in the spring.

When planting either the trees or shrubs mentioned, or others, the breaking or

dividing up of the lawn should be avoided as much as possible, as the planting and the
lawn itself are much more efl'ective when the trees and shrubs are set towards the

corners, at one side, or at the rear of the lawn, and it is better to group them as much
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as possible, instead of having them clotted here and there, without any apparent
relationship to each other.

Unfortunately, a hedge is a rare sight on a farm, and yet there is nothing which
de-fines the limits of the home grounds as well as a hedge. A hedge is more effective

along the side or back of a lawn than in front, as a hedge in front of the house lessens

the etfectiveness of a nice approach to it. A hedge should be planted far enough back
from the edge of the lawn to leave room for a wide flower border betv/een it and the

lawn. If a narrow border is left it will probably get narrower from year to year as

the grass grows, and in time there will be little left. We should advise setting the

hedge far enough back so that there will be at least six feet in width for a border.

The Arbor-vitse or white cedar makes the most satisfactory hedge, and young trees

can often be obtained near the farm. The best satisfaction is obtained from planting

young trees about two feet in height, and it is important to get them with living-

branches to the ground, as unless the branches com.e to the ground the hedge will look

ragged. As the Arbor-vitae throws out roots readily along the branches, it may be

planted deeper than some other trees, and hence if it is not possible to get them with

branches to the ground they may be planted deei) enough to bring them down.
Although the Arbor-vitse will succeed in most soils, it does best in good loamy ground,

and we should advise a thorough preparation of it before planting. The trees may be

planted in a single row about 18 inches apart, and the earlier in the spring they are

set the better the results will be. As the trees will probably be uneven in height if

dug up in the fields or woods, they may be made the same height by cutting back the

tallest ones after planting. Nursery grown trees are to be preferred when they can be

obtained.

For large grounds the Norway spruce makes an excellent hedge, being a rapid
grower and presenting a fine appearance. The young trees should not be set so close

as the Arbor-vitse, three feet apart being near enough. The hedge will not be formed
quite so quickly set at this distance, but it will be m^ore permanent. The Buckthorns
make excellent hedges, and if an evergreen hedge is not desired the Cathartic and
Alder Buckthorn are good substitutes. The soil should be kept well cultivated about
a, hedge during the growing season to get the best results..

How to Transplant a Tree or Shrub.—A¥hen trees die after planting it is usually
due to carelessness in transplanting. Some kinds of trees transplant much easier

than others, and some of those that are planted more commonly than others, such as
the hard maple and American elm, are among the easiest to transplant, hence one is

likely to become careless. Trees and shrubs should be dug as carefully as possible so

as to retain a large proportion of the roots. The more roots there are the surer one is

of getting the tree to live. The roots should not be allowed to become dry from the
time of digging until the trees are in the ground again. They may be prevented from
drying in transit by protecting them with wet moss or wet sacking. If the roots of
evergreens, especially pines, become dry even for a short time the trees are almost
sure to die. A hole should be dug large enough so that the roots may be spread out and
not crowded or doubled up, and deep enough so that the tree or shrub when planted
will be from one to two inches deeper than it was in the woods or nursery. By jilant-

ing a little deeper than it was before, provision will be made for a little heaving which
often takes place the first winter, but too deep planting is almost as bad as planting
too shallow. It is important to have the tree at least as deep as it was before and,
as stated, best to have it a little deeper. The soil when thrown out of the hole should
be put in two separate heaps, the surface or good soil in one and the subsoil in another.
If the soil is all poor, to get the best results sufficient good soil should bo brought to
fill the hole. The tree is now placed in an upright ix^sition and the good soil is thrown
or sifted in at first about the roots of the tree. As it is important for the soil to come
in close contact with the roots it should be pressed against the tree with the foot, when
thrown in. If there is not enough good soil available to fill the hole the poorer soil

2—29
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may be placed on top of the good. Manure should not be put in the hole ^vith the soil

as it may burn the roots and make the soil so loose that it will dry out easily. Better

apply the manure to the surface of the ground in the autumn and dig in the shortest

of it the following spring into the surface soil. After planting, the tree or shrub

should be headed in well, the amount of heading in depending upon the amount of

roots. If a large proportion of the roots are cut off a large proportion of the top

should be rem.oved, otherwise the large leaf surface will transpire so much moisture
that the tree will dry up before the roots begin to take in more. This is why shade trees

are cut back so severely when planted, but it is not necessary to reduce the trees to

mere poles as is too frequently done, causing a bad crotch in the tree later on where
the stub dies back and where rot sets in.

Evergreens are not headed back like deciduous trees as it would disfigure them
too much and they have usually a fair supply of roots.

Before leaving the tree the surface soil should be loosened again so as to leave a

thin mulch of loose soil on top which will prevent the moisture evaporating from the

soil as rapidly as it would do if it were left hard. The surface soil should be kept

loose throughout the summer and the best growth will be obtained by keeping a circle

of from two to three feet or more in diameter around the tree free of grass, where the

soil will be kept loose and the rain and air find a ready entrance. If trees and shrubs

are transplanted with care they should usually live. Early in the spring is the best

time to transplant most kinds of trees and shrubs, evergreens included. Evergreens

may be transplanted in summer, but greater precaution must be taken to do it suc-

cessfully, and we do not recommend it. Both evergreens and. deciduous trees may
also be planted in the autumn successfully, but on the whole they do not do so well

as if planted in the spring.

The Flower- Garden.—One frequently sees, both in city and country, crude fiower

beds, made by raising mounds of soil a few feet from the house and filled with any
odds and ends of plants which may have happened to be in the house all winter, with
the addition, perhaps, of a few others bought on the market in spring. Sometimes
such beds produce quite a little bloom during the summer months, but situated, as

they often are, in a dooryard with little or no attempt at improving the appearance of

it, they lack attractiveness when compared with flower beds in or beside a well-kept
lawn, where with the trees and shrubs they form part of the home-like picture which
we should like every farmer to feel he can make about his own home.

There is no class of flowers more suited to country gardens than the hardy
herbaceous perennials, for once these are established they will remain for many years,

and are truly a perennial source of pleasure to even those who are not enthusiastic about
flowers. If a farmer were to depend upon annuals for his flowers every year he might
some years neglect sowing the seed and thus be without a good supply, whereas if there
is a border well stocked with perennials he is certain to have flowers. Bulbs, also,

especially tulips and narcissus, should be planted, as these likewise will remain for a
long time. It is a border such as previously mentioned v/hich should furnish bloom
from early in the spring to late in the autumn. As many perennials do not need to be
moved for a long time, it is important in preparing a border to have soil which will

furnish abundant plant food to them, as sometimes when plants increase in size and
the border is filled with them it is difiicult to dig in manure. There should be good,
rich loamy soil, which will not bake, to a depth of twelve inches or more in the border,
and a heavy dressing of well rotted manure turned under to add still more fertility

to it. The surface soil should be thoroughly broken up and levelled with the rake, but
the soil should not be raised much above the level of the lawn. A great mistake is

often made in raising beds high, as they dry out much easier in summer than if left

but little above the surrounding level. As the whole border should be occupied with
flowers, and as it may take several years to get enough perennials to fill it, some plan
must be adopted to get bloom in the meantime. We know of no other flower which
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will make so gorg.eoiis a show for as little outlay as the annual poppies, the Shirley

varieties being among the best of them. The seed of these may be sown thinly over

the border in early Si:)ring, and for about six weeks of the summer there will be a

brilliant sliov/. The annual poppies re-seed themselves, and once they go to seed in

the border a supply of them is assured from year to year. The seed of Iceland and
Oriental perennial poppies may also be sown in the same way as the annual ones. The
Iceland poppies will bloom in the autumn if seed is sown early in the spring, but the

Oriental poppies do not bloom until the second season. Once the latter are thoroughly

established they v/ill furnish abundant bloom during the month of May. While the

poppies multiply rapidly and if left to themselves would occupy most of the border,

they may be treated as weeds when not wanted, and are very easy to kill.

Some other good hardy annuals, the seed of which could be sown the first year, and
every 3^ear for that matter, are Phlox Drummondi, Verbenas, Asters, Candytuft,

Zinnias, all of which are very eliective. Once, however, there is a border to put things

into, it will not take long to get a good collection of perennials if we so desire.

Friends will be only too glad to give away pieces from large clumps and there are

few but could aitord to huj some plants each year. There are quite a number of good
perennials which can be grown readily from seed, among which are the Aquilegias

or Columbines, the Larkspurs, Campanulas, Coreopsis, Oaillardia, Forget-me-not,

and Hollyhocks. Foxgloves and Canterbury Bells are also hardy biennials which are

raised readily from seed. Among the most desirable perennials are the Irises or Flags,

of which there is a very large number of varieties, of many shades of colour. If the

proper varieties are obtained, beginning with the Orris Root (Iris f.orentina) , and
ending with the Japanese Iris, there will be bloom for more than six weeks. The
hardy perennial Phlox can also be obtained in great variety, and these will furnish

bloom in mid and late summer. Some of the lilies should be planted, as these have a

beauty all their own. Of these, Lilnim speciosum should not be omitted, as it

furnishes bloom during the month of September, v/hen many other flowers are past.

The Bleeding Heart, though ,an old-fashioned perennial, is very desirable. There are

some very fine hardy herbaceous Spiraeas, some of the finest being Spircea Aruncus or

Goat's Beard, Spircea Vlmaris or Meadow Sweet, and Spiraea Yenusta. Paeonies m.ay

now be had in great variet7>^, and should not be omitted from the fanner's garden.

We should, however, advise planting them in a clump by themselves, as owing to their

great spread of foliage they may crowd out the other kinds. A place should be found
for the Rudbeckia Golden Glov/, as it is such a showy plant, but as it spreads so

rapidly it is best planted by itself, and looks well in a corner where it is allowed to

form a large clump.

In planting perennials, the height to which each grovv^s should be learned, if

possible, and the taller ones put in the back of the border, so that they will not liide

the lower growing varieties, and also because the taller look best at the back. Some-
where near the front of the house there should be a good sized flower bed, the soil of

which may bo prepared the same as for the border. There is nothing more satisfactory

for a bed of this kind than geraniums, a bed all of a crimson or scarlet variety being

the most effective. Fine, strong plants can usually be obtained at very reasonable

prices in most of the market towns.

Bulbs are very satisfactory for the farmer's garden—tulips, narcissus and
hyacinths being the most suitable. Before the geraniums are set out in the spring the

bed may be occupied with tulips, which will make a fine show during the early part of

May, and may be dug up when it is time to plant the geraniums and ripened oft'

gradually, after which they may be stored in a dry place until September, when the

best bulbs should again be planted. It is, however, in the border between the clumps
of perennials that bulbs give the greatest satisfaction w^ith the least trouble. Here
hardy narcissus may be left for a number of years, and will give an increasing number
of flowers each year, and, as they begin to bloom in April, will give flowers wlien they

are more appreciated than later on when so many kinds arc in bloom. Tulips may
2—29i
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also be left for a number of years in the same place, if they are in well drained soil,

but will need lifting from time to time if they multiply too fast, the large bulbs being

re-planted and given more room, and the small ones planted in a less prominent place

and left until they reach blooming size. Hyacinths do not always give such good
satisfaction outside as tulips and narcissus, but are very desirable as they are so

beautiful and have such a delightful perfume. Bulbs should be planted in September

or early in October to get the best results. The price of them is so reasonable, when
one takes into consideration how much they brighten up the lawn and border in spring,

that no place should be without them.

Of annual climbing plants with attractive flowers, two of the most satisfactory

are sweet peas, and nasturtiums, and a few cents worth will give an abundance of

bloom from July until frost. To have the greatest success with sweet peas the seed

should be sown in rich soil as soon as it is dry enough in the spring to work, the reason

being that sweet peas require an abundance of moisture, and if sown early the roots

have time to get well down where moisture is always plentiful before the hot weather
comes. Sweet peas also do best in full sunshine. The climbing nasturtiums will be

found more satisfactory than the dwarf varieties. Unlike sweet peas, nasturtiums

bloom best in rather poor soil, and seed should not be planted until danger of frost is

almost past, as the nasturtium is a tender plant.

It is easy to grow the flowers above mentioned, and they can be obtained with

such a small outlay that it must be only lack of desire and supposed lack of time
which are the reasons for so few flowers being grown around the farm home. For
the sake of our families, and for the good influence which it is sure eventually- to bear

on our own lives, let us force the desire upon ourselves and begin this spring to make
our country homes more attractive, and if we make ourselves desire to do the work it

will be done and we shall never regret it.

EXPERIMENTS IN FRUIT CULTURE AT THE CENTRAL EXPERIMENTAL FARM, OTTAWA.

"With regard to fruits and vegetables, we have quite a large area, over 40 acres,

devoted to these crops, and it has been our policy in the past to try and conduct
experiments in that area which will be of the greatest interest to horticulturists

throughout Canada. We not only plan experiments ourselves, but we ask the co-opera-

tion of fruit growers throughout the country, to secure suggestions as to the lines of

work they think it will be well for us to carry on at the farm and which will be of the

greatest interest to them. As a result we have carried on there during the last twenty
years a great number of experiments in fruit culture. The results of these experi-

ments have been published in bulletins which have been issued by the department, and
also in the annual reports. For instance, one line of work which we have carried on
in fruit culture has been the testing of varieties. We have tested between six and
seven hundred named varieties of apples alone, and the value of this work you can
readily understand when I say that in sections of eastern, central and northern

Ontario and the provinces of Quebec, most of New Brunswick and in some parts of

Nova Scotia, it is not possible to grow some of the v^^inter apples that they grow, for

instance, in western Ontario. Thousands of dollars have been expended in these parts

of Canada in previous years in trying to grow these varieties which it was really

impossible to grow. The farmers were, however, ignorant of the fact, and the result

has been that thousands of dollars have been expended on trees which were not suit-

able for the sections of country where they Avere planted.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. What are those varieties!

A. I might mention Northern Spy, Baldwin, King and Greening. Those are the

kinds that I have in mind. There is a vast territory extending, say from the city of

Kingston east to New Brunswick and north to as far as you wish to go in Ontario,
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where these kinds do not succeed well. As I say, there was no very reliable information

available and much money was spent in testing those apples, and different kinds of

pears, plums and cherries that we find from experience it is not possible to grow.

Bij Mr. Martin (P.E.I.) :

Q. What varieties would you recommend for growing in the maritime provinces?

A. I did not propose to discuss the varieties of fruits this morning, but I may say

offhand the varieties that have proved best in the past in the most favoured parts of

Nova Scotia are the Gravenstein, Blenheim, Kibston, Greening, Baldwin, Northern

Spy, Golden Eussett and the Eoxbury Russett or Nonpareil. The Stark is also doing

well.

Q. What about the Baxter?
A. The Baxter is doing well in Prince Edward Island. It is one of the most

profitable apples grown in that province, but in the Annapolis valley. Nova Scotia,

they would be considered a rather coarse apple. I m.ake that statement without any
reflection upon Prince Edward Island, which is more or less like parts of New
Brunswick and Nova Scotia, where the best winter apples are more uncertain than
they are in the Annapolis valley and most favourable sections.

Q. New Brunswick is very much colder than the cold parts of Prince Edward
Island?

A. I am speaking of some parts of New Brunswick with which I am familiar, the

lower part of the St. John valley. On Prince Edward Island they can grow the

Northern Spy and the King with good success, but they are finding that it is more
profitable for them to grow the hardier kinds of winter apples, such as we grow here,

like the Baxter, for instance, the Wealthy, which is^ a winter apple there, the Wolf
River, the Golden Russet and a few other kinds. They find it is more profitable to

grow those varieties and others than the more tender kinds, because they will stand

better the climatic changes.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Can you account for the fact that the Gravenstein appears to be disappearing
in the Annapolis valley ?

A. There are two or three reasons for that. One reason is, that during the time
when the Gravenstein apple is in season there is a great glut of fruit on the English
market, alid the result is that fruit growers are going more into the cultivation of
varieties that keep longer and are easier handled. Another reason is there has been a

so-called disease affecting the Gravenstein in Nova Scotia called the Collar Rot.
From investigations I have made I believe thig disease is more of a physiological injury
than a disease caused by the late growing of the Gravenstein. In parts of Nova Scotia
the fruit growers grow very large quantities of Gravensteins, but they are allowed
to grow too late, in my judgment, and the result is when there is a very severe frost
in the late autumn the bark separates from the tree very near the ground. We find
in the case of our young trees if there is a late growth the bark will separate from
the tree near the ground owing to the freezing and thawing of the sap. In that way
the tree suffers and very often dies. That has been overcome now I think by stopping
cultivation a little earlier in the season. On sod ground it has not boon so ininrious.
where tlu? trees sto]i growth earlier.

Another line of work has been the testing of different methods of cultivation,
grafting, spraying and so forth.

APPLES ORIGTNATKD AT TITK CENTRAL EXPEIU M i:\TAT. F.\R>r.

Then we have been originating a great many varieties of apples, not the apples
which Dr. Saunders has told you about, for the Canadian northwest, becaiTse our work
is not meant to lie in the far west; but we are originating apples especially for the
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provinces of Ontario and Quebec. Our department is supposed to be confined to the

provinces of Ontario and Quebec, although our correspondence covers the whole Dom-
inion. We get almost as many letters, I think, from British Columbia as from any
other province outside of Ontario and Quebec. We are working for a hardy winter

apple of fair size, fine appearance and good quality. We are anxious to get apples

which will compare in quality with the Northern Spy, the King, the Greening and
other varieties. All of you know, I am sure, that these apples originated in the United

States. The ISTorthern Spy originated there, also the Baldwin, King, Greening, and
practically all of our best winter apples. The reason they originated in the adjoining

republic is not because Canada cannot produce a winter apple. The reason is that the

United States was further advanced in the early part of the nineteenth century than

Canada was. Nurseries were established in that country and these apples were found

out and propagated by the nurserymen and sold to farmers and fruit growers in not

only the United States but also in Canada, and as a result we have them. But the

difficulty is that these apples succeed only over a comparatively limited area in Canada.

In Ontario they succeed, say from Kingston west and south to the Great Lakes and
Georgian Bay. But taking the great central part of Octario, from 20 to 30 miles north

of Kingston, the northern parts of Ontario, all eastern Ontario, all of the province of

Quebec, the province of New Brunswick, and certain parts of the provinces of Nova
Scotia and Prince Edward Island, we have not got really a hardy winter apple that

will compare with these best varieties in quality. But there is no reason, in my
judgm^ent, why we should not have them, and we are working with that end in view.

To show you how parentage influence offspring I might say that about 1890 we
got a lot of seed from the northern part of Russia thinking that it would be good

stock for us to work upon in getting hardy trees. - We grew 3,000 seedlings of appleg

alone from that stock, and out of that number we have only four that would compare
favourably with our best named summer and autumn apples in this country, the reason

being that the majority of the Russian apples are either summer kinds or else kinds

that would be quite inferior to Canadian. The offspring of these Russian apples has

therefore, on the whole not proved to be fruits which were fit for Canada. So we
started in 1898 sowing the seed of our best apples which fruited at Ottawa, mostly

of the hardier kinds, including Northern Spy, because we have had it fruit here, the

Mcintosh Red, the Fameuse, the Wealthy, the Golden Russet and a number of other

kinds. We sowed the seed of these and we have got some very good seedlings, and

we expect many more promising ones in the future. We have about 2,000 of these

seedlings of apples alone, and about 200 of them have fruited. Of this number fully

25 per cent have been apples that we could not discard because we thought they were

so promising that they would probably fill some want in apple culture in some parts

of the country. For instance, we have seedlings of the Mcintosh, seedlings of the

Wealthy, seedlings of the Scott's Winter, which is one of the hardiest winter apples

we have, and seedlings of the Northern Spy, which I think will take a place in time

with our best apples and v/ill also mature at a season when we have not got good
kinds. In addition to these we have seedlings of crossed apples. For instance, we
crossed the Mcintosh, which is one of our best early winter apples, with the Northern

Spy, which is another good winter apple, with the idea of getting a hardy, later keep-

ing apple, and the results v/ill soon be known. Crosses between other varieties have
already fruited, and there are some promising apples among them.

VARIETIES OF APPLES TO PLANT IN BEST APPLE DISTRICTS OF ONTARIO.

Bi/ Mr. Christie:

Q. In setting out an orchard what varieties of apples would you recommend the

farmer to put out? I have in mind a farmer who contemplates devoting 50 acres to

apple orchard next spring, and the locality is 15 miles north of Lake Ontario ?
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A. This is one of the best apple districts. He should not plant a very large

nnmber of varieties, but enough -to make the season long. For instance, it is wise,

in my opinion, to plant more than one or two kinds where we have the limited amount

of help that we have now, so as to extend for a longer time the picking season so that

vv^e can utilize the help we have, although too large a number is worse than too few,

as we have too many kinds on the market. There are the Wealthy, the Alexander,

Blenheim and Mcintosh for the season up. to early winter, leaving out the earlier good

sorts such as Astrachan, Duchess and Gravenstein. Then for winter kinds, Greening,

King and Hubbardston, Northern Spy, Baldwin and Stark.

By Mr. Caldwell:

Q. Would you put the Greening before the Spy?
A. The Greening com.es earlier in the season.

By Mr. Kennedy:

Q. What about the Grimes Golden?

A. It is a fairly profitable apple in some parts of the country. It is sometimes

not very handsome in appearance, as unless very clean it has a sort of russety surface

which shows on account of the apple being of light colour.

By Mr. Caldwell:

Q. Do you consider the Spy as the best apple we have?
A. I consider it the best apple we have, but it takes a long time to come into

bearing.

Q. It is a slow bearer?

A. A slow bearer. Does the Baldwin, Mr. Christie, succeed well with you?

Mr. Christie.—Very well, but the best growing apple is the Ben Davis.

A. We have hesitated to recommend the Ben Davis. It has proved one of the

most profitable apples in past years, but we do not consider it will be a very profitable

apple in the future, and for that reason we have not recommended the planting of

the Ben Davis. We know that the farmers grow it any way and it is far better to

recommend the planting of a larger proportion of the better trees, and a small pro-

portion of the Ben Davis, if any.

DISTANCE APART TO PLANT APPLE TREES; SOIL; CULTIVATION.

By Mfr. Lewis:

'Q. At what distance apart should they be planted in your judgment?
A. About 33 feet apart over the best parts of Ontario, but for eastern Ontario

what we recommend is this: Planting permanent trees 36 feet apart each way and
having trees like the Wealthy and the Duchess between them with an additional row.
This makes the trees when planted 18 feet apart each way. By that plan you can
grow trees from 18 to 20 years by which time you have got a very profitable return
from the Wealthy and Duchess and then they can be cut out.

Q. Those do not live as long as the permanent trees?

A. They do not live ;is long.

Q. What about cull iviil ion whilo growing?
A. We find it pays wt'll io cultivate, but in some soils, where there is lots of

moisture, you will sometimes get good results in sod. Unfortunately it is not the

rule that one gets good results. A great many farmers and fruit growers have allowed
their orchards to remain in sod, and the result last year was that owing to the dry
season the crop of apples was one of the worst that wns ever shipped out of Canada,
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for the reason that the apples were small. If the orchards had been cultivated as

they should have been, the apples would have been of much better size.

Q. You are referring to the sod when you say that it was one of the worst crops

we ever had?
A. Yes, that was the result owing to the orchards being in sod. The colour of

the apples, how^ever, is a little better than in cultivated ground.

By Mr. PicJcup:

Q. And they last better?

A. And they last better, if picked in good time.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Does not the sod strengthen the growth of the tree?

A. If there is no hay taken off the soil is little exhausted by the grass, but not im-

proved unless there is clover or other leguminous plants growing there. There is no
plant food removed from the soil by the grass being there; it goes back as the grass

^ rots. But what happens is this : There is a tremendous evaporation from the grass

in summer. Take a season like last year when we wanted all the rain that we could

get. That grass was preventing the rain from getting into the soil, and it was also

transpiring a great amount of moisture from the leaves, and as a result the fruit

suffered.

Q. What class of soil is the best for the apples of which you have been speaking ?

A. We prefer a heavy sandy loam soil well drained.

Q. My reason for asking that is that in the section from which I come in the

county of Huron the best apples seem to grow on sandy soil. Around the township of

Goderich there is a good deal of land that is considered to be worth very little and
there they have the best orchards ?

A. It is like everything else, the further north you go in the apple districts the

warmer the soil must be and the better drained. Of course. Lake Huron is not what
you would call a northern district, although it is fairly well north. In certain sections

of Ontario they grow good apples on clay soil. In Eastern Ontario you could not

attempt to grow apples for any length of time on the clay soil. The warmer soils are

these poorer soils you spoke of and that is why the trees do better. Farther south the

trees do well in clay soil, because the climate is warmer, and they will succeed better.

The farther north you go the warmer the soil must be, and in this district we find

that a gravelly sub-soil is the best.

Q. What is the best apple growing county in Canada?

A. I would not like to say that.

Q. I think we have 15,000 more apple trees in the county of Huron than in .any

other county?

A. Each district has its own advantages and I should not like to say which is

the best. For instance, in the extreme east, in the Annapolis valley, the people have
the advantage of being near the sea-board and can ship their apples in better condition

than can the growers in the interior of the country. There it takes a longer time to

go to the sea-board, and they do not get the same advantage though they might pro-

duce as good apples. Each district has its advantages and disadvantages and the
growers are gradually learning how to profit from local conditions. In connection

with our work in raising seedlings and cross-bred apples, I would like to give you
some idea of the kind of work we do in keeping the record of them. I have already

stated that out of 3,000 Kussian seedlings only four were propagated which are likely

to be useful in the central part of Canada. The others which we have will probably

be useful in the Northwest. In the case of the other seedlings, of which about 25
per cent are proving really . desirable apples, we keep a record of them all. This is

the kind of card upon which the record is entered (exhibiting card.) When the fruit
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is harvested in the orchard I bring samples into my office. I have these cards and 1

tear them off the book so that I can keep a record of them alphabetically. This card

gives the record of Mcintosh seedling, row 22.

By Mr. Wright (Renfrew)

:

Q. Is that the record of one tree?

A. That is the record of one tree. This is what is says :

—

EXAMPLE OF DESCRIPTIVE RECORD KEPT OF APPLES ORIGINATED AT THE CENTRAL EXPERI-

MENTAL FARM.

Apples. Mcintosh seedling, E. 22, T. 2.

Fruit: Below medium to medium in size; roundish; cavity open, shallow to

medium; stem medium length, moderately stout; basin narrow, medium depth,

wrinkled; calyx closed; colour pale greenish-yellow greenish about cavity, washed with

dark crimson ; dots few, small, indistinct ; bloom bluish ; skin moderately thick, tough

;

flesh white, crispy, juicy; core medium, open; flavour subacid, pleasant, not high,

Fameuse-like
;
quality good; season probably November to January.

Propagate some of this. If a better keeper than Fameuse or Mcintosh may be

useful. Resembles both Mcintosh and Fameuse in outside appearance. Flesh and
flavour markedly Fameuse-like.

This information is taken from my 1907 notes. This year when that tree fruits

I will take out this card and compare my notes of 1907 with my notes of 1908, and
if they will compare favourably I will mark down in a corner underneath ^ confirmed.'

Or if there are some changes to be made I make the change on the card. Thus we
have a fairly accurate record of the fruit.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Do you distribute any seedlings?

A. We have been very conservative about recommending new kinds for this

reason: Take a tree like that it may look well as a seedling grown from the seed,

yet if we were to graft it on another tree it is just possible it might prove a weak
grower, might be subject to sunscald or blight or something of that kind. Therefore,

we prefer to wait until we graft scions oh the roots of another tree and the tree

grows and fruits. We have distributed a few of these to people interested in experi-

ments, but we do not believe in recommending our seedlings or other new varieties

for general planting before they are fully tested. There are a great many varieties

of apples on the market already and we do not want to distribute anything that

might be of a doubtful character.

Q. Does your branch cover small fruits too?

A. Yes, raspberries, currents, gooseberries, strawberries and vegetables.

Q. Do you distribute any of those?

A. We have distributed some, especially to northern sections, but we do not
as a rule do so unless they cannot be obtained readily from nurserymen, for the reason,

as you can easily understand, that the nurserymen would soon be opposed to that
kind of thing and we do not wish to injure their business. We distribvtted some
seedling currants this spring botcause they were new and wo wanted to have thoni

tested in a few places.

Q. Is it easier to propagate those small fruits from seed?

A. It is easier to propagate them from cuttings; that is. currants and goose-
berries.

Q. But you can propagate from seed?

A. Yes, but they do not come true; each seed produces n dilTiM-ont kind of plant.
For instance, this Mcintosh seedling which I have been referring to. You will notice
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that it resembles the Mcintosh and Fameuse somewhat in appearance. We find that

although each seed produces a different variety yet it will often resemble the parent

more or less. The Mcintosh was a seedling of the Fameuse and we find that some of

the Mcintosh seedlings resemble the Fameuse or the Mcintosh to a greater or less

extent; the seedlings of the Wealthy resemble the Wealthy and so on; but none of

them are identical; they are ail difierent.

By Mr. Christie:

Q. Would you recommend a farmer living five miles from the railway to put out

a fall apple?

A. Are you speaking of a farmer's orchard or the orchard of a man who is mak-
ing apple growing a speciality?

By Mr. Christie:

Q. Let me give you a buyer's experience. A buyer told me he would rather give

a dollar a barrel for a fall apple that was grown within a mile of a railway station

than 50 cents for one that had to be drawn five miles ?

A. There is a good deal in that?

^ By Mr. Caldwell:

Q. In our part of the country summer and fall apples are grown. They have
found difficulty in growing tlie Northern Spy and the result is we have not yet pro-

duced a good winter apple in the district?

A. There are places where men are making a speciality of winter kinds. Other
growers make nearly as much money from growing summer and fall apples and ship-

ping them to the old country and the Northwest as they can out of winter apples, that

is if they ship them properly.

By Mr. Christie:

Q. The buyer to whom I referred states that drawing apples five miles injures
them greatly?

A. It does injure summer apples; they have to be handled much more carefully
than the others. If you are speal^ing of a man who is a farmer as well as fruit
grower I should not recommend him to plant the earlier varieties. The Wealthy
comes in late enough any way and will keep until November in some parts of Ontario.
The Stark is a profitable winter variety.

Q. Is that a shy bearer too?

A. No, a very heavy bearer.

If there are any other questions upon which you would like information I shall

be glad to reply. There is much more material in connection with our department
that I can give you if there is any special phase of the work that you would like me
to speak upon. Let me repeat again that this question of raising Canadian apples
is a very hopeful one. Just to give you an idea of the Canadian apples that we have.
There is the Fameuse, for instance, considered by some to be the best apple of its

season in the world. There is the Mcintosh, a seedling of the Fameuse, which a great
many people think is better than the Fameuse. These are both Canadian apples.

There is the Baxter apple, which Mr. Martin spoke of, which originated near Brock-
ville. It is one of the handsomest apples that we have. It lacks flavour and is rather
coarse in flesh, but it sells well in the Old Country. It looks so much like the King
that it has been taken for that variety. The Baxter will keep well on into the winter.
Those are three Canadian apples. Then we have a Canadian apple which is a cross
between the Northern Spy and the Wagoner the Ontario. It is proving profitable to
some growers and is very much like the Spy.
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By Mr. Schell (Oxford):

Q. The wood of that tree is very poor?

A. The tree is not a very good grower it is true, but this tree can be used as a

filler between other trees ; it bears earlier. It shows bruises sooner than the Spy.

Q. I should think it would be a mistake to advertise it ?

A. We do not recommend it very much for growing. These are some of our

Canadian apples and there are and will be others. Take the two that are of about

equal quality, the McLitosh and Fameuse, and there is no reason why we should not

get some as good which will keep longer. We are getting now apples which are nearly

equal in quality to those varieties and as handsome in appearance. We believe that

Canada can produce just as good apples as any other place in the world.

By Mr. Lewis.

Q. You say that the seed of an apple will not produce fruit of the same quality

as the parent tree?

A. ^No.

Q. That is invariably the case?

A. Invariably the case.

Q. If you want an orchard of Northern Spy how do you produce them ?

A. In order to produce an orchard of Spy it is necessary to take wood of a

previous season's growth. These are called scions. You take scions of perhaps that

length or longer (illustrating) ofP the tree and they are cut down afterwards. First

of all we believe in taking them from the heaviest bearing trees. We have been carry-

ing on experiments for years at the experimental farm and we find that some trees of

the same variety will bear from two to three times as much fruit in a given time

as others of the same age. So we believe in taking our scions from the trees which

have had the best records just the same as you would select your calves from cows

of the best record or poultry men would take eggs from hens of the best record from

which to hatch their chickens. We find that apple trees have individuality in just the

same way, and so we take these scions or cuttings from the trees that have the best

record. These are taken in the fall or winter and are stored in leaves or m^oss until

about the month of February. Then you take the little roots which you have dug in

the fall and graft these scions on the roots. The process is described in detail in

one of my reports, and I will be very glad to insert it in this evidence.

PROPAGATION BY GRAFTING AND BUDDING.

When a good variety has been originated, more trees of it are usually wanted,

and the process of increasing the number is called propagation. Plants which come
true from seed, are, as a rule, increased by growing them from the seed; but as a

variety of apple cannot be reproduced in that way, other methods must be adopted, and
recourse is had to grafting and budding. There are other methods of propagation,

but these are what are usually adopted in this country. In grafting the apple, tlie

name scion is given to a cutting of wood of the variety that it is desired to propagnto.

The stock is the tree or portion of the tree, be it young or old, that the scion is to be,

or it, united with. As it is only through the stock that the scion can produce the sap

which nourishes it, at least for a time, the former must bo furnished witli roots.

Stochs.—Some kinds of fruits may be grafted successfully on others which are

closely related to them botanically, such as the pear on the quince; but Hhere is noth-

ing so satisfactory to graft the apple on as the apple, and, under certain circumstances,

the crab apple.

Although the stock and scions are united by the process called grafting, both of

them retain almost entirely their individual characteristics. The stock does, however,

modify the vigour and fruitfulness of the variety grafted on it. If a variety is grafted
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on a dwarf or slower growing tree than itself the result is that the stock tends to

dwarf it, as a sufficient quantity of crude sap does not pass through it to maintain the

natural vigour of the top; and as a lessening in vigour tends to the development of

fruit buds, this kind of stock is often used for the purpose of inducing fruitfulness in

a variety and for dwarfing the tree. The Paradise stock of Europe is an example of

this kind of stock. There is, however, often such a difference in the growth of the

stock and the variety grafted on it that the result is not satisfactory. It is quite possi-

ble that the stock may have the effect of m:aking the tree hardier, as if growth is

checked the w^ood may ripen better; although the results obtained by top-grafting

92 varieties at the Central Experimental Farm on hardy stocks showed that there was

not a sufficient in crease in the hardiness of tender v'arieties to enable them to with-

stand a test winter. In top-grafting trees, great care should be taken tTiat the stock

is a vigorous grov/ing variety, as, if it is not, the union may be bad, or the top outgrow

it and the tree will become top heavy and finally break down. ^A^lile good results have

been obtained by top-grafting on crab apple stock, it is not very satisfactory and should

not be used unless in exceptional cases, as the union is often bad or the grafted part

outgrows the scion. Some of the best varieties for stock on which to top-graft are

^
McMahan, Hibernal and Haas, and Tolman in the best apple districts.

Dwarf or slow-growing stocks are not recommended for use in any but the coldest

parts of the couritry; although experiments with Paradise and Doucin stocks have

shown that good results can be obtained with some varieties by their use in the best

apple districts, at least for a time. The stocks used in root grafting and budding in the

districts where the best apples can be raised successfully are usually obtained from
apple seeds which are procured at cider mills or anywhere else where they can be got

easily and in large quantities, and no pains are taken to learn what varieties produced
the seeds. Stocks grown from this kind of seed, wihile quite satisfactory as a rule,

are not desirable in the coldest parts of the country where root-killing is liable to

occur, as individual trees vary much in hardiness, and one might graft a hardy
variety on a tender stock without knowing it. At Ottawa, what stocks are required

for root-grafting are usually grown from seeds of the Martha and other hardy vigor-

ous crabs. Seeds from the hardiest varieties of both apples and crab apples are more
likely to produce hardy stocks than if seeds were obtained promiscuously.

For the very coldest parts of Canada wihere the apple can be grown at all, the

berried crab, Pyrus huccata, will probably make the most satisfactory stock for root-

grafting or budding. It is perfectly hardy at Indian Head, N.W.T., where the winters

are very severe, having endured the climate there. The seeds from which the stocks

are to be grown for root-grafting or budding should be treated in the manner already

described under the heading ^ Seedling Varieties.' It is important to cultivate the

young trees thoroughly the first season if it is desired to use them for root-grafting

during the following winter. Only the strongest should be used for this purpose, and

the others left to grow for another season, when they may be used for budding, if pro-

pagation is done that way, or for root-grafting as before. They will not be large

enough for budding the first season. If it is known that a hardy variety is growing

on its own roots, hardy stocks may be obtained if pieces of the roots are cut off and
scions grafted on them.

There are many of the best apples which will not succeed in certain parts of

Ontario and Quebec when grown in the ordinary way, as they are either root-killed,

or sun-scalded so badly that they die from the effect of it. Experiments conducted

at the Central Experiment Farm go to prove that by top-grafting these varieties on
hardy stocks some will grow well and produce fruit of fine appearance and quality

for a time, but when a test winter comes they succumb. To obtain these stocks it

is necessary, first of all, to have hardy roots. This may be effected to a large extent

by raising seedlings from the very hardiest apples or crab apples. A variety is then

grafted or budded on them, which forms a straight, clean trunk which does not sun-

scald, and on this variety is top-grafted the kind that does not succeed when grown
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in the ordinary way. The surest way, however, of obtaining hardy stocks is to grow
the hardy varieties on their own roots as explained in the paragraph on root-grafting.

SCIONS.

As much of the success in grafting depends on the condition and quality of the

ricions, too much stress cannot be laid on the importance of having them of the best

quality and in the best condition at the time of grafting.

Scions may be cut any time after the wood is well ripened in the autumn and

before the buds begin to swell in the spring. The best time, however, is in the autumn,

as they may then be kept in the condition desired, although scions which are not

kept in good condition all winter are not as good as those cut from the tree early in

spring and grafted at once.

If they are cut in cold weather, in winter, there is less sap in the scions at the

time, and thus the chance of their drying u.p is greater than if they were cut in the

autumn. One cannot tell very well, either, in winter, whether the young wood has

been injured or not. Scions should be cut from healthy, bearing trees. The wood of

old trees is liable to be diseased, and if diseased wood is used it is likely to produce a

diseased tree when grafted. Scions should also be cut from the most productive trees.

Occasionally, one or more trees of a variety will produce more and heavier crops than

the others. If scions are taken from these trees, the probability is that a larger pro-

jportion of the grafted trees will produce crops like the trees from which the scions

were taken than they otherwise would. The scions should be cut from the wood c»f

the current season's growth, as older wood is not satisfactory. The buds should be

well developed and the wood thoroughly ripened. It is not wise to use the water
sprouts or young shoots which spring from the main branches or trunk for this pur-

pose. They may not be thoroughly ripened, and it is also possible that sprouting

propensities may be thus more developed in the grafted trees. The entire season's

growth may be cut off and packed away until required for grafting, when it should

bo cut into pieces from four to six inches in length having three well developed buds.

Scions may be kept in good condition in moss, saw-dust, sand, or forest leaves.

The last named are found very satisfactory at Ottawa. These materials should be

slightly moist, but not wet; the object being to keep the scions fresh and plump with-

out there being any danger of their rotting. They should be kept in a cool cellar

which is not too dry, and should remain dormant until ready for use.

Root- Grafting.—The cheapest and one of the best methods of propagating apples,
especially in Canada, is by root-grafting. The strongest of the young stocks which
have been grown in the manner already described are heeled in during the autumn
in a cool cellar in moist sand. Grafting may be done any time during the winter,
but it is usually not started until January or February.

At Ottawa, the best success has been obtained when grafting was done early

in February. By grafting early the wound has time to callus well before the grafts
are planted out, which is important. Whip or tongue-grafting is the method usually
employed. As only the root is required, the trunk and branches are cut off and thrown
away. As there is but little advantage in using the whole root, it may be divided
into several pieces, much depending on its size. Each piece should be at least four
inches long. A smooth, sloping cut upwards, about two inches long, is made across
the main part of the root most suited to receive the scion. The scion is prepared
by cutting off a piece of the wood procured for the purpose in the autumn from four
to six inches long and with about three well developed buds on it: n smooth, sloping
cut downwards and across it is now made of about the same length as that already
made on the stock. Clefts are now made in the sloping surfaoi^ of both scion and
stock, in the former, upwards; and in tlie hxiivw downwards. They arc then joined
together by forcing the tongue of the scion into the cleft of the stock. The' inner
bark or cambium, of both scion and stock should be in contact with one another on
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pi least one side of the graft, as it is at this point of contact where the union begins

to take place. In order to erisnre a speedy and sn-ccessful union, waxed cotton thread
is wound tightly around to hold the parts together. Amateurs are also advised to rub
grafting wax all over where the two parts are joined, as with this treatment success

is likely to be more certain.

The operation having been completed, the grafts are packed away in moss or

savzdust until spring. They are then planted out in nursery rows about three feet

apart and one foot apart in the rows, the point of union being about three inches

below the surface of the soil. The ground should then be kept thoroughly cultivated

throughout the season. Some varieties of apples throw out roots quite readily from
the scion and after a time they thus become practically on their own roots. If it is

desired to have a variety on its own roots, a scion from eight to twelve inches long

may be used and the graft planted deep in the nursery row, only leaving one bud of

the scion above the surface of the ground. Roots v/ill then be thrown out on the

scion, and when the tree is dug the stock may be cut away, and the tree will then be

on its own roots. Or, on the other hand, a piece of root from a tree of the same variety

as the scion may be used as the stock.

Crown-grafting. Crown-grafting is usually done on young stocks in the nursery

row in the spring. The trees are cut at or just beneath the surface of the soil at the

crown or collar. A sloping cleft is then made in the side of the crown, and a scion,

cut wedge-shape at the lower end, is inserted in the cleft. The sam.e precautions

should be observed as in root-grafting, of having the inner bark of both stock and
.scion touching on at least one side. The grafted part should then be well covered

with grafting wax, in order to exclude the air. The trees usually make a strong

growth when grafted in this way, but as the work has to be done in April before

growth begins it is often inconvenient to do it at that busy season of the year.

Top-grafting. V/here there are trees which produce poor or unprofitable fruit

they may be made to bear good fruit by top-grafting other varieties upon them. If

it is desired to grow a variety which, when grown in the ordinary way, proves a

failure, on account of root-killing or sun-scalding, it is possible to grow it successfully

by top-grafting. Varieties which ordinarily take a long time to come into bearing will

fruit much sooner when top-grafted. These are some of the most important results

which may be obtained by this method.

Up to the present time in Canada, top-grafting has usually been done on old or

bearing trees which produce poor fruit, and as very satisfactory results have been

obtained, this practice will continue to be popular.

The work is done in the spring before growth begins, but _it is possible to graft

successfully even when the trees are coming into leaf, provided the scion is quite

dormant, but the chances of success are much lessened if it is done late. As the

shock to a large tree would be very great if all or nearly all of the branches on which

the leaves develop were cut off the first season, from three to four years should be

devoted to removing the top of the tree. If, hov/ever, a large num^ber of scions are

inserted, the top may be changed in less time, but, as a rule, it is not wise to do it in

less than three years. Furthermore, a too severe pruning at one time will cause a

large number of shoots to grow on the tree, and considerable labour will be involved

in removing them if many trees are grafted. Cleft-grafting is usually adopted in

top-working trees, it being a simple and satisfactory method.

The branches to be grafted should not exceed an inch and a half or two inches in

diameter. If they are larger it is so long before the stub heals over that disease may
^et in. It is possible, however, to graft larger branches by putting in more scions.

The top-grafting of a large tree should be done with a view to having the new top as

symmetrical as possible, and great care should be taken in selecting the branches to

be grafted upon. After the branch is sawn oif, it is cleft by means of a mallet and

strong knife to the depth of an inch and a half to two inches. It is held open

to receive the scion by driving a wedge into it. Scions for use in top-grafting
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are cut from dormant wood which has been kept in good condition in tho manner

already described, or from wood- taken from the tree before the bnds swell in the

spring-. They should have about three strong buds and be cut wedge-shape at

the base, one side, however, being a little thicker than the other. Two scions are now

inserted in the cleft of the stub, with the wide side of the edge on the outside, and

thrust down until the lowest bud is almost on a line with the edge of the stub. The

inner bark of both scion and stub should meet at some point, so that the union will

take place readily, and this is more easily effected if the scion is given a slightly out-

ward slope when inserted. When the wedge has been withdrawn from the cleft the

;a.dvantage of having the wedge-shaped end of the scion thicker on one side will be

apparent, as it will be held much more tightly than if both sides were the same. If the

.scion is not a tight 'fit all along, there is something wrong in the way it has been cut

or the stub has been cleft. The cut parts should now be covered with grafting wax to

exclude the air and hold the scion in place. Cotton is also sometimxcs wrapped around

^he wax in order to more effectively hold the scion in place. If both of the scions

^grafted on a stub should grow, the weaker one should be removed after the other is

well united and the surface of the stub at least partially healed over.

It is often desirable to top-graft young trees, and this may be done very readily.

.The main branches are cut back to within a short distanc of the trunk, and the scions

grafted on, either by cleft or whip-grafting. The closer the grafted part is to the

trunk, the better, as the tree will be stronger than if the union occurred further out

on the limb, since the growth of graft and scion may not be equal. It is well, however,

to have one bud left on the stub so that in case the grafting is not successful a new
phoot can readily start. Otherwise the stub may die back to the trunk. It is possible

to cut off the whole top of the tree and graft successfully on the main trunk, when the

tree is young, but unless one is sure that the union will be perfect and the top not

outgrow the stock, it is better not to run the risk of losing the tree. Furthermore, if

the whole top is cut off there will be such a growth the first season that the scions are

liable to get broken off. In top-grafting a young tree that has been planted from
three to five years, it is better to take two seasons to do the work, as the results will,

as a rule, bo more satisfactory.

It is necessary to examine the grafted trees during the summer and remove any
young shoots from the stocks which are interfering with the scions. It is not wise

however, especially when the tree has been cut back severely for grafting, to remove
•all the shoots until the grafts have grown considerably and furnish a good leaf sur-

jfaco. In the chapter on stocks, reference was made to the top-grafting of tender

^varieties on hardy stocks, in order to make the former hardier. The trees should be

,doublo v/orked as described there, planted out in the orchard, and when large enough,

.which will be in two or three years, top-grafted with the tender sorts.

In 1896, trees of McMahan, Gideon, Haas and Hibernal apples were planted in

the orchards at the Central Experimental Farm. These are all very hardy, strong-

g-rowing varieties, which do not sunscald at Ottawa and which are fine, straiglit-

,trunked trees. They were grafted on hardy roots. In 1898 the work of top-graftin.c

these with varieties that are not perfectly hardy was begun, and continued until 92
.kinds had boon tested. These included: Baldwin, Belle de Boskoop, Benoni, Domino,
Early Harvest, Esopus, Spitzenburg, Fallawater, Keswick Codlin, King of Tompkins
Co., Mother, Newtown Pippin, Northern Spy, Ontario. KIuhIo Island Cirocning, Ixonin

Ben.uty, Sutton Beauty, Wagoner, Winesap and York Imperial. Few of those varie-

ties can be grown sncccssfnlly at Ottawa as standard trees. Top-grafted, they
jendured several winters, but iho severe winter of 1903-4 killed practically all of thcTn,

.thus demonstrating the inability of hardy stocks to make tender varieties hardy

.enough to withstand test winters. The following experience had wnrrantod the hopo

.that the results would have been otherwise:

—

In 1891, a tree of Duchess and two trees of Wealthy were top-grafted with North-
ern Spy, which will not live at Ottawa when grown as a standard tree. All of thesp
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jruited in 1897. The grafts on Duchess produced fruit in 1897 and 1899, and those

>on Wealthy in 1897 and 1898. The wood of the Northern Spy appeared quite hardy

until the winter of 1903-4, when this variety was killed, while the stocks on which it

was grafted remained alive.

Budding.—Although grafting is a much more common method of propagating

•apples than budding, the latter has some advantages over the former and can also be

done at a time when grafting could not be performed successfully.

The best season for budding the apple is in late summer, some time during August
being tlie best time for Ontario and Quebec. Young stocks of the first or second

season's growth from seed are generally used. The process of budding adopted fo**

.apples consists of inserting a bud with very little or no wood, under the bark of thl^

stock and on the surface of its wood. It is called shield-budding.

Budding is best performed when there is still sufficient sap beneath the bar kto

permit of the latter being easily raised with a knife. On the other hand, if the work
is done when the tree is still growing vigorously the bud is liable to be ' drowned
out,' or, in other words, forced out by reason of too much sap and growth of the stock.

The stock which is to receive the bud should be at least three-eighths of an inch in

(diameter near the ground. The lower leaves are rubbed off to a height of five or six

.inches to enable the budder to work more freely. A perpendicular cut is now made
in the stock as near the ground as possible from an inch to an inch and a half long

,and preferably on the north side of the tree, as the bud will not be so readily dried

out by the sun on that side. The cut should only extend through the bark. Another

cut should now be made across the top of the perpendicular one. The two cuts when
made will appear thus :— J

The buds are cut from well developed or nearly mature shoots of the current sea-

son's growth of the variety it is desired to propagate. Before the buds are removed
the leaves should be cut off the shoots; a piece of the petiole or leaf stem is left, how-
ever, by which the bud may be handled after it has been removed. A very sharp, thin-

bladed knife is necessary in removing the bud. Knives are specially made for this

purpose. The bud is cut off the shoot downwards or upwards, whichever is most con-

venient, the general practice, however, is to cut upwards. The length of the piece

,removed with the bud should be about one inch long, and the cut surface smooth. It

should be quite thin, as but little of the wood is taken with the bud. The buds or

,twigs should be kept where they will not dry out while the work of budding is going

jOn. The bud is inserted under the bark by raising the latter with the blade of the

Jinife or the part of the budding knife made for that purpose. The bud is then pushed

jdown and under the bark with the fingers, and finally the piece of leaf stalk which was
(left when it was removed from the twig is pressed with the blade of the knife to

,bring the bud into the proper position. The bark on each side of the bud, which should

,now be under the bark of the stock will hold it in position. In order to bring the bud
and stock into close contact and prevent the former from drying up before the union

,takes place, they should be tied together with raffia or some soft string, taking care

not to cover the bud with it. The bud should unite with the stock in two or three

.weeks, and after that time the string should be cut, as otherwise the bud may be

injured. If the proper season has been chosen for the work the bud should remain

dormant until spring. If it starts in the autumn it may be killed during the winter.

In the following spring the stock should be cut off just above the bud, which will

cause all the strength of the stock to be directed into the bud and produce rapid

jgrowth, four feet and more not being an exceptional growth for the first season.

Budding is now a very popular method of propagating apples. The first season's

growth 13 greater than from the root-grafted trees and there is a large proportion of

straight-trunked trees by this method. If it is desired also to prevent trees from

becoming on their own roots, budding is preferable, as trees propagated in this way v
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.may be planted so that the stock is just at the surface of the soil and all roots ara

.thrown from it.

TOOLS AND APPLIANCES USED IN PRUNING AND GRAFTING.

While grafting implements and appliances are numerous, the work can be done

with a few, and as it is not often convenient for the farmer or fruit grower to get a

large outfit, only the really necessary things are mentioned. These are:—A sharp,

fine-toothed handsaw, to be used for sawing off large limbs, or for making the stubs

on trees to be top-grafted. Unless in the hands of a careful man, a saw with one edge

js better than one with two, as the upp<}r one is liable to tear the wood above,

A strong pruning knife for cutting the smaller limbs; for smoothing the wounds

made by the saw or pruning shears; for trimming off torn edges of branches, and for

pruning roots of young trees when planting.

A budding knife, with a thin steel blade, for removing buds, having an ivory

handle which is made thin at the end and is used for raising the bark.

A grafting knife, which is used in top-grafting trees. Home-made grafting

knives can be easily made. A strong, sharp blade is the chief requisite.

Pruning shears, which are intermediate in their uses between the saw and the

pruning knife. They are used for cutting off branches which are too large for the

latter and too small to need the saw; for rough pruning and for cutting scions,

A wedge and mallet are also necessary in top-grafting large trees.

Raffia is one ©f the best tying materials. It is very strong and very pliable and
is particularly useful for bandaging when budding.

Cotton yarn, which is used for tying root grafts, is one of the most satis-

factory materials for the purpose. The size known as No. 18 knitting cotton is the

best. It is bought in balls, which should be soaked for a few minutes in melted graft-

ing wax before using. The yam may also be drawn through melted wax, which ensures

it all being thoroughly 'soaked, and is, perhaps, on this account preferable to soak-

ing the ball.

There are many kinds of grafting wax recommended, but it is unnecessary to-

enumerate them all. One of the cheapest and best is that recommended in The
Horticulturist's Rule Booh under the name * Reliable Wax,' the receipt of which is

as follows:

—

' Reliable Wax.—Resin, 4 parts, by weight; beeswax, 2 parts; tallow, 1 part.
Melt together and pour into a pail of cold water. Then grease the hands and pull
the wax until it is nearly white. One of the best waxes for either indoor or outdoor
use.' This should be heated before using if too hard.

The principal value of grafting wax is to exclude air from the wound, and thus
prevent the wood from drying before a union takes place. A good grafting wax
should not crack when on the tree, else the air will reach the wound and the wax
prove of little value. Many materials may be used instead of grafting wax for this
purpose, one of the simplest being a mixture of clay and cow dung, but grafting wax
is much to be preferred. Strips of cotton are often used, especially in top-grafting
and crown-grafting, for wrapping around the wound after the wax has been applieii,

for tthe purpose of helping to exclude the air, and also to assis»t in holding the scion
^in position until the union takes place. This cotton is unnecessary if good graftin*^
wax is used ; but if a very valuable variety is grafted it is safer to use the cotton, as
when the growth of the scion is rapid, there is a chance of its gcitting broken off
during the first season before it is thoroughly united with the stock. Large wounds
on trees should be covered with some material that will protect ^lic cut surface from
the weather, prevent disease from setting in, and which will not peel off easily. A
good dressing of lead paint is probably the best material to use for this purpose.
.Grafting wax may be used on smaller branches.

2—30
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THE NURSERY.

Alitliougli, as a rule, it will be the most convenient plan to buy trees from tbe

professional nurseryman, yet he who propagates apple trees by root-grafting, crown-

grafting, or budding, for his own use, should have a nursery in which to grow them
until they are ready for the orchard. A good sandy loam soil, which does not bake

and is well drained, is best suited for this purpose, and will grow the strong, healthy

trees which are desired. The ground should be thoroughly prepared and 'the young
trees planted about 12 inches apart, in rows from 2| to 3 feet apart. Cultivation

should be thorough up to about the middle of July, when it should cease, as in colder

.climates, especially, it is very desirable that the wood ripen well, and late cultiva-

tion would encourage late growth. It will be necessary the first year the grafted

or budded trees are growing in the nursery to go over them carefully and cut out any
shoots which may be coming from the s^ock, and also to reduce the graft to one stem
should more develop. If any side branches grow, however, they should be left intact.

Jn small nurseries it is sometimes advisable to tie the young trees to stakes the first

3eason. This will make them straighter and will help to keep khem from being broken.

These trees may be planted in the orchard the following spring if one-year-old trees

are to be used. By the end of the second year or the beginning of the third, after the

branches have been pruned to the proper height and the tops shaped, the trees will be

in the best condition for planting in the orchard.

In nurseries in the colder districts the wood of yearling and sometimes two-year-

old trees will kill back in winter. Unless injured wood is cut back to healthy wood
in the spring, the trees are liable to become black-hearted. The practice with the best

nurserymen in the north is to cut yearling trees back to near the ground in spring,

thus ensuring a healthy trunk and a strong growth for that season.

Q. Do you use any wax?

A. We use wax, but it is not absolutely necessary. The advantage of the wax
is that it will keep out the air and enable the wood to heal quicker around the edges

;

it prevents the wood from drying out around the edges. Then we place our roots in
moss, say from the Is^t March until this time of the year. By that time they are what
we call calloused, that is, an excrescence has grown out around the wounded part and
it has begun to heal over. When you put the roots into the ground it does not take
very long to complete the healing process and at the end of the first season the wood
is knitted together and you have a growth of 12 or 18 inches or .more depending on
the strength of the soil in your particular district, perhaps it may be 2 feet in some
places. We had a growth in one year of about 5 or 6 fee^ of plums and cherries when
grafted in the open.

By Mr. Schell (Oxford):

Q. Do the nurserymen graft their trees in that way?
A. Yes, that is one method employed by the nurserymen. There is another

method called budding. It is done in the latter paUt of the summer. Where that is

done the little trees are grown in rows in the nursery. A slit is made in the bark
near the ground and a bud inserted and then it is tied with a piece of string. The
tree and bud will kniit together and the latter remains dormant until the next spring.
Then it will shoot up and make a strong growth. The top is cut off in the early part
of the season and you have the young trees from the bud.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. Is there anything new in the way of grafting?

A. In the grafting of apples?

Q. Yes?
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A. One line of work that we have been investigating a little is the best stocks

on which to top graft; for instance, the Northern Spy. Although, as I said, we can-

not grow the Northern Spy here for a great many years, we can grow it for a certain

time. In the province of Ontario there have been a great many inferior varieties of

apples planted during past years and fruit growers now are beginning to ask them-

selves :
' What can we do with these V We naturally find that they would like to top

graft the Northern Spy upon them because that variety, when the tree comes into

bearing, is one of the most profitable and surest paying apples that we have. But,

unfortunately, some stocks are too slow growing for the Northern Spy, and as a

result, in our own experience, we find that after a few years the top of the Northern

Ppy, which is a very strong grower, retains its characteristics, and if you top graft

the Northern Spy upon a poor grower, in a few years it will outgrow that stock and
then, perhaps, there comes a big storm and the whole top breaks oS. We have been

trying to find out what are the best stocks on which to top graft the Northern Spy
so that those who have those stocks can use them to the best advantage.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. Is there more grafting in the apple tree line than there was a few years ago
or less?

A. I believe, on the whole, perhaps there is less, although there may be more in
certain sections. I believe there is more top grafting in the best apple districts, but
in the colder parts of the country there is more planting because the growers now
know the hardy kinds ^o plant. Before, they thought that by top grafting the tender
kinds on the crab stocks they had, because there were a great many crab apple trees

planted, they would succeed better in that way; but our experience on the farm goes
to show that the top grafting of tender kinds on hardy stocks does not perceptibly
increase the hardiness of the tender kinds. We have tried about 90 varieties of the
tender kinds, but they were killed out in a severe winter although top grafted on hardy
stocks. Our experience was that the hardiness was not increased. We have found
that the Tolman Sweet and McMahan White are very good stocks for the Northern
,Spy. It is also said to do well on the Ben Davis. We have been sending out letters

lately and getting information from fruit growers throughou^t the country as to what
.stocks they have found to be the best for the Northern Spy, because if we knew that

it would be a very good thing indeed. As a general rule it may be said that strong
growing stocks are best for Northern Spy.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Has any system been devised by which people could be sure when they buy
Northern Spy from the dealer that they are getting the right variety? Is it possible
that there could be some system of inspection at the nurseries so that the people
would be protected in some way from the bogus varieties that are placed on the mar-
ket? It seems to me that is the greatest trouble in the province of Nova Scotia, that
people buy these trees from some nurserymen and grow them and wait for a number
of years only to find out that they are no good ?

A. There is a movement on foot to try and get an Act passed to compel the
nurserymen to guarantee the trees true to name, but there are a great many difficul-

ties in the way. It is very difficult for a nurserymnn to be nbsolutcly sure/ where lie

has a large gang of men at work, that his trees are all i:>erfoctly true to name. I think
that on the whole our nureerymen are now sending out trees true to name. Very often
trees arc bought in large lots. Perhaps they have not been sold by nurserymen direct
to those who are going to plant them, but are handk^d by irresponsible individuals
who very often will change the names of trees with the result that the trees they are
sending out are not true to name. My advice would be to order direct from the
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nurseryman, and in that way I believe you would g&t in nearly every case trees true

to name. The matter is being looked into now, but it is a very difficult thing to pass

any Act whereby the nurseryman would be compelled to guarantee his trees. Most of

ouir nurserymen now, I hope all of them, are trying to send out their trees true to

name.

By Mr. Pichup:

Q. You would have to depend upon the reputation of the nurseryman, I suppose?

A. Yes. What I think would be a good line for the nurseryman to follow would

,be this : It seems to me he could arrange to have a certain number of trees for sale,

which he would guarantee, for a higher price. He might have a special depai'tment

where he might have a limited number of these higher priced trees, and I believe there

are men who would rather buy those trees.

HOW TO CROSS VARIETIES OP FRUITS.

By Mr. Pickup:

Q. In crossing two different varieties what method do you pursue?
A. In crossing Hwo different varieties we decide first of all on the kinds of fruits

that we would like to use as parents. Those that have the greatest number of good
.points are usually chosen because, as a rule, we have found that the offsprings will

combine most of the characteristics of the parents in some way or other. We will

say Jthat we would like to have a tree with a vigorous habit of growth. Just before

the flowers open we take a little pair of tweezers, open the flowers and cut away the

male organs or anthers. Then we apply the pollen which we have gathered from
another tree to the female organs of the tree we are going to make the female parent,

.and the flowers of which we have already worked upon. The pollen is rubbed over the

stigma with the finger, and then in order to prevent bees from bringing other pollen

there the cluster of flowers worked upon is covered with a paper bag for a few days

.until the fruit is set. After the fruit is set a gauze bag is put on so that we are able

to protect the fruit from :any one who might break it off. That gauze bag is left over

it until the fruit ripens. When the fruit ripens it is taken off, the seeds extracted

and planted the same autumn. We find it is much preferable to plant apple seeds,

either of crosses or seedlings, in the autumn, because they are softened during the

winter and start very quickly in the spring. If they are planted in the fall in seed

beds they will germinate by spring.

By Mr. Wright (Renfrew):

Q. When do you plant plum seeds ?

A. Just as soon as the fruit is ripe. If sown when the stone becomes really dry

it won't germinate at all. Cherries, plums and peaches should be planted as soon as

they are ripe before the kernel becomes dry. You could not get even butternut or

walnut to germinate after it has been dry all the winter.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. If the stone is in the fruit will it do the same?
A. If the fruit or pulp remains on it that keeps it moist longer.

By Mr. Wright (Benfrev)}:

Q. You could not do that with the plum?
A. Plum pulp dries very quickly. It is different with an apple. Our apple seed-

lings are coming up now very quickly, that is the ones we planted last fall, so you
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see how early they will start. If we planted the seed now it would lie in the ground
all summer and not germinate.

Q. In the case of plums do you take the seed out of the pulp ?

A. Sometimes we do. It depends usually upon whether we have time or not.

Q. And do you cover it right over with soil?

A. Yes, cover it right over with soil about one inch in depth.

Q. At one time we had in the Ottawa valley plums of a very fine quality, but

nowadays we hardly see any at all?

A. That is due to blight. The correct name is Spot or Blight of the Native

Plums (Cladosporium carpophilumj

Q. Was that due to bringing across that Russian plum, or some other variety, and
experimenting with h so that we lost our own native type?

A. No, that is not the reason. Their disappearance is the effect of disease which

,which has spread all through the wild plum in this district. It can be prevented by

spraying with Bordeaux mixture. We have an example of the benefit of that in the case

,of Mr. Carstesen, a grower at Billing's Bridge, who has 400 plum trees. I understand

he sprays thoroughly with Bordeaux mixture and although the trees on the fence rows

are useless, the rest of his trees are quite good.

Q. Is it true that by experimenting with a Japanese plum we ruined our own
fruit?

A. No, it had no effect on our own fruit at all.

Q. That is ^he common statement?

A. There is nothing in it at all.

By Mr. Pickup:

Q. Some fruit trees blossom out and never produce any fruit. What would be

the reason of that?

A. There are two or three reasons for that. For instance, cherries in this dis-

trict

Q. These are apple trees?

A. There are two or three reasons. The principal reason is that it has been

found that some apple trees are self-sterile—that is, they are sterile if pollenized by
their own pollen and it is necessary to have other trees that will furnish the pollen.

Q. I noticed in this orchard a few trees that will produce apples, but the balance

have never produced?

A. Yet they bloom.

Q. Yes, they blossom very freely?

A. That is probably the reason.

Q. The idea would be to plant some other trco?

A. Yes.

POLLINATION OF APPLES.

It is now known that the cause of the unproductiveness of some varieties of
.apples when planted in large blocks by themselves is often due to either complete or

partial self-sterility of the blossoms. Jt has also been found that varieties self-sterile

in themselves will, if planted near each other, be cross-fertilized, if the two varieties

bloom at the same time, and fruit will set on both kinds. As it has been found that

a variety which is eelf-sterile in one locality is not necessarily so in another, it i?

impossible to give an accurate or complete list of those which are self-sterile and
those which fertilize themselves. The relative blossoming periods of the different

varietie^s of apples, however, are fairly regular in the provinces of Ontario and Que-
bec, and by planting those kinds which bloom about the same time h is not absolutely

necessary to know whether a variety is self-sterile or not. For five years observations

,on the dates of blossoming of varieties of apples were made by persons in various
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parts of Canada for the horticultural division of the Central Experimen'tal Farm.

,The data thus accumulated have been compiled and it is now possible to give the

following list of apples, divided into three groups, according to the average time of

blooming. While this division may not hold good in all par'ts of Canada, it will be

found to be fairly correct on the whole.

EARLY GROUP.

Antonovka, Duchess, Early Harvest, Fameuse, Gravenstein, Gideon, Haas, Hurl-

but, Longfield, Patten Greening, Ked Astrachan, Scott Winter, Shiawassee, Tetofsky,

Wagener, Scarlet Pippin—16 varieties.

MEDIUM GROUP.

Alexander, Baldwin, Baxter, Ben Davis, Blenheim Pippin, Canada Baldwin,

Esopus (Spitzenburg), FallawaH;er, Fall Jenetting, Gano, Golden Busset (American),

Hubbardston, Jonathan, Keswick, King, Mcintosh, McMahan, Magog, Maiden Blush,

Malinda, Mann, Newtown, Pippin, Peach, Pewaubee, Pomme Grise, Primate, Louise,

Greening, Eoxbury, St. Lawrence, Salome, Stark, Swaar, Swayzie, Wealthy, Winter
St. Lawrence, Wolf River, Yellow Transparent, Ontario, Eibston, Colvert, Brockville,

(Beauty)—42 varieties.

LATE GROUP.

Blue Pearmain, Cranberry Pippin, Grimes, Lawver, Northern Spy, Boseau,

Tolman, Wallbridge, Westfield (Seek-no-Further), Yellow Bellflower—10 varieties.

For instance, the Northern Spy is a late bloomer and i't has been found that

wherever that tree is planted in solid blocks it does not bear nearly as well.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Would you advise planting late winter fruits or summer fruits next to each
other ?

A. You put the kinds together that bloom at the same time. We have got together

records for five years containing information obtained from fruit growers all over the
country giving the kinds of fruit which bloomed at the same time in each district. By
means of this information, if you were going to put out an orchard we could tell you
the varieties that bloom at the same time and those which do not—that is the early

bloomers, the bloomers of mid season and the bloomers of late season.

Q. In the case of those that bloom at the same time would you put them altern-

ately?

. A. One row would pollenize perhaps three or four other rows. It is not necessary

to put every other row of the same kind, al'though if there were an equal number of

trees of each sort it could be done.

By Mr. Caldwell:

Q. Would that have any effect on the fruit ?

A. It has no effect on the fruit. It affects the seedlings from the seeds in ^he
fruit. If you raised seedlings from that fruit you would have the parentage showing
in the offspring. For instance, in the case of seedlings at the farm. Some of them
we did not know the parentage of, but we kept a record of the trees growing near the
trees from which we got the seed, and we can now often surmise what the male parent
was by the fruit of the seedling.
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On motion of Mr. Lewis, seconded by Mr. Pickup, Mr. Macoun was thanked for

his address.

Having read over the foregoing transcript of my evidence, I testify the same to

be correct

W. T. MACOUN,
Horticulturist.
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CANADIAN IMMIGRATION.

House of Commons,

Committee Room, No. 62,

Wednesdiay, April 29, 1908.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met here thih

day at 11 o'clock, a.m., Mr. McKenzie, chairman, presiding.

The Chairman.—As you will notice by the motion read from the minutes, it

was decided at the last meeting that Mr. W. D. Scott, Superintendent of Immigration,

be summoned to appear before the committee -at its present meeting for examination

on the subject of immigration into Canada. I am sorry that Mr. Monk, at whose
instance Mr. Scott was summoned, is unable to be present to-day. This will necessi-

tate, perhaps, some change in the arrangement made. Had Mr. Monk been able to

be present he would have conducted Mr. Scott's examination. Now in view of his

absence there is a difference of opinion amongst the committee as to what should be

done. Some members have suggested that we should postpone this meeting and ask

Mr. Scott to attend on a subsequent occasion; others think that it would be better

to proceed with the examination of Mr. Scott to-day, when it is possible that the

information desired by Mr. Monk may be brought out. By adopting the latter course

we may save the time of Mr. Scott and also that of the committee.

Mr. Sproule.—I think it would be better to proceed, allowing Mr. Scott to make
a statement in regard to immigration and then any members desirous of examining
him can do so.

The Chairman—Very well then, we will ask Mr. Scott to proceed with his address.

Mr. Scott.—The work of the Immigration Branch, possibly more than any other

department of the government, is of such a character that frequent changes in the

methods of procedure are necessary to secure the most satisfactory results. Hundreds
of propositions are yearly placed before the department showing how Canada may be

prominently brought before the countries whose climatic conditions promise a suitable

class of settlers for the Dominion and on the department rests the responsbility for

sifting all propositions, putting into operation such as deemed worthy of trial and
rejecting those of whose ultimate success there appears to be doubt.

methods employed.

The principal methods adopted at the present time for bringing Cnnnda's clnims

prominently before the emigTating population of suitable countries is by payment of

bonuses to steamship booking agents, payment of bonuses to sub-agonts in the United
States, advertising in the press, distribution of literature, lecturing toure of farm dele-

gates, display of Canadian products in government offices, booking agents offic^^s and
in moving wagons or motor cars, and lastly by maintaining at the most advantageous
points offices in charge of salaried agents whose duties are to keep Canada's claims
to the forefront and make every effort to secure suitable settlers.

2—31i 323
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OBJECT IN PAYING BONUSES.

In no branch of the immigration propaganda has more interest been evinced

than in that of the payment of bonuses. Criticism of the method has been frequent

and varied, but the fact that for forty years in one form or another the system has

been followed leads to the belief that in the eyes of those responsible for the adminis-

tration of the department satisfactory results have folowed from money so expended.

The object in paying bonuses on the continent and in the British Isles is to secure

the co-operation of the booking agents in directing to Canada the classes of settlers

desired. The booking agents distribute immense quantites "of literature, advertise

extensively in the press, have suitable displays of Canadian produce in their office

windows, and in general carry on the same work in each of the towns and villges in

which they reside as would a salaried immigration agent if he were stationed there.

It is urged by some that as selling tickets is the agent's business he would endeavour

to do so even if no bonus were allowed, but it must be remembered that the booking

agents selling tickets to Canada are the same parties who sell tickets to Australia,

New Zealand, South Africa, South America and the United States, and if there were

no financial inducement for him to give Canada the preference he might not do so,

in fact, except for the bonus paid by the Canadian government it would be more in

his interest to sell a ticket to some country situated in the southern hemisphere as

his steamship commission would be larger. Even with the assistance of the British

booking agents Canada has now a strong competitor in Western Australia which

country arranges for assitsed passages at £7, to agriculturists possessing £100, or over,

and a fare of £13, for suitable immigrants not possessing that amount.

The department is constantly in communication with over 1,800 booking agents

in the British Isles, and frequently when some of them consider that the requlations

in regard to classes wanted are being too strictly enforced, cite the cases of other

countries who pay the bonus without such strict regard to the occupation followed

and other qualifications. As a mistaken idea exists in many quarters that a bonus

is paid on all the immigrants arriving in the country it is interesting to note what

the actual figures are.

NUMBER OF IMMIGRANTS ON WHOM BONUS PAID.

Fiscal Year.
Immigrants

Arriving.

Immigrants
on whom
bonus

was paid.

146,266
189,064
124,667
2.S5,328

28,836
33,680
14,094
20,492

1905-6
1906-7 (9 months
1907-S (9 months)

During the period above mentioned there were paid in bonuses $433,159, but part

of that amount was for immigratnts arriving in other years before those given.

It is also worthy of note that the United States, for years looked upon as a land
or promise by emigrants of the United J^^ingdom and Continental Europe, while in
1900-1 receiving over four times as many from the British Isles as did Canada last

year, had over 7,000 less British immigrants than did the Dominion. The fijgpires are

as follows:

—
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July 1, 1900 to June 30, 1901
" 1901 " 1902
" 1902 " 1903
" 1903 " 1904
" 1904 " 1905
" 1905 " 1906
" 1906 " 1907

Period. To Canada. To U.S.A.

11.810
17,259
41,792
50 374
65,359
86,796
120,779

45,546
46,036
6^,947
87,590
137,134
102,193
113,567

Not only does the payment of bonus to booking agents induce them to make exer-

tions to secure the classes desired for Canada, but it puts the department in a position

to impress strongly upon them the classes not wanted, and the times when for various

reasons it is undesirable for large numbers to arrive. If a booking agent is discovered

sending persons unsuited for the country or in other manner departing from the policy

of the department in carrying on his Canadian business, his attention is drawn to

ihe fact and his refusal to change his methods is followed by drastic measures which
Boon remove the cause of complaint. In this regard can be quoted three recent cases.

One of the largest booking agencies in the British Isles persisted during the past

winter, when work was scarce here in advertising for 2,000 labourers for Canada, and,

in spite of the protests of the department, refused to cease such practice. They were
removed from the bonus list and representations made to the British authorities which
caused the cancellation of their booking license.

Another organization sent to Canada an undesirable family which it was found
necessary to return to the old country. The organization was made to pay all expenses
incurred. An organization sent a number of immigrants to Oshawa, who in the fall

of the year were thrown out of employment. The organization was charged with and
has paid the cost of the transportation of their people to a point where work was
available.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. Would you mind telling us how many persons they sent away and how much
it cost them?

A. I have not the figures here.

Q. Have you the information at your office?

A. Yes, I have it at my office.

A statement is sometimes made that a Canadian bonus is paid on immigrants pro-
ceeding to the United States. No bonus is paid on any immigrants except those who
Btate that they intend to take up their residence in Canada, and whose intended and
past occupations bring them within the bonus class. Any immigrant who having
declared Canada as his destination and who later desires to remove to the United
States must appear before the American authorities to receive permission to do so.

This department obtains monthly from the American authorities a list of all immi-
grants who apply for admission to the states within one year of their arrival in
Canada. This list is checked name by name with the list on whom bonus is paid, and
in all cases where the bonus has been paid and the immigrant afterwards proceeded to
the United States, the bonus is deducted from the next payment made to the agent
Belling the ticket. While the number who proceed to the United States averages
almost 10,000 per year for the last five years, the great bulk of such persons is made up
of those M'hom (on account of their ocupation, past or intended) no bonus has been
paid. While mechanics may have a better chance of success across the border, the
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opportunities for remunerative employment for domestic servants, farm or railway

labourers, is as good, if not better, in Canada than anywhere else on the American
continent ; and consequently only a small percentage of those of such occupations leave

Canada after arrival. During the past year where 15,677 went to the United States

only 1,212 were those on whom bonus had been paid. The system of checking those

going to the United States upon whom bonus is paid is so complete that no danger

exists of money being thus wrongfully expended.

By Mr. 8proule:

Q. Was that money paid in bonus upon persons who went to the United States

deducted from the next payment to the,se booking agents?
A. Yes, from the agent^s next account.

Q. How do you allot that among the agents sending them out, how do you keep
your accounts in that regard so as to insure that they are correct?

A. It will take some time to explain that. If you will allow me to go on reading

my statement I will show you the forms we use, afterwards.

The State of Virginia at present carries on an immigration propaganda in

Belgium from which country Canada has in the past secured some very desirable

settlers. In its printed literature the Virginian authorities compare the advantage
offered by their state with those offered by Canada. Some of the noticeable passages

are :

' The price paid to the Virginia farmer is higher than that paid to the farmer
in western Canada for his products. The winter climate is very mild and winter

lamba are very easily raised and are far superior to those raised in the north and
known as " hot house lambs," also the cost of raising them is far less.

* An enormous number of persons who are not able to stand the rigorous climate

of Canada -and of the northern states have come to Virginia and found there health

and prosperity.'

From these extracts it will be seen that Canada has at least one competitor in
Belgium, and as already stated, Australia is also a competitor, in the British Isles,

so that the assistance of booking agents will be seen to be of great value in presenting
the claims of the Dominion to intending emigrants. Visits are paid by our agents
to the offices of the booking agents and I quote as samples of reports the three follow-
ing:

—

* Mr. Henry Courtier, 44 Aberdeen Walk, Scarborough, is agent for all the Cana-
dian companies, also American and South Africian, being the only steamship agent in
town. He does a rural and city business. The character of his advertis,ing is news-
paper, bill-posting and distribution of literature. Mr. Courtier is a very good agent;
he has an emigration office down town, and also one at his private house where has has
large bills displayed outside, and his wife thoroughly understands the business as
well as he does himseH. They have the same complaint that the other agents have
that they could have done far more business if they could have got the emigrants
away when they wanted to go, though their business is better than last year, with a
prospect of a better business still. They make a better display than a great many of
'the other agents of posters with reference to emigration.

(Sgd.) L. BURNETT,
(Canadian Government Agent/

July 5, 1907.'

' Messrs. Chappie & Son, Ilminister, are agents for all Canadian lines. They do
a rural business and the character of their advertising is extremely good. They are
a good enterprising firm who do a lot of advertising both on' the premises and by
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sending circulars to the surrounding districts, the result being that they have got

quite a lot of passengers both last year and this.

(Sgd.) H. M. MUKKAY,
Canadian Government Agent/

* Mr. R. Richards, 30 Bridge St., Newton, Montg., is agent for Allan, Dominion,
White Star and Cunard steamship companies. He does a rural and city business.

Mr. Richards drives around the country a good deal and takes opportunity to deliver

bills and pamphlets, posts bills. He is an elderly but energetic man. Been agent for

thirty years and v^eU known. Once paid a visit to Canada and being able to speak

from personal experience helps him in emigration work in which he evidently takes a

keen interest. Receiving good reports from those sent out. Good agent.

(Sgd.) G. E. MITCHELL,
Canadian Government Agent.'

CHILD BONUSES.

In 1867 an arrangement was made whereby certain philanthropic societies in the

British Isles were to receive a bonus of $2 per capita on children under 18 years of

age emigrated to Canada who had not been inmates of workhouses, reformatories,

industrial schools, penitentiaries, prisons or other public institutions of a like char-

acter. This arrangement is still in force in its original form, the bonuses so piaid

amounting in the past seven years to $22,180. It will thus be seen tha 11,090 children

of the classes specified have been settled in Canada during the period mentioned, and*

generally speaking, have been very successful and satisfactory as was shown by the fact

that the private institutions who attend to the placing of them, yearly receive thou-

sands of applications more than they are able to fill. These children before leaving

the old country are inspected by a Canadian government official who certifies that they

are a desirable class, and any to whom he objects would not be allowed to come. This

inspection is, of course, in addition to the usual medical and civil examination which
all immigrants must undergo upon arrival at a Canadian ocean port.

ICELANDIC BONUSES.

Until 1900 the work of the Immigration Department had been carried on in Ice-

land by sending agents to that country to point out the advantages of Canada as a
icountry to which to emigrate. It was found that the cost of transportation was a

serious difficulty in securing for Canada as many Icelanders as desired, and in 1900 by
an arrangement with the steamship companies the adult fare was reduced £1 and half

tickets reduced to 10s., the department paying those amounts as a bonus to the steam-
ship companies bringing Icelandic immigrants to Canada.

In the early days, agents endeavoured as far as possible to get Icelanders residing

in the country to advance amounts, either in cash or by promissory notes, such
'advance being used to bring friends of theirs from Iceland. This is no longer handled
by the department, although numbers of prepaid tickets are still forwarded by residents

of Canada to their friends in Iceland.

CONTINENTAL BONUSES.

Bonuses to continental booking agents were established in 1882, and in 1889 it was
decided to discontinuo the practice. But Sir Charles Tupper, High Commissioner,
expressed his disapproval of this course so strongly, that the order discontinuing such
payments was countermanded, tand all bonuses paid whidi had been cariuxi during the
period intervening between the first and second decisions. In 1803 Sir Charles Tupper
again expressed himself as being strongly in favour of continuing the bonuses. In
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1895, the question of paying a bonus on immigrants coming to eastern, as well as to

Western Canada was introduced, but it was decided that as the land in eastern Canada
was under the jurisdiction of the provincial governments, the department should leave

the question of bonuses to provincial parliaments.

In 1897, the High Commissioner recommended more prompt payment of British

bonuses and the continuance of the $5 continental bonus.

In 1899 an agreement was entered into with the North Atlantic Trading Company,
by which they were to receive a bonus on all immigrants to Canada of the farming or

domestic service class from certain specified countries in which they were to carry on

an active propaganda. From time time alterations were made in this contract, but

'generally speaking the bonus was £1 per head, and the countries affected, Eussia,

Germany, Austria-Hungary, Norway, Sweden, Denmark and Switzerland.

This contract was terminated on November 30, 1906, and on March 1, 1907, the

department commenced to pay to certain selected continental booking agents a bonus
of 10s. on adults and 5s. on those between one and 18 years of age who c'ame to Canada
to engage in farm work or railway construction work, and v^ho had been for at least

one year one of the following classes, viz., farmers, farm labourers, gardeners, stable-

men, carters, railway surface men, navvies or miners. This bonus was also paid on
^ domestic servants.

On February 1, 1908, this bonus was increased to £1 on adults and 10s. on those

between one and 18 years of age, the same classes as those paid on in the former
arrangement.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. When you speak of continental bonuses, to what countries do you refer?

A. The countries on the continent covered by the order in council at present are

Norway, Sweden, Denmark, Holland, Germany, Austria-Hungary, Eussia, France,

Belgium and Switzerland.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. Can you give us any reason for that increase of bonus on immigrants between
one and 18 years of age?

A. I could not. I simply got instructions to increase the bonus.

By Mr. Burrows:

Q. The last order in council gave a bonus to immigrants from more countries than
iwere included in the North Atlantic Trading Company contract?

A. No, I think not. I think they are the same.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. I think you had one or two more countries in the contract with the North
Atlantic Trading Company?

Q. It was changed at one time. Servia and Northern Italy were at one time
covered by the contract.

Q. Changes would not be made under the contract with the company?
A. I could not say as to that; I know that changes were made.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. You have referred to steamship agents and booking agents, what distinction
do you draw between the two?

A. They are the same. They are men who sell tickets on commission.
Q. They are one and the same thing?
A. One and the same thing.
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By Mr. ^Y^lson (Lennox):

Q. Here is the arrangement under the contract with the North Atlantic Trading

Company (handing document to witness). See which countries are left out?

A. There is only one that is left out apparently, that is Luxembourg. That is the

only one that I see.

BRITISH BONUSES.

On September 27, 1890, the government passed an order in council providing :

—

1 . To pay a limited amount, not exceeding in any case $50, to the class of ' return

men' not exceeding fifty to Europe, towards recouping their expenses on sufficient

proof furnished of success in bringing immigrants to Canada.

2. To pay a bonus to steamship agents in the United Kingdom, of $5 for each

adult settler on land, of 18 years of age and over, on certificates of ^ booking ' and ship-

ping such settler to Manitoba, the Northwest Territories or British Columbia, and on.

(Certificate of a Dominion Lands agent, to be furnished as proof of such settler.

3. To pay a bonus of $10 to each homesteader, the head of a family, and $5 for

each member of such family at the adult age of 18 years and over, with an additional $5

to any such member of a family who may within 6 months of arrival in Canada become a

homesteader, on settlement on land in Manitoba, the Northwest Territories or British

Columbia, on proof being furnished of such settlement by the certificate of a Dominion
Land agent.

While, this arrangement was in force, numerous communications were received at

the department from the High Commissioner and others, recommending that the regu-

lations be altered so that the bonuses to the booking agents would be payable

when the immigrant arrived in Canada, instead of when he took up land. It was
finally agreed to pay a bonus to booking agents of $1.75 on adults and half that amount
on children from the British Isles arriving in Winnipeg. This system remained in

force until April 1, 1906, with the exception that in later years it applied to immi-
grants to eastern as well as western Canada, and that it was allowed only on those

coming to the country to engage in farm work or domestic service. It was found that

while this system secured the cooperation of the booking agents, still the bonus was paid

on numbers who leaving the farm drifted into other occupations for which their past

experience fitted them and were thus lost to the agricultural communities. With the

object of securing as large a percenatge as possible of those who would remain on the

farms, it was decided to limit the classes from which intending farmers could be

drawn on whom the bonus would be paid. By doing this, while the incentive to the

booking agent would be to secure the classes for which the department is catering, still

as the class from which he could draw would be so much curtailed, his earnings would
be decreased if the bonus remained at the same rate. To encourage the booking agents

and secure their hearty cooperation, the bonus was consequently raised on April 1,

1906, to £1 on adults and 10s. on those between one and 18 years of age who came to

Canada to farm and who in the British Isles had had at least one year's experience as

farmers, farm labourers, gardeners, stablemen, carters, railway sectiomnen, navvies

or miners. The bonus was also payable on domestic servants.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. Were all these classes specified on April 1, 1896?
A. Those are the classes that were specified in April, 1906.

Q. Not 1896?

A. In 1906 the bonus was increased, but the occupations were changed.

Q. That covers other classes besides farmers or farm labourers?

A. Farmers and farm labourers.

Q. Stablemen and gardeners?
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A. Gardeners, stablemen, carters, railw-ay sectiomnen, navvies or miners who have

had one year's experience in farming in the old country and who declare t^eir intention

of following that occupation in Canada.

By Mr. Sproule :

Q. The bonus was paid on men who declared their intention of going on a farm?

A. Provided they have had one year's farming experience in the old country.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. Or provided they say so.

A. Wfe take it that they tell the truth.

By Mr. Wright (Renfrew):

Q. And they must be British subjects?

A. I am speaking of the British bonuses now.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. If natives of another country living in Britain wanted to come to this country,

provided they have been following th^e occupations would the booking agent not get

the bonuses on them?
A. Yes, if they were British subjects by naturalization.

Q. But not if they were not British subjects by naturalization?

A. No.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. Do you not pay a bonus to booking agents in other countries for the same
classes of immigrants?

A. Only to the booking agent living in the country where the immigrant was

born or residing. That is to say, we would not pay a bonus on a German immigrant
to a booking agent living in Belgium.

Q. No, but you would pay a bonus to a booking agent living in say Norway,

Sweden or Denmark.
A. We would pay a bonus to the booking agent in Norway on a Norwegian, to

the booking agent in Sweden on a Swede, to the booking agent in Austria-Hungary
on an Austrian or a Hungarian.

Q. On the same principle that you would pay it to

A. To a British booking agent. The immigrant and the booking agent must
be of the same country. For instance, lat Antwerp, we will say, a great many
emigrants pass through. They come from Austria-Hungary, Germany and other

countries. Now the booking agent in Antwerp, even though he sold the tickets and
the men belonged to the right classes, would not get a commission because the immi-
grant would not belong to the country of the booking agent.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. He might arrange for the payment with the booking agents living in those

other countries from which the immigrants come, that is the booking agent at Antwerp
might do that?

A. I suppose he might.

Q. So that a bonus would be paid upon them?—A. I suppose he might.

Q. I don't see how you could help that ?

A. But the immigrant has left his country long before that.
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By Mr. Sproule:

Q. You say that a booking agent who booked a passenger belonging to one of

these classes, or one who expressed his intention of going upon the land no matter

what his previous occupation had been, would be entitled to a bonus on that man ?

. A. The immigrant must first sign a statement that he has been of the farming

class for at least one year in Great Britain or on the continent.

Q. When was that provision introduced?

A. "We have had it in force for some time, I think since 1906.

Q. Here is the mystery to me. I have had some experience with these immi-
grants and I have been told by them that they were given to understand they would
have some special advantage by saying they intended to go on the land in Canada
when they reached here. When you question these men, as I did some three or four

of them that I had working for me at different times, they admitted they had never

been a month or a day on the land. Yet they came out here representing that they

were farmers and were going on a farm?
A. Have you got the names of those men and the ships they came out in? If

BO I can tell you whether bonuses were paid on them or not.

Q. I can easily get their names as soon as I return home because I employed
them.

A. If you have the names of the men and the ships they came out in I can tell

you what they said at the ocean ports?

Mr. Sproule.—They represented themselves as farmers.

By Mr. Mclntyre (Strathcona)

:

Q. Has the immigrant any means of knowing that a bonus is paid on him ?

A. No, none whatever.

Q. He certainly does not know whether that man will be accepted ?

A. No.

Q. The booking agent cannot tell that?

A. No

PAYMENT OP BONUSES TO BOOKING AGENTS.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. That is a very important question and I want to understand it. How does the

l)ooking agent put his bill into the government?
A. I was just going to show you. I have got a ship's manifest here and will show

,jou how the whole thing is done from start to finish. I have here a manifest of the

SS. Victorian of the Allan Line which arrived at Halifax on March 20 of this year.

Now, this manifest is prepared according to law by the purser of the steamer. It gives

the number of the passenger's ticket, his name, his age, states whether the passenger is

a male or a female, gives a list of the children under 14 years of age, whether they can
read or write, whether the passenger is married or single, states their profession or call-

ing, the country of birth and the place of ultimate dfestination of passengers, excepting
the tourists and returned Canadians who are so described. When the steamship arrives

{in Canada, according to law, the master of the ship must deliver to the immigration
agent this manifest of the people on board, which has been filled out at sea, and in

(regard to it declares as follows :
' I certify that the above is a correct description of

the SS. Victorian and a correct list of the passengers on board the same at the time of

her departure from Liverpool, and that all the particulars therein mentioned are true.'

Q. May I ask are there any particulars about the passenger as to whether he has
been a resident on the land for 12 months prior to this ?

A. On the face of them ?

Q. Yes?
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A. No, but I will come to that later on. Now tbat manifest is handed to the

immigration agent at the port of landing. This particular manifest was handed to the

agent at Halifax. These people are landed from the ship and placed in a building

Hvhere nobody has any communication with them at all and are medically examined.

After undergoing a medical examination they have to pass a civil examination, and it

is upon that examination that we pay the bonus. Now, in the case of this particular

bonus

By Mr. iSproule:

Q. What is the civil examination? .

A. The examination made by our own officers, by the inamigration agent and his

assistants at the ocean ports.

Q. At the locean port?

A. Yes. The examination by the immigration agent of the immigrants individu-

ally and separately at the port of debarkation.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. I see according to the agent's report that your inspector exaiuines the immi-

grants in batches of hundreds at a time?

A. I cannot help that. I am telling you what actually takes place.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. What ought to take place?

A. What I am saying is what actually takes place. Every immigrant is individu-

ally examined both medically and civilly.

By Mr. Barr:

Q. That is a very important point. You say they are examined separately,

whereas the agent in his report says they are examined in numbers?
A. They are examined in numbers, yes. Every ship is examined by itself.

Q. Every ship?

A. Yes. This particular ship had 888 passengers on board.

By Mr. Herron:

Q. Give us the len^h of time which is occupied by this examination, have you
any information in regard to that?

A. Well, this particular ship, the Victorian^ sailed from Liverpool on March 13

and arrived at Halifax on the 20th at 11.55 a.m. The passengers started to land at

12.5 There were 39 saloon passengers, 359 second cabin passengers, and 440 steerage

passengers or a total of 838. The second-class passengers were medically examined
by Dr. Hawkins. The examination began at 1.25 p.m., and was completed at 2.30 p.m.
The civil examination of the second-class passengers was made by Messrs. Barnstead
and Blackadar.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. How many second-class passengers were there?
A. 359.

Q. And the medical officer examined that number in an hour and five minutes?
A. In one hour and five minutes.

Mr. Sproule.—That would be a great examination.

Mr. Barr.—That is an impossibility?
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A. The civil examination was begun at 1.25 p.m., and was completed at 3 p.m.

Q. That is one hour and three-quarters?

A. Yes.

Q. And the number was how many?
A. 359.

By Mr. Herron:

Q. They could do no more than merely walk by in that length of time?

A. The steerage passengers were examined by the same medical officer who begun

that work at 4.15 p.m. and completed it at 5.40 p.m.

By Mr. Mclntyre (8trathcona) :

Q. There is a good deal of discussion regarding this method of examination. Is

it not true that the man upon whom no bonus is paid passes the civil examination

in a moment?
A. Yes, in a moment.
Q. But the man on whom the bonus is claimed must stop and be examined par-

ticularly ?

A. That is right.

Q. Every person upon whom the bonus is claimed must have a special certificate

made out by your examining officer ?

A. Yes.

Q. But the man upon whom no bonus is claimed is allowed to walk down the

plank without interference?

A. Yes.

Mr. Wilson (Lennox) .—I would like, Mr. Chairman, the witness to tell us why
a man on whom a bonus is paid should be examined more carefully than one upon
whom no bonus is paid. I think we are all equally interested in the class of immi-
grants coming to this country, whether the bonus is paid on them or not.

The Chairman.—^In one sense at least.

Mr. Wilson (Lennox).—It is not a matter of $5, but whether the immigrant will

make a good citizen or a bad citizen. I would like to have my question answered.

The Witness.—^I did not hear the question.

Q. Very well, I will repeat it, apparently it is not of much importance. I want to

know why a more particular examination should be made of a man upon whom a bonus
is paid as to health?

A, There is no difference in the examination as to health.

Q. Why should there be a more careful examination of that man than of the man
upon whom no bonus is paid?

A. As far as his health goes, there is no difference.

Q. Dr. Mclntyre says there are two different examinations, as I understand it?

A. Dr. Mclntyre is talking about the civil examination. You are talking about

the medical examination.

Mr. McIntyre (Strathcona).—My point was this. I made the statement that

there were two checks upon the immigrant upon whom a bonus was paid—that there

was a certificate issued in regard to them by the booking agent, and a certificate issued

by the inspector on this side.

Mr. Barr.—^Before going any further we want to know how many of these innni-

grants bonuses were paid and upon how many they were not, also how many seconds
it takes to pass each immigrant?

The Witness.^—I have that information here.
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By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. Let us settle the question as to who undergoes the examination ; the man upon
whom the bonus is paid or the man upon whom no bonus is paid. I understand Mr.
Scott to say that there is no difference in the examination?

A. There is no difference in the medical examination.

Mr. McIntyre (Strathcona).—I made no such statement that there was a differ-

ence in the medical examination. The examination to which I referred is the civil

examination.

By Mr. Barr:

Q. What w© want to know is just how miany immigrantsi oame out on this ship

•and what time was oceupiedJ in their examination ?

A. I was explaining that when I was switched off. I have told you that the medi-
cal examination of the steerage passengers was begun at 4.15 p.m. and completedat 5.40

p.m.. The civil examination of the steerage passengers was begun by Messrs. Barn-
stead and Blackadar at 4.15 p.m. ,and completed at 6 p.m. One steerage passenger for

Canada was detained and three for the United States. The O.P.R. passengers left on
•a special at 8.45 p,m. and the I.C.R. and G.T.R. passengers on a special at 9.45 p.m.

A number also left by the I.C.E. regular train.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. On how many of those were bonuses paid?

A. If you will just excuse me one moment. This particular ship, as I have
already said, had 838 piassengers an board. They were first medically inspected and
afterwards civilly examined. Upon inspection 505 were classed as immigrants for

Canada and 78 for the United States, 208 were returned Canadians, 8 were tourists,

land 39 saloon passengers who were not examined. Following our usual practice neither

tourists, return Canadians, those going to the United States or first class passengers

were included in our immigration proper. In other words there were 838 passengers on
board, and of that number 505 were classed as immigrants. Of these immigrants, 29

were Austrians, 2 Bohemians, 4 Hungarians, 14 Belgians, 34 Dutch, 8 French, 2 Ger-

mans, 331 English, 1 Welsh, 18 Scotch,. 3 Irish, 9 Russian Hebrews, 2 Polish Hebrews,

1 Japanese, 1 Austrian Pole, 37 Russians, 1 Swiss, 3 Danes, 1 Swede, 1 Armenian, 1

Syrian and 2 who had been citizens of the United States.

On this ship British bonuses were claimed upon 55 men, 22 women and 23

children. According to information secured by the inspectors at the ocean port, the

bonus was allowable and has been paid upon 41 men, 14 women and 13 children, leaving:

14 men, 8 women and 10 children disallowed, because from the information obtained

by the port agent it did not appear that they did come within the proper bonus classes.

The total British bonus claims paid on this ship amounted to £61. 10s.

Continental bonus was claimed on 37 men, 9 women, and 3 children, and was
allowed on 31 men and 5 women, amounting to £36, leaving 6 men, 4 women and 3

childTen claimed on but disallowed.

SYSTEM OF CHECKING BONUS CLAIMS.

Now, speaking of the bonus claims, we will take the first one that we come to.

Michael Sullivan appears on line 14, page 6 of the manifest. His ticket number which
is taken by the purser is given as 7365; age, 26; occupation, farmer; nationalitiy, Irish;

and destination, Calgary. When Michael Sullivan purchased his ticket he filed an
application which gives his name, his age, his address in the old country, how long he
fwas engaged as a farmer, when and where his last occupation prior to sailing, and how
long so engaged, whether he was a British subject by birth or naturalization, his
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intended occupation in Canada and the boat that he intended to sail in. That appli-

ication is signed by the immigrant himself. The booking agent sends that to the head
bffice here in Ottawa and on it he says, * I, the undersigned booking agent, have to-day

sold ticket 7,365 to the party or parties mentioned in this application and believe that

the statements made therein are true and correct.' That is signed by J. Barter &
Sons, of Cork. Now, when this boat arrives the purser hands to the immigration

agent la manifest of all the passengers on the vessel. Neither the imimigration agent

^or the purser have seen the application ; that has been sent direct by the booking
agent; to the head office here. The immigrant arrive© in Canada and is first medi-

cally inspected, and then goes before our immigrant agent and is civilly examined by
him. On that occasion Michael Sullivan gave his age as 26, stated that he was a
farmer and had been engaged all his life at that occupation, he intended to farm in

Canada and was going to Calgary to farm, was Irish by birth, and had never been in

Canada befo:re. I may say that the immigrant, in addition to the questions that appear

on the manifest, is asked the question if he has ever been in Canada before and if

(he intends to remain in Canada or is simply passing through. If he has been in

Cani'da before he is classed as a returned Canadian; if he intends to simply pass

through Canada he is classed as a tourist.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. I asked the question earlier if the booking agent did not know that he was
getting a bonus. I understand both yourself and Dr. Mclntyre to say that he did
Iknow ?

A. Which, the immigrant?

Q. No, the booking agent. If that booking agent got a certificate filled in in the

isame manner as you say and had complied strictly with the regulations as to the
(class upon which a bonus is payable, would he noc then know that he was going to

get a bonus on the immigrant?
A. The bonus will be given provided the immigrant is the proper class and passes

inspection at the ocean port. I have already given you a statement of the number on
which bonuses were paid on this particular ship.

BONUS CLAIMS OF AGENTS DISALLOWED.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. It is not an uncommon thing to disallow bonuses, because the agents put in
all the claims they can?

A. We don't pay the claims unless they are properly due.

Q. It is not an uncommon thing to dock them?
A. No. I have a statement here and you can see that hundreds of claims are

made that are not allowed. A great many of them were of the domestic class.

By Mr. Mclntyre (Strathcona)

:

Q. Then the booking agent does not know and cannot tell what bonuses will

be paid?

A. No.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. That does not follow at all. The booking agent is furnished with a copy of

the order in council showing the class under which bonuses are paid?

A. No, he is not.

Q. What arrangement then do you have with the booking agent who is employed

to get immigrants?
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A. A circular was sent to the booking agents in the Old Country.
Q. Will you read it?

A. Certainly. (Beads.)

:

IMMIGKATION BEANCH, DEPARTMENT OF INTEKIOK.

Ottawa, Canada, November 15, 1906.

Circular to Steamship Boohing Agents in the United Kingdom.

* Sir,—This circular takes the place of my circular of March 20 last, and I beg

to inform you that the following rules will come into effect respecting tickets sold

to emigrants arriving in Canada on and after the 1st January, 1907.
' (1). Bonus will be paid provided the regulations of the department are complied

with, upon tickets to Canada sold to British subjects, whose occupation in the United
Kingdom has been for at least one year, one of the following, viz. : Farmers, farm

^ labourers, gardeners, stablemen, carters, railway surfacemen, navvies or miners, who
have signified their intention of following farming or railway construction work in

Canada; and female domestic servants.
' (2). Bonus is only payable on emigrants landing at Canadian ports, excepting

those landing at Portland, Maine, during winter.
^ (3). The bonus will be £1 on each person of prescribed classes, 18 years of age

or over, and 10 shillings on those between 1 and 18 years of age. No bonus on infants,

tourists, returning Canadians, prepaid tickets, or persons of other occupation than

one of the above named, or on persons mentally or physically unfit. To obtain bonus
on saloon passengers it is necessary to obtain the certificate "of one of the accredited

agents of the department in the United Kingdom.
* (4). In order to enable the department to pay bonus it will be necessary to have

the evidence that it is due supplied on the prescribed form.
' (6). No bonuses will be paid to the head offices of steamship or railway lines.

* (6). No bonus will be paid to booking agents misrepresenting the conditions in

Canada, or whose advertising does not meet with the approval of the Immigration
Depatment.

* (7). Payment will be made monthly, and accompanying the cheque in each case,

which will be issued at the Canadian Government office in London, Eng., two state-

ments will be sent to the payee, one giving the name, age and ticket number in each

case of the passengers on whom bonus is allowed; and the other giving name and
particulars of passengers on whom bonus is not allowed, stating also the reasons for

such disallowance.
^ (8). A supply of blank forms for use under this system has already been sent

to the line for which you act as agent, and from whom you may obtain a supply.

The agents are particularly requested to refrain from sending any claims on persons

not fully coming within the requirements as to occupation, &c. If the head of a

family comes out in advance of his family, bonus may be claimed later on the mem-
bers of the family when tickets are purchased for them, the bonus being allowed in

the meantime on head of family alone. Booking agents should secum and retain the

home address of the emigrant or his friends.

' To insure the payment of bonus, in respect of passengers of the classes above

mentioned landed in Canada, a certificate may be secured from one of the accredited

agents of the department in Great Britain or Ireland, as per form on emigrant's

application ticket. The persons entitled to sign this ticket are as follows :

—

' J. Bruce Walker, Asst. Superintendent of Emigration, 11 and 12 Charing Cross,

London, W.C.
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*A. F. Jury, Canadian Government Agent, Old Castle Building, Preeson's Row,
Liverpool.

*G. H. Mitchell, Canadian Government Agent, Newton Chambers, 43 Cannon
Street, Birminghom.

'H. M. Murray, Canadian Government Agent, Exeter.

'John Webster, Canadian Government Agent, 35 and 37 St. Enoch Square,
Glasgow.

"Ed. O'Kelly, Canadian Government Agent, 17 Victoria Street, Belfast.

'And any others who may hereafter be appointed for that purpose.

'Your obedient servant,

'W.D.SCOTT,
' Superintendent of Immigration/

In addition I issued a supplementary circular as follows:

' IMMIGRATION BRANCH, DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR.

SUPPLEMENTARY CIRCULAR.

' Ottawa, November 15, 1906.

'To Booking Agents in the United Kingdom:

'It is the desire of the Immigration Department of Canada to have the most

friendly relations with the booking agents of the United Kingdom. With a view to

preventing misunderstanding it is deemed desirable to set forth in plain terms the

purpose of the government of Canada in pursuing an active immigration policy, and
the reasons governing it in- the conduct of that policy.

' The bonus to booking agents of one pound on adults, and ten shillings on child-

ren between one and eighteen, is given to make it worth while for the booking agent

to use his best exertions in securing for Canada the particular classes of people upon
whom the bonus is paid.

*' In a country with a population of nearly fifty millions, such as the United King-
dom, which has no new territory for occupation, there must necessarily be a large

yearly increase of population, which must either find an outlet or add to the con-

gestion of the great cities. Every year there is a very large movement of people from
the United Kingdom to North America. For a long time the larger part of this

yearly movement went to the United States and a very small part to Canada. That
which went to the United States was lost to the Empire; the part which went to Can-
ada aided in building up the Empire.

' It is not the expectation of the government of Canada to increase unduly the

outflow of people from the United Kingdom, but it is its desire to turn to the benefit

of the Empire in Canada a greater proportion of the natural and necessary annual
outflow from the mother country.

' The Canadian government in confining the bonus to emigrants of certain call-

ings has selected those callings which may fairly be expected to fit people for the oppor-
tunities existing in Canada. By making special exertions to secure these classes for
Canada, the booking agents will be doing their best for the emigrants themselves, for

Canada and for the Empire.
'It is believed that, although the classes particularly desired by Canada might

find a field for employment at home, the removal each year of some part of the natural
increase there will leave room and opportunity for others who would, under other
circumstances, be crowded out of these advantages.

' The classes of people on whom bonus is paid by the Canadian govoruuient ar^
expected, by reason of their experience at home, to find scope for their abilities in the
occupation of the vacant lands of Canada, in employment upon the land^ now occupied

2—32
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and cultivated, or in the railway development now in progress. And while it is not

asserted that people of other callings or conditions of life should not come to Canada,

or may not find a career open to them in this country, it is desired to have it well

understood that the government of Canada assumes no responsibility with respect to

any other immigration than that of the classes mentioned as eligible for bonus pay-

ment. It is not asserted that the farmer or farm labourer is necessraily a more desir-

able citizen than any other, but it is a simple fact that the demand in Canada is for

people to occupy the as yet vacant lands of the country, to aid in the cultivation of

those already occupied, and also to assist in providing additional transportation facili-

ties. This it is which justifies the government in assuming the expense of immigra-

tion efi:ort. To go beyond the attempt to meet these requirements would be to use the

money of certain classes of Canadian taxpayers for the purpose of securing competi-

tors against them in their several callings, for which they would naturally hold the

government to account.

Tor these reasons booking agents will be good enough to understand that the

present large bonus is only offered to secure the fullest compliance with its conditions

and they must expect the officials of the Immigration Branch to look strictly into

every bonus claim made, not as showing any lack of faith in the booking agents, or as

discriminating against any class of people, but simply as a matter of business io

make sure that money is not being paid except on the due fulfilment of conditions

that have the sanction of all classes of the Canadian people, who, in fact, are paying-

the money.

*In the circular of March 20 last, announcing the payment of £1 bonus, it was

required that the person eligible by reason of his calling should be then employed at

that calling and had been so employed for at least one year. This condition is altered

in the new circular forwarded herewith so that the requirement is now that the person

shall have been in such employment for at least one year, without special regard as

to when that was, and the list of questions to be answered by the emigrant when

applying for ticket has been altered accordingly.

^In the circular of March 20, bonus was restricted to persons of certain classes

therein mentioned, who signified their intention of following farming in Canada.

This provision has been amended by adding ' or railway construction work ' so that

whether the immediate intention is that of following farming or securing employ-

ment in railway construction work the person is eligible for bonus.

'These changes enlarge the number of people upon whom bonus may properly

be paid, but as they enlarge the number and to that degree are to the advantage of the

booking agent, so the officials of the department may be expected to hold more closely

to the express terms of the circular issued and to the intent which its terms express.

' It is important that the provisions of the Canadian Immigration Act of last ses-

sion, prohibiting the landing in Canada of certain classes of people, should be care-

fully studied, (copy herewith) so that the booking agent will understand thoroughly

that for his own credit and the advantage of his business he will not book people of

these classes. They are liable to be returned to the place from whence they came at

the expense of the steamship company. This liability exists for two years after their

landing in Canada. It will be noticed that the following classes of people are prohi-

bited from landing and are subject to deportation within two years:—Feeble minded,
idiotic, insane, or who have been insane within five years, afflicted with any loathsome,

contagious or infectious disease; anyone who is a pauper, who is destitute, who is a

professional begger or vagrant, or who is likely to become a public charge, any prosti-

tute or person who liv^ by the proceeds of prostitution, or any convicted criminal.

Persons who are deaf and dumb, blind or infirm may be admitted if accompanied by
members of the family who will be responsible for their support and safekeeping.

Unless so accompanied, they are subject to deportation.
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'Bonuses are only payable on passengers travelling by lines which land at Cana-

dian ports or at Portland, Maine, during winter, and only on persons who are British

subjects.

' In the past it has been found necessary on occasions to discontinue business rela-

tions with booking agencies for various reasons, such as presentation of improper

claims, booking of undesirables, the special booking of artisans under contract, and
improper advertising. It is hoped that no difficulties of this kind will arise in future

;

but as the Immigration Department is a part of the public business of Canada, it is

necessary that its work and connections should be kept clear of misunderstandings of

every kind. The department would prefer not to have relations with any agency with

which it might find itself at cross purposes, and whose actions might subject its work
to misrepresentation.

* In the past it has not been the practice of the department to pay bonus on first

class passengers. This has not been because such payment was contrary to the intent

of the bonus system, if such passengers were of the classes listed for bonus, but

because first class passengers are not subject to inspection on arrival in Canada, and
therefore the department had no means of checking the propriety of the payments.

If, however, booking agents will avail themselves of the provision contained in the

circular herewith, which is the same as was contained in the circular of March 20,

1906, by securing a certificate from one of the accredited agents of the department
in the United Kingdom, as therein provided, the bonus will be paid, but not other-

wise.

' The provision for granting certificates in the United Kingdom by emigration

agents to insure payment of bonus is permissive and not compulsory. If such a cer-

tificate is granted in proper form the Immigration Department will not question the

payment of the bonus. If such a certificate is not secured, then the payment of the

bonus must depend upon the examination by the immigration officer at the port of

landing. It is because of the necessity of inspection at port of landing that it has

been found necessary to restrict payment of bonuses on emigrant passengers to those

landing at Canadian ports, with the exception of those landing at Portland, Maine,

during winter.

* Previous to issue of circular of March 20, 1906, there was some discrimination

in bonuses paid under certain circumstances, but with the coming into effect of that

circular, the terms of which are repeated in the accompanying circular, all booking
agencies were placed on an equal footing, the same bonus being paid under the same
conditions in all cases. It is the desire of the Immigration Department to deal quite

fairly with all booking agencies, the result aimed at being to secure desirable emi-

grants for Canada up to the yearly requirements of the country.

* It is not in the interest of the individual emigrant that he should remove to

Canada unless there is reasonable prospect of his succ/3ss there. The arrival of any
large number of immigrants to this country who are unfitted for the conditions here,

must necessarily react against the continuance of the emigration movement. In
spite of the fact that his failure to succeed is due to personal causes, the unsuccess-
ful man will blame the country, and complain to his friends at home, thereby deter-

ring them from coming out, and the efforts of the Immigration Department will be
discredited with the people of Canada who will therefore withdraw their support from
these efforts. The men wanted in Canada are those who will do well, who are recog-

nized in the United Kingdom as being fit, but who are looking for the wider oppor-
tunities of the new country, not to be found at home. The efforts of the Canadian
Immigration Department are not directed towards those who ^rc merely looking for

a place where they may live, but towards those wlio, while they are able to live under
present conditions in the United Kingdom, are on the lookout to better their positiou
in life.

2—32i
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* It is suggested that booking agents take for future reference, the home address

of the emigrant upon whom bonus is to be claimed and also that of some of his rela-

tives remaining at home.
' It is the desire of the Immigration Department that its work in the United

Kingdom shall be carried on in co-operation with the licensed booking agencies. So
far as possible, literature and sample products will be supplied to booking agents on
application, and our salaried agents are instructed to reply promptly to all communi-
cations received from booking agents, and to give all proper information, and all the

assistance in their power to the legitimate booking of passengers of the classes upon
which bonuses may be paid.

' In the past, some booking agents have been in the habit of sending in bonus
claims on persons who intended to follow mechanical pursuits in Canada, and. on
others who had never engaged in any of the specified occupations, or who had less

than one year's experience in such occupations. Kindly see that in future you make
claims only on British subjects, who have had at least one year's experience in one
of the specified occupations, and who come to Canada to engage either in agricultural

pursuits or railway construction, and on female domestic servants. By pursuing such

a' course, the work of this office will be materially lessened, and the just claims

consequently moiB promptly attended to. You are also requested to see that every

blank space in emigrant's application for ticket is properly filled

* The Department should be notified at once in all cases where an emigrant trans-

fers his passage from the boat on which he originally books. The name and date of

sailing of the vessel upon which he first booked should be given, as well as that of

the ship to which he has been transferred.
' All communications with regard to the non-payment of any claim made should

be sent direct to me. In every case the name, age, and contract ticket number of

the emigrant, with the name of the vessel, and date of its sailing should be carefully

given. In any case where the Canadian government finds it necessary to deport any
immigrant within 12 months of his arrival in Canada because of criminal tendency,

disease or other cause, or where the immigrant has left Canada for the United States

within that period, the bonus paid upon him will be deducted from the account of the

agent to whom it was paid.

' W. D. SCOTT,
' Superintendent of Immigration.*

My Mr. Sproule:

Q. If the booking agent has these circulars and sends an immigrant forward in

-compliance with them does he not naturally reach the presumption that he is going

ito get a bonus on that immigrant?

A. If the immigrant upon examination is found to be physically and mentally

sound.

Q. But admitting that?

A. Yes.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox).

Q. Then he knows he is going to get a bonus. Therefore, you do not adhere to

•the statement you made before that the booking agent does not know?
A. The booking agent does not know that he is going to get the bonus.

Q. Not if he complies with the law?

A. If he complies with the law he does get the bonus, but he does not know that.

Q. Do you not give him the bonus to stimulate his efforts?

A. To stimulate his efforts with respect to the right class of people.

Q. If he has no assurance that he is going to get a bonus it is no stimulus to

him.
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By Mr. Smith (Nanaimo)

:

Q. Supposing the immigrant complied wdth the conditions at Liverpool but on

•landing in Canada did not pass the medical examination, would the bonus be paid?

A. No.

By Mr, Wilson (Lennox):

Q. If the immigrant had been a farmer in the old country for a year and stated

|that he was going on the land in Canada would not the booking agent get a bonus ?

A. Providing the immigrant was found to be physically fit.

By Mr, Barr:

Q. It has been proven beyond doubt that the booking agent gets a bonus if the

man arrives in Canada?
A. And passes the inspection.

By Mr. Mclntyre (Strathcona) :

Q, Is it not true that a majority of those who classify themselves as domestic

servants in the office of the booking agent refuse to acknowledge that occupation when
they come before the Caniadian inspectors?

A. A great many of them.

By Mr. Wright (Renfrew)

:

Q. As I understand you, on board the Virginian there were a certain number of

immigrants for whom the booking agent thought he was going to get a bonus ?

A. Yes.

Q. But there were a certain number that failed to pass to pass the examination?
A. Yes, when the ship larrived at Halifax.

By Mr, Herron:

Q. I would like to know if the examination which the Superintendent of Im-
migration has described with respect to immigrants on the Virginian is a fair example
of the character of examination made of immigrants arriving in Canada?

A. I simply went upstairs to the clerk to let me have a manifest and I suppose
he gave me the first one that he picked up. There was no selection made.

Q. Is there a medical examination of the immigrants made only when they arrive

in Canada?
A. No, they are examined at the ocean port before they leave by the medical

officer of the Board of Trade.

Q. If it is the same medical examination as when they arrive in Canada I do
not think it amounts to very much?

A. I cannot say what the character of the examination is over there.

By Mr. Blain: ,

Q. I have here two printed applications that have to be signed by the intending:

immigrant. One reads: ^Emigrant's application for ticket. Name. Age. Address.

Occupation. How long engaged in such occupation.' Those are the first few lines of

jthe appliciation. I notice that a change was made and a different application is now
signed by the intending immigrant?

A. Yes.

Q. It reads, ^Emigrant's application for ticket. Name. Age. Address. How
long engaged as farmer, farm labourer, miner, stableman, gardener, carter, railway

surfaceman, niavvie or miner.' That is an addition. When w-as that change made?
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A. As I explained in the circular which I have just read, in April, 1906.

Q. Why was tKat change made?
A. Because we limited the occupations. We ask for certain classes of people in

the circular—farmers, farm labourers, gardeners, sjjablemen and so on. Prior to that

it was not necessary that the man should be of any of these occupations. He might

[be a clerk in a dry goods store and come out to Canada and say, lam going on a

farm in this country/ and we paid a bonus on him.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. That was up to 1906?

A. Up to 1906 that was always the practice. Then w© limited the number of
'

/classes but we increased the bonus.

FORMS OF CERTIFICATES.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. A sfa-^dment was made in the House the oihei day that a different certificate

/was signed by those on whom the bonus was to be paid from that signed by the

emigrant upon whom no bonus was to be paid?

A. That is not correct.

Q. Then my friend Mr. Mclntyre was decidedly wrong in his statement?

A. To explain the practice I showed you two forms. One is the form signed by
the immigrant and the other is the form filled in upon the immigrant's arrival here.

Q. Then a change was made in the application to be signed by the immigrant.

The change is what I have stated, and that is before the booking agent iand before the

immigrant when he steps up to get his ticket?

A. Yes.

Q. Before that the immigrant did not write under what class he was to come.
Now he writes that he belongs to one of the following classes—farmer, farm labourer,
gardener, stableman, railway surfaceman, carter, navvie or miner. The emigrant
understands thot?

A. The emigrant does not understand that, because he does not know what he has
signed for. The emigrant does not know what that is and there is nothing on the
face of the application to tell him?

Q. He knows what he is signing for?
A. He is signing an appliaation for a ticket.

Q. That makes it all the worse I think ?

A. Signing an application for a ticket?

Q. Because the booking agent has the emigrant's answers to his questions in his
hands ?

A. Certainly. %
Q. Now you have said that a change was made and you have given the reasons.

Here I have another set of applications ?

A. These are noc applications.

Q. Well, I have another set of forms?
A. They are filled out by the agent at the ocean port.

Q. And signed by whom?
A. Signed by the receiving agent, the agent who examines the immignant.
Q. Is it not signed by the immigrant?
A. No.

Q. In any case?

A. No.

Q. Whether a bonus is paid for him or not?
A. No.
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Q. It is not signed by the immigrant?
A. It is filled out by the agent or his clerk.

Q. The only signature signed by the immigrant
A. Is to the application for his ticket.

Q. This form in my hands is the one that the farm labourer is questioned upon?
A. He is asked those questions set out therein.

Q. A man who is not a farm labourer, is he questioned as to this also?

A. No, he is simply asked his name, occupation and destination.

Q. Here is the other form: ^Occupation prior to sailing. How long so engaged.

How long engaged as farmer, farm labourer, gardener, stableman, carter, railway sur-

faceman, navvie or miner.' Does the immigrant have to sign this?

A. No.

Q. Is this another certificate then?

A. That is when the immigrant is being questioned. If upon asking him his

occupation the immigrant says he is a farm labourer the agent fills one of these out.

Q. Now, Dr. Mclntyre stated in the House: 'My informant is the Commissioner
of Immigration. When the farmer landfe in this country he himself need have no
knowledge of whether that booking agent is receiving a bonus or not. When he comes
[to the Canadian side of the water he is received by the inspector, who asks him
whether he is a farmer or a farm labourer, and if he comes under these classes a

difl'erent certificate is made out.' I want to find out is that correct?

A. That is the certificate that you read from.

Q. A different certificate to what?
A. To the application for ticket he signed in the old country.

Q. Would you call that a certificate?

A. Yes.

Q. A different certificate. The fact is that the immigrant does not sign any
application but the one?

A. He signs one application.

Q. And if a man does not come under these headings, 'farmer, farm labourer,
gardener, stableman, carter, railway surfaceman, nawie or miner,' is there any record
of him taken at all?

A. None, except on the manifest.

Q. This form is not filled out?

A. No, if he is not a farmer.

Q. It is not filled out at all?

A. No, further than that the purser of the ship or our agent at the ocean port does
not know that the application for ticket has ever been signed at all. The booking
agent sends his claims to me direct. The information contained in the form filled

on this side is obtained by the agent, who does not know that the claim has been
made at all.

Q. I did not suggest that, but I am very glad to have the explanation. Now.
when these 300 passengers—^we will take 300 for the purpose of illustration—come
out and the medical examiner commences to examine them does he take these certi-

cates with him?
A. The medical examiner has nothing to do with these certificates.

Q. Who has?

A. The agent who makes the civil examination.

Q. Does he take the certificate of each immigrant with him and go over each?
A. The immigrants come up to the desk and he examines them.

Q. How does he find out who are farm labourers?

A. By asking the question.

Q. He must ask the question from these certificates?

A. No.
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Q. Then what does he get it out of?

A. Out of his head.

Q. He must use these certificates for every man that comes up ?

A. No.

A. Well, I cannot see any other way ?

A. We will take the first name on this manifest. The first man whose name

appears there is named Thomas Adams. He was 35 years of age, he could read and

write, he was a farm labourer, he was born in England, had transportation over the

C. P. R. and was going to Manitou, Manitoba. After he had beeen medically exam-

ined that man goes before the civil examiner. He has a cardj without a name on it,

which simply says his name will be found on line one, page one, of the manifest.

Q. Who gives him the card?

A. The purser of the ship before he lands. It is the only quick means of identi-

fy'mg the 838 passengers on the ship—speaking, for example, of the number that was

on the Virginian. If the officer had to look individually over the whole of the names

it would be very difficult for him. However, a card is furnished to him and the officer

turns to the manifest and finds his name. He asks the immigrant whether he can

read and write and what his occupation was in England. The immigrant tells him

that he is a farm labourer and then he will take a form and fill it out.

Q. Supposing he said he was a plumber or an engineer?

A. The iromigration officer would not fill out one of these forms. There would

simply be the information on the face of the manifest.

By Mr. Adamson:

Q. Would you consider the second form to which Mr. Blain has referred to be

a certificate or not?

A. That is the evidence upon which we pay the bonus, and it was the evidence

upon which the bonus on 32 persons on this ship were disallowed.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. I understood Mr. Scott to read from the circular of instructions issued to

booking agents that a party might set forth these facts in his application for his

ticket and then if the statemeints were in strict compliance with the regulations the

party holding that or the duplicate would be entitled to collect the bonus?

A. No, you misunderstood me. In the case of first class passengers we do not

examine them at ocean ports excepting persons of foreign birth who may be in first

class compartments. The arrangement we have with the steamship companies is that

we let the first class passengers go without inspection if the officers on the ship pro-

duce for inspection any foreigners who are in first class compartments. Eirst class

passengers speaking English are not examined by the immigration officers, but some
of the booking agents in the Old Country claim that they should be allowed a bonus

upon the first class passengers. In reply to that we said :
' We do not examine them,

we do not know what their occupation is, and we cannot verify your statement.' We
said to the agents: 'We will put a certificate on the bottom of the bonus claim

which reads *• I have to-day examined the party or parties above mentioned and believe

that the particulars given are in accordance with the facts. I consider that the

parties are physically and mentally sound, that they belong to one of the classes pre-

scribed by the Canadian regulations and that they are in all respects desirable per-

sons for Canada. If that booking agent had an immigrant before one of our officers

in London, Liverpool, Birmingham or any other point where we have paid officers, and
that officer considers the persons concerned are desirable men for Canada he would
sign this certificate at the bottom that would entitle the booking agent to the bonus
irrespective of any examination on this side. But that is only in the case of first

class passengers who are not examined.
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By Mr. Mclntyre (Strathcona)

:

Q. Does not the medical officer of a shit) give a clean bill of health?

A. Yes.

MEDICAL EXAMINATION OF IMMIGRANTS.

By Mr. Pichup:

Q. Is there not a medical examination before leaving Liverpool?

A. Yes, by a Board of Trade doctor.

By Mr. Macdonald (Fictou):

Q. In regard to the question of determining the health of people who enter Can-

ada from Liverpool, are they not inspected when they go on board.

A. They are inspected by a Board of Trade doctor.

Q. In Great Britain?

A. Yes on board the ship there.

Q. And by the ship's doctor after going on board ?

A. Yes.

Q. Of course, if there was any contagious disease or any kind of disease that

would be likely to spread to others or cause illness it would be apparent to the doctor

during the voyage?

A. Yes.

Q. Then the quarantine authorities have to receive a clean bill of health with
respect to these people before they are permitted to land?

A. Yes.

Q. Then a subsequent examination is made by your officers?

A. Yes.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. Is the ship's doctor only called in the event of sickness?

A. No, the doctors have instructions—^I did not bring a copy of those instructions

with me but I can furnish one to you

Q. To examine all passengers?

A. To keep them under observation. In the case of epileptics those are reported

to our doctors and they are immediately deported I do not think that any doctor can
say upon merely examining a man that he is an epileptic.

Q. No?
A. But where he is on ship board for 8 or 10 days and through the excitement of

coming on or going off the ship he might have an epileptic fit, that is reported by the

ship's doctor to our officers.

Q. But that comes accidentally to his notice. What I want to get at is this : Is it

the duty of the ship's doctor to make any examination of the passengers?

A. No, he does not strip them or anything of that kind.

By Mr. Macdonald (Pictou):

Q. The immigrant gets a clean bill of health from the medical officer when he
comes on board?

A. I don't know what he gets, but he is inspected.

By Mr. Barr:

Q. As a matter of fact, are they examined when they come on board?

A. The medical officer stands and inspects them as they come on board, but they

do not strip for inspection.
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Q. They are inspected just as they are passing on board?
A. In the case of foreign emigrants when they come to Liverpool, they go to the

company's boarding houses and there they are carefully examined. That is shown by
the number of deportations. Since the medical inspection act went into force in
December, 1902, we have detained at ocean ports 16,353 people of whom 3,294 were
rejected and were not allowed to enter Canada at all. During that same period we
have deported to the countries from whence they came 1,402 people. That is they

got through our inspection, but we exercised the provisions of the law and deported

them. The major portions of this number were English people, 883, because they are

not as carefully examined at the ocean port of departure as the foreigners are. Of
the foreigners 7 were Russians, 8 Germans, 8 French, 8 Belgians, 1 Roumanian, 1

Doukhoboar, 1 Turk and 1 Assyrian.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. Who is the immigration agent at Halifax?

A. Mr. F. W. Annand.
Q. At the bottom of a number of th^se certificates I see no signature?

A. Is there not a rubber stamp?

Q. A rubber stamp, but not a signature?

A. We take that as evidence of whether the immigrant has landed or not.

Q. Then the agent does not sign the certificate?

A. In some cases he does, or else he stamps them.

Q. Just examine those and see whether they are signed (handing certificates to

witness) ?

A. These are signed ' F. W. Annand, Halifax, IST.S.' They are all stamped.

Q. None of them are signed by the agent?

A. None.

Q. The agent does not sign any of them?
A. He may not have been there.

By Mr. Macdonald (Pidtou) :

Q. Would you regard that stamp as the signature of the agent?

A. Yes.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. Is there the signature of the agent on any of that lot (exhibiting certificates) ?

A. They have all got the rubber stamp of the agent affixed.

Q. I am asking is the signature of the agent on any one of them?
A. There is a rubber stamp.

Q. Is the signature of the agent there?

A. They are rubber stamped.

Q. That is not a signature. I am asking the question whether there is the agent's

signature on any one of these documents?

A. No, not in pen and ink.

Mr. Wilson (Lennox).—^I would like, Mr. Scott, at the next meeting, to bring the

report of Mr. N. B. Miller, the agent for Lennox and Addington, the lists that were
sent out and the answers received.
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House of Commons^

Committee Koom No. 62,

Wednesday, May 13, 1908.

Tlie Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met here this

day at 11 o'clock, a.m., the Chairman, Mr. McKenzie, presiding.

The Chairman.—We have met this morning for the purpose of resuming tha

examination of Mr. W. D. Scott, in the matter of immigration. Mr. Scott will

continue from where he left off at our previous meeting.

Mr. Scott.—At the last meeting of th^ Committee which I attended I was
explaining to you the system upon which the British bonuses were paid and checked.

I had taken, for purposes of illustration, the Allan SS. Victorian which arrived at

Halifax on the 20th of March of this year. I have already explained that the immi-
grant signed an application for a ticket setting forth the fact that he had a year's

experience in farm labour, and that was forwarded to Ottawa, and it was upon that

application, together with the examination made by the immigration agent at the

ocean port of arrival, that the bonuses were paid. This particular ship, the Victoriarij

arrived at Halifax with 838 passengers on board. Of this number 505 were classed

as immigrants, 78 as going to the United States, 208 as returned Canadians and 8 as

tourists.

By Mr. Owen:

Q. You said there was an examination, an examination for what?
A. Where, at the ocean port ?

Q. Yes?
A. There is a medical examination and a civil examination. First the immigrant

is medically examined and then he is civilly examined and the civil examination

Q. Is the immigrant medically examined in order to ascertain if he is suffering

from disease?

A. Yes, as to whether he is suffering from disease. That is the medical examina-
tion. Then he is civilly examined as to his name, his last occupation prior to sailing,

how long so engaged, how long engaged as a farmer, farm labourer, gardener, and so

on, and when and where, as to whether he was a British subject by birth or naturaliz-

ation, his destination in Canada, his intended occupation in Canada, if ever he had
been in Canada before and how much money he had with him.

Q. Do I understand that every steamship passenger who is forwarded to this

country by a booking agent is examined thoroughly?

A. All except first class passengers. First class passengers are not medically

examined unless in the case of a foreigner occupying a first class stateroom. Accord-

ing to the arrangement made with the steamship company, if they have a foreigner

in a first class cabin they produce him for the inspection of the medical officer, that

being tlie condition—that we would not examine other first class passengers, provided

the company produced foreigners who travelled in that class for examination. I

have prepared a statement showing the number of immigrants that have landed at

our ocean ports for a number of years.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. You gave us that statement at the last meeting, did you not?

A. No. I will hand in the statement for the iufonnation of tlio Committee.



348 SUPERINTENDENT OF IMMIGRATION

8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

Statement showing total arrivals of immigrants at ocean ports, divided into classes.

from 1897—1907-8.

Period.
Immigration

Proper.

Returned

Canadians.
Tourist.

Saloon

Passengers.
Totals.

19,304
22,781
32,598
15,352
31,162
40,991
78,891
85,159
102,723
131,268
90,008
204,157

484
541
596
352

1,170
1,377
1,870
2,485
5,354

10,913
9,293
17,652

13,076
8,137
11,334
2,849
9,761
9,756
11,026
9,587
9,552
13,296
12,444
13,575

32,864
31,559
44,724
18,704
42,298
52,544
92,091
97,755
119,630
158,601
114,159
240,847

1898
1899

First 6 months of 1900,
Fiscal yearl900-l ,

1901-2
1902-3
1903-4
1904-5
1905-6

Fiscal period (9 mos.) 1906-7.
Fiscal year 1907-8

Totals

100
196
151
205
420
304
524

2,001
3,124
2,414
5,463

854,394 52,087 14,902 124,393 1,045,776

Immigrants are those who have never been in Canada before and who declare their

intention to reside in Canada permanently.

Returned Canadians are those who were born in Canada or who have been in

Caniada before.

Tourists are those who say they are simply in Canada on a visit

Saloon passengers are those travelling on first-class tickets..

Returned Canadians, tourists and saloon passengers are not included in our immi-
griation figures.

By Mr. Owen:

Q. That statement includes women and children, I suppose?
A. It includes women and children, every person travelling on a ticket.

The system of paying bonuses is still in force. On this particular ship there were
208 passengers classed as returned Canadians. Agents had made claims on a number of

those that were disallowed. For instance, one agent at Leicester, a man named
Andrew claimed bonus on an immigrant shown on page 12, line 34, of the manifest.

On being examined by our agent at the ocean port the man said he had been in Canada
before, and the claim for bonus was, therefore, disallowed. Another claim by the siame

man was made on a woman going to her husband, who was said to be farming in Sas-

katchewan. Our agent at the ocean i>ort elicited the fact from the woman that her

husband was a tailor. The bonus was not allowed in the case of that claim either.

By Mr, Crochet:

Q. How many claims were disallowed?

A. Fifteen claims out of this lot were disallowed.

Q. Out of how many ?

A. I will give you a statement of the total number. Bonuses were claimed on 55
men, 22 women and 23 children. According to the information collected at the ocean
port, the British bonus was allowed and payable upon 41 men, 14 women and 13 chil-

dren, leaving 1 men, 8 women and 10 children disallowed. In connection with the
same vessel the continental bonus was claimed on 37 men, 9 women and 3 children, and
was iallowed on 31 men and 5 women. The total British bonus paid was £61 10s., and
the continental bonus amounted to £36. These particular foreigners were an excep-

tionally good class of people. They were Hollanders principally and were going to
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Calgary and possessed sums of money varying from $100 to $8,000. We do not ask

English-speaking immigrants landing lat ocean ports what amount of money they have,

further if they are in possession of $25 it is deemed sufficient to last them for a reason-

able time after they land. Of course, foreigners always have been examined as to the

amount of cash in their possession.

By Mr. Owen:

Q. Keferring to the examination for disease, who is that made by? By the agent

or a practising physician?

A. By practising physicians.

Q. Employed by this government?
A, Yes, employed by the government.

Q. Do you know who they are?

A. Yes, I know who they are. At Quebec there is Dr. Page, who is the chief. Dr.

Nadeau, Dr. Potvin, Dr. Lessard and Dr. Dobbin.

Q. Is there any examination made until the arrival of the immigrants at Quebec?
A. They iare examined medically before they go on board ship.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. By whom is that examination made ?

A. By the Board of Trade doctor and the company's own doctor.

Q. Under what authority?

A. The Merchant's Shipping Act..

Q. When was that Act passed?

A. I could not tell you that.

Q. Do you not remember a report made by Lord Strathcona saying that he had
failed to get a clause inserted in the Bill which was before the Imperial Parliament, as

it was too late in the session?

A. I could not tell you anything about that.

Mr. Wilson. (Lennox) .—^If you had read his report you would have seen it.

By Mr. Owen:

Q. My reason for asking the question is that I enquired in the House the other

night if all the immigrants that were sent to this country by booking agents were
examined thoroughly for disease before being allowed to go on board at the port of

embarkation, and I was told no.

A. They iare examined. They are examined by the Board of Trade doctor and also

by the company's doctor.

By Mr. Barr:

Q. The Board of Trade in England?
A. The Board of Trade in England.

Q. What interest would they have in not allowing diseased persons to go on board ?

A. To prevent the spread of disease on the ship, I suppose.

NUMBER OP BOOKING AGENTS PRESENTING CLAIMS.

By Mr. Crocket:

Q. How many booking agents presented claims last year?
A. I think we have about 1,600 booking agents.

Q. What would bo the actual number of claims presented in a year?
A. I should think they probably amount to $100,000, or somewhere around that

sum.
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Q. That is the amount that you pay?
A. That we pay. We keep an open account with each booking agent.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. Wias there any overlapping of accounts, any instance where the booking agent

was paid more than once?

A. On the same man?
Q. On the same man?
A. No.

By Mr, Herron:

Q. How would you prevent that?

A. Only one man issues the ticket and that is the booking agent who makes the

claim. Where immigrants ,upon whom bonus has been paid, are afterwards found
to have gone to the United States, or have been returned to Great Britain as undesir-

(^ables, or for any reason, we deduct that amount from the next payment to the booking

agent. Occasionally we deduct from the bonus paid to booking agents the cost of

sending a man back to England. We had a case the other day where a man had been

sent out to Nelson, B.C., under misrepresentations. That man produced evidence

that I thought was satisfactory, and we returned him to the country that he came from

and charged the cost to the booking agent with whom we had an open account. In

other cases where they have misrepresented things to immigrants we have their licenses

cancelled through representations to the British Board of Trade.

By Mr. Mclntyre (Strathcona) :

Q. In the British Isles booking agents must register and take out a license ?

A. Yes, they must get a license from the Board of Trade.

MAJORITY OF BOOKING AGENTS IN AGRICULTURAL DISTRICTS.

By Mr. Christie:

Q. Do you urge upon your agents that they ought to try and attract agricultural

immigrants ?

A. It is only to the agricultural class that we appeal.

Q. Do you have agents in the agricultural districts?

A. The great bulk of these booking agents are in agricultural districts.

Q. My reason for asking that is that we do not get the right class of people ?

A. Only about 7 per cent of the population of Great Britain is rural.

Mr. Christie.—A neighbour of mine went to get help and ran across an immigrant
who was a likely looking fellow. He was asked what wages he would want, and said

that he would require $75 a month to go on a farm. My neighbour told him he had
made a mistake.

By Mr. Savoie:

Q. You cannot take that as an example?
A. No. I have made the statement to the press, to different people and to immi-

grants themselves, that if any immigrant can produce to me any evidence that he was
sent out to this country under misrepresentations, I will not only pay his passage

back to Great Britain, but assist him in the prosecution of the booking agent who
induced him to come out. The Merchant Shipping Act of Great Britain is very

definite on that question. However, I have never seen the man yet, when it came down
to a question of furnishing evidence, that could produce it. I think, on the whole, the

booking agents are very careful in the statements they make to immigrants.
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By Mr. Christie:

Q. They are all urged to say they have worked on the farm?

A. I have not found that to be the fact and I have talked with hundreds of

immigrants.

Q. I have heard the statements of lots of them, and there were a great many
who, I suppose, never did any farming.

A. No doubt a great many immigrants come to this country who have never been

on the land before. As I have already said, only 7 per cent of the population of Great

Britain is rural, and we must naturally expect to get a great many from the towns

and cities. I should explain that booking agents in the cities, such as the Canadian

Pacific Eailway, the Allan Line, the Dominion Line and the Donaldson Line, all the

head offices, do not receive bonuses for immigrants. It is only the sub-agents working

under them that get the bonus. I have never been able to find an immigrant who
would tell me that he had been sent out under misrepresentations, with the exception

of an odd case like that at Nelson, where the man produced evidence to show that his

statements were well lounded, and I had him returned to Great Britain.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. What is the name of that booking agent?
A. The agency was managed by Walter Stark, of Liverpool. They called them-

selves the British Emigration and Tourist Association.

Q. They were at that time (accredited booking agents?

A. Yes, of different lines.

Q. And what is the name of the immigrant in this case?

A. I have not it here.

Q. What was the charge?

A. That they had sent the man out to Canada under misrepresentations.

Q. How much did the expenses in that case come to?

A. I think about $67, between that and $70.

Q. Is the matter settled to-day?

A. We have i± charged up against the company yet.

Q. Have they admitted the charge?

A. They simply said they did not carry out their part of the contract because Mr.
Hammond, to whom the immigrant wias sent, had not carried out his part of the

arrangement.

Q. The matter is still in controversy?

A. No, not at all as far as we ar* concerned. We not only had their license as a

booking agent cancelled, but they lost all their steamship agencies.

Q. Is that booking agent still on our list?

A. No, he not only lost his commission as booking agent, but his license as a ship-

ping agent for all of the companies.

Q. On account of this?

A. Presumably, and I suppose they had other reasons for their action.

Q. Is there any correspondence in relation to that particular case?

A. There is as regards returning the immigrant to England.

Q. You have that correspondence?

A. Yes, in the office.

Q. Will you bring it up at a future meeting of the committee, jilease?

A. Yes.

By Mr. Lalor:

Q. You said there were 1,800 booking agents. How many active agents are there

making claims?
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A. There are a great many more booking agents in Great Britain. We simply

have open acounts with that number.

By Mr. Crochet:

Q. And you paid the 1,800 a total of $100,000 last year?

A. I thinlc $100,000.

Q. I thought you mentioned booking agents who had presented claims for 50 in

one case and in another case for 30?

A. When?
Q. This morning?
A. No, that was for the whole ship. That ship had 838 passengers on board.

By Mr. MonJc:

Q. Let me understand about the particular case you spoke of a while ago. Did the

government pay the cost of returning this man to England?
^ A. Yes.

Q. Which amounted to about $60?
A. I think, speaking from memory, $67, but I will let you know the actual amount.

Q. And that amount was charged to the booking agency which is in Liverpool?

A. Yes.

Q. Has that booking agency a claim against the department at present, has it

made a claim?

A. They have a number of claims; they had sent out a great many immigrants.

Q. What do their claims amount to in the aggregate?

A. I suppose that last year about

Q. Roughly speaking?

A. Last year perhaps £500.

Q. And have you paid the balance to that booking agency less this amount of $67 ?

A. I think we paid £400 on account.

Q. Leaving the other £100 in abeyance?
A. Until we settled these accounts.

Q. This particular item?

A. That was one of them.

Q. Were there others?

A. I could not say, but that was one of the items which was to be deducted.

By Mr. Crochet:

Q. Would that be about the largest amount that any single booking agent had
claimed ?

A. Yes, I think it would be in the year. That may have covered'more than one
year. For instance, the people that shipped in March. The fiscal year ends in March
'and they would come in in this year.

By Mr. Lalor:

Q. Can you recall the largest payment which has been made to any one booking
agent ?

A. No, I cannot.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Have you ceased completely doing business with this particular booking agent?
A. We have ceased to do business, and he has lost his license. Then there have

been other cases. There was the case in London last year where a woman named
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Kendall misrepresented to people the conditions in Canada and persisted in adver-

Using in the London papers contrary to the facts. My assistant in London notified

them to change their advertisement, but they refused to do so, 30 we made representa-

tions and they lost their license.

SYSTEM ADOPTED IN PAYING BONUSES.

Q. What I would like to get at—perhaps you have stated it already—is the

system adopted. Do you control personally the payment of bonuses or is there in the

^department some person specially charged with overseeing that branch?

A. There are clerks that are doing it.

Q. There is a clerk that has special charge?

A. Yes.

Q. Under your direction.

A. Yes.

Q. What is his name?
A. His name is Parlow.

Q. He has charge especially of the overseeing of the payments of bonuses?

A. Yes, he checks them.

Q. And is there a separate record kept for each ship that arrives? By that I

mean is there a dossier, a record, made for each ship?

A. As to the bonuses paid on each ship?

A. As to the whole of the immigrants brought over by that ship?

A. Yes.

Q. Is that record put in special books?

A. 'No, it is fastened to the manifests, that is the statistical part of it.

Q. You could turn,up the records of any ship I mean?
A. Yes, any name on the ship.

Q. You have just produced before the committee the record of the Viciorian'i

A. Yes, I took one at random.

Q. Which sailed from the British Isles?

A. The Victorian sailed from Liverpool on the 13th March and arrived at Halifax

on the 20th.

Q. You have a record similar to that of steamers sailing from the Continent?

A- Yes.

Q. There was a question put in the House som^ time ago, if you remember, about

one ship that arrived in this country from the continent?

A. Yes.

Q. You have the record?

A. Yes.

Q. Will you bring it at the next meeting?
A. Yes.

Q. Now, as regards the payment of bonuses and emigration expenses generally,

are the payments made in England?
A. For bonuses?

Q. For bonuses, advertisements and salaries?

A. Yes.

Q. All payments, if I understan right, are made in England?
A. They are made in England. Tha mode is this: we have a number of agents

in Great Britain. We have them m Glasgow, Aberdeen, Liverpool, Birmingham,
Belfast, Dublin, Exeter and so on. Each of these agents, at the end of the month,
puts in an estimate of his expenses for the month following. Those are sent to
London. The London office makes up its estimate and then adds to it the estimates
of the other agents. Whatever it amounts to is sent over here and then we cable that
amount. There is a letter of credit which goes to the credit of Lord Strathcona and

2—33
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Mr. Obed Smith, my assistant in London. All cheques against that credit are signed

by Lord Strathcona and Mr. Smith. In reference to the bonuses, the claims are all

made up here. This is the only place where the information is available for that

purpose. Those are sent over and the total is added to the

Q. I am speaking of the British Isles now?
A. Yes, and I am speaking of the British Isles also. The total of these bonus

accounts is added to the London estimate and included in the letter of credit. I have

a sample of the accounts here for the steamship Victorian and the amounts are divided

up. Here is a booking agent at Leicester who gets £1 bonus on one immigrant. These
accounts are all made up and sent over to London and they issue the cheques there.

Q. Then if I understand right, every month you receive from the London office an
estimate of the salaries and expenses?

A. For the month following.

Q. And added to that is a specific statement of the bonuses earned during that

month which is sent to you?
A. No, I add that here.

Q. You add that?

^ A. Certainly. As I have already said, the only place where the information is

available is here.

Q. You have that information and cable the total amount. Upon what data do
you add that ? The claims for bonus have been seiit to you direct ?

A. The claims are sent direct here by the booking agent. I have explained that

already.

Q. Therefore, any agent who has earned a bonus must send his claim direct to

Ottawa?
A. Direct to Ottawa.

Q. And he sends his claims in monthly ?

A. We get them by every English mail.

Q. Will you bring, for the next meeting, a dozen of these periodical claims for
bonus ?

A. What do you mean by periodical?

Q. You say you get them by every English mail ?

A. Yes, I have got bunches for this particular ship. I have them all here.

Q. You have them for that particular ship that we have been discussing?

A. Yes, for that piarticular ship. Would you like them for the other ship that you
Were asking about?

Q. Not immediately. My object is to find out the way of arranging matters in

Great Britain. If you would kindly bring up a dozen claims for bonus?
A. I have 50 of them here.

Q. They are filed before the committee?
A. Yes, I can leave them here.

Q. When you get those, what pro.cess do they go through in your hands ?

A. As I explained before, every immigrant when he Lands at an ocean port is first

medically examined and then civilly examined. In connection with the latter, he is

asked certain questions. Our agent fills out one of these particular forms and it is

sent to this office. It is upon the evidence of the immigrant himself at the ocean port

that the bonus is paid.

Q. Will you show me the claims for bonus on this ship (the SS. Victorian) f

A. Here is the mianifest (handing over the manifest).

By Mr. Wilson:

Q. Does the examiner have a conversation with each immigrant?
A. Yes, with each immigrant. Those are the claims allowed, Mr. Monk (pointing

out on the statement). Here are the claims that were disallowed and the reasons there-

for, and the line on the manifest where the mian's name is to be found is also given.
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By Mr. MonJc:

Q. Does the claim of the booking agent come out on the ship with the manifest?

A. No, that is mailed direct by the booking agent. This particular one was mailed

^0 me by this man Andrew and was received here on March 20.

Q. Then what you do is to compare that with the manifest of the ship;?

A. And the evidence taken before our agent at the ocean port.

Q. "Well, let us take the first name on that list?

A. Take any particular name here. Those the the names of persons on which
the bonus was allowed. Take one at randiom.

Q. Let us take Joseph Watkins..Thomas ?

A. His name is to be found on page 6, line 28 of this mianifest. Here it is (point-

ing to the information), Joseph W. Thomas. He was a farm labourer going to New
Westminster, B.C. He was single, 32 years of age, and held transportation over the

Canadian Pacific Kailway. He travelled ocean ticket No. 5,081.

Q. And what is that certificate at the foot, the Oanadian Government agent's

certificate, which does not seem to be filled in?

A. I read the circular in connection with that the other day. The booking agents

claim they should be paid a bonus on first class passengers very often. We say ' no.'

We don't examine them, so that we cannot verify your statements. But if you bave
your passenger appear before our agents in the old country and have them examined
there and sign this certificate, we will pay a bonus or we will pay it on second or third-

class passengers.' That is optionial.

Q. But none of these certificates appear to have been signed?

A. In some instances they do not. It is optional with them.

Q. Have you produced a list of the booking agents in the British Isles?

A. I have one here. I might say, continuing the matter of this claim, here is the

^claim made by the agent in the case of Thomas and here are the particulars of the

examination made by our agent at the ocean port. It says there that Thomas is a

farmer and has been a farmer all his life land is going to New Westminster.

Q. In whose handwriting is that?

A. That of our agent or one of his clerks. Would you like this manifest filed,

Mr. Monk?
Q. If you please. Did I understand you to say that you would produce a list

of the booking agents in the British Isles ?

A. Yes, I have a copy of it here. I have a list of the booking agents authorized

by the government in the British Isles and here is an addition to them.

Q. I am speaking of the authorized booking agents?

A. Yes, I will also leave the accounts in connection with this particular ship
the Victorian.

By Mr. Crochet:

Q. Are these claims paid entirely on the booking agents' certificates and the ship's

manifest ?

A. Yes.

Q. That is all the data the department has before it?

A. It has first the statement signed by the immigrant, then the ship's manifest
and the agent's examination at the ocean port.

Q. What you have there is a claim sent in by the booking agent. The application
for a ticket is signed by the immigrant himself and certified by the ageait?

A. Yes:

Q. Have you anything beyond that from the immigrant?
A. We have his examination at the ocean port and the manifest, which is declared

\o be correct by the master of the ship.

2—33i



356 SUPERINTENDENT OF IMMIGRATION

8 EDWARD Vil., A. 1908

By Mr. Monh:

Q. The list wliich you have just produced purports to be a list of steamship agents

in Great Britain and Ireland?

A. Yes, Great Britain and Ireland.

Q. Revised up to September 1, 1907?
A. Yes.

Q. Do you mean to say that each of these men has a letter from the department
authorizing him to- act as a booking agent?

A. He has the circulars sent out by the department.

Q. But I understood from your previous testimony that none but those specially

authorized by the department could act as booking agents and collect bonuses?

A. I did not say so. In Great Britain we allow any booking agent to put in a

claim for bonus and as long as he does not break any of the rules of the department
by issuing advertisements or inducing people to come here that he should not, we
'continue to pay him the bonus. When we find that he issues advertisements that

are not correct or sends out people that the government do not want, we cut him oS

:

^
Q. Then there is no special authorization given by the department to booking

agents in the British Isles.

A. No, we recognize all booking agents.

Q. What is the license to which you refer?

A. That is given 'by the British Board of Trade to booking agents in Great

Britain.

Q. Upon what conditions?

A. I have not seen a copy of them.

Q. You do not know what the conditions require?

A. No.

Q. Is the firm of J. Smart & Company, Limited, an authorized booking agent?

A. If they are on the list which I have produced that is correct.

Q. You should know better than I?

A. The names on the list are in alphabetical order (after examining list). I do

not see that firm's name on the list.

Q. Do you know, as a matter of fact, whether they are authorized to book?
A. I don't think they are. I think Mr. Smart has an agent in Glasgow that does

his booking.

Q. Has that firm or company ever been paid any bonus?

A. Yes, they have.

Q. About how much in the aggregate?

A. I could not tell you that. I could get the exact sum for you.

By Mr. Crochet:

Q. Did you say that the Smart firm was an authorized booking firm ?

A. No, I think he books through an agent in Glasgow. I think he has a man
who does the booking there.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Would you give us at the next meeting the total amount of bonus paid to that

firm, or association, for the past four years?

A. Yes.

Mr. Crocket.—Is that the same Mr. Smart who was manager for the North
Atlantic Trading Company?

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Yes. On the Continent, I understands a different system prevailed. No
booking agent can make claim for bonus unless he has been duly authorized by the
government ?
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A. Yes, unless he has been selected by the government.

Q. Have you a li^t of the selected agents on the continent?

A. If I have not the list here, I can get it for you. Yes, I have a list of the

agents here (producing list).

Q. Would you be good enough to leave it with the Committee?

A. Yes, I can file it.

Q. Do I understand from you, Mr. Scott, that each of the men mentioned in this

list of continental agents has an authorization from the Dominion Government to

book immigrants and to claim bonus?

A. They have been selected by my assistant in London to act as booking agents,

i:hat is, we will accept claims from them. The order in council with respect to

continental booking agents is dated February 19, 1907. I will r-ead it (reads)

:

Extract f^-om a Report of the Committee of the Privy Council, approved hy the

Governor General^ on the 19th February, 1907.

On a report, dated 31st December, 1906, from the Minister of the Interior,

submitting, in view of the termination of the contract with the ISTorth Atlantic

Trading Company, for promoting continental immigration, that it is necessary that

some other arrangement should bo made to ensure the continuance of work in the

interests of Canada in European countries.

The minister, therefore, recommends that a commission of ten shillings for each
adult, and five shillings for each child be allowed to the steamship booking agent on
immigrants of the same classes as those upon whom bonus is paid in Great Britain

and Ireland, viz. :—Farmers, farm labourers, gardeners, stablemen, carters, railway

surfacemen, navvies, or miners, who have signified their intention of followin^g!

farming or railway construction work in Canada, and female domestic servants.

An adult, for the purpose of this arrangement, would be a person, male or female,

eighteen years of age or over, and a child, a person between one and eighteen, no bonus
being paid on infants under one year of age.

It is recommended that the bonus be paid to selected steamship booking agents

in Norway, Sweden, Denmark, Holland, Germany, Austria-Hungary, Eussia, France,

Belgium and Switzerland, and that the immigrants upon whom it is paid shall be

natives of these countries and not of other countries ticketed in transit.

The minister, in view of the restricted emigration laws in most of the European
countries, recommends that the agents to whom the bonus arrangements will apply,

shall be carefully selected by the Assistant Superintendent of Emigration for Canada
in London, as by restricting the arrangements in this way it will be possible to make
selection of responsible and reliable agents who may be depended on not to provoke
any conflict with the authorities responsible for the administration of the emigration

laws above referred to.

The minister also recommends that the agent so selected should submit tlieir

claims for bonus in the same was as the British booking agents do, and that all

allowed claims be paid direct from Ottawa, such payments to be made out of the

appropriation for immigration.

The Committee submit the same for approval. •

KODOLPHE BOUDKEAIT,
Acting Clerh of the Privy Council.

To the Honourable,

The Minister of the Interior.
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Immigration Branch,

Department of the Interior,

Ottawa, Canada, August, 1907.

Circular to Steamship Boohing Agents in France, Belgium^ Holland, Sweden, Den^

mark, Norway, Germany, Switzerland, Austria-Hungary and Finlanfid, who have

teen authorized hy the Canadian Oovernment to receive honus upon tickets sold

to emigrants to Canada.

Sir,—This circular takes the place of my circular of March last, and I beg to

Inform you that the following regulations apply to payment of bonuses on tickets to

Canada.

1. The bonus offered by the Government of Canada will be paid on tickets to Can-

ada sold to persons whose occupation in their native country has been for at least one

year, one of the following classes, viz. : Farmers, farm labourers, gardeners, stablemen,

icarters, railway surfacemen, navvies, or miners, who have signified their intention of

following farming or railway construction work in Canada, and female domestic

servants.

2. The bonus is only payable on emigrants landing at Canadian ports, excepting

those landing at Portland, Maine, during the winter.

3. The bonus will be 10s. on each person of prescribed classes, 18 years of ag© or

over, and 6s. on those between one and 18 years of age. "No bonus on infants, tourists,

saloon passengers, prepaid tickets, persons of other occupation than one of the above
named, persons mentally or physically unfit, or on persons previously domiciled in

Canada.

4. In order to enable the department to pay bonus it will be necessary to have the

evidence in support of claim supplied on the prescribed form.

6. No bonuses will be paid to the head offices of steamship or railway lines.

6. No bonus will be paid to booking agents misrepresenting the conditions in

Canada, or whose advertising does not meet with the approval of the Immigration
Department.

7. Payment will be made monthly, and accompanying the cheque in each case,

.which will be issued at the Canadian Government office in London, England, two

Btatements will be sent to the payee, one giving the name, age and ticket number, in

each cases, of the passengers on whom bonus is allowed, and the other giving name and
particulars of passengers on whom bonus is allowed, stating the reasons for such dis-

allowance.

8. A supply of blank forms for use under this system will be sent to you in due

pourse by Mr. J. Bruce Walker, assistant superintendent of emigration, 11-12 Charing
Cross, London, S.W., England, from whom you can obtain more when required.

Agents (are particularly requested to refrain from sending any claims on persons not

fully coming within the requirements as to nationality, occupation, &c. If the head of

a family comes out in advance of his family, bonus may be claimed later on the mem-
bers of the family when tickets are purchased for them, the bonus being allowed in the

meantime on head of family lalone. Booking agents should secure and retain the home
address of the emigrant or his friends.

9. If it is found after sending in a bonus claim that the immigrant on whom t9ie

iclaim was made did not sail on the steamship or at the time stated on the claim, the

booking agent is requested to forward immediately an amended claim which should be

marked 'corrected bonus claim.'

10. Please note carefully that the bonus referred to above is only paid on natives

of your own country, ticketed by you to Canada, and not to persons of any other nation-

ality.

11. The object in offering this bonus is to interest the booking agent in sending
to Canada a desirable class of persons who will settle permanently in this country, and..
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therefore, in any case where the Canadian Government finds it necessary to deport any
immigrant within twelve months of his arrival in Canada, or where the immigrant has

left Canada for the United States within that period, the bonus paid upon him will be

deducted from the account of the agent to whom it was paid.

12. All communications with regard to the non-payment of claims should be sent

direct to us. In every case the name and age of the emigrant and other particulars

necessary for identification should be given.

N.B.—No bonus will be paid to any booking agent who has not previously been

officially authorized by the Assistant Superintendent of Emigration for Canada in

London, England, to receive such bonus.

Your obedient servant,

W. D. SCOTT,
Superintendent of Immigration.

ORDER IN COUNCIL INCREASING AMOUNT OF BONUS.

Certified copy of a Report of the Committee of the Privy Council, approved by
His Excellency the Governor General on January 6, 1908.

The Committee of the Privy Council have had under consideration a report, dated

January 2, 1908, from the Minister of the Interior, stating that on December 31, 1906,

[be reported that in view of the termination of the contract with the North Atlantic

Trading Company for promoting continental immigration, he considered it necessary

that some other arrangement should be made to ensure the continuance of work in the

interests of Canada in European countries, and recommended that a commission of

ten shillings for each adult and five shillings for each child be allowed to the steamship

booking agents on immigrants of the same classes as those upon whom bonus was paid

in Great Britain and Ireland, viz., farmers, farm labourers, gardeners, stablemen,

•carter, railway surface men, navvies, or miners, who signified their intention of follow-

ing farming or railway construction work in Canada and female domestic servants; an
ladult, for the purpose of this arrangement, being a person, made or female, eighteen

years of age and over, and a child, a person between one and eighteen, no bonus being

paid on infants under one year of age.

The Minister further states that it has been found in practice that the bonuses

thus recommended and subsequently authorized by order in council of February 19,

|1907, have not beeen sufficient to accomplish the desired object, and that in order to

enlist the full sympathy and interest of the selected continental booking agents in the

work of promoting emigration to Canada it is necessary to put them on the same foot-

ing as the British agents.

The Minister therefore recommends that the bonuses above referred to be

increased to one pound, and ten shillings, respectively, and that the order in council

of the 19th February, 1907, be amended accordingly.

The Committee submit the same for approval.

RODOLPHE BOUDREAU,
Clerh of the Privy Council.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. Is that order in council you first nead in force now? I understand there is

on superseding that under which the bonus has been doubled.
A. I have read that one also.

Q. There is not much use in putting that on the record if it has been superseded ?

A. One is the basis of the other.
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Q. Before you go any further, I understand that during the. last nine months,

just before that order in council was passed, we got 30,000 immigrants more than we
did in the previous nine months?

A. I will give you a statement as to that. Continental immigration, is it, you
wanted ?

Q. I want the immigration altogether ?

A. I have prepared a number of statements. The first one is a statement showing

the total immigration to Canada.

Q. From what date?

A. From January 1, 1897, to March 31 of this year.

Q. Have you got it for the previous nine months also?

A. Of which?

Q. Have you got the figures for the last nine months. Have you also got them
for the previous nine months?

A. I am giving the figures for the past eleven years:

Total Immigration to Canada from January 1, 1897, to March 31, 1908.

Number.

Calendar yearl897
1898
1899

First six months of 1900
Fiscal year 1900-

1901-2
1902 3
1903-4
1904-5
1905-6

Fractional fiscal year (9 months) 1906-7
Fiscal year 1907-8

21
31
44
23
49
67
128
130
14f^

189
124
262

,916
,900
,543
,895
,149
,379
,364
,331
,266
,064
,667
,469

British Immigration to Canada from January 1, 1897, to March 31, 1908.

Number.

Calendar year 1897
1898
1899

First six months of 1900
Fiscal year 1900-1

1901-2
1902-3
1903-4
1904-5
1905-6

Fiscal period (9 months) 1906-7
Fiscal year 1907-8

11
11
10
5

11
17
41
50
65
86
55
120

,383
,173
,660
,11
,810
,259
,792
,374
,359
,796
,791
,182
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Continental Immigration to Canada from Jianuary 1, 1897, to March 31, 1908.

Number.

Calendar year 1897
1898
1899

First six months of 1900
Fiscal year 1900-1

1901-2
1902-3
1903-4
1904-5
1905-6

Fiscal period (9 months) 1906-7
Fiscal year 1907-8

,921
,608
,938
,211
,352
,732
,099
,728
,255
,349
,217
,975

* Q. You have not given me the comparison I tasked for all the same. I want to

'show there was no justification for the increase of bonus, that is that there was no

^justification by reason of the falling off in immigrant arrivals?

A. I will give you that just in a moment.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. What was .the object of increasing the bonus, to stimulate a larger immigra-

tion?

A. Of a desirable class, yes.

Q. Have you any figures that will show relatively how many immigrants were of

the desirable class for the nine months during the last two periods?

A. I have some figures prepared and I will read them in a few moments.

Q. Because it seems to me that would indicate whether there was a falling off

sufficient to justify the increase in the bonus?

A. In addition to the other statement given, I have one showing the immigration
from the United States to Canada from January 1, 1897, to March 31, 1908.

Immigration from the United States to Canada from January 1, 1897, to

March 31, 1908.

Number.

Calendar year 1897
1898
1899

First 6 months, 1900
Fiscal year 1900-1901

1901-1902
" 1902-1903
" 1903-1904 .

1904-1905
1905-1906

Fiscal period (9 mos.) 1906-1907
Fiscal year 1907-1908

,412
,119
,945
,543
,987
,388
.473
,229
,652
,919
,659
,312
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English and Welsh Immigration to Canada from July 1, 1900, to March 31, 1908.

Number.

Fiscal year 1900-1901
1901-1902
1902-1903
1903-1904
1904-1905
1995-1906

Fiscal period (9 mos.) 1906-1907
Fiscal year 1907-1908

9,401
13,095
32,510
36,694
49,617
65,932
41,658
91,412

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

,Q. How many of these people were sent out by charitable societies?

A. I have not got that information here.

^ Q. You have already given that information elsewhere?

A. I had it printed and distributed.

Q. Can you tell us how long those societies have been sending out this kind of

immigrants?

A. No.

Q. You have no knowledge of that?

A. No, all the knowledge I have is that they have stopped sending.

Q. Have you had no reports from your agent in England?
A. I don't think we ever had a report on those lines.

Q. How did you get the information you have?
A. From my assistant in London.

By Mr. Crochet:

Q. Then the figures you gave include immigrants sent out by charitable societies?

A. They include lall second and third-class passengers, all people who declare their

intention to remain in Canada.

Scotch Immigration to Canada from July 1, 1900, to March, 31, 1908.

Number.

Fiscal yea 1900-1901
1901-1902.
1902-1903

« 1903-1904
1904-1905
1905-1906

Fiscal period (9 mos.) 1906-1907
Fiscal year 1907-1908

1,476
2 853
7,046
10,552
11,744
15,846
10,729
22,223

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. Give us a statement of the Irish immigrant arrivals?

A. Here it is.
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Irish Immigration to Canada from July 1, 1900, to March 31, 1908.

363

Number.

Fiscal year 1900-1901
« 1901-1902
" 1902-1903
" 1903-1904
" 1904-1905
" 1905-1906

Fiscal period (9 mos.) 1906-1907
Fiscal year 1907-1908

933
1,311
2,236
3,128
3,998
5,018
3,404
6,547

Q. How many agents have you in Ireland?
A. Two regular agents, and then we have the booking agents besides.

Q. Who are th© two regular agents and where are they located ?

A. In Belfast and Dublin. Mr. O'Kelly is in Dublin and Mr. Webster in BeKast.
They are both Irishmen.

By Mr. Crochet:

Q. Do the government pay any bonuses on immigrants coming into Canada from
the United States?

A. Yes.

Q. What bonuses?

A. $3 on a man, $2 on a woman \and $1 on a child.

Q. They are restricted to certain classes of persons?

A. Yes, practically. They are all on immigrants to western Canada.

Q. Is the bonus restricted to the agricultural and domestic servant classes ?

A. Just the same as the others.

Q. The same as the others under the regulations?

A. Yes. I have prepared some interesting figures showing the number of these

people who took up homesteads.

'Statement showing the number of Homesteads entered for from January 1, 1897,

to December 31, 1907, also showing the number entered for by English, Scotch,

Irish, American and Continental Immigrants.

Period.
Total

Entries,
English. Scotch. Irish. American.

Conti-

nental.

2,384 300 83 3^ 164 673
1898 4,848 489 161 75 581 1,270
1899 6,689 578 192 97 1,064 1,796

First 6 months of 1900 7,426 350 95 50 S33 1,643
8,167 659 182 99 2,026 1,866

U,^ n).
" 1901-02 14,673 1,096 300 184 4,761 2,653

m'"" 1902-03 31,383 2,186 724 336 10,942 7,260
r " 1903-04 26,073 3,486 911 267 7,730 4,909

" 1904-05 30,819 4,284 1 , 225 421 8,532 4,999
1905-06 41,869 5,897 1,657 543 12,485 5,955

Fiscal period (9 mos.) 1906-07 21,647 3,032 807 •.52 6,059 2,951
9;;mos. Apr. 1 to Deo. 31, 1907-08. . .

.

25,682 4,062 866 280 6,682 4,607

The average number of persona for each entry is 25. The percentages would
therefore be English, 18 per cent; Scotch, 20 per cent; Irish, 23 per cent; American,
43 per cent; and Continental, 28 per cent.
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By Mr. Mclntyre (Perth):

Q. Is a bonus on all immigrants from the United States?

A. On all the agricultural class.

Q. Do any immigrants of the agricultural class come in without a bonus being

paid on them?
A. We don't pay our own agents a bonus, we pay them a salary. We have a

number of sub-agents in the United States.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. Are your agents paid on commission?

A. We have a certain number of state agents and also a number of sub-agents.

Q. What would be the relative number of sub-agents ?

A. I will give you the exact figures later on.

NUMBER OF IMMIGRANTS DEBARRED.

I have also had prepared a statement showing the number of immigrants
^ debarred at ocean ports.

By Mr. Monk:
Q. Is not that your annual report? What is the use of your giving us any-

thing that is in that report?

A. The reason I took these figures out is that almost every day I am asked by
members of parliament for them. I am going to hand them in now so that if members
want to utilize them they will be available.

Q. What we want to know are things that are not in your report?

A. Perhaps these figures are not in the report:

Statement showing the number of immigrants debarred at ocean ports since December,

1902, when the Medical Act went into force. Also the number held for further

inspection

:

Number held Number
Period. for further

Inspection. Rejected.

Fiscal year 1902-1903 273 273
1903-1904 1,835 274
1904-1905 2,559 611

" 1905-1906 3,570 524
1906-1907 3,543 440
1907-1908 4,573 1,172

Total , 16,353 3,294

Q. What became of those immigrants who were rejected?

A. They were returned to the country from which they came.

Q. What period do those figures cover?

A. The period from 1902-03 to the end of March, this year.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. At whose expense were they deported?

Q. The expense of the steamship company.
Q. Does the government pay for the deportation of some and the steamship

company for the deportation of others?
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A. It depends upon the length of time that this particular class were in the

country. I am si)eaking of immigrants that were debarr/ad. These were never allowed

to come into the country.

Q. You cannot deport them in two years, can you ?

A. I will explain that later.

NUMBER OF IMMIGRANTS DEPORTED.

I am going to give you a statement showing the number of immigrants that

were deported. Those am immigrants who passed inspection and afterwards became
a public charge from one cause or another and were returned to the country from
which they came, during 1903-4, 1904-5, 1905-6, fractional fiscal year (9 months)
1906-T and 1907-8.

English 883

Scotch.
Bulgarian
Americans. . . .

Irish
Galician
Swedish
Norwegian. . . .

Italian
Danish. . . . . .

Finnish
Dutch
Hebrew Russian.
Hebrew, N.E.S.

.

French
German
Welsh

80
63
51

47
32

23
19
17

13
11

10

10

8
8
8
8

Russian, N.E.S.

.

Hungarian
Buckowinian. . .

Icelandic
Hindoo
Austrian, N.E.S.

.

Polish, N.E.S.. .

Australian
Chinese. . . . . . .

Belgian
Hebrew, Polish .

.

Hebrew, German.
Newfoundland. .

Roumanian. . . .

Doukhobor
Turkish
Syrian

1,335

During the fiscal year 1902-3, when deportations first began, 67 were returned to

the country from which they came but no record was kept of their nationality. The
total number of deportations up to the end of the fiscal year 1907-8 were 1,402.

By Mr. Monk: . '
,

Q. You must know the names of those people?

A. I can get the names.

Q. You must know their names because they were deported after they came to

the country?

A. They got through the inspection.

Q. Have you a special book in which you keep that list?

A. I cannot say whether it is in book form or not, but I will bring a statement
giving the name and nationality of each person. I have that information, the name,
the nationality and the reason for deportation.

Q. These people had entered the country?
A. Yes, they had passed inspection.

Q. They were found afterwards in different parts of the country?
A. Found afterwards in different parts of the country, either public charges in

asylums or Jails.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. In your statements you do not give the cause for which tliey werc; deported?
A. I only give the nationality and the number.
Q. The cause of deportation should be stated also?

A. I can prepare a statement.
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By Mr. Monh:

Q. Those were not all deported at the expense of the steamship company?
A. Some of them were. The arrangement we had with the steamship companies

Tinder the law was that we could deport undesirable immigrants at any time within two
years at the cost of the steamship company that brought them into the country. The
^companies complained to the minister that that was pretty hard, that lan immigrant
might be an exceptionally good person when he came to the country, but might turn

out bad afterwards. The minster agreed that where the immigrant had been more than
one year and less than two years in the country we would pay. "what was called a charity

rate of $15 from the ocean port to Liverpool or Glasgow. If less than one year the

steamship companies would undertake the cost.

Q. For my part I do not require the whole of these 1,400 names, but I would like

you to make a list covering the last two years of those who have been deported by the

Dominion Government, and those who have been deported by the steamship com-
pany?

A. It will be just as easy to give the 1,400. You would like the name and the

^ nationality ?

Q. The cost of deportation, what place in the country the person was found at and
where sent to?

A. The total cost of deportation and who paid it?

By Mr. Mclntyre (Perth):

Q. Supposing the deported immigrant is the father or mother of a family? What
about the little children?

A. At an ocean port where the father or mother or any members of a family are

found to be inadmissible under the law, the whole family is deported. In the case of

a family in the country we simply deport the one undesirable person, but in the greatest

number of cases the whole family goes.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. In the case of there being one member of the family able to take care of those

that were not desirable, you would allow them to come in?

A. No,

Q. You would not?

A. ISTo. We refused them the other day.

Q. Is that on account of the existence amongst them of contagious disease?

A. That would be on account of insanity.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. These ailments are hereditary?

A. Some hereditary taint. I have brought with me this morning a copy of the

medical instructions which it may be interesting for you to look at. I will lay those on
the table.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. I would Ike to know, I don't think you have stated exactly, how the continental

booking agents are selected. Who are they selected by?
A. By my (assistant in London.

Q. You have nothing to do with the selection of them?
A. No, my assistant in London does it.

Q. Does he give them a special letter of instructions or send them a circular as in

'the case of the British booking agents?
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A. I imagine he sends them a circular.

, Q. There is no special form of authorization?

A. Not that I have seen.

Q. Is it from London that you received this list which you have filed of the

European agents?

A. Yes.

Q. There are no others?

A. No.
Q. Then if I understand right every booking agent, of the number licensed in

England, is entitled to the bonus when he earns it?

A.
I

Yes, if he does not break any of our regulations.

Q. That is understood. And on the continent those to whom your assistant in

London sends a circular becomes an authorized agent?

A. I think so.

Q. There is no special form of authorization? •

A. Not to my knowledge.

Q. Please axplain to the Committee how the payment of bonus to continental

booking agents is made?
A. In the same way as I explained to you in the case of other booking agents.

Q. Does he transfer his claim to you ?

A. The booking agent sends his claim direct to the office here. The claims are

checked up with the ship's manifest and with the evidence taken at the ocean port.

The account is compiled from that, is forwarded to London, and is paid from there

the same as in the case of the claims of British booking agents.

Q. Then when you transfer the money to London you give instructions to pay
so much out of it to continental booking agents?

A. We send the accounts to London. After they are paid they are returned here

receipted. I will file samples of those accounts.

Q. Then the account comes from the continental booking agent to you ?

A. The account comes to me.

Q. It is examined by you and checl?Bd and then forwarded to London?
A. No, the account is compiled from the claims just the same as in the case of

the British booking agents, giving the ticket number of the immigrant upon whom we
are paying, his name, his age, the name of the ship and the name of the agent. These
accounts are sent to the London office, and on the strength of that they make the

payment. .

Q. They do not wait, then, for any communication from the continental agent,

they merely send him his cheque?

A. Send him his cheque. Tnose cheques are all returned here in time.

Q. Have you all the London cheques?

A. No, the Audit Department has them.

Q. But yo*i got them in the first instance?

A. No, they came direct to the Audit Office.

By Mr. Crochet:

Q. When was the North Atlantic Trading Company's contract terminated?
A. On November 30, 1906.

Q. Have they any claims against the department outstanding at the present time?
A. No, they have all been settled.

Q. How much was paid to the company after the termination of the contract?

A. I think the last payment we made, which cleaned it nil up. was about $37,000
or $38,000.

Q. What docs that make the total amount received by the North Atlantic Trading
Company ?

A. I have not got the infomiation here, but I can get it for you.
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By Mr. Monh:

Q. Perhaps you will allow me to finisli this question of tha booking agent. Who
are the booking agents in the United States? '

A. They are not booking agents in the United States.

Q. Commissions then are paid to whom?
A. We hava a number of sub-agents there. They are in some instances railway

agents, newspapermen and men of different classes who are working in small distritcs.

Q. Are they specially authorized?

A. Yes, specially authorized.

Q. Will you produce a list of those sub-agents in the United States?

A. I think I have it here.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. And the amount paid to each?

A. That information I have not here.

Mr. Wilson (Lennox).—You used to give us the number of immigrants sent in

by our regular salaried agents in the United States. We have not had that information

for some years.

Mr. Sproule.—It would be desirable to have a list of the regular salaried agents

and how many immigrants they sent in.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Your last annual report contains no report from any of our American agents.

Did you not receive any last year?

A. Yes, I think we got reports from all quarters.

Q. There used to be a short printed report from each of the American agents?

A.Yes, but our reports were getting so bulky I thought we should cut them down
as much as possible this year.

Q. Is there a superintendent for the United States?

A. Yes, Mr. W. J. White is the present inspector of agencies over there.

Q. Does he inspect them?
A. Yes.

Q. Where does he reside?

A. In Ottawa when he is at home.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. If the department would publish the Immigration Report separately it would
be handier and nicer?

A. We do that for our own purposes. We have always printed the Immigration
Report separate from the general report of the Department of the Interior because

there is a demand for hundreds of copies.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. There are only a few agents in the United States, could you bring up their

reports the next time you come here?

A. Is that the salaried agents? You want the amounts paid to them and the

.reports they made?
Q. Yes, please.

A. You mean the last reports because the others are in the general report ?

Q. Once a bonused immigrant has landed in Canada and passed inspection you
do not follow him?
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A. We do, but I do not say that we follow every one. Of the immigrants who
stay in Canada less than a year we get a list from the United States officers and they

are checked with the ship's manifest.

Q. I am speaking of the immigrant, the bonused immigrant who has arrived in

"Canada to stay. Do you follow him?
A. Beyond the ocean port?

Q. Yes. Do you follow him?
A. That is impossible. I have already given you the number of homesteaders

of different nationalities from January 1 to December 31, 190Y, showing the English,

Irish Scotch, American and continental.

Q. Have you the names of these homesteaders?

A. No, they run into the thousands.

Q. Does it serve any purpose in regard to following the bonussed immigrant?
A. Except to show that the number of immigrants upon whom we pay a bonus

is not as great as that who take up homesteads.

Q. Evidently, because we do not pay a bonus upon all inmiigrants, there is no
question about that. What I want to know is, whether you have any means of tracing

the bonussed immigrant after he has arrived at the ocean port and passed examination,

admitting that he will remain in Canada?
A. No.

Q. What are the means at the disposal of your department for tracing the immi-
grants who go to the United States?

A. We get a list of every man who goes across the International boundary, or

rather we are supposed to get it, and those names are taken individually, and according

to the information on the list checked with the manifest of the ship.

Q. Who furnishes you with that list?

A. We get it from Montreal, from Mr. Clark.

Q. At what intervals?

A. Every month.

By Mr. Smith (Nanaimo)

:

Is the same information furnished in regard to persons who cross to the other

th/3 western seaboard?

Yes, it covers every immigrant who crosses the International boundary.

Does it cover the ordinary traffic between Victoria and Seattle?

Yes, so far' as immigrants are concerned.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. You get that information twelve times a year from Mr. Clark?
A. Yes.

By Mr. Crochet:

Q. How does Mr. Clark get it?

A. Erom the United States officer at the International boundary. We have
inaugurate a system of inspection of our own at the International boundary. We
have had it in force now for about a month and I think that in the course of another
month or so it will be pretty well completed. We propose to put inspectors on the
International boundary line. Speaking from memory, at one point on tlie boundary
one of our officers stopped at least 100 immigrants during the last month who were
coming in to work. They did not have sufficient funds, or there were otlier causes, and
we would not allow them to enter.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. How many of these posts have you at present?
A. We are just organizing the system.
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Q. Have you completed the organization of any one?
A. Yes.

Q. Whicli one?

A. We have them all through the mountains along the International boundary
south of British Columbia.

Q. Through the Kocky Mountains ?

A. Yes.

Q. The Toaxt time you are here you will bring the twelve last reports furnished

you by Mr. Clark?

A. Yes.

Q. What do those reports furnished by Mr. Clark cover, speaking generally?

A. They give the immigrants' name, the nama of the ship they came by, the port,

whether a Canadian or American, the date they landed, and the date when they applied

to enter the United States. A great many come from an American port, work here

for a few months and then go back again.

Q. I think they are divided into three classes for American statistical purposes?

A. They show on their face what they are. I will bring the reports at the next

meeting.

I have also had a statement prepared showing the percentage of immigrants upon
whom bonus was paid.

Period.

}British. AMERICAN. ITINENTAL.

Arrivals. Paid on. % Arrivals

.

Paid on. % Arrivals

.

Paid on. %

Fiscal year 1904-05. .

1905-06..
Fiscal period 1906-07
Nine months 1907-08

65,359
86,796
55,791
111,238

11,974
17,694
8,861
14,710

18.
20.04
15.08
13.02

43,652
57,919
34,659
46,925

3,681
3,134
2,561
2,425

8.04
5.04
7.04
5.

37,255
44,349
34,217
77,165

11,881
8,741
1,198
2,093

31.88
19.71
3.50
2.71

16.54 6.28 14.45

From the above statement it will be seen that from July 1, 1904, to December 1,

1908, bonus was paid on 16*54 per cent of the British immigrants, 6*28 per cent of

the immigrants coming from the United States and 14.45 per cent of the immigrants

from the continent.

Q. Have you had occasion to take action on any of these reports furnished you
by Mr. Clark as regards bonuses to agents?

A. We deduct a great many payments.

Q. You have found some payments of bonus that should not have been made?
A. In these cases we have deducted the payment from the agent's next account.

Q. Upon what ground can you take the bonus away from an agent, when the
immigrant who was sent out has passed inspection here, and has gone to the United
States?

A. The immigrant must declare his intention of staying in Canada. One of

the conditions is that if he does not stay here in Canada we deduct the bonus.

By Mr. Bcdph Smith (Nanaimo)

:

Q. Is that fact known to the booking agent?
Q. Yes, certainly.
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By Mr. Monk:

Q. Will you give us a list of those in respect of whom you have made deductions ?

A. For what period?

Q. For the last two years?

A. That will be a pretty long job, but I will get the information for you if it is

possible.

Q. There must be a great many if the compilation will be a long job?

A. There are voluminous reports to go over. It means going over thousands of

names.

Q. But as I understand it once you get Mr. Clark's report you simply ascertain

whether there are any bonused immigrants among them?
A. Yes.

Q. Then you make a list of them and deduct the bonus from the next payment
to the agent?

A. Yes.

Q. And you say there are a large proportion?

A. It involves going over thousands of names to get the information you have

*asked for.

Q. Do you make a separate list of those that are deducted?
A. Yes, we do in the accounts.

Q. How are the bonuses on immigrants from the United States paid, direct from
here?

A. Yes.

Q. The claims are sent in to you?
A. The claims are sent in to us.

Q. How are the claims verified?

A. Our agents and sub-agents have the privilege of issuing a certificate which
Entitles the immigrant from the United States to a low rate on Canadian railroads.

For instance, an immigrant leaves St. Paul, Minn., and goes up to Portal on the

international boundary. There he shows that certificate to the ticket, agent for the

'Canadian Pacific Railway. That is the agent's authority for issuing a ticket at the

Vate of one cent a mile. At the end of the month the Canadian Pacific Railway
'agent reports that he has issued certain tickets at a reduced rate and attaches to his

Report the certificates of our agents or sub-agents. As soon as the Canadian Pacific,

^or the Canadian Northern, las the case may be, has checked up the rei)orts of their

'ticket agents they are sent to us here and it is on these men that the commission is

*paid to sub-agents in the United States.

' Q. Then you only pay bonus on immigrants from the United States upon the

^certificates returned to you by the railway companies?
A. Yes.

Q. And upon no others?

A. No others. You will notice from the figures already given that the amount
paid is very small.

Q. In all during the last fiscal year how much have you paid in bonuses ?

A. To sub-agents in the United States? In the nine months from April 1 to the

end of December there were 46,925 arrivals in Canada. Of that number we paid

bonus on 2,425 or 5 per cent.

By Mr. Crochet:

Q. You say the Canadian railway companies give those immigrants la cent a mile

rate?

A. A cent a mile rate. At some points in the mountains it is 1A cents.

Q. Does tlie department make that good to the railway companies?

2—34i
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A. No, that is what they contribute towards immigration. If the immigrant is

looming from the United States, say from Iowa, Illinois, or any other state he has got

to pay the local rate, which is high, to the international boundary.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. Are the statements of these bonuses m^ade out monthly ?

A. I imagine they are ma'de out monthly.

Q. The agents send in their claims monthly?
A. They send in reports monthly.

> Q. And the certificates of the railway companies come in monthly?

By Mr. Crochet:

^ Q. How many Doukhobors were brought into this country?

A. That was before my time, but I can find out.

There are a number of other statements that I would like to put in. One is the

immigration via ocean ports showing the occupation or calling.

1903-04. 1904-05. 1905-06. 1906-07.* 1907-0 . Totals.

Number of immigrants
" farmers and farm

labourers
" general labourers.

" clerks, traders, &c.
" miners
" domestics

85,159

30,278
19,354
14,715
3,530
3,493
3,504

102,723

33,418
22,575
24,943
5,283
2,447
5,259

131,268

38,59

t

31,110
36,085
7,360
3,142
6,343

90, COS

18,191
26,807
24,414
6,686
2,878
4,583

204,157

41 , 866
63,172
56,335
15,930
4,562
10,499

613,315

162,347
163,018
156,492
38,789
16,522
30,188

*Nine months.

Another statement gives the immigration from the United States showing the
occupation or calling:'

—

1903-04. 1904-05. 1905-06. 1906-07.* 1907-03. Totals.

Number of immigrants
" farmers and farm

labourers
" general labourers.
" mechanics
" clerks, traders, &c.
" miners

45,229

16,917
2,798
1,435
1,240

321
34

43,652

23,434
1,314
1,037

665
141

3

57,919

42,037
1,582
1,429
1,169
442
51

34,659

29,677
1,852
1,384

. 92
425
73

58,312

43,323
4,322
2,226
1,294
917

.J.8

239,771

155,388
11,868
7,511
5,260
2,246

219

"^Ni'ie months.
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Another statement gives the expenditure on immigration from 1897 to 1908 :

—

Year. British Isles. Continental. U.S.A. Canada. Total

$ cts. $ cts. $ cts. S cts. $ cts.

1897--98 1 AAA AADi,U(JU UU 01 AAA A

A

oi ,UuU UU AAA AAo/,UuL) UU CO 1 O/l AAaz , i\)'± yu 0«1 1 A/1 AAZui. , 194 yu
1898--99 41,000 00 37,000 00 75,000 00 102,878 88 255,878 88
1899--1900 96,000 00 63,000 00 112,000 00 163,562 61 434,562 61
1900--01 110,000 00 43,000 00 144,000 00 147,729 63 444,729 63
1901--02 121,000 00 58,000 00 178,000 00 137,841 55 494,841 55
1902--03 205,000 00 60,000 00 161,000 00 216,913 74 642,913 74
1903--04 235,000 00 78,000 00 205,000 00 225,788 50 744,788 50
1904--05 181,000 00 111,800 00 325,000 00 354,556 69 972,356 69
1905--06 148,000 00 102,600 00 248,000 00 344,068 23 842,668 23
1906--07. . 174,000 00 42,000 00 151,000 00 244,200 76 611,200 76
1907--08 1,075,603 33

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. Does that cover everything, including the literature?

A. That covers the whole expenditure.

Q. That does not appear in your report, does it?

A. I have nothing to do with the financial part of it.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. If you have printing done in the United States which goes to Great Britain,
"where is it charged?

A. That would be charged to Great Britain.

Q. Your statement does not tell where the printing was done ?

A. No, I have not prepared that.

By Mr. 8proule:

Q. You say you have absolutely no control of those who embark on vessels for
Oanada ?

A. We have no control until they come within the three-mile limit.

•Q. Within Canadian waters?

A. Within Canadian waters.

By Mr. Wihon (Lennox):

Q. How is it in the United States?

A. I have no connection with the United States part of it.

Q. They claim to have rejected 65,000 persons last year?
A. Where?

Mr. Wilson.—At the port of debarkation.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. I will ask you to bring with you, when you next come before the Comniitt-ee,

the four last monthly statements of bonuses to the American agents and sub-agents,
and the railway c/3rtificates serving to prove that the bonuses had boon earned; also

the letter, or letters, if any, of your assistant in London notifying the department
here of the names of the duly selected booking agents on tli^ continent?

A. There will be quite a number because they wer/? not all selected at the one
time.
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Q. I understand you have given us a list?

A. There would be more than one list because the agents are not always selected

at the one time and the number is added to from time to time or deductions made,
as the case may be.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. I see that Miller was paid $194 for locating immigrants in my riding and
there is still a balance of $20 which has not been paid?

A. I could not tell you. There may be some deductions "to be made. We have open

accounts with all these man.

Q. Are they paid for locating immigrants with grocery men in towns ?

A. No, if such payments are made we find it out and deduct the payments from
the agent's . account.

Q. I see that you pay for women and children?

A. Yes.

Q. Why do you do that?

Q. Because it is very difficult to find a man who would take an immigrant with
his wife and family. The farmers all want single men or married couples without
children.

Q. I know that in several cases this man had nothing whatever to do with locat-

ing the immigrants ?

A. I know nothing about that.

Q. There is a man by the name of Denison, a groceryman in our* town, who is

employing an immigrant with a wife and seven children. In the lists which I got

from you there are several persons alleged to be located by Mr. Miller that he had
nothing whatever to do with. You are aware of that, are you?

A. I am not aware of that. If you can give me any information I shall be only

too willing to investigate the matter. Personally I do not look at the lists of these

men.

House op Commons^

Committee Eoom No. 62,

May 20, 1908.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met here this

day at 11 o'clock a.m., the chairman, Mr. McKenzie, presiding.

The Chairman.—As you understand, the business of to-day is the continuation

bf the examination of Mr. Scott, the Commissioner of Immigration, relating to immi-
igration to Canada.

' Mr. Scott.—At the last meeting several questions were asked. The first was as

^0 the total amount paid to the North Atlantic Trading Company. The accountant

advises me that the total amount paid from November 18, 1899, the date of the first

agreement, until November 30, 1906, the date of the cancellation of the contract, was
!$367,245.85.

' Mr. Wilson (Lennox).—That was brought down to the House, but the Auditor
"General's Keport shows that since then an additional $67,000 has been paid. Can you
Vouch for the correctness of this statement?

Mr. Scott.—That is furnished to me by the accountant.

' Mr. Wilson (Lennox).—I think you will find in the Auditor (xeneral's Report
^hat another amount has been paid.

Mr. Scott.—^I asked the accountant's branch, that is all.
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By Mr. Monh:

Q. Will you make sure whether there is an additional $7,000 paid?

A. Yes, I can ask the accountant. The second question was as to a list of salaried

"agents in the United States, the amount paid for salaries and expenses and their

annual reports. (List produced.) The next question for a list of salaried agents

'and sub-agents in the United btates and the amount paid to each for five years. (List

produced.) I was also asked for papers in connection with the deportation of a man
(from Nelson, who had been sent out by the British E. T. Society. (File produced )

(Then I produce a manifest of the SS. Montreal, and also a statement showing the

iamount paid to Mr. Smart for bonuses for four years. The seventh question was as

to the number of deportations since the Medical Act went into force. I find that

1,402 immigrants have been deported.

Q. At what time?

A. Since the Medical Act went into force. Then a statement was asked for

giving the name, nationality, where deported from, where to, the cause, and the data
That is also produced.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. In what year was the largest number deported?

A. In the fiscal year 1902-3, 67; in 1903-4, 85; in 1904-5, 86; in 1905-6, 137; ui
1906-7, 201; in 1907-8, 826.

Q. Those are deportations from our ocean ports, are they?
A. No, from interior parts of Canada, those who had become a public charge

within two years.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. Have you had to deport any who came from the United States, especially from
Jour western provinces ?

A. Yes. The number of Americans deported was 61.

By Mr. Sincluvr:

Q. Can you give the number of the various countries?

A, The statements I have filed indicate the nationality. I think at the last meet-
ling I gave them. English, 883 ; Scotch, 80 ; Bulgarian, 53 ; American, 51, and so on.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. After they have resided in Canada for over two years they cannot be deported ?

A. No. These are some of the reports furnished us by the United States authori-
ties. ( Eeports produced.) The ninth question was as to a list of deductions from
the bonuses paid on those going to the United States. (List produced.)

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. Did you make a statement at the last meeting that the final amounts had been
paid to the North Atlantic Trading Company?

A. I said I thought the last cheque was for between $37,000 and $38,000.

Q. That would be after the cancellation of the contract?
A. I asked the accountant for this information and that is what he sent me.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. In answer to the request made to you at the last metting to produce a state-

ment of all bonuses and monies paid to Smart & Company, you have produced a
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document to-day in which I see that James A Smart is shown to have received in

1906, £4 and in 1907, £95?

A. Yes.

Q. Then there are a list of names upon that statement?

A. These were his agents in the old country.

Q. Therefore, the sum of £2,928 practically represents the amount paid to Smiart

& Company?
A. That is what I should think.

Q. I want to ask you in regard to the productions made.to-day?

Mr. Scott.—Will you let me put them all in first?

Mr. Monk.—Certainly.

Mr. Scott.—The ninth question was for a list of deductions for the last three

jyears on those going to the United States, that is on whom these bonuses have been

paid. (Reads) :

—

statement of deductions on BRITISH AND CONTINENTAL IMMIGRANTS ON ACCOUNT OF

GOING TO THE U.S.A., FROM JANUARY, 1906, TO SEPTEMBER 30, 1907.

British 355

German

.

105

Norwegian 106

Swede 127

Finn 19

Russian 13

Russian-German 74

Russian-Jew

.

5

Polish 7
Swiss 2

Dane 31
Galicians and Doukhobors , 22
Austrian

^ 4
Dutch 21
Hungarian 13

Total 914

Of the British, bonus has already been deducted on 214 persons, leaving 151 yet
to be deducted. The reasons deductions hav/3 not been made of the above number
is because the department has not yet received bonus claims sufficient to cover them.
Bonus on continental immigrants has been deducted to date.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. How do you finally decide?
A. If the m'an goes to the United States within a year, according to our arrange-

ment we deduct it, although when he landed in Canada he declared his intention of
settling here.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. How do you arrive at these deductions?
A. We get a list of those crossing into the United States each month, samples of

which are produced here this morning. They take this list name by name with the
manifest. On the face of the manifest it says whether we have paid bonus or not.
If we have paid bonus we deduct it.

Q. You have to go through several manifests to find the names ?

A. Yes. It is very tedious work.
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Q. In the list there is nothing to indicate what steamer he came by ?

A. Yes. The name of the ship is given there.

Q. Do you refer to what you have produced?

A. Yes, it is there.

Q. Then the American officer tells you in his report by what steamer the immi-
grant came to Canada or the United States?

A. A great many are landed at the United States ports, come to Canada, work
for a time and go back.

Q. Is a bonus paid on an immigrant who goes to the United States and then

comes to Canad'a?

A. No, except when he lands in the winter time at Portland. But the great bulk

of those, of course, we have never paid in bonuses. It is only on a very small number
that we paid bonuses. The tenth question was as to the number of Doukhobors who
originally came to Canada. The number is 7,363. (Statement produced.) Then I

produce the monthly statements of bonuses paid to American agents and sub-agents

and railw'ay certificates serving to prove that the bonuses have been earned. Also a

letter or letters from the assistant superintendent in London giving the names of

duly selected agents on the continent. (File produced.) These were I think all the

items asked for.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. You were asked to produce the letter by which you had been officially informed
of the duly authorized continental booking agents ?

A. I have produced copies of them.

Q. Received from whom?
A. The first letter is dated April 9, 1907. It says :—

'With the exception of the agents in France, I have now selected those agents who
will participate in the new bonus arrangement on the continent. I beg to enclose

for your information a list of the agents selected, and, of course, these agents will

now be sending you bonus claims in accordance with the instructions contained in

your circular. I expect to make the selection of the French agents very shortly, and
"will advise you of those selected.'

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Who writes that letter?

A. Mr. J. Bruce Walker.

By Mr. Wilson (Lennox):

Q. What is the date of that letter ?

A. April 9, 1907.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. With regard to the documents produced by you as coming from the American
offices, do you get those documents monthly?

A. Yes.

Q. From the American superintendent at Montreal?
A. Yes.

Q. I find, for instance, la document entitled, 'List of immigrants who applied for

admission to the United States during the month of April, 1907.' It is n voluminous
document. Does the government pay for these returns?

A. Yes, we pay for the compiling of it.

Q. What is the arrangement as regards paymoiit with the American office in

Montreal ?
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A. I think we pay for the typewriting. I think they cost us from $10 to $15

a month.

Q. I have just now seen for the first time, and they purport to be a list of

those who originally booked for Canada and subsequently changed their minds and
fwent to the United States under the three clauses that are referred to in the American
Immigration Report.

Mr. Scott.—I have not read the American report.

Mr. Monk.—It appears to be a list of all those who at the border stations between

Canada and the United States applied for leave to enter the United States.

Q. How can you by that list make it out that a man booked originally for Ctanada

and then changed his mind and went to the United States?

A. They give the name there, the name of his ship he came out on, the date when
each ship arrived, and his nationality. They take the manifest of the ship and trace

the name up.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. And then you check that by looking up the manifest of the ship?

^ A. Yes.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. I would refer to the manifest of the Virginian that you produced at the last

meeting of the committee. I suppose the manifest of the Virginian is a fair sample?

A. It is la fair sample of the manifests received.

Q. I have noticed in looking over that manifest that in the summary given at

'the end and signed by the purser, there is a certificate that on the Virginian t(here

iseems to have been a total under the Immigration Act of 791 passengers entering

Canada by that steamer. That seems to be the final certificate on the manifest?

A. The total number of souls was 838 according to this certificate.

Q. He mentions the Immigration Act there. What does he mean?
A. Under the Immigration Act 791 is the actual number.

Q. I notice also another certificate attached to to the manifest for the signature

of our agent at Halifax that the inspection of the second cabin passengers was begun
by the medical examiner. Dr. Hawkins, at 1.25 p.m. and finished 'at 2.30 p.m.; that

the civil examination of these same second cabin passengers began at 1.25 p.m. and
was completed at 3 p.m.; that as regards the steerage inspection the examination
began at 4.15 p.m. and was terminated at 5.40 p.m., and that the civil examination
began at 4.15 p.m. and finished lat 6 p.m. I suppose that in that limited time there

could not be a very protracted examination of each passenger considering the number
of passengers certified by the purser?

A. That is the inspection certificate.

Q. Did I understand you to state at our last meeting that there was only £61, or

^vas it 61 passengers, on whom bonuses were paid on that steamer?

A. I put the -whole statement in. I have not got it in my memory.

Mr. Monk.—^I asked that question because from my perusal of the manifest I
arrived at the conclusion that in bonuses that steamship load must have cost us over

$500. I counted up the British bonuses paid, then the continental bonuses, and it

seems to me it was quite la large amount that we paid.

Mr. Scott.—I filed a statement before giving the exact figures of the bonuses we
did pay. It is in my former evidence.

Mr. Monk.—In the papers filed by you I notice there is a list. It looks as though
there were £61 paid, but I think the amount was more considerable than that.

Mr. Scott.—In any case that is in my former evidence.
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Q. Those tbat are marked in the manifest, 'British bonuses allowed' and those

marked * continental bonuses allowed'—in those cases the bonus was paid?

A. Yes.

Q. Who places that mark on the manifest?

A. The clerk who checks them.

Q. In the department here?

A. Yes, in the department here.

Q. With the documents you filed there is also this parcel which I now show you,

marked, 'No. 1 A' These purport to be statements made up mostly in pencil, headed*

'Department of the Interior.' What are these that I now showi you, and where are

they made up and by whom?
A. These are the examinations of the immigrants at the ocean ports, made up

by the agent or one of his clerks.

Q. As a matter of fact, these penciled statements are not made up, I suppose, in

the short time which I indicated a moment lago during which the inspection takes

place ?

A. They are made up while they are being inspected.

Q. Do you conceive it possible in that time to make up such a statement as that

for each passenger?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you able to say positively it is done in the presence of each immigrant?

A. Positively. I have done it myself.

Q. In the case of the Virginian^ can you tell from the handwriting who made it

up?
A. One of the clerks at the office.

Q. Down in Halifax?

A. Yes, the writing is familiar.

Q. Is the writing familiar?

A. Oh, quite familiar.

Q. You do not know who the writer would be?

A. It could only be done by one of three men, Mr. Annand, Mr. Barnstead or

Mr. Blackadder. They are the only three who could do it.

Q. I notice that none of those documents made up as passenger lists is signed?

A. They are all rubber stamped with the rubber stamp of the agency.

Q. Do you mean the rubber stamp down there?

A. Yes.

Q. And that dispenses with the signature?

A. Certainly. You asked me a moment ago for the number of British bonuses

paid on the Virginian. I find tbat at the last meeting I stated that bonuses were
claimed on 55 men, 22 women and 23 children, and that according to the information

scoUected at the ocean ports British bonuses were allowed and payable on 41 men, 14

Women and 13 children, leaving 14 men, 8 women and 10 children on whom bonuses

^vere disallowed. That is, those claims were not allowed on the evidence as taken at

the ocean ports on those forms. The total British bonuses paid was £61 10 shillings,

and the continental bonuses amounted to £36.

Q. Do you think that statement tallies with the bonuses allowed stamped on the

manifest ?

A. Oh, yes.

Q. As regards the claim of the agent on the steamer Victorian, produced by you
at the last sitting and now shown you as exhibit 2A, I find those statoments of claims

are incomplete. None of them contain the Canadian Goverimient agent's certificate.

Why is that certificate placed at the foot of the claim if it is only filled in by the

Canadian agent?

A. I explained to the committee either at the last sitting or the sititing before

that British booking agents claimed they should have a bonus on first class passengers
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who come out here to settle on the land, the same as second 'and third class passengers.
But we stated we could not pay a bonus on first class passengers because they are not
examined at Canadian ocean ports. They said: Can no arrangement be made whereby
fwe could get the examination on the other side, and we put that certificate at the
foot of the claim so that if they wished they could have the examination made in

Great Britain. If they did that I said they will get the bonus.

Q. Do you not think it would be an improvement if the agent claiming was
obliged to make an affidavit or give some satisfactory proof that the facts alleged in

the immigrant's application for a ticket are true?

A. He says so on the face of it that the statement made is true.

Q. I notice that -many of those applications for a ticket seem to be contradictory,

and you will notice that a large number of those you have filed do not indicate what
was the occupation of the applicant?

A. I think they ^11 show the occupation, everyone of them I think.

Mr Monk.—I will give you an instance. Here is one. No, 784,941, the applica-

tion of Gertrude Fisher does not indicate her occupation at all.

Mr. Scott.—It is there. (Beads) :

—

'What was your last occupation before sailing?—A. Domestic. How long were

you engaged?—A. Three years. British subject, destination in Canada, Winnipeg;

intended occupation in Canada, domestic'

Mr. Monk.—Here is one. No. 811,371, where there are no answers to the questions,

and the following one, 811,372, there is the s'ame thing, and the following one, 811,369*

the same thing.

Mr. Scott.—It is there :

—

'Destination in Canada is Calgary. Intended occupation, farmer.'

It is quite true he does not give his occupation before sailing, but the steamboat

inspection will give you the answer.

Q. Do we pay bonuses on steam laundrymen?
A. No.

Q. Well, in the case of No. 811,375 the continental bonus was alloM'ed?

A. It was allowed for the reason that he states, his intended occupation in Canada
is that of a farmer. If I had the port inspection I could tell you the reasons. The
last occupation before sailing was farmer, in which he had been engaged for two
years.

Q, How was that statement arrived at?

A. By the examination at the ocean port.

Q. Who stated it?

A. He stated it.

Q. But there is no statement by the agent who sold the ticket?

A. He states that he is going to farm in Canada.

Q. He is indicated there as a steam laundryman and that his intended occupa-

tion in Canada is that of farmer?

A. At the ocean port he gives his age, name and last occupation that of farmer,

in which he has been engaged for two years.

Mr. Monk.—And the statement of the agent was that he was a steam laundry-

man ?

Mr. Scott;—That may be, but the man stated when he landed at the ocean port

he had been ergaged for two years as a farmer.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. He may have been a laundryman engaged for two years in farming.



CANADIAN IMMIGRATION 381

APPENDIX No. 2

By Mr. Monh:

Q. If a mian says two different things, both cannot be true?

A. He does not say that.

Q. On the face of the application he is stated to be a steam laundryman, and
that his intended occupation in Canada is that of farmer?

A. And wlien he was examined at the ocean port he gave his last occupation as

farming, in which he had been engaged for two years.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. I notice quite a number of those immigrant's applications for tickets are in-

complete, particularly from the continental booking agents. Here is No. 811,378. You
notice how incomplete the statement is, but they are all unanimous in declaring that

they lare coming to Canada to engage as farm hands?

A. Yes, not all of them. Those particular ones are.

Q. 1 notice in the case of this man. No. 811,378, the continental bonus was
arowed.

A. Yes.

Q. Do you allow a bonus where the application is thus incomplete, and provided

la man declares either at the ocean port or on the other side that he intends engaging
in farming?

A. No, not exactly.

Q. Is it not the rule that a man who declares that he intends engaging in farm-

ing, that for the bonus to be paid it is sufficient that he alone should make .that

declaration ?

A. It is not the fact.

Q. That seems to be the case from my examination of the papers of the Victorian.

A. I gave this morning the number who were claimed for and disallowed. You
make the statement that we make an allowance on all passengers claimed for. I say

no. As I have already said, on the Virginian bonuses were claimed for 55 men, 23

women and 23 children, and there were allowed bonuses on 31 naen, 41 women and
13 children, leaving 14 men, 8 women and 10 children disallowed.

Q. I would like very much to test that in the case of No. 811,378 and others of

a similar character, where the application does not disclose lan answer to five or six

questions that are placed in the application. But there is a statement by the agent
in answer to the question, 'Intended occupation in Canada.'

Q. I lasked you as a matter of fact that where there is that much evidence you
pay the bonus?

A. If at the examination at the ocean port it is disclosed that he is of the farming
iclass, and that he intends to follow farming in Canada.

Mr. Monk.- Let us take the case of No. 811,370, page 16, line 23, of the manifest.
There is in that case, as in many others, no answers to the questions excepting to

those as to the intended occupation in Canada.

Mr. Sc;o'j'T.—When he lands at the ocean port he gives his name, last occupatiiou
iprior to sailing, as farming, that he had been engaged in that occupation for five

years, that he had lived in Holland, that he was going to Calgary, that he intended
to farm, and that he had $500 in cash.

Mr. Monk.—But to the question :—
'How long engaged as farmer,' no answer; Svhere,' no answer; 'when,' no answer;

'last occupation prior to sailing,' no answer.

Mr. Scott.—In his examination at the ocean port ho gives that.

Q. In this particular case does the man speak English do you think I
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A. I could not say. If he does not we have interpreters at the ocean port who

s^eak the language he speaks. I would like to say that this particular lot of immi-

grants from Holland had in their possession cash varying from $150 to $8,000.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Each man?
A. Yes, each man. Take the case of the man Prudholm, p'age 18, line 33, of the

manifest. He had $7,000. On page 20, line 17, a Hollander going to Calgary to farm

had $7,000. On page 20, line 20, another had $2,000. This is the examination m'ade

at the ocean ports.

Q. Does the officer check his cash?

A. They have not time to count his cash. They simply take the amount. Here

is one on page 20, line 27, who had $8,000.

By Mr. Schell (Oxford):

Q. Do they ever overstate it?

^ A. Foreigners usually understate what they have.

By Mr, Kennedy (New Westminster)

:

Q. Is that examination at the port of arrival?

A. Yes.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Taking those two examinations together they would answer all those ques-

tions ?

A. Certainly. We do not pay on every claim, we get complaints that we are not

free enough in paying, that we do not pay them readily enough.

Q. You do not throw money at these agents?

A. We get complaints that we are stingy.

By Mr. MonJc:

Q. Would you refer to the case of Albertus Dionysius, page 17, line 6. What
are the indications on the manifest for this gentlemian?

A. He was from Holland, 31 years of age, a farmer, had been so all his life, was
going to Calgary to farm, and had $3,000 in cash.

Q. I see it is stated in lan application that this man of 31 years of age had been

20 years a farmer?

A. When examined at the ocean port he said he had been a farmer aU his life.

Q. Now, take the case of Van Akin, page 20, line 16.

A. That particular man had $7,000 in cash.

Mr. Monk.—So he said.

Mr. Scott.—He had been a farmer for years. His age is 28, occupation prior to

sailing gardener, and had been so engaged for ten years. He apparently worked some
time in the IT. S., for in reply to the question whether he had been gardening he says

in Holland and the U. S. He had in his possession $7,000.

Mr. Monk.—The case on page 20, line 20, also states 21 years a farmer?

A. That particular man gave his age as 31, his last occupation prior to sailing

farmer, and had been such all his life, was a Hollander by birth, had never been in

Canada before, and had $2,000 in cash.
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By Mr Monk:

Q. I notice one was a steam fitter upon whom we paid a bonus. Here is one

George S. Eden, manifest page 2, line 50, an engine fitter, upon whom the bonus was
allowed. Is that correct?

A. His last occupation prior to sailing was that of navvy. He was a British

subject by birth and came out here as a railway labourer.

Q. You infer he came out as a railway labourer?

A. He says so.

Q. He was very positive in the application that he was an engine fitter.

A. He came out here and his intended occupation was railway labourer.

Q. As a matter of fact there is no means of ascertaining on the other side the

truth of those allegations made by the applicant?

A. The inspection is made on this side.

Q. But the examination on the other side consists in the booking agents taking

this statement of the applicant, as shown by the papers produced from the Yictorianf

A. There is no statement outside of the medical inspection except where a man
appears before one of our Canadian agents and has his examination made there.

Q. In England all the licensed booking agents are entitled to the bonus?
A. Provided they do not break any of our regulations. If they break any of our

regulations we strike them off and give them the reasons why we do so.

Q. Is there one doctor in Halifax who makes the medical examination?
A. Yes.

Q. And in the space of time given in the documents relating to the Victorian

do you think he has time to conduct the medical examination?
A. A reasonable examination.

Q. What does it amount to, as a matter of fact, in the space of an hour to pass

500?

A. They average about 300 an hour.

Q. What do you think the medical examination will amount to?

A. That is for the medical man to say. It is the same at the American ports.

Q. Does Dr. Bryce visit those ports?

A. He does.

Q. He never takes the examinations himself, does he?
A. I think so, when he is there.

Mr. Kennedy (New Westminster).—^I stood on a vessel at Glasgow last year

where a lot of immigrants were going on and a physician, who I think was employed
by the steamship company, the Allan Line, was examining passengers as they went on

board. I timed them as they came up the ladders. The doctor looked them over as

any sharp man would look at them to see if there might be any traces of disease. He
seemed to me to be making a very fair examination. I timed him, and he passed

from five to 12 a minute. He turned some of them back and stood them apart, until

he got through the others, and then he looked them over again.

Mr. Scott.—There are two doctors at Glasgow, one is the Board of Trade's and
the other the company's own doctor.

Mr. Monk.—^It would be the same thing as the honourable member here has stated,

that he must pass from five to 12 a minute.

Mr. Scott.—About 300 an hour. I filed with the committee at the last meeting
the inspection of the medical officer. There were two kinds of examination. I think

Dr. Barr saw them.

Mr. Kennedy (New Westminster),—I know one doctor kept me for two hours

examining me for insurance.

Mr. Scott.—They ciannot examine inunigrants that way.



384 SUPERINTENDENT OF IMMIGRATION

8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

By Mr. Monk:

Q. Are any efforts being made to obtain on the other side a civil and medical
examination of immigrants from the continent coming direct to Canada?

A. No.

Q. Are you aware that the American authorities conduct such an examination?

A. At some ports they do. At the chief ports of Southern Europe they do, but

not in the northern ports of Europe.

Q. Are you sure they have no such examination at Antwerp?
A. I cannot say as to Antwerp. It is a point to which a good many come from

the south. They come in there from Turkey and Assyria.

Q. How do you make a distinction between southern and northern Europe?
A. The class of immigrants from northern Europe are not the same as those of

southern Europe.

Q. Are they a better class?

A. Certainly, they are a better class.

Mr. Barr.—^They have not so much wrong with their eyes.

Mr. Scott.—They have not trachoma to the same extent. We use every pre-

i^aution to keep out undesirable immigrants, and I think we have been fairly success-

ful. The only complaint we get now is that the examination is too severe.

By Mr. Barr:

Q. Fiom wriom?
A. You will see it in the newspapers.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. I think I understood you to say at the last meeting that once an immigrant
has landed, bonused or othei-wise, he is not traced?

A. Some of them are.

Q. Is there any system?

A. We have in Ontario and parts of Quebec a system of placing farm labourers

with farmers. We have a number of employment agents to whom booking agents

in the old country send the immigrant direct.

Q. Since when?
A.This is the second year of its operation.

Q. How niany agents do you employ in Ontario?

A. Possibly 175 to 200.

Q. How many in Quebec ?

A. Probably 8 or 10.

Q. Can you give us a list of those agents employed in Ontario, what has been

paid to them and what men they have placed ?

A. Yes, I can.

Q. And the same as regards Quebec?
A. Yes, I gave it to Dr. Sproule last night.

Mr. Monk.—I was asking the name^ of those placing agents in the provinces of

Ontario and Quebec, what has been paid to them during the last year, and what
immigrants have been placed.

Mr. Scott.—I want to make a statement with reference to those employment
agencies.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. Will you allow me one minute. The certificate that is signed by the immi-
grant in applying for a ticket is tlje only ono signed by the immigrant. He does

not sign other documents on this side?

A. No.
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Q. If in the immigrant's application for a ticket lie fails to fill out that part of

<he form :
^ Farmer, farm labourer, gardener, &c,' when he comes to Canada he allows

tb»^ immigration agent to fill it in?

A. The immigration agent asks him questions as shown on that form.

Q. Now, if he fills in his intended occupation in Canada, would the bonus be

paid for such a man?
A. If he had one year's experience as a farmer in the old country. He must have

had experience as a farmer in the old country before any bonus is paid. It does not

matter what he does in this country. There are dozens of men of all kinds of occupa-

tions from the old country who come out to farm in this country. Some of our best

farmers in the west never saw a farm until they came here.

Q. That experience may be had at any time?

A. Oh, yes.

Q. I see for example a carpenter on whom the bonus was allowed?

A. It was not allowed because he was a carpenter.

Q. He styles himself a carpenter. He states that ten or fifteen years previous

he was a farmer and that his intention was to locate on a farm?
A. Yes.

Q. What opportunity have you of comparing the immigrant's application for a

1;icket with the certificate of the immigrant agent on this side ? Are those all compared
before the bonus is allowed?

A. Certainly, and all put in order so that they can be readily turned up.

Q. So an immigrant coming to Canada need not say he is a farmer, a farm
laborer, gardener, or anything else if he gives an answer to the immigration agent

here that he had worked twelve months on a farm?

A. Very often those forms are incomplete. I was making a statement with refer-

ence to the placing of labourers with the farmers in Ontario. Ninety per cent of

the tickets sold in Great Britain are sold at least thirty days before the immigrant
.sails. As soon as the booking agent has sold a ticket to an immigrant he gives him
a card of introduction to one of those employment agencies. We have 175 or 200

different men, and the booking agent immediately notifies the employment agent that

he has sold such ticket, describing the man, telling him what kind of work he wants,

What is his experience and so on. He mails that to the employment agent in Canada
so that when the immigrant arrives at the particular station to which he is booked,

our employment agent knows exactly where to send him and what farmer to send

(him to. We find the thing is working out very well. For instance, we occasionally

hear that these immigrants are all thieves, and diseased, and undesirable immigrants.

•I have taken just one book of claims put into the office here on whom we have paid

$12 for locating them and there are some very good immigrants amongst them. We
Isend out these forms in order to satisfy ourselves that the immigrant had been placed

•with a farmer and to ascertain what degree of satisfaction he was giving to the

tfarmer. Here is one of the answers: (Reads.)

' Thomas Broad was placed with Daniel Frost at Frankford, Ontario, who replies

:

' Your letter received this morning and in reply would say, that Thomas Broad
is still with me and has given me fairly good satisfaction. I am giving him $15 a

month.'

Then, here is one about Adamson Bell, who is placed with Thomas G. Elliott,

Wooller, Ontario, and Mr. Elliott replies:

'In regard to Adamson Bell, he worked for me for four months and n half. I

hired him for $20 per month and paid him $110. He proved to be a real gentleman,
and a humble servant. He proved to be a very satisfactory immigrant. He went
home in December, as he has promised his parents he would on leaving England.'

Archibald Reid was placed with Mr. S. L. Pcrrill, of Wooller, who says

:

2—35
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' The above mentioned young man, Archibald Reid, was with me one month, at

$20, during which time he did his work well and satisfactorily. Then he left me for

the Northwest, getting that craze like so many of the rest of the immigrants.'

Joseph Monkhonse was placed with George Runciman, Warkworth, Ontario, and

Mr. Runciman writes

:

' In reply to your favour of recent date, I would say that Joseph Monkhouse has

been engaged with me for the last three months and has given good satisfaction.

Was paying him $20 a month and have now engaged him for the following six months

for $90.'

Johanna Montgomery was placed with Dr. Foley, Trenton, Ontario, who replied:

'Mrs. Foley is well pleased with Miss Montgomery. She is a splendid, fine girl

and does her work thoroughly and well. She worked two weeks for $2 per week, arid

Mrs. Foley was so well suited with her that she raised her wages to $2.50 per week.'

Mrs. Christie McKenzie, wife of Wm. McKenzie, was placed with G. L. Walker.

Norham, Ontario, and Mr. Walker replies

:

' Some time ago I received a communication from you in regard to W. McKenzie,
a farm hand from Scotland, to which I neglected to reply. Would say that he is

employed by the year. I furnish him house and wood. Mrs. Christina McKenzie, his

wife, is not working for me, but is living in a house on my place,' and so on.

There are hundreds., I may say thousands, of those letters showing that the bulk

of the immigrants placed with farmers are doing well under the system we have

adopted in placing them through employment agents.

Mr. Monk.—I think that is a step in the right direction. I am impressed with

the large number of those employment agents you have in the province of Ontario.

I may state with reference to this list you have prepared for Dr. Sproule that 1

would like you to prepare a list for Quebec.
Mr. Scott.—^Yes.

By Mr, Monk:

Q. How do you arrive at the payment of the commission? Take, for instance, the

case of Glengarry. G. McPherson, the agent there, got $130 for placing 65?

A. Yes.

Q. How does he establish his claim ?

A. When he places an immigrant with a farmer he sends us the certificate :

—

'I have this day placed He landed at the port of on
the day , SS , Is farm labourer, domestic, and so on.'

I take, this certificate to signify that the agent has placed him with a farmer, or

as a farm labourer or domestic. If we do not get the signed form, we write and find

out.

Q. Would you for the next meeting take up that case of McPherson who was
paid $130 for 65 and show the document ?

A. I could leave this with you.

hy Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Have you any agents in the Maritime Provinces?

A. No. They only work satisfactorily where the bulk of the province is agricul-

tural. On SS. Montreal there were only two immigrants on whom bonuses were
claimed. The bulk of them were from countries where we do not pay bonuses. For
instance, Austria-Hungary. There was one placed in the province of Quebec.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Is not Austria-Hungary in tha list of those countries?
A. It is, but we are not paying any bonuses at the present time.
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Q. How is that?

A. I do not know.

Q. Is not the amount of bonus the same in all countries?

A, Yes, now.

Q. You will remember McPherson?
A. I have it in my hand.

Mr. Honk.—I have no more questions to ask Mr. Scott to-day. I would like to

have an opportunity of looking over the documents produced. I might have a few
more questions about McPherson.

Mr. Scott.—In addition to what I have given you I was asked for a list of the

deportations. I have brought over a fewi of the original files to show the process under
which undesirable immigrants are handled.

Mr. Monk.—I think it would be to the advantage of the committee to hear Dr.

Bryce. He could give us some evidence on the medical examinations at some future

date.

Mr. Sproule.—I notice in this list which purports to show the salaries and con-

tingent expenses of agents for the fiscal year 1907—that, apparently, it only gives the

names of the salaried agents and not the sub-agents.

Mr. Scott.—I gave you a separate list giving the list of sub-agents and the

amounts paid for five years.

Mr. Sproule.—That was among the papers you left with us ?

Mr. Scott.—Yes, that was filed.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. With regard to estimating the amount of cash and settler's effects, what means
does the agent resort to to get as correct an estimate as possible?

A. When they issue a certificate—I also filed the certificates upon which tjie

American bonuses have been paid—^when the agent or sub-agent is issuing a certificate

he asks the man what he is worth in cash and effects.

Q. Take one for instance, the number of cars at 148. As near as can be ascer-

tained the value amounted to so much?
A. We can tell absolutely the number of cars.

Mr. Sproule.—That is all right but I mean with regard to the values.

Mr. Scott.—We simply take a man's word for it.

I may say it is very difficult to get farmers to take a family. They either want
single men or a single girl, or a man and wife, without children. That is why we pay
the locating agent $2 each for locating families. It is a very difficult thing to do and
they are most desirable immigrants.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Are you able to place a man on whom you have paid a bonus and find out how
many have taken up homesteads?

A. Yes. I gave that to the committee at the last* sitting. I filed a statement.

Mr. Monk.—Not the names, I thinlv.

Mr. Scott.—We can give you the names, but it would be an awful job.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Can you tell how many of those on whom you actiuilly paid bonuses? Some
of them of course are immigrants on which you do not pay?

A. When you get down to that it would be very hard to make statistics. Wihen
the immigrant is making his entry for a homestead he is asked his nationality. I filed

2—35i



388 SUPERINTENDENT OF IMMIGRATION

8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

a statement last week giving a number of homesteads entered from January 1, 190Y, to

January 1, 1908, of this year, showing the number of entries, English, Irish, Scotch

and continental immigrants. Taking them for a period of 20 years they would average

2 '5, or two and a half people, and taking that basis it would work out at 20 per cent

Scotch, 23 per cent Irish, 43 per cent American, and 28 per cent continental.

Mr. Monk.—^It would be very satisfactory to trace the immigrant right up to the

Northwest and on to the farm.

Mr. Scott.—^If you wish it for the purposes of demonstration, I would be only too

.pleased to trace say 50, but to trace them over a number of years would be an awful

job,

Mr. Monk.—If it was done as a system you could be able to come before us and
say : 'Here are the names of the parties on whom bonuses were paid.

Mr. Scott.—It would be an endless job.

Mr. Sinclair.—Could not the Mounted Police assist?

Mr. Scott.—Consider the size of the country.

Mr. Sinclair.—Could they not call on the settlers?

Mr. Scott.—They do in some of the newer districts.

Mr. Monk.—If the name of a man entering for a homestead was returned to you
with sufficient information, such as the ship he came out on, could not you trace him
more easily?

Mr. Scott.—That is the lands branch and they would have to amend their form.

I had tihem amend their form as to nationality, but we never get the name of the ship.

The committee adjourned.

Having read over the preceding transcripts of my evidence, I find them correctj.

W. D. SCOTT,
Superintendent of Immigi^^ition.
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MEDICAL EXAMINATION AND HEALTH OF IMMIGRANTS.

House of Commons^

Committee Eoom No. 34,

Wednesday^ June 10, 1908.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization met here this

/day at 10.10 o'clock a.m., Mr. McKenzie, chairman, presiding.

The Chairman.—The committee, as you are all aware, has met to-day to proceed

)^vith the examination of Dr. P. H. Bryce in regard to the quarantine regulations, the

health of immigrants, and otht^r matters connected therewith. It was Mr. Monk who
•requested that Dr. Bryce should appear before the committee but the honourable

gentleman has not yet arrived. Dr. Bryce has no particular statement to make; he
is here for examination to give all the information that is required of him, providing

he can do so. If any honourable gentleman present desires to interrogate Dr. Bryce,

fpending Mr. Monk's arrival, it is^ of course, open to him to do so.

SYSTEM OF EXAMINATION AT OCEAN PORTS.

By Mr. Sch\xifner:

\ Q. If the information has not been given already, I would like the doctor to

iexplain briefly the system of examination in force with respect to immigrants upon
.'arriving at Quebec or other Canadian ocean ports.

Dr. Bryce.—I may say, Mr. Chairman and gentlemen, that the system has not

{been altered materially in the last three or four years except to make it more precise

in its details than it was four years ago, when we instituted the work, and regarding

Which special information is to be found in the annual reports. I might say that

Ithis year, in view of the increasing stringency demanded or rather, I suppose, the

"restricted opportunities for work, the department has endeavoured to bring out the

very best of all who have in any way been assisted; and in order to do it it has

imade it necessary for every such emigrant who presents himself at a ticket office, or

la shipping office, in the old country, to have the certificate of a medical officer of

some sort—in England sometimes it may be the medical officer of the parish, some-

rtimes it may be the family doctor—that the emigrant is in perfect health.

/ Q. You say that is the custom now?
A. That is the practice now. That is called for by the regulations of the depart-

iment.

By Mr. Barr:

Q. Where are those regulations kept? We have been unable to find any trace

k)i them?
A, These certificates go to the London office or to the ticket office whore the ticket

is obtained.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. When was that system introduced?

A. This last year. I will attach to my evidence a copy of the blank certificate

form required to be filled out by all assisted emigrants in Great Britain.

389
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By Mr. Barr:

Q. Just this year?

A. This last winter.

Q. We could not find any trace of those regulations?

i A, There is a printed form required.

' Q. We have not seen any?

A. I have no doubt we can supply copies. I have seen the fomi myself.

Q. We have been told that it is merely a matter of form?

A. The regulations are contained on a large printed form and deal with all

steamship passengers that are in any way assisted. As regards others, any person

who comes to a doctor at Liverpool with his ticket in his pocket, and is healthy look-

ing, of course goes on board. The Board of Trade doctor of Liverpool, or it may b.e

of London, and subsequently the ship's doctor, examines that person before he goes
'

on board and becomes a passenger. Of course, you cannot apply the certificate require-

ment to people who are buying their passage independently of any assistance. We
have not seen any way by which you can get at a person who goes down—for instance,

this morning at 10 o'clock—on the dock at Liverpool and, with thousands of others,

demands to come on board a steamer that sails at 2 p.m. Everything then is in

confusion and we have seen no way by which you can make an examination at Liver-

pool the morning of sailing any more thoroughly than it is with the Board of Trade

doctor at the port and the ship's doctor. The passenger goes on board and during 7, 8

or 9 days he under the supervision of the ship's doctor who has to make a signed

declaration, which is left with the medical inspector of the port of arrival, stating

that during the voyage no person has suffered from any disease other than the follow-

ing: Then he has to give the name of the person suffering from the disease and the

name of the disease, and that statement has to be signed by tke doctor and by the

ship's master. Beally it is in the shape of an oath, and I don't know how you could

make it any more binding. It is the word of honour of the ship's doctor that there

are no more cases on board than ho enumerates. Then when that passenger comes off

the ship he is one of 1,000 or 1,500; there have been as many as 7,000 passengers

landing at Quebec in a single day. Last year there were that number, the largest in

any one day. The passengers have to be examined in detail and it is done simply in

this way : On the large steamers of the Canadian Pacific Bailway which lie at Quebec
the company ask for, and the department sends down, a medical man to Rimouski,
who carefully examines on the way up all the second class passengers. They are

generally nice people, but here and there there may be a defective of some sort

amongst them. Those detained are taken into the immigration building. When they
come into the building they pass through a line of medical examination, which I
think, is as reasonably strict as can be carried out anywhere in practice. We have
two medical men on the line. One doctor's duty is to examine, as the immigrant
comes along a narrow passage where there is nobody else, the general appearance of

the man; whether there is anything defective in his appearance, such as epilepsy or

it may be St. Vitus' Dance, or whether there is anything that would indicate that he

is a defective. That is noted as he goes along the line. After that he is examined
in detail. If there is a tendency shown towards trachoma, that is ascertained by
turning back the lids of the eyes. That is done with us much more thoroughly than
it is at New York, where they pride themselves upon the carefulness of their examina-
tion. I know our results are even more exact than theirs, and they think in New
York they are pretty exact. In general terms that is what we do.

We have often wondered how we could examine 1,500 or 2,000 or 3,000 people,

coming mostly from Britain, in any more thorough way. The experience has been that

there are more persons of defective physical organization come from Great Britain,

especially from the factory towns in England, than from any other country, notably

more; and we have wondered what we could do with regard to stopping a line, for
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instance of 2,000 people, in a forenoon or in a day and going into what you might

might call a minute physical examination of each one. We have thought that in the

first place it would mean three or four days' detention of a shipload; and when you

remember that means the debarkation of about 1 person in every 100, you will see how
serious the problem is. If you examined 99 persons and detained one person, it would

mean the very unnecessary, in my judgment, detention of all the rest. We have to

realize that these people have been on board ship for nine days or two weeks, that they

are going far west, that they ar^ not in good shape so far as their physical appearance

goes, they are dirty looking; and if we started and examined into the condition of the

lungs and heart of each passenger it would mean from haK an hour to an hour's

delay in each case. We do not think the number of detentions or deportations, at

- present at any rate, calls for such a severe discipline as that. It is not followed in

New York, where they have been trying to keep out rather than admit people, and
personally I do not think it is necessary here. What we have done has been to insist

upon our medical officers opening their eyes wider, if possible, to see any mentally

defective person. Now, only yesterday a person got to Winnipeg and shortly after

getting there he became insane. Well, it looked as if* that man ought to have been

detected with certainty down at Quebec, say a week before. But medical men know
that sometimes within a night a person becomes violently insane. I have been collect-

ing statistics from our asylums and have noticed that you will find an insane person's

name occurring in a list once, twice, three times and even four times; going into the

hospital, coming out well, staying out a year or six months, then getting bad again
and going back once more to the hospital. Well, if that man is well enough to be
sent out by the doctors of the hospital and should happen to be coming through the
port of Quebec, it is not to be expected that our doctors, who know nothing about the
case—which is but one in 3,000—are likely to pick out that man. I do not think so,

and while I think they have learned to be much more careful with regard to mental
diseases and that sort of thing than they were at first when everybody talked about
trachoma, I am quite certain that if you took the total number of insane that have
been deported in two years and set it against the 50,000 or more people that have been
inspected, you will see that the inspection is just about as reasonably exact and careful
as the situation makes possible.

By Mr. Blain:

Q. What objection would there be to have a medical officer on each vessel with a

very large number of immigrants on board?
A. Each steamship at present has its own doctor.

Q. But we will say a special medical man representing the government?
A. Well, we ihiave talked about that and it has seemed better, if anything more is

deemed necessary that the ship's officer be made our officer so to speak. We might say
to him :

' Now you only get so much from the company, that is mostly for taking care

of people who are seasick and one thing and another. You are not supposed, presum-
ably, by the terms of your contract, to spend all your time down amongst the immi-
grants. Supposing you agree to make a daily individual inspection of every person
downstairs during the sev^en or eight days of the voyage ? ' I am convinced that if we
lean get the officers of the company to do that, we will have adopted the extreme of

methods to find out really the condition of health of every one on that vessel.

By Mr. Barr:

Do you understand that the government pays for this health officer?

A. What I am stating is only a supposition.

Q. But as a matter of fact they do now?
A. Oh, no, not on the steamships. The government does not pay the ship's

doctor now.
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Q. Then there is no safeguard?

A. Yes. We would add to his salary. They only get about $50 a month, these

young fellows.

By Mr, Black:

Q. In your opinion, is the average ship's surgeon a man of sufficient ability to be

selected by the department for that kind of work? You have met many of them as

well as myself?

A. I think they are. They are divided into two classes. I have known of young
men a little ansemic or a little tubercular, who have gone on board as ship's surgeon,

because thk^y are delicate in health. Once in a while you will, find an old soaker, but

not many in recent years I am glad to say. Then there is a class of bright young
fellows who want to get a little pocket money and experience of the world.

By Mr. Barr:

Q. It not infrequently happens that they are not graduates of a medical college ?

A. I do not think so. I think the steamship companies can get all the graduates

thoy want.

Q. I know cases where the young men have failed in their examination ?

A. Certainly we would not grant our money until we knew our men.

By Mr. Mclntyre (StMTicona):

Q. The ship's surgVion examines the passenger's at the point of embarkation for

the purpose of protecting the interests of the company?
A. Yes.

Q. He makes a thorough examination because the immigrant, if he is an invalid,

or is in a bad state of health, is going to prove an expense to the steamship company,
provided he is detained in the government detention hospital? The company pays for

that?

A. That is right.

Q. And if diseased immigrants are deported, the company pays the expense?
A. Yes.

Q. Threfore, it is necessary for the ship's surgeon to see that those men coming on
board are in absolutely good health. Now, here is the fault I find in the suggestion

made by you. To my mind Mr. Blain's suggestion~is ahead of yours. Supposing the

government pays the ship's doctor for investigating the health of the immigrants? It

will be his duty, as it was before, to protect the ship or rather protect the company.
Now if, after the vessel has sailed, it turns out that some of those people have seasick-

ness which develops before obscured epilepsy, quite a common thing I believe under
such conditions, it is the duty of that surgeon to his emlpoyers to protect that epileptic

friom being detected at the port of disembarkation. Is that not true?

A. It may or may not be true. He has got to sign a certificate.

Q. Yes, but whom is he working for ?

A. Of course, there is that phase of it.

Q. Here is where I see the fault in your suggestion. Under your arrangement you
would have the ship's doctor as a government offi-cer to report on the people that are

sick. But the moment he does so he entails additional expense on the company. Do
I make myself clear?

A. Quite clear.

Mr. McIntyre (Strathcona).—I cannot see that such a system would work.

By Mr. Barr:

Q. xis I understand, the immigrants on disembarking here merely pass along a
line?



MEDICAL EXAMINATION AND HEALTH OF IMMIGRANTS 393

APPENDIX No. 2

A. In front of our medical inspector and his assistant.

Q. But they pass along?

A. They pass along in front of two doctors.

Q. How rapidly do they pass along?

A. Well, supposing they are fine hearty looking English people, clean in wind
and limb, I suppose, probably one a miniite or probably one in two or three minutes.

iYou take a thousand people and their examination would occupy several hours.

Q. As a matter of fact they pass at the rate of six a minute according to our

information, I think?

A. No, hardly that.

Q. You could not raise the lids of the eyes of each person in that tim^ ?

A. We do not.

Q. You do not pretend to do that?

A. Not if the immigrants are English people.

Q. You could not raise even the man's head in that time?

A. I would put it that each person's examination would occupy ]iot much more
fthan one minute.

Q. But actually the immigrants pass at the rate of six a minute. That is proven

Ibeyond doubt by the figures presented to the committee by Mr. Scott. You see that

lis the actual fact?

A. It may have been in the case of a healthy ship. That might be in the case

of a healthy lot of people.

Q. Yes, but that is the fact according to the list laid before us by Mr. Scott?

A. All the doctors can do, unless they examine each immigrant in detail, is when
they see a delicate looking person, who may be consumptive, to tell him to stand
laside and the line goes on.

/ Q. Many persons whose eyes are affected have passed the line instead of being

lasked to stand aside?

A. Oh, no.

Q. Yes.

A. You see we have not got trachoma among the English people. You cannot
tfind any in our hospitals, not one in a thousand people.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. There are a great many people affected with eye disease in England now?
A. That is among the Jewish people, and they are examined tliere now.

By Mr. Barr:

Q. A great many cases come out here?

A. We have got all of them. I am convinced that we do not get trachoma from
England except amongst cases that may have been in hospitals and treated. Tho
Idisease is not amongst the English people.

Q. What about the continental people?

A. We examine all of them.

By Mr. Mclntyre (Strathcona) :

Q. Quite recently J had occj?sioii to look into your method of inspection in the
K!ity of Quebec. I think it would be advisable for every medical man who is in the
House of Commons to examine into your methods because, to my mind, the state-

ment you made is absolutely true; that as a reasonable examination I do not see that
dt can be much improved. A very misleading statement has been made hero that 300
kvill pass within a certain limit of time. Every person that passes tlie doctor is

.'examined. lie is stopped and asked three questions: generally where he came from,
where he is going, and what condition of health his family is in. Those questions are
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broad questions of that kind. One is to determine whether the man can answer a
ibroad question of that kind. Generally speaking- there is some pleansantry passed

on the part of the doctor there. No person passes a doctor without being asked at

least three or four questions.

A. That is right.

Q. At the examination I saw all the children's heads were uncovered, and so

were the parents for that matter, and an examination made of the scalp as regards

ringworm or any similar skin disease which might manifest itself. The point you
•make is an im-portant one, that if the immigrant be anaemic he is sent to the deten-

tion room. Of the passengers that I saw examined fully fifty persons were detained?

A. That is right.

Q. For instance there was someibody that had a glass eye. That was noticed, and
it was a very clever piece of work. That person was set aside and for various other

'reasons passengers were set aside and sent into the detention room; but the line was
'not stopped on account of the persons so detained. In the case of all continental

Ipeople coming in their eyes are carefully examined.

Mr. ScHAPFNER.—About how many a minute went through ?

Mr. McIntyre (Strathcona).—I did not take note of the time so I could not

'answer that.

^ Mr. Bark.—I saw the inspection several times and that was not my experience.

TRACHOMA.

Dr. Bryce.—Perhaj)S I might say this with regard to trachoma. I think it is

worth noting. You know that in 1902 or 1903 there were loud complaints of people

suffering from trachoma coming to the States via Canada. The regular work in con-

nection with our department began in 1903 and became more exact with our own
hospitals in 1904. In every year since tliat time we have, especially ill tho cities of

Montreal and Toronto and last winter in AVinnipeg, Calgary and Eegina, made detailed

examinations of the hospitals and the dispensaries with a view to finding if there

were any trachoma cases in those institutions. ISTow speaking without notes I may
say that the Winnipeg General Hospital, in its out-patient department, last year had

2,935 persons coming up daily for examination. I went through in detail every case

in that list as to the cause of their coming there, and out of that number there were

only 17 persons in the whole year "v^^ho cem<) up to the Winnipeg General Dispensary,

which is a free dispensary, for trefitmeut (in account of trachoma.

I went to the Margaret Scott Nursing Home, which is down near the station in

Winnipeg, within a couple of blocks of it, and the nurses from that institution visit

the poor in their homes.

Mr. Jackson.—It is near the Imxmigration Home?
A. Yes, near the Immigration Home. They have som^e six or seven nurses going

about attending the poor immigrants and other people who need their services, but

there was in the register in the Margaret Scott Home, out of 230 or 240 cases in the

10 months previous, only one person as having been treated for the eyes. Within a

block of the Marga^-et Scott Home, three or four doctors who were not on the hospital

staff, started a little clinic on their own account, and they had asked the public in that

neighbourhood to come there and be treated free. I said to one of the doctors who
had been going to the clinic for about four months, 'Have you had any trachoma here' ?

and he replied, ' No, we have not had any trachoma patients.' At Begina there was
quite a noise made, principally in Saskatchewan, by certain officers there that there

were a good many trachoma patients cropping up in the rural parts of Saskatchewan.
I went there, and got hold of the provincial health officer. Dr. Seymour, and said:
' Can you put me on the track of trachoma patients in this province ' ? And he said

in reply, ' I really do not know of any specially. We have just started our record
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system requiring the compulsory reporting of contagious diseases ; from tlie rural parts

we get them once a month, and we get them from the cities also.' I said, * Tell me what

you have,' and he said, ' We have them over in the Department of Agriculture, what-

ever returns have been received they are kept over there.' I said, ' You have heard

the report from the Department of Agriculture that there are a great many patients,'

and he said, 'Yes.' I said, ' Do you know about them ' ? and he said, ' No. I think it

is Dr. McLeod, a specialist over here who reports these.' I said, ' We will go and see

Dr. McLeod,' which we did, and after a preliminary chat with Dr. McLeod, who is a

good Nova Scotian doctor and tells the truth, I have no doubt about that, he was

asked how many people he had seen in the last three months, being new cases of

trachoma, and he replied, 'Well, I don't know, probably one or two per month.' I

said, ' You are reported as having seen lots of cases, and there are a good many Ger-

mans in the suburbs of Regina, and I suppose you have seen them.' He said, ' I think

they must go to other doctors, they do not come to me.' I said, ' Can you let me
look through your books for the past three or four months ' ? But he did not ofier

to produce the books, and the most he could say was that he had one or two cases within

the last month, or within two or three months, as new cases. I said, ' Who were they ' ?

and he replied, ''One of them was a family that moved up here from Manitoba, an

English family.' He could not give me others ; that is the only case he cited as having

trachoma.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Is he a private practitioner?

A'. He is a private practitioner.

By Mr. Monh :

Q. You probably read an article by Dr. Gordon Byers, one of our best eye special-

ists in Montreal, which was published in the Medical Journal three or four years ago,

in T^hich he called particular attention to trachoma patients v/hich they had treated

in the Montreal General Hospital land in which—I am quoting from memory—I think

he says, there are has been a diminution in the number, still the percentage of trachoma
in a city like Montreal constitutes a very grave danger. Then again what have you to

say in regard to the Trachoma Hospital at Quebec where we treat patients, if I am
correctly informed?

A. You mean the Government hospital?

Q. Yes.

A. Oh, certainly, but we do not allow them out until they are cured.

Q. As to that, I cannot speak with knowledge, although I have heard of a woman
who was treated there and afterw^ards, although not cured, was sent down to Nova
Scotia to join her husband's family; but this is mxere hearsay. Does not that, in your
estimation, consitute considerable danger in regard to trachoma?

A. No, if I understand you, the point is that trachoma cases which come in

amongst the immigrants are stopped and treated; if that is what I understand Mr.
Monk to say, that is quite true. This year Dr. Page, our Quebec officer, spent several

days going among the Montreal hospitals to find out whether any of his old patients

were being treated there, and the doctors who are in attendance as specialists simply

tell us that the condition of five years ago does not exist at all to-day. I suppose not*

more than twenty or thirty cases are reported from the ordinary dispensaries as being:

^treated for the year. Of course, one case may go for a month or up to two or three

months, but whatever had existted five years ago does not exist to-day. We want to find

out, because we wish to know whether the treatment in our Quebec hospital is effective

and whether it is thorough, scientific piece of work. Dr. Page there is as scientific a

man as there is anywhere, and to treat an eye and make a radical cure of it is just a
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hobby with him. He wants to make a thorough job of it from a scientific standpoint,

and we do not find so many cases because they do not exist, I 'am sure of it.

Q. Then there is a very great improvement?
A. A very great improvement.

Q. Because in the report three or four years ago United States officers refused at

Sault Ste. Marie over 500 cases of trachoma immigrants passing from Canada to the

United States?

A. Tes, exactly, but the point that the United States might seem to make is at

variance with the facts as we interpret them. At Montreal they have a very large

bureau, and I suppose three-fourths of the detentions that are made of people going to

the States are made there, because it is a common thing for immigrants, from whatever

reason I do not know, to be directed to buy their tickets to. Montreal. If they are

going to the United States they are, of course, examined on coming into Canada. Now
in trachoma we have a situation like this. In a person who has trachoma the mucous
membrane on the under side of the lid has been eaten away, if the disease is of some
years' standing, and there is nothing left but scarred tissue. Dozens and dozens of

these cases of cured trachoma are to be met with, but lil^e a scar anywhere else it is

still a scar and it will never be covered up. Now, if it is an unlikely looking immi-
grant, if he hasn't any money, or if he is of a certain nationality, the American exam-

ining officer merely makes a point of saying, ' He has trachoma, and we cannot admit

him on that account.' I have said to him, ' Doctor, he has not trachoma, he is cured of

trachoma, he has had trachoma, it is true '—you see the point, gentlemen ?

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Once trachoma has reached the stage that you have indicated is it curable?

A. It is cured in the same sense that you may have a cut on the skin and cure

it, but you do not get rid of the scar and it is exactly the same with the underside

of the lid in trachoma.

By Mr. Blach:

Q. The scar is not trachcoma any more than the scar on you hand is the cut?

A. That is exactly the point I made with the American officer, I told him, ' That
is not trachoma, but it is cured trachoma.' And he said 'We do not want the

immigrant.' We can't say that.

Q. And he charges the trachoma up to Canada^
A. That is really the point, he has not trachcoma, but cured trachcoma.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Have you any knowledge of trachoma existing in Sault Ste. Marie almost
continuously ?

A. No, except that there is a large colony of Italians there who have been there

Ifor nearly ten years; I have never heard of it within my term of office here.

Q. In your opinion, in view of what is stated regarding the existence of trach-

'coma in eastern Europe, what Marcus Brown states in his report to the American
authorities, in those countries it is impossible to eradicate trachoma totally; do you
•consider it is an advantage to us to receive immigrants of that kind even if they had
trachoma which has been cured?

Mr. Hughes (Victoria).—What countries do you refer to?

Mr. Monk.—I refer to the southern part of Austria and to Italy, the eastern
parts of Europe where trachoma exists and where they can't get rid of it; they have
to segregate the army completely from the rest of the population, because once it

gets into the army there is no knowing where it will end, it is very contagious.
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A. If it gets into the houses of the poor it is no telling where it will go; in a

family it is bad, and in its acute stage it is readily communicable, and you know in

certain classes of the community where you get sore eyes it runs through the family.

By Mr. Hughes (Victoria) :

Q. Does it result in total blindness?

A. In such countries as Finland it is said to have been the cause of 30 per cent,

•probably, of all the blind people. But as a matter of fact, we have searched every-

where during the last three years for cases which have been treated, to ascertain the

extent of the cases in Canada. I found in St. Boniface Hospital, Winnipeg, as many
'or more cases^—and there are not more than a dozen or so in the whole—had been

among the halfbreeds and Indians who came into the dispensary there, as there are

among the immigrants, and we know how many immigrants have gone in there during

that period.

Q. You mean among the half-breeds and Indians who come into the country?

A. Who are in the country. I mean to say that, speaking generally, more than

one-half the trachoma cases in the St. Boniface hospital last year were in natives of

Canada. Whether the others got it here, or whether they had been in the country for

years, I do not know, but there were probably not more than ten or fifteen immigrant

cases in all in the year in St. Boniface hospital. We pay a certain amount of money
to the hospitals at Winnipeg and St. Boniface for the treatment of immigrants, and
there is no reason in the world why the authorities there would not see trachoma if

it existed. I went to Dr. Good, a most famous eye specialist, and said, 'Have you
seen trachoma there?' 'Lots of it,' he replied. 'Kecently?' 'Not recently.' Amongst
whom did you see it?' 'It was among the Mennonites. I do not see many of them
now. I do not see the class of people who have it.' Then I asked him, 'Will you have

your clerk go through the books and give me a list of the trachoma patients you have
feeen here?' 'Well, if she has the time,' was the reply.

Q. That is referring to one little city, Winnipeg. Have you any means of ascer-

taining how many of these people who never saw a hospital or are sent to one, have
the disease?

A. I tried the specialists.

Q. What information have you with regard to the disease among the settlements?

A. We have the benefit of the experience in the hospitals in the Northw-est, say
15 hospitals.

Q. The immigrants never see the inside of a hospital, they go on for years sufier-

ing from the disease before seeing the inside of a hospital?

A. We have asked them in Saskatchewan. They have a compulsory law there

Tequiring that notification be given to the provincial authorities of all contagious
diseases.

Q. Of which not more than 2 per cent of the people ever heard ?

A. I do not see how we can get any more information. I have gone to the hos-

pitals, to the free dispensaries, to the provincial boards of health, and I have asked in

every case for information, but nobody could give me any positive figures. I would
ibe very glad to have them if I could obtain them, but I cannot, I have tried every
possible source. I have tried everywhere, and in Montreal, where there are so many
Jewish people, we have searched the dispensaries and hospitals and have got reports,

and I suppose that last year in that city of half a million people it has not amounted
to more than fifty individual cases in the hospitals.

By Mr. MonTc:

Q. You know we have in Montreal exactly the same law^ for the reporting of con-
tagious diseases as they have in Winnipeg, but our experience is that people of a
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certain class, and particularly foreigners, will only see the doctors as a very last

resort ?

A. "Well, where are you going to find them if they do not go to the free dispen-
saries.

Q. If they do go it is accidently, because they would rather stay at home than
see a doctor, for the reason that if they see the doctor it means isolation ?

A, We have tried the specialists and we have tried everywhere to get full informa-

tion. I do not know where else we could go.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. Were there not a number of cases reported from Toronto some years ago?
A. Yes, but it has all been changed. I wish we could prevent other diseases as

easily as we have been able to stamp out trachoma. You see they are examined at

their villages in Germany; these eastern immigrants cannot get through Germany
without examination.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. I do not know about Germany, but in Italy and Austria they are glad to get

^id of them.

A. In the last ^Outlook' they have an article on the examination in Germany.
They have detention houses on the border of Austria and Germany. On the German
border the examination is much more thorough than anywhere else because they do
not want them to come into Germany or to get off the train. At Hamburg there is a

large building and they are more exacting than anywhere here or in the United States.

Q. Have you examined into the possibilities of our having medical officers on the

other side of the ocean to examine immigrants coming here? We have only two or

'three lines of steamers, at the most four, coming here, particularly from the eastern

ports. Would it not be possible for us to have such a system as they have in the

United States to examine all immigrants before they leave the other side, because
the examination conducted here when a steamer arrives with a large number of immi-
grants is necessarily a very short one?

. A. It is a short one.

Q. I wanted to ask you that question particularly because it would save us a

great deal of cost for the care of immigrants who arrive here afflicted with trachoma,

or other contagious diseases; it would save us considerable expenses in connection with

'the deportation, much more than we would expend in making the examination on the

other side?

A. I might say that we have thought of that phase of the question, and having

looked into all the circumstances personally, I have not yet been convinced that any-

thing more effective than is being done at present on the other side, can be done
practically. I mean this, that every person that becomes officially an immigrant, you
might say, on the other side, has to bring a medical certificate that he has not been
insane within five years, that he has never been an epileptic, that he has not consump-
tion; in other words, that he is a healthy person. He has to bring that to the ticket

agent before he can purchase a ticket, which will be accepted at the seaboard; that

deals with, I believe, the larger number of intending immigrants. There is another

large number of the better class of people who are coming to Canada to better them-

selves; they ask nobody's opinion, they go to the local agent and say I want to go to

Toronto, or Edmonton, or Calgary or wherever it is, and they buy their ticket as you
or I would buy it, and they probably come second class. They do not come down to

Liverpool until the morning of sailing. What proportion they bear to the whole num-
ber it is hard to say. There are about 2,000 people who sell tickets in England, in

different parts of the country, and I do not see how an independent person, such as I

have referred to, could be brought down to Liverpool to be examined before sailing.
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unless it was made an order to every agent. We would have to have them come down
iand spend two or three days in Liverpool, be out of pocket that amount waiting around
the Liverpool boarding houses in order to be medically examined. Some days, with
several steamers sailing on the same day, as many as 6,000 or 7,000 people would be

in Liverpool on the same morning. It would be a hardship to bring them to that

port two or three days before sailing in order to be examined; it could not be done on
(the morning of sailing any more fully than we do it on this side when they land, and
I think the only possibility is of having the ships' officers employed for that purpose,

d have suggested, from the idea of economy, that the ship's medical officer, belonging

to the steamer, be asked, 'Will you become the officer of the government for a certain

•additional salary to be paid by the government and make a daily examination of the

immigrants while on the way across V I believe that can be done, and I believe that

is an economical way. We would not be interfering with the authority of the steamers

fby putting our own men on board, which might be a cause for discussion, but by

adding a little to the salary of the ship's officer and requiring him to make a daily

inspection of the immigrant, he would be able on arrival to give us a list of those he

thinks we should look after. It would save time on this side, because if he has an

epileptic on board he certainly would detect such on the road over, and if necessary

we could require him to make an affidavit as to the accuracy of his report.

Q. I would like to ask Dr. Bryce if he has heard that at the hospital in Quebec
they have a habit of using the hospital premises for the purpose of raising and fat-

tening chickens, and doing other side businesses of that kind, of a private nature, at

the expense of the country. I have been informed that the last time you went there,

doctor, I think it was, these coops and other paraphernalia connected with the business

had been temporarily removed, and during the period of your visit they were kept on
an adjoining premises. Have you heard of such an abuse as that?

A. I might say that is absolutely untrue in every detail. The only thing that has
ever been done there was that the doctor there, who has lived in the Eastern Town-
ships and has kept a cow and some chickens all his life, had some chickens at the

hospital last year and attempted to incubate eggs ; he failed in his experimental chicken
farming. I think there was one chicken left out of the whole lot, and as far as I

know there are not a dozen chickens on the whole hospital premises.

Q. I heard that the incubator and other coops were removed to a neighbouring:

farm when you were coming?
A. Dr. Paget is charged with the fullest responsibility and is not that kind of a

man. His experiments in the chicken raising business were extremely unfortunate.

By Mr. Sinclair:

Q. Was there anything in the story that they were utilizing the refuse of the
hospital ?

A. They were not utilizing the refuse, because the chickens never got to the stage

of eating it.

Q. The ouly thing was they used the barn for housing them?
A. There was an empty stable there which was utilized for that purpose.

Q. Did anybody object to that?

A. I do not know, I certainly did not. I saw the chickens there and I saw the
incubator. The doctor was unfortunate in his first attempt because the chickens did
not grow.

By Mr. Barr:

Q. But he was raising chickens for his own profit?

A. For his own pleasure, but he was not successful.

Q. But if they had been successful it would have been to his profit?



400 DR. P. E. BRYCE, MEDICAL SUPERINTENDENT

8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

A. It is certainly a case of a man who was used to keeping chickens and liked to

see chickens there, and he got a dozen to start with, ^and an incubator, and he put
the eggs into the incubator and utilized the stalls of the empty stable.

Mr. Monk.—I think if the committee desire to hear any further evidence in

regard to trachoma we should ask Dr. Byers of Montreal to appear before the com-
mittee. He is an eye specialist of great distinction.

Witness.—I may say that I would be delighted, if the committee desire further

information, for Dr. Byers to be called. He would only say, I am satisfied, what w-e

have said to-day in regard to the disappearance of the disease.

By Mr. Mclntyre (Strathcona)

:

Q. As regards your examination on this side, you also retained the right to report

unfortunates for how long?

A. Two years.

Q. For insanity or epilepsy?

A. Eor insanity, or epilepsy, or anything else. I might say that we have hunted
the hospitals and asylums since the new Act went into force, and we have carried

on correspondence with the friends of the unfortunates in foreign countries, we have

gone through the hospitals and asylums and last year we succeeded, out of the accu-

mulation in the hospitals and asylums for years, in sending out of this country 122

insane persons.

Q. Supposing a development of trachoma should occur. Take as an example
that trachoma develops in Winnipeg, what procedure will you take -within the two
years ?

A. The Act provides particularly that any person who becomes an inmate of a

public institution, either hospital, jail or asylum, may be deported within two years.

Now, a trachoma patient that will go to a dispensary will not become an inmate,

I suppose, unless one wishes to push the meaning of the word ' inmate ' to extremes

;

he is probably a patient who is making his own living, and he turns to the dispensary

gust as any person from the town does, because it is there to be used; he would not be
deported. And if he happened to be a contagious case, and was really sick, he would
go into a hospital—likely in this case he would into the General Hospital in Winni-
peg. I think there were on the register of the Winnipeg General Hospital some eight

or ten entries during the year of cases that had been in there; such a person would
go in and be treated there. But we have never—jdeported a man who is otherwise

healthy and earning his livelihood, on account of trachoma. If he becomes a pauper
patient, and is incurable, that is different.

By Mr. 8proule:

Q. What authority has the province to deport?

A. None?

Bj Mr. Mclniyre (Strathcona) :

Q. In the case of trachoma, I am ^asking your opinion, do you think that trachoma
is commonly contagious to a healthy class of people?

A. I would answer that question by saying: 'Is consumption contagious'?

We have to discriminate in this. "\^niat takes place in the house of a settler or in a

small tenement in a city community where people are not too well supplied with water,

and sometimes do not use water too generously, or if the case is like that of country

hotels everywhere where they use a common towel, such a disease may be dissemi-

nated by common towels. I know that even our well advanced Canadians use com-
mon towels in some of the large hotels, but in houses if there is a common towel and
there has been an acute case of contagion in the family others are going to have it.
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Trachoma is a disease that develops out of ophthalmia from all of three distinct

microbes. The most recent investigations show that ordinary sore eyes end in

trachoma and it is especially severe according to the constitution of the individual,

but varies especially in severity according as it is the ordinary pus germ, or the

septic germ, or one or two other germs that are recognized as the Weeke or Moxon
Bacillies. In England you have the ordinary ophthalmia, which becomes chronic,

ffind A;vhich may be compared equalV to catching a cold in the nose, which lights up
a chronic catarrh there.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. Do I understand you to say there were no cases found amongst English immi-

grants ?

A. Almost none, except a few Jews from the east end of London.

Q. I know that a few years ago I saw one family come to our country, all of

whom had it, and we got them back to the city. It seemed to me clearly a case of

trachoma.

A. Were they from the east end of London ?

Q. I do not know.

A. Occasionally we see it now among the Jewish people, but there is no reason

why they should not get it on ship board, even while they are coming out, from

towels and inadequate water supply.

Q. They get it on the steamers?

A. On shipboard. I wonder they do not often get it coming out.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. You say there were 120 people deported last year. What was the cause ?

A. That was last year, on account of insanity alone.

Q. For the one cause?

A. Yes, it would mean there were that many out of say 300,000 immigrants;
because when we started a correspondence about the insane patients it has sometimes
taken us over a year to find out the friends to whom we could send them. We will

•not send them until we find who to send them to, because it would be cruel to send
them to Liverpool and drop them there unless we have some person to take charge of

•them.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. I think the suggestion to employ the ship's doctor to examine the immigrants
coming over would be a very objectionable one, because I cannot imagine that the

ship owners would employ the doctor, or they would not keep them very long, if they

found that they were reporting all cases that would impose upon the shipping com-
panies the expense of taking them back again.

A. I can say this, that while the shipping people have in the past, in the early

days, been rather crusty about it, we have now found them very very willing to fit

•into our regulations, and if the young man who is the ship's doctor docs not alwaj^

hunt up all the cases that he should, it is, I think, because he docs not think he is

expected to. I would go farther than having a daily examination, and I would have

him make an affidavit if necessary. I did not feel that way about it until after I had

met them. I dlid not feel that way about the steamship companies either, but I have

found that most of the young fellows who are doctors on these ships are men of

honour, and if they knew that they were expected to make a daily visit to the imnii-

grants and to make a report of those they want us to look over again, they would do

so. They know very well if there is an epileptic on board wo will got him at some
place sooner or later and put the steamship company to the expense of taking him
back. We will find him probably in the course of a few W(x4vs and the SS. com-

2—36
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panics have to take him back and pay the expense anyway. There is no object gained

In hiding it. While it is only a tentative suggestion, I think it is less objectionable

tihan any other method, because these men are already appointed. I think it will be

expensive to put our own men on board the steamers, supposing we take say fifty medical

men and appoint them to make the examination on board the steamer. Then there is

the further difficulty that we would have to put them on the steamers belonging to

someone else, and I do not know how that would work.

By Mr. Mclntyre (Strathcona)

:

Q. I know it entails a lot of expense, but I think with a view of examining all

the immigrants carefully it would be better done by our own medical officers. You
tan possibly answer this question, ^Are your medical officeife at the port complaining

that they are not always in accord with the ship's surgeon?'

A. That might be quite true.

' Q. Do the ships' surgeons even now report fully notwitlistanding your requests

^hat they should do so ?

A. I do not intend to say they do, but I think they report fully according to their

knowledge and the extent of their examinations.

Q. I am not making any reflections on the ships' surgeons, but there are two

points must be borne in mind; he has given his judgment of the immigrant once,

When he allowed him to come aboard, and we all know that men having once given

a judgment are apt to stand by it. When the surgeon gave his judgment on the

entrance of these people to the ship, that they were healthy, he took the responsibility

then of practically certifying to their condition, and of keeping them healthy while

on board. Practically the ship's examination of inunigrants coming to this country

is at the port of embarkation, and he tries to make his examination in accord with

your examination, but if by accident it does not accord, a man's duty to his employer

^vould be to see that that employer was not put to too great expense. He is in no

sense your employee.

A. But he would be under my proposal.

Q. The suggestion made by Dr. Sproule and others is that if we are going to do

anything like that let us put $50,000 more to it and have the inspection upon a

proper basis.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. If you are eight days in crossing, and you have 1,000 people on board, it will

give you a reasonable time not only to inspect them from day to day, but to select

and examine those showing any evidences of disease. Take, for instance, the in-

cipient stages of consumption, which require examination from time to time, and
there are other cases of that nature which you cannot determine by one inspection.

The ship's surgeon, I take it, is only concerned in keeping his crew healthy while

on board the ship; he is not going to concern himself with his passengers' ailments

so long as they are able to get about. But if his duty was during the trip to ascer-

tain from time to time whether these people are healthy, or whether there is any
evidence of incipient disease, I take it as soon as he saw any evidence whatever of

that he would be apt to keep a closer trace of these people and examine them from
time to time. At least he ought to do it if he desires to get at the facts.

A. I think if he made a daily examination that was really eifective he would
obtain such information and would prepare a return for our officers so that if there

were 50 or 60 people on the ship requiring it they would again examine those people
in detail. I can see a great many objections to making appointments of our own men
on the steamers of the companies. I do not know how it would work out. If you
have to train, say 60 men, we would have the same amount of responsibility, or lack
of responsibility, according to the individual character of your men, and I am in-
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clined to think that if we added to the ship's doctor a portion of his salary, on the

understanding that he gives ns a report, that he has made a daily examination and

the results of that examination we could do it for a minimum amount of money,

and without any friction, especially if he made the affidavit, we would get pretty

nearly all that there is in it, that is my feeling.

By Mr. Mclntyre (Strathcona)

:

Q. Can you not see that a contingency such as this might arise
;
you are partially

employing this man and the ship is partially employing him. He is satisfactory in

every way, the more he protects the interests of the shipping company the more satis-

factory he will be to them. But when you find a shipload comes over on which he

makes a satisfactory report and you find there are a number of epileptic cases after-

wards develop among those passengers, that he should have detected, you would say,

that man ought to be discharged, but what is the probability of your having that

done, you see the problem you are up against?

A. We would cut off his salary at once, and the compaany would cut it right

off on top of that, we may be sure.

Q. There might be a point where your interest and the ship's interest would
clash?

A. Well, I think we have a guarantee for the good behaviour of the doctor in

the extra salary we v/ould pay him. He is to make a daily examination and he has

to make an affidavit at the end of it showing that certain people have been sick or

that there are indications that they require further observation. T do not believe,

if we can make this scheme work out that we can get nearer to what we all desire

through any other method. I would rather try that first anyway.

Q. I am not taking objection to your system, but at the present time I will say

this, that I don't think your proposal, in view of the rather excellent results you are

attaining at the present time, is worth the extra money.
A. That may be so, I do not know how much more we will get out of it, because

we think we are getting nearly all there is now.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. Supposing you had 100 men on that inspection, I woidd prefer to call it in-

spection, not examination, and you have this guarantee that these were morally

healthy people and the captain finds . that the doctor has reported against a dozen

of these ; would not the ship's captain be likely to say :
* You inspected these people

at the start and put them on board as healthy people, and now you turn around and
report against them. There was something v/rong with you in the first instance,

otherwise, you would not have allowed them on board and put us to the trouble and
expense of bringing them back; why do you report against them now, when you
reported favourably on them in the first instance.'

A. Do you not think that the steamship company would say, as I say, that the

doctor has too large a num]:)er to inspect in say two hours' time, that he can only

make a casual inspection, and that he is not infallible. I am convinced of this, that

if we could keep these people at the port two or three days after they have landed

and make a detailed inspection we would find more than v/e do find. Of course we
have the means of turning them back finally, and we turned them back last year, over

800; but it is a matter of practical detail, and I would not abuse the young doctor

who didn't discover, as the immigrants were coming aboard at Liverpool, a case of

epilepsy for instance.

Q. You would not, as a medical man, blame him? But where you have n Board
who look at every dollar or expense, they would not look at it as you or I would
because they do not know the difficulties attending the inspection. Wouldn't they

be liable to say: 'We had better dismiss this man and got another.'

2—361
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A. Do you not think that if they know they have to take them back again any-

way, for we are sure to catch them and deport them, they would not abuse the young
fellow for not having had his eyes very wide open at Liverpool. You see we have

another prouiem and that is the problem of examining at the United States boundary.

Last year there were over 50,000 came in across the western boundary alone, and I

do not know how many came in to Canada by the eastern (boundary, and it is a

problem how to get at these which are all included in the total number entering

the country. We deport a certain number to the States each year on account of epil-

epsy, insanity and L. P. C. This is a problem that the department is endeavouring

to get light upon, how can, along 4,000 miles of boundary, make a medical inspec-

tion which will repay you for the amount of money spent.

Bp Mr. Mclntyre (Strathcona) :

Q. My idea is that in all your inspection the most valuable thing you can have
is the provision that you can deport them within two years after they come into the

country ?

A. I think so.

Q. I do not think there is any other part of your inspection that compares with
that in point of effectiveness. I think that is the greatest safeguard that we have

^ against the entrance of undesirable immigrants.

PROCEDURE IN DEPORTATION OF UNDESIRABLE IMMIGRANTS.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. Here is another thing, supposing a man comes into the locttiity which I am
in, and he gets troublesome and becomes insane. There is a lot of trouble about it.

The first thing you have to do is to lodge a complaint before the magistrate in order

to have him comxmitted to the jail or sent to the asylum, and if he is sent to the

asylum as an insane person, that necessitates the examination by two medical men,
and the filling out of depositions and certificates, and these examinations cost, I think,

$5 apiece. If he is sent even to the jail, I am not sure but what they require an exami-
naticn by two doctors even to commit him there. That all necessitates expense and

, V7J30 pays that expense, or where does it come from?

Mr. McIntyre (Strathcona).—^You are speaking now of an immigrant, are you?

Mr. Sproule.—Yes. ^
Mr. McIntyre (Strathcona).—I do not think it is necessary to go through all

that detail.

A. The clerk of a municipality makes the application to the Minister of the In-

terior.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Why do you settle on the two year period?

A. It has been settled on as the most satisfactory period, and I think it is a very

(complete protection. If an epileptic is going to have epilepsy he is going to develop

it long before the two years have expired. If he is insane, he is a very, healithy

man if it does not develop within two years, especially during the first two years he

ds in a new country. The curious thing is that these cases are occurring in only two

or three of the large centres. I have gone over every one of the large asylums, start-

ing at Montreal and going west through Ontario. I just got through yesterday, and

T have found out, except in two centres, Montreal and Toronto, the asylum population

has not increased from immigrants to any notable extent. During the last three

years there has been no increase that you can measure statistically over what there

"was five years ago.
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By Mr. Sproule:

Q. It is in Toronto. I have looked it up.

Mr. Lewis.—I am speaking more of degenerates.

A. Such are sure to crop up somewhere. If you take the assumption that during

the last two years there were 350,000 people came onto Canada, and undoubtedly there

Vere that number, I have found that taking the deportations on account of insanity

last year and the year before that there were 151 persons who were deported out of the

asylums, some of whom had been there for four or five years. That was 151 in 350,000.

Now the last census returns show that there were in Canada, in the two old prov-

inces, a little more than three insane persons in every 1,000 of population. If you
put down three insane persons in every 1,000 immigrants, you would have 1,050 insane

•immigrants among that number; as a matter of fact we had 150, so that we had
something like one-seventh of that proportion.

Q. One for every 2,000?

A. Yes, something like one-seventh of the number there might have been in the

total number of immigrants. It must be remembered that we ought to be fair with

the immigrants, that when an immigrant who has left his home gets out here, and
Arrives full of hope, if he hasn't any money soon and is not able to get a job at once,

he gets homesick and depressed, and if he has any little weakness of any kind under

those circumstances it is bound to develop.

By Mr. Sproule:

Q. You did not finish up that matter of how you were going to take steps to deport

insane persons, and what the expense would be. It is a matter we are frequently

^consulted about.

A. I say there are two ways by which a patient gets into an asylum, the one is

fwhat they call a warrant case, the case of a person who has gone insane on the street

and had to be locked up in jail.

Q. And is supposed to be dangerous?

A. Yes, and is supposed to be dangerous, and he is sent by the jail officials ta

the asylum.

A. Don't they commit him first to the jail?

A. There is a jail surgeon who is paid by the municipality or county, whichever

it is, for doing jail work.

Q. Yes, but he does not go out of the jail?

A. He can send the case to the asylum on the order of the magistrate.

Q, But what authority has the magistrate to commit, he must commit on some-

thing ?

A. The certificate of a jail doctor plus another doctor; there are two doctors

required in Ontario. With a man on the street, on two doctors' certificates he is

pent by the magistrate to the asylum.

Q. ThaT is to the asylum. But supposing he is in the jail?

A. He is arrested on the street and goes to jail and is kept at some place, jail

or prison, until he is transferred to the asylum. Then the municipality or the county,
whichever it may be, will make enquiries, and if he has only been a short time in the

country the provincial authorities will notify our department—this is a ease that
from time to time occurs—and then our department looks up the ships' lists and
finds out which ship he came on. If he came on the C. P. K. or the Allan Line, the
very moment we know the facts, the C.P.K. or whatever line it is, is communicated
with, and in the case of an insane person, if we can find out—we cannot always find

out where he came from, because he is sometimes stupid and cannot give the infor-

mation—then his people in Scotland, or England, or Ireland, as the case may be,

are communicated with, and inside of a month that man goes back, and the total
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first cost to the municipality will be one or two weeks' maintenance in the asylum or

in the jail, and as you see that we deported 151 last year—this year I suppose there

will not be one half as many cases to deal with.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. That is in reference to the insane, but now with regard to other persons who

are to be deported, what is the procedure to be followed? I think it will be a good

thing for the municipalities throughout the country to have this information pub-

lished?

A. The procedure is this, that a person must become officially recognized as an

inmate somewhere either of a charitable institution, or of a prison, or an asylum.

Q. Isn't it the municipality?

A. Or the municipality. He must be officially recognized, and the very moment
he is recognized as coming under a deportation clause, the clerk of the municipality

is required under the Act to notify the Minister of the Interior of that fact. Then
the law requires that he shall inquire into the facts of the case, and if the facts of

the case are such that the person is deportable he is deported forthwith at the expense

of the steamship company or the railway who brought him across the boundary.

Q. In other words, any person in this country notifies the clerk of the munici-

pality, and the clerk of the municipality notifies the Minister?

A. The Minister of the Interior, or Mr. Scott, here, and then the machinery
goes into motion. With regard to the insane we will not send them from this country

until we first find somebody to send them to. It is not in keeping with our ideas of

what is decent and proper to send an insane person out of the country, and dump
them on the border or on the Liverpool dock, until we know there is someone there to

take care of them.

By Mr. Mclntyre (Strathcona) :

Q. I have seen your medical officers detain men who were intoxicated, who admit
having frequently restored to spirits; are they entitled, if a man has a considerable

quantity of funds, is that man subject to prevention, we would not call it depor-

tation ?

Mr. Scott—It is rejection.

Q. Is he subject to rejection for being intoxiTjated ?

A. It just depends upon the opinion of the medical officer. The idea is, is that

man going to be of use in Canada? Is it a temporary spree that all persons coming
lacross might indulge in, or might not; but if he looks like the kind of fellow that

'will be no good the doctor is in a position to send him back and does so.

Q. Supposing a person is admitted and is found to be constantly and habitually

intoxicated, is not that a subject for deportation?

A. If he comes within any of the three clauses of the law, and if he has been
admitted to the country, he must have been one of three things, he must have become
an inmate of a charitable institution, that is he must have passed a night in a free

lodging house or house of industry or he may have put in a night in the cooler on
^account of being drunk, which he is pretty likely to be, then he is deportable, or if

he is insane or an epileptic undoubtedly he will go back. Then the other thing, is

if he is an L. P. C. case, if we find him a vagrant in the town, that is if he is taken

to a city shelter on account of not having any place to sleep he is deportiable.

By Mr. Lewis:

Q. Take the case of a man found begging around town?
A. Yes, if our relief officer for instance in Ottawa comes in touch with him, if

he has to be dealt with that way he can be deported.
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By Mr. Mclntyre (Strathcona) :

Q. But in the case of a man who has sufficient money, he must be arrested before

he can be deported?

A. Before he can be deported.

_BLANK CERTIFICATE FORM AS USED IN GREAT BRITAIN BY ALL
ASSISTED EMIGRATION.

Department OF the Interior^ Government of Canada^ Emigration Branch.

Report and Medical Certificate.

In respect of (the undersigned

assisted by
to the following extent

Age. . . Nationality Religion

Address in full

Present occupation How long in such occupation?

Has applicant ever worked on farm?

Hf so, for how long and where
Can applicant drive horses,? Plough? Milk?

Is applicant suitable for:—Farm work? Railway construction

work ? Domestic service ?

Intended occupation in Canada ? . At what place ?

Is applicant willing to accept farm work on arrival in Canada?.

Name and address of agent or person in Canada to whom going for employment. . . .

General appearance of applicant:—Strong? Vigorous?
Delicate ? Ruddy ? Pale ?

Approximate height Approximate weight
Has applicant any obvious physical defect or

malformation? Give details

Is he feeble-minded? Idiotic? Epileptic? Insane?
or had an attack of insanity within five years?

Is he deaf and dumb? Deaf ? Dumb? Blind Infirm
If so, give details and state if applicant is going with family or to family already in

Canada
Address of such family in Canada?
What security is proposed in such case under section

26 of the Immigration Act?
Is applicant afflicted with a loathsome disease,

or with a disease which is contagious?.

Is he a pauper, destitute, professional beggar, vagrant, or

likely to become a public charge in Canada?
Has applicant been a charge on the public in Great Britain or Irclniid ^.

If so, for how long and where?

Has applicant been convicted of a crime or been in|

prison? Give details?
J

Is applicant honest? Sober? Industrious ^

Thrifty? Of good morals?

What amount of money or money's worlh will applicant|^

have on arriving in Canada? \

Is app icant marriod or single? If married give age and name of

wife
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.Is wife good housekeeper and tidy?

Give children's names, age, trade, and earnings."]

Have the girls been in ser-. i e or prepared for}>

service, and if so, how ?
J ,

Is family accompanying him? If so, what provision]

is being made for family in Canada?
J

If family not accompanying applicant what provis-]

ion is being made for family here?
\

Has applicant any relations or friends in Canada,]

and at what address?
j

Relationship

Are such relations or friends willing to assist and
house applicant temporarily, or does the -assisting

Society undertake to do so?

What reason has applicant for desiring to go to

Canada? j

Has applicant applied to any other society, if so, give particulars

Give name and address of parents or nearest living relatives in England
Signature of applicant certifying correctness of above statement

Dated at this day of ... 19

* Signature and designation of responsible officer of society assisting.

Note.—In addition to above report the original records must be submitted for

inspection with this form.

Having read Over the preceding transcript of my evidence, I certify the same ta

be correct.

DR. P. H. BRYCE,
Dominion Medical Superintendent of Immigration^
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EESOLUTIONS ADOPTED BY THE COMMITTEE.

The following resolutions were adopted by the Committee as recommendations

for the promotion of the agricultural and industrial interests of the Dominion:

—

No. 1

—

Election op a Chairman.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization having met this

day for organization, on motion of Mr. Calvert, P. H. McKenzie, Esq., was unani-

mously elected Chairman.
Friday, December 13, 1907.

No. 2

—

Evidence on Raising and Manufacture of Native Tobacco Leaf.

Moved by Mr. Clements,—That F. X. Charlan, of the Department of Agriculture

;

Jerry. O'Brien, Chatham, Ont. ; Lewis Wigle, Leamington, Ont., and Darius Wigle,

Kingsville, Ont., be summoned before the Committee to give evidence on the raising

and manufacture of native tobacco leaf—Motion adopted.

Wednesday, February 26, 1908.

No. 3

—

The Printing of Evidence.

Moved by Mr. Wright (Renfrew), seconded by Mr. Gordon,—That this Committee
report to the House, and recommend that 20,000 copies of each of the following

evidence taken by the Committee in the current Session of Parliament, be printed

forthwith, in separate pamphlet forms, in the usual numerical proportions of English
and French, that is to say:

—

1. Of the evidence heard on the inquiry into the cultivation, curing and manu-
facture of Tobacco in Canada;

2. Of the evidence of Mr. William Mclnnes, Geologist;

3. Of the evidence of Mr. R. E. Young, Dominion Land Surveyor ; and

4. Of the evidence of Mr. G. H. Clark, Seed Commissioner, Department of Agri
culture—Motion adopted.

Friday, April 10, 1908.

No. 4—To Summon Mr. W. D. Scott to Give Evidence.

Moved by Mr. Monk, seconded by Mr. Elson,—That Mr. W. D. Scott, Superin-
tendent of Immigration, be summoned to appear before the Committee, at its next
sitting, for the purpose of giving evidence concerning the conduct of the Immigra-
tion Branch of the Service.—Motion adopted.

Thursday, April 23, 1908.

No. 5

—

The Printing of Evidence.

Moved by Mr. Mclntyre (Perth), seconded by Mr. Smith (Oxford\—That the
Committee recommend to the House that the following ovidcnoe taken by them in the

current Session of Parliament be printed forthwith, in pamphkH. form, in the usual
numerical proportions of English and French, severally, in number and manner of
distribution as follows:

—
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(1st) Forty thousand (40,000) copies of the evidence of Dr J. W. Kobertson^
Principal of the Macdonald College, Ste. Anne de Bellevue, 2,000 copies thereof to

be allotted to the witness for personal distribution, 2,000 copies to the Department of

Agriculture, 2,000 copies to the use of the Honourable Members of the Senate, 400
copies to the use of the Committee, and 33,600 to the Members of the House of Com-
mons for distribution.

(2nd) Twenty thousand (20,000) of the evidence of each of the following mem-
bers of the official staii at the Central Experimental Farm, that is to say, of the

evidence of Dr. William Saunders, Diector; Frank T. Shutt, Chemist ; A. G. Gilbert,

Poultry Manager;. W. T. Macoun, Horticulturist; and that the distribution thereof

be made as follows : that is to say, 800 copies of his personal evidence be allotted to

each of the said witnesses for distribution; 2,000 copies to the Honourable the Mem-
bers of the Senate; 1,500 copies to the Department of Agriculture; 100 copies to the

use of the Committee, and 15,600 copies to the Members of the House of Commons.
(3rd) That twenty thousand (20,000) copies of the evidence of J. A. Ruddick,

Commissioner of Dairying and Cold Storage, be printed in the usual proportions of

English and French; that 2,000 copies thereof be allotted to the Honourable the

Members of the Senate ; 3,000 copies to the Department of Agriculture ; 200 .to the

use of the Committee; and 14,800 to the Members of the House of Commons for

distribution.—Motion adopted.

Wednesday, July 8, 1908.
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INTERIM REPORTS.

First Report.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization present their

First Report, as follows :

—

The Committee recommend that twenty thousand (20,000) copies of each of the

following evidence, taken by the Committee in the current Session of Parliament be

printed forthwith in separate pamphlet forms, in the usual numerical proportions of

English and French, as advance sheets of the Committee's Final Report, to wit :

—

1. The evidence heard on the inquiry into the cultivation, curing and manufac-
ture of Tobacco in Canada.

2. The evidence of Mr. William Mclnnes, Geologist.

3. The evidence of Mr. R. E. Young, Dominion Land Surveyor.

4. The evidence of Mr. G. H. Clark, Seed Commissioner, Department of Agricul-

ture ; and that the distribution of each of the above-named evidence be as follows :

—

2,100 copies to the Hon. the Members of the Senate;

15,800 copies to the Members of the House of Commons;
1,000 copies to the Department of the Interior;

1,000 copies to the Department of Agriculture; and
100 copies to the Committee.

P. H. McKENZIE,
Chairman.

House of Commons, April 10, 1908.

Concurred in by the House, April IS.

Second Report.

The Select Standing Committee on Agriculture and Colonization present their

Second Report, as follows ;

—

The Committee recommend that the following evidence, taken by the Committee
in the current Session of Parliament, be printed forthwith, in separate pamphlet
forms, in the usual numerical proportions of English and French, as advance sheets

of the Committee's Final Report, to wit :

—

(1st) Forty thousand (40,000) copies of the evidence of Dr. J; W. Robertson,

Principal of the Macdonald College, Ste. Anne do Bellevue, 2,000 copies to be allotted

to the witness for personal distribution; 2,000 copies to the Department of Agricul-

ture; 2,000 copies to the use of Honourable the Members of the Senate; 400 copies to

the use of the Committee; and 33,600 to the Members of the Ho\ise of Conmions for

distribution.

(2nd) Twenty thousand (20,000) copies of the evidence of each of the following

named members of the official staff at the Central Exi)orimental Farm, that is to say :

—

Of the evi(]enc(> of Dr. Willla^n Saunders, Director; Frank T. Shutt, Chemist;
J. H. Gribdale, Agriculturist; A. G. Gilbert, Poultry Manager; W. T. ^lacoun, Horti-

culturist ; and that distribution thereof be made as follows, that is to say : 800 copies

of his peiisonal evidence be allotted to each of the said witnesses for distribution :

2,000 copies to the Honourable the Members of the Senate; 1,500 copies to the Depart-
ment of Agriculture; 100 copies to the use of the Committee, and 15.600 copies to the

Members of the House of Commons.
411
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(3rd) Thau twenty thousand (20,000) copies of the evidence of Mr. J. A. Ruddick,
Commissioner of Dairying and Cold Storage, be printed in the nsual proportions of

English and French; that 2,000 copies thereof be allotted to the Honourable the Mem-
bers of the Senate; 3,000 to the Department of Agriculture; 200 to the use of the

Committee; and 14,800 to the Members of the House of Commons for distribution.

P. H. McKENZIE,
Chairman.

House of Commons, July 9, 1908.

Concurred in hy the House, July 15.
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ORDER OF REFERENCE

House op Commons^
Tuesday, April 28, 1908.

Resolved, That the memorandum of the Chairman of the Transcontinental Rail-

way Commissioners to the Prime Minister, of date the 23rd April, and laid on the

table of this House on the 24th instant, and the papers accompanying the same,

together with the letter of Major Hodgins to the public press therein referred to, be

referred to a Special Committee of five members, with instructions to investigate the

matters and charges therein mentioned, and that the said committee be composed of

—

Messrs. Carvell,

Macdonald (Pictou),

Geoffrion,

Barker, and
Lennox

;

and that they have power to send for persons, papers and records, to examine persona
on oath or afiirmation, and to report from time to time.

Attest.

THOS. B. FLINT,
Clerh of the House.

Friday, May 15, 1908.

Ordered, That leave be granted to the said committee to sit while the House is

m session.

Attest.

THOS. B. FLINT,
Clcrh of the House

Thursday, May 21, 190S.

Ordered, That leave be granted the said committee to have all their proceedings
and any evidence taken by them in this inquiry printed from day to day for the tiso

01: the committee, and that Rule T2 be suspended in reference thereto.

Attest.

THOS. B. FLINT,
Clcrl- of the Housfl

5
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Summary of papers laid on the table of the House, April 24, 1908, and attached to th^

Order of Eeference.

Date.

190S.

April 17.

18.

19.

22.
23.

23.

1907.
July 23.

31.

31

.

Aug. 6.

24.

24.

24.
24.

24.
27.

Sept. 4.

24.

26.

26.
26.

26.

26.
30.

« ' 30.

Nov. 9

.

18.

19.

19.

20.

21.

Writer.

Chief Engineer

Chairman Transcontinental Ry.

G. Grant
Secretary Transcontinental Ry.

Chief Engineer

A. E. Hodgins

Chief Engineer

Chairman Transcontinental Ry.

Secretary Transcontinental Ry.
Chairman Transcontinental Ry,

Chief Engineer
<(

A. E. Hodgins

Chief Engineer

Secretary Transcontinental Ry.

Chief Engineer

Secretary Transcontinental Ry.

S. R. Poulin

Secretary Transcontinental Ry.

A. E. Hodgins

Secretary Transcontinental Ry

.

Chief Engineer

A. E. Hodgins

Chairman Transcontinental Ry.

Subject.

Extract from "Daily Colonist," Victoria, B.C., contain-
ing charges made by A. E. Hodgins re classification
of materials, &c.

Extract from "Manitoba Free Press," Winnipeg, Man.,
re foregoing.

Extract from "Daily Colonist," Victoria, B.C., giving
instances of workings of Quebec Classification.

Extract from Ottawa "Citizen" re above.
Letter to Commissioners Transcontinental Railway

stating no estimates or accounts have been padded.
Memo, addressed Premier refuting charge made by A. E.

Hodgins.

Reports re line under construction in District F.
Letter to Chief Engineer requesting him to notify En-

gineers Grant and Hodgins to attend meeting of
Board.

Letter to Commissioners Transcontinental Ry. enclosing
report of G. Grant and reply thereto from A. E.
Hodgins denying statements made by former.

Enclosing J. McArthurs' progress estimate for month of
July.

Letter to A. E. Hodgins transmitting questions and
answers thereto made by G. Grant re classification.

Memo, addressed Secretary Transcontinental Ry. re-
questing to be informed whether he ever had in his
possession A. E. Hodgins' letter anent certain items
of work.

Reply to foregoing.
Letter to Chief Engineer enclosing copy of memo, sent

Secretary of Board re unsatisfactory progress of
work in District F.

Telegram to Hodgins.
Reports re progress of work in District F and recom-

mends appointement of Engineer to replace A. E.
Hodgins.

Letter to Cliief Engineer stating reason for giving order
to classify partially by force account.

Letter to Commissioners Transcontinental Ry. re situa-
tion in District F. and recommends appointment of
S. R. Poulin as successor to A. E. Hodgins and S. O.
Foss as his assistant.

Letter to Chief Engineer communicating Board's approval
of appointment of Poulin and Foss.

Letter to Chief Accountant informing'liim of foregoing.
Letter to Commissioners Transcontinental Ry. recom-

mending appointment of S. O. Foss as Acting En-
gineer District F, pending Poulin's arrival.

Letter to Chief Engineer communicating Board's ap-
proval of foregoing recommendation.

Letter to Chief Accountant enclosing copy of foregoing.
Letter to Chief Engineer requesting allowance of $75 to

$100 per month for board while in charge of Dis-
trict F.

Letter to Chief Accountant communicating Board's ap-
proval of payment of special allowance of $75 to
S. R. Pouhn.

Letter to Chairman Transcontinental Ry. anent his dis-

missal.
Letter to Chief Engineer requesting to be furnished with

copy of A. E. Hodgins' letter of 4th Sept.
Letter to Secretary Transcontinental Ry. enclosing copy

of foregoing.
Letter to Chairman Transcontinental Ry. stating he did

not approve of instructions given by A. E. Hodgins
to Division Engineers re force account classification.

Letter to Chairman Transcontinental Ry. enclosing copy
of notes and letter received from A. H. Willet re

force account classification.

Letter to A. E. Hodgins enclosing copy of Chief En-
gineer's letter replying to his letter re his dismissal.
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PAPEKS AND COERESPONDENCE ATTACHED TO ORDER OF
REFERENCE.

Extract from Daily Colonist, Victoria, B.C., dated April 17, 1908.

REFUSED TO PASS CLASSIFICATIONS.

Major Hodgins tells why he Resigned from National Transcontinental Railway.

HUGE scandal IS HINTED.

Would not prove complaisant to Quebec Classification Contractors.

The truth about the resignation of Major A. E. Hoffgins, C.E., District Engineer

in charge of the 400-mile section east of Winnipeg on the National Transcontinental

Railway, which is the government portion of the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway, is

at last coming out. Major Hodgins is at present a resident of Victoria. His resigna-

tion took effect last October.

The reason in brief was that Mr. Hodgins would not prove complaisant to the

government favourites who held the contracts for building certain sections of the

road in the matter of ' classification.' He insisted upon a proper classification,

whereas the contractors appealed for the classification which prevailed in Quebec.

Mr. Hodgins could not see through the weird spectacles which permitted of classifica-

tions of that nature. Hence his resignation.

Just the amount of graft which the following letter of Major Hodgins hints at

it is impossible to estimate. That this letter is the first step in the uncloaking of a

scandal of greater magnitude than any previously known in the history of Canada,
is hinted by those in the confidence of the major.

Victoria, April 16, 1908.

Sir,—I have seen the following item in the Victoria Colonist of April 15th:

' It is officially announced that the National Transcontinental Railway between

Winnipeg and Moncton is to cost $63,419,466. Mr. Fielding's estimate was $51,300,-

000. Mr. Blair put the cost at $65,000,000. The chances are that when all the

accounts are in, Mr. Blair's estimate will be exceeded.'

I have also seen the report of an interview with Mr. J. D. McArthur in the

Toronto World of the 12th of March:.
' He declares that while the first estimates as to cost of his 250 miles was thirteen

million dollars, the probable outlay will be close on to sixteen million dollars, so many
changes have been made.

' All these changes were for the best, and if it does cost over sixty thousand

dollars per mile, the road will be a monument to engineering skill and to Canadian

enterprise.'

Mr. McArthur should have been more definite and explained what ' changes ' would
increase the estimated cost; change in location and change in the standard of classifi-

cation both affect the cost of construction. Change in location was made at some points

by revision surveys, these improved the line and also reduced the cost of the ^NEoArthur

contract over one million dollars. I was able to make these revisions before Mr.
McArthur started the work in earnest. A good year passed before he was able to get

sufficient men to cover the 250 miles.

Change in Classification.

The root of all the trouble between the commissioners and myself was over classi-

fication. They wanted me to change my ideas, based on a good many years' experi-

ence on construction, to classification that is allowed to the contractors in Quebec.
It was suggested that I should ignore the chief engineer and act independently, that
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the chief engineer liked to be ignored. I refused to be more liberal in classification

than I was then allowing, and suggested that the commissioners not being railroad

men should leave the engineering department alone.

Mr. C. A. Young, Commissioner for Manitoba,then advised that I should go to

Quebec and see how things were managed in that district, where contractors were not

lacking, and get an object lesson. I went, and returned determined not to allow

Quebec classification to be introduced into the western district as long as I remained

in charge. This, of course, led to trouble, and I got no assistance from the chief

engineer. I thought if the commissioners interfered with me any further Sir

Wilfred Laurier would set matters right as soon as I appealed to him; here I made
a miscalculation, the chairman of the commission. Monsieur Parent, got in first and

hypnotized the government, and I was removed for other reasons, no investigation

into my case was allowed, animy opinion and the opinion of the next senior engineer

of the district was smothered. I have appealed in vain for an investigation into

classification, and have been told that it would be considered political interference if

the government interfered with the management of the Board of Commissioners.

Increase Accounted for.

If Monsieur Poulin, the engineer appointed hj Mr. Parent to replace me on the

western district, has allowed the introduction of classification similar to that in Que-
bec, this will account for an increase in the estimated cost of the line. If this

increase amounts to three or four million dollars (33^ per cent), it is time the public

demanded some explanation from the government.

The quickest way for the government to find out if the classification allowed is

extravagant or not will be for the Minister of Eailways to ask for the monthly reports

of the Grand Trunk Pacific Kailway engineers, who are stationed on the Winnipeg
district and the Quebec district, Messrs. Mann, Heaman and Armstrong; these reports

are, I think, sent to the assistant chief engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific in Mont-
real. These engineers are well known in the west, and their reports contain much
more information on the subject than I have.

I have not seen any of their reports, but it is easy for one to guess what is in

them. These engineers are placed on work under^ontract to report to their company
on cost and to act in joint supervision with the commissioners' engineers, but they

are not allowed to sign contractors' estimates or certify to their correctness. Their

signatures ought to be on the monthly estimates, in order that there will be no dispute

over the amount of interest due the government. There is, however, a clause in the

agreement that disputes are to be settled by arbitration, but if arbitrators are put off

until interest is due, seven years after the road is finished, the money will have been

paid to the contractors.

No 'Chance of Investigation.

Before I left Kenora I said to an engineer who knew a good deal about Quebec
classification, that there would surely be a scandal over it; he replied that any investi-

gation would be blocked. I thought this a wild statement at the time, but it con-

firmed my opinion that I was right in objecting to allow it on my district. Since my
removal I am forced to believe that there was something in what this engineer said,

because I have been refused an investigation, and classification would have been the

only point of importance I would have raised on my defence.

Western men are counting on cheap rates over the ^ Transcontinental.' If it is

going to cost many millions more than is necessary, they should not be content until a

thorough and impartial investigation is made into classification that will be disputed

when the road is finished. As I have already mentioned, let the government ask for

the reports and opinions of engineers who are safeguarding the Grand Trunk Pacific

interests, and judge for themselves if Monsieur Parent is correct in his standard of

classification, or extravagant.
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CAKEER OF HODGINS.

The career of the gentleman who would not prove complaisant has been a distin-

guished one. Graduating from the Royal Military College, Kingston, Ont, in 1882,

he was from that time until the completion of the Canadian Pacific Railway, in 1886,

engineer on construction in the prairie and mountain sections.

From 1886 to 1889 he was engineer on construction of the Canadian Pacific Rail-

way short line through the State of Maine, and in 1889 engineer on construction of

the Canadian Pacific Railway extension from Toronto to Detroit.

In 1889 he went to Mexico as engineer on construction on the Mexican Inter-

Oceanic from Vera Cruz, but left on account of ill-health.

From 1890 to 1899 he was in the Kootenay country, British Columbia, residing

principally in Nelson, practising his profession, and in JL899 he went to South Africa

as lieutenant with the first Canadian contingent.

During the South African war he was promoted to the rank of major, and went
on the staff of Sir Percy Girouard as ofiicer in charge of construction on imperial rail-

ways in the Transvaal and Orange River colonies. He remained in South Africa,

and when peace was declared was appointed as the government superintendent

engineer of railways in the Transvaal and Orange River colonies.

Major Hodgins returned to Canada about three years ago, and was appointed

district engineer in charge of the 400-mile section east of Winnipeg on the National

Transcontinental Railway. His resignation last October created a great deal of

unfavourable comment, and it was freely asserted that more lurked behind it than then

wasi announced.

A son of Judge Hodgins,. of Toronto, a Liberal of the old stamp, it was believed

that his uncompromising rectitude had proved an obstacle in his preferment by the

present administration.

Extract from Manitoba Free Press, Winnipeg, dated April 18, 1908.

HODGIlSrS CHARGES ENORMOUS WASTE.

Dismissed Engineer Declares Millions are being Stolen on Government Section.

Majors side of Story—States Trouble first arose over Question of Classification.—
ashed for Investigation.

Vancouver, B.C., April 17, 1908.

Alleging broadly that millions of dollars is being wasted or stolen in the con-

struction of the government portion of the Grand Trunk Pacific railway, !Major

A. E. Hodgins, C.E., has issued a leter, the object of which is to secure an adminis-

trative investigation. Major Hodgins is now a resident of Victoria. He is a son of

Judge Hodgins, of Toronto, a Liberal, who recently demanded an investigation by

the government to enquire into the reasons for his son's removal from office.

Major Hodgins, who came to Canada three years ago, after serving on the staff

of Sir Percy Girouard in Africa, was appointed district engineer in charge of the four

hundred mile section east of Winnipeg, on the Nntionnl Trnnsoontinentnl Railway.

Last October he was dismissed. He appealed to Premier Laurier and F. W. ^forse,

but says no investigation so far has been proposed.

Paying Padded Accounts.

The pith of his charges is that the Grand Trunk Pacific Engineers' reports and
those in the employ of the government do not tally; that the government is paying
padded accounts for the work done nnd that the Grand Trunk Pacific people are

making no objection because they merely have to pay the added interest. Following
are the salient portions of Major Hodgins' letter: ^Changes in the location of the line

were made at some point by a revision of the surveys. Tliese improved the line and
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also reduced the cost o£ the McArthur contract over one million dollars. I was able

to make these revisions before Mr. McArthur started work in earnest. The root of

the trouble between the commissioners and myself was over classification. They
wanted me to change my ideas, based on a good many years experience on the con-

struction to the classification that is allowed to contractors in Quebec. It was
suggested that I should ignore the chief engineer and act independently, and it was
intimated that the chief engineer liked to be ignored. I refused to be more liberal

in the classification than I was then allowing, and suggested that the commissioners,

not being railroad men, should leave the engineering department alone.

Advice from Mr. Young.

^ 0. A. Young, commissioner for Manitoba, then advised that I should go to

Quebec and see how things were managed in that district, where the contractors were

not kicking, and get an object lesson. I went, and returned determined not to allow

the Quebec classification to be introduced into the western district, as long as I

remained in charge. This, of course, led to trouble and I got no assistance from the

chief engineer. I have appealed in vain for an investigation into the classification,

and have been told that it would be considered political interference with the manage-
ment of the board of commissioners.

Investigation Bloched.

' If Mr. Poulin, the engineer appointed by Mr. Parent to replace me on the

western district, has allowed the introduction of a classification similar to that allowed

in Quebec, this will account for the increase in the estimated cost of the line. If

this increase amounts to three or four million dollars, it is time the public demanded
some explanation. The quickest way for the government to find out if the classifica-

tion allowed is extravagant or not will be for the Minister of Railways to ask for

the monthly reports of the G. T. P. engineers who are stationed on the Winnipeg
and Quebec districts, Messrs. Mann, Heaman and Armstrong. Before I left Kenora
I said to an engineer who knows a good deal about the Quebec classification that

there would surely be a big scandal over it. He replied that any investigation would

be blocked. Let the government ask for the reports and opinions of the engineers

who are safeguarding the G. T. P. in this^ and judge for themselves if Mr. Parent is

correct in his standard of classification or extravagance.

Extract from the Ottawa ' Citizen,' April 22, 1908.

A7iother Government Scandal.

Troubles are coming fast and thick upon the Laurier administration. The latest

are the public charges made by Major Hodgins, late district engineer for four hundred
miles of the go/ernment end of the Transcontinental railway. The essence of his

statement is that millions of dollars are being boodled in connection with the con-

struction of this government work. Names and figures are given and the allegation

is made that he was forced out 'of his position because he refused to be a tool of the
boodlers. His professional record and admitted ability give due weight to the asser-

tions which he boldly makes. The charges cover not only his former division but
apply to the construction of the whole line through Quebec. At the time of his dis-

missal, Major Hodgins says that he applied to Sir Wilfrid Laurier for an investiga-
tion into the scandalous conditions which he alleges to prevail and that the investiga-
tion was refused. In the face of such charges made by a responsible professional man,
who is apparently prepared to furnish the evidence to substantiate them, it will be
very difficfult for the government to consistently refuse to have the matter thoroughly
probed. In deliberately making the charges public. Major Hodgins practically pledges
his professf.ona] reputation on his ability to prove them and incidentally to explain the
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reason of the dismissal whicli, if the circumstances are substantiated, reflect upon
both the government and its railway administration in a most serious manner. The
revelation by Major Hodgins, ex-district engineer of the government portion of the

Transcontinental construction and the boodling of millions of dollars in connection

with that work is the most serious charge that the present administration has had
yet to face. In view of the many scandals that have cropped up of late in connection

with the administration the public mind will be quite prepared to learn that such an

opportunity as the enormous expenditures on the new railway has not been neglected

by the grafting element.

Extract from Daily Colonist, dated April 19, 1908.

CLAIMS COLOSSAL SCANDAL EXISTS.

Major Hodgins gives instances of the workings of ' Quebec Classification.'

mulcted of millions.

People of Canada overcharged huge sums, he claims, in wrongful rating.

That four millions of dollars in excess of what should be paid by the people of

Canada for the construction of the 250 miles of the National Transcontinental Rail-

way, east of Winnipeg, and known as the McArthur contract, will come out of thd

treasury of the country is the statement of Major A. E. Hodgins, late governmenit

engineer upon the work. Major Hodgins' letter to the Colonist of Thursday giving

for the first time the reasons for his resignation, has excited the widest comment
across the continent. If his figures are correct, and if the same amount of the alleged

wrong classification exists upon the whole 1,800 miles of the road being built by the

Dominion, the Canadian people will be $28,000,000 out of pocket and a scandal of a

magnitude never before known in Canada ensues.

Quebec Classification.

' Quebec classification,' as interpreted on the eastern portion of the National

Transcontinental railway, appears to be a most elastic and profitable way of building

railroads, at any rate from the point of view of the contractor, J. D. McArthur, one

of the contractors, in a recent interview described the work as a monument to engi-

neering skill and Canadian enterprise, and from a fuller account of the way grading

is being classified, given to the Colonist by Major Hodgins, the enterprise of the

classifiers under the inspiration of Mr. Parent and his fellow commissionei*s would

seem to be monumental indeed.

There is nothing mysterious or scientific about the classification of the material

removed in grading, although experience is needed before it can be properly done.

And for the benefit of those unacquainted with railroading it may be stated, that it

is the custom in bidding on a railroad contract to quote rates at which the different

kinds of grading will be done, and not a lump sum for the work.

Under the government regulations for contractors and engineers on the National

Transcontinental, grading is classified under three heads: Solid rock excavation,

loose rock excavation and common excavation. These terms are defined as follows in

the ofiicial regulations referred to :

—

' Solid rock excavation will include all rock in ledges or masses of more than one

cubic yard, which, in the judgment of the engineer, may be best removed by blasting.

* Loose rock :—All large stones and boulders measuring more than one cubic foot

and less than one cubic yard, and all loose rock whether in situ or otherwise, that

may be removed by hand, pick, or bar, all cemented gravel, indurated clay and other

materials, that cannot, in the judgment of the engineer, bo ploughed with a 10-inch

grading plough, behind a team of six good horses, properly handled, and without the

necessity of blasting, although blasting may oconsionally be re<orted to. shall be

classified as 'loose rock.'
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' Common excavation will include all earth, free gravel, or other material of any
character whatever not classified as solid or loose rock.'

Crux of Matter.

It was because Major Hodgins, an engineer of great experience, declined to follow

the ideas of the commissioners as to whether material should be classified as solid

rock, loose rock or common excavation that his excavation was asked for, and it

should be remembered that the commissioners are political nominees and not engi-

neers or practical railroad men.

In order to fully grasp the supreme importance of honest classification in railroad

building to those who pay the bills, the system under which the railroad construction

contracts are let should be understood. In the first place the engineer locates the line.

He then goes over it carefully and makes an estimate of the amount of material

which will have to be removed, and how much of it will fall in each of the three

classes mentioned. He also supplies detailed estimates of the work, such as the

amount of clearing, grubbing, piling, draining and so forth that the work will entail,

and in the official estimates for the work iri question there are 101 such items. The
engineer places opposite each item in the estimate the amount that that work should •

cost in his judgment, and thus the total estimated cost of the road is arrived at.

The contractors who intend to bid are supplied with identical forms, and after going

over tJie work, they fill in the amounts which they consider adequate remuneration

and the smallest total is awarded the contract. But they do not contract to build

the road for a specified sum, they merely agree to do certain kinds of work at a

specified rate per cubic yard or running foot. And this is where the importance of

the classification comes in.

Major Hodgins* Secticm,

The road is divided into sections, each under the charge of a resident engineer.

In the case of Major Hodgins, he had charge of nearly 400 miles of road running east

from Winnipeg. Under him were government engineers for each forty miles of

road, and under them again were other engineers, about one for every ten miles. It

is the duty of these last to go over their ten miles of road every day, or at most every

other day and to note the work. They measure wEat work is being done and report

how many cubic yards of solid or loose rock or as the case may be, is excavated.

Their work is checked by their superiors and at the end of the month a monthly
estimate is sent in, showing how many yards of each kind of excavation has been

performed, and the contractor gets his pay accordingly. Thus if common excavation

is classified as loose rock in these estimates, or loose rock as solid, the builders of

the road, which in this case are the people of Canada, are robbed of the difference

between the contract price of excavating loose rock and that of excavating solid rock,

as the case may be. Thus with dishonest classification there is no possibility of

knowing how much a given piece of road is going to cost until it is actually built

and paid for.

Will Amount to Millions.

Over large stretches of construction the money thus fraudulently paid will amount
to millions, and if Major Hodgins' classifications were correct, the Eailway Commis-
feioners already ^;ontemplate paying the contractor in question, J. D. McArthur,
$4,000,000 more than he is entitled to on 250 miles of road, .and how much more he
will actually receive should the monthly estimates of the work done exceed the present

revised estimates of the eventual cost, and the present management remain unchanged,
cannot even be guessed at. The possibilities are unlimited, and it must be remem-
bered that some 1,800 miles of road is being built in the same generous fashion.

It would seem, too, that on the National Transcontinental this prodigal expendi-

ture does not profit the men who are actually doing the work, as sub-contracting has

been allowed to an extent unexampled in modern railroad practice. J. D. McArthur,
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for instance, has the original contract for 250 miles of road. He sublets this in fifty

or sixty-mile stretches at a reduced price. These sub-contractors sublet again to men
who take about ten miles apiece. The sub-contractors once more sublet in contracts of

a mile or less, and the sub-sub-sub-contractors sublet once more to the men who do the

work. These are mostly Swedes, who work practically day and night, and last winter

the labourers on the road were getting 15 cents an hour, while the different grades of

men above them were sitting reading the paper and making fat profits. How far

down the various ' subs ' share in the original generous classifications is a matter of

some doubt, and many are of the belief that most of the cake stays on top. In any

event, the present system permits of an immense amount of unearned profits, while

the unfortunate labourer is ground down, and this on a national railroad being built

with public funds.

Major Hodgins laid out the line on which J. D. McArthur is working after the

Grand Trunk engineers had run theirs, selecting a better and more direct route, with

a saving to the country of several million dollars on this piece of line alone. For this

he received the warmest official commendation. He was in high favour until he

refused to fall into line on the classification graft.

Changed Classifications.

Discussing the way he made his estimates for the McArthur contract. Major
Hodgins said yesterday :

' I made the estimate in the usual way before the contract was called for, allowing

everywhere a most liberal margin so as to be on the safe side. Everything that I was
uncertain about I put in as solid rock. I took no chances of being under the mark,

and made my estimates generously. These estimates amounted to $13,000,000. After-

wards, owing to a few changes in the way of shortening certain sections of the line,

the figures were reduced to below $12,000,000. Now comes the announcement, start-

ling to those who do not know what is going on, that the estimates have been increased

to $16,000,000. As the change in location cheapened the line, and only affected small

portions of it, all this large increase comes from classifying as solid rock what I

classified as loose rock, or as loose rock what I considered common excavation. And
I repeat that I was as generous in my estimates as I honestly could be, but every

engineer knows that there is a line between generosity and fraud in such matters. T

did not care to cross it.'

In reply to questions regarding the nature of McArthur's 250 miles of contract,

Mr. Hodgins said that the 70 miles out of Winnipeg is prairie, worth about $6,000 a

mile, and there can be no mistake or question as to what classification prairie work
comes under, while the 40 miles from Lake Superior junction west he estimated at

$30,000 a mile. This leaves 160 miles in the course of which ' monumental enterprise

'

raised the price over $4,000,000, or the neat sum of $25,000 a mile, making the total

cost of this 160 miles of road $14,380,000, or in round numbers $90,000 a mile.

To put it in another way, if, as there seems every reason to suppose, the rest of

the road is to be built on the same principle, the 1,800 miles of railroad built with the

money of the Canadian people will carry with it a graft amounting to $28,000,000.

and the fun has only begun. For, as already pointed out, no limit can bo assigned to

the loss occasioned by fraudulent classification.

Warned to Change.

Major Hodgins explained that his classification was, after a whilo. objoctod to by

those in authority. He asked what kind of classification was wanted. He was told

to classify the grading on the same principle as it was done in Quebec. But as his

interlocutors appeared unable to explain any rational manner on what metho^l he

should proceed were he to attempt to alter his estimates as requested, and as such
explanations as he was given were so at variance with his official instructions in writ-
ing, he was unable to comply. At this the major received orders to go to Quebec and
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see for himself what they were doing. He went to La Tuque, and yesterday Major

Hodgins described something of what he saw there.

^At La Tuque/ said the Major, 'there is a large cutting which was originally

intended for a tunnel. It is usually cheaper to tunnel any cut that is over 60 feet

deep, and this had a slope on one side of 120 feet and on the other side of about 80

feet. But when they started to work it was found that there was no solid rock, so

that a tunnel was an impossibility. Consequently, an open cut was made. It was a

very large cutting, containing 150,000 cubic feet of material. The ground was a

mixture of earth and sand, with some boulders. There was no solid rock in the place

at all, so that anything that could be classified as solid rock must consist of large

boulders over a cubic yard in dimensions. I asked the district engineer how it was

classified, and he told me 86 per cent solid rock. I was told that the cut was originally

classified as 30 per cent of solid rock.'

Extent of Steal.

' What classification would ordinarily have been given to that cut, according to

the usual railroad practice?' Major Hodgins was asked.
' As my examination was necessarily not as thorough as that which an engineer

in charge would be able to give, I w^ill go to the utmost limit of liberality and call it

40 per cent. Now, the price allowed on the McArthur contract was $1.70 per cubic

yard for solid rock, 60 cents a cubic yard for loose rock and 30 cents for common
excavation, so taking those prices and supposing that the difference between my very

liberal estimate of 40 per cent and the official classification of 86 per cent should all

have been called loose rock, though, as a matter of fact, a great deal of it was common
excavation, the overcharge on that cut alone would be $141,900.

' I asked the Grand Trunk engineer at that point if a classification of 86 per cent

solid rock had been put in by the engineers. He said yes. I then asked him what his

company was going to do about it. He replied :
' I don't know, but I am reporting the

facts to them." " Is there anything more like this in Quebec ? " I asked him.
'

" It is pretty nearly all like this," was his reply.
' We had a long discussion, and I made up my mind that so long as I was in

charge I would not allow the introduction of the Quebec classification on the McArthur
contract.'

Instances of Graft.

^ I returned to my work and soon found that the Quebec classification was creep-

ing in, in spite of me. Accordingly,, in September last, I made an investigation, and

I will give you the results obtained in one or two instances. I am quoting from notes

taken by my assistant engineer by my instructions.

' At mile 29, stations 1478 to 1483, the engineer in charge of that section turned in

6,394 cubic yards of earth and 10,189 cubic yards of loose rock. According to the

specifications there was absolutely no loose rock in sight, and a thousand cubic yards
of loose rock would have been an excessive charge.

'At stations 1383 and 1398 the engineer turned in 15,076 cubic yards of loose rock
and 26,668 cubic yards of common excavation. In this case a few hundred yards of

loose rock should have been allowed as there were a few boulders, but no more, as it

was a pure sand cut.

* I made up my mind that I could not stand this,^ and after conducting this inquiry
with the help of my assistant, I warned my engineers that they were not to allow such
returns to go in. I told them I would give them one more chance to put the correct

returns in the September estimates, or I would discharge them.
' I was never allowed to see the September estimates, however. My resignation

was asked for. In my absence, my assistant was the man to have signed these esti-

mates, but they would not let him sign them either. He was sent away to a different

Dart of the road, and they brought up an engineer from St. John, N.B., who signed!
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the estimates without ever going over the work to see what he was signing lor. The

estimates for September amounted to $519,808.50.

* My appeal to the government was disregarded, but it was more than a personal

matter for me. There are millions of public money at stake. Let the government call

for the reports of the Grand Trunk engineers who have been stationed all along the

line to check up the work, and then, if they bear out my statements, let an inquiry

ba had into the doings of Mr. Parent and his enterprising coadjutors on the commis-

sion. The truth can very easily be ascertained.'

Ottawa, April 23, 1908.

The Commissioners of the Transcontinental Railway,

Ottawa, Ontario.

Sirs,—In regard to the article which appeared in the Manitoha Free Press of

the 18th instant and the editorial in the Morning Citizen of the 22nd instant,

referring to a letter from Major A. E. Hodgins, now of Victoria, B.C., I beg to state

that as far as I know no estimates or accounts for work done have been padded. The
Grand Trunk Pacific have made from time to time some general objections as to

classification in district ' F,' but until after the dates above referred to no details

giving actual points where such over-classification was claimed were submitted to mc.

As you are aware, I, on the 14th and the 30th of January, issued special circulars to

the district engineers giving my interpretation of clauses 34, 35 and 36 of our general

specifications, accompanied by a diagram explanatory of same, and I have letters from
the district engineers in districts 'A,' ' B ' and ^ F,' where actual grading was being

proceeded with, stating that my interpretation had been and is being adhered to. My
letter of the 19th of September last, to the chairman, gives my reasons for suggesting

a change in district engineers in ' F ' district.

Your obedient servant,

HUGH D. LUMSDEN.

THE COMMISSIONERS OF THE TRANSCONTINENTAL RAILWAY.
Ottawa, April 23, 1908.

Memorandum, to the Right Honourable Sir Wilfrid Laurier, Prime Minister:

A letter from Major Hodgins, lately our district engineer at Kenora, Ont., has

been given wide publicity in the press, namely by the Manitoha Free Press, and the

Ottawa Morning Citizen, where it was commented upon.

There are insinuations and statements in it that should not be allowed to pass

unanswered.

Without laying any specific charges. Major Hodgins makes vague, general accusa-

tions that are absolutely groundless. It is plain that the object in view is to cause

us annoyance without any regard to truth or public interest.

If Major Hodgins has had in his possession any evidence of irregularities or

wrong doing, he should have submitted such to the commissioners. As a corporate

body, and being the first concerned, it would have been our duty to investigate the

matter promptly. If he had done so and) the commissioners had refused to look into

liis charges, then he might have been been justified in issuing statements to the pub-
lic. There is nothing in Major Hodgins' allegations to indicate that he is even now
in possession of any such evidence.

Taking up seriatim the allegations in Major Hodgins' letter as printed in the

papers

:

1. ' That the government is paying jiadded accounTs for the work done, and that

the Grand Trunk Pacific people are making no objection because they merely have to

pay the added interest.'

This statement is without any foundation. The Grand Trunk Pnoific Railway
Company make objections when they see fit, and tliei^e are looked into at once witn due
care.
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2. ' They (the commissioners) wanted to change my ideas, based on a good many
years experience on the construction, to the classification that is allowed to con-

tractors in Quebec/

This statement is also without foundation. The commissioners never, at any
time, requested Major Hodgins to adopt in his district any classification not in accord-

ance with the contract and specifications. As to the classification in Quebec, it was

looked over and found to be agreeing with these, and therefore perfectly regular.

3. *If Mr. Poulin, the engineer appointed by Mr. Parent to replace me on tne

western district, has allowed the introduction of a classification similar to that

allowed in Quebec, this will account for the increase in the estimated cost of the line.

If this increase amounts to $3,000,000 or $4,000,000 it is time the public demandled

some explanation.'

Such hypothetical statements of course amount to nothing at aii. In the first

place, Mr. Poulin was not appointed by Mr. Parent, the chairman, who did not even

suggest it, but by the Board, on the recommendation of the chief engineer because

^ he (was considered to be the best man for the position and to take hold of the work
of reorganizing the district, which had been left in such a bad shape by Major
Hodgins. At this point it may be well to remark that classification comes from the

chief engineer and not the chairman or the commissioners, as Major Hodgins puts

it.

Since leaving our employment. Major Hodgins has talked a good deal openly, in

fact much more than professional dignity and the sense of justice would seem usually

, to permit. It is time, we feel, in justice to ourselves and to the public, before whom
there is an evident desire to misrepresent the facts, to call a halt and make it necessary

for the accuser to bring facts to substantiate his charges.

You will find attached newspaper clippings in reference to Major Hodgins' letter,

and all correspondence relating to the circumstances of his dismissal; also a letter

from our chief engineer, Mr. Lumsden, on the same subject.

In conclusion, the commissioners would respectfully request, as they do not
wish to remain under the aspersion which such reports cast on them, that the whole
matter be referred to and looked into by Committee of the House and that Major
Hodgins be assigned to appear before the same-^to repeat his charges in a specific

manner in order to substantiate them if he can. Then an opportunity will be given

right minded people to see where the truth is and if public interest would have been
better served by keeping an engineer who ignored the specifications, or by replacing

him, as was done, by one who will follow them.

The commissioners trust their request will receive early attention.

S. N. PARENT,
Chairman.

EXHIBIT No. 28.

Ottawa, July 23, 1907.

Hugh D. Lumsden, Esq.,

Chief Engineer,

Transcontinental Railway.

Dear Sir,—In accordance with your instructions, I went out to Winnipeg and
walked over that part of the line now under construction in district ' F,' from mile
134 continually to 0.

Progress.

Substantial progress is now being made by the contractor in the prosecution of his

work in a general way, but this cannot be said with regard to some of the controlling

features of the work, and to which I will refer in detail. But in the majority of the

heavy rock cuttings night gangs are employed, but there are several cuttings with from
thirty to forty thousand yards of solid rock to be moved in which little or nothing
has been done and where double shifts are as yet not put on.



ORDER OF REFERENCE, WITH PAPERS ATTACHED 17

APPENDIX No. 5

Labour.

The labour problem is, as you are aware, one of great difficulty for tlie contractor

to solve. There are at the present time in the vicinity of four thousand men on the

work. It is, however, quite impossible to say with any degree of accuracy how many
men are employed at any given date, as there is a continual stream of men going and
coming from the various camps along the line. From three to four thousand men, in

addition to those on the work, could be conveniently employed if they could be had.

I was surprised to see a great many cuttings opened up and from 1,000 to 1,500 yards

taken out and no men working in them at the present time. This was general all

over the line. The various sub-contractors tell me that these were opened up by
station men who quit work after receiving their first estimate, which, in their opinion,

was too small.

The complaints were on account of the classification being too low, overbreak

being held back, waste being deducted or water coming for want of drainage. Com-
plaint is also made by the contractors that men leaving for the above causes went to

the various centres of labour and reported that the Transcontinental Eailway was
no place to work, and that no money could be made there. This is a very serious

matter for the contractor, who has spent in the vicinity of $75,000 for labour for which
he has got practically no return, men brought in at great expense going out without

doing even one day's work, and for which there seems to be no redress.

Suhrcontracts.

The contractor has let out all his work in sub-contracts. In many cases he has

given much more work to subs than they could possibly look after, they being forced

to re-sub it to others. By this procedure the original contractor loses the proper con-

trol of his work. The practice of re-subbing should be prohibited by the commission

on all future work.

Plant.

The contractor has supplied all the subs with an abundance of plant. In fact, in

many cases he has put on an unnecessary number of steam drills, steam hoists, steam
derricks, etc. Steam plant on railway^ work is not profitable, and should not be intro-

duced where it can be avoided.

Stock.

The stock on the line is of the best quality, and for the quantity of men on the

work is in sufficient number. In some of the camps it is in excess of the number of

horses actually required, as there are very few cuts where scrapers can be employed.

Camps.

The camps for the men on this work and the tableware, kitchen furnishings, etc.,

are the best that I have ever seen on any railway in this country ; the sub-contractors

have evidently been furnished (with ample funds for the vigorous prosecution of the

work, could men only be secured and retained after they have been once brought on

the work.

Roads.

Roads from the various stations on the Canadian Pacific Knihvay have been con-

structed into the headquarters of the various sub-contractors, and when at fill possible

roads have been built along the right of way or parallel to it. All this has been done
at great exi>ense. Telephone lines have also been put in, and are being put in by the

sub-contractors. Where those telephone lines exist they should be run into the
engineers' camps, the commissioners paying their proportion of the cost, as, in a

country like this, where the division engineers can only go over their divisions by
5—2
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walking, telephone communication with their various residences would be of great

service on a line where there is no mail service.

Supervision.

The contractor has on the work three competent men, all of whom are engineers

of experience. They have been allotted a certain territory to look after, so there is

always a responsible man on hand with whom the commissioners' engineers may
communicate.

Clearing.

Clearing on this line should have been done for a distance of 100 feet on each

side of the line. The bush is very thick all along the line, and as soon as trains begin

to run will all be burned unless more clearing is done.

Classification.

Classification on this work, where the vast majority of it is solid rock, is not a

serious matter, and where material has been moved that could be classified—and the

greater part of it was moved last winter when it was frozen, such as the opening of

cuts, the stripping of Tocks, etc.—I found, from questioning the resident engineers and
from looking over the progress estimates, that the classification given the contractors

has been very low, and in many cases absurdly low, and for that reason alone there

are probably 1,000 men less on the work to-day than there would have been if the work
had been fairly and justly classified. Classification is left entirely to the resident

engineers, and they are all too timid to give the contractor what he is entitled to in

that line.

The only engineer on the work who could produce any statement showing what
the profit or loss was on the various cuttings on his work was Mr. F. J. Mcintosh,

division engineer at Wabigoon river ; he looked after the classification on his division,

consequently it was more reasonable than on the rest of the work.

Overhreak.

The rock on this work is interspaced with seams of clay, varying in width from a

hair line to several feet in width, and these seams go to the bottom of the deepest

cuts, consequently, there is a great deal of overbreak all along the line. I carefully

examined many cuts where the overbreak was bad, and in no instance could I see that

it could be attributed to excessive blasting. This overbreak it appears, has been held

back by the engineers without any other reason than that it was just overbreak. I

believe that they are paying for a certain proportion of it, but none of them pay for

it all, when it was perfectly plain that it was unavoidable. This, of course, is the

cause of much discontent among the station men along the line, and has been since

the work began.

Waste.

On the whole line I only saw two cuts where there had been deliberate waste of

rock by heavy blasting (the waste in both cases would not amount to over a few hun-
dred yards.) Yet waste seems to have been deducted from station men when it was
clearly unavoidable in side cuts along the lakes, with the result that these cuts are

now idle.

Surface Drainage.

Surface drainage seems to be a non-existent quantity on this job, at least I could
not find any in my travels. Bogs innumerable and without end', but no drains other
than a few small ones made by station men for their own benefit and at their own
expense.

I
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Kemarking upon this to the resident engineers they invariably told me they could

get no authority to order ditches to be dug. They had written letters and sent in

plans for proposed ditches, but had heard no more about them. In many instances

there are bogs on top of large rock cuts that must be drained before the cuts-' are

started. The contractors are asking for drains to be laid out and cannot get them;

resident engineers waiting for orders, division engineers likewise.

Openings.

With regard to the various openings along the line in many instances the size of

these openings have never definitely been settled. Whose business it was to settle

these questions I could not find out.

Location.

Long stretches of line have been re-located since the contract was let. The con-
tractors complain that they were delayed in the building of the camps until the loca-

tion of the line was decided on. In one case in particular the line was changed after

work had been done and camps built. The contractor complains that he has never
been paid for this.

Trestles.

No permanent wooden trestles of any kind should be built on this line; they will,

without doubt, be soon burned if they are put in. The country is thickly wooded and
is liable to burn at any time. Many camps have already been burned from that cause.

Apart from the danger of fire, it will be very much less costly and very much more
satisfactory for the government that the commissioners do not leave any work to be

tl(ine on this line that can be charged to capital account. From what I saw of the

country, I considered that the contractors' price for train-hauled material was low

and should be taken advantage of to complete all fills during construction, when the

commissioners' engineers will have some say as to where the material will be hauled

from, and, more important still, they will be in a position to say how many yards were

actually hauled, and the government will thereby only have to pay for work actually

doGe; whereas, if this work is left to the operating department of the Grand Trunk
Pacific, they will haul material as many miles as they please, side-track trains for

hours at a time, quantities will be what they please to call them, and the cost to the

governmcjit will be whatever they like to make it. The district engineer and any of

the divisional engineers I spoke to on the matter agree with me in this.

Stream Tunnels.

The contractor refuses to put in any more stream tunnels of less size than four

cubic yards to the lineal foot, as the engineers have reduced the price per lineal foot

in propoition to the reduction they have made in the size of the tunnel. This has

been done in accordance with a ruling given by the commissioners' law clerk, who
ninintains that clause 138 of the specifications, which refers to line tunnels, also refers

to streaTii tunnels. Clause 138 does not, in my opinion, refer to stream tunnels and
never was intended to refer to stream tunnels by the engineers who wrote the specifi-

cations. I consider the contractor is quite within his rights in refusing to dig tunnels

at the ridiculously low price of $10.93 per foot when his contract price for this work
is $25 per foot.

Sidings.

S.ld:*ngs have not been graded on the prairie section. This should be attended to

at once, otherwise the contractor will not be able to run his track-laying trains.

5~2i
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Tanhs.

Arrangements for building tanks should be made at once, in order that use may-

be made of them by construction trains; otherwise much time will be lost by engines

running all over the line for water.

Completion of worh within a Limited Time.

Under present arrangements I see no possibility of this contract being completed

within a reasonable or limited time. There are over sixty cuttings or more^ on the

line in which work could be pushed with greater vigour. The majority of these- can

and will be put through in from 12 to 18 months by using double shifts. But the

long tunnel just east of the Winnipeg river, under the present management of both

the engineers and contractors, will not be dug in twenty years. Until different

management is placed on this particular job, it is merely a waste of time to force

work on any other part of the line. Here we have a tunnel one thousand eight hundred

feet long on which no work has been done, apart from a little scratching at both ends.

The contractor has no reason to give for not having done much won^ at the west end;

but before he can get at the east end a lake has to be drained, the surface of this lake

being about six feet above grade. A ditch has been dug to do this, but only four

feet of water have been drained so far. To make the scheme a success the water

should be lowered eight feet. I do not believe this can be done; and as the engineers

refused to pay for the cost of this work, the contractor has quit trying to lower this

lake.

In order to get at the east end of the tunnel a large ditch 14 feet deep has to be

dug from the mouth of the tunnel to the lake, as right over the proposed end of the

tunnel is a bog, and from the end of the tunnel eastwards extends a cut 1,700 feet

long. This, for want of drainage, is going to give much trouble to get out. I under-

stand that over a thousand men have worked on this particular piece of work, and
\^hen I saw it there were only 23 men working. It is a nasty job and men will not

work in water when plenty of work is to be had elsewhere.

The district engineer and the division engineer do not agree as to how the contrac-

tor should be paid for this work; neither of them. take any interest in it, and owing to

the mode of payment the contractor is losing $1 per day per man, so he is in a v,ery

unhappy state of mind. This piece of work requires your immediate attention, as

there is, practically speaking, nothing being done on it ; and under the most favourable

circumstances, it is a three-years job.

Change of Line.

I understand that the G. T. P. Ry. Co. has advised a change of une at the east

of the present contract on dist. ' F.' They, in the meantime, have abandoned the

/last 12 or 15 miles of their Fort William branch; their contractor has taken off his

men and no work is being done there. They now suggest that this piece oi line be

taken over and completed by the commissioners. The reason for this is perfectly

plain ; the last 15 miles of the Fort William branch are very heavy, cuts of particularly

bad rock with Y0,000 c. yds. are untouched. The crossing of the Pelican river is a

three-years job. The G.T.P. contractor will lose a lot of money on this bad work. He
will have his time and plant tied up for the next three years on a losing job, when he
might be free to tender on more profitable work. And worst of all, if the general

manager of the G.T.P. does not succeed in unloading this piece of work on the Trans-

continental our contractor will have the eastern end of his work graded and be asking
for rails before the G.T.P. people are in a position to haul them over their branch line.

I consider that the commission has been very badly advised lin putting on a survey
party to look up a better location for the G.T.P. branch, and that party should be
called in at once. By all means let them do their own surveying and build the7r own
line. If they are left to their own resources, we will probably be finished first.
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Engineering.

The engineers in district 'F' lack confidence in themselves; the evasion of

responsibility is the order of the day from the district engineer down to the youngest
resident. There is too mnch letter writing about things that must and should be
settled by the men on the ground, if the work is ever to be done.

It is quite evident that the contractor has never had the good-will or proper

co-operation of the majority of the commissioner's engineers on this district, without
both of which it is impossible for the work to be carried on in a proper spirit and a

businesslike manner.
Neither the district nor assistant district engineer have ever been over the line,

and if the work is to be carried on with proper despatch an assistant district engineer

should be appointed whose duties will be entirely in the field and whose place of

residence will be at or near the Winnipeg river crossing. This man should be given
authority to settle all matters relating to borrow and waste ditching, classification,

force work, size and kind of structures, &c., &c. If this was done the work would
not be held up all over the line waiting for decisions that never come.

The position of assistant district engineer at Kenora should be abolished, or

changed to that of office engineer, which the present incumbent has really made of it

At present the engineers on this work are no more than so many clerks, simply
writing letters and reading the answers, and for all the engineering they are doing,

they might as well be left out.

Yours resi)ectfully,

GORDON GRANT,
Inspecting Engineer.

Ottawa, July 31, 1907.

Hugh D. Lumsden^ Esq.,

Chief Engineer.

Dear Sir,—I am directed to request that you will notify engineers Grant and
Hodgins to be on hand to-morrow for appearance before the board.

Yours truly,

P. E. RYAN,
Secretary.

EXHIBIT No. 27.

Office of the Chief Engineer,

Ottawa. July 31, 1907.^

The Commissioners of the Transcontinental Railway,

Ottawa, Ont.

Sirs,—I beg to hand you herewith a report of Mr. Gordon Grant, inspecting

engineer, and a reply to same from Mr. A. E. Hodgins, district engineer * F.'

From this it will be sren that !Mr. Hodgins denies nearly all the statements made
by Mr. Grant, and I certainly can make no intelligent report on these without going
out on the work and judging for myself, especially so as I do not agroo with certain

statements made in portions of each of their reports.

Your obedient servant,

HUGH D. LUMSDEN,
Chief Engineer.

,
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EXHIBIT is^o. 29.

Hugh D. Lumsden, Esq.,

Chief Engineer,

Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—In reply to your instructions re Mr. Grant's report, I would have pre-

ferred to have had a copy before I left Kenora, in order to have been able to refer to

various records.

Cuttings Opened up and no Men Worlcing.

Reference to the progress profile for June will shcxw that there are not many of

these. In some instances, at the commencement of the work, some men may have

quit because the overbreak question was not settled. Some other reasons for men
quitting was that a foreman or powder man was killed, and no one in the gang to

take their places; men were charged too much for powder or other supplies; Foley

Bros, sent for them and gave them more money. Many men quit because they could

get out of paying back their fares by working on the Canadian Pacific Railway.

Foley's men are, in a large way, responsible for spreading all sorts of reports to pre-

vent men staying on the Transcontinental Railway.

Clearing.

It has been difficult enough to get the contractors to clear 100 feet. It has always

been intended to do extra clearing as soon as more men were available. Men cannot

be spared at the present time from the grade.

Classification.

This is not a serious matter. Very little classified material was moved last

winter. All engineers were instructed by the chief to classify frozen material in

cuttings or loose rock. Classification is, in my opinion, and in the opinion of Messrs.

McArthur and Hazelwood, fair; and, with the exception of one or two cuttings, there

is no dispute. Classification should be left to the judgment of resident engineers. If

they are in doubt, they can consult with the^division engineer. AH the engineers

have been instructed by me to classify liberally in loose or solid rock.

Mr. McArthur has never asked me to re-classify any particular cutting or sub-

contract.

All engineers can provide statements of profit and loss on contracts, and this

information is also in the Ottawa office on every contract since the work started.

Overhreah.

It is not possible to measure overbreak exactly; for progress estimates it is done
by tape. I would say nearly all the overbreak that has been taken out of cuts has

been returned. A large amount of shattered rock still remains that will eventually

have to be removed to make cuttings safe. Up to the end of June 77,800 cubic yards

were returned. In some cuttings 25 per cent of total yards moved is overbreak. In
May 63,251 cubic yards were returned for overbreak. I have given instructions to

division engineers to return all overbreak they can in their judgment allow.

If all the overbreak shattered but not taken out of cuts was returned now, there

would be nothing returned for it when it was finally taken out.

In my opinion, overbreak, in many cases, is due to overloading, but even this is

measured up.

In shallow cuttings overloading causes a large amount of waste. In heavy cuttings

the waste is not so great, and overloading causes overbreak at the bottom of the slopes.

I have seen more than two cuttings where there has been excessive waste. The
waste is there and can be seen by any one at any time to judge for themselves.

Engineers are endeavouring to discourage deliberate waste and contractors are kicking

Ottawa, July 31, 1907.
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at this, because they wish to waste, all they can. It pays to do this, and some station

men are disappointed with a shot unless they have wasted enough rock to pay for the

powder.

Surface Drainage.

Engineers have been instructed to run tap drains wherever possible. Bogs and

muskegs are difficult to drain properly when the grade crosses. As a case to illustrate

:

On Chambers Bros.' work west of the crossing there is a cutting with two swampy
places in it. To drain one side of this, a ditch about 500 feet to the north will drain

one side. This ditch would have to be dug to a depth of about 10 feet at the start

and 14 feet at end in slime and oose. The division engineer is of opinion that the

sides of a ditch in this material will not stand, and it would be better to take the

water down the side of the neighbouring rock cut. The tap drain would only drain

one side.

A question of this kind should not be referred to a district engineer, who is not

as conversant with local conditions as the men on the ground.

Openings.

Quantities in all openings have been figured out and can be seen on profiles in

all offices, and a list of openings has been made out by all division engineers. They
have been all instructed to increase them if they think they are not large enough. In

most cases the present division engineers located the line they are now in charge of

and named the size of the openings on profiles sent in. Their instructions are to err

on the large side in all cases. In several cases we have had to put in dry masonry
culverts in order not to delay work, because there was no cement on the ground, or

.on account of culverts not being put in before frost came. I can produce lists of

culverts for each division, showing any alterations since location profiles were sent in.

Location.

One contractor may have been delayed in building camps, by not having enough
men to cover work not being altered, his men were all employed. The reason for

this alteration was that soundings taken in the hurry of location from canoes did

not show actual depth of mud. Soundings from ice necessitated changing line on
Canon lake. In most other places where line was changed contractors were not on
the ground and clearing not started. In the case where line was changed when work
was done and camps built, the contractor has not yet sent me his bill, and when I

asked him for his own valuation on holes drilled, a root house, a small storehouse, and
the camp (2 buildings) he asked me to go out and look at them, as he preferred my
valuation. I suggested that it would be better for him to submit his bill of actual

cost, plus 10 per cent. As soon as this arrives I will certify to it.

Trestles.

I have thrown out as many trestles as possible and would throw out more if T

had permission to borrow rock. There is very little chance of getting trainfill within

reasonable haul, and trainfill, added- to cost of trestles, in most cases, would be more
expensive than rock borrow.

It is difficult at present to give exact figures how far material in cuttings (with

overbreak and (waste an unknown quantity) will make up fills on soft bottoms or in
water, but it is possible to sanction borrow if engineers are made responsible to use
judgment and discretion. The same can be said with regard to waste in a few cuttings

where overbreak is swelling the quantities, and there will be a surplus of rock in

cuttings eventually. As we are not in a position to give exact qunntitios now to tho
chief, the question is held up until we are in possession of exact quantities, or until

the cuttings are out.
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Stream Tunnels.

I agree that $25 per foot be paid for all stream tunnels up to 4 cubic yards per

foot run, even if clause in specification refers to these or not.

Sidings.

Sidings on prairie were located, but positions were changed and referred to

Ottawa; then the G.T.P. engineer suggested some changes. By this time contractors

had moved their outfits. When prairie work was again started this spring sidings

have been put in when contractors could reach them from the camps.

Limited Time.

The long cutting east of Winnipeg river. The tunnel is about 600 or 800 feet

long, not 1,800 feet. I have constantly urged the contractor to push this work. For
two months nothing was done, the reason being that the sub-contractor was sick and
not on the work.

The lake north of the tunnel can be drained, and I was informed the day before

I left by Mr. McArthur, engineer, that its present level was now only three feet

above the grade in the tunnel.

When this was proposed I instructed engineer to keep strict force account, as

we might have to pay for this by force account if the work proved difficult and impossi-

ble to measure or classify. There was a section shown, part of which was sand and
boulders, and the other portion mud. I instructed engineer to excavate in sand and
boulders only, and that mud should come out by action of water. During my absence

in Quebec I understand an attempt was made to dig mud, and, as I had given no order

to have this work done by force account, I am told it was to be classified as common
excavation by the divisional engineer. If this was done it was unfair to contractors

and a misrepresentation of my instructions. It is not necessary to sink ditch 14

feet to get at tunnel. I understand that the heading has actually been started. I£

it is found that the sides of the ditch will not stand, a tile pipe can be laid. If Mr.
Grant believes this bog cannot be drained, why does he refer to draining similar

places, (page 5, surface drainage) as being possible. I might also add that the 14

foot ditch was laid out to help the contractor get room to work into the centre of the

cutting, for, as soon as the lake is lowered, and cutting out all surplus water above

the centre line can be taken in a tile pipe to the east.

The last estimate I got on the cost of the ditch to drain the lake was $5,000. Mr.

Tye informed me the actual cost to date was under $4,000. In estimating the

cost before starting this work, I figured it all at loose rock price. What solid rock

turned up afterwards would, of course, be paid for as such.

I was not able to go up to this piece of work after I returned, as Mr. Heamam!
was away, but when I found out men were working in wet mud, I gave orders to have
it done by force account. Mr. Grant was the first to inform me they were in mud.

There are also 26,000 cubic yards to be wasted. Three months ago I instructed

Mr. Tye to waste anywhere, and gave him a free hand. I urged upon him the im-

portance of doing something, as the sub-contractor was away starting some other work
he had on the prairie.

I took sufficient interest in this particular piece of work to call your attention to

it the last time you were in Winnipeg, and on several other occasions.

Engineering.

The engineers on this district do not evade responsibility. I am willing to take

all the responsibility you can give me. Several questions have to be referred to the

chief engineer for approval which might be left to the engineers of the district. I

have been over the greater portion of the line and Mr. Heaman has been over all but
a portion of Mr. Mcintosh's division. Mr. Mcintosh asked that I should go instead
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of Mr. Heaman, and I did. Some months ago I recommended Mr. Mcintosh as

assistant district engineer, but he declined as he wished to gain experience on con-

struction, and said he would be in a position to learn more as divisional engineer than
as assistant district engineer. It was not a question of salary, as I had promised to

let him live at his present headquarters and give him two divisions on construction

and all the location east of Peninsula crossing. Most of this he has already been

over. I spoke to him again last February, going over his work with him, and he^

again declined. He has now changed his mind and will accept.

There is no position of assistant district engineer at Kenora. Mr. Heaman spent

the divisional engineers did not consider that he should have got the appointment. I

the divisional enginers did not consider that he should have got the appointment. I

visited three divisions myself. I am perfectly satisfied with Mr. Heaman, and have
every confidence in his ability and judgment, and, if I find there is still any friction,

I must ask for authority to discharge any division engineer who is inclined to make
trouble. Mr. Heaman and myself would have gone over the line this summer, but
as both of us have been away at different times, in May, June and July, we have been

out on the work very seldom, and then only for short trips.

With reference to the last paragraph of Mr. Grant's report, it is not only uncalled

for, but untrue, except with regard to my correspondence with various branches of

the head office.

If I am given a free hand to do anything that I think advisable in the interests

of the work, I can guarantee that there will be no friction between the engineers and
contractors, and if any engineer shirks responsibility he will be discharged. Resident

engineers do not write to me and I do not write to them, and I see all division engi-

neers once and some times twice a month. There cannot be much unnecessary cor-

respondence.

A fair criticism by the inspecting engineer would have been very acceptable, and
if this report had made reference to special points on the line where drainage was
necessary and had not been put in ; what openings had not been definitely fixed ; when
sidings had not been built; where waste or overbreak had not been allowed, giving

the station or mile, I would have been in a much better position to reply. As the

report is a condemnation of the engineers of the district, and myself in particular,

and if this reply does not convince you or the Board that matters generally are not

in the deplorable condition represented by the report, I must ask you to come up ai

soon as possible and investigate, and if you cannot come, I would suggest Mr. Butler

or Mr. Schreiber.

Yours truly,

A. E. HODGINS,
District Engineer,

Kenora^ August 6, 1907.

H. D. LuMSDEN^ Esq.,

Chief Engineer,

Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—I send you to-day, per Dominion Express, J. D. !^^cArthur's progress

estimate for the month of July, comprising single copies of Forms Nos. 4, 5, 9S, 4:5K,

(division engineer to district engineer and district engineer to chief engineer) and
45X, triplicate of Form 101, and statements relating to same, two copies of extra,

order No. 23 and only one of order 37, two copies of this last order beiiii? already in

your possession.

I enclose herewith a copy of a letter from ^^[r. jSrdntosh rolatiuix to an error of

100 cubic yards of loose rock on residency 25, stn. 3974-50; this itom was erroneously

entered in June and has been deducted in the current estimate.
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A statement is attached to Form 4, residency 25, showing certain amounts which

were previously returned as loose rock and common excavation now returned as solid

rock.

Mr. Mcintosh writes re same :

—

' These transfers I have deemed advisable to make at the present time, as, having

regard to the cost of working and material, they would be properly classed as rockj

excavation.'

You will note on residency 26 that 33 cubic yards of. dry masonry have been
deducted, and a like amount has been added to item No. IT, paving.

On form 45X appears an amount of piling delivered, this material is off-loaded

at the material yard, and it would not be fair to enter this under item 10 on resi-'

dency 39, as it will be split up and used on several residencies. In due course it will

be deducted from form 45X and entered under items 10 and 11.

The extra work appearing under order No. 23 is the first progress of this order,

form 101 covering same will be sent to you as soon as received from Mr. A. G. Mac-
Farlane.

For explanation of extra work at Neck Lake, see my letter of yesterday's date.

Form 101 for this will also be sent you as soon as received.

Yours truly,

A. E. HODGINS,
District Engineer.

Enclosure.

Wabigoon Falls, July 25, 1907.

Major A. E. Hodgins,

District Engineer, N.T.C.Ky.,

Kenora, Ont.

Dear Sir^—With regard to your letter No. 541 re an error in addition on form

4, item 5, loose rock, residency 25, for the month of June, there appears to be a mis-

take in this that 100 c. y. of loose rock were returned at stn. 3974-50' culvert excava-

tion as being done, which item should not have been shown there at all and was due
to a typographical error. This will leave the total to date estimate for June as origin-

ally, viz.: $294,525.63.

Yours truly,

F. J. McINTOSH,
Division Engineer * 6'

August 24, 1907.

A. E. HoDGiNS, Esq.,

District Engineer,

Kenora, Ont.

Dear Sir,—The accompanying questions and answers thereto made by Mr. Grant,

inspecting engineer, are so at variance with statements made verbally by you and
others to me, that it is incumbent on you to reply as soon as possible thereto, and to

explain, and furnish written proofs of the reason for the order you told me you had
given to division engineers re classification, and which I told you I would not approve

of.

Yours truly,

HUGH D. LUMSDEN.
Enclos.
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Questions asked Mr. Grant.

1. Did you give any instructions to division or resident engineers?—A. No.

2. Did you advise division or resident engineers as to mode of classifying mater-

ial? If so, what did you advise?—A. I gave all engineers on the work most distinctly

to understand that I had no authority to give them any instructions.

3. Did you express to such engineers, or to the contractor, sub-contractors, or con-

tractors' engineers, your opinion that they were not fairly treated by the engineers on
the work ?—A. The classification on Engineer Scott's work was so low that I did say it

was low in my opinion, while Mr. McArthur and sub-contractor were present, also

Hazelwood and the contractor's engineer.

4. Did you make the statement to any of them that all material not classified

as loose rock should be classified as loose rock, or cemented material?—A. I certainly

did not.

5. Did you advise or suggest the classifying of material by force account irre-

spective of what the material actually was, in order to cover cost of the work? If so,

state what you did advise, and if 10 per cent was to be added, or not?—-A. I advised

nothing, but I did suggest to the engineers that they should find out from their own
force accounts what the cuts were costing as a guide to classification.

6. State points where ditches had been asked for by the contractor and not laid

out?—A. On Guy Campbell's work, Anderson and Johnson's work. Resident engineer

Harris told me he could get no authority to lay out ditches. He had made plans for

ditches, sent them in«once and got no answer.

7. Did you have any conversation with resident engineer Harris in regard to

payment for roads made by the contractors for the purpose of opening iip cuttings to

enable them to start a second lift ? If so, how did you suggest such should be paid

for?—A. I suggested that the road be made from material from the cut, and that the

material used in the, road be not deducted from the estimate.

Office of the Chairman^ August 24, 1907.

Memorandum for Mr. P. E. Ryan, Secretary of the Board.

During the conference held yesterday afternoon between the commissioners, the

chief engineer and Mr. Grant, inspecting engineer, at which you were also present,

I found that Mr. Lumsden had before him a letter from Mr. Hodgins, District

engineer ' F,' dated the 6th instant, transmitting the monthly estimate for his district

for July. In this letter were remarks concerning the classification of certain items of

work different from the one made in the previous estimates.

Reference was also made therein to a document, bearing No. 4, attached to the

estimate. As it was the first time I heard of the letter, would you let me know whether
it was not submitted to the Board in my absence, as it happened occasionally of late

that I had to go away on business while other commissioners remained here.

In referring also to the July estimate, I find that document No. 4 does not form
part of the original we have here. I would like to know if you ever had it in your
possession, or have it now, as I wish to take communication of same in order per-

sonally to seek an explanation and information from the district engineer, or his

assistant, and the chief engineer, that will make me acquainted with the circum-

stances of this change in the estimates and the reasons that justify tlio same before

I can approve of it and certify the papers as required.

S. X. PARENT,
Chalr}?ian.
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Ottawa, August 24, 1907.

Memo, for Hon. 8. N. Parent, Chairman.

Keplying to your memo, of even date, I beg to say that I have not heard of or

seen the letter from district engineer Hodgins, dated the 6th instant, re his July esti-

mate of work done by contractor J. D. McArthur, before Mr. Lumsden read the same
at the conference yesterday. I can state definitely that it had previously not been

submitted to the Board either during your presence or absence.

Document No. 4, referred to in your memo., is not now, and never has been, in

my possession. This document, with other necessary documents, are submitted. by
the engineering department to our accounting department to enable them to check up
the estimates, and after this checking the accounting department return them to the

engineering department. Mr. Gow, of the accounting department, who checks the

estimates, advises me that, so far as that department is concerned, the approval of

the chief or acting chief engineer, or, in the absence of the chief or an acting chief,

of the assistant chief engineer, of any change of classification would be accepted by
^ the accounting department as final, their checking applying, not to engineering details,

but to the accuracy of the mathematical calculations and extensions.

This July estimate, when submitted to and approved by the board, did not have

attached Mr. Hodgins' letter, dated the 6th instant, or document No. 4 referred to,

which Mr. Lumsden stated at the conference yesterday had been forwarded to the

Auditor General.

F. E. KYAN,
Secretary.

Office of the Chairman,

August 24, 1907.

Hugh D. Lumsden,
Chief engineer.

Dear Sir,—Herewith you will find copy of a memorandum I sent to-day to the

secretary of the Board', and copy of his reply, which explain themselves.

It has become evident to me that things have^ not been conducted so far in dis-

trict T ' as they should. This fact was particularly impressed on the commissioners

as a result of conversations we had with the engineer in charge, Mr. Hodgins, and also

of complaints made repeatedly by the Grand Trunk Pacific Kailway Company regard-

ing the unsatisfactory progress of work on that section. With a view of securing"

fuller information on the various parts of the work now under way, namely, in dis-

trict ^ F,' the commission deemed it advisable to appoint an inspecting engineer, who
would keep us posted as desired, and Mr. Gordon Grant was called to fill the position.

He went over the ground and made a report which was submitted to the board,' show-

ing that the engineer in charge of district ' F ' and his staff of assistants, with a

few exceptions, had not devoted to the work in hand all the attention which could

reasonably be expected. Among other things, it was stated that the district engineer

and his assistants had neither of them since construction began, gone over the work
as they should have done. In the opinion of the inspector, reported to the Board, the

classification of work has been faulty. In his report, replying to that of Mr. Grant,

Mr. Hodgins suggests as a remedy to these defects, that the resident engineers should

be the ones to look after the classification. For my part, I entirely disagree with this

view. Such a policy would certainly not be conducive to the uniformity desired, and

judging from our present experience there, we would very likely have as many different

ways of classifying the work as there are engineers. In certain cases, the classifica-

tion would be too strict, and in others not enough. And again, some engineers on their

own judgment might be inclined to put under the arbitrary description of ' force

account' items which should be duly classified. This practice cannot be allowed

under any circumstances, as entirely contrary to the contracts.
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There is a letter from Mr. Hodgins, dated the 6th inst., addressed to you, which
should have been submitted to the board, together with document No. 4 attached, so

as to give every available information on the subject. They came to our notice inci-

dentally. It would appear from its contents that after certain items had been classi-

fied a change was deemed necessary and other classifications made, which it would
seem received his approval, ^uch a state of affairs shows that there has surely been
negligence somewhere in the management of this district, and, from a consideration

of these facts, the natural inference would be that the district engineer is not com-

petent to handle properly such work as he is now entrusted with. Under the circum-

stances, it is the duty of the chief engineer to take whatever means are required to

put a stop to conditions which have already existed too long. Among the points of

first importance requiring your attention is to find and suggest a way to the different

district engineers and others to ensure, as much as possible, a uniform classification

according to the plans and specifications on which the contracts are made with thei

contractors. It is essential that there be no misunderstanding on the subject. In this

connection I might point out that the commission never authorized any one, nor can
it do so, to disregard in any respect the letter of our contracts and specifications^

which must be the only guide to go by, and that for no reason can anything be paid

to the contractors or their sub-contractors which is not provided for in the same. At
the same time, it must be borne in mind that contractors are entitled to a fair and
reasonable classification, based as already stated. We cannot deprive them of what is

rightfully their own under the contracts and specifications.

It was mentioned by you that Major Hodgins had stated that he had changed)

the classifications of certain items of work in order to meet our wishes. In that case,

he should be informed at once that no such changes should be effected, as any instruc-

tions to that effect must come direct from you ; and, moreover, inasmuch as the com-
missioners never instructed him yet in that sense, nor did they express the desire to

Mr. Hodgins to make any such changes interfering in any way with his right to make
classifications just and reasonable, based upon the specifications.

Furthermore, in order to avoid the risk of any difficulty later on, it should be
made a rule as far as possible that the classifications receive the approval of the engi-

neer representing the Grand Trunk Pacific railway at the various points where there

is work going on.
,

In conclusion, as documents explaining changes made in certain estimates of

district * F ' were added to the same after they had gone through and without our

seeing them, I must decline the responsibility of certifying to the said estimates be-

fore being furnished with a full explanation of the matter.

Awaiting a reply at your earliest convenience.

Yours truly,

S. N. PARENT,
Chairman.

August 24, 1907.

A. E. Hodgins^ Esq.

District Engineer,

Kenora, Out.

Dear Sir,—Wired you to-day in cypher as follows : completed worshipped obligate

argumentative Joseph international transferable drag environ cluck naval beguile

assign perplexing convicted antechamber specfications over turned worshipped obli-

gate beguile aria calumination memornlizcd, drag environ significant l>eguile object

antechamber transferable rcquirable thunder examine wretched likewise stoned till

helper soothing clucking.'
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Which means, commissioners will not approve your instructions to divisions

engineers. Classification must be as per contract and specifications otherwise they

will not be approved by me. Division engineers should be notified to lo classify and
accompany their estimates with letter stating they have so classified.

Yours truly,

HUGH D. LUMSDEN,

THE COMMISSIONEES OF THE TRANSCONTINENTAL RAILWAY.

.

Office of the Chief Engineer.

Ottawa, August 27, 1907.

Hon. S. N. Parent,

Chairman, Transcontinental Railway Commission,

Ottawa, Ont.

Dear Sir,—In reply to yours of the 24th instant I beg to say in regard to the

unsatisfactory progress of the work in district ' F ' that, in my opinion, this was

attributable to the lack of labour and its quality, and not to the engineers on the work.

The district engineer, or his assistant, were not, in my opinion, on the work
actually under construction as much as they should have been, but how far the latter's

movements were governed by orders from his superior I am unable to say.

In regard to the classifications of the work, I am now, and always have been, of

the opinion that the resident engineer on the work is the proper person to make the

classification in the first instance, as he sees the work from day to day, and makes
the necessary measurements. That his classification should be confirmed, or amended,

by the division engineer, who should go over the ground with the resident engineer

several times during the month, and this should be further confirmed or amended by
the district engineer, or his assistant, who should go over the work with the division

and resident engineers as frequently as possible, and see that the classification is as

uniform as practicable throughout the district.

In regard to Mr. Hodgins' letter to me, dated the 6th instant. This, together

with other letters and forms accompanying the^July estimate, shoula have been

handed by my accountant (who checks the estimates) to my assistant in my absence,

and then sent to the Board, but as heretofore these had not been asked for, they were

not sent. I shall see in future that this is complied with.

Mr. Hodgins' conduct in issuing without authority from me, orders to his divis-

ional engineers to classify cuttings by use of force account, irrespective of the actual

material in them, was unwarranted, and on his informing me of his having done so

I told him I did not and would not approve of any such order without authority from
the commissioners. He gave me as his reasons for so doing that he understood this

was the wish of the commissioners, and further stated that he had given these

instructions owing to the statements made by Mr. Grant, inspecting engineer, to

sub-contractors and others, and also stated that he was influenced to do this from his

knowledge that many of the sub-contractors would throw up the work if something

was not done at once, and he relied on having a decision in regard to this matter before

the end of August. As you are aware, Mr. Grant in his replies to questions asked

him by me, denies having given any instructions, or having told the contractor, or

his sub-contractors, that they were being unfairly dealt with by the engineers on the

work, except on Scott's residency.

I have informed Mr. Hodgins both by wire and letter that you do not approve of

his instructions ; the classification must be as per contract and specifications ; and that

division engineers should be notified to so classify, and accompany their estimates with
a letter stating that they have so classified, failing which the estimates will not be

approved by mc.
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I also sent a letter to Mr. Hodgins enclosing copy of questions asked Mr. Grant
and his replies thereto (copy attached).

In view of the present state of feeling in regard to district ' F/ I have come to

the conclusion that it might be well to replace Mr. Hodgins by appointing some engi-

neer, who must be of good standing and extensive experience on construction in a

rough country, in charge of this district, and that he be given another assistant dis-

trict engineer, as well as the present one, such assistant also to be a man of consider-

able experience on such work.

I agree with the idea that as far as practicable the classification on each district

should receive the approval of the Grand Trunk Pacific engineer, and such approval

should be obtained from time to time in writing, if possible.

I beg to hand you herewith copy of July estimate, together with forms and letters

referred to.

Your obedient servant,

HUGH D. LUMSDEN,
Chief Engineer.

Kenora, Sept. 4, 1907.

H. D. LuMSDEN^ Esq.,

Chief Engineer,

Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—In reply to yours of the 24th August, 1907, the reasons I had for giv-

ing the order to classify partially by force account were as follows :

—

The contractors were losing money on mixed material because of the continuous

wet weather we have been having for the last two months.

The rate of wages has risen from 17| cents to 25 cents per hour since the contract

was signed, and the quality of the labour very poor.

Contractors claimed that if they did not get some of Mr. Grant's promises they

would pull out, and that the government should not expect to get the work done for

less than cost.

Force account as a guide for classification, not as Mr. Grant suggested, but in the

manner I explained to the engineers would be justifiable under the present conditions.

On the double tracking of the C.P.E., resident engineers classify altogether by
force account plus 10 per cent. On the G.T.P. branch similar classification to that I

suggested is in force, and I am given to understand that force account classification

is done on District ' C ' (?) '
B.'

After having explained these conditions to you at Mr. Willet's, and after the dis-

cussion between Messrs. Macfarlane, Willet, yourself and myself, it was finally agreed

that it was the best thing to do under the circumstances, only you had no authority to

sanction it. I informed you that I thought the commissioners would sanction my
actions, as something had to be done at once. I pointed out that this reclassification

could not be made in one estimate, as there was not sufficient time, and that there was
ample time for you. to return to Ottawa, lay the matter before the Board, and wire rne*

before the estimate went in. I sent no written instructions to engineers.

Since I received your wire instructions have gone out not to classify as I sug-

gested, and the estimate will not be based on my suggested classification.

The classification I proposed was in mixed material only, not solid rock, and in

some cases we would not have been able to classify contractors up to the cost of the

work. It would have amounted to very little, and would have cheered every one up,

and helped things along for the next month or two, when I hoped labour would be

more plentiful. In many cases cuttings are going behind for wimt of sufficient men
to work them.

Yours truly,

A. E. HODGINS.
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Office of the Chief Engineer,

Ottawa, September 24, 1907.

The Commissioners of the Transcontinental Kailway,

Ottawa, Ont.

Sirs,—^In regard to the situation in District ' F/ I beg to submit my views.

In May, 1906, a contract was let to Mr. J. D. McArthur for the construction of

244 miles from near Peninsula crossing westerly. The rates in this contract were, in

my opinion, low, especially for the timber, earth and loose rock, but had the current

rates of wages and price of timber remained as they were, no doubt the contractor

would have completed the contract with a fair margin of profit.

Owing to the great demand for labour in the west, wages, almost immediately

after he took the contract, went up 25 per cent and timber about the same amount.

As labour is one of the principal items of expense in a contract of this kind, it

naturally follows that the contractor, or his subs, must go behind on such items as

he tendered low on, and I have no doubt the statement made—but not by the con-

tractor—that he is losing money on considerable portions of this work is correct,

especially so when the poor quality of the labour and the difficulty and cost of securing

and retaining it is taken into consideration.

As to classification, this, in my opinion, should be the same whatever the prices

in the contract may be, the material moved not being thereby changed.

In regard to rock, there should be no difficulty in arriving at its quantity, except

as to the amount outside the regular slopes, which, owing to slips or slides, is unavoid-

able.

Mixed cuttings, consisting of common excavation, loose rock or cemented material

are much harder to classify, and the resident engineer, who sees the work from day to

day and makes the measurements, is in the best position to make a fair classification

of same, but there is often a wide difference of opinion between experienced engineers

as to such classification, but no rock should be allowed except such as is actually in

the cuttings.

Engineers in charge of work where contractors are losing money are in anything

but a pleasant situation, but they should not be expected to make their classification

difierent from what it would be were the contractors making money. They are, how-

ever, very liable to do so when they know that the estimate does not cover the cost of

the work.

The situation in the easterly 190 miles in District ^ F ' is at present a difficult one,

it being imperative that the work should be pushed as rapidly as possible; and in my
opinion the use of standard timber trestle in many places would greatly facilitate the

construction, but the engineers, knowing that the contractors' prices for such are too

low, hesitate to recommend any, but apply for permission to borrow rock (which, in

most cases, is the only available material) to make up large embankments. In cases

where the bases are on bare rock and in a considerable depth of water, I am prepared

to allow such borrow sufficient to make up a 12-foot bank to grade, or if the grade line

is a considerable height above the water, to make up a bank to a height of say two
feet above high water and of sufficient width to carry a trestle up to grade, but in very
large fills wherever standard trestle can be used it would be a great saving in time

and money over filling with rock. I have before me at the present time requests for

such borrow at twelve points, covering 216,000 cubic yards of rock, and it is highly

probable that the quantities at these points will be considerably increased, and no
doubt similar requests will be made for numerous other points. There are numerous
other places where temporary trestle might to advantage be used, but as such would
have to be filled by the contractor before the opening of the road for traffic, ones of
large dimensions should, as far as practicable, be avoided, as the filling takes up con-
siderable time.

As to what is called overbreak in rock cuttings, I find that the returns for July
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show such to be about 11:6 per cent of the total rock removed, (which to me seern^

exceptionally large, as few, if any, of the cuttings are as yet properly trimmed.
In reviewing the whole sutuation in District ' F,' I am of opinion that it would

be a grave mistake to place the contractor in the position that he would have to

abandon the work, as I am satisfied it would in the end cost more money to complete

than if he were given some little assistance. Such assistance should not be given by
the engineers classfying material other than according to specifications, but might be
given by authority from you to increase the prices east of mile 190 for item 5, loose

rock; item 6, common excavation; items 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29 and 30 in reference to

timber; item 74, train-hauled surfacing; and item 75, ballasting; or, failing your
being in a position to do so, by instructing me in writing to classify all material other

than solid rock, loose or easily worked sand, .Travel or muskeg, under the heading of

item 5, loose rock, and use rock borrow in place of trestle wherever common excava-

tion for the purpose of making up embankments is not obtainable within a reasonable

distance, or to pay for standard trestle at cost plus 10 per cent. Whatever is done,

the force on the work should be increased by at least two thousand men.
In regard to a successor to Major Hodgins, I would approve of the appointment

of Mr. S. R. Poulin, district engineer. District ' D,' as district engineer ' F,' with

Mr. Foss as his assistant, on the understanding that if Mr. Foss is satisfactory he
would, after the expiration of say three months, take the position of district engineer

of District ' F,' and Mr. Poulin would return to his former position in District ' D,'

Mr. John Aylen, now Mr. Poulin's assistant, to act for him in District ' D ' during

Mr. Poulin's absence.

Personally, I feel that matters are so different under a government commission,

whose powers are limited by the Act, from what they had previously been under a

corporation, who could act on their own initiative and take the responsibility of

making such modifications in contracts as now suggested by me in just such diffi-

culties as are now being experienced in District ^ F,' that unless some relief can be
given, the strain and worry connected with my present position is more than I can
stand, especially as the salary is not in proportion to the responsibility involved.

Your obedient servant,

HUGH D. LUMSDElSr,
Chief Engineer.

Ottawa, September 26, 1907.

Hugh D. Lumsden^
Chief Engineer.

Dear Sir^—I beg to advise you that the board has approved your recommenda-

tion with respect to the appointment of Mr. S. R. Poulin, at present district engineer

of District ' D,' as district engineer for District ' F ' in the room and stead of Mr.

A. E. Hodgins; and that Mr. Foss be appointed his assistant on the understanding

that if Mr. Foss, after a trial of say three months, is found capable of taking charge

of the district, that he be appointed to the position of district engineer for District

F ' and that Mr. Poulin return to his present position of district engineer of District

'D,'; and that during Mr. Poulin's incumbency of the position of district engineer

for District * F,' Mr. John Aylen, at present assistant district engineer of District!

* D,' be appointed to act as district engineer for District ' D/ has beiMi approved by

the board.

With respect to the other recommendations contained in your letter of the 24th

instant reporting in regard to the situation in District ' F,' I am to say that you are

clothed with the necessary authority under the Transcontinental Railway Act to deal

with all matters of classification, the construction of temporary trestles, or the borrow

of rock, &c., &c., and are therefore in a position to proceed with respect to the^e

6—3
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onatters as in your judgment you think best, having in view the completion of the

work at the earliest possible date.

The commissioners have not had reported to them any cases of dispute between

the contractor and the engineers with respect to the matters referred to in your report.

Yours truly,

P. E. EYAN,
Secretary.

Ottawa, September 26, 1907.

p. HocTOR, Esq.,
•

Chief Accountant.

Dear Sir,—I beg to advise you that the board has approved the following recom-

mendation of the chief engineer, viz., that S. E. Poulin, District Engineer, District
' D ' be appointed as district engineer, District ' F,' in the room and stead of Mr.

A. E. Hodgins, and that Mr. 0. 0. Eoss, at present assistant district engineer for

District ' A/ be appointed assistant district engineer for District ' E,' on the under-

standing that if Mr. Eoss is found capable of taking charge of the district aft^r a

trial of say three months, that he be appointed district engineer of District ' F,'' and

that Mr. Poulin return to his present position of district engineer for District ' D '

;

and that Mr. John Aylen, now assistant district engineer of District ' D,' be appointed

acting district engineer for District ' D ' during Mr. Poulin's absence.

Yours truly,

P. E. EYAN,
Secretory.

Ottawa, September 26, 1907.

The Commissioners of the Transcontinetal Eailway,

Ottawa, Ont

Sirs,—I beg to recommend that Mr. 0. O. Eoss be appointed acting district

engineer. District * F,' pending the arrival of JVtr. Poulin ; and would also f^uggest

that the request of Mr. Eoss for the appointment of Mr. A. M. Madorilliv^ay as

assistant district engineer. District ' E,' replacing Mr. Heaman, be approved Mr.

Heaman in the meantime to be appointed acting assistant district engineer, District
' D; at North Bay.

Your obedient servant,

HUGH D. LUMSDEN,
Chief Engineer.

Ottawa, September 26, 1907.

Hugh D. Lumsden^ Esq.,

Chief Engineer.

Dear Sir,—I beg to advise you that the board has approved your recommendation
of even date with respect to the appointment of Mr. C. O. Foss as acting district

engineer of District ^ F
' ; and also with respect to the appointment of Mr. A. M. Mac-

Gillivray, as assistant district engineer. District ' E,' replacing Mr. Heaman ; and that

My. Heaman in the meantime be appointed acting assistant district engineer, ] district

Yours truly,

P. E. EYAN,
Secretary.

1
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Ottawa, September 26th, Ic^OT.

D. HOCTOR, Esq.,

Chief Accountant.

Dear Sir,—I beg to hand you herewith copy of a letter from our chief engineer

with respect to the appointment of Mr. C. O. Foss, as acting district engineer, District

' F ' ; A. M. MacGillivray as assistant district engineer, District ' F
' ; and Mr. J. A.

Heaman, acting assistant district engineer. District ' D.' These recommeiidationa

.

have been approved by the board.

Yours truly,

P. E. RYAN,
Secretary.

North Bay, Ont. (at Ottawa) September 30, 1907.

Hugh D. Ldmsden, Esq.,

Chief Engineer, Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—During my absence from North Bay, while T shall have charge of
District ' F,' I beg to apply that an allowance of from $Y5 to $100 per month, outside
of my railway fares, be made to me by the commissioners for my board. My taking
charge of this new district will necessarily occasion me that amount of expense which
T would not be put to while residing at North Bay.

I hope, therefore, that you will kindly submit this to tue commissioners, and
oblige,

Yours truly,

S. R. POULIN,
^ District Engineer ' D.

I would recommend that the sum of $75 per month be paid Mr. Poulin while -

reorganizing District ' F,' to cover board and extra expenditure.

HUGH D. LUMSDEN,

The same to apply to Mr. Foss for a like period.

HUGH D. LUMSDEN,

Ottawa, September 30, 1907.

D. HocTOR, Esq.,

Chief Accountant.

Dear Sir,—I beg to advise you that the board has approved of the payment of a

special allowance of $75 per month to Mr. S. R. Poulin while employed as district

engineer of District ' F,^ reorganizing the said district, such allowance to cover his

board and extra expenditure while absent from his home at North Bay. and that the

same allowance be paid to Mr. C. O. Foss while acting as Mr. Poulin's assistant on
District ' F.'

Yours truly,

P. E. RYAN,
Secretary.

5—3 J
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Kenora, Ont., November 9, 1907.

Hon. S. N. Parent,

Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—I was surprised to see in the press your reason for my dismissal, and

can only conclude that Mr. Lumsden did not represent to you what the circumstances

were, and what action I proposed to take subject to the board's approval.

Did he tell you that the situation was serious, that sub-contractor Dutton (Mc-

Artliur's largest sub-contractor) threatened to leave the work and throw up his con-

tract, if he did not get some of the promises made to him by Mr. Grant, and unless

I did something to guarantee him that he would not lose money; it was no use. his

wasting his time. He also said Mr. J. D. McArthur had told him the engineers had
their orders from the commission. (Engineer Tye confirmed this.)

I told those present that I understood that the chief engineer had received orders

the day I left Ottawa to do something to settle all disputes, and get the work done.

The chief arrived, but suggested nothing; approved of the classification the con-

tractors said was too low; ofiered no advice, but sat and listened to what we all had

to say.

I proposed the easiest way to settle cases of disputed material other than rock,

was to ascertain the cost, and classify enough loose rock to bring the contractors out

even, adding 10 per cent for use of tools, office expenses and profit. The chief said

he had no authority to do this, and admitted that something should be done.

I proposed then that I would give the orders, and be responsible until he laid the

case before the board. He agreed to this and told me to remember he could give me
no authority. I said if he laid the case forcibly before them they would agree to it,

because it was a sound business proposition.

Messrs. A. G. MacFarlane, Willet, Hazlewood, Tye, the chief and myself were at

Willet's camp at the time. The first two have notes in their diaries of what took place.

In justice to me you ought to ask for copies of these notes.

I told the chief I thought it was what the commissioners wanted, if we could

believe what Grant had said, and it would put it up to them to say if they backed him
up or not, the air was full of rumours.

I told the chief I would act as commissioners Young and Reid had advised : they

had told me to take as much responsibility as I^could and push the work along and
report after, and under all circumstances not to delay the work pending a decision

from Ottawa. The chief admitted that it was a good way out of the difficulty, and
again said I can give you no authority. I replied, you can get the authority when you
return to Ottawa and wire me. He agreed then to cut short his inspection over the

district and hurry back to Ottawa in order that I might know what the commissioners

decided before the estimates went in. In the meantime it was understood that I was
to go ahead unless I heard from him. We figured out that I should have a wire in

five days, and it (would take about three months to adjust all disputes included on
the lines I laid down, the contractors and engineers would not be wrangling over little

things, earth was earth and loose rock was indefinite in the specifications on account
of the plough test. The bulk of the contract was solid rock and was'not to be included.

When I told him I would not allow solid rock to be included he was perfectly satisfied.

We went to Winnipeg together, and he had lots of time to change his mind and
order me not to do it if he had wished to. Instead of that he reminded me of a some-
what similar case on the Canadian Pacific Railway short line through Maine when he
took over the management and Mr. James Ross took the contract ; and I understood
him he was going to use this in his argument to the board in favour of my action.

I explained all this to Mr. Young in Winnipeg, who told me that the commis-
sioners could not do what a board of railway directors might, because the latter did
not have to submit it to parliament. This was news to me.

If the responsibility I took to keep men on the work, stop wild talk, and settle

disputes until such time as the board could have the case laid before them and deli-
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berate on it, and took the means of laying the case before the board through the chief

engineer, and if in my judgment I thought I was doing the right thing, if this is a

serious offence, why did not the chief engineer object on the ground and, as chief

engineer, order me not to do it, and if I persisted discharge me ?

All I want is fair-play, and I have had differences of opinion with the board

and some of the engineers I have done my best during the three years I have worked
for the commissioners.

Tours truly,

A. E. HODGINS.

Hugh D. Lumsden, Esq., Ottawa, November 18, 1907.

Chief Engineer.

Dear Sir,—Accompanying your letter of August 27 last, to the chairman, is a

copy of a letter from you to A. E. Hodgins, dated August 24, and questions put by
you to Mr. Grant, and Mr. Grant's answer to same, but there is no record of your
having transmitted to the board a copy of Mr. Hodgin's reply to your letter of

August 24, although you read Mr. Hodgins' letter of September 4 replying to yours

of August 24 to the commissioners.

To complete the file, I am directed to request that you will send me a copy of

Major Hodgins' letter of September 4, above referred to.

Yours truly,

P. E. HYAK

P. E. Eyan, Esq., Ottawa, November 19, 1907.

Secretary,

Dear Sir^—As requested in yours of the 18th instant, I beg to hand you herewith

a copy of Major Hodgins' letter of September 4 in reply to mine of August 24.

Yours truly,

Enclos, HUGH D. LUMSDEN.

Hon. S. N. Parent, Ottawa, November 19, 1907.

Chairman.

Dear Sir,—In regard to the last clause but one in Major Hodgins' letter to you
dated the 9th inst., I may say that Major Hodgins did, as he states, take the responsi-

bility of issuing the instructions to his division engineers, even though I told him I

did not and would not approve of them without written authority from the com-

missioners, and I did not then and there order him not to do so, as he personally knew
the feelings of the sub-contractors, or their intentions, better than I did, as mentioned

to you in my letter of August 27. I did cut short my trip of inspection and hurried

back to Ottawa, and verbally reported to the commissioners on August 19. Major
Hodgins doubtless believed that in issuing such instructions he was doing what he

thought best as a temporary expedient pending a decision, which was sent him by
wire on August 24, and I may say that the issuing of these orders by him was not my
reason for suggesting a change of district engineers.

Yours truly,

HUGH D. LUMSDEN.

The Hon. S. N. Parent, Kenora, Ont., November 20, 1907.

Chairman, T. C. Railway,

Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—I inclose a copy of notes and a letter received from Mr. A. H. Willet,

resident engineer, at whose camp on the Winnipeg river, the discussion of force
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account classification took place. I would have sent you the original, but it has gone

to Victoria in my luggage.

I have written to Mr. MacFarlane to send you a copy of his diary notes.

Yours truly,

A. E. HODGINS,

Major A, E. Hodgins, C.E., Residency No. 31, October 15, 1907.

Victoria, B.C.

Dear Sir,—Your letter of the 9th instant was not received here until yesterday.

Inclosed is a copy of notes made at the time of your two visits last August. I

do not think that what you then said could be interpreted as ' wholesale order to

classify everything by force account plus ten per cent;' I certainly did not so under-

stand it.

I was in Winnipeg on the 9th instant, and would have called on you had I known
you were in the city at the time. I trust, however, to have the pleasure of seeing you

in Kenora again toward the end of the month.

^ Yours truly,

A. H. WILLET.

, Residency No. 31.

Major Hodgins' visit here 8th and 9th August, 1907.

After interview with Messrs. Dutton and Tye, Major Hodgins stated that he was
inclined to treat the classification of mixed cuts from, a business rather than a purely

engineering point of view, and instructed me to ascertain cost of such cuts on my
residency, and if the ordinary classification showed a loss to the contractor compared
with this cost to classify high enough to cover expenses where possible. Care, how-

ever, to be exercised in doing this; for instance, not to allow any solid rock in cuts

where no such material actually existed. Major Hodgins also said that he did] not

intend giving such instructions to all resident engineers, but only to the older and
imore experienced men holding that position.

_ A. H. W.

Residency No. 31.

Mr. Lumsden's and Major Hodgins' visit, 12th and 13th August.

Major Hodgins informed Mr. Lumsden of the instructions given me on his pre-

vious visit (see attached details of same). Mr. Lumsden, while admitting that he
thought the contractors ought to be assisted, did not seem to consider that ' classifi-

cation by force account was the proper way to give such assistance. He did not,

however, countermand Major Hodgins' instructions to so classify, and when he left

here it was distinctly understood that the ensuing estimate was to be based on force

account, so far at least, as ' mixed cuts ' were concerned.

A. H. W.

Hajor A. E. Hodgins, Ottawa, November 21, 1907.

Kenora, Ont.

Dear Sir,—The chief engineer has handed in a reply to your letter, and I am,

sending you a copy of the same herewith as promised.

Yours very truly,

S. N. PARENT,
Chairman.
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SYNOPSIS OF CHARGES

The charges required to be reproduced and made more specific, are as follows :—

1. Major Hodgins, having been appointed district engineer in District ^ F/ made
his classification under the contract with J. D. McArthur pursuant to the specifica-

tions, in accordance with his professional knowledge and experience. That in sending
in the progress estimates to his superior officer (the chief engineer), Major Hodgins,
though dealing with the utmost fairness with the contractor, found that questions

arose as to classification, the contractor desiring a higher classification than the con-

tract allowed, in the judgment of Major Hodgins, and alleging that he was losing

money. The contractor appealed to the commissioners, or one of them, who advised

Major Hodgins to use greater liberality in classification which Major Hodgins declined

to do.

2. The root of all Ae trouble between the commissioners and Major Hodgins was
over-classification; and the commissioners wanted him to change his ideas as to

classification, based on a good many years' experience on construction, to the classifi-

cation that is allowed to the contractors in Quebec (under the head of ^ common exca-

vation,' ^ loose rock,' and ' solid rock.' This classification to its fullest extent is

adopted and approved by the commissioners in their memorandum laid on the table

of the House on the 24th April, 1908, and exceeds that recommended by the chief

engineer in his letter to the commissioners, dated September 24, 1907).

3. The following are instances in District ' F ' showing classification similar to

that allowed the contractors in Quebec :

—

In District ' F,' on Mr. Mcintosh's division, Ees. 25, in the April, 1907 progress

estimate, Sta. 3617, there are /150 yards common excavation and 50 yards loose rock,

and in cut 3523/70 there are 200 yards common excavation. These are transferred to

solid rock in the prcJgress estimate of July, 1907, though they cannot be made into

solid rock under the specifications.

Cut 3972/54. 70 yards common excavation returned in progress estimate of

January, 1907, 40 yards loose rock returned in same month. This consists of a little

stripping and a little mixed material at the mouth of the cutting. This item is small,

but there has been some waste in this cutting. It is put in as solid rock in progress

estimate of July, 1907.

Cut 4009/14, July estimate, 1907. There is altogether too much waste in this

cutting, even if it were possible to consider 400 yards loose rock as 400 solid rock.

The waste in this cutting is certainly deliberate. There is a large amount of over-

break. The bank made up from this cutting is very wide in places, showing careless-

ness on the part of the sub-contractor or station men.

Sta. 4027/100 yards common excavation in progress estimate of January, 1907,

and 10'60 yards loose rock, the details of which appear in the progress estimates of

January to June, 1907, were transferred to solid rock in progress estimate of July,

1907. This is stripping. From the progress profile it overlies the solid rock.

Sta. 4076/30 yards eommon excavation in progress estimate Feb'y, 1907, also

730 yards loose rock, and in April progress estimate .100 yards loose rock were trans-

ferred to 860 yards solid rock in the July, 1907, progress estimate.

There is a pocket of pure sand in this cut which it is a stretch of imagination

to call loose rock. The 30 yards common excavation occurs at the west end of the

cutting and was returned in February, 1907, as common excavation.

Sta, 4143/39—50 yards common excavation and 280 yards loose rock, east end in
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the progress estimate, February, 1907, and 90 yards common excavation; west end

in the progress estimate, January, 1907, transferred to solid rock in the July, 1907

estimate. This is a very bad cutting, and has been classified very liberally in loose and
solid rock, the solid rock consisting of boulders. Mr. Mcintosh informed Major
Hodgins that he classified this to show a profit of $600 on Mr. McArthur's prices to

date. It is impossible to estimate the amount of boulders. Beneath the end of this

cutting Sta. 4143, has a gravity track and loaded cars run down by themselves, a single

horse pulls them up. There are five men shovelling in this cut and two cars. Owing
to the length of time it takes the horse to pull the empty cars back to the pit the men
were idle most om the time Major Hodgins was there. However, this cutting shows a

profit on Mr. Mcintosh's classification.

Sta. 4162/82—820 yards loose rock in a previous progress estimate (date not

noted), are transferred to solid rock in July, 1907 progress estimate. Here there is

more sand than loose rock showing Mr. Mcintosh informed Major Hodgins that he

increased the solid rock classification in order to bring it to a profit to the contractor

at Mr. McArthur's prices.

Sta. 4178/58 : 120 yards common excavation appearing in January, 1907, pro-

gress estimate was transferred to solid rock in the July, 1907, progress estimate. The
solid rock in this cutting consists of boulders. It is a mixed cutting and over-

classified. Mr. Mcintosh acknowledges the classification is high, and says he had to

do this in order to keep the men at work.

Sta. 4190: 550 yards loose rock transferred in July, 1907, progress estimate to

solid rock. This excavation was started in February, 1907, and appears first in

February, 1907, progress estimate. There is no reason why it should not still be called

loose rock; it certainly is not solid rock.

Sta. 4201/37 : 65 yards common excavation and 900 yards rock appearing in a

previous progress estimate, date not noted, transferred to solid rock in July, 1907,

progress estimate. Mr. Mcintosh informs Major Hodgins that all stripping in this

cutting is returned as solid rock;, although it should rightly be called loose rock.

Fifty per cent of this stripping returned as loose rock and the balance solid would be

high classification. In this cutting the stripping is no use in a rock bank and should

have been wasted. The portion taken out this summer is about three feet deep.

Sta. 4213/42: 50 yards loose rock in June, 1907, progress estimate transferred to

solid rock in July, 1907, progress estimate. It is" stripping. The item is very small

and is hardly worth considering.

If all the common excavation referred to in the above cuts were returned as loose

rock and the loose rock left as previously returned, the contractors would be very

liberally dealt with.

Mr. Mcintosh ordered in cuttings 4240 and 4250 that 2,700 yards of loose rock in

the cut near Sta. 4240 shown in previous progress estimates, date not noted, should be

transferred into solid rock in the progress estimate of July, 1907, and this was done;

and in cut starting at 4250 the same number of yards was returned in the July, 1907,

estimate, as loose rock instead of common excavation, which it surely is, being the

finest sand cut that can be found on the line. This should not have occurred.

Mr. Mcintosh allowed his resident engineer on Ees. 25 to add some 660 yards to

the July or August, 1907, progress estimate on cutting 3848 west of Wabigoon river.

The resident engineer did this to cover up an extravagant interim estimate given to

station men when they were quitting, which interim estimate was not borne out at the

end of the month. The men have gone away and unless the same men come back to

work this out, this cut will be estimated to contain 660 yards more than has been
taken out, to say nothing of the very liberal classification in loose rock, being a clay

cutting with the exception of a little lump of solid rock encountered near the mouth.
At Sta. 340O to 3402, Mile 64, some 900 yards pure muskeg had been returned in

progress estimate of July or August, 1907, as solid rock. This muskeg was taken out

by station men and the contractor paid them 23 cents a yard. It was wasted to the
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side. The reason for returning this as solid rock, claimed both by Mr. Mcintosh and
the resident engineer, Mr. W. W. Mack, was that it was a pocket in a rock cut. Mr.
Mcintosh was ordered not to let this sort of thing occur again, and to return it and
classify it correctly. The resident engineer estimated that some 1,800 yards of muskeg
had been taken out to date, and he would have returned all this as solid rock if Major
Hodgins had not stopped him.

As to these instances, Major Hodgins reported them to the chief engineer on

September 15, 1907, with a request that it should be dealt with by him.

At Mile 29, stations 1478 to 1483, the engineer in charge of that section turned

in in estimate of July or August, 1907, 6,394 cubic yards of earth and 10,189 cubic

yards of loose rock. Judged by the specifications there was absolutely no loose rock

in sight, and a thousand cubic yards of loose rock would have been an excessive charge.

At stations 1385 and 1398 the engineer turned in in the July or August, 1907,

estimate, 15,076 cubic yards of loose rock and 26,668 cubic yards of common excava-

tion. In this case a few hundred yards of loose rock should have been allowed as there

were a few boulders, but no more, as it was a pure sand cut.

4. That, the Commissioners suggested that Major Hodgins should ignore the chief

engineer and act independently in regard to classification.

5. That having refused to be more liberal in classification than Major Hodgins
was then allowing, he suggested that the commissioners, not being railroad men,
should leave the engineering department alone.

6. That Mr. C. A. Young, a commissioner, then advised that Major Hodgins
should go to Quebec and see how things were managed in that District 'B,' where
the contractors were not kicking, and get an object lesson.

7. Major Hodgins went to District 'B,' in Quebec, and returned determined not

to allow Quebec classification as indicated above to be introduced into the western

division so long as he remained in charge. The following is an instance noted by him
in District ' B ' :—

In La Tuque, in District 'B,' there is a large cutting which was originally

intended for a tunnel. This had a slope on one side of 120 feet and about 80 feet deep.

There was no solid rock in place so that a tunnel was an impossibility. Consequently

an open cut was made. It was a very large cutting containing about 150,000 cubic

yards of material. The ground was a mixture of loose rock with some boulders and
some earth and wet sand on top. There was no solid rock in place visible in June,

1907, so that anything that could be classified as solid rock would consist of large

boulders over a cubic yard in dimension. This was classified at 86 per cent solid rock.

The cut was originally classified at 30 per cent solid rock. There are numerous other

instances of over classification in this section which can be shown when the production

asked for is made and witnesses subpcenaed and examined.

8. Having seen an interview with the contractor, J. D. McArthur, in the Toronto
' World ' of March 12, 1908, that ' the first estimate as to cost of his 250 miles was

$13,000,000, the probable cost would be close on to $16,000,000, so many changes have

been made.^ Major Hodgins asserted and still maintains that as changes of location

and in the standard of classification would both afiect the cost of construction and

that as the changes of location resulted in a saving of over one million dollars, the

additional cost spoken of by McArthur is and must be due to changes in the standard

of classification, and that the adoption in District ' F ' of a classification similar to

that practised in Quebec on District ' B ' will account for the same.

9. Major Hodgins gives the instances in paragraph 3 and 7 hereof as showing

that such classification exists on District ' B,' and has been introduced in District

*F,' and he asserts and intends, if given access to the papers and documents bearing

upon the same, and allowed to subpoena and examine witnesses as aforesaid, ta

establish that the said classification is general in both districts.

10. ' This led to trouble, and ^lajor Hodgins got no assistance from the chief

engineer,' such trouble being as follows :

—
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The commissioners sent Mr. Gordon Grant, appointed by them notwithstanding

the chief engineer's objection to inspect District ' F,' and the said Grant.

(1) In going over District ' F ' with the contractors and in their presence and in

presence of their engineer and sub-contractor, criticised the classification, stating thai

it was too low, that the engineers were robbing the contractors, who had not been

fairly treated, and suggested classifying common excavation and loose rock as solid

rock, and that every yard of stripping should be solid rock, and that would classify

the commencement of rock cuttings that contained earth and loose rock from grade

until the solid rock was reached as solid rock, and the clay cutting at the Wabigoon
as all loose rock, and talked freely of the liberality of the classification in Quebec
in which the contractor was given in mixed cuts more rock than there actually was,

and which classification the chief engineer had to approve. He also advised that

engineers should classify at cost plus 20 per cent in loose rock cuts, and when the

price of loose rock did not cover cost the addition of solid rock when solid rock did

not exist.

(2) The said Grant raised the classification at La Tuque from 30 per cent to 80

per cent, and after objection from the Grand Trunk Pacific district engineer, Mr.
Armstrong, it was raised to 86 per cent, and he so stated to Mr. Hodgins in July,

1907.

(3) The said Grant also made a written report to the chief engineer containing

statements as to Major Hodgins and his engineers, many of which are untrue and
were intended to create an impression of a state of affairs at District ' F,' which did

not exist. The chief engineer then advised the commissioners (see his letter July

31, 1907, produced at page 40) that he did not agree with portions of both reports

and could make no intelligent report thereon without going out on the work and
judging for himself. The chief engineer then came up to District 'F,' went over

five miles of McFarlane's division, agreed that the classification thereon disputed by
the contractor was correct and discussed with Major Hodgins the situation in the

district, some of the circumstances of which are set out in his letter (a) to the con-

tractor dated June 27, 1907, and (b) to the commissioners, dated August 27, 1907.

The copy of the letter to the contractor should be produced. On that occasion Major
Hodgins and the chief engineer discussed the situation, and Major Hodgins sug-

gested that he should give an order, subject to the decision of the commissioners,

which was to be obtained at once to use force ai3Count plus 10 per cent as a quick

settlement of classification in dispute, and as a businesslike arrangement designed to

prevent the contractor and sub-contractor from throwing up the contract. This sug-

gestion did not obtain the approval of the commissioners, and Major Hodgins was
notified within five days; it was not acted upon in classification, and is stated by the

Chief engineer in his letter to the commissioners of November 19, 1907, not to be
his reason for recommending the change of district engineer.

11. That ' Major Hodgins was removed for other (alleged) reasons, and that no
investigation into his case was allowed, and that his opinion and the opinion of the

next senior engineer on the district were smothered.' Major Hodgins was dismissed

at the instance of the commissioners on Grant's untrue statements of the commission-
ers' unwarranted and wrong inferences that he was approving of a departure from
the specifications at a time when he was investigating, under the orders of the chief

engineer, the over-classification which had crept in since Grant's visit, owing to the

latter's statements, and when Major Hodgins was actually disallowing such over-

classification in two divisions or District ' F.'

12. Major Hodgins adheres to the statements made in a letter of April 16, 1908,
as containing his charges which are repeated in a specific manner as above.

13. Major Hodgins requires for the proving of the above charges documentary
evidence in the possession of the commission, of the Auditocr General, and of the
Grand Trunk Pacific Railway Company or its officials. Those in the possesion of
the commission consist of the various progress estimates and progress profiles sent in
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monthly by the engineers in Districts ' F ' and ' B/ the reports by the division engi-

neers and by the district engineer, all from January, 1907, to the present time and
relating to District ' F ' and ' B ' ; all correspondence relating to these estimates or to

the classification thereon and to the matters referred to in these charges ; the minutes
of the commision and the correspondence between them and any of their engineers

or officials relating to the said matters or reports and memoranda relating thereto, and
all cheques, warrants and other vouchers showing payments made or recommended
upon the above estimates and the certificates upon which the same were paid, and,,

generally speaking, all paper writings in any way dealing with or affecting the ques-

tion before the committee.

Those in the possession of the Grand Trunk Pacific Bailway Company consist

of all letters or reports from their inspecting engineers on Districts ' F ' and ' B,'

reporting on, objecting to, or approving of the progress estimates or classification

made by the engineers of the commission, and all correspondence, or copies thereof,

between the Grand Trunk Pacific Kailway Company or any of their officials or engi-

neers with the commission, or any of its officials or engineers regarding the said

classification or progress estimates.

Major Hodgins further requires the documents anr papers referred to in the above

charges and not yet produced, and in addition thereto the following ;

—

(1) Minutes of conference between the commissioners, the chief engineer and
Grant on 23rd August, 1907.

(2) Letters, 6th September, 1907, and letters, 9th September, 1907, from Mr.
Mann, Grand Trunk Railway engineer of District ' F,' or copies thereof, ^protesting

against July classification on account of allowing solid and loose rock where they could
not be properly so classified under the specifications.

(3) The August estimate from which Major Hodgins struck out items of over-

classification.

(4) Cipher telegram in September, 1907, Major Hodgins to chief engineer, asking
for a reclassification of Divisions 5 and 6.

(5) Copy of letter, chief engineer to Major Hodgins, 12th September, 1907,

asking for his resignation.

(6) Letter, September 3, 1907., Major Hodgins to chief engineer stating that it

was necessary for the chief engineer to continue his investigation into Grant's charges
to which both engineers Heaman and Mann object and that McArthur says that

Grant was sent to help him out,

(7) Letter, Major Hodgins to chief engineer, September 7, 1907, that he has dis-

allowed August estimate, in so far as it differs from that prior to July, &c., that Mc-
intosh objects and that Major Hodgins would go over it, but would not allow solid

rock where it did not exist and inclosing two letters from Mcintosh giving reasons for

change in classification,

(8) The two letters from Mcintosh inclosed in that letter.

(9) Letter, Major Hodgins to chief engineer, September 8, 1907, referring to jump
in Mcintosh estimate from 385 yards, common excavation, in July, immediately fol-

lowing Grant's inspection to 14,005 cubic yards which is not accounted for, and that

he is going to see, that 13 cuts where 5,855 yards, common excavation, was transferred

to solid rock.

(10) Letter, Major Hodgins to chief engineer, September 15, 1907, as to July

estimates of Mr. Mcintosh, giving detailed instances of over-classification, and saying

that if common excavation and loose rock are to be classified as solid rock he wishes

to be relieved of all responsibility and refers matter to the chief engineer to be dealt

with. Also the documents, circulars and letters referred to in the letter of the chief

engineer, dated 23rd April, 1908, to the commissioners : Letters from Major Hodgins
to the chief engineer, dated August 7, 1907, and October G, 1907. Telegram from chief

engineer to Major Hodgins, dated August 17. 1907. Statement of resident engineers

dealing with Grant's visit sent in September to the chief engineer. Instructions to
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Gordon Grant acknowledged in his report of July 23, 1907, complaints from the Grand
Trunk Pacific Railway Company referred to as having been received in Mr. Parent's

letter of August 24, 1907, to the chief engineer, and the papers relating to the location

original, revised and final of the line in District ' F ' and the letting of the contract

and the progress of the contractor.

14. Major Hodgins desires to call and examine, and requests the committee to

have subpoenaed to attend with all papers, books, documents, reports and correspondence

relating to any of the matters referred to in the thirteen preceding sections hereof,

the following witnesses:

—

A. P. Miller, resident engineer, residency 25.

W. M. Wilkie, resident engineer, residency 22.

E. E. Milledge, resident engineer, residency 29. ^

G. L. Mattice, resident engineer, residency 27.

H. Sunstrum, resident engineer, residency 28.

M. C. MacFarlane, division engineer, division 8.

W. W. Bell, resident engineer, residency 21.

E. R. Blackwell, resident engineer, residency 33.

George Scott, resident engineer, residency 34.

Mr. Woods, assistant chief engineer, G. T. P. Railway.

W. E. Mann, inspecting engineer, G. T. P., Winnipeg.
John Armstrong, Ottawa.

J. A. Heaman, Kenora.

E. W. Morse, Montreal.

May 11, 1908.

This is filed by Mr. Frank E. Hodgins, K.C,, as counsel for Major Hodgins.
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REPORTS OF THE COMMITTEE

FIRST EEPORT.

Friday, May 15, 1908.

The Special Committee appointed to investigate the charges made by Major
Hodgins re the Transcontinental Railway beg leave to present the following as their

First Report :

—

You committee recommend that leave be granted to them to sit while the House
is in session.

All which is respectfully submitted.

VICTOR GEOFFRION,
Chairman.

SECOND REPORT.

Thursday, May 21st 1908.

The Special Committee appointed to investigate the charges made by Major
Hodgins re the Transcontinental Railway beg leave to present the following as their

Second Report :

—

Your committee recommend that leave be granted to them to have all their pro-

ceedings and any evidence taken by them in this inquiry, printed from day to day
for the use of the committee and that Rule 72 be suspended in reference thereto.

All which is respectfully submitted.

VICTOR GEOFFRION,
Chairman.

THIRD REPORT.

Friday, June 26, 1908.

The Special Committee appointed to investigate the charges made by Major
Hodgins re Transcontinental Railway beg leave to present the following as their

Third Report :—

The Special Committee to whom was referred the menioranduni of the Chairman
of the Transcontinental Railway Commission to the Prime IMinister of date 23rd of

April last past, and laid on the Table of the House on the 24tli of April and papers

accompanying the same, together with the letter of Major Ilodlgins to the public

press therein referred to, beg leave to present the following as their Third and Final

Report :

—

Your committee met for organization on the 29tli day of xVpril last past, when
Mr. Geoffrion was elected Chairman, and on motion it was resolved that the Clerk

of the committee notify Major Hodgins to appear for the purpose of formulating and
substantiating his charges. Your committee met again on the Sth day of ^lay,

1908, at which time Major Hodgins appeared personally, and by Mr. Frank Hodgins,
K.C., his counsel, and the investigation of the said charges was commenced and con-

tinued with certain adjournments, until the 23rd day of June instant.

45 '
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The charges consisted of a letter written by Major Hodgins and published in the

Daily Colonist, a newspaper of the city of Victoria, on the 16th day of April last

past; and also two alleged interviews with Major Hodgins in the JJaily Colonist under

date of April 17th and 19th, in which Major Hodgins substantially charged that, on

account of dilierences over the question of classification between himself, as District

Engineer of District ' F ' of the Transcontinental Kailway, and the contractors, he

was invited by the Commissioner, C. A. Young, to go to Quebec and see how things

were managed in that district where the contractors were n.ot kicking, and to get an
' object lesson,' and that upon going to Quebec he found a certain cut, known as

the ' tunnel cut,' near LaTuque, being classified as 86 per cent solid rock, which in his

judgment, should not have been, classified at more than 40 per cent. Also, that if it

were true, as stated in an interview with Mr. J. D. McArthur, the contractor -for

District ' F,' in the Toronto World of the 12th of March, that while Major Hodgins'

first estimate as to the cost of the 250' miles was $13,000,00'0, which, by a revision of

the line, was subsequently reduced to something under $12,000,000, the probable out-

lay would be close to $16,000,000, then the increased cost must have been the resull

of the introduction into District ' F ' of what Major Hodgins chose to call ' Quebec
classification.'

After the investigation had proceeded for a time, and on the 3rd day of June,

Major Hodgins specifically repudiated the interviews in the Daily Colonist above

referred to, in the following statements, found on pages 254 and 25Y of the Evidence,

namely :

—

'By Mr. Murphy :

' Q. Well, it is important to know. Major, how much or how little of this inter-

view you are prepared to stand by, because it affects the cross-examination ?

' A. I am not prepared to be responsible for the interviews at all. As I say, if a

reporter interviews you and takes down half a dozen sentences—and his notes certainly

were not that long (illustrating by a gesture) and writes up two columns, you cannot

hold me responsible for it. Part of the interview, I might tell you, the reporter was
trying to find out what an engineer has to do, what he does this, that, and the other

—

in fact, I was giving him more or less of a lecture on engineering. There are a whole

lot of questions he was working up, and he got hopelessly mixed up in.the thing.'

* * * * * * * * *

' Major Hodgins.—I might say that the reporter during the interview asked me
a whole lot of things, I have forgotten exactly what questions he asked me, but he

said :
" Is this so and so." I said :

" It is impossible for me to know. You must not

put down anything in this interview that I have not said." When I saw the interview

I saw that the thing was so hopelessly mixed up there was no possible way of explain-

ing it. I asked him to make a correction, and he made a correction, which is almost as

bad as the other. Then I stopped.'

Later on it developed, beyond question, that the cut to which Major Hodgins
referred as having been classified at 86 per cent solid rock, was, in the month of May,
1907—^being the month prior to Major Hodgins' visit—classified at 29 per cent solid

rock, 10 per cent loose rock, and 61 per cent common excavation, and for the month
of June, 1907, 32 per cent solid rock, 10 per cent loose rock, and 58 per cent common
excavation.

The Major then found that a large amount of discussion and correspondence had
taken place between the Chief Engineer of the Commission, the various District

Engineers from Moncton to Winnipeg, as well as Divisional and Hesident Engineers,
and very eminent legal gentlemen, over the proper interpretation of clauses 34, 35

and 36 of the specifications, being the clauses applying to the classification of solid

rock, loose rock, and common excavation, and that on the 9th day of January, 1908,

an interpretation was decided upon by the Chief Engineer, which afterwards was
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agreed to by Mr. Woods, Assistant Chief Engineer of the Grand Trunin Pacific Kail-

way Company, and whicli has been acted upon since that date, but which the Major

contended was at variance with his ideas of the proper construction of these clauses,

and when this fact came to his notice, together with the fact of mistake in regard

to the classification of the LaTuque catting, upon which he had based his judgment

of the work in Q'uebec, he frankly admitted that the only question then left was

whether his view of the interpretation of the specifications was correct or not, and

he thereupon withdrew any imputations which he had made upon the Commissioners

in regard to improper interference with the engineers, or that he had personally asked

Sir Wilfrid Laurier for an investigation which had been refused, or that Mr. Parent

had in any way attempted to influence Sir Wilfrid Laurier, and that not knowing of

Mr. Lum&den's interpretation of the clauses referred to when he wrote his letter to

the Colonist on April 16th, his views, in the light of this opinion had been modified;

these admissions being found on pages 385, 386, 387, and 388 of the evidence.

It also appeared from the documents produced that in making his estimate of the

cost of the two hundred and fifty miles in District ' F,' comprised in McArthur's

contract, Major Hodgins had omitted from his calculation a number of items, which

in the aggregate amount to about $6,000,000', whicli more than accounts for Mr. Mc-
Arthur's estimated increase of $4,000,000 in the cost of the work, and about coincided

with Mr. Poulin's estimate made shortly after assuming the duties of District Engi-

neer, and it therefore became evident that this increased cost was not the result of a

change in classification, but of including work necessary to the completion of the

enterprise.

Your committee, therefore, decided that as the .charges made by Major Hodgins
had been withdrawn, the question as to whether the engineers on Districts ' B ' and
' F ' were classifying according to the interpretation of the specifications as laid down
by the chief engineer was a technical one which Major Hodgins did not wish to present

to the committee claiming on page 387 of the evidence that the board of arbitration

was the proper tribunal to determine whether or not there was an issue in this matter,

and inasmuch as differences of opinion had been anticipated at the inception of the

enterprise, and their disposition provided for by the statute and agreement which pro-

vided for the settlement of such diiferences by the arbitration and decision of the

chief engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway Company, and the chief engineer

of the commission, and in case of their disagreement, by a third engineer to be

appointed by the Chief Justice of Canada, the inquiry could not profitablj^ or in the

public interest be continued, and the same was brought to a close.

Your committee, therefore, find that Major Hodgins has not only failed to prove

the charges as contained in the Colonist, both in the letter and interviews, but has
specifically withdrawn the same, and has unqualifiedly exonerated the commissioners

and their engineers from any improper conduct or undue influence over oflicials under
them, or of collusion with the contractors, and that if questions as to classification

arise they should be decided by the tribunal previously provided therefor by the

statute.

Your committee also beg to submit herewith, for the information of the House,
the mimites of their proceedings, their discussions and the evidonco taken by them
during the inquiry.

All which is respectfully submitted.

VICTOR GEOFFRION,
Chairman.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
OF THE

SPECIAL COMMITTEE INVESTIGATING

Major Hodgins Charges.

Wednesday, April 29, 1908.

The Special Committee appointed to investigate the charges made by Major
Hodgins, C.E., regarding the classification of materials, &c., in construction work on

the Transcontinental Railway, met at 10.30 o'clock, a.m.

On motion of Mr. Carvell, Mr. Geoffrion was elected chairman of the committee.

The order of reference was read.

On motion of Mr. Carvell, it was resolved that the clerk of the committee do

notify Major Hodgins by telegram to appear before the committee on Friday, May
8 next, for the purpose of preferring his charges, and to bring with him all papers,

correspondence and memoranda in his possession relative to the matters mentioned in

the order of reference.

On motion of Mr. Macdonald, it was ordered that the clerk do notify the Board
of Commissioners of the Transcontinental Railway that the committee will meet on

Friday, May 8 next, for the purpose of beginning the investigation, and ask them to

submit any papers or information which they desire to lay before the committee for

their consideration; and also to produce for the information of the committee all

papers and correspondence (if any) relevant to the subject of inquiry, which may be

in their possession or under their control, and which have not already been laid before

the House; also all maps, plans, profiles, progress and other estimates, specifications,

memoranda or other information regarding the classification of materials in cuttings

and fillings and any alterations made tlierein, and also regarding any changes made in

the location of the line within Districts ^ B ' and ' F,' of the railway, subsequent to

the final location thereof.

The committee adjourned till Friday, May 8, at eleven o'clock, a.m.

The Committee met at 11 o'clock, a.m.

Present: Messrs. Geoffrion (Chairman), Barker, Carvell, Lennox and Macdonald,

The minutes of the last meeting being read, Mr. Macdonald took exception to

the last half of the resolution standing in his name, as he had only proposed that the

Transcontinental commissioners should produce papers subject to the terms of the

Order of Reference, and not to any charge that might be made by Major Hodgins.

Attest.

Walter Todd,

Clerh.

VICTOR GEOFFRION,
Ch a inn a 71.

FRroAY, May 8, 19aS.

5- -4
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Subject to the objection of Mr. Macdonald the minutes were confirmed.

Replying to a member of the committee, the clerk stated that no papers had been

produced as yet.

Major A. E. Hodgins being called, was present.

Major Hodgins being asked -by the Chairman if he had any statement to make
before being examined.

Mr. Frank Hodgins, K.C., stated that he was present as rej)resenting Major

Hodgins pro tern, but as his client had only arrived from British Columbia yesterday,

he had not had sufficient time to go into the subject matter of the enquiry with him
with any particularity, but if allowed a reasonable time for consultation and prepara-

tion he would be able to submit a statement of the charges, probably by Monday or

Tuesday next

Resolved,—That Major Hodgins be given until Monday next at 6 o'clock, p.m., to

file, through his counsel, a statement of his charges, with the clerk of the committee.

Mr. Hodgins, K.C., asked that counsel be assigned to Major Hodgins, at public

expense. Consideration postponed until the next meeting of the committee.

^ The committee adjourned until Tuesday next at 10.30 o'clock a.m.

Attest.

Walter Todd, VICTOR GEOFFRION,
Cleric. Chairman.

Tuesday, May 12, 1907.

The committee met at 10.30 a.m.

Present:^ Messrs. Geoffrion, chairman; Barker, Carvell, Lennox and Macdonald.

The minutes of the last meeting were read and confirmed.

Mr. Hodgins, K.C., handed in a typewritten statement of the charges preferred

by Major Hodgins.

Mr. Barker moved that the said charges be now read.

Mr. Macdonald moved in amendment that in view of the misunderstanding which

arose as to to-day's meeting, the committee do now adjourn until to-morrow, and that

the whole matter stand over until that time.

And the question being put the amendment was declared carried on division.

The committee adjourned until to-morrow at 10.30 o'clock a.m.

Attest.

Walter Todd, VICTOR GEOFFRION,
Clerk. Chairman.

Wednesday, May 13, 1908.

The committee met at 10.30 o'clock, a.m.

Present: Messrs. Geoffrion, (chairman), Barker, Carvell, Lennox and Macdonald.

The minutes of the last meeting were read and confirmed.

Mr. Charles Murphy stated that he was present as representing the Transcon-

tinental Railway Commissioners.
Mr. Murphy being asked by the chairman if he had any observations or objections

to make regarding the charges as filed by Mr. Hodgins, K.C., stated that he did not
intend to make any formal objection at this stage of the proceedings, but reserved the
right to object to any point at the proper stage in the taking of the evidence.
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Mr. Hodgins, K.C., renewed his application for assignment of counsel to Major

Hodgins. Consideration further postponed.

On motion of Mr. Barker, it was resolved that the Transcontinental Railway
Commissioners be required to produce before this committee all papers and records in

the custody or under the control of the said commissioners relating to, or affecting

the matters referred to this committee.

On motion of Mr. Barker, it was resolved that the First Minister, the Minister

of Finance, the Minister of Railways and Canals, and any other ministers or depart-

ments, including the Auditor General, having papers and records in their custody or

under their control, relating to, or affecting the matters referred to this committee

be requested to produce the same before the committee.

Mr. Barker moved that a summons be issued to the proper officers of the Grand
Trunk Pacific Railway Company requiring the company to produce before this com-
mittee, all papers and records in the custody or under the control of the company or of

its officers, relating to or affecting the subject-matter referred to this committee, and
requiring the officers or persons in charge of any or all such papers and records to

appear therewith before this committee and give evidence in regard thereto.

Motion to stand for further consideration.

Mr. Lennox moved that the Transcontinental Railway Commissioners and the

government be requested to produce and have before this committee at its next sitting

such of the memoranda, papers, writings and documents mentioned or referred to in

the statement of charges filed on behalf of Major Hodgins as are in their possession,

custody or control.

Motion to stand as a notice of motion. ^

Major A. E. Hodgins, C.E., was sworn and examined in part by Mr. F. E.

Hodgins, K.C.
Major Hodgins produced the following papers which were filed and marked as

exhibits, viz. :

—

No. 1.—Memo of number of men employed monthly on McArthur's contract from

May, 1906, to September, 1907.

No. 2.—Copy of circular letter, of June 27, 1907, H. D. Lumsden to district

engineers.

No. 2a,—Copy of letter of same date, H. D. Lumsden to Gordon Grant.

No. 2h.—Copy of letter of same date, H. D. Lumsden to J. D. McArthur,

Winnipeg.

No. 3.—Letter from Commissioner Young to Major Hodgins, Kenora, Ont., dated

June 4, 1906.

On motion of Mr. Lennox, it was ordered that a summons, duces tecum be issued

to Mr. John Armstrong, C.E., to attend and give evidence before the committee at its

next sitting.

Resolved that the committee do recommend to the House that leave be granted

to them to sit while the House is in session.

The committee adjourned till Tuesday next. May 19, at 4 o'clock, p.m.

Attest.

The committee met at 4 o'clock p.m.

Present:—Messrs. Geoffrion (chairman). Barker, Carvell, Lennox and Maodonald.

The minutes of the last meeting were read and confirmed.

On motion of Mr. Barker, it was

Walter Todd,

ClerJc.

VICTOR GEOFFRION,
Chairjnan.

Tuesday, May 19, 190S.

5—4i
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Ordered, That Mr. J. A. Heaman, C.E., of Kenora, Ont.; Mr. W. Mann, of Win-

nipeg, and Mr. Woods, Assistant Chief Engineer, Grand Trunk Pacific Railway Com-

pany, Montreal, be summoned to attend duces tecum, and give evidence before the

committee.

Resolved, That any original documents in the possession or under the control of

the Transcontinental Railway Commissioners, required for the use of the committee,

be brought as required to this committee room, under the care of an officer of the

Commission, for inspection by members of the committee and by counsel.

The examination of Major Hodgins by his counsel was resumed.

During his examination the following papers were - produced and marked as

exhibits, viz. :

—

No. 4.—Letter, May 9, 1907, Hodgins to Lumsden.
-^0^ 5.—^Letter, June 6, 1907, Hodgins to Lumsden, enclosing list of heavy

cuttings.

The committee rose at 6 o'clock p.m.

8.30 p.m.

The comnaittee resumed.

The examination of Major Hodgins was continued.

The following papers were filed and marked as exhibits, viz.:—

•

No. 6.—Letter, September 14, 1907, Hodgins to Lumsden.
No. 7.—Letter, July 25, 1907, Mcintosh to Hodgins.

No. 8.—Statement showing material previously returned as common excava-

tion now transferred to solid rock.

No. 9.—Letter, August 6, 1907, Hodgins to Lumsden.
No. 10.—Notes showing sudden jump in solid rock, &c., after Grant's trip of

inspection.

No. 11.—Letter, September 7, 1907, Hodgins to Lumsden.
No. 12.—^Lettei;, September 9, 1907, Hodgins to Lumsden.

No. 13.—September 12, 1907, Lumsden to Hodgins.

No. 14.—Cipher telegram, September 22, 1907, Hodgins to Lumsden.
No. 15.—Letter, September 6, 1907, W.-E. Mann to Hodgins.

No. 16.—Letter, September 9, 1907, W. E. Mann to Hodgins.

The committee adjourned at 10.30 p.m. till to-morrow at 11 o'clock a.m.

Attest,

Walter Todd, VICTOR GEOFFRION,
Clerlv. Chairman.

Wednesday, May 20, 1908.

The committee met at 11 o'clock, a.m.

Present: Messrs. Geofirion (chairman). Barker, Carvell, Lennox and Macdonald.

The minutes of the last meeting were confirmed.

The examination of Major Hodgins by his counsel was continued.

The following papers were filed and marked as exhibits:

—

No. 17.—Letter September 3, 1907, Hodgins to Lumsden.
No. 18.—Letter, August 9, 1907, McArthur to Hodgins.

No. 19.—Letter, August 24, 1907, Parent to Lumsden.
No. 20.—Letter, August 27, 1907, Lumsden to Parent.

No. 21.—Letter, November 19, 1907, Lumsden to Parent.
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No. 22.—Letter, September 4, 1907, Hodgins to Lumsden.

No. 23.—^Newspaper clipping, November 5, 1907.

No. 24.—Letter, November 9, 1907, Hodgins to Parent.

No. 25.—Letter, September 11, 1907, Young to Hodgins.

No. 26.—Letter, September 16, 1907, Hodgins to Young.

No. 27.—Letter, July 31, 1907, Lumsden to Conamissioners, inclosing Grant's

report.

The committee rose at 1 p.m.

3 o'clock, p.m.

The committee resumed.

Examination of Major Hodgins continued.

The following papers were filed and marked as exhibits, viz. :

—

No. 28.—Gordon Grant's report.

No. 29.—^Hodgins' reply thereto.

Mr. Hodgins, K.C., stated that he had substantially concluded the examination

in chief of the witness.

The cross-examination of Major Hodgins by Mr. Murphy was commenced.
The following papers were filed as exhibits:

—

No. 30.—Notes procured from Heaman at Kenora.

No. 31.—^Book of General Instructions to Engineers.

On motion of Mr. Lennox, it was resolved that the committee do recommend that

leave be granted to have all proceedings of the committee from day to day, including

motions, discussions, rulings and evidence, printed from time to time, as rapidly as

practicable.

The committee adjourned till to-morrow at 11 o'clock, a.m.

Attest,

Walter Todd, VICTOE GEOFFEION,
Cleric. Chairman.

Thursday, May 21, 1908.

The Committee met at 11 o'clock a.m.

Present:—Messrs. Geofirion (Chairman), Barker, Carvell, Lennox and Macdonald.

The Minutes of the last meeting were read and confirmed.

The cross-examination of Major Ilodgins by Mr. Murphy ^vas continued.

Mr. Murphy having asked the witness to produce any correspondence between

himself and Mr. Heaman, and the witness having stated that he had destroyed it,

Mr. Murphy asked him to state the contents of the letters so far as they related to the

subject matter of the inquiry, and objection having been taken on the ground that

they contained an expression of Mr. Heaman's opinion regarding other engineers,

the Chairman ruled that as the letters might have been produced, if they had not
been destroyed, it was quite regular for Counsel to require the witness to give the

information contained in the letters, so far as it had reference to the subject of

inquiry.

At one o'clock the committee rose.
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4 o'clock p.m.

The committee resumed.

The cross-examination of Major Hodgins by Mr .Murphy was continued.

At 6 o'clock p.m., the committee adjourned till Wednesday, June 3rd, at 11

' o'clock a.m.

Attest,

Walter Todd, VICTOR GEOFFRION,
Clerk. " Chairman.

Wednesday, June 3, 1908.

The committee met at 11 o'clock, a.m.

Present—Messrs. Geoffrion (Chairman),, Barker, Carvell a:nd Macdonald.

The minutes of the last meeting were read and approved.

The cross-examination of Major Hodgins by Mr. Murphy was resumed.

The following letters were filed and marked as exhibits :

—

No. 32—Letter, Major Hodgins to C. A. Young, dated May 1 (properly June 1).

No. 33—Letter, Major Hodgins to C. A. Young, dated June 6, 1907.

During the cross-examination of Major Hodgins, Mr. Murphy read an editorial

from the Victoria Colonist, dated May 26, 1908, stating that he did not intend it to

go in as evidence, but subsequently proceeded to question the witness upon its con-

tents. Mr. Hodgins, K.C., objected, as the article had not been put in; the chair-

man said :
' I think the editorial must form part of the record, and be taken into the

evidence when it has been read,' whereupon Mr. Hodgins again objected to the

editorial going in as evidence under the circumstances.

At 1 o'clock the committee rose.

3 o'clock, p.m.

The committee resumed.

The cross-examination of Major Hodgins by Mr. Murphy was continued.

The committee adjourned at four o'clock till to-morrow afternoon at four o'clock.

Attest,

Walter Todd, VICTOR GEOFFRION,
Clerh. Chairman.

Thursday, June 4, 1908.

The committee met at 4 o'clock p.m.

Present:—Messrs. Geoffrion (Chairman), Barker, Carvell and Macdonald.

The minutes of the last meeting were read and confirmed.

The cross-examination of Major Hodgins by Mr. Murphy was continued.

The following paper was filed as an exhibit:

—

No. 34—Letter, Lumsden to Hodgins, dated August 24, 1907.

The committee adjourned till Monday, June 15. at 3 o'clock p.m.

Attest,

Walter Todd, VICTOR GEOFFRION,
Clerk. Chairman.
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Monday^ June 15, 1908.

The committee met at 3 o'clock p.m.

Present:—Messrs. Geoflfrion (Chairman), Lennox and Macdonald.

The minutes of the last meeting were read and confirmed.

The cross-examination of Major Hodgins by Mr. Murphy was resumed.

Mr. Murphy stated that he had inquired of the premier as to the production of

the telegram received by him from Mr. Conmee, M.P., regarding Major Hodgins, and
he had informed him that he was willing to produce it, provided that Mr. Conmee
consented, as the telegram was marked ^private.' Mr. Conmee, however, objected to

the production of the telegram under the circumstances.

After some discussion it was
Eesolved, That the chairman see Mr. Conmee with a view to obtaining his consent

to the production of the said telegram.

Mr. Murphy asked the witness to produce the correspondence between himself

and Mr. Butler, Deputy Minister of Kailways, which was marked ' private and con-

fidential,' and said that Mr. Butler had stated to him that he was willing to produce
it if Major Hodgins consented, and objection being taken on the ground that Mr.
Butler could be called for the purpose, and Mr. Murphy having stated that Mr. Butler

was confined to bed through illness, it was decided that Mr. Murphy obtain Mr. But-
ler's consent in writing.

During the cross-examination of the witness, Mr. Murphy produced a copy of a

profile of line from mile 118 to mile 122, in District ' B,' and objection being taken

on the ground that it was not identified,

Mr. E. A. DouCET^ District Engineer of District ' B,' was sworn, and identified

the profile as a true copy of the original. It was then filed and marked as Exhibit No.
35. Counsel for Major Hodgins having objected to the production of a copy instead

of the original profile, it was
Ordered, That the original of the said profile be produced at the next sitting.

The witness Doucet produced four photographs (A, B, C and D) of D. K. Mc-
Donald's cut at La Tuque, P.Q.

At 6 o'clock the committee rose.

8.30 p.m.

The committee resumed.

Mr. Murphy read a letter received from Mr. Butler giving his consent to the pro-

duction of correspondence with Major Hodgins, provided the latter gave his consent.

The cross-examination of Major Hodgins was continued by Mr. Murphy.

At 10.15 p.m. the committee adjourned till tomorrow at 3 o'clock p.m.

Attest,

Walter Todd, VICTOK GEOFFEION,
Clerk. Chairman.

Tuesday, June 16, 1908.

The committee met at 3 o'clock p.m.

Present:—Messrs. Geoffrion (Chairman), Carvell, Lennox and ^faodonald.

The minutes of the last meeting were read and confirmed.

The Chairman stated that he had seen Mr. Conmee, M.P., regarding the produc-

tion of the telegram referred to at yesterday's meeting, but that Mr. Conmee was not

as yet prepared to give his consent to its production.
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The cross-examination of Major Hodgins by Mr. Mnrphy was resumed.

The following papers were filed as exhibits:

—

No. 36—Letter, Major Hodgins to Mr. M. J. Butler, C.E., dated August 18, 1907.

JSTo. 37—Letter of Mr. Butler to Major Hodgins, dated August 24, 1907.

No. 38—File containing various letters and legal opinions regarding Chief

Engineer Lumsden's interpretation of specifications.

The committee rose at 5.15 p.m.

8.30 p.m.

The committee resumed.

Present:—Messrs. Geoffrion (Chairman), Barker, Carvell, Lennox and Macdonald.

Mr. Murphy stated that in view of the statements made by Major Hodgins at

the close of the afternoon sitting he proposed to suspend his further cross-examina-

tion for the present.

Mr. Hodgins, K.C., asked to be permitted, in the event of the cross-examination

of Major Hodgins not being further proceeded with, to re-examine him if necessary

upon certain points of personal interest to the witness, which was agreed to.

The committee adjourned till to-niorrow at 10.30 o'clock a.m.

Attest,

Walter Todd, VICTOE GEOFFKION,
Cleric. Chairman.

Wednesday, June 17, 1908.

The committee met at 10.30 a.m.

Present.—Messrs. Geoffrion (chairman) Barker, Carvell, Lennox and Macdonald.

The minutes of last meeting were read and confirmed.

Mr. Hodgins, K. C, stated that he did not desire to re-examine Major Hodgins,
and with his permission he accordingly retired from the case.

The committee adjourned till to-morrow at 3 o'clock p.m.

Attest.

Walter Todd, VICTOE GEOFFEION,
Cleric. Chairman.

Thursday, June 18, 1908.

The committee met at 3 o'clock p.m.

Present.—Messrs. Geoffrion (Chairman), Barker, Carvell, Lennox and Macdonald.

The minutes of the last meeting were read and approved.

The question of further procedure was discussed.

Mr. Murphy requested leave, if the case were to be closed at this stage, to examine
certain persons regarding statements made concerning them in the evidence, provided

that no new matter was introduced, which was not agreed to.

Mr. A. E. Doucet, district engineer on ' B ' was recalled and produced the follow-

ing exhibits:

No. 39. List of work done at each cut from station 5760 to station 6806 and per-

centages of solid and loose rock.

No. 40. Percentage of work done at cut station 6030-6046 from September, 1906,

to April 30, 1908. O'Brien, Martin & Co., subs.
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Mr. S. K. Poulin, district engineer ' F being sworn produced the following papers

which were marked as exhibits :

—

No. 41. Original estimate of the cost of District ^ F ' made by Major Hodgins.

No. 42. Estimate of cost of District ' F ' made by resident and division engineers

after Major Hodgins left.

No. 43. Kevised estimate of Major Hodgins as to cost of District ^ F \

Major Hodgins being recalled produced exhibit

No. 44. Ledger containing figures shewing his original estimate of the cost of

District 'F\
Major Hodgins renewed his application for the payment of his counsel fees; con-

sideration postponed till the next meeting of the committee.

Mr. Carvell moved that the taking of evidence be now closed and that the wit-

nesses be discharged, and the question being put, the committee divided as follows :

—

Yeas.—Messrs. Carvell and Macdonald.—2. Nays.—Messrs. Barker and Lenn-
0X.-2.

The chairman, Mr. Geoffrion, voted yea, and declared the motion carried.

On motion of Mr. Carvell.

The committee adjourned at 6.20' o'clock p.m., until Tuesday next at 8 o'clock

p.m.

Attest,

The committee met at 8 o'clock p.m.

Present.—Messrs Geoffrion (Chairman), Barker, Carvell, Lennox and Macdonald.

The minutes of the last meeting were read and confirmed.

A letter was read from Major Hodgins asking/ to have certain corrections made to

the evidence which he had given under cross-examination and which he would have
made before the committee had he been re-examined.

Resolved, That as Major Hodgins had opportunity to make any corrections before

the committee prior to his leaving, and did not do so, and as he was asked, before|

being discharged, if he had any statement to make, and answered in the negative, the

committee are of the opinion that the corrections asked for in the letter ought not to

be entered on the minutes.

The application of Major Hodgins to have his counsel fees paid by the House was
considered, after some discussion it was

Resolved, That in the opinion of the committee it is desirable that the governs

ment should pay proper and reasonable fees to the counsel representing the Trans-

continental Kailway Commissioners, and to the counsel representing Major Hodgins,

before the committee in this case.

On motion of Mr. Macdonald, it was
Ordered, That the following persons brought to Ottawa for the purpose of giving

evidence in this case, but not called by reason of the taking of evidence not being

proceeded with, be paid the usual allowance made to witnesses before parliamentary

committees, viz. :—Messrs. C. Le B. Miles, C.E., Woodstock, N.B.; A. P. :MiIler, C.E.,

Residency 25; E. E. Milledge, C.E., of Eesidency 29; G. L. Mattice, C.E., of Pesi-

dency 27; H. Sunstrum, C.E., of Eesidency 28; M. C. McFarlane, C.E., Engineer

Division No. 8; W. W. Bell, C.E., Eesidency 21; E. E. Blackwell, C.E., Eesidency 33;

and George Scott, C.E., Eesidency 34.

The question of further procedure was discussed, at 9.30 p.m., the coiniuittea

adjourned till Thursday next, at 3 o'clock p.m.

Walter Todd,

Cleric.

VICTOE GEOFi^KiON,
Chairman.

Tuesday^ June 23, 1908.

Attest,

Walter Todd,

Cleric.

VICTOE GEOFFEION,
Chairman.
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Thursday, June 26, 1908.

The Committee met at 3 o'clock, p.m.

Present:—Messrs. GeofPrion (Chairman), Barker, Carvell, Lennox and Macdonald.

The minutes of the last meeting were read and confirmed.

On motion of Mr. Lennox, seconded by Mr. Carvell, it was

Resolved, That this committee desire to place on record its appreciation of the

exceedingly efficient and satisfactory way in which the official stenographers, Messrs.

Dickson and Matthews, have recorded the evidence taken by the committee, and also

the discussions and arguments in committee.

Mr. Carvell moved that the following Draft Report, marked ' A,' be adopted as the

report of the committee :

DRAFT REPORT ' A.'

EEPORT OF SPECIAL COMMITTEE APPOINTED TO INVESTIGATE
CHARGES PREFERRED BY MAJOR A. E. HODGINS AGAINST THE
COMMISSIONERS OF THE TRANSCONTINENTAL RAILWAY.

The Special Committee, to whom was referred the memorandum of the chairman
of the Transcontinental Railway Commission to the Prime Minister, of date 23rd

of April last past, and laid on the Table of the House on the 24th of April, and
papers accompanying same, together with the letter of Major Hodgins' to the public

press therein referred to, beg leave to report as follows :

—

Your committee met for organization on the 29th day of April last past, when
Mr. Geoffrion was elected chairman, and, on motion, it was resolved that the clerk of

the committee notify Major Hodgins to appear for the purpose of formulating and
substantiating his charges. Your committee met again on the 8th day of May, 1908,

at which time Major Plodgins appeared personally, and by Mr. Frank Llodgins, K.C.,

his counsel, and the investigation of the said charges was commenced and continued,

with certain adjournments, until the 23rd day of June instant.

The charges consisted of a letter written by Major Hodgins and published in

the Daily Colonist, a newspaper of the city of Victoria, on the 16th day of April last

past; and also two alleged interviews with Major Hodgins in the Daily Colonist

,

under date of April 17th and 19th, in which Major Hodgins substantially charged

that, on account of differences over the question of classification between himself, as

district engineer of District ^ F ' of the Transcontinental Railway, and the contrac-

tors, he was invited by Commissioner C. A. Young to go to Quebec and see how things

were managed in that district, where the contractors were not kicking, and to get an
* object lesson'; and that upon going to Quebec he found a certain cut, known as

the ' tunnel cut,' near La Tuque, being classified at 86 per cent solid rock, which, in

his judgment, should not have been classified at more than 40 per cent. Also, that

if it were true, as stated in an interview with Mr. J. D. McArthur, the contractor

for District ' F,' in the Toronto World of the 12th of March, that while Major
Hodgins' first estimate as to the cost of the 250 miles was $13,000,000, which, by a

revision of the line, was subsequently reduced to something under $12,000,000, the

probable outlay would be close to $16,000,000, then the increased cost must have been

the result of the introduction into District ' F ' of what Major Hodgins chose to call

* Quebec classification.'

After the investigation had proceeded for a time, and on the 3rd day of June,
Major Hodgins specifically repudiated the interviews in the Doilv Colonist above
referred to, in the following statements, found on pages 254 and 257 of the evidence.
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' By Mr. Murphy :

' Q. Well, it is important to know, Major, how much or how little of this inter-

view you are prepared to stand, by, because it affects the cross-examination?
' A. I am not prepared to be responsible for the interviews at all. As I say, if

a reporter interviews you and takes down half a dozen sentences—and his notes cer-

tainly were not that long (illustrating by a gesture) and writes up two columns, you
cannot hold me responsible for it. Part of the interview, I might tell you, the

reporter was trying to find out what an engineer has to do, what he does this, that,

and the other—in fact, I was giving him more or less of a lecture on engineering.

There were a whole lot of questions he was working up, and he got hopelessly mixed
up in the thing.'

•» * * « *

Major HoDGiNS.—I might say that the reporter during the interview asked me a

whole lot of things, I have forgotten exactly what questions he asked me, but he said:

Is this so and that so.'' I said : "Jt is impossible for me to know. You must not

put down anything in this interview that I have not said." When I saw the inter-

view I saw that the thing was so hopelessly mixed up there was no possible way of

explaining it. I asked him to make a correction and he made a correction which is

almost as bad as the other. Then I stopped.'

Later on it developed, beyond question, that the cut to which Major Hodgins
referred as having been classified at 86 per cent solid rock, was, in the month of May,
1907—being the month prior to Major Hodgins' visit—classified at 29 per cent solid

rock, 10 per cent loose rock, and 61 per cent common excavation, and for the month
of June, 1907, 32 per cent solid rock, 10 per cent loose rock, and 58 per cent common
excavation.

The major then found that a large amount of discussion and correspondence had
taken place between the chief engineer of the commission, the various district engi-

neers from Moncton to Winnipeg, as well as divisional and resident engineers, and
very eminent legal gentlemen, over the proper interpretation of clauses 34, 35 and 36

of the specifications, being the clauses applying to the classification of solid rock,

loose rock, and common excavation, and that on the 9th day of January, 1908, an
interpretation was decided upon by the chief engineer, which afterwards was agreed

to by Mr. Woods, assistant chief engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific Eailway Com-
pany, and which has been acted upon since that date, but which the major contended

was at variance with his ideas of the proper construction of these clauses, and when
this fact came to his notice, together with the fact of his mistake in regard to the

classification of the La Tuque cutting upon which he had based his judgment of the

work in Quebec, he frankly admitted that the only question then left was whether his

view of the interpretation of the specifications was correct or not, and he thereupon

withdrew any imputations which he had made upon the commissioners in regard to

improper interference with the engineers, or that he had personally asked Sir Wilfrid

Laurier for an investigation which had been refused, or that Mr. Parent had in any

way attempted to influence Sir Wilfrid Laurier, and that not knowing of Mr. Lums-
den's interpretation of the clauses referred to when he wrote his letter to the Colonist

on April 16th, his views, in the light of this opinion had been modified; these admis-

sions being found on pages 385, 386, 387 and 388 of the evidence.

It also appeared from the documents produced that in making his estimate of the

eost of the two hundred and fifty miles in District ' F ' comprised in ^IcArthui/s

contract, Major Hodgins had omitted from his calculation a number of items, which

in the aggregate amount to about $6,000,000, which more than accounts for Mr. Mc-
Arthur's estimated increase of $4,000,000 in the cost of the work, and about coincided

with Mr. Poulin's estimate made shortly after assuming the duties of district engineer,

and it therefore became evident that this increased cost was not the result of a change

in classification, but of including work necessary to the completion of the enterprise.
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Your committee, therefore, decided that as the charges made by Major Hodgins
had been withdrawn, the question as to whether the engineers on Districts ' B ' and
* F ' were classifying according to the interpretation of the specifications as laid down
by the chief engineer was a technical one which Major Hodgins did not wish to present .

to the committee claiming on page 387 of the evidence that the board of arbitration

was the proper tribunal to determine whether or not there was an issue in this matter,

and inasmuch as differences of opinion had been anticipated at the inception of the

enterprise, and their disposition provided for by the statute and agreement which pro-

vided for the settlement of such differences by the arbitration and decision of the

chief engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific Kailway Company, and the chief engineer

of the commission, and in case of their disagreement, by a third engineer to be

appointed by the Chief Justice of Canada, the inquiry could not profitably or in the

public interest be continued, and the same was brought to a close.

Your committee, therefore, find that Major Hodgins has not only failed to prove

the charges as contained in the Colonist, both in the letter and interviews, but has
specifically withdrawn the same, and has unqualifiedly exonerated the commissioners

and their engineers from any improper conduct or undue influence over officials under
them, or of collusion with the contractors, and that if questions as to classification

^ arise they should be decided by the tribunal previously provided therefor by the

statute.

Your committee also beg to submit herewith, for the information of the House,
the minutes of their proceedings, their discussions and the evidence taken by them
during the inquiry.

Mr. Barker moved in amendment, that the following Draft Report, marked * B,' be

adopted as the report of the committee in lieu of the foregoing:

—

DRAFT REPORT ^B.'

REPOET OF THE SPECIAL COMMITTEE APPOINTED TO INVESTIGATE

MAJOR HODGINS' CHARGES.

The special committee to whom was referred the memorandum of the chairman

of the Transcontinental Railway Commission of date 23rd April, 1908, and laid on
the Table of the House on the 24th day of April, 1908, and the papers accom-

panying the same, together with the letter of Major Hodgins to the public press

therein referred to, with instructions to your committee to investigate the matters

and charges therein mentioned, and with power to send for persons, papers and

records, and to examine persons on oath or affirmation and to report from time to

time, beg leave to report as follows :

—

Your committee met for organization on the 29th day of April, 1908, when Mr.
Geoffrion was eppointed chairman; it was resolved that Major Hodgins be notified

to appear before the committee on the 8th May, 1908, for the purpose of preferring

his charges and to bring with him all papers, correspondence and memoranda in his

possession relative to the matters mentioned in the order or reference; and that the

Board of Commissioners of the Transcontinental Railway be notified that the com-
mittee would meet on the said 8th day of May for the purpose of beginning the inves-

tigation; and that the said commissioners be requested to submit any papers or

information which they desired to lay before the committee for their consideration;

and that the said commissioners be notified to produce for the information of the

committee all papers and correspondence (if any) relevant to the subject of inquiry,

which may be in their possession or under their control, and which have not already
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been laid before the House, also all maps, plans, profile, progress and other estimates,

specifications, memoranda or other information regarding the classification of materials

in cuttings and fillings and any alterations made therein, and also regarding any
changes made in the location of the line within Districts ' B ' and ' F ' of the railway

subsequent to the final location thereof.

Your committee met on the 12th day of May, 1908, and on that day there was
submitted to them in writing a statement of such of the charges made by Major Hod-
gins as he proposed to substantiate, reproduced and made by him more specific at the

request of the committee.

On the 13th day of May, 1908, your committee resolved:

—

* That the Transcontinental Bailway Commissioners be required to produce to

this committee all papers and records in the custody or control of the said commis-

sioners relating to or affecting the matters referred to this committee.
' That the First Minister, the Minister of Railways and Canals and the Minister

of Finance and any other ministers of departments, including the Auditor General,

having papers or records in their custody or control relating to, or affecting the

matters referred to this committee be requested to produce the same before this com-

mittee.'

Thereupon the taking of evidence was proceeded with, and was continued from
time to time until the 18th day of June, 1908, and papers, records and documents re-

lating to and affecting the subject matt3rs under in, es ligation were produced and sub-

mitted to the consideration of the committee; which proceedings, evidence, papers,

records and documents are set forth in the printed minutes and proceedings of the
committee up to and inclusive of the said 18th day of June herewith reported and
submitted.

As shown by the papers and documents produced by the said commissioners to

your committee and set forth in the printed minutes of the proceedings of your com-
mittee now reported, many charges of over-classification, of excessive allowances, and
undue payments by the said commissioners to the contractors, of a like description to

tEose charged by Major Hodgins, have formally been made by and on behalf of the

Grand Trunk Pacific Railway Company, which charges involve and are examples of

enormous over payments out of the public funds, and are of serious concern to this

Dominion. They cover and include not only the charges made by Major Hodgins, but
other specific and more serious complaints of the like nature and description ; and not

merely for the period dealt with by Major Hodgins but are continuous up to the time
of the order of reference to your committee.

Such complaints and charges are within the scope of the order under which your
committee have been conducting this inquiry and should be investigated by them.

On the 16th day of June, 1908, certain statements and opinions having been

elicited from Major Hodgins as to the attitude he then assumed and his wishes in the

premises as appears of record in the said printed evidence, a majority of your com-
mittee, despite the protest of the minority, ruled and thereafter maintained that the

matters and charges referred to your committee for investigation should not be fur-

ther proceeded with by your committee.

Your committee, therefore, humbly make this interim report and recommend that

the subject-matter of the investigation be remitted to the committee with instructions

to proceed therein until completion.

And the question being put on the amendment, the committee divided, as

follows :

—

Yeas, Messrs Barker and Lennox, 2; nays, Messrs. Carvell and ^[acdonald, 2.

The voices being equal, the chairman, Mr. Geoffrion, declared the ameudineut passed

in the negative.
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And the question being put on the main motion, the committee divided, as

follows

—

Yeas, Messrs. Carvell and Macdonald, 2; nays, Messrs. Barker and Lennox, 2.

The voices being equal, the chairman declared the motion passed in the affirmative.

Ordered, That the Draft Beport marked ' A ' be presented to the House as the

report of the committ-ee.

The committee then adjourned sine die.

Attest,

Walter Todd^

Clerh.

VICTOK geoffrion.
Chairman.
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SYNOPSIS OF EXHIBITS

A. 1908

Date. Subject.

1907.

June 27.

« 27,

" 27.

4.

May 9.

June 6.

Sept. 14.

July 25.

Aug. 6.

Sept. 7.

Sept. 9.

12.

Sept. 22.

6.

9.

3.

Aug. 9.

Memo: Showing number of men employed by J. D. McArthur. contractor,
during each month from May, 1906, to October, 1907.

—

{See page 107 of the
evidence.)

Circular letter addressed by Chief Engineer to District Engineers apprising
them of appointment of Gordon Grant as Inspection Engineer and request-
ing that latter be furnished with all information he may require.

—

{See
page 109 of the evidence.)

Letter from Chief Engineer to Gordon Grant, enclosing copy of letter sent J. D,
McArthur re unsatisfactory progress of work made under his contract.

—

{See page 109 of the evidence.)
Letter from Chief Engineer to J. D. McArthur notifying him that unless force

of men, horses and plant is increased on certain cuttings action under
clause 22 of his contract will be taken.

—

{See page 109 of the evidence.)
Letter (personal) from C. A. Young to A. E. Hodgins explaining appointment

of Gordon Grant as Inspecting Engineer.

—

{See page 111 of the evidence.)
Letter from A. E. Hodgins to Chief Engineer, giving dates of probable com-

pletion of grading on divisions 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9.—{See page 123 of the evi-
dence.)

Letter from A. E. Hodgins to Chief Engineer enclosing list of heavy cuttings
showing approximate line of completion.

—

{See page 124 of the evidence.)
Report: A. E. Hodgins to Chief Engineer re changing of classification on Mr.

Mcintosh's division. Res. 25 in the July Estimate.

—

{See page 138 of the
evidence.)

Letter from F. J. Mcintosh to A. E. Hodgins enclosing estimates for July and
stating he has made changes in the classification.

—

{See page 147 of the
evidence.)

Statement showing amount of material pre\aously returned as Common -Exca-
vation and Loose Rock, now transferred to Solid Rock.

—

{See page 148 of
the evidence.)

Letter from A. E. Hodgins to Chief Engineer enclosing J. D. McArtlmr's Pro-
gress Estimate for July.

—

{See page 149 of the evidence.)
Statement giving figures showing the sudden jump in Solid Rock and decrease

in the lower priced materials immediately following G. Grant's inspection
trip on District F.

—

{See page 152 of the evidence.)
Letter from A. E. Hodgins to Chief Engineer enclosing two letters from Mcin-

tosh giving reasons for making change of earth and Loose Rock to Solid
Rock, July Estimate.

—

{See page 152 of the evidence.)
Letter from A. E. Hodgins to Chief Engineer stating he believes that Mcintosh

was influenced by Grant's ideas of classification which are extravagant.

—

{See page 154 of the evidence.)
Letter from Chief Engineer to A. E. Hodgins, asking for latter's resignation.

—

{See page 155 of the evidence.)
Telegram (Cipher) from A. E. Hodgins to Chief Engineer, suggesting that

latter in event of Mcintosh trying to justify his classification refer to^Mann
and Heaman.

—

{See page 155 of the tn idcn 'o.)

Letter from W. E. Mann to A. E. llodgiu^ stating that classification at many
points on Division 5 and 6 is too libei'al while at some points it is excessive.—{See page 156 of the evidence.)

Letter from W. E. Mann to A. E. Hodgins rc subject of classification with refer-
ence particularly to shut portion'of the work east of east end of Canyon
Lake, Mile 81.

—

{See page 158 of the evidence.)
Letter from A. E. Hodgin-s to Chief Ensiincer urging necessity of latter con-

tinuing investigation of charges made in Grant's report on District F.

—

{See page 160 of the evidence.)
Letter from J. D. McArthur to \. E. Ilodgin-. congratulating latter on the July

Estimate.— (*Sce page 161 of the evidcn.-e.)

G3
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No.

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28
29

30
• 31

32

33

34
•

35

36

37

38

38 (1)

38 (2)

38 (3)

38 (4)

38 (5)

38* (6)

COMMITTEE ON MAJOR HODGINS' CHARGES

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

SYNOPSIS OF 'EXHIBITS—Continued.

Subject.

Letter from Chairman Transcontinental Railway to Chief Engineer enclosing
copy of memo, sent Secretary of Board together with copy of latter's replj'

thereto re unsatisfactory progress of work on Section F.

—

(See page 161
of the evidence.)

Letter from Chief Engineer to Chairman Transcontinental Ry., stating in reply
to foregoing that unsatisfactory progress of work in District F was due to
lack of labour and its quality and not to the engineers on the work.

—

{See
page 163 of the evidence.)

Letter from Chief Engineer to Chairman Transcontinental Ry., stating that
A. E. Hodgins took responsibility of issuing instructions to Division En-
gineers re application of force account.

—

(See page 165 of the evidence.)
Letter from A. E. Hodgins to Chief Engineer giving reasons for classifying

partially by force account.

—

(See page 165 of the evidence.)
Newspaper clipping—"Chairman Parent gives the reasons of the Commission

for retiring Engineer Hodgins."

—

(See page 176 of the evidence.)
Letter from A. E. Hodgins to Chairman Transcontinental Ry. re reasons given

for his dismissal.

—

(See page 176 of the evidence.)
Letter from C. A. Young to A. E. Hodgins stating that neither he nor Commis-

sioners ever intimated to him to classify contrary to the Contract and
Specifications.

—

(See page 178 of the evidence.)
Letter from A. E. Hodgins to C. A. Young stating in reply to foregoing, esti-

mates were not made up on Force Account Classification.

—

(See page 178
of the evidence.)

Letter from Chief Engineer to Commissioners Transcontinental Ry. enclosing
G. Grant's report and reply to same from A. E. Hodgins.

—

(See page 21.)
Report of G. Grant re line under construction in District F.

—

[See page 16.)

Letter from A. E. Hodgins to Chief Engineer replying to foregoing.

—

(See page
22.)

Notes of information procured from Heaman.

—

(See page 196 of the evidence.)
General instructions to Engineers Transcontinental Railway.—(Referred to on

page 205.)
Letter from A. E. Hodgins to C. A. Young reporting Mann's return and stating

that if position of Assistant Engineer is still vacant he would like to have
a chance to accept same.

—

(See page 265 of the evidence.)
Letter from A. E. Hodgins to C. A. Young stating in reply to latter's suggestion

about going over the work with Mann is what he wishes to avoid.

—

(See
page 266 of the evidence.)

Telegram (cipher) from Chief Engineer to A. E. Hodgins stating that Commis-
sioners do not approve latter's instructions to division engineers re classi-

fication.

—

(See page 308 of the evidence.)
Profile of line from mile 118 to mile 122 showing work done to the end of June,

1907.

—

(See page 322 of the evidence.)
Letter (private and confidential) from A. E. Hodgins to M. J. Butler informing

him of his decision to classify by force accoimt in mixed cuttings.

—

(See
page 370 of the evidence.)

Letter from M. J. Butler to A. E. Hodgins acknowledging receipt of foregoing
and expressing surprise at latters' abandonment of safe course with respect
to classification.

—

(See page 371 of the evidence.)
Letter from H. A. Woods to Chief Engineer protesting against classification of

material on District "B".

—

(See page 392 of the evidence.)
Letter from B. Bourgeois to C. L. Hervey stating that classification of material

is based on appearance of the work at different stages.

—

(See page 393 of

the evidence.)
Letter from Chief Engineer to Commissioners Transcontinental Railway, en-

closing Sept. Estimate and giving reasons for his approval thereof.

—

(See

page 393 of the evidence.)
Letter from Secretary Transcontinental Ry. to Macdonell & O'Brien enclosing

copy of foregoing and stating that Engineers of G.T. P. Ry., and of Com-
mission are to proceed to La Tuque to investigate complaint re classifica-

tion.—(*See page 394 of the evidence.)
Letter from Secretary Transcontinental Ry. to M. P. & J. T. Davis same as

foregoing.

—

(See page 394 of the evidence.)
Letter from Secretary T. Ry. to F. W. Morse enclosing copy of letter from Chief

Engineer dated 18th October, 1907, with respect to Sept. estimates of work
done by Commissioners' contractors in District "B".

—

(See page 395 of

the evidence.)
Letter from Secretary T. Ry. to Chief Engineer advising him of approval by

Board of Sept. estimates.

—

(See page 395 of the evidence.)
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Date. Subject.

38 (7)

38 (8)

38 (9)

38 (10)

38 (11)

1907.

Oct. 19

21

26

Oct. 26

30

Nov. 4

Oct. 31

Nov. 7

11

12

13

Oct. 26

Nov. 14

15

9

13

12

Nov. 16

Letter from C. L. Hervey to A. E. Doucet stating that the classification given
on Division "B" is fair.

—

(See page 396 of the evidence.
Letter from A. E. Doucet to Chief Engineer stating that enclosed letter of B,

Bourgeois is a direct reply to the accusation made by the Assistant Engi-
neer G. T. P. Ry. Co., charging that excessive classification has been made.
(See page 396 of the evidence.)

Letter from same to same enclosing E. P. Girdwood's statement re classifica-

tion throughout his residency.

—

(See page 397 of the evidence.)
Letter frora' E. P. Girdwood to C. L. Hervey stating work was classified accord-

ing to what appeared on the work at the time.

—

(See page 397 of the evid-
ence.)

Letter from A. E. Doucet to Chief Engineer communicating interpretation of
engineers in District "B" placed on classification of solid and loose rock.—(See page 398 of the evidence.)

Letter from H. E. Huestis to A. E. Doucet communicating his interpretation of
specifications

—

(See page 398 of the evidence.)
Letter from C. L. Hervey to A. Er Doucet. Same as foregoing.—(*See page 399

of the evidence.)
Letter from B. Bourgeois to A. E. Doucet. Same as foregoing.

—

See page 399
of the evidence.)

Letter from A. R. Matthews to A. E. Doucet. Same as foregoing.

—

(See page
401 of the evidence.)

Letter from Chief Engineer to Commissioners T. Ry. reporting re his \asit to
La Tuque.

—

(See page 401 of the evidence.) "
'

Letter from Secretary T. Ry. to H. Atkinson requesting his opinion as to right
of G.T.P. Ry. Co. to interfere in matters of classification.

—

(See page 402
of the evidence.)

Letter from Macdonell & O'Brien to Secretary T. Ry. questioning the right of
G.T.P. Ry. Co. to interfere in matters of classification.

—

(See page 403 of
the evidence.)

Report of H. Atkinson concurring in view taken by contractors as to power of
engineers of G.T.P. Ry. Co. re question of classification.

—

(See page 404 of

the evidence.)
Letter from Chief Engineer to Commissioners T. Ry. stating he will approve of

October estimates under certain conditions.

—

(See page 405 of the evi-

dence.)
Letter from F. W. Morse to Chairman T. Ry. stating in reply to letter sent him

by Secretary T. Ry. dated 18th Oct that understanding was that depart-
mental matters were to be worked out by heads of departments.

—

(See
page 405 of the evidence.)

Letter from Chief Engineer to Commissioners T. Ry. transmitting replies from
district engineers re their interpretation of certain clauses of specifications.—(See page 406 of the evidence.)

Letter from G. C. Dunn to Chief Engineer communicating his interpretation of
specifications.

—

(See page 406 of the evidence.)
Letter from A. N. Molesworth to Chief Engineer. Same as foregoing.

—

(Sec
page 408 of the evidence.)

Letter from S. R. Poulin to Chief Engineer. Same as foregoing.

—

(See page 408
of the evidence.)

Letter from Secretary T. Ry. to Macdonell &. O'Brien transmitting copy of
Chief Engineer's letter re interpretation of specifications.

—

(Sec page 409 of
the evidence.)

Letter from Secretary T. Ry. to M. P. & J. T. Davis. Same as foregoing.

—

(See
page 410 of the evidence.)

Letter from M. P. & J. T. Davis to T. Ry. Commissioners stating that conten-
tion-! of Chief Engineer appear to them to be in conflict with the moaning
and interpretation of the specification and enclosing legal interpretation.

—

(See page 410 of the evidence.)
Letter from G. P. Sheply and E. Tjafleur to M. P. Davis giving their interpreta-

tion of certain clauses of specifications.

—

(Sec page 411 of the evitlonco.

Letter from same to same expressing their views as to the classification of loose

rock made by local engineers in District "B".

—

(Sec page 412 of the cvi-

,dence.)

Letter froni C. H. Ritchie toJVI. P. Davis giving his interpretation of s]HnMfica-

tions.

—

(Sec page 413 of the evidence.)
Letter from A. E. Doucet to Chainiian T. Ry. Commission explaining c^>uvor-^:\-

tion had with J. Armstrong rc classification at La Tuque. — (^'^cr page 413
of the evidence.)

5—5



SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON MAJOR EODGINS' CHARGES

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

SYNOPSIS OF EXHIBITS.—Co7itinued.

No. Subject.

38 (33)

38 (34) Nov. 21.

38 (35)
« 20.

38 (36) 18.

38 (37)
es 22.

38 (38) Oct. ol

.

38 (39) Nov. Zo .

oo 27.

oo « 28.

38 (42) De6. 2.

38 (43) Nov. 28.

38 (44)
« 26.

38 (45) Dec. 5.

38 (46)
«

6.

38 (47) 16.

38 (48) 16.

38 (49) 17.

38 (50) 20.

38 (51)

38 (52)

38 (53)

38 (54)

38 (55)

38 (56)

38 (57)

38 (58)

1908.

Jan. 8

.

6.

9.

Jan. 14.

30.

30.

Feb. 1

.

Statement of C. L. Hervey showing classification of material at La Tuque for
months of June, Aug. and Oct., 1907.

—

(See page 415 of the evidence.)
Letter from M. P. & J. T. Davis to Commissiojiers T. Ry. enclosing further

legal interpretations of specifications.

—

(See page 416 of the evidence.)
Letter from Sir Alex. Lacoste to M. P. Davis giving his interpretation of speci-

fications.

—

(See page 416 of the evidence.)
Letter from S. Beaudin tO-M. P. Davis. Same as foregoing.

—

(See page 417 of
the evidence.)

Letter from Macdonell & O'Brien to Secretary T. Ry, enclosing D. McMaster's
opinion on proper construction of clause 34 of specifications.

—

(See page
418 of the evidence.)

Letter from D. McMaster as to what constitutes "solid rock excavation" within
the meaning of specifications.

—

(See page 418 of the evidence.)
Letter from Secretary T. Ry. to Hon. Minister of Railways transmitting corre-

spondence re complaint made to Chief Engineer by the Assistant Engineer
G.T.P. Ry. Co. as to classification in District "B".

—

(See page 419 of the
evidence.)

Letter from Aylesworth, Wright & Moss to Secretary T. Ry. stating W. Nes-
bitt's interpretation of specification will be sent 28th inst.

—

(See page 420 of
the evidence.)

Telegram from M. J. O'Brien to Secretary T. Ry. stating that other opinions
will be sent.

—

(See page 421 of the evidence.)
Letter from Secretary T. Ry. to Hon. Minister of Railways enclosing W. Nes-

bitt's interpretation of specifications.

—

(See page 421 of the evidence.)
Letter from Aylesworth, Wright & Moss to Secretary T. Ry. enclosing W. Nes-

bitt's interpretation of specifications.

—

(See page 421 of the evidence.)
Letter from W. Nesbitt to Macdonell & O'Brien giving his interpretation of

specifications.

—

(See page 423 of the evidence.
Letter from Hon. Minister of Railways to T. Ry. Commissioners returning cor-

respondence bearing upon the classification of work with request that Com-
missioners take such action as seems to them necessary.

—

(See page 423 of
the evidence.)

Letter from Secretary T. Ry. to Chief Engineer referring copy of file re question
of classification.

—

(See page 424 of the evidence.)
Letter from Chief Engineer to Commissioners T. Ry. submitting his interpreta-

tion of specifications.

—

(See page 424 of the evidence.)
Letter from Chief Engineer to Commissioners T, Ry. stating he will approve of

November estimates on conditijjn such approval shall not prejudice recon-
sideration of classification.

—

(See page 425 of the evidence.)
Letter from Secretary T. Ry. to Chief Engineer stating that recommendation

contained in foregoing has been approved by the Board.

—

(See page 426 of

the evidence.)
Letter from Secretary T. Ry. to Hon. Minister of Justice submitting correspond-

ence re complaint made to Chief Engineer by Assistant Engineer G.T.P.
Ry. Co. as regards classification.

—

(See page 426 of the evidence.)

Letter from Secretary T. Ry. to Chief Engineer enclosing letter from Deputy
Minister of Justice re interpretation of specifications.

—

(See page 427 of

the evidence.)
Letter from Deputy Minister of Justice to Secretary T. Ry. giving his interpre-

tation of specifications.

—

(See page 427 of the evidence.)
Letter from Chief Engineer to Commissioners T. Ry. giving his revised inter-

pretation of specifications.

—

(See page 428 of the evidence. )

Diagram illustrating chief engineers interpretation of specifications.

—

(See page
430 of the evidence.)

Letter from Secretary T. Ry. to Chief Engineer communicating Board's approval
of his interpretation of specifications.

—

(See page 431 of the evidence.)
Letter from Chief Engineer to A. E. Doucet stating that actual measurement

must be made as a rule of all work.

—

(See page 431 of the evidence.)
Letter from same to same enclosing copy of his interpretation of specifications

and requesting to be informed whether classification in his district con-
forms to such interpretation.

—

(See page 431 of the evidence.)
lietter from A. E. Doucet to Chief Engineer stating that instructions contained

in latter's letter of 30th will be communicated to all division engineers.—
(See page 432 of the evidence.)
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67

No.

38 (59)

38 (60)

38 (61)

38 (62)

39

40

41

42

43

44

Date. Subject.

1908.

Feb. 19.

20.

March 14.

" 20.

Letter from Chief Engineer to A. E. Doucet requesting reply to clause 2 of his
letter anent interpretation of specifications.

—

(See page 432 of the evidence.)
Letter from A. E. Doucet to Chief Engineer stating that classification in his

district conforms to latter's interpretation of specifications.

—

(See page 432
of the evidence.)

Letter from Chief Engineer to A. E. Doucet inquiring whether classification in
his district prior to 30th Jan'y, 1908, conformed to his interpretation of
specifications.

—

(S.ee page 433 of the evidence.)
Letter from A. E. Doucet to Chief Engineer acknowledging receipt of foregoing

and stating that classification throughout his district prior to Jan. was in
accordance with latter's interpretation of specifications,

—

(See page 433 of
the evidence.)

List of work done at each cut from station 5760 to station 6806 and percentages
of solid and loose rock.

—

(See page 483 of the evidence.)
Percentage of work done at cut station 6030-6046, from September 1906, to

^
April 30, 1908.

—

(See page 483 of the evidence.)
Estimate (original) of the cost of District " F" made by Major Hodgins.

—

(See

^
page 484 of the evidence.)

Estimate of cost of District " F" made by resident and division engineers after
Major Hodgins left.

—

(See page 485 of the evidence.)
Estimate (revised) of Major Hodgins as to cost of District " F."

—

(See page 486
of the evidence.)

Ledger containing figures showing his original estimate of the cost of District
" F."—(See page 57.)
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MI>s[UTES OF EVIDENCE AND DISCUSSIONS

SPECIAL COMMITTEE INVESTIGATING

Major Ilodgins Charges.

Wednesday, April 29, 1908.

Mr. Carvell.—Mr. Chairman, the reference made to this committee is in a some-

what different position from those in the majority of inquiries by parliamentary

committees in this House, inasmuch as there has been no specific charge laid excepting

what has been published in the newspapers. It would seem to me that the first thing

we have to do is to secure the attendance of Major Ilodgins and, I suppose, either to

get him to acknowledge the authorship of the interviews which have been published

in the newspaper press, or, in some way, to lay a complaint. What do you think about

that, Mr. Barker?
Mr. Barker.—I think that would be proper.

The Chairman.—Has there been any correspondence at all between Major Hodgins
and the Commission?

Mr. Lennox.—There is some.

Mr. BAftKER,—That has been brought down.

Mr. Carvell.—That correspondence is in the return which has been brought down,
but it has nothing to do with the matter under investigation.

Mr. Barker.—I think it has a bearing on it.

Mr. Lennox.—It has a bearing on the matter which has been referred to us.

Mr. Carvell.—If that were all there would be nothing to investigate. In order

to bring the matter formally before the committee I will move, seconded by Mr.
Macdonald, that the clerk be instructed to notify Major Hodgins by wire that his

appearance is desired before this committee. Now on what day shall we request his

appearance ?

Mr. Barker.—He has to come from British Columbia.

Mr. Carvell.—Then we will make it Friday, May 8, at 11 o'clock in the fore-

noon. We will require Major Hodgins to appear then and prefer his charges so that

we may proceed with the investigation.

Mr. Barker.—We must ask him to bring papers connected with this matter with

him, if he has any.

Mr. Carvell.—Yes, that had better be added to the motion.

Motion put and carried.

Mr. Macdonald.—We ought to notify the Transcontinental Railway Commis-
sion that we have fixed Friday, May 8, as the date for the commencement of the

examination.

The Chairman.—Yes, the clerk will attend to thai.

Mr. Barker.—Now, can we do anything nlunii obtaining plans?

Mr. Macdonald.—We can ask the commission to submit any documents or

information which they have. I move that the clerk notify the commission that the

committee will meet on Friday, May 8, for the purpose of beginning the investigation,

and asking them to submit to us any documents or information which thoy desire to

present.

Mr. Barker.—It would be well, I sni^poso. if ihoy would do that.

Mr. Macdonald.—As soon as they convcMiiontly can.

G9
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Mr. Barber.—I should think we would want all the plans relating to these con-

tracts that are spoken of. That is the original surveys and any alterations which have

been made, and the notes of the engineers as to material. That is about all that I can

think of in that connection at present.

The Chairman.—Very well. Then, Mr. Macdonald, will you embody thai in your

motion ?

Mr. Oarvell.—Just a moment. I have no objection to that suggestion being

accepted, but the scope of the information which we will require from the commis-

sioners will depend very much upon what Mr. Hodgins will say when he gets here.

Mr. Barker.—That is quite clear from what we read in the newspapers; the

charge is that it is all as to classification, and we cannot know whether there has been

any alteration in the classification unless we know how they started.

Mr. Macdonald.—Would that indicate that you would want to go back to the

field notes of the engineer?

Mr. Barker.—To the results of the preliminary surveys. We do not want the

actual field notes on which they were based.

Mr. Carvell.—I quite agree that we want everything that has any bearing; for

instance, when the contract was let they had certain estimates for each cut and fill.

I think we need that, but I iwould not iihagine we want to go back of the preliminary

survey.

Mr. Barker.—Anything that the contractors should know, we want that, and any

alterations that have been made after that at any time.

Mr. Lennox.—They would probably have drawings that will enable us to under-

stand what the different witnesses are talking about when they come here to give evi-

dence.

Mr. Barker.—Briefly, we want the plans and everything of that "kind. Mr.

Lumsden, the engineer, will understand exactly what we want.

Motion carried.

Mr. Barker.—What about our sittings when the other committees are working?
Can you fix it so that we can meet when the other committees are not at work?

The Chairman.—Can't we sit in the evenings instead of in the mornings when
the other committees are working.

Mr. Barker.—I think that could be done.

Mr. Lennox.—We can arrange from time to-time with regard to our sittings.

Mr. Carvell.—I think it will be advisable to get a number of copies of the cor-

respondence attached to Mr. Parent's letter, so that each member of the committee
might have a copy to refer to. Do you know, Mr. Barker, whether Mr. Borden has a

copy of the ' Colonist ' containing Mr. Hodgins' original letter ?

Mr. Barker.—I have it, and I will hand it to Mr. Todd for the use of the com-
mittee.

Mr. Carvell.—If Mr. Barker will put in that copy of the original letter the clerk

could have copies made. I notice in reading over the file that a telegram is referred

to there which is not produced. I think it is a telegram sent to Mr. Hodgins. We
want that also.

Mr. Lennox.—It is either from Mr. Lumsden or somebody else on behalf of the

board.

Mr. Macdonald.—^Yes, the telegram which is referred to in the correspondence
and which, apparently, was sent by the board to Mr. Hodgins.

Mr. Carvell.—I do not think it was sent by the board.

Mr. Macdonald.—Well, it would not be sent by the board, but by either Mr.
Lumsden or Mr. Parent, and it should form a part of the record.

The Chairman.—The clerk can ask the commission to furnish a copy rrf that
telegram and have it included in the records in its proper place.

The committee adjourned.
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Friday, May 8, 1908.

The Chairman.—Now, g-entlemen, what is your pleasure ?

Mr. Barker.—I understand Major Hodgins is here.

The Chairman.—Are you ready to examine Major Hodgins ?

Mr. Carvell.—We had better hear from Major Hodgins first and see what he has

to say.

The Chairman.—Is Major Hodgins here ?

Major Hodgins responds by rising to his feet.

The Chairman.—^Major Hodgins, certain charges have been preferred by you in

certain newspapers and this committee has been appointed by the House of Commons
to investigate those charges. Before we proceed with your examination have you any

statement to make ?

Mr. Frank Hodgins, K.C.—May I, as representing Major Hodgins this morning,

make answer to that ?

The Chairman.—You may.
Mr. Hodgins.—I represent Major Hodgins to-day.

The Chairman.—Well ?

Mr. Hodgins.—In deference to the telegram received by him from the committee,

Major Hodgins came from Victoria but only arrived yesterday, and I have not had
.more than a brief opportunity for consultation with him. The last telegram which
he received required him to attend before the committee to-day for the purpose of

preferring charges, and in the short time I have had to discuss it with him, I

confess that I was not clear from the reference and the telegram, whether the com-
mittee desired us merely to repeat what was in the letter or to specify a little more
definitely and particularly what the charges were so that the members of the com-
mission would understand exactly what the complaint was and what they had to meet.

If it be the desire of the committee that those should be set out with some little par-

ticularity—particularity enough to enable them to be readily understood and dealt

with by the committee and by counsel for the conimission—then we would be prepared

to put those in after an opportunity had been afforded to Major Hodgins and myself

to consult about them. I propose to ask, Mr. Chairman and gentlemen, that before the

examination of witnesses takes place we shall have the opportunity of seeing the pro-

ductions by the commission. The main charge, of course, is with regard to these

accounts, these estimates, which have been put in and which are, we believe, over-

classified. Now, the productions of these estimates showing the details gill give us the

over-classification. Without those, of course, we cannot do any more than speak in

general terms. If the committee will make an order for the production of those

returns for District ' F,' and also an order for the production by the Grand Trunk
Pacific Railway of their engineers' reports upon the same work from their point of

view, those two together will enable Major Hodgins, I think, to establish what he says

—that there is over-classification.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Is that all you say, that there is over-classification ?

Mr. Hodgins.—I am not intending to etxend my charges, I am speaking in general

terms and I say improper or over-classification.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I understood you to say that the main charge was in

regard to the incorrect estimates, that is that there was incorrect classificntion by the

engineers ?

Mr. Hodgins.—Yes.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Do you connect any errors -that niny Imvo been made
by the engineers with the members of the commission ?



72 SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON MAJOR H0DGIN8' CHARGES

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

Mr. HoDGiNS.—As I say, I don't want to answer that off-hand because I want to

see how far the charges go that are contained in the letter.

Mr. Carvell.—You would not expect this committee to decide as to the judgment
of the engineers unless you connected it with the commission, would you ?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I am not prepared to say. I think if there were over-classifications

there to the knowledge of the commission, and the commission passed them and paid

them, and are still doing so, it is a matter for the committee to sift.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—You are aware that the contract provides for the

settlement of any question of that kind by arbitration ?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I don't know that it absolves the commission from seeing there

is proper classification.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—No, certainly not.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—If it is wrong and the commission allowed it to go on I should

not think that could be settled by arbitration.

Mr. Carvell.—But if there is a dispute do you now know that contract provides

that the chief engineer of the commission and the engineer of the Grand Trunk
Pacific are to sit as arbitrators ? If they cannot agree a third arbitrator is to be

chosen and they settle these questions of classification.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Well, I don't know that that affects Major Hodgins. He is not

supposed to put the chief engineer of one or the other in motion. His charges do not

refer to the question of arbitration, but to the fact that there is improper classification

which has been adopted and which is still going on.

Mr. Carvell.—Well, then, would it not be better for Major Hodgins to make that

charge along the lines of the reference to this committee? Because you will under-

stand we only have the power to take into consideration the subject-matter as con-

tained in these newspapers. Would it not be better for Major Hodgins to make his

charges and then you will have the right to ask for the production of witnesses and
papers and anything you wish in order to substantiate those charges?

Mr. Hodgins.—I quite agree. I am not asking, let it be understood, for the pro-

duction of these papers before we specify our charges, but I am asking that when the

charges are made and before we are required to give evidence, that we have access to

the documents which are essential to prove the' charges.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Let us be clear about this. The order of reference

states that there is referred to us the memorandum of the chairman of the Transcon-

tinental Railway Commissioners and the papers accompanying the same, together with

the letter of Major Hodgins to the public press.
.
Now, we find here a letter dated

Victoria, April 16, purporting to come from Major Hodgins, and we understand that

gentleman says he wrote that letter and purposes to submit to us evidence of the

statements contained in it.

Mr. Hodgins.—That is the reference?

Mr. Carvell.—Pardon me, I don't think the question was answered.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I am only wanting to find out so that we shall know
where we are. This is what was referred to us. Now, do w^e understand Major
Hodgins to say that he wrote that letter of April 16, and that he stands by it now?

Mr. Hodgins.—Certainly.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—And that he wants to submit evidence upon it? Then
there is an extract from the Manitoba ' Free Press ' of April 18, purporting to be a

despatch from Vancouver on April 17, containing certain other statements.

Mr. Hodgins.—I don't know anything about that. Is that attached to Mr. Parent's

letter ? I have not seen that.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—You have not seen that?

Mr. Hodgins.—No. What I have seen is a letter in the Victoria ' Colonist ' which
appeared on April 17. I have also seen what purported to be an interview, which is

incorrect in some details, appearing in the ' Colonist ' on April 19, and I have seen a

correction of that, two or three days later, in some particulars.
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Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Let us take them seriatiim. We have first this letter

from the ' Colonist.' Then there is the extract from the Manitoba ' Free Press/ but
you don't know about that ?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I have not s( fm that. It is not printed in ' Hansard/ but just

referred to, and I was unable to see what it was that was referred to.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Then there is an extract from the Ottawa ' Citizen' of

April 22. Do you know anything about that? I don't understand that you are

assuming any responsibility for that?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—No, because we have not seen that. It may or may not correctly

report what was said.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Then there is an extract from the 'Daily Colonist' of

April 19, containing what purports to be an interview with Major Hodgins.

Mr. Hodgins.—Like a great many other interviews, it had a basis of circum-

stantiality about it, but was expanded a little afterwards by the interviewer, and is

not exactly correct.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—The enterprising newspaperman lent his imagination

to it.

Mr. Hodgins.—That is correct which is signed by Major Hodgins.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—It has no bearing in regard to the reference made to

us, that there were some misstatements.

Mr. Hodgins.—There were some inaccuracies that he does not take the responsi-

.

bility for. For instance, there was a calculation based upon certain facts which, of

course, he is not •

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—He is not responsible for.

Mr. Hodgins.—Not responsible for.

The Chairman.—What do you acknowledge responsibility for, the article which
appears in the ' Colonist ' ?

Mr. Barker.—Let me remind you of what Mr. Hodgins has said. He said that

his client only arrived yesterday, and that he had not had the opportunity to go into

the matter with him. It seems to me that if we are going to take any proceedings,

which shall be of any value, as to the charges, we should ask Major Hodgins, through
his counsel or otherwise, to put in charges.

The Chairman.—That is just what I thought.

Mr. Barker.—I do not think we can enter upon any long examination until the

papers have been produced.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I was just wanting to see how we stood upon that.

Mr. Hodgins.—Quite so.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Then I assume, Mr. Hodgins, that your idea in

making the request is to summarize some of these statements that are contained in

these articles, and that you will introduce no extraneous charges, because we cannot

deal with anything that has not been referred to us.

Mr. Hodgins.—I understand the committee has a certain scope, and unless it

were necessarily involved in what was referred to the committee

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I understand you are asking for time to sunnnarize

these statements?

Mr. Lennox.—To formulate charge^?

Mr. Carvell.—Along the lines of the letter and interview ret'orrod to in the

British Columbia ' Colonist ?

'

Mr. LIodgins.—Let me make myself quite clear. Supposing that I personally do
go, eithcir inadvertently or otherwise, outside of what the committee consider to be
the scope of the reference to them, then I suppose it is for the committee to say so.

But my general idea was that tlie reference to the committee was of the matters which
appear first in the memorandum of Mr. Parent and in the newspaper outlings which
I have not seen, and secondly the letter of ]\rajor Hodgins and the interviews that

affect that letter.
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Mr. Lennox.—And all other matters that are in the papers referred to us.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Yes.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I may say frankly I have no intention of travelling outside of

that and giving the committee unnecessary trouble in dealing with it.

Mr. Carvell.—Of course, the committee would have the right to exercise their

discretion in receiving evidence upon any extraneous matters.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—The telegram to Major Hodgins was very general.

Mr. Carvell.—Our object was to have an understanding this morning of thje

lines along which the formal charges would be preferred.

Mr. Hodgins.—^Quite so. But the telegram to Major Hodgins was very general

in its scope, ' To prefer charges re character of construction work,' and I was not

aware imtil I heard the statements of the committee whether they proposed to simply

take the paper and say, ' Here are your charges, go on and prove them,' or whether

they desired us to formally prefer charges.

Mr. Lennox.—We cannot expect Mr. Hodgins to be very definite, from the fact,

as he says, that he has only had a very brief interview with his client.

The Chairman.—Of course it would be very useful to know from Major Hodgins
for what charges he accepts responsibility. Mr. Hodgins says that the interview in

^ the Victoria ' Colonist ' is not correct. We want to find out what is correct.

Mr. Hodgins.—Quite so.

The Chairman.—What do you admit to be correct? You say that the interview

referred to was not correct, and the other statements in other papers you claim not to

have seen or to know anything about?

Mr. Hodgins.—I think I read one of the cuttings some days ago.

Mr. Carvell.—I presume you would admit, in case the formal charges which you

may make here as representing Major Hodgins did not include everything in the

reference to this committee, that the committee would still have the right to go on

and inquire into the foundation of the charges in the newspapers and in the refer-

ence?

Mr. Hodgins.—I did not quite catch your question.

Mr. Carvel.—In case the formal charges you will prefer do not include every-

thing mentioned in the reference, you will admit the committee have the power to go-

further and investigate everything that is in the reference?

Mr. Hodgins.—Would my admission add to the power of the committee ?

Mr. Carvell.—I am asking for your opinion.

Mr. Barker.—This gentleman cannot admit anything.

Mr. Parent.—The gentleman says he is going to put in new charges, I under-

stand. All the charges are now before the committee. It is alleged that Major:

Hodgins wrote those letters, and we want to know whether he did so or not. We wanti

to get that gentleman under oath and ask him if he stands by the charges.

Mr. Barker.—Here is what the commissioners say :
' In conclusion, the commis-

sioners would respectfully request, as they do not wish to remain under the aspersion

which such reports cast on them '—after having detailed a number of charges

—

' that*

the whole matter be referred to and looked into by committee of the House, and that

Major Hodgins be assigned to appear before the same to repeat his charges in a«

specific manner in order to substantiate them if he can.' Now that is pretty broad.

What I think is that Mr. Llodgins, K.C., should now state when he will be prepared

to hand in his charges in accordance with the papers which have been submitted tc

the committee.

Mr. Lennox.—And in accordance with what we resolved the other day.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—It being understood—I think Mr. Parent has so

understood and I understand Mr. Hodgins, K.C., to say so—that the memorandum
he proposes to submit to us does not relate to anything outside of what has been
already referred to the committee, in the papers, but is only a summarization of thei

allegations coutained in the newspapers.
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Mr. Carvell.—And does not necessarily curtail our rights.

Mr. Lennox.—^Does not either enlarge or curtail.

Mr. Parent.—I know what is coming, gentlemen, Mr. Hodgins said so a minute

ago. What he wants is larger scope.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—There will be no larger scope, he has to confine him-

self to the reference.

Mr. Parent.—I claim that the full charges are already before this committee and
the plaintiff in this case should come up like a gentleman under oath and repeat

those charges. Those which he cannot repeat we will eliminate. If he cannot bring

proof on something let him go on with what he thinks he can prove; but I do not

want him to go outside of the charges already made and bring in something else.

Major Hodgins is here to-day. He has got to make his charges. Let him take the

oath and make them and then we will answer them,

Mr. Barker.—I think we had better proceed orderly in this matter, either Mr.

Hodgins nor his counsel, nor Mr. Parent, can dictate to this committee. We have

got to perform our duty here, and we intend to do so. I would like to ask, Mr. Chair-

man, when Mr. Hodgins will be prepared to put in his charges?

Mr. Parent.—Before proceeding any further I want to know this: What do you
intend to do about our case? This gentleman who makes the charges is aided by a

lawyer, and I want to know what the committee are going to do as far as the com-
mission are concerned?

Mr. Carvell.—I am afraid Mr. Parent has misunderstood the object of this

discussion.

Mr. Parent.—No, I have not.

Mr. Carvell.—I think it is in the minds of every member of the committee that

we will not allow Mr. Hodgins to enlarge the charges as contained in the newspaper
reports.

Mr. Barker.—Nor reduce them.

Mr. Carvell.—If he proposes to reduce them then so far as 1 am concerned,

speaking for my own part, I would say we ought to stand by the reference to the

committer, and after Major Hodgins makes his charges, then we. will know what
course to pursue.

Mr. Parent.—I have no right to dictate to the committee. I know they are able

men and I intend to respect them, but I say this: the proper course, in my opinion,

is for that gentleman to take the oath, then to show him the newspaper clippings and
go over the charges one by one. If he stands by them well and good. If he cannot
prove them then he should be compelled to say so.

Mr. Lennox.—With all due respect we must confine ourselves at present to deter-

mining what is the best procedure to follow in order to carry out what has been

referred to us. That we are endeavouring to do. The charges made by Major Hodgins
will be to some extent, perhaps, of assistance to us; but we have to travel exactly

upon the lines of what has been referred to us, neither enlarging n^r circurascriomg

them. That fact does not relieve us from the duty of pursuing the matter just as it

has been referred to us nor from investigating all the questions referred. I think

every member of the committee understands that.

Mr. Carvell.—Yes.

The Chairman.—According to my idea we have met this morning to hear the

charges which have been referred to us. Major Hodgins, who makes the charges is

represented by counsel who says that he has not had time to talk the matter over with

his client. The situation is this according to my mind, subject of course to the

approval of the committee. We have specific charges made by ^Major Hodgins, and
they are in black and white. We intend to ask Major Hodgins if he is ready to sub-

stantiate the charges which he has preferred as soon as possible. The only question

which arises this morning, in my opinion, is what delay shall be grantea; that is all.

The charge? are here and the intention of the committee, I think, is to ask Major
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Hodgins under oath—first if he is ready to substantiate any charges, and second, what

charges he is prepared to substantiate. Afterwards we will proceed to the examination

of witnesses. It is for the committee to say whether they are ready to grant a certain

time to Mr. Hodgins, K.C., to interview his client and talk the matter over with him.

That is the only question so far. Next we will examine Major Hodgins himself and

ask him whether he is able to substantiate the charges and then proceed with the

examination of witnesses. That, as I understand, is the scope of the work of the

committee.

Mr. Barker.—Will you ask Major Hodgins' counsel now when he will be pre-

pared to put in those charges?

The Chairman.—Mr. Hodgins, will you give us that information:

Mr. Hodgins.—I think I may say that if I continue to act as counsel the charges

could be put in by Monday or Tuesday, but I may be unable to continue to act for

Major Hodgins.

The Chairman.—What do you mean by putting in charges ?

Mr. Hodgins.—I have the telegram which was sent by order of the committee to

Major Hodgins and this is how it reads :
' Please understand object of summons to

appear before Special Committee is to prefer charges re character of construction work
Transcontinental Eailway alleged to have been made by you in the public press.' I

take it that the committee wish us to take the trouble of going over what appeared in

the public press, and putting it into some form that will be intelligible both to the

committee and those affected by it, giving such particulars as would enable the charge

to be understood and dealt with.

Mr. Carvell.—I do not think that was the intention of the committee, though.

The Chairman.—The committee will not allow you to make new charges. As I
understand it we will take those charges that have been made in the public press.

Mr. Hodgins.—Quite so.

The Chairman.—And we will ask Major Hodgins whether he is ready to substan-

tiate them.

Mr. Barker.—There is more than that, if you read Mr. Parent's communication
to the Prime Minister.

Mr. Lennox.—And if you read the minutes of our meeting the other day when we
organized you will see what we decided then. I understood that Major Hodgins was.

to formulate his charges.

Mr. Carvell.—Not to formulate but to prefer charges, I believe the resolution

here (reads) :
' That the clerk be instructed to notify Major Hodgins by wire that he

is to appear before the committee on Friday, 8th May next, at 11 a.m., there to prefer

his charges and bring with him all papers, correspondence and memoranda relating to

the matters mentioned in the Order of Refetence.' Now the preferring of charges

means that Major Hodgins shall state whether he stands by the charges in the news-

papers or not. If Major Hodgins can make it a little plainer, if he will say ' There is

a letter in the newspapers purporting to be signed by me and I have got that

letter

Mr. MACDONiLD (Pictou).—His counsel has already said that.

Mr. Hodgins.—I have already said that.

Mr. Carvill.—That is settled then ? Now it is for Major Hodgins or his counsel

to say in regard to the newspaper interview ' We adopt that. The interview is quite

correct.'

Mr. Macdoxald (Pictou).—Mr. Hodgins has already intimated that it is not

correct.

Mr. Carvill.—If any part of the interview is not correct Major Hodgins will have
the right to say so. We are not here for the purpose of having new charges entirely

made but simply for the purpose of taking up the charges which are contained in the

reference. Let Major Hodgins say ' I stand by those or I do not.'
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Mr. Macdonald (Pictou)—Let him indicate out of the letter and interview what
statements he proposes to prove. That is the point.

-Mr. Barker.—Let me say one word. Here is the communication from the com-

missioners in which Mr. Parent complained that Major Hodgins makes vague and
general accusations. He is referring to Major Hodgins' letter and to the statements in

the newspapers and he says that the commissioners—for the reasons that I have

already stated—desire that Major Hodgins be assigned to appear before the same '

—

that is the committee— ' to repeat his charges in a specific manner '

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou)—In order to substantiate them.

Mr. Barker.—In order to substantiate them if he can. This gentleman when the

committee met last was in Victoria, B.C. He was telegraphed for to come here to-day

and bring his papers with him. I understand from what Mr. Hodgins, K.C., has said

that Major Hodgins, complying with the order of the committee, arrived in Toronto

yesterday, and he has only had an hour or so to see his counsel. Major Hodgins is

now here to repeat his charges in a specific manner, but the question for this com-
mittee is whether they are acting reasonably if they demand that he should do so

without being allowed any time at all ?

The Chairman.—That is the only question.

Mr. Barker.—Then the question is whether the chairman should not, as I

requested him a little while ago, ask the counsel when he will be prepared to repeat

those charges in a specific manner.
The Chairman.—That is what I did.

Mr. Barker.—You were asking that he should go on with it.

The Chairman.—I never said that.

Mr. Carvell.—Oh, no.

The Chairman.—I only said that the question involved is one of delay.

Mr. Carvell.—^But there is a question beyond that. There is the question whether

Major Hodgins at the next meeting of this committee will say ' I stand by that letter

and I stand by certain paragraphs in the interview,' or whether he should be allowed

to come here and put on the record entirely new charges.

The Chairman.—That is it.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou)—I think his counsel understands that fully.

Mr. Hodgins.—I will make it perfectly clear. I have never stated, and do not now
state, that I desire any delay for the purpose of putting in totally new, charges. I

propose to take the charges already named and put them into intelligible shape so that

they can be understood and dealt with. I don't think I can make it any clearer than

that.
•

Mr. Carvell.—Let me ask you if, by proposing to put the charges into intelligible

shape, you mean that you will add to them ?

Mr. PIodgins.—I do not understand the question. Add to what ?

Mr. Carvell.—Add to the charges contained in any one paragraph of that inter-

view or letter.

Mr. Hodgins.—Not in substance, but I say where you have a general charge.

Take any of the charges that are referred to in Mr. Parent's letter. Those that are

there stated in the most general terms and give us the most general right to go over

the whole of the district and the whole period of time, do you want us to particularize

them ?

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Certainly we do.

Mr. TIoixjiNS.—Or do you want us to come here on general charges without giving

you the faintest idea of how we are going to prove them, or what the charges will

amount to? It is a matter very largely to my mind for the convenience of the com-
mittee, but I want it clearly understood that what I wish is to have an opportunity

of consulting with Major Hodgins and putting the charges ho has already made in a

?hape that will be readilly undei*stood both by the connnittee and the commission.

The Chairman.—Very well, but I think the intention of the committee, and
certainly my intention, is not to adopt especially the statomeuts which you will pro-
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pare, but to take the newspapers containing the articles written or the charges made
by Major Hodgins and ask him ' Are they true and are you able to substantiate them ' ?

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I think we are playing at cross purposes. I think what

Mr. Hodgins, K.C., means is this: he proposes to indicate out of this letter and

interview in the paper what particular portions he proposes to prove.

Mr. Carvell.—If he stands by that there is no objection.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—That is how I understand it, and the committee have

the right to investigate everything contained in. the order of reference.

Mr. Parent.—^^We have been accused in the newspapers

The Chairman.—Yes, it has been spread all over the country.

Mr. Parent.—If the gentleman is allowed to limit his charges, I suppose the

evidence will be confined to that?

Mr. Carvell.—Oh, no.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Do not worry about that.

The Chairman.—We will have the right to examine Major Hodgins on the rest

of the charges which he may drop, even if he does not prefer them.

Mr. Parent.—As far as we are concerned we would like to go through the whole
of the charges contained in these newspapers.

Mr. Hodglns.—Let me say that I have not asked to drop any charges.
^ Mr. Lennox.—I understand the case to be this: A client comes to one of us and
gives his statement in a general way. We draw up a statement of claim, we classify

it, set the matter forth in paragraphs and place it in better shape than it was before.

But that does not change any of the evidence which has to be produced in any degree

;

we cannot do that. It may happen that when Major Hodgins prefers his charges there

may be omitted matters which have been referred to us. Nevertheless although he
may not claim to be able to establish it, we can investigate the matter, as it has been

referred to us.

The Chairman.—I understand the fear entertained by Mr. Parent to be this:

These charges having been printed in the newspapers and circulated all over the

Dominion it would not be fair that any of the charges or points dealt with in the

newspaper articles should be dropped altogether.

Mr. Barker.—Oh, no.

The Chairman.—I understand it to be the feeling of the committee that they

should not be dropped.

Mr. Hodgins.—I desire to repeat again that that is Mr. Parent's suggestion, not

mine.

Mr. Lennox.—We will allow nothing to be dropped.

The Chairman.^—The question is whether we are ready to grant Mr. Hodgins,

K.O., time to consult with his client?

Mr. Barker.—And to prefer charges.

The Chairman.—And to bring a precis of charges which have been preferred

in the newspapers.

Mr. Carvell.—Reserving to the committee the right to accept the charges as he

brings them.

The Chairman.—To accept or reject them.

Mr. Parent.—Does Mr. Hodgins intend to retain his attorney here during the

whole investigation?

The Chairman.—Mr. Hodgins, are you going to act for Major Hodgins?

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Before we go into that question let us decide what
time should be allowed to Mr. Hodgins. Why sjhpuld he not hand to the clerk on
Monday, a statement of what he desires to deal with, and then we can meet on Tuesday
to take evidence.

Mr. Barker.—Whether you fix Monday or Tuesday is a question I am not going
to discuss. But after we have got these charges there is no use our meeting the next
day to take evidence, because it will be absolutely impossible to do so without the(
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production of papers upon which the witnesses will be examined. I do not know how
long the commissioners will take to produce every document in their possession that

relates to the charges which have been referred to us. We shall also require the offi-

cials of the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway Company, I take it.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I do not see that we have any control over that.

Mr. Barker.—We can subpoena them.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—That is another thing.

Mr. Barker.—From what we see we will require, in order to understand these

charges, not only the progress estimate and the reports made from time to time to the

commission

Mr. Macdonald (Picton).—We cannot tell what we will require. It is better not

to be too specific.

Mr. Barker.—I am talking of Mr. Parent's charges that he specified himself. To
go into the questions that Mr. Parent says are comprised in the charges and which'

we will have to investigate, as he himself says, whether Major Hodgins specifies them
or not it will be absolutely essential

Mr. Macdonald .(Pictou).—Well, now
Mr, Barker.—One moment. It will be absolutely essential before examining

witnesses that we shall have here the papers upon which those witnesses are to be"

questioned. So I would like to know if there is anybody here who can tell us when'

the commission will be prepared to produce those papers. They will want to see the

charges on Monday or Tuesday, and then undertake to get the papers. How soon can
they be produced?

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I hardly follow my friend, Mr. Barker, in his observa-

tions. I apprehend this committee is here to investigate something that Major
Hodgins has got to say about the Transcontinental Commission. I apprehend that

Major Hodgins has got to prove what he said or take it back. That is the usual way
when men make charges.

Mr. Barker.—^Yes.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I apprehend further that the proposition made by Mr.

Barker is that the commission should hand over anything and everything to Major
Hodgins right off the bat.

Mr. Barker.—I never said that.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—That is practically what you said.

Mr. Barker.—I said the commission should produce the papers to us here.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—And I say that if Major Hodgins makes charges he
must prove them. He cannot come to this committee and hunt around to find justifi-

cation for statements which he has made.

Mr. Barker.—He is going to put in his charges before he sees the papers.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Major Hodgins on April 16, when he made certain

charges in the Victoria ' Colonist,' either had evidence to prove those charges or he

had not, and if he did not have the evidence he had no business to make thel charges.

Mr. Barker.—That is ridiculous.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I say that a man has no right to make a charge

against a public man in this country

Mr. Lennox.—A man can always make a charge which he has good reason to
^

believe or which he knows that he can prove.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Do not intetrrupt me, please. What I was going to

say in regard to that subject is this: The onus of proceeding in this inquiry and of

proving the case is on Major Hodgins and his counsel, and when they start in to

prove their case I assume this committee will direct the production, as we proceed,

of any matters which they indicate are necessary for them to prove their charges.

But we would not be doing our duty as a tribunal respecting either the character or

position of any public man against whom any charge is made unless we put the onus
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of the proceadings in regard to these charges, which is the primary object of thisi

committee, upon the gentleman who made them.

Mr. Lennox.—Mr. Macdonald will agree to this, I am sure: that if Major Hod-
gins happens to know of a certain fact, or has reasonable ground to believe a certain

fact, and he is giving his evidence and we ask him, ' Where is the evidence of that ?

'

and he says ' The evidence is in the possession of the commissioners '

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—We will deal with that when it comes.

Mr. Lennox.—That evidence' must be produced. That will verify or contradict

what he says. And then, as Mr. Barker says, we require to have certain documents

which we can at this time anticipate will necessarily have to be produced, and if the-

papers are brought here now there will be no delay. As we proceed we may find that,

other documents will be necessary, but at present we know of the classification and.

the progress estimates that have been sent in during the time that Major Hodgins was
in charge and some of which he alleges were not correct. Those ought to be brought
here in the first instance, because we will need them of necessity. Other documents,
of course, will be required later on, but any documents to which he necessarily will

have to refer should be brought here now.
Mr. Macdonald (Pictou)—We will see when he wants to refer to them.
Mr. Lennox.—It is only a question of delay or otherwise.

^ The Chairman.—I do not think we ought to produce these documents before we
know what charges Major Hodgins will prefer or withdraw.

Mr. Barker.—I do not dispute that, but we cannot expect to go on next day
because we may not have the papers.

Mr. Carvell.—Had we not better find out when Major Hodgins will be able to

lay his charges ?

Mr. Hodgins.—I have mentioned either Monday or Tuesday.

Mr. Carvell.^—Could you not do so on Monday ?

Mr. Hodgins.—I am prepared to take the day the committee decides.

Mr. Carvell.—I want to give you all reasonable time.

Mr. Hodgins.—I will bring them on Monday. <

Mr. Carvell.—By 6 o'clock on Monday afternoon.

Mr. Hodgins.—Certainly.

Mr. Carvell.—Let it be understood that by 6 o'clock on Monday afternoon those

charges will be here.

The Chairman.—Before the committee ? -
-

Mr, Carvell.—In the possession of the clerk.

Mr. Hodgins.—I want to make a reference to what Mr. Macdonald said. I am
speaking to lawyers and you will appreciate what I say. The facts which prove what
Major Hodgins alleges are not in his possession but are to be found in the files of the

Transcontinental Railway Commission and the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway Com-
pany.

The Chairman.—We can get them if necessary.

Mr. Hodgins.—There are very serious omissions in the files brought down to par-

liament. All the papers connected with this matter are not on the files
;
they are in

the ofiice of the Transcontinental Commission or the office of the railway company.

^
Supposing Major Hodgins were put on the stand and shown a charge and asked ' Is

that true' ? He says, 'yes.' 'How do you prove it ? 'I want those ' papers ' ? Are
those papers not necessary for the proving of that charge ?

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou)—If they are in existence we will have them when that

time comes, but you are too good a lawyer not to know that when a man makes a

charge of any kind he ought to know what he is talking about. When he comes before

a parliamentary committee afterwards he ought to be able to tell that committee
what he knew at the time he made that charge.

Mr. Hodgins.—He is prepared to do that.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou)—And as a matter of fact if he wants to summon wit-
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nesses or to get documents in the control of the committee, no one here will object to

that.

Mr. Carvell.—Mr. Hodgins 13 also too good a lawyer to state that he will put

Major Hodgins on the stand and say to him ' Here is a letter which you have written

to the 'Colonist.' Is that true'? No committee could allow Major Hodgins to say

whether that was true or not. He would have to come and tell us what he knows

himself. ' I do not think you will have any difficulty with this committee
;

they will

give you all the opportunity you want to substantiate the case.

Mr. Hodgins.—Do you suppose that any witness should be put in the box and

denied access to the papers which would bear out the evidence he is giving ?

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—He knew enough to write a letter to the press and

make charges against people and he ought to be able to prove his charges.

Mr. Barker.—He wants the documents to prove what he says.

Mr. Carvell.—There are practically three or four branches to the charges con-

tained in this letter. We are discussing entirely the question of classification which

to my mind is a very unimportant part of the matter because that has to be settled

latter on by arbitration. To my mind the point in this charge is that Major Hodgins
claims he was dismissed from the service of the Transcontinental Commission because

he would not classify as the commissioner wanted him to do. He does not require

documents in the possession of the commissioners to specify that. -He can say whether

it is true or not.

Mr. Hodgins.—Pardon me, he corrected those estimxates in his own handwriting,

and they are in the possession of the commission.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Let him say so later on and he will get them.

Mr. Hodgins.—I am asking the committee to make that order now.

Mr. Lennox.—After Monday, what then ?

Mr. Carvell.—I would say sit on Tuesday.

Mr. Barker.—You will have to meet and adjourn again to take evidence.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I do not hesitate to say, and I think the committee

will agree with me, that Major Hodgins having undertaken to write a letter to the

public press in which he said the reason of his dismissal was not on account of any

papers he wanted to see, but because the commissioners ordered him to do certain

things which he would not do out which he had verbal instructions from the com-

missioners to do, the first duty of this committee when it meets on Tuesday is to

summon that gentleman to the witness stand and for him to state on his oath how
much he knows or how much he did know on April 16, when he wrote that letter. That,

in my judgment, is the first duty of the committee. Then after that we will go on and
investigate the charges and submit the fullest evidence.

Mr. Lennox.—I do not see any objection to our meeting on Tuesday. We will

have to meet promptly and frequently and we will have to decide what is the proper

course to pursue. I think myself that if some of the papers are produced on Tuesday
it will facilitate the matter very much. Then we can see what we can do.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I do not hesitate to say, as far as I am concerned, that

I think we ought to pass a resolution notifying Major Hodgins that having submitted

his statement in writing he should come here and give evidence on oath on Tuesday
morning.

The Chairman.—The evidence may not be long. He will be asked whether he
believed that which he wrote to be true. If he says ' yes.' or if he says ' this and
that I will withdraw,' the committee will be better informed. If he says ' I can
prove so and so if I had the document.' It will then be for the committee to say what
action should be taken.

Mr. Barker.—I have no objection to that, but I do not want you to assume from
the beginning that he has to prove everything sv'ithout reference to the papers.

Mr. Hodgins.—Then let me make a request if you have definitely decided on that

5—0
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course of action. If it is merely of Major Hodgins being asked ' Do you adhere ta

what you said/ and then adjourning for the production of documents
Mr. Maodonald (Pictou).—A good many other things will be asked.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Do I understand the committee will not require the documents to

be here until after the examination of Major Hodgins has been commenced?
Mr. Carvell.—That would be my view of it.

Mr. Maodonald (Pictou).—Major Hodgins will be before the committee all the

time.

Mr. Barker.—I do not agree with it.

Mr. Carvell.—This procedure should, as far as possible, be along the lines of a

court of law. The plaintiff in the case goes on the stand and tells what he knows
subject to cross-examination. He makes his charges and this committee or the counsel

for the commission, if lat^r on this committee decides to have one, should have the

right to cross-examine Major Hodgins. Then let him produce his witnesses, and if he

wants documents from the commission it will be for this committee to say whether

he can have them. As far as I am concerned I want everything thrown open to the

public that possibly can be.

^ Mr. Hodgins.—Surely if you refer to the procedure in a court of law you must
acknowledge that before the case comes on in court all parties have had an opportunity

to see the documents and they are there on hand for reference.

Mr. Carvell.—In some cases they are, and in some they are not.

Mr. Hodgins.—^If the committee prevents us from obtaining access to the docu-

ments I think it will be extremely unfair to Major Hodgins. All I want is that the

documents should be produced and in the custody of the committee, that we should

have access to them and see them; we should bo able to know what they contain.

The Chairman.—^Before we examine -Major Hodgins?

Mr. Hodgins.—Yes. Pardon me a moment. These are documents that have passed

through Major Hodgins' hands, the chief engineer's hands and the commissioners'

hands, and we desire to see them again.

The Chairman.—As far as I am concerned I am certainly of opinion we ought

to have Major Hodgins on the stand so that we might ask him these questions, and
then if you want documents we will give all the latitude possible. It is a very serious,

a very important question and we will give you all the latitude possible.

Mr. Hodgins.—I am looking at it from a totally different point of view, and I

would rather get the preliminaries settled.

The Chairman.—The committee will settle that point and it is settled now. You
said, Mr. Parent, that you wanted' to be represented by counsel ?

Mr. Parent.—The accusation, as far as we- are concerned, is that there is fraud

at the bottom of the whole thing. The newspapers and the charges which are before

you contain that accusation. We are accused not of having done the right thing, but

of having committed fraud. Everything referring to that we would like to have

investigated and that as rapidly as possible.

The Chairman.—Do you wish to be represented by counsel ?

Mr. Parent.—I want the committee to say.

The Chairman.—Just as you please about that.

Mr. Parent.—If we have no lawyer there should be none on the other side. If

the other side are allowed a lawyer we should be granted the same privilege.

Mr. Maodonald (Pictou).—It must not be forgotten that the way the commis-
sion regards these charges is this : There is a question as to whether the classification

by the engineers of the commission was correct. That is a matter which under the

agreement between the government and the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway Company
must be determined by an arbitration board to be selected under the contract. The
gravamen of the charge, however, is this : that these engineers made a wrong classifi-

cation under the direction of the commissioners and at their request, and that Major
Hodgins was dismissed because he would not do that. That is what he says. Those
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are the things in regard to which, I think, Majior Hodgins should tell us immediately

what he knows.

Mr. Carvell.—And further, he was sent to Quebec to get some object lessons,

and he refused to carry out the lessons which he took there.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—That is the point.

The Chairman.—Now, is it the wish of the commission to adjourn until Tuesday
morning at 10.30?

Mr. Hodgins.—There is the matter of counsel.

Mr. Carvell.—The chairman stated the commission could suit themselves.

Mr. Hodgins.—I understand that. I mean on behalf of Major Hodgins?
The Chairman.—He has got the right to be represented by counsel.

Mr. Hodgins.—My application is that in a matter of this kind, in view of its

nature and of its importance, the committee should assign counsel to Major Hodgins.

I presume that they will assign counsel to the commission as well. I make the

request in order to facilitate the bringing out of the matters which are involved in,

these charges. The commission, according to the chairman, may or may not be

represented; just as they wish. They probably will. But I think Major Hodgins is

certainly entitled to be represented by counsel, and I ask the committee to make such

an order. There are precedents for it. I understand that in the McGreevy-Connolly
case counsel was so appointed.

The Chairman.—Oh, no, that is a great mistake. Counsel was not appointed

by the government but by private parties. At the last minute the government decided

to pay the counsel so engaged, but they were not retained by the government. That
is the great difference.

Mr. Barker.—We do not propose to retain counsel. Mr. Hodgins, I take it, is

asking that Major Hodgins should be allowed counsel, and the question is whether
we will authorize that and recommend the government to pay the bill. That is all.

Mr. Hodgins.—Quite so. I understand, in fact I know, that in the Gamey com-
mission the counsel not only represented those that had been attacked, but Mr. Gamey
was aided by counsel in pressing his charges. The Hon. Mr. Blake, Mr. Eitchie and
Mr. McPherson, who represented Mr. Gamey, were all paid by the government. The
matter was considered to be one of public importance, and there is no doubt that

this case stands in exactly the same position in that regard.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—In regard to importance?
Mr. Hodgins.—I think it would be a very great burden on Major Hodgins if he

were compelled to retain counsel at his own expense.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Do you find any precedents for parliament saying to

a man who writes a letter to a newspaper about a public official, ' We will pay all the

expenses of what you do ?
' I have heard of men rising in parliament and making;

charges and parliamentary commissions and royal commissions being appointed by
parliament and at the request of members of the ITolise, but I don't think there is any
precedent for a case of this kind for any such reason.

Mr. Hodgins.—I understand this was not a commission asked for by Major Hod-
gins but a commission thrust upon him.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I understand that Major Hodgins never asked for any

commission.

Mr. Hodgins.—Quite so. The investigation for which he asked for was not

granted.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—It does not appear in evidence in the documents before

us that he made any request.

Mr. Hodgins.—All the documents are not before the conmiitteo. But in his

memorandum Mr. Parent says :
' The commissioners would respectfully request that

the whole matter be referred to and looked into by committee of the House, and that

Major Hodgins be assigned to appear before the same to repeat his charges in a

5—6i
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specific manner in order to substantiate them if he can.' This committee was granted

by parliament at the request of the Transcontinental Eailway Commission to investi-

gate the charges. Now, Major Hodgins is summoned to appear here, and he is given

the right of counsel by the committee. He is asked to put in charges, and I think}

his request is a reasonable one : that he should be allowed to retain, at the expense of

the government, counsel to represent him in repeating the charges and substantiating

them. It is not a matter in which he is personally concerned, it is not a matter in.

which he personally gains or loses anything; it is a question of importance to the

country if he proves his charges, and it is of equal importance, I suppose, if he does

not.

Mr. Carvell.—If you will refer to Major Hodgins' letter to the ' Colonist ' you

will find he is the man who practically lays the charges and demands an investigation

because in one portion of his letter he says that if the increase in cost amounts to

three or four million dollars it is time the public demanded some explanation from

the government.

Mr. Hodgins.—Quite so

Mr. Carvell.—It is that charge that he made which brought forth the letter from
Mr. Parent.

Mr. Barker.—The public have now ordered an investigation.

Mr. Carvell.—So far as I am concerned, while I would not like to say at this

moment that I would be opposed to Major Hodgins having counsel, or the government
bearing the expense, it does seem to me that it is creating, or carrying out a very bad
precedent. If such a precedent exists I think it is a very bad one. Major Hodgins
was not asked to write this letter which was published in the Victoria ' Colonist.' He
did it simply from his own standpoint or from the standpoint of friends, perhaps, who
wished him to do so. It is possible that Major Hodgins may feel his position to be a

hardship to some extent, and that he is in an unpleasant position ; but he has himself

to thank for it, nobody asked him to do it. In what I am going to say now I do not

w^ant to be considered as making any imputation against Major Hodgins or his

counsel, but we all know it is late in the session and many of us have very important

duties to perform both here and at home, and it seems to me that if we employ counsel

on both sides then (we will be here long after the apple blossoms are in bloom and
possibly some months after that.

Mt. Hodgins.—Not if this counsel is employed, I know.

Mr. Barker.—It ought to shorten the investigation by two-thirds.

Mr. Hodgins.—There are other things besides this to do in the world.

Mr. Lennox.—What is proposed is to provide an instrument to enable us to find

out whether certain imputations made against the management of this work are

correct or not. It is of public importance and in the public interest, and such being

the case we should aim at anything which will make more certain the question of

whether these charges are well founded or not. I think counsel should be employed to

to assist us in endeavouring to ascertain the bearing of the evidence that is brought
before the committee, to analyse it and come to a right conclusion. I am not one

of those who believe that competent counsel will prolong the investigation, and I think

it is worth while for the committee to consider whether it would not be in the public

interest to demonstrate that we are anxious to give Major Hodgins every facility to

establish his charges.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Certainly.

Mr. Lennox.—We should consider whether it would not be right for the country

to pay counsel. There might be the question of another counsel also for you to con-

sider.

Mr. Carvell.—What would you think ?

Mr. Lennox.—I would offer no objection to the commission being represented by

counsel, but they have the power to do that anyway and they can pay for counsel if

they see fit. But a very prominent counsel, a man in whom we would all have faith
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to bring forward charges, and who would see that the public got justice in this matter

is what we might want. That would be all right and I think I would see no objection

to it.

Mr. Carvell.—What do you think of the suggestion that we should have one

coiinsel ?

Mr. Barker.—That is not fair to Major Hodgins.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—In some instances counsel for a committee have been

appointed to deal with the presentation of the case.

Mr. Lennox.—That would be the second counsel that I spoke of.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—It think we might very weH dispense with counsel for

the commission and counsel for Major Hodgina and let such counsel for the commit-

tee act in the presentation of the facts. However, perhaps the best way would be to

let that matter stand over until Tuesday. Personally I do not think there is any pre-

cedent for the request, and I would like to look into it first before expressing an

opinion against it possibly. No harm can come from letting the matter stand.

Mr. Lennox.—I don't think so. This is a matter we can only make a recommen-

dation on in any case.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Certainly it is a matter to some extent of precedent

and authority.

Mr. Lennox.—And we may look into the McGreevy-Connolly case also.

Mr. Carvell.—I would not take it that the act of any one committee of this

House would have a binding precedent up any other committee. It would be different

if you could find some aiithority on parliamentary usage.

Mr. Barker.—It is only a question of what is fair and reasonable, whether we
would recommend to the House that it be allowed. We cannot do it ourselves.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Then that matter will stand over until Tuesday.

Mr. Hodgins.—The matter of subpoenaing witnesses will stand over until Tuesday

as well?

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I want to say as far as I am concerned that I propose

to ask the chairman to direct Major Hodgins, when he comes on the stand on Tuesday,

to tell us about these charges he makes against the commission; he does not need
papers to prove them. Men cannot go around making serious charges against public

men in any position in the country without coming down to business as quickly as

they can. We want to know whether these men appointed by the government

deliberately entered into a conspiracy to get over-classification for the contractors.

Mr. Hodgins.—^You are generalizing there largely.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I am dealing with what is in the record.

Mr. Hodgins.—You do not, I presume, speak by the record. Our desire is to get

down to close quarters as rapidly as possible, and we are suggesting a way to do that.

Mr. Carvell.—Your remarks apply to over-classification.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Here is a statement by Major Hodgins: ^If Monsieur
Poulin, the engineer appointed by Monsieur Parent to replace me on the western

district, has allowed the introduction of classification similar to that in Quebec, this

will account for an increase in the estimated cost of the line. If this increase amounts
to three or four million dollars it is time the public demanded some explanation from
the government.' That can be disposed of by the production of Poulin's estimate.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I want to know what ground ^NEajor Hodgins had for

making that statement, and I want to get it quickly.

Mr. Lennox.—^We anticipate that certain documents will bo required, and we
should have them here on Tuesday, so that if Major ITodgins, when put upon his

oath, says ^I want to refer to certain, documents in order to substantiate what I say,'

the documents would be before the committee, not in the hands of INTajor Hoolgins.

Mr Macdonald (Pictou).—I presume the commission will have their counsel,

and I would suggest that Mr. Hodgins, K.C, and who ever is counsel for the com-
mission should confer about that.
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Mr. Lennox.—I think that Major Hodgins should furnish a minute of what
documents he foresees that he will require.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Or let his counsel confer with the counsel for the

commission. The counsel on both sides can settle that without any difficulty.

Mr. Paeent.—Any documents which the committee orders will be here in the

matter of half an hour.

Mr. Hodgins.—Yes, but there are some other documents that we want.

The Chairman.—Make your list of what you want, but I do not think we will

allow any papers to come before the committee before we hear Major Hodgins.

Mr. Barker.—Somebody else has got something to say about that.

The Chairman.—I am only one member of the committee, and that is my opinion,

that is all.

Mr. Hodgins.—I wish to make it quite clear that I am entering a respectful

protest against it. I think that in fairness to Major Hodgins when he is on the stand

he should have the documents which he considers necessary to refer to.

The Chairman.—Certainly.

Mr. Hodgins.—And that the committee should have those here before Tuesday.

The Chairman.—I don't agree with that.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I have indicated a course which I think ought to be

^ satisfactory. You can confer with the counsel for the commission, whoever he may
be, and explain to him what you want. If when you come on Tuesday you think it is

unfair we will order production, at least I will be in favour of that.

Mr. Barker.—That is all we want.

Mr. Lennox.—That is a reasonable solution.

The committee met at 10.30 a.m.,, the chairman, Mr. Geoffrion, presiding.

The Chairman.—The Clerk has just handed me a copy of the charges which have

been made by Major Hodgins before the committee. There seems to have been a

misunderstanding as to the session of the committee this morning, and on that account

Mr. Hodgins was given until this morning to~submit his charges, which have just

been deposited in my hands. I think everybody, the members of the Transcontinental

Kailway Commission, and the members of this committee, are entitled to have in their

possession those charges before we commence the examination of witnesses; so I think

it would perhaps be better to adjourn the examination of witnesses and the further

proceedings of this committee until to-morrow morning. I would like to have the

opinion of the committee on that matter.

Mr. Barker.—Is it proposed to go on with the examination of witnesses without
j-my papers?

The Chairman.—^Well, as I understand it, during the examination of the wit-

ness there will probably be some questions which will have to be asked Major Hodgins,
and that, when he says—at least that is according to my opinion—that before he can

answer those questions he requires to see certain papers in order to enable him to

make proof of his charges, and to give his evidence, then those papers are to be forth-

coming.

Mr. Barker.—I do not understand it that way ; I take it that any member of
this committee should have those papers; I want to have them in order to examine
the witness. I intend to try to do my duty here, and when either Major Hodgins, or

any other man, is being examined, I intend to examine him effectively if possible,

within the full scope of the reference, and it is absolutely impossible for any person

The committee adjourned until Tuesday morning at 10.30.

Tuesday, May 12, 1908.
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to know what he ought to ask the witness until the papers are here, so that we can

cross-examine on them.

Mr. Carvell.—To what papers do you refer?

Mr. Barker.—I refer to every paper that relates, so far as Major Hodgins is

concerned, to whatever items he iias brought forward in his charges; beyond that, I

want every paper that deals at all with his utterances, whether they are included in

these charges or not. Those charges have not been read to us yet, but there was a

great deal of discussion on the last day the committee met as to whether Major

Hodgins would be at liberty to omit from his charges anything that appeared in his

interview or elsewhere. We may want to see for ourselves how far the papers in the

possession of the commission bear upon these other branches of his statements, as well

as upon the particular matters contained in the charges made before us. In a matter

of such tremendous importance to the people of Canada we ought not to enter upon
tJie inquiry, or rather upon the examination of the man who has made such charges

as Major Hodgins has made, without seeing the papers, which are the very basis of

his charges. It seems to me that to do so would be an absurdity—unless we want to

avoid the question.

Mr. Carvell.—Probably Mr. Barker may have the advantage of some other

members the committee and may know the contents of these charges; I do not, and
until I have an opportunity of reading them all over I would not feel like going on

with the examination of witnesses.

Mr. Barker.—I have not yet seen the charges either.

Mr. Lennox.—I think it would be advisable to have them read now.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—What is the use of that, it is only a waste of time,

because we, each one of us, want a copy, which we can read for ourselves.

Mr. Lennox.—We want to economize time as much as we can, and that is why
I am suggesting that the charges be read now. If this misunderstanding had not

occurred we would have had these charges handed in yesterday and you and I would
have had a copy now.

Mr. Carvell.—I was going on to say that at a previous meeting in this com-

mittee there was some reference made by Major Hodgins to reports of Grand Trunk
Pacific officers. I would like to know whether Mr. Barker would consider that we
have any right, before any evidence is given, to order that those papers be brought

here?

Mr. Barker.—^You mean with regard to these charges?

Mr. Carvell.—Yes.

Mr. Barker.—If they come within these charges, certainly; if they do we cer-

tainly should have not only the Grand Trunk Pacific Company's statements, but every

paper we can get that will enable us to cross-examine the witnesses.

Mr. Carvell.—Would you consider that a letter written by one Grand Trunk
Pacific offieial to another would be binding upon this House, and that the letter ought

to be brought here unless it was sworn to?

Mr. Barker.—It would depend upon what it is.

Mr. Carvell.—Then it would seem to me that the proper course is to have the

witnesses sworn. Major Hodgins maJtes very, very serious charges against the Trans-

continental Railway Commission; Major Hodgins has a perfect right to be sworn
himself and to ask for the production of any witnesses in Canada; as) far as I am
concerned I don't care how many there are, or where they come from, I am agreeable

that they should come here at the public expense and be sworn. If the production of

papers is necessary to enable these witnesses to give their evidence I think then that

it is time enough to decide that they should be produced.

Mr. Barker.—The point I want to make is this, that it is not a question of ^fajor

Hodgins, it is a question for this committee whether they arc to be possessed of the

papers in order to enable the members of the committee to examine witnesses.

The Chairman.—The question presents itself in this way to me, that we have
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here the statement of charges-r-what is contained in that statement we do not know,

there may be a repudiation of some of the charges that we have heard. Major Hod-
gins may say, I repudiate certain of the charges; they were made in mistake.

Mr. HoDGiNS, K.C.—He does not say that.

The Chairman.—We do not know. Are we going to ask for papers until we know
whether there are charges relating to those particular matters or not? The proper

way of proceeding is to have Major Hodgins go into the box and to examine him, and

as a preliminary to read these charges and give all the members of the committee time

to become seized of the nature and scope of the charges made. Then we can proceed

with the examination of Major Hodgins, and, as necessity arises, we can ask for the

production of the papers he needs. I do not see how we can ask for the production

of papers now when we do not know what the charges are,- we do not know anything

about them.

Mr. Lennox.—I want to see the committee get to work, and that is the reasion I

take the attitude I do. I think the first thing for us to do is to ascertain what the

charges are. We have nothing particular to do for the moment except that, and we
can apply ourselves very usefully just now to finding out what those charges contain.

But in reference to what the chairman says as to ordering papers to be produced

before we know what Major Hodgins' charges are, we know, whatever attitude Major
Hodgins may take, what has been referred to us by the House, that is perfectly evi-

dent. There are the statements contained in various papers laid on the table of the

House, including Major Hodgins' letter to the public press. From our knowledge of

that we know perfectly well, as a committee, that although we may not be able at

present to define fully all the documents that we may require, we know that we will,

necessarily, require certain documents. I would like to ask Mr. Hodgins if he refers

to the documents that he knows, or that he anticipates, he will require, in the course

of the examination, in this statement?

Mr. Hodgins, K.C—I do, certainly.

Mr. Lennox.—One reason why I wanted that statement of charges read was, that

I propose before we part, so that we will be able to get some work done when we meet
again to-morrow, if it is to-morrow we meet, to move that certain documents be

placed in the hands of the clerk of the committee to-morrow, so that when we meet we
will not be in just the same position as we are to-day, unable to do any work. Major
Hodgins' counsel tells me there are certain documents which will serve his particular

purpose for the present, and I have prepared a couple of motions which I propose to

offer for the consideration of the committee, for^he production of such documents a9

will be really required to-morrow, li those documents are produced we will probably

be able to do some useful work to-morrow; if not we will be in the position that we
will have to stop again until they are produced. I therefore, Mr. Chairman, suggest

that as we have nothing else to do we may as well have the charges read.

Mr. Macdonald.—It might be as well for everyone to understand how we happened
to come here this morning. After the adjournment of the committee the other day
Mr. Hodgins, K.C, came to me and asked if it would be possible for this committee
to be further adjourned until Wednesday, as he expected to have a case to try in

Toronto. I consulted personally with the members of the commission, or some
members of the commission, and found that they were very, very reluctant to agree

to the further adjournment. I intimated to Mr, Hodgins that, as far as I was
concerned, I would offer no objection to the matter standing over until Wednesday.
He was uncertain as to whether or not his engagements would require that

he should have the matter stand over until Wednesday and he was to advise

the clerk of the committee on that point. I left Ottawa, myself, on a business

engagement for Montreal, with the assumption that the matter was not coming up
until Wednesday, and I understand that members of the commission had the same
view until late yesterday afternoon; they supposed this matter was not coming up
until Wednesday. Immediately on ascertaining that Mr. Hodgins had changed his
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plans and could come here to-day, I went to the clerk of the committee and pointed,

out to him that, personally, I had made engagements on the understanding th^it the

committee was not to meet until Wednesday, and that I thought the committee should

not meet until Wednesday in accordance with that arrangement. IMr. Hodgins, on

being consulted about the matter, asked until noon to-day to file his charges. Person-

ally, I made engagements on the assumption that this committee would simply meet

formally this morning and adjourn until to-morrow. The members of the Trans-

continental Eailway Commission are not here; they were under the impression that

nothing was to be don^, of any kind, to-day, but that the further proceedings would

stand over until to-morrow. For myself, I do not propose to take any step to-day that

we would not take until the whole proceedings have begun regularly and formally

and until the other side are here, and therefore, under all these circumstances, in the

absence of the Transcontinental Commissioners and their counsel, the whole matter,

in my opinion, should stand over until to-morrow morning. My honourable friend

need not be afraid; he will have ample opportunity to move all the motions he wants

for papers. And further, apart from any other question. Major Hodgins must be

here and tell us what he knows about these charges. As far as the papers connected

with classification are concerned no objection will be offered to their production. It

would be unfair to the gentlem.en against whom these charges are being preferred if

we should proceed with the present meeting when it was clearly understood last night

that it should stand over until Wednesday morning and when the commissioners of

the Transcontinental Railway are under the assumption that Mr. Hodgins would not

file his charges formally until 12 o'clock to-day.

Mr. Hodgins.—Perhaps I am responsible for the misundei*tsanding to a certain

extent. I was not clear, in speaking to the members of the committee when I would
be prepared to file the charges but I informed Mr. Todd, secretary of the committee,

on Saturday morning that I would be prepared to do so on Monday.
Mr. Carvell.—Why were the charges not filed by 6 o'clock last evening?

Mr. Hodgins.—They were in my hands ready to file, but when I understood, for

the first time, that the Transcontinental Railway Commission were under the impres-

sion that the meeting of the committee was not going on to-day I asked, afe I was not

quite satisfied with the arrangement of the charges, ^ I suppose there is no hurry to

put them in? I would like to get until noon to-day.'

Mr. Carvell.—^Who did you ask?

Mr. Hodgins.—I asked Mr. Macdonald, Mr. Barker and Mr. Lennox.
Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Mr. Macdonald stated that he had no objection.

Mr. Hodgins.—Certainly. However, I did not take advantage of that.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—The commission were so informed, and it would be

unfair for the committee now to proceed with the hearing of charges against men who
are under the impression that the meeting is not to go on this morning and that the

charges are not to be filed until 12 o'clock.

Mr. Hodgins.—Till 12 o'clock ?

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou-).—Yes, that is what you said to me.

Mr. ITodgins.—I was afterwards advised, Mr. Macdonald, that that was not agree-

able to the other members of the committee. I saw ISlv. Carvell and he objected,

consequently I felt bound to have the charges here at the opening of this meeting.

Mr. Carvell.—I take the ground that whatever is done by this connnittoe had
better be done by the committee in open court.

Mr. Hodgins.—It is a good rule.

Mr. Carvell.—If it is worth considering at all it is worth considering before the

committee.

Mr. Barker.—I agree to that. Let me say as to my knowledge of what occurred,

and I think I can, speak for Mr. Lennox also. We never heard of any thought or inten-

tion of laying the matter over until Wednesday, until ^fr. Todd, the clerk of the com-
mittee, came to us about half-past 5 o'clock yesterday and said that lie was informed

—
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I think lie said by Mr. Macdonald—that the Transcontinental Railway Commissioners
could not attend to-day.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I was also informed that.

Mr. Barker.—I am only saying what Mr. Todd informed ns—that the commis-

sioners could not attend, that they were under the impression that the intentioniwas to

adjourn the meeting until Wednesday, and, therefore, they would not be present and
the investigation could not go on. Under those circumstances, of course, we were will-

ing to consent but we asked that the other members of the committee might be seen

also so that there should be no mistake about it. We had nothing to do with the

matter, directly or indirectly, except being told by Mr. Todd at half-past 5 yesterday

that the meeting was not going on this morning.

Mr. Carvell.—About 9 o'clock last evening Mr. Todd came to me and stated that

there had been a proposition made that the meeting should go over until Wednesday.
He also said that Major Hodgins had not filed his charges. I told Mr. Todd that I

would be present at half-past 10 this morning in the expectation that Mr. Hodgins
would file the charges according to the agreement. The charges have not been filed,

and as far as I am concerned I am not prepared at this stage to go on with the investi-

gation. I have not seen the charges and I do not know what they contain. Therefore,

I do not see that we can very well proceed.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—My suggestion the other day was that counsel for

^Major Hodgins and counsel for the Transcontinental Commission should consult

together and ascertain what papers were wanted, and then it would be for the com-
mittee to say whether they should, or should not, be furnished as the case may be.

There will be ample opportunity afforded to bring all necessary papers here but I say,

under the circumstances, that it would be unfair to proceed with the case in the

absence of counsel for the Transcontinental Commission.

Mr. Barker.—And I say that it is unfair to go on without having the papers

before us.

Mr. Lennox.—No counsel can object^ to the production of such papers as will

enable us to properly pursue the investigation which has been referred to us. The
documents connected with this case are public documents and have a right to them.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Would it not be better to hear counsel upon the sub-

ject ?

Mr, Lennox.—I do not think it is necessary to hear them on the point as to whe-

ther the documents we require shall be produced or not.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I do not think we should go on without counsel for the

commission being here. What harm will it do to ad^journ until to-morrow ?

Mr. Lennox.—It means delay and loss of time. The session is moving along and
there should be no unnecessary delay that will prevent the prompt completion of our

vv^ork.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Well, I absolutely decline to go on with our meet-

ing to-day under the circumstances.

Mr. Barker.—I move that the charges be read.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I move in amendment that the meeting be adjourned

until to-morrow in view of the misunderstanding which has occurred, and that the

whole matter stand over until that time.

The amendment declared carried on division.

Committee adjourned.

May 13, 1908.

The Committee met at 10.30 a.m.

Mr. Barker.—At the last meeting it was suggested by Mr. Macdonald that copies

of the charges should be sent to each member of the committee and to the com-
missioners, so, I suppose, we may take them as read now.
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The Chairman.—I understand the commission is represented by counsel this

morning.

Mr. Charles Murphy.—Yes, I have the honour to represent the commission.

The Chairman.—Have you anything, Mr. Murphy, to say about having the resume

of the charges accepted as read?

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—^Have you anything to say as to the charges as filed in

relation to the interview and letter ?

Mr. Murphy.—At this stage, Mr. Chairman, I did not expect to be called upon
to make any observations with regard to the charges as filed yesterday, but, in reference

to your inquiry, I may say that we wish at this stage to reserve the right to object to

certain matter contained in these charges and to certain paragraphs which as

we submit are contrary to the agreement reached last week unanimously, I think, by

the members of the committee, that the charges as originally contained in the letter

of Major Hodgins and his interview published in the ^ Daily Colonist ' would not be

enlarged or reduced. That agreement we submit has not been carried out in the

charges as filed yesterday. As I have said, we do not intend to make any formal

objection at this stage, but we wish now to have a note made that we reserve the right

to object at the proper stage in the giving of evidence. Particularly I may point out

that in the newspapers there was no mention of engineers Mcintosh and Grant,

and there is considerable space in the charge as filed to bring in both of these gentlemen.

The Chairman.—No objection to that, I suppose.

Mr. Hodgins, K.C.—Perhaps I should say in order to avoid misapprehension

—

Mr. Murphy speaks of the letter and interview that appeared in the ' Colonist.' What
I said and what I still adhere to is that the letters in the ^ Colonist ' are the basis of the

charges. I pointed out that portions of the interview were erroneous,

Mr. Barker.—I think what occurred last week was this, not that Major Hodgins
should not be permitted to reduce. Nothing was said on that subject. All that was
said was that he should prepare his charges and submit them, but that would not

deprive this committee from going into more than he has put in.

Mr. Lennox.—The statement does not control the committee. What does control

the committee is what has been referred to us from the House.
Mr. Hodgins^ K.C.—I renew my application for the assignment of counsel at, of

course, the expense of the government for Major Hodigns. I note that in the Trans-
continental Act the commissioners are entitled to include in the cost of construction
legal expenses. Consequently, they are entirely protected and have not out of their

own pockets to pay the expenses of counsel. I think it would be unfair to Major
Hodgins, he having been brought before the committee by order of committee
appointed by the House for the investigation of this matter as a matter of public

interest, that he should be expected to employ counsel and spend what time was
necessary in developing and proving his charges.

The Chairman.—What is the pleasure of the committee about that question?
Mr. Barker.—I take it, Mr. Chairman, that counsel appearing for Major Hodgins

will assist our enquiry in developing it and will help to bring it out more clearly.

Mr. Lennox.—I said all I need say the other day. I am in favour of that being
done.

Mr. Carvell.—It seems to me it would be establishing a very dangerous custom
if every man who has been in the employ of the government of Canada, or of any
commisison appointed by the government of Canada, chooses to make a series of
charges against public officials and then come to a committee of this House and
asks to be assigned counsel in order to help him out. The government did not ask
Major Hodgins to submit these charges and I have no doubt that when he submitted
these charges he had full responsibility of what he was doing. He must have done
it for a purpose and according to the claim filed I would say he did it for the pur-
pose of showing why he was dismissed. If a man deliberately puts himself in a

position which may be unpleasant, I can see no reason why the country should go
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to the expense, at least at this stage of the proceedings, of perhaps hundreds of

thousands of dollars in order to enable this man to make political capital. Until

something has been done further, my opinion at the present time is that this com-
mittee should not furnish counsel for the prosecutor.

Mr. Macdonald.—I have given some thought to the consideration of this question

and there are certain things it seems to me that must be taken into account in regard

to the matter. First, Major Hodgins appears in the category of an official who has

been dismissed from the service. At leasts that is the position he takes himself.

According to the principles which would guide a court in dealing with any complaint

the charges of a gentleman in that position would naturally be viewed with suspicion

and as being animated with some motive. I have looked into all the precedents I can
find and I find there are no precedents which would warrant the -committee in assigning

counsel. In these committees the usual parliamentary practice is that where a party

has a matter which he desires to be investigated he should place his material in the

hands of .a member of Parliament, and if he regards that material as being of suffi-

cient importance to warrant him pledging his position in Parliament by making a

charge on his own responsibility, he can do so. In cases of that kind, we find tnat

committees have assigned counsel at the public expense. At the same time, while

that is my present view, I am perfectly open to be convinced on tne subject. I would

suggest that at this stage the application should stand over for further consideration

of the committee, and it may be that conditions may arise whicxi would warrant me
viewing the matter favourably. At this stage I cannot find any principles on which

I can support it.

Mr. Barker.—In order to make things more clear, I should like to point out that

we are here not at the instance of Major Hodgins. Major Hodgins exercised his

right as a citizen to place certain facts in the public press. He was liable to slander

and anybody could attack him in the ordinary courts of the country. That was his

position so far as he was personally concerned. But iising Mr. Carvell's language,
^ the other man ' was not content. He makes a demand to Parliament that Major
Hodgins should be brought before a committee of Parliament to explain and prove

and make good his charges. Mr. Macdonald has spoken of the practice when charges

are made in Parliament. Naturally Major Plodgins could not appear in Parliament.

If he wanted the charges made in the House his only course would have been to

induce some member to take them up, and what has been said by Mr. Macdonald
would probably have followed. But here the person who invites an investigation is

the chairman of the Transcontinental Commission,-~.and Major Hodgins is brought

here at the instance of Parliament to make good certain ^<3harges. Nobody can doubt

the great importance of getting at the facts not merely as regards the character of

the Chairman of the Commission and of the Commissioners, but as regards the public

welfare, not only up to the present time, but as to the continuation of what is alleged

to be going on. Nobody can doubt the great importance of this investigation to the

country and nobody can question, I think, that it can be better investigated so far

as Major Hodgins' side of the question is concerned by the assistance of counsel. T

do not think we require precedents to justify this committee in submitting the ques-

tion to Parliament and asking for authority to allow Major Hodgins counsel at the

expense of the country.

The Chairman.—I am disposed to adopt the views of Mr. Macdonald and? Mr,

Carvell on that question. I think it would be a bad precedent. Mr. Hodgins, K.O.,

said the other day we had the precedent of the McGreevy charges. That was altogether

different. In that inquiry the men who had made the charges had to retain their own
counsel, and it was only when it was found after the inquiry had developedi to be in

the interests of the country that the government decided to pay the counsel, which
had been retained by the private parties. So at this stage of the case I would not be

in favour of granting the request of Mr. Hodgins'. Later on, as I have said, andj ag

Mr. Carvell has said, if it should be found to be in the interests of the country that
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the inquiry has taken place then it would be for the committee to entertain the idea

of paying the fees of Major Hodgins' counsel.

Mr. Lennox.—I am not disposed to object to what the chairman has just said.

That is, I think we can profitably have a little more information before we decide

this question. I am strongly of opinion that counsel should be assigned, but I think

the necessity will more fully appear as we proceed further. I am not indisposed to

let the matter stand over for a few days. My own idea is that although the matter

was initiated by Major Hodgins it has now passed beyond his control to a very large

extent. Pie was by writing those letters the cause of bringing these matters before

the public, but the Commission has taken it up and have become the aggressors in

tht sense, and the country is paying the expense of the commission justifying them-

selves. I have no objection at all to that. I think that is perfectly right, but I think

on the other hand that this is a question of protecting the people against a very large

expenditure of public money, and it is my view that where a large amount of money
is involved that we should have and the country should have the benefit of counsel

assigned to Major Hodgins, so that there may be a thorough inquiry not merely into

the specific charges in his letter but into all the questions referred to us by the House.

Mr. Barker.—Then that stands.

The Chairman.—Yes.

Mr. Barker.—Then I beg to move :
^ That the Transcontinental Railway Com-

missioners be required to produce to this committee all papers and records in the

custody or control of the said Commissioners relating to or affecting the matters

referred to this committee.' That is distinctly within the order appointing us. The
House gave us power to order the production of papers and records. Accordingly I

move that.

The Chairman.—Have you anything to say, Mr. Macdonald or Mr. Carvell?

Mr. Macdonald.—Has the Commission any objections to produce these?

Mr. Murphy.—The motion as placed in your hands is in very general terms, and

its scope is very wide. The Commission do not object to produce any papers that

relate to the matters referred to this committee ; but they submit that they ought not

to be asked to produce papers that refer to matters which, although possibly raised by

Major Hodgins, still are subjects of arbitration as between the Commission and the

Grand Trunk Pacific. As to these matters the Commission do not think they ought

to be required to produce papers.

Mr. Barker.—I shall bring that up in another form.

Mr. Carvell.—If Mr. Barker only wants an expression of the principle I would

have no objection to his motion because I think that the Transcontinental should be

compelled—in fact, I am certain they would be quite willing to pro.duce what papers

are necessary. But if it means what it says, then they would have to bring every

document in the Transcontinental offices, and I object to that.

Mr. Barker.—It says all papers affecting this question.

Mr. Carvell.—Well, that means everything. Everything might affect this ques-

tion. If it is only to establish the principle that the Transcontinental Commission
shall produce any papers relating to this inquiry, I have no objection.

Mr. Lennox.—What does it say?

Mr. Barker.—It says, 'All papers in the custody or control of Connnissionors

relating to or affecting the matters referred to this conunittoo.'

Mr. Carvell.—How are the Transcontinental Commission going to know what

they are to produce?

Mr. Barker.—Let them produce under the guidance of the chief engineer every-

thing that he advises them does relate to this, and if we think there is anything more,

we will point it out. ^
Mr. Carvell.—With th(^ reservation ihnt tho ronunissionors produce here only

what they consider to be important, reserving the right to "Mr. iKirker or anvbody else
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to make a further application. But I want it to be distinctly understood that it does

not mean that they have to turn out everything they have.

Mr. Macdonald.—I assume that Mr. Hodgins has indicated in his memorandum

the papers he wants.

Mr. Lennox. We will deal with that later on. This is more general.

Mr. Barker.—I presume they will bring these. We all know now that this

inquiry is not going to be confined to Major Hodgins' specific charges and they may
have papers relating to their own views.

Mr. Macdonald.—The inquiry must be confined to what Major Hodgins alleges.

We are not going to have an inquiry to satisfy curiosity.

Mr. Lennox.—We are not going to have that, but we are going to have an inquiry

into anything and everything referred to us by the House. Our instructions are to

investigate the matters and charges referred to in those papers laid on the table of the

House.

Mr. Carvell.—You ought to specify what papers you want.

Mr. Lennox.—We will state that as we go along.

Mr. Barker.—If we think there is anything more that we want we will point it

out.

Mr. Macdonald.—I have no objection to the resolution on the understanding
that it relates to matters properly before us.

The Chairman.—I think Mr. Barker should make it clear. The motion does not

say what Mr. Macdonald and Mr. Carvell agree to.

Mr. Barker.—It says they must be papers relating to matters referred to this

committee.

Mr. Macdonald.—I reserve my right to say what matters relate to this inquiry.

Mr. Carvell.—The commissioners will bring what they consider to be papers

affecting this case. Then it will be for the committee to say later on whether addi-

tional papers should be brought or not.

The Chairman.—Mr. Barker moves this resolution : (Beads.) ' That the Trans-

continental Hallway Commissioners be required to produce to this committee all

papers and records in the custody or control of the said commissioners relating to or

affecting the matters referred to this committee.' Is that agreed to ?

Carried.

Mr. Barker.—I have another motion. ' That the First Minister, the Minister

of llailiways and Canals and the Minister of Finance, and any other ministers or

departments, including the Auditor General, having papers or records in their custody

or control relating to or affecting the matters referred to this committee be requested

to produce the same before the committee.'

Mr, Carvell.—I would agree to this resolution with the same reservation as in

the former one, so far as the Auditor General is concerned, that he produce what may
seem to him to affect the question, and if anything further is required we will deal

with it as the question comes up.

Mr. Barker.—That is necessarily a reservation. A man must judge for himself.

The Chairman.—Is it the pleasure of the committee to adopt this resolution ?

Carried.

Mr. Barker.—I have still another resolution. I move ^ That a summons or sub-

poena be issued to the proper officers of the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway Company,
requiring the company to produce to this committee all papers and records in the

custody or control of the said company or of its officers relating to or affecting the

subject matters referred to this committee, and requiring the officers or persons in

charge of any or all such papers and records to appear therewith before this com-

mittee and give evidence in regard thereto.'

Mr. Macdonald.—That is clearly a resolution that we should not pass. If Mr.
Mann or Mr. Heaman whose names appear here wrote letters anything stated in those

letters is not evidence. Mr. Barker knows that. Anyone of those engineers who are

wanted will come here and tell us what they know on oath. I think, Mr. Chairman,
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that the consideration of this resolution should stand over. It is about time for

Major Hodgins to start in and prove his case.

Mr. Barker.—I have no objection to its standing over in order that we may have
an opportunity to consider it.

Mr. Macdonald.—If any evidence is to be got from the Grand Trunk Pacific, it

must be got on oath. We have no right to direct them to produce documents.

Mr. Lennox.—I wish to move two specific resolutions, with regard to papers which
will be necessary in connection with the evidence of Major Hodgins. The first is:

' That the Transcontinental Railway Commission and the government be requested

to produce and have before this committee at its next sittings such of the memoranda,
papers, writings and documents mentioned or referred to in the statement filed on
behalf of Major Hodgins as are in their possession, custody or control.'

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Is not that covered by Mr. Barker's resolution ?

Mr. Lennox.—No, Mr. Barker's resolution is more general. This resolution speci-

fies that such papers or documents relating to Major Hodgins' evidence be produced

at our next sitting.

Mr. Carvell.—This refers solely to documents in the possession of the committee.

Mr. Lennox.—Or the government.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I do not see the difference between this resolution and

the other one.

Mr. Lennox.—We have it set forth in the statement by Major Hodgins that there

are certain documents which he says he requires in order to give his evidence, and
we therefore require that they should be in the hands of the commmittee. We should

have them at the earliest moment. These documents will probably enable us to investi-

gate the evidence he is to give.

Mr.- Macdonald (Pictou).—Are these documents part of the documents referred-

to in Mr. Barker's resolution ?

Mr. Lennox.—Mr. Barker's resolution refers to everything required in the whole

investigation. The documents I ask for now are documents we immediately require.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—That is no difference.

Mr. Lennox.'—It is a material difference.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—¥/hat is the use of beginning this inquiry by jockey-

ing ?—A. You pass a general resolution requiring the commission to produce all the

documents relating to this matter. Now you go and ask a second one. I suggested

the other day that counsel for Major Hodgins should communicate to Mr. Murphy,
who I understand is acting for the commission, what documents he wanted. If they

do not prodiuce them he can make a motion and I will support it to compel them.

But I understand that Mr. Barker's resolution covers every document required.

Mr. Lennox.—Mr. Baker's resolution is a resolution to ask the commission to

prepare and bring to us all papers that we can possibly require in the course of the

willJo investigation.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—And what Major Hodgins may require.

Mr. Lennox.—Major Hodgins was asked the other day to specify what documents
h(3 would require for the purpose of corroborating or substantiating his evidence. His
own statement sets forth the docmnents he thinks he will require from the commission
and from the Grand Trunk Pacific. When Mr. Barker's resolution was moved, it

was recognized by Mr. Macdonald and Mr. CarvoU that that was merely affirming the

principle of the matter and of course it wjis i^i\ou the commission an intimation to

prepare and produce those documents, which might take a considerable time. But we
want immediately for the purpose of proceeding with ]Major Hodgins' evidence these

specific documents mentioned in his statement. I have moved that the Transconti-
' rental Railway Commission and the government be requested to have before this

committee at its next sitting such memoranda, iiapers, writings and docunrents as are
mentioned in the statement filed by Major Hodgins, and as they may hf ve in their

cus'.ody or control. Major Hodgins says in his statement, paragraph 13, ' iNfajor Hod-
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grip.s requires for the proving of the above charges documentary evidence in the pos-

session of the commission, of the Auditor General, and of the Grand Trunk Pacific

Railway Company or it officials.' And then it goes on to say that those in the pos-

session of the commission consist of the various progress estimates and progress pro-

files sent in monthly by the engineers in Districts ' F ' and ' B,' and so on. Then it

says that there are in the possession of the Grand Trunk Pacific certain documents,

and it follows that up by mentioning some ten or twelve specific documents or may be

more that he knows will be required. I may say in addition to this that as regards

jockeying, I disclaim any idea of that kind, and I am sorry Mr. Macdonald has made
use of that remark. ' I assume, and will assume, unless the evidence is strongly to the

contrary, that every gentleman on this committee is endeavouring to the best of his

knowledge and judgment to advance the interests of the public and to elucidate the

matters referred to us. Now, Mr. Chairman, it is absolutely necessary in the interests

of the public and the proper investigation of this matter that these documents should

be produced. It is not at all in conflict but quite in harmony with the resolutions

already passed. The resolution already passed is general and affirms the principle

more than anything else. This resolution is specific.

Mr. Carvell.—I would like to call attention to section 13 of the charges, in which

it is said:

—

' Major Hodgins requires for the proving of the above charges documentary

evidence in the possession of the commission, of the Auditor General and of the Grand

Trunk Pacific Railway Company or its officials. Those in the possession of the com-

mission consist of the various progress estimates and progress profiles sent in monthly

by the engineers in districts F and B; the reports by the division engineers to the

district engineer, and by the district engineer to the chief engineer; all from Janu-

ary, 1907, to the present time and relating to districts F and B.'

And so on. Now, I think it would be unwise and unfair to press Mr. Lennox's

resolution as it stands. The substance of Major Hodgins' charges are first that he

was sent to Quebec in order to take lessons in classification, where they had no trouble

with contractors. He went to Quebec, I do not know the place, but it was near La
Toque. Now I cannot see any reason why the progress estimates and what papers are

necessary at that particular place, as seen by Major Hodgins at that time should not

be produced before the committee; but surely it would be the essence of nonsense to

contend that we should pass the time going over allJjie progress estimates of the work
in Quebec since that time, and especially since Major Hodgins was there in 1907. We,
ought to have all the papers regarding the place where Hodgins was employed, and I

think that when Mr. Lennox considers this matter he will see that it will be much
better to change his resolution and put it in such shape that we can vote for it con-

sistently rather than vote it down. As it stands I will have to vote against it, and I

do not want to do that, because I do not want anyone to be able to say that I am trying

to balk the investigation when as a matter of fact I am anxious for a full investigation.

I am willing to have every document brought here bearing on the charges.

Mr. Lennox.—I am not sure that I understand what Mr. Carvell means. What
part do you object to?

Mr. Carvell.—According to statement No. 13, as I construe it, it means that you

are asking the commissioners to bring here every progress estimate made on that

particular work.

Mr. Lennox.—^Yes.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—(To Mr. Murphy). Have you any objection to pro-

ducing all the documents required?

Mr. Murphy.—No.
Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—The course that would be adopted by any court would

be that counsel for presenting the case would call for a document, and it would be

given to him. If he could not get it it would be in the court's hands to decide.
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Mr. HoDGiNS.—That would not apply in Ontario at any rate. Before we go into

court we have production of everything- from the other side, and counsel are allowed

to see them and know what is in them.

Mr. Carvell.—I am not acquainted with the Ontario practice. Do you mean to

say that you can call for all documents in the hands of the opposite party, even if not

referred to in the pleadings?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Yes.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—Under our practice you would have to go to a judge

and give reasons satisfactory to the judge for seeing the papers. The answer to the

point you raise is that if your contention is correct the committee should adjourn for

one week, or some time at any rate, so that you can see these documents and have

some time to study them.

Mr. IToDGiNS.—Undoubtedly.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—When your client, in his letter and interviews to the

press, undertook to malign public men, including the commissioners and Sir Wilfrid

Laurier, nearly a month ago, he did not have documents at all. I took the position at

the opening of the inquiry that the first thing he should do was to go on the stand and

say why he made those statements. The counsel for the commission have offered now
to give you those documents as you go along and you can put your man into the box

and let us begin the proceedings.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—The offer has just now been made. I happen at the present juncture

to be the counsel for Major Hodgins and I am bound to present what I think is the fail

view, and I hope the committee will give it attention. The gist and basis of the whole

of the charges of over-classification. The proof of which appears in the documents
in the hands of the commission and the Grand Trunk Pacific.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—What about the reflections upon the members of the

commission and other public men ? That is the material point. As to the other

points you raise, what about the clause in the Grand Trunk Pacific agreement which
says that all these matters be left to arbitration ? I propose to insist upon you proceed-

ing at once to show whether these charges are true or not.

Mr. Hodgins.—I suppose you _will allow me to finish my statement ?

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I do not want any dodging. I want to get to business.

Mr. Barker.—That is not fair on the counsel.

Mr. Hodgins.—I do not think you seriously mean, that as a reflection, Mr.
Hacdonald.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—We have been from day to day wasting time, and I

sincerely do desire to get to work.

Mr. Hodgins.—The gist of these charges is not the dismissal of Major Hodgins.

He has accepted the situation. He is out and he does not want further employment

with the commission. He takes this stand upon over-classification and he wants you
to investigate and give him his chance to prove. I say as his counsel, that it is not

possible for me to prove it without producing the actual documents to demonstrate

from the monthly returns sent in by resident and district engineers to the chief

engineer and approved by the commission. In these will appear the sort of classifi-

cation that is carried out. I contend that it is impossible for any resident engineer

in charge of 250 miles of road to repeat from memory the data as to classification

objection, &c., and to suggest that I shall be asked without having seen them, and
have them produced only to-day, to go on and examine the witness, is something the

committee should not ask me to do. I venture to say that no court in the land would
say that if you cannot prove charges without data out of your own mouth, we will

not allow you to produce the documents or papers.

Mr. Macdonald.—No one proposes that. We want to be fair.

Mr. Hodgins.—We cannot proceed without these papers and without opportunity

to read them and to point out whether they are erroneous in view of the evidence.

5—7
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Mr. Macdonald.—No one expects you to do that. What do you mean by saying
that you cannot give evidence before you get the documents.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—If the committee chooses to put in the forefront Major Hodgins'
dismissal and the reasons therefor, there is a certain amount of evidence as to which
the documents are not so material. But I do not desire to begin my case without

them. I treat the dismissal as a matter of very little importance, in fact, I feel so

strongly on the other point that I would be content to rest my case upon that alone.

Mr. Carvell.—We prefer to take up the whole case.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—If the committee directs me to go on with the quesiious alTecting

the dismii.sal and make thiit the opening of the investigation, perhaps that could be

done. But I want, and I hope to put, in the forefront of the charges, the fact of over-

c] ossification.

Mr. Oarvell.—-Pages 2, 3, 4 and 5 and part of 6 are the charges and consist of"

statements that there has been a change in classification in small matters ranging

from $50 to $300 or $400. I assume by some engineer named Mcintosh. Do you mean
to contend that this committee should consider for one moment that we are going to

discuss and come to a finding upon actions and doings of engineers on the road unless

you can show that they did it on the orders of the commission, or unless it bears

^pon the commission ? The gist of these charges in the first place is that Major
Hodgins was dismissed because he would not classify as the commissioners wanted
him to classify. We are not here to discuss what resident engineers might have done.

If your contention is to direct attention entirely as to what classification may have

been made by these engineers, I want to know what connection that has with the

matter. I do not care about it unless they were acted upon by the commission. If

there was anything wrong in this and you cannot bring it home to the commission,

I submit that we have a right to hear it here.

Mr. Hodgins.—^I do not understand that the arbitration is for the protection of

the Grand Trunk Pacific solely. The point is whether money is going out on your

engineers' certificates and whether three or four million dollars in the aggregate has

been excessively spent that way.

Mr. Carvell.—As I understand it you want this committee to say whether the

resident and district engineers are properly classifying this work ?

Mr. Barker.—On the evidence ; we are not going to judge except on the evidence.

The Chairman.—(To Mr. Hodgins). Do you not think that the proceedings

could be shortened if you were to meet Mr. Murphy and try to come to an under-

standing on the papers which I understand they are willing to produce, and if the

commissioners refuse to produce papers which the committee thinks is fair to produce,

then we will make them. There is no possible reason, it seems to me, to refrain from
putting Major Hodgins on the stand and commencing the investigation, and in the

meantime you could agree with Mr. Murphy about the documents which will be

necessary.

Mr. Hodgins.—^With reference to the chairman's reasonable suggestion, I must
say that I am responsible for Major Hodgins' case. I accept the onus and I only ask

the committee to enable me to present my case in my own way. Give me the papers

and a reasonable time, appoint the time yourself, and I will undertake to go on then

and undertake to call Major Hodgins, and if you ask me to call him first I will do

so.

The Chairman.—^Do you mean to say that you cannot produce your evidence in

any way without the papers?

Mr. Hodgins.—-If I cannot show that there is over-classification it is idle for me
to say that the commissioners knew of it. I have to prove its existence, and I intend

to do so. What I suggest is that the committee enable me to have a reasonable time

to go over the papers and when I come again, if I have the papers I want, I will go
on from day to day.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I find in charge two the following: 'The root of all
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the trouble between the commissioners and Major Hodgins is over-classification, and
the commissioners wanted him to change his ideas as to classification based on a good
many years' experience on construction to the classification that is allowed to the

contractors in Quebec (under the head of " common excavation," loose rock and
solid rock/) This classification to its fullest extent is adopted and approved by the

commissioners in their memorandlum laid on the table of the House on April 24,

1908, and exceeds that recomended by the chief engineer in his letter to the com-
missioners dated September 24, 1907/) There is a direct imputation in Major Hod-
gins' charges on Sir Wilfrid Laurier, Premier of this country, which as a member of

the committee I intend to hear what Hodgins has to say about before we go into a

long preamble. Then again there is this statement :
' Major Hodgins was removed for

ether reasons, and that no investigation was allowed and that his opinion and the

opinion of the next senior engineer on the district were smothered.' I think these are

grave insinuations. I think they should at once be dealt with. I am willing to give

you all the material that you want immediately on that charge. I do not think that

Major Hodgins has any right to make such insinuations regarding public men of this

country, more particularly as I understand that he did not ask Sir Wilfrid for an

investigation at all, unless he is ready to say why he made them.

Mr. Hodgins.—I entirely disclaim any desire to make political capital, and unless

you force me to bring it in I shall make no political charge. If you force me to do
so I shall then have to decide. I have not made it an issue and I do not propose to

make it an issue.

Mr. Macdonald.—I have read from the charges including quotations from a lettei

of Hodgins.

Mr. Hodgins.—Exactly. Of course it is in the letter, but if it is insisted on
making it a political matter I shall have to consider it.

Mr. Macdonald.—Do you think it fair and honourable to take the position that

you are going to take apparently, that you will not withdraw the charges and that

you are willing to let the imputation go abroad that Sir Wilfrid Laurier would not

give Hodgins a hearing?

llx. Hodgins.—I understood from you that no charges were to be dropped.

Mr. Carvell.—Will you undertake that Major Hodgins will withdraw that? •

Mr. Barker.—Is it in the charge ?

Mr. Carvell.—^Yes.

Mr. Hodgins.—I do object to being asked at this moment and this stage, as to

any of the charges in the letter, and as to whether 1, as his counsel, will withdraw
them or not. I am prepared to take the responsibility of conducting the case and of

conducting it in my own way. I have indicated my views. - I am more concerned for

the bona fides and good faith of charges made by a relative of mine in this matter,

and am anxious that he have the fullest opportunity to prove them.

Mr. Carvell.—Do you want to drop everything except classification?

Mr. Hodgins.—I am perfectly willing to stand or fall on that.

Mr. Carvell.—Are you prepared to withdraw the other charges and announce

them false?

Mr. Hodgins.—'No.

Mr. Carvell.—Then we had better investigate the whole thing.

Mr. Hodgins.—The question of whether six or seven thousand dollars of classifi-

cation was wrong is a small part of the inquiry here as compared with the charge of

bad faith and fraud on a part of one man or the commissionei*s. The total is not the

small sum named though but something we claim between two and four million

dollars.

Mr. Lennox.—Mr. Carvell has assumed that this is a mere matter of the position

that Major Hodgins occupied, and possibly a matter of the classification of six or

5—7^
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seven thousand dollars of material. It is nothing of the kind; it is a matter of im-

proper classification on the road generally.

Mr. Carvell.—With the knowledge and consent of the commissioners.

Mr. Lennox.—It is not a matter with or without the knowledge of the commis-

sioners. What is referred to us is to ascertain whether improper classification has

been adiopted on the Transcontinental Eailway. It is a matter of whether the com-

mission were guilty of improper conduct or not. The question, I repeat, is whether

there was improper classification, and the position of Major Hodgins is a matter of

indifference. The second question is whether the commissioners were aware or

responsible for it, and I propose to keep the inquiry as broad as that, whatever atti-

tude Mr. Hodgins may take.

The Chairman.—I think that the proposition I make to Mr. Hodgins is a fair

one, to come to an understanding with Mr. Murphy, the counsel on the opposite side

as to the papers to be produced. I know that generally between lawyers they cain

agree on these things pretty well. I think Mr. Murphy and Mr. Hodgins will agree

to that, and that perhaps there will be very few papers, probably none, that they will

refuse, and then we will be the judge as to ordering the production of papers if they

are refused. I am of opinion, Mr. Hodgins, that your witness should be immediately

put on the stand, and commence the investigation with any charge you like. We
must insist on commencing. We are all making speeches and I find myself making
one.

Mr. Hodgins.—I quite accept that. I want to allow the investigation to stand,

however, until I have had an opportunity of conferring with Mr. Murphy.
The Chairman.—I think you should put Major Hodgins on the stand and com-

mence the investigation.

Mr. Hodgins.—That is not my way of accepting the onus which is clearly put on
me, and I do ask you to allow me to commence in my own way. I want to see the

papers and when I come back I will be willing to accept your ruling as to whether

Major Hodgins should go on the stand.

The Chairman.—Then there is nothing you can commence and elicit now?
Mr. Hodgins.—^Nothing that I can commence and finish.

The Chairman.—I understand that your charges will be improper classification?

Mr. Macdonald.—^Do you say that he was wrongfully dismissed?

Mr. Hodgins.—I say that he was wrongfully dismissed but we are not going to

trouble the country with that even if it was unjustifiable, he is not looking for

recompense.

Mr. Macdonald.—What do you say, Mr. Murphy, about the proposition ?

Mr. Murphy.—It seems to me that my learned friend is endeavouring to get the

committee to take a lenient view of the conduct of his client. Undoubtedly when
Major Hodgins wrote that letter to the ' Colonist ' on the 16th of April last, either he

knew that the assertions and aspersions that he cast upon the Premier, upon the

chairman of the commission, and upon the other commissioners and upon certain

engineers were true or were not true. If they were true he should be in a position

to go ahead now without papers at all to prove those statements; if they were not

true he should withdraw them. In any event I submit there should be no adjourn-

ment until Major Hodgins has been placed upon oath and made to tell what facts

were in his knowledge or possession at the time he wrote that letter. He may have in

his possession a number of the papers relating to this matter and if so there may be

no necessity for the commission producing them. That can not be ascertained without

Major Hodgins in the box. But I submit that it is most unfair and unjust that these

adjournments take place day after day and that these statements, untrue statements

we allege and can prove, made with regard to gentlemen in public life, should be

allowed to go broadcast from day to day and no effort made to withdraw or prove

them. If he proposes to go tO' that extent I would not offer serious objection, but it is

quite evident from the position that he is taking now that this one small item which
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he alleges was over-classification and which we will prove is fair and just classification

is a very very insignificant part of the charges he makes.

Mr. HoDGiKS.—That is why we want the papers to prove the balance.

Mr. Murphy. Exactly. That is where they are at. They are in a position where

they want papers from the commission to try to prove charges which we contend have

no foundation.

Mr. Carvell.—Can you prove charges of personal misconduct on the part of Mr.

Young ?

Mr. Barker.—We are not raising that question.

Mr. Murphy.—It has been raised and spread from day to day. We are ready to

go on with the investigation at once.

Mr. Barker.—The commission have the papers and if they are all right why not

produce the papers?

Mr. Macdonald.—Mr. Murphy has said he is willing to produce the papers.

Mr. Carvell.—There is another point. Mr. Murphy says that he is willing to put

the papers at the disposal of Mr. Hodgins immediately and the question is whether

the committee will proceed to investigate the aspersions made on the commissioners

and other public men by Major Hodgins, or whether that must stand over until Mr.

Hodgins has seen the papers that Mr. Murphy is to give him, and whether in the

meantime we will go into the question of classification.

Mr. Hodgins.—I will go into the whole thing.

Mr. Macdonald.—As an honorable man I think Major Hodgins should be pre-

pared to make good his aspersions or withdiraw them. He must have had the material.

Mr. Carvell.—On page 2 there are such items as station 3571, 150 yards of

common excavation and 50 yards loose rock and so on over some six pages. Major
Hodgins must have some knowledge of the statements he makes in regard to these.

Mr. Barker.—That is all in the papers produced in the House.

Mr. Carvell.—Then why can't he go on?

Mr. Hodgins.—I want those estimates showing details of these things and exactly

what position on the line they are.

Mr. Carvell.—Well, I think that Mr. Hodgins, K.C., should be able to take up the

one hour and a quarter that we have left before this committee adjourns in an examina-

tion of Major Hodgins without the papers. Personal fraud almost is charged on the

part of the commission, and I do not think that he will attempt seriously to make
this committee understand that he cannot go on with something. Let us get away
from this six or seven thousand dollars of wrong classification.

Mr. Hodgins.—I do not claim six or seven thousand dollars, I claim it runs into

the millions.

Mr. Carvell.—Put your witness on the stand and prove it.

Mr. Hodgins.—I want the papers.

Mr. Murphy.—We have the papers with us now. In the meantime there should

be some foundation laid showing why they think they are entitled to them.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I submit that the chairman's suggestion should be

carried out,

Mr. Lennox.—If that is carried out by conference between the two counsel this

motion can stand as a notice of motion to come up later on.

Mr. Barker.—We have heard a great deal about procedure. The cominittoe, by its

majority, have decided that Major Hodgins must prove his case, and immediately the

committee undertake to dictate how he shall prove his case. I never heard in niy life

of a judicial body, as I hope we are, undertaking to put such an imposition on a

counsel, telling him that he must prove his case and that he must go on with certain

portions of it. If there was the bare fact that one million dollars or two million

dollars were being paid out now to contractors improperly that is more than they are

entitled to under the contract, or that the commissioners are guilty of mere negligence

or of a continuation of corruption—those are questions wo have got to deal with and
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settle hfie, but we should not dictate to Major Hodgins' counsel. We are not to tell

him that he must take up this or that before what is after all the most important

question for the people of Canada, namely whether millions are being spent contrary

to the contract.

Mr. Lennox.—Counsel must be allowed to take his own line.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—I do not think anybody is raising any question of that

kind. It will not do for the committee to keep out of sight the fact that this matter

arises out of certain charges by Major Hodgins in which he made reflections of the

most severe character upon prominent public men, and that part has been referred to

us. Now, his counsel will say whether he is going on to prove that or whether he is

not. I notice that Mr. Barker does not indicate whether he thinks he can prove it

or not.

Mr. Barker.—Do you know whether he can or not?

Mr. Carvell.—We know he cannot.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—All I say about that is that so far as I am concerned

I am prepared to hear the evidence, but I think in common, fairness, which should

actuate any private individual, in a case of this kind, and more especially as the

commission have asked to have that reflection removed—I think we would only be
exercising common fairness in asking Major Hodgins to either prove his charges or

remove them.

Mr. Lennox.—I do not know that there is any question of immediate proof. It

must be done as rapidly as circumstances will permit. But is always left to counsel

to decide what line of action he should take. There is one point I should like to make
iclear. In a court of law before you get to trial each party has to put in an affidavit

as to what documents relate to his case, and he must produce and deposit them in

court for examination by the other parties so that before the day for trial arrives each

party knows what the other side is relying on. Now, Major Hodgins, through his

counsel, asks to-day that as his evidence largely depends upon documents many of

which passed through his hands in the employment of the commission, he should have

the opportunity of examining these documents before' he is put on oath. I am very

anxious to get on with this case. I have called attention, to the necessity of having

those documents here iinmediately.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—^What about the other side? What about Mr. Murphy
seeing the documents Mr. Hodgins has?

Mr. Lennox.—I think that ought to be done. _
Mr. Hodgins, K.C.—I am quite agreeable.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—That ought to be done on oath.

Mr. Hodgins^ K.C.—And the commissioners on oath too.

Mr. Carvell.—Major Hodgins says in his statement that the commissioners

wanted him to change his ideas as to classification to the classification that is allowed

to the contractors in- Quebec. Now, that is just the whole thing. It is a direct charge

against the commissioners. And then he goes on through the next four or five pages

to give instances. Now, Mr. Hodgins does not require to have documents to prove

whether the commissioners asked him to make false classifications or not. That is

what Major Hodgins should tell us at once.

Mr. Lennox.—But he also tells us that he requires the estimates to show improper

classification.

The Chairman.—^I think we had better proceed. I am of opinion, if it is agree-

able to the committee, that Mr. Hodgins should put his witness on the stand so as to

commence. We want to get acquainted with him. We can ask him how old he is and
how long he was in the service of the commission.

Mr. Hodgins, K.C—I will do that.

Mr. Lennox.—^We can get on with the formal parts.

Mr. Hodgins, K.C.—^I have no objection to that. What I have said is wjtb regard
to having the right to conduct my own case.
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Major HoDGiNS, sworn.

Mr. HoDGiNS^ K.O.—I understand the committee has called him to begin the

investigation.

The Chairman.—We do not want to force you to go on with the charges until you

think you have the papers to prove them.

By Mr. Hodgins, K.O :

Q. Major Hodgins, you are the person who wrote the letter to the ^ Colonist ' on

April 16?—A. I am.

Q. You were in the employ of the Transcontinental Commission as district engi-

neer, I believe ?—A. Yes.

Q. For how long?—A. About three years.

Q. Was that all on District F?—A. Entirely.

Q. The chairman has expressed some desire to become acquainted with you
personally, and I should like,myself to ask you what experience you have had. Your
profession is that of civil engineeer, is it not?—^A. Yes.

Q. You have been engaged in railway construction most of your life?—A. Most
of my life.

Q. You began with what company ?—A. The Canadian Pacific Eailway.

Q. In what part of the country?—A. In Manitoba and British Columbia.

Q. Were you with them long on the prairie and mountain sections?—A. From
1882 until the road was finished. That would be about 1886, I think.

Q. You were engaged in construction work there ?—A. Entirely.

Q. You were supervising construction work there?—A. Yes.

Q. Subsequent to that, where were you employed?—A. At the city engineer's,

Toronto, for a short time. I again went away and worked on the short line through
Maine with the Canadian Pacific Eailway.

Q. For how long?—A. Three years.

Q. Were you engaged on construction work there ?—A. Altogether.

Q. You followed that, I understand, by moving to Windsor or near there?—A.

Yes, I was transferred to another branch of the Canadian Pacific Eailway, between
Toronto and Windsor.

Q. On construction still ?—^A. Yes.

Q. Had you the same chief engineer all along?—^A. No, various chief engineers.

Q. Who were the chief engineers ?—A. Mr. James Eoss was chief engineer on the

Canadian Pacific Eailway and afterwards Mr. Lumsden. Mr. W. T. Jennings was
chief engineer on the branch from Toronto to Windsor.

Q. And you completed your work with them, remaining until the work waal

finished ?—A. Practically.

Q. After that, you went to Mexico, I believe?—A. Yes.

Q. How long were you there?—A. About two years.

Q. Were you engaged on construction work there?—A. Yes.

Q. As engineer?—A. Yes.

Q. Then I think you remained at Nelson, in British Columbia, for some time
practising your profession. Wlien did you again take up railway work?—A. In South
Africa.

Q. What position did you hold in South Africa?—A. I was in charge of construc-

tion work principally.

Q. During the war?—A. During the war and afterwards.

Q. For how many roads?—A. All the new roads in the colony of the Transvaal
and also of the Orange Free State.

Q. All the new roads built during the war through the Transvaal and the Orange
Free State?—A. Yes.

Major Hodqins.
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Q. Was any one over you in that work, or were you in charge?—A. I was on Sir

Percy Girouard's staff. He was director of railways.

Q. After the war was over, what position did you occupy?—A. Superintending

engineer.

Q. Of what?—A. Of construction and survey in both those colonies.

Q. And you remained how long in that position?—A. About three years.

Q. Then you returned to Canada, and were appointed to District F ?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, would you consider, or do you say that the work which you have been
through gives you the necessary qualification to act as district engineer in District F ?

—A. I hope so. . .

Q. Do you think so?—A. I do.

Q. And were you qualified to deal with the classifications under the contract?

—

A. I think so.
'

Q. Now, I just want very shortly to get an idea of the extent of the work in this

district that you were on. What is the length of District F?—A. About 386 miles.

Q. And that extends from Winnipeg, does it?—A, From Winnipeg to a point

near Lake Nepigon.

Q. Through what sort of country?—A. A portion of the prairie and the balance

more or less heavy rock.

Q. How much prairie ?—A. Sixty or seventy miles and the balance chiefly rock.

Q. Is it a fact that on this division the bulk of the work is in rock?—A. Yes.

Q. When you were first employed you had the position of district engineer, had
you not?—A. Yes.

Q. You were employed on it some time before McArthur became contractor?

—

A. Yes.

Q. What work were you engaged on?—A. Surveys.

Q. How long did that take before McArthur's contract was let?—A. About a

year, I think.

Q. Had it been entirely finished when the McArthur contract was let and finally

revised?—A. Practically so. There was a small portion that had been rather hastily

done in order to get the surveys and estimates in by January 15. I had promised to

do so, and the commissioners were advertising for tendlers.

Q. Did you receive any correspondence about that?—A. About which?

Q. Dealing with the running of the balance of the survey too rapidly?—A. Yes.

Q. I would like a copy of that letter. Have you the letter?—A. I left it in my
desk at Kenora and the correspondence is there.

Q. It was official correspondence, was it ?—A. Yes.

My. Murphy.—What was the date ?—A. About December or January.

Q. What year?

By Mr. Hodgins, E.G.:

Q. You i-pow the date of the contract. That was about January, 1906, and the

letter was previous to that.—A. It would be about December, 1905, I think.

Q. After the contract was let and during construction was that small end of

which you have spoken completed so far as survey is concerned?—A. It was all com-

pleted. I put in a survey and estimate.

Q. Was it revised?—A. Yes after that.

Q. How long was that small section?—A. You are referring to revision. Revision

takes place in a great many places, wherever we see we can improve the line we run
new lines for the purpose of improving and reducing the cost.

Q. Did you succeed in so doing?—A. I did.

Q. To what extent?—A. I do not remember the exact figures, but it was, I think,

over a million dollars.

Q. Was that by change of location?—A. Change of location and change of grade

and improvements on the line generally.
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Q. How many lines did you run in. surveying ?—A. In surveying those changes

we would run various preliminary lines to see whether it was possible to make them
and finally boil it down to the final location.

Q. How often had the work to be gone over in order to arrive at the final location?

—A. You mean the whole thing?

Q. Yes?—A. We had the lines first explored. Then, the preliminary line is run.

Then the first location is made and then a revised survey and final location. That is

for the main lines. Of course, some of those improvements might not have had such

elaborate work and revision would be done quickly.

Q. After the McArthur contract was let, was any of that work necessarily dione

in your ofiice?—A. Yes, my work was principally in the office unless there was some-
thing going wrong on the line.

Q. In that case, what would you do?—A. I would go out and investigate.

Q. What was your original estimate upon which the commission asked tenders

for the cost of the line?—A. Thirteen million dollars.

Q. That was the value on which McArthur's contract was based, and that was
your estimate?—A. Yes.

Mr. Macdonald.—That is approximately, I suppose.

Mr. HoDGiNS, KG.—Oh, yes.

Q. To what extent was the cost reduced by those changes which you were able ta

make throughout ?—A. I am speaking entirely from memory. It was reduced, I think,

to $11,660,000 odd dollars, not including track material. Track material would bring

it up to $13,000,000 or $14,000,000.

Q. Would bring both up, would it not ?—A. Yes.

Mr. HoDGiNS, K.C.—Well, you had better include it in both cases.

Witness.—McArthur has nothing to do with the supplying of the materials, so

we get the two estimates separate.

By Mr. Carvell:

Q. Would that include the sleepers?—A. That would include sleepers.

By Mr. Hodgins, E.G.:

Q. Would both have included sleepers?—A. Yes. McArthur's. contract was, as

I say, estimated about eleven and three quarter millions, eleven millions six hundred
and sixty thousand odd. I am not certain of these figures, I am just speaking from
memory.

Q. That was the second estimate?—A. His thirteen million contract was reduced

by these changes made by the engineers to say twelve millions.

Q. Now you made an answer a moment ago that track material would bring it

up to a certain figure?—A. Yes, there would be the addition of the price of all the

rails and track material, &c., not included in McArthur's contract.

Q. You are speaking of the cost of the road. I was speaking of the cost so far as

McArthur is concerned?—A. Well, that would be thirteen millions reduced to say

twelve millions.

Q. Is it possible to go over this division? Are there roads convenient, or liow is

it possible to get over the division?—A. On foot principally. There may be soine

roads now.

Q. Were there any when you were on?—A. You could get to one or two places

on the road on the Canadian Pacific Railway.

Q. As district engineer, could you get over the road in any way except on foot?

—A. On foot and canoe.

Q. What was your staff on that road on those .')8C miles?—A. About 250 miles

were under construction, and I think there were throe location parties on the balance.

Q. Had you the supervision of these three location parties?—A. Yes. I had
the supervision of everything, supplies, transport and everytliing else.

Major Hodgins.
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Q. Then, so far as the construction work went on under McArthur's contract,

what was your staff?—A. I had a resident engineer about every ten miles.

Q. That would mean about twenty-five of them on the 250 miles?—A. Yes.

Q. Were they civil engineers?—A. Yes, they may not all have been members.

They were young civil engineers.

Q. At all events they were appointed by the commission to do that work?—A.

Yes. Of course, some of those resident engineers are very experienced men, but not

all of them, and] over them were division engineers.

Q. How many division engineers had you ?—A. About five.

Q. That would give them about fifty miles apiece ?—A. Forty or fifty miles.

Q. Then you, as district engineer, were over them?—A.. Yes.

Q. From whom did you get your general instructions as district engineer?—A.

From the chief engineer.

Q. That is Mr. Lumsden?—A. Yes.

Q. Who instructed the division and resident engineers?—A. I did, or my assist-

ants.

Q. You had an assistant district engineer ?—A. Yes, Mr. J. A. Heaman.
Q. Is he in the employ of the Transcontinental Railway Commission now?—A.

No.

Q. Is he a witness you desire to call in this investigation?—A. I do, very much.

Q. Where is he to be found?—A. At Kenora.

Q. Who were the division engineers, the five under you ?—A. Mr. Richaen, Mr,
Mcintosh, Mr. A. G. McFarlane, Mr. M. C. McFarlane and Mr. McTaggart.

Q. When did McArthur take the contract?—A. I forget the exact date on which
it was signed, but I think he began work in April. The first cutting he put in was
in April or May.

Q. Was that in 1906?—A. Yes, he got his first estimate in May, 1906.

Q. Well now, speaking generally, what did his contract cover, the making of

the right of way, the constructing of the right of way?—A. Well, it is a large con-

tract. It covers a good deal and includes practically all construction so far as I can
remember.

Q. I just want to get two or three headings?—A. It includes clearing, grading,

bridges, culverts, everything more or less connected with construction.

Q. Rock cutting?—A. Rock cutting, prairie work, everything.

Mr. Carvell.—Does that mean he furnished the whole work for bridges, or just

the masonry work?—A. The masonry work.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. What work did he undertake first?—A. Clearing first.

Q. When you left the work in September, 1907, was the clearing done on that

250 miles?—A. Almost done.

Q. Not completed?—A. Oh, no.

Q. What percentage left still undone?—A. I do hot remember the percentage,

but I think the estimates would show, If I had it here I could refer to it, but I will

make a guess. There was about 10 to 18 miles unfinished, certain portions untouched.

I know I had an assistant engineer and I know it was impossible for him to let out

his work because the clearing had not been done.

Q. Do you remember when going over or examining the contract whether he was
obliged to clear to a distance on each side of the right of way?—A. Yes, 100 feet.

Q. When you say almost finished, except 18 to 20 miles, do you mean to the

extent of 100 feet on the right of way?—A. Not altogether, there was a slash in some
places.

By Mr. Carvell:

Q. Do you mean 50 feet on each side of the centre of the line or 100 feet?- -A.

50 foot except at stations, where it was a little wider.
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By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. When you left was the construction work going on on the whole of the 250

miles?—A. Well, it was under way, but every cut was not opened up.

Q. Were there any miles or sections of any kind on which no work had been

done ?—A. Yes; some untouched.

Q. To what extent had the work been entirely untouchedi ?—A. That is rather a

hard question.

Q. E-oughly speaking?—A. I could not give you an estimate in miles from
memory. It is shown on the progress profiles.

Q. What do you mean by that?—^A. The monthly profiles show the amount of

work that had been excavated.

Q. Do you mind explaining what they are?—A. A section of the line, and each
month the amourit of work that has been completed is marked off in various coloured

paints so that you can see exactly how much is done and how much is untouched.

Q. To be done?—A. Yes, to be done.

Mr. Hodgins (to Mr. Murphy).—I should like to have these progress profiles for

June, 1907.

Q. (To Witness). Now, here is a list of men which I will put^n showing what
number of men McArthur had from the time until you left. Is this a correct state-

ment?—A. Yes, that was made up in one of my offices.

EXHIBIT No. 1.

FORCE. Men.

May, 1906 300

June 459

July . . . 545

August.. 969

September. 1,075

October 1,352

November. . . 1,416 -6

December 1,828

January, 1907 . 2^,057-4

February ' 2,761-1

March 3,044-3

April 3,382-9

May 3,709-4

June 3,837-4

July 4,319-3

August 4,210-6

September : . 3,869-4

October. . .

November
December

Q. I see they are reduced to decimals in some cases?—A. Yes. It is the average

men per month.

Q. For instance, in November 1,416 men. That is the average, I suppose?—A.

Yes, the largest number of men employed was in July, 1907, when it was 4.319 -3.

Q. What do you say as to the number of men that McArthur had on this work,

considering its extent? Were they sufficient at any time?—A. He never had ouoiigh

to finish on time.

Q. Would you just look over that list and tell mo if in all those months was the

number of men that ought to have been there to do the work within the time the con-

tract required ob the work?—A. No.

Majo"? HODGIXS.
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Q. Taking the largest number, 4,319 in July, 1907, was that a sufficient number
of men to do the work?—A. No, but it was a vast improvement on what he had hadl

there, and as far as I am able to judge was about all that McArthur could get.

Q. Yes, I understand that the prices of labour had gone up?—A. Yes, and men
at that stage were very hard to get.

Q. Yes, of course. But whatever the reason the fact remains that there was not
sufficient men ?—A. No, there was not.

Q. What effect would that have on the work?—A. It would delay the progress,,

and make it more costly in some cases.

Q. More costly to whom?—A. The contractor. He had camps and equipments
to supply more men, I imagine.

Q. He had camps and equipment but he did not have the men?—A. Yes, that

is it.

By Mr. Carvell:

Q. How is this list made up?—A. From much fuller reports to the engineers,

giving details of the cuttings; each engineer can tell at any time what a particular

piece of work costs. He has timekeepers all over the line whom the commissioners

pay for, and their duty is to keep time, to make reports and supply inform^ation,

which enables the finding out what such and such a piece of work is costing. That
list is just a boiling down of all those various timekeepers' reports.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. The timekeepers are stationed all along the line with the resident engineers?

—A. Yes.

Q. They count the men, horses and teams?—A. Yes, and so on. That is reported

to the divisional engineer and by him to the chief.

Q. They report to the divisional engineer and he to the chief?—A. They report

to the resident engineer, who sends it on. I am not quite certain of the course by(

which it reaches the chief engineer.

Q. So that the chief engineer has exactly the detail of men working?—A. Yes^

and every engineer on the work has also got a detail.

Q. What is the object of keeping that close tab on the number of men and horses ?

—A. To be able to say how the work is progressing, which is a very usieful thing to

know.

Q. Do you know whether any notice was given -to the contractor in June, 1907^,.

dealing with the number of men employed and the progress of the work?—A. I know
there was a notice given in December, at least I think it was December, he waa(

notified that if he did not put on more men and teams the chief engineer would.

By the Chairman:

Q. When did he say that?—A. I think it was December. He was also notified^

that if his estimate was not raised to half a million a month there would be trouble.

I reported that at the rate of progress certain cuttings would take years to complete.

I think it was December that there was a notice from the chief engineer.

Q. If you cannot speak of the date I will ask the commission to produce the

notice ?—A. I complained that he had not enough men on.

Mr. Carvell.—It is not fair to ask him for dates if he has not got them. The
papers perhaps will show.

Mr. Hodgins.—There were two notices. I would like to have them produced by

the commission. One I can give the date of, was June 27, 1907. It is specifically

mentioned in the charges.

Mr. Murphy.—By whom given?

Mr. Hodgins.—By Mr. Lumsden to the contractor.

The Witness.—I gave McArthur a notice that if he did not put on more men I

would take steps to put on more men and reported what I had done to the chief
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engineer, and I believe he was either written to or some one told him the force would

have to be increased. That was in the winter time.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Probably December, 1906?—A. Yes, I think so.

Mr. Hodgins.—Well, I will put in these copies of letters.

EXHIBIT No. 2.

June 27, 1907.

CIRCULAR TO DISTRICT ENGINEERS.

A. E. Hodgins, Esq.,

District Engineer,

Kenora, Ont.

Dear Sir,—I beg to advise you that Mr. Gordon Grant has been appointed inspec-

tion engineer on this railway. His duties will be exclusively in the fields, and he will

report directly to me. He will be subject to my orders and instructions, and when
called upon by him you will please furnish him with all the information he may
require, and facilitate him in getting over the work. He will confer with you i^

regard to any suggestions he may have to make in regard to the work, but will issue

no orders.

Yours truly,

HUGH D. LUMSDEX.

EXHIBIT Xo.2a.

June 27, 1907.

Gordon Grant, Esq.,

Inspecting Engineer.

Dear Sir,—Inclosed please find copy of a letter I have to-day sent to J. D.
McArthur, contractor, District ^ E.'

It is not to be expected that he can comply literally with this, but on going over

the work it would be well if you would, at these heaviest portions, look into the best

way of increasing the amount of work done, utilizing material where wanted without

wasting.

This contract was let more than a year ago and, no doubt, the contractor will now
be asking to waste from a number of cuttings which he should have had nearly com-
pleted by this time, but on which he has as yet done little, and where material for

filling in is as scarce as it is on this portion of the contract, this should not be allowed

at our expense.

Yours truly,

Enclos. (Signed) HUGH D. LUMSDEX.

EXHIBIT No. 2h.

June 27, 1907.

J. A. McArtiiur, Esq.,

Contractor, Winnipeg.

Dear Sir,—As the progress made by you on the work under your contract with

the commissioners is not satisfactory, and the numbers of men, horses and plant are

not sufficient for the completion of the work within a limited time, I beg to notify you
that if by July 15 next you do not increase your force of men. horses and plant on the

various cuttings mentioned hereafter, or take other means of increasing the work done
per month on each of the cuttings to the multiple of 1.000 c.y. per month, as shown,

Major Hodgins.
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in brackets at each point; (2) meaning increasing work to 2,000 c. y. per month;
(3) meaning increasing work to 3,000 c. y. per month, &c., &c., I shall be compelled to

take action under clause 22 of your contract. Should you neglect before the date
stated to increase your force and plant at the various points mentioned to insure the
approximate yardage per month being moved at each of these points, I shall proceed
to employ such additional men, horses and plant as I may think necessary.

The cuttings where the increases are required from the Winnipeg river westerly

are as follows:

—

Mileage 137 (3); UU (2); 142| (3) ; 144 (2); 144i (2); 145| (2); 146i (4);
147 (3) ; im (4) ; 148i (4) ; 148i (3) ; 149i' (2) ; 1494 (2) ; 1504 (3) ; 151| (2)

;

153^ (3) ; 1544 (2) ; 155 (4) ; 156 (3) ; 156| (3) ; 158^ (2) j .1594 (3) ; 1614 (3)

j

1624 (3); 163| (3); 165 (3); 166 (2); 166| (3) ; 168^ (3).

The cuttings where the increases are required from the G.T.P. junction Mile O "

westerly to the Winnipeg river are as follows:

—

Mileage 39 (4) ; 47 (2) ; 484 (4) ; 504 (2) ; 51i (2) ; 52 (4) ; 534 (2) ; 54^ (2) ;

55 (4) ; Ui (4) ; 79| (2) ; 79| (2) ; 8O4 (2) ; 824 (2) ; 83| (3) ; 834 (3) ; 864 (2)

;

87 (3) ; 874 (2) ; 88 (2) ; 90 (2) ; 93i (3) ; 99 (2) ; 994 (2) ; 99| (2) ; 102^ (3)

;

1034 (3) ; 105 (3) ; 1094 (4) ; 109| (2) ; II24 (4) ; 113 (2) ; 113| (2) ; 124^ (2)
•

1241 (3); 126i (2); 1284 (2); 1314 (3); 133i (4).

In many of these cases where the material from cuttings has to be hauled from
both ends the increased force is only required on the material to be hauled in one

direction.

Trusting this will have your immediate attention, I remain.

Yours truly,

HUGH D. LUMSDEN.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Now, I want you to look at that letter about the cuttings west from the

Winnipeg river and those from Grand Trunk Pacific to Mile O, and tell me if you

can say anything by simply looking at the numbers of miles or sa,y whether you would

want access to the profiles or estimates dealing with these miles, because I want to

get at some idea as to the seriousness of the complaints ?—A. This letter to the con-

tractor was based entirely on a report sent to Lumsden. I called his attention to this,

and went rather fully into it, telling him how many years it would take at the rate

the contractor was going. He wrote then on June 27r according to this other letter.

It must have been in May that I called attention to it, because I took it up with the

commission and Mr. Lumsden in Winnipeg, and I think it was in May.

Q. Can you throw any light without seeing your letter on the seriousness of the

want of men in this particular place with regard to the work?—A. I am relying

altogether on my memory. It is rather a severe test. I cannot trace anything from
that.

Q. I want to understand this expression, ' The contractor will now be asking to

waste fnom the number of cuttings which he should have nearly completed by thisi

time, but on which he has yet done little, and where material for filling in is as scarce

as it is on this portion of the contract, this should not be allowed at our expense ? —
A. I think I told Mr. Lumsden that the work had been delayed so long that the con-

tractors were talking of wasting the material coming out of the cuts. At the same
time allowing them to borrow more.

Q. What do you mean by wasting? Is that literally throwing on one side?—A.
Yes. Blasting out rock and borrowing to make up the embankment.

Q. Is that more expensive ?—A. Yes, you pay for two yards and only get one if a
cut is wasted in order to get it done quickly. You certainly pay them for it, and if

it is done deliberately against the engineer's orders they should not be paid for it, but
it has to be proved to be a deliberate waste.
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Q. Taking that letter of 27th of June as to not being satisfied with the work of

the contractor, had you in your office staS sufficient engineers' assistants?—A. Not
in the office.

Q. I see that an assistant was appointed or recommended in July?—A. I had
asked once 'or twice, I think, for a second assistant, another assistant district engineer,

because the work at the time was more than we could handle. We were doing so

much location and the change of location had all come at once. When we got the

location plans completed we would have been less busy.

Q. Were the duties that you had to perform in your office of importance to the

road?—:A. I think so, certainly.

Q. Could they have been performed out on the road if you had been walking up
and down the track daily—these duties that you were required to perform?—A. The
most important things were to get as cheap a line as possible and to have as good a

location as possible. More money is saved in that than walking up and down listen-

ing to the complaints of contractors that were without justification. Everything was
going all right until, I think, the month of July, 1907, then the Grand Trunk
inspector on the line began to object to the classification. I agreed with him.

Q. When the objection of the Grand Trunk Pacific engineer was made to what
estimates did it refer?—A. I think it was the June estimates.

Q. You think it was the June estimates ?—A. Perhaps it would be the July.

Q. We will come to that a little later on. I will file now this letter from 0. A.
Young, one of the commissioners.

EXHIBIT No. 3

COMMISSIONERS OF TRANSCONTINENTAL RAILWAY.

Ottawa^ Ont.^ June 4, 1907.

(Personal.)

A. E. HoDGiNS, Esq.,

District Engineer,

Kenora, Ont.

My Dear Major,—I am in receipt of yours of the 1st instant, and note fully the

bundle of reports that Mann has brought up concerning the appointment of an
inspector. The position of inspector was one that I had been working on for a long

time ; I realized that, both at the head office and the district offices, there was so much
office work to be done v/hen construction was going on that it made it impossible for

the engineering staff we had to devote the time that they should devote to going
over the work. Finally we decided to appoint a man whose duty it would be to remain
on the work constantly and not have any office work whatever. I may ^-^11 you
privately that in the selection of a man for this work, it was considered by some of

the board that we should have a high class and high priced man, and Mr. Barclay

(who no doubt you know) iwas offered the position, but he did not consider the

remuneration sufficient, and declined. It was never offered to any of our district

engineers, for the reason we did not wish to disturb them in their present positions;

and in looking around, Mr. Grant—who was represented as a very good) man—was
suggested; I think the suggestion came, in the first place, from Doucet, and Grant
was appointed.

The appointment of this man cannot possibly be considered a reflection on our
district engineers. The position was not offered to Doucet, lion re or any one else,

outside of Barclay. It is certainly promotion for Grant, and might have the appear-

ance of his being promoted over your liond. from a minor position, but, as stated, we
did not wish to disturb the district engineers in their positions, and we preferred

Major Hodgins.
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taking a man, if at all suitable, already in our employ rather than bring in an out-

sider. The question of his being a western or an eastern man, of course, cuts no

figure; as a matter of fact, Grant was brought from British Columbia to take the

position in Quebec in the first place.

As for any complaints regarding classification, we have not heard them, and do

not think there is anything in the report.

I expect to see you when I go west, and will discuss the matter more fully with

you. In the meantime, keep your shirt on. Would it not be well that both yourself

and inspector go over the work with Mann.
Yours sincerely,

C. A. YOUNG.

Q. What about that expression ' keep your shirt on ' ? Had there been any dis-

cussion which that points to?—A. Yes, I had objected to a junior engineer being

promoted over my own head, and the various other district engineers, and given the

position of inspecting engineer. I could not imagine what duties an inspecting engi-

neer would be required to perform.

Q. Why?—A. Inspecting the work of men senior to him. He could not advise

^s on anything of importance. We had inspecting engineers on the work appointed

by the Grand Trunk Pacific and they were instructed to act with us in the general

supervision of the work we had under our control. We were to discuss everything

with them and they were to have access to all plans and papers and in the event that

we had a disagreement it was to be reported to the chief engineer.

Q. You see what Mr. Young says in his letter as to the appointment of an inspect-

ing engineer so that he might be out on the work all the time. Were there any
engineers on the work all the time in the employ of the Transcontinental?—A. Yes,

every day, resident and divisional engineers, that is all that is required on every road.

Other roads did not, however, have also the inspecting engineer as the Grand Trunk
Pacific had.

Q. What was the necessity of appointing an inspecting engineer so far as you
know?—A. If you will allow me to use a western expression you can search me.

Q. That is you cannot give us any reason?—A. Unless he was to be a second or

assistant chief engineer. There is an assistant chief engineer and he came out to

the work once or twice. Still I believe he was told he was to stay in the ofiice.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. You do not know that ?—A. Yes, I know that.

By Mr. Eodgins:

Q. Mr. Young in that letter says he has heard no complaints as to classification.

He uses the words ' As for any complaints regarding classification, we have not heard
of them.' Did you interview any of the commissioners in Winnipeg in May ?—^A. Yes, about the end of May I think they were there.

Q. This interview in May, I mean May of 1907, would be previous to that letter ?

—A. Yes.

Q. Before I deal with that interview I want to ask whether you had gone over
the line, whether you knew it and knew the men under you on it?—A. I had, I had
gone to the principal portions of the line. There were portions on which there was
no work going on, and it was not necessary to go on, but I had been on the principal

portions of the line and my assistant had been.

Q. And did you confer with the district and divisional engineers with regard to

it?—A. Yes, certainly. Saw them once or twice a month.
Q. That would apply to May, 1907 ?—A. Yes. It was when I found what I con-

sidered excessive classification was creeping in that I realized I had neglected outside
work for office work. I admit that I would have liked to have spent more time out-
side.
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Q. Had there been any complaints up to June, 1907?—A. Complaints of what?

Q. With regard to disputes of classification, had any been officially reported?—A.

Yes, in the ordinary way. You generally hear complaints, but nothing serious that

I can recollect. There were lio complaints in writing. We (would discuss the affairs

of the whole district when I saw them.

Q. Did you have any complaints from McArthur 'previous to that?—A. I do not

think he put his complaints in writing. He complained various times and his engineer

Mr. Hazelwood. I asked them to specify whether the complaints they had referred

to classification or measurements, and to specify what particular places they disputed

my engineer's classification or measurements, and I found it difficult to get them to

come down to anything they would say that it was general all over the line. Mr.

McArthur once complained of our measurements of the whole line; he said the con-

tractors were not getting full measurements. Well, I considered that was absurd.

Of course I had confidence in my men on the work. I believe that no such a thing

should occur. One man or two might probably in a month underestimat-e, but as a

rule you could not condemn such a staff as I had. No one would believe they were
undJerestimating or undermeasuring. I could not get McArthur to get down to a

specified case until shortly before I left, and then he mentioned a certain contract,

Prefontaine's, I think, in which he said the engineer had not paid him enough
and I immediately said I would put in an engineer to remeasure it. He said that the

classification was too low generally. I asked him if he could state any particular point

and he said no. I asked him for another contractor who had complained and he
named a man named Welsh, I think, and I immediately sent out word to the divisional

engineer and I think I sent out the assistant engineer to adjust it.

Q. Are these the only two specific complaints from McArthur?—A. The only two
I can remember.

Q. You could not get him to specify instances ?-—A. No. I several times offered

to go over the contract with him and get him to specify any places where he was not

properly treated. I said I would put off everything else and go with him and he could

not name a day. I met him once on one trip on the Winnipeg river, that was about

the only time I had seen him on the work. I wanted him to go over the work and
over the plans and decide it on its merits. I considered that his complaints were
more or less trivial.

The committee adjourned.

Tuesday, May 19, 1908.

The committee met at 4 o'clock p.m.

Mr. Barker.—Before you declared the committee adjourned last Wednesday, Mr.
Chairman, there was an order given by you to the clerk to have another subpoena

issued.

Mr. Macdonald.—There was some discussion, but I do not think the motion was
carried.

Mr. Barker.—Some gentlemen went away before the chainnnn liavo tlio order to

the clerk, but that does not matter.

Mr. HoDGiNS, K.C.—I made the motion. I desired to call ]\^essr^^. Hcamnn and
Mann, and we asked that they be subpcrnaed along with ^fr. Armstrong, and I was
surprised to learn on coming here this afternoon that no subpa^na had been issued and
the witnesses had not been summoned.

Mr. Macdonald.—There was some discussion as to the advisability of subiwnaeing
a whole lot of witnesses.

Mr. Le;nox.—It might have been after you left. There was some confusion, and
6—8
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Mr. Hodgins made the motion. It was discussed with the chairman and agreed to.

Mr. Hodgins did say he required some witnesses to be subpoenaed then.

The Chairman.—I understand that Mr. Armstrong is here.

Mr. Hodgins^ K.C.—Yes, but I do not propose to call him before Heaman and

Mann. He belongs to District ' B,' and I want witnesses belonging to District * F '

first.

Mr. Macdonald.—We can order him to be subpcBnaed to-day.

The Chairman.—Is it the pleasure of the committee that a subpoena be ordered

for Messrs. Heaman and Mann?
Mr. Hodgins, K.C.—I also ask that Mr. Woods, chief engineer of the Grand Trunk

Pacific, be subpoenaed. He has official custody of the documents and may have to be

called first.

The Chairman.—What does the commit ("^e think about that?

Mr. Barker.—I move that these three witnesses be subpoenaed.

The Chairman.—^It is moved that Mr. Woods be added to the other two. What
date? '

Mr. Hodgins, K.C.—What time does the committee propose to sit? If they could

be here by Thursday I would be glad to call Messrs. Heaman and Mann.
^ Mr. Macdonald.—I thought you were going to call some of the regular engineers

of the commission.

Mr. Hodgins^ K.C.—When we discussed that it was stated that I could not get

any i\s the work would be entirely denuded. I therefore named Heaman and Mann as

my next witnesses.

Mr. Macdonald.—It is not a question of objecting, it is only a question of

arranging.

Mr. Hodgins, K.C.—The resident engineers I propose to call are men who know
what was said at various times; and who will after Heaman and Mann have been

called be able to give their evidence intelligently.

The Chairman.—Would you be ready to take Mr. Woods up before Mr. Heaman ?

Mr. Hodgins, K.C.—^Yes, but I would rather have Mr. Heaman. However, I can

go on with Mr. Woods.
Mr. Lennox.—The committee might say Friday.

Mr. Barker.—If we carry the resolution the details can be fixed as to the ordier

oi the day. It is just possible that Mr. Woods may be in Quebec.

Mr. Macdonald.—^What did you say, Mr. Murphys about the motion?

Mr. Murphy.—I propose to call Mr. Poulin and I move that he be added.

Mr. Macdonald.—I presume you do not intend to call him before Mr. Hodgins is

through.

Mr. Murphy.—No, not before Major Hodgins is through.

The Chairman.—The minutes are adopted then?

Mr. Macdonald.—Mr. Woods and Mr. Heaman will be subpoenaed for Thursday,

then?

Mr. Hodgins, K.C—Yes, or to-morrow if we get through. Now, let me call the

attention of the committee to the disregard of the order which was made for the

production of papers that I stated at the very inception were absolutely necessary

to my examination. The original estimates of section (F) and section (B) have never

yet been produced in this committee. I may say in passing that I attribute no neglect

at all to Mr. Murphy. I arranged with him before I left on Thursday that those papers

were to be here on Monday and that Major Hodgins would be here on Monday for the

purpose of going over with him those papers. He was here on Monday but there was
no production. This morning blue prints of copies instead of the originals were pro-

duced and although I protested I have not yet seen those originals, so that none of

those documents which we have been talking about since the beginning have been
produced. Then the correspondence relating to the estimates previous to July 1st,

1907, have not been produced and no reports as to the objections of the Grand Trunk
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Pacific engineers on district (F) have been produced until September, 1907, although
those reports I may say were referred to in the Board minutes as early as July 12.

Out of the list of papers which I named giving dates and parties there have only been
produced seven out of a total of fifteen or sixteen, I should think. Several of the other

papers have been produced and shown to me just a few minutes ago, so I ask the com-
mittee if the committee intends their orders to be carried out by the commission to

insist that some consideration be given to myself and Major Hodgins and that at all

events the documents which are necessary that I should have here should be produced

and which it was understood should be here before Major Hodgins' examination was
gone on with.

Mr. Macdonald.—Not before his examination was gone into. It was understood

that those papers should be produced but not before his examination.

Mr. Murphy.—There was no understanding of that kind. My learned friend has

correctly stated what his request was after the last meeting of the committee. That
request was communicated to the commission and we have produced some hundreds
of documents for which I hold receipts from the clerk of the commission.

Mr. Hodgins, K.O.—Dated when?
Mr. Murphy.—Dated to-day. Blue prints of the plans, estimates and profiles were

produced to my learned friend and he stated that Major Hodgins had looked at them
but that they would not be sufficient and that they wanted to see the originals. That
request was transmitted to the commission and I am informed that the originals are

documents of such great importance that cannot be brought up here and left out of

their custody. The suggestion has been made that the commission^would be very glad

to afford Major Hodgins and his counsel under the eye of somebody representing the

the commission and familiar with those profiles, an opportunity to inspect and go over

the originals if the copies which we have produced here are not sufficient for their

purpose. Those profiles and estimates are really the current history of the construction

of the road and they form among the most important documents in the custody of the

commission.

Mr. Carvell.—Does not that seem to be a fair offer?

Mr. Hodgins, K.C.—No; some of those originals contain alterations made by Major
Hodgins, and the blue prints, being only photographs, are without an indication that

he made that check. I stated at the very beginning that I wanted those documents,

and I have never been told that there is the slightest objection.

Mr. Carvell.—^You have been told that you can go over them at the office.

Mr. Hodgins, K.C.t—I have heard that for the first time to-day, Mr. Murphy
suggested before I left on Thursday that we should go over to the office of the coni^

mission. I told him that neither Major Hodgins nor I desired to visit the commis-

sion and that I wished the documents to be brought here to the clerk of the committee

pursuant to the order of the committee. Now, if it is the order of the committee that

they should be produced here, it is not reasonable that the commission should disregard

that, and say: I won't allow them unless you go to the office.

Mr. Carvell.—It seems to me a distinction without a difference.

Mr. Macdonald.—Allow me to make a suggestion as to the practice. It seems to

me that the commission should submit the documents to Major Hodgins and hia

counsel for inspection, and that some officer of the commission should attend here

with the documents in his custody and take them away.

Mr. Carvell.—Are there any marks on the originals that are not on the copies?

Mr. Murphy.—The copies are exact reproductions.

Mr. Barker.—Is no member of the committee entitled to look at tjiose documents?
I intend to look at them, and I do not know that I am bound to go to the office of the

commission.
^

Mr. Macdonald.—My suggestion would satisfy your curiosity.

Mr. Barker.—It is not curiosity. It is my duty to look at thoi^e paj>ers.

5—8i
Major Hodgins.
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Mr. Murphy.—The commission are quite prepared to do what Mr. Macdonald

suggests.

Mr. Lennox.—While the committee are in session any document considered by any

person, whether it is the original or not, to be necessary should be here. "What should

be done afterwards is a matter for further consideration, but undoubtedly the papers

should be before the committee when it is sitting. In many cases I presume it would

be found that copies of the documents would serve the purpose, but in some cases we
will have to have the originals. We want to accommodate ourselves as far as we can.

The Chairman.—Are the copies an exact reproduction of the originals?

Mr. Murphy;—They are.

The Chairman.—Then I don't see much difference.

Mr. Lennox.—That may be in most cases, but there are cases where the copies

might not show the different stages the work had gone through, such as Mr. Hodgins
says, where Major Hodgins made alterations.

Mr. Murphy.—These are shown on the copies.

Mr. Carvell.—^Major Hodgins has the advantage over everybody else, in that he

knows what documents he wants, and I am satisfied that the committee will be pre-

pared to order those documents to be brought here if they are considered necessary.

Of course, if he has too high a sense of dignity to go to the commission office

Mr. Barker*— do not think that is a proper thing to say. He has told us he only

heard of it to-day for the first time.

Mr. Murphy.—It was suggested last week.

Mr. Carvell.—I heard Mr. Hodgins say that neither he nor the Major would go

to the office. If papers are wanted they can be brought here and put on the table, but

they must be taken away again by the official in charge. I do not think they ought to

be left here. . I am only too willing that Mr. Hodgins should have every original docu-

ment on this table.

Mr. Barker.—I want it understood very cleaily that this committee is not con-

ifined to Major Hodgins or his charges. There is a far broader inquiry here than that.

Whether Major Hodgins wants to see them or not, if this committee orders the pro-

duction of the papers, the papers ought to be here.

Mr. Carvell.—There won't be any difficulty in getting a look at the papers.

Mr. Hodgins, K.C.—I would like to call attention to what I said when the matter

was up before (reads) :
' 1 contend that it is impossible for any resident engineer in

charge of 250 miles of road to repeat from memory the date as to classification objec-

tion, etc., and to suggest that I shall be asked, without having seen them until to-day,

to go on and examine the witness, is something the committee should not ask me to

do. I venture to say that no court in the land would say that if you cannot prove

charges out of your own mouth we will not allow you to produce the documents or

papers.
' Mr. Macdonald.—No one proposed that. We want to be fair.

' Mr. Hodgins, K.C.—We cannot proceed without those papers and without oppor-

tunity to read them, and point out whether they are erroneous in view of the evidence.

'Mr. Macdonald.—No one expects you to do that.'

Mr. Hodgins, K.C.—So I fully understood we would have those papers.

Mr. Carvell.—Can you point out any papers you have asked for and that have
been refused?

Mr. Hodgins^ K.C.—Yes, I can. I will tell you the name of one paper, namely,
item 3, page 11 of the charges. The August estimate, from which Major Hodgins
struck out over-classification.

Mr. Carvell.—Who did you ask?
^

Mr. Hodgins, K.C.—I asked this committee to direct the production of papers.

Mr. Carvell.—^You are not treating us fairly. Did you ask the commission ?

Mr. Hodgins, K.C.—I asked Mr. Murphy for the production of the papers.

Mr. Carvell.—Where was he?
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Mr. HoDGiNS, K.C.—In his office.

Mr. Carvell.—Did you suppose that he had them in his office?

Mr. HoDGiNS, K.C.

—

'No, he was to get them and have them here on Monday. The
papers are not here yet. I have not seen them.

The Chairman.—I think the committee wants to be reasonable. We do not want
trouble if we can help it. But we understand that the commission does not want to

bring all its papers, which are important documents, here if they can possibly do with-

out it. If the copies are exact copies of the originals with notes and everything why
should we not admit them?

Mr. Barker.—We want to see the originals.

The Chairman.—Let them go on. Why should we not admit them?

Mr. Barker.—Because I prefer to see the originals, and intend to. The commis-
sioners can send clerks here with the papers.

Mr. Macdonald.—Let us get back to the proposal. Let Mr. Murphy or the com-
missioners bring in charge of one of their officers the original documents that Mr.

Hodgins wants. Let them remain in the custody of the clerk. We, of course, as

well as Mr. Hodgins^ will have the privilege of examining them.

Mr. Lennox.—And in addition to that we will have to have also what is the

practice in other committees, where any member may see documents in the intervals

while such are under the custody of the clerk.

The Chairman.—Let it be understood that the documents which are not considered

sufficient as copies be named by Mr. Hodgins and be brought here in the charge of an
officer of the commission, left here with him during the meetings of the committee
and examined by Mr. Hodgins and members of the committee, and then taken back
to the commission.

Mr. Lennox.—We want also what we observe elsewhere that if members of the

committee desire during the recesses of the sittings, to look over the documents the

clerk will also be here for that.

Mr. Carvell.—I think the perusal of two or three documents will satisfy the

curiosity of our friends and that we ought to go on with the examination.

Mr. Barker.—We have been a week at this now and it seems to be impossible to

make people understand that we want to see the originals.

Mr. Carvell.—I think my honourable friend is looking for a grievance.

The Chairman.—Suppose that we bring the originals and compare them with the

copies and if they are found to be exactly similar to the originals let the commis-
sioners take back the originals. Is that fair enough ?

Mr. Barker.—It would be except that there might be cases where the witnesses
might want to see the original documents. Documents written by one man and sent

to another may have been marked or altered and we must have the documents here.

The copies will not show that.

Mr. Carvell.—So far as I am concerned there will not be any objection to bring-
ing any document and letting it be examined.

Mr. Hodgins, K.C.—Some documents have not been brought here.

Mr. Carvell.—You will not say that any documents have been refused ?

Mr. HoDGiN^, K.C.—I don't understand what you mean. I arranged with Mr.
Murphy that they would be brought here on Monday and that is not carried out.

Mr. Carvell.—You will have them.

Mr. Hodgins, K.C—I have a right to look for them to-day.

Mr. Carvell.—You have seen the copies and know what is in them. Will you say
that you are not in a position to examine without the original documents?

Mr. Hodgins, K.C—On that point I am not.

Mr. Carvell.—It looks to me that Mr. Hodgins is looking for a grievance. So
far as I am concerned I don't want to give them any, and I propose adjournment until
eight o'clock so that Mr. Hodgins can examine the documents. I do not want him to

Major Hodgins.
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have a grievance and I want to adjourn so that he can see them. We had better

adjourn and get him these documents.

Mr. Parent.—What is it that you want? We will produce it. We don't want
any more delay.

Mr. Murphy.—My suggestion is that a list of the documents be made in writing

and that we get them out.

Mr. Carvell.—To avoid misunderstanding name your documents. I want Mr.

Hodgins to say that he wants these documents or that he does not want them.

Mr. Hodgins, K.O.—I have said so.

Mr. Carvell.—What are they?

Mr. Hodgins, K.C.—Various progress estimates and profiles of district E and B.

Reports of division engineers to district engineer and by him to the chief engineer

from January, 1907, to the present time, also those relating to district B.

Mr. Carvell.^—Of those which do you require to begin this afternoon?

Mr. Hodgins, K.O.—I require the profiles and progress estimates December, 1906,

January, 1907, February, 1907, March, April, May and June. These are Mr. Mc-
intosh's division of district ' F ' and also the August estimates covering the same divi-

sion. Then for the examination of Major Hodgins on matters referred to in his

charges, I shall want the estimates from January, 1907, to September, 1907, covering
^ Mr. Bichan's division. The others that I have mentioned will be required for the

other witnesses.

Mr. Oarvell.—Then you cannot properly proceed with the examination of witness

this afternoon ? You cannot go on without those documents ?

Mr. Hodgins, K.O.—I say that I can proceed to a certain distance and then shall

have to stop, and I want to look at these documents before I can proceed again.

Mr. Oarvell.—If you say that you cannot go on I want to adjourn in order to

give you an opportunity to see those documents.

Mr. Hodgins, K.O.—I can go so far and when I get to that point I shall have to stop.

Mr. Maodonald.—I am sorry that I shall have to go to the House on business.

How would it be to give Mr. Murphy the list and he could give you the papers which
you call for. I am anxious to facilitate matters and the examination of Major Hodgins
can go on in my absence.

Mr. Hodgins handed to Mr. Murphy a written statement comprising the papers

already named in the foregoing which he required.

Mr. Murphy.—Does this comprise all that you^ant the originals of?

Mr. Hodgins, K.O.

—

'No, there will be more I expect, but that is all I want iot

Major Hodgins' examination so far as I know. I intend to proceed by asking as to

some papers mentioned previously. There is no objection to their production I suppose?

Mr. Oarvell.—There is no objection to any production.

Mr. Hodgins.—^I have explained that there is non-production.

Mr. Oarvell.—^I know that the commission is anxious to have everything here. I

am objecting to Mr. Hodgins or members of the committee trying to create the

impression of anybody keeping back documents. They are trying to create that

impression before the country.

Mr. Lennox.—We are not so much concerned about the country as about facts.

Mr. Oarvell.—^I am concerned a little. Sometimes there has been a concealed

attempt to raise the question that we are trying to keep back documents and I propose

to ask the committee again to adjourn for the time being so that Mr. Hodgins may
see the documents.

Mr. Maodonald.—I think we should go on with the examination of witness. I am
^oing out but it can go on providing that nothing controversial is raised during my
absence.
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Examination of Major Hodgins resumed.

By Mr. Hodgins, E.G.:

Q. Major Hodgins, I think on the last occasion we had got down pretty well to

an interview which took place with some members of the commission. A number of

them in Winnipeg some time either in May or June, 1907. Do< you remember
whether that was in May or June exactly?—A. Either the end of May or early in

June.

Mr. Hodgins (to Mr. Parent).—Can that date be stated so as to save trouble?

Mr. Parent.—About the 9th of June.

By Mr. Hodgins, E.G.:

Q. Then in Winnipeg you met the commission?—^A. Yes.

Q. Who were there?—A. I think they were all there.

Q. Was McArthur there?—A. He lives in Winnipeg, yes.

Q. Did you have any discussion with any members of the commission with regard
to the McArthur contract?—^A. Yes.

Q. Who did you speak to, who was the conversation with?—A. I am not certain

whether McArthur was there, but it was to all the others, I think.

Q. What was said to you by any commissioners dealing with the McArthur con-

tract?—A. We discussed the advisability of more men going on the work in conse-

quence of a statement I had put in showing the amount of time it would take to

finish up some heavy cuttings.

Q. I see from the minutes of the board a letter dated May 9, written at Ottawa,
and copies of that and the chief engineer's letter of 15th of May directed to be sent

to McArthur. Would that be in answer to the statement you refer to ?

—

A. Possibly.

Q. At all events you complained about something to the commissioners. How
did the discussion arise?—A. I do not know whether we discussed it generally. I

think they were there a couple of days.

Q. Now, what was said about the want of men?—A. Well^, I understood that the

chief engineer saw him or that he had written a letter.

Q. Did you talk to any individual member?—A. Yes, more or less.

Q. With Mr. Young?—A. Yes.

Q. What was that conversation?—A. Well, that was perhaps about the work and

the state it was in.

Q. Yes, what was the state at that time?—A. He spoke about the trouble he was
having about the McArthur contract.

Q. Trouble he had had or was having about the McArthur contract?—A. Yes,

and that something ought to be done. McArthur was complaining about not getting

enough measurement and not enough classification. I said that the engineers we had
were giving him correct measurements. They were all experienced men, and as far

as I knew classification was not a very serious matter so far as we had gone. I told

him how much mixed material excavation and loose rock had been returned up to that

date, and hie said that he did not understand it; something ought to be done. for

McArthur. I said I was doing all I could; we were estimating as high as we could,

so I understood from the engineers. Then he referred to Quebec. He said that in

Quebec he understood there was more classification to be done, but the prices were

lower there, and the contractors all seemed to be satisfied. There was a row on in

District ' F ' and no trouble in Quebec.

Q. Yes, and what further?—A. He said why I did not do as Doucet did.

Q. Yes?—A. I said I did not think there was any difference in what Doucet was

doing and what I was doing, li Doucet was put on my district he would do what I

was doing, and if I was on his I would do the same as he was doing. It was an

engineering thing, and I suggested that he had better leave the engineering question

alone, as he admitted that he did not understand classification.

Major Hodgins.
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Q. You advised him to let the question alone, as he did not understand classifica-

tion? He admitted that?—A. Yes; but he said that I had better go to Quebec and

see.

Q. Yes; see what?'—A. See the work done there; get an object lesson.

Q. What was your reply?—A. I said I did not require an object lesson; I had
enough experience to know what to do in my own district, and had not time to go to

Quebec. I wanted to go out on the work as soon as the snow was off; it was about

going off then.

Q. You wanted to go out on the work when the snow went off?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you have any talk with Mr. Keid?—A. I expect so.

Q. Do you remember any?—A. Yes, we were there all together in the hotel, and
we all talked together about conditions.

Q. Wlio do you mean by all?—A. I talked to them all.

Q. Mr. Eeid, Mr. Young, Mr. Parent ?—A. Yes.

Q. Well, what was the talk with Reid in Winnipeg?—A. I think I suggested to

Mr. Reid that it would be better if Young left the engineering part of the w^rk alone

;

that he was a good-natured man, and liked to help everybody, but did not understand

much about it.

Q, What did Mr. Reid say?^—A. He agreed. He said: Yes, that the commis-

sioners had their work to do, and they did not know anything about various engineer-

ing questions.

Q. Was anything said between you. Young and Reid and Lumsden, that you recall

in Winnipeg in the discussion as to the chief engineer, for instance?—A. Yes, there

was something. I think I told Mr. Reid and Young and Lumsden that one of the

contractors' engineers wished that Mr. Young was chief instead of Lumsden, or some-

thing of that k^ind.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Who said that ?—A. One of the contractors' engineers.

Q. What did he say?—A. That he wished Young was chief engineer instead of

Mr. Lumsden.

By Mr. Carvell:

Q. You told this to the three of them?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Hodgins, E.G.:
^

Q. Was there anything said about the chief engineer when Mr. Lumsden was not
there, between you, Reid and Young?—A. I do not remember whether there was on
that occasion or not when we discussed Mr. Lumsden.

Q. On any occasion in Winnipeg ?^—A. I think in discussing the question with
Young and in reference to the Quebec work, he said that I referred too much to Mr.
Lumsden, and I said that Mr. Lumsden required me to refer to him; that I had to

do what Mr. Lumsden wished.

Q. Well, he said?—A. Well, he said that Doucet did not refer very much to

Lumsden.
Q. Yes?—A. He advised me to do the same thing; he said I oughH: to be experi-

enced enough to know what to do myself.

Q. Yes?—A. I said that so long as I was subordinate to the chief engineer I
considered it my duty to refer everything I considered necessary.

Q. Yes. Did he say anything then; what was his answer?—A. Nothing on that

occasion.

Q. Did he say anything on any other occasion?—A. Very much the same sort of

discussion took place in Ottawa.

Q. Yes, when?—A. I think it was the time I went down to appear before the
board after Mr. Grant put in his charges against the engineers on the district. I had
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to wait two or three days before the board met. I saw Mr. Keid. I told him that

when I came down the way things were going I had got disgusted and thought of

resigning, but when I had read Grant's report I intended to fight it out, not so much
that I cared personally, but for the statements he had made against the engineers in

the district, whom I considered superior men to Grant.

Q. Well was anything said about the chief engineer at that time?—A. Yes, I

said I had just been in to see the chief engineer about getting permission to do some

things on the line and he still adhered to his original decision that these must be

referred to him, I must get permission from him. I said ' It won't make very much
difference.' It was on the question of borrowing rock—the contractors wanted to

borrow rock—and borrowing rock would eventually have been necessary in building

roads. I mentioned one or two instances like that. He said ' well you ought to act

on your own responsibility. You know what to do, we have got confidence in you.'

And I said, 'well, I cannot.' He said, 'You ought to ignore the chief engineer.'

Q. He said what ?—A, ' Why don't you ignore the chief engineer ' ?

Q. Yes?—A. He spoke about him being old fashioned, of course, and rather

difficult

—

Q. Yes, and rather what ?—A. And taking some time to give a decision.

Q. Yes ?—A. And said his time was taken up with the office and he had quite

enough to do, I had better act upon my own responsibility, and that the chief engineer

liked to be ignored. I said ' That is rather a strong way of putting it but as long as

the chief engineer is there I have got to report to him.'

Q. Yes ?—A. He said ' The trouble with you is that you are too much of a military

man, you are too loyal to your chief.'

Q. Now what was that conversation in reference to?—A. That began with refer-

ence to Mr. Grant's report.

Q. xSut when he spoke of ignoring the chief engineer and acting on your own
responsibility that was as to what ?—A. He said this way :

' We want the work done,

we want the work carried on, we don't want any kicking because a great many com-
plaints are made.' I said ' These complaints should be made to the chief engineer,

through the district engineer, and not direct to the commissioners.' I said, ' We
know how to deal with them.'

Q. Well now was anything said at that time about stripping?—A. Yes. They
mentioned talking about being more generous in a general way.

Q. More what ?—A. More generous in a general way. He said ' 1 hear some of

your engineers measure the stripping.'

Q. Measure the stripping ?—A. Measure the stripping of a rock cut. I said * Yes,

ic is customary to do that.' He said 'No, it is trifling, it should not be taken into

consideration.' I said, ' When it is trifling it certainly is not measured. If a man
has got to go around with a dust pan and a broom to scrape it up we are not going

to measure it or take it oft" the contractor, hut if it amounts to anything that can be

measured in any appreciable quantity then it has got to be measured and classified

according to the classification it happens to be.'

Q. What did he say to that?—A. He did not say very much. That is about all

I think.

Q. What do you mean—just explain because I do not quite understand—what
was the question there about the measurement or classification of strippings?—A.

What question?

Q. You said that the engineers measured the strippings, measured them as what ?

—A. The stripping is the mixed material that overlies rock, and if that lies over the

rock in such quantity that it can be measured

Q. Yes?—A. Say a couple of foet deep or more than that, or even loss in some
cases, that is measured and classified according to the material it happens to be. If

Major Hodgins.
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it is earth it is put in as common excavation. If it is a mixture of loose rock it is put

in as loose rock.

Q. Then what was said when you were discussing about how it should be

measured?—A. What was said? In what way?

Mr. Murphy.—I object, Mr. Chairman to any leading questions. I have already

allowed a couple of such questions to go;

The Witness.—The question of strippings came up with reference to the question

say of liberality by the engineers.

By Mr. Hodgins^ K.O.:

Q. Yes. Liberality in what direction, that is what I want to know?—A. He
gave it as a sort of instance. He said ' I don't know anything about engineering/

Q. What I want you to make clear is what his idea was that he was conveying to

you about the measurement of strippings ?

Mr. Murphy.—What did he say, not what his idea was?

Q. As conveyed to you?—A. I don't know what his idea was but I said to him,
' You have evidently been listening to Grant, you have not been listening to Mr.
OLumsden.'

Q. Was this Mr. Keid or Mr. Young ?—A. Mr. Keid.

Q. What was said about it?—A. That was all.

Q. What was said by him about his measuring ?—A. He gave it as an instance,

He said, ' I understand some of your engineers measure the stripping of a rock cut.'

Well I don't think that he knew what he was talking about. He had heard probably

that it was considered improper to measure, or unreasonable for engineers to measure
stripping.

Q. That is what I want you to explain ?—^A. And I explained to him there were
different kinds of stripping, there was stripping that could be measured and had to

be measured, no one could get away from it. The stripping that he probably referred

to was immaterial, as I illustrated to yoU—the stripping you would have to scrape

up with a broom and dustpan.

Q. Was all this talk of stripping with Mr. Keid?—A. It was in Mr. Eeid's office.

We discussed things generally.

Q. Was Mr. Reid alone or were any of the other Commissioners there?—A. He
was there alone.

Q. This was in Ottawa?—A. Ottawa, yes.

Q. Did you have any other conversation, either in Winnipeg or Ottawa, with any
Commissioners with regard to the classification of material in your district?—xi.

Well, as I said, I had a conversation wiin Mr. Young about classification in Winnipeg.

Q. In Winnipeg. Is that what you detailed to us?—A. Yes.

Q. Or had you other conversations ?—A. I had spoken to him several times about

it.

Q. What did he say to you?—A. I sai^ it did not amount to very much at the

time.

Q. What did not amount to very much?—A. The classification in the district up
to date, up to say July or June.

Q. In what way did it not amount to very much?—A. We had not encountered

very much in comparison with the amount of rock, or say the proportion of loose

rock and common excavation returned to date wa? much less than liie proportion of

solid rock.

Q. What started this conversation?—A. In Winnipeg?
Q. Yes?—A. The condition of the contract.

^. In what respect?—A. Lack of men.

Q. Yes ?—A. And the report I had put in.



MINUTE8 OF EVIDENCE 123

APPENDIX No. 5

By the Chairman:

Q. Is that not the same interview that you mentioned a few minutes ago ?—A.

Yes.

Q. That is the same one that you had in Winnipeg? That is what you related

before?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Well here is your letter of 9th May to Mr. Lumsden (reads) :

EXHIBIT No. 4.

Hugh D. Lumsden^ Esq., Kenora, May 9, 1907.

Chief Engineer,

Ottawa.

Dear Sir^—Based on the April rate of progress grading on the following divisions

should .be completed as follows :

—

Division 5 M 0 to 47—on 3 years Si months.

6 M 47 to 90—on 5 years 5-^ months.

7 M 90 to 131—on 2 years i month.
8 M 131 to 181.6—on 2 years Ij months.

9 M 181.6 to St. B. should have track laid by end of this year. There
are very few men on at present owing to frost.

The above estimate is based on total yardage, not on certain large cuttings that

can only advance at a certain rate per month.

Division 5 and 6 should advance more rapidly during the summer months, and
there is no reason why the greater portion of division 5 should not be completed in a

year if sufficient men are put on. The progress profile shows little work opened up,

but I have been assured by Mr. Webster that sufficient plant is now on this division

on Philipp's contract to proceed rapidly, and that several cuttings have been opened
since the April estimate was taken.

In order to compare McArthur's rate of progress with that of the branch line,

would it be possible to get the total yardage of rock and eartn on the branch or the

total estimated cost, and work out a comparison with Mr. McArthur's rate of progress,

taking into consideration the Foley Bros, started the branch in Sept., '05 and
McArthur in May or June, 06 ?

Taking the branch at 200 miles, and the main line, McArthur's contract at 250
miles, McArthur has 5 miles to build for every four on the branch.

Yours truly,

A. E. HODGINS,
District Engineer, ' F!

Q. Was the letter I have just read put in as Exhibit 4 the one which created the

discussion?—A. In Winnipeg?

Q. Yes?—A. There was another statement I put in. It was a detailed statement

of all the cuts that hadjiot been opened up, a long list and it gave the amount of

time, the number of months that had been spent on them, and how long at the ?nme
rate of progress it would take to finish them.

Q. I would like to have that report?—A. I think it was on that Lumsden
based his letter. I gave him that in Winnipeg.

Q. On that date?—A. Wlien we were up there.

Q. Or earlier?—A. No, that was when we came up there, that is on the 9th of

June. Possibly this had something to do with it, but the detailed list I gave him
would be

Major Hodgins.
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Q. Well, they have that detailed list here, I think. You wrote that letter on the

9th of May, didn't you ?—A. Yes. (reads) :
' List of heavy cuttings, showing approxi-

mate time of completion.'

Q. What is the date of that letter ?—A. June 6.

234 EXHIBIT No. 5.

H. D. LuMSDEN, Esq., Kenora^ June 6, 1907.

Chief Engineer,

Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—I am' sending you a list of cuttings, showing the amount of cubic
yards excavated, and still to be excavated, and reckoning that these cuttings can
be worked at the rate of 1,000 cubic yards per month, the last column shows the num-
ber of months required to finish from June 1st. I have sent Mr. McArthur a copy.

Some of the cuttings are not advancing at the rate of 1,000 cubic yards per month,
but in order to fix a uniform rate for comparison, we consider 1,000 cubic yards per
month not too much to expect.

Yours truly,

^ ;
A. E. HODGINS,

District Engineer.

Lit of Heavy Cuttings, showing Approximate Time of Completion.

Cubic yards in cut.

38,300
32,200

/ 4,000 earth

\ 41,609 rock
16,130
24,550

/ 36,110

\ 20,300
18,295
47,600
47,500

r 13,800 West
1 14,000 East
14,735
16,700
20,230
25,600
17,830

/ 525 tunnel 10,300 West
t 6,700 East
25,000
18,200 West

425 ft. tunnel. . .

425 ft. tunnel / 12,600 West.
\ 9,500 East.

11,930 West
22,950 East
13,590
14,830
11,310
17,550 West ^.

23,450 West
17,650
37,510 East
15,900 East
37,510 West
17,550
15,450

Cubic yards
„xcavated.

Nil.

2,400
Nil.

Nil.

Nil.

Nil.

1,500
Nil.

Nil.

Nil.

2,150
1,800 West
1,550 East

Nil.

900
3,950

Nil.

Nil.

1,560
Nil.

900
970

100
Nil.

1,550
880
Nil.

Nil.

1,170
1,750
1,100
1,030
310

1,400
Nil.

Nil.

Cubic yards
still to

excavate.

38,300
30,806
4,000 earth

41,600 rock
16,130
24,550
34,610
20,300
18,295
47,600
45,350
12,000
12,450
14,735
15,800
16,280
25,600
17,830
9,080
6,360

24,100
17,230

12,500 West
9,500 East
11-930
21,400
12,710
14,830
11,310
16,380
21,700
16,550
36,480
15,590
36 110
17,550
15,450

Time to finish,

reckoning 1,000
cubic yards per

month from 1st
June, 1907.

38 East.
15 each way.
32 East.
10 West.
16
8 East. 16 West.
32 West.
12 East. 8 West.
15 West. 3 East.
36 East.lliWest.
38 West. lOEast.
12 West.
12^ East.
15
16
16
25
18

6
24
17

West.
East.

12^ West.
9^ East.
12

2H
lOi West.
15
11
16
22
16^
36^
15^
36
17*
15*
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List of Heavy Cuttings, showing Approximate Time of Completion

—

Continued.

Cubic yards in cut.
Cubic yards
excavated.

Cubic yards
still to

excavate.

Time to finish
reckoning 1,000
cubic 3'ards per

month from 1st
June, 1907.

11,600
23,990 West
13,600 East
Tunnel 500-25, 330 West 35

.

18,230 East
16,350 East
16,350 Easte
26,680 Waste
24,130 West
600 ft. tunnel

29,950
1,075 East

22,170 East
r 12,252 East. 618 waste
i 17,578 West
32,667 West

r 20,931 East
\ 5,342 West
/ 17,560 East

9,030 West
3,550 East

12,130 West
/ 9,275 East
\ 10,170 West
/ 32,929 East
\ 3,762 East ,

-! 19,621 West
[ 3,700 Waste

3,316 East
27,790 West
18,751 East
2,882 West

13,333 East
4,100 West
13,700
3,837 East
14,222 West
10,420 East
3,620 West

,

417 East
23,990 West
7,670 East

15,020 West
12,200 East
24,360 West
18,420
20,790 East
2,074 West
3,280 West
9,860 West
3,670 East
19,550 West
12,980 •.

.

/ 11,683 East
\ 490 West
/ 15,490 East
\ 4,040 West
f 15,810 rOast

\ 6,270 West
r 8,907 West
\ 10,0S3 lOast (possible waste).
f 12,1.35 l<]ast

\ «,9fi0 West
r 3,030 Kast
17,648 West

11,600
1,200
2,100
4,500
4,300

Nil.

1,300
Nil.

4,000

11,600
22,790
11,500
16,030
13,930
15,050
15,050
26,680
20,130

IH
22|
IH
16
14

15
15
26i
20

9,100
Nil.

6,469 East
4,936 East
5,140 West
2,126 East
8,311 West

Nil.

6,750 East
2,780 East
5,226 West

Nil.

3,324 West
4,169 East

70 West
3,997 East

839 East
56 West

1,406 East
609 West

1,930 East
2,946 West
2,450 East

West
3,790 West
2,915 East

Nil.

Nil.

Nil.

75 East
5,470 West
3,580 East
6,320 West
5,710 East
6,360 West
3,560 East
4,910 East

Nil.

1,000 East
320 West

4,220 East
6,700 West
170
250 East
Nil.

3,450 East
4,340 West
3,420 East
1,400 West
3,685 West
1,145 East
1 .605 East
5.700 West
3.000 East
7.030

20,850
1,075 West

15,698 East.
7,316 East
12,438 West
22,830 West

14,180
5,342

10,600
3,800
3,550
8,810
5,100

10,100
28,930
2,923

19,565

East
West
East
Wst
East
West
East
West
East
East
West

1,910 East
27,180 West
16,820 East

10,880 East
4,100 West
9,910 West
920 East

10,420 East
3,620 West

340 East
18,520 West
4,090 East
8,700
6,490 East

18,000 West
14,860
15,880 East
2,074 West
2,280 East
9,540 West

Nil.

12,850 West
12,810 West
11,433 East

490 West
12,040

Nil.

12 390 East
4,870 West
5.222 West
8,938 East
10,530
1,260

Nil.

10,610

21
. 1 West.
151 East.
7^ East.
12i West.
221 West.

141 East.
51 West.

101 East.
4 West.
3^ East.
9 West.
5 East.

10 West.
29 East.
3 East.

19t West.

2 East.
27 West.
17 East.

11
4
10
1

15

East.
West.
West.
East.
West.

lOi East.
31 West.

18* West.
4 East.
9 West.
6* East.

IS' West.
15 East.
16 East.
2 West.
2* East.

9i West.

13 West.
13 West.
lU Eivst.

12 East

12^ East
5 West
5i West
9 East
10^ Ea<t

H West

10^ West

Winnipeg River crossing mile 135,

And then if gives tlie material and the cuttings.

M.\.JOR HODCINS.
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Q. Was that given to Mr. Lumsden in Winnipeg?—A. I think I brought a copy-

up; he either had his copy or I had my copy with me.

Q. Was any reference made to that letter in the conversation with Mr. Young
and Mr. Reid?—A. Yes—well, not with Mr. Eeid, I do not think; they were all

there then; I have no doubt they all knew about it, that Mr. Lumsden discussed th^

question with them.

Q. Was any reference made to it in the discussion in Winnipeg ?—A. Yes.

Q. What was the reference made to it? What was said about it by them?—^A. In
conversation with Mr. Young he said :

' Mr. McArthur claims that he is not getting

enough classification, and short measurement by some of the engineers.'

Q. Yes?—A. I told him I did not think that was the case; that if he was losing,

money it was his own fault.

Q. That, then, followed the conversation that you detailed to us that took place

in Winnipeg with Mr. Young?—A. Yes.

Q. Very well. Did you leave Winnipeg with the commissioners?—A. Yes, we
went down in 'their car.

Q. Was there any further discussion in the car on the way down?—A. It was
decided that I should go to Quebec.

Q. I just want to know how it was decided—what was said?—A. Mr. Young, I

think, said he had been speaking to me about going to Quebec, and he asked the chief

engineer if he did not think I ought to go, or would he give me permission to go,

something like that, and the chief engineer consented.

Q. He con-sented. 'That was on the way down from Winnipeg to Kenora?—A.

On the way down, before I got off.

Q. Then, was there anything more said about it than you have told us?—A. Not
on the car ; I do not think so.

Q. Not on the car. Was there anything said about holidays?—A. I said I hadn't

very much time, and I did not particularly want to go down to Quebec to see any-

thing ; if I was going to have a holiday, I would sooner spend it some place where
there wasn't any railway. I hadn't had a holiday for three years.

'Q. How was the date for the Quebec trip fixed ?^—A. They told me to meet the

commissioners in Montreal, I think it was, on a certain date; I think I afterwards

telegraphed them to find out, and I went down to Quebec on that date, about the 17th.

Q. How did you ascertain the date you were to meet them in Quebec?—A. They
told me what time they proposed to leave Ottawa and~i would meet them in Montreal.

Q. In Montreal?—A. In Montreal.

Q. What date did you meet them in Montreal?—A. I forget what date I left. I

think it was between the 15th and the 17th of the month, and I went straight down to

Montreal.

Q. Well, then, the trip to Quebec took from the l7th, did it, until the 25th?—A.

About that time.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Was this in June?—A. In June.

By Mr. Flodgins:

Q. I am putting in this letter of June 6 (Exhibit 5). Now, where did you meet
the commissioners, Montreal?—A. I think I went up to Ottawa, and then they lefl;

the same day, and we went down to Montreal.

Q. Yes, where did you go from Montreal?—A, We took the boat to Quebec and
stopped in Quebec that night.

Q. Who were with you on the trip? Who did you find formed the party?—A. All

the commissioners, the chief engineer and the other district engineers.

Q. What other district engineers ?—A. I think they were all there with the ex-

ception of Mr. T. S. Armstrong.
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Q. Can you give me the names of tiie other district engineers?—A. Mr. Poulin

from North Bay, Mr. Molesworth from Ottawa, Mr. Dunn from New Brunswick.

Q. And yourself ?—A. And myself.

Q. Mr. Doucet was not there, was he ?—A. We met him in Quebec.

Q. Now, you went down, as you say, you went down by boat from Quebec?

—

A. Yes.

Q. Had you any conversation with the commissioners on the way down?—A. Yes.

Q. Or with any of them?—A. Yes.

Q. What was the conversation about ?—^A. I had a conversation about the appoint-

ment of the inspecting engineer.

Q. Who was present when this conversation took place?—A. I had several conver-

sations about it.

Q. Who did you have the conversations with?—A. I think with two or three of

the commissioners, Mr. Young, Mr. Reid, Mr. Mclsaac, and then I had a conversation

with Mr. Young, I think it was.

Q. When?—A. When we were on the boat.

Q. On the boat going down; now what was said? You said you had a talk about

that appointment^, what was said in connection with it?

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. Were these separate conversations, Mr. Hodgins?—A. Well, we discussed

the appointment, I was doing considerable kicking about it.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. You?—A. And Mr. Reid said that the appointment was made and it would
have to go, that it was their intention, it was no slight on the district engineers, the

appointing of a junior man above them, that it was the intention of the commissioners

to have a uniform classification all over the line and that Mr. Grant had been selected.

By Mr. Murphy E.G.:

Q. Who said that ?—A. I think it was Mr. Reid.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. To have a uniform classification all over the line?—^A. All over the line, yes.

Q. Yes?—A. And Mr. Grant had been selected. He had been recommended to

them and that was the end of it. That was the substance, I think, of the conversation.

Q. Recommended by whom?—A. Recommended by Mr; Doucet as the best man
he had.

Q. What was said about his qualifications?—A. Well, he had been assistant dis-

trict engineer in Quebec and as such had had charge of classification there.

Q. Had charge of classification in Quebec?—A. And it was a difficult section ta

classify.

Q. Yes?—A. Therefore, they presumed he had had more experience in classifica-

tion than others.

Q. They wanted a uniform classification?—A. They wanted a uniform classifica-

tion.

Q. Did they say what the uniform classification, what the standard was ?—A. No.
They told me afterwards that the Quebec classification was to be taken as the standard.

Q. Was to be taken as the standard. Who said that?—A. Mr. Young, I think.

Q. Was anyone present besides Mr. Young when that statement was made?—A.
I don't remember. There were a lot of us together. We were on the boat. We were
sitting at the stern of the boat—Mr. Reid, Mr. Young and Mr. ir(Jlsaac, and I think
Mr. Dunn was there. Mr. Poulin, I think, was there for a short time. I cannot
remember all who were' there.

Q. Well then you got to Quebec and did Mr. Doucet join you?—A. We went ta
Mr. Doucet's office and then we drove over some of the work.

Major Hodgixs. •
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Q. I mean when you got to the city of Quebec where did you go to^ Is Mr.

Doucet's office in the city of Quebec?—A. Yes.

Q. You went over what work with him and the others?—A. We drove over some
of the work near Quebec.

Q. Near Quebec?—A. Drove down and saw the viaduct.

Q. The what?—A. There is a viaduct there.

Q. Not this Quebec bridge?—A. We passed the Quebec bridge.

' Q. Standing then, I suppose? From there where did you go?—A. The next

morning we went to Three Rivers, I think it was.

Q. Just follow on to where you went?—A. And then took the train up to some
station, and then took the boat. We went down the river.

Q. What river was it?—A. The St. Maurice.

Q. And you went to where?—A. To La Tuque, a town called La Tuque, or the

landing opposite La Tuque.

Q. Then you disembarked, I suppose?—A. We got off there, yes; and we drove

over the work'—a portion of the work.

Q. Drove over the work in cabs?—A. No, in wagons, in carriages.

Q. All drove over it ?—A. I think so, yes.

Q. Did you all remain in the carriages, or did any of you get out?—A. First of

all, we drove towards the St. Maurice river, I think it was—some river—and saw
where some of the bank had been blasted out. Then we came back and drove over the

line, and then we got to this large tunnel cut.

Q. The large tunnel cut?—A. What I call a tunnel cut. I don't know the mile

or the station.

Q. But you know the cut, I suppose?—A. Yes. Then I got out.

Q. Well, now, did any one else meet you down there or in Quebec; did any one

else join your party?—A. I believe the contractors came up.

Q. The contractors came? What contractors?—A. The contractors on the work.

Q. What are their names?—A. There were several of them. I don't know; I

don't remember their names now.

Q. Did any other engineers join you down there?—A. Well, Mr. Woods came and
Mr. Armstrong.

Q. Mr. Woods is assistant chief engineer?—A. Assistant chief engineer for the

Grand Trunk Pacific.

Q. And Mr. Armstrong is what?—A. Inspecting engineer for the Grand Trunk
Pacific at Quebec, and there were several of Mr. Doucet's engineers.

Q. Was his assistant district engineer there?—A. Yes, Mr. Huestis.

Q. And Mr. Hervey?'—A. Mr. Hervey was there, and Mr. Davis from Quebec.

Mr. O'Brien, I think, was there.

Q. He is a contractor, is he not, or engineer?—A. A contractor. Either Mr. Mac-
donald or Mr. O'Brien.

Q. Yes. Was Mr. Davis there, do you know?—A. Mr. Davis was there.

Q. Then, there were the commission, yourself and the other district engineers?

—A. The district engineers and some of the contractors.

Q. The district engineer was there and some of his assistants?—A. Yes, there

was a large party.

Q. Did you get out and go and make an examination of any of the work?—A. I

examined this large cutting.

Q. Did you go right through it?—A. It was not through. I went into one end of

it, and then I walked over the upper portion of it and down to the other side.

Q. Now, just describe the cutting?—A. The western end, I think it was, we first

came to was a mass of loose rock, boulders—I did not see any very large ones, a very
nasty looking cutting—and on the upper portion of it there was some sand, wet sand,

and loose rock. That was being wasted in carts or scrapers—carts, I think—and the

other end of it was loose rock. I did not see any solid rock in place.
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Q. You saw no solid rock in place ?—A. I asked the engineers how they classified it.

Q. What engineers?—A. Mr. Doucet, and he said '85 or 86 per cent.

Q. He said 85 or 86 per cent?—A. I thought he meant loose rock.

Q'. You thought what?—A. I thought he meant loose rock,

Q. Yes. Erom what you saw how would you have classified it?—A. Well, I did

not examine it enough to give an opinion on that.

Q. From what you saw what would be a fair and proper classification?—A. Well,

I spoke afterwards to Mr. Armstrong about it.

Q. Yes?—A. And I asked him if it was—there some remark one of the contrac-

tors made which made me ask Mr. Armstrong if it- was 86 per cent solid rock or 86

per cent loose rock, and he said 86 per cent solid rock.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. Who said that ?—A. Mr. Armstrong.

By Mr. Flodgins:

iQ. Yes?—A. Then I asked him what his company were going to do about it.

He said he did not know. I said :
' It is a pretty heavy percentage,' and he said

:

* Yes.'

Q. Then, what further? Was that before or after you got through the whole
cutting ?—A. We had walked through the cutting.

Q. Yes?—A. And I made some remark about the chance or the possibility, of

getting a line around it, and avoiding such a heavy cut. It had really been laid out

as a tunnel, but when they found there was no solid rock in place they abandoned the

tunnel idea and took it as an open cut.

Q. As an open cut?—A. And classified it as 86 per cent of solid rock, so I was
told.

Q. I ask you again what was a fair classification?—A. I asked Mr. Armstrong,

we looked at it, it would take a lot of estimating and measuring, and he said, forty

per cent would be about a pretty liberal measurement. I could not really give an
estimate of it because I do not know how much boulders were in it, there was very

little work on it, and we were not there more than 10 or 15 minutes.

Q. Can you say whether 86 per cent was a fair or unfair classification?

Mr, Murphy.—You are leading the witnesses ; he said two or three times he
could not give the classification.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—That is his estimate of classification—I am now dealing with a

totally different thing. I am asking him whether 86 per cent is a fair or unfair

classification, that is of solid rock.

A. 86 per cent seemed to m.e a very extravagant classification.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. That is your opinion on a 10 or 15 minutes inspection?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Just describe what the cutting was so far as you saw it; it was open and con-

sisted of?—A. Loose rock, cemented material, sand, wet sand, and boulders; I was
told the largest boulders they had come across so far was a boulder of about 200 yards
in size, one of the engineers told me that.

Q. That is 200 cubic yards ?—A. 200 cubic yards.

Q. You were in there, from where it was open to the other end?—A. Yes, we
walked all through it.

Q. Was there any (Hffercnce in formation, so far as you could see, at the other

end, from what you saw nt the open end?—A. It was evidently a slide come do^vii

from the side of the hill, of course I do not know whother thoy hnd any solid rock in

it or not.

^r.V.IOrv IIODGINS.
6—9
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Q. JSFot where it wasn't opened up, of course. Then did you continue your

examination further?—A. No, we walked on towards one of the contractors' houses.

Q. Yes ?—A. And met the rest of the party.

Q. Did you have any conversation then with them, or with any of the party, with

the commissioners, with regard to the classification? Or with anyone else?—A. When
we were going away I went to Mr. Lumsden—the train had stopped, and we went oS
to some little fishing hut which was near there, waiting, and I wanted to hear what he

had to say. I asked him if a certain piece of work I had seen there was to be taken

as standard. I referred to a large house that Mr. Armstrong told me was being built

for the division engineer, and I said to Mr. Lumsden, ' I saw a house down on the

line, is that house to be taken as standard ' ? He turned- away and said, ' I don't

know anything about it.'

Q. Did you say anything to him about this La Tuque cutting?—A. No, he gave

me to understand, by his way, that he did not v/ant to discuss anything and I went off-

Q. So you went off. Then you came back to Quebec, I suppose, with the party;

or did you come?—A. 'No, I stayed down there over the Sunday.

Q. You stayed down there over the Sunday?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you meet any of the party in Quebec?—A. The party went off, they all

went av/ay except the Quebec men.

Q. Did you have any talk with any of them?—A. Yes, I saw Mr. Armstrong.

Q. Is that the Grand Trunk Pacific engineer?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you have any conversation with him?—A. We had a long talk about the

work generally.

Q. Did you discuss with him the La Tuque cutting?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you discuss the classification upon that division, district B?—A. Yes,

we had a long discussion about various things.

Q. What was said?—A. You had better get Mr. Armstrong to tell you.

Q. You give us your version of it ?—^^A. He said the classification was very high,

and I said, ' What are you doing about it ' ? He said, ' I am reporting it to my people.'

1 said, ' What are they doing ' ? and he replied that he did not know, that they hadn't

done anything just yet. I said, 'Is there very much more classification of that kind ?

'

And he said, ' It is pretty general all over the district.' I said, ' Are you going to

dispute it ?
' and he said he presumed they would. I asked him what it was going to

amount to in Quebec and he said he hadn't made a very close estimate of it, but he

was pretty certain that it would amount to nearly two million dollars, that his com-
pany would object to.

Q. To nearly two million dollars. What did he say would amount to two million

dollars ?—A. The difference in what we called ' over-classification ' then.

By the Chairman:

Q. In one district?—A. In the Quebec district.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. In District B. Erom what you saw in Quebec, in that district, were you pre-

pared to adopt that standard of classification as applying to your district?—A. No

—

what I saw and heard.

Q. What you saw and heard. Did you have any ^conversation after your return

with any of the commissioners on the subject?—A. Not on that trip. I went up and
went back to iwork.

Q. You went back to your own work?—A. Yes, to Kenora. I did not see them
again—oh, yes, I went to Ottawa and I saw Mr. Lumsden, I think, I do not know
whether I saw any of the commissioners. He asked me or told me to go back 'and go
over the work with Mr. Grant, and I refused point blank to go over the work with Mr.
Grant.

Q. Mr. Grant had not then gone out?—A. He was going.

Q. Did you discuss the Quebec classification with him?—A. No.
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Q. Did you have any talk with any of the commissioners about the Quebec

classification after you returned home?—A. I do not think so, in Ottawa.

Q. You. did not think so, in Ottawa?—A. No, I had none.

Q. Did you afterwards, after Mr. Grant had been all over your district?—A. I do

not know whether I discussed Quebec classification, I discussed what classification I

would not allow on my work.

Q. With whom did you discuss that?—A. I think with the board.

Q. With the board?—A.' I am not certain. The minutes of the meeting—every-

thing that was said at the time was taken down in shorthand, but I have never seen

the report.

Q. What was the date of that meeting ?—A. It was the time I went down to answer

^bout Mr. Grant's charges.

Q. About Mr. Grant's charges, that was the day you were present before the

board?—A. Yes.

Q. According to the records, as far as I can see, that was on the first of August,,

because I see on the 31st of July you and Mr. Grant were notified of the meeting, to

appear before the board on the first of August?—A. Yes.

Q. Then you and Grant were before the board on that day and you say that

everything was taken down in shorthand and you have not seen it since?—A. No, with

reference to that question about discussing classification I told several of them after-

wards— •

Mr. Carvell.—Now Mr. Hodgins
The Witness.—I think it is immaterial.

Mr. Carvell.—Just confine your evidence, please, to what took place between the

commissioners and the engineers.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Speaking of that interview on the first of August when you were before the

board was the>question of classification that you were to adopt discussed?—A. I cannot

say from memory. I have never seen the notes. A great many questions were discussed

then.

Q. Then we will get back to your interview with Mr. Lumsden when he requested

you to go out with Mr. Grant and you refused?—^A. Yes.

Q. That would, be towards the end of June would it?—A. Just after the trip

from
Q. Just after the trip?—A. From Quebec. I think I came up from Quebec on a

Monday to Ottawa and left

Q. Did Mr. Lumsden tell you what instructions he had given to Mr. Grant?—A.
I asked him whether we were to take instructions from Mr. Grant and he said no.

Mr. Grant had been appointed against his wish and he would see that he did not give

any instructions to the engineers.

Q. He would see that he would give ho instructions to the engineers. That is to

any of the engineers that were on the line?—A. Yes, and I believe he sent a letter

out to that effect.

Q. But did he tell you what his instructions to Grant were, what Grant was to do?
—A. Yes, he said that Grant was to go over the line and report to him.

Q. And report to him. Then you went from there back to Kenora, I suppose?

—

A. Kenora.

Q. To your office?—A. Yes.

Q. And what were you doing between that time and the time that Grant's report

was sent to you, or rather I will put it down to the time the July estimates reached
you at the end of July? Were you in Kenora or down in Ottawa, or where were you?
—A. What date was that?

Q. After you got back in June and went up at the end of that month to Kenora.
You were back again in Ottawa. You were in Ottawa on the 31st July, because your

5—9^ Major Hodgins.
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reply to Grant was dated at Ottawa on that date?—A. Do you mean after I saw Mr.

Lumsden in Ottawa and went back to Kenora?

Q. Yes ?—A. I went out on the line. I think I met Mj^. Grant in my office.

Q. Did he finish his inspection then?—A. I don't remember.

Q. You don't remember?—A. And I went down to Ottawa after that.

Q. You went down to Ottawa after that? Now, what took place between you and

Mr. Grant in your office at Kenora ?—A. We discussed the question of classification.

Q. Yes, and what was said about it?—A. He said that the Commissioners wanted

the contractors to make money.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. What was that?—A. The commissioners wanted the contractors to make
money and not have any disputes up there. I said :

' That is very pleasant. How do

they propose to do it ?
' He said :

' The only way to do it is to classify them out of

the hole.'

By Mr. Ilodgins:

Q. The only way to do it was to classify them out of the hole. Yes ?—A. I said

:

' There is very little to classify on this district.'

Q. Yes?—A. 'It is nearly all solid rock. You cannot classify that any higher';

and I showed him that if I turned all the common excavation that had been returned

•on the division, outside the prairie, into loose rock, it would not am^ount to more than

.$400 a mile. So the classification of my district was at that time a very small amount.

Q. That is the classification outside of solid rock?—A. Yes.

Q. Well, then, what further took place?—A. He said he knew that, but in Que-

hec it was different, there was more material to classify in Quebec.

Q. Yes, well ?—A. I said :
' .From what I have seen there ' and heard, there will

surely be a scandal over the Quebec classification.' He said :
' No, there won't. There

never will be any inquiry into it.'

Q. Yes?—A. I thought he was talking pretty wild.

Mr. Murphy.—We cannot hear the witness.

The Witness.—I thought he was talking pretty wild. He left the office about that

time, and I walked with him as far as the corner. Then I turned down to my house

and he went on to the hotel.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Now, was there anything said about La Tuque?—A. Yes.

Q. What was said ?—A. I asked him about the classification there, and he said it

was 86 per cent. Originally he said the engineers put it at about 30.

Q. About 30? What engineers did he refer to?—A. The engineers on the work,

and he had been sent over the line to re-classify the whole district.

Q. Yes ?—A. He had raised it to 80.

Q. He had raised it to 80? Well?—A. And that the Grand Trunk Pacific engi-

neers kicked, and it was raised to 86.

Q. When they kicked it was raised to 86 ?—A. Yes. I said :
' That is a pretty

expensive kick.'

Q. Did he give any explanation as to why it was raised to 86?—A. I did not ask

him very much more.

Q. Now, that was some tim.e in July?—A. He had either finished his inspection

of the district or was going over another portion of it.

Q. Did he discuss with you the matters which appeared in his report subsequently?

—A. Oh, no.

Q. Did he ask for any explanations from you?—A. He said something about a

drain or a ditch that had not been paid to a certain sub-contractor named Guy Camp-
bell, I think, and I said that I had seen about that.

Q. You had seen about that?—A. Yes; McArthur said there was only the amount
of about $3,000.



MINUTE8 OF EVIDENCE 133

APPENDIX No. 5

Q. Yes?—A. And I had given instructions to have the engineers

Q. You had what?—A. I had given instructions to the engineers on the work

—

on this contractor's piece of work—to measure up what the abandoned work was, ancB

some houses, and it was adjusted next month.

Q. It was adjusted next month? Outside of this, did he discuss at all with you

the matters which appeared in his report subsequently that month?—A. No.

Q. You did not?—A. He said something about Mr. Mcintosh being a good man
to classify.

Q. He said something about what?—A. About Mr. Mcintosh. I had recommended

that Mr. Mcintosh be appointed assistant district engineer and he said he was going

to recommend him when he got down to Ottawa.

Q. Yes, what did he say about his capacity, or his qualification?—A. He said

that he apparently seemed alive to the affairs of his division, that he was very pleased

with him; he said he was a very good man and praised him up, and I told him I

thought he was.

Q. Did he say anything about the other engineers on your division ?—-A. No.

Q. He said nothing about them?—A. Not that I remember.

Q. You have gone over his report carefully?—A. Yes.

Q. Have you given us now all that took place in that interview with him regard-

ing any matters which afterwards appeared in the report?—A. As far as I can

remember, yes.

Q. Then he made his report, when did you first see it?—A. After I came to

Ottawa.

Q. How did you come to go to Ottawa ?—A. Mr. Lumsden wired me to come down.

Q. Do you remember the day you got there?—A. No.

Q. How soon before the 31st of July, when you put in your answer?—A. I had
just arrived, probably the day before.

Q. Had you your record with you?—A. Nothing.

Q. You had nothing with you, and your answer was put in then, under these

circumstances ?—A. Yes.

Q. The 31st of July is the date of the letter, you were here the day before, and
you were asked to appear before the board on the following day?—A. Yes.

Q. And you did so ?—A. I did.

Tuesday, May 19, 8.30 p.m.

The examination of Major Hodgins resumed.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. I want to question you about an interview with Mr. Mcintosh after Mr. Grant
was in your office in Kenora. Who did you see after he went away on the following

day?—A. After Mr. Grant's interview?

Q. Yes?—A. Mr. Mcintosh.

Q. And what took place between you?—A. He said to me 'You have always been

a good friend to me and I want to give you a piece of advice. I advise you to fall in

line with what the commissioners want. It is no use bucking up against them about
classification.'

Mr. Carvell.—I do not want to raise objections but I do not think we are here

for the purpose of taking evidence about what some man may have said to Mr.
Hodgins unless you connect it with the commissioners. Therefore, I am going to

object.

Mr, TTonoTNS.—It is a matter of inference, I suppose.

Mr. Barkkr.—It cannot affect the Commissioners unless '^[Y. Hodgins goes further.

Mr. Carvell.—I am going to object to Ihis kind of ovideneo being given at all.

Major Hodgins.
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Mr. Barker.—Supposing Mr. Hodgins were going on to connect the matter with

anybody, the chief engineer or anybody else, he must prove this first. It is not bring-

ing any charge against the commisisoners.

Mr. Carvell.—As you very well know, in an ordinary case a judge would say,

^ Gentlemen of the jury I rule this out entirely.' But this thing goes to the country

and Major Hodgins a fortnight from now will say ' I thought I could connect the

commissioners but I failed.' The damage will then have been done. Mr. Hodgin^

knowb this is not the proper way to carry on an investigation.

Mr. Barker.—I certainly do not know it.

Mr. Carvell.—I know it and I am surprised that you do not. I would not want
to make a confession like that if I were you.

The Chairman.—Certainly I think it is not quite regular to have the witness

saying what this person or that person may have told him. There may be no end to it.

Mr. Carvell.—Certainly not.

The Chairman.—He may want to tell what fifty or a hundred persons may have

told him.

Mr. Carvell.—Supposing this man goes and tells Mr. Hodgins something which

the commissioners may not have told him. You are putting that forward as evidence

against the commissioners. All I can say is that I protest against this kind of

^ evidence being given.

Mr. Barker.—All right make your protest. If the Chairman chooses to rule it

out it won't be given.

The Chairman.—I will let Mr. Hodgins proceed for a while longer but I am
afraid I will have to rule the evidence out if he goes too far.

The Witness.—I won't say anything more, sir.

The Chairman.—We cannot have these insinuations as to what this person or

that person may have told some other person who told him about it.

Mr. Hodgins.—I may just as well state, there is no secret about it, the circum-

stances and the reason why I wanted to ask the question. I have shown the discus-

sion with regard to the appointment of Grant, why he was appointed, that he went
over the work, that he came in and discussed the question of classification and recom-

mended Mcintosh. I propose to ask what information was conveyed to Major Hodgins
by Mcintosh immediately after Grant had left.

Mr. Carvell.—Well, I certainly object to it.

Mr. Murphy.—The major has told us that he had previously recommended Mcin-
tosh! himself.

Mr. Barker.—Certainly.

Mr. Carvell.—We cannot have what Mcintosh may have told Hodgins, or any
chit chat of men on the work unless the commissioners , are connected with it.

Mr. Hodgins.—I certainly thought that evidence was to be given relative to what
was said.

The Chairman.—I think you will have to connect the commissioners directly with
any conversation which may have been had with Major Hodgins or ^anybody else.

Mr. Carvell.—Evidence of this kind is secondary evidence and not proper evi-

dence.

Mr. Hodgins.—^Do I understand the ruling of the committee to be that this is

merely an investigation to ascertain how far the commissioners may be affected and
not an enquiry in the public interest into what took place in connection with District

F and the classification thereon?

The Chairman.—In a court of justice the judge would not entertain testimony

showing that a certain person, or a witness, had a certain conversation, without

connecting that with one of the principals. I don't think any court of justice would
do it.

Mr. Hodgins.—What I am disputing is that there are any principals in this mat-
ter. I think I have a right to go into the suggestions of the parties for the purpose
of showing from whom they emanated.
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The Chairman.—I do >not want to rule you out of order just now. Later on if

it goes too far I will have to stop you.

Mr. Parent.—Mr. Chairman, we would like you to give these gentlemen all the

chance possible to prove their case. We are here and as far as we are concerned

we wish to let Major Hodgins say what he pleases.

Mr. Carvell.—Even with that I want to see this investigation held down some-

where to proper limits or else we shall get into trouble by departing from the proper

rules of evidence.

Mr. Barker.—Some members seem to be treating this case as a court martial

against Major Hodgins. I have said over and over again that if Major Hodgins
retired from the case and refused to go on with it we would ourselves continue the

investigation and probe it to the bottom.

The Chairman.—We must have some rules of evidence.

Mr. Barker.—This is no trial of anybody. It is in the public interest.

Mr. Carvell.—It is going to be very close to a trial of the commissioners.

Mr. Barker.—You are making it that.

Mr. Hodgins.—What rules of court are to govern ?

The Chairman.—The ordinary rules of court.

Mr. Hodgins.—I was given the Nova Scotia and New Brunswick rules of court

as the practice for not getting the papers I asked for.

The Witness.—I would rather not repeat the conversation.

Mr. Barker.—It is not^a question for the witness, he has got to answer the ques-

tions put to him.

Mr. Carvell.—We will see. Go on with your questions.

The Witness.—I won't say anything more, gentlemen.

Mr. Barker.—If Mr. Hodgins does not choose to answer I will put the question

and have it answered. We are not going to have any witness come here and say

that he won't answer.

Mr. Hodgins.—I don't think Major Hodgins takes that position at all.

The Witness.—I would rather not answer.

Mr. Hodgins.—If Major Hodgins says he would rather not answer, I, as his coun-

sel, feel, under those circumstances, I would rather not ask him to do so.

Mr. Barker.—I will put the question if you will not.

Mr. Carvell.—The question has been answered.

Mr. Barker.—If it has been answered that is enough. I would like to have the

last question put to Major Hodgins and his answer to it read by the stenographer.

Question and answer read by the stenographer.

By Mr. BarJcer:

Q. Is that all you have to say upon that point ?—A. That is all I have to say.

Mr. Carvell.—You could not have been listening, evidently.

Mr. Barker.—I thought there was something more, that Major Hodgins had not
finished his answer, and I wanted to get the whole story.

The Witness.—That is all I have got to say.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Will you look at the progress estimates for July, 1907. Those are signed by
whom?—A. Mr. Mcintosh, division engineer, and Mr. Miller, resident engineer.

Q. You find attached to that a typewritten page as a supplement to form -i?—A.
Yes.

Q. Kesidency 25, division 6, showing the amount of material previously returned
as common excavation and loose rock now transferred to solid rock?—A. Yes.

Q. Did that accompany the original progress estimate?—A. That accompanied
that estimate.

Q. I do not see that that is signed, that copy?—A. Yes, there has Ix^en a signed
copy sent down.

^Iajou Hodgins.
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Q. There was a signed copy sent down?—A. Pour or five copies signed and sent

in. Pour, I think.

Q. Then you sent these down with a letter to Mr. Lumsden, chief engineer?—A.
Yes.

Q. Before I pass from this supplement to form 4, that contains, as I read it—you

will tell me whether I am right—the items of yardage taken from comimon excavation

and from loose rock and transferred to and added to the solid rock?-—A. Yes.

Q. Now, how many yards of common excavation are transferred to solid rock by
that?—A. 875. . /

Q. And how many of loose rock?—A. 4,980.

Q. Making a total of 5,855 yards? That would make on that estimate alone a

difference of how much, roughly speaking?—A. Of $6,000 or $7,000.

Q. It is estimated here at $6,703. Do you know whether that is correct or not?

—

A. No.
Q. Now, looking at the progress estimate itself. Take Anderson and Johnson.

What are these, stations or miles?—A. Stations.

Q. Station 3,517 to 18, what do you find there for solid rock?—A. 1,100 yards.

Q. What do you find for loose rock and common excavation?—^A. Nothing.

Q. Nothing? Is there any evidence of an alteration there?—A. Yes.

Q. Can you tell, from looking at it, what it was?—A. No.

Q. You cannot tell?—A. No.

Q. Then take 3,523 to 3,520, what do you find for solid rock?—A. 4,220.

Q. Anything for conunon excavation and loose rock ?—A. No.

Q. Any evidence of alteration?—A. An alteration in common excavation.

Q. I want you to take those items and see what the previous progress estimate

was. Trace those items back, please. I want to see how early those have been made,
the common excavation and loose rock, before the transfer took place?—A. What is

the station?

Q. Take 3,517 for June. ITow does it appear in the June estimate?—A. 900 yards

of solid rock, 60 yards of loose rock, 150 yards of common excavation.

Q. Now, go back and see how far back that extends, that same classification. Just

look in May and in April?—A. May, 750 3'ards solid rockp 50 yards loose rock, 1.50

yards common excavation.

Q. ITow many yards of solid rock?—A. 750.

Q. I see it appears as 900 in June. Then take April for that same station, 3,517

to 18?—A. 250 yards solid rock, 50 yards loose rock, 150 yards common excavation.

Q. Then, that loose rock and common excavation is the same back to April?—A.

Yes.

Q. And March, how do you find that?—A. 250 yards solid rock, 50 javds loose

rock, 150 yards common excavation.

Mr. Murphy.—^Is that the same ?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Much the same.

The Witness.—Excepting the solid rock. In the solid rock there is a decrease.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. The solid decreases as you go back, I suppose?—A. The solid decreases, yes.

Q. Then take February, how do you fijid it?—A. 150 yards solid rock, 50 yards

loose rock, 150 yards common excavation.

Q. Then take January, how do you find it there?—A. No solid rock, 50 yards
loose rock, 150 yards common excavation.

Q. Then December, 1906, what do you find there?—A. No solid rock, 50 yards
loose rock, 150 yards common excavation.

Q. Then, am I right in saying that that appears from December right on to be
the same for loose rock and common excavation?—A. Yes.

Q. Does that mean that they were classified in December, or earlier, just in that
way and so remained down to June?—A. So remained down to June, yes.
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Q. And is the December one signed by Mcintosh?—A. Yes.

Q. What is the custom? Do you require them to be signed by the resident

engineer and the division engineer?—A. The resident engineer and the division

engineer.

Q. Now, do you know any reason why those items, classified as far back as Decem-
ber, 1906, as common excavation and loose rock, should be made into solid rock in

July, six months afterwards ?—A. No.

Q. Did you go over the work with regard to those two items?—A. Yes, I went

over it twice.

Q. You went over it twice ? Did you find out what those items referred to ?—A. I

did not make a very thorough examination the first time.

Q. Well, the second time, then ?--A. Yes.

Q. What did you find?—A. I found it was common excavation and loose rock

according to specification.

Q. \*as that report to Mr. Lumsden, chief engineer?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, take up the next item?—A. Are you going over them all?

Q. Yes, I am going over them all but I am trying to shorten them up as much
as I can. Now take station 3523.

Mr. Barker.—I think you had not completed the history of that. He said he

looked over it twice, what was the result of his investigation?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I was going over all these items, but I will complete this if you
wish.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. After your inspection what action did you take in connection with it?—A.

Cut it out of the estimates—I passed it in the first estimate that came.

Q. Yes, in July?—A. When I got this statement I had not been out to see it, and

I told Mr. Lumsden about it, I met him in Winnipeg a few days afterwards, and

said I was going out on the work to inspect it.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. You inspected this section that you have just been speaking of?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Then we have the August estimates here.

Mr. Barker.—Did he inspect it.

Mr. Hodgins.—Oh yes.

Mr. Barker.—He hasn't said so.

Mr. Hodgins.—Pardon me, he said he was out and saw it twice.

Mr. Barker.—I want to know what he saw.

Mr. Hodgins.—Well, I will ask him so as to make it clear.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. When you went out to inspect and go over this work what did you find, these

items of 50 yards and 150 yards to be properly?- under the specification?—A. Common
excavation and loose rock.

Q. Then I produce and show to you the original estimates in August. Will you
look at these, they are signed by Mcintosh?—A. Yes.

Q. How were they returned to you in August?—A. The same way as they wero
returned the previous month.

Q. That is what?—A. Is this the one? (Indicating return).

Q. Yos, 351Y?—A. 1,100 yards of solid rock, no loose rock, no common excavation.

Q. What change did you make in that estimate before you sent it in?—A. I
changed, or had it changed back to what it had been previously.

Q. And it so appears in red ink upon this original estimate for August. Now,
I will put in this letter.

^^fAJoi? Hodgins.
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EXHIBIT No. 6.

No. 541. Kenora, Ont^. September 14, 1907.

H. D. LuMSDEN^ Esq.,

Chief Engineer,

Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—With reference to the changing of classification on Mr. Mcintosh's

division, Ees. 25 in the July estimate.

Sta. 3617, 150 cu. yds. com. ex. was returned in April last and 50 yds. of loose

rock was also returned in that month. This is still the material originally returned

and cannot be made into solid rock no matter how liberal -the classification is.

The same can be said of 200 yds. com. ex. returned in April in cut 3523-70.

.

Cut 3972-54. 70 yds. com. ex. returned in Jan. last 40 yds. loose rock returned

in the same month. This consists of a little stripping and a little mixed material at

the mouth of the opening. This item is small, but there has been some waste in this

cutting. I do not see how any extra liberality can be made in the interpretation of

the specifications, to call this mixed material solid rock.

Cut 4009-14. There is altogether too much waste in this cutting, even if it were

possible to consider 400 yds. loose rock as 400 solid rock. The waste in this cutting

is certainly deliberate. There is a small amount of overbreak. The bank made up
from this cutting is very wide in places, showing carelessness on the part of the sub-

contractor or station men.
Sta. 4027-38. 100 yds. com. ex. and 1,060 yds. loose rock were transferred under

the heading of solid rock. This is stripping. You will see from the progress profile

that it overlies the solid rock.

Sta. 4076. 30 yds. com. ex. and '330 yds. loose rock, transferred to 860 yas. solid

rock. There is a pocket of pure sand in this cut, which in my opinion is a stretch

of imagination to call loose rock. The 30 yds. com. ex. occurs at the west end of the

cutting and was returned in Feb. as com. ex.

Sta. 4143-39. 50 yds. com. ex. 200 yds. loose rock, east end and 90 yds. com. ex-
* west end, transferred to solid rock. This is a very bad cutting and has been classified

very liberally in loose and solid rock. The solid rock consisting of bouxders. Mr.
Mcintosh informs me that he classified this to show a profit of $600 on Mr. McArthur's
prices to date. It is impossible to estimate the amount of boulders. The east end of

this cutting, Sta. 4143, has a gravity track andJpaded cars run down themselves; a

single horse pulls them up. There are five men shovelling in this cut and two cars.

Owing to the length of time it takes the horse to pull the empty car back to the pit, I
noticed the men were idle most of the time I was there. However, this cutting shows
a profit on Mr. Mcintosh's classification.

Sta. 4162-82. 820 yds. loose rock transferred to solid rock. Here there is- more
sand than loose rock showing. Mr. Mcintosh informed me he increased the solid rock

in order to bring it to a profit to the contractor at Mr. McArthur's prices.

Sta. 4178-58. 120 yds. com. ex. transferred to solid rock. There have been
5,250 yds. loose and 1,700 yds. solid rock returned in this cutting. It is more a loose

rock cutting than a solid rock cutting, and if it is permitted to transfer 120 cu. yds.

into solid rock, there is no reason why the balance of the cut should not be treated in

the same way. The solid rock in this cutting consists of boulders. The cut is a little

wet. No com. ex. has been given. Mr. Mcintosh acknowledges the classification high,

and said he had to do this in order to keep the men at work.

Sta. 4190. 550 yds. loose rock transferred to solid rock. This was excavated in

Eebruary. I can see no reason why it should not still be called loose rock. It certainly

is not solid rock.

Sta. 4201-37. 65 yds. com. ex. and 900 1. rock transferred to solid rock. Mr.
Mcintosh informs me that all the stripping in this cutting is returned as solid rock,

although it might rightly be called loose rock. 50 per cent of this stripping returned
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as loose rock and the balance solid will be, in my opinion, extremely liberal classifica-

tion. The difficulty in Mr. Mcintosh's classification is that he has gone beyond the

limits of liberality. In this cutting the stripping is no use in a rock bank and should

have been wasted. The portion taken out this summer is only about 3 ft. deep.

Sta. 4213-42. 50 yds. loose rock transferred to solid rock. The item is very small

and is hardly worth considering.

I am of the opinion that if all the common excavation referred to in the above

cuts were returned as loose rock, the loose rock left as previously returned, the contrac-

tors would be very liberally dealt with.

With reference to the cutting station 4240 and 4250, between these cuttings there

is a fill, and some juggling has been going on in the estimates for the last month.

Mr. Mcintosh ordered that 2,700 yds. of loose rock in the cut near Sta. 4240 should

be turned into solid rock in the month of July, and in cutting starting at 4250 the

same number of yards was returned as loose rock instead of common excavation,

which it surely is, being the finest sand cut that can be found on the line. This should

not have occurred, and I report the matter to you to deal with.

I have also to report to you that Mr. Mcintosh allowed his resident engineer on

Res. 25 to add some 660 yds, to the estimate on cutting 3848, west of the Wabigoon
river. The resident engineer did this to cover up the extravagant classification that

he had given to station men when they were quitting. The men have gone away, and
unless the same men come back to work this out, this cut will be estimated to contain

660 yds. more than has been taken out, to say nothing of the very liberal classification

in loose rock, being a clay cutting, with the exception of a little lump of solid rock

encountered near the mouth.
The last time I was over Mr. Mcintosh's works I found at Sta. 3400 to 3402, mile

64, that some 900 yds. pure muskeg had been returned as solid rock. The resident

engineer informed me that this muskeg was taken out by station men and the contract

paid them 23 c. a yard. It was wasted to the side. The reason for returning this as

solid rock, claimed both by Mr. Mcintosh and the resident engineer, was that it was a

pocket in a rock cut. I ordered Mr. Mcintosh not to let this sort of thing occur again,

and to return it and classify it correctly. The resident engineer estim-ated the day I »

was there that some 1,800 yards of muskeg had been taken out to date, and he would
have returned all this as solid rock if I had not stopped him. You can conclude from
this what sort of classification has been made on Mr. Mcintosh's division since the

June estimate went in.

Mr. Mcintosh claims that he was not influenced by Mr. Grant's remarks, but some-
thing has influenced him to classify in this extravagant and improper way.

It is to be noticed that he is the only engineer picked out by Mr. Grant as one
capable of classifying properly, and Mr. Grant suggested to me that Mr. Mcintosh be

appointed assistant district engineer, with headquarters at Winnipeg river, and that

the whole of the classification in this district be left in his hands.

Under ordinary circumstances Mr. Mcintosh should be discharged, but as some-
thing has influenced him to classify in this extravagant way, I thought it better to

refer the matter to you rather than deal with him myself.

If common excavation and loose rock are to be humped wholesale into the column
for solid rock against my orders, I wish to be relieved of all responsibility.

I told all the engineers to be as liberal as they possibly could in tlie classilication

of mixed material, and always to give the contractor the benefit of the doubt if any
sort of argument could be used to classify this material as loose rock, but they must
strictly draw the line in returning solid rock where solid rock does not exist.

Yours truly,

A. E. lIODGmS.
District Engineer.

Q. Now will you take the next item. Stations 3523 to 3520, 200 j^ards common
excavation?

—

A. What month? m\ , m, ttm^.^ivo
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Q. Just take that in July, that is 3523 to 3520. Is there any common excavation

or loose rock in that?—A. No.

Q. There is not, now have you traced that back? That item of 200 yards of

common excavation, transferred to solid rock, back through these estimates?—A. Yes»

Q. Now, just let us see if we can find that in December, instead of going through

all these returns ?—A. I do not think it is in December, I think it is in January.

Q. It is in December, is it?—A. No, in January.

Q. In January, 1907?

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. What is in that?—A. In January, 1907, 200 yards of common excavation, no
loose rock, 800 yards of solid rock.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Is that 200 yards of common excavation carried down through the estimates

from January down to July without change?—A. Yes.

Q. Then did you, in your inspection, investigate that item?—A. Yes.

Q. And did you report upon that?—A. Yes.

Q. To Mr. Lumsden?—A. I did.

Q. What did you do with it in the August estimate?—A. I put it back into

common excavation—put 200 yards back into common excavation.

Q. What should it, in your investigation, properly have been classified at?—A.

Common excavation.

Q. Do you know any reason why, after having remained in the estimates from
June. to July as that, it should have been changed in July?—A. No.

Q. I see this is changed in red ink in the August estimate, put back?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, will you take the next item of 70 yards common, and 40 yards loose rock

in 3972 to 3969, how far back will these items go?—A. That began in December, the

common excavation, there were 40 yards of common excavation returned for that cut

in December.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. How much ' loose ' ?—A. There was no loose returned until January. In
January there were 30 yards of common excavation, that made up the 70.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. That makes up the 70, and in January appears 40 yards of loose rock?—A.
40 yards of loose rock.

Q. That is the item, does that go through the estimates from then on until July?
—A. Yes.

Q. Did you investigate that?—A. Yes.

Q. What did you find that ought to be, at your investigation?—A. Put back
where it had been originally.

Q. And in this August estimate did you do so ?—A. Yes.

Q. I think I asked you if there was any reason why it should have been changed
in July, but there is no harm to ask it again?—A. No.

Q. Now, can you tell me the next item, 400 yards of loose rock in 4009 and 4014;
when did that first come in?—A. I haven't a note of that here, I will have to look
that up—in January.

Q. In January, 1907?—A. No, there is nothing returned in January, 4009?
Q. 4009?—A. 150 yards of solid rock returned in January—4009, 400 yards of

loose rock

Q. Do you find it?—A. No loose rock returned for that cut in January—now,
wait

Q. Perhaps you can find it in your letter what that was ?—^A. 4009 to 4014 in
June, 400 yards of solid rock returned.
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Q. Yes, in the June estimate. Now how do yon find it in the July estimate for

4009 ? What was the solid rock in the June estimate ?—A. It had 200 yards of solid

rock returned and 400 yards of loose.

Q. Now, look at the July estimate?—A. 4009 to 4012—4,770 solid, no loose, no

common excavation.

Q. That 400 has disappeared, that has been transferred apparently according to

this?—A. Apparently.
* Mr. Barker.—Transferred from what?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—From loose rock to solid.

By Mr. Ilodgins:

Q. Did you investigate that ?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you report that to Mr. Lumsden?—A. Yes.

Q. Just look at this letter and see what the explanation is? See if you can make
that anything clearer to us, I do not understand it.

Mr. Murphy.—What letter is that?

Mr. IToDGiNS.—That is the letter. Exhibit No. 6.—A. Can I have the profile?

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Yes, if you want it; can you make it out from reading that letter, or do you

want the profile?—A. Oh, never mind about the profile.

Q. What is the explanation of that?—A. (reads) '4009, there is altogether too

much waste in this cutting, even if it were possible to consider 400 yards of loose

rock as 400 yards of solid rock. The waste in this cutting is certainly deliberate,

there is a small amount of overbreak, and the bank made up from this cutting is

very wide in places, showing carelessness on the part of the sub-contractor or station

men.'

Q. Then what did you do with that in the August estimate?—A. I put it back in

the August estimate into loose rock.

Mr. Barker.—I understand the witness is reading, I would like to know whether

he says upon oath that what he did is correct.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Well, I will ask him. How did you find> upon your examination that ought

to be classified?—A. I can only speak from notes.

Q. Quite so ?—A. I haven't got the whole thing in my head ; here are the notes I

took.

By Mr. Carvell:

Q. Were the notes made as the result of personal examination, or from informa-

tion given you by someone else?—A. Personal examination; here are the notes 1

made on the back of this paper, on the work.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. When?—A. At the time I was inspecting it.

Q. When was that?—A. I should think between September 12th and 14th, accord-

ing to this letter. I wrote this letter on the 14th, I had just come in from the work.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Then what do you say? You are entitled to look at your notes, I think. How
do you say that 400 cubic yards should be classified?—A. As loose rock.

^ Now, look at the next itfem, please ; that 4027 to 4033. 100 yards common
excavation, and 1,060 loose rock transferred to solid. Now can you toll whore

these items—take that item of 100 yards—where that first appeared?—A. It was in

February March, April May and June estimate.

Q. I see, then take 1,060 loose rock transferred?—A. They began that work in

January.

Major Hodgins.
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Q. Yes?—A. There was 50 yards of loose rock returned that month, 650 in Feb-

ruary, 1,250 in March, 1,340 in April, 1,760 in May, 1,960 in June and 900 in July.

Q. That is, as I understand it, that it had been classified from month to month

as loose rock to the extent of 1,960 yards?—A. Yes.

Q. Of which 1,060 yards were transferred in July ?—A. In July.
'

Q. To solid rock?—A. And 900 was left in the loose rock column.

Q. Now, did you investigate that?—A. I investigated the whole thing.

Q. And how did you find that that ought to be classified?—A. As it had

been classified originally.

Q. And did you disallow that, or transfer it back in the August estimates ?—A. I

transferred it back in the August estimates. I did the whole of these.

Q. Did you report that to Mr. Lumsden in the August estimates?

Mr. Murphy.—^When was it reported ?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—It is all reported in this letter of September 14; if there is any-

thing different, you understand, I will mention it.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. What is the next item?—A. Station 4,076 to 4,079, 30 yards common excava-

tion; 830 loose rock transferred to

^ Q. Solid?—A. Solid as 850 yards.

Q. When did that item of 30 first appear?—A. In my notes here, February.

Q. February, 1907—what about the 830 ?—A. The note is here, 730 yards returned

in it of loose rock in February, and in April 830.

Q. Now, did they remain the same through these estimates, from those dates, down
to the time of the transfer ?—A. Yes.

Q. And did you go out on the work and examine into that?—A. Yes.

Q. And did you determine how that ought to be classified?—A. Yes.

Q. And in your judgment how should it have been classified?—A. I put it back

to what it was originally returned.

Q. Yes, and in your judgment was that the right way of dealing with it?—A. Yes.

Q. Now look up your notes with regard to that and see what the circumstances

were; how did you report that to Mr. Lumsden according to that letter?—A. (reads)
' Station 4076, 30 yards com. ex. and 830 yards loose rock, transferred to 860 yards

solid rock. There is a pocket of pure sand in this cut, which in my opinion, is a

stretch of imagination to call loose rock. The 30 yards com. ex. occurs at the west
end of the cutting and was returned in February as'com. ex.

'

Q. Is that statement a correct description of the situation as you found it on
the ground?—A. That is a correct description.

Q. Did you transfer that back?—A. I transferred it, I had transferred all these

before I went out the second time.

Q. In the August estimates ?—A. In the August estimates.

Q. What is the next item?—A. (Eeads) ^4143 to 4146, 50 yards com. ex. and
280 yards of loose rock turned into 339 yards of solid rock.

'

Q. Did you investigate that?—A. I investigated them all.

Q. Now, just tell me when these first appeared in the estimates?—A. From this

note, in February.

By Mr. Murphy: .

Q. Can you tell us without reference to the note?—A. I would have to turn up
all these returns in order to do so.

Mr. Hodgins.—We have gone over all these returns ?—A. It is easily checked up by
these papers.

By Mr. Barher:

Q. Were these notes made at the time?—A. I made these notes in my office at

the time.
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Mr. Parent.—Are you going to produce these notes ?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—They are here on the book, I understand.

Mr. Parent.—But if you refer to them as a matter of evidence, they should be

produced.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—If anybody wants them, they can be produced, I do not care; the

Tccord is in the commissioners' office in the form of a letter, but if you want these

you can have them.

Q. The question, I think, was when did this first appear?—A. I will look it up

—

February.

Q. That is as to the 60 yards ?—A. As to the 50 yards.

Q. And as to the 280 yards?—A. I cannot say from these notes; I will have to

look it up.

Mr. Murphy.—What are these answers being based on? Are the notes the basis

of the answer or the letter put in as an exhibit?

Mr. IToDGiNS.—I have gone over all these, and if you want to take up the time

now we will turn them up in the returns, but we have done that already.

"Mr. Barker.—I think the question is fair ; the notes were made on the spot im-

mediately after the examination.
^

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I understand these are all made by the witness after going through

the returns.

Mr. Murphy.—I understood the vv^itness to say he could not answer now after

reference to his notes.

A. You see, I have a note here; here is the item I wanted to talk about—280

yards. I have a note there of 440 yards, and I could not connect these two together

without looking it up. I took these notes in my office when writing the letter. There

is a list of the item^s. I haven't got the information with reference to this particular

one.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—ISTever mind about explaining more than one item; we will have

to look the others up afterwards. About the 280 ?—A. What is the station ?

Q. 4143; it was started in December and came right along?—A. I do not see

anything in December.

Q. Here it is—4143 to 4146?—A. (Beads) : '4143 to 4146, in January, 50 yards

loose rock.' 60 yards common excavation was returned.

Q. That is probably the 60 yards that you found in February, that goes back as

far as December. Then you make these two loose rock, you find the 50 yards?—A.
50 yards.

Q. What is solid?—A. No solid.

Q. Now, take February.

'Q. Now, 4143—50 yards of commor excavation—the same 50?—A. 440 yards of

loose rock and 60 yards of solid.

Q. Do your notes indicate what those progress estimates shoM^?—A. The notes

show that in March 1,150 yards of loose rock were returned.

Q. In May?—A. I have not got April, possibly there was no change. In May,
19,060, and in June, 2,680.

Q. Let us look at June?—A. 4143. In June 50 yards of common excavation, 2,680

loose, 110 solid.

Q. That is 4143, is it?—A. 4143.

Q. Now, what is shown in June for solid rock?—A. 110.

Q. And what is it in July?—A. 1,100.

Q. What is the loose rock for June?—A. That is Juno, is it, which yo\i have?
Q. You have got July in your hand. Just look at June. Give mc tlie June com-

mon excavation?—A. 50 yards.

Q. And give me the June loose rock?—A. 2,680.

Q. Now, look at the July, how much loose rock is there?—A. 2.400.

Q. That is a dccrcnse of 280 yards?—A. 280.

Major IIodgins.
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Q. And the common excavation in June of 50 yards has disappeared?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, adding the 330 yards to the 770, how much do you iHake of solid rock?

—

A. 1,100.

Q. That is the amount, is it not, returned in June?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, did you go over that and investigate it?—A. I did.

Q. And, in your judgment, how should it have been classified ?—A. I thought the

first classification was all right.

Q. And what did you do with it in the August estimate?—A. Put it back to wJaat

it had been originally returned.

Q. And reported that to Mv. Lumsden ?—A. Yes.

By Mr. BarJcer:

Q. What is the result—50 yards of common excavation turned into solid rock

and 280 yards of loose rock converted into solid rock, drawing the prices of solid rock?

—A. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Hodgms:

Q. The next one is 4153, 90 yards of common excavation transferred. Where did

that first appear?—A. January.

Q. Just look at the June estimate now, and see if that appeared. It is 4153 ?

—

A. 90 yards in June.

Q. Of common excavation?—A. Common excavation, yes.

Q. Now, in July, in 4153, there is no common excavation?—A. No common exca-

vation.
'

Q. And what is the difference in the solid rock between what it was before and

what it is now ?—A. Well, there might have been some solid rock moved during that

month.

Q. See if the total is increased, in 4153 ?—A. 480.

Q. I see in July 4153 is returned as 1,100 solid rock and common excavation?

—

A. But that additional solid rock, that is in that month, would be the additional work
that had gone on.

Q. Except the 90?—A. Except the transfer.

Q. Now, did you investigate that on the ground ?—A. I investigated all these.

Q. You reported it and disallowed it in the August estimates?—A. I disallowed it

before.

Q. Not before the August estimates, did you ?—-A. The month before I made this

report.

Q. Now, take the next item: .4162, 820 yards of loose rock transferred to solid

rock?—A. 820.

Q. Yes?—A. Well, in June there were returned 2,820.
,

Q. Well, now you will have to trace that back. Just look at May?

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. What is that, solid?—A. Loose. Just a transfer of 820. 2,000 remain.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Then, what is the loose rock in May?—A. 2,340.

Q. That is only 480 yards, so you will have to go back further than that to account
for the 820. Then take April?—A. It was probably changed in some previous month.

Q. I just want to trace it back. What is the number ?—A. 4162.

Q. The loose rock is returned as 1,860?—A. What month?
Q. In April 1,860 and in May 2,340. Now, add the two together, and how much

do they make?—A. 860.

Q. That is a little more than 820. That would carry it back how far, to the
April estimate?—A. The April estimate.

Q. Will you look at your letter and^see if that recalls anything to you (handing
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letter to witness) ; you did investigate that on the ground ?—A. Yes. (Beads) :

* Sta. 4162. 820 yds. loose rock transferred to solid rock. 'Here there is more sand

than loose rock showing. Mr. Mcintosh informed me he increased it to solid rock in

order to bring it to a profit to the contractor at Mr. McArthur's prices.'

Q. How should that 820 have been classified ?—A. As common excavation.

Q. It is transferred from loose rock here?—A. It should have been classified as

loose rock.'

By the Chairman:

Q. It should have been classified as loose rock?—A. I take it so, sir. I don't

remember the actual item.

Q. Tour letter says there is more sand than loose rock showing?—A. I told Mr.
Mcintosh to go over his classification all over. I would not make the classification. I

left it to him to m-ake a re-classification.

By Mr. BarJcer:

'Q. In this case?—A. In this case.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. But you changed it afterv/ards ?—A. I put it back to what it had been origin-

ally. It was originally loose rock, and he jumped it up to solid rock, but it was not

solid rock.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. In the August estimate you altered that, making the 2,000 yards 'of loose rock

2,820 yards and taking the 820 from the solid rock ?—A. Yes.

Q. That was* also reported, was it not?—A. Yes.

Q. Take the next one, 4178, 120 yards of common excavation. Look up your notes

and see when it was first classified by Mcintosh ?

By the Chairman:

Q. Those notes which you are continually referring to, tell the committee under
what circumstances they were 'made, and when ?—A. Made on the work while I was
investigating. I had these pieces of paper, and these are some notes on the back of

them that I made on the work.

Q. You took your own notes?—A. My own notes.

Q. On the work?—A. On the work.

Q. And you wrote them in your office?—A. These notes as to what date the item

first appeared in the estimate I got in''my office by looking up the same sheets. I had
copies of these sheets in my office.

'Q. When you went over the work you took your own notes?—A. Took these

notes

Q. In what way?—A. And they formed the basis of this letter.

Q. You took your own notes on the back in pencil, and when you went back to

your office you put them into shape ?—A. In the shape of a letter.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Now, 4178, the 120 yards of common excavation appeared first in January?

—

A. First in January.

Q. That was transferred in July. Now what do you have to say as to that?—A.

There is no reason why it should not have been left in common excavation.

Q. Was that transferred by you in August?—A. They all were, yes.

Q. The whole sheet as it stood, and that was afterwards reported? Now take
the next item 4190, 500 yards of loose rock. I think you will have to trace that?—A.
In February 400 yards of loose rock was reported.

"Major IIod(-;ins.

5—10



146 SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON MAJOR HODGINS' CHARGES

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

Q. You had better just see where that commenced?—A. 4190. No common
excavation, 400 of loose rock and 40 of solid. It was evidently the commencement of

the cut.

Q'. That is February. Now look at March please?—A. 4190. No common
excavation, 900 yards of loose rock, 150 yards of solid.

Q. That is more than 550?—A. It is more than 550.

Q. So that must have started as far back as February and March?—A. February

and March.

Q. And that was investigated by you?—A. Yes.

Q. And how- should it be classified?—A. The same as it had been before.

Q. The next item, please?—A. 4201. 65 yards common excavation, 900 yards

loose rock. Transferred to solid rock 965 yards.

Q. Now have you notes on that?—A. (reads) : 'A portion of stripping taken out,

2 or 3 feet deep. 50 per cent of this loose rock and 50 per cent solid would be liberal.

Wliere can the line be drawn. Mcintosh has drawn ^o line. Stripping should have

been wasted. It is no good in the bank with the solid rock.'

Q. Perhaps your notes were extended a little more when you came to write the

letters. Just look at the letter?—A. (reads) ^65 yards common excavation and 900

yards loose rock transferred to solid rock. Mr. Mcintosh informs me that all the strip-

ping in this cutting is returned as solid rock although it might rightly be called loose

rock. 50 per cent of this stripping returned as loose rock and the balance solid rock

v/ill be in my opinion, extremely liberal classification. The difficulty in Mr. Mcintosh's

classification is that he has gone beyond the limit of liberality. In this cutting the

stripping is no use in rock bank and should have been wasted. The portion taken out

this summer is only 3 feet deep.'

Q. What did you do with this item, transfer it back to where it was?—A. I

transferred all these items back before I went out. I went out after I had transferred

them and made those notes afterwards.

Q. And reported to Mr. Lumsden?—A. Eeported to Mr. Lumsden.
Q. You never saw the September estimates?—A. No.

Q. Now take the last item 4213. 50 yards of loose rock. Just look up and see

if that appears first in June ?—A. What is the item ?

Q. 50 yards of loose rock, 4213?—A. 4213. No common excavation, 50 yards of

loose rock, 50 yards solid rock.

Q. Now the loose rock is transferred in July;. What do you say as to that? It

is hardly worth considering?—A. Hardly worth considering. You see I told Mr.
Mcintosh that I was not going to classifj'' this. I told him he would have to classify

it and have it in proper shape by the September estimate and I left this to him to do it.

Q. And before the September estimate came out you were dismissed?—A. The
day after I wrote this letter, or a couple of days afterwards, I got the letter from Mr.

Lumsden. Thd letters crossed, I expect.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. Before you go on. Who made the original estimates that were replaced by

you?—A. I don't understand that?

Q. The estimates which were transferred by Mr. Mcintosh, who made them

originally and certified to them?—A. He and the resident engineer were jesponsible

for it. They were on the work all the time.

Q. Did he send the certificates to you?—A. Oh yes.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Was it his duty and that of the resident engineer to classify?—A. It is the

resident engineer's duty to classify and consult with the division engineer. They are

the men that are on the work. They know more about it and can give a better opinion.
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By Mr. Carvell:

Q. Than whom?—A. Than anyone else that goes on the work unless he studies

it out.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Now this is the letter of Mcintosh attached to that which forwarded the

estimates for the month of July to you?—A. Yes.

Q. And on the back of the attached sheet are your notes. I will put those in as

requested.

EXHIBIT -No. Y.

THE COMMISSIONERS OP THE TRANSCONTINENTAL RAILWAY.

Wabigoon Falls, July 27, 1907.

Major A. E. Hodgins,

District Engineer, N.T.C. Ey.,
^

.

Kenora, Ontario.

Dear Sir:—Enclosed herewith please find estimates for the month of July. I

have made some changes in the classification, changing certain amounts which were

returned as loose rock into solid, and common excavation into loose rock on

Residencies 25 and 25. A statement is attached to the estimates showing the amounts
transferred. The amount transferred on Residency 26 is 2,300 cubic yds., from loose

rock to solid. Station 4,240.

On Residency 25 the items are shown on memorandum attached. These transfers

I have deemed advisable to make at the present time as having regard to the cost of

working and material they should be promptly classed as rock excavation.

The estimate this month shows an increase over last month of $35,024. The force

at the present time is over 900 men (written in pencil ^712 in June. ') Several new
camps are now being built and conditions generally improving.

The force on this division has not been affected as yet by the usual summer
restlessness of labour.

I am forwarding to you a blue print showing the location of new camps, and new
roads which have been built.

Yours truly,

F. J. McINTOSH,
Division Engineer ' 6.'

NOTES ON BACK OP LETTER.

4162+82 L. s.

May 2,340 460

2,820 580

1,880

4178 L. s.

4,610 1,540

4,420 610

4190

400 40

900 150

1,300 250

650

June 1,350 1,100

July 800 2.150

3,515

]\rA.TOR ITODGIXS.

5—lOJ
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4201 L. s. c.E.

July

June , 900 1,700' 65

May 700 1,600 65

April 450 1,350 65

March 300 850 65

February 300 180 65

January 35 0 65

4213

June 50 50

July.. 0 650

L.R. C.E. - S.

June 2,680 50 . 770

July. 2,400 0 1,100 330

EXHIBIT No. 8.

SUPPLEMENT TO FORM 4—RESIDENCY 25, DIVISION 6.

Showing amount of material previously returned as common excavation and loose

rock, now transferred to solid rock.

Yardage Yardage Yardage

Station to Station.
deducted from deducted from adds to solid
common excav. loose rock, rock,

item 6. item 5. item 4.

Anderson & Johnson :—

3517^11-6—3518-f80 150 50 200
3523-^70 —3520 -f- 50. 200 200

Chas. Peterson :

—

39724-54-4—3969^37 70 40 110
4009-14 —4012 400 400
4027^33 —4030 -f 35

^ 100 1,060 1,160
4076^75 —4079^65 30 830 860
4143^39-5-4146 50 280 330
4153 -f 62 —4149 -=-35 90 90
4162^82 -4168 -MO 820 820
4178 -f 58 —4173^10 120 120
4190 —4192^65 550 550
4201 -f 37 —4197 65 900 965
4213-^-42 —4-214 75 50 50

875 4,980 5,855

Station 4051 to 4230, 4,591 acres clearing deducted from Chas. Peterson and transferred to D. C
Oalbraith.

(Written in pencil : Correct.

Cut 4068 sand and gravel.

Cut 4250 to 57 Wabigoon Falls, July 28, 1907.

148 3-3158 E. P. 6894 E. June (Sgd.) A. P. Miller,

168 5838 6894 E. July Pes. Eng. 25.

All July work classed as L x s

Work done previously harder than (Sgd.) F.J.Mcintosh,
since.) Per A. P.M.

Division Eng. "6." %
(Classification w?ll be reduced when more L. P.)



MINUTES OF EVIDENCE 149

APPENDIX No. 5

EXHIBIT No. 9.

JsTq. 5-41. Kekora, August 6, 1907.

11. D. LuMSDEN, Esq.,

Chief Engineer,

Ottawa, Ont.

Dear Sir,—I send you to-day, per Dominion Express, J. D. McArthur's progress

estimate for month of July, comprising single copies of Forms Nos. 4, 5, 98, 45 K
(Division Engineer to District Engineer and District Engineer to Chief Engineer),

and 45 X, triplicates of Form 101 and statements relating to
.
same, two copies of

extra order No. 23, and one only of order No. 37, two copies of this last order being

already in your possession.

I inclose herewith a copy of a letter from Mr. Mcintosh relating to an error of

10( c. yds. of loose rock on Eesidency 25, Stn. 3974-50; this item was erroneously

entered in June and has been deducted in the current estimate.

A statement is attached to Form 4, Eesidency 25, showing certain amounts, which

were previously returned as loose rock and common excavation, now returned as solid

rock.

Mr. Mcintosh writes re same :

—

' These transfers I have deemed it advisable to make at the present time, as,

having regard to the cost of working and material, they should be properly classed as

rock excavation.'

You will also notice on Residency 26, that 33 c. yds. of dry masonry have been

deducted, and a like amount has been added to item 17, paving.

On Form 45 X, appears an amount of piling delivered, this material is off loaded

at the material yard, and it would not be fair to enter this under item 10 on residency

39, as it will be split up and used on several residencies. In due course, it will be

deducted from Form 45 X and entered under items 10 and 11.

The extra work appearing under order No. 23 is the first progress under this order.

Form 101 covering same will be sent to you as soon as received from Mr. A. G.

MacFarlane.

For explanation of extra work at Neck lake, see my letter of yesterday's date.

Form 101 for this will also be sent you as soon as received.

Yours truly,

A. E. HODGINS,
District Engineer.

I have also put in a letter of the '6th August transmitting the progress estimates

for July to Mr. Lumsden. (Exhibit 9.) I will refer to two paragraphs in it. The
letter transmits the daily estimates comprising single copies of forms Nos. 4, 5, 98 and

so on, and statements relating to estimates. Now these are the paragraphs I referred

to (reads) :

' I inclose herewith a copy of a letter from Mr. Mcintosh relating to an error of

100 cubic yards 'of loose rock on Residency 25, Stn. 3,974-50 ; this item was errone-

ously entered in June and has been deducted in the current estimate.
' A statement is attached to Form 4, Residency 25, showing certain amounts which

were previously returned as loose rock and common excavation, now returned as solid

rock.

' Mr. Mcintosh writes re same :

' These transfers I have deemed advisable to make at the present time, as, having
regard to the cost of working and material they should be properly classed as rock

excavation.'

Now that is- a quotation from Mcintosh's letter contained in your letter of the

6th August, 1907. Did you see the chief engineer personally after writing that letter ?

—A. What is the date of that ?

Major IIodqixs.
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Q. August 6 ?—A. No.

Q. Well, I understand that Mr. Lumsden went up there about the 12th or 13th

August ?—A. August ? Let me see. I forget. I saw Mr. Lumsden up there. It

would be about the time he was in Winnipeg.
•Q. About 6th of August ?—A. And I spoke to him about it, and told him I had

sent it to him.

Q. What discussion took place between you and him as to these July estimates ?

—

A. I said I had noticed that there were several cases where the solid rock estimates

had jumped in that month out of the usual average, and the only way I could account
for it was that somebody had suggested to the men, the engineers on the line, to return

solid rock with more liberality than I was inclined to do.

Q. Did you mention to him to whom you referred ?—A. Yes. I said to him,
* Mr. Grant has just been over the line and the solid rock estimate has jumped.'

Q. Did you get any instructions from him ?—A. He told me to go over the work
with reference to these

Q. With reference to what ?—A. To these item.s.

Q. To the items that Mcintosh had transferred ?—A. That Mcintosh had trans-

ferred.

Q. Now I will fix the date of that interview accurately a little later ?—A. ' Mr.

Lumsden,' I said, 'I do not like the look of that sudden jump and Mcintosh has not

^iven me a very satisfactory answer.'

Q. What did the chief engineer tell you to do ?—A. When I told him I was going

lie said ' Yes, you had better go as soon as possible.'

Q. Now have you prepared and can you give the totals in the division showings

the difference between the classifications immediately before and immediately after

Mr. Grant's visit ?—A. Yes.

Q. Is that it in your hand?—A. This is it, yes (producing document).

Q. Now take Mcintosh's division.

Mr. Murphy.—Is that going to be filed.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—^Yes, I will file it with pleasure.

The Witness.—Division 6.

Q. Now the solid rock total to the end of June was how much ?—A. To the end

of June ?

Q. Yes ?—A. I have not got the totals.

Q. There is June (pointing to document) ?—A. The May progress is 28,996 yards.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. What is that, solid ?—A. Solid
^

By Mr. Hodgins :

Q. Now the June progress ?—A. June progress, 31,368.

Q. And in July?—A. 58,104.

Q. That is an increase over the previous month of 26,000 yards ?—A. And the

August, 44,721.

Q. Now take the loose rock in May ? How much is that ?—A. The May progress?

Q. Yes ?—A. 9,925.

Q. And June—A. 10,193.

Q. And July ?—A. 8,258.

Q. That is a decrease in loose rock ? Now take the common excavation ?

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. What was it in August ?—A. 24,442.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Then take the common excavation in the May progress ?—A. 4,008.

Q. And the June progress ?—A. 11,942.
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Q. And the July progress ?—A. 365.

Q. And the Angust ?—A. 14,005. All these figures should be taken in connection

with the force account too. These are only notes I had a man in the office make.

By the Chairman :

Q. You say these were notes that were made in your office ?—A. In my offi-ce at

the commencement.

Q. Men in your office made these notes out ?—A. Went over the estimates and

compiled them. All the divisions are there.

By Mr, Hodgins :

Q. What divisions are shown there ?—A. Four out of the five.

Q. What is Mcintosh's division, Iso. 6 ?—A. No. 6.

By Mr. Carveil :

Q. Was there any difficulty or any transferring of quantities in any other division

except No. 6 ?—A. No transfer like this. I got no statement of it.

Q. Was there any transferring at all ?—A. I do not know of any.

By Mr. Hodgins :

Q. No other engineer transferred them in that same way ?—A. The engineer I

had checking these estimates in the office never reportd anything else to m.e.

By Mr. Murphy :

Who is he ?—A. Mr. Euddick, who had sole charge of these estimates, check-

ing them up and adding them , at the end of the month, that was his work.

Q. Is he the man that made up this list ?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Was he then in the employ of the Transcontinental Commission ?—A. Yes.

By the Chairraan :

Q. These notes you say were prepared by one of your employees ?—A. From these

documents (indicating estimates).

Q. From these very documents ?—A. Not these identical ones, these are made
out in triplicate or quadruple.

By Mr. Lennox :

Q. What are these documents ?—A. Progress estimates, one copy was kept in my
office and the others were sent away.

By the Chairman :

Q. And those documents, from which this data was taken, are signed ?—A. You
can find all this information in these documents—they are signed, oh, yes.

By Mr. Hodgins :

Q. Those documents, from which these notes are taken, are exact duplicates of the
originals which are produced by the commission?—A. Yes.

Q. And they are still in your office at Kenora ?—A. I presume so.

Q. They were left there by you ?—A. Yes.

Q. Who gets the other copy, the commissioners only appear to have one?—A.

There are two.

Q. At all events there are two, one is kept by you, and the ollun- is kept by them ?

—A. The Auditor General, I think, gets a copy; I know there are an enormous num-
ber of them signed every month.

Mr. Hodgins.—I put that in.

Major IIodgixs.
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EXHIBIT No. 10.

DISTRICT ' f/ WINNIPEG EAST.

Division. Date.

To end of April.
May progress . .

.

June progress. .

Solid
rock.

37,827
16,167
19,166

Loose
rock.

Grant Inspection.

July progress. . . .

August progress.

Totals...,

To end of April.
May progress . .

.

June progress .

19,908
22,416

115,484

78,781
28,996
31,568

Grant Inspection.

July progress. . . .

August progress.

Totals.

To end April.

.

May progress.

,

June progress.

58,104
44,721

242,170

221,754
72,133
63,588

Grant Inspection.

July progress. . . .

August progress.

Totals. . . .

To end April . . . .

May progress. . . .

June progress. . .

July progress. . .

August progress.

91,324
113,044

561,843

269,014
44,742
47,739
58.367
47,908

467,770

1,387,267

6,741
6,9.59

15,005

27,100
27,848

83,713

22,943
9,925
10,193

8,258
24,442

75,761

43,981
8,322
7,917

11,651
26,783

98,654

37,232
5,957
6,137
9,4.58

12.976
71,760

329,888

Common
Ex-

cavation.

23,771
15,772
15,230

•23,489
32,666

110,928

9,326
4,008
11,942

385
14,005

39,660

42,279
6,465

17,213

16,250
942

83,149

76,568
1,779
7,948
8,411
4,886

99,592

333,335

1 C. F. RiChan's
1 Division.

F. J. Mcintosh'
Division.

] A. G. Macfarlane'
[- Division.

J

I Mr. Macfarlane's
Division.

The above figures show the sudden jump on solid rock and decrease on the lower

priced materials immediately following Mr. Gordon Grant's inspection trip over my
district about first week in July 1908. May progress gives the cubic yards in each

material handled during the month.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—The following is a letter of September Y from Major Hodgins to

the chief engineer :

—

EXHIBIT No. 11.

Kenora, September 7, 1907.^ H. D. LuMSDEN, Esq.,
' Chief Engineer,

' Ottawa.

^ Dear Sir,—I inclose herewith two letters from Mr. Mcintosh giving reasons for

making change of earth and loose rock to solid rock. Residency 25, July estimate.
' I have altered this classification in the August estimate to that which was origi-

nally sent in during the month prior to July estimate, and as Mr. Mcintosh objects
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to this I have agreed to go over the cuts in question again with him, as I do not like

to alter any division engineer's estimates unless consents and is convinced that my
decision is just.

' Mr. Mcintosh admits that most of the material in question should he classified

as solid rock, because it costs as much as solid rock to take out. Mr. Mcintosh's letter

also states that he has not estimated by force account in his July or August estimate.'

By the Chairman :

Q. Major, what do you call ' force account,' what is that ?

—

A . It is the cost of

the work plus 10 per cent.

Q. The cost of the work, a calculation is made ?—A. All the wages.

Q. And the 10 per cent, what is that ?—A. The 10 per cent is to cover the use of

tools and the contractor's general expenses, and profit.

By Mr. Barher ;

Q. ' Force account ' does not necessarily mean 10 per cent profit ?—A. That was

what it meant, 10 per cent, it is referred to in the specifications.

The Chairman.—It means 10 per cent ?

By Mr. Barker :

Q. You take ^ force account ' and technically it may mean 10 per cent or 15 per

cent ?—A. In this case it is 10 per cent, because the specifiations limit it to 10.

Q. It means ^ cost plus percentage.'—^A. Cost plus a percentage which is agreed

upon with the contractor.

Mr. HoDGiNS (continues reading) :

' I might also add that there seems to have been a misunderstanding about the

instructions I gave after you left for Ottawa, that none of the engineers were
instructed to classify solely hj force account by me.

'With reference to the last paragraph of your letter, Mr. Heaman has visited

Residency 35 (Scott), and reports that classification can be claimed to be according to

the specifications, but not so 'liberal in Mr. Heaman's opinion as it should have been.

He has instructed Mr. Scott how to classify in order to bring it up to the uniform
standard I have laid down. I think in the next month's estimate Mr. Scott's classifi-

cation will be satisfactory to all concerned. I might add Mr. Scott was governed in

his classification in the first instance by Mr. Mile's opinion of what it should be, and
when Mr. M. C. Macfarlane was appointed he did not care to increase the classifica-

tion made by Mr. Macfarlane's predecessor as it would have caused some minus quan-

tities to appear in the estimate. Mr. Macfarlane's interpretation of the specification

is more liberal than that of his predecessor. I have been over a greater portion of

the work since I returned from Ottawa and Mr. Heaman has been over the balance,

but we both agree that ' even if Mr. Grant did not give any direct instructions to

engineers how to classify he caused a good deal of trouble by remarks he made to resi'

dent engineers and other with reference to classification. I therefore intend spending

the greater portion of this month going over the line and bring the classification to

a uniform basis,, and intend to be generous in the interpretation of these specifications

with reference to classification of common excavation and loose rock, but I would not

allow the introduction of solid rock into cuttings where it does not exist.

Since Mr. Grant's trip over the line I have had to reduce the classification in two
places which clearly showed a disregard for the specifications. The items were not

very considerable, but I have notified the engineers that a repetition of this sort of

thing will mean their discharge.

' Yours truly,

' A. E. HODGINS.
'District Engineer.'

Major Hodqins.
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That is the letter- of September 7. Now the letter of September 9, from the same
to the same, is as follows : (Eeads.)

EXHIBIT No. 12.

(Private and confidential.)

Kenora, Ont., September 9, 1907.

IT. D. LuMSDEN, Esq.,

Chief Engineer,

Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—In looking over Mr. Mcintosh's estimates I notice that his monthly

return for common excavation amounted to very little over 385 c. y. for July estimate,

the estimate immediately following Mr. Grant's inspection, and then jumped to 14,005

c. y. during August. '

Com. excavation, Mcintosh's division, to end January. . 5,287 c. y.
a ii cc Ci February . 5,742

cc

C( a (C cc March. .

.

6,672
(C

u u a (C April. . . 9,326
cc

a u cc cc May. . . 13,334 cc

u cc cc (C June . . . 25,276
cc

a cc cc cc July. . . 25,661
cc

u cc cc cc August. . 39,666 cc

The amount of common excavation returned in July as solid rock, it having

previously been returned as common excavation, and which I altered on the August
estimate, is only 875, so that it does not account for the .large falling off of common
excavation in July.

I went over Mr. Mcintosh's division just before the August estimate was put in,

and I told Mr. Mcintosh I would not allow some of his classification. I did not go

closely into classification in each cut, as resident engineers were busy on their esti-

mates. I told Mr. Mcintosh his classification was high generally.

I am now going up to go over the 13 cuttings where common excavation and loose

rock were transferred to solid (5,855 yds.) in July, and am taking Mr. Heaman up to

go over the whole division with Mr. Mcintosh and report. I cannot understand why
12,942 c.y. common excavation were moved in, month of June, 385 c.y. common exceva-

tion were moved in month of July, and 14,005 c.y. common excavation were moved in

month of August.

I may not be able to prove it, but I am inclined to believe that Mcintosh was
influenced by Grant's ideas of classification, which in my opinion are extravagant.

Previous to July estimate, Mr. Mcintosh's classification was not alarmingly high.

I will report to you later.

Yours truly,

A. E. HODGINS,
District Engineer.

Then follows the letter of September 14, that the inspection had taken place,

which is, I understand, already in. (See Exhibit No. 6, page 138.)

Mr. Carvell.—What is this, a private letter from Mr. ITodgins to Mr. Lumsden?
Mr. HoDGiNS.—It is marked ' Private and Confidential,' but it is on the business

of the railway ; it is information conveyed to the chief engineer for the good of the
commission, I suppose.

Mr. Carvell.—I am not finding fault, Mr. Hodgins, I merely wanted to know.
Major Hodgins.—I marked a good many of those letters ' Confidential,' so that

they would not go through the ofiice by the ordinary stenographer, and be discussed

in the office.
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By Mr. Hodgins :

Q. Now, immediately following those two letters, stating that you were going

over the whole division, I understand you received from the chief engineer, a letter,

also marked in the same m-anner, asking for your resignation; it is just as well to fix

that date ?—A. Yes.

'Q. This is dated September 12 (reads) :

EXHIBIT No. 13.

^ Personal and Confidential.

' The Commissiokers, Transcontinental Eailway.

'Ottawa, September 12, 1907.

' My dear Hodgins,—Owing to the state of feeling in regard to the work under

your charge I have come to the conclusion that it will be necessary for me to recom-

mend that a change be made and som.e one else put in charge, but before doing so I

am dropping you these few lines, and would suggest to jom that you at once make
application for a month's leave of absence, so as to give you time to look round.

' Please wire me in cipher on receipt of this if you concur in my suggestion.

' Yours very truly,

' HUGH D. LUMSDEN.
^ A. E. Hodgins, Esq.,

' District Engineer,
' Kenora, Ont.'

Q. You received that letter under what circumstances ? Where did you receive

that ?—A. In Kenora, I had just come in from the work, I think I got it on Sunday
or Monday.

Q. When you say you had just come in from the work, what do you mean ?—A. I

mean from the line.

Q. But what had you been doing out there ?—A. I had just been on this inspec-

tion of Mcintosh's division.

Q. And had you begun the inspection announced in that letter of September 9 ?

—A. Oh, yes.

Q. You say there, ' I am now going up to go over the 13 cuttings where common
excavation and loose rock were transferred to solid (5,855 yards) in July, and am
taking Mr. Heaman up to go over the whole division with Mr. Mcintosh and report.'

That is on September 9 ?—A. Yes, Mr. Heaman came up with me and we went over

Mcintosh's division together.

Q. Had you completed that inspection which you had announced when that letter

reached you ?—A. No.

Q. And I suppose on the receipt of that letter you practically stopped your work '?

—A. I did.

Q. Yes. Did you have any communication with Mr. Lumsden shortly afterwards
with regard to the classification of divisions 5 and 6 in your district ?—A. I think

I wired him.

Q. Have you the telegram ? You have the telegram produced, is it not, I have
seen it—I think it is dated the 22nd—it was produced this morning. I will read tho

translation—it was sent in cipher by Major Hodgins to the chief engineer :

EXHIBIT No. 14.

' Kenora, Ont., September 22, 1907.

(Translation.)

'If Mcintosh tries to justify his classification rrlVr to ^fann and Hoanian. Ask
Mcintosh how much experience he has had in classirication, what position he held

Major Hodgins.
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prior to joining T.C. Ry. Ask Grant same questions, both records would be interest-

ing. If their opinion is against Mann's, Heaman's and mine, reclassification divi-

sions 5 and 6 is absolutely necessary. I was stopped in the middle of it by your letter.

Waiting reply to my message about leave.

'A. E. HODGINS.'
Now, at that time, or rather just previous to that letter, had you received a com-

munication from Mr. Mann, the district engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific ?—A.

Yes, I got a letter from him as I was coming out.

Q. These letters were forwarded, were they not, or were they, to the chief engi-

neer ?—A. Yes, I presume so, I got them just about the time I was leaving; I could

not say.

Q. Now, the letter of September 6, which I will put in, with the additional letter

of September 9, which is explanatory, is as follows :

—

EXHIBIT No. 15.

' Grand Trunk Pacific Eailway,

Engineering Department^

^ Kenora, Ont., September, 6, 1907.
* Major A. E. Hodgins,

* District Engineer, Section " E,"
' Kenora, Ont.

' Dear Sir,—I have recently been over the ground between the east end of Canyon
lake and the English river.'

Is that on your district?—A. Yes, that is the end of it, under construction.

Q. (Continues reading) :

' And would like to call your attention to some points on. this work, particularly

classification. As regards the portion of work between the C.P.R. crossing at Rennie
and the east end of Canyon lake, I have already expressed myself to you as having no
fault to find.'

Just there, had you been in communication with Mr. Mann from time to time?

—

A. Oh, yes.

Q. How long had he been on the work, from the commencement?—A. No, he only

came on soon after the construction started.

Q. And he had represented the Grand Trunk Pacific there?—A. In joint super-

vision with me.

Q. (Continues reading) :

' The same cannot be said, however, for divisions 5 and 6.'

Whose divisions are those?—A. Mcintosh's and Eichan's.

Q. (Continues reading)

:

' I find that at many points on these divisions the classifhcation is too liberal, while

at some points it is excessive. 1 can't tell in some cases just what classification has

been allowed for the reason that there is no distinction made between solid rock in

classification, and in place; that is solid in boulders and in mass. In some cases,,

however, as between Canyon lake and the Wabigoon river, where the solid in place in

some of the cuts had not been touched at the time I saw it, an amount of solid has

teen allovjed that quite evidently ivas not hased on the measurement of boulders found

that would class as solid under the specification. Loose rocJc has also heen allowed in

quantities that could not possihly he given if the specification were followed as the

only guide. I do not wish it to be understood that I am asking that the specification

should be strictly followed in this matter. In consideration of the somewhat unusual

difiiculties under which this work has been carried on, this would, I think, be unjust

to the contractor. On the other hand, it would not seem safe to classify solely by the

cost of the work to the contractor, particularly to trust the average field man with the
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free use of such a method. This would seem to call for special experience, and among
other things, the ability to judge of the quality of management displayed on the part

of the contractor, both principal and sub. Supposing this management to be reason-

ably good, the cost of work as shown by force account^ &c., would he useful^ and I

think, necessary guide to classification, in material that is classifiable, lioch in place

does not, however, come under this heading, and the contractor's profit or loss must
depend on his own exertions.

' As I have already said, there seems no cause for complaint as regards classifica-

tion, as a whole, on divisions 7, 8 and 9.

' Moreover, as I find it necessary to ohject to, and ash for a reclassification on

divisions 5 and 6, and wish to ask on behalf of the company only what is fair, and

even liberal, will go further and say that on a large proportion of divisions 7, 8 and 9,

the classifications might, in my opinion, be more liberal. Some of the resident

engineers, as for instance, Mr. Sunstrum, are high enough, and in a few points perhaps

a little too high, but on the whole these divisions might be treated more liberally. I

noticed also in many places small pockets and thin stripping of bad material composed
largely of roots, stones and water in cuts otherwise solid rock. These, I think, might
be measured in with the cut; and if the contractor wishes, wasted on the side. A
moderate amount of this material is of no use in the fill, as will usually not more than

£11 the voids in the rock. In such stripping, however, should not he included pockets

of muslceg of such size that they can and are taken out by station, men. I am of the

opinion that a reclassification of the entire work would not result in any reduction of

the estimate to the end of July; there might be some increase of which the contractors

on the western end would get the benefit. A more uniform classification, even if a

little liberal, would also be more easy of defence and more creditable to all responsible.
' In one particular the contractor has been treated most liberally on all the

divisions. That is the matter of overbreak and waste. It is impossible to avoid the

iconclusion that much of this is intentional. It occurs often at places where every

yard is needed, and where for every yard wasted a yard will have to be borrowed.

There are many points on the work, too numerous to mention now, where overbreak

and waste are excessive. In places blocks of stone of five to ten yards are thrown from
one to two hundred feet from the line into the bush. As a particularly bad example of

waste, I might mention the cut at station 3365, mile 64, where a large amount of

material is wasted that is needed in the fill, and where it still might be brought back.
' I give the following as examples of over-classification, &c.
' Sta. 4260, Mile 31, east end of cut.

' Sta. 4170 " 79, both ends of cut.
" 4150 " 79, noted as bad cut but classified very liberal.

" 4150 " 79, noted as heavily over-classified (east end).
" 4065 " 77, appears to be heavily over-classified. It will be necessary,

to have solid in classification, and solid in place, if any,

separated before it can be judged.
" 4010 " 46, example of large waste.
" 3846 " 73, very liberal.

" 3836 " 73, decidedly too liberal.

" 3784 " 72, east end. Decidedly too liberal.

" 3750 " 72, west end. Decidedly too liberal.

" 3365 " 64, example of excessive waste.-

" 2750 " 53, much over-classified.

" 2730 to 2660, miles 51 and 52. These are bad cuttings and need liberal

treatment, which they are getting.

Sta. 2373, mile 45, east end of cut. Classification oxtrcmcly liberal.

Sta. 1873 to 1899, mile 36. Classification appears decidedly too liberal, but it

will be necessary to separate portion from 1890 to 1899 before it will be possible to

say to what extent. Main portion of cut is dry sand.

Major Hodqins.



158 SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON MAJOR HODGINS' CHARGE

8

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 190»

Sta. 1548, mile 30, excessive classification.

Sta. 1475 to 1491, mile 28 to 39. Am not able to get at the total quantities for

this cut. The return of July gives 5,285 cubic yards of loose rock in material that can

be called nothing but sand. At the beginning of the cut there is a small amount of

material that could be classified, but a hundred yards would be sufficient for the whole

cut. Unless some mistake in the figures this is one of the most striking examples of

over-classification on the work.

Sta. 1383 to 1390, mile 27. This is very similar to the last. A large amount of

loose rock appears for july material that is sand, without any boulders in sight.

Sta. 1258, mile 24, this borrow is over-classified or no borrow should be taken

from here at all. This fill and a number of large fills on divisions 5 and 6, might be
made up by train fill at train fill prices and at a profit to the contractor, and excellent

sand borrow is available. No borrow need or should be taken that would exceed the

price of train fill flat.

, Sta. 1060, mile 21, decidedly too liberal classification.

Sta. 1038, mile 20, noted as needing liberal classification.

Sta. 1025, mile 20, box culvert. IsToted as very poor sample, being made up
mostly of stone so small as to be not much above the class of spauls.

Sta. 932, mile 18, decidedly over-classified
;

very loose material.

Sta. 915, mile 18, decidedly over-classified.

Sta. 886 to 890, mile 17, over-classified. (Ditch.)

Sta. 886, mile 17. A very poor sample of box culvert.

It must be said that the box culverts on this end of the work are very poor,

whether dry masonry or laid in cement. If no better stone is available, they should all

be laid in cement of a good quality, and no dry boxes should be built under sand fills.

As to quality of cement being used at this end of the work Mr. Heaman can give you
some information.

There are other points on the line where there is room for criticism, but those

given above are the most striking examples. I find it difficult to get at the exact con-

ditions on Mr. Richan's division, as the figures I have given details for the month of

July only, and totals mile by mile. For a thorough understanding of the work, I will

need to have all information cut by cut, &c., and solid rock in place, and classified

solid should be separated. Will be greatly obliged if you will arrange so that I can get

this information in future estimates.

In conclusion I wish to say again that I do not wish to ask for anything unrea-

sonable as regards this matter of classification. My instructions as to what may be

considered allowable are very liberal. I find it impossible, however, to accept such

classification as specified above.

Yours truly,

W. E. MANN,
District Engineer, G.T.P.R/

The explanatory letter of September 9 is as follows :

—

EXHIBIT No. 16.

Grand Trunk Pacific Railway,
Kenora, Ont., September 9, 1907.

Major A. E. Hodgins,

District Engineer, Transcontinental Ry.,

Kenora, Ont.

Dear Sir,—I would like to add a few words to my letter of the 6th instant on the
subject of classification, with reference particularly to the short portion of the work
east of the east end- of Canyon lake, Mile 81.

Mile 81, can you say whose division that was in?—A. Mile 81?

Q. About the east end of Canyon lake. Mile 81?—(No answer.)



MINUTES OF EVIDENCE 159

APPENDIX No. 5

(Continues reading) :

' As I have said, there was on the whole up to the time I saw it, no cause for

complaint as to classification from this point west, while to the east it is quite different.

I had been able to see only a small portion of this latter under the June estimate, and
thought then that the classification was extremely liberal, even too much so, and
intended calling your attention, to it. I decided, however, that as this work was
undoubtedly bad, it would be better to let this go until I could see it again. I was
surprised to find that under the July estimate the classification was much higher, a

large amount of solid rock classification having been added. As for instance of change

in classification in the July estimate, would call attention to the east end of cut 4250

to 4257. By the June estimate the quantities moved are solid rock 148 c. y., loose rock

3,158 c. y., common excavation 6,894 c. y. For the July estimate this becomes solid

168 c. y., loose 5,838 c. y., and common excavation 6,894 c. y. This is all the work
returned in July and classified as loose and solid rock. From an inspection of the

cut I have no hesitation in saying that the work done before July was harder than

what was done since, and that even up to the end of June the classification was too

high in this cut.

' The other cuttings from 4140 to 4200, I had noted as bad, but classified very

liberally. The July classification is, however, altogether too much so. No doubt this

work is costing the contractor high, but this could not be otherwise with the inadequate

plant in use, and the haphazard, spasmodic way in which it is being handled.
' In saying in my letter of the 6th, that I think the classification might average

a little more liberally on the western divisions, I do not mean it to be inferred that I
think the men on those divisions are not allowing all, and even a little more than a

strict interpretation of the specification will admit. It seems, how^ever, work on which
a decidedly liberal interpretation of the specification is necessary. Hence my sugges-

tion that classification on those divisions might be raised. If this would help forward

toward the earlier completion of the work it would be worth the extra cost.

' Yours truly,

' W. E. MANN,
'District Engineer, G.T.F. By."

Committee adjourned.

Wednesday, May 20, 1908.

The committee met at 11 o'clock a.m.

The examination of Major Tlodgins resumed.

Mr. TIoDGiNS.—I have already put in the letter of September 14 from Major
Tlodgins to Mr. Lumsden (Exhibit No. 6), and referred to it so far as it related to

these items. I wish to call the attention of the committee to what there is in the

letter beyond that (reads) :

*Mr. Mcintosh ordered, that 2,700 yards of loose rock- in the cut near Sta. 4240,

should be turned into solid rock in the month of July, and in cutting starting at 4250,

the same number of yards was returned as loose rock instead of common excavation,

which it surely is, being the finest sand cut that can be found on the line. This should

not have occurred and I report the matter to you to deal with.

I have also to report to you that Mr. Mcintosh allowed his resident engineer on
Res. 25, to add some 660 yards to the estimate on cutting 3848, west of the Wabigoon
river. The resident engineer did this to cover up the extravagant classification that

he had given to station men when they were quitting. The men have gone away, and
unless the same men come back to work this out, this cut will be estinuited to contain

Major Hodgins.
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600 yards more than has been taken out, to say nothing of the very liberal classification

in loose rock being a clay cutting with the exception of a little lump of solid rock

encountered near the mouth.
' The last time I was over Mr. Mcintosh's work, I found at Sta. 3402, mile 64,

that some 900 yds. pure muskeg had been returned as solid rock. The resident engi-

neer informed me that this muskeg was taken out by station men and the contract

paid them 23 cents a yard. It was wasted to the side. The reason for returning this

as solid rock, claimed both by Mr. Mcintosh and the resident engineer, was that it was
a pocket in a rock cut. I ordered Mr. Mcintosh not to let this sort of thing occur

iigain, and to return it and classify it correctly. The resident engineer estimated the

day I was there that some 1,800 yards of muskeg had been taken out to date, and he

would nave returned all this as solid rock if I had not stopped him. You can conclude

from this, what sort of classification has been made on Mr. Mcintosh's division since

the June estimate went in.

' Mr. Mcintosh claims he was not influenced by Mr. Grant's remarks, but some-

thing has influenced him to classify in this extravagant and improper way.
^ It is to be noticed that he is the only engineer picked out by Mr. Grant as one

<?apable of classifying properly, and Mr, Grant suggested to me that Mr. Mcintosh be

appointed assistant district engineer, with headquarters at Winnipeg river, and that

the whole of the classification in this district be left in his hands.
^ Under ordinary circumstances Mr. Mcintosh should be discharged, but as some-

thing has influenced him to classify in this extravagant way I thought it better to

refer the matter to you rather than deal with him myself.

' If common excavation and loose rock are to be lumped wholesale into the column
for solid rock against my orders I wish to be relieved of all responsibility.

' I told all the engineers to be as liberal as they possibly could in the classification

of mixed material and always to give the contractor the benefit of the doubt if any
sort of argument could be used to classify this material as loose rock, but they must
•strictly draw the line in returning solid rock where solid rock does not exist.

Yours truly,

^A. E. HODGINS,
' District Engineer.*

Now I will read the letter of September 3 from Major Tlodgins to Mr. Lumsden :

EXHIBIT No. 17.

'Private and Confidential 'Kenora, Ont., September 3, 1907.

^ Hugh D. Lumsden, Esq.,
' Chief Engineer,

' Ottawa.

' Dear Sir,—I hope you have not forgotten that it would be necessary for you to

•continue your investigation of Mr. Grant's charges in his report on this district.

' So far I have only shown the report to two engineers, Messrs. Heaman and Mc-
intosh. Both said it was a misrepresentation of facts and was unprofessional.

' I showed it also to Messrs. Ilazelwood and J. D. McArthur, who said that a
report like that should not have been sent in. Mr. Hazelwood said that any little kick,

-such as the want of a drain and a few other things had been exaggerated 1,000 times.
^ I asked Mr. McArthur if he thought it fair, and I told him that I had not showed

it to the engineers on the work, and asked him to have the charges against the engi-

neers denied from his ofiice as he knew them to be untrue. He replied that he could
not do that, as it would make him appear a fool in the eyes of the Commissioners,

as Mr. Grant was sent up to help him out.

^ Yours truly,

^A. E. HODGINS,
^District Engineer/
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Q. Who is Mr. Hazelwood?—A. He is Mr. McArthur's engineer, the contractor's

engineer.

Q. This is a letter you received from Mr. McArthur, dated^ August 9, 1907

(exhibiting letter) ?—A. Yes.

EXHIBIT No. 18.

* (Personal.) Winnipeg, August 9, 19(^7.

*A. E. HoDGiNS, Esq.,

^District Engineer, Transcontinental Ry.,

^Kenora, Ont.

^ My Dear Hodgins,—I hear that you arrived safely home and trust that you had

a successful trip.

* I have heard nothing from the east for three weeks or more, so that if you con-

template coming into the city Monday night or so I wish you would let me know so

that I would arrange to meet you, as I would like to have a chat with you.
' I must congratulate you on the July estimate, as there is some encouragement in

receiving an estimate like this, and if things continue along this line I am positive

that I will see daylight soon.

* Trusting that this will find you enjoying the best of health as it leaves me at

present, I am
'Yours very truly,

' J. D. McARTHUE,'

Q. I notice in one of the letters a reference to a meeting of the commissioners

with Mr. Grant and the chief engineer on August 23. I want to ask you if you were

present at that meeting, or were notified of it?—A. No. It was in Ottawa, I believe.

Q. It was in Ottawa, yes? Then I will put in and intend to ask you some ques-

tions about a letter from Mr. Parent, the chief commissioner, on August 24, to the

chief engineer, Mr. Lumsden (reads)

:

EXHIBIT No. 19.

Office of the Chairman,
' August 24, 1907.

' Hugh D. Lumsden,
' Chief Engineer,

' Dear Sir,—Herewith you will find copy of a memorandum I sent to-day to the

secretary of the board, and copy of his reply, which explain themselves.
* It has become evident to me that things have not been conducted so far in

*

district ' F ' as they should. This fact was particularly impressed on the com-
missioners as a result of conversations we had with the engineer in charge, Mr.
Hodgins, and also of complaints made repeatedly by the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway
Company regarding the unsatisfactory progress of work on that section. With a view

of securing fuller information on the various parts of the work now under way,
namely in district ' F,' the commission deemed it advisable to appoint an inspecting

engineer who would keep us posted as desired, and Mr. Gordon Grant was called to

fill the position. He went over the ground and made a report which was submitted to

the board, showing that the engineer in charge of district ' F ' and his staff of

assistants, with a few exceptions, had not devoted to the work in hand all the attention

which could reasonably be expected. Among other things it was stated tliat the district

engineer and his assistants had neither of them since construction began gone over

the work as they should have done. In the opinion of the inspector reported to the

board the classification of the work has been faulty. In his report replying to that of

5—11
IMajor Hodgixs.
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Mr. Grant, Mr. Hodgins suggests as a remedy for these defects, that the resident

engineers should be the ones to look after the classification. For my part, I entirely

disagree with this view. Such a policy would certainly not be conducive to the

uniformity desired, and judging from our present experience there, we would very
likely have as many different ways of classifying the work as there are engineers. In
certain cases the classification would be too strict, and on others, not enough. And
again, some engineers on their own judgment might be inclined to put under the

arbitrary description of * force account ' items which should be duly classified. This

practice cannot be allowed under any circumstances, and entirely contrary to the

contracts.

'There is a letter from Mr. Hodgins, dated the 6th inst., addressed to you, which
should have been submitted to the board, together with document No. 4 attached, so

as to give every available information on the subject.'

Q. Just here I would like to ask whether that letter I put in yesterday, of August

6, and the document 'No. 4 attached, are the ones we have been referring to as relating

to that transfer of classification from common excavation and loose rock to solid rock?

—A. I presume so.

' They came to our notice incidentally. It would appear from its contents that

after certain items had been classified a change was deemed necessary, and other

classifications made which it would seem received his approval.*

^ Q. Is that last statement true ?—A. I passed the July estimate when it first came
to my notice because of the explanation Mr. Mcintosh had made in that statement

which was attached, and I saw Mr. Lumsden. I wrote to Mr. Lumsden about it, and

also saw him and told him I was going out to look over it. I did not likte the sudden

jump in classification without any reason, and I put it down to Mr. Grant's being on

the work.

Q. I want to fix the date of that interview with Mr. Lumsden?—A. I cannot fix

it. I think it was about the 12th or 13th, the time he came up to start the investiga-

tion on the work.

Q. The 12th or 13th of what?—A. Of August. He was up there about that time.

Q. Where did the interview take place?—A. This took place in Winnipeg. We
had gone from the work to Winnipeg. I think I sent back to the office to get that

statement of Mr. Mcintosh's showing the change and showed it to him in the hotel,

and told him I had already sent it to him.

Q. The statement is made that this classification had received your approval?

—

A. It may be claimed that it had received my approval because I had passed it in one

estimate.
'"^

Q. The July estimate ?—A. The July estimate.

Q. And after that you had seen Mr. Lumsden about the 13th of August?—A. I

had seen Mr. Mcintosh after that, and his explanation was not satisfactory and I cut

it out of the August estimate.

' Such a state of affairs shows that there has surely been negligence somewhere in

the management of this district, and, from a consideration of these facts, the natural

inference would be that the district engineer is not competent to handle properly such

work as he is now entrusted with. Under the circumstances, it is the duty of the chief

engineer to take whatever means are required to put a stop to conditions which have

already existed too long. Among the points of first importance requiring your atten-

tion is to find and suggest a way to the different district engineers and others to ensure,

as much as possible, a uniform classification according to the plans and specifications

on which the contracts are made with the contractors. It is essential that there be no
misunderstanding on the subject. In this connection I might point out that the Com-
mission never authorized any one, nor can it do so, to disregard in any respect the

letter of our contracts and specifications, which must be the only guide to go by, and
that for no reason can anything be paid to the contractors or their sub-contractors

which is not provided for in the same. At the same time it must be borne in mind
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that contractors are entitled to a fair and reasonable classification, based as already

stated. We cannot deprive them of what is rightfully their own under the contracts

and specifications.

' It was mentioned to you that Major Hodgins had stated that he had changed the

classifications of certain items of work in order to meet our wishes. In that case he

should be informed at once that no such changes should be effected, as any instruc-

tions to that effect must come direct from you
;

and, moreover, inasmuch as the Com-
missioners never instructed him yet in that sense, nor did they express the desire to

Mr. Hodgins to make any such changes interfering in any way with his right to make
classifications just and reasonable, based upon the specifications.

^ Furthermore, in order to avoid the risk, of any difficulty later on, it should be

made a rule, as far as possible, that the classifications receive the approval of the

engineer representing the Grand Trunk Pacific Eailway at the various points where

there is work going on.

'In conclusion, as documents explaining changes made in certain estimates of

District ''F' were added to the same after they had gone through and without our

seeing them, I must decline the responsibility of certifying to the said estimates before

being furnished with a full explanation of the matter.

' Awaiting a reply at your earliest convenience,

'Yours truly,

' S. PARENT,
' Chairman/

Q. I now propose to hand in Mr. Lumsden's letter in reply to Mr. Parent, which
reads as follows:

—

EXHIBIT No, 20.

The Commissioners of the Transcontinental Railway.

Office of the Chief Engineer,,

Ottawa, August 27, 1907.

Hon. S. N. Parent,

Chairman, Transcontinental Railway Commission,

Ottawa, Ont.

Dear Sir^—In reply to yours of the 24th instant, I beg to say in regard to the

unsatisfactory progress of the work in district ' E ' that, in my opinion, this was
attributable to the lack of labour and its quality, and not to the engineers on the work.

The district engineer, or his assistant, were not, in my opinion, on the work
actually under construction as much as they should have been, but how far the latter's

movements were governed by orders from his superior I am unable to say.

In regard to the classifications of the work, I am now, and always have been, of

the opinion that the resident engineer on the work is the proper person to make the

classification in the first instance, as he sees the work from day to day, and makes
the necessary measurements. That his classification should be confirmed, or amended,

by the division engineer, who should go over the ground with the resident engineer

several times during the month, and this should be further confirmed or amended by
the district efigineer, or his assistant, who should go over the work with the division

and resident engineer as frequently as possible, and see that the classification is as

uniform as practicable throughout the district.

In regard .to Mr. Hodgins' letter to me dated the 6tli inst., this together with

other letters and forms accompanying the July estimate, should have been handed

by my accountant (who chocks the estimates) to my assistant in my absence, and thou
sent to the board, but as heretofore these had not been asked for they were not

sent, I shall see in the future that this is complied with.

Major Hodgins.
5—Hi
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Mr. Hodgins' conduct in issuing, without authority from me, orders to his division

engineers to classify cuttings by use of force account, irrespective of the actual

material in them, was unwarranted, and on his informing me of his having done so,

I told him I did not and would not approve of any such order without authority from
the commissioners. He gave me as his reasons for so doing that he understood this

was the wish of the commissioners, and further stated that he had given these instruc-

tions owing to the statements made by Mr. Grant, inspecting engineer to sub-contrac-

tors and others, and also stated that he was influenced to do this from his knowledge
that many of the sub-contractors would throw up the work if something was not done

at once, and he relied on having a decision in regard to this matter before the end of

August. As you are aware, Mr. Grant in his replies to questions asked him by me,
denies having given any instructions, or having told the contractor, or his sub-con-

tractors, that they were being unfairly dealt with by the 'engineers on the work, except
on Scott's residency.

I have informed Mr. Hodgins both by wire and letter that you do not approve of

his instructions; the classification must be as per contract and specifications; and the

division engineers should be notified to so classify, and accompany their estimates

with a letter stating that they have so classified, failing which the estimates will not

be approved by me.

I also sent a letter to Mr. Hodgins enclosing copy of questions asked Mr. Grant
and his replies thereto (copy attached).

In view of the present state of feeling in regard to district I have come to

the conclusion that it might be well to replace Mr. Hodgins by appointing some
engineer, who must be of good standing' and extensive experience on construction in

a rough country, in charge of this district, and that he be given another assistant

district engineer as well as the present one, such assistant also to be a man of con-

siderable experience on such work.

I agree with the idea that as far as practicable the classification on each district

should receive the approval of the Grand Trunk Pacific engineer, and such approval

should be obtained from time to time in writing, if possible.

I beg to hand you herewith copy of July estimate together with forms and letters

referred to.

Your obedient servant,

HUGH D. LTJMSDEIT,
Chief Engineer,

I am going into force account a little later. I will not say anything with

respect to the reference to it in the letter at the moment. On August 27th when Mr.
Lumsden wrote from Ottawa was he in possession of your views with regard to that

change in the July classification?—A. In August?
Q. Yes?—A. Well it was cut out of the August estimate.

Q. This letter written by him to you is dated on the 27th August. You say your
interview with him was on the 12th or 13th August at Winnipeg?—A. Yes.

Q. I am asking you now so as to get it down to a focus was he aware at the time
of writing that letter of your views?—A. Yes. We had discussed the subject of the

transfer of common excavation and loose rock to solid rock. We could not understand

it, neither of us could understand it. I discussed with Mr. Lumsden the question

which was in that statement showing that so many yards of common excavation and
loose rock had been transferred to solid rock and neither of us could understand it.

Q. So at the time you spoke to him in Winnipeg he knew that you were going

to investigate, in fact he told you to do so ?—A. Yes.

Q. Had you at that time approved of the change of classification or afterwards

did you approve of it ?—A. I had approved of it in the July estimate.

Q. You had passed it?—A. I had passed it

Q. Do you know anything about his approving or disapproving of it?—A. I

was not going to hold up the whole estimate for a small item like that.
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Q. Did you approve of it when you met Mr. Lumsden and talked it over v^ith

him?—A. No, I understood it was stripping and the mixed wash of material you
generally get when you are approaching rock.

Q. I am asking whether there was any justification for the statement that you
had approved of this change of classification, that is all?—A. Excepting as I say

in that estimate.

Q. And were you in that letter disapproving of it?—A. I told him, Mr. Lumsden,
why I had signed the estimate. I told him I had passed the estimate. I think I had
just got back from a trip when the estimate came in.

Q. And what did you tell him?—A. That I would go on the work and look at it,

and he said yes I had better do that at once.

Q. And the result of that is shown in your letters which have been put in?—A.
Yes.

Mr. Carvell.—That would be the letter of September 6.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—September 14- and the previous letter. I think they were put in

last night. I would like to get the letter from Mr. Lumsden to the chief commisr
sioner dated Ottawa, November 19, 1907.

Document produced.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I will now put that letter in (reads) :

EXHIBIT No. 21.

Ottawa^ No\' ember 19, 1907.

Hon. S. N. Parent,
Chairman,

Dear Sir,—In regard to the last clause but one in Major Hodgins' letter to you
dated the 9th inst., I may say that Major Hodgins did, as he states, take the respon-

sibility of issuing the instructions to his division engineers, even though I told, him
I did not, and would not, approve of them without written authority from the com-

missioners, and I did not then and there order him not to do so, as he personally

knew the feelings of his sub-contractors, or their intentions, better than I did, as

mentioned to you in my letter of 27th of August. I did cut short my trip of

inspection and hurried back to Ottawa, and verbally reported to the commissioners

on the 19th instant. Major Hodgins doubtless believed that in issuing such instruc-

tions he was doing what he thought best as a temporary expedient, pending a decis-

ion which was sent him by wire on the 24th August, and I may say that the issu-

ing of those orders by him was not my reason for suggesting a change of district

engineers.

Yours truly,

HUGH D. LmiSDEN,

Q. Now, dealing with the question which is referred to in that letter, which Mr.

Lumsden says was not his reason for recommending a change, you were asked for, I

believe, and reported to the chief engineer, your reasons for suggesting the use of force

account in connection with the classifications. Now, I propose to put in and rend that

letter, and then I want to ask you the circumstances under which the suggestion was
made. The letter shows exactly what the witness did, it is from Major Hodgins to

Mr. Lumsden, dated September 4, as follows :

—

EXHIBIT No. 22.

* H. D. Lumsden, Esq., < Kenora, September 4, 1907.
* Chief Engineer,

* Ottawa,

'Dear Sir—In reply to yours of the 24th August, 1907, the reasons I had for

giving the order to classify partially by force account wore as follows :

—

Major Hodgins.
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^ The contractors were losing money on mixed material because of the continuous
wet weather we have been having for the last two months.

' The rate of wages has risen from IT^c. to 25c. per hour since the contract was
signed, and the quality of the labour very poor.

' Contractors claimed that if they did not get some of Mr. Grant's promises they
would pull out, and that the government should not expect to get the work done for

less than cost.

' Force account as a guide for classification, not as Mr. Grant suggested, but in

the manner I explained to the engineers, would be justifiable under the present condi-

tions.

' On the double tracking of the Canadian Pacific Kailway resident engineers

<;lassify altogether by force account plus 10%. On the Grand Trunk Pacific branch
similar classification to that I suggested is in force, and I am given to understand
that force account classification is done on District '

* B.'

'After having explained these conditions to you at Mr. Willetfs, and after the

discussion between Messrs. Macfarlane, Willett, yourself and myself, it was finally

agreed that it was the best thing to do under the circumstances, only you had no
authority to sanction it. I informed you that I thought the commissioners would
sanction my actions, as something had to be done at once. I pointed out that this

re-classification could not be made in one estimate, as there was not sufficient time,

and that there was ample time for you to return to Ottawa, lay the matter before the

board and wire me before the estimate went in. I sent no written instructions to

engineers.
' Since I received your wire instructions have gone out not to classify as I sug-

gested, and the estimate will not be based on my suggested classification.

' The classification I proposed was in mixed material only, not solid rock, and in

some cases we would not have been able to classify contractors up to the cost of the

work. It would have amounted to very little and would have cheered everyone up
and helped things along for the next month or two, when I hoped labour would be

more plentiful. In many cases cuttings are going behind for want of sufficient men
to work them.

'Yours truly,

' A. E. HODGINS.'
By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Now, I wish you would just tell me what the situation was on that District

^ P ' at the time that the chief engineer came upland saw you, about the 12th or 13th

of August ?—A. I had gone up on the work to investigate in connection with some of

llr. Grant's charges. I had first gone to the Winnipeg river, Mr. Willett's camp.

Q. When was this ?—A. Just before Mr. Lumsden came up ; it would be about the

Sth or 9th of August. That date can be verified by a letter; there is a letter from
Mr. Willett about it—and I met Mr. A. G. Macfarlane and Mr. Wiliett at their camp.

We went over some of the work and discussed the classification. The contractor, Mr.

Dutton, was kicking a good deal about classification in large cuttings and was kicking

on the classification generally on Mr. Willet's work. Mr. Dutton was rather inclined

to abuse these two engineers for not classifying as high as had been classified on Mr.

Mcintosh's division. We discussed the question pretty generally, classification and

one thing and another, and Mr. Dutton said if he got some of the promises Mr. Grant

made him that was all he wanted, but if he did not he would pull out.

By Mr. Hodgins :

Q. If he did not get that he would pull out ?—A. He had 60 miles of work, he was

the largest sub-contractor on the contract. I asked him what promises Mr. Grant had

made him, but he laughed and said he would not tell me. Then I think he went away,

and Mr. Macfarlane, Mr. Willet and I discussed matters generally. Oh, Mr. Dutton

said, if he 'got enough to pull' him out even/ those are the words he used, on that

work, that was all he wanted.
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Q. What would have been the effect of his pulling out, that is what I want to get

at?

Mr. Murphy.—I do not know whether this is permissible, this talk between this

wilness and a sub-contractor.

Mr. Barker.—I presume it will explain why he acted in a particular way.

Mr. Murphy.—I submit it is not proper evidence.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—It is perfectly good evidence.

Mr. Lennox.—It is the best kind of evidence we can have as to why he acted iu

a certain way.

Mr. Carvell.—Supposing these statements are all untrue.

Mr. Barker.—That this conversation never took place, do you mean?
Mr. Carvell.—That this sub-contractor made a lot of statements to this witness

which were not true.

Mr. Barker.—Still that would be the cause of Major Hodgins acting in a certain

way.

Mr. Hodgins.—There cannot be any possible ground for shutting out the state-

ments made by those on the work.

The Chairman.—You asked the witness what his opinion was, or what his under-

standing was of the words which were uttered.

Mr. Hodgins.—^Pardon me, no, I did not.

The Chairman.—Then what do you take it to mean?
Mr. Hodgins.—My question is, what would the effect on the district be of Mr.

Button pulling out.

The Chairman.—That is asking the question of the witness, what he understood

it to be.

Mr. Hodgins.—No, pardon me, everybody understands what pulling out means

—

throwing up the contract—I want to know what effect the carrying out of that inten-

tion would have on the work.

Mr. Murphy.—It was more particularly the question preceding that to which I

directed the attention of the committee and to which I objected. This enquiry will

be interminable and practically of no effect if conversations that may have taken place

between Major Hodgins and all kinds and conditions of people are allowed to be

repeated here according to the major's recollection of them. Mr. Button is not con-

nected in any way with the commission.

Mr. Carvell.—It will be simply impossible to send for every man on the work,

if Major Hodgins chooses to bring his name into it, the commissioners will have the

right to send for Mr. Button and every other man on the work, conversations with

whom are repeated by Major Hodgins.

Mr. Hodgins.—Why not, if you say they are untrue, you can call them.

Mr. Carvell.—I say, rule such evidence out and we wont have to call them, then.

What I say is let Major Hodgins confine his evidence to what was said and done by

the commissioners and any of the commissioners' agents or engineers; that is per-

fectly good evidence, but when it gets down to what may have been said between
Major Hodgins and some entire outsider, I think it is entirely a stretch of imagin-
ation to give it as evidence.

Mr. Barker.—Mr. Carvell is trying to get back into what was stated at the beginn-
ing; this is not a court martial of Major Hodgins nor a trial of the commissioners.

Mr. Carvell.—It is a trial of the commissioners.

Mr. Barker.—That is not the case, this is a question referred to us by Parliniiiont

to investigate.

Mr. Lennox.—As I understand it among the matters referred to us is the question
whether there has been improper classification.

Mr. Carvell.—Oh no, to find out whether the charges by ^Fajor Hodgins are true
or untrue.

Major Hodgins.
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Mr. Lennox.—Among other things to ascertain whether there has been improper

classification, the others are incidents.

Mr. Barker.—We may as well settle the question at once. This committee are

empowered to investigate not merely Major Hodgins' charges, but everything bearing

upon the papers submitted to us.

Mr. Carvell.—I submit that this committee is here to enquire into the truth or

falsity of Major Hodgins' charges.

The Chairman.—That is it.

Mr. Carvell.—That is all there is to it and I protest as strongly as I know how
against any evidence being taken here except what will bear upon those charges.

Mr. Lennox.—^Here is what is referred to us :

—

^Eesolved: That the memorandum of the Chairman of the Transcontinental Kail-

way Commissioners to the Prime Minister, of date the 23rd April, and laid on the

table of this House on the 24th instant, and the papers accompanying same, together

with the letter of Major Hodgins to the public press therein referred to, be referred to

a special committee of five members, with instructions to investigate the matters and
charges therein mentioned.'

^ Now we have to go to the papers laid on the table of the House and we have to

include the letter of Major Hodgins, and whatever statements are contained in any

of those papers we are to investigate; and one important statement contained in these

documents laid upon the table of the House, and the most important statement con-

tained in them is with reference to the question of the improper classification, and
that I certainly propose to investigate, unless it is shut off by force.

Mr. Barker.—All these papers are submitted to us.

Mr. Murphy.—That does not cover the point I have raised. The witness was
not discussing the improper classification which he alleges, with the commission or

their agents, that is the reason why I objected.

Mr. Hodgins.—One of the charges is that Major Hodgins was removed for other

than the alleged reasons, that the reasons given were not the true ones, and I propose

to prove that Mr. Parent in his communication to the press, and also indirectly in

the letter I have read, gives as a reason that Mr. Hodgins intended to change the

classification by suggesting force accounts plus 10 per cent. Mr. Lumsden has said

that was not the reason for suggesting his removal. I am now proceeding to give

—

I have the perfect right to give—the reason that actu^ed Major Hodgins in making
the suggestion in order to show that the commissioners were entirely unjustified in

saying that is the reason for his removal, as the chairman alleged. It is perfectly good
evidence when a man is in a certain situation and has to take certain action, and his

good faith in regard to this is impugned and he is dismissed for it, to show that the

'statements made to him by people connected with the work, and who were seized with

the situation of the work itself, to show the grounds upon which he acted. He has

a perfect right to demonstrate that he acted in good faith and in the interest of the

commission, if they sought to show that as a reason for his dismissal, in order to

throw aside the charge that he was dismissed for refusing to over-classify. No com-
mittee, it seems to me, with a reference to them such as this, can afford to shut out

evidence from Major Hodgins to show the situation actually existing and accept no
statement made by the contractor and by the sub-contractor which would show what
was going to happen if a certain thing was done.

Mr. Carvell.—I have no quarrel with Major Hodgins' statement at all, but that

is not the point we are discussing. Major Hodgins is entitled to state here what he
thinks are the true reasons why he was dismissed but that does not justify him in

going outside of the commission, its officers and agents entirely, bringing in extran-

eous matters, conversations with outside parties, and putting that forward as his

reasons for taking certain action. That is giving something to this committee and to

the public which is not proper evidence; convorsations of that kind do not in any
way bind the commission or bind the government. I am not so much opposed to Major



MINUTES OF EVIDENCE 169

APPENDIX No. 5

Hodgins giving a statement as to wliy he resigned, but I do object to my friend, his

counsel, attaining that object by improper methods and improper evidence.

Mr. Barker.—It seems to me that the question is one much broader than that.

Mr. Hodgins wished to explain why he took the action he did; when he recommended
a certain system of dealing with the classification, subject to correction from Ottawa,

through the chief engineer. He is going on to explain what the condition of things

was, and what he heard from the men performing the work; that condition, and what
he heard from these contractors were the circumstances that induced him to make that

proposition. If that is not evidence in an enquiry of this kind I cannot conceive what
is evidence.

Mr. Murphy.—^May I point out that the witness has not assailed, attacked, or

impugned what was done on the work of these two engineers, Willet and Macfarlane,

who are in charge of Dutton's work; he has been speaking of Mcintosh's work; it

would be a different thing. If he had something to do with the classification by
Mcintosh, on which Dutton could speak, but this is a different part o£ the line alto-

gether; I submit it has nothing to do with the point.
,

Mr. Lennox.—That is not the point, the witness's counsel desires to show why
he took certain action; he wants to show that this man made certain statements to

him, that he would throw up the work if he had taken a different course, and the

question is what would have been the effect of this sub-contractor had pulled out.

Mr. Murphy.—That is not the point.

Mr. Carvell.—Mr. Murphy is raising objection to questions that were asked prior

to that.

The Chairman.—Answer the question.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. "What would be the effect on the progress of the work if Dutton had pulled

out as he suggested?

Mr. Murphy.—Now, did he suggest that?

Mr. Hodgins.—^Well, he has already sworn that he did say it?

A. He did say it.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. "What would be the effect on the progress of the work done if he had pulled

out at that time?—A. It would have delayed it considerably, it would have led to a lot

of confusion and delay, one contractor pulling out would have frightened a good many
men away.

Q. How many miles of track had he?—A. 60.

Q. 60 miles, out of what was McArthur's contract, 250?—xx. 250. I thought

that the situation was very serious, serious enough to take some immediate action and
report the matter to the board, they could enquire into it.

Q. Having that view of it, then you met Mr. Lumsden, I understand?—A. He
came up, I think the next day; I went down to Kenora and he came up the next day.

Q. Did he tell you what his purpose in coming up was ?—A. He came up to go over

the line and enquire into the charges made by Mr. Grant against myself and the other

engineers in the division.

Q. To investigate the charges made by Mr. Grant against you and your assistant

and resident engineers?—A. Yes.

Q. To Mbat extent did he go over the line at that time?—A. He just went over

£>bout five nn'ies from the "Winnipeg river.

Q. About five miles. He says in his letter he cut short his trip and hurried back
to Ottawa to get a decision?—A. "Wlien he came up I laid the situation before him,
and 1 tv' Id him that I had instructed Macfarlane and Willet to go over their piece of
work and find out what the difference between the classification by force account and
the classification that Willet had put on that ii:iriic\ilar piece of work would be, if they

Major Hodgins.
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could, in order that when Mr. Lmnsden and I came up we would be able to compare

the two.

Q. Yes?—A. And when he came up I explained all this to him. We walked over

the work and saw some cuts where the classification was in dispute. He questioned

Willet very closely about the classification in each cutting and mad^notes of it in

each cutting as to what classification had been given, while Mr. Hazelwood and Mr.

Tye, the contractor's engineers, were there ; they objected to some of the classifications,

but when Mr. Lumsden came back to Willet's camp I understood from Mr. Macfar-

lane, the resident engineer, that Willet's classification was entirely satisfactory.

Q. To whom?—A. To him.

Q. Who is ' him ' ?—A. To Mr. Lumsden.

Q. Then you met at Willet's camp?—A. We met at Willet's camp.

Q. Who were present?—A. Dutton and Tye, Hazelwood, Macfarlane, Willet and

myself.

Q. Now, what information had Mr. Lumsden as to the state of affairs on the divi-

sion and the situation at that moment, which you say you regarded as serious ?—A. He
had come up to settle everything up there.

*Q. He had come up to settle everything?—A. Yes.

^ Q. What knowledge had he? What knowledge did he get from you and others in

regard to the situation and its seriousness?—A. We all discussed the situation; he

talked to every one there—to the contractors, the contractors' engineers and to us.

Q. Yes?—A. And he did not suggest anything. He said something had to be

done, or ought to be done. Then I suggested that I would take the responsibility upon
myself until he could come down to Ottawa and see the board and wire me to give

an order to classify the disputed material in mixed cuts by force account.

Q. That you would classify the disputed material by force account?—A. I would
not allow the introduction of any solid rock which did not exist. He said that was an
easy way of getting over the disputes between the contractors and the engineers. On
mixed cuttings there was continual dispute with the contractors' engineer, Mr. Hazel-

wood. When Mr. Lumsden was going over the work with Mr. Willet there was some
question came up as to the amount of loose rock to be allowed in a certain cut, and
Mr. Hazelwood claimed that if one yard was allowed there the whole cutting should be

loose rock. The argument seemed to be never-ending one way and the other, and I

thought this was the quickest and easiest way of settling it.

Q. Did Mr. Lumsden disapprove of it and forbidTit?—A. No; he did not dis-

approve of it and he did not approve of it. He said to me: ^You must distinctly

understand I can give you no authority.'

Q. And at that conversation what did you say ?—A. I said that I would take upon
myself the responsibility, as I thought this was what the commissioners wanted—^to

keep the work pushed on.

Q. What did he say to that?—A. I asked him if he would cut his trip shorthand
go down and take this matter up with the commissioners, and the inspection on the

line with reference to Grant's charges might rest for a little while.

Q. That Mr. Grant's charges might rest until this was settled?—A. He said he
would have to go to Winnipeg anyway before returning to Ottawa, but that he would
return to Ottawa. I went on to Winnipeg with him, I think, the following day.

Q. On the following day?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you have any discussion with him again?—A. No, but he had with Mr.
McArthur ; I think he had a conversation with Mr. McArthur.

Q. Had he any conversation with you?—A. No; before he went away he called

me up to his room to read a draft of a letter I think he was going to put in.

Q. Put it to whom?—A. To the board; and then he went—

—

Q. Was that the same day or the day after he arrived?—A The day after he f^ot

in.
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Q. And he left for Winnipeg ; did you go with him ?—A. I went to Winnipeg with

him.

Q. Did he return from Winnipeg to Ottawa?—A. He went straight to Ottawa,

and he was to send me a wire, ^ Yes ' or ' No,' in five days from the day he left Winni-
peg.

Q. And you got the wire?—A. I got the wire saying the commissioners would

not approve.

Q. Then had any change, in fact, been made? Had the orders been acted on, in

fact, between the two dates ?—A. 'No. I got a statement from every divisional engineer

stating that these estimates had not been based on my order.

Q. So that whatever the suggestion was it was never carried into active operation ?

—A. No.
Mr. Macdonald.—^Do I understand the major to say that although he suggested

to Mr. Lumsden as to what was to be done, nothing was done under it ?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Nothing was done under it.

Mr. Macdonald.—How were matters conducted then?

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. How were matters conducted then? You say this suggestion of yours as to

force account was not acted upon and Mr. Macdonald wants to know what was done?

—A. The order from Mr. Lumsden was that the commissioners insisted that the

specifications should be carried out.

Q. Would that annul any change in the basis of classification in your division?

—A. Oh, that settled that question.

Mr. Macdonald.—That is not the point, the question I wanted to ask was what
was done during the five days that intervened.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. What was done by your engineers during the five days which elapsed after

your order had been given?—A. With regard to carrying it out?

Q. Yes ?—A. I do not suppose it would be very much, it would have taken two or

three months to adjust everything under that order.

Q. It would take two or three months to adjust it on that order?—A. Yes.

Q. Do you know to what extent they had gone on with it during those five days?

—A. Some of them hadn't done anything, they hadn't taken notice of it, they could

not.

By Mr. Carvell:

Q. When you suggested ' force account ' did you mean that they were to go back
for, say, two or three months or was it only to be from that time forward?—A. They
were to investigate every case of dispute, wherever there would be disputed classi-

fication, instead of letting that dispute go on until the end of the work with the possi-

bility of their being a lawsuit about it, that was my way of settling it, and I offered

my suggestion.

Q. That it was to be retroactive and also to govern in future?—A. Only in cases

where the material was in dispute.

Q. I understand that it was only in case of dispute, and that it would include the

5,000 or 6,000 yards of common excavation or loose rock that had been transferred to

solid rock?—A. Yes, we would have got what the actual cost had boon, we would have
compared our own timekeeper's book with the record of the contractor.

By Mr. BarJcer:

Q. Instead of paying the schedule price for solid rock?—A. Yes, and arrived at a

fair estimate of the cost. Of course in some cases, if the work had been very costly

it would have begn impossible to have brought the contractors out even on that basis.

Ma.tor Hodgixs.
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But that of course would be their own fault if they had not done the work as cheaply

as they might have.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Do you mind explaining what force account is?—A. The actual cost of the

work.

Q. Whose actual cost?—A. The contractors.

Q. What contractors? McArthur's or the sub-contractors?—A. It would be the

wages that are paid to the men actually on the work.

Q. Take McArthur. He had sub-let this 60 miles to Button. Now had Dutton
sub-let that?—A. Oh, yes.

Q. The sub-contractor had sub-let?—A. In some cases, yes.

Q. Then we step down four or five times before getting to the man who actually

did the work?—A. Yes.

Q. And is force account based on the cost of that man or to HcArthur?—A,

Well force account would be based on the actual wages paid including the foreman
to which 10 per cent is added.

Q. By the man who actually did the work?—A. Yes, that would be the cost of

the work. Then 10 per cent would have been added to that.

By the Chairman:

Q. And the use of the plant ?—A. That includes the use of the plant, tools and a

profit. It is practically the actual cost, there is very little profit in it.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. It is not based, as I understand you and I want you to make it clear, it is not

based on the contractor's prices?—A. Well it might have been say practically at cost

or it might have been put into the estimates at so many yards of loose rock and so

many yards of common excavation.

Q. At the contractor's prices?—A. At McArthur's prices.

Q. That is what I say, at McArthur's prices. When you speak of force account,

plus 10 per cent, I want to get what the basis of that is. For instance, take solid

rock and apply force account to that. You would take the cost to the man who
actually did the work, would you not ? How much would he get. per cubic yard ?—^A.

Yes, certainly, but not the sub's prices. I see what you^mean. If the commissioners

had approved of that way of classifying it would have been based on McArthur's

prices, not on the sub's, do you see. Supposing the cost of a piece of work would be

say 11,700 and it would be rock work
(|. Let us take something there is no dispute about. As Mr. Barker points out

solid rock is a mistaken illustration. Take loose rock?—A. To reduce that $1,700 to

yards you divide by the price that McArthur was getting, not the price the sub was
getting.

Q. That is only the arithmetic to make it harmonize with the contractor's prices.

What I want to get at is, supposing you apply force account to loose rock?—A. Yes.

Q. Whose cost would you take as a basis, the 60 cents? What is McArthur get-

ting?—A. 60 cents.

Q. Would you take as cost the 60 cents or what it cost the man who actually did

the work?—A. Oh, no, McArthur's prices.

Q. I don't think you understand.

Mr. Murphy.—The witness should explain himself. He may not be giving it

the way it is wanted, but let him give his own explanation.-

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. I understand it is this way: if you take the number of men that are on the

work
Mr. Murphy.—I decidedly object to this.

The CHAIRMA.N.—I think so. We have no right to give the answer of the witness.
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By Mr. Hodgins :

Q. When you speak of force account you mean the actual cost of the work?—A.

The actual cost of the work plus 10 per cent.

Q. How do you ascertain that?—A. By taking the time of the men on the work,

the wages.

Q. Taking the wages paid by whom?—A. By the contractor.

Q. I don't know who the contractor is. By whom? Give us an instance?—A. By
McArthur.

Q. Paid by McArthur. Was McArthur paying those men who were actually doing

the work or had he sub-contracted it out and that man had sub-contracted it again ?

—

A. He was responsible for the wages.

Q. I don't care whether he is responsible or not. I want to know how you

arrived at the basis of the cost of the work. You fake the wages that were paid by the

man who is doing the work?—A. Exactly.

Mr. Murphy.—Cannot the witness answer himself?

The Chairman.—You must leave it to the witness to answer. Ask a question and

let him answer.

Mr. Carvell.—I think it is a misunderstanding between the witness and counsel.

The Chairman.—I think so.

The Witness.—I am in the dark.

Mr. Barker.—Every interruption sets him back.

The Chairman.—I know, but we must have the evidence from the witness in a

regular manner.
Mr. Lennox.—I understand that any member of the committee has a right to ask

the witness a question at any stage.

The Chairman.—Certainly.

Mr. Lennox.—I think I can explain what the witness wants to get at. It is the

actual cost of the men and the horses plus 10 per cent.

The Chairman.—^Why not let him explain that himself.

Mr. Lennox.—As a member of the committee I have a perfect right to ask him
that.

The Chairman.—^Yes, but not to answer for the witness.

Mr. Barker.—^Let him answer.

The Witness.—The actual cost includes everything.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Of course it includes everything but we want to know how you are going to

make it up?—A. From our timekeeper's record.

Q. From the timekeeper's record of the men. Does the timekeeper keep a record
of what each man whose time he keeps is getting per hour or per day?—A. Yes.

Q. And he notes that ?—A. Yes.

Q. Who does he find that out from ?—A. He counts the men on the work.

By Mr. BarTcer:

Q. How does he get the rate of wage paid?—A. From the contractor. From the
sub-contractor on the work, the man who pays.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. What I want to get, if you can give it to me, is an accurate description of the
person he gets it from. We know that McArthur has a contract for 250 mik^s and
Button for 60. Is it either of these that he asks for the wages of the men or someone
else? Who does he ascertain the rate of wages from?—A. From the book-keeper of
the sub-contractor, the man who is doing the work.

Q. Is the sub-contractor doing the work?—A. Yes. It may not be Dutton but
somebody else.

Q. That is the cost is it?—A. That is the cost.

Major Hodgins.
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Q. And that is the cost to which 10 per cent is added?—A. Yes.

Q. And if you ascertained that, you said a moment ago, in some cases you could

not bring the man out even?—A. Yes.

Q. How is that ?—A. There may not be enough yards in the cutting.

Q. Enough yards at McArthur's prices?—A. At McArthur's prices.

By the Chairman :

Q. In your experience as an engineer, under what circumstances do you generally

apply that system of force account in the construction of railways?—A. If there is

anything the contractor is asked to do that is not mentioned in the contract.

Q. If what?—^A. If you want the contractor to do any kind of work that is not

mentioned, or specifically mentioned, in the contract, that is not included in the

general description of the work he has to do, there is a clause in our specification-

By Mr. Barker :

Q. Which specially provides for that?—A. That such work is done in that way.

Extra work we call it.

By Mr. Hodgins :

^ Q. Paid for in that way?—A. Paid for in that way.

By Mr. Baricer :

Q. That is for work not mentioned in the schedules?—A. It is generally in every

specification. Sometimes it is 15 per cent. Clause 35 of the specifications reads:

—

'In addition to the foregoing contract price the Commissioners will pay to the

contractor for extra work, or for work done under written orders of the engineer not

covered by this agreement, but done in the proper execution of this contract, and for

which prices are not named herein, the actual cost of such work, with an additional

ten per cent on the cost of labour and material for the use of tools, contractor's plant,

superintending and profit, but such actual cost shall not exceed the reasonable market
value of such labour and material, as the case may be.'

By the Chairman :

Q. That is for extra work?—A. An additional ten per cent.

Q. But do you apply it to contracts generally^ sometimes ?—A. It altogether

depends.

Q. How is that?—A. It altogether depends. You must have—an engineer could

not do it on his own authority. He must have higher authority for it.

By Mr. Hodgins :

Q. He must have higher authority for it. An engineer cannot do it under his

own authority, he must have ?—A. He must have authority from his superiors.

By Mr. Carveil:

Q. Before you leave this branch of the case. If force account, that is the actual

cost, including the wages, and ten per cent added, applies, and it amounted to more
than the cutting would figure out at McArthur's schedule of prices, according to your
proposition would the commission be paying more than the contract provides for?

—

A. You see, we don't go into any of those things.

Q. It is a fair question and I want a fair answer. If force account, plus ten per
cent, applies and figures out more than the cutting would figure out according to

McArthur's prices, then, under your proposition, would the commission pay more than
the contract provides for?—A. It would just depend how that cut was classified. The
dispute was this: that we were not giving enough classification. Therefore, it is ta

be presumed that this way of getting out of it, this force account arrangement, would
have increased it.
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Q. You are not answering my question?—A. I do not quite catch onto it.

Q. You understand the point?—A. No; I do not, honestly. Let me get it now.
sQ. Major Hodgins, I will get you down to loose rock?—A. Yes.

Q. I want this thing understood. We will say that the contract price was 60 cents

for loose rock, that the one cut would be loose rock and there were 100 yards of it ?—A.

Yes.

Q. That would be $50?—A. Yes.

Q. Classifying it according to the contract?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, if you carried out force account, and took out of that cut 100 yards and
it came to $75 actual cost, then, as I understand! it, the commission would be paying

$75 for that work?—A. Yes.

Q. That is right, is it?—A. Yes.

Mr. HoDoms.—Be fair to the witness. He said it was only in case of dispute.

Mr. Carvell.—I do not care what he says; I want to get the right understand-

ing of this matter.

The Witness.—$75 would be the actual cost.

By Mr. Carvell:

Q. Now, I want you to tell me what is the difference between adding on $15 by
force account and adding on $15 by a change in the classification?—A. You must get

authority for both.

Q. That is the only difference, is it?—A. You must get authority.

Mr. Carvell.—That is a fair answer.

Mr. Hodgins.—The witness said you must get authority for both.

Mr. Macdonald.—That makes no difference. That is not an answer to the ques-

tion.

Mr. Barker.—^What he says is this, and Mr. Carvell wants to ignore a very im-

portant part of what he has stated.

Mr. Carvell.—No, I do not. I think I am at the gist of the whole question.

The Witness.—^You see, the contractors claimed this

By Mr, Hodgins :

Q. Mr. Carvell has asked you a question based on the specifications for loose rock

iu which he says there is no doubt as to how it is to be classified. If there is no doubt

as to how it is to be classified would any question as to the application of a different

principle come in?—A. It would not.

Q. This is only, as I understand, in case of a dispute as to classification, the

contractor claiming that it should be a higher classification?—A. Exactly.

Q. And the engineer claiming a lower classification ?—A. Classified as he put it in.

Q. This, as I understand, is an arbitrary way of extending cost to the man who
does the work, adding 10 per cent and paying him that amount?—A. Exactly.

Q. And if you want to turn that into yards at McArthur's prices you get the

larger price and with less yards the result may be that perhaps you will not cover the

actual cost—I mean that the contractor won't get what he expects.

Mr. Carvell.—By force account he will get the cost?—A. He would come out

even. He said that was all he wanted. We discussed it and the engineers there, islr.

Macfarlane and the others, agreed that was the easiest method.

Mr. Carvell.—It prevents contractor from making a loss.

Mr. Hodgins.—It makes all the difference whether you arrive nt the cost on the

basis of the lower price because the contractor doing the work is paid less per yard.

The Witness.—When this question came np I was against it and I said I would
not do it. The next morning I said to Mr. Macfarlane ' Well it will certainly settle

the disputes and the wrangling and I think it is the easiest way.' Mr. Grant certainly

suggested using the cost, the timekeeper's notes, as a guide to engineers to classify.

^Iajor Hodgins.
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So I said we would do it. I was strongly recommended to do so by Mr. Macfarlane
and I think Mr. Willet and it was put up to the board to decide.

Q. It was put up to the board to decide. Then you wrote a letter to the chair-

man on November 19, 1907, in consequence of what you saw in the press as to his

giving the reasons for your dismissal ?—A. Yes.

Q. Do you remember that press item?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you forward to the chairman a clipping of the press item?—A. I don't

remember.
iqj. Is that the statement in the press which you referred to when you wrote, I

am surprised to see in the press yoilr reasons for my dismissal' (exhibiting news-
paper clipping) ?—A. Yes.

Q. This statement was said to be made by the Chairman of the Transcontinental

Kailway Commission in Ottawa and the date is November 5th:

—

EXHIBIT No. 23.

CHAIRMAN PARENT EXPLAINS CASE.

Gives the Reasons of the Commission in Retiring Engineer Hodgins.
^

. ...
Ottawa, November 5.—The Chairman of the National Transcontinental Railway

Commission, Hon. S. N. Parent, made a statement to-day in reference to the removal

of Major Hodgins, the engineer in charge of the division of the line to the west of

Siiperior Junction, and the resignation of his assistant, Mr. Heaman. Mr. Parent

stated that all the correspondence in the case would be laid before Parliament and it

would clearly show that there can be no criticism of the action of the commission in

removing Major Hodgins. It will be found, Mr. Parent says, that the commission

acted in the best public interest in handling a matter in which the expenditure of

public money is involved. The trouble has its foundation in an attempt to have the

vrork carried on upon Mr. Hodgins' division contrary to the terms of the specifications

under which the contracts were let. It was proposed by the engineers to change these

specifications on their own authority in some cases and to allow the contractors the cost

of construction and 10 per cent additional for profit instead of compelling the contrac-

tors to do the work under the terms of the original contract. This the commission
would not tolerate.

The letter is as follows (reads) :— .

EXHIBIT No. 24.

Kenora^ Ontario^ November 9, 1907.

Hon. S. N. Parent,

Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—I was surprised to see in the press your reason for my dismissal, and
only conclude that Mr. Lumsden did not represent to you what the circumstances
were and what action I proposed to take, subject to the Board's approval.

Did he tell you that the situation was serious, that sub-contractor Dutton (Mc-
Arthur's largest sub-contractor) threatened to leave the work and throw up his con-
tract if he did not get some of the promises made to him by Mr. Grant, and unless I
did something 'to guarantee him that he would not lose money; it was no use his
wasting his time. He also said Mr. J. D. McArthur had told him the engineers had
their orders from the commission. (Engineer Tye confirmed this.)

I told those present that I understood that the chief engineer had received orders
the day I left Ottawa to do something to settle all disputes and get the work done.

The chief arrived, but suggested nothing; approved of the classification the con-
tractors said was too low ; offered no advice, but sat and listened to all we had to say.

I proposed the easiest way to settle cases of disputed material other than rock was
to ascertain the cost and classify enough loose rock to bring the contractors out even.
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adding ten per cent for use of tools, office expenses and profit. The chief said he had,

no authority to do this, and admitted that something should be done.

I proposed then that I would give the orders and be responsible until he laid the

case before the board. He agreed to this, and told me to remember he could give me
no authority. I said if he laid the case forcibly before them they would agree to it,

because it was a sound business proposition.

Messrs. A. G. Macfarlane, WiUet, Hazelwood, Tye, the chief and myself were at

Willet's camp at the time. The first two have notes in their diaries of what took place.

In justice to me, you ought to ask for copies of these notes.

I told the chief I thought it was what the commissioners wanted, if we could

believe what Grant had said, and it would put it up to them to say if they backed him
up or not; the air was full of rumours.

I told the chief I would act as commissioners Young and Reid had advised. They
told me to take as much responsibility as I could and push the work along and report

after, and under all circumstances not to delay the work pending a decision from

Ottawa. The chief admitted that it was a good way out of the difficulty, and again

said: I can give you no authority. I replied: You can get the authority when you.

return to Ottawa, and wire me. He agreed then to cut short his inspection over the

district and hurry back to Ottawa in order that I might know what the commissioners

decided before the estimates went in. In the meantime, it was understood that I was
to go ahead unless I heard from him. We figured out that I should have a wire in

five days, and as it would take about three months to adjust all disputes included oi;

the lines I laid down, the contractors and engineers would not be wrangling over little

things, earth was earth, and loose rock was indefinite in the specifications on account
of the plough test. The bulk of the contract was solid rock and was not to be included.

When I told him I would not allow solid rock to be included he was perfectly satisfied.

We went to Winnipeg together, and he had lots of time to change his mind and
order me not to do it if he had wished to. Instead of that he reminded me of a some-

what similar case on the Canadian Pacific Eailway short line through Maine, when he
took over the management and Mr. James Ross took the contract; and I understood
him, he was going to use this in his argument to the board in favour of my action.

I explained all this to Mr. Young in Winnipeg, who told me that the commis-

sioners could not do what a board of railway directors might, because the latter did

not have to submit it to parliament. This was news to me.

If the responsibility I took to keep the men on the work, stop wild talk and settle

disputes until such time as the board could have the case laid before them and delib-

erate on it, and took the means of laying the case before the board through the chief

engineer, and if, in my judgment, I thought I was doing the right thing, if this is a

serious offence, why did not the chief engineer object on the ground and as chief

engineer order me not to do it, and if I persisted discharge me?
All I want is fair-play, and if I had differences of opinion with the board and

some of the engineers, I have done my best during the three years I have worked for

the commissioners.

Yours truly,

A. E. HODGINS.

5—12
Major Hodqins.
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Now I will put in two other letters (reads)

EXHIBIT No. 25.

S. N. Parent, K.C., Hugh D. Lumsden,
Chairman, Chief Engineer.

G. F. McIsAAo, K.C., P. B. Eyan,
KoBT. Eeid, Secretary,

C. A. Young.

The Commissioners of the Transcontinental Railway,

Ottawa, Ont., Sept. 11, 1907. •

Personal:

A. E. HoDGiNS, Esq.,

District Engineer,

Kenora, Ont.

Dear Sir,—On my return from the west, I found a report put in by the chief

^ engineer in explanation of your issuing instructions to have the work classified by
force account in which he states that you understood it was the wish of the commis-
sioners to do so. I cannot but feel that the chief engineer must have misunderstood

you in this matter, as it is quite contrary to the reasons you gave me when in Winni-
peg ; and as you never received any intimation to classify contrary to the contract and
specifications from myself or any of the commissioners, you, I am sure, would not

wish an inference of that kind to remain uncorrected.

Please let me hear from you by return mail.

Yours very truly,

C. A. YOUNG.

The answer to that letter is as follows : (reads)

EXHIBIT No. 26.

~- Kenora, Sept. 16, 1907.

C. A. Young, Esq., ^

Commissioner,

Ottawa.

Dear Sm,—In reply to yours of the Ulth instant, I have to say that I did mention
to you that I thought I was doing what the commissioners wished, and you replied

that you had never spoken in favour of more than a liberal interpretation of the

contract. I replied that it was no use beating about the bush, I know what you want,

and I think in fairness to me, between ourselves, you might acknowledge this.

The better argument in favour of the style of force account classification I advo-

cated, was that it would relieve the situation temporarily and carry the work on until

men were plentiful. I laid stress on this with the chief. He was particularly careful

to say that he would not give me any orders, and we agreed that no time should be

lost in his return to Ottawa to lay the whole matter before the board and wire me.

He did so, and although his wire was delayed the estimates were not made up on force

account classification. Possibly you may find out later that my advice was sound.

Give me a fair show, that is all I ask.

Yours truly,

Q. Now I propose to take up for a few minutes the report of Mr. Grant and then
I will conclude Major Hodgins' examination by putting in some minutes and letters
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between the commissioners and Mr. Morse regarding the importance o£ carrying on
the work of this division promptly. The report of Mr. Grant, inspecting engineer,

was made to Mr. Lnmsden and is dated 23rd July. It appears on the file laid on the

table of the House of Commons some time ago. I want to ask you as to the state-

ments in this report and as to their truth?—A. I asked for an enquiry into these and
it was never given me. Mr. Lumsden came up and as I say went over five miles and
asked me to get some statements from some of the engineers about certain charges.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Who asked for the enquiry?—A. I did.

Q. Who did you ask?—A. When I was brought before the board to answer these

charges in Ottawa.

Q. Did you ask anybody else?—A. I was before the board.

Q. Did you ask anybody else for an enquiry?—A. Yes, I have.

Q. Who did you ask? (No answer).

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Did you ask anybody else for an enquiry other than asking the board for it on
the 21st August?—A. About this particular report?

Q. About that report?

Q. You say you asked the commissioners for an enquiry, did you?—A. Yes,

personally.

Q. Did you ask anyone else?—A. I don't remember.

Q. And did Mr. Lumsden come up to begin the enquiry?—A. He came up to

begin it, yes.

Q. And he cut it short, as you told us?—A. Yes, he asked me to get a statement
from each engineer who had seen Mr. Grant as to the various charges that Mr. Grant
was making against them.

Q. Did you get these statements?—A. I got some of them. I was getting them
when I received notice that I was discharged.

Q. You were getting them when you received notice that you were discharged.

Did Mr. Lumsden, up to the time you were discharged, ever go over the road and com-
plete that investigation?—A. No.

Q. Did you send Mr. Lumsden the originals of a number of those statements?—

•

A. Yes.

Mr. Hodgins.—I asked for their production. I am not going to pretend they are
evidence, but I am going to call the engineers to verify them and I want the originals

produced by Mr. Lumsden or by the commissioners and placed in the hands of the
secretary of the committee?—A. This is what I said about the enquiry

Mr. Hodgins.—I want the originals with the signatures of the men, br^cause I
want to call the men and question them in reference to the matter.

The Chairman.—You can have them at any time.

Mr. LToDGiNS.—This is the time I would like to have them.
The Chairman.—They are not here now, and the engineers are not here.

Mr. Hodgins —I do not want them immediately, but I want them put into the
hands of the secretary at once.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. You spoke of having asked for an enquiry?—A. Yes, in my report to the
board when I was in Ottawa I wound up by saying, ' As the report is a condemnation
of the engineers on the district, and myself in particular, and if this reply does not
convince you at the board that matters generally are not in the deplorable condition
represented by the report, I must ask you to come up as soon as possible and investi-
gate, and if you cannot come, I would suggest Mr. Butler or Mr. Schreiber.'

IMajor IIodgixs.
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Q. Then just before I get into that, I may as well put in a letter of Mr. Lumsden's
in connection with it, dated 31st of July, 1907, that is in the return before parliament

and is known as Exhibit No. 27, (See page 21.)

Mr. Grant's report, dated the 23rd of July, 1907, is already on file. (Exhibit No.

28. See page 16.)

A. There are some letters I wrote to Mr. Lumsden, I think, in reference to this

report after I came back from Ottawa ; I haven't copies of them.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Will you see, Mr. Murphy, whether there are any such letters on
file?—A. There was one with reference to ditching, another one was, I think, in refer-

ence to that big cutting, it is mentioned here as the tunnel cut.

B]j Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Now, he says in his report, after speaking of the great difficulty that the con-

tractors had experienced in solving the problem of labour. ^ The various sub-con-

,tractors tell me that these were opened up,' that is, some cuts were opened up, ' by

station men who quit work after receiving their first estimate, which, in their opinion

was too smalP?—A. Yes.

Q. He goes on, ' The complaints were on account of the classification being too

low, overbreak being held back, waste being deducted or water coming for want of

drainage.' What do you say as to the classification being too low?—A. That is the

statement from the sub-contractor.

Q. Yes?—A. I do not know anything about it. The engineers

1^. Is there any basis for that?—^A. I do not think so, I can find none. There

were one or two instances where some cuttings had been left, but the engineers all

had explanations to make about them, it was not their fault.

Q. Then as to the overbreak being held back?—A. They all said they were giving

as much as they could, some of them thought they were generous.

Q. That is some of the engineers thought that?—A. Yes, some of the engineers;

I think there is a statement from the engineers showing they had given all the over

break they possibly could.

Q. Then, as to waste being deducted, is it proper to deduct waste from the con-

tractor?—A. It is, most certainly, if it is deliberate.

Q. Then, Svater coming in for want of drainage'?—A. No connection with this

question of waste; evidently there are one or two places where waste had been delib-

erate and I asked the engineers if they had deducted any wastage for it, and they

said not yet, but they had warned cortractors if that sort of thing went on they would
deduct; anyone who goes over the line will see large quantities of it, and it should

properly be deducted. The engineers were easy when they said they wouldn't deduct

it if it did not go on.

Q. That is in reference to the sub-contractors' complaints ; and as to water com-
ing, if they want drainage, whose duty is it to get rid of the water—^to make drains?

—A. I don't think it is the district engineer's.

Q. Then, he goes on to say: ' Complaint is also made by the contractors that men
leaving for the above causes get to the various centres of labour and reported that

the Transcontinental Railway was no place to work, and that no money could be made
there. This is a very serious matter for the contractor, who has spent in the vicinity

of $75,000 for labour for which he has got practically no return; men brought in at

great expense going out without doing even one day's work, and for which there seems
to be no redress. The contractor has let out all his work in sub-contracts.' I suppose

that is the case, is it ?—A. Yes.

Q. Are there many sub-contracts on this work?—A. I forget the number. They
run, I think, from 60 miles down to 10, or 15, or 20, probably.

Q. Does that affect the work at all?—A. It puts a lot of middlemen in; they all

participate in the profits.

Q. Thei7 the 7-eference to the fact that in a country like this the divisional
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engineer can only go over his division by walking, that is correct, is it ?—A. Yes, that

is correct.

By Mr. Baricer :

Q. With reference to the sub-contractors, had the Commissioners any control over

the sub-contractors?-—A. Yes. They only recognize, I think, the first sub.

Q. That is a matter for the Commissioners?—A. Yes.

Q. Not for the engineer?—A. No; we were notified that the Commissioners, if

they were accepted, allowed the contractor to sub-let so much to such and such a man,,

but there it stopped. The sub-contractors, of course, sub-let again, but we do not pay
any attention to that; it is too many middlemen in it.

By Mr, Hodgins :

Q. When you get down to the men who do the work the price is considerably lower

than what the contractor's price is, is that right?—A. Yes.

Q. ISTow, as to classification, Mr. Grant is very emphatic :
' Classification on this

work, where the vast majority of it is solid rock, is not a serious matter, and where
material has been moved that could be classified—and the greater part of it was moved
last winter when it was frozen, such as the opening of cuts, the stripping of rocks,

etc. I found from questioning the resident engineers, and from looking over the

progress estimates, that the classification given the contractors has been very low,

and in many cases absurdly low, and for that reason alone there are probably 1,000

men less on the work to-day than there would have been if the work had been fairly

and justly classified. Classification is left entirely to the resident engineers, and they

are all too timid to give the contractor what he is entitled to in that line. The only

engineer on the work who could produce any statement showing what the profit or loss

was on the various cuttings on his work was Mr. F. J. Mcintosh, division engineer at

Wabigoon river; he looked after the classification on his division, consequently it

was more reasonable than on the rest of the work.' Is that the Mcintosh whose classi-

fication was altered in July?—A. Yes.

Q. And that amount added?—A. With reference to that remark about where

material has been moved that could be classified, and the greater part of it was moved,

last winter when it was frozen, we had a meeting in my office of the engineers and

Mr. McArthur and his engineers, Mr. Young and Mr. Lumsden

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. What was that—what meeting was that?—A. With reference to the stripping

of rock and the removal of frozen earth the winter before last, there was a meeting in

my office at Kenora. All the engineers were there and Mr. Lumsden, Mr. Young, and
it was decided that the classification of frozen earth that winter would be loose rock.

We had permission to do that, and all that material was classified as loose rock.

By Mr. Hodgins :

Q. And is that what he says is very low, absurdly low I—A. I could not say ;

as far as I could gather, Mr. Grant had seen very few of the engineers.

Q. He says :
' And where material has been moved that could be classified—and

the greater part of it was moved last winter when it was frozen, such as the opening of

cuts, the stripping of rocks, etc.,' and then he says * that the classification given the

contractors has beon very low, and in many cases absurdly low.' Does that refer to

the classification of frozen stuff into loose rock ?—A. It should not, because every

divisional engineer was present in the office and they all received instructions.

The Chairman.—As to that question, you do not know that he refers to that?

A. I could not tell what he refers to.

Major Hodgins.
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By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Those were the instructions given?—A. Any engineer having instructions like

that would be only too glad to carry them out; it would help out the contractor.

Q. And this reference in the report must be to that classification as being absurd-

ly low ?—A. They had authority from the chief engineer in the case of that frozen

earth to put it in as loose rock, but it was only to be material that was frozen, not the

balance of the cutting ; if they blasted off a foot or two of frost they would be allowed.

Q. He calls attention to it having been taken out as frozen and then he seems
to complain in the next sentence as to the resident engineers doing the classification;

is that customary ?—A. Yes, it is customary for the resident engineers to do the classi-

fication, they really know more about the classification of their work than any one man,
if they go up and down their work and watch it properly.

Q. That letter of the commissioners that I read of the 26th of August, Mr. Parent,
the chairman distinctly disagreed from that, will you give me your views as to that ?

—

A. My own view is the same as Mr. Lumsden's. Of course it is customary; if the

resident engineer cannot classify he has no right to be there; a junior man may, of

course, be instructed by the divisional engineer, but the man who is on the work is the

one who should know more about the work than anyone else.

' Q. Taking the next item of complaint, ^ overbreak ' you got reports from your

engineer on that question, didn^t you, as to whether there was large overbreak and
whether it was held back?—A. Yes.

Q. What is the result of that, as far as you know?—A. I have been taking notes

from the estimates, and the overbreak generally amounted to much more than what
I imagine they have been giving them. I thought so going over them, they had instruc-

tions to give them everything they possibly could, but it is a difficult matter to measure
overbreaks exactly with a tape unless you spend a lot of time.

Q. Is there any justification for this statement :
' This overbreak, it appears,

has. been held back by the engineers without any other reason than that it was just

overbreak. I believe that they are paying for a certain proportion of it, but none of

them pay for it all, when it was perfectly plain that it was unavoidable. ' Is that

justifiable?—A. I will leave that for the engineers to contradict, I can't contradict it,

but they all contradicted it to me, all that I have spoken to. It was a very unjust

statement to have made about engineers on the work, they are giving the contractors

all they could, and Mr. Grant did not see them all.

Q. Then the next complaint is as to the waste, arid he said, that he only saw two
cuts where there had been deliberate waste of rock by heavy blasting, but the waste in

both cases would not amount to over a few hundred yards?—A. I think that in the

five miles that Mr. Lumsden went over he saw two cases. I am certain he saw one,

and that is only on five miles; I have seen it at several other places along the line.

If Mr. Grant has measured the waste and the overbreak with the same measure, the

contractors, I think would kick.

Q. He says, ' This has been deducted with the result that such cuts are now idle,

'

is that correct ?—A. No, it is not. Speaking generally, and I can only speak generally

about this, there are certain statements put in by the engineers in regard to that

statement, and they are the only ones who can answer that in detail.

Q. I know that, and I am going to call them, but I want to get your knowledge
so far as you have it, as to this statement. As to the surface drainage he says,

as to the resident engineers, ' They invariably told me they could get no authority

to order ditches to be dug. They had written letters and sent in plans for proposed

ditches but had heard no more about them. In many instances there are bogs on top

of large rock cuts that must be drained before the cuts are started. The contractors

are asking for drains to be laid out and cannot get them. Resident engineers waiting

for orders, division engineers likewise. '—A. Well, I had rather experienced men on the

grounds there, I was rather proud of that staff of resident engineers and division

engineers on my line. They were all older men and men of experience, and I do not
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tliink any one of them would have to come and ask anyone else for permission to dig
any drain.

Q. Yon don't tliink, then, that the resident engineers were waiting for orders,

and that the division engineers were also waiting in the meantime?—A. I should say

not.

Q. Do you know of any case where one of them asked for authority and didn't

get it ?—A. I heard when I went out, Mr. Harris said he had written to me and asked

permission to put in a drain on some rock' cut, and that he had also sent a plan. I

said, ' Let us see the letter. ' I was in his camp and his instrument man came up and

said, ' It was not the district engineer it was Mr. Miles you asked. '

Q. Who was Mr. Miles?—A. Mr. Miles had been the division engineer, and Mr.

Harris said, ' I told Mr. Grant I had sent it in to you. ' That is the only case I know
of, and yet there are a whole lot of them accused of it.

Q. Did you ever get requests, such as spoken of here, for orders with regard to

ditches that were not attended to?—A. I should think not.

Mr. Macdonald.—What do you mean, you say you think not?—A. It is an absurd

thing for any engineer to send in to me and ask me to put in a ditch.

Q. The point is whether they did or not, even if it was absurd?—A. No, I never

got it, and this is the only case where I was accused of it.

By Mr. Barher:

Q. The question was asked, ' did you ever receive such a plan ' ?—A. Never ; it

certainly would have impressed itself upon my memory if I had, because I should

have spoken to any engineer about it.

By Mr. Rodgins:

Q. Openings—the size never definitely been settled. 'Whose business it was to

settle these questions, I couldn't find out'—when were the sizes of these openings

determined?—A. Before the contract was let there were several surveys and profiles

made and they are now in the possession of the Commission, probably a year or two

years before Mr. Grant came up on the work, and they contain records of all the open-

ings that were put down by the engineers, and not only the size of them but the

number of cubic yards that we estimated those openings would require when they were
made. Every profile that comes in would have the masonry calculated and the size

of the opening put down. In one or two cases, as always occurs on a road before the

work is finished, the engineers would suggest increasing or diminishing the size, after

they had observed the flow of the stream, or something of that kind, and I think at

the time that the report was written there were probably about three openings that

were being discussed, a change in the size of them was being discussed over the whole
contract. One I know over Macfarlane's river had been referred to Mr. Lumsden, and
it was a question which was the cheaper size of span to put in, whether it was cheaper
to put in an arch or a steel girder.

Q. Whose business would it be to settle that?—A. My business.

Q. He says here, ' Whose business it was to settle this question I could not find

out,' did he ever ask you?—A. No.

Q. And in this question that he referred to as, ' Many instances,' thore were three
that you speak of which were then under consideration ?—A. That is all I can remem-
ber now.

The Chairman.—That is all you can remember?—A. I am" quite certain in Svnying

three or four, in fact I think I may safely say that.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Three or four instances of what?—A. Where the engineers on the work had
recommended a change in the openings. There was one on Riehan's division, I do
not know whether that was covered or trestle, and there was one on Macfarlane's

^Iajor Hodgins.
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river, and I was taking that up with the bridge engineer in Ottawa, writing to him
as to price.

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. Did you say that one case had been referred to Mr. Lumsden?—A. It had

been referred to the bridge engineer, a specialist, and I think I had spoken to Mr.

Lumsden about it, or had written to him.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Is the bridge engineer in Mr. Lumsden's office?—A. .Yes; I think it was a

question whether a span or an arch was the cheaper.

Q. This sentence would give the idea that this sort of thing was existing all over

the line, that would have been a most deplorable matter, that is his idea ; is there any

truth at all in it?—^A. No. Such things could not happen with the staff I had there,

they were all experienced men, men of much more experience than Mr. Grant ; I would

back any one of those division engineers.

Q. Had any one of those engineers who were then on the work when Grant went
over it, anything to do with the laying out of the work originally?—A. Everything.
^ Q. And settling these openings?—A. Yes.

Q. They had?—A. They had.

Q. The same men?—^A. Well, they might not have been on the same piece of

work they had located, but the engineer in charge of the party on location sent in

his profiles with all the culverts marked on them, we got the fullest information in

regard to the culverts, the masonry and everything else, and it is in the Commissioners*

office, and it was another two years before that report was made.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. Everything about those openings?—A. Everything.

Q. The information is already in?—A. Our estimates that we put in are not

approximate, they are just as close as men could possibly get them.

The committee rose.

Wednesday^ May 20, 1908.

3 o'clock p.m.

Major Hodgins' examination continued

:

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Grant's next objection was (reads) :

—

' Location.—Long stretches of line have been re-located since the contract was let.

The contractors complain that they were delayed in the building of the camps until

the location of the line was decided, on.'

Is that correct?—A. I think there was only about one place on the line where
ther/e was any chance of a contractor claiming anything for delay. Most of the
re-locations was done when there were verj'^ few men on the work.

Q. Mr. Grant's statement is that long stretches of line have been re-located since

the contract was let, and the contractors claim that they were delayed in the building
of tlie camps until the location of the line was decided upon?—A. The engineers who
were ^on the ground can answer that better than I can. I was trying to get these
answers from them, and I don't know whether they have put them in since I left.

Q. You would know if any complaints from the contractors reached you ?—A. Yes.
I had only one complaint.

Q. Is that the instance referred to : 'In one case in particular the line was
changed after work had been done and camps built'?—A. Yes; Guy Campbell's.
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Q. That is the only case you know of?—A. That is the only case I remember.

Q. (Continues reading) :
' The contractor complains that he has never been paid

for this ' ?—A. Just before I had the interview with Mr. Grant I had seen the con-

tractor.

Q. Yes?—A. And I had arranged that the two engineers on the ground should go
up and adjust this bill. The contractor had not the full details given. He
wanted to wait until his time-keeper cam.e back. His time-keeper was away and would
not be back for a fortnight. He promised to have it in

Q. Was that before Grant went up ?—A. Before he went to Ottawa. A settlement

was delayed some little time afterwards owing to the contractor not being able to

supply the necessary information. Mr. Macfarlane the division engineer, I believe,

visited him two or three times to get the necessary details, and it was finally adjusted

after I left. McArthur told me the amount in question only amounted to about $3,000.

That is all Guy Campbell claimed.

Q. (Eeading) :
' Sidings have not been graded on the prairie section ' ?—A. There

was a great deal of delay about the location of sidings. We had to report to Ottawa,

and they were changed.

Q. And what?—A. They were changed several times.

Q. By whom?—A. I think the assistant chief engineer was dealing with that in

Ottawa.

Q. Yes?—A. And Mr. Mann and Mr. Heaman were supposed to adjust them up
in my office.

Q. Yes ?—A. I had sent in a scheme of sidings showing where I proposed to locate

the various sidings, and that was changed.

Q. By whom?—A. By the assistant chief engineer, I think. He sent up another.

Q. Was there any delay in your office?—A. 'No. Mann and Heaman had the

adjustment of the sidings, so that it would be satisfactory to the Grand Trunk Pacific,

and we had to report to Ottwa. I turned it over to the two of them, so that instead

of a fourth one going in it would be settled quicker.

Q. Then the completion of work within the limit of time. Mr. Grant says:

—

' Under present arrangements I see no possibility of this contract being completed

within a reasonable or limited time. There are over 16 cuttings or more on the line in

which work could be pushed with greater vigor.'

By Mr. Barker :

Q. Is that 60 or 16?—A. 60, I suppose. He got that from the list I gave Mr.
Lumsden.

By Mr, Hodgins:

Q. Should that be 60 or 16 ?—A. More likely to be 60 than 16.

Q. Do you agree that they should have been pushed with greater vigour?—A.

Certainly, if there had been more men.

Q. (Beading) :
* The majority of these can and will be put through in from

twelve to eighteen months by using double shifts.' How did he know that ?—A. I don't

know. I was trying to urge the contractors to put double shifts on.

Q. Had you succeeded?—A. In one or two cases.

Q. Only?—A. Only.

Q. Out of those 60?—A. Out of those 60.-

Q. Do you know how Mr. Grant was able to say when you were not able to get

that done?—A. He went over it with the contractors, so I suppose they told him.

They may have promised him ; I don't know what they have done since.

Q. ' But the long tunnel just east of the Winnipeg river, under the present man-
agement of both the engineers and the contractor, will not be dug in twenty years.

Until different management is placed on this particular job, it is merely a waste of

Major Hodgins.
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time to force work on any other part of the line. Here we have a tunnel one thousand

eight hundred feet long on which no work has been done, apart from a little scratching,

at both ends. The contractor has no reason to give for not having done much work;

at tlie west end, but before he can get at the east end the lake has to be drained/

How long is thai tunnel stated by Grant to be 1,800 feet long ?—A. About 600.

Q. ' The contractor has no reason to give for not having done much work at the

west end; but before he can get at the east end a lake has to be drained, the surface

of this lake being about six feet above grade. A ditch has been dug to do this, but

only four feet of water have been drained so far. To make the scheme- a success the

water should be lowered eight feet. I do not believe this can be done?—A. It was
done when he was up there. The surface of the lake—

—

Q. Do you mean while he was there?—A. The surface of the lake at the time

he was there was within about two inches, I think, of the drainage level that was
required. I so understood from the resident engineer who had taken the level.

Q. What resident engineer?—A. Willet.

Q. Do you mean at the time that he wrote this report dated 23rd of July or at the

time he was going over the work?—^A. The time he was up there.

Q. Did he see the lake ?—A. He saw the lake but he did not see any of the

e;ngineers. He saw the contractors and got information from the contractors. They
were lowering it and it had got to the level within two-tenths I think.

Q. At what time?—A. At the time Grant was up there.

Q. Do you mean there on the spot?—A. There on the spot, on the work.

Q. He could have seen if he was on the spot, at the lake, whether it was 8 feet

01- 2 inches?—A. He could not tell what the level should be. He could not tell what
the level was unless he had taken measurements or asked the engineer. He got his

information from the contractor. I got mine afterwards from Mr. Willet.

Q. He states that he believes this cannot be done. You say this can be done and
was done?—A. It was done. There is a letter I sent to Mr. Lumsden about this.

Q. Do you mean dealing with this particular point ?—A. Dealing with this partic-

ular point.

Q. You sent a letter independent of your report?—A. Yes, when I got back I
went up and looked at it and interviewed Willet and wrote to Lumsden about it.

Q. ^ I do not believe this can be done ; and as the engineers refuse to pay for the

cost of this work, the contractor has quit trying to lower this lake.' Is there any
truth in that?—A. The division engineer, Mr. Macfarlane—

—

Q. Which one?—A. A. G. Macfarlane.

Q. Yes ?—A. Wanted me to grant force account on that, force account in payment
of the work on the ditch and I said I preferred to classify it. There was a certain

amount of that ditch which was excavated in hard material and the balance was soft

muck which could not be shovelled or handled and the instructions I gave him was
to take out the hard material and the action of the water would drive the muck out.

Q. Yes?—A. And it appeared that when Mr. Grant was up there there was some
four men in this muck with buckets endeavouring to take out the muck.

Q. Yes?—A. It certainly was a very foolish thing to do because as fast as they
would take it out it would come in again.

Q. What does he mean by saying the engineers refused to pay for the cost of

this work?—A. Mr. Macfarlane, because I would not give him an order to put it in

as force account work, extra account work, classified it.

Q. Classified it?—A. Yes, I have forgotten what classification he put in.

Q. And that is what he means by the statement that the engineers refused to pay
for the cost of the work?—A. I presume so.

Q. That is by force account ?—A. I presume so.

Q. In the next paragraph he says (reads) :
' In order to get at the east end of the

tunnel a large ditch 14 feet deep has to be dug from the mouth of tne tunnel to the
lake, as right over the proposed end of the tunnel is a bog, and from the end of the
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tunnel eastwards extends a cut 1,700 feet long.' Is that statement correct?—A. It

is about right.

Q. That is the length of the cut?—A. I have forgotten the length of the cutting.

It is a long cutting.

Q. Then he winds up in this way (reads) :
' The district engineer and the divi-

sion engineer do not agree as to how the contractor should be paid for this work;

neither of them take any interest in it, and owing to the mode of payment the con-

tractor is losing $1.00 per day per man, so he is in a very unhappy state of mind.

This piece of work requires your immediate attention, as there is, practically speak-

ing, nothing being done on it; and under the most favourable circumstances it is a

three -year job ' ?—A. I don't know where he got that information from.

Q. Did he get it from you?—A. He did not.

Q. Did he ask you or discuss it with you ?—A. I don't remember.

Q. If you had agreed to force account ?—A. I don't think he did, I am not

certain.

Q. If you had agreed to force account for that work apparently it would have
been done?—A. Force account for the cut?

Q. For the cut ?—A. Oh yes. The contractor did not want to go on until he knew
what classification he was going to get. This is the particular cut that Button referred

to. It is the principal cut on his work, the most difficult cut to take out.

Mr. Murphy.—I don't want to object unnecessarily.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—What is it you want? I will be glad to answer.
Mr. Murphy.—It is the suggested answer to the witness that if force account had

been adopted apparently the work would have been done.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—That is the effect of his answer, is it not?
Mr. Murphy.—I don't think counsel should put questions in that way.
The Chairman.—I am afraid, Mr. ITodgins, you lead the witness sometimes,

although perhaps you do not do it intentionally. I think if you would simply ask

questions it would be better and more satisfactory to everybody.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Then I will ask questions.

Q. Just tell us again what the trouble was with regard to the condition of this

particular work—what caused the trouble, what the contractor wanted and what the

engineer wanted?—A. With regard to this large cutting?

Q. Yes?—A. The contractor wanted a higher classification on that cutting than
he was getting from the engineer.

Q. Yes ?—A. It was wet material.

Q. What classification did he want?—A. That I could not arrive at. I think he

wanted pretty nearly all loose rock with this wet material that was hard to take out.

Q. What did you decide to do?—A. It was on this cut that the whole question of

force account started.

'Q. What did you decide to do?—A. I recommended that that dispute should be

settled by cost, plus 10 per. cent.

Q. You recommended that, and that was what the contractor wanted?—A. That
is what he said 'would settle the whole difficulty.

Q. That is what he said would settle the whole difficulty?—A. He foresaw that he

was going to lose money on it. It was a very big piece of work, a very nasty piece of

work to take out, and I would have been only too glad to have helped him out a bit,

and so would all of the other engineers.,

Q. Now, I will read you this again :
' The district engineer and the divisioa

engineer do not agree 'as to how the contractor should be paid for this work '?—A.
That refers, not to the cut, but to the ditch.

Q. Explain what it does mean with reg-ard to the ditch?—A. I explained that

before, that this engineer, Mr. Macfarlane, wanted to pay for tliat ditch draining the

lake at force account.

Major Hodgins.
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Q. Yes ?—A. And I told him that I preferred to have it classified. That was some
months before that.

Q. What is your explanation of the expression ' neither
' of them take any interest;

in it'? So far as you know, what does that refer to?—A. I don't know. Probably

Mr. Macfarlane said something to him about it. I don't know how he got that. That

is all the light I can throw upon it.

Q. Then we pass on:

^ The engineers in District "F" la<jk confidence in themselves; the evasion of

responsibility is the order of the day from the district engineer down to the youngest

resident. There is too much letter writing about things that must and should be

settled by the men on the ground, if the work is ever to be done.'

What do you say as to that?—A. I should like to see the letters. When this thing

came out I sent all my letter books down to the chief engineer, and asked him to go

through them and see if there were any objectionable letters that should not appear

there.

Q. Is it correct :
' There is too much letter writing ' ?—A. In my office, no.

Q. Is it true that there is also evasion of responsibility from the district

engineer down to the youngest resident ?—A. As far as I know, there is no evasion of

Responsibility.

Q. Do you know of any evasion of responsibility on the part of the engineers in

charge of that work?—A, No.

Q. Then he goes on to say

:

'It is quite evident that the contractor has never had the good-will or proper

co-operation of the majority of the commission's engineers on this district, without

both of which it is impossible for the work to be carried on in a proper spirit and a

businesslike manner.'

A. What is meant by proper co-operation? I don't understand that.

Q. Is it true that the contractor never had the good-will of the majority of the

engineers ?

Mr. Carvell.—Now, Mr. Chairman
Mr. Barker.—That is Grant's statement.

Mr. Carvell.—Is 'good-will' mentioned there?

Mr. Barker.—Yes.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Is that statement true?—A. I don't know. As far as I was concerned, there

was no trouble between any of the contractors and myself. I believe there was some
feeling between Dutton and Macfarlane, but I believe that is all over.

Q. Is that all you heard of in connection with the work?—A. That is all I know,

of. Of course, occasionally

Q. Have any of these engineers, other than yourself, been changed up to the

present time?—A. Oh, yes.

Q. Well, what changes have taken place? Of course, we know that you werQ
replaced and your assistant engineer, but, other than that, have there been any changes
in resident engineers that you know of ?—A. Yes. When I answered your first question

I had forgotten about two other instances. There was one case where a resident

engineer of the name of McDougall had to be changed. I got orders to put him off the

work. I did not put him off the work, but took him into my office. He was a very

good man, a Scotch engineer, and had been on the Canadian Pacific Railway before

he came to us. I put him onto some heavy rock work on Dutton's work, and I had to

take him off that and put him in the office. Afterwards I put him in charge of the
Winnipeg river bridge, sinking the foundations and the heavy masonry work there.

Q. Do you refer to that as an instance of a change or as an instance where th©
contractor never had the good-will of the engineer?—A. I believe there was trouble
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with the contractors. Mr. Hazelwood spoke several times about it. McArthur did,

but did not say very much. Webster, another of McArthur's men, spoke against it;

and on the second place he was put a sub-contractor by the name of Parsons, I

believe, said something about him.

Q. But at all events he was changed?—A. Oh yes.

Q. Had he been changed before this report was written?—^A. Yes. I had for-

gotten about that instance. Of course, he was all right on the work in another place.

Q. The next statement is :
' Neither the district nor assistant district engineer

have ever been over the line.' What about that?—A. Well, I have been over the line

at certain points. At that time I had not been over the line continuously in any one

trip. Mr. Heaman, I think, had been over the most of the line, and the district

engineer who was there before Mr. Heaman had been over once or twice. A large

portion of the line was untouched.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Did you say that you yourself had been over the line?—A. I had only been

over certain portions of it where the principal work was going on.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Was it necessary that you should be walking up and down the line all the time ?

—A. I did not consider so.

Q. Were you instructed by your chief engineer to do so?—A. No more than to

become familiar with the work.

Q. Well were you familiar with the work ?—A. I think so. I should have gone

out on the line if there was anything I did not know or wanted to see.

Q. Then he says :
^ And if the work is to be carried on with proper despatch an

assistant district engineer should be appointed whose duties will be entirely in the

field ' How many assistant district engineers had you?—A. One.

Q. How many are there now?—A. I don't know.

Q. You don't know. Well we can show that later on :
' And his place of

residence will be at or near the Winnipeg Eiver crossing. This man should be given

authority to settle all matters relating to borrow and waste ditching, classification,

force work, size and kind of structures, &c., &c.' Now who was in charge of that

work?—A. The various resident engineers and division engineers.

Q. Was that their duty ?—A. It was. If an engineer had been appointed for

those duties there would not have been very much more to do for the men in camp.

The division engineers' duties certainly would have been nil and it was too much to

expect of one man. The classification should be left to the man who has the shortest

length of line, that is the resident engineer. It is all he can do and

Q. Apparently this is Grant's idea—that nobody was competent at all?—A. Well
he wanted Mr. Mcintosh to be put in as assistant district engineer and he spoke to me
about him in my ofiice.

Q. He winds up this report with this kindly reference: ' At present the engineers

on this work are no more than so many clerks, simply writing letters and reading the

answers, and for all the engineering they are doing, they might as well be left out ' ?

—

A. I think you will nil have the pleasure of seeing some of those onginoors and you
can judge for yourselves whether they look like so many clerks or engineers.

Q. Did you find them satisfactory and efficient while you were in charge?—A.
I did. There are, I think, the best set of men on the line in District ' F.' That is

when I was there. I don't know about after I left.

Q. As I understand when you were shown this report in Ottawa you sent in,

without the assistance, as you have told us, of your books and papers, a reply?—A.
Yes.

Q. Explaining nnd controverting what appears in the report and asked for an
im estigation ?— A. Yes.

Major Hopniys.
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Mr. HoDGiNS.—That I propose to put in, Mr. Chairman, as the next Exhibit. I
do not intend to read it.

Exhibit 29 to be found at page 22.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I have concluded my examination for the present, but I do not

want the witness dismissed. I have some other questions to ask him.

Mr. Murphy.—What are we to understand ?

The Chairman.—Will you proceed now with the cross-examination ?

Mr. Lennox.—We need not pursue the examination with the same rigidity as in

a court of law. Questions can be asked on anything that arises.

Mr. Barker.—I do not want the witness dismissed because Mr. Hodgins is througl^

with his examination.

The Chairman.—Do I understand, Mr. Hodgins, that you are through your exami-
nation ?

Mr. Hodgins.—Substantially, yes. I may have to again examine the witness if

anything crops up.

Mr. Macdonald.—Still I assume we understand, Mr. Chairman, that Mr. Hodgins
has examined his client so far as he is advised it is proper to do so in support of the

charges we are considering.

The Chairman.—I think so, yes. I think he is through with his examination-in-

chief now on all the charges that are before us for investigation.

Mr. Lennox.—Not necessarily on all the charges that are before the committee
for investigation, but all the charges so far as Mr. Hodgins, as counsel for Major
Hodgins perceives.

Mr. Hodgins.—I am through with all the examination I think I can profitably

make at the present moment. There are other witnesses to be called to pr'ove certain

other facts and I may have to recall him again, or ask him other questions, that will,

I think, satisfy the committee as to the existence of those charges.

Mr. Murphy.—This is a somewhat irregular way to proceed, Mr. Chairman, I

submit. Charges have been made. I want to know whether Mr. Hodgins has finished

his examination and where we stand.

Mr. Macdonald (Pictou).—^We cannot shut the door to the right of committee or

consul to ask Major Hodgins any question at any time. Other than that I presume
that counsel is through with his examination.

Mr. Hodgins.—I may have overlooked a point or something of that kind that I

may desire to ask Major Hodgins question upon, and I do not desire to say that I

have closed my examination in that sense.
^

Mr. Murphy.—I appreciate that, but at this stage of the proceedings we ought to

know whether counsel rests his case as to the charges filed, and whether we are called

upon to meet them from the evidence put in.

Mr. Lennox.—There is only one witness as yet, and counsel does not close his

case by any means, only with regard to the examination of onp witness.

Mr. Murphy.—With reference to the closing for the present of the examination

of one witness, I wish to point out to the Chairman that should any further questions

be asked him, of course the privilege will be extended that the witness can be further

cross-examined.

The Chairman.—Of course, you will have the privilege of cross-questioning him
if there are any further questions asked him.

Mr. Murphy.—^With that understanding we will proceed as far as possible with

the cross-examiniation of the Major this afternoon, but I will point out to the Com-
mittee now the difficulty of doing so owing to the absence of the extended notes of

the evidence which the reporters have not yet had time to extend.

Cross-examination of Major Hodgins :

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. Major Hodgins, was the letter in the Victoria Colonist based solely on the
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assumption that the cost of this work, has been increased by four million dollars ?

—

A. The cost of the McArthur contract ?

Q. The cost of the work of which yon spoke in your letter to the Colonist?^

A. I based it on what I saw in the interview with Mr. McArthur.

Q. Didi you base your letter solely on what you saw in the newspapers presenting

the interview with Mr. McArthur?—A. Yes.

Q. You had no other reason for that letter to the Colonist ?—A.^ No other reason.

Q. Did you take any steps to ascertain (whether that interview with Mr. McArthur

was correct or not?—A. No.

Q. Did you make any inquiry at all about it—^A. No.

Q. Had you any additional information ?—A, The only additional information

I had was in the Colonist ; I connected that with the letter.

Q. What additional information do you refer to ?—A. It is in the letter.

Q. What is it that you refer to? What additional information had you beyond

the report of the interview with McArthur?—A. The item in the Colonist about the

estimates being increased.

Q. What is that?—A. The item in the Colonist, the first paragraph in that letter.

Q. * It is officially announced that the National Transcontinental Eailway between
* It is officially announced that the National Transcontinental Railway between

Winnipeg and Moncton is to cost $63,419,466. Mr. Fielding's estimate was $51,300,000.

Mr. Blair put the cost at $65,000,000. The chances are that when all the accounts are

in, Mr. Blair's estimate will be exceeded.' That item, you say, appeared in the

Colonist 'i—A. Yes.

Q. And the alleged interview with Mr. McArthur?—A. In the Toronto World.

Q, These were the only grounds you had for your letter to the Colonist 'i—A. The
only ground.

Q. You have also stated that you have taken no steps to ascertain the correct-

ness or otherwise of the interview reported! with Mr. McArthur?—A. No.

Q. Then, as a matter of fact, you are not, I presume, in a position to say whether

the interview ever took place ?—A. I am not.

Q. You relied solely on what you saw in the newspapers?—A. In the newspapers

—there was some report in the Montreal Star or Gazette about it.

.

Q. You had not seen it in Victoria before you wrote your letter to the Colonist,

had you?—A. Yes, that came out.

Q. When did it come out ?—A. About the time that interview was in the Toronto
World.

Q. Can you identify that in any way?—A. No, it was a quotation, I think, in

the Saturday issue of the Victoria Colonist.

Q. Do you know what date ?—^A. No, I do not.

Q. In any event, that is immaterial, as to the point upon which I am examining
j'ou, because you have said that the only grounds upon which your letter to the Colonist

was based was the interview (with Mr. McArthur, and the item in the Colonist which
you incorporated in your letter to the Colonist as to the large increase?—A. Yes.

Q. Then, if Mr. McArthur never gave this interview, and never made the state-

ments attributed to him, you would have no reason for writiug this letter ?—A.
Possibly not.

Q. You say ' possibly not ' ; I wnnt an answer. Would you hnve had any other

reason?—A. No, I took exception to his making the statement that the changes I had
madie, or the engineers had made, on the location which reduced the cost a million,

were now increasing the cost.

Q. So that, if it be proved that this interview with Mr. McArthur did not take

place, or that the statements attributed to Mr. ]\roArthur in the intorview are not

correct, then there wore no grounds for your letter?—A. No ground for my letter. I

should not have written it.

Objection by Mr. Hodgins to the question.

^Fajor Hodgins.
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By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Now, Major Hodgins, in the amplified charges that you filed here on Wednes-

day, the 13th inst., you have reproduced in paragraph 3, extending from the top of

page 39 in these charges to the bottom of page 44, you have reproduced verbatim your

complaints against Mr. Mcintosh and his work, set out in your letter of September

14, which is filed here as Exhibit No. 6 ?—A. Practically.

Q. What is the answer to that question?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, have you any knowledge as to whether the matters originally mentioned

in that letter of September 14, and reproduced here by you from pages 39 to 44, have

ever been adjudicated upon or adjusted in any way?—A. I have no knowledge beyond

what occurred about two months after I left.

Q. What was that?—A. I heard that nothing had been done, that the classifica-

tion had not been changed.

Q. From whom did you hear that ?—A. I think from Mr. Mann.

Q. From?—A. Mr. Mann.

Q. I would like you to be positive about that ?—A. I spoke to Mr. Morse about

it also.

Q. To whom?—A. To Mr. Morse.

Q. Where did you see him?—A. In Winnipeg.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Who is Mr. Morse?—A. Vice-president.

Q. Of what?—A. Of the Grand Trunk Pacific.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. What did you say to Mr. Morse?—A. Wouldn't it be better if you called Mr.

Morse, he can tell you.

Q. No, I want to know from you.—A. I had a very long interview with him.

Q. How did you come to have the interview?—A. I wanted to ask him about

work.

Q. When was this?—A. I think it was towards the end of November; I was going

to the West.

Q. Towards the end of November, when you were going West?—A. I was leaving

Kenora.

Q. Where did you see Mr. Morse?—A. At Winnipeg.

Q. And you of your own volition went to seejiim?—A. I went to see him about

work.

Q. You mean about being engaged on the work?—A. Myself, yes.

Q. How did this matter referred to in your letter of September 14, 1907, and
reproduced in these charges, happen to come up?—A. He spoke about my leaving,

and classification generally.

Q. Yes?—A. He said he was very sorry to see I was going.

Q. But you had gone two months before that?—A. Yes.

Q. What else?—A. And that classification was a serious matter.

Q. Was it just general talk of that kind?—A. He said he had reports of classifi-

cation that I had put in and that they were prepared to accept it, up to, I think it

was, the August estimate.

Q. Up to the August estimate. Now, what was said about this particular classi-

fication of Mcintosh's work?—A. He spoke about classification generally, and he said

he had reports from his inspectors that the classification on—I think he referred to

two divisions—yes, he referred to the two divisions 5 and 6, they were the only

divisions that I make any criticisms of, the other divisions were apparently all right.

Q. Are you now telling us what Mr. Morse said?—A. We discussed Mr. Mann's
letter.

Q. Mr. Mann's letter of what date?—A. September 6, the only one of Mr. Mann's
letters that has been read.
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Q. There were two read, one of September 6 and one of September 9, which do

you mean?—A. Both of them.

Q. How did you come to discuss them; did you have those letters?—A. No.

Q. Or copies of them?—A. No.

Q. Then how did you come to discuss them?—A. We were talking of classifica-

tion, and the only classification that was objected to on the district was on these two

divisions.

Q. You say you did not have those letters, and you did not have copies of them;
did Mr. Morse have the letters?—A. No, Mr. Mann was in the office.

Q. He was present, was he?—A. He was not present then, but he had seen Mr.
Morse.

Q. How did you come to discuss these two letters?—A. I could not say we had
these letters before us, but we discussed what was in the letters.

Q. You discussed what was in the letters?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you bring the subject up?—A. I can't remember; it came up in the

subject of classification.

Q. It came up on the discussion with regard to classification, that is the best

you can say about it?—A. Yes.

Q. And did you recall to Mr. Morse this letter of yours of the 14th of September?
—A. Which letter was that?

Q. Dealing with this classification of Mcintosh's division—A. I do not remember.

Q. You do not remember ?—A. No, he wouldn't know anything about that letter.

Q. That is just what I want to know, how much was known and by whom. I

ask you if this classification on Mcintosh's work, referred to in your letter of Sep-
tember 14, and reproduced in these charges, was discussed on that occasion?—A. The
subject matters, both subject matters of the letters were discussed; I won't say the

letters themselves were discussed, because we did not have them there. He, I imagine,

spoke from what he had heard from Mann, who wrote that letter^ and I spoke from
my standpoint of what I had observed. We didn't have a long discussion about it,

but he discussed the matter of classification generally, and said something about the

classification in Quebec.

Q. There was nothing else of any consequence discussed at that interview relating

to the subject of this inquiry?—A. Yes.

Q. What was discussed?—A. I urged him to have the whole matter laid betore

Sir Wilfrid Laurier.

Q. What else?— A. He promised to do so.

Q. You urged him to have the whole matter laid before Sir Wilfrid Laurier, and
Mr. Morse promised to do so?—A. He said as soon as he saw Mr. Hays he would see,

as well Sir Wilfrid.

Q. What arrangement, if any, was made as to your position in the matter, when
it was laid before Sir Wilfrid?—A. No arrangement.

Q. What was the discussion with regard to that?—A. To my position?

Q. with regard to the matter when it would be laid before Sir Wilfrid Laurier

in regard to your position?—A. My position?

Q. Yes, in connection with the matter ?—A. I said, ^ if you are going to take it

up '—he had told me he would do anything he could in the way of getting me some
work in the West, and I said

—

' If you are going to take it up, I think, until this

matter is settled, that it would not be advisable for you to give me the work now.'

Q. But you went to see him to ask him for work ?—A. I had, and I told him I

did not think it would be advisable for him to give me a job just then bccnuso at that

time I was a discredited engineer, and he said, ' I am very glad to see you look at it

in that way.

Q. I understood that you went to see Mr. Morse in order to get wt^irk, how do you

reconcile that with your statement now ?—A. I went to him to ask him whni chance

there was for work in British Columbia.
5—13 ^[ajor Hodgins.
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Q. Now, you say that in the course of your interview you told Mr. Morse you did

not think it would be the proper thing for him to give you employment then as you
were a discredited engineer, how do you reconcile those two statements ?—A. I say;

that as he was ofiering me work

Q. He didn't offer you work, you went to him and sought it.—A. He had said he

would do what he could for me.

Q. And then you say you told him you did not think it would be proper for him
to offer you work as you were a discredited engineer ; how do you reconcile that with

your statement about going to ask him for work ?—A. I thought it was the best

thing to do. He was very l^ind in respect to the way he felt about it, I saw he was
going to do what he could for me, and I relieved the situation by making that sug-

gestion, and he said, ^ I am very glad you look at it in that way.'

Q. Was that said before or after your suggestion to Mr. Morse that he should

lay the whole matter before Sir Wilfrid Laurier ?—A. That was said as I was going

out.

Q. What imderstanding had you with Mr. Morse on that occasion as to the posi-

tion you were to occupy towards this matter when it was to be laid before Sir Wilfrid

Laurier, or when it had been laid before him ?—A. There was no understanding as

to the position.

Q. What was said in that regard ?—A. There was nothing more said.

Q. I want you to be positive about that ?—A. It was left open in that way, that

as soon as the matter was cleared up I would be in a position to ask for work.

Q. Was not there a discussion as to what assistance you would give in connection

with the matter that was to be laid before Sir Wilfrid Laurier ?—A. I said he could

call upon me.

Q. I thought so.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Let the witness answer.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. Go ahead, what did you say, that is what I want to know ; what was it ?—A.
That he could call upon me for any assistance I could give, and I think he replied

he did not require any assistance.

Q. I would imagine not ?—A. He had more information than I had any idea of.

Q. Now, that correctly sets forth the relative attitudes of yourself and Mr. Morse
at the end of that interview, does it not ?—A. I jvas feeling rather indignant about

the way I had been treated, I do not say he felt very indignant, so I can't say what
his attitude was.

Q. You were feeling rather indignant; that is not what I ask you?—^A. You
asked me about the relative attitudes of Mr. Morse and myself, I do not know about
his attitude.

Q. I am asking you about Mr. Morse and yourself as to what took place at that

interview ?—A. I only know about myself, he was very guarded in what he said.

Q. He was very guarded ; you were sore and he wasn't, is that it ?—A. Possibly.

Q. You wanted to get even with somebody, he hadn't any special interest in your-

self to speak of ?—A. Pardon me, sir, I had chucked the whole thing, I felt rather

miserable about it.

Q. Now let me direct your attention to some other things you have done. At page

41, at the top of page 41 of yo;ur charges, there appears this, ' At miles 29, station 1478

to 1483, the engineer in charge of that section turned in in estimate of July or August,

1907, 6,394 cubic yards of earth and 10,189 yards of loose rock. Judged by the speci-

fications there was absolutely no loose rock in sight, and a thousand cubic yards of

Icosr rock would have been an excessive charge.'

That is the first paragraph, and the second paragraph is, ' At stations 1386 and
1389 the engineer turned in in the July or August, 1907, estimate, 15,076 cubic yards
of loose rock and 26,668 cubic yards of common excavation. In this case a few
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hundred yards of loose rock should have been allowed, as there were a few boulders,

but no more, as it was a pure sand cut/

Where did you get the information on which those two paragraphs were based I

— A. From my assistant.

Q. From your assistant, who is he ?—A. Mr. Heaman.
Q. When did you get that information ?—A. I had seen him out on the work,

ho and I had both gone together over Mcintosh's work and I went west and he went

east. He and Mr. Mcintosh had again gone over the ten miles referred to in the

transfer that we discussed last night, and then he w^as to go over the whole of the next

division.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Whose was that?—A. Mr. Eichan's.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Yes?—A. He went over Mcintosh's division, but Mr. Mcintosh did not go
with him, but he went over Eichan's and made notes about the 40 miles, 1 think it

was 30 or 40 miles. When I got back to my office, before he got back, I was discharged,

and when he came back I asked him what notes he had taken, and he read out a lot

of his notes from his note book.

Q. Yes?—A. I told him he would have to report that to the engineer who came
up to take my place as he was left there he would have to report it to the chief

engineer, and before I left Kenora I asked him if he had a copy of the notes ; he said

he had not made them out, and that he had spoken to Mr. Foss who came up to take

my place, and Mr. Foss said he wanted to keep an open mind and did not want to

have any information from either of us. I asked him why he said that and he said he
did not know. I got these notes from him, I got no more.

Q. You got these notes from Mr. Heaman, when?—A. He read them from his

note book as I was leaving Kenora.

Q. What date was that?—^A. I expect it was in November.

Q. I would like you to be reasonably accurate about that, major?—A. Yes, it

was in November, I had left Kenora and come west, clean out to the coast, and had
been away about a month, I think, and then I came back and got all my things ready.

Q. It was in November you got the data on which these two paragraphs are

based, from Mr. Heaman ?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Macdonall :

Q. In whose employ was Mr. Heaman at that time?—A. I think he had left.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Left where do you mean?—A. Left the commission.

Q. And for (whom was he working at that time ?—A. I do not know whether he
had gone with the Grand Trunk Pacific then or not.

Q. It is not so long ago, surely you can remember that ?—A. I do not know what
date he went with them ; I know he went with them since he completed his time with

the Transcontinental.

Q. Is it correct to say that at that time you knew he had left the commission, but

j^ou do not know whether he had yet gone to the Grand Trunk Pacific or not?—A. I

think he was with the commission.

Q. You say you think he was with the commission?—A. Yes—now, let me see,

I left in September—possibly he was with the commission. He was there with them
until the end of October or November.

Q. He was with them until when?

—

A. The end of October or November.

Q. So that you think A. He was there until a couple of months after I loft.

Q. And you think that at the time you returned after this trip of a month and
Major Hodgins.
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g'ot this data from him, he was still working for the commission—^he was still an

officer of the commission ?—A. Yes, I just asked him for a copy of his notes.

Q. You say you took these notes down; have you them with you?—A. Yes (pro-

ducing note book), here they are.

Q. You have a sheet in your hand,, what is that?—A. It is out of my note book;

these are the notes I took down.

Q. These are the notes you took down at the time you got the information from

Heaman?—A. Yes.

Q. Will you please read what is on the sheet there?

—

EXHIBIT No. 30.

A. '4260—Taken out in winter; at present generous. 50 per cent L. R. in first

150 feet—perhaps a few yds. in balance, but rest pure sand. Now classified as follows

:

4250-4059—

200 solid.

6660 loose.

11145 com.

One thousand yards loose would be generous. Got to take engineer's word for 200

solid rock; appearances don't warrant this.

1548—1552-65—
263 E.

1T57 L. E.

50 per cent loose rock would be exceeding generous.

Mile 29—1478-1483—

6394 Earth.; -D .

10189 L.R.l^^*^^^-

By cpecification absolutely no loose E in sight. 1000 yds. L. E. would have been

excessive.

In other words, Engrs. have given $3,000 to contractor without apparent reason.

1303-1398—

15076 loose.

26668 com. Ex.

A few hundred yds. L. E. in boulders—as it is a pure sand cut, yet 15076 L. E.
is given.'

That is all I got. I said, 'Well, I would like to get a copy of the whole thing

when you have made it out,' but I never had it; that is all I got.

Q. When did Heaman go over the work and get the data you have just read

from?—A. He was going over it at the time I was going over it, in August.

Q Well then, are the particulars contained in that sheet the result of his inspec-

tion, of Heaman's inspection of the work in August?—A. I presume so.

Q. I want to know definitely?—A. Yes, because it was the detail of his inspection

when I was on the work that I wanted to get.

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. I understand you did not get it?—A. No, he had a note book full of it, and
I said, ' That is enough,' he had read the whole thing to me before I left.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Do you know of your own knowledge whether Heaman was on the work or
not?—A. On that? Yes.
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Q. Do you know that, were you with him?—A. No, I sent him over the work.

Q. You do not know whether these particulars, contained in that sheet and given

to you by Mr. Heaman, were obtained by Mr. Heaman personally, or were got by
him from somebody else?—A. I presume so; I sent him there.

Q. It is only presumption of yours? You do not know, or do you know? And if

so, what was the date?—A. The date he went and took these notes?

Q. Yes ?—A. He must have taken these notes about the 16th of August, some time
about the 16th of August, either the 15th or 16th, was the date I returned and got

Mr. Lumsden's letter. He was out on the work then and he returned a few days
after that.

Q. The witness said the 15th or 16th of August. Which do you mean?—A. Give
me Mr. Lumsden^s letter to me.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—The date is September 12th.

The Witness.—September 12th.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. What are you fixing by the date of Mr. Lumsden's letter to you?—A. The
date of Heaman's and my trip over the work; my last inspection.

Q. And was it on that trip Heaman got this, data?—A. Yes.

Q. The particulars of which you have read to us as contained in the sheet.

Exhibit 30?—A. Yes.

Q. Are you quite positive about that?—A. I did not go with them. I presume
they are.

Q. I am not asking you that. I am asking you as to the time. Are you positive

as to the time at which he got that information?—A. Yes, certainly.

Q. You swear positively, do you?—A. I was not with the man. I sent him out

over the work to get this information.

Q. In what month?-—A. In September.

Q. Then you are swearing, as I understand you, that Mr. Heaman got this infor-

mation which you have read to us in the month of September?—A. Exactly. As far

as I know. I did not get the information.

i>2/ Mr. Macdonald:

Q. While he was an employee of the commission?—A. Exactly.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. You got it from him some time in November ?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. While you were an employee of the commission?—A. Alter I had been West.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. So Mr. Heaman having obtained this information in September, this wor^c

had been done some time prior to that month?—A. Yes.

Q. In what month had the work been done?—A. I presume it was in August.

Q. I beg your pardon?—A. In August.

Q. You say here in July or August?—A. July or x\ugust.

Q. Now which?—A. I could not say. I never checked up the estimates. Hea-
man gave me those figures, and I never checked the estimates to find out whether he
was right or wrong.

Q. You see when you make charges against people, you have to be a little par-

ticular?—A. Mr. Murphy, if I knew what you wanted me to answer I certainly would
tell you. I don't understand your question.

Q. What I am asking you is, in what month was the work done to which you and
he referred?—A. It should have been done in July or August.

Q. Which month?—A. I could not say.

INr.vjOR Hodgins.
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Q. In July or August, you cannot say which?—A. I could not say.

Q. You are sure it was not September ?—A. September? No, the notes were

taken before September.

Q. That is, Heaman's notes were taken?—A. Heaman's notes were taken before

September.

Q. Then I want to fix the date?—A. If you call Mr. Heaman
Q. I want to know was it July or August?—A. Call ivir. Heaman here.

Q. We will have Mr. Heaman here, he will have enough to answer. Just now I

want to get this information from you. You cannot say, I understand from you now,

whether this work was done in the month of July or the month of August?—A. ^^o.

Q. But you say that it was done either in the month of July or in the month .of

August?—A. It must have been in some previous month, because I sent him over in

September.

Q. Are you quite positive it was done prior to September?—A. I should say so.

Q. You should say so ?—A. Certainly. How could it be done after September

if he went over in September and get the notes.

Q. I don't know, I am not the witness ?—A. I cannot tell you. I did not take

^ the notes. I got the notes from Mr. Heaman ; he wrote them out. He wrote these

notes out. I said ' I cannot take down any more.'

Q. When you framed those charges, or directed your counsel to frame those

charges, what data had you that justified you in stating

Mr. Lennox.—That is not a proper question.

The Witness.—I have given you all the data I have.

Mr. Lennox.—I submit it is not proper to go into the relations between counsel

and client.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. I am not asking such a question as that. What reason had you—I will change

the form of the question—for saying this work was done in July and August and
returned in the estimates of July or August ?—A. Because it could not have been

done otherwise. The notes were taken in September.

Q. Did Mr. Haman give you the date of the month of July or August ?—A. No,

I don't think I took it down. Let me see the noles. (After examining document.)

No, there is no date here.

Q. So the best answer you can give then is that it was either in the month of

July or August that this work was done, exactly which you don't know ?—A. Yes, or

previous.

Q. Or previous to that?—A. Some month previous to August.

Q. You are positive, anyway, it was before September that Mr. Heaman collected

the information ?—A. I should say so, yes,

Q. Well, now I would like you to look at the July estimate and point out that

return in it, if you please? First of all in whose division was this work referred to in

these two paragraphs at the top of page 41 of your charges?—A. Mr. Kichan's.

Q. Mr. Kichan's division ?—A. Mr. Murphy, I think I looked this up the other

day when I had the papers.

Q. Just a moment, we will show you the estimate ?—A. And checked over these

quantities.

Q. I hand you the original estimate for July and I ask you to point out the return

of 6,394 cubic yards of earth and 10,189 cubic yards of loose rock if you can find such

a return there ?—A. I saw it the other day in one of them (after examining estimate).
You cannot tell from that. This estimate is put in mile by mile, not cut by cut.

Q. I beg your pardon ?—A. This estimate is put in mile by mile.

Q. Is there any reason why you cannot find these quantities ?—A. Mile 29, 1,478,

plus 40 to 1,531—no solid rock, 6,3T7 loose rock, 5,756 common excavation.

Q. Yes, liut I am asking for these particular figures that you have incorporated
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in your charges, 6,394 cubic yards of earth and 10,189 cubic yards of loose rock ? I

do not mean to say that you will find them there ?—A. No, the figures are not there.

Q. You cannot find them there. Now take August and I shall be very glad if the

members of the committee will be kind enough to allow the witness to give his own
Story. I think in justice to all parties that ought to be done ?—A. I think I checked

over these quantities when I had thes estimates the other day.

Q. You say you checked over these quantities when you looked at the estimates

the other day. And what did you find ?—A. I don't remember.

Q. You don't remember ?—A. I think I got those items.

Q. You think you got those items. In what estimate do you remember ?—A. No,
1 was looking through all the estimates back from January.

Q. You ought to get them in some of the estimates ?—A. I think so, yes.

Q. Can you give us no idea where you checked up those figures the other day,

major?—A. Last night when I was looking over the—no, it was when I had the blue-

prints.

Q. You think you checked those figures ?—A. I think I saw those figures, yes,

because I went over the various items.

Q. In some of the blue-prints. Can you identify them now ?—A. You have got

the originals. If you will give me those estimates I will look it up.

Q. Did you see it in one of the originals or in one of the blue-prints^ major?—A.

I don't remember now.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I am going to call Mr. Heaman.
Mr. Murphy.—Mr. Heaman or nobody else can prove what is in that charge.

Q. What is the number of the division this work was in ?—A. Division 5, resi-

dency 21.

Q. Major, I hand you the original estimate for October, District ' F,' Division No.

5, residency 21 (handing document to witness). Look at that and tell me whether you
can find there the figures that you have incorporated in your charges at the top of

,page 41 ?—A. (Reads) :
' 1478, 6,314 yards commons excavation '

Q. What are you reading ?—A. I am reading the October estimate.

Q. Yes ?—A. (Reads) :
' 6,514 yards, common excavation, 2,302 yards loose rock,

350 yards solid rock.

Q. Now I ask you do you find in that estimate 15,076 cubic yards of loose rock

and 26,668 cubic yards of common excavation?—A. I am reading 1478.

Q. But I am asking you about stations 1383 and 1398 ?—A. Yes :
' Common

excavation 26,668 '

Q. Cubic yards?—A. Yes.

Q. Of what?—A. Cubic yards of common excavation.

Q. Yes?—A. ^15,076 yards of loose rock.'

Q. Of loose rock?—A. Yes.

Q. So that from that estimate it is obvious that the work to which you refer in

the second paragraph at the top of page 41 of your charges was not done in July or

August, but when?—A. The month of October. It may have been done previously.

By Mr. Carvell:

Q. Is that estimate which you have been referring to an estimate of the work
done in September or the work done in October?—A. Of the work done up to the end

of October. Everything up to the end of October.

Q. Wben you speak about October estimate, do you mean a paper made out at the

end of the month?—A. The end of the month.

Q. Covering the work done in the month?—A. That was October, was it?

Q. Look at the September estimate, major ?—A. The whole mile is here, 1372

to 1425.

Q. What arc the quantities ?—A. (Reads) : 26,768 conuunn excavation, 9,376

loose, 1,500 solid rock.

Major IIodgias.
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By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. For what stations?—A. I presume 1,372 plus 80, to 1,425 plus 6.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. That would embrace what you have given in your charges between stations

1385 and 1398 ?—A. Yes.

Q. And although the estimate read covers the whole mile the figures given in your

charges are in excess of the figures there?—A. The figures here for common excava-

tion 26,768.

Q. You are reading now from the estimate for Septembesr and giving the returns

for the whole mile?—A. Yes.

Q. And what is the distance between stations 1385 to 1388 mentioned in your

charge?—A. Thirteen stations.

Q. 1,300 feet?—A. Yes.

Q. What have you to say about the date when this work was done?—A. That is

September. It was returned in September.

Q. Well, it is obvious that it was not done in July or August?—A. Could I see

the July estimate?

Q. You have the July estimate?—A, It is not returned here. Yes, I got these in

November. Of course, I don't know

By Mr. Carvell:

Q. The figures in your charge and those in the estimate do not correspond exactly ?

—A. No, I am 100 yards lower.

Q. You have given 1,500 cubic yards of solid rock. What do you find in the

estimate for loose rock?—A. 9,376 yards.

Mr. Murphy.—That is in the September estimate?

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. That is on what station?—A. That is on the whole mile, mile 27.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. As to the work covered by these two paragraphs at the top of page 41, major,

what do you say now ?—A. How much loose rock was given there in that last one ?

Mr. Carvell.—9,376 yards.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. So your charge as framed is incorrect as to the date at which this work was
done?—A. Apparently so. I can only account for that by having got it from Heaman
in November.

Q. Had Heaman made a mistake?—A. Oh, I cannot say that.

Q. What right had Heaman to give you that information in November ?—A. Well,

he had taken the information. I asked him for the information he got while he was
working with me as my assistant.

Q. If Mr. Heaman, as you state, was not then an employee of the commission,

how could he get that information at that date from the office of the commission ?

He had not access to your office at that time?—A. Wait a minute. What is the date?

Q. You say in November?—A. Could anybody fix the date. While I might have
left—I don't remember—he was there a month or two.

Q. We are asking you to fix the date?—A. I don't know what date he left. As
far as I am able to remember he left a couple of months after I left.

Q. And he gave you this information in November, a couple of months after you
left?—A. Before I left.

By Mr. Carvell:

Q. Before he left Kenora?—A. Yes.
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By Mr. Murphy:

Q. You had been away a month in the fall and you came back to Kenora?—A.

Yes. You see when he came off this trip I asked him for his notes and he had not

written them out.

Q. You got them from him some time in November, when both you and he had

ceased to be employed by the commission ?—A. I had.

Q. In any event it is now clear that this work was not done in July or August, as

you alleged?—A. Apparently so.

Q. Apparently so. Very well?—A. It was September or October.

Q. In answer to your counsel, major, you stated that you were an engineer of

wide experience on construction, did you not ?—A. I don't remember putting it in

those words. I have had some experience.

Q. Have you had considerable experience?—A. I have had considerable experi-

ence.

Q. When were you appointed district engineer for District ' F ' ?—A. I think in

October, 1904.

Q. In October, 1904. At a salary of what?—A. $4,000.

Q. $4,000 a year. Were you engaged by the month or by the year or for any stated

period?—A. By the month.

Q. You had made application, I understand, for the position that you obtained?

—A. Yes.

Q. And you had furnished the commission with the record of your professional

experience, had you not?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, what experience had you had on railroad construction prior to your
engagement as engineer of district ' F ' ?—A. I had been on the Canadian Pacific

Eailway.

Q. At what date did you begin working on railway construction?—A. In 1882.

Q, What was your work in 1882 ?—A. I was on the Morris branch.

Q. Of the Canadian Pacific Railway?—A. Yes.

Q. And what work did you perform there?—A. Principally levelling.

Q. Is that what they call a rodman?—A. No, I was hired as axeman. That was
the only position I could get.

Q. How long did you remain there?—A. I was there till about, I think, the fall^

till it froze.

Q. What year was that ?—A. That would be 1882.

Q, And what next were you engaged at?—A. I went out on the main line then

as rodman.

Q. Where was that?

—

A. The end of track, I think, was Swift Current.

Q. What position did you hold there?—A. Rodman on the prairie.

Q. What engineer had charge of that work?—A. Mr. Foster, I think.

Q. What year did you say?—A. 1883 that would be.

Q. And how long did you remain on that piece of work?—A. We were on various

pieces. I think we eventually got into the mountain.

Q. I am not particular as to the piece of work, but you were working for the

Canadian Pacific Railway?—A. Yes.

Q. And who was engineer in charge?—A. Mr. Foster. I think he was the assistant

engineer then. We call him resident now.

Q. I think you mentioned Mr. Ross?—A. He was the chief engineer and manager
of construction.

Q. Was there a Mr. Marpole an engineer there?—A. No.

Q. Were you ever employed on any work on which ISIarpolc was engaged?—A. No.

Q. How long did you remain with the Canadian Pacific Railway at that time?

—

A. Until they got through and drove the last spike.

Q. That was in what year?—A. ISSC, was it not?

Major IIodgins.
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Q. 1885 or 1886. What was your reason for leaving ?—^A. No more work. We all

came out.

Q. What did you next do?—A. I went down to Sherbrooke, on the short line

through Maine.

Q. No, I think you were engaged up around Toronto prior to that ?—A. That was

on the survey for straightening the Don river.

Q. What year was that ?—A. You have got me now ; let me see

Q. '85 or '86, wasn't it?—A. I do not know whether it was before that.

Q. Welly if you remained until the Canadian Pacific Eailway was completed, and

it was completed in 1885, and then you came east?—A. We caine out once; they shut

down construction on the Canadian Pacific Kailway, and I came out. I have for-

gotten whether the Don work was during the time the Canadian Pacific Railway was
under construction or whether it was after it was finished.

Q. You don't pretend to say that you were on two pieces of work at the same
time?—A. I will have to look up the date.

Q. You have told my learned friend considerable about it, but you did not tell it

all. Isn't it a fact that you came east and worked on the surveys of the Don rivei

t after you left the Canadian Pacific Railway?—A. I think that was the time.

Q. That wasn't railway construction work?—A. It was survey work.

Q. That was not construction work?—A. No, survey work.

Q. How long did that last?—A. About one summer.
Q. You were next employed on the Canadian Pacific Railway short line in

Maine?—A. Yes.

Q. And who was the chief engineer there?—A. Mr. Ross was when I first went

down, and afterwards Mr. Lumsden.
Q. How long were you there?—A. I think about two and a half or three years.

Q. Why did you leave there?—A. The work was finished.

Q. Where were you next employed, I think you said in Toronto?—A. At Windsor.
' Q. How long were you employed there ?—A. About a year, I think.

Q. Abouc a year. Now in what capacity were you employed on each of these

pieces of road by the Canadian Pacific Railway?—A. I started as a rodman with

them on the prairie.

Q. You have hold us about that, I am asking you about this short line and the

Windsor branch ?—A. In the position they call resident engineer?

Q. On both of those ?—A. Both of those, on the Ontario extension,^ near Detroit,

there was no division engineer.

Q. There was no division engineer ?—A. I was the resident engineer, and I used

to look after what I could of his work.

Q. Did you have one or more residencies during that time ?—A. Just one.

Q. Where were you next employed ?—A. In Mexico.

Q. You were in Mexico, how long were you there ?—A. About two years, not

quite two years, I think.

Q. What did your work there r-nnqic^ of ?—A. Construction work.

Q. Railroad ?—A. Railroad.

Q. Now you have spoken about being rodman and resident engineer ; were you
instrument man before that ?—A. I was.

Q. How Long ?—A. A few months.

Q. A few months?—A. A few months.

Q. When you were in Mexico where were you employed, about the city ?—A. No,
Vera Cruz, 70 kilometres out of Vera Cruz

; my division went from Vera Cruz out to

70 kilometres.

Q. Were you in the city or were you on the work ?—A. I was on the work.

Q. On the work continually ?—A. Continually, until I got the fever and then I

came out.

Q. That was the reason for leaving there ?—A. Yes.
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Q. When you returned to Canada, where were you next employed ?—A. I went to

Nelson. ^

Q. Prior to going to Nelson, I think you stated you were employed out in British

Columbia on some work ?—A. That is in British Columbia, Nelson is in British

Columbia.

Q. Yes, but on some government works ?—A. Yes.

Q. What were they ?—A. Works in connection with the town sites.

Q. That is local government works ?—A. Local government works, they owned

the town site and I looked after the grading of the streets, &c.

Q. How long were you employed by the British Columbia government ?—A,

About seven years, the whole of the time I was there.

By the Chairman :

Q. Hew many years ?—A. I did what work they wanted out there.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. You had a variety of experience during that time, but not in construction

work ?—A. Just a small piece of line at Nelson.

'Q. Extending from Nelson to where ?—A. It was only a short siding.

Q. Of what length?—A. Four or five miles.

Q. Where was that from, do you remember ?—A. Which, that work ?

Q. Yes ?—A. It was building to the Hall mines smelter.

Q. When was that, what year ?—A. In '99, I think.

Q. 1896, I think, isn't that it ?—A. 1896 or 1897, I think.

Q. There wasn't any railway construction work in that experience of your in

British Columbia ?—A. No, except that branch.

Q. What else did you do ?—A. I went to South Africa.

Q. Now, before that, you were engaged, were you not, in private practice '?—A. I

was there about seven years.

Q. That is what you mean when you say that the only railway work you did within

that period was this small branch ?—A. I gave up railway work, practically^

Q. What was the character of private practice, such as yours, in a small place like

Nelson, at that time ?—A. It was very varied.

Q. Outside of this small railroad branch you built ?—A. I was city engineer of

Nelson and looked after the waterworks.

Q. Yes ?—A. And I did a little bit of architecture, and a little mining surveying,

I went out once or twice on a land survey, I was not a qualified land surveyor, but I

did the work for other men.

Q. What else ?—A. That is about all.

Q. So that during the seven years you were engaged in private practice at Nelson,

the only railroad work you did was this short branch you have spoken of?—A. Yes,

that is all.

Q. Then you went to South Africa ?—A. To South Africa.

Q. What were you engaged in there?—A. After the troops got to Pretoria I was

put on the director of railways staff.

Q. What did that staff consist of, and what did the work they were supposed to

do consist of ?—A. My work was the building of new railways.

Q. Who was in charge of that ?—A. I was.

Q. What were your particular duties ?—A. Everything.

Q. Everything? You mean everything connected with railroad building?—A.

Yes, sir. Colonel Percy Girouard turned over so many troops and so many Kaffirs*

to me and I hnd to do tbo work.

Q. Now, are there any engineers in Canada now who knew you in South Africa,

major?—A. Yes.

Maj-qr Hodoins.
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Q. Name some of them?—A. There are two I saw in British Columbia the other

day.^

Q. Who are they?—A. Mr. Hirsch and Mr. Calcott.

Q. Are there any engineers on the Transcontinental who knew you in South
Africa?—A. Yes, Mr. Bell.

Q. Where is he located?—A. Vermilion Bay; he worked for me once in South
Africa.

Q. Where did you live in South Africa while working for Sir Percy Girouard?
•—A. At JohannesLurg principally; my office was there.

Q. That was your headquarters, was most of your work done there?—A. Most of

my work ? No, my work was scattered over two colonies ; I had all the branches. At
first I lived right on the work, not in the town, but out of the town, at one of the

mines; I madle my headquarters there.

Q. But that was not actually on the work?—A. Yes, we were building a line

through there from Johannesburg to Verinigan, and it came all through those mines;

the line was about 40 miles long, the main line, and the sidings we were building

from this main line to the various mines amounted to something like 25 or 30 miles,

^and I was living in the middle of the mines where the work was going on.

Q. So that you lived at headquarters rather than on the work?—A. It was on the

work.

Q. Were your duties largely office duties?—A. No. First I had to form my own
staff, pick men up where I could, and most of my staff at that time I am speaking

of were really mining engineers; they had been residents at the mines and had been

formed into a regiment at Capetown called the Bailway Pioneers.

Q. And these men composed your staff at first?—A. Some of them.

Q. How many miles of new line were built under Sir Percy Girouard while you
were there?—A. Well, there iwas that 45 miles to Verinigan—^you will have to give

me the map if you want that.

Q. Well, roughly speaking—that with which you had something to do, I mean?
—A. There was the road to Ermelo Springs.

Q. What was the length of that?—A. I forget how far they built.

Q. Can't you tell us, roughly or approximately, how many miles were built?—A.
I do not think it was finished when I left

; they probably built 30 or 40 miles ; it was
a very light road. Then there was the Blomfontein to Modderspoort.

Q. What was that distance ?—A. I think about 75 • to 90 miles.

Q. Was that completed while you were there?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you have charge of that work?—A. I was in charge of it.

Q. And it was completed under your charge?—A. It was completed; in fact, I

had to operate it until everything was finished on it.

Q. What other line was built?—A. The road from Harrismith to Bethlehem.

Q. What was the length of that?—A. Probably 90 miles, I have forgotten the
distances.

Q. Well, altogether how many miles would you say were built?—A. Then there

was the Springfontein to Jaggersfontein.

Q. And what was the length of that?—A. That eventually was going on to

Kimberley; I forget the length of these roads.

Q. What do you say was the total mileage of these roads that were built ?—A. Of
the roads that were completed?

Q. Yes?—A. 300 or 400 miles.

Q. And I understand that these railroads were turned over by the military

authorities to the civil authorities later on, is that correct?—A. Yes, when the war
iwas over.

Q. And just about that time, or shortly afterwards, you ceased to have connec-

tion with the road? Did you remain there after that?—A. When Sir Percy Girouard
left I left.
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Q. Was there some little trouble between you and the civil authorities?—A. No,

they were closing down.

Q. There was no trouble of any kind?—A. No, I got a very good letter from

them; they offered me, when they were abolishing the office I held, a position on the

Springfontein-Jaggersfontein road or a gratuity of six months' pay.

Q. Have you got that letter?—A. I have it somewhere.

Q. You haven't it with you?—A. No.

Q. But it is a fact that they retained some Canadian engineers in their employ?

—A. Oh yes, I believe there are several.

Q. Some of those were there in your time?—A. Yes, they were on the mainten-

ance staff.

Q. Well, now, coming back to district ^ F,' what were your duties there, major

;

had you a printed copy of the general instructions that were issued to all engineers

on the work?—A. Yes.

Q. I produce this book, indorsed ' National Transcontinental Kailway, Eastern

Division, General Instructions to Civil Engineers concerning Surveys and Construc-

tion.'—(Exhibit No. 31.) Did you have a copy of this book?—A. Yes.

Q. You were familiar, were you, with the definition of the duties of district

engineer, set out on page 6; I will just read them?—A. I don't remember what they

are.

(Extract from Exhibit No. 31.)

DISTRICT ENGINEER—DUTIES.

' 10. The district engineer is in full charge of all the parties in his district ; he is

responsible for the faithful execution of all instructions, general or special, which may
lie given from time to time, as well as for the proper maintenance of discipline in the

parties. He will see that the engineers in charge of parties are properly instructed,

that they are competent men, and that they faithfully perform the duties entrusted to

them; he will instruct the commissariat officer from time to time as to stores required

and will make all requisitions for supplies so as to give ample time for purchasing and
delivering same; he will certify to all accounts, pay-rolls, &c., and send them in to

the chief engineer on the first of every month; he will report to the chief engineer

monthly, and oftener when opportunity offers, on all matters of interest affecting the

work in his district.

'It will be his duty to know the general character of the country through which
the line is being run and to see that ample exploration is made in advance of the

preliminary lines.

' District engineers will send fortnightly to the chief engineer, from the reports

received by him from his engineers, as called for in section 12, a full report of all the

work done in his district.'

You are familiar with that rule. Major?—A. Yes.

Q. Then the definition of the duties proceeds as follows:—

•

' On the first of every month, he will summarize to date all matters bearing upon
his operations, giving progress being made, and such other matters as are of interest

and value affecting the work.

'He will forward to the chief engineer, duly approved, pay-roll, expense accounts
and bills.

' He will take a blue print copy of the plans and profiles received and forward to

the chief engineer's office the original tracings.'

You say you are familiar with those duties as defined under section 10. is that
correct, "Major?—A. Yes.

Q. Then there is a further rule at page 60, rule 00, with reference to district

engineers' reports :

' 90. The district engineer will send in to the cliiof engineer once a month, or

Major Hodgixs.
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oftener when opportunity offers, and there is matter of interest, full reports of all the

work in his district.'

Q. You are familiar with that rule also, Major?—A. Yes.

Q. Then on page 43, section 45, under the heading

:

* CONSTRUCTION.

^ 45. Ten to twelve miles will usually be allotted to each resident engineer.
' It will be the -duty of the resident engineer immediately on reaching his residency

to study carefully the specifications, contract and plans, so as -to be prepared to decide

promptly all questions that may arise within the scope of his authority, and in order

to insure this end, he will confer with his district engineer on all points that seem io

him to require explanation. He will inform himself fully of all the rules and matter

contained in these instructions, and conform his work thereto in every particular.

He will do all the instrumental work required on his residency in order that the

contractor may rapidly and satisfactorily carry on the work in accordance with the

plans, specifications and contract. He will make up monthly and final estimates of all

work done in his residency in accordance with Form No. 4 and 5.

^ He will treat contractors with courtesy and will give them all the aid necessary

to expedite the work, and see that the conditions called for in the plans, specifications

and contract are complied with.'

Now, you are familiar with that rule also, Major?—A. Yes, but that rule was changed;

when you put division engineers on, the resident engineers reported direct to the

division, they did not report to the district engineer,

Q. Do you mean to that extent the immediate control of it was transferred from
the district engineer to the division engineer?—A. To the division engineer.

Q. What time was that change made that you speak of?—A. I think when the

construction began, it would never do to have the junior, the resident engineer, report

direct to the district engineer with an intervening senior man between them; the

resident engineers are not division engineers.

Q. I see there is a rule here, 49, requiring that the resident engineer on his arrival

at his residency will promptly notify his division and district engineer and the chief

engineer, stating his post ofiice, telegraph and telephone address ?—A. Yes, he does

that through the division engineer. _
Q. Did you see that these rules were carried out?—A. I endeavoured to.

Q. There is a rule, 46», I see here: ' The resident engineer will report to the divi-

sion engineer, if there is one, otherwise to the district engineer.' Does that cover

what you spoke of as the change?—A. Yes.

Q. Here is a copy of the Colonist, of Victoria, B.C., of April 17, 1908 (handing-

order of reference to witness). Will you look at that, please, and see if that is the

paper and if the letter bearing your signature is the letter which has been copied here

in the paper brought down in the House?—A. That is the letter. I did not keep a

copy of it.

Q. You did rot keep a copy of it, do you mean of the letter or the paper ?—A. I

have a copy of the paper.

Q. Now, in paragraph 12, on page 42, of the charges that you have filed, you
adhere to all the statements contained in that letter of April 16, that is correct, isn't

it, major?—A. Yes.

Q. And you accept the responsibility for them?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, do you also adhere to the statements in your interview in the same paper

published on the 19th of April?—A. I do not. I take exception to this exhibit.

Q. In what respect do you take exception?—A. I told the reporter that he had

misrepresented a whole lot of things which he had not taken down correctly ; he had
not taken it down in shorthand, but wrote it on a little piece of paper about that size

(illustrating), and I believe he wrote two columns; I asked him to make corrections.

Q. Were those corrections made?—A. Some.
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Q. Have you those corrections?—A. I have not.

Q. When were they made?—A. The following day.

Q. In what particulars was the report of your interview incorrect?—A. There
were a lot of words put down to me that I did not make use of

;
language that was

not mine.

Q. Do I understand then that you disavow responsibility for that interview?

—

A. Yes
Mr. HoDGiNS.—He does not disavow the whole of it.

The Witness.—Well, the way it is written. The man who interviewed me twisted

everything up, and put in some of his own words, not mine.

Mr. Murphy.—Well, it is produced here on the records.

Mr. Barker.—It is not produced by Major Hodgins.

Mr. Parent.—No, but it has been produced in the House.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Which political party does the Colonist support?—A. The Conservative.

Q. Have you any particular friends who are members of the staff of that paper?

—A, The reporter was the only one I knew.

Q. By the way, what have you been doing since you went out there last fall?

—

A. I have not been doing very much.
Mr. Hodgins objected to questions relating to witness' private business.

Mr. Murphy.—I want to know whether he has been engaged in engineering.

The Witness.—No, I was out of engineering.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. You have not been doing engineering work since. You have already told us
that you based your letter solely on the report of the interview with Mr. McArthur
and the item that appeared in the paper itself?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, taking up the statements contained in the article, and dealing first with
that item as -to the cost of the road, can you swear, of your personal knowledge, what
the total expenditure will amount to ?—A. I could not.

Q. You cannot? Have you any idea at all?—A. Of the total cost of the road?

Q. Yes ?—A. No, I haven't made a calculation.

Q. And you have already told us that you knew nothing about whether this inter-

view with Mr. McArthur ever took place, and you took no steps to inquire as to its

authenticity?—A. It was not correct.

Q. All you know is that it was not correct, do you know that?—A. I do not say

that, no.

Q. You do not say it, but you do not know ?—A. I do not.

The committee adjourned.

Thursday, May 21, 1908.

The Committee met at 11 o'clock a.m.

The cross-examination of Major Hodgins resiunod.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q.—Major, I want to refer for a few minutes to the evidence that you gave
yesterday. You told us that when you wore in South Africa on the staff of Sir

Percy Girouard, that he gave you a number of troops nnd that you had to go and
build certain railroads? Is that correct?—A. Yes.

Q. Previous to connucncing to build those roads did you nuiko estiuuitos of what
the cost would be?—A. I had to run the survey first.

Major Hodgins.
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Q. Did you make an estimate of what the cost would be?—A. Not on that parti-

cular one. During the war I could not.

Q. I am not asking whether you could not, but did you ?—A. I did not on that'one.

Q. We understand from what you said that the roads were built as a military

necessity?—A. Certain ones during the war were built in that way. Afterwards we
built them in the regular way.

Q. But the majority of the roads that you mentioned were built during the war?
—A. No.

Q. No?—A. 6h, no. We started one from Johannesburg to Vereeniging, and a

portion of about I think 18 miles .out of Harrismith we built during the war, and a

portion to Bloemfontein as far as Sauna's Post.

Q. Was that work ever measured?—A. Yes.

Q. In what way?—A. Cross-sections.

Q. Such a method is employed on the Transcontinental ?—A. Exactly the same.

Q. Was it done under contract?—A. No.

Q. No contract?—A. No contract.

Q. Well then in that case you were not called on to exercise your judgment as to

classification?—A. No.

Q. And there never was any classification at all on those roads built under the

conditions that you mention?—A. Certainly there was classification.

Q. You have just said you were not called upon to exercise your judgment as

to classification?—A. On those branches certainly not.

Q. No?—A. No. On those particular ones there is certainly classification.

Q. On the ones built after the war ?—A. Yes.

Q. Were the others built during the war?—A. During the war.

By Mr. Carvell:

Q. Built by contract ?—A. I was given seven or eight thousand natives and I had
to build those portions as best I could. Sometimes the Boers would drive us back

and I would have to retire and go on with some other road.

Q. That was during the war ?—A. Yes, during the war.

Q. I am speaking after peace had been declared. Was the work done by contract

or simply by what is called force account ?—A. By contract.

Q. Contract?—A. Certainly.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Do you remember who the contractor was?—A. Pauline & Company were the

contractors for one portion. They were on the Bloemfontein-Modderpoort Poad. Wills

& Lyall, an English firm, they also had a portion of that Bloemfontein-Modderpoort

road. There was another contractor named Patterson. -He was on the Springs-Ermelo

road. The Harrismith road I have forgotten the name of the man. He was an Ameri-
can. He had the grading, and other small contractors were given the masonry.

Q. By the contractor or by the government?—A. By the engineer in charge.

Q. Who was that?—A. Captain Armstrong.

Q. Were those contracts by mile, so much per mile, or for a lump sum?—A. No,

they were so much per item.

Q. How do you mean?—A. So much for earth and loose rock, so much for shale,

&c. I wrote the specifications myself. I have them somewhere.

Q. You wrote them yourself?—A. Yes, I had had to do everything for myself.

Q. You had to do everything?—A. Yes.

Q. Were those contracts awarded by tender?—A. By tender.

Q. Who made the award?—A. The Tender Board.

Q. Is that a government Board?—A. It was a Board made up of certain officials

on the railway.

Q. Made up of certain officials on the railway?—A. Yes.

Q. Were you a member of the Board ?—A. No. I was not a member of the Board.
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Q. Was your chief. Sir Percy Girouard, a member of the board?—A. No, there

were two Royal Engineer Officers and I think one of the officials in the Stores Depart-

ment.

Q. Was the Mr. Armstrong you mentioned a member of the Board?—A. Oh, no.

Q. Now, I would like to refer to a point we discussed yesterday for some time.

That is with reference to cut 1,383 to 1,398. That cut was on Mr. Kichan's Division

5, was it not ?—A. 1,383 to 1,398 ? Yes. I think that is mile 27.

Q. And formed part of Mr. Richan's work?—A. Yes.

Q. You said yesterday you had received information about that contained on the

sheet you filed from your assistant Mr. Heaman?—A. Mr. Heaman, yes.

Q. And that information was received on your return from British Columbia in

about the first week in November?—A. The notes were received when Mr. Heaman
came back from this first trip. He read me over his notes, and told me the classifica-

tion was in an awful condition in that district. We discussed one or two points and
looked at the profiles and afterwards when I was leaving I asked him for a copy of

them. He said he had not got a copy with him at the time. He had his notebook,

a small notebook, and he read them out and I took them down.

Q. Let us understand this clearly. When you first got the information from Mr.
Heaman it was merely a discussion between you?—A. Yes.

Q. Then later?—A. Then later on I got the notes.

Q. In November at a time when you had for a month or more been out of the

employment of the Transcontinental Commission ?—-A. Yes.

Q. You met Mr. Heaman again?—A. Yes, and I asked him for a copy of the

notes.

Q. You asked him for the notes and he gave you a copy of the notes?—A. I took

down those notes from his notebook.

Q. Now, Mr. Heaman at that time ,according to you, was either an employee of

the Transcontinental Commission or an employee of the Grand Trunk Pacific?—A. Or
the Grand Trunk Pacific.

Q. You are not sure which?—A. Not sure which.

Q. But in any event he was not at that time your assistant?—A. No.

Q. So that he gave you the information at that time simply out of friendship?

—A. Yes.

Q. And as affording some information that his former chief asked him for?—A.
Certainly.

Q. Now, have you seen Mr. Heaman since then?—A. Yes.

Q When ?—A. I met him on my way down.

Q. Did you write him to meet you?—A. Yes.

Q. And where did he meet you?—A. At Kenora.

Q. And where did he meet you ?—A. At Kenora.

Q. When you saw him you were on your way down to Ottawa?—A. On my way
to Ottawa.

Q. Where you were summoned to attend as a witness ?—A, Yes.

Q. You wrote to Mr. Heaman to meet you?—A. Yes.

Q. Mr. Heaman at that time being, and still is I understand, an employee of

the Grand Trunk Pacific?—A. Yes.

Q. Mr. Heaman met you where?—A. At Kenora.
Q. And were you in his company for some time?—A. Yes.

Q. How long?—A. He came down as far as Eagle Bivcr.

Q. You and he came down together as far as Eagle River?—A. As far as Eagle
River.

Q. Is that another station on the Canadian Pacific?—A. On the C.P.R. The other
train crossed and he came back by it.

Q. What took place between you?—A. I asked him if he could give me anv more
5—14

!N[ajor Horcixs.
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information. He said lie would like to but that as he was working for the Grand
Trunk Pacific he considered the information he received was theirs.

Q. Yes ?—A. I said ' Will you give me any inforniation about the time when you
were working with me/ and he said—^he asked me what it was, so I referred to these

things and I said ' Is that correct.
'

Q. Wait a minute. What notes were those?—A. These notes here (pointing to

notes) ?

Q. Those two paragraphs at the top of page 41 of your charges?—A. Yes. I said,

' Are those correct as you took them, ' and he said, ' Yes. ' I asked, " Oan you tell me
anything more about it'? He said, would rather not, but if I am summoned as a

witness I suppose I will have to tell everything I know.' He said, *I would like to

Tell you a good deal but don't ask me to.

'

Q. Yes, what else?—A. That is about all.

Q. Was that the time when he gave you the month in which the work was per-

formed as July or August?—A. No.

Q. The months do not appear on- that sheet of yours. Where did you get the

month?
Mr. HoDGiNS.—I am afraid I am responsible for that.

A. I expect it was in that way. My cousin asked me what month, and I said put

it down for July or August.

By Mr. Murphy : .

.

Q. In any event you did not get it from Mr. Heaman ?—A. No.

Q. You made notes on the train between Kenora and Eagle Eiver, did you n^?
—A. No.

Q. While Mr. Heaman was with you?—A. No, I don't think so.

Q. Are you quite sure that you did not?—A. I think so. There were other mat-

ters that I was talking to Mr. Heaman about, but they were private matters.

Q. Well, was it about these private matters you made notes ?—A. I think so. When
I left Kenora, I left some of my furniture and we checked that over.

Q. We need not go into that. I want to know. Major, on your oath, if you did

not make notes on that C.P.R. train with Mr. Heaman about the subject matter of

this inquiry?—A. I checked over those notes with him. I read that sheet that I

turned in. ^
Q. Which sheet?—A. That little item.

Q. In your notebook?—A. In my notebook. I read it over to him.

Q. Yes? Were any corrections made in it?—A. No corrections.

Q. Or additions?—A. Or additions.

Q. Are you quite positive you made no notes on that trip?—A. I made no notes.

Q. With reference to the subject matter of this inquiry?—A. No notes.

Q. You are quite sure of that?—A. Quite positive.

Q. Did Mr. Heaman make any notes?—A. I could not say, I don't remember.

T don't think he had a notebook.

Q. What understanding did you and he have regarding his attendance as a

witness?—A. He said he would come down here if he were summoned.
Q. If he were summoned?—A. Yes.

Q. That is all?—A. I questioned him several times about the work and he asked

me not to ask him any questions, he did not like to answer. The only question that

he would really answer was, ' He said those are right. (Exhibit No. 30.)

Q. He said those notes of yours on the sheet you have filed were all right?—A.

Yes.

Q. Did Mr. Heaman give you any notes of his own at any time ?—A. No.

Q. Any last November?—A. No.

Q. Any on that trip on the train?—A. No.

Q. No?—A. No.
Q. Did he afford you access to his notebook or other records?—A. No.
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Q. He did not exhibit any to you?—Q. He said he had a book there.

Q. Did he not show it?—A. He showed it to me.

Q. And what did you read in that book?—A. I just glanced through it.

Q. Yes, and what did you see in your glance through it?—A. It referred to

Richan's district.

Q. It referred to Eichan's district?—A. Yes.

Q. And what was the reference that you read?—A. There was one reference but

I have forgotten the

Q. Well?—A. It was over classified.

Q. Yes, and when did this over classification take place?—A. I don't remember
the date.

Q. In any event it was after you left?—A. After I left.

Q. And this is the gentleman you told us a moment ago pretended to be so loyal

to his present employers that he would not give you any information ?—A. I promised

him I would not use it.

Q. But he exhibited his book and gave you the opportunity of extracting from it

any information you wished?—A. I did not extract any information.

Q. Well, informed yourself of the contents of that book ?—A. Just to that extent.

Q. He gave you that opportunity and this is the man you want the committee to

believe is loyal to his present employers ?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—That is hardly fair. He did not say that.

Mr. Lennox.—He did not say tjiat and it is not right or fair.

The Witness.—Mr. Heaman and I

Mr. Murphy.—It speaks for itself.

The Witness.—All right it speaks for itself.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Where is that book now ?—A. I could not say.

Q. What did you do with it ?—A. Handed it back to him.

Q. What correspondence did you have with Mr. Heaman, Major, after you left?

—

A. I have had one or two letters from him.

Q. Have you those letters?—A. No.

Q. Where are they ?—A. I destroyed them.

Q. Oh. Why did you destroy them?—A. They were private letters.

Q. But you have put in letters here that are marked private and confidential.

I don't see that the fact th;at they were private justifies you in making away with

them, as you have now mentioned?—A. Well, they were confidential letters and
they referred to other people.

Q. Yes, that was to be expected. Did you keep copies of them?—A. No, I

did not.

Q. Has Mr. Heaman copies of them?—A. I could not say.

Q. Did you discuss those letters with him on the train?—A. Yes.

Q. Were any notes made on the train regarding the contents of those letters?

—A. No.

Q. Is it not a fact that you had considerable correspondence backwards and for-

wards with Mr. Heaman?—A. Not considerable; I don't suppose there were more
than four letters.

Q. Not more than four letters? A moment ago you said one or two. Now.
think again and isec if there were not more than four?—A. No.

Q. You mean four letters from you to Heaman and four from him to you?— A.

About that, yes.

Q. Now, I shall ask you to produce that oorrespondenoe you lind with, '^[Y. Hea-
man?—A. I have not got any correspondence with Mr. Heaman; I destroycil thorn.

Q. Did you keep copies of the letters you sent?—A. Not a copy.

Major Hodgins.

6—m
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Q. Well, what was this correspondence about?—A. About a good many things,

principally private correspondence. A good deal of the correspondence was about

my things that I left in my house.

Q. I don't want any information about that; that is private in the real sense of

the term. Was any of the correspondence about the matters that are being inquired

into by this committee?—A. Some of it was.

Q. Some of it was. Now, what was that correspondence ?—A. I cannot remember
all that was in it.

Q. Well, tell us what you remember, as you have destroyed the correspondence?

—A. It was principallly that

Q. Begin at the beginning? How did it open up? How did the correspondence

begin?—. It began with possibly references to private matters. There were several

questions I had asked Mr. Heaman that he was unable to give me answers to.

Q. Yes?—A. He gave me no definite information about anything. I got no
notes from him as to any particular portion of the line. I asked him once whether

the classification on McTaggart and the two Macfarlanes' division was unaltered.

I said I did not imagine there would be any change in that, that the only portion of

^ my district that would require re-classification was on divisions 5 and 6, and he replied

to the effect that my
Q. Divisions 5 and 6. Whose divisions are they?—A. Mcintosh and Richan.

Q. And he replied?—A. And he replied to the effect that that was all right, that

my opinion was all right.

Q. That your opinion was all right. Yes, what else?—A. Then he said he was
rather tired of going up and down the line and making notes on classification.

Q. Yes?—A. The chances were that he would be either transferred to British

Columbia or District ' C I think District ' C ' or ' D.'

Q. Yes, and what else did this correspondence contain?—A. I don't know whether
[ should give the opinion of an engineer on other engineers.

Q. Oh yes, if you had not destroyed this correspondence you know it would speak
for itself. Now we are entitled to know what it contained. What else?—A. Is that

the ruling of the Chairman?
The Chairman.—Oh yes, you have to answer that, I think.

The Witness.—It was private correspondence.

Mr. Carvell.—Is the witness to be asked to go into private matters ?

The Witness.—I would prefer Mr. Heaman to come down.
Mr. Carvell.—Mr. Chairman, is it your ruling that the witness should proceed?

The Chairman.—I think as between two engineers talking over the matter

—

The Witness.—Confidentially.

The Chairman.—With respect to this investigation we ought to be entitled

Mr. Murphy.—One of them being still on the work.
Mr. Carvell.—He is not in the employ of the commission but in the employ of

the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway.
Mr. Murphy.—Yes.

Mr. Carvell.—I am taking the same ground this morning that I have taken from
the beginning. I don't think we ought to drag into this any improper evidence. I
I think this would be improper. I don't see what right we have to inquire into the
private transactions of Major Hodgins with Mr. Heaman or any other gentleman
with whom he had correspondence.

The Chairman.—Of course, not private transactions, but if anything has trans-

pired in correspondence, or in conversations, relating to the charges which we are

investigating I think we ought to get that information. Of course, not privaate
conversations or private affairs discussed in correspondence.

Mr. Murphy.—I have already said I don't want that.

Mr. Carvell.—The witness has said these were private references to other
engineers.

The Chairman.—T think he ought to answer that
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Mr. HoDGiNS.—What opinions about other engineers?

Mr. Macdonald.—For what purpose did you desire this evidence, Mr. Murphy?
Mr. Murphy.—I don't know that we ought to disclose at this stage why we desire

this evidence.

Mr. Barker.—This man is not on oath and he is expressing private opinions upon
the character of other officers.

Mr. Carvell.—That is the point exactly.

The Chairman.—There was correspondence between them and we have not got

that correspondence. Mr. Murphy is trying to find out what was in that correspond-

ence relating to some of these charges.

Mr. Lennox.—If Mr. Murphy wants to have the information, and if it is

evidence touching the subject of this investigation, I think we ought to have it

Mr. Barker.—We would be glad to hear it, if it is evidence?

Mr. Murphy.—I don't want any private affairs.

The Chairman.—Of course, I am in the hands of the committee. My ruling may
not be exactly what it should be, but as far as I am concerned, if there is anything

in that correspondence that relates to these charges I think it should be told.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—As I understand it, Mr. Murphy, you want Mr. Heaman's opinion

about other engineers?

Mr. Murphy.—I don't know what the information is.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Is that relevant; has that anything to do with this inquiry?

Supposing he did say so and so was a bad engineer?

Mr. Carvell.—And is it of any value to the conmiittee in coming to a conclusion ?

I cannot see that it is.

Mr. Murphy.—I cannot say until the witness has answered the question.

Mr. Barker.—If Mr. Murphy insists upon it we should not object.

By Mr. Murphy :

Mr. Murphy.—If the answer is irrelevant it can be stricken out.

Q.—What period did this correspondence between you and Mr. Heaman that you
have been referring to cover?—A. Let me see. To about April, about the middle of

April.

Q.—It began about the middle of April?—A. No, I think the last letter I got

from him was the middle of April.

Q. When did you go to Victoria?—A. I was there in December.

Q. You were there from December?—A. Yes.

Q. Are we to uunderstand that from December until April you had this corres-

pondence with Mr. Heaman?—A. About three or four letters.

Q. You had three or four letters between December and April?—A. And April.

Q. From Mr. Heaman?—A From Mr Heaman.
Q. Does the answer you gave a moment ago mean that your last letter was

received from him in April?—A. I think so. I would not be certain, I don't

remember the date.

Q. You were uncertain yesterday as to the date at which Mr. Heaman loft the

employ of the commission?—A. Yes.

Q. Can you toll us whether you had any correspondence with him before he loft

their employ?—A. No.
Mr. Carvell.—Yesterday ho said it was either the end of October or the end of

November, he was not sure which month it was.

Mr. Barker.—The commission must have the actual date.

7??/ Mr. Murphy:

Q. Now this correspondence you say was destroyed?—A. Yes.

Q. When did you destroy it?—A. I destroyed it when T was coming down here.

Major Hodgins.
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Q. You destroyed it after you had received the summons to come to Ottawa?

—

A. Yes.

Q. To attend before this committee?—A. Yes.

Q. Why did you do that?—A. Mr. Heaman asked me to.

Q. Mr. Heaman asked you to. Very well. I don't think we need pursue that

much further. Now, in one of these letters Mr. Heaman mentioned that he was
tired of going up and down the line and expected to be transferred to a certain section

in British Columbia ?—A. Yes, or ' C
Q. His professional experience had been that of an office man, had it not, largely?

—A. Oh, no. Heaman is not here to defend himself.

Q. He will be. I am asking you?—A. And he is a good engineer in the office

and out of the office.

Q. How much experience did he have before you got him?—A. I cannot say as

to that how much he had, I don't remember.

Q. Would you be surprised to hear that he had not a year's experience ?—A. Very.

Q. Would you, too, be surprised to hear that he had not six months' experience ?

—

A. Oh yes, because he was working for the Grand Trunk Pacific Company when I took

^ him.

Q. At what was he working ?—A. Survey.

Q. For how long?—A. I don't remember.

Q. You don't know?—A. The Division District Engineer of the Grand Trunk
Pacific Railway at Winnipeg spoke very highly of him.

Q. Who is he?—A. Mr. Kelleher. He is now chief engineer.

Q. Did you ever receive a recommendation from Mr. Mann about Mr. Heaman?
—A. No, I do not think they knew one another until they came here.

Q. But they have become very intimate since?—A. Naturally so, they were assoc-

iated together on the work.

Q. Mr. . Mann was referred to in this correspondence between you and Heaman,
wasn't he?—A. I think so. He said something about him being out on the line.

Q. Now at the time this correspondence was being carried on you were not

employed by the Transcontinental?—A. No.

Q. Then what right had you to ask for this information?—A. Whj hadn't I a

right.

Q. I am not the witness. I am asking you what right had you ?—A. I had a right.

Q. What did you want it for?—A. I wanted to find out what was going on.

Q. Although you had ceased to have any connection with the Transcontinental?
•—A. Certainly.

Q. Well, we will find out from Heaman what right he had to give it to you. This

book that you speak about seeing on the train, containing Heaman's notes, from which
you say you got some information, what book was it ?—A. It was one of his notebooks.

Q. One of his notebooks, containing notes made when?—A. I do not remember,
I did not look at the date, I did not go through the whole thing. I said, ^ Well, if I

can't use any information, if you can't give me any information it is no use my look-

ing at these.' He said, ' I would rather not give any information at all to you, I

would like to give you all the information I have, but I would prefer to give it when
I am called to Ottawa.'

Q. Were the notes in that book made by Mr. Heaman while employed by the

Transcontinental?—A. I could not say.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—He will be here to tell you.

Mr. Murphy.—^Please do not interrupt the witness, let the witness answer. Mr.
Heaman will have his own sins to answer for.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. You must know when the notes in that book were made by Mr. Heaman, and
whether they were made while he was in the employ of the Transcontinental or not?

—A. I do not think they were, but I will not be certain; I did not look at the month.
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Q. I am not asking you that; don't you know that those notes in that book to

\' hich you refer were made by Mr. Heaman while he was employed by the Transcon-
tinental Railway Commission ?—A. I do not.

Q. You do not?—A. No.

Q. Will you swear they were not ?—A. No, I cannot swear about the date because

I do not know the month nor the year.

Q. I am not asking you the date, I am asking you whether those notes were made
by Mr. Heaman while employed by the Transcontinental Commission?—A. The
notes ?

Q. In the book that you looked at in the train ?—A. No, I do not think they were.

By the Chairman:

Q. You say you do not know ?—A. No, I do not think they were.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. You do' not think they were, but you will not swear they were not?—A. No.

Q. Had the book a familiar appearance to you?—A. 'No, it was an ordinary note-

book.

Q. Was it like the book you had seen in use by Mr. Heaman when he was your

assistant?—A. No.

Q. Was it a different kind of book?—A. Yes.

Q. Just describe, please, what kind of a book that was ?—A. It was an ordinary

common notebook.

Q. An ordinary common notebook?—A. Yes.

Q. What shape was it, square or rectangular?—A. Rectangular.

Q. That is, it was a long narrow book, was it?—A. No, it was about. I should

say, that wide, and about that long (illustrating).

Q. Do you remember what kind of a cover it had?—A. No, I did not notice.

Q. How long did the trip take from Kenora to Eagle River?—A. We had dinner

on the train, and he got off just afterwards.

Well, dinners last for different lengths of time?—A. The timetable will tell

you that we got into Kenora about 12, I think, or a little after. I have forgotten the

time, the train was on time, and he got off at Eagle River; it was about, I should

think, probably two hours.

Q. Would the trip have lasted longer than three hours?—A. Two or three hours.

Q. Two or three hours; you think about three hours?—A. I do not remember now,

you can find out in the timetable easily.

Q. But I haven't a timetable, and I have never made the trip.

Mr. Barker.—Oh, give it up, the man says he doesn^t know.
Mr. Murphy.—I am entitled to this information; I think that observation is un-^

called for.

Mr. Lennox.—The witness cannot give the information, he says he can't.

Mr. Murphy.—We have not yet reached the stage at which the witness says he
cannot give the information, I submit I have a right, to an answer.

Mr. Lennox.—He has given you the means of finding out.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Mr. Heaman's request that you would destroy the correspondence which you say

you did destrov was in writing, wasn't it ?—A. No.

Q. How was it made?—A. He spoke to me on the train about it.

Q. I understood you to say you destroyed that correspondence at Victoria ?

Mr. Lennox.—No, he said he did it while coming down here.

Mr. MuRPiiv.—T did not so undorstnnd the l\rajor's answer.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Where was it destroyed, actiuiUy?—A. In Toronto.

Major Hodgixs.
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Q. Did you show it to any person in Toronto before destroying it?—A. I do not
think so.

Q. You must remember, it is not so long ago.—A. No, I do not think I did.

Q. Did you show the correspondence to Mr. Heaman on the train?—A. No, I
hadn't it with me.

Q. Where was it at the time?—A. It was in some papers I had expressed down to

Toronto.

Q. And the request was made by Mr. Heaman on the train, and when you reached
Toronto and got those papers, you sorted out this correspondence and destroyed it, is

that a fact?—A. Yes.

Q. You do not remember whether you showed it to any person in Toronto before
destroying it?—A. I do not think so.

Q. Will you swear you did not?—A. No.

Q. You may have shown it to some person in Toronto?—A. I may.

Q. Did you discuss with any person in Toronto the destruction of this corre-

spondence before you destroyed it?—A. That I do not remember.

Q. Well just think for a moment?—A. No, I do not remember.

Q. Who was present when you opened up those papers which you expressed to

Toronto?—A. I do not think anybody was.

Q. Where did you open them?—A. In my cousin's office.

Q. Do you mean your counsel here present?—A. Yes, I took them into one of his

private rooms and opened them up, and waited for him to come in.

Q. Yes, was that where they were destroyed?—A. No, I tore them up at my
father's house.

Q. Now, is it not a fact that in one of his last letters to you Mr. Heaman told

you that objections to a certain cut on this work had been made or would be made to

Mr. Woods, the Grand Trunk Pacific engineer?—A. A certain cut?

Q. Cuts, to certain cuts on this work ?—A. I do not remember that, I do not think

so.

Q. Had been or would be made—that objections had been made or would be made
to certain cuts in this work?—A. No, I do not think so.

Q. Objections regarding classification?—A. I do not think so, Mr. Heaman was
very firm in saying that he did not want to give me any informaaton.

Q. That was when you met him?—A. Yes.

Q. But I am talking about a letter?—A. No, I do not think so.

Q. I would like you to charge your memory with it?—A. I do not think he made
any reference to anything of that kind.

Q. Did he not tell you in one of his letters, and in one of his last letters, that

certain objections had been made or would be made to the classification of certain

cuts and that these objections would be sent to Mr. Woods, or had been sent to Mr.

Woods ?—A. I do not think he did.

Q. I would like you to be a little more positive about that if you can?—A. Well,

sir, I can't say anything else, I do not think he did, I do not remember.

Q. Did he say anything in one of his last letters about these objections to classi-

fication having been made, or that they were going to be made to any other officials,

or officers of the Grand Trunk Pacific?—A. Any objection?

Q. To the classification of certain cuts?—A. I am pretty certain that Mr.
Heaman did not specifiy any cuttings at any time in his letters.

Q. I am not asking you that. Major, I am asking you a general question as to

the contents as I am advised, of certain of those letters, more particularly the last

letters, and I want to know if in some of those letters Mr. Heaman did not state that

'certain objections to classification had, prior to the writing of the letter, been made,
or would subsequent to the writing of the letter, be made, and that these objections

would be made to Mr. Woods or some other officer of the Grand Trunk Pacific?—A.
I do not think so.
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Q. Is that the best answer you can make?—A. That is the best answer I can

make.

Q. How is it you remember the rest of his letters so well?—A. I do not remember.

Q. You have told us, in a general way, fairly well what they contained?—A. I

have told you as far as I can remember.

Q. Just reflect for a moment, Major, and see if you cannot recall a statement

such as the one I am asking you about. You read these letters in Toronto again,

before destroying them?—A. I went over one or two of them.

Q. And that is only a short time ago?—A. Yes.

Q. So that you ought to be fairly familiar with the contents of those letters?

—

A. No, I cannot remember that he did.

Q. You cannot remember that he did?—A. I do not remember him referring to

anything of that nature, not to any particular point or cutting.

Q. I am not asking you about any particular cutting, I am asking you gener-

ally?—A. Yes, he referred to classification on two divisions, 5 and 6.

Q. Yes, what did he say with regard to that?—A. One was about the same, I

think he said that 6 was about the same, and that 5 had not improved, or something

of that kind.

Q. That 6 was about the same and 5 had not improved?—A. Yes, 5 had not

improved.

Q. That, I take it, had reference to the condition of things with which you were
familiar at the time you left?—A. He was referring to the classification at the time
I left.

Q. What did he say about the representations made to the Grand Trunk Pacific

Company or its officers about that classification ?—A. I think he referred to it,

and said they were still reporting.

Q. He said he was still reporting?—A. He said he was still reporting.

Q. What else did he say?—A. 'What the company were going to do, he did not
know.

Q. He said he was still reporting his objections to the company about this classi-

fication, and what the company was going to do, he did not know. What else did he
say on that subject?—A. I think that is all I can remember.

Q. Now, just think again, major, you are doing well when you reflect, what else

did he say?—A. I do not think that I should be called upon to repeat the contents of

these letters.

Q. Oh, yes, this is part of them, I do not want anything that I am not entitled

to.—A. Why should I be giving evidence referring to another man's letters? I have
asked you to get Heaman down here.

Q. Now, major, we want this information, it was in these letters, they would
speak for themselves if you had not destroyed them?—A. Well, you will get it from
Mr. Heaman when he comes down here.

Q. No, no, I want it from you now. Mr. Heaman hasn't had those letters as

recently as you had them, his memory might not be as good as yours, I thiiilv your
memory is good.

Mr. Carvell.—I think the witness is right, I thinlv Mr. Murphy has no right to

go into private letters between this witness and Mr. Heaman.
Mr. Murphy.—Surely the correspondence about classifications, which the major

has said in his letters is the root of the trouble between himself and the connnission-
ers, is an important matter?

Mr. Carvell.—Let us see how this will work out. lSh\ Honmnn says thoy are
classifying sand as solid rock, that goes on record here as a fact and is published all

over the country, and, assuming that Mr. Heaman is telling what is absolutely untrue,
you see the position that we are being placed in. I am not saying that as an absolute
fact, but it may happen that such is the case. It is the worst kind of evidence that
can be given in any court or investigation.

Major Hodgins.
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The Chairman.—I think I shall give the same ruling in this matter that we want
to get at the bottom of the charges, and I am of the opinion that everything in that

correspondence which the major can remember—we are not asking any private matters'

at all, we have no right to do that—but anything pertaining to these charges I think

we are entitled to know. If he had these letters in his possession I think we would be
entitled to ask him to produce them ; we have already ordered the production of private

and confidential letters.

Mr. Carvell.—I will take issue with you there again, I do not think we have the

right to compel the production of them; we may have them produced, and put in

evidence that which may be entirely false. Why should we ask the witness to bring
these letters here?

The Chairman.—We are asking nothing with regard to private maters; but only

in regard to the charges we are investigating now.

Mr. Macdonald.—This whole question whether this evidence is permissible or

not depends upon the reason wny Mr. Murphy asks that the evidence be given. The
letters themselves are not in evidence, and letters which were not public documents, or

on the file of the Conrniission as public documents are not evidence before us. I

want to say that myself positively now, because I do not want any misunderstanding

about my position on the subject hereafter. I am at a loss to know why Mr. Murphy
is going along this line, and I think it would be well for him to indicate why he wants

this evidence. If it is for the purpose of discrediting Mr. Heaman, I can understand

the possibility of the evidence being offered on that ground, but as a matter of the

ordinary principle of evidence being relevant to the issue, these letters are not evidence

and would not be received in any court.

Mr. Barker.—Those letters would not be in evidence if they were here, and it is

much worse if we are to take a man's recollection of them. You can put Mr. Heaman
in the box and he will prove what you want, no doubt.

Mr. Murphy.—With regard to private communications giving the character of the

rest of the men, I do not want, I have stopped the major several times.

Mr. Barker.—The rest of it he says he does not recollect.

Mr. Lennox.—We have wasted an hour already on this subject.

Mr. Carvell.—We would like to get you on record on this subject.

Mr. Lennox.—I think we have gone so far it is a pity to stop him now.

The Chairman.—This position of the Chairman seems to be the right one, accord-

ing to Mr. Barker. I would like to have the opinion of the committee on this, as it

is a very important ruling. I still maintain as my opinion that these letters^—of

course we have no right whatever to ask for anything that is private in those letters,

but I submit that anything that can throw light on these charges which we are investi-

gating we are entitled to know. If the major does not remember, he cannot help it;

the letters are destroyed and he cannot produce them. That is the course I take unless

the committee objects.

Mr. Barker.—I do not object. I would be very glad to have a ruling.

Mr. Maodonald.—My position is that these letters, if they were here, would not

be evidence, and such being the case, you cannot give secondary evidence about them,

unless Mr. Murphy can give us some reason, or says that he wants this examination
for the purpose of discrediting Mr. Heaman, who, I suppose, is Mr. Hodgins' witness.

Mr. Hodgins.—I was asking for a subpoena for him.

Mr. Macdonald.—The clerk tells me he has been subpoenaed and I can see that

there is a possibility on that ground that this may be evidence.

Mr. Murphy.—That may be the effect as regards Mr. Heaman as Mr. Macdonald
has stated, but, to be quite frank with the committee, that is not the basis on which I

am putting in this evidence. Major Hodgins says, in his letter to the ' Colonist,'
' The root of all the trouble between the Commissioners and myself was over classi-

fication,' and that position was reiterated here by the major's counsel, and I submit
that everything that refers to the subject of classification, more particularly a conver-
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sation or a letter between a former employee who occupied a close and confidential

relation to the major, and who is now in the employ of the Grand Trunk Pacific and is

still on that work, that anything that took place between these two gentlemen with

regard to classification is evidence with regard to, and is relevant to the subject matter

of this inquiry, and it is on that ground I offer it.

The CtiAffiMAN.—As far as I am concerned I think your contention is right, and

unless my ruling or opinion is challenged by the committee, I shall allow the questions

to go on. Of course I invite the opinion of the committee on that.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. So that there is further information within your knowledge, I take it, from

your last answer, as to what Mr. Heaman said with regard to classification?—A. He
reported to Mr. Mann and Mr. Mann reported to the Grand Trunk Pacific, I believe;

Mr. Heaman does not report direct.

Q. What else was said on the subject of classification?—A. You mean in Mr.

Heaman's letter?

Q. Yes, in Mr. Heaman's letters?—A. You mean his own opinion?

Q. I am asking you what he said?—A. Well, I do not think anything else in the

letter would be evidence. Why do you not call Mr. Heaman and ask him? You ask

me to repeat something; it is not evidence for me to repeat what a man said.

Q. I am asking you what he wrote further on the subject of classification, which
you say is the root of the trouble between you and the Commission? What further

do you recall major?—A. That is all.

Q. That is all you recall. Well then, it is a fact that you, wrote the letter to the
' Colonist ' after you had received all those letters from Mr. Heaman ?—A. I think I

got one from him just after.

Q. You think you received one from him just after you had written to the ' Col-

onist'?—A. Yes.

Q. But the other three or four had been received from him prior to sending your
letter to the ' Colonist ' ?—A. Yes.

Q. Now with regard to the cut on Kichan's work, did you ever see the cut itself?

—A. I haven't seen it since it has been worked; I saw it before any work was done
on it.

Q. You saw it?—A. At least I presume I did, I walked over the piece of ground.

Q. You presume you did?—A. Yes.

Q. As a matter of fact you never saw the cut itself?—A. Not the cu'- when work
was done on it.

Q. You saw the ground before the cut was made?—A. I had been in that neigh-
borhood, but I could not swear to going through that particular cut.

Q. You are just familiar with the formation of the country?—A. I was over that

piece. I don't think I was on that since the location or when there was an exploratioii

party going out.

Q. Was that winter time ?—A. Yes, it was winter time.

Q. It was winter time. Then the only knowledge you had of the country in which
this particular cut was afterwards excavated was gained from a visit there during
winter time?—A. Of that particular piece of the line.

Q. That is what T am speaking of?—A. But further west, I was there in the
autumn.

Q. Never mind we will get there later. Just about this particular out the only
knowledge you had then was such knowledge as you could have obtained from a
winter visit?—A. Yes.

Q. What knowledge did you get of that cut at that time?—A. Nothing at all.

Q. Then what reason have you for saying that is a pure sand cut?—A. T quoted
the notes of my assistant.

'>rA.TOK Honoixs.
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Q. Ah, you quoted the notes of your assistant. Do we again get back to Mr.
Heaman? So that if Mr. Heaman is not correct in the notes he gave you about

that cut then your criticism of it fails?—A. Yes.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Not necessarily.

The Witness.—The only information Mr. Heaman had given me was to say those

notes were correct.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. At the time he gave you this, was he working under you ?—A. At the time
he took them he was working under me.

Q. But not at the time he gave them to you ?—A. No. Well, it is just a question

and you can decide. When he came off the work and came back to Kenora with these

notes and read them over to me
Q. Yes?—A. Well, then, it is just a question. If I had written them down 1

suppose I would have been entitled to them. As it was I did not write them down
until afterwards.

Q. In November?—A. Yes.

Q. When you were not entitled to them?—A. That is a question for the

committee.

Mr. Barker.—A question of ethics.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Now, who were the two engineers on that cut, at least on the division that that

cut is located in?—A. Which cut?

Q. Bichan and Pearson, were they not?—A. I think so.

Q. Were they included in the list of engineers that you mentioned yesterday as

being amongst the best men you have had working for you?—A. I don't know about
Pearson, he is a new man, Bichan has worked for a long time.

Q. Did your commendation include Bichan?—A. Yes.

Q. It included him ?—A. Yes.

Q. How often had Heaman seen this cut?—A. Oh, I fancy he had seen it a good
many times.

Q. I don't want your fancies, do you know?—A. Heaman was in charge of that

division before Bichan went on it.

Q. Do you know how often he had seen this cut?—A. I do not.

Q. So without knowing that you preferred to take Heaman's statetment about

it in preference to that of Bichan?—A. Every time.

Q. Every time?—A. Yes.

Q. Why so ?—A. Because I think a good deal of Heaman. He is a better engineer

in my opinion than Mr. Bichan. I don't wish to discredit Mr. Bichan, but I selected

Mr. Heaman from all the rest of them and gave him the promotion, with the approval

of the chief engineer, to assistant district engineer.

Q. Then when you give a general certificate of character to a staff of engineers

you place Mr. Heaman on a higher pedestal, do you?—A. Well, I am just comparing
Mr. Heaman with Mr. Bichan.

Q. Do you prefer him to all the rest?—A. Well, in some things.

Q. In what for instance?—A, Heaman is a good all round man.

Q. Yes?—A. He is a very clever engineer and in my opinion he is a very fair

minded engineer.

Q. Yes?—A. He has got good judgment.

Q. Yes. Any other quality that commends him to you?—A. I think that is the

general idea I had of him.

Q. Did you know that any of the other engineers ever exhibited their notes, or

books or private memoranda to persons not connected with the work?—A. You will

have to ask them.
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Q. I am asking you. Do you know?—A. I don't.

Q. You have told us Heaman did?—A. Well, to me.

Q. Yes, to you when you were no longer connected with the commission and
.coming down here under the summons of this committee?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you know any of the other engineers to do anything like that?—A. No, I

did not.

Q. When you met the commission in Winnipeg in June last, do you remember
Mr. Parent being there with the rest of the commissioners?—A. Yes, in June.

Parent and yourself with reference to the work in your district?—A. I cannot re-

member just now. I talked with him, I think.

Q. Do you recall having a conversation with him?—A. I think I do.

Q. Do you remember what took place?—A. Can you give me a pointer to start

with? I cannot remember.

Q. Well, I am not a witness but I have no objection to doing that. Did not Mr.

Parent tell you that the work was progressing slowly in your district, and that this

was not satisfactory?—A. I discussed with everyone there the condition of affairs.

Q. Yes?—A. And probably spoke to Mr. Parent about it.

Q. You have no difficulty in recalling that Mr. Parent was there with you?—A.

Oh, no, he was there. He was there all right.

Q. Do you recall a conversation with him along the line I have just mentioned?

—A. On the condition of the work and the slow progress?

Q. Yes?—A. Yes.

Q. You remember that you and Mr. Parent were speaking of the work?—A. Mr.

Parent, I think, was on a sofa. I went up to see him. I cannot remember the

Q. You went up to see him?—A. I remember we had a canversation.

Q. And do you not recollect that conversation was about the slow progress of

the work in your district and that was not satisfactory?—A. Possibly that wa,s about

the only thing, that was the principal thing to be discussed by us.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. That was the principal thing to be what?—A. To be discussed.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. That was the principal thing to be discussed. Do you remember what reply

you made?
Mr. Hodgins.—To what?
Q. When the chairman inquired about the slow progress of the work?—A.

Possibly I made reply that the progress was not the fault of the engineers, but the
fault of the contractors.

Q. You say possibly you made that reply?—A. That would have been the reply

I would have made.

Q. That is what you say now, but what reply did you make?—A. I don't re-

member. I don't remember the subject of the conversation.

Q. Well, try to recall it, major, as I am instructed it lasted for some time and was
of such a character that it ought to be very easily recalled?—A. I had not any long
conversation Mr. Parent. If I remember the time that discussions took place there

it was a short time in the morning and then we went over to ^Nfr. ^fcArthur's office

and sat there for a short time, and then we drove out and went out on the lino. I
don't remember the conversation.

Q. I am not particular as to the exact place of conversation with the chairman ?—
A. Well, I am trying to fix this conversation.

Q. Well, I will nsk you do you remember telling him there was n friction up there
in connection with the work?—A. With the men on the work.

Q. That friction existed in connection with the work?—A. Between the men and
McArthur?

Major Hodgins.
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Q. No, friction of any kind in the relations between individuals connected with

the work?—A. I possibly made some remark about Mr. Young.

Q. Yes, what was that?—A. That he was interfering. I would not be certain

whether I spoke to Mr. Parent about that. I am pretty certain I spoke to Mr. Reid.

Q. Yes, you told us that already in your examination-in-chief, but I am asking

you particularly as to your conversation with Mr. Parent?—A. I don't remember that

very distinctly.

Q. At which, I understand, he asked you as to the cause or reason for the slow

progress of the work and complained about it being unsatisfactory. My instructions

are that you said this was due to friction that existed?—A. Oh no.

Q. You don't recall it?—A. I would not have said it was due to friction that

existed, certainly not.

Q. I am not asking you what you would have said, but what you did say?—A.

Well, I did not say that.

Mr. Lennox.—Is that a proper question to ask?

The Witness.—I did not say that, certainly.

By Mr. Murphy: '

. Q. Well, do you recall the chairman asking you to keep him posted in the future

so as to facilitate the proper administration of the affairs of the Commission?—A.

Oh no, certainly not.

Q. And the progress of the work in your district?—A. The chairman never asked

me to do that. The only man I can report to officially is the chief engineer.

Q. I am asking you about this conversation there?—A. I don't remember now.

I certainly did not make that remark to him.

Mr. Barker.—It was a very improper remark for him to make, if he did.

Mr. Murphy.—I am asking the witness.

Mr. Barker.-—You are asking if the chairman made a very improper remark.

Mr. Murphy.—That is Mr. Barker's characterization of it.

Mr. Barker.—That is the proper characterization of it.

The Witness.—You see if I said to Mr. Parent anything about Mr. Young inter-

fering it was referred to in this way—that Mr. Young was doing it out of his good
nature.

By Mr. Murphy: ^
Q. Yes, you have told us that in your examination ?—A. I don't remember speak-

ing to Mr. Parent about it.

Q. You don't remember?—A. No. Possibly I might have done so.

Q. You have spoken about difficulties that arose on the work between that time
and the time of your leaving the district?—A. Yes.

Q. Difficulties in connection with the work itself and in connection with some
individuals there and so on. You have told us about those. 'Now did you inform the
commissioners at the time those difficulties arose?—A. I informed the chief engineer.

Q. You informed the chief engineer. Always ?—A. I think so.

Q. In every case ?—A. jl think so. I cannot recall a case where I did not.

Q. Is it not a fact that you informed persons not connected with the Transcon-
tinental Railway Commission of what you were doing or intended to do about
difficulties

I

Mr. HoDGiNS.—What difficulties ?

Mr. Murphy.—Difficulties that arose about the work.
Mr. HoDGiNS.—In what way?
Mr. Murphy.—Classification for instance.

The Witness.—I don't remember.

Q. elust reflect for a moment?—A. That T informed persons not connected with
the work?

Q. Not connected with the Transcontinental Railway Commission of what you
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were doing or intended to do in connection with these matters ?—A. In connection with

what matters ?

Q. The difficulties that you afterwards complained about and now complain about ?

—A. Such as?

Q. Classification?—A. Classification?

Q. Yes?—A. The only one I discussed that question with that I can remember

would be Mr. Mann.
Q. Mr. Mann ? And Mr. Mann is what ?—A. The Grand Trunk Inspector.

Q. And was he at the time you discussed it ?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Had he joint supervision?—A. Joint supervision.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. But did you not discuss these matters with persons not connected in any way
with the Transcontinental Railway Commission or inform such persons of them?

Mr. Hodgins.—Give the names.

The Witness.—I cannot recall the circumstances.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Do you not remember making a statement to the effect that you were allowing,

or intended to allow, a certain work in your district to be performed not according to

the specifications and not according to Mr. McArthur's contract?—A. 'No.

•Mr. Hodgins.—I am not interposing any objection to the question as far a? it

goes but it does not go far enough. If intended to contradict the witness afterwards

the person to whom the statement is made and sufficient identification of it, must be

given. It is not fair for Mr, Murphy to ask if the witness made a statement to persons

unknown to such and such an effect. My learned friend must take the responsibility.

Mr, Murphy,—I am testing the witness' memory and we will come to the point

mentioned by my learned friend a little later on.

The Chairman.—What was your question?

Mr. Murphy.—I asked the major if he did not make a statement to the effect that

he was allowing, or intended to allow, certain work in his district to be performed
not according to the specifications and not according to McArthur's contract ?

The Witness.—No, there is nothing I would do on that work that I would not
do after having discussed it with Mr, Mann.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. I am not disputing that, that is not the point?—A. We discussed the advis-

ability of a change of classification in one or two instances.

Q. I can quite understand there would be some reason for your speaking to ]N[r.

Mann as he was the representative of the Grand Trunk Pacific ?—A. Yes.

Q. But I am speaking of persons not connected with the Grand Trunk Pacific

and not connected with the Transcontinental Railway Coimniission and I was asking
did you make any such statement as that?—A. Not that I know of. I cannot recall

any statement or having discussed it with any person,

Q. Now you stated in the Colonist that you changed the location befoi'e Mc-
Arthur hnd started work in earnest and that you thereby reduced the cost of

McArthvir's contract over one million dollars.

Mr. Hodgins,—He changed what?
Mr. Murphy.—The lo.cation,

Q. Was not that one of your statomcnts?—A, Yes,

Q. Well, now, can you Siwear from your personal knowledge that thic? change of
location on your part wns true?—A, T changed it as the cugiDoer in charge of the

Major Hodgins.
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district. The change probably was made by the variouis engineers on the division.

The surveys were run by them.

Q. That is, the actual manual labour was not done by yourself but by the engi-

neers?—A. By the engineers.

Q. That is not what I am asking?—A. What is it?

Q. You stated in the Colonist that you changed the location before McArthur
had started work in earnest, and that you thereby reduced the cost of McArthur's

contract over a million dollars?—A. Portions of the location.

Q. Here is the clipping from the Colonist (reads) :

—

' Mr. McArthur should have been more definite and explained what ' changes

'

would increase the estimated cost; change in location and change in the standard of

classification both affect the cost of construction. Change of location was made at

some points by revision surveys. These improved the line and also reduced the cost

of the McArthur contract over one million dollars. I was able to make these revisions

before Mr. McArthur started the work in earnest.'—A. Yes.

Q. That is your statement in the Colonist?—A. That was, yes.

Q. Now, I want to know if you can swear from your personal knowledge if this

(
change of location was true?—A. That the changes in location reduced the thirteen

million ?

Q. Reduced the cost of the work by one million dollars?—A. Yes. As far as I

was able to gather from calculations made in the office it was.

Q. By whom ?—A. By the engineers.

Q. Yes, but I am asking you from your personal knowledge. What is your per-

sonal knowledge about the matter?—A. My personal knowledge is that, when I left

"there the valuation of McArthur's contract was reduced over a million.

Q. By what?—A. By these changes.

Q. Yes. Now, what were these changes?—A. Changes and alteration,s in the

line.

Q. I beg your pardon?—A. Changes and alterations in the alignement, changes

in grade, in certain places.

Q. In the alignement?—A. And in the grade.

Q. Those changes in the alignement and grade were not made by you but by the

engineers?—A. Under my instructions. They probably would suggest a change or I

would suggest it.

Q. Will you then specify each change that was made?—A. I could not.

Q. You could not,?—A. Oh, dear, no. They are all on record in the chief

•engineer's office here.

Q. You cannot specify each change that was made?—A. No.

Q. You say they are all on record in the chief engineer's office?—A. Yes.

Q. Can you tell us what saving was effected by each of these changes?

—

A. No.

Q. You cannot?—A. No.
Q. Can you tell us what saving was effected by any one change?—A. No. The

only record I have about it is

By Mr. Macdonld:

Q. Can you tell us any one change that was made?—A. No, that would be going

into figures. I could not remember the figures of the cost of the change previously.

Q. Not so much the cost of the change, but

Mr. Carvell.—The location?

Q. Yes, tell us any one definite change that you did make?—A. No, because

they were all worked out in the office, and they would be reduced to dollars.

Q. I am not speaking of the cost. You said this saving had been effected as a

result of certain changes, so that we can get some conception of what you have done?
Mr. Carvell.—And the general location of the changes?—A. No, I could not

without reference to—without being in the office.
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By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. In what office and what papers do you want?—A. The Kenora office. I

would have to go over the plans and profiles.

Mr. Hodgins.—The commission ought to produce them. I would like the neces-

sary papers to be produced, and opportunity afforded to Major Hodgins to go over

them.

By the Chairman:

Q. Do you mean to say that you cannot give us the nature of one single thing

that, as you say, reduced the cost by one million dollars on that section?—A. Oh no,

one change did not, but the total changes. Some of the changes would be a little

more expensive.

Q. The committee wants to know if you can give one or two of the changes.

Mr. Hodgins.—Illustrate.

A. There was one change—the biggest change that was made was a change of

line from Canyon lake. There was a long piece of line changed there, and I had a

lot of engineers on it. It is a very difficult piece of country.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Is that a location change?—A. I don't remember now what the figures were
on that change, but the total changes—when everything was changed some of those

.changes when you figured them out in dollars and cents were little more than the

original, but the bulk of thiem, the total balance when these changes were all finished

in the office and put together had reduced the cost to $11,600,000; $11,667,987.83 was
what these changes were figured out at when I was in the office. That is the total

was reduced to that amount according to the estimate made in the office.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. You say according to the estimate made in the office?—A. Yes.

Q. Who made the estimates?—^A. Well, it would be compiled by Mr. Heaman
and Mr. Euddick, I think, and Mr. Mann. They all went over it.

Q. By Mr. Heaman and Mr. Euddick and Mr. Mann? Is that right?—A. I

should think so.

Q. Is that correct?—A. I think so. Mr. Euddick compiled this work for me from
time to time.

Q. The book to which you referred you will put in as an exhibit ?—A. Yes, I

would like to have it back again.

Q. This compilation, was it chiefly by Mr. Euddick?—A. Totalizing the whole
tiding up.

Q. Who is Mr. Euddick ?—A. He was a resident engineer at headquarters.

Q. Eesident engineer at headquarters ?—A. This is his handwriting I think.

Q. He is one of the gentlemen in your office ?—A. In my office.

Q. And this compilation was made by him ?—A. By him.

Q. Are you or are you not in a position personally to vouch for the correctness
of the items going to make up that compilation, or have you depended altogether on
what you received from your staff?—A. Well, in a general way I know there was a
considerable saving, but to get the actual amount in dollars and cents I have got to

depend upon this statement worked out in the office.

Q. I see. So that was your basis, was it, for the statement to tlie newspaper
that a saving of a million dollars had been effected?—A. The basis that I had esti-

mated with the total, yes. These figures were made in the office. It is on that basis

T got them.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. Were they reported to headquarters?—A. Yes. McArtlmr cnmc to mo before
f)—15

Major Hodgins.
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I left, and said h^e understood that the changes I had made had reduced the cost of

the line considerably. I said it had, and he said ' how much ?' I said, ' It is over a

million dollars.' He said, ' Well, I put in 10 per cent on $13,000,000. That means
$1,300,000, and if the cost of the line is reduced to twelve millions, I am entitled to

$100,000 back.'

Q. Of hi|S deposit?—A. Of his deposit. He said it would be very acceptable for

him to get, and he asked me if his engineer could go over to my office and go over

with Mr. Kuddick these details. I said, ' Certainly,' and he sent him over, and I

understood that he was going to apply to get a reduction of his deposit.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Mr. Ruddick, you say, was the gentleman who made this compilation from
the data supplied him by the men in your office?—A. Supplied in my office.

Q. How had it got to your office from the men on the work?—A. In some cases

th-ey would work out their own valuation of the line, and in some cases they would
not, but they were all checked over in the office.

Q. Had Ruddick ever been over this work himself?—A. No.

Q. A few minutes ago there was an effort made to ascertain from you what some
of these changes consisted of?—A. Yes.

Q. And you have mentioned that there were a great many of them, but you did

not specify any one in particular?—A. 'No.

Q. Did not one of the changes consist in this—that the line that had been the

first line was abandoned and a new line run?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you ever go over any of these abandoned lines?—A. No. Let me see.

Q. Did you ever go over any of the new lines ?—A. Oh yes, I have seen some of

the new lines.

Q. You have seen some of them. Did you see enough of them to satisfy your-

self that the charges that had been made in the way you have told us were all im-
portant and in the public interest?—A. Well, I satisfied myself with the plans.

Q. In your office?—A. Exactly. You don't suppose I could go out on the work.

Q. I am not supposing anything; I am not the witness. I want to know what
you did in connection with these changes for which you hiave claimed credit in the

Colonist and upon which you have based part of your charges of fraud against the

commission and the engineers? That is what I want to know and what I am entitled

to get. You say you did not go over any of the abandoned lines?—A. No.
Q. So you don't know anything about them?—A. I do know something about

them.

Q .What do you know?—A. I know the lines that have been adopted are an
improvement.

Q. You know that because your engineers have told you?—A. I know they are

an improvement from the plans. If they are not an improvement the plans are

wrong, and I don't believe the plans are wrong.

Q. Very well we will see about that a little later. Now, after the contract was
let to McArthur did you go over the line ?—A. I have not been over the line, not from
one end to the other continuously; I have only been over a portion.

Q. Do I understand that none of these changes were suggested by you ?—A. A
good many of them were.

Q. A good many of them were?—A. Yes.

Q. From your inspection, made in the office, of the plans ?—A. Exactly
; .you isee

each one of these engineers would send me in the information regarding the portions

of the line that they were running, and of that work I knew they had the best knowl-

edge; I would put them together, one man would adjoin another man, but he would
not know anything about that man's portion, so that these all had to be put together,

levels and everything of that sort reduced to the same data. They would sometimes
suggest a change, and would come into the office to discuss whether they had better

run this line or another line, and in other cases after studying the plans I would
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suggest some changes and say, ' Try another line here, and they would report on it,,

adopting it or abandoning it.

Q. All this on your part was done in your office?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Do I understand you to say that they abandoned the line—say one line is

contemplated, you did not go with them over this and personally inspect it at all?

—

A. You see, if I had gone over these lines I would really have to go over them
and find out as much as the men who ran them, and if I did that I might as well have

sent the engineer into my office to do my (work, and do his work myself. When you

employ a staff to do the work you have to use them for that purpose.

Q. Would it not be necessary, after the experimental survey had been made by

some of your assistants, for you to go over the ground yourself in order to enable you
to determine whether it would be prudent to abandon a certain line or nat?—A. In
some cases it might, but it would take a long time for a man to get the run of the

country in his head; any locating engineer would tell you that. If I had gone out

on the work I would probably take a good deal of the time of the engineer in charge

of that location trying to find out and to learn as much about the country as he would
know,

Q. Where was this book from which you are quoting, made up ?—A. In my office.

Q. Well, when?—A. There is an entry here, the last in September.

Q. Have you a copy of the contents of this book?—A. No.
Mr. Murphy.—Then I submit I am entitled to inspect this book.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Was that a book that you got in the office of the commission?—A. Yes.

Q. Paid for by the commission?—A. Possibly, yes.

Q. That is our book, then—Mr. Chairman, I want that book.—^A. This is a copy

of the original book. On all work that I am on, I generally keep a statement of this

kind, and this was being prepared for me for my own personal use, and I expected I

^\'ould have it when the whole work was finished. I used to send it up to Mr. Euddick
every month to fill in th» monthly reports, and that is all the value it is to me, just a

as a record of this work. I see no objection to the commissioners having it if they

wish to claim it, and I will buy a new book and have it transferred, but you have a

copy of this in your own office.

Q. We haven't seen it ?—A. I think you will find it there.

Q. Coming to the changes in the classification, you state in the Colonist that
' The root of all the trouble between the commissioners and myself was over classifi-

cation, they wanted me to change my ideas, based on a good many years' experience

on construction, to classification that is allowed to the contractors in Quebec' To
allow the Quebec classification in your district. Now, major, on your oath are you
prepared to swear that is true?—A. In my opinion it is.

Q. In your opinion?—A. Yes, that was the root of the trouble.

Q. But what about that part of your statement that the connnissioners wanted
you to change your ideas based on a good many years' experience on construction and
to allow the Quebec classification in your district?—A. That is also my opinion.

Q. Now, who asked you to change your ideas?—A. Mv. Young suggested that I

should do as Doucet did. It was a question he did not understand, but he understood
there was a much higher classification given in Quebec. I cannot repeat his words,

but I may repeat my impression of the conversation, that there was more classification,

or classifiable nuitorial in Quebec, and that the prices the contractors were getting
there were lower, and there was no troubk^; up in (]istrict 'F' there was less material
to classify, the price was higher and there was trouble; he said, ' ^Vhv don't vou do as

5—15 J
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Doucet does ' ? I said, ' If Doucet were up here he would do just the same as I am
doing, I cannot do anything more. I am giving them all I can, or, at least, the

engineers are giving the contractors all they can, they have my instructions to do so,

they are experienced men, they have had work before of this kind and they know how
to classify.'

Q. Is that what you mean when you say you were askea to change your ideas,

based on many years' experience, and allow the Quebec classification?—A. Yes.

Q. That is the conversation to which you refer?—A. One of them.

Q. Where did that conversation that place ?—A. In Winnipeg.

Q. When ?—A. When the commissioners were up in Winnipeg in the early part of

June, because the Quebec trip followed just afterwards.

Q. Who was present when this conversation took place ?—A. No one.

Q. Except?—A. Mr. Young and myself

.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. When did you say that conversation was?

Mr. Murphy.—When the commissioners were in Winnipeg in the early part of

June and the Quebec trip followed.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Did you have any other conversation, such as you allege, with any other com-

missioner about the same subject?—A. About going to Quebec.

Q. No?—A. With reference to Quebec?

Q. No?—A. Or the Quebec classification?

Q. No, with reference to your statement in the ^ Colonist ' that the commissioners

wanted you to change your ideas based on a good many years' experience on construc-

tion, and to allow the Quebec classification; I want to know what commissioners you

had conversations with who asked you to change your ideas. You have told us that

conversation about Mr. Young?—A. I did not put in that they asked me to change

the classification, but that they wanted me.

Q. ' They wanted me to change my ideas,' who wanted you ?—A. Mr. Young.

Q. Who else?—A. The others.

Q. Who are the others?—A. Mr. Eeid, he suggested that I should copy Doucet.

Mr. Eeid and Mr. Young were the only two commissioners who made any reference

to copying Mr. Doucet or working on the Quebec data, and Mr. Grant suggested it.

Q. Just a moment, you say, ^ The root of all the trouble between the commis-

sioners and myself was over classification, they wanted me to change my ideas, based

on a good many years' experience on construction,' who are they?—A. I include all

of them, although I cannot remember any conversation with Mr. Parent or Mr. Mclsaac
on the subject.

Q. You cannot remember any conversation between you and Mr. Parent and Mr.

Mclsaac in reference to the mater?—A. No.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Did any conversation ever occur of that nature; have you any reason for

saying that? Did the matter come up in your conversation with the other members?
—A. No, you see I had a conversation with Mr. Young in which he talked about classi-

fication, he admitted he didn't know very much about classification but he reasoned

that if the classification in Quebec—if there was more classifiable material in Quebec
and there was a lower price for it than McArthur was getting, that I ought to go down
there and see it and get an object lesson.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Who said this?—A. Mr. Young.
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By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Did Mr. Mclsaac or Mr. Parent discuss this with j-ou?—A. 'No, I do not

remember.

Q. When you say that you do not remember—did they?—A. No, I will say posi-

tively that Mr. Parent never had any such conversation neither directly nor indirectly.

Q. Neither directly nor indirectly—or Mr. Mclsaac?—A. No.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Then, according to the explanation you have given, your statement in the

paper relates to Mr. Young and Mr. Eeid?—A. And also to the appointment of Mr.

Grant from Quebec, Mr. Grant had had charge of the classification there, and his

appointment was insisted upon by the chairman.

Q. How do you know that ?—A. I understood that from the chief engineer.

Q. How do you know it?—A. I tell you how I know it, I understood from the

chief engineer that he had objected.

Q. Did you have any personal knowledge of that?—A. Oh no.

Q. Let us stick to this statement in the Colonist Mr. Grant is not ore of the

commissioners?—A. No.

Q. Consequently this cannot refer to Mr. Grant?—A. All right.

Q. ' They wanted me to change my ideas ' ?—A. Yes.

Q. I understand you to say that the word ' they ' refers to Mr. Young and Mr.

Reid, is that correct?—A. I mean the commissioners as a whole—I do not know
Q. You have Just told Mr. Macdonald that you never had any conversation witli

Mr. Parent or Mr. Mclsaac?—A. Well put your question in another way, ask the com-
mittee here to answer that question.

Q. No, "sir, I will ask you ;
you're the man who made the statement, the committee

cannot know, except such as you may have told privately, I want to know the history

of the thing ? A. What is it you want me to answer ?

Q. I want to know which of the commissioners your charge in the Colonist

relates to, 'They want me to change my ideas'?—A. Mr. Young and. Mr. Peid were

the only two who spoke to me about it.

Q. You have told us about the conversation with Mr. Young?—A. Yes.

Q. Where did that take place?—A. In Winnipeg.

Q. Where, in Winnipeg?—A. At the Poyal Alexandra Hotel.

Q. Do you remember the date?—A. Well, I'll have to get the date, it was given
last night, I think, the date the commissioners were up there.

Q. Were they there only one day?—A. I don't remember, no; let me see. they
came up one night and the next day we went over the line—no, they were there more
than one day,I do not remember how many days they were there.

Q. Did this conversation take place the first day they were there?— A. I can't

remember.

Q. You can't remember—did it take place the second day they were there?—A. T
can't remember.

Q. Do you remember what time it did take place?—A. I do not remember that.

Q. Do you remember what part of the hotel it took place in?—A. Yes, it was in

the rotunda, we were sitting on a sofa, or Mr. Young may have been sitting on n chair
I do not remember which.

Q. At all events you and he were sitting in the rotunda?—A. Yes.

Q. Who wore present, do you say?—A. Just INfr. Young and myself.

Q. And Mr. Young, you say, admitted that ho know nothina- about clnssitiention ?

—A. Yes.

Q. He ndmitted he knew nothing about engineering?— A. Ye?.

Q. You and he were discussing some of the tronbles on the work in ronr district?
—A. Yes.

!^^AJOR HODOIXS.
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Q. Having admitted hat he knew nothing about these matters you say he pro-

ceeded to tell you about Quebec ?—A. Yes,

Q. Now, what were his words?—A. Well, as I have stated, he said he could not

understand why there was kicking up on district ' F,' and none down below, and I

said, well, it is not in the engineers, if Mr. Doucet was up here he would do the same
as I am doing, it is in the contractors, as far as I can understand the contractors in

Quebec are much more experienced rock men, they are much bigger men, and that I

would do what I could to help McArthur.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. You understood that the contractors in Quebec were much more experienced

men, bigger men?—A. Much more experienced men, yes.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. What was the exact conversation, major?—^A. I cannot remember the exact

words, I can only recollect the impression I received.

Q. And that is what, as well as you remember?—A. He specially made reference

to the Quebec work, that was the way Mr. Young put it, and I said it was better to

leave that alone. He said, you had better go down and see, or come down and see, I

do not know which way he put it. But anyway to see for myself. I said, ^li Mr.

Doucet was up here he would do ^he same as I am doing, and if I were in Quebec I

would do the same as Doucet did, there is only one way to classify, and we are both

working on the same specifications.'

Q. That if jou were in Quebec you would do the same as Doucet was doing?

—

A. Yes, that is what I said.

Q. So that if you were down in Quebec you would do the same classification that

he was doing?—A. 'No, that is not what I mean, I was speaking then before I went to

Quebec.

Q. That was before you went to Quebec?—A. Yes.

Q. Was there any kick about classification in your district?—A. Yes, I could not

fasten it to any particular case.

Q. Did Mr. McArthur ask you anything about classification?—A. Mr. McArthur
had said very little to me personally, he would speak generally that the men on the

work, the subs, were kicking.

Q. Had there been any request for re-classification, re-classifying any of the work ?

—A. Yes, Mr. Hazelwood, had said once or twice that certain engineers were not

giving enough, and I had referred to the engineers.

Q. Had that ben said to you?—^A. Yes.

Q. And you had referred it to the engineers?—A. I had spoken to the engijieers,

yes.

Q. And this, you say, was the subject of the conversation with Mr. Young?—A.

With Mr. Young.

Q. And this conversation took place, you say, in the early part of June?—A. In
Ihe early part of June in Winnipeg.

Q. Was there anything more serious to discuss at that time than the subject of

classification?—A. The lack of men.

Q. These were the principal topics of discussion between you and Mr. Young?

—

A. Yes.

Q. Now, major, you remember putting in a report in answer to Mr. Grant's report ?

—A. Yes.

Q. Your report is dated July 31st?—A.Yes.

Q. That would be nearly two months', six weks' interval anyway, betwen that
date and the meeting with the commissioners in Winnipeg?—Yes.
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By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. When Mr. Young spoke to you in Winnipeg, was Mr. Parent and the other

two commissioners there at that time?—A. They were all there.

Q. I mean they were all at Winnipeg, at the time?—A. Yes.

Q. Were they present at the interview?—A. They may have been some place

else in the hotel.

Q. Did you regard what Mr. Young had said to you as being an improper

proposal?—A. I said

Q. Did you regard what Mr. Young said to you as an improper proposal^—
A. No.

Q. You did not regard anything he said to you as being of sufficient import-

ance to require you to go to the chairman and ask if he agreed with the opinion

of Mr. Young?—A. No, I looked upon it in this way
Q. Did you or did you not look upon it as of sufficient importance to go to

the chairman and ask him whether he agreed with Mr. Youngs view, or whether
this was the view of the commission?—A. No, I considered Mr. Youn^ was talk-

ing about something he didn't know anything about, and I was very anxious

By Ml-. Murphy:

Q. He admitted that?—A. He admitted that he did not know anything about

it, and said, " Well, go down and see for yourself and get an object lesson."

Q. Now that you have told us that this question of classification and the lack of

men were the two topics of discussion at that time?—A. I never considered classi-

fication was a very important question at that time on the work. I do not know
whether I told Mr. Young at that time that the classified material that could be

classified up to that date was a very small amount, I think I figured it out, but
whether I told Mr. Young or not, I figured out that if I took all the common exca-

vation that had been returned up to that date or up to about that date in the rocky

portion, leaving the prairie portion out, and dumping that into loose rock, that is,

giving them 60 cents a yard for it, instead of 30 cents, it would not have amounted
to $400 per mile, and $400 per mile would not have helped anybody out.

Q. How many miles would you have applied that to?—A. About 170 or 175

miles.

Q. 170 or 175 miles, what percentage of the work was done ac that time? Do
you remember?—A. Oh no.

Q. Would there be 50 per cent?—A. No, put it in a different way.

Q. Would it be 25 per cent?—A. I will put it in a different way, possibly it

might have amounted to $70,000 on the work that had been done to date.

Q. And what percentage of the work had been done?—A. I don't remember.

Q. Had 50 per cent of it been done?—A. No.

Q. Had 40 per cent of it been done?—A. No.

Q. Had 30 per cent of it been done?—A. About that.

Q. About 30 per cent, was that at the same rate?—A. Of course, if you apply

that $70,000 to one man it might be an appreciable sum.

Q. You are spreading it over that whole line?—A. Yes, you see, McArthur had
come to me and told me that his subs owed him money, $1,200,000 an advance he
had made to them, he was going behind and we were discussing some possible way
of helping him out, and I said that $70,000, whether you give it to one man, or dis-

tribute it all over the line, I might have mentioned it in that way to show that

it was a very small sum

Bi/ the Chairman:

Q. Did you mention it to Mr. Young, do sny?—A. I do not know whether I
told Mr. Young, but T said that the question of classification on my division up to

Major Hodoixs.
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^date did not amount to very much, as will be seen on a reference to the estimates.

Now in June the classification leaving out the prairie section and xaking the rocky-

section, the June estimate returned 999,283, say 1,000,000 yards of solid rock, and
only 186,000 odd yards of loose rock and 286,000 of common excavation. If I took

aU the common excavation, which would be very extravagant to take, all the common
excavation to date and turn it into loose rock, that would be adding another 30 cents,

he had already received 30 cents for it, that would mean $70,850. Well, that is a

very inconsiderable amount to discuss in reference to classification.

Q. But that is what you did discuss with Mr. Young at that time?—A. I said,

" If Mr. McArthur is losing money he cannot be losing it oh classification material,

it must be on solid rock,"

Q. So that no matter what might then have happened the issue between Mr.
McATthur and the commissioners could not have been a question of classification

in your opinion?—A. He claimed, that his (McArthur's) men claimed they were
toot getting enough, but I could not get any specified ground or anything else.

By Mr. Garvell:

Q. Had any questions arisen over quantities between the engineer and the con-

tractors?—A. There had been a question, now that I recollect it, down on the first

sub-contract out of Winnipeg, I believe I had an engineer named McDougall there,

and he said that the sub-contractors had said to him they were not getting enough.

I had spoken to Mr. McTaggart, the division engineer, about it; he, I believe, had
looked into it, and I had also spoken to my assistant district engineer, who, at that

time was Mx. Armstrong, and he had looked into it and they all backed up the

engineer.

Q. That is the only instance you now recollect of a question about the quan-

tities?—A. Later on—or I do not remember whether it was in June, or before or

after June, Mr. McArthur spoke to me and said he was not getting enough measure-

ment, he used the words " enough measurement and enough classification." I said,

" whereabouts ? " and he said, " It is general, all my subs are complaining."

Q. His subs were complaining, did he say whether it was only as to measure-

ments or classifications?—A. That is what I wanted to get from Mr. McArthur,
and he said, " It is general ;

" I said, " Tell me jwho it is, give me one instance ?

"

He said, " I do not know, it is general all over the line." I said, " Let us start from
Winnipeg." I forget the first contractor's name, but I said, " Is he kicking ? " and
he said," "No." I said, "Is Walsh kicking?" and he said, "Yes." I said, "What
is the matter with Walsh ? " and he said, " Walsh claims he is not getting enough
classification on a certain cut, and that the engineers haven't measured enough."

I said, " I will change engineers there, I will take the engineer who is the resident

engineer on the next west section, and have him measure it, and if he doesn't satisfy

Walsh I will get Mr. McTaggart, the division engineer, to go and measure it himself,

or I will send Mr. Kuddick out of my own office; I will do anything like that to

test it." I said, " Mr. Hazlewood is an engineer, too, and can measure them in Mr.

McArthur's interest, and if there are any objections to measurements made by my
engineers, Mr. McArthur has his own engineers, and they can measure it; there prac-

tically can only be one result in measurement," and I found afterwards that Hazle-

wood and McTaggart had made really the same measurement.

Q. There was no serious question about measurement?—A. Not that I looked

upon as serious, Mr. McArthur looked upon it as serious.

Q. That is what I wanted to get.

Committee rose at one o'clock.
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Thursday, May 21, 1908.

4 o'clock p.m.

Cross-examination of Major Hodgins continued.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Before the adjournment this morning, major, you were telling us about

the interview you had with Commissioner Young, at Winnipeg, early in June, 1907.

You detailed the conversation, the greater part of it at least, and in answer to a

member of the committee you stated that whatever was said by Mr. Young did not

convey any idea of anything improper to you?—A. Oh, nothing at all.

Q. And that you had not spoken to Mr. Parent, the chairman, about it?—A. I

don't remember speaking to Mr. Parent.

Q. Do you know whether Mr. Young had been on the work in Quebec?—A. I

could not say.

Q. On this La Tuque work before that conversation?—A. Why, I could not say

anything at all about it. I simply thought he was talking about a subject that he did

not know, and I don't know whether I said to him that he might be anxious to help

the contractor.

Q. That what?—A. I thought be might be anxious to help the contractor, but

that was all. The conversation we had did not convey to me any idea on Mr. Young's
part that he was doing anything improper, but he was ill-advised in talldng on the

subject.

Q. And from that you drew the inference that he did not know what he was talk-

ing about?—A. Talking on a subject he did not understand as well as I did.

Q. That I take to be the meaning of your answer? You discussed Mr. Doucet
and his work on that occasion to some extent?—A. Yes, he referred to Mr. Doucet's

work and, as I said, I replied and said that if Doucet were up on my work he would
do the same as I was doing, and that if I were on his work I would do the same as he

was doing.

Q. And the reference by Mr. Young, as I understand it, to your going down there

was for you to see how Doucet was doing things ?—A. He said, ' You had better go

and see.'

' Q. How Doucet was doing things?—A. Exactly.

Q. That is not the occasion on which Mr. Young used the words ' Get an object

lesson ' ?—A. That is the time, yes.

Q. That was the time ?—A. Yes.

Q. Did he use those words ?—A. I think so. I am certainly under the impression
that he did.

Q. Well, I am asking you now whether Commissioner Young on that occasion
actually used the words ^ object lesson ' ?—A. Yes.

Q. You swear to that?—A. Yes, to the best of my m.emory that was the impres-
sion conveyed to me, those words, and I have always

Q. I know that might be an impression. That is, if you have got an impression
and want to convey to somebody else in your own language what that impression was
you might properly enough say that Mr. Young told you to get an object lesson : but
what I am asking is, did Mr. Young actually use those words in sponking to you?—A.
I think so.

Q. Well, I would like you to be exact about that because he denies it.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—That is, you are advised that he denies it?—A. I want to be fair

now on this.

Q. I understand that, nu^jor?—A. He spoke about Doucet and I said, ns I told
you just now, that if Doucet was on my work he would do exactly the same as I did,
and I said that if I was down on his work I would do the same thing as he did, and
he said to me, ' Well, you had better go down and see and get :in object lesson.-

Major Hodgins.
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Q. Now are you sure those were the exact words ?—A. I am not as certain of those

words as I am of my own. If Mr. Young denies it why—

—

Q. Then you would return, as I understand it, to what you said a moment ago,

that was the impression it left on your mind?—A. Exactly.

Q. But you did not think it conveyed any improper suggestion to you at the time ?

—A. Oh no.

Q. Or since?—A. Nor since. My reply to him shows that if I were down there

I would be doing it as Doucet was doing it, and if Doucet were on my work he would

do exactly as I was doing. We had the one classification to go on and material is

easily judged. The engineers I thought were experienced men and in my opinion

they were classifying all right. They would ask me on one or two occasions about

things and we agreed.

Q. Was it also at Winnipeg on the occasion of the visit early in June of the com-

missioners that you had the interview that you had spoken about with Commissioner
Keid?—A. I spoke about an interview with Mr. Reid in Winnipeg.

Q. Yes?—A. And also in Ottawa.

Q. But I am speaking now about the Winnipeg one. Did the interview that

you say took place between you and Commissioner Beid at Winnipeg take place on
this occasion early in June?—A. Yes.

Q. Last June?—^A. Yes, that one I am referring to.

Q. Where did that take place?—A. In the hotel.

Q. In the Boyal Alexandra Hotel?—A. Yes.

Q. Who were present?—A. I am not certain. Mr. Beid and I were alone sitting

on the sofa I think, for a considerable period. Mr. Young and Mr. Lumsden had
been there but they had gone away.

Q. Yes. What day was this, the first day the commissioners arrived in Winnipeg ?

—A. I think so.

Q. You think so?—A. Yets,_ I am not certain.

Q. Well, perhaps you could locate it in another way. Was it the same day as

that on which you had the interview with Mr. Young?—A. I think so.

Q. You think so?—^A. We were in the hotel altogether. I would not be so

certain.

Q. Well, what time of the day was it?—A. I would not be certain about that.

I think it was before luncheon. I am not certain on that point.

Q. You think it was about mid-day some time. A little before luncheon?—A.
Yes, I would not be certain.

Q. Now just tell us, major what was said at that interview between you and Mr.
Beid?—A. I spoke of Mr. Young. I think I said he was interfering.

Q. Yes?—A. And I think Mr. Beid said, 'Yes, it may be. If he is, he is doing
it in a good-natured way,' or something like that.

Q. He had a kind heart?—A. Mr. Beid said that if Mr. Young was interfering,

he was doing it in a good-natured way. I quite agreed with him.
Mr. Barker.—We cannot hear the witness.

The Witness.—I say I quite agreed with him.

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. Agreed with what?—A. That if Mr. Young was interfering, he was doing it

in a good-natured way.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Yes?—A. If I did not say it I had it in mind. It is very hard for me io\

repeat verbatim what these conversations were. I have only got an impression of these
conversations in my memory.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Surely you knew more than impressions of conversations before you deliber-
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ately wrote letters to the public press?—A. Well, the impression conveyed in conver-
sation

Mr. Macdonald.—You ought to have more than an impression.

Mr. Murphy:

Q. Well, what else was said, not your impression of what was said, but what was
said ?—A. lie said that—I don't want to get those two interviews mixed up.

Q. No, we want to keep them separate?—A. He said that—I think he said some-

thing about Mr. Lumsden.

Q. Yes, what else?—A. And he said I probably referred too much to him.

Q. Yes?—A. There were a great many things that I ought to do myself without

referring to anybody.

Q. Yes, anything else?—A. He did not speak so plainly in that interview as he

did in the interview at Ottawa.

Q. Never mind the interview at Ottawa, we will get that later. I am asking

you now about the interview at Winnipeg. I want to clear that up as we go along.

Was anything else said by Mr. Reid on that occasion that you recall? (No answer).

Q. Do you recall anything else that was said by Mr. Reid on that occasion?—A.

I don't think he mentioned anything about ignoring the chief engineer on that occa-

sion, but he referred to it in this way : that Mr. Doucet did not refer very much to him.

Q. Did not which?—^A. Did not refer very much to the chief engineer,

t Mr. Doucet settled matters himself?—A. Exactly.

Q. Anything else ?—A. That is all I can remember just now.

Q. That is all you can remember just now. Then there was no talk about classi-

fication on that occasion ?—A. I think there was.

Q. Well ?—A. Classification and lack of men were the chief topics to be discussed.

Q. That is so far as you are concerned, but I am asking you about this particiilar

interview between yourself and Mr. Reid?—A. Yes, I mentioned to him that McArthur
had made some objections to classification in a general way.

Q. You mentioned what?—A. McArthur had made some objection to classifi-

-cation in a general way.

Q. Yes?—A. Not in detail.

Q. Yes ?—A. I think that was all.

Q. Now are you quite sure that you mentioned even that?—A. To Commis-
sioner

Q. Reid?—A. Well, if I did not mention it in that particular conversation I

must have mentioned it before, because I interviewed them all, more or less. We were
talking together and sitting together.

Q. We are speaking only of the interview between you and Commissioner Reid
in Winnipeg at the Royal Alexandra Hotel on the occasion of the commissioners' visit

early in June last year. I want to know if at that interview on that occasion there
was any talk at all about classification with Commissioner Reid?—A. Oh yes.

Q. Well, now, what was said?—A. McArthur was kicking about classification

generally, and there wns no possible way of helping them out to a very great extent.

Q. That is not an answer, that is just a statement. T am asking you what was
said about classification at that interview?—A. Well, that is all T can remombor. T

•c^mnot

Q. What was said?—A. I cannot rememl->or the words that he said.

Q. As near as you can remember?—A. Thnt is as near as T can remember.
Q. What is as near as you can remember? Just repeat it please, and what was

snid?—A. T told Mr. Reid that Mr. "NFc Arthur was kicking in a general way about
t'hissification, and it was not a V(M-y extensive matter.

Q. T see. Did it end ihovo on tlmt oeea^^ion ?---A. T think so. ye<. T (l.->n't remem-

!^[A70R HODGIN'S.
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ber now. I am getting those conversations mixed up, Mr. Murphy. I am trying to

straighten them out, I don't want to

Q. Did you not on that occasion tell Mr. Eeid or complain to Mr. Eeid in a

general way about some of your engineers not being satisfactory ?—A. Can you give

me the name of the engineer?

Q. I am asking you if you made any complaints in a general way to Mr. Eeid

about the engineers not being satisfactory?—A. I do not remember.

Q. You won't swear you did not?—A. No,

Q. Did you not on the same occasion say to Mr. Eeid that -you were afraid that

if you reported these engineers they would appeal to Commissioner Young over your

head?—A. JSTo.

Q. What is the answer?—A. Indeed, no.

Q. Is your answer that you did not say that, or that you don't remember?—A.

1 did not say it.

Q. You did not say it?—A. No, certainly not.

Q. Are you quite positive as to that?—A. Quite positive. I cannot place any

engineers whom I could place that on.

Q. ^ou cannot do what?—A. I cannot fix that on any engineers. I don't know
what engineers would have appealed to Mr. Young over my head.

Q. Do you not remember Mr. Eeid telling you to report any of the engineers who
were not doing work to your satisfaction ?—A. No.

Q. Do you recall any statement made by Mr. Eeid to that effect?—A. No, I do not.

Q. Do you remember any discussion on that occasion about Engineer Wilkie?—

-

A. No.
Mr. HoDGTNS.—Who?
Mr. Murphy.—Mr. Wilkie.

A. No. I do not.

Q. Well, it is strange, but Mr. Eeid does. Was there not some discussion about

Mr. Wilkie's removal?—A. Wilkie was not removed until after I left.

Q. I am not asking when he was removed, I am asking if there was not some dis-

cussion on the occasion of this interview between you and Commissioner Eeid about

Mr. Wilkie's removal?—A. I don't think so.

Q. Or about Mr. Wilkie wanting removal?—A. Nor
Q. Perhaps I do not put it right?—A. I think Mr. Lumsden was the only one I

discussed it with, but I don't think it was on that occasion. I don't know whether

the question of Wilkie had come up then.

Q. I see. So that taking what you have told us now as being your recollection

of what transpired at that interview ?—A. Yes.

Q. There was no suggestion of an improper kind made by Comm.issioner Eeid
to you?—A. No.

Q. In discussing the matter with Commissioner Eeid that day I suppose you were
speaking about the general state of affairs on the work as you have explained?—A. I

expect so.

Q. You have told us that you mentioned about some complaints made by Mc-
Arthur?—A. Exactly.

Q. Were those complaints made to you personally by McArthur?—A. McArthur
had said once or twice to me, speaking in a general way, that the contractors were
complaining, and, as I said before, I always wanted to find out exactly where the com-
plaints could be located.

Q. Naturally?—A. I offered to go out on the work several times with McArthur.
I said that at any time he fixed the date I would put off anything and go with him.

Q. You told us that in your examination-in-chief ?;—A. Yes.

Q. You had a complaint from a sub-contractor named Walsh, did you not?—A.
Yes, the one on the prairie, the first contract out of Winnipeg.

Q. Did McArthur continue to make those complaints?—A. I think McArthur
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spoke to me about Wal&h having complained in a general way. Well, I

fixed it on Walsh. He first of all told me it was general. I said, ' Can you give

me any particular contractor?" He said "Oh no." I said "Well, now, give me
the name of one." He said " It is general." I said " Let us start from Winnipeg.

What about Wardrope ? " That was the first name mentioned. He said no, that

Wardrope had not made any complaints. Then I said " What about Walsh ?

"

"Yes," he said, Walsh had complained about classifications and measurements.

Then I said I would look into it.

Q. Was that conversation before or after the visit of the commissioners to

Winnipeg in June?—A. That conversation was when they were—do you mean
with McArthur?

Q. Yes?—A. Or before it?

Q. The conversation you have just spoken of?—A. Before?

Q. Before the visit of the commissioners to Winnipeg in June?—A. Yes.

Q. Had any complaints been made by McArthur just about the time of the

visit of the commissioners?—A. No. Let me see now. Yes, McArthur had com-

plained.

Q. He had complained?—A. Complained of his estimate generally.

Q. Did he make complaints after the visit of the commissioners?—A. Yes.

Q. How long after it?—A. I forget the date now.

Q. Well give the date approximately, the same month?—A. No, I was away
from there all that month—the balance of the month of July. I don't know whether

McArthur made complaints direct or whether I got them from Hazlewood, his en-

gineer.

Q. You are not sure whether McArthur made complaints direct, or whether

you received them from Hazlewood, but you do know they were made?—A. Yes.

Q. And about what time after the visit of the commissioners?—A. I think I

had a letter from Hazlewood about some re-measurements. That would be in the

office at Kenora. I don't know the date.

Q. Hazlewood was one of McArthur's engineers ?—A. Yes.

Q. Would that be some time in July?—A. Possibly.

Q. Do you remember any other complaints?—A. There was a complaint. It

was not a complaint. Well possibly it was a complaint about Guy Campbell, another

contractor not having been paid for some work he had done on an abandoned line

and some houses he had put up.

Q. I see. Do you recollect any other complaints?—A. That is all.

Q. What do you mean by this sentence in your letter to the ' Colonist,' " I got

no assistance from the chief engineer?"—A. Well first of all in Quebec I asked the

chief, I began a conversation with him, to find out his opinion on Quebec classifi-

cation, the classification I had seen in that cutting. He replied that he did not know
anything about it and turned away.

Q. Yes?—A. Then I spoke to him about the difficulties connected with Mr.
Grant's appointment, his coming up there as inspecting engineer.

Q. When was that?—A. After we came from Quebec. Before Mr. Grant went
up or about the time he was leaving to go up.

Q. What difficulties existed then about Mr. Grant's appointment?—A. He had
been appointed as inspecting engineer. I dont know what his duties were. I said
" Two men cannot run my district."

Q. Yes?—A. And the chief agreed with me.

Q. Yes?—A. And wo discussed the appointment.

Q. Yes, what else?—A. And he said he had issued instructions that "Nfr. Grant
would give no orders up on the work.

Q. Yes?—A. He told me that ho had objected to ^fr. Grant's appointment but
it had been overruled.

Q. By whom?—A. He did not sny.

Major Hodgins.
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Q. Well that is not explaining what difficulties existed just after your return

from the trip to Quebec, about Grant's appointment?—A. That is one of them.

Q. With whom did that difficulty exist?

Mr. Hodgins.—Where do you find the word " difficulty ?

Mr. Murphy.—I find it in the major's language, in his answer to my question,

Mr. Hodgins.—I thought you referred to this letter?

Mr. Murphy.—We will get back to the letter after a while.

The Witness.—Then after Mr. Grant's report

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. No, no. Just wait a moment. You are going too fast now. I want to

know major, what do you mean when you say that you spoke to Mr. Lumsden after

jouT return to Quebec?—A. Yes.

Q. In June about the difficulties that existed regarding Grant's appointment?

A. Exactly.

Q. What were those difficulties?—A. I could not see what use an inspecting

engineer—

—

Q. Oh, I see. That constituted the difficulties ?—A. Mr. Lumsden
Q. Never mind, we will get Mr. Lumsden afterwards. So that was the difficulty

which existed ?—A. Exactly. He discussed it ^with me.

Q. Were you taking the position that the commission ought to consult with you

before they made the appointment?—A. I was consulting the chief engineer.

Q. And complaining?—A. I did complain.

Q. And you kept complaining?—A. I had finished my complaint. I was dis-

cussing the situation.

Q. It was a pretty lengthy one? It lasted from here to Quebec and you talked

of it day and night?—A. No.

Q. On the boat going down?—Yes, I said what I thought on the boat.

Q. At La Tuque and in Quebec to Armstrong?—A. I did not complain to Arm-
strong.

Q. You did not say anything to Armstrong about Grant?—A. I expect we talked

about it.

Q. Don't you know you did?—A. Yes.

Q. So these difficulties were your own difficulties?—A. Exactly.

Q. Your annoyance at Grant's appointment?—A. Yes.

Q. Why should you have felt so much annoyed?—A. Because a junior man had
been put over my head to go up to my district and arrange classification.

Q. Did you know Mr. Grant before that?—A. No.

Q. How did you know he was a junior man?—A. He was an assistant district

engineer in Quebec.

Q. Were there other district engineers besides yourself?—A. Yes.

Q. Were they annoyed at Mr. Grant's appointment?—A. I think all were except

Mr. Poulin.

Q. All except Mr. Poulin?—A. Yes.

Q. Have any of them ever said so to you?—A. Yes.

Q. Who?—A. They all spoke about the appointment on the boat going down,
at least Mr. Dunn did and I think Mr. Molesworth.

Q. They all spoke about it, but were they registering complaints against that?

—A. Yes.

Q. To you?—A. Yes^—no, to the commissioners, we were all sitting on the deck
somewhere.

Q. I see, it was a general discussion?—A. Yes.

Q. And do you know whether other district engineers went around talking to

men like Mr. Armstrong about the appointment?—A. I could not say.

Q. So far as you know the difficulties that you have spoken of here a few minutes
ago, consisted entirely with yourself?—A. As far as I know.
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Q. Now, you have spoken of Mr. Grant being appointed to go over your district,

that is only a partial statement 1—A. In that way ?

Q. Wasn't he appointed to go over the whole of the line, it was not over your

district especially?—A. No.

Q. So that as a matter of fact there was no reason why you should take umbrage

at his appointment any more than the other district engineers?—A. If I remember

aright at the time, my district and the Quebec district were the only districts in which

there had been any considerable amount of work done.

Q. But he would have the same inspection over the other districts as the work

progressed on them, would he not?—A. Yes—the other engineers discussed it with me.

Q. Further on in your letter to the ' Colonist ' you say, ' I thought if the commis-

sioners interfered with me any further Sir Wilfred Laurier would set matters right as

soon as I appealed to him.' Now, what interference up till the time you had been

speaking of had the commissioners exerted against jou ?—A. Well, it was the appoint-

ment of Mr. Grant, I judged that, and from what I had seen and heard in Quebec, I

could not approve of that classification.

Q. What do you mean by the Quebec classification?—A. ihe classifying of

cemented material as solid rock.

Q. Where was that done?—A. That is what I sa\v in Quebec.

Q. Where?—A. In that cutting, that first cutting.

Q. In that cutting. You referred to a house you saw going up somewhere in

that district, and your reference to it and to the question you afterwards addressed to

the chief engineer sounded as if you intended your reference to the Quebec classifica-

tion to cover that house?—A. No.

Q. You did not? Where was this house you spoke of—A. It was west of the

cutting.

Q. At or near LaTuque?—A. Yes, on the other side of a large hill, and we passed

it in carriages, we were on one side of the bank and the house was being built on the

other side, I could only see the top, but I could see it was a large one.

Q. It was under construction, was it?—A. It was under, construction.

Q. How far had it advanced?—A. I think the roof was on it, the chimneys were
up, I could not say from where I was whether it was shingled or not.

Q. At what distance were you from the house when you saw it?—A. Well, the

bank was between us and the house and I could only see the upper portion of it.

Q. You could only see a portion of it?—A. Yes, I could only see the top of it.

Q. That altered your statement of yesterday ygyj materially?—A. In what way?
Q. You only saw the top of it?—A. Yes.

Q. Who was with you?—A. In the carriage?

Q. Yes?—A. I do not remember—I asked what the building was.

Q. Whom did you ask?—A. Mr. Armstrong, he was there.

Q. Was he in the carriage with you?—A. Yes, I asked him.

Q. Who else?—A. There were two others, four of us in the carriage.

Q. Mr. Armstrong was there, who were the others?—A. I do not remember who
the others were.

Q. As a matter of fact you were alone when you saw the house, wore vou not?

—

A. No.

Q. Do you still say Mr. Armstrong was with you when you saw the liouso ?—A.

Yes, because I asked him what it was for.

Q. But at the time you saw it, was that the time you asked him?—A. Yes.

Q. What was the reply?—A. That it was the division eugineor's house.

It was a house on the work?—A. Yes, on the other side of the bank.

Q. But so located that, by reason of the intervouiug bank, you only ^aw the top
of it?—A. Only the top of it.

Q. You never saw it since, you made no inspection of it?—A. No.

!
Major Hodgixs.
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Q. Then why did you ask if that was to be the standard ?—A. Because it was a

very much larger house than my division engineers had.

Q. It did not mean ' Quebec classification/ that that was to apply to Quebec

specifically ?—A. No, I had considered how to approach Mr. Lumsden on this occasion.

Q. Oh, you were starting some tactics?—A. No, that is the first question I asked

him.

Q. And Mr. Lumsden, you say, did not care to discuss the matter and walked

away, or turned away, is that correct?—A. That is correct. .

Q. Now you say, ' I thought if the commissioners interfered with me any further

Sir Wilfrid Laurier would set matters right as soon as I appealed to him.' Did you
ever appeal to Sir Wilfrid Laurier?—A. Not directly.

Q. Not directly—was there any appeal made to him that you know of?—A. Yes.

Q. To set matters right?—^A. To have the investigation that I was making when
I received my notice from Mr. Lumsden, finished.

Q. To have that finished—I see, what was the result ?—A. No answer.

Q. That is how that matter stands, as far as you know ?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Macdonald :

Q. I understand you to say you never yourself applied to Sir Wilfrid Laurier for

an investigation?—A. I have never written a letter to Sir Wilfrid Laurier; I do not

remember writing one, and I am pretty certain I did not.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. You go on to say in your letter, ' Here I made a miscalculation, the chairman

of the commission. Monsieur Parent, got in first and hypnotized the government,'

what do you mean by that ?—A. Well, he evidently told his side of the case.

Q. How do you know?—A. From the reports I have seen in the papers and the

xeturns made before the House.

Q. Had you any other reason for making that statement that he had ' hypnotized

the government ' ?—A. No.

Q. What do you mean by that expression that he had ' hypnotized the govern-

ment ' ?—A. That he had laid his side of the case before the government, and I hadn't

a chance to lay mine.

Q. There was no issue between you and Mr. Parent, was there?—A. Apparently

I was

Q. You do not know of any up to that time, there had been no clash or discussion,

or friction of any kind between you and Mr. Parent ?—A. Well, Mr. Lumsden wrote to

me and said that owing to the feeling at Ottawa he was going to make a change, and
I presumed it was the remarks I had made in connection with Mr. Grant's appoint-

ment.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Why did you select Mr. Parent as the gentleman who was representing every-

thing at Ottawa?—A. Because he was the only one who had communication with the

government.

Q. You had no knowledge at all on the subject?—A. No.

Q. It was an inference, which so far as you knew, was absolutely without found-
ation, as a matter of fact?—A. He is the one who had communication with the govern-
ment.

Q. Well, as a matter of fact, have you any facts within your own knowledge
that will lead you to say that Mr. Parent exercised any influence contrary to you in

this matter?—A. Any fact to show that he did?

Q. Yes, other than impressions ?—A. I do not think so.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Your letter proceeds, ' And I was removed for other reasons, no investigation
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into my ^ase was allowed,' now, what were these other reasons?—A. The reasons

stated by Mr. Parent.

Q. What were they?—A. I have forgotten exactly what they were, they are stated

in his letter and in his interview with the press ; Mr. Lumsden said that it was because
I could not get on with the men and the contractors, and Mr. Parent said that I had
given an order to resort* to cost, force account, and ten per cent.

Q. But when you say, ' I was removed for other reasons
' ; what do you mean,

reasons other than what?—A. For reasons other than I attributed it to.

Q. ' And no investigation into my case was allowed ' ?—A. No.

Q. Who declined an investigation into your case?—A. The Minister of Railways.

Q. What had he to do with investigating your case ?—A. I saw that a question had
been asked in the House, I have forgotten just what it was, but it was said that I had
been dismissed and it was asked if an investigation was to take place, and the Minister

of Railways said that I had been dismissed because my services were not satisfactory

to the commission, and that no investigation was necessary.

Q. That no investigation was necessary?—A. Yes.

Q. That is quite a different thing from refusing an investigation isn't it?

Mr. HoDGiNS.

—

^ No investigation into my case was allowed,' he said.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. That is what I am asking him about, and this is his answer now. Did you

I)ersonally apply for an investigation ?—A. An investigation into classification ?

Q. Did you?—A. Yes.

Q. First of all, did you apply personally for an investigation into your case?

—

A. No.

Q. Then did you apply for an investigation into classification?—A. Yes, Mr.
James Conmee came into my office.

Q. Wait, now, did you apply?—A. For what?

Q. For an investigation into classification ?—A. Yes.

Q. Through whom did you apply?—A. Mr. James Conmee.

Q. What had he to do with the investigation?—A. Just that he was member for

the district, he came into my office and I talked the question over with him.

Q. First of all, when was this?—A. I think it was two days after I got my notice

from Mr. Lumsden.

Q. Two days after you got your notice from Mr. Lumsden ?—A. Yes.

Q. Well?—A. And I spoke to him about it, and I told him what I knew, what I

had been doing, and I showed him some correspondence, and I brought Mr. Mann in

and let him question Mr. Mann about this matter. Mr. Conmee is an old contractor.

Q. Mr. Mann is one of the Grand Trunk Pacific engineers ?—A. He is the Grand
Trunk Pacific engineer, and Mr. Conmee questioned Mr. Mann on the matter, and
he wired to Sir Wilfrid Laurier and Mr. Aylesworth.

Q. Yes, what did he wire ?—A. He wired something to the effect

Q. Did you see the telegrams ?—A. He read the telegrams to me.

Q. Did you see them sent?—A. Yes, one of my men took them down.

Q. Did your man send the message; is he an operator?—A. No, he was my
accountant.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Are you asking what the contents of the telegram is?

Mr. Murphy.—Yes.

A. Recommending that the investigation should go on, something to that effect

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. That this investigation which you had been making and which had been stopped
^should go on, is that it?—A. Yes, that had been stopped.

Q. That is the investigation you refer to here in your letter?—A. Yes. I also

wrote to Mr. Aylesworth, but never got any reply.

5—16 Major Hodgins.
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Q. You did not get any reply from him?—A. No.

Q. Now this conversation with Mr. Conmee took place in your office at Kenora,

did it?—A. At Kenora, yes.

Q. What date was that?—A. The 17th or 18th of September, I think.

Q. The 17th or 18th of September ?—A. Yes, I think that was the date.

Q. Do you know what day of the week it was?—A. No, I do not remember.

Q. Can you recall the date of that interview, major?—A. No, except that it was

one day or two days after I got Mr. Lumsden's letter, I think.

Q. When you got Mr. Lumsden's letter, what did you do?- Did you. communicate
with him in any way?—A. I wired him not to do anything until I came to Ottawa.

Q. Did you have any further communicaation with him just about that time?—A.

Yes, I applied for three months' leave instead of one, I wired him.

Q. You wired him. So that this interview took place with Mr. Conmee while

this correspondence was passing from you to Mr. Lumsden?
Mr. HoDGiNS.—He did not say that.

A. I do not remember, I haven't got the dates, or the date of the telegram.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. What was your first telegram, you say it is produced here? What was the

text of it?—A. That I would be down in Ottawa, that I would come down to Ottawa.

Q. That you would come down to Ottawa?—A. Yes.

Q. And to do nothing further. That telegram is produced, and reads:

Kenora^ Sept. 16.

^ Hugh Lumsden, Ottawa.

Please take no action until I arrive Ottawa, leaving Wednesday.

A. E. HODGINS.'
Q. Is that the telegram you refer to?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, was that the same date on which you had the interview, do you think?

—A. What interview ?

Q. With Mr. Conmee?—A. No, I think I had the interview with him afterward.

What is the date of that telegram?

Q. 16th September?—A. Well, that is the date I got my notice. Mr. Conniee

came in

Q. Oh no, you got your notice before that ?—A. What is the date of the notice ?

Q. 12 September ?—A. It would be the 15th or the 16th before I got the notice ; it

takes three days to come up there.

Q. If the 12th was on Thursday, as it was, and the notice bore date on that day,^

and was posted that day, when would it reach Kenora?—A. On what day was it dated,

the 12th?

Q. Yes ?—A. About the 15th.

Q. That would be Sunday, the 12th was on Thursday?—A. Sunday, yes. It was
Sunday or Monday I got it.

Q. Now do yoa remember when you actually received the notice?—A. What day
was the 12th?

Q. Thursday?—A. Sunday.

Q. Sunday, the 15th?—A. I got it on Sunday afternoon.

Q. You think you got it on Sunday afternoon?—A. Yes.

Q. I think that is right, you were in your office on Sunday afternoon, the 15th?
—A. Yes.

Q. Was Mr. Heaman there?—A= No.
Q. Was Mr. Mann there?—A. No—no, I got it in my house in the evening, the

letter was brought over to me.

Q. On Saturday or Sunday, which?—A. On Sunday—I won't be certain.

Q. Then this telegram of the 16th was sent on the following day, Monday?—A.
On Monday, yes.
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Q. You had been out on the line just before that?—A. Yes, I had just come in.

Q. And had you been in your office before you received that notice from Mr.

Lumsden?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you get that notice on your visit to the office?—A, No, I got into the

office on Saturday about six, and looked over some—I think I got in in the evening

—

I do not remember now whether I went to the office that day or not.

Q. What time on Saturday did you get to your office?—^A. I am trying to think,

I came from Vermilion Bay, but whether I came in on the regular train or the mixed

train, I cannot recollect.

Q. Well, what time did you get to your office?—A. Some time in the afternoon;

I am not sure whether I went to the office or not that day.

Q. You are not certain whether you went to the office that Saturday afternoon or

]iot?—A. I expect I went up there to see if there were any letters.

Q. But you do not remember getting the notice from Mr. Lumsden?—A. Yes.

Q. And the next day was Sunday?—A. No, it was Sunday I got it I think; I

think it was brought over with some of my letters.

Q. And then you had this interview with Mr. Conmee?—A. If I could fix the

day Mr. Conmee came to my office—he was introduced to me, I had not seen him
before and I did not say anything to him then.

Q. That was at your first meeting with Mr. Conmee?—A. Yes, and the next day,

after thinking it over, I thought I had better go down and talk to him, which I did

and he came over to my office.

Q. And it was after that conversation the telegram was sent?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you ask Mr. Conmee to send that telegram?—A. No, I asked him for

advice.

Q. You haven't been able to fix the exact time of getting back to Kenora on
Saturday the 14th of September, but you do remember going to your office and getting

some letters ?—A. No, I am not certain whether I did go to my office ; the office would
be closed on Saturday afternoon and I am not certain what time I got it.

Q. None of your stafi would be there when you got in?—A. No, they would not

be there on Saturday afternoon.

Q. And you know for a fact that it was Saturday afternoon when you got back
to Kenora?—A. I left Canyon Lake in the morning and rowed down to Vermilion
Bay and I think I had lunch there and waited for the train, but whether I came in

on the mixed train or the express, I have forgotten. If it was the express, I think the

express got in about four or five and the mixed train would come in at any time about

eight. I have forgotten now what time it was.

Q. You have forgotten?—A. Yes.

Q. At any rate you knew there would be none of your staff in the office that after-

noon?—A. No.

Q. You did not reach Kenora until the afternoon?—A. I could not possibly.

Q. And it may have been the evening, it all depends upon the train vou took ?

—

A. Yes.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Was the train on time?—A. I do not remember.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Following your telegram of the 16th to the chief engineer you sent another
on the 20th, which is produced here?—A. Yes.

Q. That telegram is dated at Kenora, September 20, 1907, and the translation of

the cipher message is as follows

:

' Hugh D. Lumsden, Ottawa.

LTnderstand Sir Wilfrid does not wish to interfere, therefore I submit, but think

5—16| Major Hodgins.
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you might give me leave, for three years' work without any leave. Who is my
successor? Want my account audited without unnecessary delay.

A. E. HODGINS/

Referring now to your telegram of the 16th of September, in which you ask Mr.

Lumsden to take no action, and to your telegram of the 20th, in which you say ' under-

stand Sir Wilfrid does not wish to interfere, therefore I submit, but think you might

give me leave, for three years work without any leave. Who is my successor ? Want
my account audited without any unnecessary delay.' Does the language of these two

telegrams indicate that you were making some effort between the date of the first and

the date of the second to retain your position ?—A. Well, I was expecting to hear

something from Ottawa. I heard that Mr. Mcintosh was going down—^Mr. Mcintosh
telegraphed me that he was going down to Ottawa

Q. But is it a fact that between these two dates and after the sending of your

first telegram you did get busy and endeavour to use interest to retain your position?

—A. Yes.

Q. And that is what the reference in your telegram of the 20th is to, ' understand
^ Sir Wilfrid does not wish to interfere,' is it not?—A. Yes.

Q. Now further on in your letter to the ' Colonist ' you say under the heading
' Increase Accounted for '

—

' If Monsieur Poulin, the engineer appointed by Monsieur Parent to replace me
on the western district has allowed the introduction of classification similar to that in

Quebec, this will account for an increase in the estimated cost of the line. If this

increase amounts to three or four million dollars per. cent), it is time the public

demanded some explanation from the government.'

Q. You recall that paragraph in your letter ?—A. Yes, I do.

Q. By the way, do you speak French, major?—A. Very little.

Q. Do you write French?—A. No.

Q. Except when you write to the ' Colonist ' ?—A; How do you mean ?

Q. If you do not speak French and do not write French ?—A. I understand
French a little.

Q. Why do you put the prefix ' Monsieur ' before Mr. Parent's name and Mr.
Poulin's name in this letter ?—A. Well, it is generally done.

Q. Is it generally done?—A. Yes.

Q. Is that your habit? When you are addressing a man, referring to the chair-

man of the Transcontinental Commission or this engineer, do you say Monsieur Parent
and Monsieur Poulin or Mr. Parent and Mr. Poulin?—A. Generally I would say
Poulin. Writing an ofiicial letter to him I would address him as Monsieur Poulin.

Q. You would?—A. Yes.

Q. Even in the body of the letter ?—A. Well, that would be only an official letter.

Q. But if you were not writing an official letter?—A. I would omit the prefix.

Q. Did you ever write such a letter?—A. Who?
Q. You?—A. To Mr. Poulin?

Q. Did you ever write such a letter with the prefix ' Monsieur ' to Mr. Parent or

Mr. Poulin? (No answer.)

Q. What is the use of losing time, major? It was just to have a cheap fling at

these two gentlemen, was it not?—A. No.
Q. No?—A. No, it was not.

Q. That was not the reason?—A. That was not the reason.

Q. Now is it not a fact that you thought that would be palatable to the readers
of the 'Colonist'?—A. No.

Q. That was not your reason in doing it?—A. No.
Q. Well, now, what do you know personally about the appointment of Mr. Poulin ?

We will use the English prefix.—A. Mr. Foss was sent up there first.

Q. Never mind Mr. Foss. What do you know personally about the appointment
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of Mr. Poulin?—A. Mr. Poulin came up afterwards and I had several conversations

in his office with him before I left.

Q. With whom?—A. With Mr. Poulin.

Q. You say in your letter ' If Monsieur Poulin, the engineer appointed by
Monsieur Parent.'. I want to know from you what you know personally about the

appointment of Mr. Poulin?—A. I know he was appointed.

Q. You do. Do you know, as you allege in the letter, that he was appointed by
Mr. Parent?--A. Well, certainly.

Q. You do. Now, let us have the proof of that?—A. Mr. Parent is the head of

the commission.

Q. Yes?—A. And all the appointments must be approved by him.

Q. Do the other commissioners have any say in these appointments?—A. I

presume so.

Q. You presume so. Don't you know they do?—A. Yes.

Q. You know perfectly well?—A. They all have some say.

Q, So that Mr. Poulin's appointment was just as much the appointment of Mr.
Mclsaac, Mr. E^id and Mr. Young as it was the appointment of Mr. Parent?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Was it?

The Witness.—Well, it is a question.

Mr. Murphy.—The witness can say that just as well as he can make the other

statements.

Q. Don't you know perfectly well from your experience during the time that joM
were appointed by the commission that nothing is done in the way of appointments
except by the board as a board?-—A. No.

Q. You do not?—A. I do not.

Q. Name me one appointment of any importance—— ?—A. Mr. Eeid has written

to me about appointments; Mr. Mclsaac has written me about appointments of men
they knew, and Mr. Young.

Q. I am not asking you who wrote about appointments, but who made appoint-

ments?—A. They are appointed by the commission.

Q. You were appointed, were you not?—A. I was.

Q. Was Mr. Parent chairman of the Transcontinental Kailway Commission at

the time of your appointment?—A. No.

Q. Who was the chairman?—A. Mr. Wade.
Q. Did Mr. Wade appoint you?—A. I think he did.

Q. Do you know whether he did or not?—-A. I am not certain whether I got a

letter from him stating that he would appoint me or not.

Q. I am not asking you that. Don't you know perfectly well that Mr. Wade did

not appoint you ?—A. I do not. I went to see Mr. Wade.
Q. Don't you know that it was the Board that appointed you?—A. I think Mr.

Ryan wrote me.

Q. It doesn't matter who wrote?—A. I have not got the letter hero.

Q. That is not what I am asking. I am asking by whom appointments are

made. With reference to this allegation of yours in the ' Colonist,' you know that is

not correct?—A. How do I know it is not correct?

Q. Well, if it is, then furnish us with the proof?—A. Well. I don't know.

Q. You don't know?—A. No.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. At the time you wrote the letter of April the lOtli, "Major llodgins. had you
any knowledge, as a matter of fact, of the proof of this stntoniont that ^fr. "Nfurphy

is speaking about?—A. No.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Now, with reference to this trip to Quebec that was made in the early part

^fAJOR HODGINS.
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of June, all the other district engineers were along, were they not?—A. All but one.

Q. Is it a fact that such a trip as that had been spoken of before?—A. No.
Q. To give the district engineers an opportunity of meeting and exchanging

views?—A. I never heard of it.

Q. You never heard of it?—A. No.

Q. By whom were you spoken to regarding that trip?—A. Mr. Young.
Q. Mr. Young. Did anyone else speak to you about it?—A. No. I went down

with them when they were going back, and when we came to Kenora Mr. Young
brought up the subject again and said—I think he spoke to Mr. Lumsden—and said
^ Mr. Hodgins had better go down with us to Quebec,' and I said ' I don't want
particularly to go to Quebec' Then Mr. Young said ' Oh, you had better go.' He
asked Mr. Lumsden if I could go, and Mr. Lumsden said yes. So I said * All right.'

Q. That is all the conversation about the trip that you know of?—A. Yes.

Q. So far as you were concerned?—A. I thought when I got down

By Mr. Lennox:

^ Q. Do you mean that Mr. Young had never said at Winnipeg ?—A. I thought

when I got down from Winnipeg that I would be the only one going down. I was
quite surprised on meeting the other engineers.

Q. You mean that Mr. Young had not spoken to you in Winnipeg about going to

Quebec?—A. He had spoken to me and said I had better go down to Quebec and see.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. You say that when you were spoken to, you got the idea you would be the only

one on the trip?—A. I thought so. I was quite surprised to see the other engineers.

Q. That was the idea in your mind when you wrote that letter to the ' Colonist,'

was it not?—A. How do you mean?
Q. That you were to be the only one on that trip to go down and get this object

lesson?—A. I could only speak for myself surely. I did not know what

Q. Yes, but when you described this trip in your letter to the ' Colonist ' you
were very careful to refrain from mentioning that there was anybody else on the trip?

•—A. How do you mean? ^
Q. I mean the language you used conveyed the impression that Mr. Young told

you to do a certain thing and you went to Quebec ?—A. Exactly.

Q. Following his instructions?—A. Exactly.

Q. You carefully, I say, refrained from stating that the other engineers were there

with you on that trip and that the commissioners were there? You said nothing about

that in your letter to the ' Colonist ' ? Is that not the fact ?—A. Yes.

Q. Why did you suppress those facts ?—A. They were not suppressed.

Q. Why did you not mention them?—A. Why should I?

Q. Why should you create a wrong impression?—A. You are creating the wrong
impression.

Q. No I am not, I beg your pardon?—A. Pardon me.

Q. (reads) :
' Mr. C. A. Young, Commissioner for Manitoba, then advised that I

should go to Quebec ' ?—A. Exactly.

Q. So far it is a matter between vou aiid Mr. Young?—A. And I have added that

when I got to Montreal I found that all the other engineers were going down.

Q. We are not talking about that. We are talking about something which you
did several months afterwards when you wrote a letter to the newspapers and created

a wrong impression by the language you used. (Continues reading) :

'that I should go to Quebec and see how things are managed in that district,

where contractors were not kicking, and get an object lesson'?—A. Exactly.

Q. (Continues reading) :
' I went and returned determined not to allow Quebec

classification to be introduced into the western district as long as I remained in charge' ?

—A. Yes.
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Q. Now what impression could any person get, reading that letter of yours, but

that you went there and went alone?

Mr. Lennox.—It does not necessarily convey that impression?—A. I am not writ-

ing for the staff. I am writing for myself.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Did you intend to convey the impression that you went alone?—A. No.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. You did not?—A. No.

Mr. Macdonald.—Your language would indicate that you had been specially asked

to go apart from the other engineers.

Mr. Murphy.—Certainly.

Mr. Lennox.—It creates the impression that the conversation was with him alone.

It does not say that there was not a party invited at one time. It is the proper way
of stating the facts, as we understand them, I think.

Mr. Murphy.—Well the committee know the facts now in any event.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—He did not know what the invitations to the other engineers were

or know of them.

Mr. Murphy.—He did because he has told all about it.

Mr. Macdonald.—Major Llodgins has appealed to the public in regard to matters

in which he says he was wrongly treated. The irresistible inference from what he
has stated to the press is that he was especially selected to go down to Quebec to learn

how to classify incorrectly.

Mr. Barker.—Would you accuse Mr. Young of deceiving Major Hodgins if he did

not tell him he was inviting others ?

Mr. Macdonald.—He indicates that others were not asked to go. You are arguing

about something else,

Mr. Barker.—I am taking your own illustration.

Mr. Lennox.—Under the circumstances, as we understand them, the language he

employed was the proper language.

Mr. Macdonald.—We understand now that he did not go alone and was not asked

to go alone.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Now you know, major, that Inspecting Engineer Grant, to whom you took

such exception, submitted his report to the chief engineer on July 23rd last?—A. Yes.

Q. And you were communicated with immediately afterwards about that report,

were you not ?—A. Yes, Mr." Lurasden wired me to come down.

Q. And you did come?—A. I did.

Q. You saw a copy of the report?—A. Yes,

Q. And you prepared a reply to it?—A. The best I could, yes.

Q. How long were you here at that time?—A. I forget now, I was here a couple

of days.

Q. You were here a couple of days?—A. The report^ was not typed out, I believe,

when I came and I had to wait for it probably two days or a day and a half.

Q. In answer to your counsel yesterday you said you wore here three days ?—A.

Well three days, I am not certain how long I was hero.

Q. All your time was not occupied in preparing an answer to the report ?—A.

No, I was looking up plans and profiles and writing

Q. You were looking up plans and profiles?—A. And writing, making notes of

what I could gather in the ofiice', in the assistant chief enginecn-'s ofiice. I think it was.

Q. And you were here until the 1st August in any event?—A, Yes.

Q. You filed your report on July 31st or sent it in?—A, That is the date it was
written.

Major Hodgins.



248 >^PECIAL COMMITTEE ON MAJOR H0DGIN8' CHARGES

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

Q. It has been filed here as Exhibit 29. I will just read you what you say in that

report about classification. Under date of July 31, 1907, you wrote to the chief

engineer

:

'CLASSIFICATION.'

' This is not a serious matter. Very little classified material was moved last

winter. All engineers were instructed by the chief to classify frozen material in

cuttings for loose rock. Classification is, in my opinion and in the opinion of Messrs.

McArthur and. Hazlewood, fair, and, with the exception of one or two cuttings, there

is no dispute.'—A. Yes.

Q. ' Classification should be left to the judgnient of resident engineers ' ?-—A. Yes.

Q. If they are in doubt they can consult with the division engineer. All the

engineers have been instructed by me to classify liberally in loose or solid rock. Mr.

McArthur has never asked me to re-classify any particular cutting or sub-contract.'

Is that true?—A. That is true I think.

Q. ' Mr. McArthur has never asked me to re-classify any particular cutting or

sub-contract?—A. Or sub-contract. It was general. He wanted the work classified

generally.

Q. ' All engineers can provide statements of profit and loss on contracts, and this

information is also in the Ottawa ofiice on every contract since the work started ' ?—A.

Yes.

Q. That is what you nad to say in your report in answer to Inspecting Engineer

Grant's report on the 31st of July last?

Mr. Lennox.—That is part of what he had to say.

Mr. Murphy.—As to classification ,yes.

Q. Does that report of yours correctly set forth the true state of affairs on

the road on that date?—A. As far as I could judge without having any access to

notes or letters.

Q. And you stated that in the opinion of Contractor McArthur and the opinion

of his engineer, Mr. Hazlewood, the classification at that time was fair?—A. In
discussing this question of classification with Mr. McArthur

Q. I am asking you was that what you say in your report?—A. Yes.

Q. So at that time, according to your report, th^re were only one or two cuttings

in dispute and you suggested they should be left to the judgment of the resident

engineers?—A. Yes.

Q. That is the language of your report?—A. "Well, in regard to that classifica-

tion being fair it was general, general all over the line. I never could get McArthur
to get down^

Q. Except in one or two cuts?—A. Yes. I tried several times to get those cuts

specified.

Q. And you could not get them?—A. No.
Q. And your report states you instructed the engineers to classify liberally in

loose or solid rock?—A. Yes.

Q. Those instructions then had been given before your trip to Quebec?
Mr. Barker.—Do you state that he says to classify liberally in solid rock ?

Mr. Murphy.—In loose
,

The Witness.^—In loose.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. In loose or solid rock. That is the fact, that is in your report?—A. Yes.

Q. And these instructions you had given before you went to Quebec?—A.
Exactly.

Q. What is your answer?—A. Yes.

Q. So that you had liberal ideas about interpretation long before you visited La
Tuque according to your own report?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—He did not say anything about interpretation.
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Mr. Murphy.—Let the witjiess say.

The Witness.—Every engineer likes to have his classificaation described as being
liberal. It is a term that

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. And you were no exception to the rule?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—^Let him explain.—A. It does not mean that you are to have it

illegally made. A lawyer might make a very striking point by the use of the word.

It really means fairly.

Q. Yes, fairly?—A. I mean fairly, within due bounds.

Q. So that according to your own statement in your own language, in your own
report of 31st July last?—A. Yes.

Q. All parties at that time who were interested in the matter were satisfied with
your instructions and your classification, with the exception of one or two cuttings?

—A. This is as far as I can boil it down to one or two sittings.

Q. Now, in the face of your report, and the answers you have given here, do you
still assert that the root of the trouble between you and the commissioners was
classification?—A. Yes.

Q. You do?—A. That is my opinion.

Q. That is your opinion. Well, now, as you have said in your report that every-

thing was satisfactory, with the exception of one or two cuttings, on the 31st July
last, how could your trip to Quebec, to get object lessons as you allege, have anything
to do with your work at that date?—A. How do you mean?. The large increase in

the classification came after that trip of Mr. Grant^s.

Q. I am not talking about Mr. Grant. I am talking about your trip?—A.
Presumably, if I were taken to Quebec it was to increase my ideas of classification.

That is what I presume the trip was for.

Q. But this report was different a month at least, a little more than a month,
after your trip to Quebec?—A. Yes.

Q. And you state in that report that there was no trouble about classification?

—

A. As far as I knew.

Q. As far as you knew?—A. Exactly. I had just got back. The June estimate

had been in. When I came back from Quebec I signed the June estimate. That was
in July. I had not seen the July estimate when it came in.

Q. When did that come in?—A. When I was down there. I had returned from
writing this letter in Ottawa to Kenora and signed the July estimate. In fact I

came there and signed it but had not very much time to check it over. They had

checked it over before I got there.

Q. And that is what you say about that?—A. Yes, I had to go into that. After

that I discovered that the classificaion was high.

Q. But you made no checking yourself?— . I started out.

Q. You started out. Now on page 6 of your letter to the ' Colonist,' produced

here under the heading ' No chance of investigation '
:

^ Before I left Kenora I said to an engineer who knew a good deal about Quebec

classification that there would surely be a scandal over it; he implied that any investi-

gation would be blocked.'

Q. Who was that engineer?—A. Mr. Grant.

Q. You said to an engineer who know a good deal about Quobee olassifiention,

and that was Mr. Grant?

By Mr. Barker:

Q. Will you allow me to ask a question here. With reference to what you spoke

of a little while ago, do I understand you to say that it was after you made that

report at Ottawa and your return to Kenora that you discovered the transference of

loose rock and common excavation to solid rock?—A. It was in that estimate.

Major Hodgixs.
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Q. Take my question as I put it. Was it after you wrote that report at Ottawa?
—A. Yes.

Q. And you returned to Kenora that you discovered the transference?—A. Yes.

Q. Of common excavation and loose rock by Mcintosh to solid rock?—A. Yes,

exactly. That letter was written on 31st July and the July estimates would come to

my office about the 6th of August—any time between the 3rd and the 6th of August.

They had to be in Ottawa by the 8th.

By the Chairman:

Q. When you wrote that report had you not discovered any fault in classification

at all?—A. No. -

Q. You wrote that report on what date?—rA. On 31st July.

Q. And according to that report you had not found one single fault in the classi-

fication all over the line?—A. No. Afterwards I think there was a copy of a letter

from Mr. Mann to that effect, too.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. There was nothing to be found fault with up to that time?—A. No.

Q. Then you went over the work with Mr. Grant after making that report, did

you not?—A. I came up and went over portions of the work.

Q. And you approved of it ?—A. Well I went over with Mr. Mcintosh this disputed

piece. Mr. Mcintosh used some very strong arguments in favor of this

Q. Never mind major, what he used. I am asking you if you did not approve of

it?—A. No.

Q. In August?—A. Oh, no. I cut it out of the estimate for August.

Q. I say on your trip of inspection in August?—A. No, I did not approve of it.

Q. Did you disapprove of it?—A, Yes, I told him there would have to be a

re-classification.

'Q. Did you put in anything to signify your disapproval?—A. I wrote to Mr.
Lumsden about it, did I not? Is there not a letter produced?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—We have asked for the production of the letter. I asked for them
all yesterday and they have not been produced yet. You remember Major Hodgins
spoke particularly about one matter of drainage that he wrote about in addition to

that report? I asked then to have these letters produced. I suppose you have not

had them looked up.

The Witness.—I think I wrote Mr. Lumsden telling him exactly what it was and
Mr. Mcintosh was very anxious that it should go through. I told him it was past me
and if the engineer would approve, of course, I would approve.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. If the chief engineer would approve you would approve?—A. Yes.

Q. Do you remember having any talk with Engineer Miller about that inspection

in August?—A. I don't think he was there.

Q. You don't think he was there. Where do you mean ' there ' ?—A. In August.
His inspection in August or the inspection in July?

Q. No, in August. You did not make any inspection in July. It was only after

Grant's report starting you up that you began to inspect ?

Mr. Hodgins.—That is not the fact.

Mr. Murphy.—That is the fact.

The Witness.—That is the only time it became necessary to inspect.

Mr. Lennox.—In consequence of having discovered wrong transferences in the
estimates.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. This discovery that members of the committee have been si}eaking about.
Major Hodgins, was made by you in September, was it not?—A. Which discovery?
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Q. This transference as it is termed?—A. Why, it is apparent on the July estimate

because it had that statement from Mr.

Q. Yes, but your dealing with it took place in September?—A. It took place, I

struck it out of the August estimate.

Q. You had approved of "t in August?—A. Passed it in the July estimate.

Q. Yes, in August?—A. Yes.

Q. And then you disapproved in September?—A. Well, put it this way; I passed

it in the -July estimate.

Q. In August ?—A. In the month of August, as soon as I returned from Ottawa

—

Q. Yes ?—A. I got up just in time to sign them, and when the August estimates

came round I struck it out in September. It was probably the 2nd or 3rd of September.

As soon as it came in I had seen it.

Q. You also had disputes with Mcintosh before that?—A. On the work. I said

I would not let that sort of thing go.

Q. Do you know what disposal has been made of that matter which you and ho

disputed about?—A. This?

Q. This classification?—A. No.

Q. Do you know it has been referred and adjudicated on?—A. No.

Q. You don't know anything about that. Well, we will get that from somebody
else. You remember meeting your successor, Mr. Poulin, at Kenora several times after

your resignation, don't you?—A. Yes.

Q. Before leaving that question of the work on Mcintosh's division, you asked

Mcintosh to sign a statement against Grant, did you not?—A. No.

Q. Well, that request was made to Mcintosh for you, was it not?—A. To sign a

statement against Grant ?

Q. Yes, about Grant's report?—A. No. The chief engineer had asked me to get

answers to questions on certain charges.

Q. Who framed the questions?—A. I framed them.

Q. Exactly?—A. And he framed some of them.

Q. You framed most of them?—A. Exactly. Grant wrote most of the report.

Q. And you did the framing of the questions?—A. You bet.

Q. Exactly?—A. Who would I ask to do the framing? Grant?

Q. I am not in the witness "box, I cannot tell you. I am not a framer. You sent

this statement out for Mcintosh's signature, did you not, and Mcintosh refused?—A.
No, he did not.

Q. Well, did he sign it?—A. No. I read the questions to him, and he answered
them and I wrote them down.

Q. Yes?—A. And coming away from his house he asked me if I would not give
it back to him.

Q. Yes?—A. I forget now whether he signed it or not.

Q. Well did he sign it?—A. No, I read the questions to him and he answered
them and I wrote them down.

Q. Yes?—A. And coming away from his liouse he asked me if I would not give
it back to him.

Q. Yes?—A. I forget now whether he signed it or not.

Q. You were his supt>rior at that time?—A. He asked if he might take it back
and re-write it. He had a good many confidential talks witli "^rv. Grant and he did
not want to put in anything that was unnecessary.

Q. And just at that time there was a question
Mr. HoDGiNS.—Oct tlie history of the document.
A. He said ho wonld send me the document, but he never did : the other engineers

sent them.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. He never did, and the other engineers sent (liom. Yon have no fault to find

Major Hodgins.
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with the other engineers, but Mcintosh is the one bad man ?—A. I do not say he is the

one bad man.

Q. But he is one?—A. No, Mcintosh is all right.

Q. I am glad to hear you say that, and the commissioners will be glad?—A. I

know Mcintosh pretty well, he worked for me for three years, and there is no trouble

between Mcintosh and me. I say Mcintosh was being influenced by Mr. Grant.

Q. How do you.reconcile that with your criticism of what he was doing?—A. He
was mistaken.

Q. Certainly he was mistaken?—A. He was my subordinate, but he was mistaken

and not only that, but he was my friend.

Q. And there was the question of promotion with which you had something to do ?

—A. Yes, I had recommended him.

Q. And did not this matter of promotion come up in regard to this statement that

you wanted him to sign?—A. No.

Q. I am told that it did ?—A. The only question that would "interfere between

Mcintosh and myself in that question of promotion would be the action he had taken

in regard to that classification. Up to the time Mr. Grant was there I approved of

Mr. Mcintosh's classification, as far as I knew of it ; he did not require any instructions

from me, and when I recommended his appointment as assistant district engineer I

made it on the assurance that he would be a good man for that position.

Q. Just at that particular time wasn't there a little friction between you and

Mcintosh ?—A. Not very much.

Q. Not very much you say ?—A. Yes.

Q. But was there any friction? Your relations were a little strained?

—

A. No,

they were all right.

Q. In any event, this promotion of his did come up for discussion at the time you
wanted him to sign that statement?—A. I do not remember whether it did or not.

Mcintosh knows this, that if he classified the way I wanted him to classify, the way I

interpreted the specification, and the way the other engineers interpreted the specifi-

cation, it would be satisfactory. «
Q. While you were there, did you ever issue any instructions

Mr. Lennox.—Let the witness finish.

A. That was the only thing that stood between Mcintosh and his promotion.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Did you ever issue any written interpretations of the specifications to your
engineers?—A. Any written interpretation?

Q. Yes, did you ever send them anything in writing giving them your interpre-

tation of the specifications?—A. I do not remember.

Q. Did you, as a matter of fact?—A. I did not.

Q. You never did?—A. No.

Q. Did you ever give your engineers instructions to classify according to the

Quebec classifications ?—A. No.
^ If you did not, who could have done that?—A. Mr. Grant.

Q. Do you assert thit Mr. Grant did that?—A. I never heard him.

Q. Then you cannot assert it?—A. No.

The Committee adjourned.

Wednesday^ June 3, 1908.

The committee met at 11 o'clock, a.m.

The cross-examination of Major Hodgins continued.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. In your examjnation-in-chief, major, and again in your cross-examination,
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you stated that you adhered to the stat-ements contained in your letter to the Colonist

of April 16. Is that correct?—A. Yes.

Q. And I understood you to say that you did not adhere to the interview with
you that was published in the Colonist of April 18 or 19 ?—A. No.

Q. As I recall your evidence you also said that the only person whom you met or

knew in connection with that paper was the reporter who interviewed you ?—A. That
was at the time of the interview.

Q. Up to the time of the interview?—A. Up to the time of the interview.

Q. But you later on, after that interview, became acquainted with some other

member of the staff?—A. Yes.

Q. Who was that?—A. I forget what his name was. I think it was the editor.

Q. The editor of the Colonistl—K. Yes.

Q. Did you have an interview with him on the subject of the interview with you
that had been published in his paper ?—A. No, except to tell him that the reporter had

made a great many mistakes and used his own wording. As I said before, the re-

porter interviewed me and put down a few items that I said and then he wrote, I

should think, about two columns.

Q. Yes?—A. Putting it

Q. That is after the manner of reporters, I presume?—A. Well, I spoke to him
afterwards and said he made a great many mistakes and mis-quoted me and put in his

own opinions., and I was not responsible for them.

Q. To whom did you tell that?—A. The reporter, Moore.

Q. To Eeporter Moore?—A. Yes.

Q. Well, is it not a fact that you saw the interview before it appeared in print?

—A. No, I did not.

Q. Well, you had the paper with you, or the reporter who interviewed you had
the paper with him when he interviewed you later on about the previous interview?

—

A. No.

Q. Did he not?—A. No.

Q. Well, I am informed that you had an interview about the correctness of the

statements attributed to you, and that you objected to only one of them?—A. I ob-

jected to the whole interview.

Q. You objected to the whole interview?—A. Yes. In the first place, I have
forgotten exactly the wording of the first paragraph. I said, ' I have nothing to do

with it,' and he admitted that I had not.

Q. You are speaking now of the reporter?—A. Yes.

Q. Well, who fixed up that first paragraph?—A. I don't know.

Q. Did he say?—A. He did not say.

Q. What does this first paragraph contain?—A. I don't remember just now. You
can look it up in the paper.

Q. You don't remember at the moment?—A. No.
Mr. Macdonald.—I saw a statement in the Victoria Colonist of May 26 regarding

this matter. Has your attention been called to that?

Mr. Murphy.—Yes.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. What were the items you admitted in the interview, major?—A. I don't think

I would admit any items there excepting—I have not got the interview here. I

cannot remember the interview just now. Will you give it to me?
Q. You cannot remember the interview at present. Well, my attention has been

called to an article in the Colonic of May 26 dealing with the evidence that you gave

here disclaiming responsibility for that interview and this article asserts that you had
an opportunity of correcting any mis-statements that were in the editorial, or in this

interview rather ?—A. I would like to see that.

Q. And that you objected to only one ?—A. No, I objootod to the whole inter-

Major Hodgins.
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view. They corrected it. The main thing that they corrected the following day I

think was a mis-statement in regard to yards which were given as feet or something,

or other of that kind. I forget how the wording of that interview was. It was with

reference to the McArthur letter, I think.

Q. Weil, it is of importance to know, major, how much or how little of this inter-

view you are now prepared to stand by, because it affects the cross-examination ?—A.

I am not prepared to be responsible for the interview at all. As I say, if a reporter

interviews you and takes down half a dozen sentences, and his notes certainly were
not that long (illustrating by a gesture) and writes up two columns you cannot hold

me responsible for it. Part of the interview, I might tell you,- the reporter was trying

to find out what an engineer has to do, what he does this, that and the other—in

fact I was giving him more or less of a lecture on engineering. There was a whole
lot of questions he was working up and he got hopelessly mixed up in the thing.

Q. From your answers this morning you would not like to be responsible for other

articles that are written nearer home ?—A. No.

Q. On the same subject ?—A. No.

Q. I direct your attention to an editorial appearing in the Victoria Daily Colonist

^of Tuesday, May 26, which I think it is only fair to you that I should read. It is

headed as follows, and reads—I may say that I do not intend to put this editorial in

—as follows (reads) :

—

'a misrepresentation.

^ We find the following in the Manitoba Free Press :
—

' Major Hodgins said he stood by the charges made in his letter to the Victoria

Colonist, but not by the interview in that paper. The reporter had taken down some
notes on a small piece of paper and extended them to two columns.

' This must surely be a case of misrepresentation, for Major Hodgins would hardly

repudiate the interview published in the Colonist. There were two interviews and the

second was given after the first was published. After he had given his first interview

Major Hodgins directed the attention of the Colonist reporter to the following passage,

which formed a part of it :

—

^ Over large stretches of construction the money thus 'fraudulently paid will

amount to millions, and if Major Hodgins' classification were correct, the railway

commissioners already contemplate paying the contractor in question, J. D. McArthur,

$4,000,000 more than he is entitled to on 250 miles of road, and how much more he

will actually receive should the monthly estimates of the work done exceed the pre-

sent revised estimates of the eventual cost and the present management remain
unchanged, cannot even be guessed at. The possibilities are unlimited, and it must be

remembered that some 1,800 miles of road is being built in the same generous fashion.

I made the estimate in the usual way before the contract was called for, allowing

everywhere a most liberal margin so as to be on the safe side. Everything that I was
uncertain about I put in as solid rock. I took no chances of being under the mark,

and made my estimates generously. These estimates amounted to $13,000,000. After-

wards, owing to a few changes in the way of shortening certain sections of the line, the

figures were reduced to below $12,000,000. Now comes the announcement, startling to

those who do not know what is going on, that the estimates have been increased to

$16,000,000. As the change in location cheapened the line, and only affected small

portions of it, all this large increase comes from classifying as solid rock what I

classified as loose rock, or as loose rock what I considered common excavation. And
I repeat that I was as generous in my estimates as I honestly could be, but every

engineer knows that there is a Vuie between generosity and fraud in such matters. I

do not care to cross it.

On this statement appearing in the Colonist, Major Hodgins took exception to it

as being not quite what he meant to say, and in the second interview he made the

following explanation :

—
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Speaking of the Latuque cutting, whicli by typographical error 150,000 cubic feet,

instead of cubic yards, of material was stated to have been taken, the Major said that

he had been slightly misunderstood. That cutting consisted of loose rock mixed up in

sand and earth, and it was because many of the loose rocks consisted of large boulders

that he had said that possibly a classification of 40 per cent solid rock might be allowed.

He also stated that he does not wish to be quoted as stating as a fact that the increased

estimates announced by J. D. McArthur are due to increased classification, as he has

not had the opportunity of seeing those estimates. But he has shown that the increase

was not due to change in location, as those changes reduced the cost of the road by over

a million. As he was asked to resign because he refused to permit what he considered

excessive classification, and immediately thereafter the estimates are announced to

have been increased, he now asks:

—

' Does all this large increase come from increased classification ?

'

And unless and until the increase is explained by an inquiry all unbiassed persons

who know Major Hodgins and have heard his story will believe that it does.

On the day after this interview Major Hodgins saw the reporter and expressed his

entire satisfaction with what had been, published. The fact that he only made one

correction of what was stated in his first interview, and none of any part of the second

interview shows that he was correctly reported. After the publication of the second

interview, Major Hodgins called upon the editor of the Colonist and discussed the

subject-matter of his interviews, producing some letters in corroboration of his state-

ments. He was questioned at some length regarding the interviews, but did not in any
respect whatever express disapproval of what he had been represented as saying, but

on the contrary, left the impression that the case had been very moderately stated.

Under these circumstances, we feel that the Ottawa correspondent of the Free Press

has not correctly reported what Major Hodgins said in regard to the interviews. The
Colonist wishes to have it distinctly understood that what Major Hodgins was repre-

sented in its columns as saying was either said by him exactly as reported, or was, after <•

publication, accepted by him without a word of qualification, except as above stated.

We were exceedingly careful not to go a step further, either in our news columns or

editorial columns, than the specific statements of Major Hodgins warranted, and for

this reason, we repeat that the Free Press must have been misinformed. We cannot

think it possible that Major Hodgins would repudiate at Ottawa statements made by
him and published in this paper.'

I would ask you now. Major, what have you to say with regard to the statements

of the newspaper concerning your attitude towards this interview the day after it was
published?—A. Just what I said before.

Mr. Hodgins.—What statement?

Mr. Murphy.—The statement that he found no fault in it except in this one

particular.

Mr. Barker.—Give it specifically.

Mr. MuRPiTY.—I will let the Major make his own statement.

The Witness.—I did find fault with it and I don't think I should be responsible

for the conclusions and words of other men.
Mr. Carvell.—That is a fair answer.

The Witness.—Unless a reporter takes down your statements in shorthand he can

put all sorts of things into an interview.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. It is mentioned here that on the day you called upon the editor you produced
some letters in corroboration of your statements. Wliat letters were those?—A. Notes
about the classification.

Q. Your notes about the classification. Do yon nionn the notes that Heaman

Major nonr,i\s:.
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had given you ?—A. Those notes I took down from Heaman and also the notes on that

work that Mcintosh changed.

Q. The editorial refers to letters?—A. Some of my own letters.

Q. Your own letters. What letters were those?—A. I cannot remember just now.

They referred to the quantities that had been changed.

Q. To whom were they written?—A. I think some were copies of letters to Mr.
Lumsden.

Q. Some that you showed the editor were copies of letters that you had written

to Mr. Lumsden ?—=-A. I think so.

Q. Did you not have the letters to Mr. Heaman with you- that day?—A. Possibly.

Q. Well, it is only a short time ago, Major, surely you can recall whether you
had or had not ? It is less than two months ?—A. I possibly had.

Q. Now had you shown those letters of Mr. Heaman to any other person prior

to these articles in the ' Colonist ' ?—A. I don't think I showed them. There was a

lot of private correspondence in those letters. I may have read one or two extracts

or something of that kind.

Q. To whom did you read the contracts?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I submit, Mr. Chairman, that is of no consequence. He may have

read them to a thousand people. You have ruled that he is bound to give the contents

of them and he has stated the contents as far as he could. The fact that he showed

them to A, B, or C is surely not a matter to be inquired into?

Mr. Murphy.—There is an issue now as between the Major and the newspaper.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—^My learned friend is bound to accept the Major's statement. He
has read an editorial which he proposes not to put in and having done that he is

bound to accept the witness' answer that it is not a correct statement.

Mr. Maodonald.—I think the editorial is in. Having been read, it forms a part

of the record.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—My learned friend said he was not going to put it in. Had he not

done so I should have objected. He has no right to put in a statement, and which

goes upon the record, which he does not propose to prove. I don't think he can put in

the article and he is bound to accept the witness' answer.

Mr. Maodonald.—I think that the article having been read by Mr. Murphy and

a question having been put in relation to it, it is now on the Minutes.

The Chairman.—What is your question, Mr. Murphy?
Mr. Murphy.—The point is this: It is of very great importance, as the com-

mittee will see, to ascertain exactly what Major Hodgins does adhere to with regard

to the statements made in this newspaper, the Colonist, and it was because of the

issue that has arisen between the Major and the Colonist with regard to the correct-

ness of the second article that I addressed my question to ham.

The Chairman.—What is your question? You asked him to what persons he
showed his letters, did you not?

Mr. Murphy.—I was asking about the letters he had shown the editor of the

Colonist, and then I asked him to what persons he may have read extracts.

The Chairman.—Don't you think it is a little too general to ask to what persons

he may have read extracts? Don't you think you ought to specify any persons in

particular to whom he may have read extracts?

Mr. Carvell.—Is it not a dangerous precedent to ask this witness such a ques-

tion? Supposing you ask to whom he showed letters or extracts, the next thing

would be, ' What did you read ?' And then people would be brought from British

Columbia to say whether the 'witness was telling the truth or not.

Mr. Barker.—It has nothing to do with this inquiry.

Mr. Maodonald.—I think your question as to whom he showed the letters is not

permissible, but it is important that we should find out clearly, seeing that an issue

has been raised between this newspaper in which the original article appeared and
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Major Hodgins, just what the Major stands by. I think that is the only point of

importance.

Mr. Murphy.—That is what I have been asking.

Mr. Hodgins. Mr. Murphy said that he did not intend to put the editorial in,

and I think, therefore, it should not go on the record.

Mr. Murphy.—I had not the newspaper at the time I said that.

Mr. Hodgins.—I think it would be very unfair to put in an editorial as evidence

to show the Major is mistaken. The only fair way, if it is intended to contradict

him, is to call the party who has written it.

Mr. Carvell.—I think Mr. Murphy has treated the witness very fairly. He has

read the whole of the editorial and asked him whether it was true or not.

Mr. Hodgins.—I quite agree with that, but it was prefaced by a statement from
Mr. Murphy that be did not propose to put the editorial in or use it as evidence.

Mr. Murphy.—I don't think I said that.

Mr. Hodgins.—I don't think you said that, but that was the effect of' it.

Mr. Macdonald.—Having read the editorial to the witness and put a question

upon it forms part of the record.

Mr. Hodgins.—I did not object at the time because Mr. Murphy said, ' I am not

putting it in.'

Mr. Murphy.—I read the editorial and followed it up by a question.

The Chairman.—I think the editorial must form part of the record and be taken

into the evidicnce when it has been read.

Mr. Hodgins. I think my learned friend has got an advantage, then, that he
sho-ifid not have got. I presume it will be taken down that I objected to this going
in as evidence, and that my objection shall be noted? I was not aware that news-
papers ever admitted in print that they were ^rong, and I suppose that this one does

not.

The Witness.—I might say that the reporter during the interview asked me a

whole lot of things. I have forgotten exactly what questions he asked me, but he
said ' Is this so and that so.' I said, ' It is impossible for me to know. You must
not put down anything in this interview that I have not said.' When I saw the

interview I saw the thing was so hopelessly mixed up there was no possible way of

explaining it. I asked him to make a correction, and he made a correction which is

almost as bad as the other. Then I stopped.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Are you now speaking of the correction in the editorial which I have read

this morning?—A. The wording of it, the whole thing. It was not my words nor my
thoughts.

Q. So as not to delay proceedings at this stage I would ask you at the first recess

to read the interview as published in the ' Colonist,' it is here among the papers, so

that I can ask you when we meet again after the adjournment, what part of this you
do admit or what part of it you repudiate?—A. Principally the wording of the whole
thing.

Q. In your examination in chief, and also in your cross-examination, you stated,

as you have told us this morning, that the only person with whom you had any inter-

course, that is the only person connected with the paper with whom you had inter-

course was the reporter; by that I understand you to mean to say he was the only

person you knew prior to the publication of the editorial?—A. That is it.

Q. You have admitted that you afterwards met the editor; well now, you have
heard this editorial read, it is taken from the ' Colonist ' of the 26th of May, do you
admit, or what have you to say, about the statements in it, are they correct or not?

Mr. Hodgins objected to somebody reading a newspaper editorial and witness

being asked if he agreed with it.

Major Hodgins.

5—17
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The Chairman.—He has already said he does not agree, he has made that answer
before.

Mr. Barker.—You might almost take any newspaper in the country and ask the

same question.

Mr. Maodonald.—That is not the point, Major Hodgins went to this newspaper
for the purpose of making certain charges

Mr. Barker.—Is that correct?

Mr. Macdonald.—Certainly, he wrote a letter to the newspaper and followed it

up with an interview with the newspaper.

Witness.—They came and interviewed me.

Mr. Macdonald.—He wasn't interviewed against his will."

Mr. Barker.—Is it accurately stated?

Mr. Macdonald.—These newspaper fellows may be pretty bad, but they have not

yet discovered a way by which they can make a man say what he does not want to

say. The facts seem to be that having gone to this newspaper to start a discussion

on this question, and it was because of these newspaper articles that this inquiry

was brought about ; those articles and this interview were referred to us, among other

things, to investigate. When that newspaper makes a definite statement in regard to

^ what was said or what was not said, I think the committee would be taking a peculiar

course if they did not want to know what Mr. Hodgins had to say about it.

Mr. Hodgins.—Surely you will not ask us to answer for all that the newspapers

have said about it? I take the issue that that is not something that can be read to

the committee at all, it is not yet proved that this was ever published out there.

Mr. Barker.—Is this the editorial of the 26th of May?
Mr. Hodgins.—^Yes, and it has never been proved that it was published.

Mr. Barker,—This looks as if the newspaperman was trying to argue that he is

right and the other man wrong.

Mr. Murphy.—I want to find out what took place on the day that the interview

took place, the day he saw them; I want to find out whether the newspaperman's or

Major Hodgins' version is correct.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. When you went and saw the editor and had this discussion with him about

the article that had appeared previously in his paper?—A. Yes.

Q. The editor states in this editorial of the 26th of May that you objected to only

one particular?—A. I objected to the whole thing.

Q. That is what I want to know, you object to the whole thing. Very well; you
stated. Major, that certain changes that you made in the line reduced the cost

from your original estimate of $13,000,000 to about $11,660,000 ?—A. Yes.

Q. Did those changes and the reductions of which you speak reduce the total

amount of Mr. McArthur's contract that is, his total plans?—A. Yes, his contract

was $13,000,000, and these changes and alterations reduced it down to eleven million

six hundred and odd thousand dollars.

Q. That is by some method of calculation employed by you?—A. By the method
of calculation employed by the Transcontinental Railway. They told me just what
to do; I had the values or the totals for each item and we made these calculations in

the district office; they were sent to the Chief Engineer's office and they were checked

there, and they were given to the Grand Trunk Pacific.

Q. And who got out the quantities in the first place?—A. Sometimes the quan-

tities would be taken out by the engineers who ran the line and sometimes they would
not, but they would all be checked over in the district office by various men.

By Mr. Carvell :

Q. Permit me to ask you one question at this stage—Who would be responsible

for the classification of that estimate, the district office or the men on the line?—A.
The men on the line; they would put on their profile of a rock cutting, ^probable
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rock'; they used originally to put ^rock/ but the Chief Engineer gave orders that

they were to put ' probable rock ' or ' probable earth/ as the case may be ; all these

details came in from the men on the line.

Mr. Barker.—Mr. Chairman, are these papers here? We should have them?
Mr. Murphy.—They are all here.

A. These changes will be on the plans; as soon as a change is made it is sent to

the district office by the engineer who runs the line, and the plans are gone over in

the district office; they are signed by the engineer who makes them and by the district

engineer; then they are sent down to the Chief Engineer, and before the change or

alteration is adopted, it has to be formally sanctioned by the Chief Engineer.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. You are telling us what is done in practice all right, but what I asked you.

Major, was, Who got out the quantities affecting this reduction in cost of the line?

—

A. They were taken out in the office; they were not taken out in the office, but
checked in the office.

Q. Do you know, as a matter of fact, whether they were or not?—A. Some of

the engineers would take out their quantities, I cannot say from memory which one
did it.

Q. Can you tell us from memory anything definite about it?—A. I would have
to look over the plan; there are 250 miles, and various lines were run.

O. You have told us before that you could not indicate any particular part of the
line on which that saving was effected?—A. Well, there are so many changes and
alterations; some were suggested and we found out they would not accept them, and
we would take the original line; it is a pretty hard thing to go over 250 miles and
remember all the different changes that were made or suggested. All this data is

over in the Chief Engineer's office, and the actual plans upon which that 11,660,000
total is based can be produced from the Chief Engineer's office.

Q. I am not asking you as to the data, but rather as to the individuals who were
responsible for the quantities?—. They would be taken out by one man and checked
by another; sometimes it would be by a draftsman and sometimes Mr. Heaman and
sometimes Mr. Ruddock. They were taken out not from the cross sections, but from
the profiles.

Q. My question and your answers have reference to what you call your revised
estimate I understand ?—A. Quantities of every item, prairie or anything else.

Q. The original estimate that you made, who took the quantities out with regard
to that ?—A. The original estimate of $13,000,000 ?

Q. Yes, on which tenders were asked ?—A. That was taken out first of all in the
chief engineer's office. When that was taken out I did not know the McArthur prices,

*

I had put in an estimate on my own prices before that, and those prices were very, very
near McArthur's

; when they got the tenders in they reduced all those quantities, the
detailed quantities to McArthur's prices, and to the prices of the other contractors as
far as I know.

Q. But the quantities would be the same in both ?—A. The quantities would be
the same in both.

Q. That is what I am asking you, not in reference to the prices.

By Mr. Oarvell :

Q. I understood you to ask who was responsible for the quantities on which the
$13,000,000 estimate was based and I do not thinly we have an answer to that yet ?—A.
The $13,000,000 estimate ?

Q. In the $13,000,00 estimate. I presume that was nuuic on quantities furnished
him ?—A. That was taken out in the chief engineer's office, ho got the various tenders
when they came in.

AfAJOR IIODGINS.

5—I7i
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Q. But where would the chief engineer's office get the data upon which to figure

it out ?—A. From the plans that I sent down and the data I sent down. I took an
estimate out of the line and put my own prices. I got various prices from people in

the district and sometimes from the contractors ; that was in the chief engineer's

office before tenders were asked for. Then tenders were advertised and they got in

the prices. McArthur's happened to be the lowest, and on that data they worked out

the estimate in the chief engineer's office.

Q. But from the data you sent down previously?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. Where did you get that data that you had previously sent down ?—A. From
the plans.

Q. From the plans in your office ?—A. In my office ; we worked it out in great

detail, every item of this can be produced, they are enormous sheets, it was a very

close estimate.

Mr. Barker.—I think, for the information of the committee, and to enable us to

follow this when these matters are being discussed in this way, the plans should be

put in evidence so that we can inspect them.

Mr. Murphy.—I will do that, we are just going over the evidence now on this one

point.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. In your examination in chief, Major, you said in answer to my learned friend,

that if the wasting which was referred to in one of the letters, forming Exhibit 2a

was done deliberately and against the engineer's order, it should not be paid for ;

do you remember expressing that opinion ?—A. Yes.

Q. You did not mean that that had actually occurred on the McArthur contract ?

—A. Well, wasting, you cannot say anything has been wasted until afterwards. If

rock has been blown out—the engineer gives general orders that no waste shall be

allowed, occasionally occasions occur where waste could not be avoided.

Q. Well, then, as I understand you A. If you come to a conclusion, after

seeing waste on the side of the right of way or on the right of way—the engineer has

to decide then whether it has been delivered or unavoidable.

Q. I understand you now, you are just laying down a general principle?—A. A
general principle. ^

Q. That should be applied in any work?—A. Yes.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Are you intending by that to show that he is now suggesting that

it has not occurred on McArthur's work ?

Mr. Murphy.—I asked him whether in his reference to the waste that he meant
it had actually occurred on the McArthur contract ?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I do not think you made it at all clear to him that you had refer-

ence to McArthur's contract; you laid it down as a general principle.

The Witness.—It is a question I did not quite understand. The question as you
put it was with reference to wasting against the engineer's orders, and I explained

that all deliberate waste could be put down as against the engineer's orders.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. I am asking you if your statement in your examination in chief had reference

to any instance of that kind on McArthur's contract?—A. There are several instances

of what I would call deliberate waste.

Q. But had your answer reference to any of these when you gave it to my learned

friend ?—A. I presume it had.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Would you mind reading it to him ? Where do you find it. ?

Mr. Murphy.—Exhibit 2 (a).

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. At page 110 of your evidence you were asked :
I
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'What do you mean by wasting? Is that literally throwing on one side?—A,
Yes. Blasting out rock and borrowing to make up the embankment.

* Q. Is that more expensive ^—A. Yes, you pay for two yards and only get one
if a cut is wasted in order to get it done quickly. You certainlj^ pay them, for it, and
if it is done deliberately against the engineer's orders they should not be paid for it,

but it has to be proved to be a deliberate waste.'

That is what you said,, and I am asking you if that had reference to any parti-

cular instance on the McArthur work?—A. Well, there are several places that I

remember where I saw waste, and I think I said that in some cases the engineers had
not deducted it but warned the contractor that if there was a repetition of that they

would condemn it. Of course if it was eventually found that that amount of material

had been required to make up embankments a borrow^ of some kind would have to be

made, but that cannot be told until the work is finished.

Mr. Barker.—It will be better, I think, if the witness will say, in a few words,

what is meant by ' waste ' and ' borrow,' because lots of people do not understand it.

The Witness.—I am not in a position to say now with regard to the evidence of

waste that I saw, that the material was eventually" required, or has been required in

embankments ; that can only be ascertained by referring to the quantities.

Mr. Carvell.—Mr. Barker's suggestion is, I think, a very good one,, that you
should state now, major, -©^hat you mean by ' waste ' and ' borrow,' and you may also

go further and state the conditions under which you say there might be wasting.

Mr. Macdonald.—Just so that we will know what it means.

The Witness.—In all cases a cutting is supposed, the grade in a cutting i§

supposed to be adjusted in such a manner that the amount that comes out of the

cutting will make the neighbouring fill. Until that fill is made you do not know, and
in the case of rock cuts,—there are so many cubic yards of rock in place in the cut,

and when that is blasted it is broken up and fills a much larger space than when in

place. For the purposes of calculation just now, we will take it that a yard of rock

in the cutting will be equal to a yard and a half of rock in the embankment ; in some
cases it goes more; if the boulders come out in large or small pieces, it varies in that

proportion, so that it is more or less a guess to say that a yard of rock in place makes
a yard and a half in the bank, still we have to make some basis of calculation.

Mr. Macdonald.—Just describe the use of waste.

The Witness.—Some engineers think that a yard of rock in the cut makes two

yards in the bank. Whatever figure it is, we take a yard and a half on the Trans-

continental, and our calculation is based on that. If the contractor blasts away a

large number of yards out of the cutting it is natural to suppose that that bank would
be minus that number of yards-

Mr. HoDGiNS.—That fill?

The Witness.—That fill would lack that amount of rock, on the supposition that

the cut is to make a certain fill.

By Mr. Carvell: .

Q. And if there is a shortage you have to get your material elsewhere, and you
call that 'borrowing'?—A. That is borrowing. Then it is a questioii what class of

material is best to borrow. If you have a rock bank with a great many voids in it

—

the cheapest borrow would be earth, but if you try to put earth on n bank where there

are many voids, into a rock bank, you wull keep on pouriug in earth and it will go

into the voids between the rock and settle, and the first rain that comes will wash it

all away; so you have to borrow rock, or you should borrow rock to make up a rock

bank. Of course it is a question that has to be settled by the engineer on the ground
as to what is the nearest and best borrow.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Then when you visited on the work you saw the eoutraotor was blasting and

Major Hopgiks.
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the rock was going over the side of the bank?—A. Away off of the right of way, 200

or 300 feet.

Q. And not being used, and if it were found later on that that rock was actually

required to fill up the neighbouring fill you would call that wasting ?—A. Well, you call

it wasting anyway, because you do not like to see a large amount of rock thrown away
before you know whether it is necessary or not. If there is an excess of material in

the cutting it should be used to widen the bank. In some cases on the McArthur
contract I have seen large masses of rock away in the timber, clear of everything, away
of! the right of way.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. How wide is the right of way?—A. Fifty feet on each side of the centre.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. That would be the result of blasting, I suppose?—A. The result of heavy blast-

ing, so that at any time you do not like to see wasting. The contractors like to put a

heavy charge in and get rid of the rock as soon as possible, because they do not have

to handle it again.

^ Q. That occurs everywhere, doesn't it?—A. They will always do it if they can.

By the 0hairman:

Q. I think you have answered that question before in your examination in chief?

—A. I think so.

Q. On page 110 of the evidence, you were asked

:

' Q. What do you mean by wasting? Is that literally throwing on one side?—A.

Yes. Blasting out rock and borrowing to make up the embankment.
' Q. Is that more expensive?—A. Yes, you pay for two yards and only get one if

a cut is wasted in order to get it done quickly.'

By Mr. Barker:

Q. Wasting does not apply to rock alone?—A. No, sir.

Q. Any excavation that can be used in a bank is wasted if it is not used?—A.

Yes, but it is easier to waste rock deliberately than the other.

Q. In two or three words tell us what is 'borrow' ?—A. Borrow? Well, as I

said before, the quantities in the cut are supposed to-make up the fill, that is when you
are so located—or at least you try to make your cuts equal your fills

; supposing a cut

does not equal a fill, we use the term ' borrow,' we have to borrow from somewhere
else that which does not come out of the cut.

Q. It means earth or stone that does not come out of the excavation ?—A. It is all

excavated, but it does not come out of the cut adjoining the fill, or you may widen the

cut in order to obtain the material. Another term which is given to ' borrow ' is on

prairie work, where you make your fill from ditches on either side, some people call

that borrow ; I suppose that is to distinguish it from the material you take out of the

cut. I think—is there a specification here? There is a reference to waste in the

specification which I think will explain it very easily, it is made by the chief engineer.

Mr. Macdonald.—Never mind, it was only an explanation of the terms for our

own information that we wanted, I do not see that we need take up time by going into

the technical definition of that.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. The committee are satisfied with the definition you have given. Major?—A.
All right.

Q. In answer to my learned friend you said that some time in July, 1907, you
thought you had asked once or twice for another assistant district engineer?—A. Tii

June.
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^Q. About June, 1907, you thought you had asked once or twice for another

assistant district engineer?—A. I did ask.

Q. When did you ask?—A. 1 think I applied to Mr. Lumsden or Mr. Young.

Q. Was that by letter or verbally?—A. I do not remember—by letter, I fancy.

Q. You are not clear whether it was by letter or verbally?—A. By letter.

Q. You think it was by letter?—A. I think so. ,

Q. To whom, now?—A. To Mr. Lumsden.

Q. What action was taken in regard to that?—A. I do not think any action was

taken. Mr. Young told me—I think I recommended Mr. Mcintosh, and Mr. Young
told me, he and Mr. Lumsden came down to settle up some question of overbreak with

the contractor,* and I think he told me that Mcintosh did not want to accept it; he

wanted to stay out on his division.

Q. Who told you that?—A. Mr. Young, and Mcintosh afterwards told me the

same thing; he said he hadn't had enough experience, and he wanted to stay out on

his division and get experience in this heavy work.

Q. You stated, as a reason for making that request that tne work at the time

was more than you could handle?—A. Yes, it was pretty heavy.

Q. Did the subsequent appointment of an inspecting engineer have anything to

do with your request?—A. It could not relieve the work in my office.

Q. No, it could not relieve the work in your office. Now you have told us every-

thing was going on right until about July, 1907, when the Grand Trunk Pacific

inspector began to object to classification, and that you agreed with him, do you
remember that?—A. Yes.

Q. Who was the inspector?—A. Mr. Mann.
Q. And what was the objection he then made?—A. I am trying to remember.

Q. Was it in writing?—A. I do not think he wrote, I would not be certain, but a

reference to the records would show it if there is any letter.

Q. You did not mention in your examination in chief that he wrote, and that is

why I am asking you. I want to know what the objections were, have you any recol-

lection of them?—A. I remember that he did object to classification.

Q. What did he say?—A. That it was high, that the classification on the first

three divisions we agreed was fair.

Q. You and Mr. Mann agreed that the classification was fair on the first three

divisions?—A. Yes.

Q. What about the others?—A. He spoke about high classification on the other

two divisions—you see this was in July you are referring to.

Q. Yes, I think it was in July, 1907—June or July?—A. July I think. I was
in Kenora very little in June.

Q. What you say was reported at page 111 of the evidence, (reads) :
' Everything

was going all right until I think the month of July, 1907, then the Grand Trunk
inspector on the line began to object to the classification. I agreed with him.'—A. Yes.

Q. And upon what point did you agree with him?—A. There was a case, in one
case, where an engineer had put in some—I forget how many yards—as excavation
and cofferdams

—

Q. Who was the engineer?—A. It was in Richan's division, I have forgotten the

resident engineer's name, but it was on Kichan's division.

Q. You have forgotten the name of the resident engineer?—A. I would not be

certain as to the name, but an item appeared of ' excavation and cofferdams ' on
Richan's division, and I knew perfectly well there had been no cofferdam,—nt $3.00
per yard, I think it was, in the estimate, and I looked up the prolilc and saw that a

creek diversion was there and this creek divei*sion was through a swamp. He could
not possibly put in a cofferdam—put in the cofferdam required. I called Richan and
asked him what it meant a?id he said ho did not know. I asked him if there was a

i^rAJOR HODGIXS.
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cofferdam there and he said he did not know. I asked him ' what did you allow this

in the estimates for ' ? and I made him cut it out.

Q. How did you return it then?—A. I have forgotten. I told Kichan to take his

estimates away and change it. He had brought them in.

Q. Was that changed into excavation and foundation?—A. Possibly. I don't

know.

Q. Do you remember?—A. I don't remember. The estimate would show whatever

it was changed in. I told Kichan to make it right. There were one or two other

places. I have forgotten exactly what the conversation was.

Q. In your evidence you say ' Mann objected to the classification and I agreed

with him.' I want to know upon what point or points there was an agreement between
you and Mr. Mann?—A. Well, I remember—that would be in August. There

were one or two points I cannot just remember exactly.

Q. You cannot remember ?—A. He had been out over the line and was fresh from
there, and told me he objected to some classifications and

Q. You discussed them and then agreed with him?—A. Yes.

Q. And you had been out over the line?—A. I was to go out over the line and
look at it. There were one or two points that I knew about, and so did Mann.

Q. Well, this discussion took place in your office?—A. Yes.

Q. And you agreed with him without having yourself been over the line?—A.

Ah, agreed with him in what we both knew, and I said I would go out over the line

and look it over.

Q. Your evidence gives the impression that whatever the objections were you
agreed they were well founded, although you had not been out over the line?—A. I

had been over the line.

Q. But you had not been inspecting these parts that he objected to?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—How do you know that ?

A. I had been over Mcintosh's.

Q. Do any of these objections apply to Mcintosh's?—A. Yes.

Q. Why did you not tell me that when I asked you what these points were?—A.

It is pretty hard to remember these estimates.

Mr. Barker.—I think we are not going to get satisfactory evidence without the

estimates. The estimates ought to be here and placed in the hands of the witness, so

that he could speak definitely with regard to theni^ We are taking the witness over

200 odd miles of road without the papers. It is not fair to the committee or to the

witness.

Mr. Murphy.—I submit that is not what is being done at the present time. I am
taking up the evidence given by the witness to his counsel, and when he gave an

answer that he agreed with certain objections I want to know what they were. He
must have known what the objections were or he could not say ' I agreed with them.'

The Witness.—I will put it in this way : I agreed with him insofar as I had any

personal knowledge of the line.

Q. All right?—A. Certainly, when I did go over the line a second time I certainly

did agree with him.

Mr. Barker.—Why not have the estimates produced?

The Witness.—It would help me very much if I had Mr. Mann here, or was able

to discuss the thing with Mr. Heaman to refresh my memory on these details.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. But at the present time you could not give us a specific instance?—A. No.

Q. Even, if you had these plans and profiles?—A. Then I might.

Mr. Carvell.—The witness can ask if he (wants to see the plans.

Mr. Barker.—^He has a right to see the plans.

The Chairman.—If he wants them he can ask for them.

Mr. Barker.—The progress estimates should be in the possession of the com-

mittee.
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Mr. Murphy.—They have been produced and are in possession of the committee.

Estimates produced by the clerk.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. Do you remember a letter. Exhibit 'No. 3, being put in, during your examina-
tion-in-chief, from Mr. Young to you dated June 4th ?—A. No, I don't remember
that.

Q. Look at Exhibit No. 3 and see if you remember the filing of that letter (hand-

ing letter to witness) ?—A. I don't remember the filing of it. I presume it went in.

Q. You remember that letter filed as Exhibit 3 ?—A. I don't remember the filing

of it. I presume it went in.

Q. That letter, I am informed, was written in reply to a letter received by Mr.
Young from you which I now ask you to identify (handing letter to witness). Was
that the letter you now hold in your hand written by you ?—A. That is my letter,

yes.

Q. I will put in this letter as Exhibit 32, but first of ad I will read it for the

information of the committee. It is marked personal and dated 1st May, but that is

obviously a mistake. The correct date was 1st June ?—A. Yes, possibly.

Q. (Eeads) :—

EXHIBIT No. 32.

May 1.

(Personal.)

The Commissioners of the Trans-Continental Eailway.

Dear Mr. Young :

—

Mann has returned with the report that the position of assistant chief engineer

in addition to MacPherson had been offered to Doucet and Hoare who both declined

and that Doucet's assistant had been given the position without the title.

Since the ' Eree Press ' published the report about the appointment kind friends

or otherwise have been busy guessing why western men are so far. behind that the

Commissioners think it advisable to put on an inspector^—to see that they live up to

contract and specifications. Some say the commission are not satisfied with the

engineering ability on District ' F,' and others say that contractors are not satisfied.

When I am asked I say I know nothing as I have not heard from Ottawa re the

appointment.

Mann also brought a report which he got from Morse that engineers on Mc-
Arthur's contract were classifying sand that ran ofi a shovel as loose rock. Rumours
of this kind are dangerous and no one should pass them on unless they can get parti-

lars that warrant an investigation.

Morse might (if he had been experienced enough) have said to the person who
told him that sand was not handled in winter. I hold it is a reflection on Mann, not

on the commissioner's engineers.

I have no use for rumors of this kind unless particulars are given, but would
very much like to know where Morse got his information from.

Mann is shortly going over the work to look into the classification. I am not

able to say if he should be accompanied by the inspecting engineer as I do not know
what instructions the latter will get.

If the position of assistant engineer is still vacant I wonld like to get n chance to

accept.

Yours very truly,

A. E. TIODGTNR.

Now it was in reply to that letter of yours that ^[r. Young's letter. Exhibit 3,

was sent?—A. Yes.

^Iajor Hodgins.
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Q. I will just read that letter because I want to ask some questions on it.

Exhibit No. 3, appearing ^t page 111 of the evidence.

You sent a reply to that letter of June 4th, dated. 6th June, 1907, which is the

letter I now show you to be identified (handing letter to witness) ?—A. Yes.

Q. (Eeads):

EXHIBIT No. 33.

The Commissioners op the Transcontinental Eailway.

6th June, 1907.

Dear Mr. Young
Many thanks for your letter of the 4th June. It puts things in an entirely new

light from what Mann reported.

In reply to your suggestion about going over the work with Mann. This is some-

thing that I particularly wish to avoid as I don't want to have Mann around when
discussing matters pertaining to the work with Division Engineers or Kesident Engin-
eers. I have nothing I wish to hide from Mann but he can make a good deal of trou-

ble if he quotes ' specifications ' too much.
I can't see much to be gained in consulting with any others than my Division

Engineers—too many cooks, &c.

Will you be up in Winnipeg on the 10th? You ought to stay long enough to

see the Horse Show and the Japanese Chief who will be there about the 15th.

Yours very truly,

A. E. HODGINS.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Does it go on to say whether he stayed long enough?
The Witness.—I think it was that Japanese Prince with the funny name that

went through. Was he not there at the Horse Show? I could not spell his name so

I called him a Chief.

Q. Now going back to the letter from Mr. Young to you, of June 4th, I observe

that he tells you that the commission had first tried to engage Mr. Barclay whom he
refers to as a high class and high priced man and suggests that you know him. So
that some time before Grant went up to Kenora to go over your work you had infor-

mation in your possession showing that the Commissioners had tried to engage Mr.

Barclay? Is that not correct?—A. Yes.

Q. And nothing had been said by Mr. Young in this letter, or by any person, to

you, that Mr. Barclay was to be employed to look after classification?—A. No.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Do you know Mr. Barclay, Major?—A. Yes, he was on the C. P. P. some years

ago when I was on. He was one of the senior engineers. I think he is in charge of

Eoley Bros, work or was in charge.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. Mr. Young's letter of June, Exhibit 3, makes it clear to you that the board

could not secure Mr. Barclay and they engaged Mr. Grant, is not that correct?—A.

Yes.

Q. Now knowing these facts, Major, why did you allege that Grant was appointed

to look after classification?—A. Because he spoke of classification to me and spoke of

classification to a lot of my Pesident and Division Engineers, supported by some of

their statements, and he told me that he had charge of the classification down in

Quebec when he was assistant engineer for Mr. Doucet.

Q. Oh, but you had made complaints of that kind, had you not, before you had

seen Grant, that Grant had been appointed to look after classification?—A. Who did

I make complaint to? I don't remember.

Q. I am asking you?—A. I don't remember.

Q. You don't remember that?—A. No. I believe now when I come to think of
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it; there was something in the ' Free Press/ when the announcement of Grant's

appointment was published in the ' Free Press ' in Ottawa. I won't be certain about

that.

Q. You won't be certain about that?—A. Something about his appointment.

Q. But do you say now that your reason for making the statement that he was

appointed to look after classification was merely from what Mr. Grant himself had

said to you?—A. I don't think the question of classification—of Mr. Grant and the

classification came up until I had been down in Quebec or he came up on the work.

Q. Yes, but prior to that you had received this letter of June 4th from Mr.

Young?—A. Yes.

Q. And you have admitted that from its contents, as you disclose in your reply,

there was no intention of engaging Mr. Barclay simply to look after classification?

—

A. I don't remember what is in those letters, I have forgotten.

Q. The letters that I read to you a few moments ago and that are now on file?

—

A. Show them to me and I will answer the question.

Q. The letter from Mr. Young to you. Exhibit 3, shows that the commission tried

to engage Mr. Barclay and when they could not get him they secured Mr. Grant. In
that letter there is nothing said about classification. Then you reply and say that

Mr. Young's letter puts the matter in an entirely new light and I want to know why,
after all that, you allege that Grant was appointed to look after classification?—A.

He certainly interested himself in classification up in my district.

Q. Well now was that your only reason for making that statement?—A. The only

reason I can think of.

Q. The only reason you can think of?—A. I put down Mcintosh's change in

classification to Grant's suggestion.

Q. I am not asking you that, major, it is going back to the reason for Grant's

appointment. You were not told that by any person?—A. Told he was appointed to

—

Q. To look after classification?—A. Yes, there was some conversation about that

on the boat coming down.

Q. With whom?—A. I think it was with Mr. Young.

Q. With Mr. Young?—^A. He said that they wanted—every engineer would be
putting in his idea of classification.

Q. Yes?—A. And the commissioners wanted a uniform system of classification.

Q. Yes?—A. Therefore they were going to have one man go over the line and
report to them.

Q. Are you sure that Mr. Young said that?—A. Yes, I am pretty certain.

Q. Will you swear that Mr. Young said that to you on the boat going down to

Quebec?—A. Either on the boat going down to Quebec or in some conversation I had
with Mr. Young on the boat.

Q. You will swear that he made that statement regarding Mr. Grant?—A. Yes,

to the best of my belief.

Q. And you would have the same opinion about the reasons for the appointment
of an inspecting engineer if Mr. Barclay had been appointed and if he had consented

to accept the appointment?—A. I presume so.

Q. You presume you would ?—A. That would have been the principal duty of au
inspecting engineer, to adjust classificE^tion. Everythiug else on the line was more or

less uniform.

Q. And that is all you can say now about your reasons for making tlint state-

ment?—A. Yes.

Q. Now at page 112 of the evidence, referring to Grant's appointment you say:

" If you will allow me the use of a western expression, ^ you can search me.'

"

And then it goes on: * Q. That is you cannot give us any reason'?—A. 'Unless he
was to be a secord or assistant chief eugineer. There is an assistant chief engineer

Major Hodgixs.
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and he came out to the work once or twice. Still I believe he was told to stay in the

office.' Do you remember giving that evidence?—A. Yes.

Q. Then it goes on :'by Mr. Murphy. Q. You do not know that?—A. Yes, I

know that.' I want to ascertain what you know about the assistant chief engineer

being told to stay in the office?—A. My answer to you when I gave that evidence was
hearsay.

Q. Do you know anything more about it now?—A. No.

Q. Can you. speaking from your own knowledge, state whether the assistant chief

engineer was ever told to stay in his office^—A. I can't say that he was told or any-

thing about it.

Q. You are referring to Mr. Macpherson, are you not ?—A. Yes, but I had heard

he was to be kept in the office.

Q. From whom did you hear that?—A. I cannot remember, there is a lot of

gossip goes around and one hears it.

Q. So that your personal knowledge on the subject, if it can be called that, is

still hearsay?—A. Still hearsay.

Q. If Mr. Macpherson denies that he was told any such thing you are not in a

position to contradict him?—A. No.

Q. A little later on in some evidence you stated it was only when you found
what you considered excessive classification was creeping in that you found you had
neglected the outside for the office work and you admitted you would have liked to

have spent more time outside?—A. I think anybody would admit that.

Q. You remember that evidence, major?—A. Yes.

Q. Why didn't you spend more time outside?—A. I had more work to do inside.

Q. Nobody prevented you going out?—^A. No.

Q. Then you say you had no complaints from McArthur up to June, 1907, but

merely interviews with him?—A. Now about these complaints of McArthur, he has

complained to me at several times about the work, and I have tried to fasten where it

was, but I could not: some times he would say, 'Everything is going on alL right,'

and when I would see him again he would complain; his complaints were very

irregular, he was erratic and I could never get him down to anything definite.

Q. Now, in answer to your counsel you said (reads) :

' I could not get McArthur to get down to a specified case until shortly before I

left^ and then he mentioned a certain contract, Prefontaine's, I think, in which he
said that the engineer had not paid him enough, and I immediately said I would put
in an engineer to remeasure it. He said that the classification was too low generally.

I asked him if he could state any particular point and he said, no. I asked him for

another contractor who had complained and he named a man named Walsh, I think,

and I immediately sent out word to the divisional engineer and I think I sent out

the assistant engineer to adjust it.

Q. Are these the only two specific complaints from McArthur?—A. The only two

I can remember.'

A. If there were any specific complaints these should be on file in the office at

Kenora, but I cannot remember any.

Q. Speaking of your stafi you said that you could not, with such a staff as you
had, and no one else would believe that they were underestimating or undermeasur-

ing?—A. No.

Q. In that event why did you, in this statement to the papers, indicate that they

had been overestimating?—A. I will tell you, Mr. Murphy, it is a pretty hard thing

for you to believe that, and it was pretty hard for me when I saw it—when you have

had men working for you for three years and you have absolute confidence in them;,

and then they change around, it is a pretty hard thing to realize that.

Q. That is what I understand your answer to be, and I am asking you, in view

of the tribute you paid your stafi, why did you assert in the newspapers that they
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had been overclassifying ?—A. Because that was the last thing I found out before I

left.

Q. You did change your opinion of them, then?—A. All I said was of Mcintosh,

and I think he was influenced more by Mr. Grant than by myself, that is the only

opinion I have.

Q. So we have got back to Grant again, but Grant was not one of the staff at

the time you speak of here?—A. No, but he had been over my work.

Q. How, when you in your examination in chief asserted that no one would
believe that these engineers were underestimating or overmeasuring, did you come to

make such a sweeping statement as you made in the Colonist involving the honesty

of these men?
Mr. HoDGiNS.—What statement do you refer to?

Mr. Murphy.—Overclassification of the work, increasing the cost by $3,000,000.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Is that statement in the Colonists

Mr. Murphy.—There is another statement in the Colonist reflecting upon the

engineers.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Are we to understand that you do not take that position in regard to the

honesty or dishonesty of the men?—A. I certainly do not, and since I have come
down here and read some of the reports that are in that cupboard there, giving legal

opinions on this question, these opinions I had never seen or heard of before; when
I wrote that letter I had heard there was some dispute about the wording of the

specification, but I had no knowledge of any legal opinions on it—since I have read

those legal opinions I have considerably modified

Q. Modified your views?—A. My views.

Q. As to the integrity of the engineers in making their classification?—A. Now,
I think I haven't accused the engineers of doing wrong.

Q. Eh?—A. I do not accuse the engineers of doing wrong; I say they were guided

by a man I did not

Q. That is Mr. Grant ?—A. Mr. Grant, and I think it was done to help McArthur,
McArthur was in a precarious position when I left—^

—

Q. Done by Grant, you mean it was done by him ?—A. Yes, he was the one. The
engineer that came up and relieved me at the end of the month, the 25th or there-

abouts, Mr. Foss, spoke of that. I told him there was a considerable amount of over-

elassification on the district and he said he did not want to hear anything from me,

he wanted to keep an open mind, and we went on discussing the situation and he said

that something must be done to help McArthur, the contractor, that if the contract

was taken away from him it would probably cost the country $2,000,000 and delay the

work, that the chief engineer wouldn't do it, therefore somebody else must do it, and

that some engineer must take hold of it with a strong hand even if he goes down and

out, and give McArthur some relief.

Q. He advised that to stop the work meant a loss to the country?—A. Yes. I

said : You are a fool to make a hero of yourself in that way
;
you ought to have your

orders in writing.

Q. Was it Mr. Foss said that?—A. Yes; that this classification wa« being given

"Oo t\\e contractor to help him out and in order to save the situation out thorev

Whether it was right or whether it was wrong that it must be done. I thought it was
the wrong way. I wanted Mr. Lumsden to give me some authority, and from what I

would gatlier from conversation with Mr. Lumsden, he wanted some authority to p^ive

an increase in price, but as far as I read the specifications anei the contract. Mr.
Lumsden lias very large authority, and he could have given me authority to do some-

thing. 1 think, if you read the specifications, you would say that he could have given

an increase of prices.

Major Hodgins.
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By Mr. Murphy: *

Q. You are speaking of the conversation you had with Mr. Foss?—A. Yes.
Q. And the classification ito which you /'refer ^vas the classification by force

account?—A. Well, if you increase the classification to help a man out you have to
have some data to go on.

Q. I am just asking you?—A. It would be based on it. Now, force account can
be used in many ways.

Q. We had better not get into that for a moment?—A. Force account and classi-

fication could only be used by an experienced engineer. A young engineer has no
right to touch force account when classifying; he has no judgment; it would lead
him to all sorts of things ; he would classify one cut too high and another cut too low.

Q. Well, that does not exactly coincide with the statement in one of your letters,

that the classification should always be done by the resident engineer outside?—A.
The classification?

Q. Classification, but not when force account is the basis?—A. Not by force

account, no. When I suggested force account to the engineer and to the engineers

who were present at Willet's camp, if I remember aright—here is a ' copy of Willet's

letter—I said, I will only give that to the more experienced men.
Q. To what are you now referring?—A. I am referring to the letter I wrote to

Willet

Q. Who is Willet?—A. The resident engineer on the Winnipeg river—to get his

statement regarding the interview I had—the conversation that took place at the time

I gave this order for force account. I think it has been produced. It goes on to say

—

Q. What is the date of that letter ?—A. It is of August 8 and 9, 1907 :—
^ After interview with Messrs. Sutton and Tye, Major ITodgins stated that he was

inclined to treat the classification of mixed cuts from a business rather than a purely

engineering point of view, and instructed me to ascertain cost of such cuts on my
residency, and if the ordinary classification showed a loss to the contractor compared
with this cost to classify high enough to cover excesses where possible. Care, how-

ever, to be exercised doing this; for instance, not to allow any solid rock in cuts

where no such material actually existed. Major Hodgins also said that he did not

intend giving such instructions to all resident engineers, but only to the older and
more experienced men holding that position.'

There were some engineers I had on the line aTt that time who were experienced

men and v/ho had previously had charge of construction, but there were others who
were not experienced.

Q. That was not what I was referring to, but it was with reference to the con-

versation with Mr. Foss, when Mr. Foss went up there to replace you. I asked you

to tell us what classification you had beer: (..ii;- uning more particularly to Mr. Foss?

—A. Tie would not listen, and said ho did not want to hear anything from me, but

that he wanted to have an open mind.

Q. How long did Mr. Foss remain there?—A. I do not remember. I went west,

and when I came back he had gone.

Q. Well, how long after Mr. Foss came there was it before you went west?—A. I

had to wait. I think it was the first of October before I got the accounts cleaned up
in the office. ^

Q. About the 1st of October?—A.Yes; there was a man named Saults came up
from the auditor's office with Mr. Foss, or a day or two afterwards. I think he went

to Winnipeg and came back again. He was going over the receipts of the office, and

I think it was about the 1st of October when he signed the receipts.

By the Chairman:

Q. Will you just make clear to me, I do not catch exactly your testimony—did

you say that McArthur was in a very bad shape about this contract, and that some-

thing was to be done for him?—A. That is what I understood, sir. Mr. McArthur
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had told me—of course, lie did not telb'me he was in bad shape—but he told me he

wanted as high estimates as possible.

Q. Did I understand you^ ta say that something must be done, -ov that if McArthur
had failed it would have been a loss to the country?—A. That was Mr. Foss's idea;

that was what Mr. Foss said.

Q. What was your own suggestion to remedy that state of affairs, that you should

proceed by force account?—A. No, to classify high enough.

Q. That is by force account?—A. There was no mention of force account, but

to classify high enough, I think those were the words used.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. The Chairman is asking what you suggested. You are giving Mr. McArthur's
statement?—A. Oh, I did not suggest anything to Mr. Foss, but I have suggested as

one way out of it, to increase where the contractors were disputing the classification

only, because they were losing, to give 10 per cent.

By Mr. Carvell:

Q. Wherein would the loss to the country be if McArthur was unable to carry

out the contract?—A. I do not know, sir, that is Mr. Foss's argument. At another

time, I do not know whether I suggested it to Mr. Lumsden or not, I had suggested

an increase in the prices, I know I did suggest it to Mr. McArthur.

By the Chairman:

Q. You realized that something must be done, and you made that suggestion?

—

A. I knew that McArthur was going behind from, what he told^me, that his sub owed
him—^he told me $800,000 at one time, and later on his engineer told me it was
$1,200,000—that was money he paid to his sub. and I said, ' Why do you not apply

for increased prices? Since you have the contract wages have gone up from 17^ cents

to 25 cents and this work must be pushed, it cannot dawdle, it has got to be hurried

up to complete the link between the Prairie section and the Thunder Bay section.'

and he said, that if they had a good increase in prices he would be able to raise the

wages and in that way would be able to get more men, and I understood that he was
going to see the commissioners about it. At another time I suggested, I do not know
whether it was to Mr. Lumsden or to the men on the work, it was discussed a great

deal among the men on the work, that a very good way would be to put in a fourth

price for other material; the contract was 30 cents for earth, 60 cents for loose rock

and $1.70 for solid rock; the difference between 60 cents and $1.70 material was very

large, there was too much difference, and I suggested that there should be a 90 cents

or $1.00 material between the two. These are the ways I suggested but I was informed
that all these things would have to have the sanction of the commission, and they said

the sanction of parliament.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. What would your intermediate material at 90 cents be?—A. Well, we would
have had to have the specifications for loose rock re-written. You are not an engineer,

but every engineer who reads that specification for loose rock will toll you that that

plow test is a terrible test to put on.

Q. So that in order to have brought your suggestion as to an intermediate mater-
ial at 90 cents into effect the specifications would have to be rewritten?—A. That
plow test ought to be left out.

Q. That is your idea?—A. Yes.

Q. It is too high for common excavation, is that wliat you mean?—A. It says
that material that cannot be plowed by a ten incli plow beh'nul six liorscs properly
handled.

Q. If it can be plowed it will bo common excavation?—A. Yes. You know if

Major Hodgins.
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the plow test is to be the test, you put a teamster on with six horses on any ordinary

plowed land and he can break his harness if he wants to, or he can plow if he wants
, to, and it is a pretty hard thing for an engineer to say that a team has not been driven

properly. It is unreliable, you cannot go on it, the engineer who doesn't know how
to plow, who never has been behind a plow, has to say whether this material was
* material that can be plowed. ' Now another thing is that muskeg or swamp land is

more or less common excavation, but you cannot plow that. Then take scattered ma-
terial, stripping on cuts, that is coming down the side of a hill, you cannot plow down
the side of a hill, but you could if you were on level ground, you could plow through

it easily. Of course the contractors always take advantage' of that sort of thing,

and they say, that can't be plowed, and we ought to get loose rock for it.

'

By Mr. Garvell:

Q. According to your ideas, classification is entirely a question of judgment?

—

A. Absolutely.

By Mr. Macdonald :

Q. This test that you speak of is the one that is prescribed in the original speci-

fication—that is the plow test?—A. Yes.

Q. You think it is neither reliable nor fair?—A. You can see from the way I

have been trying to describe it, you can see the point I am trying to make. There

are some cases where you couldn't plow sand, and the specification says that if a

10 inch plow with six horses properly handled—if the material cannot be plowed that

way it should be loose rock.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Then if you were working in mud?—A. You cannot plow mud.
Q. Would you return that as loose rock?—A. That is a question of judgment.

That is one of the arguments I had with Mcintosh when they were looking at some
cuttings on the Waubigoon Biver. It was raining, it could have been plowed if it

had been fine, but the work had to go on and they could not plow it because the

horses slipped ail over the place.

Q. And what return would you make in a case of that kind?—A. There is the

question, you would be returning loose rock for the cutting one day and the next

week, the weather was beautiful and fine, and you would be returning it as common
excavation.

Q. What would you have done in a case of that kind ?—A. I was trying to find

out, to get the information that would enable me to come to some conclusion with

regard to all these clay cuttings, as to what would be fair and just classification for

them.

Q. That was with Mcintosh ?—A. Yes.

Q. Was that the time you told Mcintosh you didn't care to have anything to do
with the clay ?—A. I never told him that.

Q. I am informed you did.—A. I did not. I was out on the work with Mcintosh
and I found that be had classified a very large amount of material in the cutting.

Q. Is not that the time you told him you did not want to have anything to do
with a clay classification yourself ?—A. I never told Mcintosh that. I wanted to

find out from Mcintosh, to get some data from him that I could go on in fijxing a

fair classification on loose rock in these cuttings. Mcintosh could not give it to me.
He had given certain classification in one cut, and a different classification in

another, and a different in still another, as far as I can remember. We had dis-

cussed this thing up on the cuttings one day and I told him I intended going over
the work and in reference to this clay cutting that we went over I wanted to come
to some determination that would be fair to all parties, as to the allowance of loose
rock in these clay cuts, because we had a very very wet season. But at the same
time I told Mcintosh—if you remember that in prairie work, it was not the sam.e
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kind of clay, it was the ordinary Manitoba black mud they have up there—that on
prairie work if you began to classify at all in loose rock McArthur would be able to

put in a claim for loose rock on all of his prairie work.

Q. Did you issue any instructions in regard to that ?—A. No.
Q. So that was an open question ?—A. I wanted to get some details from

Mcintosh as to the cost of the work on every section, the cost it was to the contrac-

tors on wet days and the cost on dry days, so as to get some average; I iwanted to get

some data that I could place before Mr. Lumsden and say, I have come to a certain

conclusion and recommend this.

Q. In any event no instructions were issued by you ?—A. No.

Q. Were these details furnished that you asked for ?—A. No.

Q. Why ?—A. I did not get them from Mcintosh, I wanted them, he had a

large amount of detail.

Q. Did you ask for them in writing ?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you ask Mcintosh in writing for these details ?—A. No, I explained it

to him on the works. As I remember it was on Sunday, there were no men working,

and I wanted to go on the next day; we walked out on these clay cuttings, and this

discussion I had with Mcintosh, I wanted to be able to allow something.

Q. You did not get these details in any event you say?—A. No.

Q. Now, leaving this plow test and this classification of clay of which you have

been speaking and getting back to the interview with Mr. Foss at Kenora—Mr. Eoss

went up there to take your place temporarily until your successor Mr. Poulin arrived,

didn't he ?—A. He said he came up there as acting district engineer, and he was to

find out, and if he liked the position, or something of that kind, had been promised

to him, and he would be district engineer.

Q. As a matter of fact Mr. Foss remained there only four days, didn't he ?—A.

No, longer than that.

Q. How much longer ?—A. Well, he was there three or four days before I got

transferred, I do not remember.

Q. That is before you went away on your first trip ?—A. Yes, Mr. Foss must
have been there a couple of weeks or more.

Q. Yes, but I am talking about the time that you could possibly have had this

interview that you allege took place with Mr. Foss. That was only, as I am instructed,

within the space of four days within the time of his arrival and your going away on

your first trip?—A. Oh dear no, I was there longer than that.

Q. You went away, you know, you told us, before, for a month, and came back ?

—A. Yes.

Q. And when you came back you found Mr. Poulin there ?—A. Yes, I think

possibly there was more than four days.

Q. In any event then Mr. Foss was there such a short time he had very little to

do with the work ?—A. Yes, he came up too late to go over the work, I think it was
about the 20th or something like that.

Q. So that this ' classifying with a strong hand,' as you allege, or whatever the

phrase was that he used, could not have been put into force by Mr. Foss on account

of the short time he was there?—A. I do not know, I do not know what he did

while I was away—I am not responsible.

Q. Now you have told us about having met difficulties which you experienced

in getting Mr. McArthur to specify complaints and going out on the -work ?—A. Yes.

Q. You met him once out on the Winnipeg river ?—A. Yes.

Q. Was that the time you wore making inspection of the work ?—A. What
inspection.

Q. Was that the time you wimv out uiakiug iuspoction on a steamboat I—A. I

never nuidc an inspection on a steamboat.

Major TTodgins.
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Q. When was it you met Mr. McArthur—you say you were up on the Winnipeg
river ?—A. Yes, we went over a piece of work, it was in the early part of the con-

tract; there wasn't very much work done—clearing I think was going on.

Q. As a matter of fact were you not out inspecting when you met him ?—A. I

expect so, I was going over the work.

Q. On that occasion did you go into any of these complaints that he had been

making?—A. No, there was none then; I probably was asking him to put more men
on the clearing.

Q. Do you- remember what you were doing on this occasion on which you told

your counsel you had met McArthur once on the Winnipeg river?—A. Yes, that was

in the early part of the contract; Dutton I think had just finished building his

ramps when McArthur came up. We went over the country up to Dutton's camp
together, or whether I met him at Willet's camp I do not remember.

Q, Did you, on that occasion, investigate any complaints McArthur had been

making?—A. I do not know that there had been any complaints on that occasion.

Q. What do you call an inspection trip?—A. What do you call an inspection

trip? Every time I go out on this work I may call it an inspection. The trouble

with this investigation is that I am an engineer and I have to explain my work to a

lot of lawyers. Every time you go out on the work an engineer is supposed to make
an inspection. If he sees anything wrong he attends to it. I can only say I am
trying to put it as plainly as possible.

Q. You told the committee that you had asked McArthur to specify complaints

he was making and you would go out and investigate, and you told us of the difficulty

you had to get him to do that, and then you told us how you met him once on the

Winnipeg river. I want to know what you were doing there.—A. I do not know
whether there were any complaints then. I remember meeting McArthur once on

the works; I had endeavoured to get him to make an appointment with me to go
over the work.

Q. As a matter of fact you did not investigate any of these complaints because

this trip you speak of was not to investigate the complaints?—^A. There was, as; a

matter of fact an investigation pending when I left.

Q. You are not referring to the inspector you sent out to subcontractor Walsh?
I am talking about your own investigation?—A. My dear sir, when a complaint is

made about measurements to me you do not suppose I go out with a tape and measure
it ; I have men to do that. If I am told to run a line I have men to do that. I fam

not a transit man, or a section man or a resident engineer, I was the district engineer.

I do not do any detail work.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. I suppose that you are aware, with regard to the contract for construction of

the Transcontinental line, that any disputes about classification are ultimately to be

determined by a board of arbitrators composed of engineers ?—A. That is any disputes

between the chief engineer of the !Grand Trunk Pacific and the chief engineer of the

Transcontinental Eailway.

Q. ISTow, in that case these two gentlemen are members of the board; any dis-

putes that may arise at any time with regard to classification between the board and
the Grand Trunk Pacific are to be determined by a board which is made up of these

two engineers and a third party who is to be selected by them?—A. Yes.

Q. You understand that?—A. Yes.

Q. .1 suppose you would regard that as a far better tribunal ?—A. I know Mr.
Lumsden and Mr. Wood are up on the work now and they are the proper parties to

settle a dispute of that kind.

Q. You regard them as the proper persons to settle that?—A. Yes.
Mr. HoDGiNS.—That is not the proper tribunal to determine Major Hodgins^

charges, if you will allow me to say so, Mr. Macdonald.
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A. I am having the same amount of trouble in explaining my case to you lawyers

here as I had in explaining it to that reporter of the Colonist.

Committee rose.

Wednesday^ June 3, 1908.

3 o'clock p.m.

The committee resumed.

Cross-examination of Major Hodgins continued:

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. I would like to know what method you employed at your office in Kenora in

keeping the record of the office correspondence. Did you copy all letters into a book?

—A. All letters into a book, yes; and there was an extra copy from the typewriter

filed away.

Q. Were they written in ink or done on a typewriter?—A. They were nearly all

done on a typewriter, I think.

Q. Nearly all done on a typewriter?—A. All the official letters were done on a

typewriter.

Q. So that in the case of letters that were typewritten you would have a copy in

your letter-book and the carbon copy as well?—A. Yes, on the file.

Q. 'Now, in the case of letters written about commission business, but not written

to persons connected with the commission, would the same record be kept of them ?—

'

A. Written about the commissioners' business?

Q. If you were writing a letter about a matter relating to the commission, but to

some person not connected with the comm^ission, would you keep a copy or copies of

such letters in the same way as the official letters you have spoken of?—A. I don't

know what you mean.

Q. For instance, if you were writing to Mr. Lumsden or Mr. Macpherson here, I

understand that you would copy all letters sent to them in this letter-book that you
spoke of?—A, Yes.

Q. But if you were writing to some person, not connected with the commission,

about commission business, would you copy such letters as that into this book or into

those books?—A. I don't know that I ever wrote to anybody about commission busi-

ness.

Q. Well, in the course of your management up there you must have had occasion

to write to a good many people, I should take it, who are not connected with the com-
mission?^—A. All official letters were copied into the letter-book.

Q. That is whether they were written to officials of the commission or to persons

not connected with the commission?—A. Every one.

Q. They were all copied into the letter-book ?—A. Yes.

Q. Might it happen that a letter would be sent out that would not be so copied

into the letter-book?—A. I don't think so.

Q. You don't think so? You have not any case of the kind in mind?—A. No.

Q. I have seen among the productions before the committee some letters that on
iheir face appear not to have been copied, typewritten that did not show any of the

blur that water usually produces. That is one of the reasons why I wanted to ask

you if there were some letters sent out from your office that wore not oopiod into the

letter-book?—A. I cannot recall any.

Q. You cannot recall any?—A. No.

Q. Then I understand you to say that, as far as your memory serves you now, all

letters sent from your office on matters relating to business connected with the com-
mission, whether sent to officers of the commission or not. would bo copied in your
letter-book?—A. They had to be copied.

5—18i
Major Hoixjins.
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Q. Whether written by you or one of your assistants?—A. Exactly.

Q. During your term of office as district engineer of ' F ' .there was a purcha'se of

0 some land up there for the purpose of a gravel pit, was there not?—A. Which gravel
pit was that?

Q. Was there more than one?—A. Yes.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I object to that. What is the object of your question?

Mr. Murphy.—I am asking the Major about his correspondence and the method
of keeping it.

Mr. HoDGiNs'.—Now you are giving a particular instance.

Mr. Murphy.—I am giving a particular instance.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—What is it directed to ?

Mr. Murphy.—I do not think that at this stage I am obliged to disclose what it

is directed to. I will do so later on.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I will object to your next question then.

Mr. Barker.—It must relate to the inquiry.

Mr. Murphy.—It does relate to the inquiry. The inquiry, as I have understood

from statements made by my learned friend, Mr. Barker, several times, is not limited
^ to the charges made by Major Hodgins, nor to Major Hodgins' prosecution of this

charge, and that the committee have the widest liberty to go into all kinds of things.

Mr. Macdonald.—I don't agree with that proposition.

Mr. Murphy.—We might as well understand it now then.

Mrs. /(^ARKER.^—What I contended vfor was that we should go into everything

referred to us.

Mr. Macdonald.—It is a matter for the discretion of the committee.,

Mr. Murphy.—I see.

Mr. Macdonald.—What is the particular point?

Mr. Murphy.—I have asked Major Hodgins if, while he was district engineer,

there was a parcel of land purchased to be used as a gravel pit.

Mr. Hodgins.—Are you going into the purchase of a gravel pit? That is what I

want to know.

Mr. Murphy.^—I may have to.

Mr. Hodgins.—That is exactly the point I am making objection to.

Mr. Macdonald.—If your question relates to any evidence you propose to offer to

show that there was any lack of attention of duty on the part of Major Hodgins is

engineer I can see that it would be relevant.

Mr. Barker.—Does it relate to the contract at all?

Mr. Murphy.—Yes, sir. I purpose inquiring regarding the correspondence relat-

ing to the purchase of land for a gravel pit.

Mr. Carvell.—It seems to me that both counsel have the advantage of the com-
mittee. They seem to know what this has reference to and unfortunately we do not.

Mr. Murphy.—I am asking the witness to explain the method employed of keep-

ing the records of his correspondence. He has told us that and now I am asking about

the purchase of this gravel pit and I will ask him further, subject to the ruling of '^he

committee about the correspondence.

Mr, Carvell.—Does it in tlje end elucidate in any way the reasons for Major
Hodgins' dismissal or is it connected in any way with the classification, or are the

commissioners connected with it? It seems to me those are the three things we are

discussing or ought to discuss in this investigation.

Mr. Murphy.—If that rule had been applied from the beginning a great deal of

the evidence already given would have been excluded.

Mr. Oarvell.—I don't think that personally I can be charged with having departed

from that rule. I have adhered to it consistently from the beginning.

Mr. Murphy.—I am not making any charge against the committee. It is the

general latitude that has been allowed to counsel.

Mr. Bi^RKER.—We cannot go beyond the reference to us.
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The Chairman—That is the opinion of the committee, that we cannot go beyond

what has been referred to us by the House. If you can tell us that you are going to

put questions that are in any way pertinent to the inquiry probably the committee will

allow you to do so. But we cannot see by the questions you are putting just now

what you are leading up to.

Mr. Murphy.—You will recall, Mr. Chairman, that at one of the former sittings

the witness was asked by his counsel with reference to a conversation that took place

between him and a man named Dutton who was in no way connected with the com-

mission ?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—As to the state of the McArthur contract at that date, information

conveyed to him as an engineer requiring to make a certain plan or report.

Mr. Murphy.—That was only a part of the information. The witness proceeded

to tell what Dutton said about what Grant had told him and a number of other things

of that kind. When that evidence went in there was some objection made but it was

allowed.

The Chairman.—It was allowed. I know we have given a very wide latitude to

counsel throughout the investigation because we wanted as full inquiry as possible

but there must be some rule about it.

Mr. Murphy.—There seems to be a disposition now not to pursue the matter

relating to the correspondence about this gravel pit?

Mr. Barker.—Supposing Major Hodgins or Mr. Hodgins, K.C., desires to go into

something of a similar nature without regard to the commissioners, would the com-

mittee be asked to allow it?

Mr. Murphy.—I could not answer that until such a question came up. However^

I will not pursue the matter further at present but will reserve it for the decision of

the committee later on.

Q. You have told us, major, that while you were here in Ottawa preparing your
reply to Mr. Grant's report you had to wait two or three days before the board left ?

—

A. I think so. I think Mr. Parent and Mr. Young were in Quebec at the time.

Q. And that during that interval you had an interview with Mr. Reid in his office ?

—A. Yes.

Q. At which only he and you were present?—A. Yes.

Q. That is the occasion, as I understood, on which you said that Mr. Reid told

you when discussing your relations with the chief engineer that you should act oti

your own responsibility?—A. Yes.

Q. And that when you told him you could not do so he inquired why you did not

ignore the chief engineer?—A. Yes, more of a suggestion

Q. More of a suggestion than a direct inquiry. Now is it not a fact that that

interview between you and Mr. Reid was a general talk about the conditions on the
work arising from the filing of Grant's report?—A. It arose on account of Grant's
report.

Q. It arose on account of Grant's report? And did you not on that occasion
complain to Mr. Reid that you had not sufficient authority ?—A. Yes. I don't

know whether I complained to him. I stated that I had not.

Q. You said that you had not sufficient authority ?—A. I spoke about the chief
engineer not giving me authority to borrow rock in places where I knew it would be
necessary to borrow it.

Q. And in reply to this statement of yours did not Mr. Reid point out to you
that you had the same authority as the other district engineers ?—A. I don't think no
put it in that way. He made some reference to Doucet acting on his own responsi-
bility or authority in more or less everything.

Q. Do you remember his saying to you that he thought you did not use the
authority you undoubtedly had and that you referred too much to the head office?
Do you remember that?—A. No. But I certninly used nil \ho authority I had.

AT.AjoR Hodgins.
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Q. Well do you recall Mr. Keid saying that to you?—A. No, I do not.

Q. Well you will not deny it I suppose?—A. Not in those words.

Q. You will not deny that he may have said it to you or is your memory suffi-

ciently good to enable you to recall just what did take place ?—A. I should prefer
hearing Mr. Eeid's statement of the conversation before I would commit myself to

that.

Q. Before you would commit to an answer as to that?—^A. Yes.

Q. Do you remember Mr. Reid advising you to be sure of your ground in con-

nection with any matters that came up such as you and he were discussing and that

you ought to decide first and consult afterwards ?—A. No. •

.

Q. You don't remember anything of that kind being said?—A. No.

Q. Do you remember Mr. Keid telling you also that he thought the Chief, tliat

is the Chief Engineer, would prefer that you should do this?—A. No.

Q. And then Mr. Raid added that you would find that it would save you a lot of

correspondence?—A. No.

Q. Now you say what Mr. Reid said to you on that occasion with regard to the

Chief Engineer was a suggestion that you ought to ignore him ?—A. Yes. ' Why
don't you ignore the Chief Engineer?'

Q. Of course, you knew that under the Act and the contract that was utterly

impossible ?—A. Absolutely.

Q. It could not be done ?—A. Certainly not.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Why could it not be done?
Mr. Murphy.—Because of the legislation.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—:That did not prevent him from doing a thing.

Mr. Murphy.—It would in this particular case.

Mr. Macdonald.—What is the necessity of a discussion between counsel. Go on.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. You knew that Major?—A. I did.

Q. That it was an impossibility?—^A. I did.

Q. And did you think that Mr. Beid would suggest a thing to you that you knew
to be an impossibility?—A. He did suggest it.

Q. Mr. Beid must have known what the terms of the Act were and what the

position of the Chief Engineer was, as well as j^ou?—A. Well from reading subse-

quent correspondence he knew the chief a little better than I did.

Q. He may have known him a little better than you did. I am not talking about

his knowledge of the Chief, whether it was greater or lesser than yours, but would not

Mr. Beid know that what you described as being an impossibility was an impossi-

bility?—A. I should imagine so. But the conversation arose from my saying that

the Chief Engineer would not give me authority to do certain things that I wanted
without consulting him first.

Q. Yes?—A. Then that was his suggestion.

Q. I see. Well on that occasion when Mr. Beid made the statement, or as you
say now only the suggestion to you, did it convey to your mind that you should do

anything illegal?—A. No.

Q. And that you were not doing- ?—A. The question that I referred to him, or

spoke to him about, was the borrowing of rock.

Q. That you spoke to whom about?—A. Mr. Beid. That was the question that

we were discussing, that I had in my mind, because I think I had just come away from
seeing the Chief Engineer and he had refused to give certain authority in a general

way and I had to write to him all specific instances before he would give the author-

ity.

Q. And was that the occasion that you have told us about when Mr. Beid is

alleged by you to have said that you were too much of a military man and too loyal

to your chief?—A. Yes.

Q. Just about a month before that, or a little more th^n a month before that.
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when you were in Ottawa Mr. Lumsden had told you to go over the work with Grant
and you had refused, as you said, point blank?—A. Yes.

Q. No one paid you a compliment on that occasion about being too loyal to your
chief, I suppose?—A. It was Mr. Lumsden that I refused.

Q. Yes?—A. And he did not press it.

Q. Your loyalty then just extended to a point of the matter that suited yourself?

Is that not a fact?—A. He would have pressed—if he had wanted me to go he would
have pressed the point on me.

Q. And you say he did not?—A. No, he did not.

Q. He gave you that instruction and you declined to obey him?—A. Certainly.

Q. You have told us about another conversation which you also alleged to have

had with Mr. Eeid on the boat going down to Quebec. To use yoiir own language,

taken from the evidence, ' I was doing a considerable amount of picking about Grant's

appointment.' You remember saying that?—A. Yes.

Q. Then you said that Mr. Eeid stated that the appointment had been made and
would have to go?—A. Yes. The circumstances were these: When I got to Ottawa
I heard—I spoke to several other engineers and they spoke to me when I met them
there

Q. That is when you were going down to Quebec?—A. Yes, they criticised the

appointment.

Q. Yes ?—A. And they were sitting together. I think I did the talking.

Q. You were sitting together (where ?—A. On the boat.

Q. Yes, and there is where this alleged conversation took place ?—A. Yes.

Q. Were there anything else said by Mr. Eeid on that occasion ?—A. I don't

remember.

Q. Do you remember Mr. Eeid walking to this group and stating that Mr. Grant

had been appointed by the commission and that his appointment would stand, no

"matter what the rest of the engineers might say ?—A. I don't remember those

words.

Q. Well, words to that effect?—A. I don't think he walked up to the group as

you called it. He was sitting down and we were sitting down too on the deck of the

steamer.

Q. He was one of the group, was he?—A. Yes.

Q. Do you remember his walking away when he used those words ?—A. No.

Q. Well, do you remember any other conversation you had with Mr. Eeid par-

ticularly on the boat ?—A.No, I don't.

Q. Then I think you stated that it was the same occasion on which Mr. Young
said that the Quebec classification was to be taken as the standard ?—A. It was on

that trip,

Q. Was it not on the boat ?—A. I won't say whether it was on the boat or where

it was but it was certainly on that trip.

Q. Who was present when Mr. Young made that statement?—A. I don't know.

Q. You don't know whether anybody heard this but yourself ?—A. No.

Q. If Mr. Young denies having made that statement what have you to say?
—^A. He certainly said it.

Q. You will maintain that he said it ?—A. Yes.

By the CJiairman :

Q. But you don't remember where and when the statement was made ?—A. It

was on that trip.

Q. But you cannot remembor where it was or on what occasion ?—A. No, I do

not recall the

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. Then speaking of your visit to the work at La Tuque and to the cutting that

Major Hoixuns.
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you saw there you say that you asked the engineers about the quality of the work
and they told you that they classified it as 85 or 86 per cent ?—A. Yes.

Q. Where did that conversation take place ?—A. That was at the first cutting

we passed.

Q. At the first cutting as you passed?—A. Yes. It was this—I described it as a

tunnel cutting.

Q. I see ?—A. We got out of the carriage and walked up into one face of it and
then we walked over the cut and went to the other face.

Q. And was this the first cut that you met?—A. It was the first cut we met on
the return trip that we ca:me close up to, that we got out at!

Q. That you got out at ?—A. The first cut that several of us got out at.

Q. On the return trip ?—A. Going down to this camp where the contractors

gave us luncheon.

Q. Who was present when Mr. Doucet made this statement ?—A. I do not remem-
ber, there were some of his engineers present, and Mr. Armstrong was there.

Q. Mr. Armstrong was not one of his engineers was he?—A. No, but I think

Mr. Huestis was there. I do not know but he asked one of his engineers who was
there—I do not know whether he gave me the information direct or whether he got it*

from one of his engineers.

Q. You do not know whether he gave it to you direct or whether you got it from
one of his engineers?—^A. I asked the question, but whether he answered direct or

asked one of his engineers I do not remember.

Q. I see. You did not tell us that before, that he asked one of his engineers?

—

A. I do not think it has anything to do with it.

Q. It is very important whether a man makes a statement himself or gets the

information from some one else and imparts it, it is a very different thing because

Mr. DouQet denies that he ever made any such statement. I would like you to recall

a little more distinctly what happened?—A. If he said that?

Q. Now, first of all, did he say it?—A. He did say it.

Q. Now, you have just told u& that you do not know whether he did say it or

whether he turned around to one of his engineers—now, which was the case? Now,
don't misinterpret what I said, he answered me.

Q. Mr. Doucet was the man who answered you?—^A. He was the man that an-

swered, he was the man I asked.

Q. But you do not know whether he was making the statement from his own
knowledge or whether he got it from one of his engineers?—A. Mr. Davis, the con-

tractor, was there and was looking at the cut and he said, ' Well, if you rive me that

arrangement I think I will run the tunnel through myself.'

Q. Who said that?—A. Mr. M. P. Davis.

Q. Who else was there?—A. I do not remember.

Q. You do not remember any one else, but you remember having a conversation

with Mr. M. P. Davis about it?—A. I do remember that I spoke to one of the con-

'tractors, I think he was an Italian, I do not know what his name was—it was a nasty

cut and a hard cut to deal with, and I spoke to him about it, he was an Italian, and

I asked him how he was coming out on it and he said that at first they had been

going behind, and then a reclassification was made, and it was all right now.

Q. Who was present when this conversation with the Italian took place?—A. The
Italian and I were walking together.

Q. Do you remember his name?—A. No.

Q. Well, what was he? What position had he, connected with the work?—A.

Subcontractor, he was doing the work there.

Q. Had you ever seen him before?—A. No.

Q. Where did you get this information about him?—A. This information?

Q. The information that you have just given the committee, that he was a sub-

contractor doing work there?—A. He told me so, I think he asked me something
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about Mr. Miles or some engineer in New Brunswick, or McKenzie, I think it would
be, I had one or two engineers from New Brunswick; then I asked him if he was a

contractor, and he said yes.

Q. You had never seen him before?—A. Never seen him.

Q. How did he come to ask you these questions ?—A. I do not know.

Q. Did he know who you were?—A. I presume so.

Q. Did you tell him?—A. No.

Q. Where were the rest of the party?—A. We were all together.

Q. How was it none of the rest of them heard any such conversation?—A. I do

not know.

Q. Is this the cut that you told your counsel you spent ten or fifteen minutes at ?

—A. I did not time myself, we walked over it.

Q. I am not asking you that. Is this the cut you said you spent ten or fifteen

minutes in?—A. That is it.

Q. And during that time you had all this conversation, and made the inspection

of the cut you have told us about?—A. I did not inspect it, I walked into it anJ
walked over it.

Q. And you gave a description of it?—A. Yes, I believe in that description I

confused two cuts.

Q. I think you confused more than two cuts, Major?—A. You think so.

Q. What confusion is there about the cuts?—A. That cut consisted of

Q. Wlien you say ' that cut,' which one do you mean ?—A. The first one.

Q. The one you spoke of in your examination in chief?—A. I only spoke of one

cut and I spoke of sand being wasted on the top of it ; I do not think there was any
sand, I think it was another cut that I hadn't spoken of.

Q. When did you get that information?—A. When I was reading over my evi-

dence—the charges.

Q. The which?—A. When I was reading over the description of that cut in the

charges.

Q. The description in the A. The written charges.

Q. I see, is that all the information vou have got since you were here last f—A.

Yes.

Q. You now say that you confused this tunnel cut with another one?—A. No, I

did not confuse the cut, I said on the top of this cut, I was referring to another

cutting, classification, there was sand being wasted, I saw sand was being wasted on

another cutting, the next one we went through, I did not pay very much attention to

that.

Q. Was that the only difference, the onlv confusion you had reference to I—A.

Yes.

Q. Now after your visit to the work you told my learned friend that you stayed

in Quebec over Sunday?—A. Yes.

Q. And that you had a long talk with Mr. Armstrong?—A. Yes.

Q. And that in the course of this conversation Mr. Armstrong told vou that over-

classification in District 'B' would amount to $-2,000,000?—A. Yes, he said he had a

rough estimate of it, about that.

Q. What were his words?—A. That is what he told mo; his exact words were

that a rough estimate of this over-classification would amount to about $2,000,000.

Q. Was there any one present at that conversation?—A. No.

Q. Where did it take place?—A. We were sitting on the terrace watching the

ships on Sunday afternoon.

Q. Just yourself and Mr. Armstrong?—A. ^Fyself and ^Ir. Armstrong.

Q. And, as I recall your evidence, you brought up the subject; and he told you,

according to your statement, that he was reporting the over-classification, but that

his people h:id done notliiug ?—A. Yes.

^Iajor IIOLXilXS.
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Q. But that he presumed they would dispute it?—A. Yes, something to that

effect.

Q. Did you make any notes of that conversation?—A. No.

Q. Is your recollection of it or Mr. Armstrong's likely to be the better?—A. I

fancy it will be the same.

Q. You think that it will be the same?—A. Yes.

Q. If Mr. Armstrong does not recall making any such statement as this, then

what have you to say?—A. He has forgotten it.

Q. That he has forgotten it?—A. Certainly.

Q. You have already told us that when you were here in Ottawa waiting to put in

your answer to Mr. Grant's report, you had to wait two or three days before the board

met. Did you, during those two or three days, discuss matters connected with Dis-

trict ' F ' with any engineers in Ottawa ?—A. I possibly did ; I was in the assistant

chief engineer's office.

Q. That is Mr. MacPherson?—A. Mr. Macpherson. He asked me a lot about it.

W6 were talking about a lot of things that were up for discussion.

Q. Did you see any other engineers and discuss matters with them when in

Ottawa on that occasion?—A. I do not remember.

Q. Do you remember seeing Mr. Schreiber?—A. I possibly saw him; I do not

remember.

Q, Whai position does Mr. Schreiber hold?—A. I do not know; I think he is in

Mr. MacPherson's office.

Q. I do not mean Mr. Schreiber in the commissioners' office, but Mr. Collingwood

Schreiber, the former Chief Engineer of the Railways Department?—A. No.

Q. Do you remember seeing him while you were here?—A. No.

Q. Are you quite sure as to that?—A. Yes.

Q. You didn't see him? Did you go to his office?—A. No.

Q. Are you clear as to that?—A. Yes.

Q. Well, you know that Mr. Collingwood Schreiber occupies an official position

and has official relations with the Transcontinental?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you ever have any interviews or conversations with him, or correspon-

dence, I should say,. with him?—A. None.

Q. Is there anybody else whom you went to see?—A. I think I saw Mr. Butler.

Q. Who is he ?—A. The Deputy Minister of Railways ; he used to be the assistant

chief engineer.

Q. He used to be the assistant chief engineer of the Transcontinental Railway?

—

A. Yes; I usually go to see him.

Q. Did he occupy the position of assistant chief engineer when you were upon it ?

—A. Yes.

Q. You had official relations with him while he remained there?—A. Yes.

'Q. You say you went to see him while you were a few days in Ottawa last July?
—A. Yes.

Q. And did you discuss these matters relating to District ' F ' with him ?

—

A . I

think I disciissed the report that Mr. Grant had put in.

Butler, in his present position, any official connection with the Transcontinental?

—

A. Yes.

Q. Had you been in the habit of going to see him when you came to Ottawa?

—

A. Yes, I generally go to see him when in Ottawa.

Q. And the relations between you and Mr. Butler were A. Very friendly.

Q. What discussion did you have on the occasion that you speak of in July last;

you say you went to see him, and talked over Grant's report?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, what actually took place?'—A. I told him that Grant had said certain

things to me and they were rather serious matters; and I asked him, I think, what he
thought of it. I forget exactly the conversation.

Q. You mean things that Grant had said in his report?—A. No; said to me in

my office.
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Q. These, I presume, would be the matters that you speak of in your evidence in

chief?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—He doesn't say it is.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Well, are they?—A. Yes.

Q. Then what took place?—A. He said he would find out about them, and asked

me to call the next day, I think, or that afternoon, I have forgotten which.

Q. You told him what you claimed Grant had said to you in your office at Kenora ?

—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you have already told us about this in your evidence in chief, and you

say Mr. Butler said he would see about that and asked you to call and see him the

next day—A. That afternoon or the next day.

Q. Did you call on him again?—A. Yes.

Q. What took place at the second interview?—A. He told me, I think^ that

Grant had no authority to speak like that.

Q. What else was said?—A. I think that is about all.

Q. From whom had he made enquiries in the interval, do you know?—A. He
did not tell me.

Q. He did not tell you; now did you discuss classification with Mr. Butler?—A.

I do not remember how much we discussed, I had a short interview with him, there

was somebody else waiting then.

Q. Well, on any occasion during that week did you discuss classification with

Mr. Butler?—A. I do not think I saw him more than those two times, I would not

be certain.

Q. On either of those two occasions that you do recall did you discuss classifica-

tion with him?—A. Possibly, though there was not very much question then, there

wasn't very much to be classified or had been classified up to that date.

Q. I am not asking you that, but you did discuss it at all with him?—A. I

cannot say positively, I do not remember.

Q. Did you make the statement such as you "have just made, to Mr. Butler?

—

A. Which ?

Q. That theie was not much to classify up to that date ?—A. Possibly.

Q. Do you recall whether you did say something of that kind or not ?—A. No.
Q. Did you discuss the question of adopting force account on the work ?—A. No

—no, that did not come up, I had not proposed it to the chief engineer.

Q. I am not asking you that. Major, I am asking you if you did not, on either

of tHose occasions that you visited Mr. Butler, discuss with him the possibility of

putting force account into operation in your work.

By Mr. Hodgins :

Q. While waiting in Ottawa ?—A. No, I do not remember it if I did. I would
not have recommended

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. If you had discussed it with Mr. Butler, you would not have romomborcd it?

—A. At that time I would not have approved of it.

Q. I am asking you if you did discuss it and wlint was said ?—A. No. I did not
discuss it.

Q. Isn't it a fact that you did discuss it ?—A. No.

Q. I would like to recall this conversation, l\rajor ?— A. T nni trying to. I do not
think we had a very long discussion.

Q. Is it not a fnct that you told Mr. Butler what you proposed to do with regard
to adopting force account and tliat he warned you not to do it ?—A. No. not to my
knowledge.

]Major Hodgins.
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Q.Did he not, on one occasion on which you called on him, I am instructed you
did, discuss force account, point out to you that under the contract it could not be

adopted ?—A. No.
Mr. HoDOiNS.—Specify the occasion.

Mr. Murphy.—I understand there was only one, but he says there were two.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. What I want to get at is this, I am asking whether i-t was at either of these

interviews. ?—A. No.

Q. Do you not remember Mr. Butler pointing out to you that if you adopted

force account the chief engineer could not certify to the estimates ?—A. No, not at

that time.

Q. Not at that time ?—A. No.

Q. Well, did you have any subsequent conversation with Mr. Butler, where he

pointed these things out to you ?—A. I do not remember having that.

Q. You do not remember having it ?—A. I do not think I have seen Mr. Butler

^ince then at all until the other day when I met him on the street.

Q. Now, is it not a fact that on the occasion of one of these visits of which you
have spoken that this matter of employing force account was discussed, and that

Mr. Butler pointed out it was impossible for it to he adopted on this work ?—A. I

do not think so.

Q. Is it not a fact that on one of these occasions when Mr. Butler was showing

you it could not be adopted that he directed your attention to the terms of the con-

tract and thte specification ?—A. I do not believe it came up at all.

Q. You do not believe it came up at all ?—A. No.

Q. Will you swear it did not ?—A. Yes, to the best of my knowledge.

Q. That there was no discussion between you and Mr. Butler about the 'employ-

ment of force account ?—A. Yes, because when this interview took place with Mr^

Butler I had not proposisd to the chief engineer this suggestion of force account.

Q. That might quite well be.—A. Well, that fastens it in my memo-y, that

makes me certain about it.

Q. Thiat might well be, and again it might not he the fact; but even admitting

that you had not proposed it to tbb chief engineer, that does not make an impossi-

bility of your having discussed it with Mr. Butler ?—A. It does, as far as I am
concerned.

Q. Now, Major, on your oath, are you .prepared to swear you did not discuss the

proposed force account when in Ottawa in July, with Mr. Butler ?—A. Yes, to the

best of my knowledge.

Q. I am not asking you to the best of your knowledge, I am asking you will you
swear you did not? You either did discuss it or you did not, and I am asking you if

you did or did not ?—A. I did not.

Q. You swear you did not?—-A. I did not.

Q. You have told us you had no further interview with Mr. Butler until you saw
him here lately?—A. Yes.

Q. And that is correct?—A. That is correct.

Q. Did you have any correspondence with him?—A. Yes.

Q. On the subject of what?—A. I do not know whether I wrote to him or he
vcrote to me.

Q. Have you the letter he wrote to you?—A. No.

Q. Where is it ?—A. I do not know ; I probably left it in Kenora.
Q. Have you any recollection what you did with it ?—A. No, I have not.

Q. You have not?—A. No.

Q. Have you looked to see whether it was among your papers or not? I would
like to have that letter produced if you have it, Mr. Hodgins?

Mr. HoDGiKS.—I cannot produce it if it is in the Kenora office.
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Mr. Murphy.—He says he doesn't know whether it is there.

A. I have not looked for it.

Mr. Macdonald.—Was it a public letter written to the Chief Engineer of the

Kailway Department?
Mr. Murphy.—It was written by Mr. Butler to him.

A. It was a private letter.

Mr. Macdonald.—Mr. Butler has a press copy of it, I suppose; he can produce it.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Well, what about your letter or letters to Mr. Butler?—A. I do not remember
what I wrote to Mr. Butler.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Mr. Butler has some official connection with the Transcontinental?

Mr. Murphy.—Yes.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. And about Mr. Butler's reply, you do not know?—A. I do not know what

became of that; possibly, it is in Kenora.

Q. Do you recall whether that correspondence was on the subject of classification,

force account, or any of these matters covered by this inquiry?—A. I think that

ktter was about that conversation with Mr. Grant. I think he said he had seen Mr.

Grant and that Mr. Grant denied it—something of that kind. Whether I wrote to

him or not after that, I do not remember; possibly I did write to him, and say that

I was sorry he was taking Mr. Grant's word instead of mine.

Q. The prior correspondence that you speak of, would that be copied in your book
at the office ?—A. I do not think so ; it was a private lettei to ma

Q. It would not have been copied?—A. No.

Q. Was it on the subject of classification or force account?—A. I do not remem-
ber whether that was in the letter or not.

Q. Do you remember any other correspondence?—A. I do not.

Q. Do you remember seeing any other engineer or engineers while here at fthat

time?—A. No.

Q. Then, you have told us about the conversation which you had with Mr. Grant,v

and you referred to it again here this afternoon, in which you alleged that Mr. Grant
said the commissioners wanted the contractors to make money?—^^A. Yes.

Q. Who was present when that conversation took place?—A. No one.

Q. If Mr. Grant denies that statement, whose recollection would you say was the

better?—A. Mine.

Q. Yours, why?—A. Well, my memory is all right if a man makes a statemenlj

like that to me.

Q. You have just corrected an error a few minutes ago about that cut down at

La Tuque, would you be mistaken about this conversation as well?—A. No, sir.

Q. You have told us about conversations with Mr. Reid and ^[r. Young that they
*do not remember anything about.

Mr. IIoDGiNS.—We have not heard from them yet.

Mr. Murphy.—Well, we will hear from them and all about it.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Mightn't you be mistaken about Mr. Grant?—A. No.

Q. You are sure of that? At your conversation with Grant lie made that state-

m.ent?—A. On my oath I swear he made that statement.

Q. And you told us that you had a conversation A. I am >o positive of that

that I went to Mr. Butler to speak to him about it; I thought it was a very, verjk

serious state of affairs.

Q. Well; perhaps some light will be thrown on that by this letter of yours to ]Mr. .

Butler, and v/e will resume this when we get a copy of it. Then you stated that ^fr.

Major Hodgims.
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Grant told you that down at La Tuque the classification there was originally 30 per

cent, and that he, Grant, had raised it to 80 per cent, and that when the Grand Trunk^

Pacific engineers kicked it had been raised again to 86 per cent?—A. Yes.

Q. Are you serious about that ?—A. Yes,

Q. Do you mean to say, on your oath, that Grant ever made any such statemen1>

to you?—A. On my oath, he made that statement.

Q. If Grant denies that, who is the committee to believe?—A. Me.

Q. I see. Did you make any record of it at the time ?—A. No, I made no record ;\

it was a startling enough statement to fix itself in my memory.

Q. It was so startling that you remember it ?—A. And, Mr. Murphy, you can tak^

that up and see, I presume, whether that statement can be carried out by the estimateSj

by looking up the original estimates and comparing them. Mr. Grant told me he waa
sent over to re-classify, and you can find out what time he was sent to do the re-

classifying, that will show you.

Q. You do not vouch for the correctness of that statement, you are only tellingi

^s what Mr, Grant said to you?—A. You can find out—the estimates are there—

«

whether they have been increased from 30 to 86 per cent.

By Mr. Garveil :

Q. You are referring to solid rock ?—A. I presume so.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. If the estimates do not bear out this statement, Majoi? ?—A. It does not

make any difference.

Q. Whiat is thle committee to believe ?—A. It does not make any difference. He
told me that.

Q. It is merely an issue between you and Mr. Grant as to whose veracity is to

be accepted ? You have told us that when Mr. Grant made the statemient about the

commissioners wanting the contnactors to make money, you went to Mr. Butler and
discussed it with him?—A. I don't know whether I said that to him. I told Mr.
Butler something of Grant's

Q. Grant's statement ?—A. Grant's statement.
~^

Q. Mr. Butler was not your chief at that time ?—A. He was a friend of mine.

Q. Why did you. not go to your chief and tell him this statement that had been

made by Grant ? Did you not think it was your duty to do that ?—A. It is a ques-

tion.

Q. It is what ?—A. It is a question. I had a confidential talk with Mr. Butler

about this.

Q. Could you not have m>ade the same kind of confidential talk with your imme-
diate superior ?—A. No.

Q. Now this statement was a very serious reflection on the commissioners, was
it not ?—A. Exactly.

Q. That is the way you accepted it ?—A. Exactly.

Q. Well was it not your duty to go to the commissioners, or some of them, and
discuss the matter with them?—A. Well I took the best course I thought I could

take. I went to Mr. Butler and discussed the question with him and hie said Grant
should not have made this statement or something of that kind.

Q. Be said what ?—A. Grant had no authority to make this statement.

Q. Grant had no authority to make any such statement. And that was told you
on the occasion when you returned a second time to see Mr. Butler ?—A. Yes, I either

went to his ofiice or met him in town.

Q. By the way, did you tell Mr. Butler about this alleged statement of Grant's

that the classification in this cutting had been fixed at 30 per cent, then raised to

80, and when the Grand Trunk Pacific engineers kicked, raised to 86 per cent? Did
you tell Mr. Butler about that ?—A. I don't remember.

Q. Did you ever tell that to any other engineer ?—A. Possibly, yes.
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Q. Did they accept it as a credible statement ?—A. I don't remember.

Q. Now there is a discrepancy in your evidence-in-chief.

Mr. Macdonald.—What time (was this interview with Mr. Butler ?

Mr. Murphy.—The last week in July. Mr. Grant's neport was put in on the

23rd of July and the Major was asked to come down. He came down and put his

report in in reply and that was dated 31st July. It was in tbjat interval that he had
these interviews. Is that correct, Major ?

The Witness.—That is correct.

Q. Now there is a discrepancy in your evidence-in-chief. Major, as to the time

you were in the city on that occasion. You told us at one place, page 121 of the

evidence, that you were here for two or three days before the board meeting ?—A. I

am not certain about the exact nu:mber of days.

Q. Well, so that you may have the whole of your evidence on that point before

you, at page 133 of the evidence there is a statement by you that you arrived pro-

bably the day before the 31st of July ?—A. Oh certainly. I wro^e the report in

Mr. MacPherson's office and it was typed in Mr. Lumsden's office.

. Q. But you had been here for some days ?—A. I don't think—I forget now how
long I had to wait.

Q. You don't remember exactly?—ISTo. I know I had to wait because

the

Q. The board did not meet until the 1st August ?—A. The board was not there.

Mr. IToDGiNS.—Mr. Parent, Mr. Grant and Mr. Lumsden did not meet on 1st

August.

Mr. Murphy.—Yes, and the Major was at that meeting, or at the board meeting.
The Witness. I forgot the exact number of days I was here before the board

met, I was laid up most of tl^e time so that I could not go over to the office.

Q. In any event you were for a few days ?—A. A few days.

Q. And you drafted your report, which is dated 31st July, and you filed if ?

—

A. Yes.

Q. Then there was a meeting of the board on 1st August?—A. Yes.

Q. At which you were asked to attend ?—A. Yes.

Q. Mr. Grant I understand was present ?—A. Yes.

Q. And Mr. Lumsden ?—A. Yes.

Q. And you and Mr. Grant were interrogated by the commissioners ?—A. By
Mr. Young. Mr. Parent went away.

/ Q. Mr. Parent went away ?—A. Mr. Lumsden said very little. The whole
inquiry, was not conducted by the chief engineer, it was conducted by ^Ir. Young.

Q. The chief engineer was present ?—A. He was present.

Q. Do you remember what time of the day that meeting took place ?—A. In
tile afternoon.

Q. Do you remember what time ?—A. There ought to be the minutes. They
took everything down in shorthand.

Q. Well I am told thoy did not ?—A. Oh yes, they did. There wos a man in

there who took it down.

Q. I am instructed they did not?—A. Oh, pshaw.

Q. Don't you remember Mr. Parent being there?—A. Yes, ho was there and
he went away.

Q. Don't you remember Mr. Parent asking questions while he was there?—A. No.
He sat at the head of the table and Mr. Young at the foot of the table. My. Young
started to question and then he apologized to Mr. Parent; he said that ho was talking

a lot and Mr. Parent said, 'it is in your district' or something of that kind and very

jsoon Mr. Parent went out.

Q. You don't remember any qnestions having been asked by Mr. Parent before

he left?—A. Everything was taken down in shorthand, the shorthand man was there.

Major Hodgixs.
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Q. I am toid you were mistaken as to that; it was not?—A. Oh, but I know.
Q. You and Mr. Grant were interrogated as to your respective reports?—A. Yes,

I was interrogated on Mr. Grant's report condemning everything.

Q. And your report was in there at the time?—A. Yes.

Q. The chief engineer having taken a position in a letter which was produced

here that there were statements in both reports he could not ag^-ee with and he would
have to go up and see the work?—A. Yes.

Q. Was there any other decision than that arrived at on the occasion of thai

board meeting?—A. Yes, he was to go up and inspect the work.

Q. Yes?—A. That was about all I think.

Q. Anything else?—A. I cannot recall it.

Q. You cannot recall anything. There was a reference to the outcome of that, or

rather to your appearance before the board, in the subsequent letter received from
Mr. Lumsden. What was the nature of that ?—A. About my not being out on| the

work enough?
^ Q. About your replies at that meeting not being satisfactory or your explanation?

—A. Yes, a reference to my not being out on the work enough.

Q. Was that it?—A. Something of that kind. It was about the last letter I got

from him.

Q. Now, speaking about the work on Mcintosh's division, you have told us that

you examined it twice and that the first examination was not a very thorough one?

—

A. The first time we had not the detailed estimates with us.

Q. Did you find out afterwards that according to specification material that had
been classed as solid rock should have been loose rock and common excavation?—A. I

went over it with Mcintosh and I saw that it was as he had classified it originally*

and I told him he would have to change it.

Q. Eow long after the work was done did you make this examination?—A. Well,

some of the work that was changed back into solid rock had been done according to

my notes, put in the other night, in February, in the winter time. I would say prob-

ably six or seven months.

Q. That would be six or seven months before your examination?—A. Yes.

Q. How long prior to your examination had the^rest of the work been done?—A.

There was some work going on at the time.

Q. At the time?—A. Exactly.

Q. How long prier to your examination had the rest of the work that you were
investigating at that time been done?—A. The principal thing that I was investigat-

ing, the change of loose rock and common excavation into solid rock, that had been
done some time.

Q. How long?—A. There is a record in about it, if you produce that it will show.

Q. It is a matter that is admitted by all engineers, is it not, that it is practically

impossible to tell the quality of work unless it is seen at the time it is done?—A. Who
told you that, Mr. Murphy?

Q. I think you made a statement to that effect?—A. To tell the quality of the

work.

Q. Yes, the cjassificaci of it?—A. No.
Q. Unless it is so palpably solid rock?—A. The excavation here was common

excavation pure and simple, and the rock, loose rock pure and simple. Now, how
long after that work had been done do you imagine it is impossible to tell whether it

is solid rock or not?

Q. I am asking you?—A. Yes, but I am an engineer and you are not. You are

asking me an engineering question. I say you don't understand that question.

Q. Very well, I will ask it again: is it a fact, or is it not, that you can take a

cut which is not solid rock and go back after the work has been done and the slopes

fixed and tell what the work that was originally taken out should have been classified

as?—A. You say it is impossible to do that?

Q. I am asking you whether it is or not?—A. No. You can do it.
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Q. You can do it?—A. Yes.

Q. Is that a rule you follow or a rule that is generally followed?—A. It depends

altogether upon circumstances.

Q. That is what I understand?—A. You take me out a cut and test me upon it

and I will give you an answer.

Q. You want to have a specific case?—A. Exactly.

Q. We will take you over a few later on. Major, and gratify you?—A. AU right.

Going down to Quebec? Going to take me down to Quebec?

Q. I don't know. We may probably be in District ' F.' You have told us that

the August estimate came in with 1,100 yards of solid rock and no loose rock or com-

mon excavation and you stated, ' I changed, or had it changed back to what it had

_ been previously.' That is to be found at page 137 of the evidence.' I changed, or it

changed back to what it had been previously.' Who did the changing ?—A. One of

the clerks in the office.

Q. Was it you?—A. No.

Q. Was it Heaman?—A. I gave the orders for it to br done.

Q. Who did it?—A. I don't remember.

Q. Was it Heaman?—A. No, he is not a clerk

Q. Well, who made the decision as to the change?—A. I did.

Q. You say :
' I changed or had it changed ' ?—A. You were s^ particular as to

whether I did occasional scratching out myself.

Q. No, I beg your pardon. This is your own answer to your counsel?—A. I gave

the order to have it changed. If I remember right, I had the estimates on my desk.

Q. Yes?
Mr. HoDGiJsrs.—It is mentioned there who did it.

Q. Yes?—A, And I saw the classification for those cuttings was still as it had
been in July.

Q. Yes?—A. And I gave the order to have it cut out.

Q. Yes?—A. And put back to what it had been originally returned before July.

Q. I see?—A. I fancy Mr. Euddick did it.

'Q. Mr. Euddick, not Mr. Heaman ?—A. Oh, no.

Q. He did it, of course, under your direction ?--A. Yes.

Q. Now, you put in, and filed as Exhibit 6, a copy of a letter written by you to

Mr. Lumsden on the 14th September last, in which you set out your objections to the

classification on part of Mcintosh's work, and you embodied your objections in the

charges which you have filed. Now, was that letter written in your office in Kenora,

Major?—A. It was typed in Kenora. I took the notes on the work.

Q. The letter itself was written in your office in Kenora?—A. It was typed, com-
piled from notes I had taken up on the work.

Q. By whom was it typewritten?—A. Oh, I don't remember.

Q. You don't remember? Well, who did that work usually in your office at that

time?—A. I forget.

Q. You forget ?—A. Yes. I think there were three men who could typewrite there-

Q. Well, who were they?—A. I have forgotten the man's name; he was a steno-

grapher. I believe he was a new man.

Q. He was what?—A. I think he was a new stenographer that I had got.

Q. You think he was a new /?tenographer ?—A. There was one upstairs in the

drawing office and this other man, Simonson and Colquhoun.

Q. This letter, you have told us, was written after you had been out making notes

on the line?—A, Yes.

Q. Did you dictate the letter to the stenographer, do you reinoniber?—A. I don't

remember that.

'Q. Or did you write the letter and give it to the stonogrnpher to bo copied?—A,
I forget whether I wrote it out. It is a lon^^ letter.

^Fajor Hodgins.

5—19
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Q. Yes, a long letter?—A. I took tlie notes. I forget whether I gave the notes to,

the stenographer or dictated them.

Q. Well, now, I will show yon the original of that letter for you to see if you can,

recollect whether you dictated it or gave the notes of it to the stenographer?—A.

Where is that document I put in, Form 4, the one that Mcintosh sent me showings

those changes—my copy of it? I think it is marked triplicate. It is a piece of fools-'

cap (document produced and handed to witness). I made some of the notes on this

as I went along the work and some of the notes in Bell's camp. Here are some of the

notes I made (pointing to document).

Q. Yes, Major; but I am asking you whether the letter itself of September 14^

1907, Exhibit 6, was dictated by you or first drafted by you and the draft given to the*

^^pewriter to run off?—A. That I don't remember. I should imagine it was drafted.^

Q. Looking at the letter which you hold in your hand, would you say that it had,

been copied in your letter-book?—A. It ought to have been.

Q. Does it bear any indication on the face of the pages of having been copied

into the letter-book?—A. Part of it is manifold I should say (after examination).

No, it does not.

Q. It does not?—A. Wo.

Q. And that would be a letter A. That should have been copied, certainly.

Q. That would be a letter which would not appear in your letter-book, but of

which you have had carbon copies, I presume?—A. Yes.

Q. Do you see anything on Exhibit 8 which enables you to recall the circum-<

stances under which the letter was written?—A. (After examining document.) Yes^

I think those are the notes, hut I cannot read them very freely. Yes, those are tho

notes.
(

Q. The notes filed as Exhibit 8 form the basis of that letter of September 14?—
A. Yes.

Q. A copy of which is filed as Exhibit 6? Well, can you tell us whether you
dictated the 'letter or made a draft of it and handed the draft to your typewriter ta

run off?^—A. I think I made a draft of it,

Q. You think you made a draft of it ? Now, look at the letter more closely and
tell us M^hether it was not run off by two different typewriters ?—A. Yes, if it is not a
manifold.

Q. Pages 1 to 3 look as if they had been done on one A. On one typewriter.

Q. On one machine and the remainder of the letter on another ?—A. Yes.

Q. And the last page bears your signature?—A, Yes.

Q. Now, do you recall the circumstances 'under which that letter was written?

—

A. No.

Q. You do not? Do you remember giving a draft of the letter to the typewriter

to run off?—A. No, I cannot say that I remember that.

Committee adjourned until 4 o'clock to-morrow.

Thursday, June 4, 1908.

The comTTiittee met at 4 o'clock p,m.

The cross-examination of Major Tlodgins resumed:

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. When the adjournment took place yesterday. Major, we were speaking of the
letter in which yon first formulated vour objections to the classification on Mcintosh's
work, the letter of September 14, filed as Exhibit 6?—A. Yes.

Q. You told us that you had drafted that letter and handed the draft to be copied
by some of the clerks in your office ?—A. Yes.
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Q. You recall telling us at a previous sitting that you had been out on the line

just prior to that letter being written?—A. Yes,

Q. And you returned to Kenora on a Saturday, got the letter from Chief Engineer
Lumsden on Sunday, and sent a telegram on Monday, the 16th September, which has

been filed here ?—A. Yes.

Q. You recall also telling us that you went to your office in Kenora on Saturday
evening?—A. I don't remember, as I was saying in my evidence, the exact time I got

back. I have not got the dates with me. If I could fix the date I left Bell's camp;
but I don't know that.

Q. But you do remember, and so stated, that you got into Kenora some time on
Saturday evening?—A. I think it was Saturday, yes.

Q. And by that fact you fixed the time upon which you received the letter from
Mr. Lumsden notifying you of your dismissal?—A. Well, it was when I came down
from that inspection. I had intended—first of all, I might say I had intended to go

through from Mcintosh's to Winnipeg river. I went on to Bell's camp, left Mcintosh
at Parson's camp and went on to Bell's camp the same night; and, instead of going

through to Winnipeg river, I came down and went out by the Vermilion bay road. I

have not been able to fix the date of the night I was at Bell's camp.

Q. What* you said previously is reported at page 243 of the evidence (reading) :

' Q. You haven't been able to fix the exact time of getting back to Kenora on

Saturday, the 14th of September, but you do remember going to your office and getting

some letters?—A. No, I am not certain whether I did go to m.y office; the office would
be closed on Saturday afternoon, and I am not certain what time I got it.

^ Q. None of your staff would be there when you got in ?—A. No, they would not

be there on Saturday afternoon.
' Q. And you know for a fact that it was Saturday afternoon when you got back

to Kenora?—A. I left Canyon lake in the morning and rode down to Vermilion bay,

and I think I had lunch there and waited for the train, but whether I came in on the

mixed train or the express I have forgotten. If it was the express, I think the express

got in about 4 or 5, and the mixed train would come in at any time about 8. I have

forgotten now what time it was.
' Q. You have forgotten?—A. Yes.
' Q. At any rate, you knew there would be none of your staff in the office that

afternoon?—A. No.
'Q. You did not reach Kenora until the afternoon?—A. I could not possibly.

' Q. And it may have been the evening ; it all depends upon the train you took ?

—A. Yes.'

Now, are you able to fix the time upon which you went to your office on Saturday,

14tli September, any more definitely than you were when you gave the evidence I have

just read?—A. No. I have been unable to fix the date when I came down from Par-

son's camp. You read from a diary that I was up with ^Iclntosh, on Friday, was it

not, one night?

Q. No, I think the diary to which I referred you was for tlie purpose of fixing

the date of the month?—A. Well, I have forgotten what time I came down.

Q. Well how did you fix Sunday as the date on which you received the letter of

the 12th from Mr. Lumsden?—A. Well, in discussing the question tnat night—I have

forgotten what night it was—I think I remember getting that letter on Sunday. It

I remember right one of the men came over with the letter to me.

Q. On Sunday ?—A. On Sunday, yes. I think it was Sunday.

Q. Perhaps a reference to your evidence at page 242 will ht^lp you to recall the

date ? (Keads) :—
" A. What is the date of the notice ?

' Q. 12th September?—A. It would be the 15th or the U>tli before I got the notice;

it takes three days to come up there.'

5—19v^ !A[ajor Hodgins.
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^ Q. If the 13th was on Thursday, as it was, and the notice bore date on that day,

and was posted on that day, when would it reach Kenora?—A. On what day was it

dated, the 12th?'

'Q. Yes?—A. About the 15th.'

*Q. That would be Sunday, the 12th was on Thursday?—A. Sunday, yes. It

was Sunday or Monday I got it.'

' Q. Now do you remember when you actually received the notice ?—A. What day
was the 12th?'

'Q. Thursday?—A. Sunday.'
^ Q. Sunday the 15th ?—A. I got it on Sunday afternoon.'

A. I think that is right.

Q. You think that is right?—A. Yes, Sunday would be the 15th.

Q. And do you recall some person bringing you that notice on the afternoon of

Sunday ?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—^What notice ?

Mr. Murphy.—The letter from Mr. Lumsden.

A. One of the men in the office.

Q. Yes, but I am asking you do you recall his bringing it to you? I take your

answer to mean that it would naturally be brought to you by one of the men in the

office?—A. Yes.

Q. But I am asking do you recall his bringing it to you?—A. I think so. It

would be Simonson.

Q. You think it was brought to you by Simonson?—A. Yes.

Q. He was one of your staff ?—A. He was one of the staff and I think used to go
for the mail.

Q. Is he one of the men you mentioned as being a typewriter in the office?—A.

Yes, he was the secretary.

Q. Well then you would have got back to Kenora some time the previous evening,

Saturday evening, if the letter from Mr. Lumsden was brought to you some time on
Sunday afternoon?—A. Yes, if I left there on the—I would like to fix the time I was
up in Bell's camp. I don't remember the date, and-T think, as I said, it was on Satur-

day that I got in. I can hardly recall the days of the week.

Q. In giving your evidence at a previous sitting you remembered that you left

Canyon lake in the morning?—A. Yes.

Q. And rode down to Vermilion Bay?—A. I came with Bell in the launch to

Parson's camp, the morning I left Bell's camp when I decided to go back.

Q. Yes?—A. That would take me down, the launch would take me down to

Parson's camp. Then I got a horse from Parson and rode into Vermilion Bay, about
17 or 18 miles.

Q. Yes?—A. And took the train from there.

Q. And as I understand from your former evidence got into Kenora some time
on Saturday evening ?—A. I presume so, I forget what train I took.

Q. We had all that before but you said you could not get in, in any event, until

the evening?^—A. Yes, I think the express passed Kenora going west about 4 and the
mixed would come in about 8. What I am trying to remember is what time they
passed Vermilion Bay.

Q. Perhaps I can mention an incident that would help you to fix the time of
your arrival on that Saturday in Kenora. You have, I understood, or you had in
your office, in Kenora an accountant named Dot?—A. Yes.

Q. Do you remember one of his children dying about that time?—A. I remember
one of his children dying, I have forgotten the exact date.

Q. Do you remember that you desired to go to the funeral and that the funeral
took place that Saturday you arrived in Kenora but prior to your arrival, and that
you expressed regret at not being back in time for the funeral?—A. Yes, I think that
is so. I was not at the funeral. Was that on Saturday?
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Q. So I am informed?—A. Yes, I remember one of his children dying, bnt I had
no: connected it with that trip.

Q. Well now does that help you to fix the time on that Saturday afternoon vvH^n

you arrived at Kenora?—A. No, I can't say it does. I don't connect the two circum-

stances at all.

Q. But you are clear about having received the letter from Mr. Lumsden on

Saturday, 15th September?—A. Yes, apparently so. It can easily be corroborated by
ISimonson or whoever was

Q. Yes, but I am asking you now, Major?—A. I think so, yes.

Q. Are you sure whether you went to the office the previous evening which

w!ould be Saturday the 14th?—A. I cannot say, I cannot remember. I used to go

over at odd times very often in the evening.

Q. How long would you have been absent from Kenora prior to Saturday, 14:th

September—a matter of days?—A. Let me see. I went out from Kenora one day with

Heaman and I went up to Mcintosh's camp and got there that night. Then I think

the next day we went down to Pearson's camp and I spent that night at Bell's and I

discussed classification with Bell and took some further notes and then I decided to

come out. That would be one, two, three, I think it was three days.

Q. And as you have stated at page 243 of the evidence (reads)

:

' Q. I left Canyon lake in the morning and rowed down to Vermilion bay and I

think I had lunch there and waited for the train, but whether I came in on the mixed
train or express I have forgotten. If it was the express, I think, the express got in

about 4 or 5 and the mixed train would come in at any time about 8. I have forgot-

ten now what time it was.'

A. It would have been one of those trains.

Q. That you arrived on?—A. Yes.

Q. So that you would be in Kenora at either 4 or 5 in the afternoon or 8 in the

evening?—A. Yes.

Q. And as you have told us there would be none of your staff at your office on
Saturday afternoon?—A. No.

Q. So consequently there would be no work done there?—A. No. work. They did

not come down to the office Saturday afternoon.

Q. Well then, major, I would like to explain how it is that on an afternoon that

you did not reach Kenora until either 4 or 5 in the afternoon or 8 in the evening, and

when none of your staff would be at your office, you wrote a letter dated September
14th, 1907, which is the date of which you have been speaking?—A. That would be

the date I took the notes. You see I started this letter in Bell's camp.

Q. Yes, but you have told us that letter was written in Kenora ?—A. Yes, it was
typed in Kenora. It was a compilation of notes taken on the work.

Q. I understand that, but I am asking you how could that letter have been type-

written on Saturday, 14th September, when you did not get into the office, in any event,

earlier than between 4 and 5 and perhaps not until 8, and you have told us none of

your staff would be in the office that afternoon and when the letter was written you
said by two of the clerks in your office?—A. Possibly, there are two different inks

used.

Q. I want to know why that letter bears date of 14th September when you your-

self make it plain it could not have been written on that date?—A. It was that morn-
ing I took notes.

Q. I am not asking you when you had taken notes, you have explained all that?

—A. Can you explain what difference it makes?
Q. I am not in the witness box, major, I am asking you?—A. According to the

way we have been figuring now that is the date I left Boll's camp.

Q. Which, the 14th September ?—A. The 14th September.

Q. That makes the situation all the worse?—A. In what way? How does it make
it worse?

Major Hodgixs.
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Mr. HoDGiNSj.—There is no worse situation that I see.

The Witness.—I don't see any worse situation. If I took notes for a letter, start

to draft a letter and have it typed, does it matter whether I date the letter ivom the

time I took the notes or from the time it is typed ?

Mr. Carvell:

Q. I suppose the substance of all this is, the letter was ante-dated?—A. Actually

written on Monday and possibly dated back to Saturday? Is that the idea?—A.

Possibly. .
•

Mr. Barker.—That is not ante-dated.

The Witness.—That is not ante-dated. If I am out on the work—the fact of the

matter is when I got to Bell's camp I had not intended to come out and I heard some-

thing from Bell that changed a whole lot of my ideas.

By Mr. Carvell:

Q. Am I not right in assuming that this letter was actually written on Monday
and dated back to Saturday?—A. Possibly. Let me see the date it was received?

(After examining letter) . K.eceived on the 18th, This is a statement of fact, whether
written on that day or typed

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Oh, no, you have given us absolute proof that it could not have been typed in

the office at Kenora on the 14th. You draw a distinction between a letter that is

typed and written?—A. What distinction do you draw?
Q. I am not drawing a distinction, I am asking you a question. You have given

us proof it could not have been written on the 14th in your office at Kenora because

you were not there A. Well
Q. Allow me. You have shown you were not there A. Yes.

Q. Until late in the afternoon, in any event, and none of your staff were there?

—A. Yes.

Q. Even if you had been there it could not have been typed*. Now, I want to

know why this letter is dated Kenora, September 14th, when obviously it was written

after that date?—A. Typewritten.
Mr. HoDGiNS.—Typed you mean.
The Witness.—Typed on a machine. When I got up to Bell's camp—that is the

date I took the notes—when I got to Bell's camp, I had left Mcintosh the night before
with Heaman at Parson's camp and I had objected to" his classification, and I told

Mcintosh, and I also told Heaman, that they were both to go back over the work and
reclassify, and I expected the classification in the September estimate to be satisfac-

tory to all parties concerned. At the end of Mcintosh's work, at the end of the piece

I had been inspecting, there (was a sand cut and that cut was on Bell's residency
and it was late in the evening when we got there. But I could not understand the
classification that Mcintosh gave me, some of the August classification that was
there. I think he said that Bell had made the classification. I found there was a
fill, a cutting. To the east of this fill was 'a rock cutting covered with a stripping, a
certain amount of stripping, which had been taken out some time previously. I for-

get the number of yards in that stripping. That number of yards had been returned
previously as loose rock, it had been in the July estimate—I think it was 2,000 odd
yards—and the July estimate had been put into solid rock. When I got across to the
other side I found that in the sand cut a smaller number of yards of sand had been
returned as loose rock. If I had that exhibit I had the other day with some of these
notes on and if I had a {profile here I could explain it. In this sand cut I found
there was a certain number of yards of sand had been returned as loose rock.

Q. Pardon me. Major, I d.on't want to interrupt you if you are answering the
question about the diate, but up to the present I cannot see (what all this refers to.

I cannot see how all this refers to the subject of this letter?—A. What question
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do you want answered, the date? I started to write the letter when I got to Bell's

camp with the intention of forwarding it on and I changed my mindi and did not

continue my trip west but came out.

By Mr. Hodgins :

Q. What did you do with the letter ?—A. That is the bulk of it in the letter

therte. I had taken all these notes previously. The fact of the matter is I could

hiave dated that letter—these notes on the back of this letter were taken, I think,

on the day before.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. Well then, this letter, though dated September 14th, I understand you to

say in reply to Mr. Carvell was written on Mondjay, September 16th ?—A. Typed
Q. Typewritten ?—A. Let m.e see what date it was received in Ottawa and we

can determine what date it left my office ?

Q. September 18th ?—A. It is a long letter. September 18th. Yes, possibly it

was.

Q. Do you remember whether it was written on the 16th or not ?—A. I cannot

recall it just now.

Q. \ou cannot recall it now. In any event it cannot have been written or tyi>e-

written on the 14th?—A. Oh typewritten?

Q. It cannot have been typewritten on the 14th?---A. Cannot have been type-

written on the 14th.

Q. And prior to this being written you had received notice of dismissal from
Mr. Lumsden on Sunday ?—A. Oh I see.

Q. Is that not a fact ?—A. 'No. What does the letter contain ? Notes ?

Q. You know what the letter contains ?—A. Did I keep on the line after I re-

ceived Mr. Lumsden's letter ?

Q. I cannot tell you. Major, you know whether jou dlid or not ?—A. I did not.

Q. In any event this letter, the typewriting of this letter, succeeded the receipt

by you of the letter from Mr. Lumsden notifying you of your dismissal?—A.

Exactly, according to thes.e dates.

Q. According to these dates. Well now why did! you not date this letter Sep-

tember 16th when it was being typewritten ?—A. Why should I ?

Q. Because that is the date it was typewritten, that is the date it was sent ?

—

A. I want to know what reason you had for dating this letter September 14th when
it was not typewritten until September 16th ?—A. Because I took the notes on that

date.

Q. You have told us you took the notes previous to September 14th?—A. Xo,

pardon me. I started that letter, started to seiid that letter on from Bell's.

Q. Now is it not the fact, Major, that the sending of this letter, the typewrit-

ing of it, as you call it, on September 16th was due to the fact that you had re-

ceived the letter from Mr. Lumsden the d.'ay before ? Is not that the fact ?—A. I

don't know.

Q. Will you swear it is not ?—A. I don't see that it will make any ditTerence.

Q. I am not asking you tli^at ?—A. When was I relieved ?

Q. I cannot answer that question, Major ?—A. No.

Q. What is your ?—A. My answer is that I took tho notes, I started to

draft the letter on the date given there.

Q. 15ut you took the notes prior to Septend>er 14th did you not ?—A. Some of

them.

Q. Yes ?

—

A. You don't start to write your letters before you get your notea

finished ?

Major IIodgixs.
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Q. Well I don't know what your practice is, I only know that you have dated

the letter on a date on which it was not typewritten and I am asking you the

reason why ?—A. Well I am endeavouring to explain.

Q. Now i's it not the fact that you datedj the letter September 14th, although

it was typewritten bn Monday, September 16th, simply because in the interval you

had received a letter from Mr. Lumsden containing notice of your dismissal ?—A.

I cannot say that.

Q. Is not this letter of September 14th, filed as Exhibit 6, the first letter of the

kind that you had sent in findling fault with this work ?—A. Oh dear no.

Q. Are there any other letters?—A. I have found fault with the classification in

previous letters, I think, if you will look them up.

Q. Is this the first letter, the letter dated September 14th, in which you specifi-

cally found fault with this work on Mcintosh's division?—^A. Specifically?

Q. Yes?—A. Yes.

Q. And was it not just about that time, or a few days prior to that, that Mc-
intosh had taken away those questions that you had given him to answer about Grant

and had not signed them and had not returned them to you ?—A. He was to type them
out and send them down to my office.

Q. And he had not done so?—A. No.

Q. And if I am not mistaken there is a letter from you here explaining that you
were unable to get over to see him?—A. Yes*.

Q. That all happened about the same time?—A. All about the same time. I
don't know what the date of that letter was.

Q. Now, the notes to which you have just been referring, I think Exhibit 8, were
spoken of in your examination-in-ehief, and reading from them you said that they

were made between the 12th and the 14th September, and that you decided that 400
yards of material mentioned in your notes should be loose rock?—A. What station

was that, 4,009?

Q. I don't remember the station, but I have the statement?—A. There is one
note here (referring to exhibit) 400 yards of loose rock was turned into solid rock
and I turned it back into loose with the note ' Too^much waste.'

Q. And that also is mentioned in this letter of September 14th?—^A. Yes..

Q. Written under the circumstances we have just been speaking of. Now, fur-

ther on in your examination at page 145 of the evidence, you stated that you told

Mcintosh to reclassify the work and that you would not make the classification ?—A.
Certainly not.

Q. Was not that your duty?—A. Pardon me, no.

Q. Not your duty?—A. Indeed no.

Q. Why not?—A. It is not the duty of the district engineer to make classifica-

tion, it is the duty of the resident engineer to make classification and consult with
the division engineer.

Q. Then when Mcintosh did what you told him to do why did you change the
classification?—A. Because it was wrong.

Q. Well then were you not making the classification ?—A. No, I was correcting it.

Q. You were correcting it. Very well, why did you not correct it afterwards?

—

A. Do you understand how classification is made?

Q. Well, I have been getting some information from you. Major, about it, but I

really don't know that I understand it?—A. I don't think you do.

Q. Well, I am afraid that we are not making progress ?—A. It takes a long time
to make it clear.

Q. I don't think that I really understand it yet?—A. I don't think you do, it

takes a long time to make classification.

Q'. It did in District *E,' evidently.—A. Do not make such remarks about Dis-

trict ' F,' please, because you do not know.
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Q. Was it not your duty to give directions to your subordinate engineers?—^A.

Exactly.

Q. Why didn't you do so?—A. I did do so.

Q. Your instructions consisted merely in telling him he would have to re-

classify?—A. Exactly.

Q. But you gave him no assistance nor instructions how to do it?—A. Wouldn't
you, under those conditions, if the man had originally classified certain materials,

common excavation and loose rock, and you went on the work and saw it was common
excavation and loose rock and not solid rock, would you not tell him to do that ?

Q. Any man could tell him to do it over again.—A'. When this classification was
not satisfactory.

Q. Yes, but you gave him no assistance beyond telling him to reclassify?—A. It

is not the duty of the district engineer to do so; if you had a man in your office,

Mr. Murphy, and he drew up a deed or a will, or something like that, and did it

wrong, and ought to have done it right, you would tell hiixi to go and do it properly,

if you knew that he was capable of doing it right?

Q. I do not know that I would, I think I would do it myself.—A. Well, it is a

simple thing to draw up a document, of course.

Q. It may be, but your illustration is not very practical just nowj, that is my
idea about your work A. Yes, but you are a lawyer and not an engineer.

Q. I may tell you that we are all at that disadvantage, the committee and, myself.

—A. Any one of these engineers will tell you that if you are going to reclassify a

certain cutting you must have all the information you can get out of the men on the

work, you must examine the resident and division engineers, and must look at the

cuttings, you may have to make measurements and all that, and how much time has

the district engineer to do that if he has to go over 11 or 12 miles?

Q. It seems to me that you are furnishing the very best proof that Mcintosh's

classification was right, you say you hadn't the time to go over these things yourself?

—A. Surely a man of my experience can tell whether it is right or wrong.

Q. What data have you on which to tell that?—A. The data is in the back of

my head.

Q. And without being out on the work you can correct this man, whom you told

to reclassify, and who was out on the work and knew all about it ?—A. Yes, I toH him
right, those were correct instructions.

Q. To re-classify?—A. Yes, that the classification was wrong, I thought it was
wrong, I knew it was wrong, and it had to be corrected.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I think I should call attention to the letters of September 7and 0,

from Mr. Hodgins to Mr. Lumsden protesting against the classification.

Mr. Murphy.—I had those in mind, in which he said he specifically drew attention
to the matter.

Mr. Hodgins.—He specifically drew attention to it in those letters. Exhibit No.
11 and 12, on page 152 and 154 of the evidence.

A. I told Mr. Mcintosh to go over that work again, to take nil the time ho wanted
to re-classify it. I think, Mr. Murphy, the chief engineer ought to be here and discuss
this question with me.

Q. Now in this* dispute between you and Mr. Mcintosh, Major, did the inter-

pretation

Mr. Hodgins.—What dispute do you refer to ?

Mr. MuRPiiY.—About this work.
Mr. Hodgins.—I haven't hoard any dispute.
Mr. Murphy.—There was a difference of opinion, the M'Ajor has told us about that.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. In this difference of opinion between you and ]\[r. Mcintosh about the classi-

!^^AJOR HODCIXS.
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fication of the work on his division did the question of the interpretation of the

specifications come up ?—A. Yes, I -presume so.

Q. Did the question of the interpretation of clause 33 come up?—A. What is

clause 33?

Q. (read):
" Grading will be commonly classified under the following heads :

' solid rock

excavation/ ' loose rock ' and ' common excavation.'

A. Yes, that is all we had to go on.

Q. Now, did the interpretation of clause 34, which is as follows

:

' Solid rock excavation will include all rock found in ledges or masses of more
than one cubic yard, which, in the judgement of the engineer, may be best removed

by blasting.'

Was the interpretation of that clause in issue between you and Mr. Mcintosh?

—

A. No.

Q. No? Was it applicable to the dispute or discussion, or the difference of

opinion between you?—A. At that time, no.

Q. Not at that time ?—A. There was no question of the word ' masses ' in those

days. Will you bring down the file of documents with the chief engineer's opinion

Q. Just a moment, we will get ahead with these things faster by proceeding-

more regular. Then I direct your attention to clause 35 of the specifications, (reads)

:

All large stones and boulders measuring more than one cubic foot and less than

one cubic yard, and all loose rock whether in siti^or otherwise, that may be removed by
hand, pick or bar, all cemented gravel, indurated clay and other materials, that cannot

In the judgment of the engineer, be plowed with a 10 inch grading plow, behind a team
of six horses, properly handled, and without the necessity of blasting, although blast-

ing may be occasionally resorted to, shall be classified as loose rock.'

A. Yes.

Q. That is loose rock?—A. Yes.

Q. Was the interpretation of that clause in issue between you and Mcintosh?

—

A. No.

Q. There was no issue between you ?—A. The transferring of common excavation
and loose rock into the column of solid rock.

Q. Well, admitting that to be the case, then some of these clauses in the specific-

ation must have been an issue, Mcintosh must have had one opinion about the inter-

pretation and you must have had another ?—A. No, we all had the same opir ion as to

the interpretation of these specifications.

Q. Was there any solid rock in question?—A. No do you mean solid rock in

ledges or boulders ?

Q. I mean in this discussion between you and Mcintosh?—A. We did not discuss

the specification.

Q. You ultimately get back to the specification on which you entertained you say,

the same opinions.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. What is the answer to that question, was there any issue^on the solid rock?

—

A. No, Mr. Mcintosh was defending this transfer more on account of the cost, I

think, if you look up some of my notes you will find

Q. Was this question of solid rock an issue between you and Mcintosh, that is

what I would like to know?—A. No; he defended his classification in that way, and
said it should have been returned before. I said :

' Why ? ' and he said :
' Well, it

costs as much as solid rock,' or words to that effect. I understand now, from the second
opinion given by Mr. Lumsden, that it would, or might, come in the class of solid rock.

I have not read Mr. Lumsden's opinion very carefully.

Mr. Barker.—We do not want to know what at present is Mr. Lumsden's opinion
^just give your own evidence.



MINUTES OF EVIDENCE 299

APPENDIX No. 5

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Was that a question at issue between you?—A. You see that is where the

complicated operations of the inquiry come in; we were working under one interpreta-

tion in those days and the engineers are working under another interpretation at the

present time.

By the Chairman:

Q. Do you mean to say you had a different opinion as to the allocation of the

classification?—A. No.

Q. Because it seems to me it all depends upon the interpretation given to this

clause of the specification?—A. If I had a knowledge of what is contained in certain

documents in there it would have altered the question entirely, or might have ; I have
not examined the work with these new ideas in my head, and I have not quite got the

new ideas in my head either.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Taking your own explanation now A. We have to work back and discuss

this question as it appeared to both Mcintosh and myself in those days.

Q. Taking, your own opinion, it was one of the usual differences of opinion be-

tween engineers?—A. It was an unusual difference of opinion.

Q. Unusual, do you mean, in your case?—A. No, in Mcintosh's case.

Q, But usual in yours ?—A. We would have had to have gone over the whole line

and put all the stripping into solid rock in every other engineer's division.

Q. You say that had been done?—A. No, it would have had to be done.

Q. I do not comprehend your answer?—A. This was described as stripping which
is not solid rock, or it was not in those days, and it was not customary to return it

as solid rock. If it had been returned in portions of one division as solid rock it

ought to have been returned on the other four or five divisions.

Q. Now, Major, will you give us your interpretation of that clause ' solid rock,'

what you understand by that?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I submit that would be governed entirely by the specifications.

Mr. Murphy.—I am asking him his opinion on it; it is a matter of interpreta-

tion.

A. (Eeads) :

—

' Solid rock excavation will include all rock found in ledges or masses of more
than one cubic yard, which, in the judgment of the engineer, may be best removed by
blasting.'

That is, solid rock in ledges and solid rock in masses, in my opinion.

Q. That is jyour jinterpretaljion of clause 34?^—A. Yes; I would !nqt include

cemented gravel or cemented boulders, unless they were rock.

By the Chairman:

Q. Then you do not agree with the interpretation given by that clause there ^—A.

Which clause?

Q. Clause 34, is it?—A. That is my interpretation of it.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. IIow do you interpret that 34?—A. Solid rock will include all rock found in

ledges or masses of solid rock.

Q. That is the only interpretation you give?—A. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Carvell:

Q. You would add to that boulders, wouldn't you?—A. A bouTder would be a

mass of solid rock.

Major Hodgins.
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By Mr. BarJcer:

Q. It always means solid rock, always ?—A. I take it that is the whole thing, the

word there is solid rock.

By the Chairman:

Q. I want to know what is your interpretation of this clause 34, ' which, in the

judgment of the engineer, may be best removed by blasting what do you say is the

interpretation of that ?—A. I say it referred only to solid rock—to solid rock, boulder

or mass, or solid rock in ledges.

By Mr. Barher:

Q. It must be a boulder of a particular size ?—A. It must be rock.

By Mr. Murphy:

^ Q. What about boulders in mass. Major, would you consider they come under that

clause, in your interpretation of that clause?—A. Boulders in mass?

Q. Yes ?—A. Well, if the individual boulder was a cubic yard, I would say it was
solid rock; if it was not, I would not.

Q. It would have to be a cubic yard or over?—A. A cubic yard or over.

Q. Now, would your definition include conglomerate rock, or what I am informed

is called *plum pudding stone'?—A. That is a rock that is not often found in this

country. I have not seen any of it on the district yet.

Q. I am not asking you that. I am asking you about the interpretation you put

upon it; would it include that?—A. If it was rock, it would. That is what I con-

sider ' plum pudding rock,' it is the same as rock cemented together, fused together.

I do not know how to explain it in the geological term, but it would be rock, two or

three smaller boulders and whatever has cemented it together, it would be rock.

Q. Then if it were of that character it would be included in your interpretation

of that clause?—^A. It would be rock, but I have never seen what I call plum pud-

ding rock, only an occasional boulder there.

Q. That is you have not met it on District ^ is that what you mean?—A. Not
in this country.

Q. Would your interpretation of Clause 34 include the detached rock in mass over

one cubic yard?—A. Oh, yes, that would be rock.

Q. It would be?—A. Yes, no matter whether it is detached ledge or detached

ledge rock in mass over one cubic yard?—A. Oh, yes, that would be rock.

Q. It would be?—A. Yes, no matter whether it is detached ledge or detached

boulders, if it is over a yard.

Q. Would your interpretation of Clause 34 also include rock in mass, I believe

you call it cemented rock of over one cubic yard?—A. There again it has to be

measured, the rock in the mass would have to be measured.

Of. Well, whether measured or dealt with in any other way would your interpre-

tation include it?—A. Well, the individual pieces of rock there would have to be

measured, if they were over one cubic yard—but you are giving me a catch question,

and in order to get down to this properly you have to be out on the work, and when
you come up to the problem you have to solve it.

Q. You can give us your interpretation of the clause in the specification without
being out on the work ?—A. I am giving you the literal interpretation, I know I have
not read these legal opinions very closely.

Q. I am asking you for an engineering opinion, and you have told us one problem
you met with on Mcintosh's work, and when you met it you ran away from it and
didn't decide it?—A. I decided it.

Q. You told him to reclassify it, and you Jiave told us that the men on the work
were the best qualified to do that ?—A. There was no running away from it, he is the

man who signs the .estimate, I had not seen them before I got them from him
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Q. There was a problem, as you phraseid it, there?—A. There was no problem.

Q. What was it, a difference of opinion?—A. It was ordinary practice.

Q. Well, then, would the interpretation that you have given us of Clause 34
include shale rock, * which in the opinion of the engineer can best be removed by

blasting'?—^A. There is no shale in that country.

Q. I am not asking you about the country, but about the interpretation of the

specification and what it covers ?—A. Shale is of different degrees of hardness, I think

myself shale ought to go in a different classification. I have seen shale rock that)

could be removed by a pick.

By the Chairman:

Q. You say there is none of that class of rock in your district, da you know
whether there was any in Quebec district or not?—^A. No.

Q. Have you gone over it enough to find out?—A. I have only seen a small por-

tion of it.

Q. So that you cannot say whether there is any in Quebec or not?—A. I do not

know anything about Quebec; from what I know of tihis work it is mostly of granite.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. I am told that there is rock of this character found in a few places?—A. I

haven't seen it; in some of the clay cuts I have seen a few layers of mud that thick

(illustrating) but there are various shales, all sorts of shales you will find in differ-

ent parts of the country.

Q. Does your interpretation cover this kind of shale rock that I have asked you
about?—A. What is that?

Q. ^ Which in the judgment of the engineer can be best removed by blasting'?

—A. Yes, if it requires blasting.

Q. Your interpretation of Clause 34 would include that?—A. Shale is rock but

I never came across any up there.

Q. You never came across any you say, when there ?—A. Not in rock, in layers.

Q. I am informed it has been met with in considerable quantities when they went
down a piece?—A. I have not seen it.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Would you be good enough to tell us as to whether or not your definition of

that clause in the specification is your view of its meaning, as you understan^d it now,
or whether that was the view you entertained in August and September last.—A. Well,

that is my view of it now, if I were under the chief engineer I would have to accept

his view, that is a different matter.

Q. That is your view now, but it is not the view you entertained in August last?

—^A. Yes, this has always been my view.

Q. I noticed yesterday you said that since you 'had read the legal opinions upon
this question of the construction of the specification you had considerably modified

your views?—A. Well, not my interpretation of this clause; when one reads the

opinion of legal men in this country, eminent counsel, we should go into the question

that they have raised and study it.

Q. In what respect?—A. I just glanced over thoiu, I have not road tiliom

thoroughly.

Q. In what respect have your views been modified as a result of the iiu^poction

of those opinions ?—A. My views have not been modified, but the question is a

different one now. When I was there the ofpinion of Mr. Lumsdcn. whose opinion
is supreme on the question of interpretation, appeared to be the same as my own,
that I have given just now; that was his opinion as far as I understood it. The
question had never come up, this word ' mass ' has only come up since I was there,

and since then Mr, Lumsdcn has changed his opinion and given possibly tlic opinion

Major IIodgins.
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that Mr. Murphy is reading from, therefore all the engineers on tlie road must be
governed by that opinion now, whether they think it right or wrong.

Q. Do I understand you to say that these subordinate engineers at that time
took the view that Mr. Lumsden did, and these local gentlemen took another ?—A.
There was no question of that, the argument wasn't even raised, as I understand
it ; now the question of ' mass '

Q. Now the question of mass, but you said the whole trouble was classification,

but apparently these gentlemen, Mr. Lumsden and the legal gentlemen, entertained

one view and you entertained another ?—A. 'No, Mr. Lumsden, at th^ time I was
there, entertained the same view as I did; the whole question of classification is

since I was up there.

Q. Then it is not correct to say you have modified your views ? In any resjpect,

that is what I wanted! to ask ?—A. No, I am talking yesterday—

—

Q. You said yesterday, ^When I wrote that letter I had heard there was som.e

dispute about the wording of the specification, but I had no knowledge of any legal

opinions on it—since I have read these legal opinions I have considerably modified

^ ' Q. Modified your views ?—A. My views,' Yes—I have not modified my views
of the interpretation, it is a very interesting question and I would like to see it

argued) out.

Q. This is really a question of engineering after all ?—A. Yes, it is, it prac-

tically amounts to this, it is a question of the meaning of the words and phrases

in that specification ; I noticed that some of the legal opinions said, ' May be
best removed by continual or occasional blasting.' There is no reference to ' con-

tinual or occasional ' blasting in this specification.

By Mr. Barlcer :

Q. Did Mclntoshi in making his original estimate agree with you also ?—A. Oh
yes.

Q. In the original return ?—A. There was no difference of opinion between

Mcintosh and I

Q. Just answer my question, please. In his original return did,' he adopt the

same views of classification as you did ?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Macdormld :

Q. Did he always do that ?—A. I presume so, this was the first time I dis-

covered he hadi not.

^j. Which was the first time ?—A. Well, the transfer of so many yards of com-
mon excavation and loose rock.

Q. Well, what date was that ?—A. July.

Q. Have you personally insjpected the part of the work where this dispute arose

in July ?—A. No, in July—I was there in July—but it was before that estimate

was changed. I was down in Quebec the most of the month, I was not out on thjp

work at all that month.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. Do you know Mr. Mcintosh's interpretation of the specification ?—A. Now ?

Q. Yes ?—A. No, I have not asked him. His argument for making the trans-

fer was on account of its costing as much as solid rock.

Q. When you said, in answer to Mr. Macdonald, that your interpretation had
agreed with his I assumed then that that was based merely on the fact that there

hadn't been any difference of opinion between you.—A. The question had never

come up.

Q. But you did not, at that time, as a matter of fact, know what his interpre?

tation of the specification was, through having asked him.—A. We dad not discuss

it. He raised that classification and put that material into the solid rock column,
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not on these specifications, but because he thought it ought to go in as solid rock,

fer was on account of its costing as much as solid rock.

By the Chairman :

Q. Then he must have differed with you on the interpretation of the clause as

of specification ?—A. We never brought it in as solicj* rock.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. You never discussed the application of this clause of the specification ?—
A. To that particular piece ? i

Q. With Mclntoshi ?—A. It simply was not solid rock. The only argument he

could put up was not as being solid I rock but that it (was costing about as much as

solid rock.

Q. I am asking you did you, or didi you not, discuss this clause of the specific

cation with Mcintosh ?—A. Yes, all the engineers would come in—I can remember
no particular time—but they often come in and we would discuss things generally,

but I could not quote particular instances.

Q. Did you ever give Mcintosh your interpretation of this clause of the speci'

fications ?—A. Possibly, yes.

Q. Well, did you ?—A. I fancy so, if the question came up.

Q. Did you or did you not?—A. 1 cannot remember any particular time, but I

am pretty certain in saying yes.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Was it m writing?—A. I do not remember it was in writing.

By Mr. Murphy:

v^. Did you give any interpretation to any other of the engineers in writing ?—

•

A. I say it was quite common for the engineers to ask questions—that is three yeara

ago, and we discussed endless questions.

Q. I am asking you if you did give your interpretation in writing?—A. I do not

remember.

Q. Would your interpretation of clause 34 include small rock, cemented, requir-

ing blasting?—A. You mean cemented gravel?

Q. Small rock I was asking you about ?—A. Small rock. What size of small rock ?

Q. Boulders?—A. What size would you include?—A. I would include the boulder

if it was over a yard as solid rock; if under a yard it was loose rock.

Q. Then the consideration that would influence you in that case would be the

size?—A. Yes, it mentions a yard measurement. It gives a yard specifically, says it

requires the measurement of one cubic yard.

Q. That is what influenced your interpretation in that case?—A. Yes. You see

as I told you yesterday, the specification for loose rock is too severe in my mind and
there should have been on that work in district ' F '—the character of the country
really demanded a fourth price material in there. That loose rock specification was

—

Q. Was that the one which you covered by what you say about ' mntorial best

removed by blastiug'?—A. Well it would have been—I never went into the excava-

tion.

Q. Or would you call that material? What material would you say that would
apply to 'material best removed by blasting'?—A. Well, you soo all material is best

removed by blasting. In some cases it is best to—in an earth cut for instance it is

best to put in a blast to shake it up; it saves picking.

Q. In such a case as that would your interpretation of clause ;U cover it ?—A. Xo.
Q. Well, does your explanation go to this. Major ?—A. What way?
Q. You have .I'ust explained about putting in a blast in an cartli cut?— A. Yes.

Q. Give us an interiu-etation of one of those clauses, an illnstration ?—A. Well,

^[ajor IIodgixs.



304 SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON MAJOR H0DGIN8' CHARGES

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

you see that cut could be easily—that earth cut could be easily ploughed. I am
speaking now of an earth cut. There is no dispute about common excavation, there ia

no dispute about it, the contractor can plough that.

Q. There could not be any issue about that at all?—A. It is cheaper instead of

ploughing it to put in a blast and shake it up.

Q. I see?—A. Contractors will tell you that.

Q. Well now ?—A. It is very often done in the west. But that clause 35 ia

a heart breaking one.

By the Chairman:

Q. Is what?—A. A heart breaking one. The plough test is a very difficult test

to judge properly.

Q. In your examination-in-chief when speaking about your interview with Mr.
Lumsden in Winnipeg you stated that you had told him that you had noticed a jump
in solid rock and that the only way you could account for it was that somebody had

suggested a more liberal return than you could approve?—A. Will you give me the

^ Exhibit?

Q. That is to be found at page 150 of the evidence. Do you remember stating

that?—A. I would like to have the Exhibit. I referred to it. It is a list of

Q. Here is what I mean (reads) :

^ Q. What discussion took place between you and him as to these July estimates ?

—A. I said I had noticed that there were several cases where the solid rock estimates

had jumped in that month but of the usual average and the only way I could account

for it was that somebody had suggested to the men, t¥ie engineers on the line, to return

solid rock with more liberality than I was inclined to do.'

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Where is the Exhibit?

Mr. Murphy.—I am not asking about the Exhibit, I am asking about that state-

ment.
The Witness.—^I want to find the paper I based that on (Exhibit produced).

That is the one I think. What is your question Mr. Murphy?

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. I am referring you to the evidence you gave in answer to your counsel and
I have read you your reply to his questions contained on page 134, and I direct your
attention to your statement; the only way you could account for it was that somebody
had suggested to the men, the engineers on the line, to return solid rock with more
liberality than you were inclined to do?—A. Yes.

Q. No, how do you know that anybody made any such suggestion?—A. Yes.

What is the date of that interview?

Q. It was your interview with Mr. Lumsden in August last?—A. Yes.

Q. Do you know that anybody had made any such suggestion?—A. Of increas-

ing the solid rock?

Q. I will read this to you again (reads)

:

* Q. What discussion took place between you and him as to these July estimates ?

—A. I said I had noticed that there were several cases where the solid rock esti-

mates had jumped in that month out of the usual average and the only way I could

account for it was that somebody had suggested to the men, the engineers on the line,

to return solid rock with more liberality than I was inclined to do.

'

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Read the next question.

Mr. MuRPHY.^—I am not going to do so.

Q. Do you recall that?—A. Yes.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—It is unfair to the witness.

Mr. Murphy.—^Now my learned friend will permit me to cross-examine the wit-

ness.

Q. Do you remember giving that evidence?—A. Yes,

Q. Now do you know whether Grant made any such suggestion as you indicate
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there?—A. I had heard from some of the engineers—in my discussion with him in

my office, just after he had made his inspection, he suggested that the classification

should be increased.

Q. He suggested, you say, that the classification should be increased?—A. Yes.

Q. Did he say how or where?—A. By using force account. We discussed the

question of force account as an aid to classification.

Q. Yes, that is not the suggestion you refer to is it?—A. 'No, it is an inference..

My statement there is an inference that I came to on getting his document I had in

my possession here.

Q. I see. It is only an inference deduced from the returns compiled for you

by Mr. Euddick in your office?—A. Yes, I asked him to make out these things. I

showed that in

Q. Never mind we have that?—A. Did you get the solid rock?

Q. Yes, we have all that filed and taken down. Now following the answer I have

just directed your attention to, when you were putting in those figures contained in

Exhibit 8, you said that all these figures should be taken in connection with force

account too?—A. All which figures?

Q. The ones you had been reading?

Ml*. HoDGiNS.—^At what page?
Mr. Murphy.—At page 151 of the evidence.

The Witness.—^Yes, force account.

Q. All these figures should be taken in connection with force account too?—A.
—Yes.

Q. Just explain what you mean by that?—A, Increased force means yards, that

would mean you would have to make a deduction, a general deduction. Increased force

on the work would mean increased yards

Q. Yes?—A. Moved. It ought to be.

Q. Would you just explain a little more fully, major, what that reply of yours
means :

^ All these figures should be taken in connection with the force account too.

'

—A. Yes. Well, one would have to get to work and find out the number of yards

of rock moved by the men per day or per month in either of these months that I

have given here. It would be rather a long calculation to make.

Q. Yes, but I want to know what is the bearing?—A. The general bearing is

that—^take for instance the common excavation moved in June, for the month of

June.

Q. Yes?—A. 11,942 yards.

Q. Yes?—A. There were so many men moving that.

Q. Yes?—A. Now in the month of July there were only 385 yards moved so a

lesser number of men would have moved that. In the month of August 14,000 yards

moved, so a very much increased number of men would have moved that. But in

order to get these figures we would have—for the date when the extra men or the

lesser number of men would work, we would have to have the force account for the

months.

Q. And I suppose it would also depend upon the weather?—A. Yes.

Q. As to the time they were able to work?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. If you will pardon me, Mr. Murphy; what is your theory about the condition
of afiiairs there last summer? You say that down to July there was no fault to be
found with the classification that was made by the District and Resident Engineers
under you?—A. No.

Q. Do I understand that?—A. Yes.

Q. You say that in July the classification of these engineers was being made
differently from that you thought was proper?—A. Yes, on two divisions.

5—20
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Q. On two divisions only? Then as regards tlie rest of the divisions, it was all

right?—A. Yes. There were probably one or two plaees, I think, it was increased a

little.

Q. Now, do I understand yon to say that you regarded this increased classification

as being due to the incorrect judgment of the engineers or to some improper influence

that was exercised on them?—A. Well, it was—I put it down to Mr. Grant's

Q. You say—I only want to find out, because there will be a time in this inquiry

when we will have to get down to the first principles—you gay that when Mr. Grant
came on the scene he exercised an influence over the engineers in these two districts,

which caused them to increase the classification?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, do you say that influence of Mr. Grant was due to a difference of opinion

between you and him as to how rock or other material should be properly classified or

whether it was due to an improper A. I cannot

Q. Idea on his part?—A. I cannot accuse him of having an improper idea.

Q. You could not accuse him of having exercised an improper idea?—A. I say it

is a wrong idea.

Q. That is, you and he simply disagreed?—A. Yes.

Q. And he took a view that you did not agree wath?—A. Yes.

Q. That is the position in which matters stood at the time previous to your leav-

ing the commission?—A. Yes.

Q. That is all you say about that at that time, is it?—A. Yes.

Mr. Macdonald.—Well^ I just wanted to know in order to understand.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Now, when were these notes contained in Exhibit 8, which you have in your

hand, compiled?—A. It is Exhibit 10.

Q. When were these notes compiled?—A. I think I had them compiled in July,

and then I had them compiled again in August. There is no date on them.

Q. Compiled first in July and then added to and carried up to a date in August?
—A. Yes.

Q. Is that correct?—A. I think so, yes.

Q. By Mr. Ruddick?—A. Yes, I think it is Mr. Ruddick's writing, I am not cer-

tain. It would be one of the men in the ofiice.

Q. When did you have that compilation made?—A. I think it was when I found
that sudden jump in the July estimate.

Q. That was the first time you had these made ?—A. Oh, I have compiled them at

various other times, but probably not at such great length as these—more to find out

what progress, how much work was being moved.

Q. You think these notes were compiled in July ?—A. It would be done in August
—the first of August. At least the July work would be done early in August and the

August work would be done later.

Q. At page 155 of the evidence I see the translation of a cipher telegram, dated

September 22nd, sent by you to the chief engineer. It is marked Exhibit 14, and is

as follows (reads) :

—

* If Mcintosh tries to justify his classification refer to Mann and Heaman. Ask
Mcintosh how much experience he has had in classification, what position he held prior

to joining Transcontinental Railway. Ask Grant same questions ; both records would
be interesting. If their opinion is against Mann's, Heaman's and mine, re-classifica^

tion divisions 5 and 6 is absolutely necessary.'

Now, why did you ask the chief engineer to refer to Mann and Heaman?—A.
Mcintosh telegraphed me that he was going down. I did not know anything about it.

I was still district engineer and I had not been relieved, and I considered it necessary

for the chief engineer to know both sides of the question.

Q. Mr. Mann and Heaman—at least Mann at that time was employed on the

Grand Trunk Pacific?—A. Yes.
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Q. And Heaman?—A. On the Transcontinental.

Q. In the employ of the Transcontinental, and had been your assistant?—A. Yes,

was my assistant at the time.

Q. And that was your reason for asking the chief engineer to refer to Mann and

Heaman, was it?—A. Yes.

Q. That was your only reason?—A. Yes; those two men knew the circumstances

and the conditions of the work and the classification in dispute.

Q. And the July estimate, as I understand, was made up the latter part of July

and signed by you about the 1st August ?—A. It would come, yes, it would come to

my office. They vary. They were due in Ottawa by the 8th. They had to be collected

by the division engineer.

Q. That was after the date of Mr. Grant's report? His report is dated July 23rd?

—A. I think I had just arrived from the east in time to sign tnose estimates.

Q. You passed them, as you said in your evidence, and that was after the date of

Mr. Grant's report?—A. Yes, I had come back from Ottawa.

Q. And after you had put in your own report?—A. Yes.

Q. Dated July 31st? Now, a little further on, at page 166 of the evidence, you
spoke about an interview that you had with a Mr. Dutton, whom you described, I
believe, as a sub-contractor?—A. Yes, one of McArthur's principal sub-contractors.

By Mr. Barher:

Q. Had you any instructions from the commissioners to act in co-operation with
Mann?—A. Oh, yes. He was to act in joining supervision with me. That was an
agreement with the Grand Trunk Pacific. I had a letter to that effect when Mr. Mann
came down.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. You have told us, at page 164 of the evidence, that you first passed Mcintosh's

classifications in the July estimates?—A. That is this classification that was after-

wards struck out?

Q. Yes?—A. Yes.

Q. And you said that Dutton was inclined to find fault with Willett and Mac-
farlane?—A. Yes.

Q. For not classifying as high as the classification in Mcintosh's division?—A.

Yes, he said, 'If Mcintosh gives the classification high, why can't yoiT.'

Q. Well, now was tSiat exactly what Dutton said?—A. Yes, something like that.

Q. Your words as reported at page 166 of the evidence are as follows :

—

' Mr. Dutton was rather inclined to abuse these two engineers for not classifying

as high as had been classified on Mr. Mcintosh's division.'

A. Yes.

Q. Now, what did he actually say?—A. Well, he told them that—he was finding

great fault, I think it was with Macfarlane's classification and Willett's.

Q. And you say that his complaint was, ' That they did not classify as high as

had been classified in Mr. Mcintosh's division ' ?—A. Something like that.

Q. What did Dutton know about the classification in Mcintosh's division?—A.

Dutton you see had 60 miles and it went over Mcintosh's and ^racfarlnno's division.

Q. Yes?—A. So some of his subs came in from Mcintosh's and some from Mac-
farlane's—principally on Macfarlane's—but a portion of Dutton's mileage went over

on Mcintosh's division. That is how he knew.

Q. That would be how he knew. Then speaking of the same interview with Mv.

Lumsden on the occasion when you went to Winnipeg with him, you told us that

it was arranged that if Mr. Lumsden came to Ottawa and saw the board with reference

to your suggestion as to the employment of force account, he was to send you a wire?

—A. Yes.

Major Hodgixs.

5—20i



308 SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON MAJOR HODGINS' CHARGES

7-8 EDWARD VI!., A. 1908

Q. Did you have such a wire?—A. Yes.

Q. Have you got it ?—^A. No, I have not got it.

Q. I am going to produce and file a letter to you:

—

EXHIBIT No. 34.

August 24, 1907.

A. E. HoDGiNS^ Esq.,

District Engineer,

Kenora^ Ont.

Dear Sir,—^I wired you to-day in cipher as follows:

—

* Completed worshipped obligato argumentative joseph international transferable

drag environ cluck naval beguile assign perplexing convicted antechamber specifica-

tions overturned worshipped obligato beguile aria calumniation memoralized drag
environ significant beguile object antechamber transferrable requirable thunder ex-

amine wretched likewise stoned till helper soothing clucking.'

Which means, Commissioners will not approve your instructions to division en-

gineers. Classification must be as per contract and specifications, otherwise they will

not be approved by me. Division engineers should be notified to so classify and accom-

pany their estimate with letter stating that they have so classified.

Yours truly, i

HUGH D. LUMSDEN.

Q. You remember that letter, major?—A. Yes. '

Mr. HoDGiNS.—And the wire, I presume?

Q. First getting the telegram and then the letter?—A. Yes.

Q. Then at page 182 of the evidence, the following question and answer occurs:
' Q. What is the result of that, as far as you know ?—A. I have been taking notes^

from the estimates and the over-break generally amounted to much more than what I

imagine they have been giving them. I thought so going over them. They had in-

structions to give them everything they possibly could, but it is a difficult matter to

measure over-breaks exactly with a tape unless you spend a lot of time.'

A. The over-break? I did not mean to say that the over-break on the work
amounted to more than the engineers were giving.

Q. That is what I want to ask you ?—A. That is a mistake. I was not in a posi-

tion—I told all the engineers to give such over-break as they possibly could.

Q. Your answer as reported on page 272 of these notes would it not be that the

engineers in your division had not been returning as much over-break as they might
have returned?—A. That is wrong because in my opinion they were returning as

much as they possibly could—as far as I could judge unless I had gone out and mea-
sured it myself. I cannot say whether they did return enough or not, but I told

them they ought to be as liberal as possible in the return of over-break. Of course,

you know in over-break there is a large amount of shattered rock that is still on the

slope of the cutting that would have to come out. Well, it costs something to take it

out and it just rests with the engineer whether he includes that in his over break,or

not.

Q. Well, as I understand you now A. That is a mistake.

Q. You want to correct these notes?—A. Yes, I would certainly correct these

notes.

Q. I understand you to say it is not your place, that the engineers were told to

return as much over-break as the contractors were entitled to?—A. No, I wanted
them to return all the over-break. This over-break question was a disputed question
at one time, and then Mr. Lumsden and Mr. Young came up to Kenora. In my
office at Kenora we met and discussed this over-break and it was decided then that
the contractors were to get all the over-break that occurred. Now, the meaFurement
of over-break cannot be finally made until the cut is finally taken out.
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Q. That is what you have to say about it now?—A. Yes.

Q. Well, at page 184 of the evidence occurs this question and answer:

—

* Q. The information is already in ?

'

(Speaking about estimates, apparently.)
' A. Our estimates that we put in are not approximate, they are just as close as

men could possibly get them.'

A. What estimates are you referring to?

Q. The original estimates ?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—That is about the openings ?

A. Yes. That is, they are as close as you can get them before the work is actually

done or laid out. The estimate was, therefore, approximate, to a certain extent.

Q. Now, in the month of June, of which we have been speaking, that is June,

1907, there were few labourers on the work, I understand?—A. June? How many
wn-Q there?

i>. As I recall what you said about it?—A. June, 1907?

Q. Yes?—A. 3,837.

Q. As I recall what you said about men at that time, it was that labour was un^

s',ea<.!y, men were coming and going—A. They were that way pretty nearly every

month when they could get out, unless they were frozen in.

Q. Was not that the case pretty nearly everywhere?—A. Yes; there was work
going on, the double tracking of the Canadian Pacific Railway.

Q. I am not asking you for the cause; I am only asking you, is not that a fact,

that is- what I understood you to say?—A. A certain number were coming in and going

out, but the steady ones, of course, on the contract were not going.

'Q. And due to that cause, I presume, there was danger of cuts being opened up
and then abandoned by station men giving up the work?—A. That was one of Hr.
Grant's charges against me.

Q. I am asking you if this was the fact?—A. Well, in one or two cases I noticed

some cuts had been abandoned, but I have forgotten just now the location of them
and the exact reason why the men had left the work.

Q. Well, isn't it the rule then that the engineers follow to provide for such emer-

gencies as that by keeping the classification down at first?—A. No, I do not think

they should do that; I do not believe in an engineer keeping the classification down.

Q. Is not that done in cases of that kind, so that the engineer will make sure

that particular cut will not be over-estimated should the men abandon it afterwards?

—A. The estimates ought to be fair.

'Q. I am asking you is it not the rule followed by engineers ?—A. No.

Q. You say it is not?—A. What is this rule again? That you will give a man a

decreased estimate during his first few months on the work?

Q. No, I did not ask you about that. I am asking you about keeping the classi-

fication down at the beginning?—A. Who should keep it down?

Q. I am asking you that question?—A. I do not believe in that. You should

classify as fairly as you can month by month to give a man all that is coming to him;
more especially in opening up work the contractor has very much more expenses iu

the first month, when he is opening up his contract, than he has later on, and I know
that contractors always like to have as big estimates as possible for the first couple of

months,

Q. It is not your rule, then, in any event?—A. I would not approve of holding

back classification.

Q. Do you remember telling this man Dutton on division 7 ihnt you did not wish
him to ask you about classification of a particular cut before A. G. McFarlane, the

divisional engineer?—A. I did not wish him to ask me?
Q. Yes?—A. No.

Q. Do you remember anything being said to you to that effect?—A. I remember

,
Major Hodgins.
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Dutton wanted to know the classification in advance that he was going to get for a

certain cut.

Q. He was asking you that?—A. I do not remember -whether he asked me that;

we were sitting in the camp together, Dutton, Tye and myself.

Q, What was said?—A. Well, Dutton wanted to know the classification ton that

tunnel cut—the wet cut.

Q. Now, which cut are you speaking of now?—A. I am speaking of the wet cut

immediately to the east of the tunnel.

Q. You mean on Dutton's work?—A. Yes; I forget the mileage, but on Dutton's

work.

Q. Well?—A. He said he was losing money on the classification that Macfarlane

was giving him ; it was a nasty cut to classify under this loose rock and common exca-

vation specification. It was wet, springs were coming in, it was running down in a

little valley in a drawing, and there was no possible way of draining it ; you could not

keep the water out except by running it down the centre of the cut; it was muddy,

and it was a cut that certainly would require

Q. Was A. G. Macfarlane there ?—A. I thdnk so.

Q. What was your reply to Dutton ?—A. Well, in order to be able to classify

a cut like that intelligently one would have to go and watch it, and see the work.

Q. What was your answer to Dutton ?—A. I do not remember—^what do you

say he asked me ?

Q. I ask you if it is not a fact that you said to Contractor Dutton on that

Division 7 that you did not wish to classify a cut before A. G. Macfarlane ?—A.

Before Macfarlane had done so; you mean to say before Macfarlane had done so.

Q. No, in has presence, you did not wish to classify the cut in his presence ?

—

A. Oh dear no, that I would not want to classify any cut in the presence of Mac-
farlane ?

Q. The cut that you were speaking of on that occasion ?—A. No.

Q. Your answer is that you did not say it ?—A. No, I would want Macfarlane
to classify it before me and I think he ought to be able to classify it quite accurately.

Q. With reference to your statement that Mcintosh had jumped loose rock to

solid rock at page 130 of the evidence, I would like to ask you, Major, hiow do you
know that was not solid rock?—A. Which.

Q. The material which you stated Mcintosh had> jumped to solid rock; how do

you know it was not solid rock?—A. My eyes told me.

Q. But at that time you had not been over the road ?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—At what time ?'

Mr. Murphy.—The time he makes the statement, makes this charge.—A. I had
been over the road.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. You had been over the road ? Then do you mean to say now it was because
of your inspection you made that statement that he had jumped loose rock to solid

rocki ?—A. It was not solid rock.

Q. That is a statement; I am asking you how do you know it was not ?—A. My
eyes told me.

Q. Then this statement is baeedv on what you saw in your inspection ?—A. Yes.

Q. Then on page 146, in speaking about stripping you say in answer to a ques-

tion,

' Q. Now, have you notes on that ?—A. (Beads) :
' A portion of the stripping

taken out, 2 or 3 feet deep. 50 per cent of this loose rock and 30 per cent solid

would be liberal.' Do you remember giving that evidence ?—A. Yes.

Q. I want to know by what process you arrived at that percentage. Major ?

—

A. By looking at it on the ground. I suppose I measured^ it by eye.

Q. You did not see *it taken out ?—A. Oh no.
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Q. And not having seen it taken out you were able ?—A. Oh now you are

getting back

Q. Able to reduce it to that percentage by merely taking a glance at it ?—A.

That is a liberal percentage, not a close percentage, I would not attempt to give a

close estimate on any classification at a glance.

Q. I just wanted to know how you arrived at it. Then were there any measure-

ments taken at all ?—A. No.

Q. Now, at page 156 of the evidence there is a quotation from a letter of yours

of the 9th of September in: which this appears :

' I am now going up to go over the 13 cuttings where common excavation and}

loose rock were transferred to solid (5,855 yards) in July, and am taking Mr.

Heaman up to go over the (whole division with Mr. Mcintosh and report.*

Q. Do you remember giving thiat evidence ?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, didn't you know that that time when you {proposed that inspection

there was friction between Heaman and Mcintosh?—A. No, there may have been

before, but if I remember right it was all settled. I had spoken to Mcintosh once

or twice and I think they were on very good terms.

Q. Had Heaman been over Mcintosh's division before that ?—A. I cannot re-

member.

Q. Didn't you tell Mcintosh that Heaman would noi be asked to go over his

work ?—A. No.

Q. That you wanted him in the office ?—A. No.

Q. Don't you remember telling Mcintosh that Heaman was not your own choice

for assistant ?—A. No, I did not.

Q. You did not ?—A. Heaman was my choice for assistant.

Q. As a matter of fact did you instruct Mr. Heaman to go over Mcintosh's
division previous to September 10th ?—A. I do not remember. I do not remember
what date Heaman was out.

Q. I am not asking you when he was out, but did you instruct him ?—A. Yes*
I had instructed him I believe to go over division from thie Winnipeg river to the

English river in May or June. We had both intended going out, I was going* west
and he was going east but I went to Quebec on that trip instead and he did not go.

Q. What instructions had you given at that time ?—^A. Just to go out, nothing
specific.

Q. Nothing specific, there was nothing mentioned about Mcintosh's division ?

—A. No, to take them all in.

Q. Do you know whether Heaman went or not ?—A. I do not know, I was down
in Quebec. No, then I went down again to Ottawa, and then Heaman went away
or. leave until the 1st of July or June.

Q. And do you know, as a matter of fact, whether he had been out over Mcintosh's

work or not?—A. No.

Q. Now do yqu remember stating that on or about August 23rd you walked over

the road from Webster's camp to the east end of division 6, do you remember that,

Major ?—A. To the west end of division 6 ?

Q. Yes ?—A. ' I have recently been over the ground between the east end of Canyou
lake and the English river,' that apparently was about the 24th of August, do you
remember that?—A. The east end of Canyon lake and the English river ? The
Wabigoon river, wasn't it ? Waubigcon Falls, I reached there about August 24th.

Q. Was that the first time you had been over the work?—A. No, I was up in

Canyon lake in February, I think.

Q. I see, that was the winter trip you told us about?—A. 1 co not know whether
1 had been up to the actual falls or not.

Q. I am speaking about this occasion that you have told us about, going out and
being over a portion of the work and telling Mcintosh that you were satisfied with

Major Hodgins.
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the classification?—A. E"o, you see, I think that first trip we had a long argument

about classification.

Mr. Macdonald.—What month was that?

Mr. Murphy.—August, I have it.

A. August I think that was. I can fix that now if I can tell whether I was in

Mcintosh's camp on Sunday, because one time that I was there we went out on these

clay cuttings and we were discussing the amount of loose rock that would be permis-

sible to allow in the Wabigoon clay country. As far as I could make out various

percentages had been given and the material all practically the same. I wanted to

get some sort of uniform classification for all that clay.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. This was in August?—A. Yes, and I discussed the question with Mcintosh

and I was getting from his account returns how much it would cost in men and teams

to do certain pieces of work, and we would figure out the yards and find out what it

cost per yard and we found there was a good deal of variation in the cost per cubic

yard of that same material, and I could not account for it except that some contrac-

tors were handling it better than others ; there was another question came in that some

men worked during the wet weather which was more or less of a disadvantage, and

the other men did not, and I wanted to find out from Mcintosh a basis of uniform

classification for that; he had a classification which certainly was not uniform for the

material moved. He asked me what my opinion of it was; it was on a Sunday, there

were no men working on Sunday, and I said I would like to see it plowed, to see what
number of horses it would take to plow it. I tried to get some information from
the resident engineer and Mcintosh about it as to the toughness of the clay, and
there were streaks of hard clay, which could be called indurated clay in there, small

streaks about that size (illustrating) and the cuts apparently got harder as we went
down. I do not think we came to a conclusion on that and so I decided to get up there

again some day—I could not wait to put in Monday there—and 1 decided to come
around some day when the men and teams were working, and Mcintosh was to get

this data so that we could arrive at some uniform rate regarding loose rock and apply
it all over the division. —

.

Q. That was in August of last year?—A. Yes.

Q. Up to that time you had given no written interpretation of the specification

as a guide for the engineers?—A. No, I do not remember giving any written inter-

pretation, if there is any it will be on the files in the office. You see the specifica-

tions were considered as more or less plain, except that loose rock specification.

Q. You had not given each one of the engineers under you any statement in

writing giving your own interpretation of the meaning of the specifications in that

regard up to August last?—A. No, I do not remember; we have often discussed

matters, they would come in

Q. That is separately?—A. Yes, they would come in and say how should such
and such material, describing it, be classified, and we knew this specification more or
less by heart.

Q. You made no attempt until August last to obtain anything like a uniform
interpretation by the engineers under you, apparently?—A. I thought the men all

ought to be more or less uniform in the interpretation of this specification, they
always have been. On any road I have been on it is unnecessary for the engineer to
explain to the other engineers how things should be classified, to explain to experi-
enced men, and I considered I had experienced men who had worked on construction
before and they were experienced.

Q. And it was not necessary to give them any statement in writing?—A. No.
the specifications explain themselves, I do not remember having any explanation from
Mr. Lumsden, of these except, possibly, an exchange of views. I do not think, I do
not know whether I ever asked him about it except when on the works an engineer
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might have said, ' I would classify that as so and so/ he would look at it and say, ' I

think that is right,' or ' I think it is rather high,' or ' too low.'

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Of whom are you speaking now?—A. Of Mr. Lumsden or myseK, when we
were out on the works.

Q. Referring to your answers to Mr. Macdonald, what guide had you for classi-

fication?—A. Previous experience-.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Then that depends upon the varied whims, experience and opinions of each

engineeer?—A. No, they are more or less the same, we know by experience.

Q. Engineers differ like doctors, don't they?—A. Yes, they would.

By ihe CJairrman:

Q. But more like lawyers?—A. More like lawyers, doctors should not differ.

Q. Did I understand you to say in speaking of Mr. Lumsden in regard to the

classification, to say that he would differ sometimes and say. It is too high, or too

low?—A. I gave that as an instance, what I meant was that Mr. Lumsden or I

—

it was classification that I was referring to, if we were walking through the cutting

or over the cutting, classification might be referred to us, if the engineer said ' I

would classify that as so and so ' referring to any particular material, we would look

at it and would say, ^ I think that is right ' or ' that is too high or too low,' as the case

might be. There would be nothing startling about it.

Q. Did you say it was too high or too low?—A. He might say that such a thing
was too high or too low.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—The chairman wants to know if you or Mr. Lumsden differed in

opinion?—A. No, I think I may have been a little more liberal than Mr. Lumsden.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. You say that the root of this whole trouble was over-classification. That
means that certain engineers differed as to what was the proper classification and that

apparently certain engineers over-classified?—A. Yes.

Q. That meant there was a difference of opinion as to what was the correct classi-

fication?—A. Yes.

Q. That is it?—A. That is it.

Q. And you, in August last, had not given, we understand, any statement in

writing to any or all of the engineers under your control showing what your inter-

pretation of the specifications was, in order to secure uniformity?—A. There was
none necessary, I was going over the work.

Q. You had not done so, as a matter of fact? Now was it not necessary in order

to prevent this very case of over-classification in two divisions that apparently had
arisen, that you should have done so?

Mr, HoDGiNS.—There had been none.

A. There has been none, none reported to me.

By Mr. Macdonald :

Q. There had been in July?—A. I found that out from the statomoiit that came

in with the estimate that a certain amount had been transferred from one column

to the other.

Q. I understand the witness to say that after Mr. Grant canio along there on two

divisions there had been over-classification, but up to that time he had not taken

any precautions to prevent any difference in views between the divisional engineers

or to secure uniformity?—A. There was, in my opinion, unifornnty.

Major Hodgins.
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Q. They might not be uniform in their interpretation when they come to a cer-

tain quality of soil or rock?—A. You would hear very quickly from the contractor

if they were not giving him enough.

Q. Well, you say that after Grant came along, as a result of his visit there wa3
over-classification?—A. On two divisions in my district.

Q. And you attribute that to Grant, and to no other person?-—A. No.
Mr. Barker.—It is more accurate to say that after Grant came he found the

material was transferred from one class to another.

Mr. Macdonald.—Over-classification is the phrase he used.

Mr. Barker.^—I know, but that is the fact as he explained it; that Mcintosh had
reported in his monthly reports certain classification and he found that subsequently

that had been transferred to another classification.

A. Mr. Macdonald, the chief engineer, never gave us any written interpretation

of these specifications.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Mr. Lumsden did not?—A. Yes, I believe from some correspondence that

later on he gave a written interpretation, in fact he wrote each one of the district

engineers I had left, and asked them what the interpretation was and they differed.

By the Chairman:

Q. They differed, you say?—A. Yes,- they differed.

Mr. Carvell.—^When was Mr. Grant up there the first time ?—A. I think he came
up there, it was just after our trip to Quebec, we went down in June or the beginning

of July, and he went over the work with the contractor and he saw some of the

engineers and some of the contractors, he did not see all the engineers but he talked

with some of them; I was getting the answers to the questions that Mr. Lumsden had
for

By Mr. Muriihy :

Q. Referring to the question asked by Mr. Macdonald, you knew there was a

difference of opinion as between the engineers in District B and the Chief Engineer
with regard to classification, didn't you?—A. Oh no.

Q. You did not?—A. You see when I went down to Quebec Mr. Lumsden was
in the party, but he did not go over the work and look at it.

Q. You had no knowledge of any difference of opinion between the engineers in

the district and the chief engineer up to that time?—A. No, what I was astonished

at down there was that Mr. Lumsden signed these estimates, I knew there was a dif-

ference in the classification there.

Q. Now, in answer to Mr. Macdonald, I think it was, you spoke about there

having been uniform classification in your district up to the time you objected to the

returns made by Mcintosh?—A. Yes, well, uniform as far as I could get it. Mr.
Macdonald gave an instance that lawyers and doctors differ, but it had been, as far as

I knew.

Q. But you have told us also that Mr. Button complained about the classification

not being uniform?—A. Yes.

Q. How do you. reconcile these two statements?—A. Well, Mr. Button said he

wanted to get some of the promises Grant made.

Q. You have told us that what Button complained about was that Willet, and
I think Macfarlane, were not classifying in accordance with the classification in Mc-
intosh's division?—A. That is what I said and

Q. If that were the case, then classification was not uniform up to that time?

—

A. This is what date? I was up at Button's in August and the classification that

Mcintosh had increased was in July.

Q. Yes?—A. And the classification on the district west of Mcintosh's was prac-

tically uniform.
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Q. Yes, but the classification of which you say Dutton was speaking had been!

made prior to that, it must have been made prior to that or he could not be complain-

ing of it.—A. The question on Mcintosh's division was, roughly speaking, that he

had taken a certain amount of stripping that he had previously returned as loose rock

and common excavation, and returned it as solid rock. There was a lot of similar

kind of material on the two Macfarlane'si divisions and I presume Dutton thought, if

he was getting a portion of his estimate for this stripping turned in on Mcintosh's

division as solid rock, why not in the two Macfarlane's ; Mcintosh's was doing it and

Macfarlane's, Mr. A. G. Macfarlane and Mr. M. C. Macfarlane were doing it.

Q. When had the classification been made of which Dutton was speaking?—A.

Possibly in July.

Q. You are not sure. —A. It would be certainly in July because I was talking

to Dutton in August.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. 1 suppose this board of arbitrators, Mr. Lumsden and Mr. Wood, and in the

event of their disagreement, a third man, ought to be able pretty thoroughly to settle

what is the proper classification in regard to these matters?—A. Certainly. You
have been asking my opinion of the specifications and the interpretation of different

clauses, well, my opinion of these specifications at this present time may be different

to Mr. Lumsden's, but I do not see why I am called upon to give it ; it is the opinion

that Mr. Lumsden had previous to my leaving, and, as I thought, was the general

opinion at that time.

The committee adjourned.

Monday, June 15, 1908.

The committee met at 3 o'clock p.m.

The examination of Major Hodgins resumed.

Mr. Murphy.—My learned friend, Mr. Hodgins, has been asking for the production

of some correspondence in the possession of the Premier and Mr. Aylesworth. That
in the possession of the Premier consists of a telegram from Mr. James Conmee mark-
ed private. The correspondence with Mr. Aylesworth consists of a letter from Major
Hodgins to him—and there is an enclosure to which my learned friend especially

referred—which is marked private.

Mr. Macdonald.—Who writes the letter to Mr. Aylesworth?
Mr. Murphy.—Major Hodgins under date, I think, of September 19th. Now in

conformity with my learned friend's request I have inquired about the production of

these communications. The ministers say they have no objection to producing them
so long as privacy be waived. The telegram from Mr. Conmee is marked private and
he states that he objects to the production imder those circumstances. I do not want
any misunderstanding to arise about these productions and I thought it well to make
a statement to the committee at this stage concerning them.

Mr. Hodgins.—I made no reference in my examinations to any of these documents.

My learned friend, in cross-examination, chose to make an inquiry about a telegram

from Mr. Conmee to the Prime Minister and sought to got an admission from the

witness about it. There is no alternative, therefore, for me but to insist, from my
point of view, upon the production of the telegram to the Prime ^finister, and the

reply, if any. As to the letter to Mr. Aylesworth, alluded to by my learned friend, I

had not referred to it and am not pressing for it.

Mr. Murphy.—My learned friend gave me a meinornn(hnn asking for it.

Mr. Hodgins.—Yes, I quite agree but I am saying I am not pressing for it.

What I wanted is the enclosure in that letter and at the present moment I am per-

fectly satisfied that that enclosure be produced.

Major Hodgins.
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Mr. Lennox.—I think the documents ought to be produced. I have always had
the idea that the mere fact of putting ' Private ' on a letter which is necessarily public
in its nature and deals with a matter which affects the public, ought not to prevent
the document from being brought forward if ever the occasion arose for its produc-
tion. The evidence having partly gone in I think the documents ought to be pro-

duced.

Mr. Macdonald.—What is the reference to the documents?
Mr. HoDGiNS.—It is to be found at page 241 of the evidence (reads) :

Q. First of all did you apply personally for an investigation into your case?

—

A. No.

Q. Then, did you apply for an investigation into classification?—A. Yes, Mr»
James Conmee came into my office.

'

Then the witness relates what occurred with Mr. Conmee. At the bottom of the

page occur these questions and answers (reads) :

' Q. Yes, what did he wire ?—A. He wired something to the effect

' Q. Did you see the telegrams?—A. He read the telegrams to me.
' Q. Did you see them sent ?—A. Yes, one of my men took them down.

Q. Did your man send the message, is he an operator ?—A. No, he was my
accountant.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Are you asking what the contents of the telegram are ?

Mr. Murphy.—Yes.

A. Recommending that the investigation should go on, something to that effect.

'

Then further down my learned friend, asked the witness whether the reference

in the later telegram to Sir Wilfrid Laurier does not refer to his efforts to retain

his position. I desire, therefore, that the text of the telegram should be produced as

I am advised it is stated in it that it is important that Major Hodgins should be
allowed to finish his investigation. It does not go beyond that. Whether there was a

reply or not has not been stated. If there was a reply I would liKe it to be put in. An
order has been already passed that the First Minister, or any of the other ministers,^

having papers or records in their custody or under their control relating to or affect-

ing the matters referred to this committee be requested to produce the same. My
learned friend having referred to this telegram cannot object to its production?

Mr. Macdonald.—Under a general order for the production of papers before any
parliamentary committee, the papers to be produced include only such documents as

are of a public character. Documents which have been under the seal of privacy are

not regarded as a fair subject for production. This does not seem to be a matter

about which there should be very much trouble. I would suggest, Mr. Chairman, that

you speak to Mr. Conmee and ask him to withdraw his objection about privacy, when
the telegram can be produced. If he does not do so it will then be open for us to con-

sider what course to take.

The Chairman.—^You mean to say get Mr. Conmee's consent to waive privacy?
Mr. Lennox.—If he does not, there will be no question at all.

Mr. Macdonald.—Then we will consider what course we will take.

The Chairman.—It will be the same thing, I suppose, in regard to the letter ta

Mr. Aylesworth ?

Mr. Macdonald.—Yes. If Mr. Aylesworth has no objection to produce the letter

and enclosure and Major Hodgins is willing.

Mr. Hodgins.—I never referred to that letter. What I wanted was the enclosure

in it, I did not propose at the present stage to ask for the letter.

Mr. Macdonald.—Then you can get it when you want it.

Mr. Hodgins.—The telegram I want, because where a question is asked concern-

ing it and an inference drawn, we should have the document itself.

Mr. Macdonald.—I think if ther© has been any examination as to the document
we should see the original.

The Chairman.—Then it is the committee's opinion that this should be done ?
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Mr. Lennox.—Mr. Macdonald's s-uggestion is all right.

The Chairman.—^Very (well then, I will speak to Mr. Conmee and Mr. Aylesworth
about it, and Major Hodgins also, and if they waive objection to producing the docu-
ments they will be forthcoming.

Mr. Hodgins.—There is no object in speaking to Mr. Aylesworth at the present

moment.
Mr. Murphy.—Then my learned friend waives any privacy there is as far as

these documents are concerned ?

The Chairman.—I understand so.

Mr. Murphy.—Then it will stand so. In view of the statement just made by my
learned friend I would ask the witness to produce the correspondence, or copies of the

correspondence, between him and Mr. Butler about which we inquired at a former
sitting.

Mr. Hodgins.—I think we had better have Mr. Butler here.

By the Chairman :

Q. Have you that correspondence, Major ?—A. I got a copy from Mr. Butler the

other day. I had not any copy myself.

Mr. Murphy. I ask that the copy be produced now so as to clear up this part of

the examination.

Mr. Macdonald.—Is this private and confidential correspondence that you are

asking about ?

Mr. Murphy.—I understand it is so marked.

The Witness.—It was private and confidential.

Mr. Hodgins.—I do not waive anything as^ to that until Mr. Butler is in the box.

Mr. Lennox.—We must deal with th© best evidence there is.

Mr. Murphy.—You will recollect that we went into this matter partly before and

Mr. Butler expressed his willingness to produce the correspondence if my learned

friend waived privacy.

The Chairman.—I think we ought to have that correspondence just the same as

the other correspondence which has been referred to. If we can get the originals it

will be better.

Mr. Murphy.—At present Mr. Butler is ill and we cannot get the correspondence

from him today. It will contribute to the more orderly conduct of the investigation

if the witness produces the copies which he now says he has.

The Witness.—They are over in the hotel.

Mr. Murphy.—There is only one original letter. The other would be in the pos-

session of Mr. Butler.

Mr. Macdonald. A letter and a reply to it.

Mr. Murphy.—A letter and a reply.

Mr. Macdonald.—Then the witness would have one original and Mr. Butler the

other.

Mr. Murphy.—In any event the (witness will have a copy which he could put in.

Mr. Lennox.—He has a copy of his own letter I suppose.

The Witness.—I have not brought all my own letters here. They must be in

British Columbia in one of my boxes. I have not got Mr. Butler's original.

Mr. Murphy.—The witness has told us that lie hns copies of the correspondence

and I ask that that correspondence be put in.

The Chairman.—I think we ought to have that corrcspondonco. That is my
opinion.

Mr. Murphy.—Tl^on I ask the witness to produce the copies in his possession. •

Mr. Hodgins.—I ask for the production of the originals.

Major Hodgins.
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J\ir. Murphy.—We will produce the original as soon as we get Mr. Butler to

attend.

The Chairman.—Yes, we will have Mr. Butler produce the originals.

Mr. Macdonald.—The Major has one original, I suppose he can produce that ?

Mr. Lennox.—The witness has a copy of a letter that he wrote to Mt. Butler, as I

understand. You, Mr. Chairman, now rule that although the letter is marked pri-

vate and confidential it ought to be put in without Major Hodgins waiving the privi-

lege ?

The Chairman.—I suppose we will have to adopt the same rule with respect to

this correspondence as in the case of the other ?

Mr. Lennox.—That is iwhat I want to know : whether you adopt the same rule in

order that there shall be no clashing in the matter printed.

Mr. Macdonald.—The difference between the other case and this one is, that in

the former case the telegram was written by an outside party. In the present in-

stance the communication is by the gentleman who made these charges.

Mr. Lennox.—It does not differ from the case of the telegram to Sir Wilfrid, so

far as the matter of privacy is concerned.

Mr. Macdonald.—I quite agree with you that we should maintain some principle

in regard to the production of private documents.

Mr. Lennox.—J. was not going that far. I simply desire to know what the chair-

man is going to rule.

The Chairman.—I think we ought to have the correspondence, especially the letter

which passed directly between Major Hodgins and Mr. Butler. As we have decided to

have the other correspondence produced, surely we ought to get this also. I do not

want to be arbitrary, but as lenient as possible. Still, I think we ought to have the

/ correspondence produced.

Mr. Hodgins.—^You have ruled that Mr. Conmee himself is to be consulted. What
about Mr. Butler?

Mr. Murphy.—I can state Mr. Butler's position.

Mr. Hodgins.—I would prefer to have Mr. Butler here.

Mr. Murphy.—Mr. Butler is ill to-day, and, unfortunately, may be ill for some
weeks.

Mr. Hodgins.—I would like to have Mr. Butler state his position. If any one is

to be seen, it is quite clear that Mr. Butler should be.

The Chairman.—What do you think, Mr. Murphy, about Mr. Butler being seen

and getting his consent?

Mr. Murphy.—Mr. Butler is quite willing that this correspondence be produced,

provided the privacy be waived or an order for production made by the committee.

Mr. Hodgins.—I am not desirous of being unreasonable, but I would like to have

Mr, Butler's statement in writing. The rule already adopted in the one case would
apply to the other.

Mr. Murphy.—I would like to ask the witness another question on this matter

:

Q. You stated. Major, that you have had from Mr. Butler copies of correspon-

dence between him and yourself?—A. Yes.

Q. Have you read those copies?—A. I read them over in Mr. Butler's office.

Q. Have you them now in your possession ?—A. They are over in the hotel.

Q. Are they correct copies of the correspondence?—A. I did not go over them.

Q. Did you see the original correspondence?—A. I saw the original letter that

I had written.

Q. At the time you got these copies?—A. No; the copies were sent to me from
Mr. Butler's office to Toronto.

Q. And you had seen the original?—A. Yes.

Q. A day or so before?—A. Yes.

Q. Are you satisfied that your copy is a correct copy?—A. I presume so.
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Mr. Murphy.—I think, Mr. Chairman, unless there is some question about the

correctness of the copies that I must ask that this correspondence he produced.

Mr. Lennox.—Either the witness must consent to the production or else the com-
mittee must decide that they will not require his consent. Either the witness consents

to waive the privilege, having attached the words ' private and confidential ' to his

letter, if it is a privilege, or, if he does not, it is for the chairman to order production.

The Chairman.—I think it is very important that we should have the correspon-

dence referred to. I am willing to interview the parties and see if they will consent

to waive their objections to production; I think they will do so.

Mr. Hodgins.—If they do so, I would have no objection at all.

Mr. Murphy.—There is a very specific difference hetween a letter marked ' private

and confidential' and one marked without prejudice. My learned friend, at the open-

ing of this inquiry, put in a letter marked ' private and confidential ' from Mr. Young
without asking that gentleman whether he would waive objection to its production or

not.

Mr. Macdonald.—I understand you to say that Mr. Butler is willing to produce

the letter asked for if Mr. Hodgins waives privacy ?

Mr. Murphy.—Yes, or if an order is made by the committee.

Mr. Macdonald.—I understand Mr. Hodgins to say that if Mr. Butler makes that

statement in writing, on account of his illness, he is willing to waive objection on
behalf of his client?

Mr. Hodgins.— don't think I could do anything else.

Mr. Macdonald.—Then it is only a question of allowing the matter to stand until

we get that letter from Mr. Butler.

Mr. Hodgins.—I think the same rule as in Mr. Conmee's case should be followed.

Mr. Murphy.—Very well, then, we will get Mr. Butler's written consent that the

documents may be produced.

Mr. Hodgins.—I would like to correct Mr. Murphy in respect of his statement con-

cerning a letter from Mr. Young that was produced. The letter is not marked ' private

and confidential,' but merely ' personal.'

Mr. Macdonald.—' Personal ' in that sense means a letter that is not official.

Mr. Hodgins.—I just make that statement in the interests of accuracy.

Q. Was this letter from you to Mr. Butler copied in your letter book?—A. I

think so, I have seen the original and it evidently had been copied in Kenora.

Q. Where is the letter-book in which it was copied?—A. It is probably in one of

my trunks.

Q. Here?—A. No, in Victoria.

Q. You have not brought that with you?—A. No.

Q. Was that an ordinary office book in which you copied letters of tnat kind?

—

A. No.

Q. What book was it?—A. A private book.

Mr. Hodgins.—We will not object to a copy if you produce that consent of Mr.
Butler.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. That was a book which you got in the office in Konorn in >vhi(,'h thi;; letter

was copied?—A. No, it was not, it was my own book.

Q. It was not one of the office books?—A. It was not one of the office books, it

contained letters that I copied in it in Africa.

Mr. Murphy.—Then we will take that matter just in that way, ^{v. Chninnnn.
in regard to Mr. Conmee and Mr. Butler.

The Chairman.—Oh, yes.

Major Hodgins.
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By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Did you have correspondence with any other person of the same character as

you had with Mr. Butler, Major?—A. I do not think so.

Q. Did you have any correspondence of a similar character with Chief Justice

Howell?—A. No.

Q. Or any other person?—A. Not that I know of.

Q. Since you- have read the correspondence with Mr. Butler I suppose that you

have no doubt that you did have an interview with him?
Mr. HoDGiNS.—I submit, Mr. Chairman, that this is a mode of getting around

your ruling, by asking as to the contents of letters as to the production of which we
have already settled.

Mr. Murphy.—I am not asking as to the contents, that is not my intention, Mr.

Chairman, I want to know from the witness if he now recalls a conversation that he

had with Mr. Butler here in Ottawa last summer?—A. I cannot recall all of it.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Can you recall any of it?—A. Yes.

Q. What was that conversation?—A. It was principally about the report that Mr.

Grant had put in, and what I went up to see him for was to see if he could get me
transferred from the Transcontinental on to Mr. Collingwood Sch-eiber's staff.

Q. Was there not at that interview a conversation about the employment of

'force' account?—A. Not that I can remember.

Q. Will you swear that there was not?—A. I would like to hear what ivxr. Butler

hag to say

Q. We will hear him later on, but we want to hear you now. Will '"ou swear

that at that interview there was nothing said about the employment of force account

by you?—A. Not by me, no, sir.

Q. Not by you ?—A. I can't—I understand you to say did I talk about the employ-

ment of force account, or did I recommend the employment of force account?

Q. I am asking you, did you ask Mr. Butler about using force account on your

work?—A. I do not think so.

Q. I want you to be positive about it.—A. The principal thing I talked to him
about was that report.

Q. I want to know about force account?—A. I might have told him that Mr.
Grant suggested force account as a means of classifying.

Q. What else was said about force account on that occasion?—A. That is all I
can remember, we did not discuss the question of force account very distinctly.

Q. Did you have a similar conversation to that with Chief Justice Howell?—A.
No, but let me say I saw Chief Justice Howell and he asked me something about the

McArthur contract, and I told him what I had recommended. That was when I was
in Winnipeg at the time Mr. Lumsden and I went to Winnipeg.

Q. You told him what you had recommended?—A. Yes.

Q. What was it you had recommended?—A. That I had recommended the Chief
Engineer to tell the commissioners that I suggested force account as a means of settl-

ing the dispute.

Q. What else?—A. That is about all.

Q. Did this come up just in ordinary conversation, or were you getting any advice

on the subject?—A. He asked me some question about the work.

Q. Were you in the habit of going to him and discussing the work with him?

—

A. Oh no.

Q. There wa^ no special reason for his being interested in that work?—^A. Not
that I know of, he started the conversation.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—This was the conversation between the witness and a private citizen

and was in the nature of a private conversation.

Mr. Murphy.—The witness has not said this was a private conversation.
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A. It certainly was a private conversation.

Mr. Lennox.—It was necessarily a private conversation, and as Chief Justice

Howell does not occupy any official position on this railway it was essentially a pri-

vate conversation. It will be unfortunate if we have to take up private conversations

of this character.

The Chairman.—I understood Mr. Murphy to ask the witness if there were other

parties to whom he si}oke about the employment of force account.

Mr. Murphy.—That is right.

The Chairman.—If he had spoken to this one or to that one on the matter, and
if he had expressed the idea that it was necessary to use force account, I think we
ought to know that.

Mr. Murphy.—That is it, and the witness did not say anything about its being

a private conversation until my learned friend suggested it.

The Chairman.—^We want to find out if the witness advised force account if we
have the right to ask him with reference to such conversations,

Mr. Macdonald.—I do not see that the same objection that applies to the docu-

ments we have been discussing would apply to a conversation between the gentleman
who makes the charges which we are now investigating and another person. I think

we have the right to ask him with reference to such conversation.

The Chairman.—^Here is the gentleman who has made the charges upon which the
committee are now proceeding, and we are trying to prove that in certain conversa-

tions he made certain statements relating to the matter imder consideration..

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I think it is unfortunate that the name of the Chief Justice of

Manitoba should be brought into this matter in connection with a private conversa-

tion.

Mr. Murphy.—The unfortunate thing is that the witness made the statement him-
self, there was no dragging in of the Chief Justice.

A. You asked me, Mr. Murphy.
Mr. Lennox.—^Mr Murphy asked the witness if he hadn't a conversation with the

Chief Justice and the witness recollected it on the question being repeated. Perhaps
the unfortunate part of it is that the Chief Justice should speak of it afterwards.

The Chairman.—Why should it be unfortunate that the Chief Justice should talk

about it?

Mr. Lennox.—Unfortunate in this way that it opens the way for a contradiction

as to a matter of fact between the witness and the Chief Justice.

Mr. Murphy.—^We have to find out what the witness stated about the employment
of force account and if he chose the judge as the person with whom to discuss it that

is not our doing.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Here is the profile showing the tunnel cut which you visited at La Tuque,
Major, and which you described in your examination in chief, and also in your cross-

examination. I would ask you to point out to the committee where you saw the

material, and where you described the material that you say the engineers had told you

had been classified as 8G per cent solid rock in that tunnel cut?

By Mr. Tlodgins:

Q. Does that profile identify that in any way, beyond Mr. ]\riirphy saying that it is

the profile of that cut?

Mr. Murphy.—It is one of the profiles, if you wish to have it idontiliod (hat can

be done. I would ask, Mr. Chairman, that Mr. Doucct be sworn for the purpose of

identifying that profile.

Witness retired.

5—21
Major IIodgins.
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Mr. A. E. DouCET^ sworn:

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. What position do you occupy, Mr. Doucet, at present in connection with the

National Transcontinental Railway?—^A. I am district engineer of District B.

Q. How long have you held that position ?—A. Since 1903.

Q. Now, I show you a profile which I have already shown Major Hodgins, and I

ask you if this is your name on that profile (pioducing profile) ?—A. Yes, that is my
signature.

Q. Does th^t profile show the tunnel cut described by Major Hodgins in his

examination in chief and his cross-examination ?

By Mr. Lennox :

Q. What does it represent ?—A. It represents that portion of the work over

which we walked in June, 1907.

By Mr. M.acdonald :

Q. Who were there ?—A. Major Hodgins, myself and several others that Major
Hodgins mentioned.

By Mr. MurpJiy :

Q. And does it contain the tunnel cut spoken of by Major Hodgins in his exam-

ination in chief and also his cross-examination ?—A. It does.

(Profile marked as Exhibit 35).

By Mr. Hodgins :

Q. It is marked ' Quebec, May 9, 1908 ' ?—A. Yes.

Q. Then this is not the profile that the work has been done on?—A. That re-

presents the wojfk done in June, 1907, at the place that we walked over.

Q. Is the date wrong, ' District Engineer's office, Quebec, May, 1908 ' ?—A. This
is a copy of the profile.

Q. Is there an original ?—A. Yes.

Q. Where is the original ?—A. It is filed here.

Q. But where is it ?—A. I could not tell you where it is.

Q. Who got it ?—A. The commissioners have it, and can produce it, I suppose.

Q. Wlio made this map ?—A. We did.

Q. Who did ?—A. In my office.

Q. Who is we ?—A. My men, in the office.

Q. Who are the men?—A. I have about ten draughtsmen in my office.

Q. Give us the name of just one?—A. Mr. Lefebvre, the head draughtsman.

Q. Did he make it ?—A. It was made under his direction.

What did he make it from ?—A. Erom the original profile.

Q. Is it exactly the same as the original profile ?—A. Exactly the same.

Q. It does not show the work done to the end of June, 1907, does it ?—A. Yes,

that is the work done to June, 1907.

Q. Then the original profile is there showing the work to the end of June, 1907 ?

—A. Yes.

Q. It is on file in the commissioners' office?—A. Yes.

Q. Where did you make that copy of it ?—A. This was done in Quebec, before I

came up here.

Q. At whose j-equest ?—A. At my own request.

Q. And not at the request of the commissioners ?—A. No.

Q. Did you hand it then to Mr. Murphy ?—A. I have given it to Mr. Murphy/
yes, if you prefer to have the original you can have it, I suppose.

Q. It is not a matter of preference, I am entitled to have it. Who makes the

originals up, of which this is a copy ?—A. The resident engineers on the road.
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Q. Do they make it from month to month ?—A. Yes.

Q. Do the different colours denote something ? Some different work ?—A. The
work done each month, yes.

Q. Now I see on this it is something like ' A-R-C-H, 6 ft., started April 8, 1907,

finished July 2, '07,' that would not be the work done to th© end of June, would it ?

—

A. Yes.

Q. It is finished on the 2nd of July, 1907. Then there is another here, ^10 ft-

arch finished 10 September, 1907,' this can hardly be done in June?—A. Talking
about the work done, the colouring shows the progress down to June.

Q. Is it merely the colouring that is down to June?—A. No, but the progress is

to June.

Q. When you show the originals it will show the work done subsequent to June,
1907 ?—A. Read the title.

Q. It says, * showing (work done to the end of June, 1907 ' ?—A. That is it.

Q. Isn't this 6 ft. arch and this 10 ft. a.rch work ?—A. Yes.

Q. Then that would not be accurate to say it was to the end of June, would it ?

—A. That is not progress.

Q. Finished in July, 1907, that would be carrying it a little beyond the end of

June ?—A. Not as far as the colouring is concerned.

Q. I want to know if it is made up from the same profile ?—A. From the origi-

nal profile.

Q. If it is made up from the original profile up to the end of June, how can it

show on it, work done in September following? Will you explain that?—^A. The
colouring showing the distinct class, there is colouring for each month, as I said the

colouring is correct, that is the work done in the cuts to the end of June, 1907.

Q. But it must be taken from later profiles ?—A. That is on the same piofile

coloured from month to month.

Q. Why don't you have it acccurate as to the arches ?—A. The colouring is accu-

rate.

Q. Why do you not have it accurate ; I do not care whether it is coloured or not ?

I say, why don't you have it accurate?

Mr. Macdonald.—Why do you ask a question like that, -as to its being accurate;

you do not impugn the accuracy of the plan?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I do, as to its being the work done to the end of June.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Is there anything in your office just exactly similar to that?—A. Yes, exactly

similar.

Q. When was it constructed or made?—A. I suppose about a month or six weeks

ago—the copying.

Q. Have you anything to the end of June, 1907, compiled which is an exact copy

of this?—A. Yes.

Q. And has that one which was compiled to the end of June this statement of

September, 1907, on it ?—A. No, it would not have it.

Q. Then that is not an exact copy?—:A. I am explaining with regard to the colour-

ing, that it shows the progress made in the cut.

Q. Then I prefer to have the original.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. You say the colouring here indicates and shows the position of the cuts as in

June, 1907?—A. Yes.

Q. And tliis addenda is outside of that, of course?—A. They were copied at the

same time, perhaps.

Mr. A. E. DoucKT.

6—21i
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Q. And they should not have been here?—A. It would have been better to have
left them out.

Q. This is intended to show the cuts at that time?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. But these additional notes could not have been on the profile at the end of

Jane?—A. This is the same profile we have been carrying on from the beginning of

the work.

Q. But they could not have been there in June?—A. Ko; the starting would be

on then, and then we would put in the finishing date when the work was completed*

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Were the instructions to Mr. Lefebvre to copy the colouring?—A. Merely to

copy the colouring.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. The witness only saw one cutting, down there, or he has spoken of only one

cutting rather, and this is the cutting shown on this profile.

The Chairman.—Which witness ?

Mr. Murphy.—Major Hodgins.

The Chairman.—And this shows the cutting he was there specially to inspect,

which he told us all about, and that it occupied ten or fifteen minutes in inspection.

By Mr. Murphy

:

Q. That is the section to show the work at the end of June, 1907?

. Mr. Hodgins.—There are two cuts, Mr. Doucet, are there not ?

Mr. DouoET.—There are three cuts.

Mr. Hodgins.—^Are these three cuts shown on this profile?

Mr. Doucet.—^Yes.

The Chairman.—But the cut which was mentioned by Major Hodgins is there,

is it not ?

Mr. Doucet.—That is the one (indicating on plan).

Mr. Hodgins.—Which is the one on which sand-was being wasted?

Mr. Doucet.—That one, the middle one (indicating on plan).

Mr. Murphy.—These questions asked Mr. Doucet are anticipating some questions

that I want to ask the other witness.

Mr. Hodgins.—I simply wanted to identify which was the one on which sand was
being wasted.

Mr. Doucet.—The middle one, you have your thumb right on it there.

Mr. Hodgins.—And that is the one you say he saw?
Mr. Doucet.—That is the one he saw.

Mr. Hodgins.—And only this, the one marked ' tunnel, 500 feet, cancelled ' ?

Mr. Doucet.—Yes.

Mr. Hodgins.—Then nothing on this plan indicates anything else that could be

^called the tunnel cut?

Mr. Doucet.—No.

Mr. Hodgins.—jThere is another one a little further dow^n towards the bottom of

this plan that is very similar to what you call the tunnel cut ; did he walk over that ?

Mr. Doucet.—I did not with Major Hodgins, no.

Mr. HoDGiNSo—Did Major Hodgins walk over it?

Mr. Doucet.—I could not say ; I do not know.

Mr. Macdonald.—Did the Major walk through more than one cut?

Mr. Doucet.—Major Hodgins stated he got out of the carriage and went into the

cut, and that is where the carriage was stopped.

Mr. Hodgins.—What he says at page 280 is:

—
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' Q. And you gave a description of it?—A. Yes, I believe in that description I

confused two cuts.

' Q. I think you confused more than two cuts, Major?—A. You think so?

' Q. What confusion is there between the cuts ?—A. That cut consisted of

' Q. When you say " that cut," which one do you mean ?—A. The first one.'

Just let us understand, is this one marked ^ tunnel cut, 500, cancelled,' the very

one to which he referred?

Mr. DoucET.—I could not tell you, I was not here when Major Hodgins gave that

evidence. I was with him in that cut, and that is where the carriage stopx)ed and)

where we got out.

Mr. Murphy.—I submit, on the examination of my learned friend that this profile

should now be put in;

Mr. Hodgins.—I have asked for the original and I thought that I would get it.

Mr. Murphy.—My learned friend should also have referred to page 281 where the

Major says,

' I only spoke of one cut,' and on page 128 the major was asked

:

* Did you go right through it ?—A. It was not through. I went in to one end of

it and then I walked over the upper portion of it and down to the other side.

Q. New, just describe the cutting?—A. The western end, I think it v^as, we first

came to, was a mass of loose rock, boulders,—I did not see any very large ones, a very

nasty looking cutting—and on the upper portion of it there was some sand, wet sand

and loose rock. That was being wasted in carts or scrapers—carts I think—and the-

other end of it was loose rock. I did not see any solid rock in place.

'

This is in his examination in chief and then on page 129 the major says

:

' I made some remark about the chance or the possibility, of getting a line around
it and avoiding such a heavy cut. It had really been laid out as a tunnel, but when
they found there was no solid rock in the place they abandoned the tunnel idea and
took it as an open cut.

'

And then, farther down on the same page, the major was asked by Mr. Hodgins

:

^ Q. Just describe what the cutting was so far as you saw it; it was open and
consisted of?—A. Loose rock, cemented material, sand, wet sand, and boulders; I

was told the largest boulder they had come across so far was a boulder of about 200

yards in size ; one of the engineers told me that.

'

Then on page 280 or 281 he proceeds to identify this cut in the same way and

tells of the conversation that took place there. He says

:

' We got out of the carriage and walked up into one face of it, and then we walked

over the cut and went to the other face.

'

And then he was asked

:

' Q. Wlien you sslj ' that cut ' which one do you mean ?—A. The first one.

' Q. The one you spoke of in your examination in chief ?—A. I only spoke of one

cut and I spoke of sand being wasted on the top of it; I do not think tliere was any

sand, I think it was another cut that I haven't spoken of.

'

That is with reference to the sand (continues to read) : .

' Q. You now say you confuse this tunnel with another one?—A. No, I did not

confuse the cut, I said on the top of this cut, I was referring to another cutting,

classification, where sand was being wasted, I saw sand was being wasted on another

cutting, the next one we went through. I did not pay very much attention to that.'

So that is not the one?

Mr. Macdonat.d.—There is only one cut he gives evidence on. That is what you

say?

Mr. Murphy.—That is what I say. That is the evidence, it is quite plain.

Major Hodoins.
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Q. Now I ask the witness if that is not the tunnel cut (producing profile and hand-
ing to witness) ?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I must ask for the production of the original.

Mr. Murphy.—^We will undertake to produce it as soon as it can be got.

A. (After examining profile marked Exhibit No. 35.) This is the first time
I have seen a profile of it. This is the first time I have seen the profile and, of course,

I cannot identify anything on it, I don't Wnow what the station is.

Q. The station is indicated at the bottom is it not, major?—A. Yes, but I did
not take note of the station when I went through. I will have to take Mr. Doucet's
word to say this is the cut that we got off at.

Q. If you did not take any note of the station when you went through it, having
the station now will not help you?—^A. Yes, you identify it on l^re.

Q. Yes, but you did not take a note of it at the time ?—A. You see I cannot
identify this as the profile unless I was out on the work.

By Mr, Macdonald :

Q. That purports to be the work on which you iwere, does it not ? I understand
Mr. Doucet to say that cutting shown on the plan is the cutting you spoke about to

us at a previous meeting ?—A. Yes. Which way, Mr. Doucet, did we jsvalk ? This way
or that way ? (indicating on the profile).

Mr. Doucet.—We walked from left to right.

The Witness.—From left to right, are you sure?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—^What is the question ?

Mr. Murphy.—I am asking him to tell the committee whether he saw the

material, and also to describe the material which he said the engineers told him had
been classified as 86 per cent solid rock in that tunnel cut.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—^He has told you he cannot identify the profile.

The Witness.—^Before we got up to—I won't be certain. That may be the cut, it

looks rather small though, that I first went to. That is the cut at station, 70 to 80.

By Mr. Mwrphy :

Q. Well, was the tunnel cut that you inspected, and that you have since twice

described, the largest cut that you saw there. Major ?—A. No.

Q. No?—A. That looks more like the cut but it appears to be small. Well, I
won't be certain.

Q. Would you recall who were with you at the time you made an examination of

that cut ?—A. Mr. Doucet was there and the Italian sub-contractor.

Q. Who else ?—A. Mt. Armstrong and Mr. M. P. Davis.

Q. Mr. M. P. Davis. Was Mr. Lumsden there?—A. No, Mr. Lumsden was in the

carriage. He did not get out of the carriage.

Q. Is there anyone else that you can recall?—^A. I cannot remember anyone else.

There may have been one or two.

Q. You cannot remember anybody else but recalling those that were with you

when you inspected the cut are you not now able to say that the cut on that profile

—

A. I should say that was the cut there (pointing to cut on the profile) between 70 and
80. It looks small perhaps. I was judging it from the slope, the upper slope.

Q. The cut between 70 and 80 ?—A. Yes.

Q. Is that a tunnel cut ?—A. No.

Q. Was not the cut that you are now speaking of, shown on that profile between
station 70 and 80, finished at the time you were there ?—A. I cannot say now. I

could recognize the cut on the ground but I could not recognize it on that profile.

The cut (was one mass of small boulders in the slope as it went up that way (illustrat-

ing by a gesture), it was just studded with small boulders all the way through. Thsi
is the on'y way I can trace it.
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By the Chairman :

Q. You did not stop to examine it very long ?—A. Oh no.

Q. In your first evidence you said you merely went through it?—A. When I
was asked how long I said 15 ox 20 minutes, or something like that.

Q. It is not surprising that you cannot recognize it even on the profile because

you don't remember about it ?—^A. It is a very hard thing to locate the cutting on the

profile unless you know the station and the mileage.

Q. You seem to have a good deal of difficulty in saying what cutting you stopped

at and looked at ?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—On the profile.

The Witness.—On the profile.

By the Chfiirman :

Q. I know even on the profile. Is it not a fact that you did not pay much atten-

tion to it when you went through it ?—A. I paid enough attention to see that it was

not solid rock and I was quite surprised at the estimate given.

By Mr. Mmirph^ :

Q. Then, Major, are we to understand from you that you wil not be able to

identify it any more closely on the original profile itself ?—A. No.

Q. I beg your pardon ?—A. No.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Assuming that the cut indicated by Mr. Doucet was the cut that was visited

by you, perhaps you could indicate or tell us, on that assumption what you did see ?

—A. What I saw ?

Q. Yes ?—A. Well supposing this is the cut The upper slope went much higher,

of course, than the centre, and it was the upper slope I looked at more than anything
else and it was studded with boulders. Very often these boulders are called * nigger
heads,' or field stones.

Mr, Murphy.—I think the witness is speaking of a cut different from the one
identified by Mr. Doucet.

The Witness.—Which is the one ?

Mr. Macdonald.—I asked him about the one Mr. Doucet identified.

Mr. Murphy.—The cut shown on the profile between stations 70 and 80 was
finished at the time he was there ?

The Witness.—Was this finished ?

Mr. Murphy.—Yes. Mr. Macdonald's question has not been answered.

Mr. Macdonald.—Does Mr. Doucet's plan indicate that this tunnel cut was not

finished at the time ?

Mr. Murphy.—The Major says the cut he and Mr. Doucet saw was finished.

The Witness.—^No, I don't remember whether it was finished or not.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. You do not recall whether it was finished or not?—A. No. I think there was

something left in the centre of it. I walked round the sides of it. I looked at that

side and then at the other (illustrating on the profile) and then at the other end. I

walked round the sides to see if there was not some way of throwing it out.

Mr. Murphy.—The Major's evidence at page 128 makes it clear and definite

(reads)

:

' Q. Did you go right through it?—A. It was not through. I went into one end
of it and walked over the iip^ier portion of it and down to the other side.'

The Witness (indicating on the profile).—I walked over this portion here and
down the side.

Major Hodgixs.
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By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Do you remember in one of your statements in the ' Colonist ' referring to

150,000 cubic yards being taken out of the cut?

Mr. HoDGiNs.^—Is that in the letter or in the interview?

The Witness.—It is in the interview.

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. It should be 150,000 cubic yards?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Do you remember that statement?—A. That cut was not

Q. Was there 150,000 cubic yards in the small cut you are looking at?—A. No.

Q. Now look at the cut indicated by Mr. Doucet on that profile (Exhibit No. 35),

the cut that you have described and say whether there was 150,000 cubic yards in that?

—A. That would altogether depend upon the slope, how far the slope went—whether

it was a li to 1, or 1 to 1, or IJ to 1 slope. That side of the hill was fairly steep.

By the Chairman:

Q. Did you take time to examine the cut ?—A. You see, when a man is accustomed

to judging classification it dees not take very long to examine the cut and find out the

difference between solid rock.

Q. You cannot see the difference by looking at the profile?—A. Oh, no. You see,

it does not take very long to judge a cut when you know the specifications and know
what they mean, whether the cut is solid rock or loose rock. I would not take any

longer to tell the difference than between a concrete house and a stone house.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Between a brick wall and a stone wall?—A. I am putting it closer. Concrete

is more like loose rock. We are looking at this from different view-points. The
examination of that cut, in order to classify it accurately, would require quite a lot

of measurements and a good deal of examination. To go through a cutting and to

give an off-hand opinion you do not hit it very- close. I could not attempt to hit

within 5 or 10 per cent of another man's estimate; but what astonished me was

Q. What about this distinct statement of 150,000 cubic yards? You made that

statement, did you not?—A. I think it is confused. 100,000 yards would be more
like it.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Which was it you said, 100,000 or 150,000, do you recall ?—A. I don't remember.
This cut here (pointing to the profile) might run over that.

By the Chairman:

Q. But what was your statement?—A. I don't remember.

Mr. Hodgins.—His statement to whom, Mr. Chairman?
The Chairman.—The interview, I think it was.

Mr. Hodgins.—I don't think he has admitted it.

By Mr. Murphy : .

_ Q. Well, Major, how was it you could give such an exact description of the cut,

speaking here in your examination-in-chief, and having nothing before you, and now
with the profile before you identified by the district engineer of that district you are

unable to recognize it ?—A. Well, it is quite easy to say that you cannot recognize a

cut on the profile when you have not seen the plan or the profile of it before. This

appears to me to be very much, from the shape of it, like the cutting I went through.

Q. But you have made some very serious charges with regard to this cutting, and
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you are quite specific in your examination-in-chief, and again in your cross-examina-

tion, in describing the cutting and the material in it, and what the classification in

your opinion ought to be?— I think, if I remember right, when we went through

this cutting—when we were at that cutting—there was some talk about the slopes

being taken down at a lesser angle than they were then. They were considered dan-

gerous slopes.

By the Chairman:

Q. In your precis of charges you say—I want to make it clear so as test your

memory—' In La Tuque cut, in District " B," there is a large cutting which was

originally intended for a tunnel. This had a slope on one side of 120 feet and about

80 feet deep. There was no solid rock in place, so that a tunnel was an impossibility.

Consequently an open cut was made. It was a very large cutting, containing about

150,000 cubic yards of material ' ?—A. Where is that, sir ?

Q. In your statement. Now, how is it you there made such a specific statement

as to the quantity of material, 150,000 cubic yards, and now you say you cannot do it ?

Mr. Lennox.—He did not say he could not do it.

The Chairman.—I asked him a few moments ago whether it was 100,000 cubic

yards. He did not know whether it was 100,000 or 150,000.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Surely we have the right to prove these charges by other witnesses ?

The Chairman.—I think my question was fair. I wanted him to explain how it

was he made that statement.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I think the question was how could he make these charges without

being able himself to swear to their accuracy.

The Chairman.—I wanted to test his memory, and asked him to give me his basis

for making such a statement.

The Witness.—It is this way, sir (indicating on the plan). Supposing the slope

of the hill comes down there. That is the slope of our cutting, you see, on that angle.

A very much less number of yards would be required than if it went to that angle,

because then the slope would run away up the hill.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Did you make any statement at the time you inspected that cut as to what
quantity of material it would contain?—A. Well, it might be anything.

Q. Did you make any estimate at that time?— No; I think I asked about it.

Q. What do you say?—A. I think I probably asked about it.

Q. Did you make any estimates yourself?—A. No; it is a fairly big cutting,

though. It would run—the quantity would altogether depend upon tlie sJopc they
eventually took out, whether 1-^ to 1, or 1 to 1, or 1;^ to 1.

Q. Where did you get the material on which you base this statement in your
letter, that there was 150,000 cubic yards?—A. One hundred to 150 thousand.

The Chairman.—No, you did not 'say 100 to 150 thousand. I think you men-
tioned

Mr. IIoDGiNS.—The charge is about 150,000 cubic yards, and the question, as I

understand, was as to the witness' idea of the material in that cutting.

The Witness.—Well, I think when we were on the work at the time we discussed,

we spoke of tlie l)i,g cuttings

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Who with? -A. Tlial is \\\\\\{ \ ;nn Irving (o r(>nuMnbri', Avh»ihor it was the
contractor. I think I asked the contractor, and wo spoke about the slope. Somebody
said it would have to be taken down on a Hatter slope on account of these bouldersi

lying on the side; they woidd tumble down .md fill up. and it wowVX be dangerous if

trains came through. In that way the slope would follow up the hill such a long dis-

tance.

Major Hoixjins.
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Q. Did you get any information in the meantime, after you had made a personal

inspection, before you wrote this letter to the paper and preferred these charges here ?

—A. No.

Q. You had no information as to quantity?—A. I went through that cutting,

and I don't suppose I discussed it with anybody since I left Quebec.

Q. And the only ground you had for making the statement as to the quantity

was what you had in your mind as the result of your visit?—A. Yes.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—And his conversation.

The Witness.—^And the conversation ; that if the slope of the cutting had to be

\aken back it would run into a great many extra yards, and I judged from the look of

this slope as it stood there it would have to go back to a very flat slope to stand.

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. That is the kind of material?—A. The kind of material. It would be a con-

tinual source of worry to trainmen or engineers to have that.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. You did not know at any time, as a matter of fact, whether all this extra

material was taken out?—A. No; but I think the engineer said, or the contractor

said, it would have to be eventually taken out.

Q. The contractor said it would eventually have to be taken out, but you did not

know at the time you made the statement in the press that it had been taken out?

—

A. I was perfectly certain it would have to go back to as flat a slope as ^ou could

possibly get lit.

Q. Did you know as a mattor of fact?—A. I knew it would have to go back,

Mr. Macdonald.

Q. But you never knew that it had?—A. No.

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. You mean speaking as an engineer?—A. Yes.

Q. It would have to be done?—A. What I was thinking of was the boulders that

had to be taken out of the slope, and as fast as you could take them out you would
have found new boulders coming down which would be a detriment.

By Mr. Murphy

Q. Now do the answers given to the Chairman and Mr. Macdonald enable you
to identify this tunnel cut which you have so minutely described on this profile ?

—

A. No, I presume it was that. I don't remember this jog in it coming up the slope

(pointing to profile), and coming over here, I don't remember a jog of that kind.

There may be one.

Q. Do I understand you to say that the original profile itself would not assist

you in identifying it?—A. I don't think so.

Q. You do not think it would?—A. You«see I have never seen a profile of this

cut before. I spoke entirely from memory and described it entirely from memory.
A. You made no sketch or anything of that kind on the ground?—A. No.
Q. You have never seen one since?—A. No.
Q. You have made inquiries, I understand, since about this tunnel cut?—A. No.
Q. None?—A. No.

Q, As to identifying it?—A. No, I spoke to Mr. Armstrong about it.

Q. Who is Mr. Armstrong?—A. He is a division engineer down there for the

Grand Trunk Pacific.

Q. Yes?—A.. And I think I spoke to Mr. Doucet, I am not certain, when I came
up here.

Q. What about?—A. About this

Q. What did you speak to Mr. Armstrong about?—A. About this cut.

Q. Well, what was the conversation about?—A. Principally to find out who was
in the party?— A. I asked him
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Q. Yes, but that was not for the purpose of identifying the cut?—A. No.
Mr. HoDGiNS.—^You asked him a question. Let him give the answer.

Mr. Murphy.—He has given it.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—No, you stopped him in the middle of it.

Mr. Murphy.— beg your pardon.

Q. That inquiry was for the purpose of enabling you to identify the cut?—A.

Oh, no.

Q. Then you must have been certain about the cut?—A. I am certain about the

cut. The cut on the work, not the cut on the profile—what I saw. You see I saw
the cut on the work but this is the first time I have ever seen this profile. We went
down

Q. Now, if all the engineers who were there with you that day, as well as Mr.
Doucet, identified the cut shown on that profile as the tunnel cut you describe would
would you be any more certain of it then?—A. I should think that is the second cut,

that is what I am going on. That is the second cut and this is the first cpt (indicat-

ing on the profile).

Q. I am not asking you about the first or second, I am asking you about the

tunnel cut of which you gave such a minute description?

Mr. Lennox.—You had better hear what the witness has to say. You can have

the cut identified by other witnesses and if necessary he can be recalled.

Mr. Murphy.—I am cross-examining the witness.

Mr. Lennox.— am pointing out what is the fair way of putting the question.

I do not think it is fair to ask him what has he got to say if a number of other wit-

nesses states so and so.

The Chairman.—The witness has made a very rash statement in my opinion in

giving the exact number of yards in this cut. Mr. Murphy is trying to cross-examine

him to see if he took any precautions to assure himself that he was right before he
made such a statement. I think he is perfectly correct.

Mr. Lennox.—That is another point.

The Chairman.—It is a very important point.

Mr. Lennox.—I say it is not fair to the witness to say to him that if a number
of witnesses were to swear to so and so would he take a certain position. If the wit-

nesses referred to do swear that Major Hodgins can be recalled with reference to it.

The Witness.—You see in this we are speaking of actual quantities. When
we speak of the contents of a cut we give it in round numbers. You cannot

By the Chairman:

Q. Yes, I understand?—A. We will say it is from 15 to 25 thousand yards, or

15 to 20 thousand, which is according to the amount of calculation or the measure-
ments you have made.

Q. You have just stated you did not make any calculation at all?—A. No, I

made a guess at it.

Q. And then you made the statement to the public?—A. There was between
100 and 150 thousand yards in it.

Q. Which is simply a guess at it?—A. Yes.

Q. And you allowed that to go abroad?

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. Is that what you mean?—A. That was in my interview, sir.

The Chairman.—Very well, go on.

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. I suppose you mean a rough estimate do you?—A. A rough estimate.

Mr. Macdonald.—Does that mean that when Major Hodgins himself made that
statement he did not know whether what he said was true or not 2

Mr. Lennox.—It was just a rough estimate.

M.\J0R HoDr;]:-.'s,
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The Chairman.—I am just pointing out that it is very dangerous to make a rough
estimate in such a case as that.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I do not think the other side will dispute the fact that that is the

size of the cut when we come down to facts.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. In your charges at page 41 of the printed record speaking of this tunnel cut-

ting you say (reads)

:

' This had a slope on one side and about 80 feet deep. There was no solid rock so

that a tunnel was an impossibility.

'

Now I ask you if the cut between stations 70 and 80 on this profile would answer
that description?—A. It would depend altogether upon the slope, the angle of the

slope.

Q. Would that cut between stations YO and 80 answer your description?—A. It

is not 80 feet deep.

Q. It is not 80 feet deep?—A. No.
^ Q'. Then it would not answer the description?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—About 80 feet deep he says in his charges.

By Mr. Murphy: .

Q. And you proceed, major, to say (reads)

:

~ 'It w^s a very large cutting containing about 150,000 cubic yards of material.

The ground was a mixture of loose rock with some boulders and some earth and wet

sand on top. There was no solid rock in place visible in June, 1907, so that anything

that could be classified as solid rock would consist of large boulders over a cubic yard

in dimension. This was classified as 86 per cent solid rock.'

I want you to show the committee on that profile where you saw the material

that you have given this specific description of and said it was classified as 86 per cent

solid rockj?—A. If this is the cutting there, I saw the material on the inside of the

cutting on the slope.

Q. I am asking you if the cutting betw^een stations 70 and 80 was the cutting you
described in your charge at page 41 of the printed record?—A. That is what I want
to get at.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—He has already said that he cannot identify that profile.

The Witness.—I am of opinion it was a bigger cut than that.

Q. Taking this cut between Stations 70 and 80 I am asking you as an engineer,

have you given the measurement of that comparatively ?—A. You can measure it there

comparatively.

Q. So as to ascertain the quantity, can you do that now and inform the com-

mittee ?—A. It will take some little calculation.

Q. How long?—A. If I had a scale here I could take it out, or I could square it.

Q. Isn't there a scale on the profile?—A. Yes, but you have a profile scale with

the quantities worked out per station and you can do it very quickly. These engineers

can tell you what it is.

Mr. Lennox.—I do not think there is any need to take up the time of the com-

mittee doing that.

A. You cannot get a decent estimate out of that unless I have the cross section

;

you must have the cross section.

Q. You must have the cross section for what?—A. To take out the quantity.

Q. Did you have the cross-section when you made that statement to the news-
papers ?—A. No, but I want the cross section now.

Q. You have the profile before you now and you can take it out?

^r. HoDGiNS objected that the witness was unable to do so without the cross-

section.

The Chairman.—I think, Mr. Murphy should be allowed to proceed with his cross-

examination.
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Mr. HoDGiNS.—The witness says he cannot give the quantities without having the

cross-section.

Mr. Murphy.—The witness has not said that he cannot. I think I ha^ e submitted

to a great many interruptions by my learned friend and I think I should be allowed

to proceed with my cross-examination.

Mr. Macdonald.—Wie are not going to have any fighting between counsel you

might as well learn that first as last, so you might as well get down to business.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I think the witness should have some protection.

The Chairman.—The witness has all the protection he needs. I assume that the

witness being an engineer ought to be able to protect himself in this matter. We
do not want any unfair questions, but anyhow the only way to proceed regularly is

for Mr. Hodgins to make his objection to questions to the committee and not to inter-

rupt the other counsel.

Mr. MuRPHY.^—Or to steer the witness as to the answer he is to give.

Mr. Hodgins.—I have not done that ?

Mr. Murphy.—Oh yes, repeatedly.

A. About 90,000 or 100,000 cubic yards.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. How much. Major ?—A. 90,000 or 100,000 cubic yards, I have just squared it

off.

Q. Would 100,000 cubic yards be the outside figure of that cut ?—A. It will

depend on the slope, I think it had about i- to 1 slope.

By Mr, Hodgins:

Q. Is the slope given on that profile ?—A. No. It depends altogether on the

slop?, how far up the hillside the slope should go.

By Mr. MwrpJiy :

Q. What did you say would be the quantity in that. Major ?—A. It might run—
Mr. Hodgins. Am I right now in making the objection, after the witness has

said that the slope must be given before he can make the calculation, and that the

slope is now shown on the profile ? This question, without giving him the data is

either useless or misleading.

The Chairman.—What was the question ?

Mr. Murphy.—I am asking as to the quantity of material in that cut between

station 70 and 80, as shown on the profile.

Mr. IIoDGiNS).—I object that there is not sufficient data to enable the witness to

make a calculation ?

A. When I was there we had not the profile, wc discussed this tiling generally

and these were the figures I got when I was there.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. With more data before you now than you had when you were on the ground I

—A. I can go into it more thoroughly; if I had this profile iwhen I came down I

could have gone into very much more details than I did.

Q. That is what I assume, with this additional data bofiu-e you you can go into

it more thoroughly aiul should havo uo trouble in ltdliug what quantity there is in the

cut between stations 70 and 80 ?—A. I say roughly froui 90,000 to 100.000 cubic yards

if the slope is not more than ^ to 1.

Q. That could not be a cut, nccordiug to your statouunit, that would bo -doscribed

as a tuuniel cut ?—A. Yes, 1 lliink thai is the cutting.

Q. You said that the other contaiued about 150.000 cubic yards '(—A. This is the

ouc (indicating on ])rotile). The one that I saw contained more than that. I do not
kiunv how much that would run to.

Major Hodgins.
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Q. Just identify that by stations, Major, please?—A. The cut from 70 to 80
would run about 100,000 cubic yards if the slope is ^ to 1, and this one at station 40,
I could not tell, it will take a lot of calculating, it depends altogether on the slope.

Q. Do you now, Major, swear that the cut between stations 70 and 80 is the tun-
nel cut that you visited with the gentlemen whom you mention?—A. I cannot swear
as to that.

Q. You can't siwear to that ?—A. I cannot swear to that on the profile there.

Q. You say you can't swear to it on the profile ?—At . No, you see I haven't had
the profile to compare with the ground at any time.

Q. Is the cut shown on the profile between stations 70 and 80 the one on the top

of which you said was wet sand ?—A. I corrected that afterwards.

Q. No matter what your correction is, I am asking you if the cut on the profile

between stations 70 and 80 is the one on which you say there was wet sand ?—A. It

looks something like it; I take it because I do not remember that jog in there; it

appeared to be a larger cut than that.

Q. I am asking you. Major, if the cut at Station 40, shown on this profile, is or

is not the tunnel cut that you have described in your examination in chief, and in

your cross-examination as having visited it with the engineers you mentioned ?—A.

That looks something like the other cut.

Q. I am asking you if it is the cut ?—A. I cannot say.

Q. Will you swear that it is not ?—A. Well, I can't tell you that either.

Q. What is your answer. Major ?—A. This looks like the cut, there was a track

down in one.

Q. The cut at Station 40 ?—A. One of these cuts had a track down it; If I re-

member right, I think that was the second cut.

Q. Was that the one that you described as the tunnel cut ?—A. I can't say, Mr.

Murphy.

Q. Well, will you swear thiat the cut shown on this profile between Stations 10

and 20 is the cut that you have described as th© tunnel cut ?—^A. No, I cannot say

that; that is why I asked Mr. Doucet if that wasn't the way we walked (indicating

on profile).

Q. Mr. Doucet told you it was the opposite-direction, from left to right.—A. We
went up there, and then we went up to a rock cut, and coming down the northerii

track was over this way (illustrating).

Q. You have heard the evidence by Mr. Doucet identifying this cut at station 40

as the tunnel cut ?—A. Yes, and it is marked ^ tunnel cut ' here and ' cancelled.'

Mr. HoDGiNS.—It is not marked funnel cut,' but 'tunnel.'

A. I could not identify it unless I went on the ground.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. And that is the tunnel cut of which you were speaking as the one in which
you said you spent ten or fifteen minutes ?—A. I forget who it was asked me how long

I had been in there.

Q. I am not asking you who asked you, but that is the one you only spent ten

or fifteen minutes in?—A. I was there as long as the other fellows.

Q. That is not what I am asking you. Isn't your statement that you spent ten

or fifteen minutes in the cut?—A. I could not say exactly how long I spent in there.

Q. Was it not the tunnel cut in which you said you spent ten or fifteen minutes?

—A. The cut I described as the one that had loose rock and stones on the slope of it.

Q. That is the tunnel cut?—A. Whether it was the tunnel cut or not I could not

say.

Q. How long did you spend in the tunnel cut?—^. In the cut I am referring to?

Q. How long did you spend in the tunnel cut that you have described?—A. Do
not put it/ in that way.

Mr. Lennox.—The witness asks you to eliminate the word ' tunnel,' and I think

he has the right to do so.
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By Mr. Murphy:

Q. What is the cut you are referring to?—A. That (indicating on profile) looks

more like it, but it looks a little small.

Q. That is the cut between stations 70 and 80?—A. Yes, but I can't say it is the

cut.

Q. Can you tell us what the classification of that cut should be between stations

70 and 80? What is your answer?—A. Can I tell you what the classification should

be there?

Q. Yes?—A. That was not the cut.

Q. I am asking you what the classification of that cut should be—A. Do you
want me to make a guess at it?

Q. I am asking you what the classification should be? You went over the ground
and described it in your letter and in your charges, and now you have the profile be-

fore you?—A. You cannot classify from the profile.

Q. I am not asking you what you can classify from, but can you tell us now?

—

A. The classification?

Q. Yes, of that cut between stations 70 and 80?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—The witness says you cannot classify it from the profile.

The Chairman.—Let him say so, if that is the case.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—He has said so.

A. You must be on the ground to classify.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Can you tell us the classification of the cut shown on the profile at station 40 ?

—A. No.

Q. Can you tell us the classification of the cut shown on the profile between sta-

tions 10 and 20?—A. I do not know what cuts they refer to. Nobody can classify by
the profile, a man must classify on the ground.

Q. Did you do any classification on the ground when you visited there in June
last?—A. You are judging classification from a lawyer's standpoint.

Q. I am not judging it at all. I do not know anything about it. I am taking your
charges that you spread broadcast and ask you what you made the classification?

—

A. 40 per cent solid rock in the cutting I refer to would be a liberal classification.

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. You say 40 per cent solid rock in that cutting would be a liberal classification ?

—A. Yes.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. You came to that conclusion after a ten or fifteen minute visit to the cutting
you refer to?—A. You mean that I only spent ten or fifteen minutes there; you can't
nail me down to time here.

Q. I am not nailing you down to any time; I am taking your own statement."
How long did you spend in District 'B' altogether?—A. District ^B'?

Q. Yes, Quebec?—A. Oh, we were there, I forget what day we got down there

—

Monday, I think.

Q. No, no; I am asking you how long did you spend there altogether?—A. I
think we were there the whole day; we got to La Tuque in the morning, and we drove
off to the river and where some rock had been blasted into the river, and then we went
up to the hill and drove over to this work; we had hincli there. It would be about
haM a day on the worky

Q. Is the cut that you refer to the one that you saw first after getting out of the
carriages?—A. Yes, I think: it was.

Q. You think it was. Do you remember tliat the visit to La Tuque was for the
purpose of settling the location of the station grounds?—A. No.

Major Hodgins.
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Q. Do you remember the examination of the locality that day for the location of

the station grounds ?^—A. ISTo.

Q. Could that have been done, could an inspection of that kind have been made
without your knowing it?—A. I think the station ground had been settled on before

we went down there.

Q, I am instructed not?—A. I do not know anything about it.

Q, Do you remember seeing Mr. Parent there that day?—A. Yes.

Q. Do you remember a gentleman named Kousseau being with Mr. Parent that

day, the member for Champlain?—A. I remember there was a member got on board
at one of the stations as we were going out on the train.

Q. Did you see this gentleman on the ground afterwards?—A. They were all

ahead of us.

Q. On the work ?—A. No, they did not go off on the work.

Q. You were not visiting it alone?—A. No, but I think they all drove down to

the contractor's camp while we were going over the work, only a small party got out

c and went over the work so far as I remember.

Q. Do you remember where you first went to after arriving at La Tuque ?—A.

Yes, we drove down to this place where they had blasted out some on the side of the

river bank in order to lower the waters, the flood.

Q. Yes, and don't you remember an inspection then being made with regard to

the location of those station grounds?—A. Down there, down at the river?

Q. In that neighbourhood, not at the river exactly but in that vicinity?—A. I

walked back up to the top of the hill, and waited, I think, on the top of the hill for

some little time, I did not see anything of any station grounds.

By the Chairman:

Q. With reference to that tunnel cut, how long did you spend there?—A. I have

been trying to figure it out.

Q. Can't you remember how long you stayed there?—A. I walked in and looked

at it, and then I spoke to a contractor—I do not remember how long.

By Ml'. Lennox:

Q. Perhaps you can tell us in this way, you went there for the purpose of seeing

this cut?—A. Yes.

Q. And you were all there for the same length of time?—A. Yes.

Q. Por whatever time you thought to be necessary you took there before you came
away?—A. I think we all walked through the cut together.

By the Chairman:

Q. You looked at it, you saw it, you went through the whole of the work and

came back?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. So that you took whatever time appeared to be necessary?—A. Yes, and when
I was asked the question, how long I was there, I did not think it out.

The Chairman.—It is a very important matter.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. At page 280 you were asked :

Q. Is this the cut that you told your counsel you spent 10 or 15 minutes at?—A.

I did not time myself, we walked over it.

Q. I am not asking you that. Is this the cut you said you spent 10 or 15 minutes
in?—A. That is it.

Q. And during that time you had all this conversation and made the inspection

of the cut you have told us about?—A. I did not inspect it, I walked into it and
,
walked over it.
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Q. And you gave a description of it ?—A. Yes, I believe in that description I

confused two cuts.

By the Chairman:

Q. Now, in 15 minutes anyway you went through it. Do you tnmk you had time

to make all these calculations that your charges A. Leave out the 15 minutes.

Q. Say 15 or 20 minutes. You say here at page 41 of the synopsis of charges

:

' In La Tuque, in district ' B,' there is a large cutting which was originally

intended for a tunnel. This had a slope on one side of 120 feet, and about 80 feet

deep. There was no solid rock in place, so that a tunnel was an impossibility. Con-

sequently an open cut was made.'

You could not, at a glance, say that. Then you go on to say:
' It was a very large cutting containing about 150,000 cubic yards of material.

'

A. Yes.

Q. You had ten minutes, in which to make the observations upon which you made
those calculations?—A. Well

Q. That is your evidence, I want to make that clear.—A. We discussed it, and I

got all that information, while on the work there, at that particular place.

Q. You say:
' Th.3 ground was a mixture of loose rock with some boulders and some earth and

wet sand on top ?
^

A. We walked over all this.

Q. Did you see in walking over it—is it possible you could say from what you
saw in walking over it that it was 120 feet slope, 80 feet deep and that there were

150,000 cubic yards of material, that there was no solid rock, in place, that there was
loose rock and some boulders and sand on top?—A. As you walk over it you ask ques-

tions.

Q. You asked questions, you did not see it yourself?—A. We were all talking.

Q. And you got your information from somebody else then in making that state-

ment?—A. Possibly, or I may have seen it.

Q. I insist upon that, did you se© that yourself, or did you get your information

from somebody else ?—A. I came away from that cutting with that information in

my head.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. And you had never seen it before ?—A. And I have not seen it since.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. From whom did you get the information ?—A. I do not know, I was discus-

sing it, I do not know who, I went and spok© to the Italian. The party was walking

through and wie were discussing the cut, and we would all ask questions and answer

questions as railway men will talk in going through a cutting that way. We were all

railway men and agreed it was a most awful looking cutting and hard for the con-

tractor to take out and that he ought to get all that was coming to him.

Q. Then you based what you have said rather on the information you rocoivod

than on any knowledge you had ?—A. Not altogether.

Q. To what extent then ? What knowledge had you apart from the information

you say you have got ?—A. How do yon mean, knowledge of iwhat ?

Q. Of this cut ?—A. Judging from my eyes. I saw the cut and I walked through

the cut.

By Mr. Macdonald :

Q. Did you make any memoranda ?—A. No, I did not take a note.

5—22
A.I OR IIODGINS.
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By the Chairman:

Q. How could you remember all those exact measurements, 120 feet and 80 feet

deep and 150,000 cubic yards ?

Mr. Lennox.—^He does not say that is exact, he says that is about.

Mr. Murphy.—^No, he says ^ a slope on one side of 120 feet
'

Mr. Lennox.—About 120.

Mr. Murphy.—No, he does not say about 120 feet.

The Chairman.—Even if he said 'about' how could he say so many feet, like

that, from such a short inspection, it is very singular.

A. Well, that was the easiest way I could describe the slope, to anyone but an

engineer. «

By Mr. Macdonald :

Q. Who told you what it was classified at ?—A. Mr. Doucet.

Q. Did Mr. Doucet think that the classification which he told you had been made
was correct ?—A. Did he say it was correct ?

Q. Yes ?—A. I don't remember asking him.

Q. How did he come to tell you what it was classified at ? Did you ask him ?

—

A. I asked him, yes.

Q. Did you tell him you thought it was incorrect ?—A. No.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. Do you know who made the original estimate of this tunnel cut to which you
have referred ?—A. No.

Q. Do you know whether there was a change of location made on a portion of the

work after you walked over it in June last, after the estimate was made ?—A. No, I

could not say.

Q. You have told us though that the cut was originally estimated for a tunnel ?

—A. That would be from the information I received on the ground.

Q. Do you know why it was changed to a through cut ?—A. Probably because

there was no rock in it.

Q. But do you know ?—A. No—informatioli I got on the ground.

Q. Then you have also said it was originally estimated at 30 per cent solid rock '?

—A. That I heard on the ground.

Q. Well now, do you believe that the engineers in that district could have in-

tended it for a tunnel if they had only estimated 30 per cent of solid rock in it ?—A.

It was intended for a tunnel before they opened or started any work on. it. You can-

not estimate the amount of loose rock or solid rock in a cut exactly until the work is

opened up.

Q. Then your statement does not refer to anything that (was done before it was
opened up ?—A. Before it was opened up it might have been the intention of the

engineers to make a tunnel of it.

Q. Do you know when this estimate of 30 per cent of solid rock was made ?—A.

No, I think they said about a couple of months after the cut was started—I am trying

to remember, but I cannot say whether it was a sub-contractor or who it was on the

work told me that.

Q. But in your statement to the paper you say that it really had been laid out as

a tunnel, but when they found there was no solid rock in the place they abandoned
the tunnel idea and took it out as an open cut.—A. That is right is it not, that it

what I understood was the original intention.

Q. Do you knoiw that the abandonment of the tunnel idea was an improvement
and was a benefit to the line ?—A. Well, if it was solid rock I should have imagined
it was an improvement to have had the tunnel there.

Qi. If it had been solid rock?-—A. That is a matter one would have to go into

carefully and consider the two propositions separately on the plans and profiles. I



MINUTES OF EVIDENCE 339

APPENDIX No. 5

presume the engineers in striking out the tunnel considered they were doing the best

thing, they must have had some reason for it.

Q. But you have stated that there was no solid rock visible in June, 1907 ?—A.

I did not see any solid rock.

Q. You did not see any, and you have also told us that the division and resident

engineers are the proper persons to classify the work on their divisions and residen-

cies?—A. Yes, they can classify closely.

Q. For the reason that they are constantly on the work and see the changes in

the material taken out from day to day.—A. Yes, they have the experience, and if tl^e

resident has not experience he can very soon gain it by discussing classification with

his next senior, but the resident engineer should be the one to classify.

Q. Because he sees the material taken out from day to day and observes the chan-

ges in the material ?—A. Yes, as a rule there is not very much difference on railways

between the classification of two engineers.

Q. Then the engineers who were on the work and who made the classification

should be better able to speak about it than you, Major ?—A. They ought to be, if

they classify properly.

Q. Can you swear that the classification (was not made by the division or resident

engineers ?—A. No, I do not know, I did not see th(em make the classification.

Q. Did you see any estimates for the work when down in Quebec ?—A. No.
Q. Have you seen any of them here ?—A. No.
Q. Will you swear that Mr. Doucet classified these cuts that you have been speak-

ing of ?—A. No, I do not know anything about it.

Q. Or that Mr. Grant classified them ?—A. No, I cannot say that, I did not see

them classified, I have not seen it.

Q. Had you signed any of the estimates before you made that statement that the

classification was 86 per cent of solid rock ?—A. No, I simply took the

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. You had not seen them at all ?—A. No, I took the statements of the engineers
given to me down there.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Where did you learn that the cuttings were originally classified at 30 per
cent ?—A. Down on the work.

Q. Who from ?—A. I am trying to remember. I think it was the sub-contractor.
It was either th,e sub-contractor or Mr. Armstrong.

Q. It would be from him that you knew that, because you had no other means
of information as to what that original classification was except this person whose
name you cannot now remember ?—A. It would be Mr. Armstrong or the sub-con-
tractor.

Q. What sub-contractor ?—A. It would be the Italian.

Q. The Italian sub-contractor ?—A. At least I don't know iwhether he was the
sub-contractor. He spoke to me as the man who had charge of the work there.

Q. It was the Italian sub-contractor or Mr. Armstrong, you arc not certain which
one?—A. No, they both ought to know, the man who does the work and the man who
is looking after the classification for the Grand Trunk Pacific.

Q. You did not ask Mr. Doucet how it was there was this difference did vou ?—

A

No.

Q. You made no inquiries of any kind ? You did not ask Mr. Doucet as to what
was the original classification ?—A. No.

Q. Or whether there was any change ?—A. No.

Major Hodgixs.
6—22i
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By Mr. Murphy :

Q. And your classification, Major, referred to the day of your visit only ?—A.

Yes.

Q. Now could you swear that a iweek or a month previous to that visit, 70 per

cent or 80 per cent would have been too liberal a classification to return A. I was
judging" from the look of the slope of the cutting.

Q. That is not what I am asking you. I am asking you whether you would swear

that a week or a month previous to your visit 70 or 80 per. cent of solid rock would
have been too liberal a return to make for that cut?—A. I don't know how I could

swear when I was not there.

Q. That is what amazes me. Is it not a fact that every cut is classified every

day and that the classification may change from day to day?—A. I don't think a cut

is classified every day.

Q. That the material that comes out is classified every day as it comes out?—A,

I don't think so; it would be impossible. If a man has ten mi\es how can he classify

every cut on it? I mean if the resident engineer has ten "miles.

Q. I am not asking you that?—A. But you are asking me.

Q. Are there not records made every day as the material comes out?—A. No.

Q. On which the classification is based?—A. No.

Q. Well, at what intervals are these records made?—A. It just depends upon the

cutting. The resident engineer is responsible for his classification, and if he has got

any measurements to make he has got to make them in such a way that they are cor-

rect. When all his cross-sectioning is done he is supposed to make a trip over his

work, theoretically once a day; I don't think they do it in practice. They do it as

often as they can. They have a lot of work, odds and ends, but they are supposed to

go over the work, if it is only to have an intelligent idea of what the classification

should be. In some cuttings, where there are lots of boulders, I believe they put on
men to measure them, but it would be impossible for one man to measure up the classi-

fication that you are referring to just now every day.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Do I understand you to say, Major Hodgins, that this phrase ' Quebec classi-

fication,' as it has been used in the course of this investigation, arose out of what you
saw at La Tuque that day?—A. I don't know—

—

Q. You what?—A. I don't quite catch your question.

Q. The phrase ' Quebec classification ' seems to have had some special significance

in the course of your letter and interview and through the course of this investigation.

What is ' Quebec classification ' ?—A. Quebec classification ?

Q. You have heard the phrase, have you not?—:A. Yes.

Q. Well, was that phrase ' Quebec classification ' one which arose out of what
you saw in La Tuque that day?—A. I don't think so.

Q. Well, where did you get it?—A. I think I heard it spoken of before I went

—

before I left.

Q. Yes?—A. And western classification.

Q. Well, are we to understand that what you saw at La Tuque that day caused

you to use the expression that ' Quebec classification ' was being subsequently applied

in the west?—A. Possibly, yes. It was just—it should be classification in Quebec.

That would have been the more distinct term to use.

Q. I understand that that observation of yours at La Tuque that day was the

only personal observation you had of any classification in the Quebec district?—A.

I*ersonally, yes.

Q. At any time?—A. Yes, at any time; but I had a long discussion with Mr.
Armstrong about the classification in that district on the following Sunday in Que-
bec city.

Q. You did not discuss it with Mr. Doucet?—A. No, I did not r,ee him.
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By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. That was before yoii returned from this La Tuque visit?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. You have also said, in speaking of this cut, that there was a large boulder in

it which would measure some 200 cubic yards?—A. I did not see that. In talking of

the amount of solid rock

Q. You did not see it, somebody told you ?—A. The largest boulder they had un-

covered was 400 yards.

Q. Now, after that boulder was removed by blasting, the whole thing, would there

be any trace of it left in the cut?—A. No; it would just depend where they got it.

If it was on the slope, there might be some trace of it afterwards if in the middle of

the cutting.

Q. Can you swear that previous to your visit to La Tuque there were not other

large boulders of the same kind removed and no trace left?—A. How can I swear

that?

Q. I am asking if you can?—A. No, I cannot.

Q. And you have also stated that the cut consisted of loose rock and boulders

in the end ?

Mr. IIoDGiNS.—Where are you quoting from?
Mr. Murphy. Pages 128 and 129. The witness said, as reported at page 128:

' The western end, I think it was, we first came to v/as a mass of loose rock, boulders.''

Q. Do you remember that, Major?—A. Yes.

Q. And, basing your opinion upon that, you have stated that you think 40 per

cent would have been too liberal a classification—40 per cent of solid rock?—A.

Yes, very liberal.

Q. Very liberal. Now, I will show you some photographs, Major^

Mr. Hodgins.—Now, Mr. Chairman, I am going to object to the production of

these photographs unless they are properly proven.

Mr. Macdonald.—You can exhibit the photographs.

The Witness.—When was this photograph taken?

Mr. Murphy.—VThat was taken—

—

Mr. Hodgins.—I want the photographer to say when he photographed the cutting

and from what point.

Mr. Murphy.—I will ask Mr. Doucet as to that.

Mr. Macdonald.—Your proper course would be to exhibit the photographs to the

witness, and then if you want to prove them, do so.

By Mr, Murphy:

Q. I want you to say. Major, looking at that photograph (handing photograph
to witness)

Mr. Hodgins.—Pardon me a moment. I had an experience the other day when
my learned friend produced something that he said he was not going to put in and
then asked a question about it, and then tlie statement wont in. I submit this is

not evidence at all. Unless my learned friend is prepared to prove it, this photograph
is not something he can put in and question the witness about.

Mr. Macdonald.—That is absolutely quibbling, and you know it very well.

Mr Hodgins.—I do not know it very well.

Mr. Macdonald.—Then your experience is di^Teron^ from unwc.

Mr. Hodgins.—That may be.

Mr. Macdonald.—The question as to whether that shall bo treated as evidence or

not is one of proof afterwards. Mr. ^lurphy has a perfect riglit to submit the photo-
graph to the witness.

Mr. Hodgins.—I submit that he has not.

Mr. Macdonald.—Then I will ruh^ against you myself.

;Majok Hodgins.
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Mr. HoDGiNS.— make this objection on account of the experience I had the other

day.

The Chairman.—Supposing the witness can recognize the place?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—That is a very different thing. My learned friend is putting in the

photograph as if the witness recognized it.

Mr. Macdonald.—He has a right to submit it to the witness. If the witness does

not recognize it, then Mr. Murphy must prove it.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Then my objection is withdrawn if it is not put in unless the

witness recognizes it.

Mr. MuRPHY.~Not unless this witness identifies it?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Yes.
The Witness.—This is not the cut I was referring to (after examining photo-

graph). I do not recognize this as the cut I was referring to.

By Mr. Murphy

:

Q. You do not recognize it as the cut you referred to? Well, now, if you were

shown a photograph of the cut you did refer to would you recognize it?

^ Mr. Lennox.—That is not a fair question.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—^Hardly a fair question.

A. The ground looks so ditferent in the photograph.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. Everything looks different now, I know that. Could you tell us from looking

at that photograph whether 40 per cent solid rock would be a liberal estimate?—^A. I

would never, never estimate a cut in a photograph.

Q. I beg your pardon?—A. I would never estimate a cut in a photograph.

Q. Just by eye?—A. It depends upon what sort of estimate you want. If you
want a close estimate I would have to go down and measure it, but I can give a

quick enough estimate on

Q. Would the cut shown in the photograph be estimated fairly liberally at 40

per cent solid rock?—A. Ask me something easy.

Q. Can you say, or what do you say?—A. I could not say anything at all about

it from that picture. I don't know where this rock came from that is lying in front.

Q. I am not asking you that?—A. It is very material if you are going to esti-

maiie it.

Q. Since the rock is in the cut it doesn't matter?—A. Yes; but here is a lot of

rock piled up here. How do we know it has not come from the cut on the other side ?

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Assuming it came there naturally and was not improperly placed there, what
would you say?—A. You don't know how far it goes under this bank; you could not
classify 'it without

By Mr, Lennox:

Q. Could you estimate it by that photograph?—A. Oh, dear, no; could not

begin to do it.

By Mr. Murphy

:

Q. Can you tell us, major, whether the cut shown in this photograph that I am
exhibiting to you shows more rock than was in the cut that you referred to at the time
of your visit?—A. That is not the cut that I referred to.

Q. I am asking you (if this photograph of a cut shows more rock than there was
in the cut to which you referred at the time you visited it?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—This cut has not been identified. It may be anything from Dan
to Beersheba.

Mr. Macdonald.—It is a perfectly legitimate question.
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The Witness.—Without knowing how much rock there is in that—sunless I knew
how much rock there was in that

By Mr. Murphy

:

Q. From the appearance in of the cut in that photograph ?—A. You cannot judge.

Q. Can you tell us what classification there would be of loose and solid rock?

—

A. If you are standing at this end of the cut you cannot judge it, you have got to

get into the cut. You are looking at it from the outside.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—It looks like a photograph of the scene of the explosion on the

line the other day.

The Witness.—This gives you no idea. You don't know how many feet, you

don't know how far it runs in that way (indicating on the photograph).

By Mr, Murphy:

Q. You did not get into the cut referred to except at either end and then walked

over it?—A. We walked in.

Q. Does this photograph look like the type of cut over which you walked?—A. I

could not remember that.

Q. Does it look like a sand cut?—A. Apparently there is—I don't know whether

there is sand or not on the other side. It looks like common excavation on one side.

Q. The right hand of the cut as it faces you ?—A. I could not say from the

photograph whether it was sand or mud or clay.

By the Chairman:

Q. Do you mean that this part would be common excavation (pointing to photo-

graph) ?—A. That part looks like it.

Q. This part here?—A. You don't know what size the boulders are or tne loose

reck; you cannot tell from the photograph.

Q. Having looked it over for some minutes does the photograph recall to you the

cut that you have been referring to?—A. It does not.

Mr. Murphy.—Then I would ask that Mr. Doucet identify the photograph.

The Chairman.—Mr. Doucet has been sworn.

Mr. HoDGiNs.—The photograph should be identified.

The Witness.—I will take Mr. Doucet's word.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—^Pardon me, I am counsel in this case.

The Chairman.—We will see what Mr. Doucet will say.

Mr. Doucet, recalled and further examined.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Will you just explain to the committee what this photograph is that I have
been showing to the Major, and state when it was taken?—A. I think that is the cut.

taken in April, 1908, April last.

Q. Yes?—A. The top of the cut is practically the same as when Major Ilodgins

was there. The bottom, of course, has been changed, but in the month of July we
stopped working on the top aud continued from both ends.

Mr. TIodgins.—That rules it out. The visit was paid in June. 1907, and the

photograph was taken in April, 1908.

The Witness.—The top is the same.

Mr. Murphy.—They stopped in July, 1907, and the top of the cut, the witness

says, is the same.

Mr. IIodgins.—Let me say here that I object to calling ^[r. Doucet in the middle

of Major Ilodgins' cross-examination to identify something. If ]\[r. Doucet is called

ultimately, and that photograph put in,Tam not going to object, because then I will

Mr. A. E. Doucet.
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have the right to cross-examine him. But I object to his identifying a photograph

at this stage and then presenting it to the witness who has alrealy said that he does

not understand it.

Mr. Macdonald.—I do not think Mr. Doucet should tell any more than the date

on which the photograph was taken, at this stage.

Mr. Murphy.—The witness has stated that the work on the cut which the Major

has been referring to was stopped in July, 1907. He said that this photograph directly

represents the top of the cut as it was when the visit was made.

Mr. Macdonald.—Mr. Hodgins' objection is to the further examination of Mr.

Doucet. You have identified the photograph and you can ask the Major, if you like,

as to that date.

Mr. Murphy.—Very well.

Q. I show ,you a second photograph of the same cut, Major
Mr. HoDGiNS.—Not for the purpose of putting it in, I suppose?

The Witness.—That is not the cut.

Mr. Murphy.—I am asking the witness: 'Do you identify that?'

The Witness.—Whereabouts is that *?

^ Mr. Macdonald.—Do you not think you had better go on with Mr. Doucet and
identify all the photographs?

By Mr. Murphy

:

Q. Mr. Doucet, you have produced a second photograph of the cut to (which

Major Hodgins has been referring. I ask you to explain to the committee what this

photograph is and when it was taken?—A. It was taken in April, 1908, and it is the

west end of that tunnel cut which was cancelled.

Q. It is the west end of the tunnel cut which we have been speaking about?—,A.

Take^ in April, 1908.

Q. And what does it show?—A. It shows the cut—the way it has turned out at

thje present ijime.

Q. Is there any part of the cut the same as it was when the visit of Major
Hodgins, yourself and others, was made in June, 1907?—A. This part here (pointing

to photograph).

Q. That is on the left of the photograph facing you?—A. Yes. At present that

cut has turned out solid rock.

Mr. Hodgins.—I object to my learned friend putting in his case now. I think I

should have the chance to put in mine first.

Mr. Murphy.—I am only asking him to identify the photograph first.

Q. What other photographs have ^you of the same cut ?—A. This is another photo-

graph of this cut (producing photograph).

Q. This third photograph is what?—A. That is the west end of the cut.

Q. The third photograph is the west end of the cut ?—A. Yes.

Mr. Lennox.—You had better mark them as a, b, c, &c.

Photographs put in and marked Exhibits a, b and c.

Q. This photograph marked c showed what?—A. The west end of the cut. The
north slope of the west end of the cut.

Q. Of which cut?—A. This tunnel cut, cancelled.

Q. And is that the cut to which we have been referring?—A. That is the cut to

which you have been referring.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. How do you identify those photographs?—^. They were taken by my men.
Q. You were not there ?—A. No.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. And what is this photograph (producing photograph exhibited) ?—A. This is

the east end of the cut.



MINUTES OF EVIDENCE 345

APPENDIX No. 5

Q. The east end of which cut?—A. Of this same tunnel cut which was can-

celled.

Q. What does it show ?—A. It shows the east end of the cut.

Q. At what stage of the work ?—A. Well, there has been very little done in there

since Major Hodgins was there—the east end.

Q. Since when?—A. Since June, 1907.

Q. Now, is there any part of the work shown in this photograph b in the. same

condition as it was when you made a visit in June, 1907?—A. This must be the sand

referred to by Major Hodgins.

Q. Where? A. The top is still the same as it was in June, 1907. There are the

cars and carts.

Q. And is it close to these cars and carts? You say the sand is the same ac was

referred to by Major Hodgins?—A. Yes; there is the slope referred to.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Do you recognize in these photographs a reproduction of the ground as it ^vas

known to yourself?—A. Perfectly.

Mr. Hodgins.—I would like to reserve my cross-examination upon these photo-

graphs until they are properly proven. I don't think they could be proven by a man

who d'id not see them taken.

By Mr. Murphy

:

Q. Have you been over the ground since the visit of last year?—A. Yes, often..

Witness retired.

Examination of Major Hodgins resumed.

By Mr. Murphy : .

.

Q. Now, Major, having seen these photographs, marked for the time being a, b,.

G and d——A. They do not remind me of the cut.

Q. Do they recall anything further to you of the material in that cut?—A. They
do not remind me of the cut I refer to—that I have got in my mind. (After

examining photographs again.) They do not.

Q. They do not?—A. No.

Q. Well, looking at the work as shown in these photographs, could you say now
what would be a fair classification?—A. Oh, no; I could not. I would not classify

by i)hotographs. I would not give you a classification by a photograph.

Q. You could not get any percentages at all then as to classification ?—A. No.

Q. From these photographs?—A. No, there is nothing to go by.

Q. Do you remember telling us there was a track down one side of the cut to

which you referred?—A. Not the one I referred to, one of the other cuts.

Q. Which other cuts?—A. I tliiiik it was—we passed a coupk^ —

Q. I did not get your answer. Major?—A. We passed a couple of cuts, and I

think there was a track down the slope. It is this profile reniindod mo of it. It niay

Ijossibly have been down that slope there (pointing to profile).

Q. That is the slope of the cut shown at what station ?—A. 40.

Q. In the profile ?—A. Yes, but that is not the cut I referred to.

Q. Look at photograph b showing some tracks. Are those the tracks you referred

to?—A. No, there was not that amount of work done.

Q. Well, you observe that th(M'e are a number of men shown in the cut in photo-

graph b?—A.Yes.
Q. Do you recogni/e among (hem the Italian sub-contractor to whom you spoke ?

—A. No, I could not.

Major Hodgins.
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Mr. HoDGiNS.—Are you sure that is not where the explosion occurred the other
day ?

Mr. Murphy.—Quite sure.

The Witness.—No, I cannot recognize him.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. You cannot recognize him ?—A. No.

Q. He was only a chance acquaintance ?—A. I think we dined at his camp after-

wards and he gave us some very sweet champagne.

Q. I see, treated you ?—A. Treated us all. There was a big party there. I

thi}ik it was his camp.

Q. Now have you made any inquiry since your visit as to the actual percentage

of solid rock that was returned from the cutting to which you have been referring ?

—

A. No, I have not had any means of getting at it.

Q. You had what?—A. I think I asked Mr. Doucet, I am not certain.

Q. And what did he tell you ?—A. He laughed and said I was all wrong.

Q. Said you were all wrong ?—A. Yes. I am not certain—

—

Q. Would you be surprised to learn that up to the end of May, 1907 there had
been returned in the cut to which you refer a percentage of solid rock of only 29 per

cent ?—A. Twenty-nine per cent ?

Q. Yes ?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—You said the cut to which he referred.

Mr. Murphy.—^Yes.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—That is hardly fair.

Mr. Murphy.—Why ?
'

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Because you do not identify the return.

Mr. Murphy.—I am asking him about the cut to which he refers.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—^Have you given him the cut to which he refers ?

Mr. Murphy.—The cut which he has been speaking about.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I submit we are entitled to have that question put, giving the

exact station to which my learned friend refers when he says 29 per cent was
returned.

Mr. Murphy.—We cannot blow hot and cold in that fashion. When we give him
the station in the profile he recognizes nothing.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I want you to tiift yourself down to something.

Mr. Murphy.—:I am tieing the witness down to something. I am tieing him down
to the cut which we have described. He has stated to the committee that in his

opinion 40 per cent would be a liberal classification, and that he was told it was clas-

sified at 86 per cent. He was in the cut with the engineers looking at it.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Identify the 29 per cent ?

Mr. Murphy.—I am asking him if he would be surprised to learn that 29 per

cent of solid rock was all that had been returned for that cut to the end of May,
1907 ?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—What cut ?

Mr. Murphy.—The one he has b|een referring to.

The Witness.—I don't think it could be the same one.

By Mr'. Murphy :

Q. I am asking you what you have to say as to that return of 29 per cent ?—A.
Principally boulders or ledge. Was it ledge or boulders ?

Q. I am asking you which it was?—A. I think it was ledge.

Q. In the estimates is there a distinction drawn between ledge and boulders s

—

A. Yes.

Q. In the estimates ?—A. Yes.

Q. Is there a separate heading for each?—A. No.
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Q. It is returned as solid rock, isn't it?—A. Yes.

Q. I am asking you if you would be surprised to learn that until May, 1907, there

was only returned 29 per cent of solid rock in that cutting?—A. In ledge, yes; in

boulders, no.

Q. You have told us there is no such distinction as that drawn in the estimates?

—A. You mean in the estimates sent in?

Q. I mean in the estimates?—A. But there should be.

Q. There is not, as a matter of fact.—A. If you ask the engineer on the work he

can tell the difference between ledge and boulders.

Q. I am not asking that. You made the estimates when you were on the work?
—A. Yes.

Q. Did you make any distinction in your estimates?—A. What kind of estimates

are you referring to ? These rough estimates I have been giving you ?

Q. The estimates you sent in from month to month?—A. Those are made by the

engineer on the work.

Q. Did you make any distinction in those sent in from your district?—A. I think

I told them to keep a record of it.

Q. I do not care what you told them, did you make that distinction?—A. We did

not put it on the estimates sent in.

Q. You did not put it on them?—A. No.

Q. Then we have wasted all this time for nothing?—A. Why?
Q. Because there must be a difference ?—A. It should be in the estimates, because

it is very difficult in going over the work

Q. It should be?—A. Certainly.

Q. But it was not in yours?—A. No, I do not think so; you can tell now and
then in going through a cutting and seeing no ledge rock, and 100 yards of solid

rock, one would naturally assume which were boulders, but in any mixed cutting

which would be ledge and then run into a loose rock cutting you would get them
crowded up together, so in reality they ought to be kept separate.

Q. But when the return was sent to the commission it was under the heading of

'solid rock'?—A. Yes.

Q. Would you be surprised to learn that up to the end of June, 1^07, the highest

percentage of solid rock in that cutting you have been speaking about was 32 per cent ?

—A. Which cutting?

Q. The one at La Tuque that you visited with the engineers and on which the

discussion took place?—A. How much?
Q. 32 per cent.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Since those papers have been quoted to the witness and he is

asked to answer upon them, I think that the return should be produced, otherwise

counsel may get an unfair advantage by making an assertion that when the returns

are produced he may not be able to prove.

Mr. Murphy.—We have been trying to have it identified in the evidence of the

witness who identifies it in particular references, and we are speaking now about the

cut itself.

The Chairman.—What was your question?

Mr. Murphy.—Whether the witness would be surprised to learn that the highest

percentage of return of solid rock in the cutting he has been speaking about to the end
of June, 1907, was 32 per cent.

Mr. Lennox.—If there are progress estimates returns, as counsel suggests, he
should have them here, and on those estimates the witness could be examined, but in

their absence I think he should not.

Mr. Macix)NALO.—I do not agree with you at all, I think counsel has a perfect

Major Hodgins.
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right to ask the question, and when he comes to that part of his case he may put in

the statement.

The Chairman.—The witness makes statements about that, and Mr. Murphy
asks him if he would be surprised that a certain percentage was the highest returned;

the witness can answer just as he likes about it.

Mr. Macdonald.—The witness says he did not know anything about the classi-

fication, he could not even tell us who told him how it was classified, he saw one or two
people, but couldn't state which it was told him.

A. Mr. Doucet told me the classification.

By Mr, Murray:

Q. On what cut did he tell you that?—A. That loose rock cut.

Q. What was the loose rock cut ?—A. It was the cutting that I went into—it is

very hard to locate it on the profile or the station, if I had the station on the ground
and the cross-cut I could have located it.

Q. That is the same cut, the tunnel cut, that you have been speaking of?—A. It

has been spoken of as the tunnel cut. They told me that this cut I was looking at

was originally laid out as a tunnel, but when the contractors opened it up
By Mr. Macdonald :

Q. Do you say as a matter of fact that the progress estimates disclosed that the

tunnel cut in the month of June, when the witness was there, did not have any classi-

fication more than 32 per cent of solid rock?

Mr. Murphy.—Yes, 32 per cent for the month and 29 per cent for the month
previous.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I ask that these estimates be produced.

Mr. Murphy.—They will be produced. Outside of the photographs altogether

there is only one cut mentioned in the charges, and my question relates to that cut,,

and the returns refer to that cut.

A. I think the cut you are referring to is the second one we went through.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. No, Major, it is the first one ?—A. No.

Q. I am speaking about the cut that you yojorself described in your charges and

evidence.^—A. It is not the shape of the cut that I went through.

Q. There is nothing the same as it was last June, I know that.—A. Then why do

you show me that.

Q. These are accurate, that is why.—A. If the jog in there was there last June it

would be there now.

Mr. Lennox.—I think that counsel had better refrain from that kind of comment-
ing. These remarks are uncalled for.

Mr. Macdonald.—The Major might have a great deal of difiiculty in answering

what he did months ago, but when he read those letters that difficulty might be removed.

I do not think it is out of the way for counsel to mention a fact.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. What is your answer to that. Major ?—A. What is your question ?

Q. As to whether or not you would be surprised to learn that the highest percent-

age returned for solid rock for the cutting you have been describing, and of which
we have been speaking, was along in the month of June 32 per cent?—A. That was
near my estimate of it, 40.

Q. Would you be surprised to learn that was the return in solid rock for the

month?—A. In boulders, no.

Q. I am not asking you about boulders, but solid rock ?—^A. No, I say solid rock

and boulders, no.

Q. You are trying to draw a distinction, you yourself told us wasn't in the esti-

mate ?—A. If there had been any solid rock in situ I would have seen it.
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Q. I am not asking you that. Just answer the question. In the estimates there

is one return made for solid rock, that is under the heading ' Solid Kock ' ?—A. Yes.

Q. Let us confine ourselves to that, that is what I am speaking about. Would
you be surprised to learn that the return of solid rock in June, 1907, for the cutting

you visited at La Tuque was 32 per cent ?—A. I would say it was about right if it was
that.

Q. You think it would be about right ?—A. It ought to be right, you see that

would be near my estimate.

Q. You yourself would be disposed to allow a more liberal return?—A. Oh, you

see I could not guess.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Major, if the returns for the month of June, 1907, show that the solid rock

was only classified at 32 per cent, then the statement in your charges that it was classi-

fied at'86 per cent is wrong, is incorrect?—A. The statement of Mr. Doucet you mean
is incorrect.

Q. You are making the statement in the charge, you say it was classified 86 per

cent solid rock?—A. Yes, you see I went on his statement. My statement would be
wrong, and Mr. Doucet's statement would be wrong, too. He was my informant.'

Q. That is if Mr. Doucet said it, we have not heard what he has to say about it.

We are dealing with what Major Hodgins says in these charges here, and I want to

direct his attention to the fact that the return was 32 per cent solid rock instead of

86 per cent.

Mr. Murphy.—32 per cent is the highest, it was 29 per cent for May and 32 for

June.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Now, can you give an instance of a mixed estimate for a tunnel having been

made when the materials to be excavated were supposed to be 30 per cent of solid rock

and the remaining 70 per cent some other material?—A. Could I give you what?
An instance of a mixed estimate of that kind?—A. How do you mean, I do not

quite understand you.

Q. I mean, if you can give us an instance of a mixed estimate having been made
for a tunnel where the solid rock was supposed to be 30 per cent and the remaining

70 per cent, some other kind of material?—A. I do not know what you mean by
mixed estimate.

Q. Well, say a mixed classification, or a classification of a mixed cut?—A.Can
I give you an illustration?

Q. Give me an instance, yes?—A. An instance of where an estimate has been
made of a tunnel ?

Q. For a tunnel where the material was 30 per cent solid rock and the remain-
ing 70 per cent some other material?—A. No. I do not think I have anything like

in my mind.

The Chairman.—Any other cut or any other material?

Mr. Murphy.—In a tunnel principally, Mr. Chairman?—A. No, I cannot.

Mr. Murphy:

Q. Can you give me an instance of that kind. Major?—A. No.

Q. Well, then, can you give us an instance where a tunnel was made through a

district, or through a cut where there was mixed material in it?—A. You mean a

lined tunnel?

Q. I do not know, I mean a tunnel on a right of way ?—A. You have to line n

tunnel ns a general rule. Hint is tlirongh mixed material. There was a cored tunnel
on the C.P.K., ox n tunnc>l through mixed material and they eventually had to aban-
don it.

M.AJOR HODOIXS.
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Q. You have said that this particular cut at LaTuque was originally estimated

for a tunnel?—A. It was laid out for a tunnel; well, estimated for a tunnel by the

location man, I suppose.

Q. But what do you know about it ?—A. That is what I was told.

Q. Can you explain to the committee how it could have been estimated for a

tunnel on only 30 per cent of solid rock?—A. I could not explain that.

Q. What would the remaining 70 per cent be?—A. If a tunnel had been put
through this cut I was in, it would have required to be lined.

Q. It would, which?—A. It would require to have been lined.

Q. To have been lined?—A. Yes, and then when you line it you run into all

sorts of expense and trouble, it is not easy work running a tunnel through material

of that kind.

Q. What is you answer ?—A. It is no easy matter runing a tunnel through mixed
material, it is expensive work.

Q. You cannot give us any instance such as I have been asking you for?—A. Not
that I can recollect just now.

The committee rose.

Monday, June 15, 1908, 8.30 p.m.

The committee resumed.

Mr. Murphy.—Keferring to the discussion that took place this afternoon, Mr.

Chairman, about the correspondence between Major Hodgins and Mr. Butler, I made
inquiry of Mr. Butler, who is confined to the hospital, and apprised him of what the

committee had decided with regard to Mr. Aylesworths' correspondence and the corres-

pondence of Mr. Commee. I then inquired regarding Mr. Butler's correspondence

with Major Hodgins, and I am in receipt of the following letter (reads) :

St. Luke's Hospital,

Ottawa, June 15, 1908.

Charles Murphy, Esq., _
.Barrister, &c., Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—Referring to your inquiry about the correspondence between Major

Hodgins and myself, I beg to say that I am willing to produce it if Major Hodgins

informs the investigating committee that he waives any privilege that may attach

to the correspondence in question being marked ' Private and confidential.' I have

already given him copies of the two letters. As I may be confined to the hospital for

a couple of weeks, I could not personally produce the correspondence before the expiry

of that time.

Yours truly,

M. J. BUTLER.

My learned friend this afternoon said that on receipt of a letter from Mr. Butler

he would be willing that this correspondence be produced?
Mr. Hodgins.—I suppose you have a letter from Mr. Conmee saying the same

thing ?

Mr. Murphy.—No ; I understood the chairman would see Mr. Conmee.
The Chairman.—I have not seen Mr. Conmee yet, but think I shall see him to-

night.

Mr. Murphy.—Mr. Butler states that he is willing to produce these letters if the
* private and confidential ' seal is removed.

Mr. Macdonald.—Very well. When they are here will be time enough to discuss*

their production.
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The cross-examination of llajor Hodgins resumed:

By Mr. Murphy

:

Q. We were speaking before adjournment, Major, of the classification in District
* B,' and of a particular cut to which you have referred in your charges and described

in your examination-in-chief and in your cross-examination. I would ask you to

tell the committee briefly just what, in your opinion, the classification of that cut

ought to haxe been?—A. Well, I cannot give the classification in detail very closely!

Q. It was a mixed cut, was it?—A. A mixed cut, yes.

Q. Well, give it as closely as you can?—A. Well, it was what I put down then

as loose rock cutting, pure and simple.

Q. It was what you put down at that time as loose rock cutting?—A. At that

time, yes.

Q. May 1 take your answer as meaning that, in your opinion, that it should have

been classified as loose rock ?—A. With the exception of whatever boulders there were,

over the specified size, of solid rock.

Q. And how should they have been classified?—A. Solid rock.

Q. Can you give us the percentage?—A. No, I could not give you the percentage*

Q. You could not do that?

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. Repeat that answer?—A. No, I could not give the percentage.

Q. You said that you would classify it as loose rock cutting and something more ?

—A. Except the boulders over a cubic yard.

J
By Mr. Murphy:

Q. I understand you to say. Major, you could not give the percentage of either?

—A. Not exactly.

Q. In your examination-in-chief, as reported at page 128, you referred to this

cut as a very nasty looking cut. Would you just explain what you mean by that?

—

A. That means it was a hard cut to take out.

Q. A hard cut to take out ?—A. Yes.

Q. Well, in what respect was it a hard cut to take out?—A. It was full of these

small boulders, and it would make it difficult in placing the blast—that the contrac-

tors always have a certain amount of trouble when they get into a cut of that kind.

It is a very difficult cut to judge the most effectual place to put in the charges, and
altogether the handling of it.

Q. It was difficult, you say, to judge the place to put in the blasts?—A. It is a

difficult cut for a contractor to handle. I know they alwaj'-s complain of cuts like

that. They do not like to get them carrying on the work, any work.

Q. And that is what you mean by the phrase 'a nasty looking cut'?—A. Yes;
from a contractor's standpoint.

Q. Could it have been ploughed?—A. Oh, no.

Q. It could not?—A. On the level, of course, it might have boon ploughed ; but
the way the formation lay there, it could not have been ploughed. That is, from a

practical standpoint, no one would ever think of making a contractor plough it.

Q. In your opinion, as an engineer, what do you think the cost per yard would
be of taking out that cut?—A. Oh, well, that is a question that can only be answered
by men who have watched the cutting coming out.

Q. That can ony be answered by some engineer or souio umn on the ground see-

ing the work done?—A. Yes. The exact cost, you see, to got

Q. Could you express any opinion regarding that?—A. The cost?

Q. Yes?—A. I don't know what the wages

Mr. Lennox.—Would that bo a proper part of our inquiry now?
Mr. Murphy.—It seems to me it would.

Major Hodgins.



352 SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON MAJOR EODGINS' CHARGE

8

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

The Witness.—I don't know what the wages would be in Quebec.

Mr. Murphy.—However, the witness says he cannot say.

Q. There were tunnel cuts in your district, of course?—A. Yes.

Q. Had you seen any cut up there like the one you have described as having

visited at La Tuque?—A. No.

Q. Any mixed cuts ?—A. Oh, there were mixed cuts, but we had not run into any
tunnel in the mixed material. The approaches to some of the timnels might havejbeen

mixed.

Q. Was there any cut in your district A. Similar to that?

Q. Similar to this one at La Tuque?—A. I don't think so. It is an exceptionally

bad one, in my opinion, at La Tuque.

Q. You do not think there was one?—A. 'No. There are some bad cuts up there,

but I think that was a tougher one.

Q. This one at La Tuque, you think, was a tougher one?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, have you told us, Major, about all the classification that you saw in

District ' B ' ?—A. I think so ; that I gave any particular notice to.

^ Q. And I presume it is only the classification that you gave particular notice to

that you 'ean speak of ?—A. Yes.

Q. In your charges you have statijed that when you saw the Quebec classification

creeping into your district you took exception to it ?—A. Yes, that is excessive clas-

sification,

Q. Then that must have been on the same kind of work as you saw in District
' B,' was it not ?—A. No.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Where is that statement to be found ?

Mr. Murphy.—He said so in his evidence. I have not it identified in my printed

copy, but I have in my notes.

Q. You remember making that statement. Major ?—A. No.

Q. You don't remember making that statement, that when you saw the Quebec
classification creeping in you objected ?—A. I am just looking around to see.

Q. At page 130 of the evidence given in your examination-in-chief, appears the

following (reads) :

' Q. From what you saw in Quebec, in that district, were you prepared to adopt

that standard of classification as applying to your district ?—A. No, what I saw and
heard.'

Mr. HoDGiNS.—What he heard is what he states.

Mr. Murphy.—I cannot find the reference in the printed evidence, but I have it

in my notes.

Q. In your letter to the Colonist you -state (reads) :

' Mr. C. A. Young, Commissioner for Manitoba, then advised that I should go to

Quebec, and see how things were managed in that district, where contractors were

not kicking and get an object lesson. I went and returned determined not to allow

Quebec classification to be introduced into the (western district as long as I remained
in charge. This, of course, led to trouble and I got no assistance from the chief

engineer
' If Monsieur Poulin, the engineer appointed by Monsieur Parent to replace me

on the western district, has allowed the introduction of classification similar to that

in Quebec, this will account for an increase in the estimated cost of the line. If

this increase amounts to three or four million dollars (33-| per cent). It is time the

public demanded some explanation from the government.'

Q. Do you remember writing that. Major ?—A. Yes.

Q. Does that recall the other statement I have been asking you about, when you

discovered the Quebec classification was creeping in you objected to it?—A. What is

that again ?

Q. If you recall making the statement that when you discovered the Quebec

classification was creeping in in your district you objected to it ?—A. Yes.
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Q. On what class of work did you discover the Quebec classification was creep-

ing in ?—A. Well, it was the jump that Mcintosh was giving in his division.

Q. Oh, he is the individual in connection with whose work A. Yes.

Q. But I am asking what is the character of th© work in connection iwith which
you said you found it was creeping in ?—A. The character of the work ?

Q. Yes ?—A. It was the stripping of the rock cuts, principally, the stripping of

rock cuts.

Q. Any other material ?—A. Earth and loose Tock excavation returned as solid

rock.

Q. Well now, does that bear any resemblance to this work in Quebec ?—A. It was
not similar, the way it was of course it would come under the heading of loose rock,

but that loose .rock cutting, that cutting in Quebec I have referred to, was a very

hard one, and the stripping that Mcintosh turned into solid rock was not of the same
degree or hardness in my opinion.

By Mr. Macdonald :

Q. That is the cutting in Quebec ?—A. Yes, that cutting in Quebec was a bad
one.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. Are you awa.re. Major, that the question of classification 'in Quebec, some

time after your visit, came up for discussion between all parties interested ?—A. Yes.

Q. And are you aware that a visit was paid there some time in October last by

the representatives of the Transcontinental Eailway and the representatives of the

Grand Trunk Pacific?—A. I am not aware of the date.

Q. But you are aware that there was a visit?—A. Yes, I have seen it in some of

the papers.

Q. Where?—A. On the file here.

Q. That is in some of the papers that have been produced?—A. Yes.

Q. Were these the same papers to which you referred in your previous examina-

tion as having seen legal opinions given regarding classification there?—A. Yes.

Q. Then having seen these opinions you are also aware that following the visit

to that district in the fall of last year, and following the giving of these legal

opinions an interpretation was given by the chief engineer of the Transcontinental

Railway?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. When did you become aware of this? Since the investigation or before?—A.

Well, I think, just about the time of the investigation.

Q. I am speaking of the investigation we are having here. Was it since com-
mencement of this investigation that you became aware of it?—A. Just about the

commencement of it, I got it in papers I received from Mr. Murphy.

Q. Papers that are produced here in this investigation?—A. Yes.

Q. I do not think we ought to go into thjs evidence. The papers themselves are

the best evidence we can get on this matter?—A. I heard something of it

Q. You heard something of it, tell us what it is you heard.—A. I think I hoard

something about ()i)inions, legal opinions from Mr. Armstrong when lie first enmc up,

that is the day I first got down here.

Mr. Lennox.—I submit we ought not to go into this, it is all hearsay, if it

becomes evidence at any time we will get proper evidence upon it from Mr. Arm-
strong or the documents.

Mr. Murphy.—I am not going into that question here.

Mr. Lennox.—^You are framing questions upon it and getting on the record.

5—23
Major Hodgins.
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Mr. Murphy.—I am asking what knowledge he had of classification in Quebec of

which he has spoken.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. You had some conversation when at La Tuque with the chief engineer of the

Transcontinental Eailway regarding classification, Major?—A. No.

Q. Didn't you ask him something about it?—A. No. I went to him; I was going
to have a discussion and ask him what his opinion was, or if he had seen some of the

cuttings down there.

By Mr. Miacdonald:

Q. Is that Mr. Wood ?—A. No, Mr. Lumsden.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. You axe aware that there was afterwards a difference of opinion between the
chief engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific and the chief engineer of the Trans-
continental Eailway regarding classification in that district, are you not?—A. Yes.

Q. And you have seen the interpretation of the Chief Engineer of the Trans-
continental Eailway?—A. Yes.

Q. And you have referred to it in your evidence?—A. Yes.

Q. And you have mentioned that had you seen it before it would have modified

your views?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—He did not say that.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. What was it you said as to that?—A. I do not just remember what words I

used, but it was this, that if that opinion was in force when I was down in Quebec I

could have accounted for the classification of that cutting.

Q. I see, I see. Well, knowing that opinion now what have you to say about the

classification you saw in that cutting?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Which opinion?

Mr. Murphy.—Mr. Lumsden's. _
Mr. HoDGiNS.—I would like you to quote the opinion to the witness, there are

three opinions of Mr. Lumsden's.

Mr. Murphy.—I am referring to the opinion that the witness "himself refers to.

Mr. Macdonald.—Is it the one he has referred to himself.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Having seen the opinion

Mr. Parent.—There was only one opinion given by the chief engineer.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—No, two.

Mr. Parent.—Only one.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Having seen that opinion of the chief engineer of the Transcontinental Eail-

way, what have you to say now as to the classification at La Tuque ?—A. Well, I thinlc

two opinions can be given about the chief engineer's interpretation of the solid rock

specification. I think possibly it would come under the head of what Mr. Lumsden now
calls ' assembled rock.' His definition of assembled rock was very vague and undi-

vided in that under the term assembled rock, well, that cutting was certainly an assem-

bling of what I called this afternoon ^ nigger heads,' small stones about the size of a

man's head. If that interpretation of Mr. Lumsden's idea of assembled rock is taken

that might be considered as solid rock, because he gives

Q. That is, this La Tuque cutting might be considered solid rock?—A. Yes, he
gives

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I would like if the opinion be produced when referred to.



MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

APPENDIX No. 5

A. He gives six items of wiiat he now calls solid rock. When I was there thisr

interpretation had not been given. I think you said it was given in January, wasn't

it?

Q. Yes.—A. And No. 5, of Exhibit No. 38 (54), this a copy

Mr. Parent.—These were all produced before the House.

A. Mr. Lumsden gives a diagram, No. 1, ' rock in ledges,' which is not specified.

Then No. 2 is ^ rock in boulders over one cubic yard ; No. 3 is ' conglomerate rock or

plum pudding stone'—it is a question what that is, plum pudding stone—No. 4,

' detached ledge rock is mass over one cubic yard —that is the same as boulders, whe-

ther it is square or round—then comes No. 5, ' rock in masses of over one cubic yard,'

and then in brackets '(assembled rock) which in the judgment of the engineer can be

best removed by blasting.' Then down below the description is a foot note of the

classification which refers to 5 and 6 and says this :
' To form a judgment as to whe-

ther or not it is best removed by blasting, the chief engineer must view the work in

pipgress or leave it to be decided by the engineer in charge, whose duty it is to

frequently visit the work during its operation and be governed thereby and act

accordingly.'

According to my interpretation of that, the chief engineer must view the work
in progress, that is, himself, therefore he leaves it to the decision of the engineer in

charge.

Q. And says so?—A. And says so, that is the engineer in charge is the supreme
authority according to this interpretation. Have you his opinion of assembled rock

there?

Q. Here it is (handing document to witness).—A. This is what he gives in his

letter of January 9, 1908 (Exhibit No. 38 (53) :

' The Commissioners of the Transcontinental Railway,
* Ottawa, Ont.

' Sir,—I have to-day been handed by the secretary a copy of a letter from the

Deputy Minister of Justice, dated the 6th instant, with respect to my interpretation

of clauses 33, 34, 35 and 36 of our general specifications. After fully considering

his remarks in regard to the words after 'rock assembled' (the individual pieces of

such assembled rock exceeding one cubic foot in size). I have concluded in deference

to his remarks these bracketed words might be omitted, as also the words ' not covered

under clause 34,' in items 1 and 2 under the heading loose rock.

' My interpretation of these clauses will now be as follows :

—

'Clause 34-—Solid BocJc Excavation.

"
' Solid rock excavation will include all rock found in ledges or masses of more

than one cubic yard, which in the judgment of the engineer, may be best removeJ
by blasting."

*I am of the opinion that rock found in ledges or masses, as specified, must
(firstly) be rock, and (secondly) it must be in ledges, conglomerate form (known as

plum pudding stone), boulders, or ledge rock displaced (in pieces each exceeding one
cubic yard in size) rock assembled, also shale rock, such as in the judgment of the

engineer may be best removed by blasting.
' I attach a diagram in explanation of the above, which in my opinion is all that

is included under clause 34, solid rock.'

Clause 35, Loose Roch.
' " All large stones and boulders, measuring more than one cubic foot and les;»

than one cubic yard, and all loose rock, whether in situ or otherwise, that may bo
removed by hand, pick or bar, all cemented gravel, indurated clay and other materials
that cannot, in the judgment of the engineer, be ploughed with a 10-inoh grading

5—23i
Major Hodgins.
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plough behind a team of six good horses properly handled, and without the necessity

of blasting, although blasting may be occasionally resorted to, shall be classified as
* loose rock^/

"

^ Under this heading I would include :—
' (1) All large stones and boulders more than one cubic foot and less than one

cubic yard.
* (2) All loose rock in situ or otherwise that may be removed by hand, pick or

bar.

' (3) All cemented gravel, indurated clay and other materials that cannot, in the

judgment of the eng-ineer, be ploughed with a 10-inch grading plough behind a team
of six good horses properly handled, and without the necessity of blasting, although

l)lasting may be occasionally resorted to.

Clause 36—Common Excavation.

' " Common excavation will include all earth, free gravel or other material of any
character whatever, not classified as solid or loose rock."

' This interpretation was made by me after consulting with Mr. Collingwood

Schreiber, General Consulting Engineer to the Government.'

And the diagram he attaches to that letter.

Q. From which you have been quoting?—A. Rock in mass of over one cubic

yard, assembled rock, which, in the judgment of the engineer, may be best removed
by blasting—the diagram shows rock of all sizes; they are classed together.

Mr.'HoDGiNS.—Then there is a different opinion of the 16th of December?
A. Yes, he changes his opinion of assembled rock, and he doesn't give the exact

size.

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. He omits the question of size?—A. He has really shirked the question of

assembled rock.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. He defines that, does he not. Major?—A,-He defines it; the Deputy Minister

of Justice corrected him, and he

Q. It was overlooked in that letter of January 9, and referred to later on ?—A.

The trouble is here, he does not say what rock assembled is; in his opinion, before

this, he said what rock assembled was to be. Have you got it here?

Q. It is all there, I think?—A. That v/ould be the crux of the whole thing. Mr.
liumsden should explain what ^ rock assembled ' is ; but I should take it that the

words ' rock assembled,' that is taking it for granted that Mr. Lumsden is right in

his interpretation of the specification, he changes the interpretation he has given to

his engineers, they are bound to follow it out, and if they want a further interpreta-

tion they should go to him. If it is plain enough, I suppose they can use their own
judgment, but they are not to put in any further interpretation of assembled ro3k except

that which is given in this diagram, which reads this way :
' No. 5, rock in masses

of over one cubic yard (assembled rock), which, in the judgment of the engineer,

can be best removed by blasting.' That might or might not be taken to cover the

classification of that cutting.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. But it mentions further on what size the boulders may be?—A. No.

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. How do you think it covers that; is it where it says there, as you read it,

* over one cubic yard in diameter ' ?—A. It does not say ' in diameter,' but ^ rock in
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masses/ those are the words; and this word 'masses' comes in again, ^rock in

masses over one cubic yard/ and then in brackets ' assembled rock/ do you see ?

Q. It is pretty hard to know what he does mean?—A. Now, if the individual

pieces of rock, assembled rock, are to be taken and treated separately, Mr. Lumsdea
should have said so, but he does not ; he says * rock in masses/ and then in brackets

'(assembled rock) that is to say, what he means by 'rock in masses' is ' assembled

rock,' and that is the point, you see. On No. 5 I think you can argue two ways.

He adds down here at the foot, he shifts his own authority as official arbitrator to the

shoulder of the engineer in charge when he says :
' To form a judgment as to whether

or not it is best removed by blasting, the chief engineer must view the work in pro-

gress or leave it to be decided by the engineer in charge.' The provision that the chief

engineer must view the work in progress would mean that he would have to view it

often enough to get a sufficiently intelligible idea of it to form that judgment.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. I think, Major, the masses to which you refer, regarding the size of the rock,

is referred to in the letter of the Deputy Minister of Justice of the 6th of January,
t908?—A. Yes.

Q. In which he says A. He states the point there.

Q. He says :
' The specification speaks of rock found in ledges or masses of more

than one cubic yard, which, in the judgment of the engineer, may be best removed by
blasting. If " rock assembled " may be regarded as a mass of rock and if it may be

best removed by blasting, I do not see why, under the specification, it is material

whether the individual pieces exceed or are less than one cubic foot in size ' ?—A.

He is right.

Q. ' and if " rock assembled " is not regarded as a mass, the minimum limit of

size which can be classified as solid rock exceeds one cubic yard. It seems to me,
however, that these questions are largely engineering questions, the solution of which
depends principally upon the judgment of the engineer, having regard to the terms

used in this specification'?—A. He gives you two points there, you see, and does not

give anything more. He gives two points to work on.

Q. And that is adopted by the chief engineer in his letter of January 9, which

begins :
' I have been handed, by the secretary, a copy of a letter from the Deputy

Minister of Justice, dated the 6th instant, with respect to^y interpretation of Clauses

33, 34, 35 and 36 of our general specifications. After fully considering his remarks

in regard to the words after " rock assembled," the individual pieces of such assembled

rock excoodiiig one cubic foot in size, I have concluded, in deference to his remarks,

these bra(;k(?ted words might be omitted, as also the words " not covered under Clause

34/' in items 1 and 2 under the heading " loose rock.' Then he proceeds to give

his interpretation?—Yes; well, as to the Deputy Minister's query, the Deputy

Minister says :
' If " rock assembled " may be regarded as a mass of rock and if it

may be best removed by blasting, I do not see why, under the specification, it is

material whetlicr the individual pieces exceed or are less than one cubic foot in size,

and if " ro(!k asseinblod " is not regarded as a mass, the minimum limit of size

which can be classified as solid rock exceeds one cubic yard.' The Deputj^ [Minister

says ' if,' and Mr. Lumsden, in giving his third opinion, does not mention any size.

Therefore, the engineer, I should take it, under Mr. Lumsden, has to follow Mr.

Lumsden's interpretation as lost he can, unless he gets a further interpretation from
Mr. Lumsden.

By Mr. IIodgins:

Q. That is regardless of size?—A. Kegardless of size.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. What do you understand the opinions of thes various gentlemen mean, are

Major Hodgins.
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they the interpretation of what the words are in the specification?—A. I gather they

are the interpretations of the word ' mass ' in the specification, that is the question,

the whole thing rests on that question, and when I read that letter I had no idea of

how these legal opinions, or Mr. Lumsden's interpretation of the specification were, I

was going on the old definition, the one you will find that Mr. Lumsden gave as his

interpretation of the specification prior to this, and that would agree with mine.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. Of the 16th of December?—A. I do not know whether I have it here now.

But the whole question is really as to the interpretation as to whether it is best removed
by blasting. Why all material of that kind is best removed by blasting in some cases,

as I pointed out the other day, it is a good thing to shake up earth by blasting, you
do not remove earth out of the pit by blasting, and you do not remove rock by blasting,

unless you waste it.

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. You may * move ' rock, but you do not ' remove ' it ?—A. It has to be finally

moved and put into the dump. But Mr. Lumsden on this diagram here says, 'The Chief

Engineer must view the work in progress.

'

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Or A. ' Leave it to be decided by the engineer in charge, ' and that means
that if he is going to judge it he must view it whilst the work is in progress, that is he
must make sufficiently frequent trips on the work while it is in progress in order to be

able to judge. Most of the chief engineers would judge by going down at any time,

the chief engineer, as a rule, would be able to tell you, if you took him up to a cut

whether it was best removed by blasting, whether the cutting was out or whether the

men were working in it, he would have some idea while it was in progress, we get more
or less accustomed as to how work should be handled although we are not expert quar-

rymen, or not so much accustomed to the use of powder as the contractor is, so as to

be able to give a judgment. I might say what the classification should be and if it does

not run into very great figures it would be within 10 per cent.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. That is, you give him the benefit of the ^ubt?—A. We always give the con-

tractor the benefit of the doubt, because these amounts do not count very much one

way or the other.

Q. Do the specifications in regard to solid rock vary very much in the different

railways with which you have had to do?—A. Not very much, this is the greatest

variation I have ever seen.

Q. I mean does the specification in this case very much differ from what you
have seen in other railways?—A. Yes, for instance, I have had cemented gravel

sometimes that is worse to take out than some classes of solid rock, and I have had to

ask permission from my superior to allow a certain amount of solid rock, and he

would have to get permission from his superior to allow a certain amount of solid

rock.

Q. To allow cemented gravel as solid rock?—A. To make a special point of it so

that we could allow solid rock for cemented gravel, not all cemented gravel, because

some is not as tough and cemented or as hard as other cemented gravel, and you have
to judge. It does not amount to very much that you give the contractor extra in such

cases, but it helps him out and he has the idea that the engineer is liberal, but they

are really very small items.

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. You mean that on works on which you have been engaged before cemented
gravel would sometimes be classified as solid rock?—A. In special cases where we got

special permission.
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Q. That is not what I want. Is cemented gravel ever classified under the speci-

fications as solid rock?—A. I could not say from memory, but as a rule it is not. It

used to go under a separate heading, under the heading of ' hardpan, ' but then again

we used to get into trouble with hardpan, because the contractors would claim that

different classes of material were really hardpan and to get a specification with the

least objection, and that can be followed throughout you require to have a specification

with as few things in it as possible.

By Mr. Macdornald :

Q. You would leave it to the judgment of the engineer?—A. Look at it from this

way, not an engineering standpoint : take the earth and common excavation as 30 cents,

loose rock as 60 cents, and solid rock as $1.'70. There is too much difference between

the loose rock and the solid rock. It is too much of a jump and that is why I said

the other day there ought to have been a middle price or the loose rock should have

b?en raised. That loose rock price is too low without an intermediate price in there

and that is what led to all the trouble. You can see that if the difference between

loose rock and solid rock is $1.10, the different classes of hard material that would

come under loos3 rock would—I cannot explain it very well.

Q. I quite see ?—A. You see the point I mean. That is the whole trouble in

this, the question of what is loose rock and solid rock.

Q. Because there is quite a disparity in tha prices ?—A. Exactly. Now in the

case of that cut at La Tuque I made use of the words 'heart breaking.' There was

a very very hard cut there. That is as hard a cut as I have seen on the line anywhere

for some time, and in my opinion, according to the specifications, during the time I

was there the 60 cent material would break any contractor.

Q. He could not get out at that figure ?—A. Absolutely he could not have begun

to do it. It was a question for the chief engineer to decide .

By the Chairman:

Q. That is the cut you called a very bad cut ?—A. Exactly.

Q. That is the one you have described in your charges in this way :
* The ground

was a mixture of loose rock with some boulders and some earth and wet sand on top ' ?

—A. Yes, I should have left the sand out. I corrected it afterwards.

Q. Th:re was no solid rock in place visible in June, 1907, so that anything that

could be classified as solid rock would consist of large boulders over a cubic yard in

dimension.' That is what you called a very bad cut ?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Macdoruald :

Q. Mr. Lumsden had a certain view about what these specifications meant?—A.

Yes.

Q. Some issue was raised over that and it was referred to three counsel. Is tliat

right, Mr. Murphy ?

Mr. Murphy.—No, the different contractors got opinions from counsel and sent

them in.

The Witness.—That is the way I take it. The contractors evidently did that

according to the opinion given. The chief engineer and the engineers in Quebec dis-

agreed on the interpretations of this specification. The chief now practically has

given as his opinion, as far as I can make it out, the opinion of the engineers in

Quebec. First of all he said they were absolutely wrong and refused to sign the esti-

mates in November. In January he says they are all right.

Q. In the meantime these legal opinions were i^laced before him ?—A. Exactly.

I have no doubt

Q. He changed his view?—A. He changed his view on this legal opinion. It is

not for me to say whether the legal opinions are right or wrong. There is a very

important question comes in there and I don't know whether T nni here to
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Q. It only shows the complexity of all these questions of classification to the lay

mind ?—A. I don't consider I am here to argue the Grand Trunk brief or anybody
else's brief.

Mr. Lennox.—I don't think you are here to argue any side.

The Witness.—^When I wrote that letter I did not know anything about the chief

engineer's new opinion. Now as far as I can make out, I have not examined the

work in Quebec or I have not gone into this question of ' assembled rock ' very closely

to see what it. really means, but I am informed by engineers that Mr. Lumsden's
opinion covers that work.

Q. I see. That is this description that he has laid down in that document?—A.

And I might say further I am very glad it did.

By Mr. Hodgins :

Q. What is that you say ?—A. I am very glad it did.

By the Chairman:

Q. Now, that Quebec classification which you objected to see creeping into your
^ district, Major. On what did you base your objection to it ?—A. You see, sir

Q. Let me finish my question. On what did you base your objection? Was it

on what you saw yourself during your trip or what you heard from some other per-

sons ?—A. On my trip?

Q. Yes, you said you objected to the Quebec classification creeping into your dis-

trict ?—A. Yes.

Q. On what did you base your objection to the Quebec classification ? Was it

from what you saw ?—A. What I saw, yes.

Q. What you saw there ?—A. Yes.

Q. About that cut you spoke about especially ?—A. Yes, and Mr. Grant had
been up in the district and as far as I could gather from questioning the engineers

he had directly or indirectly suggested to them that they should raise their classifica-

tion, and spoken of how things were classified in Quebec. I was getting answers to

some questions that Mr. Lumsden had asked me to get when I got notice to go and I

did not get all those. Some of the engineers said that he had not seen them. Other

engineers said that he had seen them and had not said anything to them, and other

engineers said he said a good deal to th6m: and I connected that classification, that

jump in classification or the i-ise in classification with Mr. Grant, that he had
brought it up there from the Quebec district ; but the question of ' masses ' was never

raised. The clause that Mr. Lumsden and the legal gentlemen have given opinions

on was never raised in those days.

Q. Did you consider that the examination that you had made in the work there

was sufficient to enable you to express an opinion on the classification?—A. On that

cutting? Certainly, sir. It is a pure and simple rock cutting according to the old

interpretation, a loose rock cutting. The old interpretation of the specifications was
that that had to be rock in ledges or boulders of over a cubic yard except by the engi-

neers in Quebec—I will qualify it by that. That was Mr. Doucet's opinion at the

time I was there, and it is his opinion now. I did not know what his opinion was in

those days. He has stuck to his opinion, but Mr. Lumsden has changed his.

Mr. Hodgins.—I scarcely think, Mr. Chairman, that your question to the witness

was put in proper form.

The Chairman.—What I wanted to know was whether he formed his opinion on

the classification in Quebec from what he saw there?

The Witness.—Formed my opinion on the classification ?

Q. Yes, you say you objected to the classification?—A. Yes, and what Mr. Arm-
strong told me down there.

Q. Not only what you saw at Quebec but what Mr. Armstrong told you?—A.
Yes, and the conversation with Mr. Grant.
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By Mr, Murphy:

Q. Did you have any conversation with Mr. Grant in Quebec?—A. No, I don't

think so.

Mr. Murphy.—The witness says now that he had conversations with Mr. Grant.

The Witness.—Not in Quebec.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Not in Quebec?—A. Well, I did have conversations with him, but I don't

remember what they were about.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Well, Major, this question of classification which had been raised with you in

July in the two divisions.—A. Yes.

Q. You found material was being classed as solid rock?—A. Yes.

Q. Which you thought should be loose rock?—A. Yes, they had been—they had
been reported, as I pointed out here the other night, month after month as common
excavation and loose rock.

Q. Did you certify to the July returns?—A. Yes, you see I just came up from
the east. I just had time to sign these estimates and send them down. I think I

got up one day and signed them and sent them down the next.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. You sent them with a letter?—A. They had to be in Ottawa on the 8th and

I was delayed coming up to Toronto. I started to get up there aooner but

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. You sent them in with a covering letter ?—A. A covering letter, and I jnst

had time to glance at this extraordinary statement, that Mcintosh has put in with

Form 4, showing that he had transferred certain items to the solid rock column.

Q. Who was this letter from?—A. Mcintosh. I think it is Exhibit 8, is it not?

Q. We have that letter?—A. You have the exhibit here.

Q. Would that transference be in accordance with the view which had been since

expressed by these lawyers and Mr. Lumsden?—A. No, I did not look upon it—no,

some of it might come under
Q. Some of it might ?—A. But that earth never should go in as solid rock.

Q. A portion of it, I suppose, would be covered by the interpretation of Mr.
Lumsden and the lawyers ?—A. It was stripping. I would not say that until I went
up ov?r the work and looked over it again.

Q. Again ?—A. Yes. It is a question—you see it is not much of a guide. I

want to point .

Q. Mr. Lumsden's opinion, of course, changes the whole thing. If you were
woi'king uiidei' that opinion now you would have to take a very different opinion ?—A.

I would want Mr. Lumsden to describe what he means by that [pointing to diagram,

sketch No. 5, Exhibit No. 38, (54).]

Q. You would want a fuller explanation of diagram sketch No. 5 ?—A. Now
wJio can tell me what size any one of these boulders are. They niipht he the size of

a pigeon's egg.

Q. Mr. Lumsden would have to tell you that. I don't think anybody around this

board knows ?—A. There is nothing to tell you what assembled rock is, boonusc you
have to take it from this. Now numbers of them would forui a binu'li of louldcrs

together

By Mr. 11odgins :

Q. Docs it represent earth ?—A. No, indurated clay. To me tluit represents a
rubble wall, it does not represent any material that is found in nn ordinary rock
cutting.

Mr. A. E. DoucET.
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By Mr. Macdmald :

Q. Of course, that changes the whole classification idea ?—A. Absolutely.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Yes, upon that point.

The Witness.—I can argue upon that point, that same classification, or I can just

sit down and discount the argument I put in and knock them all to pieces.

By Mr. Hodgins :

Q. Take another view ?—A. Yes. Do you want me to do that, Mr. Murphy ?

According to my interpretation of that clause it is up .to Mr. Lumsden and down
here he says it is not. Do you see ?

By Mr. Macdonald :

Q. Yes ?—A. You must go and ask the senior engineer, the chief engineer, what

he means by that. Down below he says he leaves it to his junior.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. Is not that item 5 covered by the opinion of the Deputy Minister of Justice

of the 6th January ?—A. The Deputy Minister has given an evasive answer which is

adopted by Mr. Lumsden in his letter of January 9. Now, here is what the Deputy
Minister says

Q. I am asking you if the item No. 5 is not covered by the letter of the Deputy
Minister of Justice ?—A. It is spoken of by the Deputy Minister of Justice, but I

do not think the deputy has given an opinion. He says (reads) :

* The specification speaks of rock found in ledges or masses of more than one

cubic yard which, in the judgment of the engineer, may be best removed by blasting.

If " rock assembled " may be regarded as a mass of rock, and if it may be best

lemoved by blasting, I do not see why under the specification it is material whether

the individual pieces exceed or are less than one cubic foot in size, and if " rock

assembled " is not regarded as a mass, the minimum limit of size which can be classi-

fied as solid rock exceeds one cubic yard.'

Then Mr. Lumsden gives it and adopts it.

Q. He adopts the opinion of the Deputy Minister of Justice ?—A. Oh, no, I don'i •

think he does.

Q. But Mr. Lumsden deals with a letter of the Deputy Minister of Justice of the

6th January in a letter of the 9th January in which he adopts the latter's opinion?

—

A. Does hs adopt it?

Q. Yes, the opening paragraph of his letter and sent it out to his engineers ?

—

A. (Eeads):
* I have to-day been handed by the secretary a copy of a letter from the Deputy

Minister of Justice, dated the 6th instant, with respect to my interpretation of

clauses 33, 34, 35 and 36 of our general specifications. After fully considering his

remarks in regard to the words after " rock assembled " (the individual pieces of such
assembled rock exceeding one cubic foot in size), I have concluded in deference to

his remarks these bracketed words might be omitted.'

In deference to his remarks.

Q. Yes, so he adopts the remarks of the Deputy Minister of Justice ?—A. No,
in deference to his remarks. Mr. Newcombe says * If such and such is so.'

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. He does not give an opinion?—A. He does not give, an opinion. Mr. New-
combe says (reads) :

* It seems to me, however, that these questions are largely engineering questions,
the solution of which depends principally upon the judgment of the engineers, having
regard to the terms used in the specifications.'

Mr. I-ENNOX.—I submit this is all irregular. We have these original documents
before us and jnay have to consider them sooner or later, but it is not for us to ask
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this witness for his construction of the documents ; it is for us to construe the docu-
ments ourselves. I think it is very irregular to proceed in this way. The witness
cannot help us in the matter ; we must form our own opinion by reading the docu-
:nents ourselves.

Mr. Macdonald.—Still I think the witness is still adding some light to this inquiry.
Mr. Murphy.—And his answers have been chiefly to members of the committee.
Mr. Maodonald.—I must confess that hardly any member of the committee would

regard himself as an expert in this matter of classification. I think it is purely a
question of classification now, and there does not seem to be much in this matter
except who is right in the matter of classifying.

The Witness.—You see Mr. Murphy examined me on one thing and I answered
him on the other.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—The question is what justifies the classification of common exca-

vation as solid rock.

Mr. Murphy.—That remains to be seen.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I want to make it clear that that point cannot be offset by the

suggestion that ' masses ' alters the whole complexion of the question. It does upon
on9 point only.

Mr. Macdonald.—If you have the opinion of distinguished counsel and the

opinion of the chief engineer of the Transcontinental Eailway, after mature delibera-

tion, laying down and defining what these specifications mean, both in a kgal and

technical sense, I think it alters the case considerably. And the Major admits that

his views have been considerably modified since he saw that. I think it is a question

simply of engineering.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—If that were so, if one of the legal opinions touched the point I

suggest, I would agree with you; but not one of them either mentioned it or raised

it. They do touch the question of ' masses,' the meaning of ' masses ' as between

loose rock and solid rock, and whether the classification is one way or the other.

Mr. Murphy.—They all deal with the item in dispute, the clause in the specifica-

tions relating to solid rock.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I am only pointing this out so that there shall be no obscuring of

the issue.

Mr. Lennox.—As I understand the evidence given in relation to section ' F,' it

is being discussed pro and con between the Deputy Minister and the Engineer.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. You have mentioned here, Major, that the interpretation of the chief engi-

neer, to (which you have been referring, covers the material in Quebec?—A. Well,

and I gave that

Mr. Lennox.—No.
Mr. Murphy.—Did the witness not say that?

The Witness.—I did state that.

Mr. Murphy.—He has made a statement, and I am asking him if it is a fact.

Q. In the last hour of your evidence you made that statement, did you not?

—

A. I know. I don't know whether I said it to-night or not, but I have spoken about

it to some engineers.

Q. I understood you to say. Major, that during the course of your answers to

some members of the committee that you had been told by some engineer that the

interpretation of the chief engineer covered this material in Quel>ec?—A. Oh, yes.

Mr. Lennox.—I object to that. It is no evidence, it is purely hearsay. I object

to any such evidence.

Mr. Murphy.—The witness has given it and not in answer to mo.
Mr. Lennox.—I have not heard it before, and I certainly object whether ho has

made the statement to-night or not.

Major Hodgins.
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Mr. HoDGiNS.—I do not suppose the cominittee want to hear what Major Hodgins
has heard from some engineers. He has said that some engineers have told him that

the chief engineer's opinion would cover a particular question.

Mr. Murphy.—Does cover it.

Mr. Hodgins.—Very well, does cover it. Some engineer has told him. Do the

committee want to spend time listening to that sort of thing?

Mr. Lennox.—I certainly do not. I do not want hearsay evidence. I do not

want to know what these engineers may have said to Major Hodgins, or to me or to

anybody else. If you want to get that in the form of evidence, the proper way would

be to bring those engineers here.

Mr. Murphy.—But this statement was made by the witness.

The Chairman.—If the statement was made by the witness surely Mr. Murphy
has a right to make him explain it.

Mr. Murphy.—I think I have a right to ask him in regard to it.

The Chairman.—If the witness says some engineer told him we have a right to

know his opinion on it.

Mr. Lennox.—I submit that even supposing the witness w;<s ai?ked a question and

made the statement referred to in reply to it, still we must conduct this case rightly

and properly, and if the attention of the Chairman has been called to a statement that

is not proper evidence it should not be followed up, but should be stricken out of the

notes.

The Chairman.—Of course, we do not want hearsay evidence.

Mr. Lennox.—It is absolutely hearsay evidence. If the statement was made
inadvertently it should not be allowed to go.

Mr. Macdonald.—What is your object, Mr. Murphy?
Mr. Murphy.—The witness in his examination-in-chief, was allowed to put in

all sorts of evidence, including alleged statements by Armstrong and Dutton up in

district * B/ and one very serious statement he made
Mr. Lennox.—The evidence in the examination-in-chief of the witness stands on

a different basis. He was asked to give his reasons for taking a certain position and

in doing so he, of course, referred to certain matters.

The Chairman.—Conversations that he had with other engineers ?

Mr. Lennox.—Part of the information he~had got from other parties. That was
the basis upon which he made certain charges. That is perfectly competent. But
when you are trying to ascertain what is a proper construction of specifications by
asking the witness to repeat what other engineers have told him, that is an entirely

different matter, that is purely hearsay.

Mr. Murphy.—I submit it would be equally competent for him to tell yon now
conversations which formed the basis of his modifying his views, or withdrawing or

receding from one of these charges. For the very reason mentioned by my learned

friend I wanted to ask him the question. The witness made the statement to-night

and since then has repeated it.

Mr. Lennox.—I press for your ruling, Mr. Chairman ?

The Chairman.—J[ think I heard the witness make the statement, I cannot say

at what stage of the proceedings that an engineer told him.

Mr. Lennox—If he did, it does not make any difference.

The Chairman.—Mr. Murphy, you asked him the question and what did he say ?

Mr. Lennox.—Let us have your ruling upon the point.

Mr. Murphy.—I asked the question if he had not stated to-night that an engineer
had told him that the chief engineer's interpretation covered this material at Quebec ?

Mr. Lennox.—That is not what you asked him before ?

Mr. Murphy.—The witness said yes.

The Chairman.—If he said yes, then we may follow the matter up. What is the
next question ?

Mr. Lennox.—The witness has not made any answer.
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By the Chairman :

Q. What is your answer to that ?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. What were you told in regard to that. Major ?

Mr. Lennox.—I object to that. I object to his stating anything that he was told

by outside engineers or that he was told by any engineers. If you want that evidence

bring those engineers here.

Mr. Murphy.—That is not the rule that was laid down in regard to conversa-

tions with Dutton or Armstrong.

Mr. Lennox.—We cannot help that.

Mr. Murphy.—I objected to those conversations being admitted, but still they

were allowed to go in as evidence.

Mr. Lennox.—I ask the chairman to rule and then I am done with it. I submit

that what an engineer told him ought not to be related here as evidence.

Mr. Murphy.—I draw the chairman's attention to the serious nature of the con-

versation with Mr. Armstrong that he related.

Mr. Lennox.—Yes, but that is another matter.

Mr. Murphy.—The statement was that the excessive classification in Quebec

would amount to $2,000,000. That is a serious statement, and the newspaper men here

telegraphed it abroad as though it had been proved.

Mr. Lennox.—I do not understand anybody to say that it is not a serious matter,

but it stands on a differejit basis.

Mr. Murphy.—Yes, it is in, and my learned friend wants to keep this other thing

from going in.

The Chairman.—We want the fullest investigation possible, and if we allowed

testimony of that nature in the examination-in-chief 1 think we ought to allow it

here also.

Mr. Hodgins.—I hope you will insist upon getting the name of this eminent

engineer ?

Mr. Murphy.—No one has said ' eminent engineer.'

The Chairman.—Ask him the name ?

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. When were you told

Mr. Lennox.—You had better ask him what did the engineer say, if it is ruled

that the question be allowed.

The Witness.—^It is practically the question that you put to me that I answered
yes to.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. What did this engineer say ?—A. That clause there, No, 5, practically covered
the classification that was disputed by the Grand Trunk Pacific in Quebec.

Q. That item 5 in Mr. Lumsden's diagram, explaining his interpretation, prac-

tically covered the classification that was disputed in Quebec? Is that correct?

—

A. Ye5.

Q. Who was this engineer ?—A. Mr. Armstrong.

Q. Is he the gentleman that you referred to as havino- had a conversation with
in Quebec?—A. Yes. At the time I liad the conversation with him this thing was
not in existence.

Mr. TToDOiNS.—You don't quarrel now with tlie word ' eminent ' engineer ?

l\Ir. MuHPiiY.—I will quarrel with anything that my learned friend attempts
to put in the mouth of the witness that he has not stated.

Tl\e Witness.—If it is in October, 1907 that was not in existence.

Major Hodgixs.
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Q. This interpretation ?—A. This interpretation of the chief engineer because
he says

Q. He only gave it in January ?—A. The chief engineer on October 30 says
(reads) :

' On arrival near the crossing of the Quebec and Lake St. John Kailway, I,

accompanied by the engineers and contractors, walked over a portion of the heaviest
work on the. line from about mile 117 to 122^. From the division or resident engi-
neer I learned the classification allowed by them in the cuts as we passed through
them, and it appeared to me, according to my interpretation of our specifications,

that a larger amount of solid rock was returned in them than appearances indicated,
and the engineers, • in my opinion, returned loose rock or cemented material where a
considerable amount of explosives were used as solid rock.'

Q, What are you reading from?—^A. Mr. Lumsden's letter.

Q. Of what date?—A. October 30.

Q. To whom is that letter addressed?—A. To the commissioners.

^ Then he goes on:

' Such being my views, and as stated to you in my letter of the 18th instant, I

must decline to certify to any future estimates, except upon classification in accord-

ance with my interpretation of the specifications above mentioned, unless both parties

to the contract agree to amend the contract formally, with due concurrence of the
government, or until the estimates are corrected to conform with my interpretation.

In any event, I ask that this correspondence be at once submitted to the government.

I read that because Mr. Armstrong and I were discussing the question in Quebec
in June, and it was, I contend, the opinion of the chief engineer that I had in mind
at the time.

Q. With the knowledge that you now have. Major, of this interpretation, and the

documents to which you have been referring and read, what have you now to say;

about the classification in Quebec?—A. Well^do you want me to speak as a subor-l

dinate of Mr. Lumsden, because I am not. I am simply interpreting this interpreta-

tion as it may be interpreted by one of Mr. Lumsden's subordinates.

Q. Give us your opinion?—A. I am not here holding a brief for the Grand Trunk
Pacific, why do you want my opinion?

Q. I am asking whether in view of your interpretation to which you have been
referring you would now make any objection to the classification in Quebec?—A.
That is a hard question to answer; there is no use me making complaint, because the

Grand Trunk Pacific have made a complaint about classification; they have made
much more serious objection than I have.

Q. I have put the question to you in "that way, now what is your answer?

Mr. Macdonald.—It is a purely engineering question after all, is it not?

A. Absolutely. If you ask my opinion, I think Mr. Lumsden is wrong in his

interpretation of the clause.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. You think he is wrong?—A. Exactly, I do, instead of interpreting the clause

in that way I still stick to my view that the price of loose rock ought to be raised or

that there should be an intermediate price.

By the Chairman:

Q. The whole thing seems to turn on the question of classification?—A. The
w^hole matter, as I pointed out and as I have been discussing it. |

'Your obedient servant.

' HUGH D. LUMSDEN,
' Chief Engineer.^
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Q. That is at the LaTuque cutting ?—A. At LaTuque, it will be a hardship to

ask the contractor to do that at 40 or 60 cents.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. What do they call it in Quebec?—A. What do they get for solid rock?

Mr. DoucET.—$1.50.
The Witness.—Well, it is too much to ask the contractor to take it out at the

price which is given, that is where the hardship comes in ; the engineer unless he gets

authority from his superiors to increase the classification is doing something wrong.

He must get the authority to do so. If the commissioners had been a board of

directors instead of a board of commissioners the directors would have taken that up
and settled it.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. That is they would have the power to do so?—A. They would deal with it.

When I gave the order for the force account Mr. Lumsden discussed it with me and
said, ' Eemember I can't give you any authority for this,' and at the same time he

reminded me of a somewhat similar case that occurred in the State of Maine when
we were down there; I had not remembered very much about it because I was a sub-

ordinate engineer and he was the chief engineer. But there were some cases where hard

material occurred when we were working in Main which were covered by the specifica-

tion, and there was a low price for it, an unworkable price, and Mr. Lumsden went to

Montreal and the directors arranged for the price to be altered; the contract was let,

but it was all arranged in ten minutes.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. But was the wording of the specification the same as in this ?—A. No.

By Mii Macdonald:

Q. He is pointing out that the directors of the Canadian Pacific Railway had the

power to deal with such a matter, that the directors directed and were able to say,

' We will deal with it by force account,' or whatever way they decided, whereas the

commissioners under the statute appointing them are bound to let the tender to the

lowest tenderer, they cannot do anything else, and they must see that the tender is

carried out, they have no discretion about it?—A. They have no discretion.

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. You say that you think the interpretation finally put upon the contract and

upon the specifications by Mr. Lumsden is wrong?

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. That is in some respects?—A. Yes, I would think he was wrong.

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. You think he is wrong?—A. In my opinion.

By Mr. Murphy

:

\ Altogether wrong?—A. No. This opinion is backed up by a lot of eminent
counsel who have given their opinion in behalf of the contractor. I would like to see

the opinions of some equally eminent men on the other side.

By the Chairman:

Q. So that this long and expensive investigation will turn on the question of the

interpretation by engineers on classification?—A. Yes.

Major Hodgins.
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By Mr. Lennox:

Q. You, so far as you can express an opinion, do not agree with Mr. Lumsden's
opinion expressed in that letter?—A. No.

Q. In that clause 5 ?—A. No.

Q. And you say that?

By Mr- Macdonald:

Q. That is clause 5 ?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. And you say that the difficulties in Quebec are not in the question of the con-

struction of the specification, but that the contractors took the work too low, that 50
cents is not enough for the work that had been done there?—A. I am not discussing

the solid rock price, but the common excavation price.

Q. The fact that the contractor took his work too low does not justify the

•engineer in classifying too high?—A. No, he has to go to the chief engineer and the

chief engineer has to look after it.

Q. Must he not classify in the end according to the specification?—A. Yes, but
he has the right to give his interpretation of the specifications.

Q. But he must endeavour to interpret the specifications correctly?—A. Yes.

Q. And he has not the right because it is hard work to enlarge the specifications ?

—A. I am just looking for * work remaining to be performed ; in which case the

contractor shall only be entitled to receive 90 per cent of the value of the work done
as stated in such certificate, and he shall not be paid the difference between 90 'per

aent of the value of the work done, &c.'

Q. Is there any difficulty in answering that question?—A. Yes, I think there is

some clause in the specification in which the engineer is given power to increase the

prices.

Q. That is a different thing; he has not the power to change the classification?

—A. Oh, yes.

Q. He has not the right to change the interpretation of the classification; he has

the right to change the price?—A. The chief engineer on any road has the absolute

power to do as he pleases.

Q. I am talking of what we have to do with here. Do you know of any clause

that gives the chief engineer power to change the classification by reason of its being

a hard contract?—A. You mean on this contract?

Q. In the case of the Transcontinental Eailway?—A. I was just going to look

lup the clause; I am not quite certain about it.

Q. I do not understand that he has

By the Chmrman:

Q. In other words, has not the chief engineer power to do in such matters just

what he pleases ?—A. He ought to be in that position all right. Of course, very often

the chief engineer would not want to do anything of that kind without consulting

his directors.

Q. Is he not the master to do as he chooses in that?—A. I do not know whether

it fully explains that in the specifications. Clause 36, ' Where, in the opinion of the

chief engineer, the work is not, having regard to the nature and character of the work
remaining to be performed, of sufficient value to justify computation at the prices

£igreed upon and determined under the provisions of this agreement, it shall be com-
petent for the chief engineer in certifying the value of the work done for the purpose
of such payment, to disregard the prices so agreed upon or determined, and to compute
and certify its relative and proportionate value, having regard to the nature and
•character of the work remaining to be performed.
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By Mr. Lennox:

Q. Just stopping there, that does not justify him in changing the classification,

in your opinion, does it?—A. I think so, I think the chief engineer ought to have

that power on any railway.

Q. That is not the point ; the point is, do you find anything there that gives him
power; it is not what he ought to have?

By the Chairman:

Q. How would he proceed if he wanted to change the contract to force account,

for instance?—A. He would get the consent of his directors.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. The chief engineer did not change the specifications, he put a new interpre-

tation upon the language of the specification.

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. He must not change or interpret them differently because it was a hardship

on the contractor?—A. It is a very difficult thing for any one to write a perfect

specification that will apply to every piece of work.

The committee adjourned.

Tuesday, June 16, 1908.

The committee met at 3 o'clock p.m.

Mr. Murphy.—Mr. Chairman, one of the last matters referred to at the last sit-

ting of the committee wasi the production of the correspondence between Major
Hodgins and Mr. Butler on the condition mentioned in Mr. Butler's letter. I now
wish to produce the correspondence, and submit it to the witness and ask him some

questions with regard to it.

Mr. Hodgins.—Has anything been heard from Mr. Conmee ?

The Chairman.—I have seen Mr. Conmee but he would not give me his consent

right off so I made up my mind that I would have to see Sir Wilfrid Laurier about

it and try to bring them together. I think I can do it but Mr. Conmee would not off-

hand give me his consent.

Mr. Hodgins.—There is no objection to that course being pursued, but I would

ask, should it not be successful, for an order of the committee.

The Chairman.—Yes, but I think I can manage without that.

The cross-examination of Major Hodgins resumed.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. I show you a letter dated 18th August, 1907, from you to ^Mr. J. Butler.

1 want you to look at it and say if that is your letter ? (Handing document to wit-

ness)—A. Yes.

Mr. Murphy.—I propose to read this letter, ^fr. Chairninn, but before doing so

I wish to say that my learned friend and I have agrtx-d. with the consent of the com-
mittee, that one of the reasons enumerated in the letter by ^fajor Hodgins. the writer,

for having taken a certain action would not be read nor would it appear on the record.

Mr. Lennox.—I suppose the members of the committee can look at it ?

Mr. Murphy. I was about to hand it around (letter pass^ed around for examina-
tion by the committee).

VJOU HOLKUXS.
5—24
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By Mr. Murphy :

Q. The letter is as follows :

Exhibit No. 36.

The Commissioners of the Transcontinental Kailway.

Office of the District Engineer,
Private and confidential.

18th August, 1907.

My Dear Butler^—
If you have not yet had an interview with the chief you possibly will soon.

Grant reported that we were skinning the contractors with mean classification,

&c., and various other awful things, so I demanded that a full inquiry be made by the

chief—yourself or Mr. Schreiber.

The chief has been up and has approved of some of the so-called mean classifica-

tion as fair and liberal interpretation of the specifications.

Before he arrived I had been on the work for a few days and realized that if

something extraordinary were not done there would be trouble on the line. One con-

tractor with 60 miles told me that if he did not get what Grant promised him he

would pull out. Grant's promises he admitted iwere extravagant and beyond his ex-

pectations.

I, therefore, instructed A. G. Macfarlane to go over his division and classify by

force account in mixed cuts, but not in solid rock, and that I would inform C. E.

when he arrived what I had done and he could inform the board.

The chief will give you further details. I did this for these reasons.

There would be a general row over classification and contractors would pull out,

McArthur would be bust.

There would be a financial panic in Winnipeg.
The contract would be very much delayed in completion, and it would cost very

much more money to finish it. By doing the work by force account it will be done at

cost and contractors who are now going behind at present prices will be encouraged
to make better progress. ^

I am taking this responsibility on my own shoulders on no other authority than

verbal instructions from some of the commissioners to go up to Kenora and pay no

attention to the chief but run the show as I think best, and that they will see me
through.

I am now acting on this, with the approval of the chief in abeyance until he gets

to Ottawa and discusses the matter with the board.

I have consulted with Howell (0. J. Manitoba) to find out if I was doing any-

thing very wrong. Of course, he was very sorry to hear of the true state of affairs.

McArthur has made excellent progress during the summer months and especially

July. Men are coming in in greater numbers and the work is now fairly well cov-

ered. Have you ever looked at the progress profiles ? They are worth looking up, it

will give you an idea of the amount of work yet to be done. You will also see that

some clearing is untouched. The greatest trouble Grant's wild promises have made
on McArthur's contract is that he told many that they did this . . and that . .

in Quebec. Of course, I am not in a position to say yes or no to those reports, but

the contractors feel that they should be treated up here exactly in the same manner as

in Quebec.

I am willing to go to the limit of force account, if it is possible, but beyond
that—actual cost plus 10 per cent—I won't go. I am not going to cut too loose and
too narrow on the force account. I will do what is fair, reasonable and liberal in my
judgment. I won't split hairs.

The August estimsite will, as far as possible, be based on force account classifica-

tion, and as it will take two or three months to reclassify all the cuts (except solid
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rock), no very great harm can be done should the board decide to instruct me t® tfo

otherwise. I am acting on my own responsibility (guided by hints from the eem-
missioners), and there are two weeks to elapse before I sign the estimate. Thm
gives the chief and board time to discuss the question—in fact, ' it's up to them/

Yours sincerely,

A. E. HODGINS:.

And then there is a note endorsed on the bottom of the last page (reads) 1=

—

' PJease excuse this blur. It is Sunday, and I ran it through the press myself^

as no one is here.—-,H.'

Now, you received a reply to that letter. Major, did you not?—A. Yes.

Q. And you have told us that you have not that reply with you?—A. No, I hsixe-

not.

Q. Then I shall ask that the copy produced by Mr. Butler be allowed to go in^

Just look at that copy. Major (producing copy of letter and handing it to witness)..

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Before my honourable friend reads the letter, I may say that I
have no objection to these productions as affecting Major Hodgins, but as far as ilie

contents of the letter are concerned, we do not admit that they state anything more
than Mr. Butler's view guided by Mr. Grant's report. I mention that because Mr.
Butler discusses the subject as if Mr. Grant's report were unanswerable, whereas he-

had not seen and did not know the answer to it.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Mr. Butler's reply is as follows (reads) :

—

EXHIBIT No. 37.

Private and ConfidentiaL

August 24, 190T.

Dear Hodgins^—I have your private and confidential letter of the 18th instant^

and I must confess that I am considerably surprised to learn that you have aban-
doned the safeguard you discussed with me when you were here. In the light, par--

ticularly of your own statement that the total amount involved by any change ic-

classification was relatively a small one, it would seem that there was absolutely bc
justification whatever for you to take the attitude that you apparently have dcme..

As you very well know, the commissioners are bound to repudiate any such basis of"

classification, and, of course, the chief will not and dare not approve of it. It seems--

to me—you have the specification and contract before you—that they are suffi-

ciently clear as to the manner in which work shall be done. Any other method is-

not only illegal, but is beyond the powers of the engineering department to deal

with.

I saw the chief; but, of course, he was naturally very reticent about the matter,

for the reason that he has not yet received any decision from the commissioners. I
may say also that I had an opportunity of reading Grant's rej)ort. His report dis-

closes a state of affairs that is not to the credit of yourself ; that is to say, the want
of inspection and the familiarizing of yourself, as district engineer, with the work
that is going on in your district. If it is true that you have never been over the line^

how in the world do you justify, under the rules contained in the * instructions,' such
a position? If neither you nor your nssistant district engineer have ever been orer
the line, in what way then are the divisional engineers and the resident engineers to
he instructed—surely not by correspondence? You are too exporionced n man to think
for a moment that railways can be built by letter-writing.

The object, of course, that was in view, when the * Instruction Book ' was pre-
pared, was that the district engineer would go over his district with sufficient fre-

;Major Hodgins.
5—24i
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quency to personally know that the questions were properly handled, that the plans

were kept properly up-to-date and that the work was handled in a business-like man-
ner. All these are matters to be settled on the ground, and not in an office.

Apparently one of the mistakes that has been made, is in the assistant district

engineer that you have appointed. From all I can learn he is a man without previous

railroad experience and never has been into the field at all. This, of course, is all

wrong.

The situation is a dangerous one—dangerous to yourself, and dangerous to the

commissioners, as well as the government. It is a great public work and requires to

be handled with force and vigour; and your duty at once, is to get down on the ground,

go over the line from end to end, familiarize yourself with every single piece of work
that is under your care, and to know from personal observation, not only how the

work is being done, but how it should be done. Then and then only, can you secure

proper and vigorous prosecution of the work.

You, of course, told me yourself that you had not been over the ground, and felt

guilty accordingly. I am writing you pretty fully and frankly my own personal views

in the matter, in order that you may have an understanding of the attitude of mind
that I have of the way such work should be conducted. Is it not a fact that there is a

great bugaboo being made about this classification matter? You can readily see that

if you carried out the line you have indicated to me, you have bedevilled your own
reports, in as much as they are not based upon the terms and conditions of the speci-

fication and contract. I daresay, however, you have your measurements in such way
that you can know the actual quantities of the several classes of material, except this

one based upon the specification and contract.

I presume you have a copy of Grant's report: If not, it is due to you that you
should have it. What he stated about the overbreak, on the face of it, seems a reason-

able thing, and unless you have been on the ground you are not in a position to con-

tradict it.

With regard to another matter : that your specification deals with—the question of

surface drainage. It is so serious, it will, of course, demand your immediate atten-

tion. He draws attention to a tunnel, upon which apparently nothing has been done.

It is so serious in its nature, that you will, of course, give every consideration to the

several points directed by him in his report. I h^ve talked to Grant this morning, and

I must confess that he gives lie direct to most of the statements that have been attri-

buted to him. He says that he was particularly careful to say that he, of course,

gave no orders to you, or to any of your men: that he had no power to do so: but,

that he did discuss with' you in detail certain phases of classification ; that he had no
discussions with sub-contractors along the lines indicated, but as the facts are reported

to the chief engineer by him, he was bound to do so.

Under the circumstances, it seems to me that it is very clear that the first consider-

ation at your hands is for you to get out in the field, familiarize yourself with the

actual condition of the work, and to see how well or otherwise your subordinate engin-

eers are conducting their work. The conduct of the office correspondence is of minor
consideration, and if you have such an elaborate system of letter writing and reporting

that it interferes with your work in the field, you should know that the system is rot-

ten and cut it out on your own responsibility. Let them wait for answers to some of

their letters, and explain that you are out in the field doing your work.

I am writing you frankly and fully, as I have stated above, and in a way I trust

will be of some service to you.

Very sincerely,

M. J. B.

Now having heard th^se Exhibits 36 and 37 read, major, do you now recall

any more clearly the conversation you had with Mr. Butler in Ottawa some weeks
previous to writing your letter of the 18th August?—A. No. I remember discussing

overbreak and asking for a transfer. But I might say, as regards Mr. Butler's letter,
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what did he know about the condition of affairs up on the district? He accuses me of

letter-writing. He believes Mr. Grant's report is absolutely true and he judges « me
from his own desk not from the work. I think that is a fair statement of it.

Q. At the beginning of his letter to you Mr. Butler states that he is considerably
surprised to learn that you have abandoned the safe ground you discussed with him
when you were here?—A. Yes.

Q. Now what has that reference to ?—A. I presume that was sticking to the speci-

fications.

Q. Yes?—A. And not copying the classification I had seen in Quebec.

Q. Does it not refer to force account ?—A. I had no intention of introducing

force account until I went up on the (work and saw the condition of affairs there.

Q. Well at the interview that you had with Mr. Butler is it not a fact, Major,
that you discussed the question of employing force account on the work ?—A. I may
have told him it was a suggestion by Mr. Grant.

Q. And did he not then point out to you ?—A. When Mr. Grant suggested

it to me I did not agree with him at all.

By Mn Carveil :

Q. You say Mr. Grant suggested applying force account when he was up there?

—

A. He mentioned, in discussing classification, that it was the best way to classify,

for engineers to classify intelligently. Well a senior engineer might classify intelli-

gently but it is a very dangerous thing to let a junior engineer employ force account.

Q. Did he advocate its use in District ' F ' ?—A. Yes, as the fairest way to the

contractor.

Mr. Murphy.—Of whom is the witness speaking ?

Mr. Carvell.—Of Mr. Grant.

The Witness.—It is a point engineers differ on.

By Mr.- Murphy :

Q. Then there was some discussion between you and Mr. Butler about the force

account ?—A. Possibly. There certainly (was no intention on my part to introduce it

when I was talking with Mr. Butler.

Q. Is that not what Mr. Butler refers to in his letter when he says he was con-

siderably surprised to learn that you had abandoned the safe ground you discussed

with him when you were here ?—A. It might be.

Q. Is it not that interview and the discussion thereat as to the employment of

force account that sentence in Mr. Butler's letter refers to ?—A. Possibly.

Q. Well what was it you proposed when you were speaking to Mr. Butler in July

last about force account ?—A. I never proposed anything.

Q. What was it you said to him ?—A. I don't remember discussing it as he refers

to "it. It would be possibly in that way
Mr. HoDGiNS.—He does not refer to it in this letter.

The Witness.—My objection to allowing engineers to use force account.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. Your letter, of course, deals with it ?—A. That came afterwards.

Mr. IIoDGiNS.—You arc certainly not roprosenting the actual state of affairs, i

do not suppose you arc doing it intentionally.

Mr. Murphy.—I am asking what the reference in Mr. Butlers let tor is to ?

The Witness.—I certainly did not approve of force account boon use T was of

opinion that it was wrong to do it. I only introduced it as a moans to an ond when I

got on the work afterwards, after I had seen Butler.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. My instructions are, Major, so that there will bo no niisnndorstanding about

Major Hodgins.
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llhis, that you discussed force account, that you were warned not to do it and you
agreed not to do it ?—A. Oh dear me, I had never proposed that.

Q, How do you recall that ?—A. No, I do not. It was against my idea altogether

to introduce force account. I told Mr. Grant so and I told others so, but I changed
-loiy ©pinion when I got up on the work and found the condition of affairs up there on
I>y.tton's work. I might say when I first went up there, I think it was Mr. Macfar-
r^we suggested it as a means to the end. Button suggested it and I would not allow

it. The next day, after thinl^ing it over that night, after I got up in the morning I

-di^ussed it with Mr. Macfarlane
That is the same evidence you have given us several times before ?—A. I cer-

tainly never discussed it with Mr. Butler with the intention that you stated just now
of introducing it myself because I was against the idea.

Q. You said at the end of your letter. Exhibit 36, that you had copied your
letter yourself ?—A. Yes.

Q. Have you the book in which that letter is copied ?—A. No.

Q. Where is it ?—A. If it was in a book it would be out in Victoria. I copied

of these letters on sheets.

Q.. This letter to Mr. Butler was copied but your letter of September 14th on

wMch 4 pages all your charges are founded, was not copied into your book ?—A. No.

Q. Now, referring again to the evidence that you were giving last night before

^sadjourning ?

Mr. Lennox.—Will you allow me to ask a question for my own information. You
liave introduced the Butler letters to-day and you have dealt with two. Are there any

mmre ?

Mr. Murphy.—The letters produced are the only ones that are spoken of. I do

mot know of any others, sir.

By Mr. Murphy :

Q. You have referred to the opinions given by certain counsel and the interpre-

^tattioo. of the specifications by the chief engineer, and you pointed out to the com-

mittee that this interpretation was a different one, in your opinion, from the one that

prevailed when you were on the work ?—A. Yes^

Q. And you also pointed out to th.e committee that all the engineers were now

l)i®iind by this interpretation ?—A. Yes.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Well, I don't know that he said that.

The Witness.—If they disagree with the interpretation of their senior the only

tiling for thrni to do is to resign.

Q. Yes. Now in your reading through the file of the pages containing that inter-

^pretation and those legal opinions, you observed, did you not, that all the district

eH^ineers concurred in the interpretation ?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Has that file been put in, Mr. Murphy?
Mr. Lennox.—I object.

Mr. HoDGiNS.^—Has it been put in, because if not I want it put in if there is any

•question to be put upon it?

Mr. Parent.—It went down to the House of Commons.
Mr. HoDGiNS.—I beg your pardon; it did not go down to the House.

"Mr. Parent.—^Yes, it is before the House.

"Mr. HoDGiNS.—Those opinions were never before the House.

"Mr. Lennox.—They were brought down here before the committee, I understand.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Nobody asked for them. They were produced by the commis-

-sioners for their own purposes, and I want them to go in now.

Mr. Carvell.—I supposed they were a part of the record already as an exhibit.

Mr. IIoDGiNS.—They have never been put in as exhibits yet.

Mr. Parent.—I know I sent them. I sent* them with my statement ; I am sure

-about that.
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Mr. HoDGiNS.—No, sir.

Mr. Parent.—I beg your pardon; I know what I did better than you do.

Mr. Caryell.—Where are they now?
Mr. Murphy.—They are here. The witness referred to them repeatedly last

night.

Mr. Lennox.—^You referred to them.

Mr. Murphy.—I beg your pardon?

Mr. Lennox.—Let us make them Exhibit No.- 38.

Mr. Carvell.—They were sent by the commissioners, were they?

Mr. Parent.—No, they were sent by me to the House accompanying my state-

ment. After papers leave my office I am not responsible for them.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—(Copies were not made?
Mr. Parent.—I have an exact copy here, too. I can give you the exact copy

right away if you wish.

Mr. Carvell.—Do you mean in your annual statement to the House?
Mr. Parent.—I mean that the papers accompanied my answer to the ' Colonist,'

the ' Free Press ' and the ' Citizen.'

Mr. Lennox.—Then Sir Wilfrid did not lay them on the table.

The Clerk.—They are here before the committee.

Mr. Lennox.—I object to the question. I object for this reason: The papers

themselves are the only guide we can take as to what they mean, we cannot take the

construction any witness places upon them. It is not proper to ask a witness to

substitute his opinion as to what those documents say for the written evidence by
which we are bound—the papers themselves.

Mr. Murphy.—I will ask the witness outside of these papers.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Do you. Major, know whether or not the engineers concurred in that inter-

pretation of the specifications given by Mr. Lumsden in January last ?

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. I want to ask another question there. Do you know of any other way except

from the papers ?—A. Yes, I heard that Mr. Dunn, district engineer of District ' A,'

did not agree entirely, and I see there is a letter here from him, dated the 2nd of

November.

Q. We cannot go beyond what is in there. Have you anything outside of that?

—A. I just heard it.

Q. If it is hearsay, we cannot take it?—A. Proved by his letter here.

Mr. Lennox.—Then I submit we cannot take that; that cannot be given, because

it is hearsay.

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. Did you hear it from Mr. Dunn himself?—A. No.

Mr. Lennox.—^Then the question should not be allowed.

The Chairman.—I do not allow the question.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Do you know, Major, that previous to that interprotntion there was a differ-

ence of opinion between the engineers and the chief engineer as to the interpreta-

tion ? ^

Mr. Hodgins.—Except as to that file.

Mr. Murphy.—Well, except as to that.

A. No, I did not. When I was in Quebec I was under the impression that they
all agreed.

Major Hodgins.
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By Mr. Murphy:

Q. In tendering, major, the contractors are obliged to interpret the specification,

are they not, as practical men, just as the engineers are ?—A. Yes.

Q. And on their interpretation of the specifications they fix the price that they

send in their tender?—A. Yes.

Q. Then you are aware that the price for solid rock that the contractor in your
ilistrict had was $1.70 per yard, are you not?—A. Yes.

Q. And last night you mentioned that the price in Quebec for solid rock was
$1.50 ?—A. $1.50—at least I got that from Mr. Doucet.

Q. So that there is between these two sets of practical men the same difference of

opinion as regards some of the work as there is between the engineers ?—A. I do not

understand.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Keally if these questions are all going to be asked the witness, you
might just as well call the first man in the court room and ask him about it. It is

obvious there are Iwo diiferent prices put in by the contractor in the two districts and

it is only wasting time- asking such questions.

Mr. liKXNOX.—Each contractor decides what the work is worth and puts in his

tender.

Mr. ;MuRPiiY.--I-le hr.? to interpret the specifications.

Mr. Lennox. - -Not aHogether on the interpretation of the specifications bul he has

to decide what he will do the work for.

Mr. Macdonald.—It is obvious he must have in view what work he has to do in

order to determine wliat his price will be for doing it.

A. Yoi' cannot alwttys j^'dge by noting the prices. The contractor in bidding on

a big contract like that varies his prices, the next highest above the contractor might

have a higher ]-rice on rock but a lower price for something else. You cannot judge

by that.

Mr. Carvell.—^You have to take the tender as a whole and figure out the quan-

tities at the different prices in order to know which is the cheaper of the two.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. As a practical man you know that the contractor or the contractors in District

F and District B, as practical men also, were~X)bliged to interpret the specifications

for this work before they could put in their prices.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I do not want to be always objecting but I think it is time the
committee put some limit upon this kind of questioning.

The Chairman.—^What do you object to in that question?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I object to it as being entirely irrelevant.

The Chairman.—^Well, supposing Mr. Murphy changes his question and asks him
what he knows about it, he can put it interrogatively?

Mr. Carvell.—I do not think it is irrelevant, but I quite agree it is not of very

much value, because we can draw our own conclusions. Still I do not see any reason

why Mr. Mu^'phy should be barred from asking the question but I think we could

get along more satisfactorily if some of these questions were omitted.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Speaking about these specifications last night you stated there was more vari-

ance in these than in any other specifications you had to deal with?—A. Yes.

Q. More variance in what way?—A. Well, in that clause for loose rock, if you
look at it, that is an ambiguous clause.

Q. Which clause ?—A. The specification for loose rock. It leaves it to the engineer

to decide whether the material is to be classed as common excavation or loose rock by
a plough test.

Mr. Carvell.—In order to make this intelligible will it not be well to read the

clause to which you are referring, major, as it is now approved in the specification.
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and then point out wherein there is the variation referred to?—A. Do you want me
to read the loose rock specification?

Mr. Carvell.—I was asking, in order that we might all understand it, that the

witness might read the specification as it applies to loose rock, and then point out

wherein there is a variation between that and what it ought to be according to his view.

Mr. Parent.—He has done that three times already.

Mr. Carvell.—Then I withdraw my suggestion, I was not aware of that.

A. I find a very good description to back up what I said last night, by another

engineer, in this file here, perhaps you would like to have that ?

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. What is his name?—A. Mr. Dunn. I see that he has very much the same

idea that I have.

Mr. Lennox.—Somewhere that provides as a basis of that classification the plough

test, and it is said you cannot tell whether it is properly handled or not, the driver

may intentionally break the harness, but that is not correct because the horses are not

properly handled if he does that, and the specification says behind six horses ' properly

handled ? —A. I know, but then the trouble on the work commences for the engineer.

He has to prove that the team has not been properly handled.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. In your charges, paragraph 2 reads as follows :

—

^ The root of all the trouble between the commissioners and Major Hodgins was
over-classification ; and the commissioners wanted him to change his ideas as to classi-

fication, based on a good many years' experience on construction, to the classification

that is allowed to the contractors in Quebec, under the head of " common excavation,"
" loose rock " and " solid rock." This classification to its fullest extent is adopted

and approved by the commissioners in their memorandum laid on the table of the

House on the 24th April, 1908, and exceeds that recommended by the chief engineer

in his letter to the commissioners, dated September 24th, 1907.'

A.' What is that?

Q. Paragraph 2 of your charges. Now, Major, I want you to explain to the

committee what you mean by that second sentence, ' This classification to its fullest

extent is adopted and approved by the commissioners in their memorandum laid on
the table of the House on the 24th April, 1908, and exceeds that recommended by the

chief engineer in his letter to the commissioners, dated September 24th, 1907.'

Mr. Hodgins.—I will take the responsibility of answering that.

Mr. Murphy.—I object to counsel answering it. I have asked the witnesjj. and
I want the witness to answer.

The Chairman.—I think it is a fair question. There is a charge hero, and I

think you have the right to ask an explanation of the charge.

A. Well, I will have to go over this file to take out the letters.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. ' This classification to its fullest extent is adopted and approved by the ooiu;

missioners in their memorandum laid on the table of the House on the 24th April,

1908, and exceeds that recoinmondcd by the chief engineer in his letter to the com-
missioners, dated September 24th, 1907.' Now, I ask yon, ^lajor, tlio question, wliat

do you mean by that sentence?

Mr. Hodgins.—I submit that is perfectly intt>lligiMr : Mr. Fan nt approves of it.

The Chairman.—Let the witness answer.

A. There is a letter somewhere, whether it is oi\ this liU- or on the tilo laid on
the table of the House, I cannot say.

Mr. Lennox.—Look at page 32.

A. Oh, there it is.

Major Hodgins.
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Mr. Murphy.—This intervention by counsel to substitute some other point for
the witness is becoming intolerable. I submit it is not the witness giving evidence
at all.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—It is necessary sometimes.
Mr. Murphy.—It is not necessary, as the Chairman has pointed out.

The Chairman.—Go on, .,ir. Murphy.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. I have asked a question; I am waiting for the answer, Major?—A. I piesume
there is a letter somewhere in the memorandum laid on the table of the House; there

is a letter from the chief engineer, dated September 24th, 1907.

Q. What knowledge, if any, had you of what you allege in that sentence, when
you wrote your letter to the ' Colonist ' ?—A. I did not know about it then.

Q. You did not know about it then? What do you mean by that sentence as it

stands in your charges?—A. Unless that came out in the file of documents that

was laid on the table of the House, I will have to look these over; I do not know
whether I have them here or not.

Q. Without referring to any other documents, can you state to the committee
now what you meant by that sentence in your charges?—A. IVhat I meant?

Q. Yes?—A. Yes, that the commissioners approved of this classification.

Q. Now, which classification are you referring to that they approved of?—A.

The classification in Quebec.

Q. In Quebec; is that your answer. Major?—A. Yes.

Q. In what part of Quebec, or in Quebec?—A. All the estimates.

Q. All the estimates?—A. All the estimates.

Q. Had you seen the estimates?—A. No.

Q. I think you told us last night you didn't know anything about them?—A.
No.

Q. How could that refer to these estimates, then?—A. They must have passed

estimates in Quebec from month to month.

Q. Now, what kind of classification was that to which you referred. Major?—A.
Well, that is the classification that is current there now, I presume.

Q. Was it solid rock, loose rock and common excavation?—A. All classes of

classification.

Q. All classes. Do you know anything about the classification that is current

there now?—A. No.

Q. Is your reference to the approval by the commissioners of the classification

sustained by these legal opinions?—A. What is that again?

Q. I say is your reference to the approval by the commissioners there the approval

of the opinion, or the interpretation rather, of the engineer sustained by these legal

opinions?—A. Yes, I should think so; the legal opinions sustained it.

Mr. Carvell.—Will you pardon me a moment? T think I can show where the

Major got the evidence on which to formulate that paragraph in the charges. You
will probably find it in Mr. Lumsden's letter of 23rd April, addressed to the com-
missioners and submitted by them to the House.

Mr. Lennox.—I think it is in the letter of 23rd April, 1908, from Mr. Parent to

Sir Wilfrid Laurier.

Mr. Carvell.—It is the letter from Mr. Lumsden to the commissioners and it

accompanies that. Here it is on page 32

—

' As you are aware, I, on the 14th and the 30th of January, issued special cir-

culars to the district engineers giving my interpretation of clauses 34, 35 and 36 of

our general specifications, accompanied by a diagram explanatory of same, and I

have letters from the district engineers in districts 'A,' ^ B ' and ' F,' where actual

grading was being proceeded with, stating that my interpretation had been and it*

being adhered to/



MINUTE8 OF EVIDENCE 379

APPENDIX No. 5

I think it is perfectly fair for Mr. Murphy to ask this witness wherein the interpre-

tation of January, 1908, goes beyond the interpretation laid down by the chief engi-

neer in September, 1907.

Mr. Lennox.—He says, ' to the fullest extent is adopted and approved.' He does

not say it goes beyond.

Mr. Murphy.—' And exceeds that recommended by the chief engineer.'

Mr. Carvell.—Now, ask him wherein that exceeds the recommendation of the

chief engineer.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Now, referring to that sentence in paragraph 2 of the charges on page 39 of

part 1, I would ask you to point out to the committee wherein the approval of the

commissioners of this classification exceeds the classification recommended by the chief

engineer in his letter to the commissioners of September 24, 1907?—A. Can I have
the letters?

The Chairman.—The letter is printed in the order of reference at page 32. I am
asking you to tell wherein the classification that you say was approved by the com^
missioners, exceeds the classification recommended by the chief engineer in this letter

of September 24, 1907, which appears at page 32 of the printed record?—A. I don't

see any reference in that letter.

Q. What is your answer? Can you or can you not point out to the committefei

wherein the classification that you say was approved by the commissioners exceeds

the classification mentioned in that letter of the chief engineer of September 24?—

•

A. It is in some letter I have seen.

Q. But you allege in your charges that it is in this letter. Now, I am asking you

to point out wherein the classification exceeds what is recommended there?—^A, I do

not see it in that letter, it must be the wrong date.

Q. What is your answer, major?—A. It must be the wrong date.

Q. Well, is there anything else wrong about that statement in your charge?—A.

Well, there is another letter from the chief engineer in which he approves of that

classification, as far as I remember.

Q. What is the date of that?—A. It is in this file somewhere, that is giving an
interpretation of the specifications that would cover that.

By the Chairman:

Q. Then, if I understand you well, you cannot see in that letter ?—A. I can-

not recall the letter.

Q. In that letter, dated September 24, 1907, any justification for that charge

which you made here saying (reads) :

—

* This classification to its fullest extent is adopted and approved by the commis-
sioners in their memorandum laid on the table of the House on the 24th April, 190S,

and exceeds that recommended by the chief engineer in his letter to the commission-

ers, dated September 24, 1907.'

You cannot see anything in that letter to justify that charge?—A. That lette*

refers to—I think there is another letter somewhere.

Q. Well find that letter, please?

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. Before you leave that point. Have you read the paragraph at the top of page

33 of the letter of September 24?—A. I thought it referred to District ' F.'

Q. It does refer to District 'F' and the chief engineer makes a reconuncndation

?

—A. (reads)

:

' In reviewing the whole situation in District ' F ' I am of opinion that it would

be a grave mistal^e to phicc the contractor in the position that ho would have to

Major Hodgins.
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abandon the work, as I am satisfied it would in the end cost more money to complete
than if he were given some little assistance. Such assistance should not be given by
the engineers classifying material other than according to specifications, but might be
given by authority from you to increase the prices east of mile 190 for item 5, loose

rock; item 6, common excavation; items 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29 and 30 in reference

to timber; item 74, train-hauled surfacing; and item 75, ballasting; or, failing your
being in a position to do so, by instructing me in writing to classify all material other

than solid rock, loose or easily worked sand, gravel or muskeg, under the heading of

item 5, loose rock and use rock borrow in place of trestle wherever common excavar

tion for the purpose of making up embankments is not obtainable within a reasonable

distance, or to pay for standard trestle at cost plus 10 per cent. "Whatever is done
the force on the work should be increased by at least two thousand men.'

By the Chairman:

Q. Well, do you see anything in that paragraph to justify the charge you have
made ?

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. One moment, Mr. Chairman, before you get away from this. Would this

reference ' and exceeds that recommended by the chief engineer in his letter to the

commissioners, dated September 24th, 1907,' refer to the paragraph you have just

read?—A. Yes..

The Chairman.—In what way?
Mr. Lennox.—Classification, and this is what they recommend.
Mr. Carvell.—I do not see how the witness can answer the question in that man-

ner because the suggestion in the charge is that the commissioners classified higher

than the contract calls for.

Mr. Lennox.—And the statement in the paragraph is that they classified still

higher.

Mr. Carvell.—Well, I would like to see where the proof is.

Mr. Lennox.—Evidently the reference to the letter is all right.

Mr. Carvell.—That may be true.

The Chairman.— think it would be more satisfactory if the witness would
answer questions himself rather than have members of the committee discussing it

and telling him how to answer. If he cannot answer, all right. But we want to find

out how he came to make that charge?

The Witness.—You see things have changed very much since I have read that

second opinion of Mr. Lumsden, which certainly should alter that classification now.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Well, can you, or can you not. Major, point^out wherein the classification

approved by the commissioners exceeds that recommended by the chief engineer in his

letter to the commissioners of September 24th, 1907? Can you or can you not point

that out?—A. No, not at once.

Q. When you were down in District ' B ' did you meet Division Engineer Bour-

geois ?—A. I don't remember.

Q. Do you know him?—A. No.

Q. Or did you meet Resident Engineer Matthews?—A. I would not remember.

Q. Do you know him?—A. I don't remember. Possibly if I were to see them
now I might recall the circumstance; I don't remember the names.

Q. Did you meet Assistant District Engineer Huestis?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you meet Assistant Engineer Hervey?—A. Yes.

Q. Do you know both of these gentlemen. Engineers Huestis and Hervey?—A.

I met them down in Quebec.

Q. Did you have any discussion with them as to classification?—A. I don't

think so.
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Q. Would they, as the men in the field down in that district, in your estimation,,

be the proper men to classify in their division ?—A. Yes, they would.

Q. They would be the best men, I understand, from your evidence, to classify?

—

A. Well, I don't know what they

Q. I mean holding the positions they hold?—A. Yes, they would be all qualified

to classify.

Q. In your evidence last night. Major, you stated that in your opinion this inter-

pretation of the chief engineer of the specifications was wrong in some respects.

Now, would you just point out in what respects you think it is wrong?—A. Well,

I think in that clause for solid rock. He says it is solid rock or must be in ledges.

Q. Then first of all I take it A. I mean in giving the interpretation of the

specifications to cover that conglomerate material, in that wording.

Q. Is that the respect in which you think the chief engineer's interpretation is

wrong. That is solid rock according to your idea?—A. Yes.

Q. And that is the only respect in which you think it is wrong, in your opinion?

—A. Yes. Well, of course, he has got detached ledge rock in mass over one cubic yard.

That I would certainly pass as rock and plum pudding stone. If it is the same class

of material that I call plum pudding stone I would certainly call it solid rock. But
it is a stone of itself. A conglomerate rock or plum pudding stone is a collection of

boulders or stones held together by a mixture that is more like flint than sand. The
pudding itself, you may call it, is as hard as rock or is rock itself of a flinty material,

and these pieces of stone, boulders and things, are fused into it. I would call that

under any circumstances solid rock because it would be solid rock.

Q. Now, taking the interpretation of the chief engineer as to the classification of

these diffeerent materials, your objection, as I understand it, extends to plum pudding
or conglomerate rock? Is that it?—A. Solid rock would be rock found in ledges or

rock found in masses of rock—a boulder, for instance.

By Mr. Hodgins:

Q. That is your view of it?—A. That is mine.

Mr. Hodgins.—My learned friend is asking as to the chief engineer's view.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. No, no, pardon me. Just in one sentence, would you please tell the committee

in what respect you think the interpretation is wrong in your opinion ?—A. I will

have to get his opinion.

Q. I am asking you to point out to the committee?—A. I want to get his opinion

to point out to the committee. It is worded in a certain way. Speaking from
memory

Mr. Hodgins.—Do not speak from memory. Get the chief engineer's opinion and
speak from that.

Mr. Murphy.—The (witness either does not understand or else he is taking me off

into a bypath. Last evening the witnes?; stated that iu his opinion in a certain

respect the chief engineer's interpretation is wrong and T am askinir him now to

point out in what respect it is wrong.

Mr. Lennox.—He is proceeding to do that.

Mr. Murphy.—I want to ask the witness to answer for himself and not to refer

to the file.

Mr. Lennox.—l^nt he must refer to the file for the purpose of ascertaining ex-

actly wliat the chief engineer said. Having looked at that opinion and ascertained

what the chief engineer's opinion was he is in a position to point out exiu'tly where
he thinks it is wrong.

The Witness.—Well T can say without reading it. T eou>ideriHl there were two
meanings to be taken out of it, two intiu-pretat ions.

Major Hodgins.
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By Mr. Murphy :

Q. Who is to determine fwho is right and who is wrong ?—A. According to the
specifications the chief engineer was to, but according to his diagram he puts it up to
the engineer on the work unless he goes down and views the work himself and forms
a judgment.

Q. Cannot you in one sentence explain to the committee in what respect you
think the interpretation of the chief engineer is wrong?—A. Well I think he is wrong
because there are two—I can interpret them from two different ways. I interpreted
last night in one way and I can interpret it another way how if you want me to.

Q. Do you say that in your opinion he is wrong merely because you disagree, with
him ?—A. I disagree (with him.

Q. That is the idea, is it?—A. I disagree with him. It is an engineering opinion
Q. Do you know. Major, that the interpretation given by the chief engineer is

corroborated by Mr. Collingwood Schreiber and by the engineers in the field.

Mr. Lennox.—How does he know that ?

Mr. Murphy.—I am asking him.

^ The Witness.—I think Mr. Collingwood Schreiber is wrong but I say that with
all due deference.

Q. And what about the engineers in the field ?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—That is not the question that was asked the witness.

Mr. Carvell.—I think that is a fair question.

Mr. Lennox.— say that if he gets an opinion from the documents before us he
should not deal with it. If he gets it from another source or from talking with Mr.
Schreiber it is a different thing.

Mr. Carvell.—I cannot accede to that view. Here is an intelligent man, a man
who is almost an expert, and we are discussing certain documents. I see no reason

why the witness should not be asked for his interpretation of the documents in order

to assist us in coming to a conclusion?

Mr. Lennox.—That is not what I am objecting to. Ask the witness does he know
that Mr. Schreiber's opinion corroborates the opinion expressed by the chief en-

gineer ?

Mr. Murphy.—Well, he is an intelligent man.
Mr. Lennox.—Wait a moment. I say that Tf he only knows that from the docu-

ments before us he ought not to make a statement. We are the parties to interpret

the meaning of any documents before us and not the witness.

The Chairman.—^Let him say how he knows it ?

Mr. Lennox.—How do you know it, from the documents before the committee

or otherwise ?

Mr. Carvell.—I was not here yesterday and if there was a ruling then given on

this matter I suppose I am bound by it ?

Mr. Lennox.—There was a ruling to-day.

Mr. Carvell. As far as I am concerned I am going to protest against it. I

think the witness ought to be a most competent man to help us to come to a true

understanding of these documents. I am not an engineer, this man is and I want his

opinion.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—He is asked if he knows that Mr. Schreiber's opinion agrees (with

that of the chief engineer ?

Mr. Macdonald.—The question is does he know it ? The fact of how he knows
it is a subsequent thing.

By Mr. Lennox :

Q. How do you know it ?—A. How do I know it ?

By Mr. Carvell :

Q. Do you know it ?—A. Yes.
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By Mr. Lennox :

Q. How do you know it ?—A. Mr. Lumsden refers to it in each one of his

opinions.

Mr. Lennox.—I submit that cannot be given. We are the sole judges of the

meaning of these documents, not the witness. The witness could not give an inter-

pretation as to whether the various sub-engineers agreed with the opinion of the

chief engineer and the question was ruled out on that account. I take the same objec-

tion to the question again. When there is an original document and the witness has

access to it the same as fwe have we must judge of that ourselves and not the witness.

Mr. Carvell.—I know, but as an expert engineer there is no objection to reading

certain portions of a document and asking the witness what interpretation he puts

upon that document.

The Witness.—My interpretation is not infallible.

Mr. Carvell.—Certainly not, it is your opinion.

Mr. Lennox.—Just wait until the chairman has ruled.

Mr. Carvell.—In answering, the witness will help this committee to come to a

proper conclusion.

Mr. Macdonald.—What is your object in getting this testimony?

Mr. Lennox.—You had better let the chairman give his ruling.

The Chairman.—It is the same ruling. I cannot give another ruling from the one

I gave. At the same time I think I must say that I see a little difference in this as

compared with the previous case. Here is a witness, an expert, who is asked what is

his opinion of the opinion of Mr. Schreiber, the chief consulting engineer—what he

understands by his interpretation of a certain thing. I think I will have to give the

same ruling, although I think that the circumstances are a little different. Neverthe-

less I must rule against it just the same as I did before.

Mr. MACDONALD.—There is this phase of the question, Mr. Murphy : you can direct

Major Hodgins' attention to the particular statement which indicates what Mr. Schrei-

ber's view is and you can base a question upon that.

The Chairman.—I think that could be properly done.

Mr. Lennox.—^You can take Mr. Schreiber's opinion and have it read to the wit-

ness and a«k him if he agrees with it.

Mr. Hodgins.—I quite agree with that.

The Chairman.—Show him Mr. Schreiber's opinion so that he can read it .

Mr. Murphy.—We were speaking rather about the opinion of the chief engineer

and the concurrence between Mr. Schreiber and the former.

The Chairman.—^Yes.

Mr. Lennox.—That would be wrong.
The Chairman.—^But how can he give an opinion offhand without looking at

Mr. Schreiber's opinion?

Mr. Murphy.—He has seen it He read from the documents that he had in his

hand last night, some file that he has, not any file that we handed in.

Mr. Lennox.—That can go to the extent the chairman has indicated. He can be

asked whether he agrees with Mr. Schreiber's opinion or not. If he does not agree

with it in what particular docs he disagree?

Mr. Murphy.—Then I will ask him now. The witness referred to it.

Mr. Hodgins.—No, lie did not.

Mr. Murphy.—Then, major, I ask you now whether you agree with the interpre-

tation of Mr. Schreiber, concurred in by the chief engineer?

Mr. Lennox.—Oh no, you cannot put that question. That is what the chairman
has already ruled on. There is no question of concurrence at all. You can take ^Ir.

Schreiber's opinion, place it in the hands of the witness?, ask him to read it and state

whether he agrees with it or not. He can say if ho agrees or disagrees; if lie disagrees

in what respect he does so.

Major Hoix^ins.
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Mr. Murphy.—My understanding is that the witness had these opinions and
referred them last night?

The Witness.—It is the opinion of the chief engineer, the last paragraph of the

chief engineer's opinion refers to Mr. Collingwood Schreiber. I don't think Mr.
Collingwood Schreiber

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. Have you seen Mr. Schreiber's opinion at all?—A. No. Except that I have got

a reference to it.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Then is the opinion of Mr. Schreiber, to which reference has been made, the

one referred to in the letter of the chief engineer from which you have been quoting?

—A. Yes, it is referred to in the letter here.

Q. Then you have seen the opinion?—^A. I have not seen Mr. Collingwood

Schreiber's opinion. Mr. Lumsden says at the end of his letter (reads) :

* This interpretation was made by me after consulting with Mr. Collingwood

Schreiber, general consulting engineer to the government.'

Mr. HoDGiNS.—He may have disagreed with him.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Do you know, major, whether the interpretation of the men in the field was
concurred in—that is with regard to District ^ B ' and District ' F ', so far as your
successor, Mr. Poulin, is concerned—^by the chief engineer ?—A. Their opinion was

Q. Their interpretation?—A. Was concurred in by the chief engineer.

Q. Yes?—A. Yes, I think Mr. Poulin and Mr. Doucet both concurred with the

chief engineer in this opinion.

Mr. Lennox.—That is not what you are asked.

Mr. Carvell.—That is what he was asked.

Mr. Lennox.—No, it is the reverse. Does he know whether the opinion of these

engineers in the field was concurred in by the chief engineer?

The Witness.—The opinions of the engineers in the field ?

Mr. Lennox.—The opinion of these two men.
Mr. HoDGiNS.—I would like to have the opinion produced, because there are half

a dozen questions involved in that.

The Witness.—That I could not say. I could not answer that question because

the chief engineer

Mr. Carvell.—You have the letter there of December 15th or 16th?

The Witness.—No, January, 9th. The chief engineer lays down a certain inter-

pretation of the specifications and Mr. Doucet and Mr. Poulin follow it out and certif.y

that the work on their districts agrees with the chief engineer's interpretation.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. And is it not a fact that is the interpretation that is approved by the com-

mossioners?—A. That is approved by the commissioners.

Q. You remained in District ' F ', major, for some time after your successor, Mr.

Poulin, came there?—A. Well I was there for a short time.

Q. Yes, you had frequent conversations with him?—A. Just one or two.

Q. Do you remember a letter that was written by Mr. Poulin, while you were

there, to the chief engineer for instructions regarding classification?—A. Mr. Poulin

read to me a letter from the chief engineer to him
Q. Yes?—A. In which the chief engineer had asked him for his opinion on the

wording of the specifications and Mr. Poulin said he was writing a letter, and I think

he read the draft of it to me, or the letter he was sending olBf that day, in which he

said it was the chief engineer's place to give an opinion before asking a division

engineer, or words to that effect. Probably he did not put it quite as brusquely as

that.
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By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Was there any other discussion on classification between you and Mr. Poulin

before you left ?—A. -N'o, not that I remember. You see the—it seems to me the

only issue now is the correct and proper interpretation of these specifications and
I do not see that I am called upon to prove it, I cannot.

The Chairman.—That is about it.

Mr. Lennox.—I entirely dissent. This is not the time to argue but I entirely

and absolutely dissent from that proposition.

The Witness.—It is rather hard on me to have to

—

Mr. Lennox.—That is not at all the question as the witness suggests.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. You regard that as practically the only question left now, the question of

whether your view of the classification is correct ?—A. That is all.

Q. That is all. I understand you to say, from the information that you have

gathered since coming into this matter, Major, that you feel that you can not say •

that you have any imputations to make upon the Commissioners in regard to any

improper interference, with the engineers for instance ?—A. With those legal and
engineers' opinions there I do not see that I have.

Q. And you are not in a position to offer any evidence to show that they exer-

cised any improper interference with the engineers ?—A. No.

Q. In regard to that matter in which the statement was made here that Sir Wil-

trid Laurier refused investigation on account of the influence exercised on him by
Mr. Parent ; I understand you are not in a position to say, or to offer any evidence

that would show that Mr. Parent attempted to influence Sir Wilfrid in any way, or

are you ?—A. No, not unless Mr. Parent came up to say he did.

Q. You have no evidence of that?—A. I have none.

Q. And in regard to the question of engineering you apparently as an engineer,

with your experience, took a certain view as to how the wording of these specifica-

tions should be interpreted ?—A. Yes.

Q. Now you find that since you put in the statement here, Mr. Lumsden, on

January 10th laid down certain instructions for the engineers to follow which may
be said to be an interpretation from his standpoint of what the specifications mean ?

—A. Yes.

Q. You were not aware of this being in existence at the time you wrote to the

Colonist o» April 16th, were you ?—A. No.

Q. I suppose in regard to these opinions of counsel on the meaning of the speci-

fications you had no intimation of them at the time you wrote the letter ?—A. An-
other ninn's opinion is just as good as mine, as a matter of fact every engineer's

opinion is vaUiable to himself.

Q. And it is a question upon which men may differ quite honestly I—A. Cer-

tainly.

Q. You do not impute to these gentlemen any improper motives in their ideas ?

—A. Not after reading Mr. Lumsden's letter.

Q. You made use of the expression the other day that you did not regard this com-
mittee as the proper tribunal to doterniine the question at is.^ue 'i—A. With all duo
deference to the committee I do not; it is an enginei^ring dispute and as far as I am
concerned I quite believe that the arbitrators who are appointed for the purpose should

deal with this question of classification and I think that the board of arbitrators is the
only right and proper tribunal to determine it,

Q. And any cvidonee you have to ofi'er in regard to this niattor. to this question
at all, whatever is left of it now, is evidence that you would prefer to give to this

tribunal of arbitrators that has been appointed under the statute?— A. Exactly.
6—25

Major Hodgins.



386 SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON MAJOR HODGINS' CHARGES

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

Q. They are people in whom you have confidence that they can settle this ques-

tion in the interest of this country fairly?—A. Absolutely.

Q. And you are prepared to accept their judgment on this question of classifi-

cation as absolutely fair from your standpoint and in the interest of the country?

—

A. Certainly; I would not put myself in the way at all; they have to look after the

interest of the country.

Q. And you regard this board of arbitration as being the proper tribunal to

determine whatever there is in issue in this matter ?—A. They are the proper tribunal,

Q. Personally, Major, it does not seem to me—or have you any desire to go on

before this committee through your counsel offering evidence and taking up the time

of this committee, or wouldn't you prefer to give it all before the arbitrators?

Mr. Lennox.—Would it not be better to hear counsel?

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. What do you say to that, Major?—A. What is that again?

Q. Have you any desire to go on giving evidence here in view of what you have-

^ said now, or do you, not think that the proper tribunal to determine this question is the

board of arbitrators composed of Mr. Woods, Mr. Lumsden and a third arbitrator?

—

A. I do not think it is for me to answer that. I think it is for the committee to

decide that.

Q. Have you any desire to go on presenting evidence before this committee, or

do you take the position that you regard Mr. Woods and Mr. Lumsden as being the

expert engineers and the gentlemen contemplated under the statute to determine thi&

question of classification—do you regard these as the proper people to determine that

question ?

Mr. Lennox.—That is a question of law and of the interpretation of the con-

tract.

Mr. Macdonald.—I object to being interrupted by Mr. Lennox, or any other gen-

tleman, just when I reach the crucial stage of my questioning.

Mr. Lennox.—I have just as good a right to interrupt as any other gentleman^

and I propose to exercise my right.

Mr. Macdonald.—Pardon me, you have not the right to object to a question put

by a member of the committee; you have the^right to object to a question put by
counsel. I will ask any question I want to as a member of this committee without
interruption by you.

The Chairman.—Mr. Macdonald has the witness 'in hand now.
'

Mr. Lennox.—I know that, but I have the right to object to a questicfn.

The Chairman.—^You object to the question?

Mr. Lennox.—I object to the question. The witness is asked the question whether
Mr. Wood and Mr. Lumsden are not the proper persons to interpret this contract.

Mr. Carvell.—Whether, in his opinion, they are not the proper parties to deter-

mine the ^question of classification.

Mr. Lennox.—I submit that the interpretation of this contract is not for thi&

witness.

Mr. Macdonald.—I did not ask about the contract at all. I think every one of

us here all recognize Mr. Hodgins' position. I think in stating what he has stated

here to-day he has shown himself to be a frank and honourable man, who realizes that

a mistake has been made on certain lines, and is willing to admit it. I think he is-

entitled to the full credit that every man is entitled to when he sees he has taken an
improper course and wants to remedy what has been done. The question I want ta

ask Major Hodgins is this : Whether you do not regard Mr. Lumsden and Mr. Wood&
and, in the event of their disagreement, some other engineer who is to be appointed,

as being the men who can better deal and better decide upon the point you wish to

make about that question as to proper classification?

Mr. Carvell.—Than this committee would be?
Mr. Macdonald.—I do not want to put it in that way. Do you think, Major^
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that Mr. Lumsden and Mr. Woods are the better parties—you have already told us
you are perfectly ready to accept their decision?

A. I think their decision will be just and impartial, and if they disagree some
well known engineer ought to be called in.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. I understand you to say you do not desire to press before this committee any
charge of wrong-doing on the part of the commission as far as their interference

with the engineers is concerned, is that a fair statement?—A. That is right.

Q. And as far as that phase of the inquiry is concerned, you do not offer any
evidence for our consideration?—^A. It is simply this, that I do not see why I should

stand the expense of finding out whether the specification is right or wrong.

Q. Or whether the academic question between engineers should be settled at

your expense, that is the position you take?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Carvell:

Q. Following up that a little further, in case it were necessary for this commit'

'

tee to go on and render a decision as to whether the classification was correct or incor'

rect, in your opinion would it not be necessary to have the evidence of independent
engineers not connected either with the Transcontinental Commission or the Grand
Trunk Pacific?—A. To settle this question?

Q. Supposing the committee decided to go on and settle the question and render

a decision upon it, in your opinion would it not be necessary to call in the services of

independent engineers who have no connection whatever with either the Transcon-

tinental Commission or the Grand Trunk Pacific as witnesses ?—A. Provided that Mr.
Lnmsden and Mr. Woods disagree?

Q. No, no, leaving them out of the question entirely, supposing this committee

attempts to make a thorough investigation of this question would it not be necessary

for us to call in the evidence of independent engineers ?—A. Just on the wording of the

specifications, or the interpretation of the specification on the work do you mean?
Q. I do not care whether you take the interpretation of the specification or the

question of classification on the work itself?—A. The most independent tribunal

would be the council of the Canadian Society of Civil Engineers.

Q. That would be an independent body?—A. You could not get any better than

that.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. The major says he is prepared to take the decision of Mr. Lumsden, Mr.
Woods and a third arbitrator.

Mr. Carvell.—But I mean if this committee wants to go further. I have been

at a loss myself as to what course to pursue. There has been a charge of over classic

fication on the part of the engineers of the commission, and that raises an issue

directly between the engineers of the commission and the Grand Trunk JPacific. I

assume that one set of engineers will stand by one side of the case, and the other set

of engineers will stand by the other side, and I am asking Major Hodgins here, who
is the third party at the present time, in a sense, if we want to come to a conclusion

on that point will it not be necessary to go outside and have the evidence of inde-*

pendent engineers who have no connection with cither party ?—A. Yes, that would be

one way of getting at it, an impartial way.

Mr. Macdonald.—I understand that the major says he does not want to be kept

here at an expense to himself to settle an academic question that will fairly and

properly settled by Mr. Lumsden and Mr. Woods.

By Mr. Lennox:

Q. That does not touch the point that the House has instructed us to do a cer-

5—25i
Major Hodgins.
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tain thing; Mr. Carvell made that point by saying that if it is proper for us to get

on and decide whether there is improper classification or not wonld it not be right

to call in independent engineers and the witness says, yes.—A. But then I think ,in

a dispute of that kind, the Grand Trunk Pacific and the Transcontinental Commis-
sioners should be consulted as well as myself—you say I am a third party.

The Chairman.—Of course all parties would be consulted in that case.

Mr. Macdonald.—What was referred to us was this letter or memorandum of Mr.
Parent together with the letter of Major Hodgins to the public press therein referred

to, with instructions to investigate the matters and charges therein mentioned. I

understand what was referred to us was the statements contained in Major Hodgins
letter of April 16, because he disclaimed connection with that interview which ap-

peared in the papers), and I understand that Major Hodgins has told us to-day with

regard to the imputation against the commission respecting improper interference by

them with the engineers that he is not in a position to go on with that. I under-

stand you to say that the only issue that has been raised which remains out of this

v/hole question to-day is the difference of opinion that exists between him and the

"other engineers as to the interpretation of the specification. I understand you also

to say that you know that the statute respecting the Transcontinental Railway Com-
mission provides for the settlement of all disputes of this character by a board of

arbitration composed of the chief engineer of the Transcontinental Bailway and the

chief engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific, and in the event of a disagreement a
third arbitrator is to be appointed by the chief justice, and that so far as you are

concerned you think that is the proper tribunal to settle that which is the only re-

maining issue; and that as far as you are concerned that is the only tribunal and

you are prepared to accept their judgment. That being the case, there is I think,

nothing left for this committee to go on with.

Mr. Lennox.—I do not at all agree with the conclusions arrived at by Mr. Mac-
donald, but I do not propose to argue that question to-night in the absence of Mr,
Barker, or that we shall take any definite action in his absence. I desire to say, how-
ever, that I ent'rely di?S3nt from the proposition of Mr. Macdonald that what is

referred to us is what is stated in the letter of Major Hodgins, as Mr. Macdonald
says. The order of reference set forth is:

—

' Resolved, that the memorandum of the chairman of the Transcontinental Rail-

way Commissioners to the Prime Minister, of date the 23rd April, and laid on the

table of this House on the 24th instant and the papers accompanying the same, together

with the letter of Major Hodgins to the public press therein referred to, be referred

to a special committee of five members."

Mr. Macdonald.—' With instructions to investigate the matters and charges

therein mentioned.'

Mr. Lennox.—Now, the letter of Major Hodgins is only one of the documents
referred to us; there is mentioned here particularly the letter of the chairman of the

Transconti-nental Railway Commissioners, and when we look at the documents that

were actually attached and referred to us we find a number of documents in addition

to the letter referred to, any of the charges contained in any one of those documents
is a matter for us to investigate. It is true this matter was begun by the letter writ-

ften by Major Hodgins, and that the matter was taken up by the press; rightly or

wrongly the press made certain statements, for instance, the ' Colonist ' made certain

statements, and the ' Free Press,' Winnipeg, and the ' Citizen ' here in Ottawa made
certain statements; Major Hodgins does not necessarily have to stand back of those

statements and charges, but the matters are all referred to us, all papers and docu-

ments attached to the memorandum laid on the table of the House, and any charge
contained in any one of these we are bound to investigate. Now, sir, one of

the particular charges contained in these documents is this, (was there or was there

not a proper classification ?

Mr. Macdonald.—Incorrect classification, not ' improper.'
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Mr. Lenkox.—Well, incorrect classification, I am quite willing to take tKat word
for the purpose of argument, incorrect, if it were improper it would imply more than

that, but taking Mr. Macdonald's statement that it is incorrect—if it is found to be

improper it would involve some wrong-doing, but even if there was not any wrong-

doing whatever and I am not going to impute wrong-doing unnecessarily, yet if it is

incorrect classification it affects the interests of the public and we are to investigate

and find out whether incorrect or improper. I use the word improper in the sense of

not being correct, classification prevailed.

]\fr. Macdonald.—What do you propose to do about it ? Major Hodgins says he

has nothing further to offer to the committee and who is going to prosecute the

inquiry.

Mr. Lennox.—We are bound to investigate and to take the responsibility of

bringing before this committee such persons as can give us evidence in that regard.

We have the fact before us that a very serious controversy exists between the Grand
Trunk Pacific Railway and the commission as to the classification. That dispute has

not been settled; there is that question outstanding, the question as to whether the

classification is right or wrong.

Mr. Macdonald.—That may be all true, but parliament has solemnly and delibera-

tely said that if there is going to be disputes between the Grand Trunk Pacific and the

Transcontinental Railway commission, Vve are going to say how those disputes shall

be settled, we are going to provide a system and a board of arbitrators to settle such

disputes, and that has been embodied in a statute. Not only that, but these arbitra-

tors have gone to work and are now engaged in settling that question.

Mr. Carvell.—Would it not be well to consider, in view of the fact that this very

situation was anticipated and provided for by parliament, whether this committee

should go on and by taking evidence upon it drag in this whole question and attempt

to render a decision in anticipation of what the legally constituted board of arbitra-

tion may do.

Mr. Lennox.—I still hold to my argument, here is the view that I take of it. We
have a right to inquire whether the right classification is prevailing upon that line

or not. In the end when the accounts come to be adjusted between the Grand Trunk
Pacific and the country it may be that the classification that has been allowed will

not be allowed in the adjustment of accounts between the company and the commis-
sion but in the meantime

Mr. Macdonald.—^But you will pardon me, Mr. Lennox, whatever Mr. Lumsden
and Mr. Woods settle, or the third arbitrator decides, it does not make any difference

what we do, as a matter of law that settles what is to be paid. We must assume that

Mr. Lumsden and Mr. Woods are honest men and will give their honest opinion.

Mr. Carvell.—I have had tlyat before me ever since the investigation has started;

what object can there be in us investigating this question when no matter what we
do it will have no value as compared with the decision of the Board of Arbitrators.

Mr. Lennox.—Certain charges have been initiated by Major Hodgins, that is

only like the beginning of a war where some person fires a gun and the war commen-
ces, but after that they are not the main element in it. In this case as soon as Major
Hodgins fired his gun the press took it up and made certain grave charges against the

management of this railway. Parliament referred to us the question to find out

whether improper classification prevailed on that railway or not. For my part as far

as I can see at the present time I am of the opinion that very serious improper classi-

fication has occurred on that railway.

Mr. Macdonald.—It could not have occurred, because it does not occur until these

gentlemen, Mr. Lumsden and Mr. Woods say it shall occur.

Mr. Lennox.—I understand that the quantities of solid rock and loose rock

allowed by such classification upon the railway as far as it has been constructed liave-

Major Hodqins.
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not been what they should be, and that is what we are investigating for the purpose

of satisfying the public mind which is at unrest on account of the charges which
have been made. It may be when other evidence is brought forward that this evi-

dence which is before us now may be strengthened or it may be weakened. There is

one point that has been dwelt upon a great deal and that is the question of Mr. Lums-
den's latest interpretation of the contract. I am not at all satisfied with that inter-

pretation of the contract although I have great respect for Mr. Lumsden.
Mr. Carvell.—But under the statute aren't you compelled to admit he is right?

Mr. Macdonald.—The country has to pay it anyway. There is not a contractor in

the country who has a contract with the Transcontinental Railway Commission that

cannot make this country, pay every dollar that Mr. Lumsden and Mr. Woods certify,

all the investigation here from now to doomsday to the contrary.

Mr. Carvell.—To my mind Mr. Lumsden is the most important official in Canada
to-day, he has more power than any other official in the country.

Mr. Lennox.—I am not at all certain that his interpretation is correct and what
we are bound to pay is what, according to the proper classification, is certified, Mr.
Lumsden may be right or he may be wrong.

Mr. Carvell.—No, we are bound to pay according to Mr. Lumsden's classification.

Mr. Lennox.—Excuse me, we are not bound to pay according to his certificate

if he does not agree with what the Grand Trunk Pacific agrees to.

Mr. Carvell.—Read the statute.

Mr. Lennox.—IsTever mind about reading the statute. If they disagree we have
the arbitrators appointed by statute as has been said. The evidence of Major Hodgins
as far as he has gone is this that he is not satisfied Mr. Lumsden's classification is

correct.

Mr. Carvell.—Assuming he says that, then there is the point where would we be?

Assuming that Mr. Lumsden's classification is correct and is justified, then, as he

says, there would not be much ground for this proceeding.

Mr. Lennox.—But the witness says that Mr. Lumsden's classification is not correct

in his opinion.

Mr. Macdonald.—^But he says he is prepared to have Mr. Woods and a third

arbitrator determine whether he is right or not.

Mr. LENNOX.—But we are not to be guided by Major Hodgins in this matter, it

has been referred to us by the House to deal with.

Mr. Macdonald.—But there is now absolutely nothing for the committee to deal

with.

Mr. Lennox.—That we must argue out, but in the meantime there is no object

in pursuing it. I may not be equal to maintaining this matter against three or four

learned gentlemen. But I want to make it perfectly clear that the question of the

scope of the inquiry has gradually widened, and I think it is absolutely necessary for

us ta pursue the inquiry along the lines that have been referred to us. It will take

some little time to analyse exactly what there is in the reference to us, but I want to

make it clear that I do not agree with the theory that our labours are at an end.

Mr. Carvell.—I am very glad that this matter has come up, not that we are going

to decide it right here, because Mr. Barker, I quite understand, will want to be here.

The evidence of what is the proper classification has been before my mind consider-

ably ever since the investigation has begun, and if there is no way provided by statute

for meeting these exigencies I would feel that this committee ought to bring outside

witnesses and arrive at some conclusion. But it does seem to me that the statute cre-

ating the Transcontinental Railway Commission foresaw that these things might hap-

pen and provided a remedy for them and I think we are travelling a long way if this

committee attempts to set up its mind against the properly constituted authority,

because even if we come to a conclusion, if that conclusion be at variance with the

decision of the arbitrators we would only make ourselves ridiculous and it would have
no effect wh/itever. Therefore it seems to me that it is not only useless, I it a very
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improper course to spend our time attempting to find out whether certain classification

is correct or incorrect.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—May I suggest that it would be advisable for the committee to

rise now and meet again to-morrow when Mr. Barker is present, because I would like

to say a word or two to the committee. I have heard the views which have been ex-

pressed by the members of the committee to-day, and I am appearing here as counsel

for Major Hodgins. I have not expressed my views, and I suppose I have the right

to do so after consulting my client.

Mr. Carvell.—Is it understood that Mr Murphy is through with his cross-exam-

ination ?

Mr. Parent.—Not by any means.

The Chairman.—This is only an expression of the views of the committee.

Mr. Hodgins.—I thought it wise to make the suggestion at this stage.

Mr. Carvell.—We may go on and finish the cross-examination of the witnesses.

Mr. HoDGLNS.—I think I have something to say, representing Major Hodgins, as

to the proceedings before this committee. What he has stated here this afternoon he

stated as a witness there in the box, he has not stated it through me. I should like

to consider the situation not only with regard to myseK, but with regard to the posit-

ion of the committee, I think there are some matters which will have to be laid before

the committee.

Mr. Macdonald.—The committee will have to look after itself, quite irrespective

of yourself or Major Hodgins.
Mr. Hodgins.—)0f course, I understand that, and if you so rule I will sit down.

Mr. Macdonald.—Not at all.

Mr. Hodgins.—But I think, in a matter of such importance as this, it is advis-

able that the committee should not come to a hasty decision, but that it should hear

what is to be said after my conference with my client, and possibly there may be

some matters to bring before them that they may not have in their minds at the

present moment; and after that it will be for them to say what they will do. For
myself, I will cheerfully obey the decision that they come to.

Mr. l^ACDONALD.—The situation, it seems to me, at this moment is that Major
^Eodgins, in a very frank and straightforward way, after familiarizing himself with

the facts and the evidence not within his knowledge and not before him some months
ago, very frankly told the committee just where he stands now. As far as I am con^

cerned, as a member of the committee, I think he has done what any honourable man
should do, in coming forward and stating what he has stated this afternoon. As to

what is to be done in the future, gentlemen, that is a matter for consideration. For
the time being I think Mr. Murphy might go on if he wants to, and it might perhaps

be wise to consider what the position is going to be, and perhaps we might adjourn
until this evening.

The Chairman.—I think it is well we had this discussion, because it will narrow
down the proceedings materially. I think myself it was better that we had this dis-

cussion now, and we will rise until 8.30 this evening.

Mr. Hodgins.—I ask that the file of papers containing the legal opinions regarding

the interpretation of the specifications and letters in reference thereto be filed as an
exhibit.

The file containing sixty-two letters and papers was filed and marked as Exhibit

No. 38, and is as follows:

—

Major Hodgins.
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EXHIBIT No. 38.

Montreal, Que.^ Oct. 7, 1907.

Mr. Hugh D. Lumsden,
Chief Engineer, Eastern Division,

National Transcontinental Kailway,

Ottawa, Ont.

Classification of Material^ District ' B.'

Dear Sir,—At the request of District Engineer Armstrong, he was furnished

recently with a statement of classifications for the heavier work on the above section,

which were, when given in detail, so different from his expectations that he requested

the writer to visit the work.

During the past week we passed over portions of the work from the Batiscan

river west for fifteen or twenty miles, and later from mile 115 to 132.

With reference to the former portion, the classification was given in distances of

from three to five miles, and as we did not have total quantities of graduation, could

not judge with reference to any particular cutting, although percentages for entire

distance seemed excessively heavy in both loose and solid rock.

With the latter portion we had detailed percentage for each cut, and were greatly

surprised at the allowances made for solid and loose rock. In nearly every case where
the cuttings were not entirely all ledge the estimate given for solid rock is double, or

more than double, what it should be. In fact, the specifications had been entirely

ignored and an excessive allowance made, not by reason of an error in judgment, but,

as I understand, by special instructions from the assistant district engineer.

Let me give you some illustrations

:

Take the cutting from stations 5818 to 5826, estimated 71 per cent solid rock and
29 per cent loose rock, slopes taken out 14 to 1. Very little ledge in this cut. Some
large boulders, but a very large percentage is common excavation.

Station 5842 to 5860.'—Classified 94 per cent solid rock, 6 per cent loose rock.

Slopes taken out 1| to 1. Solid rock over-classified at least 100 per cent.

Station 5866 to 5875.—Estimated 80 per cent solid rock, 20 per cent loose rock.

No rock in place in this cut. Many large boulders, but a large amount of earth.

Station 5882 to 5901.—Estimated 78 per cent solid rock, 22 per cent loose rock.

A large amount of this cut wasted with slip scrapers, and ploughing being done with

two horses. There are hundreds of yards of earth here without a stone, large or

small.

Station 6030 to 6046.—Estimated 40 per cent solid rock, 10 per cent loose rosk.

This is the large sand cut west of O'Brien's camp. Of the 95,000 yards moved to

August 31st in this cut, at least 80,000 yards was pure sand.

Station 6071 to 6078.—Estimated 99 per cent solid rock, 1 per cent loose rock.

Very little solid rock in place. Slopes taken out li to 1.

West of St. Maurice River.

Station 6391 to 6394.—Estimated 46 per cent solid rock, 33 per cent loose rock.

Sand cut with few boulders, and possibly 1,500 yards ledge in bottom of cut not yet

taken out.

Station 6493 to 6504.—Estimated 20 per cent solid rock, 49 per cent loose rock.

No evidence of' ledge and very few large boulders; nearly all sand.
Station 6506 to 6512.—Estimated 16 per cent solid rock, 44 per cent loose rock.

This is purely a sand cut, with very few boulders. Upper slope nearly 100 feet high,
material wasted into river. Certainly not 10 per cent of this should be classified.

Station 6522 to 6548.—Estimated 26 per cent solid rock, 49 per cent loose rock.

This is borrowed material from the side. Very little solid rock shown, except what
was used for blind drains, but some large boulders not placed in embankment.
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On account of heavy rains we were not able to go west of station 6600, but we
understand that chissification is made about as noted above.

In every case where cuttings are not entirely in ledge we find the material over-

classified very largely. Mr. Armstrong has been able to visit this work at different

times, perhaps quite as often as the assistant district engineer. His estimate and my
own are not very different as to the amount of classified material, and until he received

detailed quantities he had no intimation that such heavy classification had been given.

In many cases, particularly in sand and gravel cuts, he had supposed ""hat no classi-

fication would be given, except perhaps for a few boulders as loose rock.

I am informed also that on the work east of the St. Lawrence river heavy classic

fication is being made in borrowed material where ploughing is done vv^ith one team"

£,nd material moved in slip scrapers.

As before stated, these over-classifications are not made through error in judg-

ment, nor upon the decision of the resident or division engineers, who are fully

acquainted with the character of the work, but by arbitrary orders from their superior.

To such classification as mentioned above, increasing the cost of the work to such

an alarming extent, we most seriously protest, and_ respectfully request that either

yourself or the assistant chief engineer visit the work and pass judgment upon the

classification as made. Please note that the percentages given above indicate the work
done to August olst. We are not advised what the September estimate will show.

Yours truly,

H. A. WOODS,
Assistant Chief Engineer.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (1).

La Tuque, October 17th, 1907.

C. L. Hervey, Esq.,

Assistant District Engineer, •

Quebec.

Dear Sir,—^^Referring to your inquiry about the classification of the work on my
division, I wish to state that the classification of material is based on the appearance

of the work at the different stages of the work, and not as it appears presently, when
about completed.

To ascertain the proper classification of the material, for over two months I kept

men measuring all the boulders coming out of the cuts; the classification was based

on their reports, and carried on from month to month according to the appearance

of the work.

Yours very truly,

BENT. BOURGEOIS,
Division Engineer.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (2).

Ottawa, Oclobor 18, 1907.
The CommisRioucrs of tlic Trnnscoutiuontnl Railway,

Ottawa, Out.

Sirs.—Referring to the September eslimalos in District ' B.' which I now bo^ to
hand you, I may say that from the complaint made by the assistant chiof onginoor of
the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway in a letter to me of the 7tli instant, and from a
verbal statement made to mo on the 12th instant, by "Mr. Douoet, our district engineer
at Quebec, it would appear to me some material may ho classified as rock which

Major Hodqins.
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should be classified otherwise, still as the amount of security held by you for the com-

pletion of the work seems to me ample, and the holding back of the estimate at this

date without notice to the contractors might be a serious matter, I have approved of

these estimates, on the distinct understanding that before any further estimates are

passed time be given and a full investigation made into the matter of classification

throughout District ' B,' and that my approval of these, or any previous estimate of a

similar character, should not prejudice the reconsideration and necessary correction

of the classification,, and consequently of the amount estimated therefor.

Your obedient servant,

HUGH D. LUMSDEN,
Chief Engineer,

EXHIBIT No. 38 (3).

Ottawa, October 18th, 1907.

Messrs. MoDonell & O'Brien,

^ Contractors,

Montreal, P.Q.

Dear Sirs,—I have the honour, by direction of the board, to hand you herewith a

copy of a letter from our chief engineer, dated the 18th instant, reporting in regard

to complaint received from the assistant chief engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific

Railway with respect to classification under contracts for construction in District ' B',

I am to advise you that the board has approved the recomendation of the chief

engineer, and that it has been arranged that the engineers of the company and of tho

commission shall meet in Quebec on the morning of the 24th instant, and shall from
there proceed to La Tuque, for the purpose of investigating the complaint of the

assistant chief engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific Pailway with respect to classi'S-

cation. It is considered advisable that you or your representative should accompany
the engineers on that occasion.

Yours very truly,

P. E. RYAN,
Secretary.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (4).
-

• Ottawa, October 18, 1907.

Messrs. M. P. & J. T. Davis,

Contractors, Quebec, P. Q.

Dear Sirs,—I have the honour by the direction of the board, to hand you here-

with a copy of a letter from the chief engineer, dated the 18th instant, reporting in

regard to complaint received from the assistant chief engineer of the Grand Trunk
Pacific Railway with respect to classification* under contracts for construction in Dis-

trict " B."

I am to advise you that the board has approved the recommendation of the chief
engineer, and that it has been arranged that the engineers of the company and of the
commission shall meet in Quebec on. the morning of the 24th instant, and from there
shall proceed to La Tuque, for the purpose of investigating the complaint of the assist-

ant chief engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway with respect to classification.
It is considered advisable that you or your representative should accompany the en-
gineers on that occassion.

Yours very truly,

P. E. RYAN,
Secretary.
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EXHIBIT NO. 3'8 (5).

Ottawa, October 18, 1907.

F. W. Morse, Esq.,

Vice-President and General Manager, Grand Trunk Pacific Ey.
Montreal, P. Q.

Dear Sir,—As directed by the board, I beg to band you herewitb a copy of a

letter from our chief engineer dated the 18th instant, with respect to September esti-

mates of work done by the commission's contractors in district ' B,' and the comf
plaint contained in letter of Assistant Chief Engineer Woods, of your company, to

our chief engineer, dated the Tth instant, relating to classification of material in Dis-

trict ' B.'

I am to advise you that the board has approved the report of the chief engineer,

and has given instructions that the chief engineer of the commission and District

Engineer Doucet shall meet your chief assistant engineer, Mr. Woods, and your dis-

trict engineer, Mr. Armstrong, in Quebec on the morning of the 24th instant, and

proceed with them and the contractors, or their representatives, to La Tuque, for the

purpose of investigating this complaint.

It was understood that the district engineers of your company an., of the com-

mission were to discuss any matter pertaining to the economic and efficient construc-

tion of the line, and that in the event of an agreement not being arrived at all mat-

ters should be referred through the chief engineers of the company and of the com-

mission respectively to the general manager of the company and to the commission
for decision.

In this connection I am to point out that your district engineer, Mr. Armstrong,
failed to notify District Engineer Doucet of any disagreement with respect to classi-

fication of material in District ' B,' and instead of discussing the matter with M&r^

Doucet communicated with your assistant chief engineer, Mr. Woods, who in turn!

made his complaint to the chief engineer of the commission.

Although this procedure was distinctly irregular, the commissioners have taken

full cognizance of Mr. Woods' complaint, and have given directions that the matter

be fully investigated.

Under the circumstances, the commissioners would be pleased if you will direct

Messrs. Wood and Armstrong to meet our engineers and contractors, or their repre-

sentatives, in Quebec on the morning of the 24th instant, and proceed with them to

La Tuque, for the purpose of investigating the merits of. the complaint.

Yours very truly,

P. E. EYAN,
Secrcfaru.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (6).

Ottawa, Ootobor 1^. IO07.

Hugh D. Lumsden, Esq.,

Chief Engineer.

Dear Sir,—I beg to advise you that the board has approved your report with

respect to your approving the September estimates of work done by contractors in

district ' B.'

I am writing to the contractors, requesting that thoy neonipany the entrineors of

the Grand Trunk Pacific Company and of the commission from Quebec on the morn-

ing of the 2ith instant to La Tuque; also to the general manager of the Grand Trunk

^Lajou IIodoins.
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Pacific Company, advising of the action of the commissioners, and requesting that

Mr. Woods and Mr. Armstrong accompany our engineers.

Yours truly,

P. E. KYAN,
Secretary.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (7).

Quebec," October 19, 1907.

A. E. DouCET, Esq., .

District engineer, Transcontinental Railway,

Quebec, P.Q.

Dear Sir^—In accordance with your instructions of recent date, I have been over
the ground at La Tuque looking over the matter of classification, and beg to say that

while I have been for a short time only on this piece of work, my investigation and
observation lead me to believe that the classification given generally on the division

i^ fair.

It must be remembered that Mr. Bourgeois and his assistant have been on this-

work continuously, and should be able to judge how the work should be classified as it

progressed. Attached letter from Mr. Bourgeois shows that he has seen evidence to

justify him in his estimate of the work.

I deny absolutely the statement that the specifications have been entirely ignored,

and that the classification is based entirely upon instructions from myself or any pre-

ceding assistant district engineer. I deny the imputation that we have been ordered

to give excessive quantities to anybody by way of our superiors.

I deny absolutely that Mr. Woods or any other engineer can visit a piece of work

one year after the work had been in progress, and state ofi-hand what amount of

money should have been paid to the contractors, or (what classification they should

have been receiving during the months past. We dispute the statement that this

classification has been given by error in judgment.

Mr. Woods says that in October he saw some material being moved by scrapersf

and ploughed by two horses—he may rest assured that where such is the case earth

.shall be returned for such work in October estimate, and if such a thing occurs

again in November it will again be returned in November estimate.

I understand from you that Mr. Woods also says that there were only about 300

imen on O'Brien & Martin's work the day he was there; our timekeeper shows that

O'Brien & Martin have an average of about 780 men. Mr. Woods probably did not
figure on the night shift, and missed some of the day men, or else visited the work on

a rainy day.

Yours very truly,

C. L. HERVEY, ^

As^isixint District Engineer.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (8).

Quebec, October 21, 1907.
Hugh D. Lumsden, Esq.,

Chief Engineer,

Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—I think that the enclosed letter from Mr. Bourgeois, division engineer
on division 7, is a direct reply to a direct accusation of the assistant chief engineer^
of the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway that ' over-classifications are not made through
•error in judgment nor upon any decision of the resident or the division engineers
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who are fully acquainted with the character of the work, but by arbitrary orders from
their superior.'

I shall also produce a letter from Mr. Girdwood, resident engineer of Residency
No. 27, who is just now recovering from an attack of typhoid fever, that Mr. Woods'
4\ccusations are altogether unfounded.

For my oiwn part; I may state that such accusations are not only uncalled for,

but most .unprofessional as we in Canada understand professional etiquette.

Mr. Woods' verbal statement made before you in my office that there were but
300 men on O'Brien & Martin's contract at the time of his visit, tended to throw dis-

credit on our time-keeper's and engineer's force reports. I have to re-assert that our
ftime-keeper is prepared to swear that his returns are correct, and that for the week
ending September 25th the number of the men on the work was 893; for the week
ending October 5th, 712; for the week ending October 12th, 766 men. It might be per-

tinent to inquire from Mr. Woods whether he is aware of any night gangs working
on O'Brien & Martin's contract, and if so, how many ? ,

The sub-contractor for the tunnel and T>. B. MacDonald have over 300 men
between them. Martin & O'Brien claim an average of 830 men on the whole of their

fcontraot.

Mr. Woods asserted positively in my office and in your presence that the classifica-

tion should be left to the division and resident engineers who are continually over the

%ork. I have to say that this is exactly what has been done, and that it is Mr. Woods
himself (who has attempted to classify the work after a single visit, and not our

assistant district engineer, by the means of arbitrary orders.

As the letter of the assistant chief engineer of the Grand Trunk Facific Bailway

'Will go on file, I must claim the same privilege for my answer thereto.

Yours very truly,

A. E. DOUCET,
District Engineer.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (9).

Hugh D. Lumsden, Esq., Quebec, October 22, 1907.

Chief Engineer,

Ottawa.

Dear Sir^—^I enclose you herewith Mr. Girdwood's statement as regards the classi-

fication of the material throughout his residency. I would feel obliged if you would
attach same to Mr. Bourgeois' letter on the same subject already sent you.

Yours very truly,

A. E. DOUCET.
District Engineer.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (10).

Transcontinental Kailw^y,

C. L. Hervey, Esq., Asst. District Engineer.

La Tuque, P.Q., Oct. 21, 1907. Besiokncy 27.

Transcontinental Kailway,

Quebec.

Dear Sir,—In regard to classification.

The work on my residency was classified according to what appeared on the work
at the time, and in conjunction to approval of the divisional engineer.

Yours truly,

E. P. GIRDWOOD,
Resident Engineer.

Major Hodoins.



398 SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON MAJOR HODGINS' CHARGES

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

EXHIBIT No. 38 (11).

Quebec, October 26, 1907.

Hugh D. Lumsden, Esq.,

Chief Engineer, -

Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—I have already had occasion to state to you verbally the interpreta-

tion the engineers in District ' B ' have placed on the classification of solid and loose

rock, and in accordance with which the progress estimates have been returned since

the inception of the work.

So that our views of this interpretation may be put before you concisely and
clearly, I beg now to state: 1. That we have classified as solid rock all ledge work,

all boulders measuring more than one cubic yard, all masses of small boulders and
cemented material which, in our judgment, were best removed by the continual use

of explosives. 2. We have classified as loose rock all detached boulders of more than
one cubic foot and less than one cubic yard, and all material which, in our judgment,
could not possibly be ploughed in the practical sense of the term.

I have never had occasion to force my views on my assistants at all, to a man,
have taken the same interpretation of the classification as I have. We have all used

the precautions possible to arrive at a fair classification of materials, and our returns

of explosives certainly show that the solid rock has not been over-classified. I have
repeatedly conferred with my assistant district engineers on this matter, and they in

their turn have gone over the work with the division and resident engineers and
classified according to their convictions as to the interpretation of the classification,

i attach herewith reports from my assistants on this important question.

Yours very truly,

A. E. DOUCET,
District Engineer.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (12).

Quebec, October 26, 1907.

A. E. Doucet, Esq., _
District Engineer.

Dear Sir,—In compliance with your request as to the interpretation I put and

have personally applied to the clauses of the specifications referring to solid rock

excavation and loose rock excavation, I beg to say: that in the article 34 'the wording
' Solid rock excavation will include ' suggests that something else than actual rock is

to be considered, and thus further down the word ^ masses ' appears which to my mind
covers what solid rock excavation does include, and therefore the word 'masses' in

clause 34 I take, and always have taken, to refer to ' masses ' of material (not neces-

sarily masses of rock) which might best be removed by blasting.

On District ' B ' I apply this word masses ' more particularly to cemented gravel,

on account of the fact that it is best removed by blasting and by continuous blasting.

In Article 35, Loose rock, all material which could not be sensibly or judiciously

ploughed by a plow and six horses, I would consider loose rock, and such a cut in my
opinion would consist entirely of loose rock and solid rock, by actual measurement,
with the exception that should a pocket of common excavation be found in a cut, such

pocket should be classified as common excavation by actual measurement.
In any conversation with division or resident engineers I have expressed these as

my views.

In reference to the approval of Mr. Woods, assist, chief engineer of the Grand
Trunk Pacific, to the classification given on the work of Messrs. O'Brien & Martin I
was present at La Tuque when Mr. Woods visited there in June, and I understood from
Mr. Grant that Mr. Woods was there at that time at the request of Mr. John W.
Armstrong, to approve or condemn the existing classification. As he did not condemn.
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the only conclusion was that he approved, and since that time I had no reason to

doubt that Mr. Woods' interpretation of the specifications was not the same as my
own.

Although Mr. Woods distinctly stated on the trip to La Tuque just completed
that his interpretation was different to that as expressed by me, yet Mr. Armstrong
told me that when he and Mr. Woods visited the work in the early part of October

cut from Station 5950-5969 which is classified by Mr. Bourgeois as 88 per cent S.E.

12 per cent L.K. was judged by Mr. Woods to be 100 per cent S.E. which he could

not possibly state on his declared interpretation of the specifications, as the eastern

end shows a cut where masses of material rather than ledge rock occur.

Yours very truly,

H. F. HUESTIS,
Assist. District Engineer.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (13).

A. E. DoucET, Esq., Quebec, October 26, 1907.

District Engineer,

Quebec.

Dear Sir^—I wish to state that my interpretation of the clauses 34, 35 and 36

bf our standard specifications is as follows

:

Clause 35, Loose Rock. I consider loose rock any material that for any reason

whatever cannot be ploughed by six horses or that cannot be handled satisfactorily

without occasional blasting. When I say cannot be ploughed or handled without

the necessity of occasional blasting, I mean handled satisfactorily or in a workmanlike
manner, without the necessity of occasional blasting in my judgment or ploughed

satisfactorily and in a workmanlike manner in my judgment.

Clause 34—Solid Rock Excavation:

—

I consider solid rock excavation any material in ledges or masses of more than

one cubic yard which in my judgment may be best removed by continued blasting, no

matter how it is being removed by the contractors.

Clause 36—Common Excavation—is self explanatory.

I base my instructions to those under me and my estimates of these interpretations.

Yours very, truly,

C. L. HERVEY,
Assistant District Engineer.

EXHIBIT No. 38. (14).

October 26, 1907.

Benjamin Bourgeois, division engineer of division No. 7, declares as follows :

My interpretation of section 34 of the specification is :

—

Solid rock includes all rock in ledges, boulders measuring one cubic yard or more

and masses of rock cemented together or any other hard material which must be con-

tinually blasted to be removed, which measure one cubic yard or more in the mass

but need not necessarily measure one cubic yard to each separate piece of rock or

other material composing the mass.

My interpretation of section 35 is :

—

Loose rock includes all material that can be removed by hand, pick, bar or shovel

that cannot be ploughed but may require occasional blasting.

My interpretation of section 36 is :

—

Common excavation includes all material that can be ploughed or in other words

free shovelling material.

Major Hoixuns.
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T}ie way the classification of division No. 7 was arrived at is as follows :

—

The ledges were measured and the exact amount of ledge rock returned, also all

surface boulders measuring one cubic yard or more not included in the cross-sections.

For a few months at the commencement of the work a man was on the line daily

doing nothing but measuring the boulders of one cubic yard or more in the cuts and

the boulders of one cubic yard or more above the surface of the ground and not in-

cluded in the cross-sections.

This gave us data as to the percentage of boulders in each cut such percentage

ranging from 30 per cent, to 90 per cent, of the yardage done in the different cuts.

After that we went over the line and estimated the percentages of the yardage of. y

the different cuts that were taken up by masses of cemented rock or other hard material

that required blasting to be removed ; we had the boulders oi less than one cubic

yarfd ;and not less than one cubic foot measured at the same time as the larger

boulders which gave us data as to the percentage of boulders included in the loose

rock for each cut and we also estimated the percentage of material that could not be

ploughed in each cut but which would not be included in the solid rock.

^ All other material was returned as common excavation.

I have taken communication of the letters written by Mr. H. A. Woods, assistant

chief engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific, on 7th October last, to Mr. Lumsden^
chief engineer of the Transcontinental Kailway, complaining that the specifications

have been entirely ignored and an excessive allowance of solid rock made not oy reason

of an error in judgment but by special instruction from the assistant district engineer

and not on decision of resident or division engineers.

The complaints referred to the cuts from stations 6818 to 5826, 5842 to 5860, 6860

to 5875, 5882 to 5901, 6030 to 6046, 6071 to 6078, 6391 to 6394, 6493 to 6504, 6506 to

6512, 6522 to 6548.

My answer to Mr. Woods' accusations as above is that all the classification in each

and every cut referred to has been made by the resident engineers and myself according

to our best judgment and interpretation of the specifications, and not by special or

arbitrary instructions from the assistant district engineer or any other superior officer.

I may say that M. Armstrong, who is the engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific for

district ' B,' went over the said works and he never objected to me of our classification.

I have 33 years experience as an engineer, and I have followed in this case the same
course that I have done before when I was working with other companies.

I contest the figures given by Mr. Woods in his said letter because they are erron-

eous and not justified by the continual inspections made of the work by the resident

engineers and myself.

I consider that it is not possible for a man like Mr. Woods or any other man to

classify such work after a single inspection of the cuts in question. I consider that

the classification I and my resident engineers have made over the different sections

has been impartial and just and I persist in holding to this opinion notwithstanding

any inspection which has been made by outside engineers after the work has been

completed or partly completed.

I declare that I was never forced to classify any of the work aforesaid tnrough
arbitrary orders of my superior officers including the commissioners, district and
assistant district engineers and the chief engineer.

In the month of June last the chief engineer, Mr. Lumsden, inspected part of

the work with the Grand Trunk Pacific railway engineers, Messrs. Woods and Arm-
strong, the district engineer, Mr. Doucet, and myself. This inspection included some
of the cuts in which the classified material now in question exists to a very large
extent, and he then expressed no dissatisfaction with the classifications and he did not
then make any objections to the classification returned by myself and the resident
engineers, and the estimates were approved accordingly.

We have since followed the same interpretation of the classification.

BENJ. BOUEGEOIS,
Div. Engineer.
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- EXHIBIT No. 38 (15).

A. E. DoucET, Esq. Quebec, October 26, 1907.

District Engineer,

Quebec.

Dear Sir,—My interpretation of section 34 of the specifications is:

Solid rock includes all rock in ledges, boulders measuring one cubic yard or more
and masses of rock cemented together, or any other hard material which must be con-

stantly blasted to be removed, which shall measure one cubic yard or more in the

mass, but shall not necessarily measure one cubic yard to each separate piece of rock

or other material composing the mass.

My interpretation of section 35 is

:

Loose rock includes all material that can be removed by hand, pick, bar or shovel,

that cannot be ploughed, though blasting may be occasionally resorted to.

My interpretation of section 36 is:

Common excavation includes all material that can be ploughed; or in other

words, free shovelling material.

The way the classification of Kesidency No. 26 was arrived at is as follows:

—

The ledges were measured and the exact amount of ledge rock returned, also all

surface boulders measuring one cubic yard or more not included in the cross-sections.

Eor the three months at the commencement of the work a man was on the line

daily doing nothing but measuring the boulders of one cubic yard or more in the

cuts and the boulders of one cubic yard or more above the surface of the ground,

and not included in the cross-sections. «

This gave Mr, Bourgeois and myself data as to the percentage of boulders in

each cut, such percentage ranging from 30 per cent to 90 per cent of the yardage done
in the different cuts. After that we went over the line and estimated the percentages

of the yardages of the different cuts that were taken up by masses of cemented rock

or other hard material that required continuous blasting to be removed. I had the

boulders measuring less than one cubic yard and not less than one cubic foot measured
at the same time as the larger boulders, which gave Mr. Bourgeois and myself data

as to the percentage of boulders included in the loose rock for each cut, and we also

estimated the percentage of material that could not be ploughed in each cut, but

which could not be included in the solid rock.

All other material was returned as common excavation.

Yours very truly,

ALLAN R. MATTHEWS.
Resident Engineer, Besidency 26.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (16).

,
Ottawa, October 30, 1907.

Tlie Commissioners of the Transcontinental Bailwny,

Ottawa, Ont.

Sirs,—In regard to Mr. Woods' letters to me of the Tth and 8th instant, mv
letter to you of the ISth instant and the secretary's letter to me of the latter date.

I may say that in accordance with the last mentioned letter I left Quebec, accom-
panied by yourselves, on the evening of the 24th instant, arriving in the vicinity of

La Tuque on the morning of the 25th, accompanied by Mr, Doucet, District Engineer

;

Mr. Grant, Inspecting Engineer; Messrs. Heustis and Hervey, Assistant District

Engineers; Mr. Bourgeois, Division Engineer; Mr. ^^ratthews. Resident Engineer;
Messrs. Woods and Armstrong, engineers for the Grand Trunk Pacific; and ^lessrs.

O'Brien and Davis, contractors.

6—26
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On arrival near the crossing of the Quebec and Lake St. John Eailway I, accom-

panied by the engineers and contractors, walked over a portion of the heaviest work
on the line from about mile 117 to 122|. Prom the division or resident engineer I

learned the classification allowed by them in the cuts as we passed through them,

and it appeared to me, according to my interpretation of our specifications, that a

larger amount of solid rock was returned in them than appearances indicated, and
the engineers, in my opinion, returned loose rock or cemented material, where a con-

siderable amount of explosives were used, as solid rock.

An interview was held on the car after our return at which ourselves, engineers

and contractors were present, and from the conversation which took place, and the.

statements of Mr. Doucet, Messrs. Grant, Heustis and Hervey, confirmed by letters

from Messrs. Bourgeois, Matthews and Girdwood, it appears Mr. Woods must have

been in error when he stated that ' the specifications had been entirely ignored and
an excessive allowance made, not by reason of an error in the judgment, but, as I

understand, by special instructions from the assistant district engineer,' or, as stated

by him in the latter part of his letter, by arbitrary orders from their superior.

I. After this interview I requested Mr. Doucet to make a statement, and get state-

ments from the assistant district engineers, and division and resident engineers on
this portion of the work of how they interpreted the specifications. This has been

done, and herewith I beg to hand you a letter from Mr. Doucet dated the 26th instant,

together with letters to him from Assistant District Engineers Heustis and Hervey,

statement from Davision Engineer Bourgeois, and letters from Resident Engineers

Matthews and Girdwood. I also attach copy of Mr. Doucet's letter of the 21st in

reply to Mr. Woods' letter of the 7th instant.

I can only say that I do not concur with the interpretation placed on clauses 34,

35 and 36 of the general specifications by Mr. Doucet or the engineers under him.

In my opinion solid rock excavation, clause 34, covers all material that should be

classified as solid rock, viz., all rock found in ledges or masses of more than one

cubic yard, which, in the judgment of the engineer, may be best removed by blasting.

Loose rock, clause 35 : In my opinion this clause covers all large stones and

boulders measuring more than one cubic foot and less than one cubic yard, and all

loose rock, whether in situ or otherwise, that may be removed by hand, pick, or bar;

all cemented gravel, indurated clay and other materials that cannot, in the judgment

of the engineer, by being ploughed with a ten inch grading plough behind a team of

six good horses properly handled, and without the necessity of blasting, although

blasting may be ocasionally resorted to. The fact that contractors may rasort to

blasting to a greater extent than the word ' occasionally ' may infer, in order to

facilitate the removal of such material, would not, in my opinion, convert it into

solid rock.

Such being my views, and as stated to you in my letter of the 18th instant, I

must decline to certify to any future estimates, except upon classification in accor-

dance with my interpretation of the specifications above mentioned, unless both par-

ties to the contract agree to amend the contract formally, with due concurrence of the

government, or until the estimates are corrected to conform with my interpretation. In

any event, I ask that this correspondence be at once submitted to the government.

Your obedient servant,

HUGH D. LUMSDEN,
Chief Engineer.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (17.)

Ottawa, Nov. 4, 1907.

H. Atkinson, Esq.,
^

Law Clerk.

Dear Sir,—I beg to hand you herewith a copy of a letter from Messrs. Macdonell
& O'Brien, dated Oct. 31st, questioning the right of the G. T. R. Company to interfere
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with regard to the matter of classification under the contract between the commission-
ers and Messrs. Macdonnell & O'Brien.

The commissioners desire that you will report in regard to the representations

made by Messrs. Macdonell & O'Brien.

Yours truly,

P. E. EYAN,
Secretary,

EXHIBIT No. 38 (18).

Montreal, Oct. 31, 1907.
P. E. Eyan, Esq.,

Secretary -of the Commissioners of the Transcontinental Ey.,

Ottawa, Ont.

Dear Sir,—We have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the
18th inst., with which was enclosed a letter of the same date from your chief engineer
reporting in regard to a complaint received from the assistant chief engineer of the
Grand Trunk Pacific Eailway Company. The complaint referred to has since under-
gone consideration on the spot.

,
While we at all times wish to meet any representation coming to us with the

deference and consideration to which it is entitled and especially when communicated
to us through the board of commissioners, we must at the same time protest
against any right claimed by the Grand Trunk Pacific Eailway to interfere in

the matter of classification under the contract existing between your board and
ourselves. Our contract is for a section of the work comprised within the

•eastern division, and the contract between His Majesty the King and the Grand Trunk
Pacific Eailway expressly provides in section 5 that ^ The said Eastern Division

shall be constructed by, and at the expense of, the government, upon such location

and according to such plans and specifications as it shall determine, having due regard

to directness, easy gradients and favourable curves.'

By the 6th section of the contract * The company agrees to take lease of, maintain
and operate the said Eastern Division.

'

By he Yth section it is provided that * In order to insure, for the protection of the

company as lessees of the Eastern Division of the said railway, the economical con-

struction thereof in such a manner that it can be operated to the best advantage, it

is hereby agreed that the specifications for the construction of the Eastern Division

shall be submitted to, and approved of, by the company before the commencement
of the work, and that the said work shall be done according to the said specifications,

and shall be subject to ' joint supervision, inspection and acceptance of the chief

engineer appointed by the government and the chief engineer of the company, and. in

the event of differences as to the specifications, or in case the said engineers shall differ

as to the work the questions in dispute shall be determined by the said engineers and

a third arbitrator, to be chosen in the manner provided in paragraph four of this

agreement.'

as to the said engineers and a third arbitrator, to be chosen in the manner provided in

paragraph four of this agreement.

'

These three sections clearly show that the work of construction is to bo carried

on by the government of Canada upon such locatioi^ and according to such plans and

specifications as it shall determine, 'having due regard to directness, easy gradients,

and favourable curves. ' But in order to insure for the protection of the company
the economical construction 'in such a manner that it (tho Eapt<^rn Division) can

be operated to the best advantage, ' it was agreed that these specifications should be

submitted to, and approved of by tho coinpany ' before the comnioncoment of the

work, ' and that the work should be done according to the specifications and subject

to the joint supervision and inspection and acceptance of tho chief engineer appointed

6—26i
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by the government and the chief engineer appointed by the company. And for what
purpose ? Obviously, in the first instance, that the company should have an opportun-
ity ' before the commencement of the work to consider whether the plans and speci-
fications referred to in Section 5 quoted above ' have due regard to directness, easy
gradients and favourable curves. '

And again, it is stipulated that in the event of difference between the respective'

engineers in regard to the specifications, that the question in dispute should be deter-

mined by the engineers and a third arbitrator to be chosen by them, or in the event
of inability to agree, on a third arbitrator to be named by the Chief Justice of the
Supreme Court of Canada as provided in Section 4 of the contract.

When the plans and specifications have been agreed upon the sole right of th®
Grand Trunk Pacific Eailway is jointly with the government to supervise and inspect
the work which is to be subject as between the government and the company to the

acceptance of the chief engineer of the government and the chief engineer of the

company. And here again, in the event of difference between the two engineers as to

"whether the ' work " is carried out in accordance with the plans and specifications,

Inhere is provision for arbitration, but that arbitration could only take place on the

completion of either the whole or at least a section of the work, and that would be a

matter entirely between the government and the Grand Trunk Pacific Eailway Com-
pany.

There is no provision whatever for the engineers of the Grand Trunk Pacific

Eailway Company interfering between the commissioners and the contractors in

regard to the matter of classification. That is a matter entirely between the contrac-

tors and the government engineers. The pretension of the assistant chief engineer

of the Grand Trunk Pacific Eailway Company to supervise classification under the

contract between the undersigned and the government would involve an intolerable

system of dual control that is not recognized either by the statutes or the contract,

and that would be absolutely unworkable in practice.

We insist, and on this point we are strengthened by the opinion of competent and
experienced counsel, that the Grand Trunk Pacific Eailway Company have no right

whatever in the prosecution of our contract to interfere in the matter of classifica-

tion; that the right remains entirely with the engineers under the contract existing

between us and the government, and this positioiT we intend to adhere to, and ^'f

necessary we will test the matter in the courts.

In making this statement it must be perfectly understood that we are not court-

ing any difiiculty with the Grand Trunk Pacific Eailway Company or with any one
else, and that our representations are made with respectful regard for the authority

of the commissioners and their rights under the statutes providing for their adminis-

tration.

Most respectfully yours,

MAODONELL & O'BEIEK

EXHIBIT No. 38 (19).

Ottawa^ November 7, 1907.

P. E. Eyan, Esq.,

Secretary.

Dear Sir,—^Yours of the 4th instant with copy of letter from contractors Mac-
donell & O'Brien dated October 31st ult., has been considered, and in reply beg to
report that I concur with the view taken by the contractors so far as it concerns the
rights and powers of the engineer of the G.T.P. Eailway Co., in relation to the ques-
tion of classification under the contract and specifications as between the contrac-
tor and the commissioners. The letter is evidently the production of a lawyer who
has carefully analysed the Act.
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I might say, however, that after the specifications have been agreed on and the

contract for the work entered into they are annexed to and form a part of the con-

tract. Section 7 of the Act provides that ' the said work shall be done according to

the said specifications. Paragraphs 33 and 35 of the specifications provide that classi-

fication shall be under the control of the engineer, that is, the engineer as defined in

clause 2 of the contract, namely, the chief engineer of the commissioners. He and his

assistant engineers are invested with full powers in regard to classification, as between

the contractor and the commissioners.

The Grand Trunk Pacific Company approved of the specifications before the

work began, and then so far as the work is concerned its right is limited by the Act
to supervision, inspection and acceptance through their chief engineer acting jointly

with the chief engineer of the government, and which is a matter between the govern-

ment and the company.

I can find nothing in the statutes or the contract whereby the company has a

right to interfere in the matter of classification as between the contractor and the

commissioners.

I do not agree with the opinion of the contractors that in the event of difference

between the two engineers as to whether the work is carried out in accordance with

the plans and specifications, that arbitration only could take place on the completion

of the whole, or at least a section of the work. It might well happen that during the

progress of the work differences would arise between the two engineers that would
have to be settled by arbitration, otherwise the joint supervision and inspection would
be comparatively futile.

I am, yours very truly,

H. ATKINSON,
Law Clerh.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (20).

Ottawa^ Nov. 11th, 1907.

The Commissioners of the Transcontinental Railway,

Ottawa, Ont.

Sirs,—In regard to the contractors' estimates for October and your request that

I will approve of same, as owing to the absence of the Minister of Railways and his

deputy from Ottawa, it may be impossible to have my letters of the ISth and 20th of

October and correspondence atttvched submitted to the government and action taken

thereon before the middle of this* month, when such estimates should be paid tjo the

contractors, and, as stated in mine of the 18th of October, the holding back of th^

estimates at this date withou;t notice to the contractors might be a serious matter, I

would be prepared to approve of the October estimates, provided it is distinctl.v under-

stood, as already requested in mine of the 30th October, that no further delay takes

place in submitting my letters of the 18th and 30th of October and attached corre-

spondence for consideration of the government, so that this whole matter may Ik>

definitely dealt with before the estimates for November come in.

Your obedient servant,

HUGH D. LU^ISDEN,
Chief Engineer.

y>r EXHIBIT No. 38 (21).

Winnipeg, November 12th. 1007.

Dear Mr. Parent,—Letter from secretary, Mr, P. E. Ryan, under date of October

18th noted, and during my absence Mr. Woods was requested to meet Mr. Lumsden
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IB Quebec, for the purpose of reviewing the work. I understand that this has been

done.

The object of this letter is to answer the second paragraph, page 2, in which the

secretary states ' In this connection I am |to point out that your district engineer, Mr.
Armstrong, failed to notify District Engineer Doucet of any disagreement with re-

spect to classiiication of material in District ' B,' &c., and again, ' Although this pro-

cedure was distinctly irregular, the commisisoners have taken full cognizance of Mr.
Woods^ complaint,- &c.

The understanding when I had the pleasure of meeting you and the commission,

was that departmental matters would be worked out by the heads of departments, and
failing to agree, same would come before your colleagues, Mr. Woods and myself, and
I consider, up to the present time, that there has been no violation of this. The fact

of the matter is it is more difficult for Mr. Armstrong and Mr. Doucet to have meet-

ings at times when such meetings are most urgent, and I think one of the best demon-
strations of this is that, upon the arrival of the chief engineer, Mr. Lumsden, and
assistant chief engineer, Mr. Woods, at Quebec, for the purpose of going over this work,

Mr. Doucet could not then devote the time to take the trip. I consider it was perfectly

proper on Mr. Woods' part to take this subject up, as he did with Mr. Lumsden. It

was then optional whether Mr. Lumsden, on his own accord, met Mr. Woods and tried

to agree on these points, and failing, referred the subject to the commisison, Mr.

Woods and mysielf, or whether the entire commission took it up with Mr. Woods alone

at that time, which I understand they did.

We desire and intend to co-operate in these matters as far as possible, and expect

to be met in the same way.

Yours very truly,

FEANK W. MOKSE.

Hon. S. N. Parent,

.Chairman, Transcontinental Kailway Commission,

Ottawa, Ont.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (22).

Ottawa, Nov. 13th, 1907.

The Commissioners of the Transcontinental Bailway,

Ol^tawa, Ont.

Sirs,—Herewith please find replies received by me from District Engineers Dunn.,

Molesworth and Poulin, now in charge of the construction, to my letter dated the 29th

ulto., as follows:

—

^Will you please at once send me your interpretation of clauses 34, 35 and 36
of our general specifications especially as to clause 34.'

Your obedient servant,

HUGH D. LUMSDEN,
Chief Engineer.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (23).

St. John, N.B., November 2, 1907.
Hugh D. Lumsden, Esq.,

Chief Engineer, T. C. Ey.,

Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—In reply to your letter of the 28th ult., file 7787, in regard to solid
rock excavation, clause 34 of the general specifications, I would say that I interpret
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same to mean all rock in bulk over and above one cubic yard in measurement, no
matter if seamed and no matter what degree of hardness from granite to slate, if suffi-

ciently compact to necessitate blasting. But I would not classify as solid rock a num-
ber of pieces of rock, each measuring somewhat less than a yard, no matter how many
there might be of them, if they were separated by gravel, clay or other material.

In regard to loose rock, clause 35. This I consider' a more difficult clause to

interpret, as it does not deal alone with loose rock proper, but with other material

harder than ordinary clay or gravel, as well as with stones, boulders or rock measure-

ing more than one cubic foot. The essence of this clause appears to be to allow the

contractor a reasonable price for material that will cost more to move by ordinary

means and proper management than ordinary clay, gravel, loam, etc.

The test, that material cannot, in the judgment of the engineer, be ploughed

with a ten-inch grading plough behind a team of six good horses properly handled,

without the necessity of blasting, although blasting may be occasionally resorted to,

can be classified as loose rock, I do not consider very definite, as I have seen shale

rock that could not under any ordinary specification be classified in any other way
than solid rock, ploughed fairly well with six horses. I have also seen clay that,

under certain conditions, undoubtedly could be ploughed to a certain extent, but

even after same had been done would require to be picked, and would necessitate so

much handling that it would cost at least half as much again as material classified

under common excavation. And again,' an experienced teamster could smash his

harness or plough if he wished to do so in making a test of material any harder than

sand, or probably even in sand itself. Then I do not think it would be fair and just, or

under the spirit of the specification and general usage and procedure on railway works,

as understood by the contractor when making tenders, that such material should be

returned entirely as common excavation. Very many companies in drawing up their

specifications for loose rock make it for rock, only giving the number of feet measure-

ment to qualify, and under which conditions there can be no difficulty in determining

exactly what is meant, but under clause 35 of our specification I do not feel that there

is any very definite point at which a line can be drawn. The engineer has got to use

good judgment and common sense, or otherwise there is a possihility of making a

return to the contractor in excess of what he is entitled to; or, on the other hand,

practically putting him out of business.

Common excavation, clause 36, I would interpret to mean all material which
would not come under the heading of solid rock, loose rock, excavation foundations

or removal of moss, and I would also interpret that the above classification in all

cases, clauses 34, 35 and 36, under our specifications should be allowed the contractor

whether the work is done by hand or steam shovel, except under clause 224.

In reference to clause 36A, I consider that if we are not in a position to give

a contractor borrow, that would come under clause 36. We would be obliged to allow

him classification similar to what he receives for grading on the centre line. This

would apply to all borrow pits, including borrow from side ditches.

I may say that I wrote Commissioner Mclsanc in October, 1906, suggesting that

the district engineers should meet sfiy once a year in Ottawa for a few days, have an
informal meeting amongst themselves in the morning to discuss general matters of

work, and have a session in the afternoon or evening, with either yourself or the

assistant chief in the chair, when all questions such as, more particularly, classification

anight be discussed from various points, and a certain standard arrived at to enable

the direction of the work in the various districts between ^loncton and Winnipeg
to be as uniform as local conditions will allow. I still believe that if tliis idea could

be carried through, it would be a great benefit to our work as a whole.

Yours very truly,

GUY C. DUNN.
Distnct Engineer. .
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EXHIBIT No. 38 (24).

Hugh D. Lumsden^ Esq.,

Chief Engineer,

Ottawa.

Dear Sir^—In ansv^^er to your letter of October 29, file 7787, re classification,

would say that I would interpret clause 34 of our general specifications to mean that all

rock in ledges or masses of more than one cubic yard should be classified as ' solid

reck.' Would also interpret the last portion of clause 34, viz. :•

.

' Which, in the judg-

ment of the engineer, may be best removed by blasting,' to mean that conglomerate

rock, composed of small boulders cemented together in such a manner that they'

could not be removed without blasting, would also be classified as solid rock.

Clause 35 I interpret to mean just what it says. Do not see that there can be
any misunderstanding regarding this clause.

Clause 36 is also perfectly clear.

Yours truly,

A A. N. MOLESWOETH,
District Engineer ' Q'

EXHIBIT No. 38 (25.) ,

Kenora, Ontario, November 8, 1907.

H. D. LuMSDEN, Esq./

Chief Engineer, Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—In answer to your request, your file 7787.

I have not yet had time to go over the estimates in detail. I returned he-^e from

my trip over the line on October 30, and it takes almost all my time to catch up to

the correspondence, because. I have to go through files of from 20 to 30 letters before

I can grasp the subject in order t^ answer it.

I may say that in going over the line I took notes at every one of the cuts with-

out passing many comments. I had detail sheet estimates with me, and in some cases

I told the division engineers they had been rather liberal ; in other cases I thought

they ha(J used a broom over the cuts to gather the earth. I was then using my
judgment as I have been in the habit of doing on similar work during the last thirty

years, without paying any special attention to the wording of the clauses referred to

in your two letters, viz. : 34, 35 and 36.

I must say my eyes opened out when I read them carefully, and I am surprised

at the different ways in which they can be interpreted ; so much so that I think it

will require a well worded definition in order to enable us to understand plainly what
is meant.

Take clause 34. Why has the word ' masses ' been used, instead of the usual
boulders or loose rock measuring more than one cubic yard ? I maintain it can rightly

mean ' masses of rocks cemented together,' which, in the judgment of the engineer
may be best removed by blasting. Otherwise, loose rocks, measuring more than one
cubic yard and up to two yards, moved by derrick without having been first blasted,

would have to and must be returned as loose rock and not solid rock.

Please bear in mind I am not saying I have acted, or intend to act, according
to that interpretation, which I fairly believe is the only possible one to any one who
has not been conversant with specification and practice under the same clause differ-

ently worded.

This is then supposed to be left to the judgment of the engineer, and it is borne
cut by the last two lines of clause 35, which say that although blasting may be oc-
casionally resorted to, it shall still be classified as ' loose rock.' This I claim was

Ottawa, November 4, 1907.
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put in to give the engineer a check over the contractors, so that they cannot claim

solid rock every time they put in a blast.

The same clause 35 defines that loose rock may be removed by hand pick or bar,

although the contractor may resort to occasional blasting. Still, the engineer in his

discretion may return it as loose rock, but not so when blasting is absolutely necessary.

According to this clause, which gives power to an engineer to call cemented

gravel (marked well, not cemented boulders) indurated clay and other material that

cannot be ploughed, &c., loose rock. It is not on account of the geological formation of

a boulder, or of the different constituent ingredients which form the composition of

these different materials which classifies them as loose rock ; but it is due to the fact

that their removal costs as much as that which has hitherto been classified as loose

rock, when loose rock alone in the form of a boulder, one cubic foot upwards to

{^9-100 of a cubic yard was to be returned as loose rock.

If such is the case, then an engineer who is the Judge upon the work, and has

to use his judgment, cannot, if he wants to be logical and consistent, do otherwise

then return as solid rock masses of cemented boulders which cannot be removed with-

out blasting, and which are not covered by any other clause in the specifications than

U.
' Time is the essence of the contract.' You order a contractor to open a rock cut,

which has two or three feet of earth and boulders stripping frozen solid to the ledge.

How is an engineer to return that ?

' We have a wet clay cut where teams after an hour's work will get mired, and
five to ten horses could not stand to plough. How are we to return this ?

There is nothing to cover these cases and I could cite a great number of others.

The only thing, if I remember well, is that, at a convention of American en-

gineers, gathered to discuss classification a few years ago, it was resolved that only

three items, rock, loose rock, and earth, should be used; but it was also put forward

by a majority present that when any material would arise on which the classification

was not explicit, or which was not fully covered by the specifications, the engineer

should classify it under the heading to which it belonged, from a computation of the

cost of its removal.

As I said before, I did not act according to those views, but simply as I have

been in the habit of doing in every case, and my notes on every cut were more to

guide me when I looked into the details.

But from what has taken place I will now ask you, before I do anything or sug-

gest any change in the classification to my division engineers, to send me in writing,

in black and white, what interpretation you yourself put on these clauses; or else

come up with Mr. Woods and we will thresh the thing out to a fine point at which we
can all understand where we are at and when I will know what is required of a dis-

trict engineer.

Yours truly,

S. K. POULIN,
District Engineer.

EXHIBIT No. 3S (20).

Ottawa, November 14, 1907.

Messrs. Macdonell & O'Brien,

Contractors,

Montreal, Que.

Gentlemen,—In accordance with instructions received from the board, I beg to

hand you herewith a copy of a letter from our chief engineer, dated 30th October ulto..
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relating to the matter of the interpretation of clauses 34, 35 and 36 of the General
Specifications for Construction.

Mr. Lumsden's letter speaks for itself.
'

Yours truly,

P. E. EYAN,
Secretary.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (27).

Ottawa^ "November 14, 1907.

Messrs. M. P. & J. T. Davis,

Contractors,

Quebec, P.Q.

Dear Sirs,—In accordance with instructions received from the Board I beg to

hand you herewith a copy of a letter from our chief engineer, dated 30th October
ultimo., relating to the matter of the interpretation of clauses 34, 35 and 36 of the

General Specifications for Construction.

Mr. Lumsden's letter speaks for itself.

Yours very truly,

P. E. EYAN,
Secretary.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (28).

Quebec, P.Q., November 15, 1907.

The Commissioners of the

Transcontinental Eailway,

Ottawa, Ont.

Gentlemen,—We beg to acknowledge receipt of Mr. Eyan's letter of the 14th

instant, enclosing copy of a letter from the chief engineer, dated 30th ultimo, relat-

ing to the interpretation of clauses 34, 35 and 36 of the General Specifications for

Construction.

Looking at the matter from the practical standpoint of contractors who have to

carry on their work under the terms of the specifications, it appears to us that the

contentions of the chief engineer are in conflict with the meaning and interpretation

of those specifications. Moreover it is contrary to the practice which has prevailed

during the last eighteen months in the work done under these very specifications, and
the classification which has hitherto been allowed by all the district engineers in

charge of the work, is, in our opinion, the only classification which could have been

given under the circumstances, and the only classification we could have accepted.

As regards the classification of solid rock in clause 34, it seems clear that the

use of the word ' masses ' in contradistinction to ' ledges ' of solid rock can only refer

to a case where the rock, instead of being continuous is found in quantities so welded

or cemented together by indurated clay or other material, as to be removed practi-

cally and economically only by continuous blasting.

The classification in clause 35 of ' loose rock ' excludes by its very terms the pro-

cess of continuous blasting, but applies to cases where the material can be practically

removed by pick, bar and shovel, although occasional blasting may be resorted to.

We further submit with confidence that when any section of cut contains such
a quantity of rocks and boulders, even in soft earth, as to make ploughing imprac-

ticable, all of the material in such cut can only be classified as loose or solid rock. It

surely cannot be reasonably urged that because a prior removal of the boulders would
make the area in question fit for ploughing, the material should be treated as ^Com-
mon Excavation. ' Upon such a theory any material might be reduced to blasting, or

otherwise, to dust, and be claimed as ' Common Excavation. '
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Now as regards the claim of the chief engineer that a re-classification should be
made, because, as he contends, there has been an error in the classification made by
his subordinates, we do not wish to be understood as contending that where errors

can be rectified, the contractors are to get the benefit of the errors. But we contend
that from the very nature of the thing it is physically impossible to classify except

when the work is actually going on.

No adequate, or even approximate, idea can be formed of the nature of the mater-

ial when the cut is completed and the sides trimmed down.

From a passage in the chief engineer's letter it seems clear that he formed his

personal opinion from the appearance of the work after it was finished, and not from
observations made during the progress of the work.

But, whatever view may be taken as to the practical possibility of a subsequent

re-classification we submit that there has been no error, and in support of our view

we beg to inclose the opinions of Messrs. Shepley, Lafleur and Eitchie, who all con-

cur in our interpretation of the clauses in question.

We are, sirs.

Yours truly,

M. P. & J. D. DAVIS.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (29).

Under the head ' Classification ' the specifications annexed to the contract between
Mr. M. P. Davis and the qonmaissioners of the Transcontinental Kailway purports in

four clauses, 33, 34, 35 and 36, to make certain classification of excavation under the

three heads, ' Solid Rock Excavation ;
'

' Loose Rock,' and ' Common Excavation.

'

The four clauses are here set out:

^ 33. Grading will be commonly classified under the following heads :
' Solid Rock

Excavation,' 'Loose Rock;' and 'Common Excavation.'

' Solid Rock Excavation.
' 34. Solid Rock Excavation will ' include all rock found in ledges or masses of

*more than one cubic yard, which, in the judgment of the engineer, may be best
* removed by blasting.

'

' Loose Rock.
' 35. All large stones and boulders measuring more than one cubic foot and less

* than one cubic yard, and all loose rock whether in situ or otherwise, that may be
* removed by hand, pick or bar, all cemented gravel, indurated clay and other materials

'that cannot, in the judgment of the engineer, be ploughed with a 10-inch grading
' plough, behind a team of six good horses, properly handled; and without the necessity
' of blasting, although blasting may be occasionally resorted to, shall be classified as

' Loose Rock.'

* Common Excavation.

'36. Common excavation will include all earth, free gravel or other material of
* any character whatever not classified as solid or loose rock.'

Our instructions are that stones or boulders in sizes varying from a few cubic

inches to many cubic yards have been found in masses cemented together by inter-

posed gravel or other material, and that these masses can only be expeditiously and
economically removed by blasting.

The subordinate engineers in superintendence of the progress of the work have
treated the excavation of such masses as falling within the specification ' Solid Rock
Excavation,' and progress estimates have been based upon that construction of the

specification and paid from time to time.

The question is now raised whether this cla^sitication is oorroot and whether the

progress estimates can, in case of its being incorrect, be now revised by the chief eugi-
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neer so as to involve a refund by the contractor of any excess of price paid him upon
that basis.

We are of opinion, in the first place, that the specifications for excavation were
intended to exhaust all description of excavation, and, therefore, that the excavation

of material of the kind mentioned must be classified under one of the three heads

named in the specifications.

We are also of opinion that the words ' will include ' in specification 34 are

intended to be equivalent to ^ shall mean.' We think that all rock, whether contin-

uous or cemented together in masses by intervening material, such as gravel or clay,

if its removal is best effected by blasting, must fall within specification 34. The word
' blasting,' we think, in this specification means continuous blasting, or blasting as the-

main and fundamental method of removal, as contrasted with the occasional blasting

spoken of in specification 35.

In our opinion, therefore, the classification made by the subordinate engineers

was correct, and the progress estimates in this regard need no revision.

A more difficult question is the question whether, if this opinion be not correct,

there is now the power in the chief engineer to revise the past? certificates or estimates.

Our instructions are that it is not possible at any time after the completion of the

work of excavation to deal with its classification; that such a classification must, to

be in any degree accurate, be made as the contractor is doing the work.

The language of clauses 34 and 39 of the contract give much support to the view

that classification, under these circumstances, ought to be determined finally before

the progress measurements are made. The work is to be measured and computed at

the agreed prices and the agreed prices cannot, in the nature of things, be determined

without the classification being made. It will not be necessary to deal with this ques-

tion at all should our opinion on the main question be correct, but we are inclined to

the view that under the circumstances which are stated above, the classification ought

not to be subject to revision.

GEO. F. SHEPLEY.
E. LAFLEUR.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (30).

Montreal^ 13th November, 1907.

M. P. Davis, Esq.,

Central Chambers,

Ottawa, Ont.

Dear Sir,—In our opinion dated 9th instant we did not express, our views as to

the classification of loose rock made by the local engineers in District B.

We are clearly of opinion that there is no error in their interpretation of section

35 of the general specifications for the construction of the National Transcontinental

Railway, Eastern Division, and that they are right in regarding as loose rock all

material which in their judgment cannot be ploughed in the practical sense of the

term. If for example a given area is so thickly covered with stones and boulders

measuring less than one cubic yard that this area cannot ' be ploughed with a 10-inch

grading plough behind a team of six good horses properly nandled ' then the area

in question should undoubtedly come within the classification of loose rock, although

the intervening material between the rocks and boulders might not be cemented
gravel or indurated clay.

It appears to us to be impossable to contend that because by first removing such
stones and boulders the soil might subsequently be fit for ploughing the work must ,be

regarded as falling within section 36 dealing with common excavation. We are of

opinion that a given area must be taken as it exists in order to determine the classi-

fication and not after it has been artificially treated, otherwise it might be possible to
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contend that any kind of material could by artificial means be reduced to such a con-
dition as to permit of its being ploughed.

Yours very truly,

GEO F. SHEPLEY.
E. LAFLETJK.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (31).

Toronto, November 12, 1907.

M. P. Davis, Esq.,

Ottawa, Ont.

Dear Sir,—I have carefully perused the general specifications annexed to and
forming part of the contract between you and the Commissioners of the Transconti-

nental Kailway, and in reply to the question submitted for my consideration, beg to

say I am of opinion that under clause 34 of the specifications, rock found in ' masses

'

of more than one cubic yard, even though the individual rocks contained in the
^ mass ' might each measure less than one cubic yard, should be classified as ' solid

rock excavation,' provided the rocks forming the constituent parts of the ' mass ' are

so concreted, welded or assembled together as to form a solid mass, and that such
' mass ' in the judgTuent of the engineer could be be^t removed by blasting.

I thinl?: the words ' one cubic yard ' in clause 34 should be construed as applying

to the ' mass ' and not necesarily to rocks found in and substantially forming that
* mass.'

If this clausie 34 headed ' Solid Eock Excavation,' had been intended to cover

only rock in ledges and rock or boulders measuring more than one cubic yard, then

it would have been wholly unnecessary to insert the provisions as to ' masses.'

In my opinion the word ' masses ' was inserted s-o as to extend to and cover cases

where rock, though not solid in the. strict acceptation of that term, was found in such

large quantities in ' masses ' over one cubic yard, as could only in the judgment of

the engineer be best removed by blasting.

The view I take is, I think, strengthened by the fact that clause 35, headed ^ Loose

Eock,' does not extend to or cover large stones and boulders measuring one cubic yard

or over, and presumably these were intended to be covered by section 34, which applies

to ' solid rock excavation.'

Having regard to paragraph 39 and other paragraphs of the contract, I am in-

clined to think it would not be successfully contended that the engineer in case of a

mistake in measurement or classification could not rectify the error wnen making up

his final certificate, and that he would not be precluded by progress measurements and

certificates from so doing unless indeed it should turn out to be practically impossible

after the work had been completed to determine the kind and characteristics of the

material in the cut, so as to be in a position to make a proper classification.

Yours truly,

G. H. EITCHIE.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (3i>).

Quebec, 16th Novombor. 1907.

Hon. S. N. Parent,

Chairman, Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—I wrote you on the 28th October that Mr. Armstrong, the district

engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific Eailway in District ' B,' had assured me that

the difference in their classification with ours for the three estimates of July. August
and September on O'Brien & ^lartin's work at La Tuque only amounted" to 14 per cent.
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Yesterday, the 15th, I had a long conversation with Mr. Armstrong on the same sub-

ject which alters the above statement. This conversation took place in the presence

of my assistant, Mr. Hervey, so that there can be no misunderstanding.

In the first place, it turns out that Mr. Woods was requested by letter from Mr.
Armstrong to visit the work in question last June for the purpose of inquiring into

the classification which we were giving. After the work had been visited, and on our

return to Quebec, Mr. Woods stated to me in the presence of Mr. Armstrong that he

was not prepared to find fault with the classification though in places it seemed some-

what high. I then went over the classification of certain cuts which Mr. Woods ob-

jected to with Mr. Armstrong, and we made certain changes to meet his views. These
changes, I may say, amounted to but a few hundred dollers. With these changes put

into effect, Mr. Armstrong expressed himself as entirely satisfied with the classifica-

tion, and on his asking Mr. Woods if he could give me a letter to this effect, the lat-

ter said he saw no reason why this should not be done. This proves that up to the

end of June both of these gentlemen were entirely satisfied that the classification

given was right, and that both knew or must have known that our interpretation of

clause 34 of the specifications was that there should be solid rock allowed of rock in

ledges and boulders measuring more than one cubic yard.

In September Mr. Armstrong again requested Mr. Woods by letter to visit the

work at LaTuque, and the outcome of this visit was a letter written by Mr. Woods
to our chief engineer on October 7 in which he stated that the specifications had been

entirely ignored and an excessive allowance made, not by reason of error in judgment,
but, as he understood, by special instructions from the assistant district engineer.

As mentioned above, both Mr. Armstrong and Mr. Woods had in my presence

accepted the classification up to the end of June so that the charges made in the

letter of the 7th October to our chief engineer can only apply to those estimates

returned for the months of July and August, since the September estimate was not

returned till after the 7th October. The charges made that the supposed over-classi-

fications were not made ^through error in judgment nor upon decisions of the resi-

dent and division engineers, who were fully acquainted with the character of the

work, but by arbitrary orders from their superior,' have been, as you know, contra-

dicted in no uncertain measure by the division and resident engineers in question

themselves.

Mr. Armstrong then made up an estimate of the difference in the percentage of

solid rock returned up to the end of June and also up to the end of August, when
he found, according to his calculations, that up to the end of August there was 14
per cent more rock returned than allowed up to the end of June, that is to say, taking
it for granted, as Mr. Armstrong is willing to allow that our classification up to the

end of June was correct, between the end of June and the end of August we would
have returned. 14 per cent too much solid rock, which would represent a sum arrived

at as follows :

—

end of June and the end of August we would have returned 14 per cent too much
solid rock, which would represent a sum arrived at as follows :

—

iSolid rock. Jboose rock.

July, 1907 59,633 9,968

August 55,600 4,234

Totals 115,233 14,202

$ 1 50 $ 0 50'

$172,849 50 $7,101 00

$179,950 00
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14 per cent of the 115,233 cubic yards allowed in July and August would be 16,132
cubic yards. Deducting this 14 per cent from the solid rock and adding it to the
loose rock we have the following result :

—

Monjth. iSolid rock. Loose rock.

115,233 14,202

Less 14 per cent 16,132 16,132

Total 99,201 30,334

$ 1 50 $ 0 50

$138,801 50 $15,167 00

or a difference of $25,982 too much. $153,968 50

But on going over Mr. Armstrong's figures with him yesterday we found that

several errors had crept into his calculations, so that the difference in the percentage

is not 14 per cent but only 3 per cent.

This would give the following :

—

Cubic yards

Less 3 per cent (cubic yards)

Totals

Solid rock. Loose rook.

115,233 14,202

3,457 3,457

111,776 17,659

$ 1 50 $ 0 50

$167,664 00 $8,829 50

$176,493 50

or an overplus of $3,457 only.

Now, Mr. Armstrong admits that the farther down you go into the cuts the

harder becomes the material, so that there would be nothing astonishing even if the

percentage of solid rock returned in July and August exceeded, the percentage

returned up 16 the end of June by $25,982, but in reality it is but $3,457.

Mr. Woods has requested Mr. Armstrong to reclassify the work according to his

interpretation of the specifications, but Mr. Armstrong has -refused to do so on the

ground that^the only persons capable of reclassifying were the division and resident

engineers, who have all the notes in hand. I still maintain that our classification was
approved by both Mr. Woods and Mr. Armstrong up to the end of June ; that we have
consistently followed our interpretation throughout; and that the Grand Trunk
Pacific Eailway are not only incapable of reclassifying the work, but that their dis-

trict engineer has positively refused to even attempt to do so.

Yours very truly,

A. E. DOUCET,
District Engineer.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (33).

Taking O'Brien & Martin's entire original contract wc have, whicli is up to 6270,
up to the end of June, 1907 :

Solid rock. Loose rock. Commou excav.

304,047 c. yds. 88,104 c. yds. 119,164 -7 c. yds. Total, 511.;U9-7 c. yds.

59-4/10% 17-2/10% 23-4/1(0%, Money tot.. $525,149.15

or $1.02—7/10
Up to end of August, 1907.

Solid rock Loose rock. Commou excav.

419,280 c. yds. 97,310 c. yds. 180,841-7 c. yds. Total, 097,432-7 c. vds.

60-1/10% 13-9/10% 26% Money.. ..$715,551.82

or $1.02-6-10
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Up to end of October, 1907.

Solid rock. Loose rock. Common exoar.

512,988 c. yds. 98,950 c. yds. 217,934-7 c. yds. Total, 829,872:7 c.yds.

61-8/10% 11-9/10% 26-3/10% Money tot., $864,723.35

or $1.0'4r-2/10

C. L. HEEYEY.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (34).

Quebec, P.Q., November 21, 1907.

The Commissioners of the Transcontinental Railway,

Ottawa^ Ont.

.Gentlemen,—Supplementing our letter to you under date the 15th November
inst., we beg to inclose herewith the opinions of Hon. Sir Alexander Lacoste, K.C.,

and Mr. S. Beaudin, K.C., in support of our contentions as set forth in our above

mentioned letter of the 15th inst.

We are, sirs, yours truly,

M. P. & J. T. DAYIS,
per W. P. D.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (35).

Montreal, November 20, 1907.

M. P. Davis, Esq.,

Ottawa, Ont.

Dear Sir,—Mr. Davis took a contract from the commissioners of the Transcon-
tinental Railway for the construction of section ' B ' of the said railway. Under the

terms of that contract, cash payments equal to ninety per cent of the value of the

work done are made to the contractors monthly on"a written certificate of the engineer

that the work for or on account of which the certificate is granted has been duly

executed to his satisfaction, and Sitating the value of such work computed as men-
tioned, and upon approval of such certificate by the commissioners.

In October last the chief engineer was informed that the classification of excava-

tion in the contract under the three headings, ' Solid rock excavation,' ' Loose rock

excavation,' and * Common excavation,' had been entirely ignored, and that excessive

allowance was made for solid and loose rock, not by reason of an error in judgment,
but by special instructions from the assistant district engineer.

A visit was made on the road by the assistant chief engineer, Mr. Woods, and Mr.
Armstrong, who is an engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific, and they confirmed the

information given to the chief engineer, Mr. Lumsden. The correspondence which
took place between the chief engineer and his assistants dispels the idea of fraud or of

arbitrary conduct on the part of the assistant district engineer. This correspondence
shows that the local engineers acted in 'good faith, applying the contract asi they under-
stood it, and the question seems to me reduced to this,—have the local engineers given
a good and fair interpretation to the specifications, and, more particularly to the

sections 33, 34, 35 and 36 under the head classification ?

Mr. Doucet, district engineer, gives us the interpretation which the engineers in

district ' B ' have placed on the classification of solid and loose rock, and in accord-
ance with which the progress estimates have been made since the inception of the
work, as follows :—Solid rock—' All ledge rock or boulders and cemented material
which in our judgment were best removed by the continual use of explosives.' Loose
rock— 'All detached boulders of more than one cubic foot and less than one cubiG
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yard, and all material, which in our judgment could not possibly be ploughed in the
practical sense of the term/

Mr. Huestis, assistant district engineer, Mr.- Hervey, assistant engineer, Mr.
Bourgeois, division engineer, and Mr. Allan, A. Matthews, resident engineer, give

their own interpretation of the classification clauses, which corroborates that of Mr.
Doucet.

In my opinion, the local engineers have well interpreted the contract. The expres-

sions ' solid rock ' and ' loose rock ' have a special meaning for the purpose of tlie

contract. Solid rock does not only include what is meant generally by that expression,

but also all rock or masses of material of more than one cubic yard which may be best

removed by blasting; and' loose rock comprises stones and boulders measuring between
one cubic foot and one cubic yard and all loose rock which can be removed by hand,
pick, bar or shovel, all material that cannot be ploughed, provided it can be removed
without the necessity (except occasionally) of resorting to blasting. The necessity

of blasting seems to be the distinction between solid and loose rock excavation.

In my opinion, therefore, the classifications made by the local engineer are correct,

and the progress estimates need no revision.

Notwithstanding clause 39 of the contract, the estimates would practically be

conclusive, because the classification of the work being left to the judgment of the

engineer while it is being performed, and the state of the work being radically altered

when it is completed, it would be almost impossible to revise the first judgment.
However, if there has been an evident misconstruction of the contract, the esti-

mates could be revised, but a very clear case would have to be made out, and the

burden of proof would be on the commissioners.

Yours very truly,

A. LACOSTE, K.C.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (36).

Montreal, November 18, 1907.

M. P. Davis, Es<i.,

Central Chambers,
Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—I have examined the specifications annexed to the contract between
you and the commissioners of the Transcontinental Railway regarding the classifica-

tion provided by clauses 33,, 34, 35 and 36, and I have read the opinion of Mr. Lafleur,

K.C, and concur entirely in the conclusions taken by him.

It seems to me that this classification must be made at the very time the work is

done, and that the chief engineer cannot revise the decision of his assistants, more
particularly after payment has been made. In my opinion a court of justice would

not interfere with the classification made by the subordinate engineers, unless it was

alleged by the other side and affirmatively proved by them, that same was fraudulently

made, and with the concurrence of the contractor.

Yours respectfully,

S. BEAUDIN.

6—27
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EXHIBIT No. 38 (37).

Merchants BxVnk Building,

Montreal, Nov. 22, 1907.

P. E. Eyan, Esq.,

Secretary, Commissioners of the Transcontinental Ry.,

Ottawa, Ont.

Dear Sir,—I reply to your letter to us of November 14 inclosing a copy of the

letter addressed hy Mr. Hugh D. Lumsden, chief engineer to the commissioners of

the Transcontinental Railway, under date October 30, 1907.

We beg to inclose you herewith the opinion of our counsel, Mr. Donald M-ac-

master, K.C., on the proper construction of clause 34 of the general specifications for

construction.

This opinion confirms our own as to the correct construction of this clause, and
constitutes our answer to your letter and Mr. Lumsden's views.

Yours truly,

MACDONELL & O'BRIEN.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (38).

In the matter of

The contract for the construction of the National Transcontinental Railway,

Eastern Division,

and

The specifications attached thereto.

The opinion of counsel is asked as to what constitutes ' solid rock excavation

'

within the meaning of the specifications and the contract. The matter of classifica-

tion is regulated by three clauses in the contract, which, with the respective headings,

are as follow^s :

—

^classification.

' 33. Grading will be commonly classified under the following heads :

—

' Solid

rock excavation,' ' Loose rock ' and ' Common excavation.'

' solid rock excavation.

' 34. Solid rock excavation will include all rock found in ledges or masses of more
than one cubic yard, which, in the judgment of the engineer, may be best removed
by blasting.

^

'loose rock.

'35. All large stones and boulders measuring more than one cubic foot and less

than one cubic yard, and all loose rock whether in situ or otherwise, that may be
removed by hand, pick or bar, all cemented gravel, indurated clay and other materials,

that cannot, in the judgment of tJie engineer, be ploughed with a 10-inch grading
plough, behind a team of six good horses, properly handled; and without the neces-

sity of blasting, although blasting may be occasionally resorted to, shall be classified

as " loose rock."

' COMMON excavation.

'36. Common excavation will include all earth, free gravel or other material
of any character whatever not classified as solid or loose rock.
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'Solid rock excavation' is defined by ^^ection 31. Very little doubt can exist

as to what is included in the contract under the description ' rock found in ledges.'

But what is the meaning of ' masses of more than one cubic yard '
? Whatever it

means it must be regarded as ' solid rock excavation ' whenever in the judgment of

the engineer it may be best removed by blasting. Does the expression ' masses of

more than one cubic yard/ mean a stone or boulder of more than one
cubic yard? Evidently not so, because if that had been the intention, it would have

been easy to have so stated, and the draughtsman had " the language at

hand to so state if such were his intention, for we find in section 35 describing
' loose rock ' an express reference to ' large stones and bonlders measuring more than

one cubic foot and less than one cubic yard.' It would have been equally easy for

the draughtsman in section 34 instead, of the language used, to have said ' solid rock

excavation will include all rock found in ledges and all large stones and boulders

measuiing more than one cubic yard,' but the draughtsman has not so stated, and
these w')rds cannot be read into the specifications. But the very fact that such lang-

uage has not been used to describe solid rock shows that another interpretation must
be given to the words ' solid rock excavation,' and that ' masses of more than one
cubic yard ' may include other material than rock and rock of less size than one cubic

yard whenever the material lying in the masses of the size stated may in the opinion

of the engineer be best removed by blasting. If it was the intention that solid rock

alone should fall within the classification of ^ solid rock excavation,' there was no
necessity for using any other description of this classification than ' solid rock.'

'Loose rock' is not described as 'loose rock excavation,' but as 'loose rock.' If
' solid rock excavation ' was intended to be solid rock and nothing else it would have
been described as ' solid rock '—simply. This view is confirmed by section 33 of the

specification in which it is provided under the heading ' classification ' :

—

' Grading will be commonly classified under the following heads :
' Solid rock

excavation/ ' Loose rock,' and ' Common excavation.'

Here, though 'Loose rock' is described as such simply, the other two classifica-

tions have appended the word ' excavation.'

I am not concerned for the moment with ' common excavation,' but the fact that

we have ' solid rock excavation ' is antithesis with ' loose rock ' simply (without the

appended ' excavation ') shows that solid rock excavation must include something more
than ' solid rock ' simply, and that something obviously is a mass of material of more
than one cubic yard, which in the judgment of the engineer may best be removed by
blasting. I have no doubt whatever that this is the proper interpretation of ' solid

rock excavation ' under this contract, and that the courts if appealed to M'ill so deter-

mine.

DONALD MACMASTER.
Montreal, October 31, 1907.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (39).

Ottawa, November 23. liH)7.

Sir,—I have the honour by direction of the board to hand you herewith tho

correspondence relating to a complaint made to our chief engineer by the assistant

chief engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway with respect to the classification

under our specifications for construction in district ' B.'

As the corresponvliencc will show, the complaint of tho Grand Trunk Tacitio

engineer has resulted in revealing for the first time since construction started this

difference between the chief engineer of the commissioners and his staff with respect

to the interpretation of the clauses of the contract relating to classification.

Paragraph 7 of the agreement, being the st'hedule to the National Transconti-

nental Railway Act, 3 E(]ward \\\., provides that in case tlic chief engineer of the
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company and our chief engineer differ as to the work, the differences in dispute shall

be determined by arbitration. This, however, is not a case of difference between the

chief engineer of the company and the chief engineer of the commissioners, but ia,

rather, a difference between Mr. Lumsden and his staff, as indicated in the documents
annexed hereto.

Although the complaint of the Grand Trunk Pacific engineer specifically relates

to certain cuttings on McDonnell and O'Brien's contract, the whole work will be
affected by the interpretation of paragraph 84 of the specifications. Accordingly, both

our contractors in district ' B ' have been officially notified of the interpretation placed

by our chief engineer upon paragraph 34 of the specifications, and their replies con-

testing the interpretation of our chief engineer are included in the correspondence

which accompany this letter.

The commissioners' interpretation of paragraph 34 of the General Specifications

for Construction agree with that of the district engineers for districts ' B,' * 0' and
' F,' and, ordinarily, they would have so ruled ; but Mr. Lumsden, as an appointee of

the government, has requested that the government give their ruling as to the inter-

pretation of clauses 33, 34, 35 and 36 of the general specifications for construction,

and the commissioners herewith submit the whole matter for such ruling.

According to the report of District Engineer Doucet, dated the 16th instant (copy

attached), the amount involved in the complaint of the engineer of the Grand Trunk
Pacific Railway is only $3,547 for the months of July and August last, i.e., if the

interpretation of our chief engineer^ is correct, all preceding estimates having been
approved by him without objection. On the interpretation placed on clauses 33, 34,

35 and 36 of the specifications much larger amounts will be involved for the future,

however, and as the chief engineer of the commissioners has refused to approve

further estimates of the contractors until the ruling of the government as to the

interpretation to be placed upon these clauses of the specifications has been received,

the commissioners respectfully request that this ruling be given at the earliest possible

day.

I have the honour to be, sir.

Your obedient servant,

P. E. RYAN,
Secretary.

Hon. Geo. P. Graham, P.O.,

Minister of Railways and Canals,

Ottawa.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (40). ^

Toronto, November 27, 1907.

P. E. Ryan, Esq.,

Secretary, Board of Commissioners of Transcontinental Railway,

Ottawa.

Sir,—We have obtained the opinion of Mr .Wallace Nesbitt, K.O., on the inter-

pretation of clauses 34, 35 and 36 of the specifications, and will forward same to you
by to-morrow's mail, and have the honour to remain.

Your obedient servants,

AYLESWORTH, WRIGHT, MOSS & THOMPSON.
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EXHIBIT No. 38 (41).

(0. P. R. Telegram.)

Toronto, Oxt., Xovember 28, 1907.

To P. E. Ryan,
Secretary, Railway Commission,

Ottawa.

Other opinion goes forward to-night.

M. J. O'BRIEN.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (42)

Ottawa, December 2, 1907.

Sir,—I have the honour, by direction of the Board, to hand you, which I do here-

with, a letter from Mr.'Wallace Nesbitt, K.C., addressed to Messrs. Macdonald k O'Brien,

and submitted on their behalf to the commissioners, containing Mr. Nesbitt's opinion

as to the construction to be placed upon the language used in the specifications with

respect to the classification of material; and I am to request that you will have this

letter placed on the file which accompanied m.y letter to you of the 23rd ultimo and
considered therewith.

I have the honour to be, sir,

Your obedient servant,

P. E. RYAN.
Hon. Geo. P. Graham, P.O., Secretary.

Minister of Railways and Canals,

Ottawa.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (43).

Toronto, November 28, 1907.

P. E. Ryan, Esq.,

Secretary of the Board of Commissioners of the Transcontinental Ry.,

Ottawa, Ont.

Sir,—Re contract for the construction of the Transcontinental Railway (Eastern

Division) and specifications attached thereto.

We have the honour to inclose you herewith the opinion of Mr. Wallace Nesbitt,

K.C., as to the construction to be placed upon the language used in the above speci-

fications in the classification of material. Kindly acknowledge.

We have the honour to remain, sir,

Your obedient servant,

AYLESWORTH, WRIGHT. :^rOSS & THCAIPSON.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (44)

Toronto, Nov. 26, 1007.

Messrs. Macdonell & O'Brien,

Montreal, P.Q.

Dear Sirs,—Re contract for the construction of tho Transcontinental Railway
(Eastern Division) and specifications attached thereto.

I am asked for my opinion as to the construction to be plactd upon tho language

used in the specifications in the classification of material.

The classification is dealt with in four clauses, which are as follows :

—
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CLASSIP^ICATIOX.

33. Grading will be commonly classified under the following heads :

—

' Solid

rock excavation/ ' loose rock/ and ' common excavation.'

SOLID ROCK EXCAA^ATION.

34. Solid rock excavation will include all rock found in ledges or masses of more
than one cubic yard which in the judgment of the engineer may be best removed
by blasting.

LOOSE ROCK.

35. All large stones and boulders measuring more than one cubic foot and less

than one cubic yard, and all loose rock whether in situ or otherwise, and that may be

removed by hand, pick or bar, all cemented gravel, indiurated clay and other materials

that cannot in the judgment of the engineer be ploughed with a ten-inch grading
plough behind a team of six good horses, properly handled; and without the neces-

sity of blasting, although the blasting may be occasionally resorted to, shall be classi-

fied as ' loose rock.'

COMMON EXCAVATION.

36. Common excavation will include all earth, free gravel, or other material of

any character whatever not classified as solid or loose rock.

These clauses purport to cover all material to be excavated to comply with the

preformance covenanted for by the contractor in the 4th clause, and are intended to

embrace all classes of material, and, therefore, in order to cover same, an artificial

meaning has necessarily been given to each of the generic expressions ' solid rock,'

^ loose rock,' and ' common excavation,' usually called ^earth.' The type of case where
the classification has not been exhaustive and where unexpected and undefined

material has been met with such as ' gumbo,' and where the engineer has usualty

given what he has considered a fair sum for the doing of the work, has no applica-

tion here. I think the engineer must classify under some one of the three heads all

the material met with.

I understand that a class of material has been met with where sitones and
boulders varying in size are found in masses cemented together by forming a con-

glomerate, and that these masses must in a commercial sense be removed by blasting,

and are in fact more difiicult to deal with than solid rock.

The question is whether such a class of material falls under the head of Moose
rock' as indicated in Mr. Lumsden's letter to the commissioners, which I have before

me, or whether it should be classified as ' solid rock,' as has been done by the engineers

in charge of the work.

In clause 35, where ' loose rock ' is defined, I think that where the material is

capable of being ploughed up by six horses, properly handled, when attached to a ten-

inch plough, the intention is to treat such material as ' common excavation
' ; that

where cemented gravel, indurated clay and other materials require occasional blasting

to assist the operation of the pick, &c., they are ' loose rock,' but that reading 34 and
35 together and harmonizing the two, where you find a material where ' massesr of

more than one cubic yard which in the judgment of the engineer can best be removed
by blasting ' are met with, such material falls within clause 34, and should be classified

as ' solid rock.' The ma'terial is something that is not in express language described

in either clauses 34 or 35, and it might be urged, as has Been in many cases, that it

came under the head of ' common excavation,' on the ground that anything that was
not classified expressly as ' solid rock ' or ' loose rock ' was covered by the classificai

tion of ' common excavation.' Such a construction I think would be strained and;

revolting to common sense, and, therefore, I think that such material must, as I have
said, come within either 'solid rock' or 'loose rock' classification. In my opinion it

is properly classified under the head of ' solid rock,' as I think the words of .sectioi73|
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34 make it plain that ' solid rock ' alone is not meant, but that ' solid rock ' it is statedl

' will include/ &c., and the use of the words ' will include ' indicate that it is notJ

' solid rock ' as such that is to be solely classified as ' solid rock.' I think the words,
' masses of more than one cubic yard which in the judgment of the engineer can be*

best removed by blasting/ mean ' aggregations of conglomerate material forming aj

coherent whole/ ' bodies of concrete material/ ' lumps of more than one cubic yard
which in the judgment of the engineer may be best removed by blasting.' :

I think that when such a coherent mass is met with such mass has been by con-'

vention of the parties defined as falling under the description of ' solid rock excava-1

tion.' Mr. Lumsden has apparently thought that ' solid' rock excavation ' means solid

rock in its proper sense, whereas in my view the parties have agreed that it shall cover

material requiring not occasional but practically continuous blasting where the same
is necessary in the common sense commercial handling of the material, upon which'

classification the engineer on the ground watching the operations is surely best quali-

fied to form an opinion.

To sum up and paraphrase, ' solid rock excavation' covers in addition to solid

rock proper, material in mass which requires blasting and where occasional blasting

will not suffice.

The matter may also, perhaps, be put in another way and one leading to the same
result. Is the material here in question not in fact ' rock ' within the strict meaningt

of clause 34 ? ' Rock,' it must be remembered, is a term of technical significance in'

the business of railway construction. The word is not used from the point of view of

the geologist or of the quarryman, but from that of the excavator. What is ' rock

'

regarded from that point of view ? An indication lies on the face of the clauses under*

discussion. ' Solid rock ' is best removed by blasting. ' Loose rock ' may be removed
by hand, pick or bar. Cemented gravel, &c., included under ' loose rock ' cannot be

ploughed without blasting. Do not these provisions indicate that the fundamental

hasis of the classification lies in the means necessary for the removal of the material?

Does not the term ' solid rock ' then include material of the character here in ques-

tion, which cannot be removed without blasting? In my opinion it does. The material

may aot be 'rock' in the sense in which the word is used by the geologist or the

quarryman, but it is ' rock ' in the sense in which the word is used by railway eon-;

tractors and engineers. To illustrate : a stone the size of a man's head is a solid rock,

but because it can be handled in a certain way it is ' loose rock.' A piece of indurated

clay is not ' rock,' but because it can be handled in a certain way it is called ' loose

rock.' And so a mass which can only be hani^ed by blasting is called ' solid rock

'

just as actual rock found in a ledge is called ' solid rock.'

Yours truly,

WALLACE NESBITT, K.C.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (45).

Ottawa, December 5, 1907.

Sir,—In reply to your letter of the 23rd ultimo, with which you transfer certain

reports of the chief engineer of the commission bearing upon the classification of

the work under the charge of the commissioners.

It would seem that under chapter 71, section 9, 3-Edward VII., the construction

of the eastern division is to be under the charge and control of three commissioners ;

subsequently amended by chapter 24, section 11, 4-Edward VII., making four com-
missioners, who are constituted a body corporate, with full powers to carry on the

work in connection with the construction of the eastern division of the Xntional

Transcontinental Railway.

Section 10 of chapter 71 gives the authority for the appointment of a chief engi-

neer, who, under instructions from the commissioners, and subject to the provisions
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cl the agreement, shall have general superiat'^iidonee of the construction of the Eastern

Division.

It therefore seems to me that full power has been vested in the commissioners

and their chief engineer to carry on the work in such a way as to them seems best ;

and, under the specifications and form of contract, which has already received the

approval of the government, the duties of the chief engineer are fully set forth. I

can only therefore, refer back to your commission the whole of the papers bearing

upon the question, with the request that you should take such action as seems to

you necessary under the circumstances.

Yours faithfully,

GEOKGE P. GEAHAM,
Hon. S. N. Parent^ Minister of Railways and Canals,

Chairman Transcontinental Railway,

Ottawa, Ont.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (46).

Ottawa, December 6, 1907.

Hugh D. Lumsden, Esq.,

Chief Engineer.

Dear Sir,—By direction of the Board, I beg to hand you herewith copy of the

file with respect to the question of classification under the general specifications for

construction.

The matter will be dealt with on the return of the chairman, who is at present

absent on account of illness. In the meantime, this copy of the correspondence is

sent you for consideration.

Yours truly,

P. E. RYAN,
Secretary.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (47).

Ottawa, December 16, 1907.

The Commissioners of the Transcontinental Railway,

Ottawa, Ont.

Sirs,—I beg to submit the following as my interpretation of clauses 34, 35 and 3S
of the General Specifications :

—

CLAUSE 34—SOLID ROCK EXCAVATION.

' Solid rock excavation will include all rock found in ledges or masses of more
than one cubic yard, which, in the judgment of the engineer, may be best removed by
blasting.'

I am of the opinion that rock found in ledges or masses as specified must (firstly)

be rock, and (secondly) it must be in ledges, conglomerate form (known as plum-
pudding stone), boulders, or ledge rock displaced (in pieces each exceeding one cubic

yard in size), rock assembled (the individual pieces of such assembled rock exceeding
one cubic foot in size), also shale rock, such as in the judgment of the engineer may
be best removed by blasting.

I attach a diagram in explanation of the above, which in my opinion is all that
is included under clause 34—solid rock.
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CLAUSE 35—LOOSE ROCK.

* All large stones and boulders measuring more than one cubic foot and less tban

one cubic yard, and all loose rock whether in situ or otherwise, that may be removed
by hand, pick or bar, all cemented gravel, indurated clay and other materials that

cannot in the judgment of the engineer, be ploughed with a ten-inch grading plough,

behind a team of six good horses properly handled; and without the necessity of

blasting, although blasting may be occasionally resorted to, shall be classified as

loose rock.'

Under this h?^ading I would include:

(1) All large stones and boulders more than one cubic foot and less than o^e

cubic yard not covered under clause 34.

(2) All loose rock in situ or otherwise that may be removed by hand, pick or bar,

and not covered under clause 34.

(3) All cemented gravel, indurated clay, and other materials that cannot, in the

judgment of the engineer, be ploughed with a ten-inch grading plow behind a team of

six good horses properly handled; and without the necessity of blasting, although

blasting may be occasionally resorted to.

Clause 36.—Common Excavation.

' Common excavation will include all earth, free gravel or other material of any

character whatever not classified as solid or loose rock.'

Your obedient servant,

HUGH D. LUMSDEN,
Chief Engineer.

P.S.—This interpretation was made by me after consulting with Mr. Collingwood

Schreiber, consulting engineer to the government. I would be pleased to know the

opinion of the Minister of Justice on the legal aspect.

HUGH D. LUMSDEN,

EXHIBIT No. 38 (48).

Ottawa. December 16, 1907.

The Commissioners of the Transcontinental Railway,

Ottawa, Ont.

Sirs,—In regard to the November estimates which are now coming in, and in

view of my letter of the 11th ultimo, since there have been further unexpected delays

in determining the questions therein referred to, I beg to say that pending adjust-

ment, the holding back of the November estimates at this date might prove a serious

matter to the contractors, I will at your request approve of the November estimates

on the distinct understanding that my approval of same, or of any previous estimates

of a similar character, shall not prejudice the reconsideration and necessary correc-

tion of the classifiraticn and consequently the amount estimated therefor.

Your obedient eervant,

HUGH D. LU.MSDEN.
Chief Engincci*.
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EXHIBIT No. 38 (49).

Ottawa, December 17, 1907.

Hugh D. Lumsden, Esq.,

Chief Engineer.

Dear Sir,—I beg to advise you that the recommendation contained in your letter

of the 16th inst. with respect to the November estimates has to-day been approved by

the board.

Yours truly, -

.

P. E. EYAN,
* J Secretary.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (50).

Ottawa, December 20, 1907.

The Hon. A. B. Aylesworth, P.C.,

Minister of Justice,

Ottawa.

SiR;,—I have the honour, by the direction of the Board, to submit to you here-

with all correspondence relating to a complaint made to our chief engineer by the

assistant chief engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway with respect to

the classification under our specifications for construction in District ' B,' and to the

interpretation of clauses 33, 34, 35 and 36 of the general specifications for construc-

tion.

You will note that :

(a) The complaint of the Grand Trunk Pacific engineer referred to is contained

in a letter of Mr. H. A. Woods, assistant chief engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific

Railway, dated October 7 last, and addressed to our chief engineer
;

(h) The engineers of the Grand Trunk Pacific Company and of the commission,

and the representatives of the contractors in District ' B,' met in Quebec on the

morning of the 24th of October, and proceeded to La Tuque, for the purpose of inves-

tigating on the ground the complaint of the assistant chief engineer of the Grand
Trunk Pacific Railway with respect to classification.

(c) The chief engineer reported to the commissioners under date of October 30,

the result of the said investigation held on the ground; stated his interpretation

of clauses 34 and 35 of the specifications, and submitted the interpretation of the

district engineer of District ' B,' and his assistants, indicating a disagreement between
the chief engineer and his staff with respect to the interpretation of the clauses of the

specifications relating to classification.

(d) Under date November 13, the chief engineer submitted to the commissioners

\he interpretation of District Engimeers Dunn, Molesworth and Poulin of clauses 34,

35 and 36 of the general specifications for construction
;

(e) Under date, November 14, the commissioners submitted to the contractors in

District ' B ' a copy of a letter of the chief engineer, dated October 30 ultimo in

which he (the chief engineer) stated his interpretation of the claus,esi of the contract

relating to classification
;

(/) The contractors submitted legal opinions contesting the chief engineer's

interpretation of the clauses of the spscifications relating to classification;

(g) Under date November 23 ultimo the commissioners submitted to the govern-

ment, in compliance with the request of the chief engineer, all the correspondence
relating to this matter, for a ruling as to the interpretation of clauses 33, 34, 35 and
36 of the general specifications for construction

;

(h) The Hon. Minister of Railways and Canals wrote t*.. the chairman of the
commissioners under date of December 5 referring back to the commissioners all the
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pai)ers bearing upon the question, with an expression of opinion that full power has

Deen vested in the commissioners and their chief engineer to carry on the work in

such a way as to them seems best, and the request that such action should be taken

as to them seems necessary under the circumstances.

(i) A copy of all the correspondence was submitted to the chief engineer of the

commissioner under date, December 6 instant, for his consideration
;

(j) The chief engineer reported to the commissioners under date, December 16

instant, submitting a modified interpretation of clauses 34, 35 and 36 of the general

specifications for construction, and stating that he would be pleased to know the opin-

ion of the Minister of Justice on the legal aspect.

The commissioners accordingly herewith submit all the correspondence with

respect to this matter, and request that you will favour them with your interpretation

of clauses 33, 34, 35 and 36 of the general specifications f9r construction, a copy of

which accompanies this letter, at the earliest possible day.

1 have the honour to be, sir,

Your obedient servant,

P. E. EYAX,
Secretary.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (51).

Ottawa, January 8, 1908.

Hugh D. Lumsden, Esq.,

Chief Engineer.

Dear Sir,—By direction of the Board, I have the honour to hand you herewith a

copy of a letter from the Deputy Minister of Justice, dated the 6th instant, with
respect to the interpretation of clauses 33, 34, 35 and 36 of the general specifications

for construction.

Yours truly,

P. E. EYAN,
Secretary.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (52).

Ottawa, January 6, 1908.

The Secretary to the Commissioners,

National Transcontinental Railway,

Ottawa.

Sir,—Beferring to your letter of the 20th ultimo, with which you submit corres-

pondence with regard to the classifications of excavated material and the interpreta-

tion of clauses 33, 34, 35 and 36 of the general specifications for construction of the

Eastern Division of the National Transcontinental Railway, I have the honour to

state that upon consideration of the papers submitted I see no reason to differ from
the classification stated by the chief engineer in his letter to the commissioners of the

16th ultimo, except as to the statement that ' rock assembled (the individual pieces

of such assembled rock exceeding one cubic foot in size) . . . such as in the judg-i

ment of the engineer may be the best removed by blasting/ is to be classified as solid

rock excavation under clause 34. I do not understand upon what principle the chief

engineer limits the size to pieces exceeding one cubic foot. The specification speaks

of rock found in ledges or masses of more than one cuhic yard which in the judgment
of the engineer may be best removed by blasting. If ' rock assombk\l ' nuiy be
regarded as a mass of rock, and if it may be best removed by blasting, I do not see

why under the specification it is material whether the individual pieces exceed or are

less than one cubic foot in size, and if ' rock assembled ' is not regarded as a massb
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the minimum limit of size which can be classified as solid rock exceeds one cubic yard^

It seems to me, however, that these questions are largely engineering questions,

the solution of which depends principally upon the judgment of the engineer, having
regard to the terms used in the specifications.

I must call your attention to clause 15 of the contract, which provides that the

engineer (this term to be construed as defined in clause 2 of the contract) s(hall b0
the sole judge of work and material, and that his decision on all questions in dispute

with regard to work and material shall be final, thus expressly stipulating that Such
questions as these shall be submitted to the decision of the chief engineer.

I wish to add that it is very difficult for me to advise generally upon the inter-

pretation of these specifications, and a general ruling may not infrequently overlook

the peculiar facts and circumstances of an individual case which if stated might lead

to an exception or modification. I would prefer to advise upon any special case as it

may arise, having all the particulars and circumstances stated.

Papers returned herewith.

I have the honour to be, sir.

Your obedient servant,

E. L. NEWCOMBE,
Deputy Minister of Justice.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (53).

Ottaava, January 9, 1908.

The Commissioners of the Transcontinental Railway,

Ottawa, Ont.

Sirs,—I have to-day been handed by the secretary a copy of a letter from the

Deputy Minister of Justice, dated the 6th instant, with respect to my interpretation

of clauses 33, 34, 35 and 36 of our general specifications. After fully considering his

remarks in regard to the words after ' rock assembled ' (the individual pieces of such

assembled rock exceeding one cubic foot in size), I have concluded in deference to his

remarks these bracketed words might be omitted, as-also the words ' not covered under

clause 34 ' in items 1 and 2 under the heading ' loose rock.'

My interpretation of these clauses will now be as follows:

—

Clause Sit—8olid Boch Excavation.

' Solid rock excavation will include all rock found in ledges or masses of more
than one cubic yard, which in the judgment of the engineer may be bes't removed by
blasting/

I am of the opinion that rock found in ledges or masses as specified must (firstly)

be rock, and (secondly) it must be in ledges, conglomerate form (known as plum
pudding stone), boulders or ledge rock displaced (in pieces each exceeding one cubic

yard in size), rock assembled, also shale rock, such as in the judgment of the engineer

may be best removed by blasting.

I attach a diagram in explanation of the above, which in my opinion is all that

is included under clause 34—solid rock.

CLAUSE 35—LOOSE ROCK.

' All large stones and boulders measuring more than one cubic foot and less than

one cubic yard, and all loose rock, whether in situ or otherwise, that may be removed
by hand, pick or bar, all cemented gravel, indurated clay or other materials that

cannot in th',- .ludgment of the engineer be ploughed with a ten-inch grading plough
behind a team of six good horses properly handled, and without the necessity of blast-
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iiig, although blasting may be occasionally resorted to, shall be classified as " loose

rock

Under this heading I would include :

(1) All large stones and boulders more than one cubic foot and less than one

cubic yard.

(2) All loose rock in situ or otherwise that may be removed by hand-pick or bar.

(3) All cemented gravel, indurated clay and other materials that cannot, in

che judgment of the engineer, be ploughed with a ten-inch grading plough, behind a

team of six good horses properly handled and without the necessity of blasting,

although blasting may be occasionally resorted to.

CLAUSE 36—COMMON EXCAVATION.

' Common excavation will include all earth, free gravel or other material of any
character whatever, not classified as solid or loose rock/

This interpretation was made by me after consulting with Mr. Collingwood
Schreiber, Consulting Engineer to the government.

^

Your obedient servant.

HUGH D. LUMSDEN,
Chief Engineer.
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EXHIBIT No. 38 (54).
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EXHIBIT No. 38 (55).

Ottawa, January 14, 1908.

Hugh D. Lumsden, Esq.,

Chief Engineer.

Dear Sir,—I beg to advise you that your letter of the 9th instant giving your

interpretation of clauses 33, 34, 35 and 36, of the general specifications for construc-

tion, modified so as to conform with the opinion expressed by the Deputy ]\Iinister

of Justice, was considered by the Board on the 10th instant and approved.

Yours truly,

P. E. EYAN,
Secretary.

EXHIBIT 38 (56).

No. 7787. Ottawa, January 30, 19a8.

A. E. Doucet, Esq.,

District Engineer,

Quebec.

Dear Sir,—In regard to my letter to you of the 14th inst., I beg to substitute the

accompanying letter, as I have taken into consideration that some instances may be

met with where actual measurements are impracticable, but it must be understood

that actual measurements (a record of which are kept, either by cross-sections or by

measurements) must be made as a rule of all work, and if at any time you find it

necessary to put on an extra man for this purpose you can do so.

Yours truly,

HUGH D. LUMSDEN.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (57).

Ottawa, January 30, 1908.

A . E. Douce r, Esq.,

District Engineer,

Quebec.

Dear Sir,—Herewith please find copy of my interpretation of clauses 34, 35 and
36 of our general specifications, together with a blue print diagram in explanation of

same. These after having been submitted to the Justice Department, have been

approved by the commissioners.

You will please at once go over these carefully, and say whether the classification

in your district conforms to such interpretation. If it does not, steps must at once

be taken by you to have your division and resident engineers, who are personally

acquainted with the work, take up the matter, and as far as now praotioablo, have an

estimate prei)ared showing the difference such classification would make with that

which has heretofore been used by you. lu future all classification must be in con-

formity with my interpretation. Measurements must be made and full notes kept

showing such classification on cross sections where rock or other classified material

is met with in large quantities, or by measuronionts made by an assistant, of rook or

loose rock in boulders. In short, actual measurements shall be made of all classifiecl

material returned, and not by percentages, except in caries where nieasnrements are

impracticable in the judgment of the engineer in charge.

Yours truly,

HUGH D. LUMSDEN.



432 SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON MAJOR HODGINS' CHARGES

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

EXHIBIT No. 38 (58).

No. 473.

Quebec, February 1,. 1908.

Hugh D. Lumsden, Esq.,

Chief Engineer, Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—I beg to acknowledge receipt of your letter of January 30, file 7787,

and to say that the instructions contained therein will be sent out immediately to all

the division and resident engineers.

I will personally explain the instructions to the division engineers when they

bring in their estimates for January to my office.

Yours very truly,

A. 'E. DOUCET,
District Engineer.

EXHIBIT No. 38 (59).

No. 7787.

Ottawa, February 19, 1908.

A. E. DoucET, Esq.,

District Engineer, Quebec.

Dear Sir,—I find that I have no reply from you in regard to clause 2 of my letter

to you of the 30th of January re interpretation clauses 34, 35 and 36 of our general

specifications, and as I have had replies from the other district engineers, I should

also like to have one from you.

Yours truly,

HUGH D. LUMSDEN.

EXHIBIT No. 38 080).

No. 886.

Quebec, February 20, 1908.

Hugh D. Lumsden, Esq.,

Chief Engineer, Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—In answer to yours of February 19, file 7787 : I wrote you on the first

of February acknowledging your letter of January 30, file 7787, saying that the^

instructions contained therein would be sent out immediately to all division and resi-

dent engineers:, and that I would personally explain the instructions to the division

engineers when they brought in their estimates for January to my office. Since that

time I have issued a circular quoting your letter of January 30 to the engineers.

I may add that the classification in my district conforms to your interpretation

as discussed and understood by us at the meeting of the district engineers with you)

and the commissioners at Ottawa in February.

Yours truly,

A. E. DOUCET,
District Engineer.
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EXHIBIT No. 38 (61).

No. 7787.

Ottawa, March 14th, 1908.

A. E. DoucET,
District Engineer,

Quebec.

Dear Sir,—Be your letter of the 20th ultimo, in reply to mine cf the 19th. Am
I to understand by the last clause in it that the classification in your district prior to

the 30th January, conformed to my interpretation of clauses 34, 35 and 36 of our

general specifications? (See clause 2 of mine of 30th January.)

Yours truly,

HUGH D. LUMSDEN.

EXHIBIT 38 (62).

No. 1350.

Quebec, 20th March, 1908.

Hugh D. Lumsden, Esq.,

Chief Engineer,

Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—Eeplying to your letter of the 14th instant, file 7787, I thought I had
made it quite clear that the classification in my district prior to the 30th January,

1908, conformed to your interpretation of clauses 34, 35 and 36 of our general speci-

fications as embodied in your communication to the district engineers under date of

January 30th, I have to reiterate my acknowledgement of your interpretation of

clauses 34, 35 and 36 of this date and to say that the classification throughout my
district prior to January, 1908, is strictly in accordance with such interpretation.

Yours very truly,

A. E. DOUCET,
District Engineer.

Tuesday, June 16, 1908, 8.30 p.m.

The committee resumed.

Mr. Murphy.—Mr. Chairman, after the statements made by Major Hodgins to-day

and the intimation these statements contain that he abandons any charges of fraud

or wrong doing against the commissioners and their engineers I propose at this stage

to suspend his further cross-examination. The Major has pointed out that the only

matters in issue are differences of opinion between engineers. Now there is a tribunal

appointed under the authority of parliament, a board of arbitrators, to adjust such

differences of opinion; and the Major has gone the length of saying that in his view

this is the proper tribunal to settle the so legitimate difforoncos of opinion between

the different engineers. In view of the position taken by the Major, I submit that no
useful purpose can be served by proceeding further with this inquiry unless some other

person is prepared to assume responsibility for alleging fraud or wrong-doing against

the commission or their staff of engineers. If any person is prepared to take that

respou-ilbility and make such a charge we are, of courso. ]irepnrod to uuvt them.

The Chairman.—You propose to suspend

5—28
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Mr. Murphy.—Just now the further cross-examination oi this witness. I cannot
just now state the length of time.

Mr. Macdonald.—I presume you mean if no further evidence is offered, your

cross-examination is over?

Mr. MuRPHY.^—Subject to that.

Mr. Barker.—Mr. Murphy has mentioned a board of arbitration. Is there any
evidence that such a board is in existence?

Mr. Macdonald.—The evidence of the statute.

Mr. Barker.—He says there is a board of arbitration.- .

Mr. Murphy.—And the witness stated, Mr. Chairman, that two engineers, who
are members of that board, were at the time he made that statement actually engaged
in going over the work.

Mr. Barker.—Two engineers were going over the work? But if there is a board

of arbitration we must have some evidence of it in any case.

Mr. Murphy;—That is in the Act.

The Chairman.—That is in the statute.

Mr. Barker.—That only authorizes the appointment of a board. Is there a board

of arbitration?

Mr. Macdonald.—Not only the appointment of a board, but states who the board

shall be.

Mr. Carvell.—Constitutes the board.

Mr. BARKERjt—I do not suppose there can be a board of arbitration unless some
appointments are made?

Mr. Lennox.—With reference to the position taken by Mr. Murphy, it is different

from the position he took before we adjourned at five o'clock.

Mr. Murphy.—I do not wish to interrupt, but I did not take any position before

we adjourned. .

lEr. Lennox.—It was understood you were about to proceed with the cross-exam-

ination of Major Hodgins.
Mr. Macdonald.—I did not so understand it.

Mr. Murphy.—I never said a word to that effect.

Mr. Lennox.—Mr. Murphy was proceeding with the cross-examination, and the

re-examination will, of course, follow after the cipssrexamination is concluded. Now,
I have intimated as clearly as I can that I do not consider that the investigation is!

concluded, or is in any way impeded by the statements which Major Hodgins made
this afternoon. Whether he fully appreciated the answers he gave to Mr. Macdonald
or not I do not know. At all events, as I stated at the beginning of the inquiry and

repeated on several occasions, and I think Mr. Barker as well, we regard the refer-

ence to us as not at all controlled by the circumstance that Major Hodgins wrote a

letter. We regard the reference as being upon the substantial and broad question as

to whether as a matter of fact, there was an improper classification of the work that

was done upon the Transcontinental Railway line—not confined either to section

• B ' or section ' F,' but to the whole Transcontinental line. It is true that part of

the charges were contained in Major Hodgins' letter, but the charges having been

initiated by Major Hodgins sending a letter to the press were reiterated and enlarged

oy the press; and when the Chief Commissioner of the Transcontinental Bailway

Commislsion communicated with Sir Wilfrid Laurier, he saw fit to attach to his

letter statements made by the ' Colonist,' the Ottawa ' Citizen ' and I think othei*

newspapers, all of which statements are set out here in the reference we have before

us. Now, when the First Minister asked the House to direct an investigation it wa^
not merely an investigation confined to the charges made by Major Hodgins, but ail

investigation of all the matters that are contained in the various papers that were

attached to the letter of the chief commissioner. As a matter of fact, he did not ask

for an investigation of Major Hodgins' letter at all in the first instance

Mr. Macdonald.—Oh, yes, he did.

Mr. Lennox.—The document is on record.
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Mr. Macdonald.—And it speaks for itself.

Mr. Lennox.—Mr. Macdonald will recognize what I say is correct when I call his

attention to it. When Sir Wilfrid Laurier read what he proposed to submit in the

first instance, as I recollect—and I have pretty good reason to recollect it, because

Mr. Barker and I framed what we desired to have by way of amendment—it was in

this form : 'That the memorandum of the Chairman of the Transcontinental Rail-

way Commissioners, dated 23rd April and laid on the table of the House on the

24th instant, and the papers accompanying the same, be referred to a special com-

mittee of five members, with instructions to investigate,' etc. Then it was suggested

that probably that was not broad enough, and it stood over for a day and it was
submitted to Mr. Barker and myself.

Mr. Macdonald.—jMay I suggest that this may be very interesting, but it is

entirely beyond the knowledge of any other members of the conmiittee but Mr.

Barker and Lennox?
Mr. Lennox.—My honourable friend will ascertain it is a fact, and we got the

letter of Major Hodgins incorporated. At all events, aside altogether from that,

we have to consider the reference as we have it now before the committee, and the

reference is that the memorandum of the Chairman of the Transcontinental Eailway
Commissioners to the Prime Minister, of date ^3rd April and laid on the table of

the House, and so forth, and the papers accompanying the same, together with the

letter of Major Hodgins to the public press, be referred to a special committee of

five members, with instructions to investigate the matters and charges therein con-

tained, such committee to consist of, and so forth. So there is no prominence given

to one matter above another in that reference; it is to investigate the charges con-

tained in the several documents referred to. As I say, thy contain all these various

things, and in those charges is a specific statement of wrong classification on the line

from end to end, and statements of the enormously increased and improper expendi-

ture suggested as a result of that. Now, we have to investigate all that, and it is for

the commissioners to consider whether they are interested or not. If Mr. Murphy
takes the position that he does not propose to cross-examine this witness further, then

the time for re-examination has arrived; and, speaking as one member of the com-
mittee, I consider it is my duty to see that this examination is conducted without

regard to the opinion that Major Hodgins may entertain of it as an engineer and as

a citizen. I approach it from his posi'*'5.on as a witness, and I propose either that he

shall be re-examined by his counsel, or i£ his counsel, in his discretion, sees fit to take

a different attitude, that then he shall be subject to re-examination by any member of

the committee. I propose, in the exercise of my right and of my duty in that behalf,

if I see fit to do so, to re-examine Major Hodgins and to endeavour to pursue this

investigation according to the terms upon which it was referred to us, and that will

include an investigation of the question of classification. That is, whether the right

classification of material has or has not occurred; whether, when the engineers

classified a certain quantity of rock, there was that quantity of solid rock there;

whether, when they classified so many thousand yards of loose rock, there were that

many yards of loose rock there. That is the matter, as I understand, referred to us

and which it is our duty to investigate. Speaking for myself, that is what I propose

to do, and I hope I shall have the concurrence of the other members of the commit-
tee in that respect and of the chairman. Let me say one other word to clear the

atmosphere a little, and that is about this matter of arbitration. I will not state

that I am prepared to say my last word on this matter, because I have not given the

careful attention that I think ought to be given to it. I do not recognize for one
moment that, as a matter of fact, the question we are dcaliug with is of the class

contemplated in the clause of the contract, or the two clauses of the contract, which
refers to arbitration. T do not recognize that this is a matter to be dealt with by
arbitration; but even if it were, IVfr. Cliairnum. I subiuit that we have nothing to do
with that question. The governnieut understood the positiou. and the House of
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Commons ssv/ fit to refer to us certain matters. We have not to look outside to see

whether an arbitration is likely to take place or not, bnt we are to pursue our duty

in that regard. What position Mr. Murphy shall take is for himself, as counsel, in

his wisdom to decide; but at the same time I call attention to the fact that if Mr.

Murphy announces now that he will not pursue the cross-examination, he must be

prepared to be embarrassed by the situation which may arise later on when we further

pursue this investigation.

Mr. Macdonald.—My honourable friend, Mr. Lennox, has indulged in a very

marvellous piece of special pleading in which he exhibits an unusually acute desire

to investigate something that was never referred to the committee and to enlarge, his

scope of the investigation to a wider extent than was ever contemplated. The resolu-

tion under which this matter came before this committee sets out as follows: The
memorandum of the Chairman of the Transcontinental Railway Commissioners to the

Prime Minister, of date 23rd April and laid on the table of the House on the 24th

inst. and the papers accompanying the same. That is one thing. ' together with the

letter of Major ]Iodgins to the public press therein referred to.' That is the other

thing. Those two things were referred to a special committee of five members with

iristructions to what? To investigate about the classification on the Transcontinental

Railway all over? No, but to investigate matters and charges contained in the memo-
randum

Mr. Lennox.—Therein mentioned.

Mr. Macdonald.—Of the Chairman of the Transcontinental Railway Commis-
sioners and in the letter of Major Hoclgins'.

Mr. Barker.—Therein mentioned?

Mr. Macdonald.—Now, Mr. Chairman, the memorandum of the Chairman of the

Transcontinental Railway Commissioners is to be found on page 15 of the printed

record and starts off with the statement :
' A letter from Major Hodgins, lately our

district engineer at Kenora, dnt., has been given wide publicity in the press, namely

by the Manitoba Free Press, and the Ottawa Morning Citizen where it was commented
upon.'

' There are insinuations and statements in it that should not be allowed to pass

unanswered. Without laying any specific charges. Major Hodgins makes vague,

general accusations that are absolutely groundless. It is plain that the object in view

is to cause us annoyance without any regard to truth or public interest.' Then after

taking up seriatim and discussing the charges Mr. Parent says:
' In conclusion, the commissioners would respectfully request, as they do not wish

to remain under the aspersion which such reports east on them, that the whole matter

be referred to and looked into by Committee of the House, and that Major Hodgins
be assigned to appear before the same to repeat his charges in a specific manner in

order to substantiate them if he can.'

Attached to that memorandum were the newspaper reports which were the avenue
through which Major Hodgins gave publicity to his statement. When this committee
met it met to investigate the charges that were made by Major Hodgins, and if you
will turn to the minutes of the meeting of this committee dated Wednesday, April

29, 1908, it is set forth there that

:

' The special committee appointed to investigate the charges made by Major
Hodgins, C.E., regarding the classification of materials, &c., in construction work on
the Transcontinental Railway, met at 10.30 o'clock, a.m.

Clearly that was the intention of our proceedings. The next step we took was to

ask Major Hodgins to appear before this committee for the purpose of preferring his

charges. He appeared in person and through his counsel, Mr. Frank Hodgins, K.C.
This committee never took note of anything tiiat he had to do with the newspapers or
of irresponsible people that nobody ever heard toll of, but what the committee did take
up was what Major Hodgins said and what we did was to ask Major Hodgins to put
his charges in proper form and that he proceeded to do. The synopsis of charges, which
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is to be found on page 39 of the proceedings of this committee as printed was filed

by Mr. Frank Hodgins as counsel for Major Hodgins and w^e have been occnpied >ince

the 29th of April on various days and at various times in considering the question

of those charges that Major Hodgins made. At several meetings of the committee

Major Hodgins gradually withdrew from the assertions which were contained in that

letter, and he very fairly and frankly this afternoon stated that since becoming posses-

sed of knowicdge he indicated he had no evidence to offer indicating that there was
improper conducl on the part of any of the commissioners in interfering with the

engineers, and iJiat so far as he was concerned there was only one issue remaining,

and that his information with reference to the interference by the commissioners in

such a manner was incorrect. The determination of that one remaining question, that

of classification he desired should not be made by this committee, but should be left

to the board of arbitrators of which we all have cognizance and I presume we have

to lake judicial notice, if we can take judicial notice of anything, of the statute

which incorporates the ISTational Transcontinental and that agreement which shows
that it was in anticipation that in the carrying out of this enterprise which was con-

templated there would be differences of opinion between the engineers as to what was
proper classification of the work. There never was a railway built in this or in any
other country in which there were not such differences of opinion. Therefore provis-

ion was made that there should be established a board of arbitrators composed of the

chief engineer of the Transcontinental railway and the chief engineer of the Grand
Trunk Pacific, and in the event of their disagreement by a third arbitrator. That
is the tribunal to which Major Hodgins unreservedly and of his own volition after all

these proceedings says he desires to have these charges referred for trial. In regard to

all other matters he absolutely abandons his charges. That is the position of the matter

at present. I do not know what position Mr. Hodgins, K.C., takes, buc at the beginning

of the proceedings of this committee the question of the appointment of counsel for

Major Hodgins was taken up and was left under advisement by this

committee, that matter has yet to be disposed of. Therefore, if we are not dealing

with Major Hodgins' charges I do not know what we are dealing with. If there is

some other person who has charges to make he has never come before up to this

moment and in view of what took place this afternoon I would like to hear Mr. Frank
Hodgins, K.C., on the subject. We must dispose of Major Hodgins' charges first

before we can consider any others, we cannot run the two in together. Either Major
Hodgins is taking the position he took this afternoon or he is not. If he is taking the

position that he did then, after that matter has been disposed of I am perfectly willing

to consider whether it is necessary for the enquiry to take a wider scope or not. but

my position now is that we should first consider and determine whether these charges

of Major Hodgins are to be further dealt with by the committee in view of what he has

stated this afternoon.

Mr. Barker.—I desire to say a few words on this. On Page 10 of the printed evi-

dence I find this paragraph in Mr. Parent's letter to the Prime Minister: (Reads)
' You will find attached newspaper clippings in reference to ^^Eajor Hodgins' let-

ter, and all correspondence relating to the circumstances of his dismissal ; also a letter

from our chief engineer, Mr. Lumsden, on the same subject.

' In conclusion, the connuissioners would respectfully request, as they do not wish

to remain under the aspersion which such reports cast on thorn, that the wliolo matter

be referred to and looked into by a committee of the House.

'

Mr. Macdonald.—' and that Major Hodgins be assigned to appear before the same
to repeat his charges in a special manner in order to substantiate them if he can.

'

Mr. Barker.—The whole matter is referred to this committee. If Major Hodgius
had never been examined before this committee at all, if he had died on the way from
Vancouver to Ottawa, or if having appeared before the committee on one day he had
died and did not therefore appear again, it wotdd not in the least have stood in the

way of this conmntteo pursuing the eiuiuiry, T do not think there can be any doubt
whatever about that. What I contend for is this, Major Hodgins is not here as a
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prosecutor, but as a witness to give evidence before this committee. I do not wish to

put the case, but if this committee did not believe the statement upon oath of Major
Hodgins, or if he sought to withdraw his statement, that would not prevent this

committee, or any member of the committee, going on and endeavouring to prove that

what was in his letter, or in those other papers, was absolutely true. This committee
is not controlled by Major Hodgins or his views or his opinions. We have to inves-

tigate it, and I propose we shall do .so.

Mr. Macdonald.—Will you be good enough to tell us what there is to investigate

in this matter outside Major Hodgins' charges?

Mr. Barker.—Every question of classification which has been raised.

Mr. Macdonald.—That is pretty general.

Mr. Barker.—We have to invesitigate whether there has been any padding of

accounts by increase of or over-classification.

Mr. Macdonald.—That is purely an engineering question which belongs to the

board of arbitrators.

Mr. Barker.—That is charged in the papers.

Mr. Carvell.—My friends are getting away from the reference, we should re-

member the intention in having this committee appointed. When this committee was
appointed, as has^ been said by Mr. Macdonald, Major Hodgins was sent for and asked

to make his charges in a concise and specific manner. He did so, and the charges'

will be found in page 39 and succeeding pages. He says there *.

' The root of all the trouble between the commissioners and Major Hodgins was
over-classification; and the commis'sioners wanted him to change his ideas as to classi-

fication.'

It is not for the committee to decide whether the engineers are exercising proper

classification in different parts of the work, the question is are they doing it honestly.

As far as I am concerned if Mr. Hodgins, K.C|., or Mr. Lennox here wishes to call

witnesses to show anything that is improper or dishonest on the part of the commis-
sioners or the engineers under the commissioners I have no objection to having it

investigated; but when it gets down to a question of a difference of opinion, it has
been stated here by Major Hodgins this afternoon that it is simply a question of

opinion between the engineers, one engineer saying I would classify that cut at 50
per cent of solid rock and another saying I would classify it at 60 per cent of solid

rock. If there was no other tribunal possibly we would be in a position that we would
have to decide, like many judges who are compelled to listen to evidence about which
they have no knowledge—I do not know anything about engineering, possibly Mr.
Lennox does not, Mr. Barker may know a little more about railway engineering than
any other member of the committee—^but a tribunal has been provided, under thle

statute passed at the time the Transcontinental Commission was formed, and that

tribunal consists of the chief engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific and the chief engi-

neer of the Transcontinental Commission, and if they cannot agree they apply to the

Chief Justice of Canada who appoints a third arbitrator, and that is the right tri-

bunal to decide whether these engineers, are properly exercising the duties and respon-

sibilities placed upon them. Assuming that this committee spent a fortnight or three

weeks bringing witnesses from all over the country in order to determine this ques-

tion; I am thoroughly satisfied in my own mind that if we went into this matter we
would have to get the evidence of independent engineers and we would have to send
them over the work in order to give us an intelligent view of what the classification

should be. Now,, supposing we did that and supposing we came to a conclusion and
said that a certain clasa of that work in District B, or in District F, was over-classi-

fied, or under-classified, and made a report to the House to that effect. Now tha:1i

might be a source of gratification to ourselves that we had been able to come to a
conclusion and that we could make that report to the House and through the House
to the country, but, sir, if the legal tribunal, the tribunal that has been established by
statute to decide that question, two weeks or two months afterwards make a report
which is exactly the opposite to ours—and it is their report which must stand, and
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upon whicli the money must be paid, and not ours—we would be practically only

making a laughing stock of ourselves. As Mr. Macdonald has pointed out, section 7

of the agreement provided for by the statute of 1903

Mr. Macdonald.—That shows how this tribunal is worked out, you might read it.

Mr. Carvell.—This is section 7 of the agreement with the Grand Trunk Pacific

Kailway Company set forth in the schedule of chapter 71 of 3 Ed. YIL, * An Act
respecting the construction of a National Transcontinental Railway.^

' In order to insure, for the protection of the company as lessees of the eastern

division of the said railway, the economical construction thereof in such a manner
that it can be operated to the best advantage, it is hereby agreed that the specifications

for the construction of the eastern division shall be submitted to, and approved of

by the company before the commencement of the work, and that the said work shall

be done according to the said specifications and shall be subject to the joint super-

vision, inspection and acceptance of the chief engineer appointed by the government

and the chief engineer of the company, and, in the event of differences as to the

specifications, or in case the said engineers shall differ as to the work, the questions

in dispute shall be determined by the said engineers and a third arbitrator, to be

chosen in the manner provided in paragraph four of this agreement.'

and paragraph 47 provides as follows:—
' Any dispute which may arise as to the meaning or construction of this agree-

ment, or as to the performance of any of the obligations of either of the parties to

this agreement, or as to working expenditure or cost of construction, shall, if not

hereifi otherwise provided for, be determined by the award of a single arbitrator, if

the parties concur in his appointment, or if not, by the award of three arbitrators, .one

of whom shall be appointed by the government, one by the company, and the third

by the two so appointed, or, in case of their being unable to agree, by the Chief J"us-

tice of the Supreme Court of Canada, and the award of a majority of such three

arbitrators shall be final/

I find later on, on the 10th of January, 1906, an agreement was entered into

between the Grand Trunk Pacific and the Transcontinental Commissioners, as fol-

lows :

—

^Memorandum of an Agreement to he drawn up hetween the Commissioners of the

Transcontinental Railway

and

The Grand Trunk Pacific Railway Company.
' Monthly estimates for contractors shall be submitted promptly from time to

time by the chief engineer of the commissioners to the company's assistant chief

engineer at Montreal for approval. If he has any objection to such estimate he shall

promptly file the same with the chief engineer of the commissioners, and any objection

from time to time filed shall thereupon be considered, and, if possible, determined
by the said engineers^ and in case of their failure to agree, may then or at any time
before or at the time of final payment, at the option of either party, be considered

and determined by arbitration as provided in the agreement of the 29th July, 1903,

but in no case shall the payment of monthly estimates be delayed except with the con-

sent of the commissioners.
' In case the chief engineer of the commissioners and the assistant chief engineer

of the company disagree as to the final payment, the same shall be withheld until the
matter is determined by arbitration, as provided in the said agreement of 29th July,
1903.'

As a matter of fact, certain differences have arisen between the engineer of the
Transcontinental Commissioners and the engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific, and
it was stated here during the last session of this committee, prior to this week, and
I believe it is true without any doubt that the chief engineer of the commission and
the assistant chief engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific wore then on the work going
over some of these disputed points. I again submit that in the face of that law
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creating a tribunal which has the legal right to settle all these matters, and in face

of the fact that they are now proceeding according to law to settle these matters, it

would be a most unnecessary proceeding for this committee to undertake to arrogate

to itself the powers which rightly belong to another body under the laws of the land.

Therefore it seems to me that while anybody has the right, Mr. Lennox or any other

member of this committee has the right to cross-examine the witness or to re-examine

him, still that cross-examination or re-examination should be confined to the point as to

whether or not there is fraud on the part of the commissioners or their engineers in

creating a classification which ought not to exist, and so far as my views go, I would

be prepared to' say that any member of this committee or any counsel should have

the right to ask any question bearing upon the charges, but that we should not arro-

gate to ourselves that which by law has been handed over to another body.

Mr. Barker.—This is the latest appointment, the appointment of this committee

upon which we are acting is the last appointment that was made, in face of th^^ statute

you refer to, and in face of the so-called agreement you refer to. How can it be sup-

posed for a moment that a committee appointed by the House of Commons can be

interfered with in the performance of its duty by any documents which were in exis-

tence before it was appointed.

^ Mr. Maodonald.—It is not interfered with at all.

Mr. Barker.—If not, then we will go on, that is all.

Mr. Maodonald.—Gro on with what?

Mr. Barker.—With the examination of witnesses, to prove the facts in these

statements.

Mr. Macdonald.—That is the Hodgins charges.

Mr. Barker.—And in these other documents.

Mr. Macdonald.—It is no good talking like that, there is only one set of charges

before this committee, the Hodgins charges.

Mr. Carvell.—The first charge is that Major Hodgins was taken down to Quebec

and asked to see how things were done down in Quebec and to see if he would not

take an object lesson and come back and adopt the Quebec classification. Now that,

to my mind, if it be true, is a fraudulent act, and I think we had a right to call

witnesses in order to prove that statement if it could be proved.

The Chairman.—Have you anything to say now, Mr. Hodgins?

Mr. Hodgins^ K.C.—I am very glad to have an opportunity to say a word or two

—

Mr. Carvell.—A^^r judgment has been passed.

Mr. Hodgins.—Although the committee has been passing judgment for the last

half hour. I think, however, I ought to make my position clear and also the

position of my client. I do not mind saying that I do not quite agree with the posi-

tion my client has taken, but he has a perfect right to take that position if he chooses.

I certainly would never choose to appear before the committee professing
, to act for

an unwilling client and I therefore propose to ask him to relieve me of the retainer

before this committee if he is of the mrnd that Mr. Macdonald seems to think he is,

owing to the questions that were asked him and the answers he gave this afternoon.

But I think everyone will recognize that before 1 do that I should ask him whether in

view of the fact that he has been cross-examined and has not been re-examined, and
that there are matters which in my judgment place him in an unfair light and which
I think he is perfectly able to clear up through counsel I? I am given an opportunity
to re-examine him, I should consult with him before I terminate my retainer to appear
before this committee. Possibly the committee will allow me to confer with him dur-
ing the evening so that if he decides to do so I can conclude to-morrow.

Mr. Macdonald.—If Major Hodgins has anything to say to the committee to-

night, either by himself or through his counsel we will be glad to hear him.
Mr. Hodgins.—I will explain my view of my position before the committee, even

taking into consideration the opinions expressed by the members of the committee.
There is of course the charge that Major Hodgins originally made with regard to the
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classification of his district, that was as long ago as September, he was dismissed

from the Transcoaitinental in the middle of his investigation. But similar charges

with regard to the classification of common excavation were made by Mr. Woods, the

Grand Trunk Pacific engineer in his letter of October 7th which is before the com-

mittee and in which, in order to illustrate what I mean because I want to draw the

distinction before the committee, I may just read one of his statements in that letter:

' Station 6882 to 5901 estimated Y8 per cent solid rock, 22 per cent loose rock. A
large amount of this cut wasted with slip scrapers and ploughing being done with two

horses. There are hundreds of yards of earth here without a stone, large or small.'

And in the next one

—

' Station 6030 to 6046. Estimated 40 per cent solid rock, 10 per cent loose rock.

This is the large sand cut west of O'Brien's camp, of the 95,000 yards moved to August

31st in this cut at least 80,000 yards was pure sand.

'

So that in district ' F ' and district ' B ' questions had arisen with regard to the

classification of common excavation, which is earth and sand, and that that classi-

fication was being raised into loose rock and solid rock. That has never been in

question before Mr. Lnmsden orb?fore any engineer, and what Major Hodgins referred

to as the opinion that he has now read, later opinions put in I think during the early

part of this year, dealing with the meaning of the word ' masses ' in loose rock which

he considered might be classified as solid rock under certain conditions. As to that

he says there is a difference of opinion, and a difference of opinion might easily occur,

but as to the other matter which is brought before the commission and is before the

committee

Mr. Macdonald.—There is no matter before the commission.

Mr. Hodgins.—Oh yes, this letter is in.

Mr. Macdonald.—Do you mean to say because somebody writes a letter that any-

thing is proved?

Mr. Hodgins.—Oli no.

Mr. Macdonald.—Let me suggest to you that you are mistaking your status before

the committee and that so far as your address to this committee is concerned it should

be confined to and in relation to your attitude towards your client and his position

in regard to the charges he has made.

Mr. Hodgins.—I am dealing with what he said before the committee, that is when
you connect the word ' mass ' and the opinions expressed, that it can only relate to

this matter which is to be determined by engineering evidence. Now this matter of

sand classification as has been shown before the committee is not covered by what ho
said this afternoon, as I understand it.

Mr. Carvell.—But, Mr. Hodgins, if the question of mass be one for the engi-

neers, is not the question of what is really sand the same thing?
Mr. Hodgins.—You look through all the opinions given by Mr. Luinsden and

those of every one else and there is not one suggestion that there could be any doubt
as to that kind of classification.

Mr. Carvell.—But if one kind of classification is a proper subject of investiga-

tion by arbitrators, how are you going to draw the distinction and say that another

class of material shall be determined by this committee?

Mr. Macdonald.—The major says he does not want to go on with this investiga-

tion.

Mr. Hodgins.—I wanted to point out the situation as I understan^li it. and as it

appears to me from his answers this afternoon, and I am pointing out that I shall be

justified, if his views are not in accord with my views then in asking him to relieve

me from appearing before you. As to arbitration I think the committee can hardly

take the opinion Major Hodgins has given as conclusive on that. The question of

arbitration is one provided for by the Act which says that there shall be a joint super-

vision and acceptance of the work by the two engineers. Supposing for a moment that

the two engineers agree, does that absolve the connnittee from the duty of seeing
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whether the accounts paid to the contractors are legitimate and right? Let ns suppose
that the contractors got $2,000,000 out of the

Mr. Maodonald.—You are touching again the question of your status before the

committee. That is a matter we will have to dietermine later on when we discuss it.

Mr. Barker.—Excuse me, I don't think he is. Major Hodgin& himself distinctly

spoke of common excavation in Section T ' which had been returned as rock.

Mr. Carvell.—Yes, and he admitted that the total amount in the whole work
would not exceed, I have forgotten the amount, but I think it was about $200,000.

Mr. Macdonald.—Mr. Barker unfortunately was not here this afternoon to hear

what Major Hodgins said. He said this afternoon that the. question of whether the

material should be classified) as rock or loose rock depended entirely upon the opinion

of himself as engineer and he did not regard himself as infallible. That is the positron

he took with regard to the question of classification.

Mr. Hodgins.—What he said was that taking those opinions—and I am quite

willing to accept

The Chairman.—-I do not think you should go on arguing the case just now.

According to me you are doing that.

Mr. Hodgins.—I am sorry for that.

The Chairman.—What we want to find out is the position that you propose to

take after the declarations made by your client.

Mr. Hodgins.—I propose then, if not interrupted, to state the position in which I

think the matter is left before the committee and then leave it to the committee to

say whether they are going on with the inquiry.

The Chairman.—We do not propose to hear you arguing the case at the present

stage and to state what the witness intended to say as compared with what he did

say. I think you had better state your position and then we will go on with the case.

Mr. Hodgins.—I wish to make it perfectly clear, as Mr. Murphy has declined to

further cross-examine andi as my client has made statements which Mr. Macdonald

and Mr. Carvell think meant something which perhaps they did not mean, what in

my opinion, those .statements did mean.
Mr. MACDONALtij.—Have you conferred with your client as to whether or not he is

prepared to take any different position from what he did before?

Mr. Hodgins.—No, but I am bound by the limitations

Mr. Macdonald.—We understand the English language and we heard what he

said.

Mr. Hodgins.—I think I do too and I venture to say he has never said that the

opinion in Quebec settled the whole question.

Mr. Macdonald.—What he said was this : He did not regard this committee as

the proper tribunal to settle differences of opinion with reference to engineers' classi-

fication.

Mr. Barker.—He has no right to express such an opinion.

Mr. Macdonald.—It may be that he has no right, but unfortunately for you who
take the opposite view he said that.

Mr. Barker.—It dioes not matter whether he said so or not.

Mr. Lennox.—They were not proper questions or proper answers.

Mr. Carvell.—He is the man who made the charges.

Mr. Macdonald.—Are we to take it that when the man who made the charges

says, ' 1 don't want to have anything further to say to the committee,' that he does

not mean to say anything like that at all?

Mr. Hodgins.—No one is saying that. I don't think it represents what he did

say. I do not think the committee will disagree with me when I say that you are

putting that a little too broadly. All I want is to lay what is the situation before you.

Mr. Macdonald.—If you were before a court, don't you think the judge would
say to you at this stage :

' Have you conferred with your client, and are you in a

position to say to the court that you are going to take any different position from
what your client took here a few hours ago?'
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Mr. HoDGiNS.—I think so, and I think I would be perfectly justified in saying,

' Certainly not.' But when I am asked to state my position, I think I have the right

at least to define what I understand my client's position to be, and if the court dis-

agree with me it cannot be helped. However, I have only one word more, and perhaps

you will allow me to say it?

My. Macdonald.—I am quite willing for you to say it, but you cannot convince

me that your client did not mean what he said this afternoon. I am going to take

it that he meant what he said,

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I am also going to take that, so we are not likely to disagree very

far. What I want to point out is the position in which the matter is placed by the

evidence. We cannot disregard the fact that there has been certain evidence placed

before the committee.

The Chairman.—We are in a position to understand that without your saying it

to us. I wanted you just to state your position towards your client after the declara-

tion he made this afternoon.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—And then you decline to hear me any further?

The Chairman.—I do not want to stop you, but if we are going on with the

case you will have a chance to cross-examine the witness. At present we do not wish

to hear argument on the case.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I do not want to argue the case, but what I want to know is

whether you decline to hear me or not. If you do, I will sit down.
The Chairman.—We do not want to hear you arguing the case.

Mr. HoDGiNS.— am not arguing the case. I do not understand this committee

to be bound by Major Hodgins' view as to how he would look at the matter.

Mr. Macdonald.—In what way do you say that? As Major Hodgins' counsel or

as amicus cw^ce'^.

Mr. Hodgins.—Until I have retired from the case I am his counsel.

Mr. Macdonald.—I have heard of counsel addressing the court as a friend of the

court.

Mr. Hodgins.—I trust I am a friend of the court. I don't know whether even the

fact of my being his counsel debars me from that. I am quite sure the committee
want to do the right thing in finding out whether this is or is not the case. It matters

not to me, because if I retire from the case, as I very likely will do, I simply wanted
to say that these payments are going on to the contractors in the meantime. It does

not make any difierence what the arbitration settles. That only settles what interest

shall be paid. You will never get this money back from the contractors. There are

letters on the file from the contractors protesting against the right of anybody to

revise the estimates, by arbitration or otherwise, after they have been finally passed

by the commission.

Mr. Carvell.—You do not mean to say for a mom^ent, do you, that if money was
over-paid by the commissioners, and if a board of arbitration found that it was im-
properly paid, we would lose that money?

Mr. Hodgins.—I am not arguing for M. P. Davis or other contractors who dis-

pute that.

Mr. Carvell.^—You have made a statement, and I have a right to ask you if you
mean what you said.

Mr. Hodgins.—Pardon me a moment. I mean what I say, but you do not take

correctly what I said.

Mr. Carvell.—Do you moan to say that if we paid the contractor $100,000 and
it turned out we paid $5,000 too much, that in the end the country would k->se tliat

money ?

Mr. PIoDGiNS.—I am not paid to advise commission, but what I did say

Mr. Carvell.—I think you are paid to answer a question fairly when it is asked.

Mr. Hodgins.—I will answer a question fairly, but I think you will perhaps par-
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don me for saying that you, did not get correctly what I said. I said thpre are letters

here before the committee from contractors asserting

Mr. Carvell.—But before that what did you say? You stated before that that

this arbitration would be of no value, because the money would be paid to the con-

tractor, and all that it w^ould amount to would be that the country would get rid of

paying the interest on it.

' Mr. HoDGiNS.—The country would not get rid of paying the interest, but the

Grand Trunk Pacific, and I certainly assert that.

Mr. Carvell.—That would mean that if the contractors were over-paid $5,000 on

progress estimates the country would lose it ?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—If the commission's own engineers passed it, how could they order

the contractor to give it back?

Mr. Carvell.—^And you still stick to it that if they were over-paid $5,000 the

country would lose that?

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Certainly.

Mr. Carvell.—I wanted to get you, that is all.

Mr. IToDGiNS.—It is very easy to get me, I am answering the question.

Mr. Carvell.—*-We now know what your views are.

Mr. Macdonald.—It all depends upon the contract.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Certainly but what I said was that the contractors assert very

positively in the letter before the committee here that no court can compel them to

refund money which has been paid out on the certificates of the commissioner's engin-

eers no matter what the result of arbitration may be.

Mr. Parent.—If you look at the agreement you will find that the law says so.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Two of us cannot address the committee at the same time. It would

perhaps be better for me to continue until I finish my statement.

Mr. Parent.—It is no use your making statements that are not correct.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—Lawyers are often mistaken. You are a lawyer yourself, Mr.

Parent.

Mr. Parent.—^You are going too far. If you read the agreement you will find

something different to what you have said.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—That is really the gist of what I have to say.

The Chairman.—On your position.

Mr. HoDGiNS.—I think you will find that this arbitration may be deferred until the

final payment. If the road is not constructed for 7 years arbitration may be delayed

until then. It is for the committee to say whether they think that matters are left

in such a shape that they can say they are all finished because Major Hodgins desires

to have a settlement in another way.

The Chairman.—That is just what we want to find out.

Mr. Hodgins.—May I in conclusion suggest to you that that is not a fair position

to take. It may be the major would like me to re-examine him upon some questions

—

largely personal questions I should imagine—which arose in cross-examination and as

to which I think he has a perfectly good answer. That is a matter which can be

settled by to-morrow morning. If Major Hodgins says ' No, I don't care about that

'

then it will be lor me to consider whether I should not terminate my connection

with the case.

Mr. Macdonald.—Until what time to-morrow would you like?

Mr. Hodgins.—Any time.

The Chairman.—Very well then we will adjourn until 10.30 o'clock to-morrow
morning.

Mr. Murphy.—Before the adjournment is finally decided upon, in order that there

may be no misapprehension as to what I said, I desire to correct my learned friend

Mr. Lennox, in attributing to me the statement that I did not intend to cross-examine
this witness further. What I said was ' 1 propose at this stage to suspend his further

cross-examination.

'



MINUTES OF EVIDENCE 445

APPENDIX No. 5

Mr. Lennox.—I thought you were referring to another matter. I am quite pre-

pared to accept your explanation.

Mr. Barker.—Whether the cross-examination be suspended or not the committee

will permit you to cross-examine.

Committee adjourned.

Wednesday, June IT, 190S.

The Committee met at 10.30 o'clock, a.m.

Mr. PIoDGiNS.—I do not think there is anything I desire to re-examine Major
Hodgins on and with his permission I accordingly retire from the case.

The Chairman.—What is the pleasure of the committee? What is the next pro-

ceeding ?

Mr. Barker.—I suppose the committee hare nothing to say to that? They can-

not prevent Mr. Hodgins, K.C., from retiring from the case.

Mr. Macdonald,—I would suggest that we adjourn until to-morrow to give all

parties interested an opportunity of considering their position. Speaking personally

I would like to look into the record and certain authorities bearing on this matter.

Some honourable gentlemen on the committee perhaps think that a certain line of

examination might be gone into. As far as I am concerned, I would like to con-

sider the position of the committee at the present stage before moving one way or

the other.

Mr. Barker.—I think that is not unreasonable.

Mr. Carvell.—Before we come to that decision would it not be possible for mem-
bers of the committee this morning to define their position to some extent? Other-

wise if we adjourn and meet to-morrow we shall be no further advanced than we are

now .

Mr. Barker.—Do you want us to define our positions before we have made up
our minds.

Mr. Carvell.—I do not think that is a fair answer or a fair comment. It was
stated yesterday afternoon by Mr. Lennox that he proposed to go on and cross-examine

the witness. If Mr. Lennox is still of that opinion I do not see any reason why a

portion of this morning at least should not be taken up in that way.

Mr, Macdonald.—Personally I think the wisest thing would be to adjourn until

to-morrow. That is my own personal view.

Mr. Lennox.—I think that Mr. Macdonald's suggestion is a proper one. We all

want to do what we think best, and it may be that after consideration and going over

the papers in this case we shall form a different conclusion to any decision we might
reach offhand. In reference to the re-examination of Major Hodgins, that would be

a matter involving a certain amount of preparation. I would have to go back over

the evidence that has been given and see how far such re-examination would be neces-

sary. Then, too, it would depend a good deal upon the position taken by the majority

of the committee.

Mr. Carvell.—It seems that I am in the minority and, therefore, must accept the

situation, but notwithstanding I register my protest against wasting so nuich valuable

time.

Mr. Macdonald.—In making the suggestion I did for an adjournment, my object

was to obtain time to consider what our future course would be. Certain charges

made by Major Hodgins having b(xm referred to us, we are in the position this morn-
ing that the Major has abandoned those charges, and the object of my suggestion was
to aft'ord time to consider what should be done next.

Mr. Carvell.—Why should we keep ^lajor Hodgins here any loi'ger; he has been

away from home nearly two months. "
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Mr. Barker.—Are you getting in a great anxiety about Major Hodgins getting

home?
Mr. Carvell.—Not in a very great anxiety ; he is not my client, but I am opposed

to this eternal delay which has occurred ever since we started. In a court of justice

this would not be tolerated. It seems to me that every member of the committee is

in league to delay this investigation.

Mr. Barker.—Speak for yourself.

Mr. Lennox.—It is entirely improper for Mr. Carvell to make any such remark;

he has no ground whatever for doing so. Speaking for myself, I have urged that this

investigation be pressed ever since the first day we met; it cannot go on too quickly

for me. But when an unexpected situation occurs and it is suggested by Mr. Mac-
donald that we should take time to consider our position and what action should be

taken in the future, I think it comes with great impropriety from Mr, Carvell to

make any such remark.

Mr. Carvell.—I think the confession which my honourable friend has made is

one that does not do very much justice to him. He has sat here at nearly every sit- ^

ting of the committee and now says that he wants time in order to re-examine Major
Hodgins and prepare his case. If I wanted to re-examine a witness, and I do not

profess to have any more ability than my honourable friend, I think I would proceed

right off. Notwithstanding what my honourable friend says, I think he could do the

same.

Mr. Barker.—You overlook the fact, Mr. Carvell, that the object cf considering

the whole situation now is not with relation to Major Hodgins or any examination of

him. You were so rapid in making up your mind that you got ahead of the rest of

the committee. We want a little consideration before we take a very important step.

Mr. Carvell.—It seems to me that you require quite a lot of time.

Mr. Lennox.—I have not asked for any postponement, and if the investigation

were proceeded with this morning I would not go on with the re-examination of Major
Hodgins. On the contrary, I would proceed to the discussion of what position we
should take in this matter. Yet I think the suggestion of Mr. Macdonald is a wise

one. In my opinion it is very fitting for us to consider what course the committee
should take.

The Chairman.—Well, the majority of the committee seem to be in favour of

adjourning until another day. The meeting is therefore adjourned until to-morrow
afternoon at 3 o'clock.

Thursday^ June 18, 1908.

The committee met at 3.10 p.m.

The Chairman.—^Before we decide on the next proceeding I would like to have
the views of the members of the committee on what should be done in the case, I

should like to have every member of the committee state his views about it. Mr.
Barker will you tell us what you think about it now?

Mr. Barker.—I think Mr. Lennox and I expressed pretty fully yesterday the con-

clusions that we came to and which we hold to. Practically what was said then and
what we say now is that no action, statement or opinion of Major Hodgins can
impede or fetter this enquiry, not even as regards the charges made in his own letter.

We say also that the charges made by Major Hodgins may or may not be true, that is

a question of evidence, on which his affirmation alone would not be conclusive,

neither would any retraction, if he did retract. The enquiry is not limited to any
charge made by Major Hodgins, but it extends to the over-classification whether alluded

to by Major Hodgins or not. The papers produced show over-classification of which
Major Hodgins had no knowledge, and could have no knowledge; the draft agreement
of the 10th of Jan., 1908, and the letters produced, show the existence of complaintis
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extending over many months charging over-classification of a most extraordinary

character. Those charges and those he relers to should be investigated, that is my
view.

Mr. Macdonald.—Your theory, Mr. Barker, apparently is that we have to investi-

gate charges of over-classification?

Mr. Barker.—That is the main charge.

Mr. Macdonald.—What do you say about the statutory provision for dealing

with all questions concerning classification.

Mr. Barker.—Well, Mr. Lennox and I hold the same view except that we do not

agree that Clause 7 allows any interference with the question of cost. The purport of

the section first is to enable the lessee to have proper specifications prepared for the

purpose of the work undertaken by the government; secondly, they are entitled to a

reference as to the fact whether these specifications are being carried out or not so as

to produce good work.

Mr. Macdonald.—That is a matter of classification.

Mr. Barker.—Not as to the cost of it, not as regards classification, classification

is for the purpose of payment.

Mr. Macdonald.—Well, that is the cost, of course.

Mr. Barker.—That we do not admit, neither do we admit for a moment, whatever

the extent of the reference, whether it includes the cost of the work has the reference,

at this stage the efiect that would preclude this committee, or deprive the committee
of its right and duty to go on with the inquiry. It might be that for some reason the

government of the day and the Grand Trunk Pacific might see fit for purposes that

we need not go into, for purposes of their own, or without any purpose at all, to have
an extravagant or improper expenditure. That does not at all preclude the House of

Commons from appointing a committee of its own to investigate whether the expendi-

ture is improper or otherwise.

Mr. Macdonald.—Wliat is your view in regard to the charges of improper con-

duct on the part of the commissioners, interference as to classification?

Mr. Barker.—That will be the result of the inquiry, whether there is over-classi-

fication or not. It is not perhaps material at present whether they intended them or

not; the question at present is whether there is over-classification or not, whether

from mistake or otherwise is a separate question.

Mr. Macdonald.—What do you say to the proposition that there is nobody who
has charged improper conduct on the part of the commissioners except Major Hodgins
and he has withdrawn those cliarges?

Mr. Barker.—He cannot withdraw them, they are referred to this committee, he
cannot withdraw them, it is outside of his power to withdraw any charge.

Mr. Macdonald.—He has the power so far as he is personally concerned, and he

has said so far as he is concerned he has no evidence to offer in support of those

charges and withdrew them,

Mr. Barker.—He has no charge to withdraw, he has no more right to withdraw
the charges than a- person who has been robbed has to withdraw.

Mr. Carvell.—I cannot bring myself to the view Mr. Barker has in this case.

As far as I understand it we are investigating the charge brought against the com-
missioners by Major Hodgins in the paper in Victoria, B.C., and if you look over

this charge, after being, in accordance with the request of this committee, put in pro-

per shape by Major Hodgins after his arrival here, the very first thing he says is that

the whole of the trouble between himself and the commissioners is that they wanted
him to change the classification; tlien it goes on all the way through to show that it

was clearly a question between Major Hodgins and the commissionei'S as to what the

proper classification was. I can only reiterate what I have stated on two or three

occasions that it does not seem to me this is the proper tribunal to decide this ques-

tion at all, it is provided by statute that this shall be decided in another way. If

some of the witnesses produced say there is fraud on the part of the conunissioners.

I do not know, possibly this committee might go on and investigate that, although I
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think to be logical, the work of this committee is ended, because we were appointed to

investigate the charges made by Major Hodgins, who has withdrawn those charges in

toto, therefore there is nothing left for this committee to investigate. All we can do,

to be logical, is to close up the inquiry and report to the House. While I do not want
to be put in the position of burking any investigation^ if any evidence is produced to

show that the commissioners committed fraud, or asked Major Hodgins or anybody
else to do what was wrong I do not think it ought to be excluded, but I think we ought

to consider our position and let us unders,tand where we are. As far as I am con-

cerned I am absolutely opposed to any evidence being given by anybody as to classifi-

cation, that is to be decided by another body.

Mr. Lennox.—Then as I understand it Mr. Carvell's view is substantially as he

stated it the other night.

Mr. Carvell.—About the same.

Mr. Lennox.—That is that it can be investigated only in the event that some mem-
ber of this committee comes forward and says, I am prepared to establish fraud.

Mr. Carvell.—That is it, I take the ground that supposing Mr. Barker's conten-

^ tion is correct, that there is evidence to establish the fact that the engineers are not

exercising proper judgment in their mode of classification, that he should take thp

responsibility as a member of this House to rise in his place and say so on that re-

sponsibility, and ask for the matter to be investigated, if he should do that it is a new
question entirely. We are not appointed to investigate whether these engineers are

properly exercising the discretion conferred upon them, but whether there is fraud

between them and somebody else, and that brings up the question siaggested by Mr.

Barker, supposing there is fraud between them and the Grand Trunk Pacific, that is

a proper subject for inquiry if somebody takes the responsibility of making the charge,

but until somebody does I do not see that we have any right or jurisdiction in it at all.

Mr. Macdonald.—We have all heard of the farce of having the play of Hamlet with

Hamlet left out. I think tbere can be no position of affairs that would approach more
closely to that condition than that which we now have facing this committee. And I say

that for this reason, if this is not a committee to investigate Major Hodgins' charges

I do not know what it is to investigate, and if Major Hodgins is not coming to play

in this theatre, I do not know where his charges are except they are off the board. It

would be just as well to call attention to the way4n which this committee's existence

was brought about. Mr. Hodgins, in the city of Victoria, B.C., on April 16th, sat

down to write a letter to a newspaper in which he made certain reflections on the

commissioners and made certain statements which are familiar to us all. This letter

was copied in various eastern papers and commented upon by them with the result

that the commissioners wrote to the premier asking him to refer the Hodgins charges

against them to a committee to be investigated. That reference was made in an order

of the House of Commons on April 28th, 1908, in these words :

^ That the memorandum of the chairman of the Transcontinental Bailway Com-
missioners to the prime Minister, of date the 23rd April, and laid on the table of this

House on the 24th instant, and the newspapers accompanying the same.'

Those papers accompanying the memorandum of the chairman of the Railway
Commission being the newspaper articles referred to, ' together with the letter of

Major Hodgins to the public press therein referred to be referred to a special com-
mittee of five members, with instructions to investigate the matters and charges

therein mentioned.'

Then follow the names of the members composing the committee, all of whom are

here.

' And that they have power to send for persons, papers and records, etc'

Now, in pursuance of that order we met on the 29th of April and the first thing
we did was that we asked Major Hodgins, the gentleman who m.ade those charges, to

come before us. ISTobody proposed at the time we should send for anybody else;

nobody ever suggested that we should ask any other person to appear here in the role

of prosecutor, nor did it ever appear to the minds of anyone that anybody should be



MINUTE8 OF EVIDENCE 449

APPENDIX No. 5

considered as initiating this prosecution except Major Hodgins. Major Hodgins came
here and appeared, personally, and by counsel and counsel asked that he be compens-
ated by this committee for this service. My honourable friends supported that pro-

position (which was taken under advertisement by other members of the committee
and not finally disposed of. If there was anybody else but Major Hodgins and his

charges before this committee at that particular date I am quite sure no member of

this committee nor the country ever thought so. This was followed up by Major
Hodgins' counsel preparing a synopsis of the charges in which he defines the state-

ments and charges which he had made in a more loose way in the newspapers. If

there was anybody in this committee or anybody in parliament, or anybody in this

country that thought there was anything before this committee on the 11th of May
except the statement contained in Major Hodgins' charges as set forth in that docu-

ment filed by his counsel, I have not heard it. We have spent the time since the 11th

of May investigating this statement until on Tuesday afternoon Major Hodgins ad-

mitted his desire to withdraw all the imputations in that document reflecting upon the

commissioners, and in that connection he stated unreservedly to this committee that

he could not prove those statements. This was followed the next day by counsel with-

drawing from the case, and in so far as language and acts could go absolutely aban-

doning the whole proceedings.

Mr. Barker.—^Do you mean to say that counsel abandoned it ?

Mr. Macdonald.—I have had some experience in legal matters and I have never

seen an occasion where a counsel threw up his retainer and walked out of the court

room and threw off his gown if Mr. Hodgins did not do so.

Mr. Barker.—Do you mean to say that Mr. Hodgins, K.C., abandoned the char-

ges ?

Mr. Macdonald.—I do not see who else he could answer for except when he ap-

peared before this committee as counsel for Major Hodgins.

Mr. Barker.—^You used the words that ' he abandoned the charges.'

Mr. Macdonald.—He was simply Major Hodgins, and as Major Hodgins he for-

mally abandoned the proceedings before- the committee as his client had abandoned
his position the day before. It is rather difiicult to find many precedents, although

I have endeavoured to look for them. I have not heard in the very ingenious state-

ment of Mr. Barker any answer to the position which I have attempted to state. I

think that my views are rather confirmed by what he said, except that Mr. Barker

goes on and says that we have been under a very big delusion ever since the 29th of

April, that is was not Major Hodgins' charges that we were investigating, but some
theories of somebody else. In other words, that this committee was not a judicial

body, but a body with roving rights to sit here and hear everj^thing that anybody in

Canada who chanced to come along might say. I say that is not the purpose of this

committee, which was constituted for the purpose of hearing the chnrces which '^^ajor

Hodgins made. Major Hodgins having withdrawn those charges, any further proceed-

ings here would be simply a farce, it would be the play of Hamlet with Hamlet left

out.

Now, as regards the question of classification, my fri'end Mr. Barker indicated

that he and Mr. Lennox entertained the view that section 7 of the agreement does

not provide for the determination of questions such as the difference of opinion

between engineers. I think it is a matter of public knowledge, and a matter of record

in parliament, that this contract or agreement was discussed at very great length by,

I think, Mr. Barker himself, and that Parliament solemnly decided that, anticipating

the fact that there would be a difference of opinion between the engineers as to what
what would be the proper interpretation of the specifications, and as to what would
be proper classification, in the event of differences as to the specifications or in the

cost, the engineers, that is if the engineers of the commission and the engineers of

the company shall differ as to the work (it Stcems to me that the language is pretty

broad, that if thoy shall differ as to the work, as to the constv\iction of the road or

5—29
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what shall be paid for it, as to the meaning of the specification—and Major Hodgins

says that the only thing left now is the question whether his view as an engineer as

to the specifications and their construction, and the work done under them, or that

the view of certain other engineers on these things, is correct—it shall be determined

by the said engineers, and in the event of their disagreement by a third arbitrator to

be chosen in the manner indicated in paragraph 4 of the agreement. I was just going

to say it is a well-known principle of parliamentary law that the powers and duties

of a committee ara limited, marked and defined by the order of reference which

creates them. We have no status, no power, no rights of. any kind whatever except

what are given to us by the order of reference of the 28th of April. We have no

right to do anything, to investigate anything, or to deal with any subject except what
is mentioned there. If somebody appeared in the newspaper to-morrow with charges

of any kind reflecting upon the Transcontinental Commission, that charge could not

be taken up before this committee, because it was not referred to us. Such charge

would have to be dealt with in parliament, where it could be referred to another com-
mittee. That is the only way in which it can reach any committee. We are not a

standing committee of the House, such as the Public Accounts Committee, dealing

with a general range of subjects contained in that order, and while one is disposed

to sympathize with a keen and active opposition which is particularly anxious to

attack the government and condemn it and to investigate matters, gentlemen com-
posing the opposition must realize that the principles of parliamentary government
define the power of the committee, and I have no hesitation whatever in taking the

position that when Major Hodgins abandoned his charges, parliament, the country

and everybody regarded the functions of this committee at an end. That is my
position, Mr. Chairman.

The Chairman.—May I ask, Mr. Barker, what you propose to do now? Supposing

we were to go on what would you propose to do?

Mr. Barker.—I propose to take up every case of over-classification which is ap-

parent on the papers already produced and there are scores of cases already developing

on those papers—to go into those and either prove or disprove them as the case may
be.

The Chairman.—Major Hodgins asked me yesterday if he could expect to be dis-

charged from attendance immediately as he wants to go home. What is the opinion

of the committee? Do I understand that he is now discharged?

Mr. Lennox.—^We are hardly at that stage yet I think.

Mr. Carvell.—It seems to me that is the stage we ought to reach first.

Mr. Lennox.—I think we should first finally decide what shall be done. We have
heard from three members of the committee, and I count myself a fourth, upon that

point. If we decide to do anything further we may want Major Hodgins. So far as

I am concerned I do not think we will, but I would like to say something as to whether
we should proceed with this investigation. My honourable friend, Mr. Macdonald,
made reference to an active opposition. I Jiope it is not because we happen to be of

different political opinions that we chance upon this occasion to differ in our views as

to what should be done. I am prepared to assume that every gentleman on this com-
mittee is sincerely anxious to do what he believes to be absolutely right. No doubt
we come here tinctured to some extent with preconceived opinions that may uncon-
sciously influence our attitude. The desire to be non-partisan is perhaps more in

evidence in a committee of this kind, where there are only a few of us, than it is' in a

large committee like the Public Accounts Committee, and our effort to be judicial

is all the greater. I do not understand then that there is an,y prosecutor at all in this

case. I do not understand that either Major Hodgins or his counsel was prosecutor.

This matter has been referred to us to investigate and we have to shape the course of
the investigation. The question really at issue is as to what was actually referred to
us. I do not understand that this is a matter in which one political side or the other
should be especially interested. This matter has been referred to us by thei (House of
Commons to investigate and what I contend, Mr. Chairman, is this: The matter so
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referred was not whether Major Hodgins could establish his charges or not, it was not

a matter of whether Major Hodgins appeared at all or not ; it was to ascertain whether,

as a matter of fact, a system of improper classification had been adopted npon thd

Transcontinental Kailway. We are expected to inquire into that matter and, as an
incident, and as an incident only, that it was anticipated that Major Hodgins would
be a witness and that he would offer evidence upon that question. It was never con-

templated, when this matter was referred to us, that we would be guided or controlled

in any degree by the personal opinions or by the suggestions of Major Hodgins except

in so far as he could give evidence as a witness. The charges were contained in many
documents. Major Hodgins' letter was one, but only one of those documents. The
scope of the reference to us was not limited by the letter of Major Hodgins, but by
the statements contained in all the documents embodied in the reference.. That is

evident by the form of the resolution (reads) :

^ That the memorandum of the chairman of the Transcontinental Eailway Com-
missioners to the Prime Minister of date the 23rd April, and laid on the table of this

House on the 24th instant, and the papers accompanying the same, together with the

letter of Major Hodgins to the public press therein referred to, be referred to a special

committee of five members, with instructions to investigate the matter and charges

therein mentioned, and that the said committee be composed of
And so forth. To investigate the matters and charges in all those several docu-

ments referred to, not placing one ahead of another, not making one more prominent
or important than another, but putting all exactly on the same plane. And so, Mr.
Chairman, in order to determine the scope of our investigation we have to turn to the

documents and ascertain what are the charges contained in those several documents.

I discussed this question the other day and will not elaborate that view of it par-

ticularly, more than to ,say, that there were a number of newspapers—^the Winnipeg
Free Press, the Ottawa Citizen and the Victoria Golonist—containing Major Hodgins'
letter and certain editorial matter, and the memorandum of the chairman of the

Transcontinental Kailway Commission. Now, just referring for a moment as to what
I think is the scope of this investigation, in Major Hodgins' letter alone, I submit,

there is enough to point out to us that we should inquire—altogether aside from the

presence or absence of fraud—as a matter of fact, whether the bills being sent in from
time to time on behalf of the contractors on the Transcontinental Eailway are larger

than they ought to be. That is the point. This is not a fight between the Grand
Trunk Pacific and the Transcontinental Railway Commission, but an investigation

between the' country on the one hand and the men who are doing the work oni the

other. The men who are doing the work, that is the contractor's and more than these,

the men who are representing the country as our engineers and officials on the road
and at the head office here. In Major Hodgins' letter we find it stated that the root

of the trouble between the commissioners and himself is over-classification. That is

not limited to any particular section of the line. Let us see what he says (reads)

:

' The root of all the trouble between the commissioners and myself is over-classi-

fication. They wanted me to change my ideas, based on a good many years experience

on construction, to classification that is allowed to the contractors in Quebec/
Mr. Carvell.—Do you construe that word ^ over ' to be excessive classification or

does it mean ^ about ' classification ?

Mr. Lennox.—I am not very sure about it. ' The root of the trouble between the

commissioners and myself was over-classification.' Reading it over the other day I

thought he meant exorbitant or high classification.

Mr. Carvell.—I took it to be ' about.'

Mr. Lennox.—It is possible it might be read in another sense but I take it the

trouble was ' over ' classification.

Mr. Carvell.—Excuse me for interrupting you, I merely wanted to know your
views.

5—29J
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Mr. Barker.—It means ' over ' classification.

Mr. Lennox.—In making this point clear I attach less significance, as far as this

inquiry is concerned, to the position of Major Hodgins and to his letters, without dis-

paraging him in any sense, than I do to the larger question disclosed by the docu-

ments brought down during the progress of this investigation,' the documentary evi-

dence placed before the committee showing as it does, large questions in dispute and a

persistent statement by interested parties that there is very general over-classification

both on the Quebec and Winnipeg sections of the line. Now Major Hodgins goes on
to say (reads)

:

' It was suggested that I should ignore the chief engineer and act independently,

that the chief engineer liked to be ignored.* I refused to be more liberal in classifica-

tion than I was then allowing, and suggested that the commissioners not being rail-

road men should leave the engineering department alone.

' Mr. C. A. Young, commissioner for Manitoba, then advised that I should go to

Quebec and see how things were managed in that district, where contractors were not

kicking, and get an object lesson. I went, and returned determined not to allow Que-

bec classification to be introduced into the western district as long as I remained in

charge. This, of course, led to trouble, and I got no assistance from the chief

engineer.'

Major Hodgins initiated this issue. It is not a matter of prime importance

whether he can incidentally sustain it or not. He goes on to say (reads) :

' The quickest way for the government to find out if the classification allowed is

extravagant or not will be for the Minister of Railways to ask for the monthly

reports of the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway engineers, who are stationed on the Win-
nipeg district and the Quebec district, Messrs. Mann, Heaman and Armstrong; these

reports are, I think, sent to the assistant chief engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific

in Montreal. These engineers are well known in the west, and their reports contain

much more information on the subject than I have.'

So that even if we were confined to the statements of Major Hodgins alone, in

his letter he opens up the clear charge of over-classification from one end of the line

to the other. Then he says, and that is all I need quote from the letter (reads) :

' As I have already mentioned, let the government ask for the reports and opinions

of engineers who are safeguarding the Grand Trunk Pacific interests, and judge for

themselves if Mr. Parent is correct in his standard of classification, or extravagant.'

Now the 'Free Press' of Winnipeg said in its issue of April 18th last (reads) :

' Alleging broadly that millions of dollars is being wasted or stolen in the con-

struction of the government portion of the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway, Major A. E.

Hodgins, C.E., has issued a letter, the object of which is to procure an administrative

investigation, &e.'

And then it goes on to say (reads) :

' The pith of his charges is that the Grand Trunk Pacific engineers' reports and
those in the employ of the government do not tally; that the government is paying
padded accounts for the work done, and that the Grand Trunk Pacific people are

making no objection because they merely have to pay the added interest.'

Here is the allegation in this paper that there is collusion between the Grand
Trunk Pacific and the Transcontinental Railway Commission. That is just as much
of a charge demanding investigation, in the interest of the country, as any charge
contained in Major Hodgins' letter. And then at page 10 of the printed record we
find an extract from the Ottawa ' Citizen ' of April 22nd last (reads) :

' Troubles are coming fast and thick upon the Laurier administration. The latest

are the public charges made by Major Hodgins, late district engineer for four hun-
dred miles of the government end of the Transcontinental Railway. The essence of

his statement is that millions of dollars are being boodled in connection with this gov-

ernment work. Names and figures are given and the allegation is made that he was



MINUTES OF EVIDENCE 453

APPENDIX No. 5

forced out of his position because he refused to be the tool of the boodlers. His pro-

fessional record and admitted ability give due weight to the assertions which he

boldly makes. The charges cover not only his former division but apply to the con-

struction of the whole line through Quebec/
That also was referred to.

Mr. Macdonald.—Would you say that the wild talk of every Conservative news-
paper in the country in regard to the Transcontinental Kailway Commission is before

this committee?

Mr. Lennox.—No, I do not.

Mr. Macdonald.—These wild comments which are absolutely meaningless as far

as practical businesslike statement is concerned.

Mr. Barker.—The chairman of the Transcontinental Eailway Commission him-
self raised that question and said that he could not remain under these rumors.

Mr. Macdonald.—If you will read the memorandum of the chairman of the

commission at page 15 you will see that he sent the newspaper clippings along to

show the publicity which had been given to Major Hodgins' statement.

Mr. Lennox. I will say this in answer to my honourable friend: that we are not

concerned with the general charges, wild or otherwise, of the Conservative press,

but we are concerned with the statements in the documents referred to us. The
instructions of the House of Commons were to investigate ' the matter and
charges therein mentioned,' and I do submit with the greatest confidence as to

what the ultimate judgment in this matter will be, that we cannot place the charges

contained in any one of these statements ahead of the charges contained in another.

Mr. Parent collected what he thought was material and attached to his letter these

various newspaper extracts.

Mr. Macdonald.—To show the publicity given to them. I ask my honourable

friend whether it is not fair to say that all these newspaper comments were intro-

duced to show the publicity that had been given to Major Hodgins' statements?

Mr. Lennox.—My honourable friend Mr. Macdonald, may be quite right but I do

not understand it in that way. I do not want to go beyond Mr. Parent's own state-

ment. Let me here interject what Mr. Parent said in summing up. He says (reads)

:

' You will find attached newspaper clippings in reference to Major Hodgins' let-

ter and all correspondence relating to the circumstances of his dismissal ; also a letter

from our chief engineer, Mr. Lumsden, on the same subject.

'

^ In conclusion, the commissioners would respectfully request, as they do not wish

to remain under the aspersion which such reports cast on them, that the whole matter

be referred to and looked into by committee of the House and that Major Hodgins be

assigned to appear before the same to repeat his charges in a specific manner in order

to substantiate them if he can.

'

Now I think it is only fair to say that we are not controlled altogether, or con-

trolled very much probably, by the terms of this letter. It does not necessarily

control the Order of Eeference. Now we also know that in the editorial matter of

the Colonist, which I need not read, there are very sweeping charges of over-classifi-

cation, not the charges that Major Hodgins filed, or that he could to the fullest extent

substantiate, or adopt. Major Hodgins in this matter is only the initiating party.

The matter got beyond Major Hodgins within a day or two and when it had assumed
a certain phase the government took it in hand and said, ' We will refer this whole
matter to be investigated by a committee. ' But I will also say this : that we are not
driven to a question of difficult construction of the meaning of the reference because

every* member of this committee is upon record in reference to it. I repeat, 'Mr.

chairman, every member is on record including yo\irself—although you have not yet

to-day expressed any opinion—as to what we ought to investigate, and every member,
if I construe his utterances properly, has said that our investigation goes beyond
Major Hodgins' charges aud is not controlled, or to be guided in any way. by the

attitude which Major Hodgins may hn])pt'ii (o iwkv. Turning to page 74.—A discussio"'



454 SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON MAJOR HODGINS' CHARGES

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

is taking place as to what Mr. Hodgins shall put in as his synopsis of his case. Let

me quote from the discussion (reads)

;

' Mr. HoDGiNS.—I think I read one of the cuttings some days ago.

' Mr. Carvell.—I presume you would admit, in case the formal charges which

you may make here as representing Major Hodgins did not include everything in

reference to this committee, that the committee would still have the right to go on

and enquire into the foundation in the charges in the newspapers and in the refer-

ence.
'

Now that is pretty definite (reads) :

^ Mr. Hodgins.—I did not quite catch your question ?

' Mr. Carvell.—In case the formal charges you will prefer do not include every-

thing mentioned in the reference, you will admit the committee have the power to

go further and investigate everything that is in the reference.

'

In other words, if Major Hodgins had hacked out completely at first, as he did

not, or at the last, as he did, it does not affect what is referred to us to investigate;

our right, or rather I should say our duty, to proceed in this matter is only limited, if

at all, by the impossibility of carrying out what has been entrusted to us. If we can

proceed we should allow no difficulty, such as that of Major Hodgins changing his

mind, to prevent us from going on. But let me quote further from the discussion

(reads) :

' Mr. Maodonald.—^It being understood—I think Mr. Parent has so understood

and I understand Mr. Hodgins, K.C., to say so—that the memorandum he proposes to

submit to us does not relate to anything outside of what has been already referred

to the committee in the papers but is only a summarization of the allegations contained

in the newspapers.'

Mr. Maodonald.—Certainly. Do you mean to suggest that I said we could inves-

tigate anything more than is contained in the charges?

Mr. Lennox.—Some of the statements made here are perfectly definite you will

find. Of course, I do not want to force my argument upon the judgment of any
honourable friend.

Mr. Maodonald.—^You will find some difficulty in supporting your contention from
anything that I said.

Mr. Lennox.—I do not say that every one of the sentences quoted are conclusive

but they go to bear out my contention. Let me proceed with the quotation (reads)

:

^ Mr. Carvell.—And does not necessarily curtail our rights.

'Mr. Lennox.—Does not either enlarge or curtail.

' Mr. Parent.—I know what is coming, gentlemen, Mr. Hodgins said so a minute
ago. What he wants is larger scope.

' Mr. Maodonald*-,—There will be no larger scope, he has to confine hin^^elf to the

reference.'

Mr. Maodonald.—Hear, hear. »

Mr. Lennox.—That is all tight. It is not conclusive, I admit.

Mr. Maodonald.—It is conclusive against you.

Mr. Lennox.—^I say myself, and I have said from first to last and my honourable
friend will agree with me, that we must be confined to the reference, but that it

gives us larger powers and imposes upon us larger duties than my honourable friend

admits. But to quote once more (reads)

:

' Mr. Carvell.—I am afraid Mr. Parent has misunderstood the object of the dis-

cussion?

' Mr. Parent.—No, I have not.
' Mr. Carvell.—I think it is in the minds of every member of the committee that

we will not allow Mr. Hodgins to enlarge his charges as contained in the newspaper
reports.

' Mr. Barker.—Nor reduce them.
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* Mr. Carvell.—If he proposes to reduce them then so far as I am concerDed

speaking for my own part, I would say we ought to stand by the reference to the com-
mittee and after Major Hodgins makes his charges then we will know what course to

pursue.'

Some of these statements are not definite, but that is definite and positive I submit
(reads) :

' Mr. Lennox.—With all due respect we must confine ourselves at present to deter-

mining what is the best procdure to follow in order to carry out what has been refer-

red to us. That we are endeavouring to do. The charges made by Major Hedging
will be, to some extent, perhaps, of assistance to us; but we have to travel exactly

upon the lines of what has been referred to us^ neither enlarging nor circumscribing

them. That fact does not relieve us from the duty of pursuing the matter just as it

has been referred to us nor from investigating all the questions referred. I think
every member of the committee understands that.

'Mr. Carvell.—Yes.'

That is pretty definite.

Mr. Carvell.—I have not departed from that attitude, Mr. Lennox.
Mr. Lennox.—It is not my object to raise any greater number of debatable points

than are inevitable and I am not saying that my honourable friends are wrong. I am
only presenting my views and I am at the same time very clear in the conviction that

they are right. JSTow, on the next page (reads)

:

' Mr. Carvell.—I do not think that was the intention of the committee, though.
' The Chairman.—The committee will not allow you to make new charges. As I

understand it we will take those charges that have been made in the public press.'

That is what the chairman said and he is the greatest authority we have.

Mr. Macdonald.—That is right. He made the charges in the public press.

Mr. Lennox.—My honourable friend says that is right. What are the charges in

the public press ? If you take the newspaper clippings which have been referred to us

you will find they contain charges of the most flagrant character, of boodling.

Mr. Macdonald.—Does that refer to the alleged interview?

Mr. Barker.—It is in the press clippings attached to the reference.

Mr. Lennox.—The charges that are contained in the press.

Mr. Macdonald.—I thought you stated a while ago that the wild talk of irres-

ponsible newspapers was not to be regarded ?

Mr. Lennox.—No. If you take the wild talk of irresponsible newspapers, or any
newspapers, subsequent to the 28th" of April, or outside of the documents referred to

us and they are not to be investigated. Now the chairman in the discussion from
which I have been quoting stated (reads) :

' The Chairman.—The Committee will not allow you to make charges. As I

understand we will take those charges that have been made in the public press.'

What I am claiming, Mr. Chairman, is this : That at the beginning of this trans-

action we all understood it exactly in the same way.

Mr. Macdonald.—Not at all. I absolutely disclaim any interpretation you choose

to put on anything I have said. I have said nothing before or since except that we
are to investigate what is contained in Major Hodgins' charges. There is no language

of mine that will bear any other interpretation.

Mr. Lennox.—I am not saying that my honourable friend is right or wrong. I

am simply giving his language to the committee.

Mr. Macdonald.—^Very well let us have it, Mr. Lennox.

Mr. Lennox.—I am not going to repeat it.

Mr. Macdonald.—You cannot quote one word of mine since the beginning of this

case that would justify the intorprotation you seek to make.

Mr. Lennox.—I am not going to indicate anything except what I have read and

am about to read.
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Mr. Macdonald.—You may read all that you can find and you will discover noth-

ing that will indicate that your contention is correct.

Mr. Lennox.—Please allow me to go on.

Mr. Macdonald.—Why do you persist in saying that which is not correct ?

Mr. Lennox.—What am I saying that is not correct ?

Mr. Macdonald.—That at various stages of this inquiry I had made the statement

that I regarded the purpose of the inquiry to be along the lines you state.

Mr. Lennox.—I am not aware of having said anything of the kind.

Mr. Macdonald.—What is it you say then ?

Mr. Lennox.—I have simply read statements that I ^ay bear out this construc-

tion: that at the beginning of this investigation all the members of the committee

viewed it in the same way.

Mr. Carvell.—All agreed that we would not go outside the reference and now the

question comes down to what is in the reference.

Mr. Lennox.—I do not think that the mode of procedure is exactly fair.

Mr. Carvell.—I beg your pardon. It seems to me you are reading from these

pages to show that we would not go outside of the reference.

Mr. Lennox.—If the quotations that I am giving do not bear the construction 1

put upon them then my argument falls to the ground.

Mr. Macdonald.—It is a construction of what the reference means.

Mr. Lennox.—Yes, and I first dealt with the reference. I say that the reference

on the face of it shows the scope of this inquiry to be as wide as I claim it to be.

Then I referred to the charges contained in the newspapers. The next point is how
we understood the reference to us and how we are going to conduct this inquiry. Now
let me quote further from the discussion at page T8 (reads)

:

' Mr. Macdonald.—I think we are playing at cross-purposes. I think what Mr.

Hodgins, K.C., means is this : He proposes to indicate out of this letter and interview

in the paper what particular portions be proposes to prove.'

'Mr. Carvell.—If he stands by that there is no objection.

' Macdonald.—That is how I understand it, and the committee have the right

to investigate everything contained in the Order of the Reference.'

Mr. Macdonald.—Hear, hear. Let me direct my honourable friend's attention to

the point at issue. What I said before was this : That Mr. Hodgins, K.C. was pro-

posing to indicate out of Major Hodgins' letter and interview what particular por-

tions he proposed to prove and I said that I understood we had the right to investi-

gate everything contained in that letter and interview even supposing he did not pro-

pose to prove it or that he did not state it.

Mr. Lennox.—Quite so.

Mr. Macdonald.—Well, Major Hodgins abandoned everything in the letter and
interview and disclaimed it.

Mr. Lennox.—My honourable friend will allow mc now (reads) :

' Mr. Parent.—We have been accused in the newspapers
' The Chairman.—Yes, it has been spread all over the country.
' Mr, Parent.—If the gentleman is allowed to limit his charges, I suppose the

evidence will be confined to that ?

'Mr. Carvell.—Oh, no.'

Now it is argued that because Major Hodgins thinks fit to say that he does

not want to pursue this matter, therefore, we are to abandon it. But at that time it

was suggested that even if he limited his charges, the evidence would not be confined

to that. You will notice that Mr. Carvell declares ' Oh, no, ' and then Mr. Macdonald
made the statement ' Do not worry about that.

'

Mr. Macdonald.—Certainly. The major has not asked to limit his charges but he
has abandoned the whole of them.

Mr. Lennox.—Mr. Chairman, I must appeal to my honourable friend not to inter-

rupt-
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Mr. Macdoxald.—.1 object to my honourable friend misreresenting my position or

trying to argue that I ever took a position similar to the one that he is taking now.

I absolutely disclaim it.

Mr. Lennox.—I do not know that my honourable friend makes it any better.

Mr. Macdonald.—It would be fair and manly for you to say that you are mistaken
in the language.

Mr. Lennox.—I submit that my honourable friend has no right whatever to make
that remark. I have been manly to the extent of reading just what is on the record

almost without questioning the honesty or fairness of their intentions. I claim the

same consideration for myself. I think I may consider myself to be fairly honest but

I will not put myself in contrast with any of my honourable friends.

Mr. Macdonald.—The matter has not reached that stage. I must confess that I do

not see what your position is.

Mr. Lennox.—My honourable friend is either very obtuse or else I have failed

to express myself clearly. The question referred to us is whether the classification

on the Transcontinental Railway is too high or whether it is right. That was the

matter referred to us.

Mr. Macdonald.—Nothing else?

Mr. Lennox.—^Not the question what Major Hodgins will substantiate or fail to

substantiate, but to find out whether the bills sent in for work on this railway are too

large and the country being robbed. That was referred to us at a time when all that

existed with reference to this arbitration was well known, when every step with refer-

ence to it, so far as we have any evidence, had been taken as far as it is to-day; and
there is no argument that could be advanced to-day in favour of leaving this matter

to arbitration than was .present to the mind of the Premier when he referred this

matter to us.

Mr. Macdonald.—We are not as yet very much clearer as to what Mr. Lennox
is trying to show.

Mr. Lennox.—I do not want to try and force conclusions into my honourable

friend's mind. I will try and lodge them somewhere else though, (reads),:

' The Chairman.—We will have the right to examine Major Hodgins on the rest

of the charges which he may drop, even if he does not prefer them.
' Mr. Parent.—As far as we are concerned we would like to go through the whole

of the charges contained in these newspapers.

Mr. Hodgins.—Let me say that I have not asked to dro any charges. It may
happen that when Major Hodgins prefers his charges there may be omitted matters

which have been referred to us. Nevertheless although he may not claim to be able

to establish it, we can investigate the matter, as it has been refered to us.

' The Chairman.—I understand the fear enterta'ned by Mr. Parent to be this : These
charges having been printed in the newspapers and circulated all over the Dominion
it would not be fair that any of the charges or points dealt with in the newspaper
articles should be dropped altogether.

' Mr. Barker.—Oh, no.

' The Chairman.—I understand it to be the feeling of the committee that they

should not be dropped.
' Mr. Hodgins.—I desire to repeat again that that is ^Ir. Parent's suggestion, not

mine.

'Mr. Lennox.—We will allow nothing to be dropped.

That concluded the whole matter. So that I submit whatever ditliculty may
arise between us now as to our powers, a reasonable interpretation of

the language I have read would be : First, that t he proper construction of

the order of reference is that we shall investigate the question of classi-

fication on the Trnuscoutlneutal Pnilway, without going into any distinc-

tion a s to liow or with whtuu, th(^ cliarm-s :irisi> and dealing only with such -engin-

eering questions as are necessary and incidental to a finding on the question of class-
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ification as a question of fact; in a word, whether more is being charged and paid
for upon the line than ought to be charged for and returned and paid. Now that is

the scope of the reference. That I submit, from the quotations I have read, was the

attitude of members of this committee when the investigation began.

Now, questions of very great importance with respect to classification not only on the

Quebec division, but also on the western division of the Transcontinental Eailway^

have arisen; that is perfectly apparent from the correspondence that was brought
down and placed before the committee. Upon that point I do not wish to delay the

committee, because I think my friend Mr. Barker will refer to some of the letters

dealing with classification, further than that I want to refer briefly to the question of

arbitration. Let me say that on the 28th April, when this- matter was being referred

to us, the question of a reference to arbitration wag then in existence just as jmuch as

it is to-day. The Prime Minister, and presumably every member of the House, knew
of that fact as well as we know it to-day. There was the agreement of the 10th

January by which it was provided that certain questions, as between the Grand
Trunk Pacific and the Transcontinental Commission, should be determined by arbi-

tration, doubtless acting under clause Y of the main contract between the company and
the government. With that knowledge the Prime Minister saw fit to move, and the

House saw fit to agree, that this matter should be referred to us to investigate'. What
right, therefore, have we to take the suggestion of Major Hodgins that he thinks it

would be better to have this question investigated by experts ? What right have we to

accept this suggestion that he thinks this matter could be better worked out under the

provisions of section 7, Or what right have we to adopt the suggestion of any other

person in that respect, when the Order of the House of Commons was that we should,

notwithstanding those facts, go on and investigate? And aside from that is there not

another reason why this matter should be investigated by us ? This inquiry is a matter

between the people and the commission on the one side and the contractors on the

other. The reference provided for by the contract of the 10th January is a question

not between the people and the commission, but between the commission, representing

the country, and the Grand Trunk Pacific Eailway Company. The question here is an
entirely different one. In the matter referred to us the railway company have no right

to intervene. In this case the Hallway Commission are upon trial. In the other case

they will, or should, be active parties asserting the interests of the country. The con-

trast is as great as can possibly be drawn. There can be no more distinct contract

than is presented by a view—a very brief view—of the situation such as I have just

indicated.

Mr. Carvell.—I do not want to interrupt you in this speech that you are making
but would it not be better to discuss this matter in the light of what we can do?
Later on we can make our speeches.

Mr. Lennox.—^Well, I do not J^now that. I have not been intentionally doing
anything wrong.

Mr. Carvell.—I do not charge that you are.

Mr. Lennox.—I am not intentionally going astray.

Mr. Carvell.—^You can repeat the speech in the House and there obtain wider

publicity and a better audience.

Mr. Lennox.—It would perhaps meet the case if I spoke in a lower key.

Mr. Carvell.—I am afraid you are departing from the judicial attitude that you
wished to pursue.

Mr. Lennox.—I will get down to where we ought to, be. I repeat that in the one

case the investigation is one in which is the commission is ranged on one side and
the railway company on the other. In that case the commission necessarily is acting

for the people. In this investigation the commission—I do not mean at present that

they are subject to any damaging innuendoes—are on trial and the trial is to find out

whether or not over-classification prevailed upon the railway line of which they have
the management and control.

Now, I come to the question of the reference and the provision which has been
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read out to us, clause 7. I said the other night when I heard the clause read, that I
was not sure that it in any way covers, or could possibly cover, the matter that we are

now dealing- with. I have found out since by reading the documents produced! that

that view is entirely sustained by weighty legal authority and was recognized evidently

by the commission long before this investigation took place. Section 7 of the Act for

the construction of the Transcontinental Railway reads as follows (reads) :

' In order to insure, for the protection of the company as lessees of the eastern

division of the said railway, the economical construction thereof in such a manner
that it can be operated to the best advantage, it is hereby agreed that the specifications

for the construction of the eastern division shall be submitted to, and approved of by,

the company before the commencement of the work, and that the said work shall be

done according to the said specifications and shall be subject to the joint supervision,

inspection and acceptance of the chief engineer appointed by the government and the

chief engineer of the company, and, in the event of differences as to the specifications,

or in case the said engineers shall differ to the work, the questions in dispute shall be

determined by the said engineers and a third arbitrator, to be chosen in the manner
provided in paragraph four of this agreement.'

Now this provides for two things: In the event of differences arising between

the two engineers as to ' the specifications,' or in the case of engineers shall differ as

to ' the work,' then there shall be a reference. Now what is the meaning of ' differ-

ences as to the specifications ?' It means that in order that there shall be a workable

road—as is said here ' economical construction thereof in such a manner that it can

be operated to the best advantage '—the company is given a voice in the framing of

these specifications. Their engineers are to consult with the engineers of the Trans-

continental Commission as to whether the specifications should be this or that and of

what standard the road shall be; what the class of road shall be so that it can be

economically and advantageously operated. That is the first point and if they differ

as to that before the work commences that is to be determined by reference as provided.

The other point is, as to whether or not, as a matter of fact, the work, when it is

built or is being built, has been built or is being built in accordance with the terms

of these specifications as they are worded and nothing else.

Mr. Barker.—Is the work being done ?

Mr. Lennox.—Is the work being done according to the plans, is it up to the

standard provided in the specifications ? First it is determined what the requirements

shall be, what class of road is to be built, secondly the company is to have a voice in

saying whether it is built in that way or not.

Mr. Murphy.—Will my learned friend permit me to ask him a question ?

Mr. Lennox.—Yes.

Mr. Murphy.—Do I understand you to argue that in the preparation of the

specifications, when they reached the stage that they shall be submitted to the com-
pany, if there is a difference then between the company and the Transcontinental

Railway Commission, that difference would be submitted to arbitration ?

Mr. Lennox.—To arbitration as I understand it.

Mr. Murphy.—As to the text ?

Mr. Lennox.—As to the text. That is determining the standard of the road, and
if there is a difference as to the standard that must be determined before the com-
mencement of the work The other point is as to whether, when the work is being
done or after it has been done, it has been built according to what is there defined.

If that argument is right then it becomes an absolute absurdity to argue that such a

reference covers the matter we are here dealing with. Now, sir, I find in the papers
brought down, a letter from contractors Macdonald and O'Brien complaining of the

interference of the Grand Trunk Paciiic Railway Company and they point out. in

what seems to be a very elaborate way for contractors and in a lengthy legal argu-
ment, that the construction of the statute is on the lines I have been arguing, and
that the company have no right to intervene at all. I am not intorostod in that point

«
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just now. However, the matter was referred by Mr. Ryan, under the authority of the

commission, to Mr. Atkinson, the law clerk, and the latter gives this construction of

the law which I propose to read. Let me say, before I do read the letter, that I am
not going to argue that on the construction of section 7 the question of ultimate cost

may not come in upon a liberal or strained construction of the section. I believe that

was probably one of the objects in view at the time of framing it, but I am prepared

to say, without any qualification, that it is not the legal construction of the clause, and
that although the country will no doubt accede to that proposition when the time

comes and must do so in order to keep faith with the railway company, it is not the

legitimate construction of that clause and never would cover it in a court of law if

it came to a matter of litigation.

Mr. Macdonald.—When the engineers differ as to the work, that is to be referred.

Mr. Lennox.—I am going to confine myself to the reading of this letter. It is

better expressed, perhaps, than I could put it. It (was my idea when I gave some
attention to this point first and I was very pleased at finding this letter.

Mr. Macdonald.—It is a good thing to have a ease.

Mr. Lennox.—The letter is as follows (reads) :

'Ottawa, Nov. 7, 1907.

P. E. Eyan, Esq.,

Secretary.

Dear Sir.—Yours of the 4th instant with copy of letter from Contractors Mac-
donell and O'Brien, dated October 31st, ult., has been considered, and in reply beg to

report that I concur v/ith the view taken by the contractors so far as it concerns tlie

rights and powers of the engineers of the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway Company, in

relation to the question of classification under the contract and specifications as be-

tween the contractor and the commissioners. The letter is evidently the production

of a lawyer who has carefully analyzed the Act.

I might say, however, that after the specifications have been agreed on and the

contract for the work entered into, they are annexed to and form a part of the con-

tract. Section 7 of the Act provides that 'the said work shall be done according to

the said specifications.' Paragraphs 33 and 35 of the specifications provide that classi-

fication shall be under the control of the engineer, that is, the engineer as defined in

clause 2 of the contract, namely: The chief engineer of the commissioners, he and
his assistant engineers are invested with full powers in regard to classification, as

between the contractor and the commissioners.

The Grand Trunk Pacific Company approved of the specifications before the

work began, and then so far as the work is concerned its right is limited by the x\ct

to supervision, inspection and acceptance through their chief engineer acting jointly

with the chief engineer of the government, and which is a matter between the govern-

ment and the company.
I can find nothing in the statutes or the contract whereby the company has a

right to interefere in the matter of classification as between the contractor and the

commissioners.

I do not agree with the opinion of the contractors that in the event of difference

between the two engineers as to whether the work is carried out in accordance with the

plans and specifications, that arbitration only could take place on the completion of

the whole, or at least a section of the work. It might well happen that during the

progress of the work differences would arise between the two engineers that would
have to be settled by arbitration, otherwise the joint supervision and inspection would
be comparatively futile.

I am, yours very truly,

H. ATKINSOK
Law Clerk.

The writer of the letter says that the first point in the statute was carried out
before the work began, that is to say the form of specification was agreed upon. The
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opinion was expressed that no arbitration could arise until the end of all the work.

Mr. Atkinson does not agree with that. Furthermore, this clause should not, if his

construction of the law is right, should not, and could not, be invoked for a matter

such as we have here. I submit that we have not had brought down, although there

has been an abundance of legal opinions in connection with this case, any legal opinion

controverting that interpretation.

Now there are a number of papers which ought to be referred. I do not know
whether all the members of the committee have been carefully following and reading

the documents laid before us from time to time. If not, they do not realize, and

cannot realize, what an enormous, what a vital, question is at issue here; what an
enormous amount there is at stake in this investigation. The position, as I submit,

is this: before the money is paid to the contractor, before the injury has been done,

before the loss has been sustained let us take the step that will put us right. Let us

find out whether there is or is not improper classification on the Transcontinental

line. It is in the interest of the people. Let us find out incidentally whether those

who have been placed in charge should be in charge. Some of my honourable friends

say that this is a matter in which the engineer is all powerful but if that is the case

it is all the more important that we should know whether our rights are being protected

or not, whether, as a matter of fact, enormous over-classification exists on that line

or not.

Mr. Macdonald.—Would not the decision of the Board of Arbitration, if it is a

board under section 7 to determine the amount the country has to pay, in

any event, as a matter of fact, be law? I think so, and I think it would be main-
tained by the courts of the country.

Mr. Lennox.—^If there is an arbitration, such as my honourable friend speaks of,

between the Grand Trunk Pacific and the Railway Commission, it is merely to deter-

mine what interest shall be paid. The contractors are not parties to that and they

are not bound by it; and if the chief engineer of the Transcontinental Railway Com-
mission has once certified improperly that an item shall pass, there is no power in

this country that will prevent the contractor from recovering the money. There is

no power that will prevent its recovery for this reason: the contract says the certifi-

cate of the engineer shall be final, and some of my honourable friends on the com-
mittee have invoked it as an argument. I want to turn it in the other direction and

show you that the determination of this question between the Grand Trunk Pacific

and the Transcontinental Commission does not decide what we ought to do and does

not restore to the treasury the money which has gone and has been going, according

to the evidence given here, under circumstances which at least call very distinctly for

an investigation, which call for us, as I submit, to be on the alert now and to prevent

this evil, if it has existed, from going on any longer. If we go on paying this money,
under the certificates of the resident engineer and the various engineers, who come in

between him and the chief engineer, and on the certificate of the chief engineer, when
the money is paid there is no power that can recover that money even if these con-

tractors all remain solvent. If it is found that $28,000,000, or half of that sum, or

any amount at all, has been over-paid, the country will be at the loss, and it will not

relieve the people at all that in the arbitration between the commission and the Grand
Trunin Pacific that item is reduced. It is too much to hope that after my friend. Mr.
Barker, has also called attention to the evidence that has been submitted and the

documents that have been produced, we will have a majority of this connnittoe in

favour of going on with the investigation? It is what parliament expected us to do,

it is what the country expects us to do, and it is what we sho\ild do. It may be a

difficult matter, it may involve a great deal of work, but I think that having under-
taken this investigation we certainly ought to go on and complete our work.

Mr. Oarvell.—I know you gentlemen will not listen to a long legal argument from
mo in reply to my learned friend and I am not going to inflict one upon you. I wish,
however, to point out some of the inaccuracies, as I view them, in his very lengthy
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and somewhat legal argument. My honourable friend has read an opinion submitted
to the Transcontinental Eailway Commission on the 7th November last, as a justi-

fication for the position which he takes in which the law clerk claims, among other

things, that the board of arbitration has not the broad rights over the question of

classification that the Grand Trunk Pacific Eailway Company maintain they have.

I am bound to say as I read the statute I would not come to the same conclusion as

Mr. Atkinson does. I say it with all due deference to Mr. Atkinson, a gentleman
whose ability I recognize and appreciate very highly. Still I cannot construe the

statute exactly as he does. However, that has very little to do with the case because

for fear that might be the proper construction of the contract, a new contract was
entered into shortly afterwards, on the 10th January, 1908, between the commis-
sioners and the Grand Trunk Pacific by which they absolutely prevented

Mr. Barker.—Eead the first line of the contract.

Mr. Carvell.—By which they absolutely prevented any possibility of loss occur-

ring to the country through the proper or improper construction of this contract and
in this second contract of the 10th January it is provided as follows : (reads) : .

' Monthly estimates for contractors '

—

Mr. Barker.—Oh, no, please read it from the beginning.

Mr. Carvell.—' Memorandum of Agreement to be drawn up '

Mr. Barker.—' To be drawn up.

'

Mr. Carvell.—Certainly, what in the world are you talking about?

Mr. Barker.—Talking about English. That is an agreement to be drawn up.

Mr. Carvell.—If that is not splitting hairs I don't know what you call it. Does
Mr. Barker mean to say this contract is not in existence?

Mr. Barker.—It is good enough as far as it goes.

• Mr. Carvell.—There is a document exactly in these terms signed by the two
bodies. If you want it we will produce it.

Mr. Barker.—I think it is very important myself.

Mr. Carvell.—I don't think my honourable friend is doing himself justice. I

want to know in the first place does he think the commission would produce a docu-

ment that they put forward as a memorandum of agreement that never was completed?

If he does let us stop right now.

Mr. Barker.—I ask you to read what is in i4

Mr. Carvell.—I will read it but I will ask my honourable friend to be fair.

Mr. Barker.—I want you to be fair.

Mr. Carvell.—^My honourable friend is not out on the stump, for which he is

irresponsible, but here on an important committee. He is saying something that I

think he will consider on reflection he should not have said.

Mr. Barker.—I objected to you beginning to read in the middle of an agreement.

Mr. Carvell.—I will state here on my reputation as a member of this House that

this is an exact copy of an agreement which exists. I have never seen the original

itself, but I will state that. If I cannot produce it to my honourable friend I will

withdraw what I have said.

Mi^ Barker.—I do not dispute that the agreement exists but I object to your
reading only half of it.

The Chairman.—I suppose Mr. Carvell has a right to read it as he pleases and

then you, Mr. Barker, can read it afterwards.

Mr. Barker.—^-The honourable gentleman is reading as an agreement entered into,

an agreement that professes to be entered into.

Mr. Carvell.—I am going to read it anyway and then my honourable friend can
discuss it. He can deny its existence if he wishes to.

Mr. Barker.—I do not deny its existence.

Mr. Carvell : (Eeads) :

* Monthly estimates for contractors shall be submitted promptly from time to time
by the chief engineer of the commissioners to the company's assistant chief engineer
at Montreal for approval. If he has any objection to such estimates he shall promptly
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file the same with the chief engineer of the commissioners, and any objections from

time to time filed shall thereupon be considered and, if possible, determined by the

said engineers, and in case of their failure to agree, may then or at any time before

or at the time of the final payment, at the option of either party, be considered and
determined by arbitration as provided in the agreement of the 29th July, 1903, but

in no case shall the payment of monthly estimates be delayed except with the consent

of the commissioners.
' In case the chief engineer of the commissioners and the assistant chief engineer

of the company disagree as to the final payment, the same shall be withheld until

the matter is determined by arbitration as provided in the said agreement of 29th July,

1903.
'

Mr. Barker.—Who signs that?

Mr. Carvell.—The initials on the side of the sheet are ' C. M. H.' That would
be C. M. Hays. ' H. D. L. that would be H. D. Lumsden. ' S. K P. that would
be S. N. Parent, chairman of the commission.

Mir. Lennox.—I would like to ask Mr. Carvell a question. I would like to know
from him, as an able lawyer, whether he thinks, assuming that agreement to be
just as he finds it, that the chairman of the commission, or the commission as a whole,

has any power whatever to make such an agreement ? As a matter of fact are their

powers in dealing with this railway company not confined to the statute that we passed?
Mr. Carvell.—I will answer that by asking another question. If the commission

do make an agreement like this and stand by it, is the country damaged any?
Mr. Lennox.—It may be very greatly damaged.

Mr. Carvell.—Then I will take issue with you. As I said some time before the
interruption of my honourable friend

Mr. Lennox.—You did not answer my question.

Mr. Carvell.—If you want a categorical answer I say that I think they have a
right to make the agreement. They have made the agreement and they are living up
to it. It was made for fear the view of the law clerk might be correct that elause T'

of the original agreement did not provide for classification, l^ow, sir, we do not want
to forget that by the statute creating this commission the contractor who enters into

an agreement with them agrees that the certificate of the chief engineer shall be final.

Therefore, that disposes of the whole mare's nest which my honourable friend, Mr.
Lennox, has conjured up in his mind as to what would happen if these contractors

were paid their money and the country would never get it back. It simply gets down
to this, that the chief engineer of the commission is the sole arbiter between the com-
mission and the contractors, all that he has to do if he finds over-classification has

been reported for one month is to cut out an equal amount for the next month, or

successive months thereafter, as soon as the amount is determined, and the conti*actor

has to accept the amount which the chief engineer awards to him for the month in

question. In that way the over payment is withdrawn and the country is protected.

That gets rid of the difficulties which my honourable friend Mr. Lennox has conjured

up in his mind. Now, to go back just for a moment. My friend spent half an hour

of our valuable time reading the opinions of different members of this committee at,

I think, our first session as to the scope of this investigation, and he read the opinion

of practically every member of the committee stating that no matter what ^Ii^gor

Hodgins' counsel would include in his charge we were bound by the referonoo. we
would not go beyond it, but would go to the full extent of the reference. But he did

not read one word by any member of this committee as to what they considered was

the proper scope of the reference, and I am a little disappointed in my honourable

friend for taking that one-sided view. If he had referred to page 81 he would have

found that I, as one member of this committee, stated wliat my views were as to thei

scope of the reference. I would ask my honourable friend to look it up while I read

it. I took exactly the same view at the inception of this committee that I take to-

day. I took the view then that this committee was not appointed for the purpose of
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deciding whether the engineers were right in their classification, in their individuai

cases, or not. I take that position to-day and for the benefit of my honourable friend

I will read what I stated. There had been a discussion going on at the sitting of the

committee referred to as to whether Major Hodgins should give evidence at once or

whether he should have time in order to get papers. A large bundle of documents had

been produced here by the commission which, as a matter of fact, were copies. Major
Hodgins stated that he did not think he could prefer his charges until he hac^ the

originals. I could not see the necessity for it but, however, in the course of the con-

versation this statement was made by myself at page 81. . I will go back a few sen-

tences (reads) :

' Mr. Hodgins.—Do you suppose that any witness should be put in the box* and
denied access to the papers which would bear out the evidence he is giving?

^ Mr. Macdonald.—He knew enough to write a letter to the press and to make
charges against people and he ought to be able to prove his charges.

' Mr. Barker.—He wants the documents to prove what he says.

' Mr. Carvell.—There are practically three or four branches to the charges con-

tained in this letter. We are discussing entirely the question of classification which
to my mind is very unimportant part of the matter because that has to be settled

later on by arbitration. To my mind the point in this charge is that Major Hodgins
claims he was dismissed from the service of the Transcontinental Commission be-

cause he would not classify as the commissioners wanted him to do. He does not

require documents in the possession of the commission to specify that. He can say

whether it is true or not.'

Now, that is exactly my position to-day. As I stated early in this sitting if any
member of this committee, or any member of the House, wants to call witnesses to

prove fraud or improper conduct on the part of any member of the commission or of

their engineers, I do not think we ought to shut it off because that to my mind is the

true intent or true meaning of Major Hodgins' letter, or charges if you so call them.

That was in my mind at that time as the true object for which this committee was
appointed. It is my opinion to-day and, therefore, I will stick to what I stated at the

very commencement of this committee. I do not think it is our business to spend

much or little time in investigating a matter upon which we cannot make a finaU

pronouncement and on which the verdict may be changed two months or one month
from now by the tribunal which has the power, according to the law, to say whetlier

we are right or we are wrong. For these reasons I feel that this committee should not

take up the time of members in calling witnesses to prove whether the engineers of

the Transcontinental Railway or the engineers of the Grand Trunin Pacific company
are right or wrong in their respective estimates as to the classification in any given

instances.

Mr. Barker.—I would like to say a few (words, Mr. Chairman, on the question of

this proposed arbitration. I will endeavour to be as brief as possible and to confine

myself to reading a few letters, or extracts from a few letters that show just how much
this arbitration amounts to thus far. The other day Mr. Murphy referred to this

arbitration as an existing fact and Mr. Carvell this afternoon produced a document
containing a memorandum of agreement intended to be entered into.

Mr. Carvell.—Do be fair and say agreement.
Mr. Barker.—The words are exactly as I say them—intended to be entered into.

Mr. Carvell.—You are not doing yourself justice.

Mr. Barker.—I will take care to do myself justice, you need not bother about that

(reads) :

' Memorandum of agreement to be drawn up between the commissioners of the

Transcontinental Railway and the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway Company.'
I only wish to read what is on the paper, not to put my interpretation on it. That

paper is initialed by three gentlemen, whether by the authority of those they purport
to represent or not, does not appear. I do not know that Mr. Hays by putting his
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initials to a document binds a corporation. I do not know that the Honourable Mr.
Parent by putting his initials to a document binds anybody at all but himself. I will

refer now to a letter produced by the commissioners dated on the very day that this

subject was referred to us by the House of Commons. There is a letter from the

assistant chief engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific adressed to the chief engineer

of the Transcontinental Railway Commission which reads as follows (reads) :

'Montreal, Que., April 28, 1908.

Mr. Hugh D. Lumsden,
Chief engineer. Eastern Division,

National Transcontinental Railway,

Ottawa, Ont.

Dear Sir,—This is to acknowledge receipt of your letter of April 24th, in regard

to classification given on Districts B " and ^ F,' wherein you say you would like to

set a date, as soon as possible, when you could confer with me, either in Ottawa or

Montreal, so as to arrange dates for arbitrating the points in dispute and for the

appointment of a third arbitrator, &c.

In reply thereto will say that the action you propose cannot be taken until after

you have complied with my request of October 7th, which, as you will recall, has been
several times repeated, that you and I personally make an inspection of those por-

tions of the work on Districts ' B ' and ' F ' where it is claimed improper classifica-

tion has been made.

Kindly let me know when it will be convenient for you to make this inspection,

and I will place myself at your disposal.

Yours truly,

H. A. WOODS,
Asst. Chief Engineer.

You will note, Mr. Chairman, the significance of the statement contained in the

foregoing letter, from which it appears that these proceedings have been going on

ever since the trouble with Major Hodgins.

Mr. Macdonald.—That is eminently proper. That is proceeding under the arbi-

tration and preliminary to the appointment of a third man.
Mr. Barker.—^You need not interupt. I was going on to S'^y that this is an emin-

ently proper letter .from the assistant chief engineer of tlie Grand Trunk Pacific to

the chief engineer of the Transcontinental Commission pointing out to him
Mr. Lennox.—That nothing has been done.

Mr. Barker.—Until they differed there was nothing to arbitrate.

Mr. Macdonald.—Until they differed there iwas no necessity to appoint a third

man.
Mr. Barker.—We were told the other day that we could not act until this matter

had been referred to arbitration.

Mr. Macdonald.—It has.

Mr. Barker.—It has not because they have not disagreed as you will see by this,

as you say, eminently proper letter.

Mr. Macdonald.—I do not want to break the continuity of your argument but if

you will look at section T of the agreement, you will find that it contemplates these

two engineers shall proceed to deal with the work and in the event of their disagreeing

on certain items, a third man shall be appointed. The arbitration is formed the

moment these two gentlemen enter upon their duties ;hu1 [hv'w finding would settle

the matter without a third party.

Mr. Barker.—That is absurd if you will allow me to say so. It is absurd to sny

that every time these two gentlemen, going as they go to inspect a property, that you

can look upon it necessarily as an arbitration, because they may not ngr'^e. Thi?

5 - 30
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eminently proper letter, as you say, points out that before they can appoint a third

arbitrator they must know whether they can agree.

Mr. Macdonald.—Supposing there were 50 differences and these two gentlemen

settled 45,' the third man w'ould only be called in for the 5 unsettled differences. Yet

their determination of the 45 would be the arbitrators' act.

Mr. Barker.—Why would they assume they would not agree upon everything?

Mr. Woods says that since October he has been asking Mr. Lumsden to go over por-

tions of the work with him.

Mr. Macdonald.—^Yes, but they have gone; they have been out over the work.

Mr. Barker.—They had not up to the 23rd April when this matter was referred

to us.

Mr. Macdonald.—They have gone to look into these matters and they are determ-

ining them.

Mr. Barker.—^You are talking of something that might have happened but of

which there is no evidence.

Mr. Macdonald.—And if these two gentlemen agreed there was no need to call in

the third man. That is the ordinary ABC principles of determining disputes. The
third man is called in only when the other two do not agree.

Mr. Barker.—That is all I want to say upon that particular point. Now I want
a letter of 8th October to go in:-

—

Montreal, Que., Oct. 8, 1907.

Mr. Hugh D. Lumsden,
Chief Engineer,

Eastern Division,

National Transcontinental Ry.,

Ottawa, Ont.

Dear Sir,—^Referring to my letter of the 7th instant re classification of material

on section * B ' please correct error in item : Station 5842 to 5860. Classified 94 per

cent solid rock, 6 per cent loose rock, slopes taken out to 1. Solid rock over classi-

fied at least 100 per cent, instead of loose rock as mentioned in my letter.

Kindly make correction and oblige.

Yours truly,

H. A. WOODS,
Asst. Chief Engineer,

The next letter to which I would draw notice is one of 14th February, 1908, from
the assistant engineer of the Grand Trunk Pacific to the chief engineer of the Trans-
continental Railway Commissioners as follows:

—

Montreal, Que., Feb. 14, 1908.

Hugh D. Lumsden,
Chief Engineer,

Eastern Division,

National Transcontinental Ry.,

Ottawa, Ont.

Be Classification.

Dear Sir,—Referring to correspondence and conversations on this subject, I

understand that you have recently issued instructions to your District Engineers rela-

tive to same. Will you be good enough to send me a copy of these instructions so that

my assistants may know just what to expect with regard to classification while going
over the work?

From reports received from our district engineers ^ B ' and ' F ' we understand
that, in their judgment, the work in places is largely over classified, particularly in

borrowed material and in cuttings of mixed materials, where no ledges exist. Would
it not also be possible that resident engineers, in returning estimates, should show in

cuttings the amount of material found in ledges, also the amount of material classi-
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fied as solid rock and boulders what I understand you term ' assembled rock '
? If

this could be done I think it would be of advantage, not only to us, but would give

you information in your office which would be of great use to you in questions arising

between this company and the commission.

Yours truly,

H. A. WOODS,
Asst. Engineer.

I would also draw attention to the following letter from the same to the same.

Montreal, P.Q., Feb. 20, 1908.

Hugh D. Lumsden,
Chief Engineer,

Eastern Division,

National Transcontinental Ry.,

Ottawa, Ont.

Dear Sir,—I beg to acknowledge receipt of your favour of the iTth instant, file

7787, giving your interpretation of clauses 34, 35 and 36 of our specifications, with

blue prints and explanation of same, also copy of your instructions to your engineers.

We are quite satisfied with your interpretation of the specifications and with

your instructions, which are explicit. I do not know the date of these instruc-

tions or when they are supposed to become effective, but, from reports

from my assistants at Winnipeg and Quebec, there does not seem to have been any
change in classification of work previously reported, the percentage of classified

material being steadily increased.

We are satisfied that on some parts of the work previously estimated was not

classified according to your recent instructions, being over estimated in both loose and
solid rock. The attention of your district engineers has been called to the fact but

apparently without effect. If your instructions were effective when the January
estimates were made we certainly will have to object to the classification as rendered

on certain parts of the work.

Yours truly,

; H. A. WOODS,
!; Asst. Chief Engineer.

This letter also shows over classification.

Mr. Carvell.—We ought to cut this short. Nobody is denying for a moment that

differences of opinion have arisen between the Grand Trunk Pacific Engineers and
the engineers of the commission. We are not denying that and the commission admit

it.

Mr. Macdonald.—You are not reading these letters with the idea of showing

there is anything improper on the part of the commissioners.

Mr. Barker.—These letters will not establish that.

Mr. Carvell.—All these letters establish the fact that there is a difference of

opinion, which is admitted by everybody including the commissioners, and there has

been from the very beginning, and the chief engineers during the Inst two year?

Mr. Macdonald.—Have been endeavouring to settle these very differences.

Mr. Barker,—On March 24, 1908, there is a letter from the same to the same :

—

Montreal, Que., March 24, 1908.

Hugh D. Lumsden^ Esq.,

Chief Engineer, Western Division,

National Transcontinental Railway,

• Ottawa, Ont.

Dear Sir,—I desire to acknowledge receipt of your favour of the 20th instant^,

together with contractors' progress estimates for the month of February, a? follows:—

•

6—30i



468 SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON MAJOR HODGINS' CHARGES

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

District ' B.'—Messrs. M. P. & J. T. Davis, mile 0 to 50, west of the St. Law-
rence river; Messrs. M. P. & J. T. Davis, mile 0 to 150, easterly from the Quebec
bridge; Messrs. Macdonell & O'Brien, mile 50 to 150, westerly from the Quebec
bridge.

District ' F.'—Mr. J. D. McArthur, mile 0 to 245, completing returns for Feb-

ruary.

In examining these estimates, I find no apparent change in classification since

your instructions to district engineers of January 28, 190'8. On the contrary, the

percentages of classified material seem to be constantly increasing and are even

higher than when we made our objections in September last.

I am quite aware that during the winter season it is natural that classified

material shall run higher than at other times, as little earth work is opened, but I had
hoped to see a reduction in classified material so reported prior to January last.

I have before me a detailed sheet showing classification as made on District ' B '

and am surprised to find material classified as solid rock, which, if I am correctly

informed, under your instructions could only be classified as loose rock. I also find

very large quantities returned both as loose and solid rock in borrowed embankment.
On the work east of the Quebec bridge a large amount was done with teams, side bor-

rowed material, and yet the entire contract for the 150 miles only shows 25 per cent

of the work done as common excavation. It appears also that the item ' assembl<ed

rock ' No. 5 in your instructions, is made to cover most material where explosives are

used in handling.

In excavations for foundations, where hard material is found, under this item it

is classified as solid rock, giving the contractor three times the price usual for that

material. Our district engineers are not satisfied with the classification as made. On
District ' F ' the objection lies in the first and second divisions.

It is' impossible at this time to go over the work with a view of examining classi-

fication but, from reports from my assistants, I certainly must object to the classifica-

tion as rendered being considered final and request that as soon as the season will

permit, you accompany me over at least a part of the line, that I may have your views

in regard to this most important matter of classification.

Very truly yours,

H. A. WOODS,
~^ Asst. Chief Engineer.

On the 21st April, 1908, there is another letter from the assistant chief engineer of

the Grand Trunk Pacific, Mr. Woods, to Mr. Lumsden, of the same general character

giving particulars of over-classification:

—

Montreal, P.Q., April 21st, 1908.

Hugh D. Lumsden^ Esq.,

Chief Engineer, Eastern Division,

National Transcontinental Railway,

Ottawa, Ont.

Dear Sir,—I desire to acknowledge receipt of your favour of the 17th instant, to-

gether with copies of progress estimates, eastern division, for the month of March,

as mentioned therein.

There are few exceptions to be taken to these estimates, so far as I am advised,

except to the classified material, which is constantly increasing, and the veiy large

amount of over-break in solid rock cuttings, also increasing and representing in all

a very large amount.
With reference to classification, I have to say that, in compliance with your re-

quest, I have directed my assistants to give me the location by stations and mileage

of points where, in their opinion the classification, as rendered, is higher than it should

be under your interpretation of the specifications, and your instructions to your

assistants, dated January 30th last. I am in receipt of a letter from District Engi^
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neer Maun giving a list of the different divisions, District ' F/ where objections lie as

to classification as rendered, copy of which I enclose herewith.

From this list you will note that he takes exception to the classification returned
on nearly all of Division Ho. 5 except, perhaps some ten or twelve cuttings, probably
wholly of solid rock. On Division No. 6, aside from solid rock cuttings, the objec-

tions are nearly as great as on Division No. 5. You will further note from the

inclosed list that the larger proportion of over-classification is o nthat part of the line

included in Divisions No. 5 and 6.

After his inspection late last fall. District Engineer Mann seemed very well

satisfied with the classification on Divisions 7, 8 and 9, but he now advises that he
thinks that classification is increasing on that part of the line and is now much too

high. In his letter of transmittal of this list, District Engineer Mann writes as

follows :

—

' The classification varies greatly over this district. While in some cases the

amount of loose and solid rock is not very greatly in excess, in others, where large

amounts of the high priced material have been allowed, and only a small amount of

common excavation, the proportion should be reversed. There is nothing in the esti-

mates to show what is solid ledge. I have been asking for this information for several

months, in fact, since September last, but have not yet received it. Will turn the

question to you now and ask that I be furnished this information as soon as possible,

so that I can have it on my next inspection trip over the line.'

From the enclosed list you will note that Mr. Mann makes objections not only to

classification in cuttings but also to borrowed material. On mile 25, stations 1267 to

1280, there appears in this estimate a considerable amount of loose rock for the first

time. Of the 25,000 cubic yards returned, 44 per cent is classified. Both Mr. Mann
and Mr. Heaman claim that no classification should be given in this material.

We feel that this question of over-classification must be settled in the near

future. Many of the sub-contractors will soon be completing their work and un-

doubtedly will receive final payment for same and if they are paid upon estimates

as returned at present, general contractors will naturally object to any change in

their estimates.

While I have no list like the enclosed from District ' B,' reports from my assist-

ant indicate there that east of the river objections lie to the classification generally as

returned. A very large amount of borrowed material through farming country has

been returned as loose rock. Of the entire work done to date on this section 77 '6 per

cent is classified material, nearly evenly diyided between loose and solid rock.

You will recall that in Sepember last we made great objection to the classification

as returned west of the St. Lav/renoe river. Later, you visited a small section of the

work, and, I think, have been in a position to decide upon at least that portion of

the work for several months and still no action has been taken to change the estimates

as then made or as since returned. We ask now that at the earliest possible moment
you will visit each of these sections and make a decision on these points, that wo may
know whether further action will be taken.

Yours truly,

IT. A. WOODS.
Asst. Chief Engineer.

There is another letter of the same general character, dated 23rd April, 1903,

from Mr. Woods to Mr. Lumsden:

—
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Montreal, April 23rd, 1908.

Mr. Hugh D. Lumsden,
Chief Engineer, Eastern Division,

National Transcontinental Railway.
' ~ ' Ottawa, Ont.

Dear Sir,
—

"With further reference to our objections to classification on District
* B ' and points at which we disire you to examine for purpose of inspection, I quote

from District Engineer Armstrong's letter of the 21st instant:

—

As typical classification I would mention the following cuts on the con-

tract east of the Quebec Bridge:

—

Stations 7871 to 7878 Hes. 4.

Stations 7086 to 7182 Res. 5.

Stations 6039 to 6051 Res. 7.

Station 6000 Res. 7.

Stations 3880 to 3890 Res. 10.

Almost any cut on residencies 10 or 11 will do. These examples are given not as

being the only ones, but a visit to any one of these will show the classification given

generally, and whatever agreement or disagreement is arrived at on one cut will apply

to probably 75 per cent of the cuts on the whole work.

As examples of borrow with classification I may instance the following as ex-

amples: Mile 15 to mile 23.

The above for your information.

Tours truly,

H. A. WOODS,
Asst. Chief Engineer.

Mr. Macdonald.—I do not see how you are going to put in these letters as

evidence ?

Mr. Barker.—They have been produced.

Mr. Macdonald.—In what way are you introducing these letters when we are con-

sidering whether this inquiry is to close or not ?

Mr. Lennox.—We are submitting them as a reason why the inquiry should not

be closed.

Mr. Macdonald.—It is a very adroit way of putting in evidence.

Mr. Barker.—They are instances of these disputed questions and show that we
should not close the inquiry. I want some letters from Mr. Morse to the Hon. Mr.
Parent to go in :

—

At Winnipeg^ Nov. 12, 1907.

Dear Mr. Parent,—^Letter from Secretary Mr. P. E. Ryan, imder date of October

18, noted, and during my absence Mr. Woods was requested to meet Mr. Lumsden in

Quebec for the purpose of reviewing the work, I understand that this has been done.

The object of this letter is to answer the second paragraph, page 2, in which the secre-

tary states, ' In this connection * I am to point out that your District Engineer Mr.
Armstrong failed to notify District Engineer Doucet of any disagreement with re-

spect to the classification of material in district * B,' &c.' and again ^ although this

procedure was distinctly irregular the commissioners have taken full cognizance of

Mr. Woods' complaint, &c.'

The understanding when I had the pleasure of meeting you and the commission,

was that the departmental matters would be worked out by the heads of the depart-

ments, and failing to agree same would come before your colleagues, Mr. Woods, and
myself, and I consider up to the present time that there has been ho
violation of this. The fact of the matter is it is more difficult for Mr. Armstrong and
Mr. Doucet to have meetings at times when such meetings are most urgent, and I

think one of the best demonstrations of this is that upon the arrival of the
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chief engineer, Mr. Lumsden, and assistant chief engineer, Mr. Woods, at Quebec,

for the purpose of going over this work, Mr. Doucet could not then devote the time

to take the trip. I consider it was perfectly proper on Mr. Woods' part to take the

subject up as he did with Mr. Lumsden. It was then optional whether Mr. Lumsden,

on his own accord, met Mr. Woods and tried to agree on these points, and failing,

referred the subject to the commission, Mr. Woods and myself, or whether the entire

commission took it up with Mr. Woods alone at that time, which I understand they

did.

We desire and intend to co-operate in matters as far as possible and expect to

be met in the same way.
Yours very truly,

FKANK W. MOESE.
Hon. S. N. Parent^

Chairman, Transcontinental . Railway Commission,
Ottawa, Ont.

On February 8th there is another letter from Mr. Morse to Mr. Parent :

—

Montreal, Que., February 8, 1908.

Dear Mr. Parent,—Upon receipt of your favour of the 6th, in which you advised

that Commissioner Young and Chief Engineer Lumsden were en route west, I

immediately took the subject up with Messrs. Kelliher and Woods, requesting them to

instruct Mr. Mann to fully co-operate and discuss the situation as he views it with

the gentlemen, when they are in Kenora.

I am more impressed each day with the seriousness of the delay in constructing

the line between Lake Superior Junction West, also the business that" will be created

along our line which me will be unable to get beyond Winnipeg, especially in view . of

the fact that the two existing railroads cannot to-day take care of their own busi-

ness.

I understand that Mr. "McArthur feels, in having sub-let his contract, he has

done all he can ; that there is an entire absence of intelligent supervision, bv his com-
pany, of the work and, while he lias sub-let the contract, that men who have hereto-

fore been stationmen and competent to handle only several thousand feet, have been
given a number of miles.

I regret that you and the commission do not coincide with my views as to the

serious condition of affairs are now in section ' F,' and, due to the fact that under the
existing method of management, they cannot get any better, it is going to mean a

tremendous financial loss to the Grand Trunk Pacific Railway, in addition to making
it impossible to relieve the situation in the way of lack of transportation in the west
at as early a date as we should.

Yours very truly,

FRANK W. :M0RSE.
Hon. S. N. Parent, '

'

Chairman Trancontinental Ry. Commission,
Ottawa, Ont,

On the 7th March there is' another letter from Mr. Morse to Mr. Parent :

—

Montreal. Que., March 7th. 1908.

Dear Mr. Parent,—On February 8th I wrote you rcganUng the condition of the
work on Section ' F,' the portion contracted to J. D. McArtlmr. outlining the serious

results that will nltimately be realized in a financial way by the Grand Trnnk Pacific,

and the lack of any relief to the people of Manitoba. Saskntchcwnn and Alberta wlien

our line is completed through these provinces because the will be no outlet for the
business we can collect at Winnipeg, in view of the fact that the existing railroads

have not been able to handle satisfactorily their own bnsi: rss during the past winter.
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Previously instructions had been given to Mr. W. E. Mann, district engineer
at Kenora, to meet and discuss with Commissioner Young and Chief Engineer
Lumsden whom you advised were eii route to that point.

I have spoken to you since then regarding the great importance of relieving

McArthur of this contract and putting it into the hands of a company versed in that

sort of work and competent to handle it, and understood from you, that upon the

return of Commissioner Young and Chief Engineer Lumsden you would have infor-

mation that would enable you to determine what action you would take.

Not having had any further communication from you and the seriousness of the

delay in completion of this section becoming daily more apparent, I write to ask if

you will kSndly let me know what, if any, action is being taken.

Yours very truly,

FKANK W. MORSE.
Hon. S. N. Parent^,

Chairman Transcontinental Ry. Com.
Ottawa, Ont.

^ Now these letters brought in by the commission do not always give the othier

letters to which they refer and it is desirable to put the latter in if there is no

objection. We cannot tell whether the other letters have any bearing on the case

because they are not here. I think that is all I have to say.

Mr. Macdonald.—As there has been so much talking, avoiding the real question

at issue, I do not want to prolong the proceedings further than to point out that my
honourable friend Mr. Barker is, as usual, very ingenious and plausible in his argu-

ment. I understood him to argue that because the chief engineer of the Grand Trunk
Pacific Railway wrote Mr. Lumsden several times asking him to come and confer with

him and go over the work, that, therefore, there had been no arbitration under the

agreement.

Mr. Carvell.—That nothing was submitted to the arbitrators.

Mr. Macdonald.—Certainly, the agreement under section 7 provides that these

two gentlemen who are filling the positions under that section should first meet and
go ever the work to see whether the classification adopted by the subordinate engineers

was correct. If they agreed between themselves as to what the classification

should be there was no necessity of appointing a third arbitrator. If they differed

in any respects, a third arbitrator could be called in to deal with such cases as they

differed upon. Now the fact is before us that Mr. Lumsden and Mr. Woods have gone
out over Section ' F ^ of this line. They have looked at various divisions there and
at this very moment they are performing the function which was contemplated would
be performed by section 7 of the agreement and endeavouring to agree upon what the

proper classification is, and in the event of their being unable to agree as to that,

then the third arbitrator would be called in. In other words these gentlemen are now
discharging the duty assigned to them and are going to arrive at some conclusion

upon the differences which I understand my friends to be arguing this committee
should engage in.

Mr. Carvell.—And if any contractor has been overpaid there is lots of time and
opportunity to protect the government.

Mr. Macdonald.—As to whether the country is to be affected in any way by tno

situation on the work, the fact that these monies have only been paid on progress

estimates gives ample and ocmplete powers to the commission to act in accordance
with the decision of these two engineers and to retain from any contractors anything
which they may have received on account of over-classification. The absurdity of

the position suggested by my honourable friends will be recognized when we consider
that at this very moment the two gentlemen who are appointed by statute are per-

forming their statutory functions and they are bound to come to some conclusion
on the matter. Upon that conclusion the accounts will be adjusted. At the same time,
if the view of my honourable friends were concurred in, we would be taking up our time
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in ](iealing with a purely academic question. I do not understand my honourable
friends to urge that there is anything improper in the position of the commissioners
in dealing with the engineers, so it is purely a question of a difference of opinion

between these engineers as to what the classification will be.

Mr. Lennox.—I do not want you to misunderstand our position. I am not going

to charge any wrong doing without serious reason for so believing, but I do feel that

there is set out in these letters sufficient to make it very very suspicious.

Mr. Macdonald.—These letters are such as would pass between engineers repre-

senting different interests in connection with the construction of any railway in this

country.

Mr. Barker.—We admit that.

Mr. Macdonald.—I do not know how one engineer could say to another that

there was over-classification in a particular district without he used language such as is

found in these letters. There is no way in which he could say there was over-classi-

fication or that he differed in his opinion with the subordinate engineers as to the

classification that had been made. Now as to the point which my friend, my ingen-

ious friend, Mr. Lennox, endeavoured to make that some of the members of this

committee had taken a different view of the scope of the committee at the beginning
of the investigation, I think I may be permitted to read one or two sentences which
will be found at page 79 (reads) r

' Mr. Macdonald.—I hardly follow my friend, Mr. Barker, in his observations. I

apprehend this committee is here to investigate something that Major Hodgins has got

to say about the Transcontinental Commission. I apprehend that Major Hodgins has

got to prove what he said or take it back. That is the usual way when men make*

charges.
' Mr. Barker.—Yes.
' Mr. Macdonald.—I apprehend further that the proposition made by Mr. Barker

is that the commission should hand over anything and everything to Major Hodgins
right off the bat.

' Mr. Barker.—I never said that.

' Mr. Macdonald.—That is practically what you said.

' Mr. Barker.—I said the commission should produce the papers to us here.

' Mr. Macdonald.—And I say that if Major Hodgins makes charges he must prove

them. He cannot come to this committee and hunt around to find justification for

statements which he has made.
• Mr. Barker.—He is going to put in his charges before he sees the papers.
' Mr. Macdonald.—Major Hodgins on April 16, when he made certain charges in

the Victoria 'Colonist ' either had evidence to prove those charges or he had not, and if

he did not have the evidence he had no business to make the charges.'

Then Mr. Barker said ' That is ridiculous.'

Mr. Barker.—It wasi ridiculous to say that when a man makes charges, if you
have got the papers to establish those charges that you are not obliged to produce

them.

Mr. Macdonald.—I see. That is what you menut. That it would be ridiculoius

that he should not have the papers (reads) :

' Mr Macdonald.—I s ly that a man has no riglit to w^ko a charge agniust a public

man in this country
' Mr. Lennox.—A man eiui nlways mnkc n duirue whirh lu> has g(^od reason \o be-

lieve or which he knows that he can prove.

'Mr. Macdonald.—Do not interrupt me, please. What I was going to say in re-

gard to that subject is this: the onus of proceeding in this inquiry and of proving the

ease in on Major Hodgins and his counsel, and wlien they start in to prove their case

I assume this committee will direct the production, as we proceed, of any matters

which they indicate are necessary for them to prove their charges. But we would not

be doing our duty as a tribunal respecting either the character or position of any
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public man against whom any charge is made, unless we put the onus of the proceed-
ings in regard to these charges, which is the primary object of this committee, upon
the gentleman who made them.'

That was my position at the beginning; it is my position now; and as Major Hodgins
has abondoned and withdrawn his charges the functions of this committee, so far as

the reference to us is concerned, are in my judgment fulfilled.

Mr. Barker.—^With your permission, Mr. Chairman, I would like to show the

importance of the other questions that are raised, outside of Major Hodgins altogether,

in matters that he could not know anything about. I will.take Mr. Woods' letter of

October 7th, 1907, to Mr. Lumsden at the time when all this trouble with Majoi;

Hodgins occurred (reads)

:

^ Station 5842 to 5860 '—that covers 18 stations—' classified 94 per cent solid rock,

6 per cent loose rock. Slopes taken out 1^ to 1.'

That is the way it has been classified in the estimate. A slope of to 1 means that

in the solid rock cutting you would have to have 1^ slope. Now, here is what he says

about that (reads)

:

' Solid rock over-classified at least 100 per cent.'

Nothing that Major Hodgins ever said equals that (reads) :

^ Station 5866 to 5875. Estimated 80 per cent solid rock, 20 per cent loose rock.

No rock in place in this cut. Many large boulders, but a large amount of earth.

* Station 5882 to 5901. Estimated 78 per cent solid rock, 22 per cent loose rock.

A large amount of this cut wasted with slip scrapers and plowing being done with two

horses. There are hundreds of yards of earth here without a stone, large or small.

' Station 6030 to 6046. Estimated 40 per cent solid rock, 10 per cent loose rock.

This is a large sand cut west of O'Brien's icamp. Of the 951,000 yards moved to

August 31st in this cut, at least 80,000 yards was pure sand.'

Mr. Macdonald.—^Mr. Lumsden and Mr. Woods will have to determine whether

that division engineer classified correctly.

The Chairman.—I may perhaps be allowed to say a few words in this legal and

technical debauchery.

Mr. Carvell.—^You are certainly a long suffering chairman.

The Chairman.— will be very short. My view of this question is this : this is a

special committee, differing from a permanent committee to which different questions

necessitating prolonged investigations are referred. To this committee has been refer-

red a special matter. This special committee, in my opinion, has been appointed to

investigate a certain matter and we have to be guided by the order of reference, which
for me is the only guide as to the length to which we may go. The order of reference

has been read several times, but I desire to read it once more. In that order of refer-

ence we find the principal matter which was sent to us for investigation is the letter

of Major Hodgins to the public press. The other things which are mentioned in the

order of reference, as I read it, are of secondary importance, because if Major Hod-
gins' letter had not been written and had not been published in the public press the

memorandum oi Mr. Parent, chairman of the Transcontinental Eailway Commission,

would not have been read and transmitted to the House. Now, the order of reference

says (reads) :

' That the memorandum of the chairman of the Transcontinental Railway Com-
missioners to the Prime Minister of date the 23rd April, and laid on the Table of this

House on the 24th instant, and the papers accompanying the same '

which as I said a few minutes ago was written because a certain letter har been sent

by Major Hodgins to the public press— .

.

* together with the letter of Major Hodgins to the public press therein referred to, be

referred to a special committee of five members, with instructions to investigate the

matters and charges therein mentioned,"

Mentioned in what? There were no charges in the memorandum of the chair-

man of the commission to the House. The matters and charges therein mentioned
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were evidently, according to my view, embodied in the letter of Major Hodgins. It

could not be the interview in the Vocitoria ^ Colonist,' or the other newspapers which
had repeated the charges, because they have been repudiated by the Major. Accord-

ing to my opinion, therefore, we have before this committee only one thing to inves-

tigate; the accusation, or charge, if I may call it, of wrong-doing contained in a

letter which Major Hodgins has published in the Victoria ' Colonist,' and nothing else.

If you take out that letter there is nothing left. Supposing the Major had repudiated

that letter frankly and honestly, as he has now done, before the constitution of this

committee, there would have been no committee at all.

Mr. Macdonald.—^Hear, hear.

The Chairman.—No committee would have been necessary, everybody would have

been of opinion that there was nothing to investigate. It is not the memorandum of

the chairman of the Transcontinental Commission, who denies the accusation con-

tained in the letter, that we are to investigate; it is the letter containing the charges

of Major Hodgins against the commissioners. Now that the Major has frankly and
honestly admitted that he made those charges under a misapprehension, I suppose, I

take it there is nothing before this committee to investigate. There is, of course, the

great question of classification which has been so much talked about. Well, in con-

stituting a tribunal to decide differences between the engineers of the Grand Trunk
Pacific and those of the Transcontinental Commission, it had obviously been foreseen

that some differences necessarily would arise between the engineers. It would be im-

possible that some difficulties should not arise in the carrying on of such an important

work as the building of a transcontinental line of railway. This tribunal, according

to my view, has been properly constituted and is the proper authority to decide differ-

ences of opinion as to classification between the engineers, those of the commission on

the one hand and those of the Grand Trunk Pacific on the other. Let us take another

phase of the question. The Major having withdrawn his charges, as he said yester-

day, there is nothing before this committee to investigate. Supposing any gentleman
now in this room should rise and make a charge of wrong-doing or fraud against the

commissioners. This committee could not investigate such charge because it has not

been referred to us by this special order of reference. In my opinion there is only one

thing to investigate and a proper tribunal has been appointed for that purpose. It is

all very well to enter into lengthy technical and engineering discussions such as we
have had this afternoon. The only thing which has been referred to us is the letter

charging the commissioners with wrong-doing, which letter with its accusations, has

been withdrawn by the only person responsible for it. Major Hodgins. Now it seems
to me there is nothing left for this committee but to declare that the charges have not

been proven. This in brief is my opinion. The matter has been so ably discussed by
the other four members of the committee that I do not thinlv I am called upon to

enter into any more details.

Mr. Carvell.—Mr. Chairman, there is still the question which has not been dis-

I)osed of about releasing Major Hodgins from further attendance.

The Chairman.—I have already asked the committee what should be done in that

matter.

Mr. Barker.—Do you mean that matter should be disposed of before the chair-

man has given his decision?

Mr. Carvell.—The chairman has given his decision.

Mr. Barker.—We have the right to vote upon that.

Mr. Lennox.—I suppose there will be a motion that the proceedings do now close

or something of that kind?

Mr. Carvell.—I do not think so. Perhaps Mr. ^[urphy would like to have some-
thing to say?

The Chairman.—There is no motion before the chair.

Mr. Carvell.—I think we have been putting the cart before the horse. I think
if Mr. Lennox or Mr. Barker desire to re-examine "Nfajor Hodgins they should state

so or say that they waive any further examination.
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Mr. Barker.—The Chairman, as I understand, rules that there is no question

before the committee.
'

The Chairman.—I am expressing only my own opinion on the subject. If it is the

desire of the committee that the Major should be further' examined
Mr. Lennox.—I want to be candid with the committee. I said the other day that

any member had a right to examine Major Hodgins, but I would not say, in view of

the opinion of the majority of the committee, that any object would be gained in

re-examining him.
'

Mr. Carvell.—That is a fair statement.

Mr. Barker.—I concur in that but I have asserted all the time, and do so still -

that we have not finished our inquiry.

Mr. Lennox.—Certainly. There is no question about that.

Mr. Macdonald.—ljM!r. Barker says there is no limit to this inquiry ?

Mr. Barker.—There is a limit but it 'is a good way off.

Mr. Carvell.—Then I understand that Major Hodgins is to be discharged. I

would like to hear from Mr. Murphy.
Mr. MuRPHY.—After having heard the views of the committee, Mr. Chairman, T

take it that the decision, when put 'in concrete form, would be in harmony with the

views expressed by the majority. In any event, and assuming that that will be tho

case, I have only to say/this : That while Major Hodgins has abandoned his charges

and while the commission does not have to submit any new evidence, there remains
on the record certain statements affecting individuals which,' in justice to those in-

dividuals and lin fairness to the committee, I think should be cleared up. That is cer-

tian conversations have been recalled and certain statements alleged to have been

made by individuals in those conversations, the individuals to whom I refer being
members of the commission and their engineers; and I submit that in order to come
to a proper decision of the matter and to clear up these things we should be allowed to

present these individuals to the committee and permit them to make their own explan-

ations. Then, personally, I feel that I am under an obligation to the committee to

make good the statement made by me when asking Major Hodgins some questions the

other day as to the percentages returned on certain estimates, having quoted at the

time from a profile and having undertaken to produce the original for the information

of the committee.

Mr. Lennoxj—I do not recollect it in that way.

Mr. Murphy.—I asked '

Mr. Lennox.—I do not recollect my learned friend undertaking to produce the

originals.

Mr. Carvell.—All I say is that I was absent at the time but I saw it stated

in the Halifax ' Herald ' and other Conservative papers that the majority of the com-
mittee had refused to allow the originals to be produced.

Mr. Lennox—I don't know anything about that.

Mr. Macdonald.—I would regard those papers as being' regurly before the com-

mittee, if you undertook as counsel to bring them here.

Mr. Murphy.—We proposed to produce' the original and identify it. Upon that

understanding I based my question at the time.

Mr. Lennox.—I did not understand mj^ learned friend, Mr. Murphy, the other

day to say that he would produce the original. If it was so understood at that time

then it would be right that he should do so. I understood him to make a statement on
his own authority, as knowing it was correct, and to ask the witness, if he would be sur-

prised to find that 32 per cent in' one case and 29 per cent in the other were the correct

classification. I did not understand Mr. Murphy to say that he would produce the

original. If so I think it ' should be produced.

Mr. Barker.^—If that understanding appears on the notes it can be done.

Mr. 'Macdonald.—Personally I was under the impression that the oi^iginal was
here and it was only a question of putting it in.
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Mr. Carvell.—I read in the newspapers the next morning-' that the originals had
been refused and it surprised me.

Mr. Macdonald.—We ':Qiust not be so technical as that, the committee must have
the documents.

Mr. Murphy.—Then ' in addition to the commission's engineers, who are the indi-

duals to whom I referred, there is just one other gentleman who is affected by state-

ments made and I submit that, for the proper guidance of the committee, he should

be allowed to make a statement as to the conversation attributed to him.

The Chairman.—Do you ' want this man to go linto the box and explain his pisi

tion ?

Mr. Murphy.—The position of matters.

Mr.\Carvell.—^Do you iwant to go into any new matters ?

Mr. Murphy.—"No, sir, I do not want to go into any new matters but simply

clear up statements that are on the record.

Mr. Macdonald.—Matters referred to in the record or that came out incidentally in

the course of the examination ?

Mr. Murphy.—^Referred to in the charges and some of them came out incidentally

in the evidence given by Major Hodgins during his examination-in-chief.

Mr. Macdonald.—They all relate to matters that he spoke of in his examination ?

Mr. Murphy.—Certainly, he spoke of them all?

Mr. Macdonald.—^Did he make specific statements?

Mr. Macdonald.—Specific statements?

Mr. Macdonald.—I will want to reserve my judgment in each particular case.

Mr, Barker.—^You cannot call a witness and allow him to go into the box without

his being examined.

Mr. Murphy.—That is the request I make that these individuals be allowed to

appear. Mr. Doucet has been already sworn and his examination was deferred at the

time. He is one of the individuals that I would ask the committee to hear an explana-

tion from, and if the committee is not prepared to grant our request in that respect,

then I would ask that we be allowed to put in affidavits.

Mr. Macdonald.—Oh, no, I don't think it.

Mr. Murphy.—I submit it would be very unfair to close this matter in the shape

in which the record is now, with statements attributed to gentlemen they do not admit,

the gentlemen referred to having been in attendance at every sitting of the committee.

The Chairman.—It would have to be understood that no new matter would be

brought out and that these gentlemen would be examined simply on the evidence

already given by Major Hodgins.

Mr. Lennox.—I want to have a word to say as to that.

Mr. Barker.—You could not limit the investigation, you know. We would call

other witnesses to substantiate Major Hodgins on those points.

Mr. Macdonald.—Personally I reserve my judgment. I would judge each case as

it comes along and consider it.

Mr. Lennox.—I think I can very well express my view of that matter now, I do

not want to oppose myself to any reasonable request that Mr. ISfurphy may make, but

we must ascertain how this matter stands. Major Hodgins, as has been nllogod over

and over again by Mr. Macdonald and Mr, Carvell, has withdrawn the charges. 'Sir.

Macdonald says particularly that he has withdrawn all imputations. That is one of the

expressions used—has with(h'awn all imputations and charges. In that connection he

expressed to Mr. Macdonald the preference for appearing before this arbitration and

presenting his views there. If Major Hodgins had not done that \\o would have been

calling witnesses to substantiate his evidence in certain particulars. However, he

abandons the charges, so far as this comniittoo is concerned, and retires. Ho with-

draws all charges and iuiputations and it is on that ground that we are now prooeeil-

ing—that there is nothing more, so far as the Hodgins' branch of the inquiry is con-

cerned, to be investigated, and there is no case before the committee. Now. the evi-

dence which ]\rr Mur])hy desires to present can only be in contrndietioM of "Nfajor
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Hodgins. That gentleman's position was arrived at the other day. It was elicited by-

Mr. Macdonald and concurred in by the major himself. The major has retired and his

counsel has also retired. The former is absolutely without protection and he is dis-

charged from attendance. The inquiry has been virtually wholly wiped out, and yet it

is proposed that the gentlemen referred to by Mr. Murphy are to come forward one after

the other and as far as they can contradict the major. I submit that cannot be done,

it would be a perfect traversty of justice. I take very distinct ground on that. If I

understand Mr. Murphy rightly, and I do not know that I do, he would confine hia

evidence specifically to the statements that are contained in Major Hodgins' charges.

But my learned friend said that other matters were brought out incidentally referring

to the classification in Quebec. Many of those matters are contained in letters that

we want investigated. Nevertheless on the whole question of high or low classifica-

tion this committee refuses to go on and investigate those charges, and yet if Mr.
Murphy's request were acceded to, evidence would be admitted dealing with all these

charges by way of rebuttal, and helping them out, that we had not been allowed to

substantiate in the first place. In other words the defendant would be allowed to come
in and disprove charges before the plaintiff has been permitted to finish his case. For
my part I enter, as clearly and distinctly as I can, my protest against any such pro-

ceeding.

Mr. Murphy.—^Perhaps the matter will be brought more clearly before the com-
mittee if I draw attention to the specific individuals and matters referred to?

Mr. Lennox.—I know some of them. •

Mr. Macdonald).—We would want to settle each case separately.

Mr. Murphy.—Several of them relate wholly to conversations between Major Hod-
gins and one other individual in regard to which the former could not possibly<, even

if the inquiry went on, produce any other witness. For instance the conversation

alleged to have occurred between Mr. Armstrong and himself. That is a matter as to

which only Major Hodgins and Mr. Armstrong can speak.

Mr. Macdonald.—The commission are not responsible for anything Mr. Arm-
strong said. He was not in their employ.

Mr. Murphy.—He is in the employ of the Grand Trunk Pacific. He is an engi-

neer and in justice to him and to the commission—because the alleged statement

reflects on the commission—I submit that he should be allowed to come here and

state whether he ever made any such statement as- attributed to him by Major Hodgins
in the course of conversation. Then there is the conversation alleged to have taken

place between Mr. Hodgins and Mr. Grant at Kenora; as to that I submit that Mr.

Grant should be heard.

Mr. Barker.—We have nothing to do with Mr. Grant and Mr. Armstrong. We
are not going to sit here and hear evidence of that kind. If we are going to have such

evidence we will have to reopen the whole case.

Mr. Murphy.—Then there is Mr. Doucet, who has been already sworn and heard

in part. There is a conversation alleged to have taken place with Mr. Doucet which he

does not admit. Then there is another question regarding what took place at the inter-

view at which Mr. Doucet and Mr. Armstrong were two of the gentlemen present, as

Major Hodgins states. We ask that the committee hear Mr. Doucet's statement.

Mr. Lennox.—In view of the fact that Major Hodgins withdraws all imputations?

Mr. Murphy.—But these matters remain on the record.

Mr. Barker.—We could not admit that without going into the whole business

again.

Mr. Murphy.—These matters remain on the record and while it is true that Major
Hodgins has withdrawn his charges

Mr. Macdonald.—As regards the conversation about Section ' B,' I think I would
not regard that as being evidence before us. It does seem to me that if there is any
evidence regarding the cut at La Tuque, the profiles speak for themselves, and con-

versations here and there are not matters of very great importance.
Mr. Lennox.—With regard to the question of the profiles that were before us.
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They were produced to the witness and did not arise necessarily at all out of any
charges that were made by Major Hodgins.

Mr. Macdonald.—Oh, yes, they did.

Mr. Murphy.—I beg my learned friend's pardon.
" Mr. Lennox.—That opens out the question we have been asking to have investi-

gated. If you call witnesses as to Section ' B/ all the witnesses we desire to call, then
we are quite willing to go into the matter.

Mr. Barker.—Yes.

Mr. Lennox.—But I submit that no evidence should be admitted for the purpose

of contradicting Major Hodgins, when he has abandoned his case, having been induced

to do that by a member of the committee, and his counsel has retired.

Mr. Macdonald.—^What do you mean by saying ^ that he was induced by a mem*
ber of the committee ' ?

Mr. Lennox.—My learned friend, with an adroitness I never saw exceeded, ques-

tioned the witness in such a way as to get him to recede from his position, I think,

before he realized fully the position he was taking.

Mr. Macdonald.—Oh, never mind that matter.

Mr. Lennox.—You asked him the questions.

Mr. Barker.—^You asked him if he withdrew the imputations.

Mr. Lennox.—And then My honourable friend, Mr. Macdonald, made some very

eloquent remarks as to the propriety of his conduct and the honourable attitude he
had assumed.

Mr. Macdonald.—What has that got to do with this question of evidence?

Mr. Lennox.—^Why should we try this case partly? Why not go into the case

wholly or not at all?

Mr. Macdonald.—I have not expressed any opinion about this request of Mr.
Murphy. The profiles referred to having been used in the examination the other day,

not for the purpose of contradicting Major Hodgins, but of showing what the exact

classification was in a particular cut, and it only being a mere matter of filing and
handing them in, because having been used in evidence they form part of the record,

I personally regard them now as being before us. The only thing that remains now
is to give them to the reporter.

Mr. Lennox.—What is it I understand my learned friend to say?

Mr. Macdonald.—I do not admit the evidence of a conversation which took place

at La Tuque regarding classification, but I regard these profiles as being before the

committee.

Mr. Lennox.—If it is a question of these papers not being at present before the

committee, if that is all my learned friend means, I do not object to it.

Mr. Macdonald.—If you have the originals, Mr. Murphy, you had better give

them to us so that there will be no further discussion.

Mr. Murphy.—There are conversations between Major Hodgins and certain indi-

duals regarding which the Major, even if he pressed all his charges, could not subpoena

any other witness because he has told us no other persons were present.

The Chairman.—Do you not think, from the fact that ]Major Hodgins has with-

drawn all he has said, that it is not of very great consequence that these men should
come before us—under these circumstances when he admits himself that he has made
a mistake all through.

Mr. Murphy.—You will pardon mo for not expressing niy personal opinion. I

am representing clients and I understand their instructions to mo to bo that these

matters, in fairness to them and their employers, should be explained, otherwise the

record remains with these things spread over thoni and availaiile for n^'tM-oneo to any
newspaper which chooses to refer to them.

Mr. Macdonald.—It was not the profiles tlnit were meant but the monthly esti-

mates.
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Mr. Lennox.—It was the profiles I was speaking about. My learned friend said

he was asked to produce the original profiles.

Mr. Macdonald.—What I was referring to was the 29 and 32 per cent classi-

fication. You, Mr. Murphy, made the statement as counsel that you would produce the

originals, which I regarded as tantamount to an order of the committee. Now if you
have got the original documents you ought to produce them,.

Mr. Lennox.—I can quite appreciate the position of Mr. Murphy and he is quite

right in making the effort he is making. He wants to put witnesses in the box to

make certain statements, but I think, Mr. Chairman, you have the right idea. The
matter is practically disposed of, as far as Major Hodgins is concerned; we cannot

judge what he might have done, had he gone on with his case, in bringing other

witnesses to substantiate certain portions of his evidence.

Mr. Murphy.—I will point out to my learned friend, who has treated matters

very fairly, that Major Hodgins has told us with respect -to several of these conver-

sations, that no on? was present except the gentleman to whom he referred ^

Mr. Barker.—There may be other ways of supporting Major Hodgins' testimony.

We could not allow witnesses to be put in the box who would not be replied to.

Mr. Carvell.—I would like to ask whether Major Hodgins' estimates of the cost

of Section ' F ' are actually in evidence or not ? If not I think it is very important

that they should be in.

Mr. Barker.—I think the blue prints are in.

Mr. Murphy.—What did my learned friend ask?

Mr. Carve^^l.—I want to know if Major Hodgins' original estimate of the cost

of constructing the line in District 'F' and the revised estimate are in evidence?

Mr. Murphy.—They are not in evidence but we propose to submit them. We
propose to submit the originals.

Mr. Carvell.—I would like those documents to go in whether any evidence is

given or not.

Mr. Murphy.—I will now offer some evidence through Mr. Doucet. I would ask

Mr. Doucet to explain to the committee what paper he has in his hand?
Mr. Doucet.—This is the classification of the different cuts at La Tuque at the

end of May.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. In what year?—A. The different cuts in 4907.

Mr. Lennox.—Have we had any reference to this matter before?

Mr. Macdonald.—This is the cut which was 29 per cent classification. We want
-this so as to mak^e the evidence more intelligible.

Mr. Lennox.—This is the point that I wished to have reserved for the purpose of

referring to the minutes. I think it is an important question. This evidence should

not go in unless Mr. Murphy's recollection of the matter is accurate. I do not know
that it is.

Mr. Barker.—That is a further question. We will have to see what the ultimate

results of the progress estimates were. It will force us to follow the thing up.

Mr. Carvell.—I would have no objection to all the progress estimates going in.

Mr. Macdonald.—I think all the progress estimates are before us for the purpose

of making up a report. I would regard all the documents which the commission have

placed before us as being in.

Mr. Barker.—If these papers are thrown loosely at the committee we may have

to examine Mr. Lumsden in regard to them.

Mr. Macdonald.—There was a statement made by Major Hodgins that he was

informed as to what the classification of a certain cut at La Tuque was. He said that

he thought it should not be classified more than 40 per cent. Mr. Murphy said to him,
' Would you be surprised to learn that in certain months in 1907 they were classified

as 32 and 29 per cent ? ' There was some discussion across the board here about the

Mr. Doucet.
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piioductioii of the classification statements at that time and I remember saying that

they must be produced.

Mr. Barker.—Are those the classifications that were made right through ?

Mr. Lennox.—Of that particular month.

Mr. Macdonald.—They relate to a particular time. I do not think you were here

that day, Mr. Barker.

Mr. Lennox.—No, I think, Mr. Barker, it was the day you were absent.

Mr. Macdonald.—It was the day you were away, Mr. Barker. Major Hodgins
spoke of what he had heard was the classification in May or June last year, June being

the month when he was there. Mr. Murphy utilized these documents in all respects

short of formally handing them to the clerk and that is the reason I regarded them
as evidence. I wanted to have them.

Mr. Lennox.—As I have already said, if Mr. Murphy at the time undertook to

produce the documents I do not think; we ought to object; if he did not they should

not be received. If I remember right, counsel merely asked Major Hodgins ^ Would
you be surprised that in a certain month the classification was 29 per cent, and that

in another month it did not exceed 32 per cent? ' Major Hodgins said ' I would not be

surprised. ' Of course, I am not professing to give Mr. Murphy's words exactly.

If the matter is as my learned friend says, of course, I have no objection.

Mr. Macdonald.—I said to Mr. Murphy across the table ' You must produce those

statements.

'

Mr. Murphy.—I do not know whether it is so stated on the record.

Mr. Lennox.—I do not want a whole lot of papers slipped in at the end of the

inquiry.

Mr. ^ Macdonald.—I do not see any reason why all these papers produced by the

commision should not be before us. For instance, Mr. Barker had placed on the

record to-day a whole lot of papers. If we are going to be 'technical in our procedure

there is no reason why some honourable gentleman should not take the documents in

question ^and read them and so have them placed on the record.

Mr. Barker.—I was not objecting for a moment to those estimates going in ex-

cepting this : I think if we have them for one month we should have the continuation

of them, because those estimates may have doubled the next month.
^

Mr. Macdonald.—^Very well, let us have them all.

Mr. Barker.—We know that occurred out west.

Mr. Macdonald.—My only reason for making the request is that I asked Mr.

Murphy to put them in the other day at the time the question came up. Otherwise I

would not have suggested it.

Mr. Carvell.—Then it is understood, Mr. Chairman, that they all go in ?

Mr. Barker.—If those estimates are put in they must be continued onwards.

Mr. Carvell.— That is the understanding.

Mr. Barker.—I do not object to any original documents, but I want them to go

right through.

Mr. Macdonald.—All these documents' will be available to us hero at any time.

Mr. Murphy.—I have here a summary containing what Mr. Barker was speaking

about.

Mr. Barker.—Eight down to the date I want it ?

Mr. Murphy.—Yes.

Mr. Barker.—Who has prepared that summary ?

Mr. Murphy.—^Mr. Doucct and' he signs it.

Mr. Carvell.—I suppose that same ruling would apply to Major Hodgins'

original estimate of the cost of District ' F.' That is the docunu^nt in the possession

of the clerk and is treated ns evidence.

Mr. Lennox.—I remember Major Hodgins tried to give the figures of his original

estimate and the reduction. We have no objection, wherever we have dealt with the

matter, to such statements going in»

6—31
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Mr. Macdonald.—My theory is that we ought to have available any information
necessary for the intelligent discussion of this matter.

Mr. Barker.—Genuine information?
Mr. Macdonald.—Yes, in the way of documents.
Mr. Lennox.—All right, if we have been dealing with the matter.

Mr. Macdonald.—Yes, if these' documents have been referred to us and discussed

they ought to be ava;ilable.

Mr. Lennox.—If we are to have evidence we ought to have the best evidence.

Where the matter has not been opened up at all we should not have it.

Mr. Carvell.—The papers that I speak of have been referred to but not produced.

Mr. Murphy.—The witness and the committee have discussed the estimate of

Major Hodgins, his original estimate, and the estimate of Mr. Poulin.

Mr. Macdonald.—These two should be put in.

Mr. Barker.—There is one other document which Mr. Murphy was to put in.

In a letter from the Grand Trunk Pacific engineer to Mr. Lumsden he says he en-

closes a list of Mr. Mann's objections to classification. That letter of Mr, Mann's is

not produced.

Mr. Murphy.—My learned friend, Mr. Hodgins, asked me about that and I

inquired at the Transcontinental Commission. There they have got a copy of a letter

from Mr. Mann to Mr. Woods, but the only enclosure in the letter is a list of cuttings

which has been produced. I made special inquiry.

Mr. Barker.—^Did you try to get a copy of Mr. Mann's letter. Evidently it was
sent to the commission.

Mr. Murphy.—It does look as though there was such a letter, but when my
attention was directed to it at the office of the commission I found that a copy of the

letter was not inclosed; lit was only a list of the cuttings that has been produced hcie.

Mr. Macdonald.—The clerk has the profiles and estimates of the work at La
Tuque. Now where is your original estimate of the cost in Major Hodgins' own dis-

trict and Mr. Poulin's estimate?

Mr. Murphy.—I would like to know whether I am to be at liberty to ask Mr.

Doucet with regard to this cutting?

Mr. Lennox.—Ask him what ?

Mr. Murphy.—Ask him to identify it on the profile.

Mr. Macdonald.—I thought that was identified the other day ?

Mr. Carvell.—If there is any question about it you had better identify it now ?

Mr. DouoET recalled, and further examined.

By Mr. MiMrphy :

Q, Will you just stato between what stations on the profile, filed here as Exhibit

35, the cutting at La Tuque referred to by Major Hodgins is located ?—A. Between
stations 6030 to 6046.

Q. Is that the cutting marked on this profile ^ Tunnel 500 feet cancelled V—A.

Yes.

. Mr. Barker.—It is not easy to follow the correspondence. There has been a mis>

take somewhere. A most important letter was sent from Mr, Woods to Mr. Morse, a

copy of which was sent apparently to the committee (reads)

:

' Herewith find copy of letter dated January 22nd from District Engineer Mann,
which fully explans itself.' I referred you to another letter containing a list, but

have you got the one referred to in the letter of January 29th, 1907, from Mr. Woods
to Mr. Morse? They evidently sent it to you.

Mr. Lennox.—There was an understanding which may cover the whole ground.

Mr. Hodgins gave you some lists, Mr. Murphy, of documents required, and I under-

stood you were endeavouring to get the papers?

Mr. Murphy.—This was the one.
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Mr. Lennox.—But you had a little memorandum the other day. Did you get all

those papers referred to.

Mr. Murphy.—What was the enclosure in that letter, Mr. Barker?

Mr. Barker.—Somebody evidently sent to the commissioners Mr. Woods' letter

to Mr. Morse, dated January 29th, 1907, and with it a letter dated 22nd January, from
District Engineer Mann. These are your productions here, you know 'i

Mr. Murphy.—A letter from Mann to Woods?
Mr. Barker.—Evidently from Mann to Woods. The list is referred to in aonther.

letter.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. I would ask Mr. Doucet if the cutting which he has identified on his profile

is the one as to which the classification of 29 per cent solid rock in May, 1907, and
32 per cent solid rock in June, 1907, have reference ?—^A. Yes, 29 per cent solid rock

and 10 per cent loose rock in May, 1907. In June 32 per cent solid rock and 10 per^

cent of loose rock. (Exhibit No. 40.)

Mr. Lennox.—I might interject a statement just here while we are on this matter.

I have looked up the matter of the percentages and although neither Mr. Murphy and
myself is exactly right in our statement I think it is only proper that the estimates

should go in. Mr. Murphy gave the classification as 32 per cent for the month and 29

per cent for the month previous. Mr. Hodgins then said, ' I ask that these statements

be produced? ' To which Mr. Murphy said ' They will be produced.'

Mr. Murphy.—Yes, that was my understanding.

Mr. Lennox.—That clears up that point.

Mr. Murphy.—Now, Mr. Chairman, what is the view of the committee in regard

to my asking Mr. Doucet about the conversations agreed to have taken place with

regard to that cutting which he identified?

Mr. Lennox.—That would not be right and it would not be fair.

Mr. Barker.—There is just this: you want to be fair to Major Hodgins. Asi I

understand the major was very uncertain about the cuts he saw. Now, you want to

ask Mr. Doucet, who is your witness, to describe the cutting in question.

Mr. Murphy.—^Between stations 70 and 80.

Mr. Barker.—Major Hodgins thinks that is possibly the cut that he saw.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Would you, Mr. Doucet, describe the cutting shown on this profile. Exhibit

35, between stations 70 and 80 ? I suppose my learned friend means the classification (

—A. That is the cut which they saw when they were at La Tuque in June, 1907. The
total quantity in the cut is 48,000 yards altogether.

Q. How do you classify it?—A. It was! classified in June at 87 per cent solid

rock, 13 per cent loose rock. (Exhibit No ,39.)

By Mr. Carveil:

Q. Is that the cut that yon and Major Hodgins saw in Jnnt^^— A. Xo. 1 \v:\> not

at that.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Was that the tunnel cut?—A. No.

By Mr. Macdonald:

Q. Which was the tunnel cut?—A. Th(^ one innnodiatoly oast of that, botweou

G030 and 6046.

By Mr. BarJ^cr:

Q. What is that you arc giving pnrliculnrs of?— A. Tho tunnel cut.

j^lr. Doucet.
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By Mr. Macdonald

:

Q. What was the classification of that tunnel cut?—A. 29 per cent solid rock.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. In what month?—A. In the month of May, 29 per cent solid rock and 10 per

cent loose rock. In the month of June 32 per cent solid rock and 10 per cent loose

rock.

Mr. Barker.—That is what you were referring to the other day?

Mr. Murphy.—I would like to ask the witness, with- the permission of the com-
mittee, whether the classification of that tunnel cut and the other cuts in the vicinity

was made by him, or by Grant, or by whom?
Mr. Lennox.—"We will be getting on in this thing.

Mr. Barker.—I only asked the other question to avoid possible misunderstanding.

Mr. Macdonald.—I do not think it is of any importance, I don't see what differ-

ence it makes. Did you make it, Mr. Doucet ?

The Witness.—'No.

Mr. Lennox.—As we understand now we are not following the inquiry at all.

Mr. Carvell.—It would be opening it up for quite a time if we went into this.

Mr. Murphy.—The only matter with reference to Mr. Doucet personally is whe-

ther he ever told the Major that this tunnel cut was classified at 86 per cent. I should

like to ask the witness that?

Mr. Lennox.—No, I submit that would not be right.

Mr. Barker.—^Not unless you are prepared to go on.

Mr. Macdonald.—^I quite agree with you. I do not see any advantage in going

into that. The documents speak for themselves. I assume that Mr. Doucet would
not say it classified something that it did not classify. There would not be any sense

in that.

Mr. Murphy.—At the moment, then, I understand the committee are asking for

the estimates of cost on District *F'?
Mr. Macdonald.—^Yes.

Mr. Murphy.—Then I will ask Mr. Poulin to produce those.

Mr. Barker.—What is wanted?
Mr. Carvell.—We want to identify the original documents containing the esti-

mates of the cost of construction in District ^ F.'

Mr, Macdonald.—The commission did not have the originals when we discussed

the mattOT here before. Now, Mr. Murphy, get Major Hodgins' estimate and Mr.

Poulin's and get Mr. Poulin to identify them.

Mr. Barker.—If they are original documents on the face of them.

Mr. Murphy.—^What did I understand to be the reply to my request with respect

to the question addressed to Mr. Doucet, as to whether he ever said this cut at La
Tuque was classified as 86 per cent?

Mr, Macdonald.—I do not understand how Mr. Doucet said it was 86 per cent

when the estimates themselves show it was 29 and 32 per cent in those two months.

Mr. Lennox.—This is a matter of argument.

Mr, Carvell.—I think in view of the documents produced we would all assume
that Mr. Doucet would deny that he ever stated it.

Mr. Murphy.—Tinder the arrangement made with the committee I now put in the

original estimate of Major Hodgins of the cost of construction on District * F ' re-

ferred to, the $13,000,000 estimate. (Exhibit No. 41.)

Mr. S. E. Poulin sworn :

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. You have already produced Major Hodgins' original estimate, referred to as

the $13,000,000 estimate?—A. Yes, sir.
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Q. What is the other estimate, which you produce?—A. This estimate was made
in the months of December and January by the resident and division engineers on

District 'F' after the Major left. (Exhibit No. 42.)

Q. 'Now, as compared with the estimate of thirteen millions, what is the amount of

this estimate filed as Exhibit 42 ?—A. This estimate is $17,534,000.

Q. And how is the difierence between these two estimates made up?—A. It was

made up—this takes in everything, rails and ties and everything. The estimate of

Major Hodgins was only to grading. My estimate includes everything, stations and

sidings.

By Mr. BarJcer:

Q. Taking these items as they are here what is the difference?—A. There would

be about a million and a half difference.

Q. Lower ?—A. My estimate is one and a half millions higher than Hodgins'.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Why?—A. Because this estimate was made according to the cross sections.

Q. What estimate ?—A. This last estimate, as I call my estimate, was made by the

resident and division engineers on the work after the actual cross-sections had been
made.

Mr. Macdonald.—Are we not going into the evidence now?

By Mr. BarTcer:

Q. Was this increase of one and a half millions the result of any change in the

classifications?—A. Oh, no, it was not. It was due to omissions in the quantities.

By Mr, Macdonald:

Q. Omissions in the quantities where?—A. On the line.

Q. Certain quantities were taken out, you mean?—A. Quantities in the original

estimate.

Mr. Lennox.—I think we are going beyond what was agreed upon?
Mr. Macdonald.—I don't think we should have any evidence, the documents

should speak for themselves. We certainly ought to have these two estimates.

Mr. Murphy.—I am attaching a list of these omissions for the information of the

committee.

Mr. Barker.—I think the evidence is incomplete if you only give Major Hodgins'

first estimate and then your No. 3 estimate.

Mr. Macdonald.—We should have Major Hodgins' second estimate also?

The Witness.—Llere is a statement of the estimates taken by each division. The
estimate is a compilation from Major Hodgins' revised quantities and the estimate

was made by the engineers after I went upon the work, side by side, giving the quan-

tities of each division. That was compiled lately. I can sign it if you want it for

the information of the committee?

Mr. Lennox.—I don't think we want it.

By Mr. BarJcer :\

Q. When was it made?—A. In the month of April this year. It is a ooiiiparisou

of the two estimates side by side.

Mr. Barker.—I do not think we have a right to go into a statomont made since

April, 1908.

Mr. Macdonald.—T do not want evidence, all I want is the dociiinonts as far as I

am concerned, the two estimates; one made by Major Hodgins and the other by Mr.
Poulin.

Mr. Barker.—Mr, Poulin's estimate has boon made in April of this year.

Mr. CARVELTi.—Oil no, it was made in DoctMnb(M\

Mr. PouLiN.
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Mr. Murphy.—I have asked the witness to produce the revised estimate made by-

Major Hodgins for the information of the committee.

The Witness.—This revised estimate is as close as it can be had frofa the figures

that were in the office at St. Boniface, that is the revised estimate of Major Hodgins
(Exhibit No. 43). -

By Mr. Barker:

Q. You say it is as close as you could make it?—A. It is compiled from the loose

sheets found in the office, the only documents left in the office when Major Hodgins,

left, and it is compared with the estimate that he had in his book that he had here

before the committee. It amounts to $11,800,000. It is taken from loose sheets, the

estimates of Mcintosh, Heaman, A. G. Macfarlane, M. C. Macfarlane and McTaggart.

The total amounts to within a few thousand dollars of the estimate in Major Hodgins'

book.

By Mr. Murphy:

Q. Do I understand there was a single sheet containing all the details?—A. No,

there were only loose sheets.

Q. What else were you offering to" the committee?
Mr. Barker.—Now this is giving entirely new evidence.

Mr. Lennox.—I will have to ask to have struck out anything in the way of new
evidence.

Mr. Murphy.—I was asking what were the other estimates or blue piints he was
offering to the committee when I was stopped?

Mr. Lennox.—^You are putting in evidence upon a question that we have not been

investigating in any way. I don't think we ought to allow that.

Mr. Maodonald.—I do not think it is material if you have got the other estimates

in.

Mr. Lennox.—I do not think we had better take it.

Mr. Barker.—It is all after this question was raised.

Mr. Murphy.—There is another request I made to the committee as to hearing

the evidence of these individuals concerning whom statements had been spi-ead upon
the record. What I have reference to is the conversation between them and the major.

I do not know whether the committee will tak^ the question under advisement?
Mr. Barker.—You can give them a certificate of character yourself.

Mr. Murphy.—They do not need a certificate of character.

Mr. Barker.—You know in court such a thing happens every day?
Mr. Macdonald.—Of whom are you speaking?

Mr. Murphy.—Of Mr. Grant, Mr. Armstrong, Commissioner Reid and Commis-
sioner Young.

Mr. Macdonald.—There is no necessity for Commissioner Young or Commissioner
Beid giving any evidence ,in view of the present position of matters. In regard

to the others it is perfectly immaterial. With respect to Grant, Major Hodgins said

the other day that he did not attribute to him anything improper. I deprecate the

giving of evidence now.

Mr. Murphy.—The statement attributed to Mr. Armstrong he is prepared to deny.

He denies that he ever said there were two millions over-classification.

Mr. Lennox.—It is a contradiction.

Mr. Macdonald.—It is a contradiction. In view of Major Hodgins' position, the

explanation he has made and the fact that his case had not been concluded at the time
he abandoned it, I do not think it is material. I assume that Grant would contradict

the statement attributed to him?
Mr. Murphy.—Certainly Grant would contradict the statement. It is a matter

that I would press on the attention of the committee in view of the statements that

are on the record.

Mr. PATJiiiNT.—Do you think it is fair, Mr. Chairman, that an engineer who has
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been charged with saying there was an over-classification of over two million dollars

should not have a right to come here and deny it? It would be a great hardship) if

the statements were allowed to go on the record undenied. That man may be looking

for a position later on and he will be called upon to contradict that statement. I do

not think it is fair that the men mentioned by Major Hodgins should not have
the right to contradict those statements. As far as we are concerned I am prepared

to go on with the investigation as long as you like. We have nothing to hide,

Mr. Lennox.—Where are we at ?

Mr. Parent.—We are here for business.

Mr. Macdonald.—I desire to say, before we conclude, that some of the gentlemen
v/ho have been given the privileges of this room as represienting the press have abused

those privileges by absolute misrepresentation, distortion of the evidence and incor-

rect versions of what has taken place in this committee. If at any future date a simi-

lar course is taken, and I happen to be on the committee, if there is any way in which
the privileges of parliament can be vindicated with respect to gentlemen of that type

I propose to follow it. In this case particularly my friend Mr. Carvell and myself

have been represented as having pre-judged this case from the very inception of it

and yet the record of the proceedings, which is a verbatum one, shows that such an

allegation is absolutely and wholly untrue. I am in the judgment of my friends of

the committee who are not of our political faith if we have not in these proceedings

endeavoured to act in as fair and judicial a maner as possible. Every bit of evidence,

from any source tendered, that could be received has been received; and as far as

desiring to deal with these charges fairly and equitably, I am bound to say, as far as

I am concerned, and I thinly I can say for the gentletnen associated with me, that

these misrepresentations are entirely unwarranted.

Mr. Carvell.—In addition to what Mr. Macdonald has said, I want to state that

as far as I have been able to read these newspapers the most vicious atacks have

come from journals in the maritime provinces, evidently with the idea of having

them read where Mr. Macdonald and myself are best known. I can only repeat what

he has stated and hope that some means may be adopted whereby such very unfair

reports may be prevented in the future.

Mr. Parent.—Here is a statement in a Quebec paper of yesterday (reads)

:

* Present indications are that the Hodgins inquiry will not be prosecuted further.

It is quite clear that Hodgins has proved his charges, letters of Grand Trunk officials

having been unearthed which show they strongly pleaded against over-classification.

It transpires now that the commission in January last made an agrf^f.ment "with the

Grand Trunk Pacific to refer the question to a commission of engineers h) determine

as to whether the company has to pay rental back upon certain building lands. When
the Liberal members heard of this they suggested that it was useless to proceed fur-

ther with the inquiry. The point will be fully determined to-morrovvr, but the evident

desire is to shut oif further investigation, in order to prevent Gran L Trunk engineers

being on the stand to uphold Hodgins' charges.'

I do not know of anything more harmful tlvm a report such as that.

The Chairman.—That is vvrj unfair. What paper is that ?

Mr. Parent.—The Quebec ' Morning Chronicle.'

Mr. Macdonald.—It is not in accord with the evidence that is in.

Mr. Parent.—I would have been more satisfied if we could have had all the

cngineersi here to prove that the charges are not justified by the fact-s.

Mr. Carvell.—I am not entirely satisfied with the course this has taken bocauso,

as you will remember early this afternoon, I reserved to myself at loiise the right to

say that my learned friends could call witnesses to prove fraud on the part of the

commission if they wanted to, and that necessarily involved the right of the commis-
sioners to call their witnesses, toi disprove those charges. But in view of the course

that the case has now taken I see nothing to do now but to close it up, therefore I will

move that the taking of evidence in' this case be now closed, and that the witnesses bo



488 SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON MAJOR H0DGIN8' CHARGES

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

discharged and that the committee meet on say Tuesday next to decide what the next

step shall be.

Mr. Lennox.—Do not combine the two in one motion, but make a motion first as

to the closing of the evidence, we want a vote on that, and with regard to the other

part we will of course vote with you.

Mr. Carvell.—I am quite willing to do that. I move that the evidence be now
closed and that the witnesses be discharged.

Question put and motion declared carried.

The Committee adjourned.

(For further proceedings, see pages 57 to 62.)

I
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SELECT COMMITTEE ON QUEBEC BRIDGE

ORDER OF REFEREIsTCE.

House op Commons,
Wednesday, February 5, 1908.

Resolved, that a Select Committee composed of seven members of this House be

named for the purpose of investigating the conditions and guarantees under which

this Government paid moneys to the Quebec Bridge Company and endorsed or

guaranteed the bonds of the said company, and what measures were adopted by the

Government to ensure the preparation of suitable plans of construction and the proper

execution of the same, and what security the Government at present possesses for the

sums already received by and guarantees given to the company.

That the said committee be empowered to send for persons, papers and records,

and to employ a shorthand writer to take down such evidence as the committee deem
necessary, and that the evidence be printed from day to day for the use of said com-

mittee, and that Rule 72 be suspended in relation thereto.

Attest.

(Signed) THOS. B. FLIOT,
Cleric of the House.

Thursday, May 14, 190S.

Ordered, that the said committee be composed of Messrs. Maclean (Lunenburg),

Talbot, Galliher, Chisholm (Antigonish) , Monk, Barker, Walsh (Huntingdon).

Attest.

THOS. B. FLINT,
Cleric of the House,

^roNDAv. June 1, 190S.

Ordered, that the said Committee have leave to sit whilo the TTonso is in session.

Attest,

THOS. B. FLINT.
Clerk of {he House.

V
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Thursday, June 11, 1908.

Ordered, that the Keturn in answer to an Address to His Excellency the Governor

General of the 12th December, 1907, for a copy of all Orders in Council, correspond-

ence, reports, memoranda, papers and documents, since the 1st day of January, 1900,

relating to the Quebec bridge, including all reports and Orders in Council relating to

the plans and specifications for the works of the undertaking or to any approval thereof

by the Governor in Council, or by the department of Railways and v^anals, the same
being Sessional Paper No. 154a. .

Attest, •

THOS. B. FLINT,
Cleric of the House.

Friday, June 12, 1908.

Ordered, that the Report of the Royal Commission on the Quebec Bridge Inquiry,

together with the evidence (Sessional Paper No. 154), be referred to the said Com-
mittee.

Attest,

THOS. B. FLINT,
Cleric of the House.
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SELECT COMMITTEE ON QUEBEC BRIDGE

REPORT
House of Commons,

Wednesday, July 15, 1908.

The Select Committee of the House of Commons appointed for the purpose of

investigating the conditions and guarantees under which the Government of Canada
paid moneys -to the Quebec Bridge and Railway Company, and endorsed or guaranteed

the bonds of the said company, and what measures were adopted by the Government
of Canada to ensure the preparation of suitable plans of construction and the proper

execution of the same and what security the Government at present possesses for the

sums already received by and guarantees given to the Company, beg leave to present

the following Report, viz. :

—

1. The Quebec Bridge Company was incorporated in 1887 for the purpose of

constructing a bridge across the St. Lawrence River, at or near Quebec City. By sub-

sequent legislative Acts the Company's charter was revised and amended, and by
Chapter 177 of the Statutes of 1903, the name of the Company was changed to the

Quebec Bridge and Railway Company.
2. In 1889, a subsidy of one million dollars was voted by the Parliament of Can-

ada to the Quebec Bridge and Railway Company, towards the construction of the

bridge. Of this subsidy, $374,353 was eventually disbursed to the Company. The sum
of $250,000 was granted as a subsidy to aid the construction of the bridge, by the

Government of the Province of Quebec, and $300,000 by the City of Quebec for the

same purpose.

3. In 1900 the Quebec Bridge and Railway Company entered into a contract with
M. P. Davis, for the construction of the substructure, and in 1903, it entered into a

contract with the Phoenix Bridge Company, of Pittsburg, U.S.A., for the construction

of the superstructure.

The plans and s;^ocifications of both were approved by the Department of Rail-

ways and Canals ,of Canada ,by C. S. Schreiber, its Chief Engineer.

4. On October 19, 1903, an agreement was entered into, between the Government
of Canada, and the Quebec Bridge and Railway Company, which said agreement is

fully set out as a schedule to Chapter 54 of the Statutes of Canada for 1003. which
Act confirmed said agreement, whereby inter alia, the Company released any claim
to the unpaid balance of the subsidy of one million dollars voted in ISOO. and the

Government of Canada, agreed to guarantee the ])aynient of the innncijial and interest

of the bonds, debentures or other seeuriti(^s of the Company, the amonnt not to exctvd

$0,078,200, which amount was considered necessary to licjuidate tlie liabilities of the

Comi)any as of that date and conii)l(^t(^ the eonstruetion of the bridge.

The Company was also obliged nndiM- tlu^ agreiMnent. to pr(HMire a surrender of

the stock of the Company held by subscribers, and which had not been fully i^aid. and
to deliver in substitutio!! tluM*efor fully paid stock i'ov amount actually ]iaid on
such shares, and which amounted to $05, r)8r>.70.

The Comi)any by this agreement also undertook io \n'ocuvo suhserihers for ad-
ditional stock, to the amount of $200,000. which was to ho fully paid \n-\or to the
issue of any bonds bearing the Government gmiranttv.

vii
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5. The Company fully complied with the provisions of the agreement regarding

the substitution of fully paid shares for partially paid shares held by subscribers to

that date, and also procured the subscription of $200,000 of additional stock.

6. The Company issued in 1904, and in the following two years, bonds to the

value of $6,678,200, which were guaranteed by the Government of Canada, and upon
which issue of bonds as collateral, the Company procured advances from the Bank
of Montreal, to the extent of il>5,016,066.

7. It was urged before the Committee that contrary to the provisions of the agree-

ment ratified by Chapter 54 of the Acts, 1903, the issue of the said bonds preceded

the payment of the $200,000 of additional stock by reason of the fact that a cheque

of M. P. Davis given in payment of subscription of stock, in the sum of $94,90.0 was
not immediately converted into cash and that there was, therefore, in this respect, not

a compliance by the Company with Section 4 of the agreement of October 19, 1903.

The Company regarded the cheque as cash, and certified to the Government that

full payment of the $200,000 of additional capital had been made, and the Govern-
ment, thereupon, guaranteed the issue of the bonds above referred to.

The full $200,000 had not, as a matter of fact, been placed by the Company to its

credit with its bankers at the time the bonds were guaranteed, although a cheque
sufficient to make up the amount was then held by the Company as above stated.

Subsequently, the cheque was placed to the credit of the Company and the full $200,-

000 was used by the Company for the purposes of the undertaking.

8. The matter of the suitability and character of the plans of the bridge, both as-

to the substructure and the superstructure, the methods and system of inspection

during the construction and kindred and allied questions, has been the subject of

investigation by a Eoyal Commission, subsequent to the destruction of the bridge in

August, 1907. The Eeport of the said Eoyal Commission being now before Parlia-

ment, your Committee deem it inadvisable to make any comment in relation thereto,

particularly as the questions involved are largely of a technical character.

9. The whole undertaking of the Company is mortgaged to secure the Govern-
ment guaranteed issue of bonds. Of these bonds the Government now holds approxi-

mately $2,330,000 of the whole issue of $6,678,000. The balance of the same is held

by the Bank of Montreal which claims as of April 30, 1908, against these bonds, the

sum of $3,773,223.71. The bank is under obligation to the Government to deliver the

balance of the bonds to the Government on payment of the balance of advances and
stipulated interest.

Under Chapter 35 of the Acts of 1903, the Government is empowered to advance
to the Company, money to release from the pledging to the bank, the bonds in ques-

tion, and under this legislation, the $200,000 referred to was advanced and a propor-

tionate amount of the bonds was received by the Government as above stated.

When the Bank of Montreal is paid its claim by the Government, the Govern-

ment will possess the whole bond issue and will have an undivided lien upon the sub-

structure of the bridge and approaches, including the Chaudiere bridge and a large

amount of delivered material. The substructure cost over $1,000,000, and the ap-

proaches referred to, over $1,000,000, and the value of the delivered material amounts
approximately to $1,000,000.

Your Committee also beg to submit herewith for the information of the House,

the minutes of their proceedings, the evidence taken by them during the enquiry, and
the exhibits filed in connection therewith; and recommend that the exhibits be not

printed.

All which is respectfully submitted.

A. K. MACLEAN,
Chairman,
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SELECT COMMITTEE ON QUEBEC BRIDGE

MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
Committee Room,

Friday, May 22, 1908.

The committee met at 10.30 o'clock, a.m.

Present: Messieurs Barker, Chisholm (Antigonisli), Galliher, Maclean (Lunen-

burg), and Monk—5.

On motion of Mr. Galliher, Mr. Maclean (Lunenburg), was chosen chairman.

The Chairman read the Order of Reference.

On motion of Mr. Monk, it was ordered that Mr. Ulric Barthe, secretary of the

Quebec Bridge Company, be summoned to appear before this committee at its next

meeting and to produce before the committee the said company's book of minutes of

its meetings, its books of accounts, its contracts with regard to the works of construc-

tion of the said Quebec bridge, and contracts and agreements for loans and advances,

its stock register and books connected therewith; the said company's correspondence

with the Dominion government and members thereof in reference to all matters and
things connected with the said Quebec bridge; and all papers and documents generally

having reference to the construction and completion and the providing of the necessary

funds for defraying the cost of the aforesaid bridge.

The committee then adjourned till Tuesday, June 2 next, at 10.30 o'clock, a.m.

Attest,

K ROBIDOUX,
Clerh of Committee.

Committee Roo^l
Tuesday, June 2, 1908.

Committee met.

Present—Mr. Maclean (Lunenburg), in the chair; and ^Fessrs. Barker, Chis-

holm (Antigonish), Callihor, Mouk and Walsh (Huntingdon.)—6.

The chairman laid on the table a return to an Order of the House, dated Decem-
ber 12, 1907, for a copy of all Orders in Council, correspondence, reports, memoranda,
papers, and documents, since January 1, 1900, respecting the Quebec Bridge, »S:c.

Mr. G. A. Bell, of the Department of Railways and Canals, laid on the tabla

original papers giving report and evidence submitted by the Commissioners of Inquiry
into the Quebec bridge collapse, in 3 vols. Also a roll of plans.

Mr. Ulric Barthe, secretary of the (Quebec Bridge Company, was callcci, v^^wom

and examined (in part) by Mr. Monk.
Witness' examination discontinued, pending (he arrival of the papers called for

by his summons.

Committee rose to resume at 2.30 o'clock, p.m.

ix
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2.30 o'clock, p.m.

Committee resumed.

Mr. G. A. Bell, of the Department of Railways and Canals, laid on the table certain

papers nsed by the Royal Commission in the course of their inquiry at Quebec, which

were sent at the close thereof to the Railway Department at Ottawa.

Also, a printed copy of the report of the Royal Commission on the cause of the

collapse of the Quebec bridge—which was filed and marked as Exhibit No. 1.

Mr. Barthe having produced the books of accounts, &c., of the Quebec Bridge

Company, the members of the committee proceeded informally to the examination of

the same.

The committee then adjourned until Tuesday next, 9th instant, at 11 o'clock, a.m.

Attest,

K ROBIDOUX,
Clerh of Committee.

House of Commons,
Committee Room 32,

Tuesday, June 9, 1908.

Committee met.

Present—Mr. Maclean (Lunenburg), in the chair; and Messrs. Barker, Chisholm

(Antigonish), Galliher, Monk and Walsh (Huntingdon)—6.

Mr. H. T. Ross, assistant deputy minister of finance, in attendance before the

committee on behalf of the Finance Department, was given leave to put questions

to witnesses, if such be deemed necessary, to facilitate the enquiry.

Mr. Biarthe, secretary of the Qu<ebec Bridge and Railway Company, was recalled

and further examined by Mr. Monk and others.

During his examination, the following papers, &c., were filed and marked as

—

Exhibits Nos. 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6—FiVe bank books of the Quebec Bridge and Rail-

way Co.

Exhibits Nos. Y to 16, inclusive—Ten cheques aggregating the sum of $5,000

deposited to the credit of the Quebec Bridge and Railway Co., by the directors thereof.

Exhibit 'No. 17.—Copy of resolutions of shareholders and minutes of directors

referring to same, in connection with annual grant of $5,000 to the directors of said

company for attendance, &c.

Exhibit No. 18.—^By-laws of the Quebec Bridge and Railway Co.

At one o'clock p.m., committee took recess.

Four o'clock p.m.

Committee resumed.

Mr. Barthe's examination was continued by Mr. Monk and others.

During his examination, the following documents were filed and marked as

—

Exhibit No. 19.—Agreement for advances dated 23rd Feb., 1904, between the

Quebec Bridge Company, the Dominion Government, and the Bank of Montreal.



RE MONEYS PAID TO QUEBEC BRIDGE COMPANY xi

APPENDIX No. 6

Exhibit No. 20.—Copy of contract for superstructure between the Quebec Bridge

Company iand . the Phoenix Bridg.e, Co.

Witness retired, but to remain in attendance.

Besolved, that the committee proceed to the examination of Mr. G. A. Bell,

assistant accountant of the Railways and Canals Department, at its next sitting.

Committee then adjourned until tomorrow at 11 a.m.

Attest,

K ROBIDOUX,
Clerh of Committee.

Committee Eoom No. 32,

Wednesday, June 10, 1908.

Commi'ttee met.

Present :—Mr. Maclean (Lunenburg), in the chair ; and Messrs. Barker,

Chisholm (Antigonish), Galliher, and Walsh (Huntmgdon)—5.

Mr. H. T. Ross, assistant deputy minister of Pinance, and Mr. G. A. Bell, assis-

tant accountant of Railways and Canals Department, were again in attendance.

Resolved, that Mr. J. H. Paquet, treasurer of the Quebec Bridge and Railway
Co., in attendance before the committee since yesterday, be forma'.ly summoned to

attend las a witness.

Mr. Barthe laid on the table two statem(ents he was yesterday requested 'to

prepare for the committee—which were filed and marked as

Exhibit No. 21.—List of shareholders present or repreaentled by proxy at annu>al

general meetings of Quebec Bridge Co.

Exhibit No. 22.—Memo, showing attejndande of direc'toTS appointed by the gov-

ernment at Board meetings of Quebec Bridge and Railway Co., from date of appoint-

ment, January, 1904.

The following paper was filed /and marked ias

Exhibit No. 23.—Sta'tement showing amounts voted by shareholders to directors

and the manner in which these grants were dealt with by the directors themselves.

Mr. Monk being detained in the House, the committee rose to meet again at
'3 to'clock p.m.

Thiv?e o'clock, p.m.

Committee .resumed, with all 'the members thcyi^eof present.

Three volumes of original papers giving rcport imd evidence submitted by the
Commissioners of Inquiry into the Quebec l^ridge coHnpse, laid on the table of the
committee by an official of the Railways and Canals Department (Mr. G. A. Bell),

ton 2nd instant, weix3 marked as Exhibits Nos. 24a, 24b, and 24c, respectively.
' Also, a roll of plans rela'tiiig to these originuil papers, produced before the com-,

•bi'tteo by Mr. Bell, was miarked as Exhibit No. 2 hk
Mr. G. A. Bell, assistant accountant of Railways and Canals Department, was

called,, sworn, and examined by Mr. .l\Ionk and others.

During his examination, the following papers wore tiled and marked as
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Exhibit No. 25.—Cancelled cheque iof M. P. Davis in favour of Quebec Bridge
Company, dated January 27, 1904, on Bank of Montreal, for $119,900.

Exhibit ^N'o. 26..—Cheque of M. P. Davis in favour of Quebec Bridge Company^
jdated J^ebruary 21, 1907, on Bank of Montreal, for $94,900, paid into biank samo
yate.

/ Exhibit No. 27.—S'tatement showing details of first payment of $898,264.73

'from bond account (Quebec Bridge and Bailway Co.)

Witness identifijed Exhibit No. 23 as having been prepared by himself.

Mr. Paquet, treasurer of Quiebec Bridge and Railwiay Company, filed the follow-

ing paper, which was marked as

Exhibit No. 28.—List, of first shareholders of Quebec Br'idge Company, and
Jamount of their shares, &c.

The following papers were filed and marked as .

; Exhibit No. 29.—Recapitulation of enginfeer's porogress estimate of work done

:by 'the\ Phosniix Bridge Comipiany (Mr. Be.Fs statemen't B.)

Exhibit No. 30.—Contract dated June 19, 1900, betwieen Quebec Bridge Com-
jpany land M. P. Davis for substructure of bridge.

;
Exhibit No. 31.-—Release Quebec Bridge and Railway Company and others to

'Thbs. McDougall.

{ Exhibit No. 32.—Cointraet dated July 27, 1903, betwee(n M. P. Davis and the

'Quebec Bridge and Railway Company for construction of inailway, &c.

Mr. Barthe recalled to identify Exhibits Nos. 21 and 22 as having been pre-

^pared by himself.

RIesolved, that the examination of Messrs. Ross (Einance Department), and

Bal-the be proceeded withj at the next sitting of the committee.

Committee then adjourned until to-morrow a't 3 o'clock, p.m.

Attest,

N. ROBIDOUX,
Clerk of Committee.

Committee Room,
Thursday, June 11, 1908.

Committee met at 3 o'clock p.m.

Present—Mr. Maclean (Lunenburg), in the chair; and all the other members of

the committee.

Messrs. Ross (Einance Dept.), Bell (Railways and Canals Dept.), Barthe and
Paquet were in attendance. Also, Mr. S. N. Parent, president of the Quebec Bridge

and Railway Co., who had likewise attended the previous sittings of the committee.

A mortgage trust deed, dated Eeb. 1, 1904, between the Quebec Bridge and Rail-

way Co. and the Royal Trust Co. and the Dominion Government, was filed and marked
as Exhibit No. 33.

Mr. Ross, Asst. Deputy Minister of Einance, read a memo, showing balance of

indebtedness due Bank of Montreal by Quebec Bridge Co., which was marked as

Exhibit No. 34.

A further list of first shareholders of the Quebec Bridge and Railway Co. was
filed and marked as Exhibit No. 28a.
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The following documents were filed and marked as

—

Exhibit No. 35.—Agreement between the Government of the Province of Quebec

and the Quebec Bridge Co., dated Nov. 27, 1900.

Exhibit No. 36.—Agreement between the City of Quebec and the Quebec Bridge

Co., dated Sept. 22, 1900.

Exhibit No. 37.—Letter (in Erench) dated Eebruary 12, 1902, from L. A, Tascher-

eau to Mt. Barthe, secretary of Quebec Bridge Co., re remunerations to directors of

said company.

Exhibit No. 38.—Letter (in Erench) dated Nov. 26, 1903, from same to same re

grant of $5,000 to directors.

Exhibit No. 39.—Account of Gormully & Orde, of Ottawa, against the Quebec

Bridge & Railway Co., for legal services.

Exhibit No. 40.—Subsidy agreement between the Dominion Government and the

Quebec Bridge Co., dated Nov. 12, 1900.

Mr. Bell re-called and further examined by the Chairman and others.

Witness retired.

Mr. Ross, in answer to a question, stated that the records of the Einance Depart-

ment's connection with the Quebec Bridge & Railway Co. were contained in the bound
bocks, A, B, and C, forming part of Sessional Papers No. 154a before the committee

—

These three bound books were then marked as

Exhibit No. 41.—Copy of files re Quebec Bridge & Railway Co., from Sept. 13,

1900, to May 25, 1904, (Letter A),

Exhibit No. 42.—Do, do, from July 14, 1904, to July 11, 1907 (Letter B).

Exhibit No. 43.—Do, do, from Sept. 12, 1904, to Eeb. 11, 1908 (Letter C).

Mr. Barthe recalled and further examined by the chairman and others.

Witness retired.

Mr. J. H. Paquet, treasurer of the Quebec Bridge & Railway Co., was called and
discharged from further attendance. Witness submitted a list of shareholders of the

old company who remained with the new company when Mr. Parent was mad« a

director and president of the re-organized Bridge Co. Said list being marked as

Exhibit No. 44.

Mr. Talbot moved, that the chairman be instructed to move in the House to-morrow
that the report of the Royal Commission on the Quebec Bridge inquiry, together with
the evidence (Sessional Papers No. 154), be referred to this committee.

Which was agreed to on division.

Resolved, that the following directors of the Quebec Bridge & Railway Co., viz.:

Messrs. Sharpley, Price, Lemoine, &c., be requested to attend the next meeting of the

committee.

Committee then adjourned to the call of the chair.

Attest,

N. ROBIDOUX,
Clerk of Committee.
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House op Commons^
Thursday, June 18, 1908.

Coimnittee met at 11 o'clock a.m.

Present—All the members of the committee, with Mr. Maclean (Lunenburg) in
the chair.

Mr. Bell, assistant accountant of Eailways and Canals Department, .was in

attendance. Also, Hon. S. N. Parent, president of the Quebec Bridge 'and Railway-

Company, and the following directors of said company, " viz. : Hon. J. Sharpies, and
Messrs. H. M. Price, G. LeMoine and P. B. Dumoulin, all of Quebec.

Mr. H. M. Price was called, siworn and examined by Mr. Galliher and others ; and
cross-examined by Mr. Bal'ker and others.

'

Witness retired.

Mr. G. LeMoine, called and sworn.

It being one o'clock p.m., committee took recess.

Committee resumed.

Mr. Price was given leave to explain a certain part of his evidence given this

morning.

Mr. LeMoine recalled and examined by Mr. Galliher, and cross-examined by Mr.

Monk and others.
*

Witness retired.

Mr. Thos. McDougall, general manager of the Quebec 'Bank, Quebec, called,

sworn and examined by Mr. ' Galliher and others.

Witness retired.

Mr. J. G. Scott, general manager of the ' Quebec and Lake St. John Railway Co.,

Quebec, called, sworn and examined by Mr. Galliher and others; and cross-examined

by Mr. Monk. *

Witness retired.

Hon. J. Sharpies, president Union Bank, Quebec, called, sworn and examined
by Mr. Galliher and others ; and cross-examined by Mr. Monk and others.

Witness retired.

Mr. 'P. B. Dumoulin, manager Molsons Bank, Quebec, called, sworn and examined
by Mr. Galliher, and cross-examined by Mr. Monk.

Witness retired.

Resolved, that the examination of Hon. S. N. Parent, president of the Quebec

Bridge and Railway Company, and of Mr. Henry Holgate, chairman of royal commis-
sion on the cause of the collapse of the Quebec bridge, be proceeded with at next

meeting of the committee.

Committee then adjourned until Tuesday next at eleven o'clock a.m.

Four o'clock p.m.

Attest,

N. ROBIDOUX,
Clerh of Committee.



RE MONEYS PAID TO QUEBEC BRIDGE COMPANY XV

APPENDIX No. 6

House of Commons,
Committee Room No. 32,

Tuesday, June 23, 1908.

Cominittee met at 11.30 o'clock a.m.

Present: Mr. Maclean (Lunenburg), in the chair; and Messrs. Chisholm (Antig-

onish), Galliher, Monk, and Walsh Huntingdon).—5.

Hon. S. N. Parent, Mr. Bell (assistant accountant of Railways and Canals Depart-

ment) and Mr. A. E. Hoare (chief engineer of Quebec Bridge Company) were in

attendance. Also, Mr. Lorenzo Robitaille, M.P., by request of chairman.

Mr. Robitaille, M.P., was called and examined by Mr. Galliher.

Mr. Robitaille withdrew, to prepare a statement regarding the financial condition

of Quebec Bridge Company, as understood by himself, and as represented in his

speech in the House on April 26, 1907.

Hon. Mr. Parent, president of Quebec Bridge & Railway Company, called, sworn

and examined by Mr. Monk. (His evidence being taken down in the French language

by a stenographer sworn for the purpose.)

At one o'clock p.m.. Committee took recess.

Three-thirty o'clock p.m.

Committee resumed.

Mr. Henry Holgate, C.E., Montreal, attended as requested.

Mr. Holgate was called, sworn and examined by Mr. Monk, and others, and cross-

examined by the chairman and others.

Witness discharged.

Mr. Parent's examination was then resumed by Mr. Monk.

Witness retired.

The following paper was filed and marked as Exhibit No. 45—First annual report

of the directors of Quebec Railway Bridge Company, dated June 4, 1889, and signed

by J. B. Forsyth, president, and by L. F. Burroughs, secretary.

Mr. Robitaille, M.P., submitted his statement regarding the financial condition

of Quebec Bridge Company, as understood by himself on April 26, 1907, and was
further examined thereon.

Mr. Robitaille then withdrew.

Committee adjourned until Tuesday next, 30th instant.

Attest,

N. ROBIDOUX,
Clerk of Commiitcc.
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House of Commons,
Committee Eoom No. 62,

Tuesday, July 7, 1908.

Committee met at 11 o'clock, a.m.

Present—Mr. Maclean (Lunenburg), in the chair, and Messrs. Barker, Chisholm
(Antigonish), Galliher, Monk and Walsh (Huntingdon)—6.

By request of the chairman, the following persons were in attendance, viz., Hon.
Mr. Fielding, Minister of Finance; and Mr. Robert Douglas, C.E., of Railways and
Canals Department. Hon. Mr. Parent and Mr. Henry T. Ross were also in attendance.

Hon. Mr. Fielding called, and examined by Mr. Monk and others.

Retired.

Mr. R. Douglas called, sworn and examined by Mr. Monk and othera

Witness discharged.

Mr. Henry T. Ross called, and examined by Mr. Monk and others.

Mr. Barker asked for the production of a complete statement of the accounts be-

tween the Phoenix Bridge Company and the Quebec Bridge Company from the begin-

ning; also with regard to the substructure.

Committee then adjourned until to-morrow at 3 o'clock, p.m.

Attest,

N. ROBIDOUX,
Clerh of Committee.

House of Commons^
Committee Room No. 62,

Wednesday, July 8, 1908.

Committee met at 3 o'clock p.m.

Present: Mr. Maclean (Lunenburg), in the chair; and Messrs. Chisholm (Anti-

gonish), Galliher, Monk and Talbot.—5.

Hon. Mr. Parent and Mr. G. A. Bell, assistant accountant of Railways and
Canals Department, were in attendance.

Mr. Bell, recalled and examined by Mr. Monk respecting the complete statement

asked for previously by Mr. Barker, of the accounts between the Phoenix Bridge

Company, &c.

Witness discharged.

The following document was filed by Mr. Parent and marked as Exhibit No. 46:

—Return to an order of the House dated June 18, 1891, for a copy of the report of

C. Schreiber, Esq., upon a survey made by him of the River St. Lawrence immediately
opposite and in the vicinity of the city of Quebec, for the purpose of determining
whether it was possible to build .a railway bridge there. i
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On motion of Mr. Monk, it was
Ordered, that Mr. Bechard, accountant and auditor, Quebec be summoned by

wire to appear before the committee to-morrow (Thursday).

Mr. Monk asked that Appendix Ko. 6 (Sessional Papers No. 7 for year 1896) of

the Quebec Legislature, being a report of Mr. C. E. Gauvin 'respecting the proposed

bridge over the St. Lawrence at Quebec,' be filed as an exhibit.

The chairman ruled the document as being irrelevant to this inquiry.

Committee then adjourned until to-morrow at 12 o'clock noon.

Attest,
^

N. ROBIDOUX,
Clerh of Committee.

House of Commons,
Committee Room No. 32,

Thursday, July 9, 1908.

Committee met at 12 o'clock noon.

Present: Mr. Maclean (Lunenburg), in the chair; and Messrs. Barker, Chisholm
(Antigonish), Galliher, Talbot, and Walsh (Huntingdon)—6.

Hon. Mr. Parent, and Mr. G. A. Bell of Railways and Canals, were in attendance.

The name of Mr. N. Be'chard, a witness summoned to appear before the Committee
this day, being formally called by the clerk, and there being no response thereto, it

was

Resolved, that the books, &c., produced by the Quebec Bridge Company be returned

to Hon. Mr. Parent, subject to all or any of them remaining at the disposal of the

Committee for the purpose of the inquiry.

The Committee then adjourned to the call of the chair.

Committee Room,
Wednesday, July 15. IOCS.

Committee mot at 8.30 o'clock p.m.

Present: Mr. Maclean (Lunenburg) in the chair; and !^^essrs. Barker. Chijihohn

(Antigonish), Galliher, Monk, and Walsli (Hnntingdon)— 6.

The Committee proceeded to the consideration of their report.

Mr. Galliher moved that the following Draft Report, marked ' A,' be adopted as

the report of the committee.

(For tliis Drafl- Rei)ort sco Ro]iort of th(^ Connnittoo. pniiv vH).

6—2,
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Mr. Monk moved in amendment, that the following Draft Report, marked ' B,' be

adopted as the report of the Committee in lieu of the foregoing:

—

V.—FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY OF THE QUEBEC BRIDGE COMPANY.

1. The Quebec Bridge Company was incorporated in 1887, and, having regard

to its undertaking to construct a bridge across the St. Lawrence at or near the City

of Quebec, the cost of which would be at least $6,000,000 the Company was from its

inception deplorably weak financially.

2. Of its modest nominal stock capital of $1,000,000, never, until the arrange-

ments of 1903 to be presently referred to, did the money paid in by its shareholders

exceed $65,000, and even of that amount, so petty for such a vast undertaking, some
$20,000 consisted, not of cash found by the promoters, but of the proceeds of fees

voted by them to the directors and paid by the country itself for their services in that

capacity.

3. In 1890, the Province of Quebec voted to the enterprise a subsidy or aid of

$250,000, and further aid of $300,000, was granted in the following year by the City
^ of Quebec.

4. The Parliament of Canada also voted $1,000,000 in aid of the undertaking

payable as construction progressed.

5. The site being chosen, the substructure of the bridge progressed; but, in 1903,

the Company had more than exhausted all its resources, its subsidies as well as its

small paid-up stock capital were expended, and it had a floating debt of $779,550.

It was then without money or means to further prosecute its enterprise.

6. At this time, the Dominion had undertaken the construction of the National
Transcontinental Kailway whereof the Quebec Bridge was recognized as an essential

and most important portion. The early completion of the bridge therefore was not

only of national concern as a matter of trade and commerce, but any delay or mis-

adventure would be fraught with most serious responsibility to the lessees of the

eastern section of the great railway of which that bridge must necessarily be a part.

7. In the condition of the Bridge Company, it was not possible to prosecute its

undertaking without the aid of the Dominion, and refusal of such aid would have
ensued a forfeiture and abandonment of the venture. The obvious duty of the Gov-
ernment therefore was to refuse aid, to deal liberally with the promoters, and to take

over the property and hold the bridge as a public work.

8. The president and directors of the Bridge Company, hopeless though their case

appeared to be, succeede din inducing the Government to agree to guarantee the Com-
pany's bonds up to $6,688,200, the amount required to meet its liabilities and finish

the bridge.

9. An Order in Council was thereupon passed on the advice of Ministers setting

forth the terms and conditions of the proposed guarantee and an Act of Parliament

was passed to confirm the same. The Act referred to (3 Edward VII., Chapter 54)

was passed in the last hours of a long session, and in the course of a few days was
rushed through the Senate and House of Commons with undue haste and without

opportunity for deliberation and proper consideration.

10. One of the conditions enacted was that before the guarantee should be given,

the Company would procure the subscription and full payment in cash of $200,000 of

additional stock, and apply the said money to a specific object, the restoration of

$188,000 discount which had previously been allowed on an issue of the company's

bonds.

11. That condition was only in part fulfilled, though the Government, having

accepted the written certificate of the Company's officers that it had been fully car-

ried out, guaranteed the new issue of bonds. Attention is called to the admission of

the Honourable the Finance Minister in his evidence, that had this deception been

known to him, he would not have authorized the execution of the guarantee.
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12. The Government's present liability or outlay on bonds, subsidy and special

guarantee to the Bank of Montreal is $6,322,008.13, represented as follows:

—

'Subsidy $ 374,353 00

Special indebtedness to Bank of Montreal 174,431 36

Liability on bonds with interest to 30th April, 1908. . 5,773,223 77

$6,322,008 13

The Bridge Company's assets consist only of some stone piers and abutments,

some iron material ,and some land as approaches ; but the above materials are only

available to persons who may undertake to use them, if suitable, in constructing a new

bridge, under a new plan, upon the same site.

The Bridge Company has practically no assets to satisfy its liability to the Gov-

ernment.

II.—PLANS.

13. Neither at the time when the subsidy of $1,000,000 was granted to the Bridge

Company, nor later when the Government advised the larger liability of guaranteeing

$6,678,200 of bonds, nor at any time, was there reasonable precaution taken by the

Government to ensure the sufficiency of the plans and specifications, and their due

observance in the progress of the work.

14. Parliament, in effect, imposed upon Government the duty to approve the

plans and specifications, and the consequent duty to provide themselves with indepen-

dent expert engineering advisers competent to pass upon the sufficiency thereof and
to prevent any unauthorized departure therefrom. But those duties were so neglected

and ignored that the Government has been throughout without expert professional

advisers, responsible only to them, in so vast an undertaking involving millions of

public money, and as unhappily it has proved, also involving many lives.

15. The Quebec Bridge Company's engineer, Mr. Hoare, for the purposes of the

$1,000,000 subsidy, had prepared specifications which were merely the general bridge

specifications of the Government in ordinary use in cases of subsidies. These came
before the Department of Railways and Canals and Mr. Douglass, the bridge engi-

neer therein, found fault with and reported against the unit stresses. Unfortunately,

his report received insufficient attention, probably because of the greater authority

attached to Mr. Cooper, of New York, the consulting engineer of the Quebec Bridge
Company.

16. But when, for the purposes of the guarantee of $6,678,200, the Deputy Minis-

ter of Hallways found himself called upon to examine for approval the plans and
specifications of the bridge, he formally applied for authority to employ a specially

qualified bridge engineer. Such authority was granted by Order in Council of 21st

July, 1903.

17. The Quebec Bridge Company's consulting engineer, and the Bridge Company,
objected to such a course; and thereupon, for some incomprehensible reason, the em-
ployment of an expert bridge engineer to act independently was at once abandoned
by the Gomernment itself.

18. It is also incomprehensible how it came to pass that, as the Governniont so

early as July, 1903, were acting upon their determination to guarantee the $6,678,200

and had then procured His Excellency's assent to an Onlor in Council for the em-
ployment of an expert consulting engineer to advise upon the plans and specifications,

and as Parliament was in session, how came it, we repeat, that for three months
thereafter the Government withheld the matter from the knowledge and consideration
of Parliament, and only introduced a Bill upon the subject in the last hours of a

session of nearly eight months duration.

19. The GovcrnuieiU having, as already stated, voluntarily abandoned its inten-

tion to provide itself with conipctont and independent professional advice, continued
6—2J



XX SELECT COMMITTEE

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

to the end to leave the work wholly in the control of the Quebec Bridge Company,
while every dollar of the expenditure, even the salaries of the Company's officials and
experts, were provided by the guarantee of the Dominion.

20. The famous, structure was in immediate charge and control, upon behalf of

the Quebec Bridge Company, of that Company's own engineer, a gentleman who, inj

the opinion of Your Committee, had not that experience and professional skill abso-

lutely essential to the safety and success of so vast and so exceptional an undertaking.

That engineer was obliged to rely upon the advice and assistance of a consulting

engineer, who, though of high reputation, is advanced in years, and had to be con-

sulted in New York, where he lives. When the catastrophe was imminent, one of the

staff was obliged to visit New York to obtain the consulting engineer's advice as to

what action should be taken.

21. The Government, wholly unrepresented upon the work, left the public inter-

ests absolutely in the hands of the Quebec Bridge Company, which Company, in the

opinion of Your Committee, was incompetent, and, having regard to the relations

between it and the Government, utterly unfitted for that position.

22. Your Committee are of opinion that the Government stand without much, if

any, useful recourse against the Quebec Bridge Company for the sums disbursed or

for which the Government has rendered itself liable:

—

23. It does not appear that proper, or any enquiry was at any time made on

behalf of the Government with regard to the ability of the Phoenix Bridge Company
to perform its contract, or to make good any failure or default therein, nor as to its

ability to make compensation where such may be due.

24. The evidence before Your Committee established that in any, future con-

struction of this magnitude it will be advisable that plans and specifications be passed

upon by a board of at least three competent engineers.

25. Your Committee desire to express their opinion that the submission to Par-

liament in the last few hours of a session oLmatters of such moment and complexity

as were involved in the said ^-ct of 1903, is fraught with danger to public interest,

and, in their opinion, the instance herein alluded to was, under the circumstances,

inexcusable.

And the question being put on the amendment, it was negatived on division.

And the question being put on the main motion, it was carried on division.

Ordered, that the Draft Report marked ^ A ' be presented to the House as the

jeport of the committee.

The committee then adjourned sine die.

Subsidy.

Liability on bonds with interest to 30th April, 1908

Extra amount claimed by Bank of Montreal. . . . . .

$ 374,353 00

5,773,223 77

174,431 36

$6,322,008 13

Attest,

K EOBIDOUX,
Clerh of Committee.
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LIST OF EXHIBITS

No. 1.—Printed copy of the report of the Royal Commission on the cause of the col-

lapse of the Quebec Bridge, published in the Engineering Record. (Not

printed).

Nos. 2, 3, 4^ 5 and 6.—^Bank books of the Quebec Bridge Company. (Not printed).

Nos. 7 to 16, inclusive.—Ten cheques aggregating the sum of $5,000 deposited to the

credit of the Quebec Bridge Company by the directors thereof. (See
pages 12, &c., of evidence.)

No. 17.—Copy of the resolutions of shareholders and minutes of directors' meetings.

referring to same, in connection with annual grant of $5,000 to the

directors of the Quebec Bridge Company for attendance, &c. (See pages
18 &c., of evidence.)

No. 18.—By-laws of the Quebec Bridge Company. (Not printed).

No. 19.—Agreement for advances dated February 23, 1904, between the Quebec Bridge
Company, the Dominion Government, and the Bank of Montreal. (See

pages 33, &c., of evidence.)

No. 20.—Copy of contract for superstructure between the Quebec Bridge Company
and the Phoenix Bridge Co. (Not printed).

No. 21.—List of shareholders present or represented by proxy at annual general meet-

ings of Quebec Bridge Company. (Not printed).

^0. 22.—Memo, showing attendance of directors appointed by the government at

board meetings of Quebec Bridge and Bailway Company from date of

appointment, January, 1904. (Not printed).

No. 23.—Statement showing amounts voted by shareholders to directors and the man-
ner in which these grants were dealt with by the directors themselves.

(Not printed).

Nos. 24a, 24b, 24c, 24d.—Original papers giving report and evidence submitted by the

Commissioners of Inquiry into the Quebec Bridge collapse; and roll of

plans. (Not printed).

No. 25.—Cancelled cheque of M. P. Davis in favour of Quebec Bridge Company dated

January 27, 1904, on Bank of Montreal for $119,900. (See page 47 of

evidence.)

No. 26.—Cheque of M. P. Davis in favoui of Quebec Bridge Company dated February

21, 1907, on Bank of Montreal, for $94,900 paid into bank same date.

(See page 47 of evidence.)

No. 27.—Statement showing details of first payment of $898,264.73 from Bond #
Account. (See page 53, &c., of evidence.)

No. 28.—List of first shareholders of Quebec Bridge Company and anunmi of their

shares, &c. (See page 66 of evidence.)

xxiu
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No. 28a.—Further list of first shareholders of the Quebec Bridge and Railway Co.

{Not printed).

No. 29.—Recapitulation of Engineer's progress estimate of work done by the Phoenix
Bridge Co., Mr. BelVs statement, (p. 577 in Sessional Paper No. 154a.)

No. 30.—Contract dated June 19, 1900, between the Quebec Bridge Co. and M. P.

Davis for substructure of bridge. (Not printed).

No. 31.—Release Quebec Bridge and Railway Co. and others, to Thos. McDougall.
(Not printed).

No. 32.—Contract dated July 27, 1903, between M. P. Davis and the Quebec Railway
and Bridge Co., for construction of railway, &c. (Not printed).

No. 33,—A mortgage trust deed, dated Eebruary 1, 1904, between the Quebec Bridge
and Railway Company, and the Royal Trust Company, and the Dominion
Government. (Not printed).

No. 34.—Memo, showing balance of indebtedness due Bank of Montreal by the Quebec
Bridge Company. (See page 70 of evidence.)

No. 35.—Agreement between the Government of Province of Quebec, and the Quebec
Bridge Company, dated November 27, 1900. (Not printed).

No. 36.—Agreement between the city of Quebec, and the Quebec Bridge Company,
dated September 22, 1900. (Not printed).

No. 37.—Letter dated February 12, 1902, from L. A. Taschereau to Mr. Barthe,

Secretary of Quebec Bridge Company, re remunerations to directors of

said company. (Not printed).

No. 38.—^Letter dated November 26, 1903, from same to same, re grant of $5,000 to

directors. (Not printed).

No. 39.—Account of Gormully & Orde against the Quebec Bridge and Railway Co.,

for legal services. (Not printed).

No. 40.—Subsidy agreement between the Dominion Government, and the Quebec
Bridge Company, dated November 12, 1900.

No. 41.—Copy of files of Finance Department re Quebec Bridge and Railway Com-
pany, from September 13, 1900, to May 25, 1904. (Letter A.) • (Not
printed.)

No. 42.—Do, do, from July 14, 1904, to July 11, 1907. (Letter B.) (Not printed.)

No. 43.—Do, do, from September 12, 1904 ,to February 11, 1908.s (Letter 0.) (Not
printed)

.

No. 44.—List of Shareholders of the old company, who remained with the new com-
pany when Mr. Parent was made a director, and president of the re-

organized Bridge Co. (Not printed).

No. 45.—First annual report of the directors of the Quebec Railway Bridge Company,
dated June 4, 1889, and signed by the president and secretary thereof.

(Not printed).

No. 46.—Return to an Order of the House dated June 18, 1891, for a copy of the

report of C. Schreiber, Esq., upon survey made by him of the River St.

Lawrence immediately opposite and in the vicinity of the city of Quebec

for the purpose of determining whether it was possible to build a railway

bridge there. (Not printed).
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

House of Commons,
Committee Koom No. 30,

Ottawa, FRroAY, May 22, 1908.

The Select Committee appointed ' for the purpose of investigating the conditions

and guarantees under which the government paid moneys to the Quebec Bridge Com-
pany, and endorsed or guaranteed the bonds of the said company, and what measures
were adopted by the go\'ernment to ensure the preparation of suitable plans of con-

struction and the proper execution of the same, and what security the government at

present possesses for the sums already received by and guarantees given to the com-
pany,' met at 10.30 a.m.

On motion of Mr. Galliher, Mr. A. K. Maclean (Lunenburg) was elected chair-

man.

The chairman read the order of reference.

Mr. Monk.—I suppose, Mr. Chairman, that the resolution which you have just

read provides the committee with all the necessary machinery and powers to enable it

to conduct the investigation with which it has been entrusted by the House?
The Chairman.—^Yes, I do not see that anything further is necessary.

Mr. Barker.—It is very comprehensive in its terms.

Mr. Monk.—I presume that this meeting is merely for the purpose of organization.

When next the committee meets it is desirable that it should be able to proceed with

some work, and with that object in view I move that Mr. Ulric Barthe, the secretary

of the Quebec Bridge Company, be summoned to appear before this committee at its

next meeting and to produce before the committee the said company's book of minutes

of its meetings, its books of accounts, its contracts with regard to the works of con-

struction of the said Quebec bridge, and contracts, and agreements for loans and

advances, its stock register and books connected therewith; the said company's corre-

spondence with the Dominion government and members thereof, in reference to all

matters and things connected with the said Quebec bridge, and all papers and docu-

ments generally having reference to the construction and completion and the providing

of the necessary funds for defraying the cost of the aforesaid bridge.

Mr. Galliher.—That is a pretty comprehensive motion; do I understand that

actually has reference to such parts of their books and papers as refer to any dealings

between the company and the government?
Mr. Monk.—That also occurred to me, Mr. Galliher, and I nuulo it, as you see.

somewhat comprehensive, because if there are parts of those books or papers that have

no reference to this inquiry we can eliminate them at once from considv?ratioR.

The Chairman.—With reference to their stock book, would the production that

be necessary, or is it fair to ask tlioni to produce it.

Mr. Barker.—Supposing tlwy had a very large stock subscription, with a liability

of 90 per cent still remaining unpaid, that is an asset, and part of the conditions of

their guarantee was that there should be a certain amount subscribcil.

Mr. Monk.—It is a provision of our guarantee that there arc to bo $'2o0,000 stock

subscribed.

3
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Mr. Galliher.—I take it that we can decide that point when the time comes. So
far as I am concerned I haven't a copy before me of the order of reference, so that .1

do not know exactly what the powers of the committee are, but we can settle that

question afterwards.

The Chairman.—The production of the stock book of a company is something I

never like to ask for myself, but in this case I suppose there are circumstances which
may render it necessary to call for the production of the company's stock book.

Mr. Barker.—^We cannot by any resolution which we may pass enlarge our powers,

which are limited by the order of reference.

The committee adjourned until Tuesday, June 2, at 10.30 a.m.

Tuesday, June 2, 1908.

The committee met at 11 o'clock, a.m., the chairman, Mr. A. K. Maclean, presid)-

ing.

The Chairman.—This committee, Mr. Monk, was organized at your suggestion.

If you could give us, just in a few words, what will be the scope of the examination,

I would like it myself. I don't know whether th^ other members would or not. As
far as I am concerned I do not know anything about this matter.

Mr. Monk.—I am ready, Mr. Chairman, to proceed with the examination of Mr.
Barthe, who is here to-day. It would be difficult for me to define exactly what the

scope of the examination will be, but we will endeavour to keep it, of course, within

the instructions given to us by the House and cover the ground indicated in the

resolution.

The Chairman.—^We cannot go beyond that, that is true. I thought perhaps it

would be less than that.

Mr. Monk.—No. I think we will go over the ground indicated in the resolution.

We have nothing to do with the technical part of the Quebec bridge, just the busi-

ness end which concerns the Dominion government, the financial responsibility, and
what precautions were taken by the government before it advanced the money or

passed the bonds which are mentioned in the legislation concerning the bridge.

Mr. Ulric Barthe, Quebec, called and sworn and examined.

Mr. Monk.—I suggested to Mr. Barthe that on account of the composition of

the committee it would facilitate matters if he would undergo his examination In

English. Nevertheless, Mr. Barthe, as I understand, prefers being examined in

French. I understand that the documents which Mr. Barthe has brought up here are

not now in his possession; they are in trunks which will arrive to-day by the noon
train. I think, perhaps, Mr. Barthe, we might open your examination in English and
if you find it inconvenient, when we resume, the committee can provide a French
stenographer for you. Would that suit you?

The Witness.—I would prefer very much that my examination be altogether in

French, of course.

Mr. Monk.—^But we might open your examination in English.

The Chairman.— fear that if Mr. Barthe's examination takes place in French,
owing to the composition of the committee, you, Mr. Monk, will be about the only
person able to follow it. We would have to make some provision for that. I think
perhaps the witness can get along in English.
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Mr. Monk.—If the examination takes place in French we shall need an inter-

preter.

The Chairman.—Which will be very awkward.
Mr. Monk.—I think, Mr. Barthe, you are about as familiar with the English

language as with the French^ are you not?

The Witness.—I could not say. I am for ordinary business affairs, but it is

different being here as a witness.

The Chairman.—This is a matter of ordinary business. I think you can get

along all right in English.

Mr. Barker.—We will be able to understand his English.

Mr, Chisholm.—If the witness feels any diffidence about giving his evidence in

English it would be unfair to ask him to do so.

The Chairman.—I think we can try him any way. I wish to say that I have

received from the Clerk of Public Becords a number of documents which were reported

to the House. They were moved for, I think, by Mr. Borden, leader of the opposi-

tion, in connection with this matter. I have not looked at them myself.

Mr. Monk.—^I think we may state to the witness that the committee will endea-

vour to meet his desire in respect to the examination. We may, perhaps, just open

the examination of Mr. Barthe in order to see what course we are going to follow.

You have no objection to that?

The Witness.—You will have to pardon my English if I do not answer correctly.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. You are secretary of the Quebec Bridge Company?—A. Yes. Now the Quebec
Bridge and Railway Company.

Q. And you have come here in answer to the summons that was sent ypu by the

secretary of the committee, have you not?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. When were you appointed secretary of the company?—A. In March, 1897.

Q. Had the company been in existence then for some time?—A. It was then

reorganized.

Q. In 1897?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. At what salary were you appointed, Mr. Barthe?—A. It was a nominal salary

because it was largely a work of devotion at the time.

Q. And what is your salary now?—A. It is now $2,400 per annum. It was then

$50 a month.

Q. Have you a pamphlet, Mr. Barthe, in which all the legislation concerning

the company is contained?—A. Yes, but I have not got it here. I did not bring it

with me. That information is to be found in the Statutes, of course.

Q. Have you not got the legislation collectively in one pamphlet?—A. Yes, I

have collected most of it, but it is at the office.

Q. Could you produce that pamphlet before the committee?—A. Well, I would

have to write for it.

By the Chairman:

Q. Is it printed?—A. Yes, these are only printed copies of the different Statutes.

Q. Have you got many of them?—A. I have got only one for niy own use.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. Are there not some copies of that pamphlet in (he company's offieo ^—A. I

have got only one bound for my own use.

Q. Will you send for it and produce it before the committee?—A. Certainly.

Q. Have you brought with you, Mr. Barthe, the different ilocuments mentioned
in the resolution of the committee which was communicated to you and which you
were to produce? Have you those documents now in your possession?—A. No, not
now. Well, they are on the way to Ottawa.
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Q. They are actually on the way up?—A. Yes.

Q. From Quebec?—A. From Quebec.

Q. When do you expect them to arrive?—A. They told me at the railway office

this morning that they should be here by the noon train. I have got the two checks

for the two trunks billed to Ottawa yesterday in Quebec. I expected that they would
follow me.

Q. They contain all the documents which were indicated in the copy of the reso-

lution that was sent to you, I suppose?—A. They contain what I thought answered

the summons.
Mr. Monk.—It is somewhat difficult, Mr. Chairman", to proceed usefully in the

absence of these documents. On the other hand, if Mr. Barthe expects their arrival at

noon, he might bring them up and deposit them in the hands of the secretary of the

committee and the members of the committee might have access to them, which would
probably shorten the examination of this witness very considerably.

Mr. Galliher.—There is only one thing about that, Mr. Chairman: In the pro-

duction generally of books and documents there may be contained in them certain

things that are not at all within the purview of this committee. It hasj struck me since

^ reading over the minutes of the last meeting that probably the better way to get at what
is desired would be if we had an idea of what questions we want to ask the witness

to meet this case. Then the books and documents having reference to them could be

produced. What 1 desire is to preserve absolute secrecy so far as regards anything
not in any way connected with this investigation. For instance, a merchant, we will

say, sues a man on an account. Well, I have seen leaves in his account-books fastened

together, excepting those having reference to the particular matter. The idea was that

no one would probe into matters outside of that being tried.

Mr. Barker.—l^o one has objected to producing any papers.

Mr. Monk.—That is what I was going to say. I understand the objection of Mr.
Galliher, and certainly it is one which is often pointed out in courts of law, but I
gather from the witness, and from the company itself, that there is no objection to

placing these documents generally before the committee.

The Chairman.—I think the witness ought to be here in charge of these papers.

It is not fair to ask this corporation to come here and throw two trunks of papers on
the table and leave them here.

Mr. Barker.—If they have no objection why should we raise any.

The Chairman.—The members of a parliamentary committee must protect wit-

nesses.

Mr. Barker.—^We must investigate.

The Chairman.—Certainly. That is right. We must investigate.

Mr. Parent.—On behalf of the Quebec Bridge Company let me say that we have
no objection at all to producing the documents. They will be here, but they must be
brought away by the secretary after the meeting is over. They are private documents
belonging to the company and we cannot allow them to remain here in the building.

The Chairman.—^You mean after the committee is over?

Mr. Parent.—After the committee is over.

The Chairman.—Certainly. I think too that while these documents are here being

examined the secretary ought to be here also so as to safeguard them in every way.

Mr. Barker.—Certainly, provide every safeguard.

"Mr. Parent.—We have already had some documents before the Royal Commis-
sion on the Quebec bridge that were not sent back to us. They were originals and we
don't want that to be Tepeated. That is why 1 say that although every document

required will be put before the committee they must be brought back when the com-

mittee is over.

Mr. Monk.—There will be no difficulty whatever about that, Mr. Parent. We will

keep as few of the documents as we can and they will be under strict surveillance.
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The documents when they arrive can be placed under the care of the secretary of the
committee and if necessary Mr. Barthe can be present when we examine them.

The Witness.—I will keep the key myself, because I am responsible to the com-
pany for their safe custody.

Mr. Barker.—We had better understand where we are as a committee of this

House. We had some years ago a stubborn and determined attempt on the part of a

witness to refuse a committee full control over documents and books that he pro-

duced.

The Chairman.—I know, but Mr. Barker

Mr. Barker.—Allow me now, I am not going to occupy time unnecessarily. The
result was that finally we had to bring the witness in question before the House and
he was made to produce his books and documents under penalty, he was made to do
it. The witness contended that he would not allow any person to see anything in

his books except certain items that he said related to the matter in question. How-
ever, the House decided that he must produce the books and everything in connection

with them ; that the committee was entitled to them. I claim that it does not rest with
the witness to say that he is going to keep these papers under lock and key, that he

shall be the judge of what he is going to show or not going to show us.

The Chairman.—He does not say that, Mr. Barker.

Mr. Barker.—I take exception to what he has said.

The Witness.—^^I want to explain the remark.

Mr. Barker.—One moment. I think we had better understand where we are to

begin with. I claim that we are here to investigate a certain matter and we have sum-
moned a witness to produce books and papers. They ought to be here , but they are

not for reasons that I do not think he is responsible for. However, those books and
documents must be produced here and laid upon the table for the examination of every

member of the committee.

The Chairman.—So far as productions of papers are concerned, there is no dif-

ference of opinion. The company have no objection to the production of those asked

for, and all that the witness has said is that when they are not being used before the

committee he wants to have them locked and in his possession. Now, that is the pro-

cedure in all courts. If any witness is subpoenaed to produce a document he produces

it. Afterwards it is his right to have it so long as the court is not engaged with it.

Mr. Monk.—In our courts in the province of Quebec it is not permissible for a

witness to impose any conditions regarding the care of documents when he produces

them before a tribunal. It is for the tribunal to take the necessary measures and
when the proper time comes the v;itness will bQ( reinstated in the possession of those

documents.

The Chairman.—I do not thinly there is any need of our talking about that mat-
ter. There will be no difficulty,

Mr. Barker.—There must be a great many books that Mr. Barthe will produce
that a short inspection will enable us to take an extract from and let the books go
altogether; we will facilitate that in every way. But we should not be told at the

beginning what we cannot have. We will find that out as we go along.

The Witness.—That is not my meaning, I never meant that. I want to put every-

thing before the committee, but the only thing is when they are not being used I want
to keep the trunks locked.

Mr. Monk.—We will confine the key to Mr. Robidoux. He is secretary of the com-
mittee.

The Witness.—I am responsible.

Mr. Barker.—So is parliament responsible.

Mr. Parent.—Wo are prepared to furnish everything that is required by the com-
mittee, but when the meeting is over we want to get possession of those books or docu-
ments, whatever they are.
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The Chairman.—I do not think there will be any trouble about that. Can you
proceed, Mr. Monk, to any extent with the examination of the witness this morning?

By Mr. Barker:

Q. What books or papers have you brought showing the financial standing of the

company at the time moneys were advanced or paid by the government from the begin-

ning?—A. As a matter of fact, I took all the books of account as requested by my
summons. I did not make any distinction, I brought all the books of account.

Q. Everything?—A. All books and all minutes.

Q. Have you brought all books that will show to -the committee the financial

standing of the company at the various times when advances or payments were made
by the government?—A. Everything should be in these books.

Q. You think they are?—A. I don't know myself, I am not the treasurer of the

company.

Q. Who is the treasurer?—A. Mr. Paquet.

Q. You can obtain charge and control of everything for the committee?—A. Oh,

yes.

Q. There is no trouble about that. Eor example, we may want to investigate the

financial standing of the company at a particular stage or stages. Will the papers

you are producing enable us to do that or are you leaving in Quebec any papers that

will bear on that point?—A. I did not leave anything in Quebec.

Q. You have left nothing?—A. No.
Q. To be clear. Supposing that there had been a million dollars of stock sub-

scribed—that is a mere supposition—and only 10 per cent of it paid, there would be

90 per cent of that million an asset of the company. Will the books you are producing

disclose that sort of an asset of the company?—A. Assuming that, certainly.

Q. Whatever it may be, ninety thousand, or nine hundred thousand?—A. Yes.

Q. Whatever it may be will the books you are producing show that?—A. Cer-

tainly. The books show everything that was done.

Mr. Barker.—Then we will probably have enough to go on with for some time.

We do not want to lose a day, and if there is a little give and take on both sides, I am
sure Mr. Monk and myself will be glad to hamper the company as little as possible.

We can take these books and examine them, and as far as possible have extracts made
of what we want and then allow the books to -go, subject to the call of the committee.

A great deal can be done to facilitate matters in that way. We don't want to trouble

the company or any one else ; but if we adjourn now and the books and documents are

locked up until we meet again as a committee, we will have to spend a great deal of

time in investigating them.

The Chairman.—Providing these books reach here at noon, do you wish to have
them up this afternoon?

Mr. Monk.—^Yes, Mr. Chairman ; I was going to suggest that if the witness would
bring up the books at 2 o'clock and place them in the hands of the secretary, Mr.
Uobidoux, I would be ready to proceed with Mr. Barthe's examination to-morrow. I

understand he is going to remain over.

The Chairman (to the witness).—Then if you can get your trunks up to room 32

this afternoon.

Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish) .—This examination should proceed in a regular way.

jSTo one who has asked for a committee of the House and summoned a witness to pro-

duce books, should have those books sent to a private room and examined there. This

investigation is a public one. The Quebec Bridge Company are interested in the mat-
ter, too. They want to show that they have done their part in good faith.

The Chairman.—The idea is that this will expedite the inquiry. You may want
to see the books, too.

Mr. Chisholm.—The proper way is to put the witness on the stand and ask him
to produce the books.
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Mr. Monk.—We have done that.

Mr. Chisholm. This is going to prolong the inquiry indefinitely, I think. We
ought to know what we are called upon to investigate. The witnesses should be called

to the stand and asked to produce the things we want.

Mr. Monk.—I would like to know what my honourable friend means. Here is a

witness who has been summoned to produce documents. He has not got them but
nobody blames him for that. However, he has not got them. They are not in his pos-

session. We are anxious to shorten his evidence. He expects the documents to arrive

at noon. We are ready to look at those documents at 2 o'clock this afternoon and pro-

ceed with the examination afterwards. Does my honourable friend want us to adjourn
and sit at 2 o'clock?

Mr. Chisholm.—The proposal will be to adjourn until such time as the witness

can produce these books and documents and then proceed with the investigation.

The Witness.—I cannot promise that the books will be here.

Mr. Galliher.—That is really the proper course.

The Witness.—The railway people told me they expected the trunks would be

here, but I cannot bind myself to have the books here if they have not arrived.

The Chairman.—There is no complaint whatever about that, Mr. Barthe.

Mr. Monk.—There is no complaint whatever about that. The complaint seems

to be on the part of my honourable friend when we make a proposition to save time.

Mr. Chisholm.—No. What I wish is that the books should be placed in court,

placed in the hands of the witness and the witness examined on them. This com-
mittee has no right to ask that the books be taken into the private room of some
member of the committee and examined there. That is not a regular procedure. I

<Io not say that there will be anything wrong in that, I have confidence that nothing-

improper or unfair would be done in connection with these books, but that is not the

regular way to proceed. Moreover witnesses have a right to be protected as well as

the curiosity of members to be satisfied within legitimate bounds. Witnesses have a

right to be protected and when they come here they should feel that they are going

to be treated in the same way as if they were in a court of law, that everything will

be done above board and that their interest will not be prejudiced.

Mr. Monk.—I don't know what the custom is in Nova Scotia. In our province

we proceed exactly in this way. We get a witness to bring his documents into court

and they are deposited with the clerk of the court, and when the party is ready he

proceeds with his examination. This is not a court. We hear too much of committees

of this kind being courts of law. What we want is to shorten the examination of this

witness and it seems to me that my honourable friend is wasting valuable time. Those

documents unfortunately are not here at the present time. We asked that tliey be

put—not in any private member's room, who said that ?—but deposited with the clerk of

this committee. If we are this afternoon afforded an opportunity of looking at the

books, which we ought to have had this morning, then we will proceed with the

examination of the witness.

The Chairman.—I agree with anything that will hasten the conclusion of this

inquiry, because I am sure we all want to get through with it as quickly as we can. I

think the suggestion made will help the matter. I am sure all the moiv.bors of this

committee want to see the books and papers and the secretary will lu^ hero \o (^x]ilain

matters. I want to be present myself this afternoon.

Mr. Barker.—I would like Mr. Barthe to be present.

The Chairman.—Oh, yes; 1 think he should bo.

Mr. Galliher.—It is quite possible that conuniltoos of this kiiul do not proceed

in the regular way that is followed in courts of law. I am absolutely certain that yix.

Chisholm is right in his statement as to the mode of procedure in a co\irt of law.

When the witness is brought to court \\c has his books beside him in the witness box

and when a question is asked he is able to ih I'im- to them with respect to it. And the

6—3



10 SELECT COMMITTEE

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

books are open to the man who is questioning him. But I think we are in rather a,

different position from a court of law, and since the company have stated they have
no objection to producing everything to the committee, anything that will expedite
this inquiry it seems to me we need not quarrel over.

Mr. Monk.—I would just like to say with reference to what Mr. Galliher has
said, that if we are to be governed by the custom in a court of law, this matter having
arisen in Quebec, we should be governed by the customs of the courts of law in th&
province of Quebec, although I deny absolutely that we are to be governed by any
such custom. Now, any gentleman who has practised law in the province of Quebec
knows that when a witness appears before the court and produces two or three trunks
of documents, the examining lawyer is allowed to see as much of those documents as
he wants. That is the custom of the tribunals in the province of Quebec.

Mr. Barker.—And it is the same in Ontario.

Mr. Monk.—^We are not going to be governed by the practice in the courts of law
in Nova Scotia.

Mr. Chisholm.—Has not the counsel for the other side the right to be present

when the documents are being examined? ^
Mr. Monk.—Of course, without any doubt.

Mr. Chisholm.—And is not the witness himself allowed to be present?

Mr. Monk.—We do not ask that these books and documents should be produced
in the room of any honourable gentleman. That is not what has been asked for here.

Mr. Chisholm.—That is precisely my contention. This examination should be
made in the presence of the members of the committee and the witness should also

be present.

The Chairman.—The Eailway Department has sent over papers containing the

evidence taken before the Eoyal Commission on the Quebec Bridge, also a roll of

plans. Are these any good?
Mr. Monk.—^Yes, Mr. Chairman.

The Chairman.— don't think this committee is asked to find out what was the

cause of the collapse of the Quebec bridge.

Mr. Barker.—The reference to us is broad enough for anything. We are to

investigate the conditions under which payments were made and under which a guaran-

tee was given. I don't know any broader language that could be used than that.

The committee adjourned until 2.30 o'clock.

House of Commons,
KooM No. 62,

Tuesday, June 2, 1908.

The committee met at 2.30 o'clock, p.m., the chairman, Mr. A. K. Maclean, pre-

siding.

Mr. Bell, of the Department of Railways and Canals, appeared and filed with the

committee a number of documents.

The Chairman.—Would you mind explaining to the committee what the papers

are?

Mr. Bell.—They are really papers of the Quebec Bridge Company that were
taken by the Boyal Commission and afterwards returned to our department. I do*
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not know what the documents are. I also place on file a copy of the Keport of the

Royal Commission as printed in the Engineering Record.

Report marked Exhibit No. 1.

The Chairman.—^Have your trunks arrived^ Mr. Barthe?

The Witness.—Yes, they are in this room.

Mr. Barker.—I would suggest now, Mr. Chairman, a course that I think is usually

followed in cases of this kind. The object of the preliminary examination of books
and papers is to shorten the inquiry and get rid immediately of as many of the books

as possible. Now, the committee may be considered as sitting and any gentleman that

wants to take part in the examination can do so. I do not think it is absolutely essen-

tial that every member of the committee remain all the time if he does not want to.

The Chairman.—Very well. We will consider this an informal meeting of the

committee in order to facilitate the examination of the books. Mr. Barthe, of course,

will help.

House op Commons.
Committee Room 32,

. Tuesday, June 9, 1908.

The committee met at 11.15 o'clock a.m., the chairman, Mr. A. K. Maclean,
presiding.

The examination of Mr. Ulric Barthe resumed.

By Mr, Monk:

Q. It was understood, Mr. Barthe, when we adjiourn^ed the other day that you were

to get some documents at Quebec and produce them before this, committee. There

were amongst others, the four bank books of the company and the subscription list

for stock. Have you been able to procure those books?—A. I have got the bank
books. By some misunderstanding the subscription books were left on the table at

Quebec, but I have telephoned this morning for them and they will be here to-morrow

morning.

Q. Would you produce the bank books referred to before the committee?—A.—

•

Yes (producing books).

Exhibits No. 2, 3 4 and 6.

I might say that it is in the treasurer's department and the treasurer had to

come here to proceed to the audit of the books for the month with Mr. Bell. He
is here present and he may be more able than I am to explain the details about these

books. However, I have produced them.

The Chairman.—Mr. Ross, Assistant Deputy Minister of Finance, is here attend-

ing the sittings of the committee on behalf of the Finance Department. I suppose

there will be no objection to his asking the witness a question at any time?

Mr. Barker.—There will be no objection, as far as I can pco. It is very proper,

I think.

The Witness.—There is another book, a duplicate of which will bo here to-

morrow. Wio Wad to have it prepared by the Banqule National at Quebec.

Mr. Parent.—As to those books of the Quebec Bridge Company they are required

for the company's business. I don't think we can leave them here.

Mr. Monk.—We will release them as soon as we have done with them and made
any extracts that arc necessary.

6—3i
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By Mr. MonJc:

Q. Would you please indicate in tlie books just filed by yfou as Exhibits 2, 3, 4, 5

and 6, traces of the deposit of the $200,000 of stock which was to be subscribed and
paid in cash before the government granted a guarantee of the bonds issued by the

company?—A. That is ome of those questions upon (which jk)u will havie bletter satisfac-

tion from the treasurer.

The Chairman.—Perhaps Mr. Bell could aid Mr. Barthe in giving that informa-

tion.

Mr. Bell.—Mr. Paquet could give that information in. a minute.

The Witness.—I find there is another book which I now produce.

Book produced and marked Exhibit 6.

The Witness.—I find the following entries: On the 1st Eebruary, 1904, a deposit

in Molsons Bank in account with Quebec Bridge Company, $25,000. Hugh A. Allan's

cheque. On the 10th February, 1904, $50,000, Two cheques from Hon. John
Sharpies for $25,000 each^ On March 18th ^another deposit of $25,000, G. T. E.

(Grand Trunk Eailway). On the 22nd February, 1907, deposited at the Bank of

Montreal $94,900, a cheque from M. P. Davis. On December 16th, 1903, deposited at

the Molson's Bank, $4,933.34. On January 2nd, 1904, also at the Molson's Bank,
another deposit for $66.66, making in .all five thousand. On the 19th January, 1904,

another dieposit of $100. It was for one shareholder, Mir. F. G. Fortier, a new
shareholder.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. Is that the five thousand ?—A. Outside of the five thousand.

J^y Mr. Monh:

Q. Will you now please state to the committee whence came that sum of $4,900

deposited in the Molson's Bank to the credit of this $200,000 issue?—A. That is

represented by cheques handed in by the directors in payment of stock to the amount
of $5,000. I have got the cheques here; will I produce them?

Q. If you please?—A. I now produce th*ese cheques'.

EXHIBIT Kcu

No. 126.

To THE MOLSONS BANK
Quebec, P.Q., 23rd November, 1903.

Pay to Hon. S. N. Parent Or order

Two thousand five hundred Wioo Dollars

$2,500.00

(Pa^id)

(The Molsons Bank
Quebec

Dec. 16, 1903

Accepted

Per
Ledger Keeper)

Endorsed

S. N. PARENT,

(The Molsons Bank
Diec. 16, 1903.

Quebec

S. N. Parent,

Pres. Q. B. Co.

(The Quebec Bridge & Railway
Ulric Barthe
Secy.-Treasr.

Company)

for deposit only to credit of

(The Quebec Bridge & Railway
Ulric Barthe,

Secy, 'and Tre isr.

Company.
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No. 125.

To THE MOLSONS BANK

EXHIBIT No. 8.

Quebec, P.Q., 23rd November, 1903.

Pay to Mr. G. LeMoine Or order

Three hundred Wioo Dollars

$300.00

(The Molsons Bank
Quebec

Dec. 16, 1903

Accepted

Per
Ledger Keeper)

Endorsed
Gaspard LeMoine,

The Molsons Bank
Dec. 16, 1903.

Quebec

(Paid)

S. N. Parent,

Pres. Q. B. Co.

(The Quebec Bridge & Eailway
Ulric Barthe
Secy.-Treasr.

Company)

for deposit (Only to cr,edit of

(The Quebec Bridge & Railway
Ulric Barthe,

Secy.-Treasr.

Company )

EXHIBIT No. 9.

No. 124.

To THE MOLSONS BANK

Quebec, P.Q., 23rd November, 1903.

Pay to H. J". Beemer, Esq . . . Or order

Sixty-six %o Dollars

(The Molsons Bank)
Quebec

Jan. 2, 1904

Accepted

Per
Ledger Keeper)

Endorsed
H. J. Beemer,

The Molsons Bank
Jan. 2, 1904.

Quebec

S. N. Parent,

Pres. Q. B. Co.

(Paid.)

(The Quebec Bridge & Railway
Ulric Barthe

Secy.-Treasr.

Company)

for deposit only to credit of

(The Quebec Bridge & Railway
Ulric Barthe

Treasurer

Company
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EXHIBIT No. 10.

No. 123.

To THE MOLSONS BANK
Quebec, P.Q., 23rd November, 1903.

Pay to John Breakey, Esq Or order

One hundred and sixty-six . . . ^%oo Dollars

$166.67. S. N. Parent,

Pres. Q. B. 0.

(Paid)

(The Quebec Bridge & Kailway
XJlric Barthe

Secy.-Treasr.

Company)

(The Molsons Bank
Quebec

De3. 16, 1903

Accepted

Per
Ledger Keeper)

Endorsed by
Pay Quebec Bridge Co.,

John Breakey.

For deposit only to credit of

(The Quebec Bridge and Railway
Dec. Ulric Barthe,

16 Secy.-Treasr.

1903 ' Company)
Quebec.

EXHIBIT No. 11.

No. 122

To THE MOLSONS BANK

Quebec, P.Q., 23rd November, 1903.

Pay to Mr. R Audette Or order

Four hundred ^91oo Dollars

$400,00

(The Molsons Bank
Quebec

Dec. 16, 1903

Accepted

Per ...

Ledger Keeper)

Endorsed,

R. Audette.

S. N. Parent,

Pres. Q.B. Co.

(Paid)

(The Quebec Bridge & Railway
Ulric Barthe
Secy.-Treasr.

Company)

For deposit only to credit of

(The Quebec Bridge & Railway
Ulric Barthe

Secy.-Treasr.

Company.)

(The Molsons Bank
Dec. 16, 1903

Quebec.)
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EXHIBIT No. 12.

No. 121 Quebec, P.Q., 23rd November, 1903.

To THE MOLSONS BANK
Pay to Hon. Nem. Garneau Or order

Three Hundred and thirty-three Wioo DoUars

$333.33 (Paid) S. N. Parent,

Pres. Q. B. Co.

(The Molsons Bank (The Quebec Bridge & Kailway

Quebec Ulric Barthe

Dec. 16, 1903 Secy.-Treasr.

Accepted Company)
Per ^

Ledger Keeper)
Endorsed,

N. Gameau.

Por deposit only to credit of

(The Quebec Bridge & Kailway (The Molsons Bank.

Ulric Barthe Dec. 16, 1903

Secy.-Treasr. Quebec.)

Company.)

EXHIBIT No. 13.

No. 120 Quebec, P.Q., 23rd November, 1903.

To THE MOLSONS BANK
Pay to Vesey Boswell, Esq ^ Or order

Two hundred and sixty-six Wioo Dollars

$266.67 (Paid) S. N. Parent,

(The Molsons Bank (The Quebec Bridge & Eailway
Quebec Ulric Barthe

Dec. 16, 1903 Secy.-Treasr.

Accepted Company)
Per

Ledger Keeper)
Endorsed,

Vesoy Boswell.

For deposit only to credit of

(The Quebec Bridge & Kailway (The Molsons Bank
Ulric Barthe Dec. 16, 1903

Secy.-Treasr. Quebec.)

Company.)
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EXHIBIT No. 14.

No. 119 Quebec, P.Q., 23rd November, 1903.

To THE MOLSONS BANK
Pay to Mr. Narcisse Rioux Or order

Three hundred and sixty-six . . . . 6%qq Dollars

$366.67 (Paid) S. N. Parent,
Pres., Q. B. Co.

(The Molsons Bank (The Quebec Bridge & Railway
Quebec Ulric Barthe

Dec. 16, 1903 Sec.-Treasr.

Accepted Company)
Per

Ledger Keeper)

Endorsed,

N. Rioux.

Por deposit only to credit of

(The Quebec Bridge & Railway (The Molsons Bank
Ulric Barthe Dec. 16, 1903

Secy.-Treasr. Quebec.)

Company.)

EXHIBIT No. 15.

No. 118

To THE MOLSONS BANK

Pay to

$200.00.

(The Molsons Bank
Quebec

Dec. 16, 1903

Accepted

Per
Ledger Keeper)

Endorsed,

J. B. Laliberte.

For deposit only to credit of

(The Quebec Bridge & Railwny
Ulric Barthe
Secy.-Treasr.

Company.)

Quebec, P.Q., 23rd, November, 1903.

. . Mr. J. B. Laliberte Or order

Two hundred ^91oo Dollars

(Paid.) - S. N. Parent,

Pres. Q. B. Co.

(Paid)

(The Quebec Bridge & Railway
Ulric Barthe

^
Sec.-Trea«r.

Company)

(The Molsons Bank
Dec. 16, 1903

Quebec.)
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EXHIBIT No. 16.

No. 117 Quebec, P.Q., 23rd November, 1903.

To THE MOLSONS BANK

Pay to . . . . H. M. Price, Esq.

Four hundred . . . . . .

. . Or order

oo/ioo Dollars

$400.00. (Paid) S. N. Parent,

Pres. Q. B. Co.

(The Quebec Bridge & Kailway(The Molsons Bank
Quebec

Dec. 16, 1903

Accepted

IJlric Barthe
Secy.-Treasr.

Company)
Per

Ledger Keeper)
Endorsed,

H. M. Price.

Por deposit only to credit of

(The Quebec Bridge & Eailway (The Molsons Bank

Q. I see, sir, that the ten cheques that you have produced purport to be the

cheques of the Quebec Bridge Company, signed by you as secretary and by Mr.
Parent as president?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Would you tell the committee in whose name this $4,900 of stock was taken?

—A. It is not only $4,900, but $4,900 and $66, making five thousand. These cheques

had been issued in accordance with the resolution of the shareholders at their pre-

vious general meeting to be paid in cash to the directors for attendance fees.

Q. Will you refer to the resolution itself I—A. The date of the resolution I have

not got with reference to the last five thousand.

Q. I think I saw the date of that resolution?—A. I think it was on the 2nd of

October, 1902.

Q. On the 2nd of October, I find on reference to my notes, the resolution you

refer to of the shareholders authorizing the company to pay $5,000 to the directors

and president. Is that right?—A. Well, I would like to see the minute book.

Q. I think it is the 2nd of September, 1903?—A. The resolution of the share-

holders was dated on the 20th of October, 1903, voting ' that a sum not exceeding

$5,000 be voted to the board as remuneration to the president and directors for the

services rendered by them during the year ending 30th of June, 1903.'

Mr. Monk.—Have you those cheques, Mr. Chairman?
The Chairman.—They are down in the record.

By the Chairman:

Q. That resolution was passed before (he Quebec Bridge Company's Act of 1003.

was it not?

Mr. Ross.—A few days before that.

The Chairman.—Chapter 54 of 1903 was assented to on tbe iMth of October.

B}j Mr. Monk:

Q. Mr. Barthe, this sum of $5,000 voted, as yi)u Uaxc just suiU'd. was voted to

the directors of the Bridge Company in payment of ni tt^idanofs. n\s.var(]ing wliieb there

Ulric Barthe

Secy.-Treasr.

Company.)

Dec. 16, 1903

Quebec.)
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was no previous resolution fixing any remuneration for the directors, is not that sol

—^A. There had been some before.

Q. Yes, there had been, and we will come to that presently, but is it not a fact

that those attendances for which the directors were then voted ' the sum of $5,000

were covered by no previous resolution ?—A. It was done in the regular way that year.

I might say, in explanation as to the date, that the general meeting of the share-

holders usually takes place on the first Tuesday in September, and that year, owing

to the legislation going on in Ottawa, we had to adjourn the meeting from September

to October, so- that that meeting of the 20th of October, 1903, was an adjournment of

the regular general meeting of the shareholders; practically this resolution would
have been passed on the first Tuesday in September of that year if the general meet-

ing had taken place on that day, but it could not take place for the reason I have
stated. That resolution was practically a repetition of what had been done every year

for two or three years before.

Q. Let us understand this part of it, Mr. Barthe, because I think it is important. .

This vote of $5,000 was for past services rendered, was it not, by the board of directors

in question?—A. Yes, as stated in the resolution, for the year ending 30th of June,

1903.

Q. As stated, for the year ending 30th of June, 1903, and the directors had on pre-

vious occasions, by similar resolutions, been voted two sums, that is to say, $10,000 in

190'2 and $5,000 on the 2nd of September, 1902, for other attendances than those which

were covered by this $5,000, is not that so?—A. Yes.

The Chairman.—What is that, there was $15,000 besides this ?

Mr. Monk.—Yes, making $20,000 altogether.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Will you refer to the resolutions of the shareholders by which these two pre-

vious sums of $10,000 and $5,000, respectively, were voted to the directors?—A. Yes,

I have here copies of those resolutions.

Q. Will you produce them, Mr. Barthe?—A. Yes, I produce them as exhibits

before the committee.

The Chairman.—I see that these are not only resolutions of the shareholders but

there is a resolution of the board.

Mr. Monk.—Will you attach them altogether and make one exhibit?

(Documents filed as Exhibit 17.)

MEMORANDUM RE QUEBEC BRIDGE.

1. (a) Copy of resolution shareholders' general annual meeting, September 3rd,

1901:—

Moved by Amedee Robitaille, seconded by P. B. Dumoulin, and unanimously
resolved :

—

^Whereas the construction of the Quebec bridge is now in an advanced state,

which successful result is due to the unfiinching and disinterested exertions of the

president and directors;
' Whereas for the past four years the members of the board of directors have

'devoted themselves to the success of the bridge enterprise without any remuneration

whatever for their services, and whereas more than one hundred and twenty sittings

of the board have taken place since the reorganization of the company in 1897;
' That this general annual meeting of shareholders, considering that the gratuity

of such services on the part of the president and directors should not exceed the first

two years, and considering, moreover, the special services rendered to the bridge enter-

prise by the actual secretary, by the present resolution do authorize the board of

directors to a)Jow a si^m not exceeding five thousand dollars for each of the two years
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1899 and 1900, to be alloted between the president, directors and secretary in such man-
ner as the board of directors may consider the best in the interests of the company.'

(h) Copy of resolution, directors^ meeting, January 15th, 1902 :

—

Moved by Mr. J. Breakey, seconded by Mr. G. Lemoine, and resolved :

—

* Whereas the sum of $10,000 is due to the members of the board by virtue of a

resolution passed by the shareholders at their last general meeting, and whereas the

directors desire to take that amount in stock;
' That the amount allowed to the directors, other than the president, be divided

between them according to their attendance at meetings of the board, and that they

purchase new stock fully paid-up for the amount respectively received by them.'

(c) Be allotment of stock between president, secretary and directors, directors'

meeting, March 15th, 1902:—
' Second consultation from legal adviser in reference to allotment of stock between

president, directors and secretary was examined, and the secretary was authorized to

prepare an allotment list based on the attendance of directors between 11th March,
1899, and September 3rd, 1901, date of last general annual meeting.'

2. (a) Copy of resolution, general annual meeting, Sept. 2nd, 1902:

—

Moved by Hon. A. Eobitaille, seconded by George Tanguay, and resolved:

—

' That a sum not exceeding five thousand dollars ($5,000) be put at the disposition

of the board as remuneration of the president and directors of this company for ser-

vices rendered by them during the year ended June 30th last.'

(h) Re $5,000 indemnity, directors' meeting, October 1st, 1903 :

—

^ The secretary then submitted a record of attendance of directors during the year

ended June 30th, 1902, and was instructed to prepare an allotment list according to

the terms of the resolution of the general meeting in date of September 2nd, 1902, on
the following basis : A sum of $2,500 being alloted to the president and an equal sum
of $2,500 to be divided between the other directors in proportion to their attendance at

board meetings during year ended June 30th, 1902 ; it being understood that the above

amount is to be taken in shares of this company.'

3. (a) Copy of resolution re $5,000 indemnity, shareholders' annual meeting,

October 20th, 1903 :—

Moved by Cy. F. Delage, seconded by A. B. Dupuis, and resolved:

—

' That a sum not exceeding five thousand dollars ($5,000) be allowed to the board

as remuneration of the president and directors of this company for services rendered

by them during the year ended June 30th, 1903.'

(h) Copy of resolution re $5,000 indemnity, directors' meeting, October 20th,

1903 :—

Moved by Hon. N. Garneau, seconded by H. H. Price, and resolved :

—

^ That the $5,000 voted by the shareholders for the remuneration of the directors

to June 30th, 1903, be divided as follows, viz. : $2,500 to the president and $2,500 to

the other directors, to be divided between them according to their attendance at meet-

ings.*

4. (a) Re proposed fee for directors, directors' meeting, March 29th, IIHU:

—

* Hon. N. Garneau proposed that regular attendance fee be voted to the directors,

as is generally done in joint stock companies. The secretary was instructed to submit

the question to the legal advisers.'

(h) Re proposed fee for directors, directors' meeting, April 9th, 1904:

—

' A letter was read from Mr. L. A. Taschercau, the legal adviser, to the etToct that

the board have the power by resolution to provide for the remuneration of the directors

as they deem fit, said remuneration being payable in cash.'

Copy cf resolution and coiiy of vote taken by directors:

—

5. (a) Re directors' fees, directors' nioeling. April 10. 1904.



20 SELECT COMMITTEE

7-8 EDWARD Vil., A. 1908

Moved by Mr. G. Lemoine, seconded by P. B. Dumoulin:

—

' That in consideration of the services rendered by the board of directors during

the current year, the sum of $5,000 be voted to the president, the sum of $1,000 be

voted to the vice-president and $500 to each of the other directors for their attend-

ance at meetings, and for all other vocations and services rendered in the interest

of the company, said remuneration payable half yearly.

'

The opinion of the board was unanimous as far as the president and vice-presi-

dent were concerned, but some difference of opinion having been expressed on the

question whether the remuneration of the other directors should be allotted, according

to the attendance at meeting or not, it was decided to take a vote on that point, and
the question was accordingly put by the president and the vote taken as follows:

—

Yeas.—Hon. N. Garneau, John Breakey, J. B. Laliberte, Y. Boswell, Eod.
Audette, and G. Lemoine.—Six.

Nays.—H. M. Price, Narc. Kioux, V. B. Dumoulin.—Three.

The main motion was then adopted unanimously. *

By the Chairman:

Q. What does this resolution of April 16th mean, ' That in consideration of the

services rendered by the board of directors during the current year, &c., is that

another amount of $5,000?—A. Yes, that is after the issuing of debentures.

By Mr, Barker:

Q. What is meant by ^ current year ' there ?

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Will you please state to the committee in regard to the vote by the directors

of the 16th of April, 1904, concerning the apportionment of $5,000, additional to the

$20,000 already referred to, for services; was this $5,000 so apportioned, and at what
meeting of the shareholders was that payment of $6,000 so authorized?—A. It was in

consideration of services rendered by the directors during the current year, that is

from June 30th, 1903, to June 30th, 1904.

Q. From June 30th, 1903, to June 30th, 1904, and this was apportioned on the

16th of April, 1904?—A. It was so apportioned.

Q. And it was voted by whom?—A. By the directors, by the board.

Q. There is no resolution of the shareholders-^having reference to that special

sum?—A. No, because I see here—there was a letter from the legal adviser of the

board to the effect that the board had the power by resolution to provide for remu-
ration of the directors as they deemed fit, said remuneration to be payable in cash.

Q. Have you the opinion of the legal adviser upon that point?—A. No, I did

not bring it with me.

Q. Who gave that opinion?—A. The Hon. Mr. Taschereau, who was counsel for

the company.

Q. And he advised the board that they could vote money to themselves for their

services without further authorization?—A. Yes.

Mr. Galliher.—Would it not be well, Mr. Monk, as you go along to start at the

first of these resolutions and place it upon record how the vote was apportioned, and

when and to whom the shares for that money were allocated?

Mr. Monk.—I just wanted before you take that up to complete this part of the

evidence.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Is this sum of $25,000 all?—A. $20,0C0.

Q. No, $25,000; with this $5,000, the total sum voted to the directors for their

services was $25,000, or are there any further amounts in addition to that?—^A. I

could not answer that precisely without looki:pg up the book.
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Q. You could not answer that just now; will you look it up during the recess

and prepare a statement of all further sums in addition to $25,000 voted the direc-

tors?—A. I think we can have that prepared quickly, yes.

Q. And will you also have that letter of Hon. Mr. Taschereau?—A. Well, not
to-day.

Q. But when you have an opportunity to procure it?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. I think we had better deal with the amounts voted and that were taken out in

stock. There has been a suggestion made that Mr. Bell can make out a statement

of that and file it.

Mr. Barker.—Can you do that, Mr. Bell?

Mr. Bell.—Yes, sir.

Mr. Barker.—Then will you prepare that?

The Chairman.—What you want is a statement of the remuneration that was
converted into stock?

Mr. Galliher.—And then following that up, and remuneration subsequently,

either in stock or cash.

By Mr. Chisholm (Aniigonish)

:

Q. The $15,000 spoken of as for attendance? Is that for services as well as atten-

dance, travelling back and forth to New York and elsewhere; it did not mean simply

attendances at the meetings of the board?—A. It was for general services and atten-

dance, but it was based on the attendance. It was decided at first it was more just

that way. The word ' allotted: ' was used because I had to apportion. I should have

used the word ' apportion.' I had to make a list of the attendances and divide it up,

so that they came to these uneven figures you see there—$160.66.

Q. But these attendances were not for the chairman, they were for the directors

other than the chairman?—A. The chairman's was a regular fee—an annual fee.

Q. Tie was being paid, ijot for his attendances at the meeting alone, but for the

services he rendered in New York and elsewhere?—A. Oh, yes, certainly.

Mr. Barker.—We had better have resolutions on these points. These vague state-

ments are not evidence. If there is any resolution to pay a specific sum annually to

the president, let us have it.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. Have you any resolutions regarding the salary of the president ?—A. Xot
specially.

Q. Apart from the resolutions to which reference has been made?—A. Not apart

from the board's resolutions. It was included in those resolutions.

By Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish)

:

Q._The board's resolutions state that the amount which was to W apiuutioiiod

among the other directors ?—A. The other directors, the prosideni of the company
being paid at a certain

Q. Was to be based on their attendance. It wr.s the other directors that received

that proportion. The chairman himself was to be paid $2,500 for his services and

attendance and tlie work tliat he had done?—A. Yes.

By the Chairman:

Q. There was no motion of shareholders granting to the presidv ni ;i >i:Utd sum.
was there?—A. Well, later on I think there was.

By Mr. WaL^h ( Ifuniinndon )

:

Q. But not previous to tliis time?—A. No.
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By Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish)

:

Q. You are aware that the chairman had a good deal of travelling and a good
deal of work to do other than what the other directors had?—A. Certainly; he was
the soul of the whole thing, and he practically did all the work.

Q. He lost a great deal of time and must have been put to a good deal of expense

travelling?—A. Oh, yes.

Bij Mr. Monk :

Q. Have you, Mr. Barthe, a statement of expense account for travelling in con-

nection with the question which was put to you by Mr. Chisholm ?—A. No, I have not.

That can be gathered from the books, but I have no

Q. But you don't pretend-that any of these amounts just referred to, and amount-
ing in the aggregate to $25,000, cover the travelling expenses?—A. I don't think so.

I think in some cases they would pay for their expenses and travelling expenses—dis-

bursements.

^ Q. Disbursements?—A. Disbursements. We have very few of them, but we have
a few vouchers for that.

Q. Well, will you, at your leisure, make up a statement of travelling expenses or

disbursements paid to the president or directors?—A. Yes.

The Chairman.—For what period, Mr. Monk?
Mr. Monk.—Wei], from 1897 up to the present date.

Q. Will you, please, also, Mr. Barthe, prepare at your leisure a statement showing"

the shareholders present at these three meetings regarding which you have already

spoken, the shares held by them, those that were present by proxy and who the proxies

were ?

By the Chairman:

Q. Can you do that, Mr. Barthe?—A. Yes, for the shareholders' meetings?

By Mr. MonJc:

Q. Yes, the shareholders'?—A. Yes.

Q. The shareholders' meetings when resolutions were passed authorizing the pay-

ment of money to the directors?

The Chairman.—Do you confine it to these three meetings?

Mr. Monk.—Just those three meetings.

Q. Have you the by-laws of the company—A. They are in a book containing a

compilation of the charters of the company and its by-laws, etc.

Q. Will you produce the by-laws of the company?—A. Yes (producing by-laws).

Pages 1 to 11 of the by-laws marked Exhibit 18.

Q. And these by-laws contained in Exhibit No. 18, which you have just produced,

are all the by-laws of the company in force, are they not?—A. They are all the by-

laws.

Q. The actual by-laws in force?—A. Yes.

Q. I do not see there any but amendments to by-laws that are in existence f—A.

(Pointing to by-laws). This is the first part. These are the old by-laws, and in 1904

we amended them on some points.

Q. Can you point out in these by-laws which you have just produced anything

authorizing the payment of sums of money to the directors for their services?—A.

Well, that is a question of law. I could not give an opinion on that—whether it is

authorized or not by the by-laws or by the charter.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. Mr. Monk has not asked you to construe any clause but to see whether there

is in the by-laws anything on that subject?—A. I would have to read them over and

see. It requires the eyes of a good lawyer to find that.
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By Mr. Monk:

Q. Do you think you will be able to trace in the papers of the company the opin-

ion of Mr. Taschereau, legal adviser to the company, upon that point?—A. Upon
thfr—

Q. Upon the payments?—A. All the payments?

Q. No, no, just the opinion as to the legality of the directors voting sums ta

themselves—the opinion to which you referred a few moments ago?—A. Yes, I know
there are some letters on all these questions. You know we generally consulted our

lawyer and he gave us his opinion. I cannot say here from memory.
The Chairman.—There is just one clause in the by-laws which has, by implica-

tion, an indirect bearing.

The Witness.—Here is the amendment to clause 8 of the by-laws which saya

(reads)

:

' The affairs of the company shall be managed by a board of eleven directors,

eight of whom were to be elected annually by ballot from among the shareholders at

their annual meeting, each of whom, when elected director, must be proprietor of, and
hold in his own name, at least fifty shares of the capital stock of the company on which
all calls due have been paid, and they shall remain in office and be directors until their

successors shall be elected, in case of any vacancy among the elected directors, the board

may appoint a qualified shareholder to fill such vacancy. The three other directors

are appointed by the Governor-General in Council and need not be possessed of the

qualification required in the case of elected directors; they shall be entitled, as such

directors, to the same fees or allowances from the company as are paid or allowed to

the other directors.'

I think this is based on the amendment to the charter of 1903.

Q. You wull look and see if you find an opinion?—A. Yes.

Q. Were these three directors—the government appointees—ever allowed any fees

as the others were?—A. Yes.

Q,. They were ?—A. Oh, yes.

By the Chairman :

Q. Who were they?—A. They were Mr. J. B. Laliberte, Mr. Henri Kioux, and
Mr. P. B. Dumoulin.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Will you file before the committee, when you have made it, a statement show-
ing the date of appointment of these three government directors?—A. It is men-
tioned in the minutes, I think.

Q. The date of their appointment and the meetings which they aitonded.^

The Ci-iAiRMAN.—For what period?

Mr. Barker.—During their service?—A. Yes, that can be done.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. During their service as government appointees. Now, Mr. Bartho, in regard
to this last $5,000 which appears to have gone to make up the $-00,000 of stock
required by the government in this agreement under the Act of October, 1003. that
sum was chequed out to the directors by the company itself. Would you show me
in the company's bank book the trace of the payment of this $5,000 out of the funds
of the company? You have shown mo where the $5,000 wont to the credit of that
stock ?

The Chairman.—He has shown you the stamped paid che(iues.

Q. I want to see the book?—A. The question is one of those rather complicated
ones. There is a statement of facts in which I could not absolutely concur.
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Q. But you have got the bank book showing that amount of $5,000 actually passed

to the bank as paid to the directors? They were all accepted on the same day, the

cheques, 16th December?—A. That is we deposited the cheques.

By Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish) :

Q. You made the statement just now that the question contained a statement of

facts in which you did not concur, what do you mean by that ?—A. I could not under-

take to repeat the whole question, but it seemed to me, you know, rather one of these

complicated questions I would not give any opinion upon.

"By Mr. Barker:

Q. I would like to ask Mr. Barthe this : were the assets of the Quebec Bridge
Company increased $1 by these cheques being issued to the directors and applied on
that stock?—A. Well, that is not a question absolutely

Q. It is a simple question?—A. Well a question of fact. I don't know
^ Q. On the one hand you paid out five thousand on your bank and on the other

hand you paid five thousand back again, is that not it?—A. Well we paid—

—

Q. You issued cheques against your bank account for the $5,000 to these gentle-

men, did you not ?^—A. Yes, to their order, yes.

Q. And they gave you the cheques back and you put them back into the bank
account again ?—A. Well, that—they paid with these cheques their stock, that part of

the stock.

Q. They gave you back these cheques on account of their stock they subscribed?

—A. Well, I would not say they gave. I don't remember exactly the fact. I know the

cheques passed through the banks. I would not care to give any interpretation on

that, you know.

Q. Well, wait a moment. You issued cheques to the directors ?—A. Yes.

Q. And the directors gave them back to the company, is not that the case?—A.

Yes.

Q. Then was the company one dollar ahead in its capital by that transaction?—A.

Well, that is

Q. Answer the question ?—A. Well, I would nOt

Q. Had you a dollar more, by reason of the payment of that stock, than you had
before you issued the cheques for the fees?—A. Well, the company was certainly

getting more capital stock. Certainly because that money had been earned by the

directors. They might have put that into their pockets and kept it.

The Chairman.—They were in the same position as if they had bought $5,000

worth of steel girders and paid for them and then got Mr. Blank to subscribe.

Mr. Barker.—^We will have to discuss that.

The Chairman.—I see your point and I think you might as well leave it there.

I think it is pretty clear.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. I would like to ask one question in connection with that. By the payment
back into the treasury of these cheques that had been issued by the Quebec Bridge

Company to the directors for $5,000, dated November 23rd, 1903, the company had
discharged a debt to the directors; is that right, or is it not?—A. Yes, that is so.

Q. What would have been the position of the company's accounts had the direc-

tors turned those cheques into money to their own account, instead of buying the

stock ?—A. The company would have been so much short.

Q. It would have been that $5,000 short?—A. Yes.

The Chairman.—Then there is the other question of interpretation of the statute,

whether this was in compliance with the Act?
Mr. Galliher.—Yes, I just wanted to make it clear on that point.
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By Mr. Barher:

Q. You were present when this transaction took place and when the cheques

were ordered to be issued?—A. Certainly I was.

Q. Was it not intended that they were to be handed back in that way on the

stock ? Was or was it not the intention of all parties that these cheques were to be
applied on $5,000 of that $200,000 stock?—A. Not exactly from the beginning, not

from the start.

Q. From the time of the issuing of those cheques ?—A. At the time of the issuing,

yes ; it had been decided, but when it was voted by the shareholders it was not decided,

there was in some cases no question

Q. At the time when you issued the cheques to the directors it was understood

that they were to hand them in on that stock?—A. Oh yes, in the meantime it had
been agreed between the directors to take the stock.

Q,. Plad you cash, at that time, of the company's with which to pay these fees?

—

A. I think the bank book will show it, yes; I have not the bank book in my hand.

Q. Were those moneys the proceeds of discounts for certain purposes or had you
actually cash balances to your credit?—A. We had balances; at that time we had
current accounts with two or three banks and we always had money.

Q. Always some money, eh?

Mr. Galliher.—All those cheques issued show that they were marked good by
the bank, and charged against the account.

The Chairman.—What bank shows the balances, the Molsons bank ?—A. And the

Quebec bank.

By Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish)

:

Q. This buying of $5,000 stock was a matter arranged among the directors them-

selves ? It was arranged among themselves ?—A. From the minutes it so appears.

Q. There was no understanding, as between the stockholders and directors, that

the directors should buy that stock ?—A. I do not think that—not by the shareholders

—you have the resolutions there.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. At that time the Quebec Bridge Company had no source of revenue whatever,

is not that the case?

Mr. Galliher.—What time are you speaking of?

Mr. Monk.—The time that this transaction took place—November, 1903. The
company, as a matter of fact, never had any source of revenue?—A. We had revenue

through the shareholders and the calls for the capital itself. Its capital stock was

its only resource.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. It was not earning anything then ^

The Chairman.—Were you not earning subsidies?

A. The company had no revenue and was not cavuiiig nnytlniig

Mr. Galliher.—Hadn't you the provincial subsidies?

Mr. Barker.—That is not ' earning.' The question is as to revenue.

A. I understand you this way, that the company, not being in opera lion, had no

revenue.

Mr. Barker.—That is what I mean.

Mr. Galliher.—I think that ought to be made clear. ' Revenue ' is rather a wide

term. Whether it is revenue actually earned by operation of the project or whether

it is something for the purpose of the company
The Chairman.—It had a contingent revenue.

6-4
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By Mr. Monh:

Q. As a matter of fact, was not this $5,000 checked out of the proceeds of the

discounts made by the company at the Molsons Bank, as shown by the book produced?

—A. That is a question of the treasury that I am not ready to answer; I could not

answer ; I am not competent to answer that question.

By Mr. Baricer:

Q. About this $94,900 paid in by M. P. Davis on the 2-2nd of February, 1907,

that formed part of the $200,000 extra capital stock prescribed under the Act?—A.

Yes, according to the statement made
Q. The Act of 1903?—A. Yes.

Q. Will you explain how it was that a subscription of capital that was required

by an Act of 1903 was not carried out until November, 1907?—A. I would not under-

takje to explain that point.

The Chairman.—In other words, why was Mr. Davis' cheque held ; I suppose that

^is the point?

By Mr. Barher:

Q. It is quite clear it had not passed to the benefit of the company. Why had
that $94,900 not been received by the company in cash as so much of its additional

paid-up capital?—A. I have myself no personal explanation to give of that, because

I have only what appears in the minute book itself.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. What was the date of that cheque?—A. It was given in 1904.

By Mr. Barher:

Q. There was no arrangement that you should not cash that cheque?—A. Myself?

I have

The Chairman.—That is a treasury matter.

A. I waited

By Mr. Barker:

Q. Of course, if you do not know, it is sufficient to say you do not know?—Yes,
I do not know.

Q. There was no arrangement, to your knowledge, with Mr. Davis about the post-

ponement of that payment?
The Chairman.—He says he doesn't know anything about it.

A. All I know is what is in the minute book and the bank book.

By Mr. Barher:

Q. As secretai'y, have you any knowledge of any arrangement between the com-
pany, or between the directors and the president of the company and Mr. Davis that

that $94,900 should not be paid in cash ?—A. No.

Q. You do not know that ?—A. I do not remember having any special instructions

as to that.

Q. Did you ever hear there was such an arrangement?—A. Well, I may have,

but—
The Chairman.—But not officially?

A. Not officially.

By Mr. Barher:

Q. I want to know what you hear; I do not know whether you have an official ear
or not. Have you any knowledge at all; tell us that, and then we will see whether it
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is knowledge we can put in evidence; of any arrangement by which that $94,900 was

not to be paid in at once?—A. I was not a party to any such arrangement if there

ever was such, but I only followed instructions that were given to me to keep the

cheque, to hold the cheque.

Q. Who gave you those instructions ?—A. Well, I do not remember exactly ; it may
have been the president or some of the directors, but I cannot say. I know at the time

it was understood that the railways would come in and divide it between themselves.

I understood that was one of the reasons.

Q. Would you accept the directions of any ordinary director upon such a subject

as that, or would you seek the direction of the president ?—A. Of course, it is generally

the president who gives instructions.

Q. Have you any recollection of that?—A. On that question? I could not; no,

sir.

Q. To your knowledge, was any arrangement ever made between the directors or

the president of the company and Mr. Davis in relation to that subscription of stock

by him?—A. No; I just received the subscription as secretary and gave the receipts

for the stock. I was not party to any arrangement.

. Q. You never heard that there had been any arrangement in regard to that, other

than the ordinary subscription by Mr. Davis, just' the same as a subscription by Mr.
Allan or anybody else; did you hear any special arrangement with regard to that

$94,900?—A. No; I told you I was not a party to any negotiation of that kind; I

was just acting as secretary, receiving the subscriptions and carrying out my instruc-

tions.

Q. I am not quite so sure when you make use of the words that * you were not a

party ' what you mean, do you mean that there was such an arrangement but that

you were not a party to it?—A. I mean—that is why I do not like to be examined in

English, it is not fair for me, because in my own language I would make myself plain.

Q. I understand that you are not a party to any arrangement of that kind, but

have you any knowledge of any such arrangement?—A. I said, no, I have no official

knowledge of it, the only knowledge that I have

Q. You have no official knowledge?—A. As secretary.

Q. You have no knowledge as secretary; have you any knowledge at all, Mr.
Barthe ?—A. You mean to say, have I heard by this man or that man that something

—

Mr. Galliher.—I want to object; if that knowedge comes from a source such as

a director or the president of the company it is a proper question

Mr. Monk.—The witness is asked, ' Have you any knowledge and we all inter-

lere at once.

Mr. Galliher.—I do not want to interfere at all, but the question whether it is

evidence or whether it is not evidence depends upon who he received it from. If he
has no knowledge from a director or the president of the company then it is not evi-

dence.

By the Chairman:

Q. The holding of this cheque and not cashing it was not your act. 'Mr. Barthe?

—

A. Well, yes, I held it.

Q. You held it on the direction of your superiors?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. Now, Mr. Barthe, I intend to get an answer to my question if it takes all

week, as the saying is. I have asked you, have you any knowledge of any arrangement

between the company, the directors or the president, and Mr. Davis with regard to

that subscription by him?
Mr. Galltiier.—I object to that.

The Chairman.—Let Mr. Barker finish his question.

6—4i
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By Mr. Barher:

Q. I ask you, have you any knowledge on that subject?—A. No.

Q. Now, wait a moment, you have told me two things, first of all that you have
no official knowledge of it, and that you have no knowledge of it as secretary; that

is not my question. I want you to say, ' Yes ' or ^ No ;
' that is all I am going to ask

you, have you any knowledge whatever on the subject?

Mr. Gallther.-^I object to that question for this reason, that it will depend
on the source wheince it comes whether it is evidence. If Mr^ Barker will alter his

question by adding ^ from anyone in authority,' then I think there could be no.

objection.

By Mr. Barher :

Q. He can say, ' Yes ' or * No,' and then I can ask him from whojm he obtained

his information.

The Chairman.—I do not understand your question myself, Mr. Ba,rker, now
^hat knowledge do you want ? You /want to know if he has any knowledge of •

Mr. Barker.—Any transaction.

The Chairman. Or any arrangement

Mr. Barker.—^Between the company, or the directors or the president and
Mr. Davis With regard to that subscription.

The Chairman.—As to whether he was to h^old the cheque or mot ?

Mr. Barker.—Anything outside, as I have said befiore, the ordinary subscription

of stock.

Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish)..—It would have to be official knowledge, or if it

was not, it would not be evidence at all.

The Chairman.—As I understand it you want ih know if the witness had any

knowledge of any arrangement between the company (and Mr. Davis regarding hig

payment of that subscription ?

By Mir. BarTcer :

Q. From the company or any of the directors, or Mr. Parent ?—A. No other

knowledge than the instructions to hold the cheque^ until further >orders and with

the proper understanding which I may have gathered, at the time, that that payment
was held to be divided later on betweien the railways, and then, I think too, that

there was some question of Mr. Davis, some objection to Mr. Davis holding to^ much
of the stock.

Q. Objection by whom?—A. Generally among the directors, I would not men-
tion anybody.

The Chairman.—That is a ,pretty fair answer.

By Mr. Barher:

Q. Thene vwas some hesitation about accepting his subscription for the whole ?

—

A. Yes, generally.

Q. And therefore the matter was held in suspense ?—A. Yes, well, I had it in

suspense, I got the cheque and I was told to keep it until further notice.

Q. And this question as to whether he should b,e the holder of so much stock

was, as you thought and understood, the reason for the holding of the cheque?—A.
Yies, that was it. I might add, that the cheque, the first cheque was for over $100,-

000, because it covered $26,000 of the Grand Trunk Eailw(ay which (was paid in the

month of February, ^ome time afterwards, reducing the lamount to $94,900.

By Mr. Monh :

Q. You say there was another cheque before this one for $94,900?
Thie CHijiRMAN.—For $94,900 plus $25,000.
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By Mr. Monk :

Q. What became of that cheque for over $100,000 ?—A. 7 1 was exchanged for

the other.

Q. When?—A. After the payment by the Grand Trunk, [ suppose; after the

Grand Trunk took the stock.

Q. You got the cheque for the company of $94,900 plus $. 5,000, and some time

after you got the cheque for $94,900. Surely you are able to fix ihe dates to a certain

extent? When was that cheque for $100,000 odd taken up and r»?placed by the cheque

for $94,900? In what month or year?

The Chairman.—Can you get that between now and this afternoon?

A. Perhaps Mr, Paquet can get it.

The Chairman.—Can you get it for this afternoon, Mr. Paquet?

Mr. Paquet.—^Yes, sir.

The Chairman.—Then we will get it this afternoon.

By Mr. GalUher:

Q. I just want to have one point made clear. Do I understand it was not a ques-

tion whether Mr. Davis would take the stock $94,900, but the question was whether

the company was willing to give him stock to that amount ?

The Chairman.—I supose they wanted to conform with the Act.

Mr. Galliher.—That is all right, but I think it is a little different to what Mr.

Barker expressed it. The way he expressed it would convey the meaning that Mr.

Davis merely put up that cheque, but had no intention of taking, at any time, $94,900

worth of stock.

Mr. Barker.—I did not say that.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. That is the way it was put. I want to know—if you do not know, why say so

—

I want to know if you know that it was a question of Mr. Davis wanting himself to

take $94,900 or rather a question of the company not desiring to give him that much
stock?—A. There was a general desire.

Q. The cheque was held?—A. There was a general desire not to issue that amount
of stock in the whole to Mr. Davis, because it was

Q. A general desire with whom, with the company?—A. Of the company.

The Chairman.—Or the directors, which?

Q. There was $188,721 coming to Mr. Davis out of that anyv/ay, wasn't tbere

—

out of the $200,000?—A. Yes,

Q. So that he was practically getting, under any circumstances, the proceeds of

that subscription of $200,000?—A. Yes.

The committee rose.

House of CoMMO^s,
CoMiMiTTEE Room No. 32,

Tuesday, June 9. IOCS.

The committee met at 4 o'clock p.m., the Chairman, ^fr. A. K, ]\hu'loan. presid-

ing.

The examination of Mr. Barthe resumed

:

By Mr. Monk:

Q. Have you had time to prepare the dilferont stntomonts which vou wore asked
for this morning: travelling expenses, the opinion of ^Ir. Tasohoroaii, a list of those
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present at the shareholders' meeting, the stock they represented and those that were

represented by proxies, who were the proxies, and the attendance of the three directors

uamed by the government?—A. As to the letters from Mr. Taschereau, I have to get

them from Quebec. I can get them only to-morrow. As for the other statements,

.they are in the typewriter's hands just now.

Q. All the other statements are in the typewriter's hands?—A. I understand the

travelling expenses are not.

Mr. Bell.—To get out the travelling expenses you would have to go through the

cash book from one to the other; there was no ledger account kept. They are very

small items; but to make sure of the amount, you would have to go through the cash

book from one end to the other.

The Chairman.—Do you accept that as satisfactory, Mr. Monk?
Mr. Monk.—That is satisfactory.

Q. Such expenses, Mr. Barthe, as were incurred in travelling were charged

separately from these amounts devoted to the directors for their services, were they

not?—A. Oh, yes, that was charged outside of that.

^ Q. Was it you, Mr. Barthe, who had charge of the banking of the company, who
deposited the different amounts that came into the company?—:A. Yes, up to 1903, I

think, after which the by-law^s were changed so as to divide the office of secretary-

treasurer in two.

Q. In 1903?—A. No, in 1904. Mr. Paquet was then appointed secretary. After

that he had charge of the banking business.

Q. Can you give the date of Mr. Paquet's appointment?—A. I think it was in

April, 1904, if I remember well.

Q.- By the directors?—A. By the directors. It can be shown by the minutes.

The Chairman.—Is that about correct, Mr. Paquet, April, 1904?

Mr. Paquet.—Well, I dton't remember exactly; it is about that date.

The Witness.—You can see by the minute book.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Who was instructed, Mr. Barthe, to deposit the cheque for ninety-four odd

thousand dollars at the end of 1907 ?—A. I think it was Mr. Paquet.

Q. Do you remember receiving any instructions-at that time as to the deposit of

that cheque?—A. Not exactly for the deposit of that cheque. I don't remember ever

having had any special instructions.

Q. Was the cheque in your possession as secretary at that time?—A. Yes; it was
in our books, in our vault.

Q. It was payable to the order of the company, was it ?—A. Yes, as far as I can

remember it was payable to the order of the company.
Mr. Bell.—I have those cheques, Mr. Monk.

By Mr. Monlc:

Q. Did the company, Mr. Barthe, keep a separate account of wJat was done with
the $200,000 of stock subscribed under the agreement with the govei iiment of October,
1903?—A. That would be for the treasurer to answer exactly to that. I think so,

but

Q. You could not point out in the books yourself that account?—A. No, I am
not familiar enough.

Q. How was that account carried, Mr. Barthe, while you held the cheque for

$94,600 in your possession ?—A. Well, it was debited, or credited, I don't know which,
to the capital stock account.

Q. Can you tell the committee anything as to when and how the $188,000 discount,
representing the discount on the first debentures of the company, were paid and taken
up?—A. Well, it was paid out of the bonds, the new bonds—the proceeds of the new
bonds, through the Bank of Montreal and the Eoyal Trust.
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Q. Do you know if it was paid in one lump sum?—A. It formed part of the out'

standing djebt, you see.

Q. And was that outstanding debt all paid at the same time?—A. Yes.

Q. With the product of the new bonds guaranteed by the government?—A. Yes.

Q. Can you fix a date for the payment of that $188,000?—A. No, not myself. It

would be for the treasurer to give those particulars.

By the Chairman:

Q. Section 4 of the agreement strikes me as being very awkwardly drafted. What
is put here as discount on bonds of $188,721 was really a debt to Mr. Davis, was it

not?—A. Yes.

Q. He took bonds in payment of work piorflormed by him as a contractor?—A.

Yes.

Q. At a discount?—A. At a discount.

Mr. Barker.—He owned the bonds. It should not be a debt to him. He took

$400,0'00 of bonds at 60 cents on the dollar.

By the Chairman:

Q. There is still due to him the difference between 60 and 100?—A. Yes. Well,

not only that, but he did

Q. Other work?—^A. Other work.

Q. Yes, I know; but there w^as $188,721 due him as contractor?—A. Yes.

Mr. Barker.—Mr. Barthe had better be careful about it, because it does not follow

there was any such figure at all. Bonds to the amount of four hundred and odd

thousand dollars were sold at 60, by which the capital lost $188,000. There may not

have been any such difference.

By the Chairman:

Q. Who lost this discount on the bonds, the contractor or the company?—A. 1

could not answer.

The Chairman.—All right, we will get that from Mr. Bell.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. Where were those bonds engraved, Mr. Barthe?—A. By the American Bank
Note Compfany.

Q. Do you happen to have one unsigned here? There are generally some left

over?—A. No, I have not one here. We may have kept a sample in our records, but

I am not sure.

Q. Will you look and see if you have a sample?—A. You have the whole text of

it in the mortgage trust deed. In the mortgage trust deed you have the whole thing

—

the form of the bond.

The Cjiairman.—Yes, it would be there, of course. It always is.

The Witness.—The form of the bond, yes.

The Chairman.—At page 27.

Mr. Monk.—The form of the bond is to he found at page 27 of the printed

mortgage trust deed?^

The Chairman.—Yes, at pages 27, 28 and 29.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. Can you give me the date of the signing?—A. The signing of the bonds?

Q. By the government and by the company?—A. Oh, no; I could not, not from
memory.

Q. Is there not a resolution rcgardiug the signing and the affixing of the seal of

the company to these bonds in the record of the bridge company?—A. Well, yes,

there must be.
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The Chairman.—There must be an aitthorizatioii. In what year were they issued?

Mr. Monk.—In 1904 they purport to have been signed—the 1st of February. Do
you remember the date of that, Mr. Bell?

Mr. Bell.—Some time betwicen December, 1903 and February or March, 1904..

Mr. Monk.—It is 1904 some time.

Thie Chairman.—The moTtgage deed would recite the resolution, probably, of

the boiard.

Mr. Bell.—But the bonds would be signied aftierwards.

The Chairman.—The resolution of th.2 company is dated 28th January, 1904.

By Mr. Monh : •

Q. Were thosie bonds all delivered to the bridge company, had you them at

any time in your possiessioii ?—A. As soon as thqy were signed by us they were

delivered to the Eoyal Trust Company.

Q. What was the procedure? Were they signed by your company and then

handed over to the government and then h\anded back to you and by you to thie

Trust Company, or was it in some other way it was done ?—A. I think thjc govern-

ment's signature was dispensed with. I don't remember efxactly but I don't think

they iwent to the government.

By the Chairman :

Q. These bonds were never sold, were they?—A. No, sir.

Q. A loan was obtained upon them from the Bank of Montreal ?—A. Yes.

Mr. Bell.—Thie committee can get one of these bonds from the Finance Depart-

ment.

The Chairman.—I think it would be well if we were to hiave the resolution

passed by the board showing how the bonds got into the possession of the Bank of

Montreal. I will read it (reads) :

' Whereas the president and the committee of this board have reported to this

board that the Bank of Montreal is prepared to make or arrange for an advlance to

this company of $1,250,000 to bear interest at the rate of five per cent per annum
and to be repayable (on o.r before the first day of July next, the repayment of same
to be secured by an agreement to deposit in pledge^with said bank as soon as issued

first mortgage bonds of the company of the issue authorized on the 28thi of January,

1904, guaranteed by the government of Canada to thi3 amount of $6,678,200 par

value or its equivalent in pounds sterling, said agreement in the meantime charging

the whole of said issue of first mortgage /gujaranteed bonds to the amount of $1,437,-

500 as aforesaid, with repaymient of said advance and interest, said agreement to be

executed by all such parties and to contain all such terms and provisions as the

bank may consider Teasonable for the purposes aforesaid. Resolved that the arrange-

ments in .respect of said advance and security so made with said bank be and the

same are hereby approved and adopted, and the president be and he is hereby author-

ized on behalf of the comjjany to do and cause to be dome all such acts and things

as he may deem proper and the bank may require for the purpose of completing

such arrangements including a settlfement on behalf of the company of the terms of

the said security agreement or agreements; and the president and the secretary

treasurer be and thejy are hereby authorized in th3 name of and on behalf of the

company to execute such agreement or agreements as the president may agree to and
any other deeds or documents that may bie required for the purposes aforesaid. Said
advance wben made to be paid over to the Royal Trust Co. and deialt with as pro-

vided in the tenth clause of the mortgage trust deed, dated the first of February,
1904.'

That resolution was presented at a meeting of the board of directors on the
6th February, 1904, and was unanimously passed.
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By ililr. Monk :

Q. Who iwere the directors present at that meeting-, Mr. Barthe ?—A. (Heads) :

'Hon. S. K Parent, in the chair; Messrs. R. Audette, J. Breakey, H. M. Price,

Gaspard LeMoine, Vesey Boswell, Hon. N. Garneau, J. -B. Laliberte, N. Eioux, P.
IB. Dumoulin and Hon. J. Sharpies.' I think it was pretty nearly a full board.

(After exiam'ining minutes). Yes, a full board.

Q. Have you, Mr. Barthe, the agreements whi^ch were entered into with the

Bank of Montreal, pursuant to the resolution which has just been quoted ?—A. Yes,)

sir (producin,g documient).

Exhibit No. 19.

(Duplicate)

This Agreement made the twenty-third day of February, A.D. 1904.

Between
The Quebec Bridge and Railway Company, a body corporate, duly incorporated

by the Parliament of Canada, and having its ciiief place of business in the City of

Quebec, and herein acting and represented by the Honourable S. N. Parent, its

president, and Ulric Barthe, its secretary, duly authorized for the purposes hereof,

(hereinafter called the company) of the first part.

And
His Majesty King Edward VII., acting in respect of the Dominion of Canada,

herein acting and represented by the Honourable William Stevens Fielding, Minister

of Finance for Canada (hereinafter called the government), of the second part.

And
The Bank of Montreal, a chartered bank of Canada, having its head office in the

City of Montreal, and herein acting and represented by the Hon. George A. Drummond
their vice-president, duly authorized for the purposes hereof (hereinafter called

the bank), of the third part:
^

Whereas the company on or about the 28th day of January, A.D. 1904, resolved

to exercise the borrowing powers granted to the company under the Acts of the Parlia-

ment of Canada being 3 Edward VIL, Chapters 177 and 54 (1903), by creating an
issue, and did thereby create an issue, of first mortgage bonds of the company to the

extent of six millions six hundred and seventy-eight thousand two hundred dollars to

be guaranteed by the government, under said Act 3 Edward VIL, c. 54 and the agree-

ment dated the 19th day of October, A.D. 1903, hereinafter called ' the scheduled

agreement.'

And whereas the government in pursuance of said Act 3 Edward VIL, c. 54, and
the scheduled agreement, by order of the Governor in council has directed the Minister

of Finance to execute and accordingly the Minister of Finance has contoniporaneously

witli the execution hereof duly executed the guarantee, guaranteeing the payment
both as to principal and interest of all the said first mortgage bonds of the company
forming part of the said issue;

And whereas by a notarial mortgage trust deed dated the 1st day of February.

A.D. 1904, and executed before Mr. Joseph Allaire, Notary Public, of the City of

Quebec, and made between the company of the first part and the Royal Trust Company
of the second part and His Majesty King Edward VIL, of the third \y.\r\, tuo company
did thereby grant and convey unto the said trust company, as trustees, all the railway

bridge, property and nndertaking of the company to secure the payment of the whole

01 said issue of first mortgage guaranteed bonds; all as and in the nn\nner fully set

forth in the said mortgage trust deed, which also contains full particvdars of the said

issue of bonds and of the forms thereof and of the form of said government guarantee

so given and executed as aforesaid;

And whereas some delay will intervene bel'ort^ the said tirsi mortgage bonds can

be engraved, executed and completed by the eomininy and delivered (ner to the snid

trust company;
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And whereas the company has applied to the bank for advances to the extent of

one million two hundred and fifty thousand dollars to be applied in the first place in

the payment of the balance of the obligations and indebtedness of the company
mentioned in the scheduled agreement, and then in and towards the construction and

completion of the undertaking and acquisition of the right of way and other lands in'

accordance with the provisions in that behalf contained in the scheduled agreement.

And whereas the bank has agreed to make the said advances upon the terms and

upon the guaranteed and other securities and subject to the agreements and stipula-

tions herein contained; all of which are hereby declared to be conditions of, and one of

the considerations for the making of such advances;

Now therefore this agreement witnesseth that it is hereby agreed by and between

all and every the parties hereto as follows :

—

The bank agrees to make to the company from time to time between the date

hereof and say the 15th day of June, A.D. 1904, advances not exceeding in the aggre-

gate the sum of one million two hundred and fifty thousand dollars upon promissory

notes of the company payable on demand with interest computed at the rate of five

per cent per annum; said advances to be made in such sums as may be required by

the company from time to time during said period; and the company hereby obliges

itself to pay to the bank on demand all said advances and interest thereon at tne rate

aforesaid computed from the respective times of the makings of such advances, and

the promissory notes from time to time respectively representing the said advances

and interest; all said advances are to be paid over by the bank to said trust company
who shall deal with the same as follows:

—

Firstly. Out of said advances to pay all the obligations and indebtedness of the

company mentioned in the scheduled agreement, including the existing outstanding

bonds and mortgages therein mentioned and interest (if any), as and in the manner
provided by subclause (a) of the 10th clause of the said mortgage trust deed;

Secondly. Then out of the said advances to pay to the company eighty-five per cent

of the par value of the amount of bonds mentioned in such certificates in writing

addressed and presented to and left with said trust company as may be granted by the

chief engineer of government railways, or such other ofiicer as the government may
appoint to give and sign such certificates in pursuance of the said 10th clause of the

said mortgage trust deed.
"~

2. The company hereby agrees with the bank that the company will, as speedily

as reasonably possible, cause to be engraved, sealed and executed by the company, the

said issue of $6,678,200 first mortgage bonds of the company, all as mentioned in and

in accordance with the provisions of the said mortgage trust deed, dated the first day

of February, 1904, and will, so soon as the said bonds are so sealed and executed,

deliver the whole of the said issue, with all the interest coupons belonging thereto, to

said trust company, as provided in the said mortgage trust deed.

3. And it is agreed that so soon as the said issue of guaranteed first mortgage
bonds shall be delivered to the said trust company as aforesaid, the said trust com-
pany is hereby authorized to deliver thereout to the bank bonds of the par value of

one million four hundred and thirty-seven thousand five hundred dollars Canada
currency (or its equivalent in pounds sterling, if said bonds are issued in sterling

money), together with all the coupons belonging thereto; to be held by the bank in

pledge as an additional continuing collateral security to secure to the bank repayment
of all said advances made to the company in pursuance hereof and interest, whether
represented by the demand notes aforesaid or by any renewals or re-renewals thereof,

in whole or in part, or otherwise howsoever ; and if default shall be made in the repay-

inent at the respective maturities of the same from time to time of all or any of the

said advances, interest, notes or premises, or any part thereof, the bank, after giving •

to the company fourteen days' written notice of its intention to sell said bonds so

pledged, may from time to time sell in any way whatsoever it may deem advisable,

and in one lot or several, and transfer to the purchaser or purchasers of same all or
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any of said bonds; and the bank, out of the moneys received from any such sale or

sales, in the first place, shall pay or retain the cost and expenses incurred in and about

any such sale or sales; and, in the next place, shall apply the residue of said moneys
in or towards payment of the said advances, interest and premises; and it is declared

that any such written notice shall be sufficient, if signed by the general manager of

the bank, or the manager of the Quebec branch of the bank for the time being, and if

sent by registered letter addressed to ' The Quebec Bridge and Eailway Company,
Quebec, Quebec,' and mailed in the city of Montreal or the city of Quebec fourteen

days before any such sale; provided that nothing herein contained shall be deemed to

oblige the bank to renew any negotiable paper of the company at any time held by" the

bank; and it is further agreed that until the delivery of the said $1,437,500 of said

first mortgage guaranteed bonds to the bank in pledge as aforesaid, the bank (subject

to the obligations and indebtedness of the company mentioned in the said 10th clause

of said mortgage trust deed, which are to be paid ouf of said advances), shall have

first lien and charge upon the whole of the said issue of first mortgage guaranteed

bonds by way of collateral security to secure the amounts from time to time owing by
the company to the bank in respect of said advances to be made hereunder, and interest

thereon.

4. It is further agreed that if the company shall duly and punctually perform,

observe and carry out all and every the terms, provisions and conditions of this agree-

ment, and shall duly give the security as herein provided, the bank will not, before the

1st day of July, A.D. 1904, demand payment of the said advances from time to time
made in pursuance hereof and to be represented by demand promissory notes as

aforesaid.

5. It is hereby declared that, not withstanding anything herein contained, the

bank, whilst holder of any of the said bonds of the company, shall, as such bondholder,

be entitled to and have and exercise all the powers, rights and remedies which bond-
holders are entitled to and given and granted by the said bonds and by the said

mortgage trust deed, it being hereby declared that the powers, rights and remedies
expressly given or agreed to be given to the bank by these presents are in addition to

those to which the bank may be or become entitled to as such bondholder as aforesaid.

In witness whereof the parties hereto have executed these presents.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. These bonds according to that Tesolution. were not loft on dieposit with tl\e

Bank of Monto-eal for the advance of one and a quarter u^illion dol ars ?—A. No.

Q. They were turned over to the Boyal Trust Couipnuy ?—A. Yes.

Q. Then ias amounts becanHe due the Bank of ^Montreal advanced 80 per cent of

thosie due amounts according to progress estimates. Is that correct?—A. Yes.

Q. And a sufficient number of those bonds were handed over from the Koyal

Trust Company to the Bank of Montreal to meet that advance ?—A. Yes.

Q. Is that oorre<!t ?—A. Yes.

Q. And only that sufficient number of bonds ?—A. Yes, certainly.

For the Bank of Montreal,

GEO. A. DRUMMOND,
Vicc-Prcsidcn f.

S. N. PARENT.
ULRIC BARTHE.

W. S. FIELDING.
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Mr. Beli,.—Eighty ,per cent of the face value. Supposing there werte $80 of
money you paid $100 of bonds.

Thfe Witness.—Eighty-five at the beginning-.

Mr. Galliher.—We will say there were $100,000 due. If I understand it, bonds
to that (extent would be transferred £rom the Royal Trust Company to the Bank of
Montreal ?

Mr. Bell.—If there were $100,000 due, bonds to the par value of $120,000 would
be transferred to. the Bank of Montreal. In the case of progress estimates, th,e

chief engineer of the department issued a certificate to cover the amount of money
due, also certifying to the .amount of bonds requiried to cover th>is amount. Sup-
posing $100,000 was the amount of the .estimate, the Royal Trust Company trans-
ferred $120,000 in bonds, and the certificate tof the chief engineer would be that

$100,000 was duie thJe company, and the Royal Trust Company should release

$120,000 in bonds to cover this amount.

The Chairman.—You say there was 20 per cent premium, it was not discounts ?

By Mr. Galliher :

Q. Was eviery progress estimate for the full amount due or only for 80 per
cent ?

Mr. Bell.—Eor the full amount due. ^

Q. Ware the contractors paid the full amount of the ^progress estimate ?

Mr. Bell.—It was not with the contractors at all; it was the amount due the

bridge company. Th)e certificate was only to cover the amount due the; bridge

company, 'and the bridge company, when th/sy gtot the money paid the contractors

'or whoever they owed.
,

By Mr. ChisJi^lm (Antigonish) :
i

Q. Then the prOjgress estimate was a matter between the contractors and the

company ?

Mr. Bell*—Yes, thje chief engineer certified to the amount due the Quebec

Bridge Company what they had earned, or spent, it did not matter how much it was.

By the CMairman : ^ :

Q. This is part of Section 7 of the agreement: (reads)

i

' The said bonds, debentures or other securities shall be so issued as to provide

for monthly fiayments as far as practicab ie to the company, and they shjall be issued,

o,r the proceeds thereof paid to the company, as the oonstruction of the undertaking

is proceeded with\ to the satisfaction of the government and in such sums as the

chief enginieer of the goverximxent, or such^ other ofiicer as the government may
appoint, may ceirtify are justified.'

i

Then to get the amiount in question, if thfe engineer certified prugress estimates

to the extient of $100,000, $120,000 worth of bonds were transferred from the; Royal

Trust Company to the Bank of Montreal land the B:ank of Montreal advanced this

$100,000 oil them, is that right,' Mr. Bell ?
i

Mr. Bell.—Yes, that is |righ|t. It is understood of course that the bonds were
never sold, they (were alwiays in thie hands of the trust, the Bank of Montreal ad-;

vanced the money and these were given las collateral security.
i

By Mti Galliher :
,

Q. The point I want to make is that they were only hypothecated from time to

time as necessary, in order to meet the estim'ates ?

Mcr. Bell.—Yes.

The Chairman.—Why would theii3 be a premium advanced on the estimates of
20 per cent ? ;

'
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Mr. Bell.—I do 'not know tlie reason of it, but I presume you tmiglit have put

those bonds on the miarket and they might only have brought 80, or they m.ay have
brought 100.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. That is an additional security to the bank ?

Mr. Bell.—To give them a first class security.

The Chairman.—That would be valueing them at about 80 ?

Mr. Bell.—It was only a temporary loan, land 'these were given as collateral.

Examination of Mr. Barthe resumed :

By Mr. Monh :

Q. Undeir thie terms of tbat agreement which you hav/e just produced of the

23ird of February, 1904, whlat was the sum of money which the Quebec Bridge Com-
pany had placed at its disposal; how much was the amount of the loan upon the

Bank of Montreal?—A. It is stated in that agreement.

Q. I have not had the time to read over this agreement. Will you tell me how
much the amount was ?

The Chairman.—I think, Mr. Monk, you will Bave to put the question in another

way. $1,437,500 ,was 'apparently the amount thiey had in mind at the time, but they

never got: it. You had better reserve that question for the treasu^'er.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. At any rate, Mr. Barthe, the proceeds of that first loan made fromi the Bank
of Montreal under that agreement of the 23rd February, 1904, to what object wero

they to be applied? Is it a fact that they were to be employed to pay off the outstand-

ing liabilities ?—A. They were for all the purposes of the company, the object is given,

for the construction of the bridge, of course including the outstanding debt which was

part of that.

Q. Can you trace in the books of the company the payment of those outstanding

liabilities mentioned in the agreement, as over $700,000, and when they were paid?—
A. Yes, it appears from the books, I suppose the first note that we gave to the Bank
of Montreal will show it.

The Chairman.—That is the first estimate?—A. No, it was not an estimate.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. I understand that they were to extinguish thosJe outstanding liabilities before

giving estimates, and I would like to know when that was done?—A. That was done

after the mortgage trust was signed.

Q. I presume it was done with this first money that came from the Bank of

Montreal?—A. Yes, out of that temporary loan.

By Mr. Barher:

Q. Out of the temporary loan?—A. Of course.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. Surely the books will show that?—A. The treasurer will show that in t]\e

books.

The Chairman.—Mr. Bell, Mr. Monk wants to know when the outstanding lia-

bilities of the company were liquidated through the Bank of ^fontreal?

Mr. Bell.—I think on the 18th of February, 1904, he will find it in n\y report

there.

Mr. Boss.—Later than that ?

Mr. Bell.—It may be later than that, 1 will look it \\\\

Mr. Barker.—Mr. Bell, although he is assisting hero, is not an otfi(\u- of the

company and we want to get it from an officer of the company.
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Mr. Bell.—It was in Pebruary, 1904, the first payment out of the $898,000 odd.

Mr. Monk.—Where is that to be found?

Mr. Bell.—It is in the detailed statement attached to the file.

The Chairman.—It is not in the report, Mr. Bell?

Mr. Bell.—Not in the main report, the detail of it is attached to ^A' in this

file, this is the file brought down by the Eailway Department giving copies of every-

thing we have in our possession practically.

Mr. Barker.—Put it in as an exhibit; are these copies or originals?

Mr. Bell.—Copies prepared for Mr. Borden, but it has been turned over, I

believe, to the committee.

The Chairman.—Perhaps you had better read that.

Mr. Bell.—'Add amount paid Ottawa, February, 1904, to settle account of Mr.

M. P. Davis, and not entered in cash-book, $898,264.73.'

By Mr. GalUher:

Q. I think that was applied in this way. That amount that is shown, and has
' been mentioned, $800,000, was paid for the purpose of liquidating the interim bonds
held by Mr. M. P. Davis?

Mr. Bell.—Not only the interim bonds but the balance of the account.

Mr. Galliher.—At all events all the interim bonds held by Mr. Davis had to be

liquidated before they could issue new bonds?

Mr. Bell.—Yes.

Mr. Galliher.—And were liquidated out of that amount?

—

Mr. Bell.—Yes.
The Chairman.—How would it do to leave this question for Mr. Bell to deal with ?

Mr. Boss.—There is a complete statement in the return here showing how that

amount is made up.

The Chairman.—Is it lengthy?

Mr. Ross.—Yes, it covers several pages, but there is a summary of it.

The Chairman.—Could either or both of you give us the chief items of it?

Mr. Boss.—The chief items of it in the summary are, ' Amount to M. P. Davis,

as cash, 23rd February, 1904, cash account, $396,878.46,' and then there are the details

of that cash account showing what makes it up, and then, ' Bonds with interest to 23rd

February, 1904, $501,386.27.'

By Mr. Monh :

Q. Which were old bonds?

Mr. Ross.—Yes, and accrued interest.

The Chairman.—Those two, I think, explain the whole thing.

Mr. Ross.—Making a total of $898,264.73. Then there are the details of the

statement which make up these two aggregates.

The Chairman.—I suppose that is satisfactory, isn't it?

Mr. Monk.—This statement has been produced, has it not?

Mr. Ross.—This is in possession of the House now.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. What I want to get at, Mr. Barthe, is how that money, which I suppose became
available to the company on the 23rd of February, 1904, was employed? There was

$1,400,000; how was it used?
Mr. Bell.—I think I can explain that to you.

By Mr. Barlcer:

Q. Who did act for the Quebec Bridge Company, Mr. Barthe, in the application

cf these borrowed moneys? You?—A. In the application of borrowed money from
the Bank of Montreal.
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Q. Yes, who did the work in the office on behalf of the company entailing these

amounts ?—A. I do not understand well ; who applied it ? It was done by the company
on the certificates of the engineers.

Q. But this is what I would like to know, Mr. Barthe: the day that the company
borrowed from the Bank of Montreal the sum mentioned in the agreement of 23rd

February, 1904, was that amount placed to the credit of the company in some bank?
How did it come into the possession of the company?—A. It was assigned, Mr.
Barker, as the work progressed. He did not get that amount all at once.

Q. Therefore you checked it up gradually, didn't you?—A. As a matter of fact

I had nothing to do with that part. I was keeper of the minute book and the general

work of secretary, but I had nothing to do with the financing part; the treasurer had
that.

Q. Have you the account that you had with the Bank of Montreal? Have you
that bank book here ?—A. Oh yes, we have all those bank books.

Q. Were operations carried on with the Bank of Montreal in Quebec?—A. Yes.

Q. Were all these payments made in Quebec?—A. Yes, I think so.

Q. Have you that bank Book with you?—A. I think so.

The Chairman.—Mr. Monk, they never got that whole advance at once from the
Bank of Montreal.

Mr. Monk.—Yes, I suppose they had a credit opened up to them at Quebec.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. So on reference to the bank book you produced this morning as Exhibit 4, you

say that it contains the payments on the different loans apparently made from the

Bank of Montreal since 23rd February, 1904? Have you the cheque books with the

stubs attached which will show those payments?—A. No, they are in Quebec.

Q. Would you place before the committee the cheque books covering the payments

made from the time this account was opened in Quebec in oook Exhibit 4 up to the

last payment?—A. Well, the treasurer can answer that.

Q. Now let me refer to another point, Mr. Barthe. When were the plans of the

bridge company for the construction of this bridge completed and submitted to the

government for its approval ?—A. They were first submitted in '98.

Q. They were first submitted in '98?—A. Well, all that appears in the report of

the Eoyal Commission; that is in the department of the engineer. Of course, I have

kept a record, as far as the board was concerned, but to answer exactly, I would refer

you to the report of the Eoyal Commission.

Q. Have you duplicates of these plans in your possession?—A. No, sir.

Q. Or in the company's possession?—A. The chief engineer may answer that, I

could not say, I never had the custody of them.

Q. Are you in a position to say whether the plans of the superstructure were

passed upon by the government and formally approved by the government?—A. I

could not answer that just now.

Q. Have you in the archives or in the records of the company any correspondence

regarding the approval of the plans by the government?—A. I think, so, and that we

have the letter from Mr. Collingwood Schreiber saying that the plans and speciiicatioiis

had been approved at that time. Of course I was not prepared to auswer that partic-

ular matter.

Q. Will you produce such correspondence as you had with the government in

regard to the approval of the plans?—A. Yes, it is already produced before the Royal

Commission, I know.

Q. Were you a witness before the Boyal Commission.

The Chairman.—That is here, Mr. Monk, you need not bother about that.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. Who represented the company as legal adviser in regard to the mattov of aie

bond issue?—A. Mr. Taschereau was the legal adviser of the company. He had
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charge of all legal matters. As to that particular point, I know that Messrs. Gormully

& Orde were also consulted, as they lived in Ottawa; I know that they did a^great deal

of work in that.

Q. Did they act for the company?—A. Yes, I know we paid them,

Q. Would you be able to say, would it be in the volumes of the treasurer to give

us a statement of the legal expenses incurred by the company from the 30th June,

1903, to the 30th June, 1904?—A. The treasurer would be able to give you that.

Q. The treasurer will be better able to do so than you?—A. Yes, sir.

The Chairman.—I would like to get in evidence a resolution by the shareholders

authorizing the payment of $15,000 to the directors before 1903, we had it the other

day.

Mr. Barker.—I think they were all put on record this morning in Exhibit No. 17.

By Mr. Monh:
i

Q. Where is the company's engineer now, is he in Quebec?—A. He is in

Quebec.

Q. Has the Bridge Company done anything in view of these instructions since

the accident happened to the bridge?—A. There was something in the minutes, yes.

Q. I mean, has lany work of any Mnd been done ?—A. Oh, no.

Q. No p^ans have been sought or new specifications made or anything of that

kind ?—A. No.

Bij Mr. Barker :

Q. Have you the contract between the Quebec Bridge Company and the con-

structing biridge company ?—A. Which one of thje companies ? For the superstruc-

'ture ?

Q.. Eor the brid^ge ?—A. For the siJperstructure do you mean, with the Phoenix

Bridge Company. The original lis in 'the hands of the Royal Commission.

Q. Have you a copy of it ?—A. No, I have not.

The Chairman.—It is on file.

Mr. Barker.—Perhaps that had better go in as an exhibit at this stage.

The Chairman.—The contract between the Quebec Bridge Company and the

Phoenix Bridge Company for the superstructure-^of the Quebec Bridge is Exhibit

No. 20.

By Mr. Barher:

Q. Are you aware who negotiated thie contract with the constructing com.pany,

the Phoenix B.ridge Company.—A. The board of directors generally.

Q. That is v^ague you know, the board of directors geenrally do not make the

contract.—A. Well, the president, of course the president and the directors.

Q. Who as la fact, to your knowledge, did actually do the actual work of enter-

ing into thiat /contract ?—A. Do you mean the^ supe.rvision of the execution of the

contract ?

Q. Making the bargain, gettiujg 'the tenders ?—A. All that applears in the report

of the Roy^al Commission.

Q. I would like to get it from you, shortly, as secretary, if you do not know,,

say &o. Do you knoiw who it was who undertook the negotiation for ^the contract

for the construc'tion of the superstructure on the 'part of your company ?—A. Ofi

course thie president land the secretary were instructed to execute it.

Q. But you did not execute the contract until it was made ?—A. As for tliQ

negotiation I could not give you exactly the facts as to that.

Q. You do not know ?—A. Well, I cannot say, I do not know laltogether, I would
not

Q. Tell me what you do know as to the persons, whoever they .were> who under-

took the negotiation for the making of that contract; what were the negotiations?
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—A. It appears from the correspondence which has been, I think, produced before

the Royal Commiss'ion that there were lots of letters Kaxchanged betw/san the two \

companies; the whole story of the negotiations is on the file.

Q. Showing who took it up. Of course I do not know that we ought to take for

granted that everything is there. I would like to know it from you?—A. You may
be sure I do not know anything else.

Q. Do you mean to tell me, as seore'tary of this company, you have no know-
ledigle of the president or the dirtectors, or whoever the people were, who conducted

th© actual negotiations in this bargain with, the Phoenix Bridge Company ?—A. I

know that the pxesident and some of th^e directors went ovter to the States to see the

Phoenix Bridge Company people.

Q. Who did that ?—A. We, 1, I tell you, the president 'and some of the directors.

Q. You siay ^ some of the directors.' Give me the names.—A. ]\Ir. Price was
one of them, I know, and Mr. Audette, I think. I do not remember exactly, but

there are the minutes, and I 'think they will show who 'exactly went over.

Q. You will prepaj^e yourself and be able to turn to the minutes land give to tha

commit'tiee speclificallj^ the names of those directors (who conducted the negotiations^

I want to see just how this thing was dane; it is quite possible that the Royal Com-
mission may bjave done it, but I do not know that we can take it for granted at

presen't.—A. All that appears clearly from the correspondence.

Q. Prom the correspondence that you have producoid ?—A. Yes, all that was

produced. We produced before the Royal Commission no't only the correspondence,

but copies of the minutes and everything connected with it.

Q. Was there any rlesolution passed by the board deputing the president and

secretary or other gentleman with authority to make that bargain?—A. I remember
that in some cases the president and directors were delegated to go to Phoenixville.

Q. There are resolutions, are there, to that effect?—A. Yes, they were authorized.

Q. By resolution?—A. By resolution.

Q. Then you will be able to turn to that?—A. I will make a memo.
Q. You want to get that. Did the Bridge Company's officials come to Quebec

to your knowledge?—A. The Phoenix Bridge Company people?

Q. Yes?—A. Yes.

Q. With whom did they negotiate?—A. All that appears in the correspondence,

you know—the visit of the Phoenix Bridge Company people to Quebec.

Q. Do not misunderstand me. I am speaking now entirely of the negotiations

before the contract was made?—A. I mean before the contract was made.

Q. And these gentlemen did come at that time and had interviews with the com-

pany?—A. Yes, it appears in the minutes.

Q. It does?—A. Yes.

By Ml'. Monlc:

Q. Were there other tenders, Mr. Barthe, received for tho preparation of the

plans or the construction of the superstructure?—A. Yes, certainly.

Q. They were called for?—A. Oh, yes.

Q. How were they called for?—A. Well, in Scptonibor, 1S90. T think, if T ronicni-

ber well, I was authorized to issue—to call for tenders.

Q. Yes?—A. For the preparation of plans and the construction of tho bridge.

Q. How did you carry out those instructions? I mean to say from whom did
you invite tenders for those two objects?—A. We advertised in lots of papers in Can-
ada and in the States, and everything was well

Q. Have you a copy of that advertisement or notice you mcntionod?—A. The
only sample copy that I have kept, you know, has boon deposited before the Royal
Commissioners.

Q. And is with their report?—A. Yes.
6—5
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Q. Well, did you get answers?—A. Oh, yes. We had lots of correspondence on

that.

Q. Could you show us the answers you got for the call for tenders and for plans ?

—A. I have a bundle here that I brought with me, correspondence in connection with

that.

Q. I notice that you had in 1898 a number of answers to your advertisement for

tenders. Will you file these answers that are contained in the bunch of documents
which you have produced?—A. Yes (produces documents). Of course, this is only

part of it, because the correspondence that led to getting bids, you know, from big

companies, was more with the engineer. He may have more; I don't know. I kept

only

Q. I see that in many of these answers to your advertisement for tenders refer-

ence is made to, and the company is asked to send, specifications in detail. Have you
any copies of those?—A. The only copies that we had left—I distributed all that I

could get printed at the time. At last we had to get a new printing even on one occa-

sion, but the only copy I had I filed with the Royal Commissioners. There is one
copy attached to the Subsidy Act with the federal government and that is' in the

Royal Commissioner's report.

Q. How many replies did you receive to your invitation for tenders and does

the file produced contain all your replies ?—A. Well, we had—you mean bidders ?

By the Chairman:

Q. No, just as inquiries?—A. I could not say how many.

Q. Forty or fifty?—A. Erom big contracting companies we received several; I

could not say the number of them.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. I would like to know, Mr. Barthe, if you received separately tenders for plans

and tenders for construction?—A. No, the whole.

Q. You had first to settle upon the plan and then find out who would carry it out ?

—A. Have you read the advertisement?—We called for. competitive plans.

Q. There was not one specification upon which they all tendered? Each company
submitted their own plans along with the prices?—A. That is more a matter of

engineering.

By the Chairman:

Q. Did you have charge of that?—A. Just as the secretary of the company.

I had to follow instructions, I had nothing to do with it.

Q. You would hand the replies over to the engineer?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Do I understand that the company, or contractors submitted a plan and the

cost at which they would carry it out, or did you get plans from engineers and an

estimate of the probable cost of construction? That is what I would like to find out

because I do not know?—A. Every one of the bidders sent their plans and tenders at

the same time.

Q. I understand. Did you then proceed to decide whose plans would be adopted

and who would carry it out ? You say you had tenders on different plans, that different

people tendered. How did you arrive at the conclusion that you would give the execu-

tion of the plans to the Phoenix Bridge Company?—A. The tenders were open and
the date fixed—I think it was the 1st March, 1899, and then it was decided to submit
the tenders to Mr. Cooper

Q. I see?—A. To report on the same.

Q. Well, then, Mr. Cooper was chosen by the company as the man who would,
so to speak, arbitrate upon these different principles of construction?—A. Yes, he



RE MONEYS PAID TO QUEBEC BRIDGE COMPANY 43

APPENDIX No. 6

was appointed for the special purpose of examining and studying the different plans

and making a report on the same.

Mr. Barker.—I think we ought to have on record a copy of this advertisement

calling for tenders, it is very short. I will read it (reads) :

BKIDGE.

Office of the Quebec BRrooE Company (Limited).

Quebec, September 24, 1898.

' Sealed proposals for the construction of a combined railway and highway bridge

across the River St. Lawrence^ near Quebec, will be received by the undersigned until

noon, Monday, January 2nd, 1899.

Forms of tender with circular of conditions, specifications, &c., can be had on
application to the undersigned.

The company does not bind, itself to accept the lowest or any tender.'

By the Chairman:

Q. Who had charge of this, your engineer?—A. Our engineer.

By Mr. Barher:

Q. Is that Mr. Hoare?—A. Yes.

By the Ohairman:

Q. Is he in Quebec now ?—A. Yes.

Mr. Galliher.—In answer to the question of how the Phoenix Bridge Company's
tender came to be accepted, that is set out in appendix 3 of the report of the commis-

sion.

The Chairman.—^Perhaps we had better have matters go consecutively. There
is a resolution of the directors appointing Mr. Cooper consulting engineer.

Mr. Barker.—It was preceded by the appointment of Mr. Hoare as the engineer

of the company.
Mr. Galliher.—In this appendix there is a direct answer to the question referred

to which can be identified and placed in the record here.

By the Chairman:

Q. Who is your engineer, Mr. Barthe?—A. Mr. E. A. Hoare.
* ). Was there a consulting engineer?—A. Yes.

Q. Who was he?—A. Mr. Theodore Cooper of New York.

Q. By whom was he appointed ?—A. He was appointed by the company.

Q. By the directors of the company ?—A. By the directors of the company,

Q. On what date?—A. He was appointed by the board's resolution of 23rd March,
1899.

Q. Do you know if Mr. Iloare and Mr. Cooper gave evidence before the Royal
Commission?—A. Yes.

Mr. Galliher.—The list of tenderers for which Mr. Monk has asked will be found
in the evidence already taken before the Royal Commission.

Mr. Barker.—I think the convenient course, to avoid going over those matters

over and over agnin, would be to cnll Mr. Hoare before this conunittoo. place before

him the evidence given by him, and nsk him whether it is correct.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. How many plans and tenders had you to choose from?—A. I will (ell you in a

moment (after referring to volume 2 of the minuter of the board of directors of the

Quebec Bridge Company) It was on the 4th March, 1899. at a board meeting (reads) :

' The following sealed tenders received by the secretary were handed to the presid-

ent as follows: From the Union Bridge Company, Now York and Key Stone Bridge

6—5i
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Works, William Davis & Son, and Dominion Bridge Co., Ltd., and the Phoenix

Bridge Co., Phoenixville, Pa., together with their respective rolls of plans and designs.

'It was unanimously resolved to open the above bids and after having taken

knowledge of same the directors left them in the secretary's custody to be handed to

the engineers to be appointed for analysing them.'

There is another part here (reads) :

' Letters were read from following parties in reference to the reception of tenders

:

Toledo Bridge Co!, Toledo, O., 23rd February, 1899; Pittsburg Bridge Co., ^aicago,

111,, 24th February, 1899; Telegram from Pennsylvania Steel Co., 25th February,

1899; Telegram from Phoenix Bridge Co., 27th February, 1899; and letters from Union

Bridge Co., addressed to the president, the secretary and the engineer of this company.
* The secretary was instructed to answer the Pennsylvania Steel Co. that the one

month extension of time asked for could not be granted.'

There was another inquiry here (reads)

:

' Letter read from Chs. E. Hewitt, treasurer New Jersey Steel and Iron Co.,

dated 2Tth February, 1899, accompanied with one roll of plans.

' The secretary was instructed to answer that the directors regretted that the New
Jersey Steel and Iron Co. should not have found their way to be ready in time and

that it was impossible to comply with their request on account of objections which

have been raised from among the other bidders to any further extension of time. The
secretary was also instructed to return the plans to the same parties.

' A letter was read from Theodore Cooper, consulting engineer. New York, dated

25th February, 1899, accepting the charge of expert engineer to analyse tenders.

' ]!noved by G. LeMoine, seconded by H. M. Price and resolved.

' That the cantilever tenders received from the Dominion Bridge Co., the Key
Stone Bridge Works, and the Phoenix Bridge Co., and the tender received from the

Union Bridge Co., for a rigid bridge structure be submitted to the expert engineer in

charge of the analysis, and that the president be authorized to arrange with Mr.

Theodore Cooper, consulting engineer of New York, for the analysis on above four

tenders and for a report on same.'
'

That was what was done at that meeting.

By Mr. Chisholm (Antigqnish):
^

Q. What time were tenders called?—A. They had been called in September, '98.

At first they were called for 2nd January, but on the 2nd of January, or before that,

we got correspondence with some of the intending tenderers who asked more time, so

the board extended the time to the 1st March, or the 4th March—the beginning of

March. At that time while there were two companies were not then in time, we could

not extend the time any more.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Have you the report of Mr. Cooper on that ?—A. Yes, it is in the report.

By Mr. Oalliher:

Q. Following out that, tenders were submitted to Mr. Cooper for analysing, and
you got the report from Mr. Cooper.—A. Yes, in June.

Q. June 23rd, '99. I might read the report

—

' On 23rd June, 1899, Mr. Cooper reported to the Quebec Bridge Company upon
the tenders submitted (Exhibit 9) the following being an extract from his report:

—

' From the facts and consideration as stated above, I find the cantilever super-

structure plan of the Phoenix Bridge Company an exceedingly creditable plan frojm

the point of view of its general proportions, outlines and its constructed features'. I

also find that it is designed in accordance with your specifications.

' Their tender accompanying this plan is the lowest in price and is the most favour-

able as to the prospective duties upon the materials to be used in its construction."
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That is the customs duty, I take it.

' I therefore hereby conclude and report that the cantilever superstructure plan of
the Phoenix Bridge Company is the "best and cheapest^' plan and proposal of those
submitted to me for examination and report.'

That is the superstructure, and the concluding sentence is in reference to the sub-
structure, as follows:

—

' I likewise report that the general plan and proposal for the substructure made
by the engineering contract company and by Messrs. Davis & Sons are both satisfactory

and at favourable terms.'

Can you answer this question—on the strength of this report from Mr. Cooper,

did the Quebec Bridge Company accept the tender of the Phoenix Bridge/ Company
for the superstructure?—A. Yes.

Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish):

Q. What steps did they take in the way of discussing that before the meeting?
Did you have this report before your meeting and discuss it before passing the reso-

lution?—A. Yes, I was just looking for the date.

Q, You refer to $188,721, which you say was paid with the outstanding debts out

of the guarantee bonds. Do you know that this money was replaced by cash when the

directors paid $200,000?—A. It was replaced.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. How do you know that?

The Chairman.—Mr. Bell will explain that.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. How does the witness know?—A. I know that from the information I got

from the book.

Q. What is the operation that took place ? I understood you to say in answer to

.

Mr. Chisholm that $188,000 had been taken out of the product of the new bonds—it

was t^ken out of the product of the new bonds, was it not?—A. Yes.

Q. And it was subsequently replaced by cash furnished by the subscribers to tlie

stock, how was that done?—A. You have that amount of $188,000; you have actual

cash payments that we showed you.

By the Chairman:

Q. He does not mean where you got it, but how was the transfer made?—A. That

is a question for the treasurer.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. You say you know it to be the case ?—A. That is why I wanted to bo inter-

rogated in my own language; when you say ^replace' that word in French may have

another sense.

Q. Paid back?—A. Well, paid back.

Q. Do you know that it was paid back so that you can swear it has been paid

back? That is what you have answered Mr. Chisholm that you know.—A. I under-

stood that money that we paid, $188,000—I beg pardon, I would ask to be excused.

Q. Will you. withdraw that expression ?

By the Chairman:

Q. You say you understood it was paid back?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. When did you understand it was paid back ?—A. When did I understand ?

Q. When was it paid back according to your understanding?
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By the Chairman:

Q. Is there anything in your books that will show the date?

By Mr. Barker:

Q. Mr. Monk asked when you understood this was paid back.

The Chairman.—There is no need asking the witness that question because Mr.

Bell will answer it.

Mr. Monk.—When the witness answers categorically, we want to know on what
he founded his answer.

Mr. Ross.—If you will allow me, the witness has given the dates this morning.

—

A. That is what I had in mind.

Mr. Monk.—What we want to know is how the operation was done.

The Chairman.—Was there a bond account ? And was there a stock account or

just an open current account ?—A. There was a capital stock account.

Q. When was there a transfer from stock to bond account covering that?—A. The
books will show that.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. Was part of it paid in those ten cheques that you spoke of this morning?—A.

Part of it.

Q. And that is what you call paying it, replacing it out of capital ? You replaced

out of new capital the money that you had used out of the bond, is not that what you
say?—A. I would ask to be excused from answering.

The committee adjourned.

House of Commons^
Committee Room No. 32, ^

Wednesday^ June 10, 1908.

The committee met at 3.30 o'clock p.m., the Chairman, Mr. A. K. Maclean, pre-

siding.

Mr. G. A. Bell^ of the Department of Railways and Canals, called and sworn

and examined:

By Mr. Monk:

Q. There is one question I would like to ask you, and that is in reference to the

cheque for $94,600, which constitutes a part of the subscription to the stock of $200,000

which was given by Mr. Davis. Would you explain to the committee what knowledge
you have of that cheque? When it was given in the month of February, 1904, it

never became available until, I think, the month of February, 1907. Would you
explain how those operations were carried on through the books of the company, to

the best of your knowledge?—A. The first cheque that was given by Mr. Davis was
dated January 27th, 1904, and it was for $119,900. That $119,900 of the $200,000 of

new stock subscribed would give Mr. Davis the controlling interest. 'The company did

not desire that, as there were a number of railway companies who wished to come in

and take up a portion of the new stock. Some of them—only one 'railway that I know
of, the Quebec Central—had not the authority, they were not empowered under their

charter at the time to take stock. The Grand Trunk Railway, I understand, wished
to come in, too, and that company, immediately after Mr. Davis gave this cheque, or

about that time, took up $25,000 of stock, so that reduced Mr. Davis' holdings to



RE MONEYS PAID TO QUEBEC BRIDGE COMPANY 47

APPENDIX No. 6

$94,900. But the cheque remained in the possession of the Bridge Company and was
not deposited by them, but I understand it could have been cashed at any moment.
However, they did not cash the cheque until February, 1907. As to the first cheque,

they never reduced it by $25,000 as they should have, I presume, when the Grand
Trunk Eailway took up $25,000 of it. So that when they went to cash the cheque

they had Mr. Davis give them another cheque for $94,900, and that cheque was
deposited in the Bank of Montreal, and there are two retired cheques to speak for,

themselves—one cancelled and the other which was depositd in the bank. I might

explain, in connection with the case of the Quebec Central, that they afterwards took

up $25,000 of the stock. The stock was purchased from the Hon. John Sharpies. We
have his cheque for fifty thousand.

EXHIBIT No. 25.

No.

Quebec, Que., Jan. 27th, 1904.

To the

Bank of Montreal.

Pay to Quebec Bridge and Eailway Co. or order

One hundred and nineteen thousand and nine hundred dollars.

$119,900,

M. P. DAVIS.

EXHIBIT No. 26.

No.

Quebec, 21 Feb., 1907.

To the

Bank of Montreal.

Pay to Quebec Bridge and Eailway Company or order

Ninety-four thousand nine hundred dollars.

$94,900.

M. P. DAVIS.

(PAID.)

Endorsed

For deposit only to credit of

THE QUEBEC BEIDGE AND EAILWAY CO.,

J. H. Paquet.

Q. From whom did you get these cheques which you now show the committee?

—A. From Mr. M. P. Davis. Those are his retired cheques—his property.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. I see that the first one was never accepted by any bank?—A. No, sir, I see that.

Q. The socoiul OHO was?—A. The second one would bo accepted in the ordinary

course ol husim s^. Wlnui you went to cash the cheque the teller would have it marked
good and then deposited.
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By the Chairman:

Q. At this stage you had better tell us who were the subscribers of the $200,000?
—A. (reads) :

—

Hon. S. N. Parent
H. M. Price
J. B. Laliberte
N. Rioux
V. Boswell
Hon. N. Gameau
R. Audette
J, Breakey
G. LeMoine
F. G. Fortier
Hugh A. Allan
John Sharpies
Charles M. Hays (in trust)
M. P. Davis

I might explain that where the list ends with G. Lemoine, a total of $5,000, the

cheques are already filed with the committee as exhibits. For the remaining amounts,

with the exception of $100—which is an odd share—I have the cheques here.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. I do not know, Mr. Bell, that your statement is quite an accurate way of putting

it. Mr. Davis must have had $119,900 at one time, that is in 1907 ?—A. He first

gave his cheque. I have read ^Charles M. Hays (in trust), $25,000; M. P. Davis,

$94,900.' His first cheque was to cover that. Charles M. Hays gave his cheque for /

$25,000 you will find there. The $119,000 covers those two entries. I might explain,

in connection with these cheques, that they are the private property of different men,

and they are anxious to get them back when the committee are through with them.

By Mr. MonJc:

Q. Then Mr. Davis did not, at any time, have the $119,900 worth, of shares?—
A. I understand not. Subject to correction, he gave his cheque. I understand that

ninety-four

Q. The cheque he gave was ' for $119,000 at that date?—A. Yes, but immediately

the Grand Trunk took up the $25,000.

By the Chairman:

Q. Did he sign the subscription list for anything at that time?—A. I don't think

the subscriptions lists were signed at that time.

By Mr. MonTc:

Q. Can you find any trace of the operation by which that $119,900 wortxi of shares,

represented by the cheques which you have produced

The Chairman.—He has explained that already.

Mr. Monk.—You say there were transfers of stock then?

The Chairman.—No, no. He says there was a substitution after that was paid

cn account of stock. The Grand Trunk really took $25,000 which reduced the $119,900

to $94,900 and then there was a substitution of cheques?
A. Pardon me one moment, Mr. Monk. Will you let me see the Grand Trunk

cheque and those two Davis' cheques (cheques produced) ? Mr. Davis' cheque for the

$119,900 was dated January 27, 1904. The Grand Trunk agreed to take stock for

$25,000, and it was entered in Mr. Hays' name. He bought it on February 24th. The
cheque for $119,000 covered both.

By the Chairman: '

Q. Mr. Hays' cheque was given in 1904?—A. Yes, it was not issued until March.

$2,500 December 7, 1903.
400 " 9,

"

200
400
300
300
400 •.

"

200 " "

200
100 January 3, 1904.

25,000 " 27,
"

50,000
25,000 February 24,

"

94.900
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By Mr. GalUher:

Q. Here is the point which is not clear to me. The cheque for $119,900 given
by M. P. Davis to the Bridge Company is dated January 27, 1904?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Was that then handed over into the possession of the bridge company?—A. I

understand so, I am so informed.

Q. Which bears date of 21st February, 1907?—A. Yes.

Q. And what is the date of the cheque of the Grand Trunk Company for $25,000?

—A. March 15, 1904. You will see that was the reason they agreed to take it. The
cheque had not been received and Mr. Davis had covered it with his cheque. The
stock was issued to them February 24th.

Q. I understand what the Grand Trunk people proposed to take was really covered

by the cheque of $119,900 ?—A. Correct, sir.

Q. Can you explain why the $94,900 was not given until 1907 if the Grand Trunk
cheque was dated 25th February, 1904? I want to clear that point up?—A. It was
still supposed, I understand, that the Quebec Central were going to purchase from
Mr. Davis and that his $94,000 would be again reduced by $25,000. But as a matter
of fact, the purchases of the Quebec Central,—part of it is in the name of the Quebec
Central and part of it in the name of their general manager but really all Quebec
Central—they purchased $25,000 from the Hon. John Sharpies so that $94,900 was
the holding of Mr. Davis.

Q. Whose cheque came ito the Bridge Company for the Sharpies $50,000?—A.

The cheque of Hon. Mr. Sharpies himself. He put in two cheques of $25,000 each.

One cheque was on the Union Bank and the other on the Bank of Montreal, for

$25,000 each.

Q. Have you any trace of that in the books of the company?—A. Yes, it is in the

stock book.

By the Chairman:

Q.That <heque for $119,000 was counted by the company as a paymenr, on accou >t

cf stock but the issuance was suspended pending the securing of the entrance of the

Grand Trunk, and other companies as shareholders ? That is the way they put it to

you?—A. I might explain that the Quebec Central were very anxious to get in, and,

as explained to me by their manager, they had not authority under their charter to

take stock at the moment.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. What authority have you for saying, Mr. Bell, that the cheque of $119 900

remained with the company until 1907 when it was exchanged for the cheque of

$94,900?—A. The word of the officers of the company.

Q. Is there any trace of that cheque of $119,900 anywhere in the books of the

company ?

By Mr. Barlcer:

Q. Any trace of any kind?—A. I don't ibink so, except tlio cnlry sliowing the

$94,000 in cash book. I do not know that there is any reference unle^is it is in tlie

Minute books.

The Chairman.—Mr. Paquet, do you know if there is any trace of the $119,900 in

the books of the company?
Mr. Paquet.—I don't remember but maybe tlioro is a trace.

The Witness.—I do not rejnembcr if there is any entry.

By Mr. Monlc:

Q. Have you found any trace in the books of reports or covtitioatos to the otToot

that this stock was issued to Mr. Davis before 1907?—A. Yes. there is something in



50 SELECT COMMITTEE

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

connection—there is a document connected with that. For the moment I cannot rem-

ember. I remember tracing that up.

By Mr. BarJcer:

Q. Was there an actual issue of stock?—^A. The stock may have been issued and
held by the company.

. .By Mr. Monh:

Q. There must have been a certificate issued to the effect that the $200,000 had
been paid up in cash?—A. I think you will find something in my report. I see here

(reads) : 'Quebec, 22nd February, 1907'

Q. You are quoting from what?—A. This is attached to a stub. This is a cer-

tificate bearing the number 121 which was to be issued on the 6th July, 1904, and was
pledged for advances as delivered this day to the shareholders. Signed by Ulric Barthe,

secretary; J. H. Paquet, treasurer.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. What is that certificate ?—A. It bears date 22nd February, 1907.

By the Chairman:

Q. It is attached to a stub. And what does the stub show, Mr. Bell?—A. The
stub shows a receipt from Mr. Davis. It reads ' Eeceived certificate No. 121 for 949

shares this 6th day of July, 1904. (Signed) M. P, Davis.'

By Mr. Monh:

Q. And attached to that stub is the note you have just mentioned that that cer-

tificate is pledged?—A. It was pledged for advances.

Mr. Barker.—^With the knowedge of the company?
Mr. Monk.—^Yes, it is signed by the president and the secretary.

A. ' Ulric Barthe, secretary, J. H. Paquet, treasurer.

'

Mr. Barker.—Is that pledge by Mr. Davis?

By Mr. Monh:

Q. By whom was the pledge made of the stock?—A. I do not know who it was
pledged to.

^

Q. Doesn't it refer to a pledge there of the stock?—A. 'And so pledged for

advances ', that is all it says, it does not say to whom.
Mr. Barker.—I don't see how anybody else could pledge it.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. To whom were these 949 shares so pledged as per the certificate of July, 1904?

—A. I presume to the company, I have no knowledge, though. You will have to ask

one of the officials.

Q. Perhaps Mr. Barthe can tell us that—can you refer, Mr. Bell, since you have
the book of the stubs of the certificates issued in your possession at the present

moment, to the certificates issued to the shareholders, the list of which you have just

given to the committee?—A. Yes, sir, do you wish all these small amounts or just the

large ones, will that do ?

Q. You might give us the larger ones.

The Chairman.—You have asked this morning for a list of the shareholders,

perhaps we had better have the whole list of shareholders, as of date, made an exhibit ?

—A. I see the entry here of the transfer of 25,000 to the Quebec Central which I
spoke of; here is the issue to the Quebec Central of 174 shares, it is receipted by J. S.

Walsh, general manager; then here is the account of 60 shares to John S. Walsh, that
is the manager.

Q. What is the date of that?—A. That is the transfer, they are both dated May
23, 1906.
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Q. They are transferred to wliom ?—A. Erom the Hon. John Sharpies.

Q. Yes, but have you the certificates of stock issued to John Sharpies, of $50,000,
that is the original?—A. I have Charles M. Hays (in trust), the certificate was issued

on the 24th of February, 1904, for 250 shares
;
Hugh A. Allan, on the 27th of January,

1904, receipted by him on the 29th of January, 1904.

By Mr. Parent:

Q. How many shares?—A. 'Hugh A, Allan, 250 shares,' that is his $25,000.

The Chairman.—After all, I do not see much relevancy in this matter.

A. I have the certificate here of 276 shares on the 14th of May, 1906, that is the

balance from the shares transferred to a certain date, the remainder of which were
transferred to Mr. Walsh.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. You did not find the Sharpies certificate?—A. It is here in some place, but

it is all mixed up, I will get it.

Q. I think the most simple way would be to bring it out in schedule form?—A.

There are a great many transfers of stock in small amounts, but it can be taken out

of the stock book.

By the Chairman:

Q. At the time you made the audit, do you know from your knowledge of the

books, did the company owe Mr. M. P. Davis any money from 1904 down to 1907?

Were they in debt to him?—A. Well, yes, that is, he was carrying on the work on the

approaches and they owed him money.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Had not the company transferred to Mr. Davis all the subsidies, both muni-
cipal, provincial and federal by notarial deed of the 5th of September, 1900?—A.

Yes, but that had been cleared up. This is between the dates Mr. Maclean mentioned
from 1904 to 1907. As I understood him, he asked if the company were ever indebted

to Mr. Davis who, as contractor, was carrying on the work on the approaches. From
time to time they were indebted to him and these debts were ultimately met.

Q. Did you know that the company had transferred all its grants to Mr. Davis

by notarial deed?

Mr. Galliher.—That was before the Act of 1903.

A. That was before the legislation of 1903 guaranteeing the bonds.

Mr. Barker.—There could not be any doubt that he must at times have had
claims against the company.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Oan you give us the exact date of the handing over of the government
guarantee for $6,000,000 odd to the Trust Company or the Quebec Bridge Company,
which ever it was?—A. No, sir, you will have to ask the Finance Department that

question.

Q. Do the company's books give any information on that point?—A. The Minute
book may, I have no knowledge of it from the books of account.

Q. I find in the report that you made as accountant of the Dopartniont of Rail-
ways and Canals, that you refer to a detailed statement of the employment of the
sum of $800,000 odd, that was paid to Mr. Davis at the time those bonds became
available?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Can you refer to that detailed statement?—A. Before I answer that, sir, I

have the certificate of the 500 shares of the Hon. John Sharpies, it was the 27th of
January, 1904; that was cancelled and taken up by giving him the balance when ho
transferred his stock to the Quebec Central Ivaihvay and their representatives. I

have the statement before me, Mr. Monk, that you refer to.
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Q. At that time, what was the amount that Mr. Davis received from the com-
pany ?—A. At what time, sir ?

Q. At the time this $800,000 odd became available?—A. At the time it was paid

to him?

Q. Yes, what was the exact amount and what was the date?—A. $898,264.73 paid
in February, 1904.

Q. And it is indicated in that detailed statement what these sums were for?

—

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Will you give the items ?—A. Interim bonds, $472,000

By the Chairman :

Q. Explain as you go along, Mr. Bell. That is to retire the interim bonds, is it

not?—A. That is the amount to retire the total issue of the interim bonds which had
been issued by the Bridge Company ; the Bridge Company's own bonds issued by them,,

handed over to Mr. Davis at 60 per cent, in payment of the work he did for the com-
pany.

By Mr. BarJcer:

Q. Does that purport to pay him in full?—A. What is the par value, $472,000.

Interest on these interim bonds to 23rd February, 1904, $29,386.27, and there is the

balance due Mr. Davis on his contract and some exchange of notes amounting to

$396,878.46, which makes up the total amount.

By the Chairman:

Q. Then do I understand that these bonds Mr. Davis took at 60 were liquidated

at par?—^A. Were liquidated at par.

By Mr. BarJcer:

Q. That is taken up by the company at par?—A. Taken up by the company at

par, that was provided for in the Act of 1903.

By the Chairman:

Q. And this $200,000 of new stock required under thie Act of 1903, was intended

to recoup the company for the 40 per cent?—^A. The intention of that $200,000 or at

least a portion of it, $188,000, was to reduce this claim of Mr. Davis' by that amount,

the company were to meet that amount themselves, but the balance as set out in the

Act was to be met from the funds available from the guaranteed bonds. I am taking

it from the Act.

By Mr. Barlcer:

Q. I take it that the object of the legislation and of parliament was to make this

company restore the $200,000 of lost capital, by selling them at *0 per cent ?

—

A. That is another way of looking at it.

The Chairman.—I think that is right, it is a badly drafted section, but I think

Mr. Barker is right.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. What is the exact amount of the discounts?—A. Of tlie discounts on these

bonds ?

Q. Yes?—A. It is stated in the Act.
Mr. Barker.—$188,721.
The Chairman.—^Yes, that is 40 per cent of the total indebtedness at that time.
A. Yes, they realized $283,279 at 60 per cent.
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By Mr, Monh:

Q. What was the date of the payments made to the contractor, Mr. Davisf, Ky
means of these bonds ? When did he receive it at 60 ?—A. He received the cash some
time in February, 1904.

Q. Yes, I mean previous to that he had claims against the company for work done
and they gave him these bonds in payment at 60, can you fix the date for that?—^^A. I

really could not give you that, because I never looked into that question, I was not

interested in that.

Mr. Parent.—The notarial deed between Mr. Davis and the company, by which
Mr. Davis undertook to do the work of the Quebec Bridge Company, for which ;hel

was to take part payment in bonds, without interest, will give you that.

The Chairman.—Did he charge interest on those bonds ?—A, Yes, they were regu-

lar bonds and the company had to pay interest and redeem them.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. What was the total interest on the bonds ?—A. $29,386.27.

Q. That would be interest from the time the interim bonds were issued?—A.

From the date of the bonds until the 23rd of February, 1904.

Q. Can you tell us when the bonds were issued? When they are dated?—A. I
cannot.

The Chairman.—I think we had better make that detailed statement an exhibit.

EXHIBIT No. 27.

QUEBEC BEIDGE AND RAILWAY COMPANY.
1902.

Statement showing details of first payment of $898,264.73 from Bond Account

May 15.—Mortgage bonds for $472,000 issued and trust mortgage deed.

1904.

March 2.—Interim bonds redeemed. Interest thereon to the 23rd February, 1904,

$29,386.27.

Details of outstanding liability paid out of Guarantee Bonds.

Interim bonds as above. . . .• $ 472,000 00
Interest thereon 29,386 27

$ 501,386 27
Balance due M. P. Davis, as per statement 396,878 46

$ 898,264 73

THE QUEBEC BEIDGE AND EAILWAY COMPANY, LIMITED Dr.

To M. P. Davis.

Total amount of estimate No. 13, dated December 2, 1902 $ 1 .416,394 3S
20 per cent nayable in bonds 2S3 . 278 SS

80 per cent payable in cash as per contract 1 . 133, 115 50
Cash received to date 784,861 93

Amount due in cash 34S.253 57
Interest on overdue cash payment as per statement 26,4S5 20

374.738 77
Cash paid Quebec Bridge Co., Feb. 14, 1904 $ 35,000 00

Amount returned for superstructure per estimate 13 156,640 00
Less paid thereon 138,i>46 85

Balance due on superstructure $ 18,093 15

$ 16,906 85
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Balance due M. P. Davis for work on superstructure , . 16,906 85
Extras as per statement herewith 1 ,492 68
Lighting north and south main piers from May 10 to November 30, 1903 116 75

$ 393,255 05
Amount payable in bonds, $283,878.88 at 60 per cent $ 472,131 46
Bonds received 472,000 00

Balance due on bonds 131 46

Amount due as cash, January 1, 1904 $ 393,386 51
Interest from January 1, 1904, to February 23, 1904, 54 days at 6 per cent. , 3,491 95

$ 396,878 46

Ottawa, 20tli Eebruary, 1904.

Certified correct,

(Sgd.) Arch. E. Fraser.

(Sgd.) E. A. HOARE,
Chief Engineer.

' Amount due by the Quebec Bridge Company, for work performed for their

account during the years 1901 and 1902, as per account rendered.'

20 per cent for superintending work done on north abutment, authorized by resolution of
Board of Directors, June 30, 20 per cent on $3,058.39 $ 611 68

Sundry work on south side—building towers, &c $ 63 60
20 per cent for superintending 12 72

•f 76 32
Cutting checks at north abutment, per statement $ 527 52
Cutting checks at south abutment, per statement 260 94
Cutting checks at abutment, additional. 16 20

804 66

1,492 68

' Ottawa,
' M. P. Davis.

^ Certified correct,

* Arch. E. Eraser.''

' QUEBEC BEIDGE COMPANY, Limited. Dr.

' To M. P. Davis.

To lighting north and south main piers of the Quebec bridge from May 10, 1903, to

November 30, 1903, as instructed by Mr. A. E. Hoare, C.E $ 116 75

' Ottawa, Ont., 3rd February, 1904.

' Certified correct,
' Arch. E. Eraser.

' (Sgd.) E. A. HOAEE,
*" Chief Engineer/
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' THE QUEBEC BEIDGE AND RAILWAY COMPANY, Ltd. Dr.

' To M. P. Davis.

^Interest Account.

^ Interest to 31st December, 1903, at 6 per cent .

' 1902.
Jan. 30—Total amount of estimate No, 9, $831,175.38

at 80 per cent. $ 664,940 30
Less cash received on account 656,620 63

$ 8,319 67
July 31—Estimate 10, $128,529.80 at 80 per cent 120,823 84

Aug. 15
Due August 15, 1902 $ 111,143 51 Sept. 15—31 S 566 38

Aug. 31—Estimate 11, $88,739.58 at 80 per cent 70,991 66

Due Sept. 15, 1902 $ 182,135 17
Sept. 13—By cash $ 30,640 00

15— " 36,880 00
67,520 OOSept. 15.

$'ii4",6i5*i7Dec. 20—96 .. 1,808 72
Oct. 1—Estimate 12, $129,305.50 at 80 per cent 103,444 40Oct. 13—66

$ 218,059 57Dec. 20.
Dec. 1—Estimate 13, $238,674.12 at 80 per cent 190,939 29Dec. 15,

$ 408,998 86De(r. 20—5 156 93
Dec. 20—By cash 23,513 33Dec., 1902'

$ 385,485 53 8 July, '03—201 12,730 81
1903.

July 8—Byc^sh 30,000 00 8 July.

$ 355,485 53 23 July—15 876 60
July 23—By cash 7 , 207 97 23 July.

$ 348,277 56Dec. 31—161 9,217 46

$ 26,485 20

' E. and O. E.

' Ottawa, 31st December, 1903. '(Sgd.) E. A. HOARE,
' Chief Engineer.

* Certified correct,
' Arch. R. Eraser.''

^TIIE QUEBEC BRIDGE AND RAILWAY CO:\IPANY, Ltd. Dh.

' To M. P. Davis.

Total amount of cash received to date :

From Dominion Government S 374. 35.*^ 33
From Provincial Government 120, 000 00
From Quebec city 290,50v^ 60

$ 7S4.S01 53

'CSgd.) E. A. IIOAKE.
' Chief Engineer.

' Certified correct,
' Arch. R. Eraser."'

Tho (^'ii.'MRMAN.— I s(M^ froin tlu^ (jociiiiuMit ^\y. Pnroiil li;is liniulod iiic lliat it was on

tlie Gth of M ay, 1002, I ho coninnny. hy r(\^ohi(ioiu ilo('idi\l to issue tlioso tir.<t niortgnpo
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bonds in payment of part of the construction of the said superstructure in accord-
ance with the terms of the agreement entered into between Mr. Davis and the com-

^ pany. You say that agreement provided that the bonds were to be taken at 60, that

provision is not here.

Mr. Parent.—Look in the main contract, it is in the main contract.

By Mv. Monk

:

Q. Mr. Bell, while that matter is being looked into; in your report you refer to

the standing of the company on May 31, 1907, giving the details of receipts and
"expenditures, the receipts amounting to $5,464,178.80 and the expenditure to $5,356,-

236.38, ileaving a balamce of cash on hand of $107,942.42. In your details of receipts

there is an item called ^ Balance from notes outstanding, ' $121,312.84.' What wer.e

tthose notes outstanding which figured among the receiipts to suchl a large lamount?

—

'A. Probably if I explain the financing you will understand that. When, in 1904,

this debt of Davis was wiped out, with the exception of the $200,000 received for

'the stock, the compainy had no cashj on hand. There was just that $200,000, and
•the only oash they bad was from the guaranteed bonds. Now, the Kailway Depart-

ment, under the Act—the Chieif Enginieer has 'to arrange for the payment of pro-

igress estimates montMy, the payment of amounts due the company—all amounts
'earned by the company. Now, naturally during that month there was a certain

amount of financing. For instance, you take the amount due on the estimate for

July, they might not receive it until September and they were forced to borrow some
money from the banks, make a temporary loan, and as. the money was received

—

'these were all ^ort notes, demand notes I think, th^ey were called—as the money
twas rieceived on bond account 'these notes were promptly taken up. That amount of

$121,000, lat the date of my audit, was the amount that was owmg on these short

notes. If this amount of balance due on June 11, 1907, had been paid the company—if

the bridge had not collapsed and that had been paid the company, they would have

taken that and met the liabilities that are set out in this statement, as on the 1st of

June, amd they would have been clear of debt.

Q. But this balance from notes outstanding is mentioned as receipts?

Mr. Galliher.—I fancy 'that lis profits from discount of notes outstanding.

A. Profits from discounted notes, temporary loans. Some of them were repre-

sented by cash on hand and some had been expended. There may have been $50,000

of that cash on hand'. I could not tell you at the moment without looking up all

the notes.

By Mr. MonJc:

Q. These were borrowings of th,e company?—A. Their personal borrowing from
the bank, just 'the financing of the company. The notes were always promptly met
upon the receipt of money from bond account, money earned from bond account.

Q. Will you explain what is meant by the item, ^Amount due by M. P. Davis,
$65,000 ' ?—A. Yes. In the Act of 1903 it is set out, ' Whereas the government of

the province of Quebec has granted a subsidy 'to md :in the construction of th^e said

work to the amount of $250,000 and obtained the full amount thereof. As a matter
of fact, that subsidy of $250,000 had beien granted but had not been paid up in full

at the time. It was payable in ^annual instalni|ents of $30,000, and the company,
having transferred the amount to Mr. Davis, evid!ently took it as a cash receipt.

But when this transaction was completed with Mr. D-avtis and Mr. Davis was paid
in full, he tnansferred back the balance of the subsidy due.

By Mr. Barlc^:

Q. That was an additional asset, was it then?—A. Yes. He transferi^ed back
the balance of the subsidy due, but between the date he was paid and the date he
transferred back, a payment of $30,000 became due, and was paid by him.
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By Mr. Moinh:

Q. Paid to him, you mean?

—

A. Yes, I mean paid to 'him, a sum of $30,000,

and in the account, the detailed account of Mr. Diav\is whicli^ I have just referred

to, there was included 'the amount of a note for $35,000. Previous to 1904 Mr.
Davis was l-eally the onie debtor of the company. There had been a good deal of

financial assistance one way land another from him, and the company had drawn
on him for $35,000, and h(e included that in his account, but th(e company afterw^ards.

met the draft themselves. Mr. Davis had been overpaid by $35,000; and that made
the total due by him of $65,000. That was met by the company by debiting it to

bis account as an (advance on account of drawback.

Q. That $35,000 out of thp $65,000 was, if I understood you right, a draft by

the company upon Davis?—A. Yes, wh^ch he had accepted.

By Mrj: Borher:

Q. For their accommodation?—A. For their accommodation.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. A personal advance by Davis to the company?—A. Yes.

By the Chairman:

Q. Which they subsequently paid?—A. Which they subsequently paid them-

selves.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Have you tl^at draft? You must have seen it when you made that audit?

—

A. I saw the entry in the books 'at the Hime I made the audit, but I have not the

draft.

Q. I wooider if Mt. B-arth'e has thje draft for $35,000 by the company upon Mr.

Davis and accepted by him and then retired by the company.

The Chairman.—Mr. Bell says the company retired it. That is good enough

evidence surely.

The Witness.—Mr. Davis in his account debits the $35,000 and aftjerwards

acknowledges it is an error; that the company having accepted the draft themselves

lie is indebted to them for that amount and $35,000 is taken, practically out of Mr.
Davis' pocket to recoup thte company^

By th^e Ohairmd^:

Q. That is in your report at page 5Y2?—A. That is in my report?

By Mr. Monh:

Q. At that time was that draft drawn by the company? Was it a two months'
<lraft or what was it?—A. I really do not know, I really could not tell you.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. Can you not give us the date or say whether it was about the time of the
passage of this Act ?—A. It must have been before the date of Mr. Davis' account.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. It must be easy to trace it up in the books of the conipanv, it scorns to mo, 'JAv.

Eell.

By the Chairman:

Q. In your report you say (roads) :
' On Juno 30, 1006, tho amount of $65,000.

Tiz., $30,000 from subsidy and $35,000 overpaid on account of draft, duo by y[r. Davis
to the company' ?—A. That is tho part I mentioned. It really makes no difToroncc.

Mr. Davis had been overpaid $35,000 and that is the only explanation how the error
6—6
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came to be made. It is an error. Mr. Davis had been overpaid and lie acknowledged it

and he paid it back in the manner I speak of.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. Should not the expression be ' debited ' instead of ' credited ' to his account ?

—^A. The term should be debited. I have noticed that since the report was made. It

should have been debited.

By Mr. Monk : -..

Q. Did you at any time see that draft ?—A. I may have, Mr .Monk. I saw a

great many drafts ; I could not keep them all in my head. As I say there were a

good many drafts between Mr, Davis and the bridge company one way and the other

in the way of accommodation.

Q. I see that in the file produced by your department, and it is now before the

committee, there is evidence of an arrangement made under an order in council of

27th January, 1904, in regard to the payment of customs duty on material?—A. Yes,

sir, I made that arrangement myself. I might explain that. In the case of the greater

part of these notes outstanding, these temporary notes, the money was borrowed from
the Bank of Montreal to meet customs duties. They had to meet at that time the

customs duties as they became due. There was probably, I imagine, $50,000 a month
to be met, and to curtail these notes as much as possible I made that suggestion that

we should make an arrangement with the Customs Department to keep an open
account of what entries came in in bond, and after we repaid the company out of

bonds for the amount due—customs, of course, to be included—the cheque would be

immediately handed over to the customs. It was only a matter of waiting for their

cheque. We had the money in our hands and it was perfectly safe. It was a matter

between the departments.

Q. There was a question I notice in the report of the minister, and the order in

council, I think, of some $400,000 due the Customs Department ?—A. $400,000 ? You
will find there never was due to the Customs Department any amount of $400,000.

There could not possibly be because on tne 31st May, 1907 every cent had been paid

the customs that was due and the only time that this account was started was after

this arrangement which has been spoken of. The-bridge collapsed within two months
of that. I do not think it was until 1st July that the. arrangement was made. This

report is dated 26th June and you could not have $400,000 of customs duty in two
months. I think it is about $100,000.

Q. At the present moment do you know if there is money coming to the Customs
Department on any of the materials in question ?—A. Yes, sir, customs duties are

owing on all the material that- came in after I made that arrangement. The Bridge

Company received nothing from bond account after that date.

Q. It would represent some $100,000 ?—A. I think about $100,000. 1 can give

you the exact amount. I think it is on the file here some place .

By the Chairman .

:

Q. It is in bond you say now I—A. They allowed the entries in bond.

By Mr. MonJc :

Q. The entry is in bond but the material is in the river ?—A. Oh, no, not a bit

of material is in the river.

Q. Where is the material ?—A. It is piled just outside of Quebec, at Bellair

station. There were immense quantities of material.

Q. While you are at it can you give us the amount of customs duties ?—A. I find

here (referring to statement) on the 31st August there was $110,187.17. That brings

the statement up to within a few days after the bridge collapsing. There were a few
cars in transit at that time which will add to this amount, I do not know the exact
sum.
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Q. That is a statement up to, August last ?—A. Yes, three days after the bridge
fell $110,187.17 is the amount that was due the customs. I can give you the details

of that. July was $69,115.47; August, ,$41,071.70. That bears out my statement
about $50,000 a month during the working season.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. In regard to the cars that were in transit at the time, you say there is duty
due the customs yet on that material ?—A. Yes, in addition to the amount I have
just stated.

Q. In addition to that ? Well, now if that material is still in bond the customs
have not released it ?—A. I presume it is. I am not an official of the customs.

Q. I did not know whether you knew or not ?—A. No, I presume it is.

By the Chairman :

Q. What is the average duty on that material, do you know ?—A. I could not
tell you that. I would have to look up the detailed entry.

By Mr. BarJeer :

Q. There is $110,000 owing?—A. Owing? The customs dues, appraisements, and
fees up to the 31st May, 1907 amount to $483,339.92. That is from the date of the

legislation covered by 1903. That amount has come out of the guaranteed bonds,

$483,338.92. That includes customs duties, appraisements, and fees.

By Mr. MonJc:

Q. That has been paid 'Out?—A. It has been paid in cash for customs appraise-

ments and fees.

Q. Who is Mr. E.. V. Johnson who purports to have actied as inspector?—A. He
is inspec'tiing engiineer of the Department of Railways and Canals,

Q. Do you know anything about the approving of tbe plans by the government?

—A. I do not, sir. I have no knowledge that would be of any benefit. That
comes under thie engineering department.

Q. You have ;no knowledge of that?—A. I might give you something that vs'ould

be entirely wrong. It as the engineering department entirely.

Q. Who is the proper ofiicer?—A. To give you lan opinion? Mr. M. J. Butler,

Deputy Minister and Chi'ef Engineer.

Q. But [was not Mr. Collingwood Schreiber acting at that time?—A. \t that

time, Mr. Collingwood Schreiber.

Q. Is he in Ottawa?—A. I believe he is. He was this morning.

Q. Does he "occupy any government position now?—A. He is consulting engi-

neer to the Dominion government amd Chief Engineer for the western division of

the Transcontinental Railway.

Q. Does he receive a regular salary in connection with these offices?—A. Yes,

he receives tbe salary of $6,000 per annum.

Q. You know nothing personally about the suggestiom made of the employment

of an expert to examine 'the plans?—A. No, sir.

By the Chairman:

Q. Do you happen to know /at th[e time that the sum of $5,000 was paid to the

directors for remuneration and which was indii'ectly transferred into the purchase

of stock whether the company had any money i;o their cr,edit?—A. It hnd. sir. always

momey to meet its eheques.

Q. Thiey might have issued a cheque for thes.o services and it could have been

cashed upon cur.rent account?—A. The cli<?ques would have been honoure<l.

Q. It would have been just the same?—A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Barker.-—I suppose somobi^dy would have had to go without tl\ough?
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By Mr. Monk:

Q. Were you not asked to produce some statement with regard to tlie amount

that was voted to the direcdors?—A. You have that statement here, sir.

Q. Have we got it now ?—A. The details of that $20,000 are on the file.

Q. The $20,000 which was all converted into stock?—A. You have got the full

details on your file, sir.

Q. In yout own individual fi'es?—A. In your own files.

Q. I wiould like to know what amount the directors have received in cash, that

bias not been converted into stock, for their services?—A. Yes, that can be got, but

I will have to pick those amounts out. I will have to go over the cash book " and

pick them out. I expect that returns made to the Senate will show that. We will

giet those and bring them down here and file them.

Q. Will you do that?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. You mean to 'take that information from the answers given In the. Senate?

—A. I will look lat the ansiwers given in the Senate and see. I understand the

Sienatie got the whole amount paid to the directors. To get at the question asked

you would have to subtract $20,000 from it. Do you wish the details?

Q. I would like to verify it by thie books?—A. Very well; I will get it from the

books. It was just to save you a good deal of detail, but I will get that information

for you.

Q. Down to date?—A. Right down to date.

By the Chairman

:

Q. I want to 'ask you if the pToceieds of that $200,000 of new stock, required

uoider the Act of 1903, was used for the purposes iof the company?—A. For the pur-

poses ?

Q. Of the company?—A. Of the company? Gertainly, sir. I mighjt answer

that in another way by saying I passed every account and approved of lit and it was
approved by tbje then Chief Engineer, Mr. Butler, as being correct accounts for

which this money ^was used.

By Mr. Monh: _
Q. Do I understand you to say that the proceeds of the $200,000 of the /new

stock was used for thie purposes of the company? Is that what you say?—A. Yes,
sir.

[

Q. But they were not used for the purposies of fulfilling the agreement which
required that the money should be used to pay off the discount on the inte'rim bonds ?

—A. The Act, as I stated in my report, was not strictly complied with in that
Tesp^ect.

Q. You stated that in your report?—A. I stated that in my report; the Act was
not strictly complied with.

Q. It was not complied with at all?—A. In that respect it was not complied
with at all. )

Q. There is no limit. You say, ^strictly complied with'?—A. I mean speaking
of the wholie Act. It is admitted that particular part iwas not complied with, but tHe
^200,000 was fsubsequently usjed -and paid out, and if that had not beefin there the

^200,000 would have been taken out of bond account for the same purpose; so that

one replaced the other. The net result in th/e ejnd is the samie. That i is, if the Act
had been strict'y complied with the com;pany would have been in exactly the samie

position to-da^.
^ <

Q. It is a question of what would have> happened. Would the bonds, in your
opinion, have bieen issued if the governm^ent hiad known that qne-half of that $^00,-

000 had not been paid up when they issued the bonds?—A. You will have to ask, the
Finance Department that. I had no control.
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By Mr. BarTcer :

Q. As an accountant let me ask you this : supposing Mr. Davis had paid his

$94,000 in cash and that had been used, there would have been so much less at the

moment borrowed on bonds, would there not ?—A. I hardly understand your question.

Q. The company used the $6,800,000 guaranteed bonds to raise money for their

purposes. If they had got the cash from Mr. Davis and applied it there would have
been so much less necessary from the bonds at the moment ? ?—A. At the moment,
but they would have had later to take from bond account a similar amount to meet the

accounts which were paid by the money secured from the stock.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. As a matter of fact, Mr. Bell, this loan of one and a quarter millions from the

Bank of Montreal to the company A. Pardon me, sir, I think you are mistaken ;

that was not a loan. That million and a quarter that you see mentioned there is simply

an authority for the Bank of Montreal to advance money to the Bridge Company on
bonds as these bonds ar eauthorized to be issued on the chief engineer's progress

estimates.

By Mr. Bar-Jeer :

Q. A line of credit I suppose ?—A. That is really it, but the Bridge Company
really never got that at all.

Q. I understand that, but it is not the point I want to make. They were author-

ized to obtain advances to that extent from the Bank of Montreal?—A. Yes.

Q. And as a matter of fact they had advanced a portion of that even before the

guaranteed bonds were issued ?—A. That is a question you will have to ask the

Finance Department.

Q. You don't know that ?—A. No, I do not know.

By the Chairman :

Q. Following the line of Mr. Barker's question. Mr. Barker suggests that on the

progress estimate No. 1 there would have been about $200,000 less, or perhaps $94,000

less advance, if Mr. Davis' cheque had been cashed, and there is something in that.

How long afterwards di dmatters adjust themselves so that accounts were balanced?

—

A. Sometime I imagine—it would be straightened out in my report. My report would
bring that right down. I brought all the accounts into one.

By Mr. Barker :

Q. When were those bonds that Mr. Davis had bought payable ?—A. When were
they payable ?

Q. Yes ?—A. I never saw the bonds.

Q. Supposing they were not due for 20 years ?—A. I really don't know. I took

the Act of 1903 as far as the amounts of those bonds and the balance.

B the 0hairman :

Q. They had to be realized before you could finance the matter at all (—A. lie

might have held the bonds I suppose until they became due.

By Mr. Chisholm :

Q. I do not think it is very clear how that $200,(K)0 was pa 'd up ?—A. By cash,

absolutely cash. There was an actual cash deposit in the banks. You have the bank
book and can prove the actual deposit of the wliolc $200,000.

By the Chairman :

Q. The $200,000 should have been paid up bc^foro tlic bonds were issued but as

a matter of fact they were not . Mr. Bell explains that in his report ?—A. And the
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purposes for which those $200,000 are used. They were supposed to be used for dis-

count, but that discount was paid out of bond account afterwards. That $200,000 was
used to pay debts thus doing that which should have been paid out of bond account.

You see one balanced the other. T now produce Exhibit No. 23, a statement showing

the amounts voted by shareht)lders to directors and the manner in which these amounts
were dealt with by the directors themselves, from July 1, 1899, to June 30, 1903.

By Mr. MonJc :

Q. What was the occasion of this audit which you ma'de of the books of the com-
pany ?—A. In the last session of parliament, that is the session of 1906-Y, a Bill was
passed authorizing the government to take over all the guaranteed bonds in connection

with the Quebec Bridge Company and advance them money on them from time to

time up to their par value—that is first repaying what had already been advanced on

them—and the balance up to their full value, Hon. Mr. Fielding, Minister of Finance,

I understand gave a promise in the House at the time this legislation was going

through, that before the transaction took place he would have a complete audit made
of the books.

By the Chairman :

Q. I think Mr. Monk asked that ?—A. I think Mr. Foster or Mr. Monk.

By Mr. Monlc :

Q. Can you turn up in the file which was placed before the committee the request,

or demand, made on the 28th January, 1907, for additional aid from the government

by the Bridge Company ?—A. That would be in the Finance Department. What is

the nature of that letter ?

Q. It is a letter from the Bridge Company asking for a few millions additional.

You remember the amount which was asked for by the company on or about the 28th

January, 1907, in order to complete the erection* ?—A. I did not have any knowledge

of that. Any correspondence would be either with the Minister or the Deputy Minister.

Q. Did you see in the file the resolution passed by the Board of Directors on the

28th Janury, asking for such additional aid?—A. It may be in the office but I have

no personal knowledge of that.

Q. Who would have?—A. I presume the Deputy Minister.

By the Chairman:

Q. The Deputy Minister of Finance?—A. If it is addressed to our department I

presume our Deputy Minister.

Q. How much money had been advanced to the Bridge Company up to the date

of the purchase of the whole bond issue?—A. You have already got that information.

I think it is somewhere about five millions.

Q. As an expert accountant if you had been sent down to Quebec by the govern-

ment to look into this stock subscription of $200,000 before the bond issue was made
of the six millions, would you have certified, as regards the services of the directors

paid in stock in the manner which has been shown before this committee—would
you have certified this was a cash payment in accordance with the terms of |he agree-

ment?—A. That is a matter, Mr. Monk, that I don't think I should be called upon
to answer. It is a matter with which I had nothing whatever to do. It is a duty
which would not concern me whatever. It is a finance matter, I presume for the

Finance Department, but I would not be sent down there to certify to that; it is a

matter out of my province.

By Mr. Barher:

Q. You would have stated the facts?—A. I assure if I had been sent and been
qualified to do that work I would have done my duty.
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Q. If you had been sent down to examine in the way Mr. Monk has stated would
you have reported the simple facts?—A. I don't think it is a fair question to ask me
what I might have done in a certain case.

Q. Do you mean to say you would not have called attention to the facts?—A.

—

When I was sent down to Quebec I did what I was called upon to do.

Q. That is not my question?—A. I know, sir.

Q. Mr. Monk's question is very plain and there is nobody finding fault with you.

Supposing you had been sent down there to report for the government and you had
found that a portion of that $200,000 had been floated by the application of those

allowances to directors, would you have reported that as so much cash or reported

the facts?—A. Was that Mr. Monk's question?

By Mr. Monk:

Q. Yes?—A. I considered that a cash transaction. The cheques were issued by
the Bridge Company, they had the funds there to meet those cheques, and if the

directors choose to get together and re-deposit those cheques and buy stock it would
not have been any of my affair.

Q. You would not have reported the facts as they stood?—A. I would not have
especially drawn attention to that fact. As a matter of fact I did not. I went to

Quebec and passed that $5,000 but it never entered into my mind to draw attention

to it especially.

By Mr, Barher:

Q. Would you have reported the $94,000 as paid?—A. I did^ sir.

Q. As paid on the $200,000 of stock?—A. No, I beg your pardon. The cheque

had not been cashed until later. I reported that.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. I do not think that is the object of the question: had you been sent down in

the beginning of 1904, and before the issue of the bonds, to ascertain if the $200,000

of stock required by the agreement had actually been paid up in cash, woudl you have

certified as to the $94,900, that it had actually been paid up in cash.

The Chairman.—What date?

A. That is the way I understood your question at first.

Mr. Monk.—In February, 1904, I fix the date.

Mr. Barker".—At any time in 1904 would he have reported that $94,900 as having

been paid on the $200,000. That is the question and you may not think it important.

The Chairman.—I think it is fair.

A. It is a question I should not bo called upon to answer what I would have

done in a certain case. The question should be as to what I did do. Unless the com-

mittee insists upon my answering the question I do not care to answer. If the com-

mittee insists, of course

By Mr. Barker:

Q. That is your answer: you do not care to answer?—A. Tnless the conunittee

insists.

The Chairman.—I tliink it is obvious ho could not.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. I believe there has been a suiii of $2,000,000 paid quite recently to redeem

some of the bonds of the govornmcnt in tho hands of tl\o trust company or in the

hands of the Bank of Montreal?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. You must know something about the tinanciMl eondititui of that company at

the present moment?—A. It is moroly carrying out the loi;islation of 1007. There was

nothing paid out of bond account for some nunillis Ix^forc the collapse of the bridge
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and nothing has been paid since. The only transaction that has taken place under

the government guarantee is on the back of these bonds which are pledged and the

government has, already, to my knowledge, redeemed $3,000,000 worth. That will

represent a little over two millions in bonds.

Q. When were the two millions bought?

The Chairman.—It is not fair to say. Redeemed is more correct. They were

simply pledged as collateral?—A. 19th February, 1908.

By Mr. Monk

:

Q. As I understand the position to-day, all that bond issue is in the hands of ihe

turst company at the present moment?—A. No, sir; the two million odd dollars in

bond are in the hands of the Minister of Finance—-the Receiver General—to cover

those two million dollars of each.

Q. With the exception of the $2,000,000 of cash that have been paid on the 19th

of February, the rest of the issue is in the hands of the trust company?—A. Of the

Bank of Montreal. The trust company may hold them for the Bank of Montreal,

but the remainder is all pledged to the Bank of Montreal for advances made.

Mr. Ross.—To correct Mr. Bell on the date. It was some time early in February,.

1908.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. The whole of the six million and some odd thousand dollars have gone into

the construction of the bridge?—A. The six millions?

Q. Yes?—A. No, sir; the money that was borrowed. When you are speaking of

six millions, $6,678,000, you speak of the par value of these bonds, that is guaranteed

bonds. Now, those bonds were pledged with the Bank of Montreal for advances. The
first advance was 85 for 100 of bonds, and afterwards that was reduced to 80'. Now,
it is practically ready cash that went into the bridge out of the money raised from
these guaranteed bonds. That would be 80 per cent of $6,678,000 in round figures.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. When the rate of loan was changed from 85 to 80 was the account adjusted
down to 80 for the whole?—A. I would not be sure^of that, but I think you will find

that the 85 stood on what had been issued. It must have been, because they were in
the possession of the Bank of Montreal.

Mr. Barker.—The bank might have made that arrangement to reduce the rate
to 80. What I wanted to know was this.' At one 'time the loan was 85 per cent on
its face and subsequently 80. When it got down to 80, did they bring the whole
account down to that figure, or did part stay at 85 and part at 80? Did they remain
distinct ?

Mr. Parent.—Yes.

Mr. Monk.—I understand these bonds are in the hands of the trust company.
The Chairman.—As trustee.

Mr. Monk.—For whom ?

The Chairman.—For the Bank of Montreal, as collateral security for. advances.
You see the bonds were never sold; they were pledged as collateral for advances. If
you get an advance of 80 you simply have to repay the 80 and not redeem at 100.

Mr. Monk.—I think it would be useful to have a statement of what we stand to
pay.

Mr. Ross.—There was an answer given in the House a month or six weeks ago
which was correct at the time.

Mr. Galliher.—^We must have that in connection with our inquiry.
Mr. Ross.—^It is a matter between the Bridge Company and the Bank of Mont-^

real. We would not know the exact balance due at any moment.
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Mr. Monk.—Surely the government are in possession of the information of what
we stand to lose.

Mr. Ross.—It is a matter of calculation to bring it up to date. We can get that

information, of course.

Mr. Monk.—Would it not be possible for you to get from the Bank of Montreal a

statement of indebtedness?

Mr. Eoss.—I would not like to hand the statement in until it has been properly-

audited. Mr. Bell can tell approximately what it is.

The Witness.—It is practically subject to audit as to any clerical errors. The-

interest would all have to be checkjed.

Mr. Monk.—Or if Mr. Ross of the Finance Department will work it out and let

us know what is claimed.

Mr. Ross.—I will ascertain what they claim.

Mr. Galliher.—How much the government is called upon to date to pay, what
the Bank of Montreal claims is due.

Mr. Monk.—^Do you know, or is it mentioned in your report, what the Quebec
Bridge Company owes, what its liabilities are, its floating and other debt ?—A. I could

not tell you that without going into it.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. Can you by examination of the books tell us what the liabilities are, outside

the liabilities to the Bank of Montreal and what the assets are?—A. There might be,

for instance, you may have claims, there may be clainas against- them and you would

have to take the legal form of publicly calling for all claims against the company in

order to do that.

Q. You might include only the claims that come in?—A. And the claims for

damages, and the assets, they would not be in the books.

The Chairman.—The secretary of the company should give that if anyone does,.

Mr. Bell would not know that.

Mr. Parent.—They owe salaries for the last month.

The Chairman.—Is that all you owe?

Mr. Parent.—Yes.

Mr. Monk.—Is. there no floating debt ?

Mr. Parent.—"^o, and there never has been any floating.

Mr. Barker.—What about j^our liability to the Phoenix Bridge Company?
Mr. Parent.—That is a question of law.

Mr. Ross.—The liability might be the other way.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. Are you able by an examination of the books to give us a balance sheet. I

think that is what you call it?—A. Assets and liabilities?

Q. Yes?—A. You understand what that moans? I would have to give a value

of the Chaudiere Bridge, and the approaches, and all the iron they have iii it. and get

the value of it and all that sort of thing, and then in order to get the liabilities I

would have to abvertise for all claims against the company.

Q. I do not ask you to do that, can you give us the liabilities as they arc shown by

the books?—A. I can show you all the liabilities, I can take out all the liabilities as

indicated by the books, yes.

Q. That is what I would like to have, and what wo nnist have in order to make a

siilTicient investigation.

The Chairman.—That is all right; that statement is to bo prepared by who?
A. It will take a little time to work it out.
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By Mr. Parker:

Q. I would like to know exactly where we are in regard to full information about

this company. Mr. Bell, does your statement show the original stock subscription, I do

not mean the $200,000?—A. No, sir, I had nothing whatever to do with the original

stock subscription. Of course I think I have seen it.

Q. Have you shown how much in cash and how much in votes was paid on that

original stock ?—A. I took the figures of the Act.

Q. You haven't shown it from the books?—A. No, sir.

Q. Have you shown how much of that was refunded under the Act?—A.

Ketunded?
,

Q. Yes, to the shareholders?—A. In what way?

Q. You understand that some of the shareholders had the right to take back

their money?—A. I made out no detail, anything received is mentioned as cash

received, but it is very, very small.

Mr. Parent.—Here is a statement of the whole thing.

Mr. Barker.—I propose to put this in as an Exhibit furnished by the treasurer

^ of the company.

The Chairman.—All these old shareholders are wiped out.

EXHIBIT No. 28.

FIRST SHAREHOLDERS OF THE QUEBEC BRIDGE COMPANY.

Number Date Amount
Names. of of

Shares. Payment. Paid.

$ cts.

Col. Rhodes 4 p.c. on 25 Feb. 29, 1888.

.

100 00
5 20 00

Estate Hall 10 40 00
P. P. Hall _ " 25 100 00
H. M. Price 50 <c 200 00
V. Chateauvert 5 20 00

20 80 00
J. I. Tarte 50 Mar. 30, 1888*. '. 200 00

50 200 00
A. J. Turcotte 50 200 00

25 April 3. 1888 *.
'.

100 00
20 80 00

T. C. Casgrain 20 April 9, 1888! ! 80 00
J. B. Forsyth 20 April 17, 1888. . 80 00

" 5,100 May 19, 1888. . 20,400 00

ETs^ * Shown in old books as paid up, but consisted in a certificate of deposit of the Banque du Peuple
or which there was no money deposited, and which was never paid to the company.

Four of the above shareholders^ Messrs. P. Landry, 0. Duquet, A. Lavigne and

T. C. Casgrain took advantage of one clause in statute of 1897, and requested reim-

bursement of the amount paid on their stock, and were repaid.

June 20th, 1888. W. Ehofles, IT. M. Price, Colonel Forsythe, H. J. Beemer,
Cyr. Duquet, J. I. Tarte, P. Landry, P. P. Hall, Gaspard LeMoine, were elected

directors.

Col. Forsythe was elected president 27th August, 1888.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. Now, I want to ask next in order, is it shown upon that last exhibit how much
of it was paid in actual cash and how much by vote or resolution of the shareholders?
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I think we have it in a loose sort of way, but I want it condensed so as not to have to

hunt through a mass of evidence in order to get at the facts. Did you not give us the

statement yesterday or the day before of the amounts paid by vote or resolution?

—

A. The shareholders voted cash and the directors turned it into stock; you have that

entire in the file. Of that amount $15,000 is in the way that you speak of.

By Mr. GalUher:

Q. All other shareholders, except those mentioned there, paid their amounts in

cash?—A. In cash, yes.
•

By Mr. Barker:

Q. This Exhibit 28 shows how much?—A. The total amount of these payments?

Q. Yes ?—A. $21,900 is the total.

Q. Well, now, Mr. Bell, have you made up a statement showing what further

payments were made than those shown on that Exhibit 28?—A. A further statement

of that $65,000?

Q. That is only $21,900?—A. No, sir, I did not make up that statement.

Q. Can that be made up?—A. I presume it can; it might be made up; I have

not looked into it, but I presume you could make up the full amount of that $65,000.

Mr. Barker.—I wish the treasurer to complete that statement by bringing it up
to the $63,000 or $65,000, whatever it was, showing how the increases were paid and
by whom. I want the company as it was first started, with all the shareholders who
subscribed, showing how much they paid, how much was refimded and who has been

allowed to withdraw, right up to the time of the $63,000 or $65,^000.

The Chairman.—I see that some people were allowed to withdraw their money.

Mr. Barker.—That is quite according to law ; it was done under the statute, there

is no objection to it, only I want to get at the facts of what was done.

The Chairman.—Why don't you find out if it was legal ?

Mr. Barker.—It was legal.

The Ci-iAiRMAN.—I see Senator Landry was a shareholder and he ran away; per-

haps he didn't run away legally; why not go into that? It will be just as fair for us

to find out whether Senator Landry ran away fairly and squarely, morally and legally.

Mr. Talbot.—We want to get the document first, and we can ask then whether he

did or not.

The Chairman.—All right; then we will get that statement. You will try and

prepare that to-night, Mr. Paquet.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. Now, there is a further question I want to ask; there is the qualification for

directors. I would like to have it shown what the qualifications of the difierent direc-

tors were at different times?

The Chairman.—Will you turn up, Mr. Barthe,- and show the section of the by-

laws which ascribes the qunlifications of directors?

Mr. Barthe.—It was $5,000 after 1897.

The Chairman.—That is fifty shares?

Mr. Barthe.—Yes.

Mr. Barker.—I want to know who the directors were and what the dificrent direc-

tors' qualifications were.

Mr. Talbot.—There were two qualifications—$2,000 for a time, nnd then it was
put up to $5,000.

Mr. Barthe.—The government directors were not required to have qualitieatious.

Mr. Monk.—We want the directors since 1897 and their qunlifications.

Mr. Barker.—Then, Mr. Chairman, I want a statement of ^Ir. Davis' account.

Mr. Bell.—You have a statement on file here; the statement of account is here

in my report; it is statement ' D ' that was marked as Exhibit 28.
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By Mr. Barher:

Q. Then there is the Phoenix Bridge Company's account, have yon that?

Mr. Bell.—^Yon had better take the synopsis of their estimates, which has been

prepared.

Q. Is there any detailed account from them of payments made?—A. You have

each one of those, you will have an estimate for each month; it will be an endless job

to cover this, there are thirty-four of these detailed estimates.

Q. You have no general statement comprising the whole?—A. I have taken it

and made a synopsis of these estimates, giving the date, number of the estimate, the

gross amount, the drawback, the previous payments and payable and remarks, that is

all shown in this schedule here; it is not marked, but it is referred to in my report

as statement ' B ' in the report of 26th June, 190Y, at page 5T7.

(Statement marked as Exhibit 29.)

Mr. Barker.—Another thing I want, that a little table be worked out showing
the dates and the names and everything else that can be put in the table in reference

to that $200,000 stock transaction ; it can be taken from the stock certificate book.

^ I also want every contract with Mr. Davis, whether it relates to construction or finance^

or loans, or anything of that kind.

The Chairman.—There are two here, the construction contract of the 19th June,.

1900, which I will mark as Exhibit 30, and the other contract is in relation to the

interim issue of bonds, dated 2nd March, 1904, which is Exhibit 31. Here is another

Davis contract, dated the 20th July, 1903, which is Exhibit 32.

Mr. Barker.—Now, I want all contracts with the Phoenix Bridge Company.
Mr. Parent.—They are on file with the Koyal Commission.

Mr. Barker.—And I want all the plans and specifications referred to in the con-

tract.

By the Chairman :

Q. I want to ask you a question, Mr. Bell. You are the accountant of the Depart-

ment of Eailways, are you not?—A. I am the assistant accountant.

Witness retired. *
^

Mr. Ulric Barthe^ recalled.

By Mr, GalUher:

Q. I produce Exhibit 'No, 21, being a statement of shareholders present or repre-

sented by proxy at the annual general meeting of shareholders on September 3rd,

1901, also for the meeting on September 2nd, 1902, and for the meeting on October
20th, 1903?—A. Yes.

Q. I also produce Exhibit 22, showing the attendance of directors appointed by
the Dominion government at board meetings of the Quebec Bridge and Kailway Com-
pany from the date of their appointment, January, 1904?—A. Yes.

Q. Have these been correctly extracted by you from the books of the company?

—

A. Yes, by myself, and I certify they are correct.

By Mr. Talbot:

Q. In connection with this subsecribed amount by Mr. H. J. Beemer, of $20,400,

in Exhibit 28, that was never paid, can you tell us why it was not paid?—A. When
the company was re-organized in 1897 we found in the books that Mr. Beemer was
given as having subscribed for $510,000 of capital stock, 5,100 shares, on which he
had paid 4 per cent, that is $20,400. It was found later on that that payment had not
been made, that that $20,400 was represented by a certificate of deposit in the Banque
du Peuple, for which there was no money deposited, and which had never been paid
to the company. But Mr. Beemer had advanced money to the company, cash, and
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later on tlie matter was settled with him for a certain amount of stock foi*. his

advances in cash plus the interest.

By Mr. BarTcer:

Q. Was that the amount stated there?

By Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish)

:

Q. As a matter of fact he had not paid that $20,000 at all?—A. ^o.

Q. And the books of the company show it was paid up?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. How much stock had Mr. Beemer?—A. Mr. Beemer had subscribed; he had
put his name in the old book of subscription, which I can also produce if you like,

for $500,000, for 5,000 shares, I mean in the subscription book, but in the stock ledger

he was a subscriber for $10,000, over the half million, and it was supposed at the time
that it was to have a majority of the stock.

By Mr. BarTcer:

Q. Did you get this $20,400 in cash?—A. Oh, no.

Q. What did you get?—A. We got—^well, we got his bill certified for certain

advances, he had advanced money.
Q. He had claims against you?
Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish).—Subsequently though.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. And you allowed him stock in settlement?—A. Yes, we gave him 35 shares.

Q. How many shares did he get in settlement?—A. 35 shares of $100 each.

By Mr. BarTcer:

Q. And this $20,400 was never paid in any shape?—A. Never.

By Mr. CTiisTiolm (Antigonish) :

Q. How long did it appear in the books?—^A. From 1888 to 1897.

Q. Who were the directors at that time?—A. Well, I have given the list in that

statement that was put in as Exhibit 28. The directors at that time were Colonel

Ehodes, H. M. Price, Colonel Forsythe, H. J. Beemer, Cyr. Duquet, J. I. Tarte, P.

Landry, P. P. Hall, Gaspard Le Moine.

Q. What year was the new company organized?—A. It was reorganized, the new
board sat first in March '97.

Q. And how much cash was on hand at that time?—A. $51.49.

Q. The 35 shares given to Mr. Beemer was for advances to the old company?

—

A. Advances to the old board.

Q. The new board had nothing at all to do with that?—A. No.

Q. And he got 35 shares of your new stock?—A. Yes.

Witness retired.

Committee adjourned.
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House of Commons,
Committee Room 62,

Thursday, June 11, 1908.

The committee met at 3 o'clock p.m., the chairman, Mr. A. K. Maclean, presiding.

Mr. Barker.—Mr. H. T. E.oss, who is here representing the Finance Department,
was yesterday asked to produce a statement of the amount claimed by the Bank of

Montreal. Has that statement been prepared?

Mr. Eoss.—I was asked for a statement of the amount claimed by the Bank
of Montreal on guaranteed bond account. They claimed for total principal advances

$5,016,453.66. They claimed a total of interest to April 30, 1908, $756,770.11, a

total of principal advances and interest of $5,773,223.71. Less February 9, 1908,

$2,000,000 repaid by the company under Chap. 35 of the Acts of 1907, leaving a

balance claimed on Thursday, April 30, 1908, on above account of $3,773,223.71.

There are also temporary advances, interim advances, of the Bank of Montreal to the

Bridge Company, exclusive of the foregoing, which up to May 31st, 1908, the bank
claim, amount to, with interim interest, $174,431.36 {Marked as Exhibit SJf.)

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Is that a statement to the bank?—A. Th^t is my memorandum.

By Mr. Talbot:

Q. This is part of your evidence? Have you been sworn?—A. j^o, I have not.

The Chairman.—It is a memorandiim furnished by Mr. Boss.

Mr. Boss.—Every word of it is incorporated in the record. It is hardly necessary

to make it an exhibit.

Mr. G. A. Bell recalled and examined.

By the Ghairman:

Q. Did you examine the accounts of the company beyond 1903?—A. That is back?

Q. Back?—A. 'Eo, sir.

Q. Is there any evidence before us showing the total cost of the sub-structure of

the bridge that you remember?—A. Yes, the cost would be given in our file.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. It ought to be in these Davis' accounts?—A. It will be in Mr. Douglas' esti-

mate.

Q. When you speak about substructure and superstructure, what about the

approaches and landings? It covers all, that does it?—A. Substructure and super-

structure would not cover it. When you speak of substructure I presume you speals^

of the cost of the piers themselves. You can get that exact cost. 3.1r. Davis' first

contract I think covers the substructure.

By Mr. Ghishqlm:

Q. When you went down to examine the accounts of the Quebec Bridge Co., did

you ascertain whether they had been audited from year lo year?—A. They were
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audited every year. Their year ended 30th June. It ran from 1st July to 30th of

June, and there was an audit made every year.

Q. By whom was that audit made, do you know?—A. By an outside auditor.

He was not an official of the company's.

Q. And how did the balance struck by this auditor compare with yours?—A.

My audit was made in an altogether different manner. I took it out in a different

way. He struck off a balance sheet, I did not do so.

Q. What did you do?—A. All I did was to ascertain the cost of the work from
1903 down to the date of my audit.

Q. How did you verify it?—A. By an examination of the books and an examina-
tion of every voucher.

Q. An examination of every voucher?—A. Every voucher. I think of all the

vouchers there were only four or five missing, probably for one or two dollars. In
those cases I examined the cheques and made them duplicate the vouchers.

Q. How many vouchers do you suppose there would be?—A. I have no idea,

hundreds of them.

Q. You went into the A. The actual vouchers and saw they were properly

certified and receipted and the entry corresponded in the cash book.

Q. You found the books all right?—A. And the cash books corresponded with

the ledgers and so on.

Q. Of course, you did not examine the books previous to 1903?—A. I never saw
them before.

Witness retired.

The Chairman.—Mr. Boss, is there any statement you would like to make on

behalf of the Finance Department?
Mr. Boss.—There is not any statement at present. The records of the subsequent

transactions connected with the legislation of 1903 are in the returned produced to

the House (and which has been tabled her'e, I think, in a series as Exhibits a, b,

and c.

The Chairman.—There is nothing with regard to which you would like to

enlighten the committee?
Mr. Boss.—Fersonally I have no knowledge of these matters. Wliat knowledge

I have has been gained by me from the record. Berhaps the committee ought to be

acquainted with the record which has been handed in. However it is not for me to

suggest that.

Mr. Barker.—I would like if you would just state where it is to be found.

The Chairman.—It is a return to the House upon a motion of Mr. B. L. Borden.

Mr. Boss.—I might say that the records of the Finance Department^ connection

with the Quebec Bridge and Bailway Company are contained in the bound books, a,

b and c. They are now a part of the returns of the House.
Mr. Barker.—They had better be exhibited.

Mr. Boss.—Very well you can mark them as exhibits.

Volumes referred to marked as Exhibits Nos. 41, 42 and 43.

Mr. Barker.—You see there are lots of matters open to us that wo may not have

here.

Mr. Boss.—If the committee wants any explanation from mo I shall bo glad to

afford it.

Mr. Barker.—We shall have to examine you.

Mr. Boss.—I was under the impression I was to give ovidonco this afienioon.

I would be glad if the committee would indicate at the earliest possible time wlieii

they would like to examine me.

Mr. l^ARKKU.—Wo will give you twoiity-foiir hours, anyway.
Mr. CiiisiiOLTM.—What docs tho file produced contain in a gouoral way?
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Mr. Eoss.—Perhaps it would not enlighten the committee very much if I explained

in a general way.
^

Mr. Chisholm.—What does it refer to ?

Mr. Eoss.—The first entry in it . is a communication from the Deputy Minister of

Eailways and Canals, of date September 13, 1900, to the Secretary of the Department
of Finance.

Mr. Chisholm.—Could you, in a general way, give us an idea what that has refer-

ence to ? ,

Mr. Eoss.—It chiefly has reference to the matters immediately subsequent to the

legislation of October, 1903.

The Chairman.—It refers to the financial aspect of the question ?

Mr. Eoss.—The issue , of the bonds, the guaranteeing of the bonds and payments

out on bond account.

Mr. Barker.—Everything done by the government pursuant to . the Act ?

Mr. Eoss.—I would not say that, because the Privy Council

Mr. Barker.—Are there orders of the Privy .
Council there, too ?

Mr. Eoss.—Some of them are, and some are in the railway return.

Mr. Barker.—Do you understand, Mr. Eoss, that there are some orders in council

Iiere, relating to these matters, that are not being exhibited?

Mr. Eoss.—If the return of the Eailways and Canals Department has not been

exhibited, there are orders in that return not before the committee.

The Ohairman.—There are lots of orders in council referring to the paying of

-estimates.

Mr. Eoss.—^You would not refer. to these merely formal orders?

Mr. Barker.—^Not routine orders.

Mr. Eoss.—Not routine orders.

Mr. Barker.—What I mean, Mr. Chairman, is this: The department may have

iDrought into the House of Commons or the . Senate cart loads of papers ; they are not

before us. We have power to look at them, but what we intend to use should be

exhibited here formally before, this committee.

Mr. Chairman.—Who are you blaming for that ?

Mr. Barker.—I am not blaming anybody. Mr. Monk is trying to get everything

in in a very general way, but I do not want to be understood as accepting something

that has been produced in 1903, 1904 or 1905 before the Senate. That is no evidence

before us. It is accessible, but it has not been brought before us.

Mr. Barthe recalled.

By J\ir. Monh :

Q. You are not able, from the books of the company, to say who were represented

by proxy at the meeting?—A. No.

Q. Or who were personally present ?—A. I could not say.

Q. I think you were asked the amount of stock possessed by each person, do you
remember that ?—A. I find I haven't that.

By Mr,. Talbot:

Q. In connection with that subscription of Mr. Beemer's of 5,100 shares, you told

us that the certificate of deposit had been handed over for the 4 per cent of that amount
of shares; are you able to tell us how long that certificate of deposit was in the hands
of the company before it was produced or put in the bank for realization?—A. It. was
in the company's safe when I took charge in March, 1897.

Q. When did you take possession of the books, when you were appointed?—A. On
the 11th or 12th of March, 1897. The certificate of deposit which was given by Mr.
Beemer had been in the company's possession since 1888.
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Q. From May 19, 1888 ?—A. I do not know that it was that date.

Q. Here it is here (indicating document) ?—A. Yes, that is the date.

Q. And it was when you took charge, when the new company was organized, that

certificate was handed to the bank, and you tried to realize on it?—A. Yes.

Q. And you were told?—A. That thete was no money to cover that deposit.

Q. Was it covered in any way ?—A. Not at all, because it never was paid.

Q. Did Mr. Beemer file any claim for any amount ?—A. Yes, he had advanced

small sums of money, between $2,000 and $3,000, from time to time.

Q. How was that settled?—A. It was settled with the directors by the company
allowing him a certain amount of stock, 35 shares in full payment of his advances,

and interest.

Q. And the balance was not taken?—A. The balance was not taken.

Q. But was cancelled?—A. As shown there.

Q. The balance of that stock on the list that you have here (Exhibit 28), was
paid for in cash, all except Mr. Beemer's, these other documents were all paid?—A.

Yes, but as I have already said, four of these amounts were returned to the share-

holders. Four of the above shareholders—Messrs. P. Landry, C. Duquet, A. La-
vigne, and T. C. Casgrain, took advantage of one clause in the statute of 1897 and
requested reimbursement of the amounts paid on their stock, and they were repaid

by the new company.'

Q. As a matter of fact, those four amounts had all been paid, but Mr. Beemer's

had not been paid, although it had been kept in the safe of the company for ten

years ?—A| For over nine years.

By the Chairman:

Q. He got stock in the new company for the amount of the claim he filed?—A.

Yes, stock in the new company.

By Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish)

:

Q. Was the stock allotted to Mr. Beemer?—A. Yes, it was allotted to him, 35

shares.

Mr. Walsh (Huntingdon)—^Mr. Chisholm's question was whether the 5,100

shares were allotted to Mr. Beemer in the old company.
Mr. Talbjt.—$510,000 in shares were purchased by Mr. Beemer, and on that 4

per cent deposit was covered by a certificate of deposit, and that certificate of deposit

was held in the hands of the company for over nine years, and when they tried to

realize upon it they found there was nothing there.

By the Chairman:

Q. He paid 4 per cent on the amount of the subscription, and that is what he got

the certificate for?—A. He did not pay 5 per cent, there was a call of 4 per cent and
he was given a certificate of deposit for that 4 per cent, but there was no money for

it ; but instead of that, at the time I was told by the late secretary, and it was recorded

in the books, he had made small advances in cash to the company amounting to

between $2,000 and $3,000, and in settlement of that he got 35 shares in the new
company.

By Mr. Talbot: ^

Q. This was posterior to 1897, but up to 1897, as matter of fact, was not Mr.
Beemer in possession of $500,000 worth of shares?—A. Yes.

Q. Upon which a claim of 4 per cent had been made?—A. Yes.

Q. And for which he had been given a certificate of deposit?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, who was president at that time?—A. Colonel Khodcs, I thiidv, the first

president of the company.
6—7
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Q. During- that period from 1887 or 1888 to 1897?—A. Afterwards he was
replaced by Colonel Forsythe.

Q. Who was president when the company was reorganized in '97?—A. Col. For-
sythe was president during the years 1896 and 1897, and at the first general meeting
of the shareholders in 1897, Mr. Parent was elected president. He had been elected

to the board of directors on the 11th of March, 1897, and was elected president in

September, 1897, at the first annual meeting of the new company.

By the Chairman:

Q. Mr. Barthe, I want to ask you in reference to the four old shareholders who
were permitted under statutory authorit yto retire from the old company and to

recover their payments into the old company?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Who secured that legislation, who asked for it?—A. We never quite knew
exactly, but I will tell you exactly the facts as I know them about it. During that

session, Mr., now Sir Francois Langelier, now judge, was in charge of our Bill,

and when the Bill was before the Senate he asked Senator Landry to take charge

of the Bill, and we never knew how it was; but when the Bill was returned, it

came back with a special clause dealing with the old shareholders prior to 1896 and

providing that they had the right to get reimbursed what they had paid on their stocky

the 4 per cent paid to the old company.

Q. Was that a Senate amendment?—A. It was a Senate amendment.

Q. And that company never asked for ite—A. Never asked for it.

Q. After that, was Senator Landry a friend of the company?—A. After that?

Q. Has he been a friend of the company thus far?—A. He has never been a

friend of the company, he has always been antagonistic.

By Mr. Talhoi:

Q. Even when he was a director?—A. I mean from what I know.

By Mr. BarTcer:

Q. I suppose he was turned out of the Board, was he?—A. No.

Q. Was he re-elected?—A. No, he was not re-elected. Later on, we had even to

take a law sui against his paper for certains aspersions it made against the company.

I mention that to show he was against the company.

Q. Now, wasn't he turned out of the Board by his colleagues ?—A. I do not know
about that.

By Mr. Talbot:

Q. Did he not withdraw his qualifications when he got reimbursed and got repaid

the money he had put in ?—A. Yes, after that general meeting.

By the Chairman :

Q. I am not sure about it, but didn't he once start a rumour that the piers of

this bridge were built on silt or sawdust ?

By Mr. Barker :

Q. Are you swearing to this ?

The Chairman.—He is under oath.

A. Yes.

By Mr. Barker :

Q. Did you hear him state that as a fact ?—A. That was stated in his paper.

By Mr. Monk :

Q. That amendment that you speak of, and which has been referred to by the
Chairman, are you sure that it was introduced in the Senate and was not in the Bill
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when it was in the House of Commons ?—A. I have been so informed by Sir Frangois
Langelier.

Q. That deposit receipt which covered Mr. Beemer's 4 per cent and which was in

the hands of the company for a time, did hot I understand you to say it was a deposit

in the Banque du Peuple?—A. It was the Banque du Peuple.

Q. Then the receipt was worthless because the Banque du Peuple had failed ?

—

A. I do not remember exactly whether it had failed at that time.

Q. But it was a Banque du Peuple receipt ?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish) :

Q. How many shares did Senator Landry subscribe for ?—A. Pifty shares, and
he paid at the time in 1888 4 per cent of that, that is $200 cash.

Q. That is all he paid ?—A. That is all he paid.

Q. Did he keep his shares or withdraw from them ? I understood you to say he
withdrew his shares afterwards?—A. Yes, he did, in '98, I think.

Q. How much did he withdraw ?—A. He withdrew his $200. He was entitled to

it by the clause which had been put in the Bill.

Q. There is another gentleman mentioned there as having withdrawn, Mr. T. C.

Casgrain, did he do the same ?

Mr. Barker objected to the question.

By Mr, Chisholm (Antigonish) :

Q. I wish to know who Mr. T. C. Casgrain is ?—A. Mr. Thomas Chase Casgrain,

the late member for Montmorency.

Q. How many shares did he subscribe for ?—A. Twenty shares.

Q. And did he withdraw his money, too?—A. Yes.

Q. When ?—A. In 1898, within the time specified by the Act. They had one year

from the passage of the Act to withdraw.

By Mr. Talhot :

Q. When the new company was organized I think you told us in your evidence

that you had $51 in cash ?—A. Yes.

Q. How much money has the new reorganized company paid to the shareholders

of the old company ?—A. They paid back $460 to the shareholders of the old company.

Q. Have you the names of those to whom the amounts were repaid ?—A. Senator

Landry, $200; C. Duquet, $100; A. Lavigne, $80; T. C. Casgrain, $80.

Q. Was there anything paid by the new company to the old company in order to

balance the accounts either in cash or in stock ?—A. We had to pay outside of that to

Mr. Bcemcr, to give liim 35 shares for money which we have not got ourselves, because

he paid it to the old company, so that we had practically $3,500 and $460 paid to the

shareholders of the old company which went against that $51 that we received in cash,

so that there was an outstanding liability of $4,000 that wo wore charged witli when
we started.

Q. That you had to pay cith(>r in cash or in stock 'I—A. Tliat is what wo were

short of, over $4,000.

By Mr. Ch/isholm (Antigonisli)

:

Q. Previous to the reorganization of the company, as I undorstaiul it. tl\e share-

holders liad to pay 4 per cent on their stock subscription i—A. Yes.

Q. What did tlie members of the new company, on the reorganization of the

compauj'-, have to pay ?—A. Twenty-five per cent of the subscribed stock which was
$200,000. I remember well, because wo had trouble enough getting $200,000 sub-

scribed at that time.

Q. What was the original capitalizati(m lixod al i- - A. 'X\\c nutliorizod capital

of the fu-st company was $1,000,000.

6—7i
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By Mr. Talbot :

Q. There were also two qualifications for directors, the one for the old company
was $2,000 ?—A. That is right.

Q. And the qualification for the new company was put at $5,000, and they had to

pay up 25 per cent ?—A. Yes.

Q. How did that change come about ?—A. When that legislation was passed in

1896 it was by an amendment to the charter made in the Senate.

By Mr. MonTc :

Q. In 1906, do you say ?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Talbot:

Q. The amendment was made - that changed the qualification ?—A. Yes, that

changed the qualification from 20 shares to 50 shares.

Q. Do you know who introduced that amendment ?—A. Do I know who intro-

duced it ?

Q. Yes ?—A. No, I do not.

Witness relieved from further attendance for the present.

Committee adjourned.

House of Commons,
EooM No. 62,

Thursday, June 18, 1908.

The Committee met at 11 o'clock a.m., the Chairman, Mr. A. K. Maclean,

presiding.

Mr. H. M. Price, called and sworn and examined.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. Mr. Price, where do you reside?—A. At Montmorency Falls.

Q. Near the city of Quebec?—A. Yes.

Q. Do you know the Quebec Bridge Company?—A. Yes.

Q. You are one of its directors?—A. I have been a director since 1887.

Q. Then you were a director of the old company as well as the present company?
—A. Yes.

Q. What position do you occupy now; what is your business?—A. My own
business ?

Q. Yes, your own personal business?—A. Lumber merchant.

Q. Have you been connected with any other business transactions, associated with

any other lines of business, except lumber, Mr. Price?—A. I have been connected

with a great many companies.

Q. You have been a bank manager too, have you not?—A. Yes, I was bank
manager for 20 years, and when I left I was manager of the Merchants Bank of

Canada in Quebec in 1884.

Q. Then you have had, in various lines of business, a long experience?—A. Yes.

Q. You have been a director of the new company since 1889 up to the present

time, and you are still a director ?—A. No, I was a director of the old company from
18'8T, and I have been continuously a director of this company ever since.

Q. You know Mr. Parent, of course?—A. Very well.
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Q. He has been associated with you in this enterprise?—A. Yes.

Q. And the other directors, of course, you also know them? Well, the gentlemen
you are associated with? By the way, to what extent are you financially interested

in the company?—A. To the extent of $5^200.

Q. Paid up?—A. Paid up.

Q. Fully paid up ? Have you had to do with negotiations in connection with the .

building of this bridge?—A. Yes, as director I have been connected with them all.

Q. What do you say, as a director and as a business man, as to the way in which

the affairs of this company have been conducted?—A. They have been conducted

absolutely on sound business principles.

Q. They have been conducted on sound business principles. You know of the

acceptance of what is termed interim bonds by Mr. M. P. Davis, who had the contract

for the substructure?—A. Yes.

Q. Do you know at what price those were accepted?—A. At 60 cents on the

dollar.

Q. And for what were they accepted ?—A. They were accepted to help the building

of the substructure.

Q. For moneys due by the company to Mr. Davis?—A. For moneys due by the

company to Mr. Davis?

Q. The company at that time had not the necessary cash to pay Mr. Davis—A.

No.

Q. To pay Mr. Davis in money, in cash?—A. No, although the contract called

for the payment in cash.

Q. Yes, although the contract so called. Now, for what amount of debt did he

take bonds?—A. He took, as far as I can remember, $472,000 on bonds at 60 cents on
the dollar.

Q. This being all for indebtedness due from the company to Mr. Davis?—A. Yes.

Q. As contractor for the sub-structure?—A. Yes.

Q. You have in the course of your business career, I suppose, had a good deal to

do with, or if not a good deal to do with, had considerable knowledge of the value of

bonds under circumstances of this kind, such as exist in this case?—A. Yes.

Q. These bonds were ©imply the bonds of the company not guaranteed by anyone?

—A. Yes.

Q. What do you say as to these bonds handed over to Mr. Davis at 60 cents on the

dollar from a business standpoint?—A. Mr. Davis took them when he could not get

anybody else to take them.

Q. You had triLd?—A. Ye-^.

Q. The company had tried to sell the bonds and when Mr. Davis took them you
could not get anybody else to take them?—A. No, because there was absolutely, there

was practically no security at the back of the bonds or a security, of course, of un-

known value.

Q. The security really depended upon the future?—A. Yes, based upon the

sncces. of the bridge.

Q. Do you consider that a good bargain, or otherwise, nmdc by the company from
a purely business standpoint?—A. Well, when you can only get one man to buy
something that nobody vhc will buy you are generally satisliod with your bargain.

Q. Of course, you have got 1o lake the circumstances into consideration. Taking
the circumstances that existed into consideration, do you consider that the company
showed good business jtulgment in making this deal with Mr. Davis?—A. Absolutely
so, because if the substructure bad h?Qn t o nplcted and the superstructure had never
been completed, the bonds would be absolutely valueless.

Q. And he touk that risk?—A. He took that risk.
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Q. Mr. Davis accepted those bonds as payment in full of the amount that was

due him ?—A. Yes, but he had great confidence in the outcome, the eventual outcome,

and he took all the risk himself

Q. Now, these bonds were afterwards redeemed at par?—A. Yes.

Q. How long did Mr. Davis hold these bonds between the time he took them and

the time he completed his work on the bridge, the substructure? Can you tell us

that?—A. Well^ I cannot tell exactly. I should fancy it was some two or three years.

Q. Some two or three years?—A. Yes.

Q. Roughly speaking, some two or three years. And was it at the end of that

time that the bonds wer3 reieemed?—A. Yes, they were redeemed. The bridge com-

pany got the government to guarante3 the bonds.

Q. Not those bonds ?—A. Not those bonds. Those were redeemed in full in cash.

Q. Yes, but during the time that these interim bonds—we will call the bonds the

government did not guarantee—interim bonds ?—A. Yes.

Q. During the time those interim bonds were outstanding in the hands of Mr.
Davis ?—A. Yes.

Q. Some two or three years elapsed between the time they were accepted and the

time they were redeemed at par?—A. Yes.

Q. And that was while the substructure was under construction?—A. Yes.

By the Chair.man:

Q. Did he get these bonds periodically or did he get them all at once?—A. At
one transaction.

Q. He never got any interest on the bonds?—A. No, never.

By Mr. Galliher: '

'

Q. I was just following that up. During the time that the work was continued,

that is, from the time ha took these interim bonds up to the time he completed his

work, in the payment of these bonds at par, was he allowed any interest by the com-
pany?—A. Not 'to my knowledge.

Q. Not to your knowledge?—A. Not that I remember, no. I am satisfied that

it was a debt, non-interest bearing for the time being, because the interim bonds said

that the 5 per cent interest only ran on completion of the substructure ?

Q. Yes, on the completion of the substructure, but I want to just make that clear.

Mr. Monk.—^Will you allow me a question? '

Mr. Galliher.—Certainly.

By Mr. MonJc:

Q. Ultimately was not the interest fully paid up on the $472,000 of bond issue?

—

A. Mr. Davis got his interest when his work, according to contract, was completed.

Q. But my question is whether, when the bonds were totally redeemed in 1904,

$472,000 of bonds, accrued interest was not also paid? I think there is no doubt abouti

that.

By Mr. Barher:

Q. Was there not the sum of $28,000 paid ?—A. Yes, he was paid with interest.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. Either my understanding is wrong or my honourable friend's understanding
is wrong. My understanding is that the interest that was paid to Mr. Davis on these

interim bonds was when they were redeemed?—A. Yes.

Q. Was interest due from the time the work was completed up to 'the time of

the ?—A. No, he had no interest due during the currency of the bonds. It was
only after the completion of the substructure.

Q. I suppose during all these years that you were connected with this enterprise,

Mr. Price—^you and the other directors—^you had a good deal of work in cojinectiom
with j.t?

—

A. Yes, a great deal of work, a great deal of anxiety.
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Q. A great deal of work and a great deal ,of anxiety. I suppose Mr. Parent wa=5

yonr president?—A. Yes.

Q. And I presume he had the greater share of the work?—A. Well, he had in*; - -

tenths of it.

Q. Nine-tenths of the work was on his shoulders. What do you think of him as a

business associate in a matter of this kind?—A. I bag your pardon?

Q. What is your opinion of Mr. Parent as a business associate, and from a busi-

ness standpoint in this matter, with you professionally?—^A. Well, I might say that

Mr. Parent only came into the company after very great pressure on the part of two
of the directors specially, that is Mr. Gaspard LeMoine and myself. We waited on
Mr. 'Parent in 1897, I think it was, or at the end of 1896, and we pressed him very

hard to come in as a director of the company, and he refused absolutely to come in.

After a time we went back to him and we put 'fresh pressure on him and we went so

far as to say to him that if he would become a director of the company we would
pay up his stock and it would not cost him anything. Such was the confidence we
had in him., in his administrative ability to bring the enterprise through.

Q. Yes?—A. Mr, Parent refused. He said, 'If I come in I will pay up my own
stock, and I don't want a dollar from any of you to help me in this ' -

Q. And during your transactions in connection with this matter, from a business

point of view ?—A. Mr. Parent has always had the absolute confidence of the

board, and I have never known any case in which he has not 'had the board at his

back.

Q. And were you satisfied with his work in connection with it?—A. Absolutely.

The board absolutely' trusted Mr. Parent and on all occasions where they proposed to

remunerate his services he has always protested, saying that he did not want to be

paid as president of the company. But the pressure was so strong from the whole
board that he did accept some compensation for his services.

Bij Mr. Talbot:
\

Q. You have always lived in Quebec or near Quebec?—A. ]No, I have lived in

Quebec since 1874.

Q. You have always taken considerable interest in Canadian affairs since you have

been living in Quebec?—A. Yes.

Q. Generally?—A. Yes.

Q. Can you tell us how long this question of the bridge company has been before

the people?—A. Well, as far as I know the question had been before the people some

30 years before we got our charter in 1887. It had been a live question more or less.

Q. Were there many appeals made to the federal parliament for help in con-

nection with the bridge or financial assistance to secure its construction?—A. Well,

for 10 years from 1887 to 1897 we had le?n c.uitinuary waiting on the government at

Ottawa for financial assistance which had le n promi-ed on certain conditions, but

one way nn l another wo had ucvor got what wo wanted.

Q. When the new company was rcor^ianizod, Mr. Price, did nny of the share-

holders leave the company and go out?—A. Well, I will explain that, ^\'hen the now

company was organized the directors had in the Act—tliey had a clause by which it

was thought advisable as some wanted to get out that the directors would have the

option of buying any stock

Mr. Barker.—I do not want to interrupt, Mr. Chairman, but suioly wo do not

want to piove eveiything that is in the statute?

Mr. Talbot,—We want to know what has occurred in counootion with this

company ?

Mr. Barker.—Your (luestion was proper enough. You asked him what they did.

That is a proper question to answer, but not to go Into the history of the thing, and

why it was done.
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Mr. Talbot.—Then I will follow up my question by asking Mr. Price the reasons

as far as he knows.

Q. Were these shareholders forced out ?—A. No. The clause was drawn ' That
the directors may repay any of the shareholders their stock/ ^ May repay.' The com-
pany found out that the word ' may ' had been changed in the Act to the word ' shall

*

and when they found that out it was too late, the Act had been passed. When we
got the printed copy we found it out and we had to recoup some $450 worth of stock

in consequence.

Q. Since the new company has been reorganized do you find that things have
gone on much more satisfactorily in connection with the bridge question?—A. Well,
unfortunately, they did not go along at all until it was reorganized.

Q. So you consider the real work of the company has begun since its reorganiza-
tion?—A. Yes, there was no life into the company until it was reorganized under the
presidency of Mr. Parent.

Q. Since Mr. Parent has become president of the Transcontinental Eailway Com-
mission has he continued to show interest in the work of the company?—A. He has
shown as much interest as he did previously.

Q. Has he drawn any salary from the company?—A. No.
Q. Since he has become president of the Transcontinental Eailway Commission?

A. No.

By the Chairman:

Q. This statement was made by a public man, member of parliament, and I

want to see what you think of it (reads)

:

^We all know that there are very few gentlemen of the city of Quebec really

interested in this enterprise. I assert that this company in reality is composed of

four or five men at the utmost who have contributed an extremely small sum of money
to the capital stock of the company, but who have taken hold of that enterprise with

most unpatriotic motives, motives of personal gain and private interest.'

What do you say about that statement?—A. Well, of course, the man who made
that statement is utterly ignorant of what the word patriotism means.

Q. There are a great number of shareholders in the city of Quebec interested

in the bridge?—A. Yes. If I am not mistaken there are over 200.

Q. And I suppose most of them became shareholders through patriotism to the

bridge?—A. Entirely. To help Quebec in this enterprise, entirely from that motive.

Q. I suppose the hope of gain was very remote?—A. Well, it has not appeared

so far.

Q. What precautions did the directors take respecting the superstructure, Mr.

Price? Do you know?—A. In which particular point? As regards engineering?

Q. The engineering, yes?—A. Well, as far as the selection of the engineer, they

took the advice of some of the most prominent people, engineers, on this continent, as

to what list they should pick from. A list was made out by inquiries from all quarters

as to who were the most prominent people on this continent capable of inspecting

such a work and from that list names were gradually eliminated until we came down
to the final choice, and that final choice was supported, I-think, by some of the most
prominent men on this continent. They told us that we had ma'de a right choice in

selecting Mr. Cooper.

Q. You got the best man available then?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you itot think there should have been another man with him, or did you
make any effort in that direction?—A. The company were so generally satisfied that

they had the right man and their choice was so generally supported by the engineer-

ing pr,ofession that^ they thought they could not have done better.
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B2/ Mr. Talbot:

Q. Can you tell us if you consider the government made a good bargain in 1903

when they guaranteed the bonds of the company?—A. As far as I can see the govern-

ment got a good deal for (which they did not give anything. For instance, they got

under that act some $265,000 stock, they had the subsidy of $300,000 from the city

of Quebec, and $250,OC0 from ths province of Quebec, they had the unpaid balance

of the subsidy from the Dominion government itself of some $625,000 or $650,000,

and in addition to tbat they h?d the custon:s that would probably, as they calculated,

amount to $1,000,000.

Q. That is on the material?—A. On the material, a total of $2,500,000, taking it

altogether.

Q. Is it your opinion that the government got rather the better, or did the com-
pany get the better of the bargain ?—A. I should say that the government got the best

of the bargain, because they undertook to give the shareholders back their money with

a bonus of 10 per cent, 5 per cent interest, and as it was uncertain how long that might
be before it was redeemed, and it has practically lasted ten years, so that if they

redeemed it to-day that wou"'d be ten times five and the 10 per cent, that would be an

average of 60 per cent ,on the whole investment of the shareholders.

Q. ]\lr. Price, are you satisfied as a director of the company that the company
took" all necessary precautions to prevent any accident or collapse?—A. As much as

human foresight could accomplish.

Q. You had a Mr. COiOper as supervising engineer ?—A. Yes.

Q. What was the reputation of Mr. Cooper?—A. As I have previously stated Mr.

Cooper stood, as far as we could ascertain, at the head of his profession.

Q. Did you consider, at the time, that you could have secured anywhere a better

man?—A. No.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. There is another phase of the case that has struck me. Now, apart from the

actual bridge which spans the river itself, what other assets have the company in

connection with that bridge ?—A. They have no assets.

The Chairman.—You mean the approaches?

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. Well, haven't you some terminals?—A. The approaches go with the bridge, of

course you cannot make a bridge without the approaches.

Q. I grant you that, but have you or have you not connection with tho terminals

of other railways?—A. Yes.

Q. In all, what mileage have you in that respect?—A. I should think about four

miles now—no, on one side it is about four miles, on the south side, and on the other

side I suppose practically to-day there is, it might be eight miles altogether, that is

absolutely built.

Q. That is built?—A. Yes.

Q. Graded and the tracks laid?—A. That is what I undei stand.

Q. That is in connection with the approach?—A. Yes.

Q. And is part of the assets ?—A. Part of the assets.

Q. Of the company?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. Mr. Price, I suppose in your knowledge of tliis undertaking i'rom \\\c boirin-

ning you can tell us whether this should be rightly consiilorod* one of the gre-at

engineering works of the century ?—A. The greatest.

Q. The greatest and at an enormous probable cost. Will you toll us now roughly
in round figures, what the probable expenditure will have nnuninted to on comxiletion?
—A. Between $6/)00,000 and $7,000,0r0.
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Q. Over and above bonuses?—A. Yes.

Q. You do not mean that $6,000,000 or $7,000,000 did not include everything ?—A.

,

It is according to how far the approaches were carried.

Q. I am not going into particulars, I want to know in round figures about what

would be the ultimate expenditure on the undertaking over and above the bonuses.

Dominion, provincial and city?—A. Outside bonuses?

Q. Yes, you see you got a guarantee of $6,800,000 which indicates that there must
have been a very large expenditure?—A. If you deduct the. bonuses from $6,000,000

or $7,000,000 you arrive at about $5,000,000.

Q. Your knowledge as a director of the undertaking is that about $5,000,000 plus

the bonuses would have paid for the work?—A. About that.

Q. Will you tell me why you wanted a guarantee of, $6,800,000?—A. We wanted

it to build tlie bridge.

Q. You wanted it for the money, I suppose, to expend on the undertaking over

and above the bonuses ?—A. Yes.

Q. Why did you want $6,800,000 to pay $5,000,000 ?—A. If you come to deduct

from the $6,678,000 that the Dominion Government guaranteed, there were a good

many things to be deducted from that, discount on bonds and $1,000,000 in customs.

Q. That is all included in the cost of construction, I do not mean to eliminate tne

discount and customs, but I want to test your knowledge as a business man of what
you were superintending as director. What was this undertaking going to cost you
over and above the bonuses of the Dominion and Provincial Governments and the City

of Quebec?—A. We estimated $6,678,000 would cover the cost.

Q. Eoughly that was it?— A. Yes.

Q. The bridge would cost $7,000,000 in round figures?—A. Yes.

Q. Now will you tell me how much money the stockholders of the company put
into that undertaking out of their own pockets and apart from anything they received

from the company?—A. They put in $265,000.

Q. That actually went into the work out of the pockets of the shareholders?

—

A. Yes.

Q. Do you mean that was before the $200,000 or after the $200,000?—A. Before
the $200,000.

Q. The $200,000 that was put in imder the last statute?—A. The $200,000 was
part of the $265,000.

Q. How much outside the $200,000 did the shareholders put into this undertaking
out of their own pockets?—A. The $200,000 was just as much a part of the $265,000

as the other.

Q. You need not argue the question, we will take that up separately. Outside
of the $200,000 how much did the shareholders of this company put into this under-
taking?—A. $65,200.

Q. And out of their own pockets; if you remember I said apart from what they

drew from the company?—A. What they drew from the company went into their

pockets first.

Q. We are not going to catch you in any way; but apart from what they took from
the company, or what they drew from the company, what did they put into this under-

taking?—A. I have said $265,000.

Q. No, that includes the money voted to you as directors?—A. You asked me
how much they put in the undertaking out of their own pockets ?

Q. Independent of what was voted to them by the company and which they put
into stocks?—A. Our fees as directors went into our pockets, and from our pockets

into the company.

Q. If you are a business man you know what I am asking you, we expect you
to be candid in this matter. I ask you again, outside of what was voted to them by
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the company how much did the shareholders of this company put into the undertaking
out of their own pockets ?—A. I am unable to say that because

Q. Well, then, that is an answer, you are unable to say. Now, Mr. Price, you say

you hold $5,200 of fully paid up stock?—A. Yes.

Q. How much of that $5,200 was paid by you out of your own pocket apart

from the money voted to you as director?—A. I never divided it in that way; my fees

came to me in the shape of a cheque and the money would go into my pocket, and then
I paid my calls out of my pocket.

Q. Will you be good enough to divide it now?—A. I am unable to divide it.

Q. You are unable to divide it, you do not know?—A. No.
Q. You told us you do not know of that $5,200 how much you paid in cash and

how much you paid in money voted to you?—A. No, I never lookea it up, it covered
a series of years, and unless I went over it and divided it I could not tell you.

By Mr. Monk.

Q. I see by an answer given by the government in the senate that you received

up to the month of March, 1908, from the company, $3,505.92 ?—A. ThatVould show
there was $1,700, then.

By Mr. BarTcer:

Q. That you paid out of your own pocket, strictly speaking?—A. Yes.

Mr. Galliher.—It would show more than that, as I understand it, because there

were payments made in cash to the directors that were not afterwards taken in stock,

that is the old payments that were made. So that that amount would not represent

that, as there would have to be further deductions from the total amount.

Mr. Barker.—I am not particular about the exact amount, I am rather putting

this question to Mr. Price as a business man for the purpose of testing him to seo

how much he knew about his own interest in the company.
Mr. Galliher.—But I think it is fair to point that out.

Mr. Monk.—That would go rather to contradict the statement just made by Mr.

Price.

Mr. Galliher.—No, it would go to increase the amount he paid in cash?

A. Very much.
Mr. Monk.—No, it would increase the amount he actually received from the com-

pany, but the question that Mr. Barker actually asks is this, ' How much did he pay

in cash into the company apart from the amount that he received from the company
and converted into stock.

Mr. Talbot.—The question was, how much did he pay out of the cash he received.

Mr. Barker.—I am quite willing to leave it as it is, to take ^Fr. Price's state-

ment just as it is, as indicating his knowledge of the business of this company.

By Mr. Barher:

Q. Now, Mr. Price, when was the sale of $472,000 of bonds to Mr. Davis—I am
not sure those are the exact figures, but you know the sale I mean?—A. I do not

remember the date.

Q. I do not want the exact date, but what year?—A. 1 think it is some eight

years ago, I do not know, but something like that.

Q. I am not holding you to a year. About eight years ago the company sold

these bonds to Mr. Davis at 60 cents on the dollar?—A. Yes.

Q. And you say that was a good business transaction from the company's poii\t

of view?—A. Yes.

Q. I suppose that means, then, tliat was the full extent of the tinanoinl credit of

your company at that time; you were worth about 00 cents on the dollar in point of

security?— A, I am sorry I do not look at it in the snnie light as you do
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Q. Possibly not, but if you were worth more than that possibly you could sell

them for more; you say it was a good business transaction. Did you consider you
sold for the full value of the bonds?—A. A good business transaction is generally

to get the highest price possible for anything you have for sale.

Q. You thought that was the highest possible price that could be obtained for

those bonds at that time?—A. Yes.

Q. I think that is a fair inference, that it is an indication of your financial

standing. Mr. Davis had a claim against you for the work he had done?—A. Yes.

Q. Had he any means of getting that except out of you as a company?—A.. No.

Q. He had no security at that time?—A. No.

Q. Did his claim bear interest?—A. No, only his claim naturally would bear

interest under the common law.

Q. Did it bear interest under the common law?—A. Under this compromise
bonds

Q. I am not speaking of any compromise. When he came to you for that deal

he had a claim for so much money?—A. Yes.

Q. Was that claim bearing interest, or was the interest postponed until the com^
pletion of the work?—A. The claim was an ordinary one against the company.

Q. An ordinary claim?—A. Yes.

Q. A noninterest-bearing claim?—A. Well, the common law giving any body
interest

Q. Unless he is entitled to it as a matter of law there was no agreement to pay
him interest?—A. Not that I can remember, I cannot recall that exactly.

Q. So that when he took $472,000 in bonds on account at 60 cents on the dollar,

those bonds not bearing interest at the time, it just left him where he was with regard

to interest, did it not, but he got the bonds?—A. No, he would have interest on his

ordinary claim under the common law, whereas he contracted himself out of interest

by taking the bonds without interest until the substructure was completed.

Q. You say that there was no contract to pay him interest?—A. Not that I re-

member, but he had it under the common law

By Mr. Monk: _
Q. What is this common law that gave him interest on a claim for work done?—

A. Anybody that has a debt owing him has a right to interest on it.

Q. A contractor has, during the pendency of his contract?—A. Yes, if the esti-

mates had been given him, and the amount was due, anything that is past due most
certainly bears interest.

The Chairman.—That would be right, I think.

Mr. Monk.—It is not the law in our province.

The Chairman.—It must be, certainly; supposing a contractor is entitled to pay-

ment on progress estimates and supposing he gets one progress estimate and it be-

comes due, and then a second estimate becomes due and he does not get the money, he
is entitled to interest.

Mr. Monk.—There is only one way he can get interest in our province, and that

is by suit at law.

Mr. Barker.—We had better not argue the law here, let us get the facts.

By the Chairman:

Q. You might make it clear, I do not quite understand, Mr. Price is not making
it clear. Now, did Mr. Davis enter into an agreement whereby he abandoned any
claim for interest up to the time that the substructure was completed?—A. He did,

by accepting that $472,000 bonds at 60 per cent.

Q. How did that suppress the interest, was there an agreement to that effect?

—

A. He was only to be paid interest
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Q. I want to know if there is, an agreement to that effect between Mr. Davis and
the company that the interest was postponed until the completion of the substructure?

Was it in writing, I have not seen it?

Mr. Chisholm.—If I understand Mr. Price right, what he means is this: that

when Mr. Davis did his work he was entitled to pay, and that not having been paid

he would under the common law be entitled to interest as damages for breach of con^

tract to pay him at that time. As he says these damages, which would be interest,

were waived by Mr. Davis by his acceptance of these bonds.

A. In fact, Mr. Davis put himself in a better position by accepting the bonds
because he had some security on the work he had already done, prior to that he had
no security.

By Mr, Barher:

Q. What you think would be the result of it was that interest was stopped on the

$283,000, which was the equivalent of 60 per cent on the amount of the bonds?—A.

Yes.

Q. But he got 40 per cent premium and when the work was completed he got

interest on the whole?—A. Excuse me, there was no premium in the matter, there

was a discount.

Q. When he got the bonds at 60 he had a premium of 40 ?—A. That is a discount.

Q. It was a discount to you, but he got a bonus of 40 per cent on the whole. Dis-

count on the one side means profit on the other. He credited you with $283,000

sjcainst the general account?—A. Yes.

Q. And you say that stopped the interest on $283,000?—A. Yes.

Q. Then he held your bonds and at a certain date he drew 5 per cent on the whole

$472,000, is that right ?—A. He got paid cash.

Q. And he got interest, as the accounts will show?—A. He got interest from the

date the substructure was completed.

Q. So he stopped interest on his current account of $283,000 and he got a bond

for $472,000, and that bond on the completion of the work bore interest at 5 i)er cent?

—A. Yes, he got a bond without any security at the back of it.

Q. On which he received the money, that is the evidence we have here?—A. Yes.

Q. That is a good business transaction on the part of a solvent company, I sup-

pose?—A. A company is very fortunate if they can get bonds bought at 60 cents on

the dollar without any security at their back.

Q. What were those bonds a charge upon?—A. A. charge on the substructure

practically.

Q. And I suppose this $283,000 that he advanced 60 per cent on was a very small

portion of the value of the substructure, was it not?—A. Yes.

Q. It wns, so there was pretty good security there?—A. The substructure was
utterly valueless until the superstructure was put on it.

Q. That would depend upm the mortgage bonds, would it not ?

The Chairman.—Supposing the superstructure were .never completed ?

By Mr. Barher:

Q. Have you a copy of the bond here?—A. No.

Q. Have you ever seen a copy of the bond?—A. Yes, a great many years ago.

Q. Was there a mortgage in conuection with it?—A. It would bo an ordinary

interim bond.

Q. Was there a mortgage in connection with it?—A. The interim bond always

represents a mortgage.

Q. Then there was a mortgage on something on which those interim bonds wore

issued?—A. Yes.

Q. So he had that, whatever it was, as his security?—A. Yes.
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Q. And he took them at 60 per cent and yon gave them to him at a discount?—
A. Yes, willingly.

Q. Well, I can see that, very plainly, it was a good thing for him. Without
taking these bonds, I suppose he stood in the position of having an ordinary debt at

law against you?—A. He was a creditor without security.

Q. Simply on his contract, and you had a large portion of the work done and he

had no security whatever except the right to sue you at law?—A. Yes.

Q. And you think it was a good business transaction on the part of your company
to give him $1.00 for 60 cents secured by mortgage on some property?—A. There are

various sorts of mortgages, some mortgages are only paper ones.

Q. I know, but this was a mortgage as good as you could give, I suppose?—A. It

was the best we had.

Q. You gave him the best mortgage you had upon the work done by himself, on
which you had paid large sums?—A. Yes.

Q. And therefore this $283,000 was secured upon property, a large portion of

which had been paid for, and you gave him that on a mere claim that he had the right

^ to sue upon?—A. Yes.

Q. And you gave him a bonus of 40 per cent?—A. No, we did not give him a

bonus.

Q. By the way, you gave him 100 for 60, didn't you ?—A. There was no bonus.

Q. You gave him ICO for every 60 of that credit ?—A. Excuse me, you talk about

bonus, I use the word discount.

Q. I am taking it from Mr. Davis' point of view, you gave him $100 for every

$60 he gave you credit for, that is the transaction, is it not? He realized 100 on tne

bonds?—A. On the bonds.

Q. And you think that was a good business transaction from the company's point

of view?—A. Most decidedly I do.

Q. I suppose it greatly improved Mr. Davis' position?—A. We did not see it by
his demeanour.

Q. You did not. It ultimately became very valuable, did it not?—A. Distance

lends enchantment to the view sometimes.

Q. Especially when you realize on the enehantment. Now you did inquire about

Mr. Cooper, you say. You made a great many inquiries?—A. Yes.

Q. In wliat capacity did you employ Mr. Cooper?—A. As engineer in chief—as

consulting engineer, I should say.

Q. As consulting engineer?—A. Yes.

Q. Who was the engineer in chief, the engineer in charge?—A. Mr. Hoare.

Q. How long have you known Mr. Hoare?—A. How long from now, or from when

we engaged him ?

Q. From now, say, how long have you known him ?—A. I have known him over

thirty years.

Q. You are aware that Mr. Hoare was an ordinary railway engineer, wasn't he,

on general construction work on railways?—A. Well, I would not class him under the

word ' ordinary.'

Q. Oh no, you could say ' superior ' ?—A. Yes.

Q. He was an engineer on construction work for the railway?—A. Yes, he was

an engineer, more than an ordinary engineer, because he was in charge of the whole

Lake St. John system.

Q. That is a provincial railway running north for how many miles?—A. Some

200 miles, I suppose.

Q. I think that is a fair statement of his position. He would have the general

charge of the construction of that railway and of the maintenance of it, and in that

capacity he would have to look after the ordinary bridges on the railway?—A. Yes.
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Q. Did you know, or do you know, that Mr. Hoare was ever connected with any

great bridge construction work, apart from the ordinary bridge on the railway?

—

A. I do not know exactly what work he has done; I know he has had a varied experi-

ence.

Q. In the way you have spoken of?—A. Generally on bridge work, on railways

and on general engineering work.

Q. But are you able to say that you do know he was connected with any large,

very large, bridge construction in metal?—A. I believe he built the largest bridge for

che Lake St. John, or the Great Northern at Hawkesbury, I believe a cantilever bridge.

Q. He built an iron or steel bridge I presume?—A. Yes.

Q. For the Lake St. John Railway?—A. Or the Great Northern.

Q. Have you had any knowledge, Mr. Price, in your long and varied experience

as a bridge director whether these railway engineers design these bridges themselves?

—A. Well I presume they are designed in connection with the bridge company that

builds the bridge.

By Mr. Monh

:

Q. Do you know has Mr. Hoare ever built a cantilever bridge in his life?—A. He
was engineer for one. I don't know how far he drew the plans and how far the bridge

company that built the bridge drew the plans, but I presume the two heads worked

together.

Q. He was engineer for a cantilever bridge?—A. I presume so.

Q. Where?—A. He built the bridge at Hawkesbury, I believe.

By Mr. Barher:

Q. That is the Lake St. John Railway?—A. The Great Northern.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. You say the bridge at Hawkesbury is a cantilever bridge?—A. I think on this

subject Mr. Scott would be better posted.

By Mr. Barher:

Q. You don't know ?—A. No.

Q. You do know something about these things. Are you not aware that when
a railway company is getting a metal bridge constructed it sends to an expert bridge
builder all the particulars, the general particulars and gets him to design the bridge?
—A. Yes.

Q. So that Mr. Hoare, in doing what you say as engineer of the St. John Railway,
would get the design of the bridge prepared by the expert of the bridge company?
— A. I presume he would consult with other people, yes.

Q. You know, do you not, that is the practice?—A. Yes.

Q. So that being the engineer of the railway company all he would have to do
would be to ascertain the necessary span and the kind of traffic?—A. Yes.

Q. And submit that to the expert engineer of the bridge company, who won id

design the bridge accordingly?—A. Yes.

Q. And that is the kind of professional knowledge that Mr. Hoare, who was the

chief engineer of this immense, world wide, renowned \indertnking of yours had. and
he was to control and manage it on the spot?—A. Yes. I should say tlu\t ^[r. Hoare
really was the engineer on the spot under Mr. Cooper's direction.

Q. Well I was just coming to that. Mr. Hoare was the engineer in charge ?—A.
Yes.

Q. Where did Mr. Cooper live?—A. He has a residence in Now York.

Q. And has an office there?—A. Yes.

Q. His office and residence were in New York and he was to be consulted by the

engineer in charge?—A. Yes.
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Q. Did you provide that Mr. Cooper was to pay regular visits to the work?—A.
Well he paid the visits that as consulting engineer he deemed necessary.

Q. That is too general. I want to know, as a fact, did you provide in your
arrangement with Mr. Cooper that he personally should examine the work from time

to time?—A. He was responsible.

Q. I have not asked you that. You know the question I put. Did you provide

that Mr. Cooper was to personally visit the work and inspect it from time to time?—

•

A. He would make what visits he deemed necessary.

Q. I did not ask you what he deemed necessary. I asked you did you provide that

he was to go to that bridge from week to week, or from any period to another period,

and see for himself what was going on?—A. He undertook to supervise the work and

make any visits that were necessary.

Q. But you did not provide for any specific visits or any periodical visits?—A.

There were no stated ones.

Q. That was left to his discretion entirely?—A. Yes.

Q. By the by, do you know Mr. Cooper's age?—A. I do not know his age.

I know it is over 60.

Q. Eh?—A. I know it is over 60.

Q. Over 60. Is that the highest you can go?—A. Well I have not seen him for

some years.

Q. Well we will probably get his age exactly. Did you ever see Mr. Cooper?—A.

Yes.

Q. At the bridge?—A. No, in New York.

Q. You went to New York?—A. I have seen him in Quebec.

Q. But never at the bridge. How did Mr. Hoare consult Mr. Cooper?—A. Con-

sulted him when he has been in Quebec and also in New York. Mr. Hoare was con-

stantly in New York.

Q. He was constantly going to New York for the purpose, was he?—A. And for

other business in connection with the Phoenix Bridge Company.
Q. If he was going for other purposes it had nothing to do with the consulting

engineer?—A. Yes.

Q. Did he frequently go to New York to^consult the consulting engineer?—A.

He went to New York on bridge business connected with the Phoenix Bridge and to

see Mr. Cooper, he killed two birds with one stone.

Q. Who else was employed, other than these two gentlemen, in the way you have
mentioned?—A. There were inspectors of the work and, of course, the Phoenix

Q. Was the inspector employed by the company?—A. Yes, employed by the com-
pany.

Q. By the Quebec Bridge?—A. By the Quebec Bridge and Kailway Company.
Q. Who was he?—A. It was Mr. McClure.

Q. What was he?—A. I suppose he was a sort of

Q. Eh?—A. He supervised the work personally.

Q. What was he professionally?—A. An engineer.

Q. What was his experience?—A. Varied.

Q. Eh?—A. Varied.

Q. Did he have any knowledge of bridge building?—A. I don't know. T know
that he had some experience before he came there and was looked upon as a man quite
competent for the position.

Q. Had he any knowledge of the practical work?—A. Yes, the practical work.
Q. A sort of inspecting foreman,I suppose?—A. Yes.

Q. When the catastrophe occurred I understand the engineer had to go to New
York to see the consulting engineer ?—A. Yes.

Q. Before it had actually taken place?—A. Yes.



RE MONEYS PAID TO QUEBEC BRIDGE COMPANY 89

APPENDIX No. 6

Q. The consulting engineer did not come to the bridge?—A. No, but he was

advised by wire.

Q. So the consultation was, therefore, 100 miles away from the work, you see.

Who consulted Mr. Cooper?—A. Well I believe the whole is in that correspondence.

Q. I want to know personally who went to New York to see Mr. Cooper?—A.

Mr. McClure, I believe.

Q. Anyone else?—A. I believe Mr. McClure went personally at that time.

Q. Mr. McClure alone?—A. Yes.

Q. So the inspecting foreman on the bridge, there being danger, went off to New
York to see the consulting engineer?—A. Yes.

Q. Where was Mr. Hoare?—A. He was on the bridge,

vi. He did not go to New York?—A. No.

Q. And Mr. Cooper did not come to the bridge?—A. No.

Q. Eh?—A. No, except that Mr. Hoare had advised him.

Q. And while they were skipping to and fro the bridge went down?—A. It looks

like it.

Q. Now you say you thought the government made a very good bargain in the

last deal?—A. Yes.

Q. And you say that they got a large part of their subsidy which was unpaid?

—

A. They did not pay it. In fact

Q. That was gained to the government?—A. Yes.

Q. And what else do you say they got?—A. They got $2,265,000 of stock. They
got the provincial subsidy

Q. That included the money you had subscribed about 20 years ago ?—A. No, no.

Q. That $5,000 was money you paid partly with the votes and partly with cash

out of your own pocket?—A. No. There was only some $200,000 subscribed when the

new company paid up I think. The new company I think took over the

Q. I wish you to leave out of the bargain for a moment the $200,000 which had
not then been paid in. You say the government got $265,000?—A. Yes.

Q. They got an undertaking that you would find that money, the $200,000?—A.

Yes.

Q. And they got the money that had all been spent some years before?— A. Yes,

they had $550,000 subsidies.

Q. I just wanted to find out. You say they got all. What else do you say the

government got?—A. They got a subsidy $300,000 from the city of Quebec and
$260,000 from the province.

Q. That had all been spent, had it not?—A. Yes, and some $350,000 of their own
money. And then the balance was cancelled.

Q. They were making money very rapidly?—A. Yes.

Q. And this was a good bnrgain for them?—A. I think so.

Q. But tbey left the thing in y^iir hands?— 1. Well I would like to know wha'.

better hands it could have been left in.

Q. I can quite understand that. They did not take the property but they gave
it to you and they were making money that way. Was that your evidence?—A.
When they guaranteed the bonds we became practically trustees.

Q. You became practically trustees?—A. Yes.

Q. And you took control?—A. Well, trustees generally have control.

Q. But you had a beneficiary control?—A. It was a benefit to the government.
Q. I see you really thought that was a good bargain for the government?—A.

That is really what I honestly thought.

Q. To guaranteee $6,800,000 to enable you to go on?—A. $6,678,000.

Q. Yes, but I was speaking in round figures. They guaranteed that and left you
in full control?—A. Yes.

6—8
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Q. You appointed the engineer and the consulting engineer?—A. Yes.

Q. And they said ' God bless you ' and let you go on and make all this money
out of it? Is that what your view of it is?—A. You are so difficult to follow when
you go into these

Q. Well I will drop any prayers or anything of that kind. That was really, Mr.

Price, what ;^^ou considered a good thing for the government?—A. That is what I

honestly think.

Q. You say the shareholders took the risk?—A. Yes.

Q. What was your risk? You paid up in full and spent it?—A. The shareholders

had nothing practically to gain and a possibility of loss.

Q. Your words wen; the government got everything and you took the risk?—A.

Yes.

Q. You had paid uf, your own stock? For example $5,200 of yours is fully paid

up?—A. And if there was any profit to come out of the bridge we did not get it.

The government would take over all our work and the risk we had taken practically

for 6 per cent interest.

Q. And, Mr. Price, you really wish us to understand that that $5,200 of your

stock was worth a doll-^r at that time?—A. It was worth a dollar plus 5 per cent

interest and a possible- -—
Q. Is'o but you were speaking a little while ago of actual values in the market?—

A. Yes, I did.

Q. Could you have sold your stock for 50 cents?—A. No, and I would not have
sold it for anything under par.

Q. Then your risk was of losing the stock that was worth nothing ?—A. I am afraid

that you

Q. I am taking your position as you explained it a little while ago. You said

the government got everything and the shareholders took the risk?—A. The share-

holders took the risk and they took it to benefit the district.

Q. Supposing the government had not guaranteed this $6,800,000 what would
have become of the concern?—A. Excuse me correcting you, you have $122,000 over

stated the amount they guaranteed.

Q. Well I will say if you like six and a half millions, I am speaking in round
figures?—A. I would not like the bond indebtedness increased.

Q. I think you are quite right to be a little touchy on that matter. What is

the exact amount ?—A. $6,678,000.

Q. Now then supposing the government had not chosen to guarantee that $6,678,-

000, where would your company have been ?—A. Where would the company have been ?

Q. Yes?—A. Well it would mean that the interim bonds given Davis were value-

less.

Q. They would never be worth a cent to the company?—A. No.

Q. You took all the risk of losing that? Is that the risk you took?—A. We had

nothing to gain under the Act of 1903.

Q. You had only something to lose? You took all the risk, you say?—A. Yes.

Q. In addition to the $6,678,030 you had a floating debt, had you not?—A. No.

A floating debt? There is always in any company a certain amount of unpaid indebt-

edness. But we had bonds back of that to pay it.

Q. You had bonds back of that to pay it?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, Mr. Price, you have told us that the affairs of the company were con-

ducted in a businesslike manner throughout?—A. Yes.

Q. You assert that as an ex-bank manager and as a business man?—A. Yes.

Q. Of varied experience. Do you think when you as a company agreed to issue

and get in $200,000 of stock, as a consideration of that guarantee, that it was sound

business conduct to pay that $200,000 out of the proceeds of the guaranteed bonds or

any part of that sum?—A. I do not understand exactly the import of your question.

Q. You say the company was conducted on sound business principles?—A. Yes.
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Q. I think those were your words?—A. Yes.

Q. I ask you, having undertaken to procure subscribed and paid-up stock of

$200,000 as a condition of the government giving you that guarantee A. Yes.

Q. Was it sound business conduct to use the proceeds of the guaranteed bonds
to put into the company's treasury that $200,000 or any part of it?—A. The $200,000

was absolutely paid up in cash.

Q. You actually found it out of the proceeds of the bonds at first?—A. Yes, at

first, I believe.

Q. And you thinlc that was sound business conduct?—A. Well it was

Q, Do you think that was sound?—A. It was a book-keeping entry more than

anything else.

Q. Then when the government made a condition of your getting this guarantee

that you should put up the cash you think it was sound business conduct to simply

do it by making a book-keeping entry?—A. I say that actually the $200,000 was paid-

up out of the stock.

Q. Ultimately?—A. Yes.

Q. Yes, but the contract was not that you should do it ultimately. As a consider-

ation for the government's guarantee you were to replace the capital, were you not?

—

A. It made no difference at all except as a book-keeping entry, the result was the same.

Q. I suppose, Mr, Price, jou told the government that, did you?—A. The gov-

ernment generally knows things without being told.

Q. You assumed that, did you?—A. I don't know what we assumed, it is so

long ago.

Q. Did you or did you not tell the government, or any member of the govern-

ment, that you were using the proceeds of these guaranteed bonds to pay that $200,000,

or any part of it, into your treasury?—A. I did not myself.

Q. Did anybody?—A. Beyond myself I cannot speak.

Q. Do you know?—A. No, I do not.

Q. Did you ever hear?—A. No.

Q. Were the directors ever asked by the government if they had found that

$200,000 of paid-up capital?—A. I do not remember. I know that the transaction

—

the result was absolutely the same, the result was the same.

Q. You knew it was being done in the way it has been done?—A. Yes.

Q. You did know that?—A. Yes.

Q. You did not communicate, I understand, your knowledge that that was being

done to any member of the government?—A. It was looked upon as regular.

By the Chairman:

Q. Did you not have a solicitor looking after that?—A. Yes, we have done every-

thing under legal advice.

By Mr. Barker :

Q. Did you consult your solicitor as to whether you could do it in that way?

—

A. I presume I did.

Q. You either did or you did not, I do not want you to say you xu-osume?—A.

Then I will say I don't know.

By the Chairman:

Q. Who prepared the plans of this bridge, was it ^Ir. Cooper?—A. I believe Mr.

Cooper and Mr. Szlapka.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. Just to clear up a few points, Mv. Price. I suppose you wore not hearing

while the bridge was going along, and before this unfortunate accident hapjx'ned, any
comments as to the wisdom of your giving these interim bonds at 00 per cent, to Mr.
Davis?—A. It was never questioned.

6—8i
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Q. There was nothing coming up about that?—A. No.

Q. The outside business world were not making any remarks about that?—A. I

never heard any comment upon it.

Q. And I do not suppose there would have been any, but for the accident, at the

present day?—A. No.

Q. Now, Mr. Hoare was the engineer of construction on the work?—A. Yes.

Q. That was his position, was it not?—A. Yes.

Q. He did not prepare the plans?

Mr. Barker.—Are you giving testimony or asking .questions? You say he did

not prepare the plans instead of asking the witness if ho had.

Mr. Galliher.—-Of course as my honourable friend wants the examination' to be
confined strictly to rules of court

Mr. Barker.—There is a great difference between asking a question and telling

the witness that a person did a certain thing. Let us have a little moderation.

Mr. Galliher.—^Does it make any difference whether I ask the witness ' did not

Hoare prepare the plans ' or ' who prepared them ' ?

Mr. Barker.—It is a different thing for you to tell him that Mr. Hoare or some-

body else prepared the plans.

The Chairman.—You had better go on and ask the question.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. Did Mr. Hoare prepare the plans of this bridge?—A. No, I believe Mr.

Szlapka in conjunction with Mr. Cooper.

Q. Did Mr. Hoare have anything to do with the designs of this bridge ?—A. No,

I believe not.

Q. With the passing on the plans or designs of the bridge?—A. No, he had no

authority in that way.

Q. By whom were they passed upon?—A. Mr. Cooper.

Q. Mr. Hoare was the engineer on construction?—A. On construction, yes.

Q. How did the material come to build the bridge from the contractors, the Phoenix

Bridge Company? By that I mean did it come in accordance with plans and specific-

ations?—A. It came absolutely according to contract. There was a certain

Q. And what were Mr. Hoare's duties when the timber, or iron, or whatever

material it was came there?—A. His duty was generally to look over and see that

everything was according to the contract and he reported to Mr. Cooper from time to

time. He took his orders

Q. What about the placing of the material in the structure?—A. That was in the

hands of the Phoenix Bridge Company absolutely.

Q. Those were his duties and he performed those in connection with the construc-

tion of the bridge?—A. Exactly.

Q. Now clear up the matter of the $5,200 which you took out in shares. I find on
September 3rd, 1901, a vote of $10,000 to the shareholders of which an amount of

$795.92 was allowed to you as one of the directors?—A. Yes.

Q. That $705.92 was used by you in taking '800 shares?—A. $800.

Q. $800 of shares rather on the 15th January, 1902?—A. Yes.

Q. Making the difference I suppose between $795 and $800?—A. Yes.

Q. That represents $800 that you got by vote for services that you invested in

shares?—A. Yes.

Q. On September 2nd, 1902, I find a vote of $5,000 for the same purpose and you
received the sum of $400?—A. Yes.

Q. You re-invested that, taking that amount in shares ?—A. Yes.

Q. That makes $800 and $400. Later on there was another $400 od the Ist

October, 1903, which you also took out in shares ?—A, Yes.
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Q. Making in all $1,600 that you paid in for shares out of moneys that you had
received?—A. Yes.

Q. That sum deducted from $5,200 would leave $3,600 of actual money put in by
you out of your own pocket outside the moneys voted you which you put in?—A, Yes,

I took $3,500 as per that return. I took the honourable member's question to mean
what was the difference between the $3,500 that I had received and the $5,200 of

stock. Of course, I had paid out a good deal in cash but I took it to be the total

that I had received as per that return in stock and the total of

Q. I merely (want to- clear up, what did not seem to have been made very clear,

the amount that you had actually paid ?—A. In cash ?

Q. Out of your own pocket, independent of these votes, out of the $5,200 of stock?

—A. Yes.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. It is not a very important matter but that part of your examination, I think

requires to be cleared up. Are you in a position to tell us to-day how much you
received from the company for services or otherwise?—A. No, except by that return

I see I have received about $3,500, but I bought a good deal of stock and paid for it in

cash previous to that. But, of course, since then my fees have come up to $3,500 in all.

Q. You cannot tell us how much you received from the company?—A. No, except

by that return,

Q. That is the only source of information you have?—A. I should say it would

be about that. That would be about 7 years' fees at $500 a year.

Q. Can you tell us how much you paid into the company in cash i—A. $1,700, the

difference between the total of my fees and the total of my stock.

Q. Is that correct?—A. That is correct.

Q. You said that Mr. Hoare reported from time to time to Mr. Cooper?—A. Yes.

Q. Have you any personal knowledge of that? Do you know that he reported?

—

A. Yes, because it came up at the Board meeting.

Q. Were these written reports he sent to Mr. Cooper ?—A. Yes.

Q. On the bridge work?—A. Yes> on the bridge work. He constantly reported

to the board.

Q. He constantly reported to the Board that he had reported to Mr. Cooper?—A.
All the time, he was keeping him posted.

Q. Do you know if he made reports in writing?—A. Yes.

Q. How do you know that?—A. Because at the Board meeting he reported that he
had written. He would sometimes read his report to Mr. Cooper. He practically

always attended.

Q. Did you ever see any of these written reports?—A. Well he would come to

the Board meeting sometimes and read us the things he had written to Cooper and
extracts from his reports.

Q. Did you go down to New York when the engagement of Mr. Cooper took
place?—A. I was in New York on other occasions with the Hon. Mr. Parent.

Q. Did you see Mr. Cooper?—A. Yes.

Q. Were you present when his services were engaged?—A. Well I do not know
whether it was the very day, but I was there on two occasions, I remember, at the
commencement when we first discussed it.

Q. Did you confer with any other bridge expert, apart from Mr. Cooper, before
undertaking the work?—A. Not myself jK^rsonally, but we nunle a groat many
inquiries in the United States with reference to all the loading bridgx> engineers*.

Q. Do you klnow if Mr. Cooper came often to the bridge during its construction ?

—A. I do not know the exact number of times, but they were limited.

Q. Can you speak as to about how often he came?—A. I could not say.
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Q. Did you hear of the possibility of an accident to the bridge before the acci-

dent actually occurred?—A. The directors never heard one single remark about any
danger or any possibility of it.

Q. Was any report made to you that anything had gone wrong with the bridge

at any time?—A. 'No.

Q. The first you heard that anything had gone wrong A. Was the fall.

Q. You never heard any report before that?—A. I never heard one single word as
'

to the danger'.

Q. Are you aware that some defect had become manifest before the accident?

—

A. I saw there were defects in the report of the Royal Commission.

Q. That was the first you heard of it?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, Mr. Price, were you and your co-directors in Quebec at the time of

the accident?—A. Yes—well, I can't say they were all there, I was there, I know.

Q. The others are all residents of Quebec, are they not?—A. Yes.

Q. Can you give us some idea of the financial position of the company to-day?

—

A. Well, it is an unknown quantity.

Q. But are you not in a position to give us some statement of its liabilities to-day,

at the present moment?—A. The liabilities? If everything were carried Jut accord-

ing to the existing legislation there would be about enough money to pay the obliga-

tions and to complete the work.

Q. But to-day, is it your opinion as a business man that there are enough assets

to meet liabilities?—A. There were, I am speaking of conditions before the fall, of

course.

Q'. I am speaking of now, since the accident.

By the Chairman:

Q. Have you any money?—A. Practically nothing.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Is there a large floating debt to-day?—A. No, I do not think so.

Q. You say there is not?—A. No, not a floating debt.

Q. What would be the extent of the floating debt to-day?

—

K. The floating debt

is practically nothing.

Q. It has no liabilities outside the bond issue to-day?—A. No.

By the Chairman:

Q. Or what you might owe the Phoenix Bridge Company, whatever that is?—A.

What we owe the Phoenix Bridge Company, but it is impossible to say whether that is

a liability or not.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Have the directors conferred among themselves with reference to that, have

you had any sittings since the accident ?—A. Several.

Q. And what is your position with regard to the Phoenix Bridge Company?—A.

It is undefined.

Q. Is that company solvent to-day?—A. It depends upon where the liability rests

for the fall of the bridge.

Q. If that liability exists would you call it a solvent company?—A. I am afraid

they could not stand the blow, that is my own private opinion.

Q. Was the bridge insured at any time?—A. No.

Q. Is there any such a thing as insuring a bridge under construction ?—A. I have
heard there is some company does it, but in this case I do not know that there is such

a thing.

Q. You never inquired?—A. You can do it with buildings, but I do not know if

you can with bridges?
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Q. The Board never inquired as to that?—A. No, it was not the Board's liability.

Q. It was not the Board's liability?—A. No.

Q. Whose liability was it?—A. The Phoenix Bridge Company's.

Q. What was the extent to which the Phoenix Bridge Company had been paid upon
its contract at the time of the accident?—A. Some $3,000,000.

Q. What was the total amount of the contract ?—A. It was difficult to say, they
were paid so much per pound upon the metal that went into the bridge.

Q. You have had, therefore, an insurable interest in reference to $3,000,000 of

material that had gone into the bridge, that belonged to the company?—A. Yes.

Q. As to the terminals, are you able to say approximately how much has been
spent upon the terminals, that is the railroad approaches to the bridge?—A. I think
some $700,000.

Q. On the approaches?—A. I think so.

By the Chairman:

Q. That is outside the piers?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Talbot:

Q. Is that in construction or for the purchase of land?—A. I think the last bal-

ance sheet shows that?

By Mr. Monk :

Q. Has there been any expropriation of land ?—A. Yes.
'

Q. Do you know approximately what has been spent on land ?—A. No, I do not

know the total cost.

Q. Can you give any figure ?—A. No, of course it goes into the cost of ap-

proaches.

Q. Can you tell me in whose name the approaches are vested, actually vested ?

—

A. The Quebec Bridge & Railway Company.
Q. Are there none of these approaches vested in other names ?—A. Not that I

am aware of.

Q. Are there any options existing as regards property in the vicinity of the

bridge ?—A. No, I think not.

Q. Are you sure that there is no such thing as options existing ?—A. Of money
that the company have paid out ?

Q. On any land approaching the bridge for the purpose of the bridge, any option ?

—A. By whom ?

Q. That is what I am asking you ?

By the C\hairman :

Q. Mr. Monk wants to know if the company holds to-day any option on lands in

connection with their undertaking ?—A. The company, naturally, where they are

making approaches get offers from people before they build, instead of expropriation

they get offers from persons for the purpose before thoy proceed to expropriate.

By Mr. Monk :

Q. Do these offers exist to-day to your knowledge ?—A. I do not know what
exists to-day, but of course there have been offers, and where they were not aeeeptablo

the company has in every case gone to expropriation.

Q. Where would these offers be ?—A. With the secretary.

Q. From the north end of the bridge towards Quebec are there any options at

present in force in favour of the company or for the company ?—A, I do not know
what options are existing to-day, but all purchases are approved of by the Board.

Do these purchases appear on the minutes of the Board?—A. Yes.
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By Mr. Bdrher :

Q. Did you make any inquiry on behalf of the Quebec Bridge Company as to the

stability, financial and otherwise, of the Phoenix Bridge Company when you made the

contract with them ?—A. Yes, we considered that they had been generally successful

in all their undertakings.

Did you make any inquiry into their financial position ?—A. Their financial

position ?

Q. What was the capital stock of the company ?—A.-
. I believe the capital is

limited, I do not know exactly what it is.

Q. Their capital is limited, of course, what would you say it was, $50,000?—A.
Yes, a great deal more than that.

Q. $100,000 ?—A. About half a million, but of course it was not altogether their

financial standing, but their character

Q. I am not speaking of their reputation as bridge builders, but as to their finan-

cial capacity for carrying out this contract. What did you ascertain as to their

capital?—A. We understood that their capital was limited, but they were well supported

by the Phoenixville Iron Company, an independent company, a very wealthy corpora-

tion.

Q. This bridge company that you contracted with was an offshoot of the Phoenix-

ville Iron Company ?—A. Yes.

Q. The Phoenixville Iron Company was a concern that had various offshoots for

undertaking contracts?—A. I do not know of any offshoot except the Bridge Com-
pany.

Q. That was one of them ?—A. Yes.

Q. You did not get any contract from the Phoenixville Iron Company ?—A. No.

Q. You took this allied company ?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Monh :

Q. Had you a report from any Mercantile Agency as regards the solvency and
stability of this company?—A. Yes, we made general inquiries from bankers, I re-

member on one occasion Mr. Parent and myself were in Philadelphia, and we went to

see Drexell & Co., bankers, and they spoke most hrighly of them, and they were the

financial backers of the bridge company with whom we were then discussing the con-

tract. -

By Mr. Walsh (Huntingdon) :

Q. Was there a statement from R. G. Dun & Co. before the Board in regard to

this company ?—A. I presume there was, I do not know that, but we made a personal

visit to Philadelphia, and examined into their financial standing, and one of the

greatest bankers in Philadelphia, Drexell & Co., spoke most favourably of their ability

to carry out anything they undertook.

By Mr. Monh :

Q. Do you know where that report of R. G. Dun & Company is ?—A. No.
Q. Do you know that this company was organized for the purpose of building this

bridge ?—A. No, it has been in existence for a good many years.

Q. Has it built any large bridges ?—A. Yes, a great many.

By the Chairman :

Q. It has built bridges all over the world, hasn't it?—A. Well, all over this con-

tinent, I know.

Q. Didn't they build a bridge in Africa?—A. Yes, I believe they did, on the
Nile there.
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By Mr. Monh :

Q. Do you know anything about Mr. Szlapka?—A. No, except by reputation.

Q, Do you Imow if he designed the bridge himself ?—A. I believe he did.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. In speaking about the liabilities of the company, in answer to Mr. Barker,, yoa

staled, I think that you have practically no liabilities outside the liabilities on the

bond^?—A. Yes.

Q. Did you take into consideration your Bank of Montreal account? Is there a

liability, special account, or otherwise?—A. Well, if the bonds were all paid up and
redeemed that liability would disappear out of the proceeds.

Q. That may be, but is there an existing liability with that bank ?—A. Yes, there

is one.

Q. Do you know the amount as to that, Mr. Price?—A. Some $400,000, I think

—

not exactly.

Q. It is in the evidence that it is $174,434.31; I merely wish to draw Mr. Price's-

attention to the matter, which I thought he had forgotten.—A. Yes.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Do you know that there is $174,000 due to the Customs Department of the

Government?—A. Yes, but when I spoke of liabilities I thought you put it in the

light, was there any liability accruing to the company that we had no assets to redeem ?

Q. No, any floating liability?—A. Yes, but the floating liabilities would be wiped
off by the realization of the bonds.

By Mr. BarJcer:

Q. If sold?—A. Yes, presuming they were sold.

Q. Do you not owe the government a very considerable sum?—A. I think the

government owe us.

Q. Have not the government redeemed a certain portion of the Bank of Montreal

claim?—A. Yes, but then the

Q. Don't you owe them that money?—A. Well, we do, but there is an asset

against it.

Q. What asset is against it?—A. The bonds.

Q. Which the government guarantee?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Ghisholm:

Q. Leaving out the shareholders and the compensation to the directors?—A. Yes.

Q. The disbursements made to the directors were for the whole amount of their

compensation?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, coming back to the meeting of the shareholders, was there no uudei-stand-

ing or agreement between the shareholders and the directors that the compensation

to the directors should be used in the manner that it was afterwards used?—A. All

grants to the Board (were seconded by vote of the shareholders, x^roposed and seconded

at the annual general meeting.

Q. And the purchase or the buying of stock to the amount voted by the share-

holders was a matter agreed upon amongst the directors themselves?—A. Entirely.

Q. And the shareholders did not suggest it, or nuike an agroenient that it should

be applied in that way?—A. No, the directors bought the stock entirely to help the

finances of the compimy.

Q. You could have put that money in your pocket?—A. Yes.
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By Mr. Tallot:

Q. Have all the moneys raised by the company been spent for no other purpose

than construction?—A. For the purpose of construction?

Q. Yes, are you aware that any of the money that has been raised has been spent

for any other purpose than construction?—A. Oh yes, the general expenses of the

company, of course, were paid out of that.

By Mr. Chisholm:

Q. That is practically construction?—A. Well, if you include that in construction.

Q. Are you aware of any expenditure in any shape or form whereby any of the

shareholders or directors or anybody else may have benefited improperly by it?—A.

I can honestly declare that not one single dollar, to my knowledge, has gone out of

this company to any source whatever except what has been told to this committee, and
except it is perfectly legal in every way.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Are you aware of a resolution passed at a meeting of the shareholders in which

reference is made to the payment of moneys to your co-directors and yourself on the

understanding that it is to be taken out in stock? Were you aware of such a resolu-

tion?—A. Well, I do not know whether there was a resolution to that effect, but that

was the understanding that we were to take stock for the amount of our fees.

Mr. Chisholm.—That understanding was amongst the directors?

By Mr. Monk:

Q. I am spesking about a resolution by the shareholders, you are sure there is no

such resolution?—A. No, I do not remember any such resolution nor do I remember it

ever being discussed at any meeting of the shareholders.

Q. Or any resolution of the shareholders confirming any resolution of the directors

in which that urderslanding is incorporated?—A. As regards the application of the

fees?

Q. Yes?—A. No.

Q. Do you say ncne that you know of, or that-there is no such resolution?—A. I

am satisfied it was never discussed by the sharehoMers.

By the Chairman:

Q. But that was the understanding among the directors ?—A. That was the under-

standing.

Q. At one time the company wanted to have another consulting engineer as an
assistant to Mr. Cooper, didn't you?—A. Yes.

Q. And Mr. Cooper objected to it, did he?—A. Mr. Cooper said if a consulting
engineer were appointed that he would resign immediately.

Q. He did not want to have any divided authority?—A. He said he was compe-
tent himself and did not want any one else there.

Witness discharged.

Committee rose.

The Committee resumed at 4 o'clock, p.m.

Mr. H. M. Price.—Mr. Chairman, I desire to make a statement before you pro-
ceed further in connection with my evidence this morning. I believe there was some
little misapprehension as regards my answer to the question about the $200,000, if the
$188,721 was paid out of the bonds. We had previously been speaking of $188,500,
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and Mr. Barker had said he was only dealing in round figures, and I was thinking of

the $188,500 as being $200,000, as he was speaking of round figures; I said it was
absolutely paid out of the bonds; that was done but it was corrected afterwards by a

cross-entry in the books. I would like the question to be read to me so as to be cer-

tain there was no mistake in my answer.

The Chairman.—I do not think there is any misapprehension, Mr. Price, I under-

stood it that way and the other members of the committee so understood it.

Mr. Price.—Some of my friends were under the misapprehension that I had con-

fused that $200,000 stock subscription. I think I made the point clear that the $200,-

000 stock subscription was absolutely paid in cash.

The Chairman.—Yes, you made that quite clear. It was first settled by taking

something from the bond account, but it was afterwards transferred back. I think

you made that quite clear.

Mr. Monk.—It is clear from the documents.

Mr. Gaspard Lemoine,, called, sworn and examined.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. Mr. LeMoine, where do you reside?—A. At Quebec, sir.

Q. How long have you been living in Quebec?—A. Since I was born.

Q. What is your position there now?—A. I sm a merchant.

Q. Have you ever been associated with other institutions in an official capacity—A.

1 have teen president end vice-president of the Quebec and Lake St. John Railway, a

director of the Quebec bank and have been associated with other institutions as well.

Q. You are a director of this Quebec Bridge 'Company?—A. Also a director of

the Quebec Bridge Company.
Q. How long have you been director of this bridge company?—A. Since the begin-

ning, I think, since 1887.

Q. Since 188Y ?—A. Since the company was organized.

Q. That company was reorganized in?—A. 1897, I think.

Q. You were a director of the old company as well as a director of the new?—A.

Yes, from the beginning.

Q. What was the condition of the old company at the time of the reorgairization?

A. Well, the old company had been working with small capital and making every

effort to induce the governments and the city corporation to come in line and help

with the building of that bridge, and finally Mr. Price and I thought that if we could
interest Mr. Parent, who was the then mayor of Quebec and premier of the province,

and who had given so many proofs of his ability to do things, we might attain our
end. We went to him and, as Mr. Price said, we got him to come in if we could
secure promises of aid from the different governments, and he came in.

Q. And at the time of the reorganization had you anything? What was the

financial condition (f the old company?—A. No, the old company had spent whatever

money was paid in—4 per cent was paid in on the old shares—and that had been
expended in connection with the expenses and for surveys.

Q. Had you at that time any portion of the substructure constructed?—A. No,
the substructure had not begun, there were different sites survoyod and these were
jipproved of by the government.

Q. So that actually all the material and work in connection with the construction

of the bridge was supplied aird done after the reorganization?— A. Yes, all the actual

work on the bridge was done by the new company.

Q. What interest have you in the company?—A. $5,000 shares.

Q. A portion of that wrs money paid directly by you for shares?—A. The money
was paid by me.

Q. There was some portion of it was paid directly by you for shares in the com-
pany?—A. Well, I cannot answer that unless you finish the question.
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Q. And the remainder of it was paid- out of money you received for services as

director, from the company?—A. I think it would be better to say that I paid the

money and that I got so much as fees, because the fees were not paid ail at the same

time, some when the new shares were taken, and moreover when we got those fees

there was no understanding with the shareholders that we were to take those shares.

I considered it was my own money.

Q. But you did turn back into shares a certain amount of that money?—A. I did

take some shares in the undertaking.

Q. All 5'our charges are paid up in full?—A. They are all paid up in full.

Q. Now, I suppose you were present at the majority of the meetings of the board

of directors?—A. Yes, I was present at most of the meetings.

Q. And you were in close touch with the business as it was carried on?—A. Yes.

Q. You knew the arrangement with regard to the employment of Mr. Cooper?

—

A. Yes.

Q. And did you, as a director, satisfy yourself as to Mr. Cooper's standing?—A.

Yes, I was perfectly satisfied, we had different recommendations, and then the presid-

ent and Mr. Price went to New York and they saw Mr. Cooper and we were generally

satisfied he was the best man to be had in America.

Q. From enquiries you came to that conclusion?—A. Yes.

Q. Now what do you say as to the manner in which the affairs of your company
had been carried on up to the time of this disaster—since the reorganization—up to

the time of the disaster ?—A. In a general way they were carried on in a businesslike

manner, like any other company I have been connected with, and they were all honestly

carried on.

Q. They were all honestly carried on?—A. Yes.

Q. And the moneys received, either from the sale shares or from other sources^

was expended in what way?—A. All money received from the shareholders or from the

different governments or the bonds was expended in the construction of the bridge

and the running expenses of the company.

Q. You knew of the issue of the interim bonds to Mr. Davis?—A. Yes, they were
issued according to the contract.

Q. What do you mean by the contract?—A. Well^ there was a contract entered

into with Mr. Davis for building the substructure; I think that contract is on file

here.

Q. But that contract did not call for the issue of bonds as payment?—A. That
contract called for 20 per cent in bonds to be taken at 60 per cent and they were to-

bear interest after completion of the substructure.

Q. At that time the company were indebted, as I understand it, to Mr. Davis in a

considerable amount?—A. Not when the contract was made.

Q. The contract (was made in the beginning ?—A. Yes.

Q. And when did Mr. Davis accept these interim bonds?—A. He accepted them
right along. They were to be paid on monthly estimates, I do not know if they were
paid every month, but they were to be given out on a monthly estimate.

Q. What means had you of meeting the payments as they became due to Mr.
Davis ?—A. The subsidies paid 80 per cent, that is from the two governEients, and
the bonds paid the balance, and what money we had went to pay the running expenses
and other things,

Q. Did Mr. Davis take the interim bonds to a greater extent than 20 per cciU ?

—

A. Greater than 20 per cent ?

Q. Yes ?—A. I do not think that he did unless—there were further works made
later on, I could not say if he had more than his proportion of interim bonds on that.

The debt was greater than first estimated and he had to go deeper and that increased
the total amount; I could not say exactly how much he had.
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Q. Speaking of the bond transaction with Mr. Davis, and taking into considera-

tion all the circumstances at the time, as a business man, what would you say, what
is your opinion as regards the advisability of doing so by the company?—A.

Well, first of all the company had not much choice, but we thought that Mr. Davis
iwas rather liberal, he waived the interest for two or three years, which was so mucli

to his loss, on these bonds, and then, when I saw later on that on the bonds endorsed

by the government he could only get 8 per cent, his taking these bonds at practi-

cally about 75 was a good price for them.

Q. You thought that the price at which he took them, considering the price they

were receiving for bonds of that nature, was very good?—A. Was very good, and his

only security was that the bridge would be finished, and if it was not finished his

bond, which was secured on these piers, would be of no value whatever.

Q. Have you any other experience in regard to other bonds of institutions with

which you have been connected yourself ?—A. Well, we have sold some Lake St.

John bonds in England, but these were peculiar bonds, the interest on them was

guaranteed for 10 years by the local government, and they sold at about 80, they bore

the government guarantee for ten years.

Q. But bonds of this nature without any guarantee, simply bonds issued by the

company, have you had any experience with them ?—A. There was the Quebec Nor-

thern .Construction bonds. I was interested in their behalf, and the price was fixed at

60, they were pooled, and they were not sold at 60.

Q. Were they offered at that ?—A. We could not get a sale at 60, they were

pooled and could not be sold at less than 60, later on they were changed, endorsed by

Mackenzie and Mann, but then they were not sold at 60, I think their value was about

62 or 55.

Q, And were these original bonds?—A. They were first mortgage bonds on the

road.

Q. But not guaranteed by anybody ?—A. Guaranteed by nobody, but they were

first mortgage bonds on that road.

Q. You say that you weren't interested in those bonds, were you?—A. I was

interested in the Construction Company.

Q. And the price at which they were to be offered was fixed you say at 60 ?—A.

At 60, they were pooled and we had the right to sell them at anything over 60.

Q. At anything over 60 ?—A. I think that was the proposition, 60 or over.

By Mr. Monk :

Q. I see from an answer giren to a question put to the government on the 7th of

March last in the Senate that you received from the company the sum of $3,280.95,

is that correct ?—A. Well, I would say if it is given by the government that it is

right, but I never added it. That would make, well, I suppose it is somothinc: like

that.

Q. The $5,000 interest you have at present is represented by that sum and the

balance you paid in cash ?—A. I do not admit at all it is represented by that sum.

Q. You don't admit that ? Well, that sum was due ?—A. Well, some of it was
used in my own private expenses, more or loss ordinary, I suppose, but it was not used

to buy those shares.

Q. Are you prepared to tell the committee how much of tlicso $5,000 shares you
purchased you paid for in actual cash, and how much represents what was allowed to

you for your services in the company ?—A. I could not say anything else but that I

received so much in fees, and that I have so many shares paid up, but I cannot say

how much went for this and how much went for that.

Q. Is it not a fact that the cheque you got at different times for these services

was immediately handed back to the company for these shares 1—A. I think it was
twice, or perhaps about three times, but that wns a small proportion of that $3,000.
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Q. It was not done every time ?—A. No.

Q. Are you sure the shareholders were not a party to that arrangement ?—A.

Well I am sure as myeh as I can be, I am a member of the board, and I was at the

meetings, and there was no talk about at all the meetings, I never heard tell about it.

Q. It was mentioned in the minutes of the Board?—A. I do not know whether it

was or not.

Q. There is no doubt about it ?—A. It might be, I do not know.

By Mr. Oalliher:

Q. Was it mentioned in the minutes of the Board that they should do this, or that

they would grant to the directors those fees?—A. No shares were granted to the

directors.

By Mr. Monlc:

Q. I find a directors' resolution on the 15th of January, 1902, whereby the direc-

tors agreed among themselves to purchase $10,000 stock, the above amount to be allot-

ted on the basis of attendance?—A. That was done after the money had been voted

by the shareholders, that was afterwards.

The Chairman.—They could not vote it themselves, the shareholders would have

to do that, that is all in the record and the record also shows how many shares each

man got for it.

A. We agreed to do that to help the company.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Then there is a resolution dated the 20th of October, 1903, by which the direc-

tors agreed among themselves to purchase $5,000 stock with the condition that it be

allotted on the tasis of attendance and the following was the resolution—A. That is

all right, that is the directors' meeting.

Q. I do not suppose they would have voted any money to themselves except under
those conditions, would they?—A, Well, it is the shareholders voted it, it was not pro-

posed by ourselves, the shareholders wanted to do it. Mr. Parent did not think then

it should be voted, that is as far as I can remember.

By the Chairman:

Q. Did you have to dsvote much time to the business of the company?—A. We
had occasional meetings, and we had to go there pretty often and see about things,

and there was a good deal of property in regard to the expropriation of which some
of the directors were called upon to investigate and report to the Board.

Q. Which would require considerable time?—A. Yes, time and insight.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. I understood you to say that according to the terms of the contract 20 per cent

of the money due the contractor was to be paid by bonds at 60, and that is why I

read the contract, this is the contract for the construction of the substructure?—A.

Yes, the contract is here.

The Chairman.—That is in evidence here.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Do you remember the date approximately of that contract?—A. Somewhere
around 1900.

Q. Had the Board at that time made any effort to place its bonds anywhere?—A.
No, no effort had been made. We inquired about the value of the bonds at the bank,

but we thought it was much better to place th?m with the contractor.

Q. Was there no public steps taken to negotiate the bonds?—A. No, they were
not negotiable at all—on a bridge that was not built.
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Q. Did you go to tlie United States at all in regard to making a contract or con-

sulting with engineers with regard to the plans?—A. No, I never went to the United
States.

Q. Had you any occasion to examine the plans yourself at any particular time?

—

A. We examined the specifications and I had a general idea, but I never examined the

detailed plans, they were made later after the contract was given.

Q. Do you know if these plans can^e under the consideration of the government at

the time the government began paying the million dollars subsidy?—A. Everything

had to be submitted to the government before anything was done.

Q. And that was done?—A. It was done, I always understood it was.

Q. Do you know whether these plans came again under the consideration of the

government when the bond issue for $6,000,000 was floated?—A. I do not know if

they were submitted the second time, but I know that they were submitted to the

government.

Q. Did you have any knowledge at all, as a director, or warning of the accident ?

That is to say, what took place before the accident that led to the communications

being had with the consulting engineer, Mr. Cooper?—A. I had none.

Q. Your co-directors and yourself are all residents of Quebec, I believe?—A. Well

there is Sir Hugh Allan pnd there is the representative of the Quebec Central Railway.

Q. He does not r:side in Quebec?—A. He does not reside in Quebec.

Q. Is Sir Hugh Allan a director?—A. Sir Hugh Allan is a director.

Q. Have you any knowledge, Mr. LeMoine, of the way in which the $200,000 new
stock stipulated for by the government in 1903 was taken up?—A. It was taken up,

by these new shares being sold to different parties.

Q. Do you know if it was all taken up?—A. It was all taken up, yes.

Q. Was there a subscription book, to your knowledge, in which these shareholders

signed their subscription of stock?—A. Well, I really could not say, but there must
have been. There was a subscription book for the company.

Q. You did not take any of that new stock?—A. I took some at that time, I only

had $2,000 and I think it was increased then.

Q. Do you know if all that stock was fully paid up in cash before the bond issue

was made ?—A. Yes, it was all paid up in cash.

Q. Therefore you know that -clause 4 of the agreement of the 19th of October,

1903, between the government and the Bridge Company reads as follows :

—

' The company will procure subscriptions for additional stock to the amount of

$200,000, such new stock to be issued at a price not below par and to be immediately

Ijaid up in full, the proceeds to be applied in the first place in the payment of the

discount at which the bonds of the company were issued as aforesaid, to wit, the sum of

$188,^21.'

You know that was done ?—A. I know the money was subscribed, it appears that

$188,721 was first paid out of the proceeds of the bonds and then it was charged to

that subscription; of course it was taken out of the funds of the company and it did

not matter which account it was paid from, but the auditor came from Ottawa and he

thought it should be paid out of our bank account, and that was done.

Q. To which auditor do you refer ?—A. To Mr. Bell.

Q. That was the visit he made in 1907 ?—A. I am not quite sure which visit it

was, it was quite lately.

Q. As a matter of fact do you know that part oi' that $200,000 was not actually

paid up until lately ?—A. I do not know that.

Q. Do you know that the cheque of Mr. Davis for $9().000 oild voniainod in the

possession of the company for several years ?—A. I know that "Afr. Davis had given

his cheque for that subscription but I only knew quite lately that that cheque re-

mained in the possesion of the company without boinii- (>aslv^d for sonic time.
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Q. Taking in view all that you have learned about that lately, as a business man
would you be prepared to say that that clause, No. 4, which I have just read, was car-

ried out ?—A. I think so, the cheque was quite good because it was cashed.

Q. That is your reason for saying that the clause was carried out ?—A. Yes.

Q. How do you know that it was good, was it an accepted cheque ?—A. I don't

know whether it was accepted, but I know that Mr. Davis' cheque is good.

Q. 'Now let me read another stipulation, it is clause 5 of that agreement :

—

' When and so soon as the company shall have completed all the arrangements men-
tioned in the two preceding clauses and the proceeds of the said issue of $200,000

stock shall have been paid in full to the company, the company shall be at liberty to

issue such bonds, debentures or other securities as hereinafter provided, to an amount
not exceeding $6,678,200.'

,Tlhat being the case, and since you have learned that the $96,000 cheque was
only paid up long after the issue of the bonds, are you prepared to say, as a business

man, that that clause was carried out ?—A. And for the same reason, because I

believe that cheque was money.

Q. But if you were told that the discount of the first bonds, the unguaranteed
bonds amounting to $188,721, had only been paid by the company out of the proceeds

of the new bond, then would you be prepared to say that that part of the agreement
had been fully carried out ?—A. Well, really I do not see

Q. I understand that the intention of the government was that the $200,000

should be not only subscribed but paid up and applied to the extent of $188,721 to

the extinction of those first bonds, and the re-establishment of its capital, the extin-

guishment of that discount, and that having been done only out of the proceeds of the

bonds, is it or is it not in your opinion that the provision of that clause was fulfilled ?

—A. I think the object was to re-establish that capital and I think it was attained,

but of course, I think technically that was not done.

Q. Now as regards the waiver of interest by Mr. Davis to which you have re-

ferred, let me understand what it is. What was the interest that he waived in the

first place ?—A. The interest on those bonds, that is the interim bonds, from the date

he was to receive them until the completion of the substructure.

Q. The bonds therefore on their face bore interest like all bonds ?—A. Yes, the

bonds on their face must have had that condition; I should think so.

Q. Did you say he waived that interest ?—A. When he agreed to that condition

he waived the difference between being paid in cash and taking the bonds in place of

cash, money; when the tenders were asked they were supposed to be paid in cash as

the work went along. Then we told Mr. Davis we could not pay cash, and we would
pay him 80 per cent.

By the Chairman :

Q. Let me read this extract from Exhibit 30 : [ And the balance of 20 per cent

shall be secured from time to time as said progress estimate is made by the delivery

to the contractor of first mortgage interim bonds of the company (to bear not less

than five per cent interest computed from the completion of said substructure) as

collateral at sixty per cent of their face or par value, said bonds to be held by the

eontractor without bearing interest and not negotiable till his work is completed satis-

factorily.'

Were the bonds ever lithographed, were lithographed bonds delivered or were
they just typewritten ?—A. I cannot say, I do not remember.

By Mr. Monlc:

Q. Do you know when the bonds amounting, according to the face value, to

$472,000, were eventually taken up, Mr. Davis received the sum of $29,000 odd in inter-

est?—A. Yes.

Q. What was tbat interest?—A. Since the completion of the work until the moment
he got hia money, that is the way it was explained.
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By the Chairman:

Q. Until the bonds were retired ?—A. Until the bonds were retired. I do not think

those bonds were retired until about two years afterwards, that interest would cover

about that much.
Q. Do you remember what rate of interest they bore?—A. The bonds?

Q. Yes?—A. Five per cent.

Q. But if he did waive any part of the interest in the final settlement he got

of course the premium?—A. He got the 40 per cent certainly. He got full value,

they were redeemed at par, that was the contract.

By Mr. Talbot:

Q. Did I understand you to say in your evidence that when the new company
was organized you increased your holdings and took more stock?—A. Yes, all the

directors did.

Q. Can you give us the reason for so doing?—A. Because the qualification was
made $5,000, and as we had to have $5,000 fully paid up, we had to subscribe for more
shares, because on the first subscription we had only 25 per cent paid up, but by the

Act of Parliament we had to pay up the other 75 per cent in order to get the $5,000

qualification, so that we had to buy more stock.

Q. Was that simply to comply with the new conditions or a mark of the increased

confidence you had in the new company?—A. We had to comply with the new condi-

tion of affairs.

Q. But outside of that compliance with the new condition?—A. Well, I got a lot

of my friends to subscribe at the time, and really we thought more of the advantage

the bridge would be to the interests of Quebec and the Dominion than we were looking

at it from a monetary point of view.

By the Ohairman:

Q. I suppose that was the basis on which you all proceeded?—A. That is the basis

I proceeded on, and that is the basis the others proceeded on.

Q. I suppose you naturally looked forward to the time when it would be finan-

cially profitable to you?—A. Well, we did look to that, because we had the estimates

from the different railways of the trafiic they could bring, in this way they were very

favourable, however, they were in the distant future.

By Mr. MonTc:

Q. Have you looked into the financial standing of the company since the disas-

ter?—A. I have not gone into it.

Q. Has the board taken up that question?—A. Well, things are brought before

the board at meetings and I have an idea how they stand, but I do not know the

exact figures.

Q. Has a statement been made out and presented to the board?—A. A statement

was made out and submitted to the board and sent to the government.

Q. Of its financial situation now?—A. Yes.

Q. When was that done ?—A. Well, it was done after the accident.

Q. Without binding you to any figure, what is that financial position?—A. Well,

we owe a certain amount to the Bank of Montreal, and we owe the Phopnix Bridge

Company about $260,000, $160,000 of which represents the last estimate, and $100,000

the drawback.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. By the way, Mr. LeMoine, in carrying on this enterprise in the expenditure

of money and all that, what do you say as to the way in which that was done? Was
it done with the usual economy, generally speaking?—A. What is that?

Q. In carrying on the affairs of the company how was that done?—A. It was

done like any other company, tliese monthly estimates would come before the board
6—9
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with the report of the engineer and they would be approved of, all the different

accounts that came were approved of by the directors and one government director;

the government had three directors on the board and one of them would have to

approve of every payment made. On several occasions we discussed accounts, and I

know that in several instances the accounts were reduced; and things were done as

they are usually done in any other company.

Q. In any other good company?—A, In any other good company—well, I have
only been on good companies.

Q. Would they have to be certified by anybody before they were submitted for

the directors' approval?—A. All accounts concerning construction were certified to by
Mr. Hoare, the chief engineer. The other expenses were certified to by the secre-

tary.

Q. And generally speaking you consider that the business of the company was
carried on in a proper and businesslike manner?—A. Like any other good and well

organized company.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. Do you know if the government had any engineer down there watching the

work under construction?—A. I know that the government wanted to appoint an
engineer and Mr. Cooper would not allow of it. He said that he bore the responsibility

and he did not want to have divided authority, that he was able to have the work done

in a proper way and he did not want to divide his authority with anyone. It was not

in the hands of the company. He came up here, I think, himself, to discuss

the matter with the government, and they seem to have been satisfied because they

dropped the matter.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. Who, by the way, has been chairman of the board since reorganization?—A.

Mr. Parent has been the chairman ever since reorganization.

Q. What was his standing with the other members of the board?—A. The board

always acted as a unit, we were all of one mind, that is to do the best we could.

Q. How do you regard Mr. Parent as chairman?—A. We elected him unani-

mously and went for him to get him to come onjthe board.

Q. And after you had been associated with him on the board did you regard

him as an able chairman?—A. We regarded him as the best man we could have on
that board, and every one on the board was quite pleased with the way in which he
did his share of the work.

Q. You were pleased with the way in which he did his share of the work. I

suppose a great deal of the work devolved upon the chairman?—A. Naturally, and
that is why we decided to divide those fees the way we did, because we thought he

did his share of the work.

By the Chairman:

Q. Why didn't you make Senator Landry chairman?—A. He would not stay in

the company.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. How did the board consider the chairman's action in regard to the steps he
took to secure an efficient engineer?—A. Every step he took was submitted to the

board and approved of. He went to a great deal of trouble, he went over and over

again to New York and to Phoenixville, and came to Ottawa and went elsewhere, he
went to a great deal of trouble.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. At whose request did you attend before this committee?—A. I was told by
Mr. Barthe I was expected to appear here to-day.
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By Mr. Talbot:

Q. You were in the old company?—A. Yes.

Q. How long was the company organized before reorganization took place?—A.

Some years.

Q. Was any progress made under the old company?—A. Well, progress was made
with the different sites that were acquired.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. I want to ask you regarding the reorganization certificate. The reorganiza-

tion was made probably with the object of having among the directors of the company
some persons who would have the ear of both the federal and provincial governments,

is not that a fact, some one who would be able to get the ear of those governments?
—A. That was a factor, but that was not the principal factor, we wanted the work
done.

Q. I think I heard either you or Mr. Price, state that Mr. Parent, being the mayor
of Quebec ,and prime minister of the province, for that very reason, and as you wanted
the co-operation of these bodies, it was thought desirable to have him on the board?

—A. I said it was a factor, but I also add that Mr. Parent, by the work he had done
for the city had shown that he was the most able man to work out the enterprise.

Q. Is it not a fact that many of those who formed the board of the old company
withdrew for the reason that they felt their presence there would be an obstacle rather

than a help to the company in its negotiations with the three governments for sub-

sidies ?—A. I do not know the reason they had.

Q. You never heard of that reason?—A. I never heard of that.

By Mr. Talbot:

Q. You remained in the new company?—A. Yes.

Q. That had no influence with you, the fact that there was a change in the or-

ganization?—A. It was I brought it about, I considered it a favourable change.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. There is one question I forgot to ask you. All the moneys received, either

by the sale of shares or from subsidy, or from the sale of bonds, or from any other

source that came into the treasury of the company, was that money disbursed in any

way other than in the payment of actual work in connection with the construction

of the bridge?—A. I do not know of a cent being paid otherwise than towards the

construction of the bridge or the expenses of the company. There was no subscrip-

tion of any kind, not even to a charitable institution, nothing was done, every cent

went into the enterprise.

By Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish)

:

Q. It has been alleged publicly that at the time the agreement was entered into

between the govermnent and the Quebec Bridge Company in 1903, that the Quebec
Bridge Company was absolutely in an insolvent state, what have you to say to that ?

—

A. Well, it had no debts, but it had very small capital.

Q. Would you say it was insolvent?—A. No, it was not, because it owed nothing.

Q. It had assets?—A. There were certain assets.

Q. Was it anything like insolvent?—A. It owed nothing.

Q. Representing the expenditure?—A. The expenditure on the dilTeront plana

made up to that date.

Q. Out of the moneys received from the provincial goverinnont^—A. That was iu

1903, it had assets, this money had been expended before that.

Q. It was not correct to say that it was absolutely insolvent ?—A. Certainly not.

By Mr. Talbot:

Q. IIow do you consider the state of tlie company iu 1903 as compared with 1907

—comparatively?—A. The company had made a groat deal of progress in 1907.

6—9i
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By Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish) :

Q. There was a certain amo"unt of money voted for the remuneration of directors,

do you consider that compensation was reasonable for their services?—A. Yes.

Q. From your knowledge of the salaries and the compensation paid directors on

other enterprises of large magnitude would you say that the amount paid to these

directors was excessive or otherwise?—A. I would say it was reasonable.

Q. With regard to the salary paid to Mr. Parent, $2,500, I think it was, do you

consider that his services were worth that?—A. I consider his services were worth

more than that.

Q. And if he were a director of a similar institution, what then?—A. I think if

the company had the permission of the government he would have a higher salary.

Q. You stated that payments would be made Mr. Davis on monthly progress .

estimates, what percentage of the estiniate was paid him?—A. I think fO per- cent

drawback was kept.

Q. I see it is stated he was to be paid 40 per cent?—A. 40 per cent coming from

the federal and 40 per cent coming from the other subsidy. But from the total

estimate there was first deducted the drawback, and then it was divided in that way.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. The company on the 15th of October, 1903, had a floating debt of $17,000 ?—
A. I made a mistake when I said it had no debt, no doubt I thought you meant 1907.

In 1903 the construction had begun and it had a floating debt.

Q. Of $779,50?—^A. That floating debt was represented by the work, you know.

Q. What were the assets for it?—A. The works.

Q. Such as it was in 1203?—A. Certainly.

Q. And they had a floating debt against it?—A. They had a floating debt against

it. I do not know what it was, I could not say.

Q. Have you any doubt that under these circumstances the company was not able

to meet its obligations, because that is what Mr. Parent said himself in his letter to

the government of the 14th of October?—A. I made a mistake. I understood it was
in 1907, but in 1903 they had assets, but they had further liabilities which they could

not meet, they had to continue the work and they4iad nothing to meet it.

Q. At the present moment, if nothing it done, I suppose you have no doubt what-
ever that the country will have to meet this guarantee without any recourse whatever,

there is no doubt about that?

Mr. Galliher.—Who will?

Mr. Monk.—The country, the government.

Mr. Galliher.—^You had better ask that question.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. What is your opinion, have you any doubt on that point?"—A. The Dominion
has endorsed the bonds and they will have to pay the bonds.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. You mean if no further progress is made on the bridge?—A. If the thing is

dropped, that is what I understand.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. Do I understand you to say, as suggested by Mr. Parent, that if the govern-

ment would release that clause in the agreement by which they have reserved the right

to take over the bridge the company could finance the scheme now, is that your
opinion?—A. Not without the aid of the government.

Q. Therefore, as the matter stands now there is no doubt whatever in your mind
tiiat the government will have to meet this guarantee, the bridge company will not
meet ii ?—A. That is my opinion.
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By Mr. Galliher:

Q. Yovi fire not speakings now, in answer to that question, of any recourse that

may be had against those who are responsible for the accident?—A. ISTo, I am not

taking iliat into account, that is an tfncertainty.

Q. What is jour opinion^ as a sh.'ueholder, as to thf3 bargain made between the

government and the (^ompany in 1903 in guaranteeing those bonds, and their attitude

at that time?—A. Of course the shareholders, as I said before, having first in view

ths building of the bridge, were pleased very much to see the government endorse

those bonds, and in another ssnse there was the fear that the government would take

over the enterprise and that we would lose a great deal of the pleasure of being able

to say that we had been able to complete such a big enterprise, and also that if there

was any profit later on in the working of it we would not have it.

Q. Do you think it was a good or a bad bargain on the part of the government,

from the government standpoint ?

By Mr. Ghisholm (Antigonish):

Q. In the interest of the public do you think that the bargain made by the govern-

ment in 1903 was a good one?—A. I think it was.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. And for whom, sir?—A. For the public, because they got the work done at a

reasonable price by people who were very much interested in bringing the enterprise

to completion.

Q. I understand the question put to you by Mr. Chisholm is, was not this a case

of good investment?—A. No, if it was in the public interest, I was asked.

By Mr. Ghisholm (Antigonish) :

Q. In the public interest generally.

By Mr. Talbot :

Q. You might go further, as a business man do you think the government made
a good business transaction in guaranteeing those bonds in 1903 ? Do you think it

was a good business transaction on the part of the government?—A. I think it was the

best transaction they could undertake to insure the building of that bridge.

By Mr. Monk :

Q. Do you say that from a public standpoint ?—A. From the government stand-

point.

By Mr. Galliher :

Q. Had there not been any accident you would still think the same?—A. Had
there been no accident I still believe the bridge would be a paying enterprise, and I

believe that it still may become a paying enterprise.

Witness discharged.

Thomas MoDougall^ called, sworn and examined.

By Mr. Galliher :

Q. Mr. McDougall, you live at Quebec ?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. You have lived there a number of years, I presume ?—A. Yes.

Q. What is your present position?—A I am general manager of the Quebec
Bank.

Q. Had your bank, or you yourself, any connection with those interim bonds for

$472,000 ?—A. Yes, we had possession of those bonds.
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Q. Do you know anything- about the terms of Mr. Davis' contract with the Bridge

Company ?—A. Well, I have seen the contract but not very lately. We have it in our

possession now.

Q. You, no doubt, would have it at the time you took these bonds and became

trustees of the bonds?—A. Yes.

Q. What do you say with regard to the value of those bonds, the value at which

they were handed over to Mr. Davis, 60 per cent ?—A. Do you mean my opinion as to

what they would be worth, looking at them now, or what they were then?

Q. Just as they were then, at the time they were given "?—A. Well, I have a copy

of this bond, this bond was an interim first mortgage bond, there was no mortgage,

you understand.

Q. No ?—A. There was an agreement to give a mortgage which bore interest, a I

least the bond for which they were to be exchanged was to bear interest at 5 per cent;

it, itself, bore no interest, it was the bond of the company, not negotiable. Do you
want to know what anybody would have bought that boiid at?

. Q. Will you, as a bank manager, probably dealing in these matters, tell us what
you think about it ?—A. Of course when we took this bond from Mr. Davis we took

it as collateral security for his account which was a running account with us for the

construction of the bridge. We did not go minutely into the exact value of it, Mr.

Davis handed it to us and told us he had a good contract and we knew that he knew
his business well.

Q. You are hardly going along the line that I meant?—A. I wanted to show you
our reasoning in the case, that we (were not putting an exact value on this, as if we
were lending simply against the bond, because we had confidence in Mr. Davis. At
any rate looking at it now, I know he took these bonds at 60 cents on the dollar

because we got paid in bonds for 20 per cent of the estimate, we received bonds

on his account for 20 per cent of his estimate.

Q. Give us your opinion as banker, for Mr. Davis ?—A. As banker T think he

took very considerable chances on these bonds.

Q. As a banker you think he took very considerable chanc^-^ '--t taking those bonds

on his contract ?—A. Yes.

Qj. Do you think that price could have been obtained in the bond market for

them ?—A. Never. — *

By Mr. Talbot :

Q. You have studied this question of the guaranteeing of the bonds by the gov-

ernment in 1903, have you looked into the matter ?—A. Well, those bonds that we
had, you know, were redeemed about—I do not know the exact date—but about 1904

by the government and then we were out of the transaction.

Q. From what you know as a business man, outside the transaction in your bank,

from what you gathered and what you know do you think the government made a

bad or a good deal in guaranteeing those bonds and getting all the assets of the com-
pany ?—A. Of course if the bridge had remained in the position it would have been

fair enough, I think, but it is very hard to say what kind of a deal it is now.

Q. Apart from the accident, of course you could not have foreseen that, what kind
of a bargain do you think it was ? Was it the best that could have been made at the

time ?—A. I think so.

Mr. James O. Scott^ called, sworn and examined.

By Mr, Galliher:

Q. Where is your residence, Mr. Scott?—A. Quebec.

Q. You are vice-president of the Great Northern Eailway, are you ?—A. No, I am
general manager of the Quebec and Lake St. John Eailway.

Q. That is a local road in the province of Quebec, entirely within the limits of

the province, running some 200 miles ?—A. About 300 miles now.
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Q. Have you, or your company, had any experience in connection with the fiota^

tion of bonds, railway bonds?—A. Well, yes, I was also general manager of the Great
Northern. I built both roads, about 500 miles in all—300 of the Lake St. John and
200 of the Great Northern. I have had some experience in connection with bonds and
debentures.

Q. From your experience in connection with bonds what do you say with regard

to the turning over of these bonds at 60 per cent of the face value to Mr. Davis as

was done under the contract between the company and Mr. Davis?—A. I only know
of this transaction from what I have heard here to-day.

Q. Well, I mean take the bonds, take what you have heard with regard to the

bridge itself, and what you have heard about the bonds being turned over under the

circumstances under which they were taken over, and then speaking as a man with

experience as to the value of the bonds under certain transactions and conditions,

what do you say with regard to this transaction between the company and Mr. Davis ?

—A. I think Mr. Davis took considerable risk.

Q. And as to the value, 60 per cent what do you say as to that?—A. I think the

value is a reasonable one, seeing that the bonds did not bear interest until after the

completion of his work.

Q. And do you base that opinion as well upon the experience that you may have

had yourself in connection with the flotation of bonds?—A. Yes, I do.

Q. I do not wish to enter into the private affairs of yourself or company in any

way, but that is your opinion?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Talbot:

Q. As a man who has had considerable experience in railway matters do xow

consider that the prospects of the bridge and the business that could be obtained,

were such that the investment would be a good one, once the bridge is completed ?

—

A. Yes, I do; I have always thought so.

Q. That is your opinion?^—A. Yes.

Q. Had the accident not happened do you thinly that the government made a

good bargain to guarantee the bonds and take over all the assets of the company as

they did in 1903?—A. Yes, I think so.

Q. Have you any personal interest in the company?—A. Well, I am a small

shareholder in the company. I took $1,000 of stock to help it along.

Q. You never formed part of the board of directors?—A. No.

Q. And as a shareholder you are satisfied with the conduct of the affairs of the

company since the reorganization?—A. Entirely so.

Q. Are you satisfied with the management, and are the shareholders satisfied

with it?—A. Yes, entirely so.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. In your experience as a railway man have you knowledge of any case where
you have defrayed the cost of construction by handing over in payment, bonds at a dis-

count? Has it ever come under your observation personally?—A. Wliat is the ques-

tion?

Q. Have you ever, in paying for the construction of any railway with which you
have been connected, handed over bonds in the way in which they were handed over

in this instance, to the contractor for construction?—A. Yes, I have known such cases.

Q. Can you give any instance in which bonds were handed over as in this case?

—A. Well, the Great Northern Railway paid its construction company in bonds at

a discount.

Q. At what discount?—A. Well, I cannot remember the exact figure, but I think

it was in the neighbourhood of 55—that is at a discount of 45, 55 per cent of the face

value.

Q. In a case of that kind, speaking as a business mati. as you are. would you
say that if the company had subsequently redeou\ed its bonds it would bo a good busi'
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ness to pay the contractor the face value of the bonds?—A. Well, if the bonds were
not collateral, if they were the contractor's property, I do not see how you could avoid it.

Q. I put it to you in this way : are you familiar with the operations that took place

in this case, that the government offered to assist the company by guaranteeing its

bonds for over $6,000,000 provided the company itself found sufficient stock to pay
the discount. Are you of the opinion that in making that arrangement the govern-

ment did a prudent thing ? You understand my question ?—^A. Quite so.

Q. The government said, ' We will guarantee your bonds for six million and some
odd thousand, provided you will find sufficient stock to cover 'the discount on your own
bonds, ' is that a wise provision ?—A. It looks to me as if it showed the desire . of

the government to have the company in a stronger position to give better evidence of

good faith.

Q. Now, in the carrying out of that provision would you consider it to be evidence

of good or bad faith on the part of the company
The Chairman.—That is not fair to put that question that way, Mr. Monk.
Mr. Galliher.—More especially as there is a definite line of cleavage there whether

A they did or not.

The Chairman.—That is a matter of law, whether they carried out the provision

of the contract, that we can discuss with ourselves.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. I am putting a hypothetical case to the witness, that under a certain condition

of affairs does he consider that the company not carrying out to the letter that part

of its agreement is doing good or bad business?—A. I understand, from the evidence,

that the company did carry out that part of it.

Q. That is not borne out by the evidence?—A, I have been listening to the

evidence all day and I understand that it did carry it out.

Q. Supposing that it had not, would you be of the opinion that tne agreement had

been substantially complied with supposing that instead of supplying the $200,000 of

stock which was destined to cover the discount, that the company had not done so

prior to the issue of the guaranteed debentures, would that have been a business-like

way of conducting the transaction?

The Chairman.—What do you want to ask the^question that way for ?

By Mr. Monk:

Q. I put the question ; if it is not a proper one, Mr. Chairman, you can rule \% out.

I think it is. I do not know if I make my meaning plain, Mr. Scott, but I say that

the government having come to the assistance of the company and having declared

that it would endorse these bonds, provided money was found to cover up the discount

on the bonds; if that is not carried out, is it the opinion of the witness that the sub-

stance of the agreement was complied with?—A. If the company broke their agree-

ment with the government I should think the government would have their recourse

against them, but I do not see from the evidence that I have heard that they did break
their agreement.

Q. You can judge from the evidence that you have heard to-day?—A. Yes.

Q. And from that evidence you consider that that agreement has in everj'- respect

been absolutely complied with ?—A. I think it has been, fairly so.

By Mr. Talbot:

Q. Did you think so before you heard this evidence?—A. I did not know any-

thing about it until I heard this evidence.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. At whose request did you appear before the committee?—A. Mr. Barthe, the
secretary of the company asked me to come here.



RE MONEYS PAID TO QUEBEC BRIDGE COMPANY 113

APPENDIX No. 6

The Chairman.—Mr. Parent gave the names of a number of witnesses on the last

day the committee met.

Mr. Monk.—Yes, but some gentlemen seem to be of the opinion that it was our-

selves that brought them before the committee, and I am not aware of that, I did not

ask for them to come here.

The Chairman.—The meeting adjourned to meet again at my call and when I

saw Mr. Parent the other day I told him he could get his witnesses here to-day, that

is the way it happened.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. Do you know anything about the present financial position of the company in

detail at all?—A. No, I do not.

Witness discharged.

Hon. John SharpleS;, called, sworn and examined.

By Mr.- Galliher:

Q. Mr. Sharpies, you are a resident of the city of Quebec, are you?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. What is your present calling or occupation?—A. Merchant.

Q. Are you connected with any bank in any official capacity?—A. President of

the Union Bank.

Q. You are also in the Legislative Council there, are you not ?—A. Yes.

Q. You are also connected with a newspaper, you are a man of prominence there?
—^A. I am president of the Morning Chronicle Company.

Q. And a director of this bridge company? Now you have been a director since

1903, have you?—A. 1904, I believe.

Q. Since 1904?—A. I think so.

Q. To what extent are you a stockholder in the company?—A. I had $50,000

originally and I sold some 230 shares since.

Q. You originally had $50,000, was that all paid-up?—A. You have the cheques

before you here.

Q. Yes, but I am just merely getting it on the evidence, I understand it is all

paid up, I want to get the evidence consecutively?—A. Yes, all paid up.

Q. Who was it urged that you should go on the board of directors, was it Mr.
Parent?—A. He is chairman.

Q. And as a business man, and as a man of experience in many matters as you
appear to be, what have you to say as to the manner in which the business of this

company has been conducted since you came on the board of directors?—A. As far

as I could see it was always well conducted and I must say that one of the reasons

that I took such a keen interest in the enterprise was due to the facit of Mr. Parent
having the management under his control, and I may say that when Mr. Parent was
made chairman of the Transcontinental Commission he tried on two or three occa-

sions to get relieved from the chairmanship of the Bridge Company and the board
were all decidedly opposed to any change.

Q. The board then had the utmost confidence in Mr. Parent's ability and honesty

in administering its affairs?—A. I have.

Q. You as a member of the board have. With regard to the expenditure of

moneys out of the treasury of the company in connection with its undertaking, what
have you to say as to that, Mr. Sharpies?—A. Well, the expenditures as far as I cafii

see were all correct.

Q. And were made in a businesslike way?—A. All the engineering aooounts are

certified to by the engineer, Mr. IToare. And all the snuiller accounts are all certified

to by the directors before they are passed by the board.

Q. You have heard Mr. LeMoine's evidence, Mr. Sharpies, with regard to the con-

duct of the affairs of the company; generally speaking do you confirm that evidence?
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—A. Yes, since I have been connected with the board, I know nothing antecedent to

that.

Q. Since you have been a director ; I should have limited my question to that, that

is right. Now about these interim bonds, what is your opinion of that transaction?

—

A. I was not a director at the time, I knew nothing about it, I wasn't in the company
at the time, not even a shareholder.

Q. But as president of the bank, you would, no doubt, in the course of your busi-

ness transactions, your bank would no doubt be the holders of bonds, probably pur-

chasers, or are you ever purchasers of bonds?—A. Of course, at times.

Q. From your general business experience what do you say as to the value

received by the company for those bonds, and the amount at which they were turned

over?—A. I presume you mean 60.

Q. Under the conditions as you know them to have existed?—A. I think they got

full value for them.

Q. You believe they got full value for them?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Talbot:

Q. Did I understand you to say that you entered the company in 1904?—A. Yes.

Q. Before that time were you approached and asked to subscribe to 'that company
at any time ?—A. ISTo, not before that ; it was at the reorganization.

Q. And when you went into it you were perfectly satisfied to invest the amount
of money you did in it?—A. I was perfectly satisfied.

Q. So far you were confident?—A. Certainly.

Q. And nothing has happemed since that to shake that confidence?—A. In whom?
Q. As regards the Quebec Bridge Company?—A. Nothing except the unfortunate

collapse.

Q. We bar that out?—A. And if it had been built by the government it would
have been in just the same position as it is there to-day.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. Or if it had been built by any other company?—A. Or any other company.
The fault, if you will allow" me to say it, gentlemen, was with the plans, the engi-

neering plans.

By the Chairman:

Q. A fundamental error in the design?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. There is one question I would like to ask you, Mr. Sharpies. What bearing,

if any, would the financial position and condition of the Quebec Bridge Company
have on the present status of the bridge?—A. The condition of affairs?

Q. Yes?—A. Nothing at all.

Q. None whatever?—A. No, not at all.

Q. No matter how much the bank account was, it would not have had any effect

w^hatever?—A. It would not have held up the bridge.

Q. My object in asking the question iwas if by any financial stringency, or the

lack of a large paid-up capital, or anything like that, the fact that they were hampered
in any way, if they were hampered, would that have anything to do, in your opinion,

with the present condition?—A. No, they were not hampered.

By the Chairman:

Q. You did not have to retrench in such a way that the efficiency of the bridge
was impaired; you tried to get a good bridge?—A. All these contracts were made
before I was a member of the board of directors.

Q. But the construction proceeded after you became one?

—

A. Certainly, that

had nothing to do with it.
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Q. I mean you did not favour a cheaper bridge by reason of limited capital?

—

A. There were no alterations, there were no alterations made since the contracts were
entered into. There was no cheeseparing attempted at all.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. The $50,000 that you took in "what we call the new stock, did you intend it to

be personal, for yourself?—A. Certainly, I got the stock, subscribed for it, and the

certificates were issued in my own name, and I hold them in my own name, excepting

the 230 shares I sold to another railway company.

Q. Yes, but the question I' wanted to ask you was whether at that time you con-

templated keeping the whole of that stock for yourself?—A. Certainly.

Q. You said, Mr. Sharpies, that the cause of the collapse of the bridge was a

fault in the design?—A. That is my opinion, sir.

Q. And the same thing would have happened if the government had constructed

it?—A. Yes, or anybody else.

Q. Perhaps the government would have adopted another design?—A. Oh, well,

Mr. Monk, I am going on the presumption that they would have followed out the

plans they approved of.

Q. You are going on that assumption?—A. Well, these plans were approved of.

Q, Who is responsible, in your view, for that design?—A. Mr. 'Cooper.

Bij Mr. Talbot:

Q. Do you think if the company in 1903 had been insolvent, as has been

rumoured, you would have invested your $50,000 if you had been aware of that fact ?

—A. I am not such a fool.

By Mr. Walsh (Huntingdon)

:

Q. You became a shareholder subsequent to the legislation of 1903?—A. After

the' legislation of 1903, when the government guaranteed the bonds.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Would you have invested had this arrangement of 1903 not been made?

—

A. No.

Q. Nobody stated, as far as I am aware, that the company was insolvent after that

agreement was made.

Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish).—It was that the government had made an agree-

ment with an absolutely insolvent company, that was the idea conveyed.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Did you have occasion, as a business man, to look into the companj' before this

agreement was made?—A. No, I had no interest.

Q. Your interest was confined to the company after the agreement was made?
—A. Yes.

Q. Has the company had occasion to look into its financial situation since the

disaster?—A. As I mentioned, I had been away when it took place, and I was away
for a month afterwards.

Q. Do you know that a statement has boon forwarded to the govoriuuont •?—A. To •

the government?

Q. In regard to the'financial condition of the company?—A. I cannot answer that.

Q. You have not seen that statement yourself?—A. No, I have not.

By Mr. Chisholm (Antiganish)

:

Q. What do you say, as a business man, regarding the contract entered into

between the government and the company? Do you consider it n prudent one, or

otherwise, under tho cirenmstauces?—A. Do you mean the agroonient of 1003?

Q. On the part of the government, the agreement of 1003?—A. I think it was a

very good arrangement, and T will give you my reason : boeanse tho bridge would hav,^
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been built with more expedition and perhaps a little ' closer attended to than it would
have been as a government concern.

By Mr. Talbot:

Q. Did you consider the bridge undertaking as a paying undertaking once it

was completed?—A. Well, it is a little difficult to answer that; but from all the

statistics we had before us we had every reason to believe that the traffic would war-

rant the construction of the bridge and that it would pay a return on the investment.

Q. So that, after all, you do not consider that the government iwas taking such

a big risk?—A. Such a big risk? In what way?
Q. In guaranteeing ithe bonds of the company?
Mr. Monk.—I do not think that question arises here, or that we are called upon

to investigate that; it is not in the reference.

Mr. Galliher—Yes, all the conditions under which the government acted in

guaranteeing the bonds.

The Chairman.—I understand that you are questioning ,Jhe propriety of that

arrangement in 1903, and that is relevant.

By Mr, Talbot:

Q. That is what I want to find out from Mr. Sharpies as a business man, if he

thought that eventually, after the construction of the bridge^ the traffic would be

sufficient to pay the running expenses, and probably a profit?—A. The running
expenses and a profit—^you mean to pay interest on the bonds?

Q. Yes?—A. Oh, yes.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. And in addition to whether it might or might not be actually a paying pro-

position, was it a work that, in your opinion, as a business man, should have received

encouragement and aid from the government, or is it a work of such national import-

ance?—A. Certainly it is, there is no question about that.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. What has led you, Mr. Sharpies, to the conviction that it was a fault in the

design that was the cause of the disaster to the bridge ?—A. The report of the com-
missioners; personally I know nothing about it.

Q. Do you suppose that if the commission had gone fully into the matter of the

design and the plans, before the plans were finally adopted, it would have been a safe-

guard against the accident? Don't you suppose that, since they found the defect to

be in the design by their examination of the plans ?—A. No, Mr. Monk, you know wo
are all very iwise after the event.

Witness discharged.

Mr. P. B. DuMouLiN, called, sworn and examined.

By Mr, Galliher:

Q. You are a director of this Quebec Bridge Company?—A. Representing the

government, one of three.

Q. What is your profession or occupation?—A. Bank manager.

Q. Of ?—A. Molsons Bank.
Q. In the city of Quebec, that is where you reside?—A. Yes.

Q. What were the duties assigned to you by the government in connection with
this Quebec Bridge Company?—A. We were appointed by the government to repre-

sent them, but we had exactly the same status as the other directors—we were not
bound to any qualification as to stock.

Q. You are not a stockholder?—A. I subscribed $1,000.
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Q. You took a little interest in it yourself ; anS your duty was to attend the meet-

ings as an ordinary director and supervise?—A. And more particularly to check all

the accounts.

Q. And you did attend the meetings, most of them?—A. I must have attended

over 80 per cent of the meetings.

Q. How long have you been manager of the Molsons Bank?—A. Going on ten

years now.
• Q. And I suppose you had other business experience before that as well?—A.

Well, I had been manager before of the People's iBank for ten years in Quebec.

Q. For how long?—A. Ten years.

Q. So then you have had twenty years' experience as manager of banks, and you
are now acting as one of the directors appointed by the government?—A. Yes.

Q. What is your opinion as to the way in which the business of this company
was carried on?—A. Well, I think it was carried on very economically and very hon-

estly, and on the best methods that could be followed.

Q. And with what end in view?—A. To carry to completion the work at the low-

est expense and to the best advantage possible.

Q. Did you find that the funds of this compay were being expended in the proper

direction at all times?—A. I did.

Q. Do you consider that the sums voted to the directors for their services by the

shareholders were legitimate?—A. I do.

Q. And that they were within the mark?—A. I do.

Q. As to Mr. Parent's services, what have you to say in regard to them?—A.

Well, Mr. Parent wanted to resign when he was made chairman of the \Transconti-

nental Commission, and we all felt that we could not dispense with his services, and
not only his colleagues on the board, but also the shareholders felt the same way.

And later on, again, after the collapse of the bridge, we had our annual meeting, and
then again he thought possibly someone else should take charge, but the shareholders

and his colleagues again objected.

Q. So that he retained the confidence of the shareholders and the directors of the

company throughout, and still holds it?—A. Absolutely.

Q. You have some idea, I suppose, in a business way, as to the value of bonds,

^c. ?—A. Well, I have, you see I am a director of the savings bank in Quebec, and we
hold over $6,000,000 of bonds of all kinds.

Q. You understand about these bonds that we have been speaking about, interim

bonds?—A. I do.

Q. Do you know the arrangement between the company and Mr. Davis with regard

to the acceptance of certain of these bonds in payment of the work of construction?

—A. Of course, that was before my time.

Q. But you have knowledge of them?—A. Yes, I have.

Q. What do you say as to the act of the directors in turning over these bonds at

the price they did to Mr. Davis under the conditions that existed?—A. I am absohitely

convinced that the bonds had no commercial value of any kind ; I mean that they were
not saleable on the market.

Q. They would not be saleable bonds?—A. They could not have boon sold on the

market, and only Mr. Davis, who had faith in the enterprise, and who know more than
any one else, conld take those chances that he did take.

Q. So you think that the arrangement by the company was what you would con«

sider a good business arrangement?—A. The very besi that could be made. I know
that later on when we had to borrow money from the Bank of Montreal on bonds that

were secured in principal and interest by the government wo only could borrow np to

80 per cent.

By Mr. Monli::

Q. When did you become a director?—A. In January, 1004.
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Q. WHat is the amount of stock you now hold?—A. Well, I sold my stock when
I was made a director in order to be disinterested, being there on behalf of the gov-

ernment.

Q. You sold your stock ?—A. I wanted to have no personal interest in it from

that time.

Q. Did I understand you to say that you sold your stock when you became a

director?—A. After I was appointed, but before I acted as such.

Q. You had stock when you were appointed?—A. I had subscribed for $1,000, yes.

Q. And you sold it?—A. I disposed of it then.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. I understand you disposed of your stock?—A. As soon as I was appointed.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Did not the company vote you some money as director?—A. As director, yes,

but not to myself more than to any others. I shared with the others to the extent of

$500 a year.

Q. Amounting in total to $2,000?—A. I could not say exactly; that is since 1904.

Q. And this amount was converted into stock?—A. No.

Q. It was not converted into stock?—^A. No.

Q. You took the amount in cash?—A. Yes.

Q. And it was voted at the same time as the vote to the other directors ?—A. Yes,

by the shareholders.

Q. Have you, Mr. DuMoulin, from time to time (while you acted as director to

the Bridge Company, made reports to the government?—A. No, I did not. I had

occasion to speak to some of the ministers, but I did not make any regular official

report.

Q. Since 1904 you have not made any official report?—A. No.

Q. Have you made any report since the disaster?—A. No.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. I am advised—I think you made a certain statement that the shareholders

voted the moneys that were paid to you as director ; I am advised it was voted by the

directors ?—A. I am sure that the shareholders voted to the board a certain amount
annually.

Q. But did the shareholders vote this amount to the board after 1904, or did the

directors settle it themselves?—A. No, I think it was before that. (The directors

could not pay this without a vote of the shareholders; we could not draw and pay
that without a vote from the shareholders.

By the Chairman

:

Q. Under the statute would the directors have power to draw that ?—A. I thought

that the money had been voted by the shareholders.

Mr. Galliher.—I simply mention it so that if it was not the case you might not

have a misconception of that?—A. It was my impression, but I might be making a

mistake, that it was usual for the shareholders to vote any remuneration to the direc-

tors, and I thought it was done in this case.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. In this case, was it the shareholders or the directors themselves who voted the

money ?—A. I was always under the impression that the amount had been granted by
the shareholders, that was my impression all along.

Q. Well, now, Mr. DuMoulin, you were there as representing the government.
Did you look into the subscription of what is called before this committee the new
stock, the $200,000 which under the agreement of 1903 had to be subscribed and paid
\n cash. Did you have occasion to look into that?—A. No, I did not look into it.
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Q. Do you know, as a matter of fact, whether it was paid in cash before the

$600,000 bond issue was made, do you know that?—A. Well, at the time the amount
was subscribed it came to my knowledge that certain shareholders who had taken some
of that new istock, paid up in cash^ it came to my knowledge.

Q. But did you have occasion to verify whether the whole of the $200,000 had
been paid up in cash previous to the bond issue?—A. No.

Q. Well, now, do you know that the company certified to the government in order

to secure that issue of bonds, that the whole issue of $200,000 had been paid in cash,

do you know that?—A. I understood that was a condition, but I did not inquire par-

ticularly.

Q. Had you any knowledge as a director of the company that a certificate was
given to the government on the 26th of February, 1904, as follows:

—

'I hereby certify that additional stock to the extent of $200,000 has been duly

subscribed to the capital stock of the Quebec Bridge and Eailway Company and paid

up in full, in compliance with clause 4 of the agreement made on the 19th October,

1903, between the Quebec Bridge and Eailway Company and the Dominion govern-
ment.'

That is signed by Ulric Barthe, treasurer, and by Mr. Parent, president, and the

seal of the company is attached to it ?—A. This must have come to my knowledge at

the time I was on the board; this was in 1904, was it?

Q. The 26th February?—A. But to-day I haven't any recollection of it; certainly

I must have seen it.

Q. Was that certificate issued with your concurrence?—A. That was four years

ago, and I cannot say to-day. I may have forgotten it, but I do not remember. I

have no recollection of it.

Q. Do you know whether it was a true and sincere certificate at that time?—A.

I have no recollection of this matter to-day.

Q. You never made it a special matter of inquiry as to whether rliat certificate

was well founded or not, did you?—A. Not to my recollection.

Q. As a business man of largG experience, Mr. DuMoulin, did you study the

situation of the company in 1903 ? Before you became a director did you know the

situation?—A. I knew the situation in a general way, but I made no particular study

of it.

Q. But you knew the company was hard up at that time, before the government,

came in, didn't you?—A. I knew that the enterprise was a national enterprise that

could not be carried on unless the government could come to the help of the company.
Q. As a business man, that being the case at that time, don't you think the

government could have done better to pay Mr. Davis the amount actually due him,
since the bonds were worthless, his bonds I am speaking of?—A. Which bonds, the

interim ?

Q. Yes, the unguaranteed bonds. Would it not have been better for the govern^
ment to pay him the amount actually due on the work instead of Mr. Davis ultimately
making a profit of 40 per cent? Wouldn't it be better, since the government waa
coming to the relief of the company, to do that?—A. I don't believe the government-
could have built that bridge for less money than the company could.

Q. Perhaps I am not putting my question properly. The government found tho
company embarrassed financially, would it not have been wiser for the government,
since the contractor had worthless bonds in a sense, to have paid him the amount
actually due him rather than to provide for this large amount which he might eventu-
ally get by receiving the full amount of the bond?—A. The government made a good
bargain, because in securing these plans the government secured the right to take
the new bridge at any time they chose.

Q. I do not quite understand; what is that?—A. T say that the government when
they secured the issue of bonds, the law provides that at any time, by giving a month's
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notice, the government may take back the bridge by paying the shareholders the

amount of their stock plus 10 per cent premium.

Q. Do you think that is a very great advantage?—A. Well, of course it is, because

the government had undertaken before that to pay a bonus of $1,000,000, so that that

bargain relieved the government of paying that amount, to the extent that that had
not yet been paid, and besides that there were also the grants made by the city of

Quebec and the province of Quebec.

Q. I might direct your attention to this large profit he .made upon the bonds from

$218,000 to $472,000, and the interest. I am asking you as a business man if it would

not have been better for the government to pay to Mr. Davis the amount actually due

him rather than to have provided for the redemption of the bonds in full?

The Chairman.—The shareholders paid that, the government did not.

A. Well, you see when Mr. Davis was paid with the interim bonds he got them
at 60, but afterwards that discount was recouped by the new shareholders putting in

some money to the extent of $200,000.

Q. Well, that is true, but was that actually carried out? That stipulation of the

government's? You were there as the government's representative, Mr. DuMoulin?
—A. As the company stands to-day they have received the full amount.

Q. You were given to understand they had received the full amount and paid off

the discount on the bonds; who gave you to understand that?—A. Well, I attended

the meetings, and this was the understanding; I never understood anything else than

the fact that the new stock had been subscribed and paid for.

Q. You were given distinctly to understand that at the meetings?—A. Yes.

Q. Otherwise I suppose you would never have concurred in that certificate which
I have read to you?—A. ISTo.

Q. Do I understand, Mr. DuMoulin, that your ground for saying this has been a

good transaction for the government, that you base that judgment upon the fact that

the government stipulated that it could take the works over at thirty days' notice.

—A. They only secured the bonds and we all expected that the bridge would be a

paying enterprise, and therefore the government who had merely endorsed, instead of

giving a bonus of $1,000,000, became an endorser for property that was expected to

give profits, so that the government, taking back the bridge, a paying proposition,

they would have got a bridge without subscribing a cent.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. And not only that, but the bonus of the Quebec city and the government as well ?

—A. Yes, and not only the unpaid balance of the $1,000,000 bonus, but the whole
amount of the bonus, what they had given before the agreement was made had been
spent on the bridge, and the $625,000 unpaid yet.

Q. In addition to the bonus from the Quebec government and the city?—A. Of
course, that part of it would have remained there, but they would have been share-

holders, and the government would have been compelled to consider them as share-

holders or reimburse them.

By Mr. MonJc:

Q. When you came on the board the plans and specifications of the superstruc-

ture had passed and they actually were at work on the superstructure?—A. It was at

the beginning, about that.

Q. Did you have occasion yourself to look at any of these plans since you became
a director?—A. Yes, of course I never intended to look at them in a technical way,

as an engineer ; I relied very much upon the judgment of the engineers ; I had to do so.

Q. Do you know whether the Dominion government took cognizance of any of

those plans, or any of the specifications, after you became a director ?—A. I was aware
that the government had approved of the plans.

Q. But when? Before or after?—A. Before the contracts were given out.



RE MONEYS PAID TO QUEBEC BRIDGE COMPANY 121

APPENDIX No. 6

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. Did you know of any changes in the plans afterwards?—A. No, I did not hear

of any change in the plans afterwards.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. Do you know if there was any change in the plans or specifications after you

became a director?—A. No, I never heard of any change, and surely if any change

of very much importance had been made we would have heard of it.

By Mr. Ghisholm (Antigonish):

Q. You would not be likely to know of any change anyway?—A. I would have;

I never heard of any.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. How do you explain this clause in the agreement under which you became a

director? Clause 12 says:

' The plans and specifications for all the works of the undertaking shall . be sub-

mitted to and approved by the Governor in Council before any work is constructed

thereunder/

I am now reading to you from the agreement of October 19, 1903. That would
seem to call, as I understand it, for the government doing something in regard to

these plans and specifications after this agreement of October 19, 1903, since it says:
' Shall be submitted.' Do you know, as a matter of fact, whether the government did

examine or approve of any plans and specifications from the tiine you became a

director?—A. At the time I became a director I understand that the government had
its own engineer on the spot there at Phcenixville supervising everything. They had
an engineer there.

Q. You understood, then, after you became a director, that the government had
an engineer at Phoenixville supervising everything?—A. There was an engineer repre-

senting the government there at Phoenixville, who took the measures and the weight

of every piece of steel that left the works and that was shipped to Canada.

Q. Had that man anything to do with the plans and specifications?—A. No.

Q. What were his duties?—A. To keep account of every piece of steel and the

weight of the steel that was shipped to Canada.

Q. But the information I want to get from you is this; as I read clause 12, it

says that the plans and specifications shall be submitted to and approved by ^the

Governor in Council before any work is constructed thereunder?—A. I understand

that the plans and specifications have been approved by the Governor in Council a3

provided in that clause.

Q. Since the date of this agreement, of course?—A. Previous to any work being

done.

Q. You understand that that clause has been complied with?—A. This clause

provides for the government accepting all the plans and specifications before the work
is begun, is that it?

Q. Yes? Well, now, I 's^ant to ask you this, as a director named by the govern-

ment, do you know that stipulation was complied with after you became a director?

—A. Well, I have no absolute personal knowledge of it.

By Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish)

:

Q. You could have no personal knowledge of it anyway; it would be the engineer

of the government?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. In connection with the certificate that was given in regard to the $200,000. did

you consider this cheque of Mr. Davis^ when it was stated that the amount had been
subscribed for and the terms complied with, would you consider that this cheque of

6—10



122 SELECT COMMITTEE

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

Mr. Davis' that they had for the sum of $94,000, but which had not been turned into

cash, was a payment ?—A. Yes, because Mr. Davis is perfectly solvent for that amount
and his cheque, for me, would be that much money;

Q. And you, if you had been signing this certificate, would havQ taken it in that

way?—A. I would.

Witness discharged.

Committee adjourned.

House of Commons,
EooM '^o. 32,

Tuesday, June 23, 1908..

The Committee met at 11.30 o'clock, a.m., the Chairman, Mr. A. K. Maclean,

presiding.

Mr. Lorenzo Eobitaille, M.P., called and examined.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. You are a member of the House of Commons?—A. Yes.

Q. In looking through your speech, as reported in ' Hansard ' of April 26, 1907,

and reading it over, it has struck me that possibly there are some statements you

may have made through error and which you might set right if they are wrong. For

that reason I thought it due not only to yourself, but to this Committee, the matter

having application to this inquiry as well, to ask you to answer a few questions. I

will read you a few extracts and if necessary I will show the volume to you. At page

7939 of ' Hansard ' in the course of your statement you say (reads) :

^ Those then promoting it '—referring to the^ Quebec bridge
—

^ were Hon. S. N.
Parent, then mayor of the city of Quebec, premier of the province of Quebec, and
president of the bridge company.' My information is that Mr. Parent was not

premier of the province of Quebec at that time. Do yoii know as to that?

—

A. Well, I am not in a position to state exactly if he were not at that time,

but I am aware that he obtained a subsidy to ths helping of the bridge from the pro-

vincial government, and it was in his capacity of premier that he obtained it. If it

was a few months after or a year after, it was through his capacity as having the

position that he obtained the provincial subsidy?

Q. Do you think that he obtained the provincial subsidy, when he did obtain it,

while he was premier of the province of Quebec?—A. I think so.

Q. Do you state also and because he was premier f—A. Well, the presumption
is, I think, that he got it for that because he had good influence with the provincial
government, without casting any discredit on the venture.

Q. Yes, I undej-stand. It merely struck me, and I wanted to clear that point
as to whether he was or was not, at the time you speak of, premier of the province?

—

A. When he obtained the subsidy I am sure he was.

Q. Do you know when that subsidy was obtained?—A. ISTo.

Q. Now, a little further on in the same speech you stated (reads) :

' In 1901, after having secured this subsidy, a company was formed called the
Quebec Terminal and Eailway Company. Associated with Mr. Parent were Hon.
John Sharpies, E. Taschereau and Gaspard LeMoine.'
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Do you know, as a matter of fact, that Mr. Parent was ever a member of that

terminal company?—A. I must say, in passing, that there are a few statements in

that speech that were not correctly taken by the stenographers. In reading it up
this summer I found, for example, that certain figures do not corroborate certain

statements. I corrected some of these with the original that I had when I gave

them out, and I think personally that Hon. Mr. Parent's name was not mentioned
in the House by me at the time. I read from the statute book the names of the par-

ties who had registered themselves when they asked for letters patent. Mr. Parent's

was not, if I remember right, but there was Mr. Edmond Taschereau, who is a notary

in Mr. Parent's office.

Q. And you are incorrectly reported in stating that Mr. Parent was one of the
members of the terminal company?—^A. I think so. It is my impression that his

name was not on the Quebec Terminal Company's directorship. But I mentioned
later on in the course of the speech, which probably was misconstrued by the ' Hansard'
reporter, that Mr. Taschereau was in Mr. Parent's office, and he belonged to the

same clan.

Q. Now,- page 7940 of 'Hansard' I think, must be a mistake, too. You
referred to grants being received by the bridge company. You referred to a niimi-

cipal grant of $374,353, a Quebec city municipal subsidy of $300,000, and a Quebec
provincial subsidy of $2.50,000. As a matter of fact, was there not only one municipal

subsidy?—A. I think so. One municipal, one provincial and one federal.

Q. So that the mention of two principal grants ?—A. Well, it is in ' Hansard.'

Q. It is an error?—A. It was late at night, and I believe I spoke a little fast,

and they made it up, and next morning I had no chance of correcting it, becau=e it

was the close of the session.
,

Q. I am only asking these questions to clear up those matters?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, before ,we leave this matter of the Quebec Terminal Company, I see

that at page 7942 of the 'Hansard,' on April 26, 1907, you are quoted as saying (reads) :

' Another important question. The company has power to work with terminals.

This company has the power, as I said before, by statute, of transacting business with

that Quebec Terminal Company. Now, what is the operation? Both are interested

parties, iilie one company is the same as the other. The Quebec Bridge Company gets

a guarantee from the government, gets money from the government, and buys pro-

perty from the Quebec Terminal Company, who has options all along from the bridge

to the entry of the city, and they will buy at an enhanced price, which the said

terminal company will fix, and the bridge company iwill be too glad to purchase be-

cause the chief officials will be buying their own property.'

Now as a matter of fact did the Quebec Terminal Company become merged in

and form part of the Quebec Bridge Company ?—A. I am not aware if it has or if

it has not. By what I so state there I showed there was close contiguity or close

interest between the two boards and by my statement I was just giving what was
liable to happen on account of the good understanding of both boards. I was not

affirming that they were doing it.

Q. It was not your intention—A. If you read it closely you will find that the

explanation I give concurs with the statement. I was showing the close affiliation

between these two boards and I say 'What is the result ? How shall it operate ?'

And then I say

Q. Then you are not stating, as a matter of fact, anything that had ooourrod but

what might occur ?—A. What might occur, yes.

Q. As a matter of fact do you know that the Queboo Tovmiual Company nevor

had bought any properties at all, never had controlled any pvo|x^vtios ?—A. I am not

aware they had.

Q. In connection with this ?—A. I am not aware they had. T understand that

later on they merged or did not take advantage of their charter. I don't know what

happened with it afterwards.

6—10^
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Q. So you later information, as a matter of fact, is, what you anticipated, at all

events when you were making this statement, did not take place ?—^A. Yes. The only

information I had was by Mr. Power in the House that they never operated that char-

ter, but still the way the charter worked out. That is why I gave that explanation.

Q. I understand you to say, Mr. Kobitaille, that you were just making the state-

ment that on account of the close relationship certain things might be looked for ?

—

A. Might be looked for. Yes.

Q. Since then your knowledge has led you to understand that these things you

anticipated, or may have anticipated, did not take place?

—

-ms.. Even at this moment I

am not in possession of the facts as to whether they have taken place or have not,

but as I stated before, it is the close relation of these two directorships. The presump-

tion was they could come to .a satisfactory understanding and operate in that sense.

Q. Then your speech has really no relation whatever except in the sense that such

and such things might occur %—A. Yes.

Q. To your knowledge, or as far as you know, they never did occur?—A. Yes,

that is why I was asking the government to take the thing under its control because

I was foreshadowing the result.

Q. This statement was made in 1907 and I am instructed that in 1903 they

became amalgamated and the company was called the Quebec Bridge and Terminal

Company. So at this time and three years prior to that, there could not have been

anything of that nature?—A. Probably.

Q. You say probably. Would you not think that a natural outcome of the fact

that they were one and the same company and that there were not two companies?

—

A. Yes, I would deduce that but you and the president are more aware of the work-

ings of that company than I was at the time.

Q. Excuse me. I am no more aware of it than you are. You also at page 7942

of ' Hansard ' make this assertion (reads) :

' The second point I wish to call to the attention of the Finance Minister, is his

own statement which I find in the 'Hansard' of a few days ago, that there was no
permanent officer of the works and no official was sent to look after the works. Well,

we know an official who is a brother of the president of that company, a man who
keeps a small retail grocery store in my own parish, and who does not know the differ-

ence between a cross beam and a purlin in bridge work. He is a very worthy man
but he allows the wool to be pulled over his eyes,

'

And so on. Your meaning, I take from that, is that Mr. Parent's brother was employed

in an official capacity on that work?—A. That is incorrect.

Q. Is that correct ?—A. That is incorrect. That is what I meant, but this suromer
I have seen him again, and the way it is: in conversation he was telling me what
influence his brother had and he was naming the different positions his different

brothers assumed with the government, and I think he even stated that his own
mother was inspector of women's labour and he himself intimated that he made very

frequent visits to the bridge, and he led me to believe he was getting $1,000 out of it.

This summer after making that speech I sent it to him and he was very inquisitive

and he thought probably his name was on the pay list and he was not drawing the

salary. That is how it turned out. I found that he first and foremost was wrong
and my statement based on those facts was not accurate.

Q. In fact was entirely wrong?—A. Entirely wrong, yes.

Q. Just another little point I want to bring up. Have you gone over the figures

that you gave with respect to the liability of the company and the value of the work, as

extracted, I think, from the report of the engineer?—A. Well, the figures there, I
could not vouch for them

Q. I will come to that in greater detail afterwards, but have you revised these

^gures, or gone over them, since you made that speech in the House?—ii. I have
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revised them, as I say, with the sample that I had at home but I know there are many
figures there that are not proper. The figures given by me in the House were figures

taken from the record, this statement of a balance sheet given by the bridge company

at the time they canie to parliament to get the guarantee of their seven millions of

bonds.

Q. This is reported at page 7941 of the ' Hansard ' of April 26th, 1907. Had you

taken . the trouble to more than look at the figures as they were put down, had you

gone into their application to the work at all ?—A. I have taken the figures as given by
the engineer, as handed over to the government when they asked the government to

guarantee their bonds to the amount of $7,000,000.

Q. Did you consider the application of these figures, one portion or section of

them to another, when you did that or did you take them baldly as they appeared in

the statement?—A. I gave them out as I had them before me.

Q. Without looking into the thing at all or applying them in your mind as they

should be applied?—A. I am not aware that I applied them wrongly. The only thing

I am sure of is I took the report as it was given. I took for granted that the report

was correct and I read the £gures as they appeared there.

Q. You simply took the report and you read the figures as they appeared there?

—A. Yes.

Q. Without going into any detail or study of the thing yourself?—A. If I remem-
bre right I studied them sufficiently in order not to give false figures.

Q. I would not for a moment intimate that you gave false figures, in fact I know
you did not. Are you an accountant, Mr. Robitaille?—A. I am able to discern such

figures as are given to me.

Q. But you are not an accountant ?—A. I have had a degree as accountant and I

have been doing some accounting work in the States as a business doctor.

Q. I want to go through those statements shortly. You start off by saying
(reads) :

' Now this M. P. Davis took $472,000 worth of bonds at a discount of 40 per cent.

thereby causing a loss to that company '—A. Sixty per cent.

Q. At a discount of 40 per cent?—A. Yes, but they.made a mistake.

By the Chairman:

Q. No, that is right. Forty per cent and they got 60?—A. Then that 40 per cent

is correct.

By Mr. GalUher:

Q. (Keads):

Hhereby causing a loss to that company of $188,800. The actual money received

was $283,200 and on a finance of $1,273,217.70 they admit having a floating debt of

$779,550 in 1903.
' Now the value of the work was then estimated at about $1,400,000.

That was the estimate of the government engineer, and it is natural to suppose that

he was given a hint to make his estimate excessive rather than exact.
'

I suppose in the latter part you were enlarging a little?—A. I was presuming a

little, if you can read what is there.

Q. (Keads):
* If on a sum of a million and a quarter there is a difference of $779,000, the

shrinkage is about fifty per cent. What guarantee has the government to-day if it

lends $6,000,000? Judging the future by what we see in the past, a shrinkage of fifty

per cent will represent a floating debt of three millions on the six or seven million

dollars granted to this company as is proposed by the present bill.

'

Do you still have the idea that there wals, even from the figures as presented here

by the engineer, a shrinkage of that nature?—A. There was a shrinkage of $779,000

by the figures given in the statement handed over to the government when they asked

to have guaranteed bonds to the extent of
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Q. That is your idea of the figures given by the engineer?—A. I understand there

was a deficit at the time.

Q. That is your idea as a man having had some experience in accounting?—A.

It was, if I read the figures given there. If I had been aware that I would be asked

to give evidence this morning I would have brought the report up.

Q. Are these the figures that you were quoting from (showing witness printed

statement) ?—A. (Pointing to statement.) This is the one here, floating debt.

Q. Here is ' $1,416,394 value of work done engineering, &c. ?'—A. I took this

floating debt.

Q. That is the same as you got your information from?—A. Yes, and here is

the same floating debt.

Q. And that is the conclusion you came to after having gone over these figures?

A. Well if I understand the English language floating debt means it is a debt and the

figure opposite shows that it is not a surplus.

Q. Let U.S now take this up and see if we can get along a certain line. We find

the value of the work, as certified by the engineer at the time this statement was made
out and presented to parliament, is $1,416,394. That is correct, is it not?—A. Yes, by
the figures.

Q. I am taking the same figures that you took. Now we find there is interest on
bonds and cash owing, $34,298. You will admit, I presume, Mr. Eobitaille, that inter-

est on monies in a work of this kind is really chargeable against the assets, or at least

really chargeable against the work on the bridge just the same as the making of a

portion of the structure is?—A. Yes.

Q. So we find $34,298 a question of interest. We find engineering and so forth

$25,000, don't we?—A. Yes.

Q. I presume you will admit that also is chargeable against the construction. Then
on superstructure work we find due since 11th August, 1903, $30,000, do we not?

—

A. Yes, money owed.

Q. That is for work done on the superstructure, that forms a part of the monies
expended or sunk in the work?—A. Yes.

Q. So these three items will be properly added to the original $1,416,394?—A.

Well, I claim it should not be added. It should not be 1,416,000, it should be $1,100,-

000, because you see you cannot add the $30,000 and the $25,000. The engineering

and the amount due on superstructure should not be added to the total value of work
done.

Q. Why not?—A. Why not? Because this is money you owe. The interest on

bonds and cash owing should not be credited to the work but ^should be debited. Then
this amount for engineering is also included in the amount which is represented here

as the value of work done.

Q. I think you will find not?—A. When you appraise a building you may
appraise for the full amount of the building and if you want to strike a balance sheet

deduct from the value of the building what you owe and it gives you exactly your

status. Now in this case you give as th^ value of the work, just a lump ;sum, without

taking into consideration what is owed and what is not. You cannot add to that

account money which the Quebec Bridge Company owe for engineering, or even what
they owe still on the superstructure of the work.

Q. But, Mr. Eobitaille, the engineering, the superstructure and the interest on
monies borrowed to carry along the enterprise, are they not a part of the bridge build-

ing proposition itself, are they not something properly chargeable?—A. In the cost,

perhaps.

Q. In the cost of the bridge?—A. Yes, just the same as the scaffolding. When
you have the value of work done that amount here is supposed to include all expen-

diture.

Q. These three are subsequent, viz. the item for interest on bonds, engineering

and superstructure. They are in addition to the original amount of $1,416,394. They
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are subsequent to the estimate of that?--A. Your last statement does not corroborate

the first one, if these three amounts are subsequent to the value of the work done. This

does not agree with what you said a few minutes ago that the superstructure, the

engineering and so forth are supposed to be a part of the work.

Q. Well but it does ?—A. Yes, because the scaffolding of the building is included

in the cost; the cost of the building is valued as it is erected.

Q. But you are going on the wrong principle there all the time. If those three

latter items that have just been mentioned are not included in this first figure should

they not be added to that first item if they are not included in balancing up and
ascertaining how the moneys received have been expended?—A. If they are not

included ?

Q. Yes, going on that basis?—A. Yes, but what guarantee have you that m that

flgiire ^hese are not properly appraised ?

Q. j know, .u, a matter of fact, from the auditor who went over the ))ooks, that

they not included; the statement shows they are not, they would not be separated

if they were ?—A. Not necessarily, because if you value the work done in a certain

building everything is supposed to be included, but anyway, taking for granted tbe^^

are \:oi included in that, they should be.

Q. That would bring us to $1,505,692 ?—A. Yes.

Q. That is what the figures show, is it not ?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, let us take the other side of the sheet, and we find in Ihe item of, 'pay-

ments made,' $1,198,141, don't we?—A. Yes.

Q. Yes. Now, let met see, just a moment^
The Chairman.—What you are trying to show is that the floating debt was not as

great as $779,000, is not that so, Mr. Galliher ?

Mr. Galliher.—In fact I propose to show there is no floating debt except those

outstanding bonds of $472,000.

Mr. MoNK.-4The return to parliament shows a floating debt of $779,000.

Mr. Galliher.—Yes, I am going to show what that $779,551 includes.

By Mr. Galliher :

Q. The floating debt is given at $779,551, is it not ?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, of the floating debt $472,000 is bond issue, isn't it?—A. Of that float-

ing debt, what ?

Q. $472,000 is bond issue ?—A. It is not stated there.

Q. Yes, $472,000 ?—A. $472,000, oh yes.

Q. Yes, $472,000 is the bond issue; then outside of that bond issue there is a

floating debt of $307,551, is there ?—A. That is by your figuring ?

, Q. Yes, take your original floating debt reported as $779,551 ?—A. I will add
some figures and then I will calculate on that.

The Chairman.—That is merely as a matter of subtraction. I suppose that is

right ?

By Mr. Galliher :

Q. $779,551 is the floating debt, and of that $472,000 is bond issue, is it not ?—
A. Yes.

Q. Therefore the balance is the floating debt ?—A. What are your figures ?

Q. $307,551 is the floating debt, that is right is it not, $779,551 less $472,000?—
A. Yes.—one minute, $307,551?

Q. That is outside of the bonds?—A. But you should add to that $188,000. which

is the discount on those bonds, because you owe the difference.

Q. Wait a moment, we will come to that by and by, but let me get at it my way
first and then you can explain it the other way ?—A. All right.

Q. So that we find the payments made $1,198,141. and the floating indebtedness

outside the bonds $307,551 ?—A. Why do you take the bonds out of that ?



128 8ELECT COMMITTEE

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

Q. For the simple reason that I am going to deal with them in another iway ?

—

A. Because the amount
Q. If you will follow me and answer my question then I will let you make any

explanations you like, Mr. Eobitaille, that is right, is it not ?—A. The way you look

at it.

Q. The way anybody looks at it as far as that is concerned. The payment made
$1,198,141, and outside the bonds there is $307,551 ?—A. Yes.

Q. Then we find that the floating debt and the monies paid out amount to $1,505,-

692, do we not?—A. Payments made?

Q. Payments made, and added to that the floating debt outside the bonds ?:—A.

Yes.

Q. And you find that that corresponds exactly, to a dollar, with the former calcula-

tion of the values expended in the bridge, do you not ?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, then, we will go on and deal with the question of bonds, that is an exact

balance if you leave the bonds out of the question ?—A. If you leave the bonds out

of the question.

Q. Then we will take up the proposition of the bonds. Of this $1,198,141, $283,-

2Y9 is the proceeds of the bonds, that is right, is it not ?—A. Yes.

Q. That is included in that, $283,279 is the proceeds of the bonds. Now the

bonds if sold at par would be $472,000 ?—A. Yes, the amount that you substract from
the other.

Q. And supposing you, as a company, owe $472,000 and issue bonds and sell

them to that amount you wipe out the indebtedness as far as the contractor is con-

cerned, do you not ?—A. Yes. •

Q. But you still have your $472,000 of indebtedness?—A. Yes.

Q. On your bonds which you have to redeem?—A. Yes.

Q. Which would be the case in this instance ?—A. Yes.

Q. So that if these bonds had been sold at par an accounting here would show
that every dollar received had been expended, and you would get an equal balance?

—

A. Yes, by the figuring.

Q. By the figuring, yes. So that the only thing is the $188,000, the discount on
the bonds?—A. Yes.

Q. Now, that being the case, it is clear, is it not, that really with regard to the

money received the bridge company have in construction, engineering, interest, &c.y

received dollar for dollar in value less whatever discount ($188,000 odd) there was on
these bonds?—A. By the figuring you have just made it shows that. Are you finished

now on that?

Q. Yes, I think that covers it—^well, just one question. And on that basis, Mr.
Eobitaille, your statement here of a 'shrinkage of 50 per cent must be absolutely wrong;
that is if the basis I have established is right ?—A. By that basis, but I was taking the

report.

Q. Yes, that will give you that result, according to the basis I have established;

in questioning you here I am not saying that basis is correct, or I do not ask you
to say it is correct, but that is correct according to that basis?—A. That is correct.

Q. That is if the basis of figuring is correct, then your statement with regard to

a shrinkage of 50 per cent of with regard to any shrinkage outside of what was
brought about by the discount on those bonds was wrong, there is absolutely nothing?

—A. There is something in this, and I take this report, a paper with the signature of

Collingwood Schreiber, chief engineer, as authentic, and it states here, that the

floating debt up to the 15th of October, 1903, is $779,000. Now let me figure in another
way than your method of figuring. He claims that is right and you claim you are

right.

Q. I claim both are right.—A. Probably it may be, but to an ordinary eye it

does not look that way and I am looking at the papers as submitted to the House.
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Q. I am trying to show A. If they thought that they should reduce that float-

ing debt by the amount of the discount 40 per cQnt why did they not include that in

the report?

Q. Of course I am not responsible for that?—A. And I am not responsible for

what knowledge I have any more than that I have taken this report as my source of

information.

Q. But you will admit that if the basis I have established here is correct, as taken

from the figures there, and I have only taken such figures as there are there, if the

basis I have established is correct the conclusion I have arrived at is correct also, is it

not?—A. Yes, taking it that everything is correct, which is the presumption.

Q. Exactly?—A. Well, wait until I do some figuring now. Now, take $1,416,395,

value of work done, engineering, interest on bonds and cash owing $34,298; engineer-

ing, $25,000; due on superstructure since 11th August, 1903, $30,000; that makes
a total of $1,505,792. Now $472,000 bond issue, balance due on work, $218,000; pay-

ments made, $1,198,141, and add that other indebtedness, $561,298, that makes $2,449,-

439. First I take the value of the work done, engineering, $1,416,395, that is accept-

able, isn't it, as to the first amount?
Mr. Valliher.—Of course I am not giving evidence, but that is the statement '

there. '

By the Chairman:

Q. You are trying to figure out a deficit. It would take quit^ a long while to

figure it up, and you can come here at any time. Take a week and figure it out, you will

have lots of time to come here after you have done so ?—A. All right, and I will bring

the figuring the way I had it figured up when, I read it to the House.

Q. 'That is fair, the witness should have a chance to go over his figures.

By Mr. Ghiskolm (Aniigonish)

:

Q. He wants to say that he was under a misapprehension when he made that

statement in the House?—A. That would not be right to say I was under a misap-

prehension, because I made the same figuring twice—my mianuscript was stolen from
my desk at six o'clock and I had to make it up a second time, so that if I had made
a mistake in the first instance, I had no copies of the figures I had made at first. I

could not have produced the same results a second time.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. But you found your manuscript afterwards?-—A. No, I did not, I never found
it, but I will make the calculations again and I will come before the committee with

the figures I have. At all events the little information that there was before the House,
whatever I could get, whatever was available I had it, that is why I was very careful

in the statement I made.

By Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish)

:

Q. Of course you did not anticipate that that statement would be called into

question here?—A. My statement could very easily be called into question in the

city of Quebec where I live.

By the Chairman:

Q. According to Mr. Koblin a political statement is a different statement to one
made by a witness under oath, they are two different things altogether?—A. You know
more about that than I do, I have not been as long in the game as you have.

Witness retired.
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L'lionorable S. N. Parent est appele^ prete serment et est examine.

Par M. Monlc :

Q. Vous avez agi pratiquement comme directeur-gerant de la Quebec Bridge

Company pendant que vous en etiez le president?—E. J'ai agi comme president.

Q. Y avait-il "an gerant?—E,. Non, monsieur.

Q. Pratiquement, est-ce que vous n'en remplissiez les fonctions?—E. Non, mon-
sieur; je ne puis dire cela.

Q. II y a des temoins qui ont dit que vous aviez fait les neuf dixiemes du tra-

vail?—E. Je ne puis avoir travaille beaucoup sans etre gerant.

Q. Vous n'aviez pas ce titre, mais en definitive vous avez fait les neuf dixiemes

de travaux d'administration ?—E. Je ne dis pas cela ; j'ai fait beaucoup de travail

mais je ne sais pas si je puis dire les neuf dixiemes.

Q. Voulez-vous dire au comite quelles sont les raisons qui vous ont fait clioisir

monsieur Cooper comme ingenieur?—E. Eh bien, lorsque nous avons eu des sou-

missions des differentes compagnies, la premiere chose que nous avions a faire etait

de trouver un homme competent pour examiner les plans.

Q. Les differentes compagnies de ponts?—E. Les compagnies qui avaient sou-

missionne. Apres informations prises, M. Theodore Cooper, ingenieur de la ville de

New-York a ete recommande comme I'homme le plus capable en matiere de ponts,

comme faisant autorite. Voila ce qui I'a fait choisir; et nous avons constate que ce

qu'on avait dit de lui etait conforme a la verite; c'etait une autorite dans la matiere.

Q. Ce monsieur a-t-il visite le site du pont plusieurs fois ?—E. II est alle le

visiter quelques fois, certainement.

Q. Combien de fois a peu pres a-t-il ete sur les lieux ?—E. 1.1 est alle sur les

lieux a ma connaissance quand nous construisions la substructure, quand M. Davis

faisait les piliers; il est venu une couple de fois.

Q. Je crois constater qu'il y est alle une couple de fois, est-ce que c'est correcte ?

•—E. D'apres nos arrangements avec lui, M. Cooper devait aller au pont environ une
fois par mois s'il le jugeait a propos ; il etait juge dans la matiere.

Q. Comme question de fait, je crois qu'il y est alle deux ou trois fois, n'est-ce

pas, pendant le cours des travaux ?—E. II doit y etre alle trois ou quatre fois, peut-

etre quatre ou cinq fois ; au meilleur de ma connaissance, je crois qu'il y est alle

trois fois.

Q. Vous etes-vous enquis dans le temps du capital et des ressources de la Phoenix
Bridge Company avant d'entrer en affaires avec elle?—E. La compagnie Phoenix dans
le temps d'apres nos informations avait un capital de cent mille piastres; le credit de

la compagnie et le " backing " qu'elle avait, parait-il, de la Phoenix Iron Company en
faisait une compagnie tres puissante dans la construction, de ponts. Elle etait tres

bien recommandee. Nous sommes alles a Philadelphie pour nous enquerir de sa situa-

tion financiere, et les rapports qu'on nous a faits a propos de la Phoenix Bridge Com-
pany etaient tres favorables.

Q. Mais en dehors de ce capital que vous venez d'indiquer, est-ce que la compa-
gnie avait des ressourecs realisables a votre connaissance, et quelles etaient-elles ?

—

E. Lorsque nous avons transige avec la Phoenix Bridge Company, nous avons pris son
credit tel qu'il etait, avec de plus une garantie de cent mille piastres; nous avons en
consequence passe un contrat, etant persuade que la compagnie remplirait ses obliga-

tions.

Q. Je constate qu'en effet la compagnie avait un credit de cent mille piastres,

mais ce montant ne vous a-t-il pas paru un peu minime en face des obligations que la

compagnie assumait envers vous ?—E. II y en avait assez ; le " drawback " etait de
dix pour cent; dans tous les cas le contrat parle par lui-meme.

Q. Vous etes-vous enquis dans le temps s'il n'etait pas possible d'obtenir soit un
credit pins eleve, ou bien d'assurer les travaux dans la construction?—E. Eh bien,
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apres avoir discute cette question dans le temps, nous etions satisfaits qu'avec cette

garantie et avec les recommandations que nous avions au sujet de la Phoenix Bridge

Company, sur la maniere qu'elle avait rempli ses contrats anterieurement, nous fai-

sions de bons arrangements avec cette compagnie.

Q. N'ajiriez-vous pas pu prendre par exemple une garantie de la Phoenix Iron

Company, qui semble avoir commandite cette compagnie-ci dans cette entreprise?

—

R. Nous avons obtenu a notre' point de vue une garantie satisfaisante et suffisante

pour I'execution du contrat que nous faisions avec la Phoenix Bridge Company. Et

de fait, la Phoenix Bridge Company a parfaitement rempli ses obligations pour les

travaux tel que convenu avec la Compagnie du pont de Quebec, jusqu'au moment de

I'accident.

Q. Saviez-vous que la Phoenix Iron Company etait la compagnie mere de la

Phoenix Bridge Company f—R. Tout ce que I'on savait c'est que la Phoenix Iron Com-
pany aidait la Phoenix Bridge Company; je ne sais pas de quelle maniere, mais soit

en fournissant le fer ou autrement; dans tous les cas elle aidait la Phoenix Bridge

Company.

Q. Avez-vous etudie dans le temps les relations existant entre les deux compa-

gnies ?—R. Non, monsieur
;
pas plus que les directeurs de la banque ; dans le temps, ils

nous ont dit qu'ils etaient satisfaits que nous eussions affaires avec la compagnie.

Q. Savez-vous quelque chose de la position financiefe de la Phoenix Iron Com-
panyf—R. ]S5"on, monsieur; je n'en connais rien.

Q. Vous ne connaissez ni son capital ni ses ressources?—R. Non, monsieur.

Q. Et la question de donner des garanties additionnelles a I'obligation de cent

mille piastres n'a pas ete discutee, je crois, par le bureau?—R. Nous avons alors dis-

pute avec la compagnie Phoenix; j'ai essaye d'avoir autant que je pouvais avoir comme
garanties. Lorsque nous avons discute le contrat, d'apres les informations que nous
avions a ce moment, nous avons juge a propos d'accepter ces garanties comme etant

satisfaisantes ; si nous avions pu avoir plus je crois que nous I'aurions pris, mais nous
n'avons pas pu avoir plus.

Q. Quand I'arche de 1,800 pieds a ete substituee a I'arche de 1,600 pieds, quelles

demarches votre compagnie a-t-elle faites pour s'assurer de la valeur et de la surete

de la substitution?—R. Notre ingenieur en chef, M. Cooper, comme je vous I'ai dit

il y a un instant etait considere comme le meilleur ingenieur en matiere de ponts, un
homme qui faisait autorite, qui pretendait qu'un autre ne pouvait pas le critiquer,

n'avait pas les connaissances necessaires pour cela; alors, nous avons pris son rapport,

c'est lui qui a fait les suggestions que nous avons acceptees.

Q. Vous n'avez pas cru necessaire de faire verifier la prudence de ce changement,

de le faire controler?—R. Nous avions aussi I'opinion de M. Szlapka qui etait inge-

nieur de la Phoenix Bridge Company, qui a designe les plans; les ingcnieurs s'nccor-

daient alors a dire que le changement pouvait se faire.

Q. Eh bien, quels etaient vos renseignements sur monsieur Szlnpka, est-co un
ingenieur de renom?—R. Aux Etats-Unis, d'apres ce que j'ai entondu dire,—je le con-

nais personnellement depuis plusieurs annees,—c'etait un homme eminent.

Q. Savez-vous ou cet ingenieur a fait ses etudes et quelles constructions il a deja

faites?—R. Je sais qu'il etait a I'emploi de la Phoenix Bridge Company depuis un
nombre d'annees; il est considere comme un homme tres capable dans la matiere;

maintenant, je ne I'ai pas suivi dans ses etudes, je ne sais pas ou il etudie.

Q. Oonnaissez-vous des ponts qu'il ait batis lui-meme, dont il ait fait le dessin?

—R. La Phoenix Bridge Company pourrait donner de nuulleurs renseignements que
moi de ce cote parce que je ne I'ai pas suivi dans ses travaux.

Q. Vous ne I'avez pas suivi dans ses travaux?—R. Non, monsieur.

Q. Vous pnralsscz considerer que c'est lui qui a fait les plans du pont?—R. Qui.

monsieur.
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Q. C'est bien le cas?—K. Oui, monsieur; d'apres mes informations; mais d'ail-

leurs, je ne crois pas qu'on nie cela non pins; le rapport de la Commission Royale
doit donner tons ces details-la.

Q. Quelle a ete la soumission la plus basse ponr la construction de ce ,pont; je

vois que vous aviez plusieurs soumissions?—R. Voulez-vous parler de la sous-structure

ou de la superstructure?

Q. Oui, monsieur; de la superstructure. Je vois que le dernier jour pour rece-

voir les soumissions etait le ler mars 1899 et qu'elles furent appelees au mois de sep-

tembre 1898 ?—R. Oui, monsieur.

Q. Quelle a ete la plus basse soumission?—R. La question du prix dans le tempg
n'a pas ete consideree, parce que nous ne savions pas quels plans pourraient etre,accep-

tes. Lorsque nous avons demande des soumissions, nous avons demande aux compa-
gnies de fournir leurs plans

; quant aux prix, il ne pouvait en etre question avant de
connaitre quels plans seraient acceptes par la compagnie, si c'etait un " cantilever

ou bien un pont suspendu; nous voulions savoir quel genre de plans serait accep-

table.

Q. Oombien avez-vous regu de soumissions avec plans?

—

'R. Je crois que nous en
avons recu quatre.

Q. Vous en avez regu quatre?—E. Oui, monsieur; et d'apres le rapport de mon-
sieur -Cooper la soumission' de la Phcenix Bridge Company etait la soumission la plus

avantageuse.

Q. A ce moment-la est-ce qu'il s'agissait d'un prix fixe pour cette construction ou
d'un prix a forfait ?—E. II n'etait pas possible de donner une telle entreprise a forfait.

Q. Je trouve dans le rapport de la commission royale qu'il y avait une difference

en favour de la Phoenix Bridge Company dans sa soumission a ce moment-la de

$23,507, et c'etait a forfait?—E. Oui, monsieur; mais vous ne ponviez pas avoir un
contrat base sur cette soumission ; tels qu'etaient les plans, ayant ete revises par mon-
sieur Cooper dans son rapport, les conditions changeaient alors.

Q. Mais monsieur Cooper vous a recommande la soumission de la Phoenix Bridge
Company comme etant la meilleure et la plus basse?—^E. Oui, monsieur, je crois que
oui.

Q. Elle etait done la plus basse a ce moment-la, il n'y a aucun doute de cela?

—

E. II est possible, je ne me rappelle pas ces chiffres parce que c'est pen important.

Q. Avez-vous connaissance que subsequemment les travaux n'ont pas ete entrepris

a forfait mais ont ete entrepris suivant le prix du fer?—E. Nous avions une cedule

de prix de fixes tel que le contrat le mentionne.

Q. Vous savez que les prix de la Key Stone Bridge Company se trouvaient etre

plus bas que ceux de la Phoenix Bridge Company —^E. Je ne dis pas cela, je ne puis

dire cela, parce que les prix de la Compagnie Key Stone pouvaient paraitre plus bas,

mais nous n'aurions pu construire sur son plan parce qu'il a ete mis de cote; quand
meme les cliiffres auraient ete plus bas, ils n'auraient pas ete acceptables par la com-

pagnie.

Q. Dois-je comprendre qu'aux termes indiques par cette compagnie, et suivant les

conventions qui ont ete arretees apres Fachat de la soumission, vous jpiaintenez que la

Phoenix Bridge etait le plus bas soummissionnaire ?—E. Je considerais que la Phoenix

Bridge Company offrait plus d'avantages en tenant compte des circonstanoes. D'apres

le rapport de I'ingenieur, c'etait la seule soumission acceptable.

Q. Mais vous admettez dans tons les cas que cette soumission ne faisait pas la

base du contrat qui a ete fait ensuite?—E. II y a eu beaucoup de changements de
faits par I'ingenieur dans les chiffres, qui ont cbange la position.

Q. Un mot a present sur les souscriptions au nouveau stock: vous vous rappelez

que dans la convention que vous avez arretee avec le gouvernement dans le mois d'oc-

tobre mil neuf cent trois, la compagnie devait recueillir deux cent mille piastres de
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stock additionnel, lequel devait etre verse comptant et employe jusqu'a concurrence

de $188,000 a eteindre Fescompte sur les anciennes debentures ?—R. Oui, monsieur.

Q. Vous vous rappelez cela?—R. Oui, monsieur.

Q. Ces conditions ont-elles ete remplies par votre compagnie?—R. Elles ont ete

remplies par la compagnie; c'est-a-dire que la compagnie a souscrit le stock de deux

cent mille piastres et les $188,000 n'ont pas d'abord ete payees a I'acquis de I'escompte

des debentures mais ils Font ete plus tard.

Q. Mais enfin, quand vous avez certifie au gouvernement que ce stock etait paye

en plein, il y avait toujours en suspens le cheque de M. Davis pour $94,000?—R. Le
cheque n'etait pas en suspens; nous avions le cheque en mains, lequel cheque pour

nous valait absolument de I'argent. La seule raison qui nous a fait retenir ce cheque

pendant un certain temps, c'est que nous ne voulions pas que le contracteur Davis

eut le controle du stock de la compagnie; il avait ete entendu dans le temps que lors-

qu'il a souscrit pour cent dix-neuf mille et quelques cents piastres, nous aurions droit

de prendre sur ce montant les souscriptions que les compagnies de chemin de fer

avaient I'intention de prendre; et le fait le Grand-Tronc a pris quelque temps apres

vingt-cinq mille piastres sur les cent dix-neuf mille, laissant a M. Davis 949 parts de

stock, formant un montant exact de $94,900. Le Quebec-Central devait prendre vingt-

cinq mille piastres aussi ; c'est la raison qui nous a fait attendre avant de mettre ce

cheque a la banque. Dans le temps le Quebec-Central n'avait pas d'autorisation de

souScrire, sa charte ne le lui permettant pas, mais il a plus tard pris pour vingt-cinq

mille piastres de stock de M. Sharpies.

Q. Au lieu de le prendre de M. Davis?—R. Oui, monsieur. Quaiid cette ques-

tion a ete reglee nous n'avions plus d'interets a atendre et nous avons depose le che-

que a la banque.

Q. Le gouvernement federal avait-il connaissance de tous ces faits que vous venez

de relater au comite?—R. Je ne sais pas ce que le gouvernement avait a faire avec

cette question speciale de stock, mais du moment que le stock a ete souscrit nous

Pavons declare au gouvernement; c'est tout ce qu'il avait besoin de savoir; et de fait

ga I'avait ete.

Q. Quand vous avez donne au gouvernement le certificat comportant que les deux

cents mille piastres avaient ete completement payes, lui avez-vous fait savoir que vous

aviez un cheque de $94,900 de M. Davis non accepte, comme partie de son emission?

—

R. Ceci ne concernait pas le gouvernement; ses conditions etaient que nous souscri-

vions deux cent mille piastres; du moment que nous avions cela de paye, au point de

vue de la compagnie, nous avions rempli les vues du gouvernement.

Q. Alors, si vous aviez eu tout le stock de deux cent mille piastres de souscrit de

la meme maniere vous auriez considere que. . ?—R. Du moment que j'aurais eu un
cheque en mains que j'aurais pu deposer a la banque, qui aurait pu etre paye, je con-

siderais absolument que j'etais rembourse du montant du stock.

Q. Dites-vous que ce cheque a ete vu depuis le jour de sa date jusqu'au jour que
vous I'avez encaisse?—R. Si nous avions depose le cheque je suis feriuement con-

vaincu que nous aurions ete payes en le presentant.

Q. Pourquoi ne I'avez-vous pas depose?—R. Pour la raison que je viens de don-

ner, c'est que les compagnies de chemin de fer devaient prendre du stock de Davis;
nous ne devious pas le deposer avant de savoir s* ^es compagnies prendraient de ce

stock ou non; si la compagnie du Quebec-Central ar*ait pris vingt-cinq mille piastres

de stock, le cheque de M. Davis aurait ete de vingt-cinq mille piastres de moins eusuite.

Q. Vous lui avez delivre un certificat disant qu'il ctait portour dos parts repre-

sentees par son stock?—R. Nous considerions avoir ete payes; le fait d'avoir delivre

un certificat indique que nous considerions avoir ete payes. M. Davis devait a la com-
pagnie soixante-cinq mille piastres, et nous avons detenu le certificat en garantie du
montant qu'il devait a la compagnie.

Q. Si je me rappelle bien il est. indique au talon que les parts sont misos on gage?

—R. Nous avions notre certificat, nous n'avons pas delivre ce certificat.
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Q. II en a ete emis un?—E,. Oui, monsieur; mais nous I'avons garde en notre

possession pour garantir le montant qu'il nous devait.

Q. Alors, vous avez emis ce certificat constatant qu'il etait porteur de ces parts-la

et vous avez cependant garde son cheque sans le presenter a la banque jusqu'en mil

neuf cent sept?—R. Oui, monsieur; jusqu'a ce que le Quebec-Central eut souscrit

son montant.

Q. Dans votre opinion, ceci n'etait pss affaire du gouvernement ?—R. Non, mon-
sieur; une pure question d'administration de la part de la compagnie; cela ne con-

cernait que notre administration.

Q. Y avait-il des membres du gouvernement qui etaient au courant de cela?

—

B. Pas que je saclie.

Q. Monsieur Fitzpatrick le savait-il?—R. Je ne sais pas.

Q. Le premier ministre le savait-il?—R. Je ne puis pas dire; dans tons les cas

s'ils le savaient ils ne Font pas appris de moi, alors, je ne puis pas repondre pour
d'autres.

Q. Vous savez que monsieur Davis n'a retire ce cheque qu'apres le reglement que
vous avez fait de ces creances y compris les debentures emises en premier lieu par la

compagnie?—R. Quelles debentures?

Q. Bien, ce n'est qu'apres que vous eussiez rachete les premieres debentures au
pair s'elevant a $472,000 que ce cheque s'est trouve bon, c'est-a-dire que vous I'avez

encaisse?—R. Cela a ete fait apres le paiement des debentures, cela -a ete fait par le

gouvernement federal.

Q. Ces debentures ont ete payees par le gouvernement federal?—R. Oui, mon-
sieur; dans le montant fixe dans le statut, ca ete paye a meme les debentures.

Q. Quel est le montant du cheque qui a ete emis pour le paiem^ent de ces deben-

tures; est-ce que ga ete compris dans un montant plus....?—R. Dans un montant

de huit cent quatre-vingt-dix-huit mille et quelques cents piastres.

Q. Est-ce que la compagnie a eu le controle de ce montant-la?—R. Non; ga

ete paye par le gouvernement a la Banque de Montreal, je crois.

Q. Sur des cheques?—R. Je I'ignore; c'est une affaire du departement des

Finances.

Q. C'est le gouvernement qui se charge du paiement de tons ces montants-la?

—

R. Le montant fixe dana le statut a ete paye par-ie gouvernement.

Q. Quand la difficulte est survenue au sujet de I'emploi d'un expert, par monsieur
Schreiber, pourquoi la Compagnie du Pont n'a-t-elle pas insiste pour que cet expert

soit nomme et agisse pour que la compagnie beneficie des conseils de cet expert sans

avoir a payer le cout d'une expertise?—R. La Compagnie du Pont ne s'est jamais

objecte a cela, au contraire, elle etait en faveur de la suggestion du gouvernement.

J'ai rencontre monsieur Cooper a New-York moi-meme, a ce sujet; monsieur Cooper

s'est completement objecte a ce que monsieur Nichol lui fut adjoint dans la construc-

tion du pont; il a ete meme jusqu'a dire que si I'on insistait il resignerait sa position.

II est venu meme a Ottawa rencontrer monsieur Schreiber pour discuter la question;

]e gouvernement avait a choisir entre la resignation de monsieur Cooper et la nomina-

tion de monsieur Nichol.

Q. Est-ce que monsieur Cooper ne savait pas que le gouvernement devait approu-

ver tous les plans et specifications?—R. Monsieur Cooper savait parfaitement cela,

c'est pourquoi le gouvernement plus tard a ete oblige de nommer monsieur Cooper

comme son representant.

Q. Mais entendons-nous : Monsieur Cooper savait parfaitement bien que le gou-

vernement s'etait reserve le droit d'approuver les plans et specifications?—R. Oui,

monsieur; il devait le savoir.

Q. Pourquoi monsieur Coopsr pouvait-il s'objecter a ce que le gouvernement

emploie les personnes qu'il voulait employer afin de s'assurer de I'efficacite de ces

plans?—R. Les raisons donnees par monsieur Cooper etaient celles-ci : Si le gouverne-
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ment nomine un expert ou un ingenieur de ponts, cet homme prendra probablement

sur lui de faire certaines choses ou de donner des instructions durant la construction

qui pourront venir a I'encontre de ce que je puis faire moi-meme; et comme la chose

est une affaire considerable je veux qu'il n'y ait que moi-meme qui puisse s'occuper

du controle de toute la construction. Ses craintes etaient que cet homme put donner

des instructions contraires aux siennes. M. Cooper avait juge dans le temps que M.

Hoare etait tout ce qu'il fallait et qu'il ne prendrait pas sur lui, celui-la, de rien faire

sans le consulter.

Q.'Si I'expert que le gouvernement etait decide a employer avait trouve des

defauts dans les plans qui ont ete la cause du desastre, ga aurait ete une tres bonne

chose?—E. Yoici ce qui aurait pu arriver: M. Cooper pretendait qu'il n'y avait pas

d'homme qui pouvait passer apres lui, et c'etait passablement I'avis d'ingenieurs emi-

nents dans ce temps-la, je crois ; et d'un autre cote, si le gouvernement avait nomme
M. Nichol, si M. Cooper avait resigne et que Faccident du 29 aout fut arrive pareil-

lement, Ton aurait blame bien plus le gouvernement d'avoir mis M. Cooper de cote,

lui qui etait considere comme la meilleure autorite, pour prendre M. Nichol qui n'en

etait pas une ; la position aurait alors ete pire.

Q. ISTe savez-vous pas que le gouvernement ne pouvait pas passer sur ccs plans

sans consulter un expert ?—R. Le fait est qu'il y avait un expert avec M. Cooper,

qui etait une autorite.

Q. Avez-vous repete tout cela a M.. Cooper dans le temps, que c'etait une chose

qu'on ne pouvait pas refuser au gouvernement ?—K. M. Cooper savait parfaitement

cela, parce que nous avioris discute la question de choisir entre la resignation de

Cooper et cette nomination ; il n'y avait pas autre chose a faire.

Q. Eh bien, passons la.-dessus et laissez-moi vous demander ceci : Le gouverne-

ment lorsqu'il a cede aux instances de M. Cooper, avait cependant des cet ordre en
conseil du 15 aout mil neuf cent trois decrete que les plans, tous les plans, et toutes

les modifications qu'il y aurait, devaient lui etre soumis avant d'etre adoptes. Voici

ce que dit cet ordre en conseil : . . . .provided the efficiency of the structure be fully

maintained up to that defined in the original specifications attached to the com-
pany's contract (Ex. 12), the new loadings proposed by the Quebec Bridge Company's
consulting engineer be accepted, &c. ; and that all plans be submitted to the chief

engineer and until his approval has been given, not to be adopted for work. This
order modified the order in Council of July 21, 1903." Depuis ce moment. e'cst-i\-

dire depuis qu'on a abandonne I'idee de prendre les services d'un expert, de ^I. Nichol,

est-ce que le gouvernement a passe sur tous les plans, specifications et cliangemeuts

qui ont ete faits par IVL Cooper dans la construction du pent ?—E,. Le gouvernement
apres 1'arrangement de mil nouf cent trois a approuve les plans et specifications et

s'en rapportait entierement a Cooper pour leur execution.

Q. Sans examiner de nouvcau les plans, n'est-ce pas ?—R. Bien, je ne sals pas
si M. Schreiber les a examines plusieurs fois.

Q. Depuis mil neuf cent trois, est-ce que le departement des Chemins de for a
eu a examiner aucuns plans ?—E. Le departement des Chemins de fer ropondra a
cette question ; quant a moi, je n'ai pas suivi cela.

Q. Vous ne le savez pas?—E. Je ne puis pas savoir ce qui so p:^sse dans le depar-

tement des Chemins de fer.

Q. Comme president de la compagnie du pout, vous ne savez pas si depuis cet

ordre en conseil du 15 aout 1903 le gouvernement a eu a passer sur aucuns plans?

—

E. Apres avoir accepte les plans et six'eilientions ; quant aux plans de details je

crois qu'il s'en rapportait entierement a M. Cooper.

Q. TJn autre point : Depuis le desastre, avez-vous examine vous et vos co-diveo-

teurs quelle est la situation financiere do la compagnie du pout de Quebec ; quelle
est-elle aujourd'hui ?—E. Je crois qne M. Bell vons .a soumis Fautre jour des ehiflfres

a ce sujet ; nous dcvons a la banque de ]\[ontreal.
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Q. Je ne crois pas que M. Bell ait fait d'examen depuis le desastre ?—R. C'est

depuis le desastre.

Q. Vous-meme pouvez-vous nous dire si la compagnie du pont de Quebec est au-

jourd'hui capable de proceder aux reparations du pont ?

—

'R, Sous les circonstances,

tenant compte de I'accident qui est arrive nous ne pourrions pas proceder a ces repa-

rations, surtout avec la clause du statut de 1903 aux termes duquel le gouvernement
doit reprendre le pont ; il est impossible de rien faire.

Q. Yotre compagnie a-t-elle quelques ressources financieres aujourd'hui?—^R. Non;
les ressources financieres de la compagnie sont les montants qu'elle a mis dans la

construction du pont. '

Q. C'est tout ce qu'il y a en fait d'actif, n'est-ce pas ?—E. Nous avons les pilliers

et approches.

Q. Avez-vous eu des rapports de I'ingenieur en cbef depuis le desastre ?

—

'R,

De M. Cooper ?

Q. Non, de M. Hoare ?—E. Tin rapport special ?

Q. Oui ; avez-vous eu quelque rapport ecrit de M. Hoare ?

—

R. II a fait un rap-

port a la compagnie evaluant les dommages de I'accident a $1,800,000; c'est a peu
pres tout ce que je peux me rappeler.

Q. Est-ce que pour un million huit cent mille piastres Ton pent reparer les dom-
mages qui ont ete faits la?

—

R. Si nous evaluons les dommages a ce montant, je pre-

siTme que oui, parce qu'il n'y a qu'une partie de Fouvrage qui s'est ecroule, partie qui

n'etait pas encore terminee ; de sorte que la partie nord est intacte.

Q. Mais si le plan est defectueux, ne faudrait-il pas changer la partie nord ?

—

R. C'est une chose que les ingenieurs auront a decider ; ils auront a decider si la

partie qui est actuellement manufacturee a etre employee a la nouvelle construc-

tion.

Q. La compagnie du pont a-t-elL^ dcs dettes en dehors dcs debentures garanties,

en dehors de ce qui a ete mentionne comme etant du a la banque de Montreal et en

dehors de ce qui pent etre du au departeniert des Douanes ?—R. La compagnie peut

devoir quelque chose.

Q. Combien a peu pres ?—^R. Le montant ne peut pas etre considerable ; nous
:vons une reclamation qui est pendante avec la Quebec Impi-ovement Company pour
droit de passage.

Q. Quel en est le montant ?—R. C'est pour trente-deux acres de terre que nous
avons alors pris ; il y a eu des arbitres de nommes ; les arbitres ont accorde, je

crois, un montant de $26,000; notre arbitre etait dissident; il evaluait entre quatre

ou cinq mille piastres, en autant que je puis me rappeler, un peu plus que quatre mille

piastres. IsTous sommes alles en Appel ; nous avons conteste I'arbitrage ; nous avons
fait mettre de cote le jugement de la cour superieure qui etait centre nous par la cour

d'Appel qui a renverse ce jugement, il y a eu appel au conseil prive qui a maintenu le

jugement de la cour d'Appel. D'apres ce que je comprends aujourd'hui, la Quehec
Improviement Company accepterait en reglement de leur reclamation une somme de

$14,000.

Q. Qu'est-ce que c'est que ce Quehec Improvement Company, quels sont les inte-

resses dans cette compagnie ?—R. Je sais que le president est sir Alphonse Pelletier;

le gerant est un nomme Stuart, autant que je peux me rappeler.

Q. Connaissez-vous les directeurs ?—R. Je ne connais pas les directeurs ; on
mo dit qu'ils sont cinq ou six directeurs, parmi lesquels J. T. Ross, et je ne sais pas

si M. le senateur Belcourt n'en est pas un autre ; a vrai dire, je ne connais pas les

directeurs.

Q. Parlous des dernieres debentures emises; toute I'emission a ete faite, n'est-

ce pas ?—R. Oui, monsieur
; $6,678,200.

Q. Combien de cette emission se trouve avoir ete consommee jusqu'ici dans la

construction du pont ; est-ce qu'il reste encore quelque chose ?—^R. Tout le montant



RE MONEYS PAID TO QUEBEC BRIDGE COMPANY 137

APPENDIX No. 6

est epuise ; il a ete transporte a la banque de Montreal pour avances faites ; comme
la banque nous a avance, je crois, 80 a 85 pour cent sur les debentures, il devrait

rester encore de debentures, etant prises au pair par le gouvernement, un montant,

je presume, de sept a huit cent mille piastres ; il y a encore un montant qui n'est

pas depense.

A une heure, la seance est levee jusqu'a 3 hrs de I'apres-midi.

House of Commons^
Committee Koom No. 32,

Tuesday, June 23, 1908.

The committee resumed at 3.30 o'clock p.m., the chairman, Mr. A. K. Maclean,

presiding.

Mr. Henry Holgate called and sworn and examined.
'

By Mr. Monlc :

Q. You were one of the members of the royal commission that investigated the

disaster to the Quebec bridge, were you not?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you act as chairman of that commission ?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you reported, I believe, to the government in due course ?—A. On 20th

February.

The Chairman.—You might ask Mr. Holgate who he is ?

By Mr. Monk :

Q. You are an engineer, Mr. Holgate—A. Yes, I am an engineer with my head-

quarters in Montreal.

Q. Have you had much experience in the exercise of your profession ?—^A. Yes,

all my life.

Q. Have you had occasion to study bridge building ?—A. Yes.

Q. In the engineering profession is bridge construction considered a special

branch of the science ?—A. My answer to that is, the design and construc-

tion of bridges is a special branch of engineering science ; more particularly

is this so when it relates to bridges of long spans and of great dimensions.

The design and construction of great bridges is distinctly a specialty, and only such
engineers as have had a life long training in this particular work can possibly qualify

as competent to undertake to design such a structure as the Quebec bridge, involving

as it does the application of the accumulated knowledge and experience in the art,

which can only be attained by those who have given the best part of their lives to this

class of work. The knowledge necc^ssary must include the most complete mastery of

the mathematical questions involved, an accurate knowledge of the metallurgy and
manufacture of steel, the faculty of applying this knowledge, combined with the in-

definable power to meet commercial conditions, and the whole must bear the impress
of sound judgment. These qualities are, in my opinion, not combined in one man in

such a degree as to meet the conditions that are imposed by the construction of the

Quebec bridge, and to meet such conditions the responsibility must be on severnl well

chosen men who shall act together.

Q. Starting from that, Mr. Holgate, arc there many engineers in Ainericn who
are specially versed in bridge building, possessing the qualifications > ? \ have just

referred to ?—A. There are not many engineei*s in America who are :?p-.\inlly versed

in bridge building on the scale of structures such ns the Quebec bridge. This class

6—11
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of work, however, is world-wide, and not confined to America, and thei'"' are engineers

in other countries who are also well versed in the art. There is no doubt, however, in

my mind that there are engineers who are eminently qualified to success [ully carry

out this work.

Q. Would you say there is a very large number ?—A. No, there is no large num-
ber of such engineers.

Q. Is a bridge, such as the Quebec bridge, in course of construction susceptible

of being insured against accident such as befell that structure ?—A. Yes, and this

answer is rendered all the more positive because of the failure of the Quebec bridge

structure, the lessons learned from this failure are of infinite value to engineers.

The Chairman.—What was your question again?

Mr. Monk.—If a structure such as the Quebec bridge can be insured against

accident ?

The Chairman.—What do you mean, commercial insurance, a policy of insur-

ance ?

Mr. Monk.—I imderstand, Mr. Chairman, it is a policy in America where there

is a great deal of bridge building to absolutely take out commercial insurance.

The Chairman.—I think Mr. Holgate understood the question in an entirely-

different way.

The Witness.—Entirely different.

By Mr. Monk :

Q. You mean to insure the construction ?—A. By physical means.

Q. By physical means ?—A. Yes, sir, not

The Chairman.—He means the bridge can be built on that design.

By Mr. Monk :

Q. Is that what you mean ?—A. Not on that design, I did not say so.

By Mr. Monk :

Q. Now, Mr. Holgate, is it possible, in the construction of such a bridge as the

Quebec bridge, to ascertain beforehand

The Chairman.—We had better finish this insurance point so as to make the

record all right. Mr. Holgate answered yes to your question but meaning a different

thing altogether. Perhaps you had better strike the question out altogether ?

Mr. Monk.—I think the witness has explained it. He says he does not mean com-
mercial insurance but proper means being taken, its feasible construction with a pro-

per design. Is not that what you meant ?

The Witness.— Yes.

By the Chairman :

Q. Is it possible to effect commercial insurance of a structure of that kind dur-^

ing construction, to your knowledge?—A. I should say it is not.

By Mr. Monk :

Q. Is it possible in the case of a structure like the Quebec bridge to ascertain

before hand the cost of construction and^-^— ?—A. Yes. I beg your pardon, you were
going to add something further ?

Q. I wanted to add whether it would have been possible, by careful examination
of the plans and specifications of that bridge, to ascertain the weaknesses and defects

which ultimately caused the collapse ?—A. If you would separate your question I could
answer better.

Q. The first part of the question is if it is feasible to ascertain beiorehand the

cost of construction ?—A. Yes, as to the superstructure, which is definite, but not so
with the substructure, the building of which involves serious contingencies which can-

il
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not always be provided for or guarded against, and whicli arise in the course of con-

struction and whicli can only be. overcome by the resourcefulness of the engineers

in command.

Q. Would it have been possible, upon a thorough examination of the plans and
specifications of the Quebec bridge, to ascertain the weakness and defects which ultim-

ately caused the collapse?—A. Yes, but it would have involved a systematic series

of tests on compression members as well as on tension members, and this fact would
have had to be realized by the engineers in charge of the work and they did not realize

it. Had the plans of the bridge been made complete, before construction was begun,

and the weight of the structure been definitely ascertained the serious error of assum-

ing too little dead load would have been avoided. This course was not followed. In

addition to this, however, the design of certain details was wrong, and this should

have been tested by experiment to prove the assumptions of the designers, as was done

by the commission in its inquiry, and which clearly showed such assumption to be
wrong.

Q. Are these experiments to which you have just referred, Mr. Holgate, very

difficult of execution or very costly ?—A. They are both difficult and costly, and at that

time were not considered by the engineers as necessary for the purpose of design.

Q. Who made the design of this bridge?—A. The Phoenix Bridge Company, in

whose employ Mr. P. L. Szlapka holds the position of designing engineer and has for

his chief assistant, Mr. Charles Scheidl; both of these gentlemen are designing

engineers of great experience and have successfully designed many important struc-

tures.

Q. Do you know anything about the financial position or strength of the Phcenix

Bridge Company? In your enquiries have you had occasion to ascertain that? Is it

a very powerful company?—A. In appendix No. 4 of the report of the ciommission is

set out the necessary information.

Q. Do you know, Mr. Holgate, from your examination of the whole affair how
many tenders were made for the construction of the bridge and what these tenders

were?—A. I will just refer to the report. On page 15 of the report is a statement of

the tenders received for the work. On page 16 of the printed report are the figures

showing the comparison between the tenders of the Phoenix Bridge Company and the

Keystone Bridge Company for cantilever bridges, which latter figures were the same as

those of the Dominion Bridge Company, the two companies, that is the Keystone and
the Dominion Bridge Company, had for this part of the work entered into an agree-

ment whereby a part of the work would be manufactured in Canada. The amounts of

the other tenders were higher, and those for suspension designs were higher than for

the cantilever designs. The secretary of the Quebec Bridge Company could not pro-

duce the other tenders, and stated that they had been returned to the parties tender-

ing, so that the actual amounts of these tenders are not on record.

Q. I see on reference to page 16 of your report that as to the weight and prices

of the steel per gross ton that the Phoenix Bridge Company's tender was $103.94, and
that the Keystone Bridge Company's tender was $90 only. The Quebec Bridge Com-
pany having substituted a lump sum for the construction of the supei*structure. a sum
iwhich was to be based upon the weight of the steel, it seems to me that the Keystone
Bridge Company had the lowest tender. Am I right in making that supix^sition?

—

A. No, sir, not at that time, for the reason that whereas the price per ton of the Key-
stone Bridge Company for the steel work was less than that of the Phrt^nix Bridge

' Company per ton, the weight of the Keystone Company's bridge which was proposed
to be built was 4,444 gross tons greater than the weight of the proposed Phonnix Com-
pany's bridge. So that the gross amount of the Keystone Company's tender was
about $23,000 odd in excess of the Phoenix Company's tender, and both these tenders

were on the basis of a lump sum. Mr. Cooper's report, dated ^fay 1, 1900, set out
these facts perfectly clearly.

6—Hi
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By Mr. Galliher:

Q. Would there not be, in addition to that, the* extra duty that would have to be

_paid on the extra tonnag-e?—A. Exactly; in addition to that, of course that would

make a further difference, whatever that duty was. I think it would amount to about

'—I think the figures are here—would amount to about $97,768.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Would the extra weight have been any detriment ?—A. I think it is impossible

to answer that question because

The Chairman.—It depends upon the design, I suppose?—A. Because it is a

question of design, and that question was settled at that time by Mr. Cooper froni his

examination of the design and his estimate of the weights.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Do you know anything about the Keystone Bridge Company?—^A. Oh yes.

Q. It is a good company?—A. That is the Carnegie Steel Company.

Q. You had not occasion to see their designs, had you?—A. The only design of

theirs that I saw was simply an outline. I saw no detail plans of theirs.

Q. Had you occasion to investigate the financial condition of the Quebec Bridge

Company during your labours? Do you know anything about the financial condition

of that company?—A. The only knowledge of the financial situation of the Quebec
Bridge Company which I had is set out in the commission's report, principally in the

third and fifth appendices, the company's 1907 balance sheet (Exhibit 123) and the

progress estimates (Exhibit 42) also covers certain of this information.

Q. Now, Mr. ITolgate, if you wish to make sure that the designs, plans and speci-

fications for such a gigantic structure as the Quebec bridge were of a nature to ensure

a perfect and safe structure, what means would you adopt, supposing you were called

upon to become responsible for such a structure of that magnitude, how would you
make sure, as sure as one can be, that the designs, plans and specifications were of

such a nature as to absolutely ensure the success of the undertaking, can you tell

that to the committee ?—A. I have given that matter a good deal of consideration, and
ray opinion is that owing to the gigantic proportions of a structure such as the Quebec
bridge must be, and to its very great national importance, and also having regard to

the methods followed in designing and carrying out the work on the fallen structure,

it is obvious that the new work must be controlled by a more competent and conserva-

tive organization. In order to ensure good results, the work of designing and build-

ing the bridge should be entrusted to a committee or commission of three of the most
eminent bridge engineers in the world, irrespective of nationality, and who should

appoint a chief engineer. The engineers on the commission would have duties of active

advisers and would be responsible for all results; the chief engineer would be their

executive ofiicer and responsible only to the commission. The chief engineer should

have a competent staff, and he should prepare all designs subject to the direction and
approval of the commission. Upon such designs and their specifications tenders may
be obtained upon a unit price basis, the judgment of the commission being taken as

to the acceptance of any tenders. The inspection of material, workmanship and of

erection would rest with the chief engineer.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. Are you answering his question or making a statement ?—A. This is in answer
to the question. It would appear as desirable that the commission if so appointed,

should first look at the whole question of the bridge as de novo, and without reference

as to what has been done in regard to general and detailed location of the

bridge, in order to set at rest certain statements to the effect that errors of judgment
have been made in these directions.
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By Mr. Galliher:

Q. Do I take your answer as applying to what you would recommend being done
now if the bridge were being taken hold of in its present condition to build it, or are

you speaking really from the beginning of construction irrespective of the fact that an
accident had happened?—A. It will have to be considered in both ways, and the losa

and the damage is so very great as to warrant at this stage considering the matter as

a new subject,

Q. I understand that
; part of your answer and the concluding sentence of it led

me to ask my question. But I understood Mr. Monk's question a little differently, viz.

:

as relating more to what should or should not have been done in the first instance.

Am I right in that, Mr. Monk?
Mr. Monk.—Yes, Mr. Galliher, I applied it generally as to what should have been

done in the first instance as well as to what ought to be done now.

Mr. Galliher.—Yes, that is what I wanted to clearly understand.

Mr. Monk.—Laying down a general principle.

Mr. Galliher.—Of course, we are all wiser after the fact than before.

The Witness.—I was just going to say I think it would be almost imi>ertinent for

me to say that, and my remarks have a distinct reference to what may be done in the

future.

Mr. Galliher.—I wanted that made clear. That is important, I should take it?

By Mr. Monlc:

Q. Mr. ITolgate, with the knowledge you have acquired of the whole matter of

that bridge, your visit to the spot and the inquiry you have made, are you in a position

to estimate approximately the cost of building that bridge as it stands now?—A. No,

sir, I do not think that anyone can, at this stage, predict what the cost of reconstruc-

tion may be with any reasonable degree of accuracy. The data does not exist yet upon

which any reasonable estimate can be formed.

Q. ]Jid you refer in j^our report to the material that remains there ? Is there any-

thing of that which can be used, in your opinion? I do not know if you spoke of it

in your report?—A. No, sir, we did not enter into that question. That particular

question is treated by Mr. Schneider in his report.

Q. I suppose a great deal would depend, in reference to that question, as to what

would be the design of the new bridge?—A. Entirely so. It will rest—it is a question

of design entirely as to whether any of the substructure or superstructure can be

utilized.

By the Chairman:

Q. None of the superstructure would be of any use, would it?—A. I cannot

answer that question, because it is a question of design.

The Chairman.—I thought it was all twisted and in pieces and could not be

utilized ?

By Mr. Monk:

Q. I want to ask you, Mr. Holgate, if, as far as you know, we have in Canada
bridge companies that would be in a position to undertake the construction of this

bridge? I am not speaking of the design or plan now, but if we have companies that

could do that work?—A. We have in Canada at least two companies who are to-day

in a better position to undertake the construction of such a bridge than the Phtrnix

Bridge Company were when they were awarded the contract.

By the Chairman:

Q. They improved their plant to meet this particular work?—A. Yes. sir.

Q. Would it be easier for them to put themselves in that position than a Canadian
concern?—A. No, I cannot see that there would be any difference botwei^n the two.
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Q. I suppose once the design is settled, the construction of a bridge a mile long

is not much different from the construction of one half a mile long?—A. Well, it all

depends upon the magnitude of the members.

Q. Yes?—A. At the present time any Canadian bridge company would have

great difficulties, it would be almost impossible for them to build some of the very large

members that were in the Quebec bridge; in fact it taxed the Phoenix Bridge Com-
pany right to their limit to do that work, but they did it.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. These designs were all prepared by the Phoenix Bridge Company?—A. I have

answered everything in that connection in the report and I would like to avoid, if

possible

Q. Kepetition?—A. Eepetition, if possible.

Q. I only asked that as leading to another question. These plans were all sub-

mitted to Mr. Cooper, the consulting engineer?—A. That is all here (pointing to

report). Yes, they were all submitted to Mr. Cooper.

^ Q. Mr. Cooper's reputation as an engineer, I presume, .is beyond question?—A.

Oh, yes.

The Chairman.—Mr. Holgate apparently does not wish to offer any opinion of

his own other than is contained in the report, and I presume he wants to adhere to

that.

The Witness.—The reason is this : anything outside of the matter treated of in the

report that I can be of use in answering I would like to answer fully, but anything
that is brought up in the report I consider is finished; I have nothing more to say

about it.

The Chairman.—Of course, you can turn up the report and state what you did

say there.

Mr. Galliher.—What I wanted to get at particularly is in connection with the

care that has been exercised by the company in having proper plans made and having
them properly supervised by a competent person.

The Chairman.—I suppose the witness will say you can find that in the report.

By Mr. Galliher :

Q. Is that all dealt with in your report ?—A. Yes, sir, everything of that nature.

The Chairman.—If you will look up the report on your file, Mr. Galliher, you
will see that the findings of the commission are all given seriatim. It will be perhaps

worth your while looking it up.

Mr. CiiiSHOLM.—They are speaking from a knowledge of the situation subse-

quently. What Mr. Galliher wants is to find out if proper care was exercised in connec-

tion with the preparation of the plans.

The Chairman.—I think Mr. Galliher's question is a fair one.

Mr. Galliher.—I do not propose to go into the technical part of the matter.

The Witness.—I quite understand Mr. Galliher.

By the Chairman :

Q. You say in one of your findings, Mr. Holgate (reads)

:

^ The professional record of Mr. Cooper was such that his' selection for the author-

itative position that he occupied was warranted and the complete confidence that was
placed in his judgment by the officials of the Dominion Government, the Quebec
Bridge & Kailway Co., and the Phoenix Bridge Co. was deserved.'

Q. Do you personally adhere to that?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Well, is it a fair inference to draw from that, that the government and the

Quebec Bridge Company took such precautionary measures as any person or corpora-

tion might reasonably be expected to take at that time ?—A. With regard to the en-

gineers ?
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Q. I mean in view of your statement here, of your finding resi>ecting tlie record

-of Mr. Cooper, and your statement that the Dominion government and the Quebec
Bridge Company were justified in placing in him the confidence that they did, is it a

fair inference that the government and the Quebec Bridge Company took all such
precautionary measures as might reasonably then have been expected of them ?—A.

I do not think you can interpret that as going quite so far. All that statement is good
for is just what it says, and that is just where you fall into the difficulty of distin-

guishing between hindsight and foresight. I will not express an opinion upon that

now. The statement that is given there must rule.

Q. If you eliminate your backsight an(J transplant yourself back to a month
before the bridge fell. You had seen the plans, you knew who the builders were, you
knew who the engineer was, and you knew of his reputation; might it not have been

your opinion then that the bridge company and the government had taken all pre-

cautionary measures that human beings would likely be able to take?—A. Now, at the

end of appendix 3 in the report it reads this way :

' In so far as the integrity of the structure itself was concerned this,' that is the

confidence of the government, * was because of the presence of Mr. Cooper as the con-

sulting engineer for the Quebec Bridge Company.'
They had confidence in him at the time.

By Mr. Galliher :

Q. You did not reach the point, Mr. Holgate, and probably rightly, too, you did

not wish to express an opinion on it, but you did not reach the point suggested by the

chairman, namely, as an engineer yourself and having examined these plans and the

structure itself and all that, speaking as if the matter was being originated for the

first time, and that no accident had occurred, and that part of the bridge had been

built, as an engineer do you think that all reasonable precautions were taken as the

chairman has asked ?—A. I think that an answer to a question like that at this stage

would not be very valuable. But there is just this that I am thoroughly impressed

with, that no individual at that time appreciated how big a piece of work the Quebec

bridge was. There was a lack of appreciation on the part of everybody.

Q. Even the most eminent engineers in the world ?—A. Even the most eminent

engineer who was appointed, Mr. Cooper. I do not think I can go any further.

By the Chairman :

Q. 'There is no question as to his high standing in the profession ?—A. Not the

slightest.

Q. Was he regarded as the foremost in his profession ?—A. I would not say he

was regarded as the foremost, but one of the leading engineers in the world.

Q. He is a writer of text books, is he not, on bridge work?—A. Oh yes, he has

issued books, text books.

Q. Were his text books used in the engineering course in the" universities ?—A.

Not that I am aware of.

Q. I understand that his text book is used in Cornell ?—A. It is not always in a

man's favour that his text books are used—he was a wonderfully clever man.

Q. Except this only. That bridge engineering is a good deal like the practice of

surgery, you only get knowledge from experience, and if a man can record his know-
ledge and experience it is some good to somebody else.—A. Oh yes, Mr. Cooper has

been a sick man for some time, he i® over 70 years of age now.

Q. What is the biggest bridge in Canada to-day and what is the most difficult of

construction?—A. Oh, I do not know.

Q. Have you had any experience in bridge building yourself ?—A. Yes.

Q. How many years' experience?—A. It has been interspersed all through my life.

Q. Was it a practical or theoretical experience?—A. Both.
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By Mr. Galliher:

Q. On what very large bridge has your experience been, Mr. Holgate?—A. Not
very large bridges, I should say just ordinary bridges in railway work, up to perhaps
200 or 300 feet span. I think that is probably the largest span I have ever had any
responsibility in connection with.

Q. Do you know the Blackwell's Island bridge?—A. Yes.

Q. Do you know, as a matter of fact, that tenders for that bridge were called

for in the same way and on the same principle with regard to specifications and
design as they were in this Quebec bridge?—A. No.

Q. You do not know that. Do you know anything about the Sydney, Cape Breton,
proposed bridge?

The Chairman.—The Straits of Canso bridge, do you know anything with regard
to that?

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. I refer to the Sydney Harbour bridge. New South Wales, not Sydney, Cape
^ Breton?—A. Do I know anything about it?

Q. About the plan or size?—A. Oh yes, generally speaking, yes. When you spoke

of Blackjwell's Island I did not quite understand your question. I did not have any-

thing to do with the Blackwell's Island bridge.

Q. No, but I understand that in those two bridges I have just mentioned tenders

were called for upon specifications and outlines similar to the Quebec bridge, in the

same way, and I asked you if you knew that yourself?—A. In the same way, Quebec
bridge and Blackwell's Island bridge?

Q. Yes ?—A. Oh no, it was not at all the same. They had complete specifications

for the Blackwell's Island bridge, and the bridge was designed in the City of New
York Bridge Department.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. And built by the Pennsylvania Steel Company?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. It does not matter who it was built by, what I am particularly concerned about

was as to whether in calling for tenders for the construction of these bridges the same
processes had been adopted with regard to plans and specifications that the Quebec
Bridge Company adopted with regard to theirs ?—A. No, the Quebec Bridge Company
advertised for a lump sum price. There were no other tenders. The tenders for the

Blackwell's Island bridge was on a rate per pound. So there was a difference there.

And besides that, the informa;tion issued by the city of New York for those bids

was what I would call complete information. Such information as has been issued for

most large bridges.

Q. What I was getting at more particularly—you are not getting up to what I

meant, but at least if I have understood my information aright—I may be iWrong—you
made the suggestion as to knowing all the conditions with regard to these bridges

and that all the information, etc. was given with regard to these bridges you speak

of. Now, was that done in full in all these cases, or were tenders called for in just the

same way?—A. Oh, yes, the New York Bridge Commission is a standing body and
they undertook the Blackwell's Island bridge. That is a department of the city of

New York.

Q. Was that what you had in view when you spoke of the commission suggested?

—A. Not exactly on the same organization but similar to that, you know.

Q. The commission in New York that you speak of takes the place, as I under-

stand it, of the company that would be constructing the bridge?—A. No, sir. You
see there is a lot of bridge work in New York and they handle all their bridges in this

department.



RE MONEYS PAID TO QUEBEC BRIDGE COMPANY 145

APPENDIX No. 6

By Mr. Walsh:

Q. Are the members of this New York commission, bridge experts?—A. Oh, yes.

Q. They are all bridge experts?—A. Oh yes, and they make their own designs,

and drawings and specifications. They are a very competent body.

By the Chairman:

Q. Let me have your opinion about this : from your knowledge of everything con-

nected with the project and the Quebec Bridge Company, do you think that the project

suffered by reason of a tendency on the part of the bridge company to retrench or

to reduce the cost, or is it your opinion that they did everything that a good business

organization would have done in that regard ?—A. I have not anything to add to appen-

dix No. 5, which treats on that subject particularly.

Q. What does that say? Can you give it to me in a few words?—A. No, sir, you
would have to read the whole of it.

Q. Can you give me the sense of it?—A. Well it is all—I think it would be not

quite fair to you to extract any part of it. The whole thing is the only

Q. It is ' The effect of financial limitation, upon the design of the bridge and a

discussion of the evidence relating to this?'—A. I think that covers it.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. I find in appendix 18 of your report ,at page 144 of the printed volume, a

statement in regard to cantilever bridges from the Forth and other bridges down to

the Quebec bridge from which it would appear that the Quebec bridge is the largest

that has ever been built?—A. Oh yes, it is.

Q. The Blackwell's Island bridge has a span of 1,182 ft. and the Quebec bridge

a span of 1,800 ft. The Forth bridge was only 1,710 ft. ?—A. Quebec bridge was the

—

Q. Are there any larger bridges than the Quebec bridge?—A. The Quebec bridge

was the largest structure that has ever been attempted.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. The Forth bridge had the largest span up to that time ?—A. Yes, sir.

By the Chairman:

Q. This inquiry by the commission was really a post mortem, Mr. Holgate, was
it not?—A. Oh yes.

Q. And it would be far easier for you to discover errors in design and mistakes in

the management on the part of the Quebec Bridge Company after the fall of the

structure than before, would it not?—A. Well, we had the effects, you see.

Q. It would be much like a surgeon, or a medical man, discovering the direct

causes of death by a post mortem? It is just about the same is it n(»t?—A. We
reasoned from effects to cause.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. In the other case you would have to assume that such might or might not be

the case? That is before the effect?—A. Possibly, yes.

By Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish) :

Q. It is very much easier to find the cause for effects than it is to anticipate

results?—A. And then, of course, it has the other advantage that you are able to

prove your causes, and we have taken care all through the report to make no assertion

that we have not got proof of. Anything that is not proved in the report is stated

in such a way that it would not be taken as an assertion without that qualification.

Q. Previous to the disaster, say a week previous, you could not anticipate tlint a

certain thing was going to happen—this, that, or the other thing?—A. A week before

the disaster?
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Q. Yes, or say a month before the disaster?—A. Generally speaking, I would say

no, taking the problem that you are speaking of.

By the Chairman:

Q. Are the principles of bridge building reduced to a science that is mathemati-

calUy accurate or is there a large element of speculation ?

—

^. That is all dealt with in

the report.

By Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish) :

Q. There is one statement that you made when you spoke of competent engineers

and you added the qualification ' irrespective of nationality.' What did you mean
when you referred to nationality?'—A. Because this structure

Q. I ask the question so as to put the matter right?—A. This structure is too

big and too important to run any risks, and it should be considered from a business

point and an engineering point first, so that you should not limit yourself to any
country in the world to get your engineers from.

Bp the Chairman:

Q. It does not mean Quebec, of course?—A. We have only one nation in Canada.

Q. You want the widest area of selection possible?—A. Oh, yes, bring in a Ger-

man, or an Englishman, or an Italian, or any other nationality.

By Mr, Chisholm (Antig )nis/i) :

Q. You said there are at least two companies in Canada to-day that are in a

better position to undertake the construction of such a bridge than the Phoenix Bridge

Company were when they were awarded the contract. Were these two companies in

that better position at the time of the awarding of the contract?—A. No.

By the Chairman:

Q. Why is it- so difficult to build that bridge? The designer of the bridge that

fell assumed too much; he did not go back to correct his figures as to strength and
load and all that sort of thing? You start out in building a bridge with certain

assumption, don't you?—A. Yes.

Q. As to the structural strength of steel, its dead load and all that sort of thing,

and you are supposed to reinforce that by experiments of some kind afterwards, are

you not?—A. No.

Q. Yon know what the weakness in this bridge was, you know that to-day?—A. Yes.

Q. That is that the design was wrong, and I suppose there must be engineers who
can make a correct design with the knowledge you have of this bridge?—A. With tne

knowledge we have now and what knowledge may be obtained in the next year through

experiments I think we ought to be in a position

Q. To design a safe bridge?—A. Economically.

Q. Well now, once you have the design absolutely correct, so far as the standards

of your profession go, the construction of it ought not to be so difficult, ought it ?

—

A. The most difficult piece of work of the kind, more difficult than anything that has

ever yet been attempted by man.
Q. Would not the designing be more difficult than the construction, it is more

important is it not?—A. Everything combines to make it the most difficult piece of

work of the kind that has ever been attempted.

Q. How long was the Tay bridge that went down ?—A. I do not know.

Q. Roughly speaking ?—A. I do not know. I do not remember. It was not a

structure like this at all.

Q. It was a suspension, was it?—A. No, it was a series of short spans.

Q. Is cantilever bridge the proper design of bridge for the Quebec bridge?

—

—A. That is a question to be solved by men who are eminently experts. There is no
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man, even the highest expert who would dare to say ' yes ^ or ' no ' to that question

to-day.

Q. Is there a tendency on the part of American bridge builders to get the mini-

mum of weight ?—A. Well, I think I see what you mean ; you mean the design.

Q. A bridge with sufficient strength and a minimum weight ?—A. I think it is

the aim of engineers irrespective of nationality.

By Mr. Monh :

Q. Do you know, Mr. Holgate, of- an opinion given of the Quebec bridge by a

French engineer by the name of Eiffel, you have heard of that ?—A. No, sir, I cannot

say that I have.

By Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish) :

Q. You made the remark just now that no man would say to-day whether the

cantilever was the proper kind of bridge for there or not. Was it not generally sup-

posed, previous to the time that this bridge was undertaken, that the cantilever bridge

was the best design ?—A. It was supposed to be feasible.

By the Chairman :

Q. In finding ' of your report you say :

* The failure on the part of the Quebec Bridge and Kailway Company to appoint

an experienced bridge engineer to the position of chief engineer was a mistake.'

Q. Do you make that finding chiefly from your aftersight ?—A. We have found
in the report from the evidence that that statement is warranted. No question. I

am not going to remove my mind back ten years to say whether I would have done the

same thing, then or not. The scope of this inquiry is, as you have just called it, a

post mortem and it is from the effect reasoned back to the cause, that that is one of

the facts that we find.

By Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish) :

Q. You will understand that while the scope of the Koyal Commission was post

mortem, the scope of this inquiry is different ?—A. I quite see that.

Q. It is to see whether reasonable precaution was taken, and while you are per-

fectly justified in taking the stand you take there, having relation to the Royal Com-
mission's work, I do think it is hardly fair to this committee. What we want to

get at is whether reasonable precautions were taken. You find that somebody lacked

in knowledge, you find that from the information that you gathered after the disaster.

Placing yourself, though, at a point anterior to the collapse of the bridge, would you
say that the men in charge were not sufficiently competent ?—A. If you will specify

which men you mean.

Q. Well, take Mr. Hoare ; if the bridge had not gone down, of course everybody

would have been all right, but the bridge having gone down there is naturally a ten-

dency to find fault with somebody. But looking at it from the fair standpoint would
you say that anybody in the employ of the Quebec Bridge Company, appointed to a

position which required technical skill, did not possess that technical skill ?

Mr. Monk.—You are examining the witness upon something he did not consider.

Mr. Holgate spoke of experience, I am not aware that in any part of his report he
impugned the ability or the skill of anyone in charge on the work.

Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish).—Is it not reasonable under the circumstances

The Chairman.—Say, subject to all huuian limitations.

By Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish) :

Q. Looking at it in that light, did the Quebec Bridge Company in your opinion
exercise reasonable precaution?—A. I do not think they did.

) Q. In what way ?—A. They should have bad a special bridge uian there, the

whole question
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Q. Was Mr. Cooper the man ?—A. Mr. Cooper was never on the ground, poor Mr.
Cooper could not get there, you know.

Q. He was the responsible man, wasn't he?—A. He was consulting engineer and

actually acted as chief engineer.

Q. Did Mr. Hoare depend upon him ?—A. Entirely.

Q. In that case I comprehend the meaning of your answer to be that under the

circumstances there was nothing unreasonable in the position the Quebec Bridge
Company took when they engaged Mr. Hoare?—A. I think the placing the responsi-

bility on Mr. Hoare indicated that the Quebec Bridge Company did not appreciate

what responsibility rested with the chief engineer. I think they did an injustice to

themselves and also to Mr. Hoare.

Q. That is speaking from what transpired afterwards, but if the bridge had not

collapsed at all, if it had gone on successfully ?—A. JThe fact would have been the

same.

By the Chairman:

Q. You find that this collapse was due to an error in design. What difference

would it have made if the Quebec Bridge Company had 21 of the best bridge builders

in the world there. With Mr. Cooper's design before them, approved, his approving of

the specifications, he being the man in charge, and known to everybody in America as

being at the head of his profession, what could the man on the spot do other than

follow out the design?—A. It would make a very long story to tell, but a great deal

depends on his judgment on the ground from day to day, and the communications ne

would have with the consulting engineer, the observations made, &c. I think the whole
matter is fairly dealt with in Appendix 7, and anything I can say would not enlarge

that.

By Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish)

:

Q. Mr. Birks was on the work, wasn't he?—A. Yes.

Q. Were there mechanical engineers there?—A. Mr. Birks was the Phoeni:^:

Bridge Company's representative engineer there.

Q. He went down there on the work?—A. Yes, and he had Mr. Yenser, the

Phoenix Bridge Company's foreman, and he was iti full charge.

Q. They had a number of engineers on the work?—A. They had Mr. Birks, he
was the only e"!"jineer there.

Q. They would have mechanical men there ?—A. Oh yes.

By the Chairman:

^. If you had viewed that bridge yourself personally a month before the collapse

could you have discovered the defects in the design?—A. I certainly could not,

Q. Mr. Szlapka is a good man?—A. Oh, yes.

Q. Is the Phoenix Bridge Company a good organization?—A. Very good.

Q. There is no better in the United States?—A. It is a very difiicult matter to

compare. I should say they are very good, very competent and very careful.

Q. They are good men?—A. Excellent, excellent people.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Do you know how old Mr. Cooper is to-day?—A. I think he has just turned

71. I think he is in his 72nd year.

By the Chairman:

Q. I suppose your whole story is they undertook a work which the engineering

profession was hardly able to cope with, or any one single man?—A. I think that is

true. At any rate, no one engineer was able to cope with it, and that the bigness of

the enterprise was not appreciated I also believe.
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Q. It was a laudable enterprise for a small company to undertake. I suppose you
will admit that?—A. It was a national undertaking of great importance, certainly.

By Mr, Chisholm (Antigonish)

:

Q. You do not mean to convey the idea that it is not a feasible project?—A. Oh
not at all. A bridge can be built there.

By Mr. Parent:

Q. A minute ago you gave your reason for reconstruction?—A. Yes.

Q. As to what should be done. This is your opinion as an engineer?—A. Yes.

Q. You do not pretend that somebody else may not entertain some other opinion?

A. I did not quite catch your question?

Q. You do not pretend that other engineers may not hold a different opinion

from what you entertain?—A. I put this in as my own opinion. I have consulted

nobody in giving this opinion.

Q. Have you yourself built any cantilever bridge?—A. No. It is not a question

of cantilever bridges, it is a question of a large project involving tremendous figures

and knowledge of engineering which is really in advance of the present time.

Q. You do not consider yourself an expert bridge engineer?—A. I do not.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Will the piers that are there now serve in case of new construction?—A. That

will all depend upon the nature of the design for the new bridge. It may be found

better to abandon them entirely, and it may be found that they can be utilized. That

is a question that will have to be left to the expert engineers who are appointed to

consider the whole subject.

By Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish) :

You would not say that a mistake was made in location?—A. I think that

question is not up just now.

Q. That is right ?—A. I don't think anyone is prepared to discuss it 'at the present

time anyway.

Witness discharged.

M. Parent reprend son temoignage:

Par M. Monk :

Q. M. Parent, vous avez parle en dernier lieu d'une somme de huit cent mille

piastres, approximativement qui a ete payee par le gouvernement par Tentremise de la

banque de Montreal aussitot apres I'arrangement d'octobre 1903 ; ce niontant-la pour
etre paye par le gouvernement a dfi etre autorise par voire bureau de direction ?

—

R. Parfaitement ; cela faisait la base des statuts de 1903.

Q. C'est la compagnie du pent qui a autorise ce paiemout-la ; il a 6x6 fait par
Tentremise du gouvornemcnt ?—K. II a etc paye par le gouvernement a Taoquis de
la compagnie et a meme leg debentures autorisees par le gouvernement, garantie^s

par le gouvernement.

Q. Ponrquoi apres cela les paiements oiit-ils ete faits par votre compngnio. et

pourquoi ces premiers paiements ont-ils etc faits par le gouvernement ?—R. Parce
que le gouvernement avait tons les comptes en main ; les estimes des ingenieurs, le

montant fixe par le statut. .. . : au lieu de payer a la compagnie—ce qui aurait ete

la meme chose—il a paye directement a la banque.

Q. Sont-ce ces sommes qui ont etc auditees par ^f. I^ell. raudiien-r du departe-

ment des Chemins de fer?—R. M. Bell a andite tout eonipris do]Miis 190:'.
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Q. Avez-vous le detail de ces paiements Non, monsieur ; je n'ai rien moi-
meme.

Q. lis sont contemis dans Faudition de M. Bell ?—R. Je crois que oui.

Q. Avez-vous dit ce qui restait de realisable dans les debentures aujourd'hui ?

—

R. Je crois qu'il doit rester aujourd'hui entre buit ou neuf cent mille piastres a la

banque de Montreal, la banque etant payee.

Q. La compagnie du pont de Quebec a-t-elle regu des avances depuis le desastre?

—R. Du gouvernement ?

Q. A meme les debentures ?—R. Oui, monsieur ; il y . a eu un compte special

pour les frais d'administration.

Q. A combien s'eleve ce compte ?—^R. C'est dans I'etat qui vous a ete fourni

par M Ross ou M. Bell ; c'est dans le compte qui a ete produit deja.

Q. C'est une somme considerable
;

pouvez-vous dire en quoi elle se decompose
pour les frais d'administration ?—R. Les frais d'administration consistent en bien

peu de choses ; ce que M. Butler a approuve jusqu'a ce moment pour le loyer ou
les employes de la compagnie est paye

;
maintenant, depuis un certain temps on a

discontinue de payer le salaire du secretaire et de I'ingenieur.

Q. Le paiement de ces salaires est-il suspendu ?—^R. II est deja suspendu main-
tenant par le gouvernement, mais pas pour la compagnie ; le gouvernement ne paie

pas.

Q. Avez-vous une entente avec les officiers de la compagnie, tels que le secretaire-

tresorier, I'ingenieur en chef par rapport aux salaires ?—R. D'apres I'opinion de nos
aviseurs leur temps finira au mois de septembre prochain ; nous ne pouvons pas les

mettre a la porte avant que leur temps soit expire.

Q. Alors, le salaire de ces trois employes court actuellement d'apres ropinion de

vos aviseurs ?—R. Centre la compagnie, mais le gouvernement ne les paie pas.

Q. Mais c'est une dette de la compagnie, d'apres vous ?—^R. Oui, monsieur ;

specialement consideree comme telle.

Q. Est-ce qu'il y a des actions de prises centre la compagnie du pont de Quebec,

a I'occasion de ce desastre, des poursuites ?—R. Pas a ma connaissance, je n'ai pas

vu de ces actions devant le bureau.

Q. La Phoenix Bridge Company a-t-elle ete poursuivie a Quebec?—R. Oui, mon-
sieur ; on me dit qu'elle est poursuivie. ^

Q. Par plusieurs des interesses?—^R. Oui, monsieur ; par plusieurs des interesses.

Q. Avez-vous eu occasion de vous assurer quel est le montant des poursuites ?

—R. Non, monsieur
; je sais qu'il y a eu plusieurs actions de prises, d'apres ce que

m'a dit I'ingenieur, mais je n'en connais pas les montants ; d'ailleurs le montant
n'indique pas toujours le valeur reelle d'une reclamation, parce qu'une action se

prend quelque fois pour dix mille piastres quand ensuite elle se regie pour mille.

Q. Est-ce que les parents de toutes les victimes ont pris des actions?—R. Je ne
pense pas que tous en aient pris.

Q. Pouvez-vous dire a peu pres la proportion ?—R. Je ne puis pas dire, parce

que cela ne me concerne pas; la Phoenix Bridge Company reglera ses affaires elle-

meme; la compagnie du pont de Quebec pretend ne»pas etre responsable des pertes

de vies qui ont eu lieu la.

Q Mais dans le cas d'un reglement avec le gouvernement, ne croyez-vous pas

que ces matieres doivent etre prises en consideration ?—R. Bien, la compagnie du
pont de Quebec n'etant pas responsable, le gouvernement n'a rien a faire avec elle.

Q Avez-vous une opinion de vos aviseurs que la compagnie du pont de Quebec
n'est aucunement responsable du desastre vis-a-vis les victimes ?—^R. Oui, monsieur.

Q. Vous avez cette opinion ?—R. Je crois que nous avons I'opinion donnee con-

jointement par I'honorable M Casgrain, par M. Taschereau et par M. Edouard Dorion,

avocats. La compagnie du pont de Quebec n'est pas responsable des pertes de vies ou
des dommages causes par les blessures ou autrement, ce ne sont pas les employes de
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la compagnie du pont de Quebec, mais les employes de la PhcBnix Bridge Company, et

c'est cette derniere qui doit etre tenue legalement responsable de cet accident, quoique,

naturellement, la Phoenix Bridge Company pretend n'avoir aucun tort. Dans tons

les cas I'opinion des aviseurs que nous avons consultes et que je viens de nommer est

que la compagnie du pont n'est pas responsable de cet accident.

Q. En fait d'actif, la compagnie du pont de Quebec a-t-elle directement ou in-

directement aujourd'hui quelques proprietes immobilieres, a part des approclies du
pont ?—K. A part des approches du pont, je n'eu connais pas.

Q. II n'y a pas d'option sur les terrains ?—^Pas que je sache

Q. Mais vous le sauriez s'il y en avait, vous etes le president ?—K. Bien, du
moment que je n'en connais pas, il ne doit pas y en avoir ; tout ce qui s'est dit a

propos d'options soit sur le parquet de la chambre ou ailleurs est completement faux.

Q. Votre compagnie s'est-elle mise en communication avec le gouvernement apres

le desastre ; a-t-elle fourni au gouvernement des renseignements sur Tetat des affaires

de la compagnie ?—R. La compagnie a ete demander au gouvernement de lui aider

a payer les frais d'administration en attendant que la question se regie au point de

vue du gouvernement, savoir s'il devait reprendre le pont ou non.

Q. Avez-vous soumis au gouvernement ou a quelqu'un de la part du gouverne-

ment un etat des affaires de la compagnie ?—^R. L'auditeur du gouvernement, M.
Bell, etait envoye chaque mois faire I'audition des livres ; il etait absolument au fait

des affaires de la compagnie ; M. Butler etait oblige d'examiner les comptes pour
les faire payer, le gouvernement ne pouvait pas etre plus au fait qu'il I'etait.

Q. La compagnie s'est-elle adressee au gouvernement au sujet de ce qu'elle avait

a faire dans cette occurence ?—R. Nous avons eu une entrevue - avec le premier mi-

nistre et M. Fielding dans le temps, aussi, dans I'interet de la compagnie du pont

pour demander de I'aide aditionnel ; c'est la seule communication que nous avons

eue avec le gouvernement.

Q. Est-ce qu'il y a de la correspondance a ce sujet?—R. Non; cela a ete fait

verbalement.

Q\ Que demandiez-vous au gouvernement ; de I'aide ; a ce qu'il assume .... ?

—

R. Nous voulions que le gouvernement avance les frais d'administration, jusqu'a

ce qu'il decide de prendre le pont de la compagnie.

Q. Quelle est I'attitude de la compagnie du pont aujourd'hui ; la compagnie
pretend-elle continuer ce travail-la elle-meme ?—R. Non, monsieur

;
d'ailleurs, lors

de I'arrangement de 1903, par le fait que le gouvernement se donnait le droit de

reprendre le pont en remboursant aux actionnaires leur stock plus dix poiir cent,

et cinq pour cent d'interet, cela nous mettait parfaitement liors de toute action pos-

sible.

Q. Faites-mioi comprendre quelle est I'attitude de la compagnie aujourd'hui ;

est-ce qu'elle demande au gouvernement de lui continuer son aide, ou demande-t-clle

au gouvernement de reprendre, d'exercer son option ?—R. La compagnie aujourd'hui

n'est pas en position de dieter au gouvernement ce qu'elle veut avoir; je crois

qu'elle a une idee bien dcfinie, c'est que le gouvernement devra prendre le pont et en

faire sa chose, lors meme que la compagnie demanderait autre chose, mais la compa-

gnie ne le demande pas.

Q. Vous rappclez-vous combien de contrats distincts vous avez faits avec la

PKoenix Bridge Company; toute la construction n'a pas ete comprise dans le meme
contrat?—R. Tons les contrats sont produits.

Q. De memoire pouvez-vous dire combien vous avez fait de contrats ; cola

a ete divise en trois, quatre ou cinq, je crois ?—R. Le contrat principal renferine a

peu pres tout ; je crois qu'il y a eu un petit contrat de passe pour los piliers d'nn-

crage, mais quant aux grosses entreprises il n'y a qu'un contrat. Tous los contrats

ont ete mis entre les mains des commissairos roynux ; ils sont produits ici.

Q. Je trouve un contrat du 12 avril 1900 avec la Phoenix Bridge Company pour
approches et "spans", du 19 decembre 1900 et \\\\ (roisicuio coulrnt du 19 Janvier 1903,
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avec la Phoenix Bridge Company quant au "span", a I'arche principal; est-ce qu'il

y a eu d'autres contrats que ces trois-la ?—K. Non, monsieur ; pas que je sache.

Q. Quant a M. Davis, il se trouve, n'est-ce pas, avoir fait un profit de quarante
pour cent sur les debentures ?—R. Peut-etre a votre point de vue, mais pas au mien.

Q. Expliquez-moi done votre point de vue ; est-ce qu'il n'a pas eu un profit de

quarante pour cent sur les debentures?—E,. M. Davis comme entrepreneur du pont

de Quebec, devait etre paye en argent ; nous lui avons paye quatre-vingt pour cent

en argent ; nous, lui avons paye vingt pour cent qui restait sur les debentures, les

debentures interimaires de 472,000 piastres ; pendant que les travaux se faisaient

pour notre compte, lui payait des interets a la banque, tandis que pour nous les tra-

vaux marchaient sans payer d'interets ; les debentures ne portaient pas interet, ex-

eepte apres la completion des travaux a la fin de decembre 1902. Alors, M Davis
n'a pas fait 40 pour cent ; il faut deduire Tinteret qu'il a paye a la banque

;
pendant

ce temps-la nous devious ce montant-la que nous ne payions pas.

Q. Voulez-vous dire qu'il empruntait a la banque sur ses debentures ?—^R. Cer-

tainement, a la banque qui lui fournissait les fonds ; naturellement, il etait oblige

de payer un interet sur 1'argent avance par la banque; nous autres, nous ne payions

rien.

Q Enfin, cet interet sur une couple de cent mille piastres pour le temps que
cela a couru, n'etait pas considerable ; ce n'est pas une raison pour dire qu'il n'a pas

fait quarante pour cent sur la valeur des debentures ?—R. Quand meme cela aurait

ete trente mille piastres, ces trente mille piastres otees sur le montant ne donneraient

pas qaarante pour cent ; il faut tenir compte de la position de la compagnie ; ce

qui pent paraitre un avantage pour monsieur Davis, par 1'arrangement de 1903 n'en

est pas un ; si le gouvernement n'avait pas garanti les debentures, il avait pris un
fort risque.

Q. II avait pris un fort risque ?—R. Un fort risque a mon point de vue, en avan-

c-rat de I'argent a une compagnie qui n'avait autre chose que des subsides obtenus du
gouvernement.

Q. D'apres votre calcul, done les debentures ne valaient rien?—R. Je ne suis

pas pret a dire que les debentures ne valaient rien, mais elles ne valaient certainement

pas soixante cents dans la piastre pour une corporation commerciale ; nous ne pouvions

pas placer cela a cinquante ou soixante pour cent-dans le temps. Ce que nous devons

considerer etait le marche au point de vue de la compagnie; dans ce temps-la, la

main-d'oeuvre etait bon marche, les prix qui nous etaient soumis etaient raisonnables

;

tout ce qu'on avait a faire c'etait de courir la chance d'obtenir de bons resultats, c'est-

a-dire qu'en 1903 les $472,000 sur lesquels vous pretendez que Ton a obtenu une somme
de 60 pour cent ne representait reellement que le montant de I'ouvrage. Si au lieu

de batir en 1900 nous avions bati en 1903, ga aurait fait une difference et comme
question de fait la compagnie du pont a beneficie meme des avantages du temps.

Q. Quand vous avez acquis la quasi certitude ou plutot la certitude, puisque

vous I'aviez, que le gouvernement allait payer les debentures au pair, n'etait-ce pas

de votre devoir comme hommes d'affaires de regler avec M. Davis ce que vous lui

deviez, ce qui lui etait du reellement pour les travaux faits au lieu de lui fournir

I'occasion de faire cette speculation-la ?—R. Si nous avions eu I'argent a notre dis-

position pour faire ce que vous suggerez la, probablement que nous I'aurions fait,

mais meme en ne le faisant pas nous considerions encore faire un bon marche pour

la compagnie.

Q. N'est-ce pas pour cette raison que le gouvernement a exige de vous que cet

escompte de 40 pour cent fut paye par d'autres que par lui avant de donner la garantie

snr les debentures ?—R. Quand nous avons bati ces piliers-la, et que nous nous

trouvions a court d'argent, nous avons juge a propos de faire une demande au gou-

vernement ; la question est venue sous la forme de garantie des debentures ; main-

te?iant, je ne puis pas dire que c'est la raison pour laquelle le gouvernement a exige
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le pnjemGnt des 200,000 piastres en stock ; ce n'est certainement pas une raison qui a

€te discutee avec moi ; mais il y avait ceci : le gouvernement voulait que la compa-
gnie du pont souscrive un montant de 200,000 piastres afin d'interesser davantage
les gens de Quebec qui voulaient entrer dans I'entreprise et surtout pour avoir I'appui

des eompaguies de chemins de fer qui desiraient aussi entrer dans cette ai?aire.

Q. Pourquoi le gouvernement exigeait-il que la somme de 200,000 piastres fut

employee avant remission des bons a eteindre I'escompte, aux termes de I'arrange-

ment?—E. Je crois que le gouvernement a juge a propos de faire la chose mais il n'y

a pas eu de raisons donnees dans le temps.

Q. En definitive la chose n'a pas ete faite?—E.. Elle a ete faite plus tard.

Q. Ne croyez-vous pas qu'il eut ete mieux puisque les debentures ne valaient rien

au dire des directeurs de faire un compromis avec monsieur Davis et de lui dire :

Les valeurs que vous avez ne valent rien, donnez-nous une option pour les racheter

dans un certain delai?—R. Si vous lisez le contrat vous constaterez que nous avions

droit de rembourser nos debentures, de faire un ' pool pour ces memes debentures

;

mais la chose n'a pas ete faite.

Q. Monsieur Davis a toujours bien fait un profit de 180 et quelques milles

piastres?—E. Si monsieur Davis avait fait un contrat a un prix plus has que les

ouvrages lui coutaient alors, au lieu d'avoir un profit, il avait une perte.

Q. Quels sont les interets dont vous parlez?—E. Ce sent les interets pour Targent

qu'il avait obtenu pendant qu'il faisait I'ouvrage pour nous et que nous ne payions

pas.

Q. Des escomptes a la banque?—E. Certainement; la banque n'avangait pas

d'argent a monsieur Davis sans interets.

Q. Comment savez-vous qu'il etait oblige d'avoir recours a I'escompte?—E. Parce

que j'ai vu le compte de banque dans le ffemps et c'etait un fait notoire pour ceux qui

etaient en relations avec monsieur McDougall.

Q. Savez-vous a combien se montent ces interets?—^E. lis doivent se monter entre

vingt et trente mille piastres.

Q. Pour des avances d'argent?—E. L'interet sur des avances pour le pont de

Quebec.

Q. Pourquoi faisait-il cela, puisqu'il avait 96,000 piastres comme vous avez dit

ce matin?—E. Je vous parle de 1902; le cheque est venu en 1904; c'est bien apres

oela, c'est apres la souscription du nouveau stock; ce n'est pas la meme transaction.

Q. Expliquez-moi done cette affaire des interets. Quand la compagnie du pont

a-t-elle commence a payer des interets sur ces debentures?—Quand monsieur Davis

a fini les piliers, a fini la sous-structure du pont, vejs le mois de decembre 1902, nous

ne payions pas d'interets; nous ne payions pas d'interets sur les debentures de mon-
sieur Davis de 1900 a 1902.

Q. Avez-vous connaissance, monsieur Parent, que des plans ou des devis ont ete

soumis au gouvernement Jipres 1903 pour approbation?—E. Apres I'arrangement de

1903 il y a eu des plans qui ont ete soumis au gouvernement pour approbation et qui

ont ete approuves.

Q. Approuves par le gouvernement?—E. Oui, monsieur; pour se conformer aux

statuts de 1903.

Q. Si je comprends bien le rapport de la Commission Eoyale. le gouvernement

apres 1903 n'a pas exerce la faculte d'approuver les plans qu'il possedait?—E. Bien,

les plans' de details?

Q. Ont-ils ete soumis au gouvernement?—E. Non, monsieur; les plans do details

etaient soumis a I'ingenieur qui etait monsieur Cooper, a New-York; apres que le

gouvernement eut accepte monsieur Cooper comme ingenieur, monsieur Cooi^r avait

le controle exclusif de I'entreprise au point de vue des plans, des plans de details

fournis au jour le jour; et pour ceux qui ne connaissent pas les plans de la compa-

gnie je doia dire que nous en avions a pen pres suffisamment pour remplir cette salle.

6—12
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Q. Je trouve d'apres les documents que le gouvernement avait decide de choisir

un autre ingenieur?—R. Non, monsieur; il doit y avoir un ordre en conseil par lequel

monsieur Cooper a ete accepte par le gouvernement alors que monsieur itichol a ete

mis de cote.

Q. Eh bien, Fordre en conseil du 21 juillet 1903 autorise specialement monsieur

Schreiber a choisir un ingenieur specialiste pour faire rapport sur les plans, et cet

ordre-la a ete rescinde le 16 d'aout 1903 avec Fentente que la compagnie continuerait

a avoir le controle sur les plans, mais je ne trouve nulle part que le gouvernement a

choisi monsieur Cooper pour ingenieur ?—R. II a ete choisi par le gouvernement pour

ingenieur ; je ne conais pas le rapport de la commission, mais comme question de fait

il n'y a pas de doute que monsieur Cooper agissait pour la compagnie du pont de

Quebec dans le temps.

Q. Alors, monsieur Cooper etait 1'ingenieur de la compagnie Phoenix'^.—R. Non,
monsieur; il etait ingenieur de la compagnie du pont de Quebec et I'ingenieur de la

compagnie Phoenix etait monsieur Szlapka.

Q. Qui vous a mis en rapport avec monsieur Cooper, n'est-ce pas la Phoenix

Bridge Company ^—R. Non, monsieur; nous avons a oette epoque fait de la corres-

pondance; nous nous sommes informes ou etait le meilleur ingenieur; il y a eu plu-

sieurs noms de donnes et nous nous sommes arretes sur monsieur Cooper comme etant

I'homme le plus competent ; il etait le meilleur des trois qui nous avaient ete suggeres.

Q. Alors, vos pretentions en resume c'est que monsieur Cooper etait en meme
temps ingenieur de la Quebec Bridge Company et ingenieur du gouvernement?

—

R. Ingenieur de la compagnie du pont, et ingenieur du gouvernement apres que

monsieur Nichol eut ete elimine pour monsieur Cooper qui resignait si monsieur

Nichol etait nomme; monsieur Cooper ne voulait pas qu'un ingenieur qu'il conside-

rait inferieur a lui-meme lui fut adjoint quand il encourrait lui-meme les risques.

Q. Le bureau de direction n'a-t-il pas fait quelques estimes de ce qu'il faudrait

pour finir le pont?—R. Bien, ces estimes sont a peu pres les memes qu'auparavant.

Q. Pouvez-vous dire au comite ce qu'il y aura a faire pour completer le pont, en

faire un neuf, enfin faire le pont?—R. Nous ne pouvons pas dire cela aujourd'hui,

avant qu'une commission d'ingenieurs decide ce qu'il y a a faire; si I'on pent em-
ployer les piliers actuels et une partie de I'acier manufacture, I'entreprise coutera

bien meilleur marche qu'au cas ou nous serions obliges d'avoir de nouveaux piliers-

et une superstructure nouvelle; il y a des ingenieurs qui pourront repondre a cela.

Si vous preniez les piliers actuels et une partie du materiel, je crois encore que le

pont pourrait se construire pour sept ou huit millions de piastres, y compris les appro-

ches; si vous ajoutez a cela les pertes,^—la question sera decidee quant a la responsa-

bilite,—je presume que cela pent aller entre neuf ou dix millions de piastres.

Q. Si le gouvernement s'empare de I'entreprise, d'apres vous, d'apres votre inter-

pretation, est-ce qu'il devra rembourser le gouvernement de Quebec et la ville de

Quebec de ce que ces deux parties ont contribue?—R. Je crois que le statut donne la

faculte au gouvernement de les mettre dans la meme position que le gouvernement
federal lui-meme, c'est-a-dire qu'ils se trouveront conjointement interesses dans I'en-

treprise.

Q. Quel statut est-ce?—R. De 1903; je ne I'ai pas eu depuis ce temps-la; seule-

ment le gouvernement devra rembourser la municipalite et la province de Quebec des
subsides qu'ils ont votes s'ils le desirent

;
je crois que la clause de statut les met sur le

meme pied, s'il y a des dividentes a retirer, quelque chose comme cela.

Q. Le salaire de M. Cooper court-il encore aujourd'hui?—R. Non, monsieur.

Q. II avait droit a tant par annee?—R. Qui, monsieur; quand il a travaille pour
nous; mais depuis que le pont s'est ecoule il n'a rien a faire.

Q. Etes-vous certain qu'il n'est pas retenu a trois mille piastres et quelque chose
oomme ingenieur-consultant ?—R. Je ne crois pas que M. Cooper ait I'intention d'en-

voyer de reclamation comme ingenieur; il sera responsable comme contracteur des
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dommages encourus qui sont surtout arrives par sa faute. Lorsque M. Cooper iie

venait pas au pont de Quebec il envoyait assez souvent son associe, M. Berger, pour

le remplacer ; ce dernier etait aussi un ingenieur tres capable.

Q. Je vois qu'il est question dans la clause 21 de la convention d'octobre 1903 du
reglement des creances ou des contributions du gouvernement et de la ville de Que-
bec?—R. Oui, monsieur.

Q, Est-ce que ceci a ete accepte par le gouvernement et la ville de Quebec; etiez-

vous maire de la ville de Quebec dans le temps?—E.. C'est moi qui ai insiste pour
avoir cette clause.

Q. La ville ainsi que le gouvernement de Quebec sont lies suivant vous?—K.

Oui, monsieur.

Q. Est-ce que la ville ct le gouvernement de Quebec ne pourront pas si le gou-

vernement federal s'emparait du pont reclamer le remboursement de leurs contributions ?

—E. Vous avez le statut devant vous, vous pouvez vous rendre compte de la portee

de ces creances.

Q. Je vous demande si ce n'est pas la la veritable position aujourd'hui ?—R. Tous
les droits que le gouvernement et la ville de Quebec pourront exercer, ils les exerce-

ront ; le statut parle par lui-meme, vous pouvez I'interpreter comme vous voudrez.

Q. Alors, il n'y a rien que vous puissiez nous dire en dehors de la clause 21?

—

E. Non, monsieur; cela forme la base d'un contrat; elle vaut ce qu'elle vaut.

Q. Vous ne vous etes jamais assure quelles seraient les dispositions du gouverne-

ment et de la ville de Quebec si le gouvernement exergait son pouvoir de prendre le

pont?—E. Non, monsieur, c'est une obligation qu'on a imposee au gouvernement
federal, ce sera a lui a y voir.

Q. Je vous demande en votre qualite de president de la compagnie du pont si

vous pouvez dire ce qui arrivera ; est-ce que la ville et le gouvernement de Quebec
reclameront?—^E. Quand le gouvernement federal prendra I'entreprise, il verra ce

qu'il pourra faire avec ces parties-la.

Q. La chose est indecise?—E. Je ne connais rien; je ne connais pas les inten-

tions du gouvernement.

Q. Depuis le desastre, vous ne vous etes pas informe?—E. Ls gouvernement

etant juge dans la matiere, c'est a lui de decider ce qu'il fera.

Q. Si le gouvernement vous demandait ce qu'il va advenir de la somme de 550,000

piastres, contributions de la ville et du gouvernement de Quebec?—E. Je dirais au

gouvernement qu'il faut s'informer.

Q. Vous n'avez pas de doutes qa'on reclamera le remboursement, avec votre expe-

rience?—E. C'est plus que je ne, peux dire; c'est une entreprise nationale qui inte-

resse tout le monde ; il est bien possible, vu I'accident, que ces corporations se desis-

teront volontairement ; si j'etais premier ministre de la province de Quebec, j'agirais

dans ce sens.

Q. Si le gouvernement federal entreprenait de finir les travaux?—E. II fnut bien

remarquer que quand ces corporations ont souscrit a I'entreprise, elles I'ont fait sans

e^poir d'etre remboursees.

Q. Croyez-vous que les actionnairos vu que c'est une entrepris^ .nationale el

patriotique renonceront au remboursement de leurs parts?—E. Quant a moi pei-son-

nellement, si c'etait une question de vie ou de mort pour le pont, je suis pvot a decla-

rer que je ne retiendrais pas un sou de mon argent: je n'aurais pas d'hositation en

autant que je suis concerne a renoncer au montant de mes actions, parce quo quand

je *suis entre dans I'entreprise, je ne I'ai pas fait dnns un but de speculation : je I'ai

fait dans un but philanthropique, pour I'interct de la ville do Qneboo.

Q. Je trouve qu'il s'agirait pour desinteresser les actionnairos. conformement a

la convention de 190-3 de donner a pen pres 387,500 piastres; il y a 250,000 piastres

en chiflFres ronds et un bonus de 10 pour 100 qui ropresenterait 25,000 piastres, soil

$387,500; c'est une somme considerable ?—R. Bien, le capital-actions avec los 10 pour
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100 est de $291,500 que le gouvernement aurait a payer aux actionnaires a part de

Finteret simple a ajouter; en retour de cela le gouvernement prend possession de tout

ce qui appartient a la compagnie, c'est-a-dire de ce qui a ete mis dans I'entreprise

aujourd'hui, des $263,000 de stock qui ont ete depensees dans I'entreprise ; de plus le

subside de la ville de Quebec se monte a $290,000 net, I'escompte enleve sur les

$300,000, et les $250,000 du gouvernement local en outre des $374,000 que le gouverne-

inent federal a fourni sur son million ; le gouvernement se liberant par le fait de

$625,000, la balance de son million.

Q. Depuis 1903, il est exempte de payer la balance de son million ?—R. Oui,

•monsieur, par les arrangements qu'il a faits. Je dois dire que si aujourd'hui les

piliers et les ouvrages qui existent pouvaient etre utilises, si les piliers qui ont coute

un million et quart a la compagnie vous ne pourriez pas les construire pour deux mil-

lions de piastres, alors le gouvernement a un benefice.

Q. C'est une question de savoir si I'on se servira de ces ouvrages; vous avez

entendu le temoignage de monsieur Holgate?—K. Quant a utiliser tons les ouvrages

les ingenieurs decideront cela plus tard; mais assumant le cas que ces piles-la peuvent

§tre utilisees vous avez une valeur d'au-dela de deux millons lorsqu'elles n'ont coute

qu'un million et quart.

Q. Si les choses se passent comme nous avons tout lieu de croire qu'elles se passe-

ront, le gouvernement outre les six millions et quelques cents mille piastres qu'il a

depensees va etre oblige de depenser encore au moins autant avant que I'entreprise

soit terminee. Ne croyez-vous pas qu'avec des precautions ordinaires, nous aurions

pu avoir un pont bien meilleur marche qu'avec douze ou quinze millions?—E. Non,
monsieur; lors meme que vous batiriez le pont en neuf il ne pent pas etre question

de douze millions de piastres.

' Q. Quand on a demande de voter un subside d'un million on a dit que le pont

couterait quatre millions de dollars?—R. Je crois que d'apres le Hansard l^oipinion

etait d'avoir un pont pour chemin de fer ; quand le gouvernement de Quebec a vote

"^on subside, il a fait une condition speciale que ce devait etre un pont pour voitures

et pour pietons ; alors, les plans ont ete ensuite modifies.

' Q. Nous avons six millions de piastres qui sont disparus et s'il reste a peu pres

$600,000 en chiffres ronds sur les debentures .... ?—R. Yous avez I'approclie du
^ont qui a occasionne une depense d'un million^e piastres; vous avez les piliers et le

inetal d'ancrage qui sont la, qui ne sont pas disparus; vous avez la d'apres ce que je

peux voir au moins trois millions de piastres en actif > qui n'est pas disparu.

Q. Croyez-vous qu'il est possible pour nous de terminer tout, de faire face a toutes

les depenses que cela va occasionner avec six millions de piastres nouveaux?—R. Je
Terois que ga couterait beaucoup moins que six millions. i ; n : el

f Q. Beaucoup moins?—R. Oui, monsieur. ; t '^:r<-f>';ofrr-,/r.-;

Q. Eh bien, a peu pres; cinq millions, pensez-vous?—R. Naturellement, je ne
feuis pas ingenieur, mais c'est ma cojiviction intime que vous pourriez reconstruire le

pont de Quebec, le pont proprement dit pour moins de cinq millions de piastres.

Q. Dans le temps de I'arrangement d'octobre 1903, vous pretendiez qu'avec les

debentures du gouvernement vous pouviez finir le pont ; vous avez dit cela dans vos

c<)mmunications avec le gouvernement
;

or, vous savez que meme si le pont ne s'etait

pas effronde, nous he le finissdons pas avec six millions de piastres ?—R. Le pont et

les approches sont deux choses differentes
; j'ai parle des approches du pont, mais

bon du pont proprement dit.

t Q. Mais dans la lettre qui nous a ete lue au Parlement, voiis disiez au premier
ministre en 1903 qu'avec ce que donneraient les debentures garafities par le gouverne-
ment, Ton finissait compleiement le pont; et vous savez' que I'on aurait pas pu le finir;

meme en excluant les accidents, il aurait fallu une couple de millions au moins de
plus?—R. Je ne suis pas pret a dire que c'est ce que la compagnie a dit exactement;
je voudrais aToir dev^nt mci ce qu'on a sOumis ; je rie sache pas qu'on a dit cela.
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Q. A la fin d'une lettre du mois de d'octobre 1903, qui est ici, vous dites que 1^

cout estimatif de I'entreprise terminee est d'environ six millions neuf cent mille

piastres?—K. Qa fait sept millions cela
;
ga ne fait pas loin de sept millions.

Q. Sur les contrats il reste beaucoup de du encore, si ga ete achete d'une maniere

normale?—K. Pas beaucoup autre chose que la main-d'oeuvre, parce que les estimes

sont payes pour Fouvrage fait a Phoenixville ; du moment que I'ouvrage finissait

a Phoenixville nous payions pour I'ouvrage; nous avions un homme sur les lieux; le

gouvernement avait un homme la aussi. L'acier est presque tout pret, et si nous pou-

vions utiliser les piliefs et uUe partie de l'acier qui est manufacture, nous pourrions,

construire a bien meilleur marche. Maintenant, I'ingenieur d'apres les prix soumis,

pourra dire si cela pent se faire ou non; d'apres mes informations, cela pent se faire^

Le pont pent se construire en modifiant les plans, sur les piliers actuels; de sorte que

qa ferait une ecoiiomie considerable si la chose est possible.

Q. Quelles sojit les deperises mensuelles pour salaires et loyer actuellement, cq

qu'on appelle depenses courantes?—E. Une bagatelle, une douzaine de cents piastres^

par mois en chiffres ronds.

Q. Qa comprend le tresorier, le secretaire et I'ingenieur?—R. Oui, monsieur; et

un clavigraphe.

Q. Combien payez-vous par mois aux officiers?—R. Nous payons le secretaire sur

le pied de $2,400 par annee, ce qui fait deux cents piastres par mois; nous payons le

tresorier cent piastres par mois; cela fait trois cents piastres par mois; I'ingenieur

cinq cents piastres, ce qui fait huit cents piastres par mois; vous avez apres cela cent

piastres pour differentes depenses par mois, cela fait neuf cents piastres; a part le

loyer, c'est tout oe qu'il y a dans les depenses de la compagnie. '

Q. A combien se monte le loyer?—R. Le loyer coute comme six ou sept cents

piastres par annee; je crois que nouS ne payons pas cher pour ce loyer; nous avons

loue assez bon marche du juge Bosse.

Q. Avez-vous des hommes employes a garder le pont, ou ce qui est reste du pont;

est-ce qu'il n'y a pas de depenses ogcasionnees par le desastre meme?—R. Pas que je

sache ; nous n'avons pag d'hommes la.

Q. Yous n'avez pas d'affaires la ?—R. Non, monsieur
; parce que la Phoenix

Bridge est responsable.

Q. Avez-vous eu quelqnes propositions de la compagnie Phoenix Bridge Company
en rapport avec la reconstruction du pont ? L'accident a eu lieu le 29 d'aout ?—R.. J"e

ne sais pas si cela peut faire le sujet de I'enquete ; ceci a rapport a des choses

arrivees subsequemment a votre motion d'enquete. Te refuse de repondre a moins que
le comite le desire.

Q, Le gouvernement est en possession de toutes oes negociations?—R. Oui, moni
sieur ; nous les avons soumises au gouvernement; alors^ si le gouvernement veut vous
les donner, c'est son affaire.

Q. Du 27 au 29 aout dans I'apres-midi, date de l'accident, avez-vous eu vent de ce

qui se passait au pont, des signes qu'il y avait d'un ecroulement ?—R. Non, monsieur.

Q. Vous n'avez rien su de cela du tout ?—R. J'etais a Ottawa, dans ce temps-la
;

je crois qu'il y a bien pen de gens qui pouvaient prevoir que le pont s'eoroulorait le

29 d'aout.

Q. Savez-vous que pendant trois ou quatre jours, on a etc on communication
avec monsieur Cooper et la compagnie, au sujet de craqucmonts, do choses insolitcs

qui s'etaient manifestos?—R. M. McClure avait ete envoye a Now-York consultor

M. Cooper ; dans ce temps-la je ne connaissais rien.

Q. Yous n'avez pas ete informe de la chose?—R. Non, monsieur: la prouiiore

nouvelle que nous avons eue ca ete recrouleuient du pont. '^[. Robitaille a dit qu'il

avait ete informe que mon frere etait insp?cteur pour la compagnie du pont de

Quebec. Je dois declarer ici que jamais aucun de mes frercs n*a ete directement ou
indirectement conoerne avec la compagnie du pont do Quebec: il n'a jamais retix^
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un seul centin ni directement ni indirectement de la compagnie du pont de Quebec.

Ceux qui ont dit cela ont du etre mal informes. Si on a dit cela pour le plaisir de

faire des insinuations, j'aime a mettre ces gens-la en position de savoir que tout cela

n'a jamais existe pour aucun de mes freres ; et quand M. Robitaille a dit cela, il a

certainement dit une chose qui n'etait pas vraie. M. Robitaille a parle de transac-

tions immobilieres que j'avais faites; c'est absolument faux ; et quand il a parle

d'options de la compagnie du pont avec la Quebec Terminal Co., encore absolument

faux. Quand M. E-obitaille a dit que j'etais interesse dans la Quebec Terminal Co.,

c'etait faux ; quand il a dit que j'etais premier ministre de la province de Quebec

quand cette derniere a vote un subside au pont de Quebec, c'etait encore faux. On se

permet de dire n'importe quoi sur le parquet de la Chambre, pour calomnier, mais

quand on est sous serment, on n'en dit pas autant. Je veux que le public sache ce

que je dis actuellement. Quant aux accusations portees centre la compagnie du

pont pendant ma presidence, qu'on vienne les repeter ici, devant ce comite, et je ne

craindrai pas de rencontrer mes accusateurs.

By the Chairman:

Q. I notice it was not asked this morning : Mr. E-obitaille, in a speech which was
criticized this morning said that your brother, Mr. Parent, iwas interested in this

bridge some way or another ?

Mr. Monk.—I think that was explained.

Mr. Robitaille.—I explained that.

Mr. Parent.—I say that if any one has any accusation against me or against the

Quebec Bridge Company let them come now or at any time and proffer their accusa-

tion ; I am willing to meet them. There is no graft or anything whatever wrong with

anything that this company has done, and I do not care who makes the statement to

the contrary.

By Mr. MonJc:

Q. That does not come within the scope of this reference. What we are called

upon to find out is whether we have lost so much money, and if you can throw any
light upon that we will be glad to hear you?—A. Incidental to that question it is

sometimes asked where the money has gone to. The money has gone right into that
work, every cent of it, and none of it has gone into^ any other place. We have nothing
to hide and we have everything to gain by having it made clear.

By the Chairman:

Q. You showed me a report this morning; do you want that put in?—A. I think
it is just as well that it should be on the record. It is the first annual report of the
directors of the Quebec Railway Bridge Company.

(Exhibit 45 filed.)

Mr. Lorenzo Robitaille, recalled.—I have the figures here now, Mr. Chairman,
to prove the deficit of $779,551, which are taken from the report of Mr. Collingwood
Schreiber, Chief Engineer Railways and Canals, dated October 16, 1903, as printed
in Sessional Paper No. 148, 1903. They are as follows:

—

Value of work done, engineering, &c $1,416,394

This amount works out in detail as :

Substructure $1,217,359
Superstructure 156,640
Clearing land 195
Engineering and land damages. ^ . . . . 42,200

That makes a total amount of $1,416,394 as the value of the work done, engineer-
ing, &c.
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iTihen tJie payments are:

Cash

.

. $914,862
Then the proceeds of bonds 283,279

By Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish):

Q. Why should we add that to the $501,000; does not that $914,000 include it?—
A. Yes, that is cash, and here is the bond value, which resulted, you will see by these
figures, in making a total of the two of $1,198,141.

Q. Of payments, that makes a balance due on the work of $218,253?—A. And
other indebtedness $561,298.

Q Where do you get that ?—A. Bonds, $472,000.

c;>. But isn't that included in $283,279 ?—A. No, that is the pro'^eeds of :ne bonds.
Anyway, this is the way I make the figures up:

Total bonds $472,000—that is a liability.

Interest 34,298

Engineering 25,000

Superstructure due , . 30,000

That makes a total of . . . = $561,298

Balance due on work $218,253, and these items all added up make the indebtedness

$779,551, as shown here, which is marked as a floating debt, and which is shown also

by the letter given by Mr. Parent, which appears in the Sessional Paper, where he

makes a report to the government at that time as follows. Speaking of the construc-

tion of the bridge he says:

' This has entailed an expenditure of all the proceeds of the paid-up stock of the

company as well as the portion of the subsidies received, and left the company indebted

in the sum of about $779,500.'

I just simply wanted to affirm that the statement I made in my speech was based

on the report given by Mr. Schreiber.

Witness discharged.

Committee adjourned.

TEANSLATION OF ME. PAEENT'S EVIDENCE.

Hon. S. N. Parent was called, sworn and examined.

By Mr. Monk :

Q. Did you really act as managing director of the Quebec Bridge Company
while you were the president thereof ?—A. I acted as president.

Q. Was there any manager ?—A. No, sir.

Q. As a matter of fact, did you not perform the duties of one ?—A. No, sir: I

cannot say that.

Q. There are witnesses who have said that you had done nine-tenths of the

work ?—A. I miay have worked a good deal without being manager.

Q. You did not have that title, but in reality you did nine-tenths of the adminis-

trative work?—A. I do not say that; I did considerable work, but cannot say that it

was nine-tenths.

Q. Will you tell the committee what were the reasons you luid for selecting Mr.
Cooper as engineer ?—A. Well, then, when we got tenders from the different com-
panies, the first thing we had to do was to find a man comix^tont to examine the plans.
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Q. The different bridge companies ?—A. The companies that had tendered.

After taking information, Mr. Theodore Cooper, an engineer, of the city of New
York, was recommended a,s the most capable man in regard to bridges, as an authority.

That is what led iis to select him; and we di;«C' ^ p^-od that what had been told us about

him was in accord with truth ; he was an authority in that line.

Q. Did that gentleman visit several times, the site of the bridge ?—A. He cer-

tainly went to visit it a few times.

Q. About hpw often had he been on the ground ?—A. To my knowledge he was
there when we were building the foundations {La substrueture) when Mr. Davis was
erecting the piers ; he came a coiTple of times.

Q. I think I can say that he went there a couple of times, is that correct ?—A.

According to our arrangements Mr. Cooper was to go to the bridge about once a

month, if he deemed it proper; he was to judge in that matter.

Q. As a matter of fact, I believe he went there two or three times, was it not
during the carrying on of the works ?—A. He must have gone there three or four

times, perhaps four or five times to the best of my knowledge, I believe that hje went
there three times.

^ Q. Did he at that time inquire as to the capital and resources of the Phoenix

Bridge Company before entering into business with it ?—A. At that time, according

to our information, the Phoenix Company's credit and the backing it had apparently

from the Phoenix Iron Company, made it a very powerful company for bridge con-

struction. It was very well recommended. We (went to Philadelphia to inquire as to

its financial condition, and the reports we got in regard to the Phoenix Bridge Com-
pany were very favourable.

Q. But, apart from this capital that you refer to, had the company to your know-
ledge any resources that could be realized upon, and what were they ?—A. When we
dealt with the Phoenix Bridge Company, we took its credit as it was, with an addi-

tional guarantee of one hundred thousand dollars ; in consequence we made a contract,.

being convinced that the company would fulfil its obligations.

Q. I understand of course that the company had a credit of one hundred thou-

sand dollars, but did not that seem to you very small compared to the obligations that

the company assumed towards you ?—A. There was sufficient in it; the drawback was
ten per cent; in any case the contract spealcs for itself.

Q. Did you not inquire at the time if it (were not possible to obtain either a

higher credit or else to have the work of construction guaranteed ?—A. Well, after

having discussed that question at the time we were satisfied that, with such guarantee

and the recommendations that we received regarding the Phoenix Bridge Company, as

to the manner in which it had carried out its former contracts, we were making good
arrangements with the company.

Q. Could you not, for example, have taken a guarantee from the Phoenix Iron

Company, which seems to have commended this company for the undertaking ?—A.

We obtained what, from our point of view, was a satisfactory and sufficient guarantee

for the execution of the contract that we were making with the Phoenix Bridge Com-
pany. And, in fact, the Phoenix Bridge Company, to the time of the accident, had
perfectly fulfilled its obligations in regard to the work, as agreed upon with the

Quebec Bridge Company.
Q. Are you .a(ware that the Phoenix Iron Company was the parent of the Phoenix

Bridge Company ?—A. All that we knew was that the Phoenix Iron Company helped

the Phoenix Bridge Company ; I do not know in what manner, but it was either in sup-

plying the iron or otherwise; in any case it assisted the Phoenix Bridge Company.

Q. Did you at that time study the relations existing between the two companies ?

—A. No, sir ; not any more than did the directors of the banks ; at the time they told

us that they were satisfied that we should deal with the company.

Q. Do you know anything of the financial standing of the Phoenix Iron Company ?

—A, No, sir; I know nothing about it.
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Q. You know neither its capital nor its resources ?—A. No, sir.

Q. And I believe the question of giving additional guarantees beyond the hundred
thousand dollars was not discussed by the board?—A. We had not discussed it with
the Phoenix Company ; I tried to get as many securities as I could. When we discussed
the contract, according to the information we had at that moment, we deemed it

proper to accept those guarantees as sufficient; if we could have had more, we would
have accepted it, but we could not get any more.

Q. When the 1,800 foot arch was substituted for the 1,600 foot one, what steps

did your company take to assure itself as to the value and safety of the substitution?

—A. Our chief engineer, Mr. Cooper, as I told you a moment ago, was considered
the best engineer for bridging, an authority, who claimed that none other could criti-

cize him—not having a sufficient knowledge to do so; then we took his report, and it

was he that made the suggestions that we accepted.

Q. You did not deem it necessary to have the prudence of that change verified to

control it?—A. We also had the opinion of Mr. Szlapka, who was the engineer of the

Phcenix Bridge Company, and who drew the plans ; the engineer then agreed in saying
that the change might be made.

Q. Well, then, what was your information regarding Mr. Szlapka, was he a well

known engineer?—A. In the United States, according to what I could hear—I knew
him, he was an eminent man.

Q. Do you know where that engineer studied, and what constructions he had
already carried on?—A. I know that he has been for a number of years employed by
the Phoenix Bridge Company; he is considered to be a very able man in such matters;

no, I did not follow him through his course of studies, I did not know where he
studied.

Q. Do you know any bridges that he built, himself, of which he had made the

plans ?—A. The Phoenix Bridge Company could give better information than I could

in that*matter, for I did not follow him in his works.

Q. You did not follow him in his works?—A. No, sir.

Q. You seem to consider that it was he who made the plans of the bridge?

—

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Is it really the case ?—A. Yes, sir. according to my information ; but moreover,

I do not think that it is denied; the report of the Eoyal Commission must give all

those details.

Q. What was the lowest tender for the building of the bridge ; I see that you had
several tenders?—A. Do you refer to the foundations (sous-structure) or to the

superstructure ?

Q. Yes, sir; the superstructure. I see that the last day to receive tenders was the

1st March, 1899, and tl>at they were called for in the month of September, 1898 ?—A.

Yes, sir.

Q. What was the lowest tender ?—A, The question of cost had not then been

considered, for we did not know what plans might be acepted. When we chilled for

tenders we asked the companies to submit their plans; as to the cost, there could be

no question until we knew which plans would bo accepted by the company, if it would

be a cantilever or a suspension bridge; we wanted to know what kind of plans would

be accepted.

Q. How many tenders- with plans, did you receive ?—A. I think that we received

four.

Q. You received four ?—A. Yes, sir; and according to Mr. Coopers report the

Phoenix Bridge Company's tender was the most advantageous.

Q. At that time was it a fixed price for the construction ?—A. It was imix>ssible

to give out such an undertaking at a fixed price.

Q. T find in the report of the Eoyal Commission that there was a difference of

$23,507 at that moment in the tender, in favour of the Plwnix Bridge Company, and

that it was fixed ?—A. Yes, sir; but you co\ild not have a contract b:K<,Ml on llmt ten-
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der ; as the plans were, having been revised by Mr. Cooper in his report the conditions
were then changed.

Q. But Mr. Cooper recommended you the Phoenix Bridge Company's tender as

being the best and the lowest ?—A. Yes, sir. I think so.

Q. It was then at that moment the lowest—there can be no doubt as to that ?

—

A. Quite possible, I do not remember the figures, fo^r it was of slight importance.

Q. Are you aware that subsequently the work was not undertaken at fixed price

but was undertaken according to the cost of iron ?—A. We had ^a schedule of prices

fixed as mentioned in the con)tract.

Q. You know that the prices of the Keystone Bridge Company were lower than
those of the Phoenix Bridge Company ?—A. I do not say that, I cannot, because' the

prices of the Keystone Company might appear lower, but we would not build on its

plan for it was put aside; even though the figures were lower they (would not have
been acceptable to the company.

Q, Am I to understand that, on the terms indicaited by that company, and accord-

ing to the agreements reached after the purchase of the tender, you maintain the

Phoenix Bridge Company was the lowest tenderer?—A. I considered that the Phoenix
Bridge Company, under the circumstances, offered more advantages. According to

the engineer's report it was the only acceptable tender.

Q. But you admit, in any case, that that tender did not reform the basis of the
contract afterwards made ?—A. There were a good many changes made in the figures

by the engineer, w^hich changed the position.

Q. A word now about the subscriptions of new stock: you will recall that in the

agreement that you made with the government in the months of October, one thousand
nine hundred and three, the company was to have secured two hundred thousand
dollars of additional stock, which was to be paid up in cash and to be used to the extent
of $188,000 to efface the interest on the old debentures ?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. You remember that ?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Were these conditions fulfilled by your company; that is to say, the company
subscribed the two hundred thousand dollars of stock and the $188,000 were not at

first paid to secure the interest on the debentures, but they were later on,

Q. But, in fine, when you had certified to the government that that stock was
paid in full, Mr. Davis' cheque for $94,000 was still in suspense ?—A. The cheque

was not in suspense; we had the cheque in hand, which cheque was absolutely equiva-

lent to money for us. The sole reason why we kept back th^t cheque for a certain

time, was that we did not wish Contractor Davis to control the stock of the company;
it was understood at the time that when he subscribed for one hundred and nineteen

thousand some hundred dollars, we would have the right to take from that amount the

subscription that the railway companies intended to take; and, in fact, a short while

after the Grand Trunk took twenty-five thousand dollars of the hundred and nineteen

thousand, leaving to Mr. Davis 949 shares of stock, amounting to exactly $94,900. The
Quebec Central was also to take twenty-five thousand dollars ; this is the reason why
we waited before placing that cheque in the bank. At the time the Quebec Central

had no authorization to subscribe, its charter did not permit it, but later on it took

twenty-five thousand dollars of stock from Mr. Sharpies.

Q. Instead of taking it from Mr. Davis?—A. Yes, sir. When that question was
settled we had no further interest in waiting and we deposited the cheque in the

bank.

Q. Was the Federal Government aware of all these facts that you have just re-

lated to the committee ?—A. I do not know what the government had to do with that

special matter of stock, but the moment the stock was subscribed we made it known to

the goverment, that is all it required to know; and, in fact, so it was.

Q. When you gave the government the certificate to the effect that the two hun-

dred thousand dollars had been completely paid, did you make it aware that you had
an unaccepted cheque of Mr. Davis, for $94,900, as forming part of the issue ?—A.

That did not concern the government ; its conditions were that we should subscribe two
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hundred thousand dollars the moment we had paid up, from the company's stand-

point, we had met the views of the government.

Q. Then, if you had the whole stock of two hundred thousand dollars subscribed

in the same way you would have considered that^ ?—A. From the moment I had
in hand a cheque that I could deposit in the bank, that could be cashed, I would con-

sider absolutely that I was paid the amount of the stock.

Q. Do you say that that cheque had been seen from the day it was dated until

the day you banked it ?—A. If we had deposited the cheque I am firmly convinced
th,at we would have been paid on presenting it.

Q. Why did you not deposit it ?—A. For the reason that I have just given you,

that is, because the railway companies were to take stock from Davis. We were not

to deposit it before we knew whether or not the companies would take that stock; if

the Quebec Central had taken twenty-five thousand dollars of stock, Mr. Davis' cheque
would have then been for twenty-five thousand dollars less.

Q. You gave him a certificate stating that he was the bearer of the shares repre-

sented by his stock ?—A. We considered it as having been paid, the fact of having
delivered a certificate indicates that we considered (ourselves) as having been paid.

Mr. Davis owed the company sixty-five thousand dollars, and, we had held back the

certificates for the amount that he owed the company.

Q. If I remember rightly it is indicated on the stub that the shares are held as

securities ?—A. We had our certificate, we had not delivered that certificate.

Q. Was not one issued ?—A. Yes, sir, but we kept it in our possession as guar-

antee of the amount that he owed us.

Q. Then, you issued that certificate to the effect that he was the holder of these

shares and yet you kept his cheque, without presenting it at the bank, until one
thousand nine hundred and seven ?—A. Yes, sir; until the Quebec Central had sub-

scribed its amount.

Q. In your opinion, this was none of the government's business ?—A. No, sir, a

pure question of administration on the part of the company; it only concerned our
administration.

Q. Were any members, of the government aware of this ?—A. 'Not that I know.
Q. Did Mr. Fitzpatrick know of it ?—A. I do not know.

Q. Did the prime minister know of it ?—A. I cannot say; in any case if they
knew it they did not learn it from me, and I cannot answer for others.

Q. You know that Mr. Davis only withdrew that cheque after the settlement you
had made of those credits, comprising the debentures first issued by the company ?

—

A. What debentures 'i

Q. Well, it was only after you had redeemed at par the first debentures to the

amount of $47,200 that this cheque was found good, that is to say that you deposited

it in the bank ?—A. That was done after the payment of the debentures, that was
done by the Federal Government.

Q. Those debentures were paid by the Federal Government ?—A. Yes, sir; in the

amount fixed by statute, which was paid out of the debentures.

Q. What is the amount of the cheque that was drawn to pay those debentures ?

Was it included in a higher amount ?—A. In an amount of eight hundred and ninety
thousand and some dollars.

Q. Had the company control of that sum ?—A. No; it was paid by the govern-

ment to the Bank of Montreal, I think.

Q. By cheques ?—A. I don't know; it was n matt<^r belonging to the Finance
Department.

Q. Is it the government that assumes payment of all those amounts ?—A. The
amount fixed in the statute had been paid by the government.

Q. When the difficulty arose about the employment of an expert, by Mr. Schreil>er.

why did not the bridge company insist that such exi>ert be 4ipix>inted and act so that
the company might benefit by the advice of that expert, without having to pay the
cost of an investigation ?



164 SELECT COMMITTEE

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

Q. The bridge company never objected to that; on the contrary it was favourable

to the government's suggestion. I met Mr. Cooper myself, in regard to that matter,

in New York; Mr. Cooper objected entirely to Mr. Nichol being associated with him
in the construction of the bridge ; he even went so far as to say that if we insisted he
would resign his position. He even came to Canada to meet Mr. Schreiber and dis-

cuss the question ; the government had to choose between the resignation of Mr.
Cooper and the appointment of Mr. NichoL

Q. Was not Mr. Cooper aware that the government had to approve of all the plans

and specifioations ?—A. Mr. Cooper knew that perfectly well, that is why the govern-

ment, later on, had to appoint Mr. Cooper its representative.

Q. Let us ilndierstand each other; Mr. Cooper was perfectly aware that tKe gov-

ernment had reserved to itself the right to approve of the plans and specifications ?

—

A. Yes, sir, he must have known it.

Q. Why could Mr. Cooper object to the government employing the person it

desired to employ in order to assure itself of the efficacy of the plans ?—A. The
reasons given by Mr. Cooper were these: If the government appoints an expert or a

I bridge engineer, that man might probably take upon himself to do certain things or

to give instructions during the building that might clash with that which I might
myself do ; and as the affair is a large one I do not wish that anyone but myself should

interfere in the control of the entire construction. His fear was that such a man
might give instructions contrary to his own. Mr. Cooper considered at the time that

Mr. Hoare was all he needed and that the latter would not take upon himself to do
anything without consulting him.

Q. If the expert the government had decided to employ had found out the defects

in the plans that have caused the disaster, would it not have been a good thing ?—A.

Here is what might have happened : Mr. Cooper pretended that there was no man who
could go over his work and I think that was pretty much the opinion of eminent
engineers at that time; and on the other hand, if the government had appointed Mr.

Nichol, if Mr. Cooper had resigned land that the accident of the 29th August had
taken place all the same, the government would have been blamed far more for having

set Mr. Cooper aside, he who was considered the best of authorities—to take Mr.

Nichol, who was not such; the situation would then have been worse.

Q. Do you not know that the government cauld not have decided on those plans

without consulting an expert ?—^A. The fact is that there was an expert with Mr.
Cooper who was an authority.

Q. Did you repeat all this to Mr. Cooper at the time—that it was something that

could not be refused to the government?—A. Mr. Cooper knew it perfectly well,

because we had discussed the ques.tion of choosing between the resignation of Mr.
Cooper and that appointment; there was nothing else to do.

Q. Well then, let us pass over that and let me ask you this : When the govern-

ment gave way to Mr. Cooper's desires, it had, however, since the Order in Council

of the 15th August, 1905 (1903), ordained that the plans, all the plans, and all the

changes thereto, should be submitted to it before being adopted. Here is what the

Order in Council says : . . . provided the efficiency of the structure be
fully maintained up to that defined in the original specifications attached to the com-

pany's contract (Ex. 12), the new loadings proposed by the Quebec Bridge Company's
consulting engineer be accepted, &c., and that all plans be submitted to the chief

engineer, and until his approval has been given, not to be adopted for work. )Th,is

order modified the Order in Council of July 21, 1903,—From that moment, that is

from the adoption of the idea of taking the services of an expert, of Mr. Nichol, did

the government examine all the plans, specifications and changes that had been made
by Mr. Cooper in the construction of the bridge ?—A. The government, after the

arrangement of 1903, approved of the plans and specifications and depended entirely

upon Mr. Cooper for their execution.

Q. Without having examined the plans again I suppose ?—A. Well, I do not
knew whether or not Mr. Schreiber examined them several times.
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Q. Since 1903, did the Department of Railways have any plans to examine?—A.

The Department of Railways will answer that question, for my part I did not follow

that.

Q. You do not know ?—A. I cannot know what takes place in the Department of

Railways.

Q. As president of the bridge company did you not know that since the Order in

Council of the 15th August, 1903, the government had to decide on any plans ?—A.

After having accepted the plans .and specifications, as to the plans of details I think

they entirely referred to Mr. Cooper.

Q. Another point; since the disaster, did you examine, you and your co-directors,

what was the financial standing of the Quebec Bridge Company ; What is it today ?

—

A. I think that Mr. Bell submitted to you the other day figures in that connection ; we
owe the Bank of Montreal.

Q, I do not think that Mr. Bell made any examination since the disaster ?—A.

Since what disaster ?

Q. Can you tell us, yourself, if the Quebec Bridge Company is to-day able to pro-

ceed with the repairs of the bridge ?—A. Under the circumstances, considering the

accident that took place, we could not go on with the repairing, above all with the

clause of the statute of 1903, by terms of (which the* government is to take over the

bridge; it is impossible to do anything.

Q. Has your company any financial resources to-day ?—A. No, the financial

resources of the company are the amount that it put into the construction of the

bridge.

Q. That then is all the assets it has ? Is that so?—^A. We have the piers and ap-

proaches.

Q. Have you had reports from the chief engineer since the disaster ?—A. From
Mr. Cooper ?

Q. No, from Mr. Hoare.—A. A special report ?

Q. Yes, did you have any written report from Mr. Hoare ?—A. He made a report

to the company estimating the damages of the accident at $1,800,000,; that is about

all I can recall.

Q. Could the damages done there be repaired for one million eight hundred thou-

sand dollars ?—A. If we estimate the damages lat that sum I presume so, because only

a part of the work has fallen, a part that was not entirely completed; so that the

northern part is entirely intact.

Q. But if the plan is defective would not the northern part have to be altered ?

—

A. That is something the enginieens would have to decide; they would have to decide

if the part of metal at present manufactured could be used in the new construction.

Q. Has the Bridge Company any debts outside the guaranteed debentures, outside

what has been mentioned as being due the Bank of Montreal and outside of what may
be due to the Department of Customs ?—A. {The company may owe something.

Q. About how much, ?—^A. The amount cannot be great; we have a xiending

claim from the Quebec Improvement Company for right-of-way.

Q. What is the amount ?—A. It is for thirty-two acres of land we had then

taken; arbitrators were appointed; the arbitrators granted, I think, a sum of $26,000,

our arbitrator dissenting; he valuated between four and five thousand dollars, as far

as I can remember, a little more than four thousand doUai-s. We went to api^eal. we
contested the decision of the arbitrators; we had the judgment of the Superior Court,

which was against us, set aside by the Court of Appeals, which reversed tliat judg-

ment; there was an appeal to the Privy Council, which maintained the judgment of

the Court of Appeals. According to what I understand to-day the Quebec Improve-
ment Company would accept in settlement of their claim the sum of $14,000.

Q. What is this Quebec Improvement Company ? Who are the parties interested

in it ?—A. I know that the president is Sir Alphonse Pelletier; the manager is a Mr.
Stuart, as far as I '?,an remember.
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Q. Do you know the directors?—A. I do not knoiw the directors; I am told there

are five or six directors, amongst whom is J. T. Ross, and I don't know if Hon.
Senator Belcourt is not one; to say truly, I do not know the directors.

Q. Let us speak of the last debentures issued; was not all the issue made ?—A.

Yes, sir, $6,678,200.

Q. How much of that issue has been, up to the present, used in the construction

of the bridge ; does anything of it remain ?—A. All the amount is spent ; it has been

transferred to the Bank of Montreal for advances made; as the bank advanced us, I

think, 80 to 85 per cent on the debentures, some debentures should remain, an amount,
I presume, of seven to eight hlundred thousand dollars, being taken at par by. the

government; which amount has not been spent.

At one o'clock, the committee took recess.

Mr. Parentis examination resumed.

By Mr. MonJc:

Q. Mr. Parent, you last spoke of a sum of eight hundred thousand dollars, approx-

imately, that had been paid by the government, through the Bank of Montreal,

immediately after the arrangement of October, 1903; should not that amount, to be

paid by the government, have been authorized by your board of directors?—A. Quite

so ; that was the basis of the statute of 1903.

Q. It was the bridge company that had authorized that payment? It wa^ done

through the intervention of the government?—A. It had been paid by the government

with the consent of the company, and from the debentures authorized by the govern-

ment, guaranteed by the government.

Q. Why were the payments made after that by your company, and why were

those payments made by the government?—A. Because the government had all the

accounts in hand; the estimates of the engineers, the amount fixed by the statute;

instead of paying to the company, which would have been the same thing, it paid

directly to the bank.

Q. Are those the same that were audited by Mr. Bell, the Department of Railways

Auditor?—A. Mr. Bell had audited everything included from 1903.

Q. Have you the details of those payments?—A. No, sir; I have nothing myself.

Q. They are contained in Mr. Bell's audit?—A. I think so.

Q. Have you said wha^ remained of realizable debentures to-day?—A. I think

the bank being paid, there ought to remain to-day between eight hundred and nine

hundred thousand dollars in the Bank of Montreal.

Q. Did the Quebec Bridge Company receive any advances since the disaster?—A.
From the government?

Q. Out of the debentures?—A. Yes, sir; there was a special account for the cost^

of administration.

Q. How much was that account?—A. It is in the statement that was furnished

you by Mr. Ross or Mr. Bell; it is the account already produced.

Q. It is a considerable sum ; could you say into what it is divided for the costs of

administration?—A. The costs of administration consist in very little; that which Mr.
Butler has approved of so far for rent or the employees of the company is paid; now,

for some time back they have discontinued paying the salary of the secretary and of

the engineer.

Q. Is the payment of those salaries suspended?—A. It is already suspended by
the government, but not by the company; the government does not pay.

Q. Have you any understanding with the officers of the company, such as the

secretary-treasurer, or the chief engineer, regarding the salaries?—A. According to the

opinion of our advisers their time ends in the month of September next; we cannot
put them out before their time is up.
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Q. So that, according to the opinion of your advisers, the salaries of those three

employees still goes on?—A. With the company, but the government does not jjay

them.

Q. But according to you, it is a debt of the company?—A. Yes sir; especially con-

sidered as such.

Q. Are there suits taken against the Quebec Bridge Company on account of this

disaster, law suits?—A. Not to my knowledge; I did not see any of such cases before

the Board.

Q. Was the Phoenix Bridge Company sued in Quebec?—A. Yes, sir, I am told

it is sued.

Q. By several interested parties?—A. Yes, sir, by several of those interested.

Q. Have you had occasion to find out what was the amount of the suit?—A. No,
sir; I know that several actions were taken out, according to what the engineer told

me, but I do not know the amounts; moreover, the amount does not always indicate

the vaue of a claim, for often an action is taken out for $10,000 (ten thousand dollars)

that is subsequently settled for one thousand.

Q. Did the relatives of all the victims take out actions?—A. I do not think that

all took them.

Q. Can you tell about the proportion?—A. I cannot say, for that does not concern

me; the Phoenix Bridge company will settle its own affairs; the Quebec Bridge Com-
pany does not pretend to be responsible for the losses of life that took place there.

Q. But, in the case of a settlement with the government, do you not think that

these matters should be taken into consideration?—A. Well, the Quebec Bridge Com-
pany not being responsible the government has nothing to do with it.

Q. Have you an opinion from your advisers that the Quebec Bridge Company
is in no way responsible for the disaster in regard to the victims?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. You have that opinion?—A. Yes, sir. I think we have the opinion given

jointly by Hon. Mr. Casgrain, by Hon. Mr. Taschereau, and by Mr. Edward Dorion,

lawyers. The Quebec Bridge Company is not responsible for the losses of life or the

damages caused by the wounds or otherwise; it is not the employees of the Quebec
Bridge Company, but the employees of the Phoenix, and it is the latter that should be

held legally responsible for that accident, although naturally the Phoenix Bridge-

Company claims' not to be in fault. In any case the opinion of the advisers whom we-

conculted, and whom I have just named, is that the Quebec Bridge Company is not

responsible for the accident.

Q. As to assets, has the Quebec Bridge Company at present directly or indirectly,

any immovable property, apart from the approaches to the bridge ?—A. Apart from

the approaches to the bridge I know of none.

Q. There are no options on the lands?—A. Not that I know of.

Q. But you would not know it if there were any, you are the president ?—A.

Well, since I do not know of any there should not be any; all that has been said

about options, either on the floor of th,e House or elsewhere, is entirely false.

Q. Did your company place itself in communication with the disaster; did it

furnish the government information as to the affairs of the company ?—A. The com-

pany had asked the government to help it to pay the costs of administration while

awaiting the settlement of the question regarding the government, that is to say

whether it shall or not take over the bridge.

Q. Had you submitted to the government or to any one on the part of the gov-

ernment a statement of the company's affairs ?—A. The government auditor, "Nfr. Boll,

was sent each month to make an audit of the books ; he was absolutely acquainted

with the affairs of the company. Mr. Butler was obliged to examine the nceoimts to

have them paid, the government could not have been better acquainted \vii1\ thoin than

it was.

Q, Did the company appronch th,e govenuiKMit rognrdiiig what it Imd to do ou thnt

occasion ?—A, At the time we had an interviow with the prime ministor autl with
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Mr. Fielding also, in the interests of the Bridge Company to ask for additional aid;

that is the only communication we had with the government.

Q. Is there any correspondence on that subject ?—A. No ; that was done verbally.

Q. What did you ask from the government, assistance; that it should ?—A.

We desired the government to advance the cost of administration until it would de-

cide to take over the bridge from the company.

Q. What is the attitude of the Bridge Company to-day? Does the company pro-

pose to go on with that work itself ?—A. No, sir
; moreover, at the time of the arrange-

ment of 1903, by the fact that the government gave itself the right to take over the

bridge on condition of reimbursing the shareholders their stock plus ten per cent

and five per cent interest, it placed us practically beyond any possible action.

Q. Make me understand what is the attitude of the company to-day ; does it ask

the government to continue to assist it, or does it ask the government to take over, to

exercise its option?—A. The company is not to-day in a position to dictate to thei

government what it wants to have ; I think it has a well defined idea that the govern-

ment should take over the undertaking, even though the company were to ask some-

thing else, but the company does not ask it.

Q. Do you remember how many separate contracts you had with the Phxenix

Bridge Company; all the construction was not comprised in the same contract ?—A.

All the contracts are produced.

Q. From memory could you say how many contracts you made ? on/e waiS divided,

I think into three, four or five?—A. The principal contract comprises nearly all; I

think there was a small contract passed for the anchor piers, but as to the large under-

takings therle is only one contract. All the contracts were placed in the hands of the

Hoyal Commissioners; they are produced here.

Q. I find a eontract of the 12th April, 1900, with the Phoenix Bridge Company
for the superstructure, a second contract with the Phoenix Bridge Company for ap-

proaches and spans, dated 19th D(eoember, 1900, and a third contract, of the 19th

January, 1903, with the Phoenix Bridge Company as to the span of the principal arch

;

were there any other contracts apart from those three ?—A. No, sir; not that I know
of.

Q. As to Mr. Davis, does he not appear to have made a profit of forty per cent on
the debentures ?—A. Perhaps from your point ol^ view, not from' mine.

Q. Explain then your point of view; was there not a profit of forty per cent on
the dlebentures ?—A. Mr. Davis, as the contractor for the Quebec Bridge, was to be

paid in cash; we paid him eighty per cent in cash; we paid him twenty per cent that

remained of the debentures of 472,000 dollars; while the work was donie on our

account, he paid interest to the bank, while as to us the work went on without the

payment of intjerest; the debentures did not bear interest, before the completion of

the work at the end of December, 1902, so that Mr. Davis did not make forty per cent

;

you must deduct the interest that he paid the bank ; during that whil/e we owed that

amount which we did not pay.

Q. Do you mean to say that he borrowed from the bank on his debentures?—A.
Certainly from the bank which furnished him the funds; naturally he was obliged to

pay interest on the money advanced by the bank; as to us, we paid nothing.

Q. Well, that interest on a couple of hundred thousand dollars for the time that

this went on was not considerable; it is not reason for saying that he did not make
forty per cent on the value of the debentures?—A. Even if it were thirty thousand
dollars, those thirty thousand taken from the amount would not give forty per cent,

we must consider the position of the company; that which may appear an advantage
for Mr. Davis according to the arrangement of 1903 is not one ; if the government had
guaranteed the debentures, he would have taken a great risk.

Q. Did he take a risk?—A. A great risk, from my point of view, in advancing
money to a company that had nothing else than the subsidies obtained from the gov-

ernment.
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Q. According to your calculations, then, the debentures were worth nothing?—A.

I am not ready to say that the debentures were worth nothing, but they were certainly

not worth sixty cents on the dollar; for a commercial corporation; we could not have

sold them at the time, for sixty per cent, what we should consider is the market from

the company's standpoint; at that time labor was cheap, the prices submitted to us

were reasonable; all we had to do was to take the chances of obtaining good results;

that is to say, in 1908 the $472,000 on which you claim that sixty i)er cent was obtained

really only represents the amount of the work, if instead of building in 1900 we had
built in 1903, there would have been a difference, and as a matter of fact the Bridge

Company benefited by the advantageous times.

Q. When you obtained the quasi certainty, or rather the certainty, since you had
it, that the government would pay the debentures at par, was it not your duty as

business men to settle with Mr. Davis as to what you owed him, what was really due

him for the work done, instead of giving him an opportunity of making that specula-

tion?—A. If we had had the money at our disposal to do what you suggest, probably

we would have done it, but even in not doing so we considered we were making a

good bargain for the company.

Q. Is that not the reason why the government exacted of you that the discount

of forty per cent should be paid by others than by him before guaranteeing the deben-

tures?—A. When we built those piers and when we found ourselves short of money,
-we deemed it proper to make a request to the government; the question came in the

form of a guarantee of the debentures; now, I cannot say that such is the reason

for which the government exacted the payment of $200,000 in stock; it certainly was
not a reason that had been discussed with me ; but there was this : the government
wanted that the Bridge Company should subscribe a sum of $200,000, so as to interest

to a greater degree the people of Quebec who desired to go into the undertaking and
above all to have the support of the railway companies who also desired to enter into

the affair.

Q. Why did the government exact that the sum of $200,000 be employed before
the issue of bonds, to extinguish the discount, according to the t-erms of the agree-
ment?—A. I believe that the government thought well to do the thing but there
were no reasons given at the time,

Q. Finally the thing was not done?—A. It was done later on.

Q. Don't you think it would have been better, since the debentures were worth
nothing according to the directors, to have made a compromise with Mr. Davis and
to have said to him :

' the securities that you have are worth nothing, give us an option
to buy them back within a certain delay ? '—A. If you read the contract you will see
that we had a right to return our debentures to make a pool for those same debentures

;

but it was not done.

Q. Mr. Davis anyway made a profit of some one hundred and eighty odd thousand
dollars?—A. If Mr. Davis had made a contract for a lower price than the work cost
him, then, instead of making a profit, he would have had a loss.

Q. What are the interests of which you speak ?—A. The interests for the money
that he had obtained while he was doing the work for us and which we did not pay.

Q. Discounts in the bank ?—A. Certainly; the bank did not advance money to

Mr. Davis without intersst.

Q. How do you know that he was obliged to have recourse to discounts ?—A.
Because I saw the bank account at the time and it was a well known fact to all who
VTi^re dealing with Mr. McDougall.

Q. Do you know how much those interests amounted to?—A. Thoy mu^t h;nv
amounted to from twenty to thirty thousand dollars.

Q. For advances of money ?—A. Interest for advance for the Quebec bridge.

Q. Why did he do that, since he had $96,000, as you stated this morning ?— A.
I am speaking of 1902; the clv/que came in 1904; it was after that, after tlie suK-?orip-
tion of the new stock; it is not the same transaction.

G—13
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Q. Explain to me, then, that affair of interests, whj'en did the Bridge company
commence to pay interest on the debentures?—A. When Mr. Davis hlad finished the
piers, had finished the substructure of the bridge, about the month of December, 1902,
we were not paying interest; we paid no interest on the debentures of Mr. Davis from
1900 to 1902.

Q. Are you aware, Mr. Par/ent, that, after 1903, plans and specifications had been
submitted to the government for approval ?—A. After the arrangement of 1903
there were plans that had been submitted to thie government for approval and that

had been approved.

Q. Approved by the government ?—A. Yes, sir; to "conform to the statute of

1903. -

Q. If I rightly und;erstand the report of the Royal Commission, the government
after 1903 did not exercise its rights to approve the plans that it had possessed ?—A.
Well, the plans of details ?

Q. Were they submitted to the government ?—A. 'No, sir, the plans of details

were submitted to the engineer who was Mr. Cooper, in New York ; after the govern-

ment had accepted Mr. Cooper as engineer, Mr. Cooper had the conclusive control of

^ the undertaking as regards the plans, the plans of details furnished day by day; and
for those who did not know the plans of the company I might say that we had about

enough to nearly fill this room.

Q. I find by the documents that the government had decided to select another

engineer ?—A. No, sir ; there must have been an order in council by which Mr. Cooper
had been accepted by the government when Mr. Nichol had been set aside.

Q. Well, then, the order in council of the 21st July, 1903, specially authorizes

Mr. Schreiber to select a special engineer to report upon the plans and that order was
rescinded the 15th August, 1903, with the understanding that the company should con-

tinue to have control of the plans, but I find nowhtere that the government had chosen

Mr. Cooper to be the engineer ?—A. He had been chosen as engineer by the govern-

ment; I do not know the report of the commission but as a matter of fact there is no
doubt that Mr. Cooper acted for the Quebec Bridge Company at that tim'e.

Q. Then, Mr. Cooper was the Phoenix Company's engineer ?—A. No, sir. he was
the engineer of the Quebec Bridge Company, and the Phoenix Company's engineer was
Mr. Zlespka.

Q. Who put you in communication with J\lr. Cooper ; was it not the Phoenix

Bridge Company ?—A. No, sir ; we had correspondence at that time ; we got informa-

tion as to where the best engineer was; several names were given, and we decided on
Mr. Cooper as being the most competent man ; he was the best of the three that had
been suggested to us.

Q. Then your pretension in a (word is that Mr. Cooper was at the same time en-

gineer of the Quebec Bridge Company and engineer of the government ?—A. En-
gineer of the Bridge Company and engineer of the government after Mr. Nichol had
been set aside for Mr. Cooper who was tb resign if Mr. Nichol was appointed; Mr.
Cooper did not wish that an engineer whom he knew to be inferior to himself should

be associated with him when he himself took the risks.

Q. Did not the Board of Directors make some estimate of what it would require

to finish the bridge ?—A. Well, those estimates were about the same as the former
ones.

Q. Could you tell the committee what would have to be done to complete the

bridge, to make a new one, in fine to make the bridge ?—A. We cannot say that at

present, before a commission of engineers decides what is to be done; if we can use

the present piers and a part of the steel that is manufactured, the undertaking would
cost much less than if we were obliged to have new piers and a new superstructure;

there are engineers who could answer on this. If you take the present piers and a

part of the material, I still think that the bridge can be built for seven or eight mil-

lion dollars, including the approaches; if you add the losses to this—the question as'
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to the responsibility will be decided—I presume that it might go to between, nine and
ten, million dollars.

Q. If the government takes over the undertaking, according to you, according
to your interpretation, should it reimburse the Quebec government and the City of

Quebec what these two have contributed ?—A. I think the statute gives the government
the power to place them in the same position as the Federal government itself, that is

to say that they would be jointly interested in the undertaking.

Q. What statute is that ?—A. Of 1903 ; I have not seen it since that time
;
only the

government should refund to the municipality and the Province of Quebec the sub-

sidies that they voted, if they so desire; I think that the clause of the statute places

them on the same footing, if there are dividends to be drawn, or something like that.

Q. Does Mr. Cooper's salary still go on?—A. Ko, sir.

Q. He had a right to so much per year?—A. Yes, sir; when he worked for us;

but since the bridge fell down he has had nothing to do.

Q. Are you sure that he is not retained as consulting engineer at three thousand

some odd dollars?—A. I do not think that Mr. Cooper intends to put in a claim as

engineer ; he will be answerable like the contractor for the damages incurred which were

principally occasioned by his fault. When Mr. Cooper did not come to the Quebec
Bridge he often sent his associate, Mr. Berger, to replace him; the latter was also a

very able engineer.

Q. I see there is a question in clause 21 of the agreement of October, 1903, of the

settlement of the claims or of the contributions of the government and of the City of

Quebec?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Was this accepted by the government and the City of Quebec, were you mayor
of the City of Quebec at the time?—A. It was I who insisted on having that clause.

Q. According to you the city as well as the government of Quebec are bound?—A.

Yes, sir.

Q. Could not the city and the government of Quebec, if the Federal Government
were to take possession of the bridge, claim the refund of their contributions?—A.
You have the statute before you, you can find out the worth of those claims.

Q. I am asking you if that is not the true situation to-day?—A. All the rights

that the government and the City of Quebec can exercise they will exercise ; the statute

speaks for itself, you can interpret it as you please.

Q. Then there is nothing you can tell us beyond clause 21?—A. No, sir; that is

the basis of a contract; it is worth whatever it is worth.

Q. You have never found out what would be the inclinations of the Government
and of the City of Quebec if the Federal Government were to exercise its power to

take over the bridge?—A. No, sir, it is an obligation that was imposed on the Federal

Government, it would be for it to look to it.

Q. I ask you, in your capacity as president of the Bridge Company, if you can say

what would occur; would the city and the government of Quebec lay claims?—A.

When the Federal Government takes over the undertaking it will see what it can do
with these parties,

Q. It is an undecided affair?—A. I know nothing about it; I do not know the

government's intentions.

Q. iou have not found out since the disaster?—A. The governmont being- the

.judge in the matter, it is for it to decide what to do.

Q. If the government were to ask you what would become of the sum of $550,000,

the contributions of the city and government of Quebec?—A. I would tell the gov-

ernment that it would have to find out.

Q. With your experience you have no doubt tliat the refiuul would be claimed?

—A. It is more than I can say; it is a national undertaking that interests everybody;
it is quite possible, in view of the accident, that those corporations would voluntarily

desist; if I were prime minister of the province of Quebec, I would act in that way.

6—13^
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Q. If the Federal Government undertook to finish the works?—A. It must be

remembered that when those corporations subscribed to the undertaking they did so

without any expectation of reimbursement.

Q. Do you think that the shareholders, seeing that it is a national and patriotic

undertaking, would give the refund of their shares?—A. As to me, personally, if it

were a question of life or death for the bridge, I am ready to say that I would not hold

to a cent of my money; I would have no hesitation, as far as I am concerned, in

renouncing my shares, for when I went into the undertaking I did not do so for any
purpose of speculation; I did it in a philanthropic spirit, for the good of the city of

Quebec.

Q. I find that to remove the shareholders according to the agreement of 1903, it

would require tlie giving of nearly $387,500, there are $250,000 in round figures, a

bonus of 10 per cent that represents $25,000, that is to say, $387,000; this is a consid-

erable sum?—A. Well, the capital stock with the ten per cent is $2-91,500, which the

government would have to pay to the shareholders apart from the simple interest to

be added ; in return for that the government takes possession of all that belongs to

the company, that is to say of what has been put into the undertaking to the present,

^ $263,000 of stock that had been spent on the undertaking; moreover the subsidy of the

City of Quebec amounts to $290,000 net, the discount taken from the $300,000, and'

the $250,000 of the local government besides the $374,000 that the Federal Government
gave on its million; the government by the fact, would free itself of the $625,000, the

balance of its million.

Q. Since 1903 it has been exempt from paying the balance of its million?—A.

Yes, sir, by the arrangements that it had made. I should say that if to-day the piers

and the existing work could be utilized, if the piers that cost a million and a quarter

to the company you could not build for two millions, then the government would have

a benefit.

Q. It is a question of whether or not the works could be used; you heard Mr.

Holgate's evidence?—A. As to the using of all the works, the engineers will decide

later on; but assuredly in the case that those piers can be utilized you have therein

the value of two million dollars, when they only cost a million and a quarter.

Q. If things take place as we have reason to believe they will, the government,

apart from six millions and some hundred thousand dollars that it has spent will

be obliged to spend about as much more before--the undertaking is completed. Do
you think that with ordinary precautions we can have a bridge that will not cofet

much less than from twelve to fifteen millions?—A. 'No, sir; even though you were to

build the bridge anew there cannot be any question of twelve million dollars.

Q. When we were asked to vote a million dollar subsidy it was said that the

bridge would cost four million dollars?—A. I think that according to Hansard the

idea was to have a railway bridge; when the Quebec government voted its subsidy

it laid down as a special condition that it should be a bridge for carriages and foot

passengers; then the plans were subsequently amended.

Q. We have six million of dollars thiat have vanished ; and if there remain about

$600,000 in round figures on the debentures ?—A. You have the approach to the

bridge that cost a million dollars ; you have the piers and the anchorage metal that are

there, that have not disappeared; you have there, from what. I can see, at least three

millions of dollars of assets that have not disappeared.

Q. Do you think it is possible for us to complete all, to meet all the expenses

that it will demand with six millions of dollars more?—A. I think it would cost much
less than six millions.

Q. Much less?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Well, about how much; five millions do you think?—A. Naturally I am not

an engineer, but it is my inmost convisction that you can rebuild the Quebec bridge,

the bridge properly, speaking, for less than five million dollars.
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Q. At the time of the ag-reement of October, 1903, you claimed that with the

government debentures you could build the bridge; you had said that in your com-

munications with the government; now, you know, that even had that bridge not fal-

len we could not have completed it with six millions of dollars?—A. The bridge and

the approaches are two different things, I spoke of the approaches to the bridge, but

not of the bridge itself.

Q. But in the letter that was read to us in parliament, you said to the Prime
Minister in 1903, that with what the debentures guaranteed by the government would

give the bridge would be completely finished; and you know that it could not have

been finished; even apart from the accidents, it would have required a couple mil-

lion more?—A. I am not prepared to say that that is what the company exactly said;

I would need to have before me what was submitted; I do not know that that was said.

Q. At the end of a letter of the month of October, 1903, which is here, you say

that the estimated cost of the completed work is about six million nine hundred
thousand dollars?—A. That makes seven millions; it is not far from seven millions.

Q. On the contracts a good deal remains yet due, if the purchases were done in

a nominal way?—A. Not much more than the labour, for the estimates for the work
done at Phoenixville we paid for the work ; we had a man on the ground ; the govern-

ment had also a man there. The steel is nearly all ready, and if we could utilize the

piers and a part of the manufactured steel, we could build at a much lower cost. Now,
the engineer according to the prices submitted, can tell me if that can be done or not

;

according to my information, it can be done. The bridge can be built, by changing

the plane, on the present piers ; so that it would be a considerable saving if the thing

is possible.

Q. What are the monthly expenses for salaries and present rent, what is called

ctirrent expenses?—A. A trifle, in round figures about twelve hundred dollars per

month.

Q. Does that include the treasurer, the secretary, and the engineer?—A. Yes, sir,

and a typewriter.

Q. How much do you pay a month to the officials?—A. We pay the secretary on
the basis of $2,400 a year, making $200 per month; we pay the treasurer one hundred
dollars per month; that makes three hundred dollars per month; the engineer five

hundred dollars, making eight hundred dollars per month; you have after that

one hundred dollars for different expenses per month; which makes nine hundred
dollars

;
apart from the rent this is all the expenses of the compan3\

Q. How much is the rent?—A. The rent amounts to between six and seven hun-
dred dollars per year; I think we do not pay dear rent; we leased at quite a low price

from Judge Borse.

Q. Have you men hired to watch the bridge, or what remains of the bridge; are

I there no expenses caused by the disaster itself?—A. Not that I know of; we liave no
men there.

Q. You have no business there?—A. No sir; because the Phcrnix Bridge Com-
pany is responsible.

Q. Did you have any proposals from the Phoenix Company in regard to the recon-

struction of the bridge? The accident took place on the 29th, August?—A. I do not
know if that belongs to the subject of this investigation; this relates to matters sub-

sequent to 3''our motion for an inquiry. I refuse to answer, unless the conuuittce
desires it.

Q. The government is in possession of all those negotiations?

—

X. Yes. sir; we
submitted them to the government; so if the government wishes to give them to you,

it is its business.

Q. Fom the 2'7th to the 29th August in the afternoon, on the day of the accident,

did you get wind of what was taking place at the bridge—the signs of a falling?—A.
No, sir.
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Q. You knew nothing about that at all?—A. I was in Ottawa at that time; I

think there are very few people who could have foreseen that the bridge would fall on
the 29th August.

Q. Do you know that during three or four days there were communications with

Mr. Cooper and with the company, regarding cracking and shakiness that were appar-

ent?—^A. Mr. McClure has been sent down to New York to consult with Mr. Cooper;

at that time I knew nothing about it.

Q. You had not been informed of the thing?—Ai No, sir; the first news that we
received was the falling of the bridge. Mr. Bobitaille had said that he was informed
that my brother was inspector for thie Quebec Bridge Company. I may here state that

none of my brothers were ever directly or indirectly concerned with the Quebec Bridge
Company ; he never received a single cent, either directly or indirectly, from the Quebec
Bridge Company. They who said that must have been wrongly informed. If it was
said for the pleasure of making insinuations, I desire to place those people in a posi-

tion to know that no such thing ever existed for any of my brothers; and when Mr.
Kobitaille said that he certainly said what was not true. Mr. Kobitaille spoke of real

estate transactions that I had carried on; it is absolutely false; and when he spoke

of options of the Bridge Company with the Quebec Terminal Company,it was still

absolutely false. When Mr. Robitaille said that I was interested in the Quebec Ter-

minal Company, it was false; when he said that I was Prime Minister of the province

when the latter vot^d a subsidy to thie Quebec Bridge, it was still false. On the floor

of the House anything is said to calumniate, but when on oath there is not so much
said. I want the public to know what I now state. As to the accusations brought

against the Bridge Company during my presidency let them be repeated before this

committee, and I have no fear to meet my accusers.

House op Commons,
Committee Eoom No. 62,

Tuesday, July 7, 1908.

The committee met at 11 o'clock, a.m., the chairman, Mr. A. K. Maclean, pre-

siding.

Hon. W. S. Fielding^ Minister of Finance, called, and examined.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. I will just ask you at once the ques-tions that I have taken note of. Can you

give the committee, Mr. Fielding, any idea of the present financial resources of the

Quebec Bridge Company?—A. I could not, Mr. Monk, without reference to papers.

It is not a matter with which I have been very closely associated myself. I wouild

have to refer to my officials for that information.

Q. But speaking in a general way, Mr. Fielding, have you come to some con-

clusion in regard to their power to pay their liabilities?—A. I have not heard any

question raised as to their ability to pay the present liabilities, but, of course, with

the condition of the bridge, requiring a large amount of new money, I do not imagine

that the present arrangements are at all sufficient to cover what will be needed. But I

have not had my attention drawn to any question as to their ability to pay their pre-

sent indebtedness.

Q. Your attention has not been drawn to that?—A. I have not heard any com-

plaint made on that score to my knowledge.
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Q. Have you any doubt that', as things are at present, taking the present situation

as it is' to-day, the government will have to pay the entire amount of the guaranteed
bond issue?—A. Oh, I can't say that—we took the power, as you are probably aware,

Mr. Monk, to loan the company the amount of money set forth in their bond issue

and we have exercised 'that power to a certain extent. I have always assumed that

we would have to exercise it. That means that we would lend to the Bridge Company
the amount of the guaranteed bonds. Instead of their advancing it we decided that

we would finance and loan them the money. That is the way the matter now stands.

Q. But supposing their liquidation took place to-day and that the government
gave no further assistance but matters would have to follow the ordinary course, you

do not doubt that the government would have to pay these guaranteed bonds?—A.

Unquestionably.

Q. Or if anything has been advanced upon them?—A. The government must
respond to the guarantee, but as to what the position of the company may be in the

event of liquidation, that is rather a matter of opinion in v^hich I would not pres'ume

to say anything.

Q. Do you know of any resources that the company have that would pay these

advances made to them?—A. Nothing except their modest amount of stock which was
subscribed and which I presume has gone, by this time, into the general work. I know
of no other resources than the government guarantee. I have always assumed that in

one form or another the government must take the responsibility of providing for the

work.

Q. So that at the present moment the government would stand in this position:

it would have to pay all that has been advanced upon the guaranteed bond issue and
also stand to lose the amount it has paid on the subsidy of a million dollars that was
partly paid? Is not that the position?—A. We never treated the subsidy as lost. We
had paid over a portion of that subsidy and then, the other scheme of a guarantee

being adopted, the Subsidy Act was cancelled. We never treated it quite as a loss; it

was a contribution to a work of a national character. I have never heard the expres-

sion used before, that the government would have to lose the subsidy.

Q. I mean by that if we had to ascertain how much the bridge cost, say at the

present moment, we would take first the amount advanced from the subsidy, being

the first advance, I suppose ?—A. Yes.

Q. And then what has been advanced on the guaranteed bonds?—A. Yes.

Q. Can you state in a general way, Mr. Fielding, how we stand as regards pay-

ments made on that bond issue? We have guaranteed all the bonds, I think?—A. Yes.

Q. I think that is the position and they have been placed in the hands of the
Trust Company?—A. That is correct, sir.

Q. And upon these bonds, placed by the Trust Company, in the hands of the
Bank of Montreal, advances have been made to an amount of over $5,000,000, I think?
—A. That is probably correct. I am not sure as to the amount but that is the method
whereby the financing was done.

Q. It would be possible to get from your department the exact figures, I suppose?
—A. Yes.

Q. Were you acting Minister of Eailways, Mr. Fielding, when the s\ibsidy con-
tract was entered into?—A. I could not remember, Mr. Monk. I have been acting
Minister of Railways from time to time, but I could not fix the particular dates. I
would have to be assisted by a reference to the documents of the Knilway Department
to enable mc to answer that question. If the subsidy contract bears my name that
would be sufiicient evidence of it, but I have no particular recollection of it at this

time. You mean in the original subsidy?

Q. Yes?—A. As distinguished from the guarantee?
Q. Yes?—A. Yes. I do not recollect. It is possible, I would not say no to it; I

would have to look the matter up, the papers speak for themselves.
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Q. You remember that attached to that subsidy contract were the ordinary bridge

specifications used by the Government in the case of the construction of subsidized

bridges?—A. I have no recollection about it whatever, Mr. Monk. I should have to

look through the departmental records for the evidence of that.

Q. Were you acting Minister of Eailways, Mr. Fielding, when Mr. Schreiber, then

Deputy Minister of E-ailways, asked authority from the government to secure expert

)pinion before the approval of the plans of the bridge?—A. I would not like to speak

from recollection; I might have been. As I said before, I have been acting Minister

of Railways on several occasions and was frequently brought into contact with Mr.
Schreiber, but from my own recollection I would not be able to fix the dates.

Q. If the stenographer could give you a note of these matters, would it be too

much trouble for you to refresh your memory?—A. I would have to go over to the

Railway Department and select the information from the records, as I have no recol-

lection of the matter. I should think the records themselves would tell you that. All

I can do is to go and look it up. I have no memory in the matter at all.

Q. I think that you were from my perusal of the documents?—A. I would not

say no, because I have acted in the Railway Department on a number of occasions,

but I could not fix the dates.

The Chairman.—The documents would fix the dates.

Mr. Monk.—^It is difficult to examine Mr. Fielding without

Hon. Mr. Fielding.—If you wish it I will come again for examination at any time.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. Do you recollect, Mr. Fielding, that Mr. Schreiber got authority from the

Government to employ an expert in regard to the examination of the plans prepared
for the bridge on the ground that he had not the necessary expert knowledge himself?
—A. I have a general recollection that the whole matter, so far as the engineering is

concerned, was left in Mr. Schreiber's hands. I think it is quite probable that what
you describe occurred although my memory does n&t serve me. I think it ig quite

likely that it happened.

Q. It appears from the record that the Phcenix Bridge Company, through its con-

sulting engineer, Mr. Cooper, and the Bridge Company itself, objected to the employ-
ment of an expert and it was subsequently abandoned. Can you give any reason why
the government abandoned the idea of having a third party on its behalf look into

those plans after it had given its approval?-—A. No. My recollection is not very

clear as to the details of the matter and I would, in all these things, have to look to

the records to see what was done. Speaking generally, I recollect a conversation with

Mr. Schreiber. I may, or may not, have been acting Minister of Railways at the time

but I recollect discussing with Mr. Schreiber the question of the appointment of Mr.

Theodore Cooper. I remember that Mr. Schreiber took the ground that Mr. Cooper

being a man of very great eminence, there was no better man that could be obtained

and that so long as they had the assurance of a man of his high standing and reputa-

tion, the government's interests were well protected. I think that is a general recol-

lection of the conversation with Mr. Schreiber, but I do not know when, and under

what circumstances, it took place. Any matter concerning the engineering of a

bridge at any time when I was acting minister, I would leave entirely in the hands

of Mr. Schreiber and under his advice.

Mr. Galliher.—That appears in the evidence that we have before us, Mr. Monk.

Everything with reference to Mr. Cooper's attitude appears in the evidence which is

before us.

Mr. Monk.—I was not trying to elicit the witness' opinion upon that point, but

rather endeavouring to ascertain why the action was not insisted upon in spite of the

representations made by Mr. Cooper.

Hon. Mr. Fielding.—I would not be able to answer that, Mr. Monk. I was going

to say, without a study of the papers, my recollection is that whatever was done in
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the matter of the engineering was done under the advice of Mr. Schreiber, in whom
we had the utmost confidence.

Q. But you see it appears, Mr. Fielding, and I thinlc you recollect that phase of

the question, that Mr. Schreiber asked for the employment of an expert?—A. I do
not recollect it, Mr. Monl^, but yet it may have happened. This is a matter of years
ago, and I have not studied the papers. I am speaking now from a general, and not
from a clear, recollection of a thing that occurred years ago.

Q. Your answer, Mr. Fielding, that you were content to abide by the opinion of

Mr. Schreiber upon a question of that importance seemed to be contradictory inas-

much as Mr. Schreiber had asked for the employment of an expert and subsequently

it was decided not to employ one?—A. If that occurred when I was acting Minister

of Railways I would have no hesitation in saying that I never acted against Mr.

Schreiber's advice. Whatever steps were taken when I was acting minister must have

been taken with Mr. Schreiber's advice and with his full concurrence.

Mr. Galliher.—Mr. Cooper refused to act if the government put another man on.

That appears from his letter.

Mr. Monk.—Of course, he objected undoubtedly.

Hon. Mr. Fielding.—What I inferred from your question v/a& that it would seem
that Mr. Schreiber had recommended that the government should do something and
that they had decided ^o override his advice. Well, I have no recollection of any-

thing of the kind occurring. If Mr. Schreiber advised a certain proceeding, and if

at a later stage it was abandoned, I would say it must have been done with Mr.

Schreiber's knowledge and consent. But, however, again I am speaking from recollec-

tion although I think the papars must surely show that. I am quite sure that I would
not, as acting Minister of Railways, take the responsibility of overriding Mr.

Schreiber's opinion in an engineering matter. I can answer that unhesitatingly.

Q. I am led to put these questions to you because of the following, which I find

at page 20 of the Report of the Royal Commission on the collapse of the Quebeei

bridge (reads) :

' On June 2, 1903, Mr. Cooper transmitted certain amendments to the specifica-

tions attached to the subsidy contract of November 12, 1900, and gave his reasons for

the proposed changes; as under section 2 of this agreement, any amendments of plans

and specifications had to be approved by the Governor General in Council, these amend-
ments were submitted to Mr. Schreibe; for exam'nation. Mr. Schreiber, th.3 chitf engineer

of the Department of Railways and Canals, examined the amended specifications, and
communicated with the Minister of Railways and Canals on July 9, 1903. The minis-

ter reported to council on July 16, 1903, and on July 21 an order in council was passed,

embodying Mr. Schreiber's recommendations (Ex. 17). In his report Mr. Schreiber

refers to discussions between himself and Mr. Cooper, the consulting engineer of the

Quebec Bridge Company, involving certain modifications of the specification attached

to the subsidy contract; he expresses his higli regard for Mr. Coopers professional

standing, that gentleman being a man of repute and reliability. He adds: ''His

modifications' may, therefore, reasonably be considered to be in the best interests of

the work." Mr. Schreiber suggests that " the department be authorized to employ a

competent bridge engineer to examine from time to time the detailed drawings of each
part of the bridge as prepared, and to approve of or correct them as to him may seem
necessary, submitting them for final acceptance to the chief engineer of the depart-

ment of Railways and Canals."

'When a copy of the above order in council reached !Mr. Cooper, ho strenuously

objected to the appointment of an engineer as suggested by ^Ir. Schreiber. saying:
" This! puts me in the position of a subordinate, which I cannot accept." 'Mr. Cooper,

at the same time wrote to Mr. Schreiber: "I do not see ho\V such an engineer could

facilitate the progress of the work or allow me to take any responsible stops indepen-

dently of his consent." Mr. ( 'Ooper then went to Ottawa to see Mr. Schreiber, anc6

discussed the situation with him. In consequence ^[r. Schreiber made a further recom-
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mendation, and an order in council was passed August 15, 1903 (Ex. 18) which
directed that, provided the efficiency of the structure be fully maintained up to that

defined in the original specifications attached to the company's contract (Ex. 12)^ the

new loadings proposed by the Quebec Bridge Company's consulting engineer be

accepted, &c. ; and that all plans be submitted to the chief engineer, and until his

approval has been given, not to be adopted for work. This order modified the order
• in council of July 21, 1903.'

What I wish to know from you, Mr. Fielding, is, what were the reasons which led

you to depart from the original precaution you decided to take, or the government
decided to take, to employ an expert engineer to look over the plans?—A. I would
have to form my impression from what you have read. I would say it is quite evident

from that, that Mr. Schreiber modified his own recommendation and advised the

government accordingly, and that whatever was done at that later stage was done on
the advice of Mr. Schreiber as being, under all circumstances, the best that could be

done. But again I am speaking from what is suggested to me by what you have read

because I cannot recall the distinct circumstances of the case, occurring as they did
^ some years ago. May I ask you do the papers show on that particular date I wais

acting minister?

Q. Not these papers I have in hand?—A. I was acting minister for a period

during that season, but whether I was at that particular date, I am not quite clear.

However, that would make no difference because I have no doubt the government
acted upon Mr. Schreiber's advice, and if I was acting minister then I was the instru-

ment for carrying out Mr. Schreiber's views.

Q. Do you know, Mr. Eielding, if any effect was given to clause 12 in the last

contract, that is the one of the 19th October, 1903', which provided for an approval of

the plans before the guarantees were given. That is in accordance with clause 3 of

the agreement which says that all plans and specifications are to be submitted to the

government for approval?—A. My impression

Q. That was in 1903 after all these events I have just referred to?—A. My im-

pression is that the plans at that time had been approved and that any plans coming
in after that would be mere details of the agreement. I think the plans had been

approved before that. _
Q. You cannot recollect anything especially?—A. Not anything. The work had

made ponsiderable progress at that stage and.I think the plans must have been ap-

proved before that. That is a matter,of opinion rather than of knowledge or fact. I

think the plans must have been approved, to some extent certainly, before that con-

tract of 1903 was entered into.

Q. As a matter of fact when were the plans finally approved by the government?

—A. I could not answer, sir, without reference to the department's files. They will

show that ; I could not speak of it from memory.

Q. You see the way I view it, Mr. Eielding, is this: up to that date we had

undertaken to give a subsidy which was only in part given, but by that agreement we
entered into a guarantee arrangement and under clause 12 it was provided that there

must be approval of the plans before the guarantee was given. That is what leads

me to ask you if any general review of the plans was held after that agreement in

order that the government should be perfectly satisfied these plans were safe ones?

—

A. I could not speak from memory. The records of the Kailway Department would

have to show that.

Q. Had you personally, Mr. Fielding, any knowledge that Mr. Douglas, the bridge

expert of the Department of Kailways, had condemned the unit stresses?—A. I think

I hear it now for the first time, but it may possibly have occurred as between Mr.

Douglas amd Mr. Schreiber. I have no recollection of ever hearing it before. I should

think the records of the department would show the facts in all these things.

Q. There is no doubt that Mr. Douglas made a report condemning the unit

stresses. That is on file amongst the other documents produced ?~A. It may have



RE MONEYS PAID TO QUEBEC BRIDGE COMPANY 179

APPENDIX No. 6

been called to my attention. On 'what date would it be? While I was acting Minister

of Railways? I should think if it was done while I was acting minister I probably

would have heard of it. If done at another time I might never have heard of it.

Q. On July 3, 1903, Mr. Douglas made his report in writing?—A. While 1 was
acting minister

Q. In which he found fault with the unit stresses?—A. I was acting Minister of

Railways during the summer of 1903, but whether I was, on that date in July, I am
not sure. My impression is that it would be a little later, because after the resig-

nation of Mr. Blair in 1903, I took up the work temporarily as acting minister and
the date of Mr. Blair's resignation, I presume, is a matter of record.

Q. There are so many facts that it is not surprising that one should not remember
them all. This is what I find at page 41 of the Commission's report. Speaking of

Mr. Douglas' report, which I have just referred to, they say (reads)

:

' In it he advised the adoption of many of Mr. Cooper's suggestions', but criticized

the high unit stresses that were proposed, and the suggestion made in the memoran-
dum as to using the bridge for heavier rolling loads than those specified in the amend-
ments. He also advised that the Quebec Bridge Company be required to submit uew
Sjpecifications, and not merely amendments to the approved Hoare specifications.

' Mr. Douglas' opposition was evidently anticipated, as will be seen by the letter

from Mr. Hoare quoted in the evidence. On receipt of the report of July 9, 1903-, Mr.
Schreiber had to decide whether he would depend upon Mr. Cooper or upon Mr.
Douglas for technical advice, and evidently decided in favour of the former, for, as

stated in the evidence, Mr. Douglas from that time had no authoritative connection

with the undertaking.'

Would you say that you remember this?—A. No, I do not remember that incident

at all

Q. That particular report?—A. But if I was} at that moment acting Minister of

Railways I should think Mr. Schreiber would have brought it to my notice. My
impression is at that moment I v/as not acting Minister of Railways, but the dates

would have to speak for themselves. If Mr. Douglas made such a report to Mr.
Schreiber and Mr. Schreiber brought it to me I would take the advice of Mr. Schreiber

as the chief engineer; I would not presume to have an opinion of my own against him
on an engineering question.

Q. Well irrespective of whether, at that time, you were acting Minister of Rail-

ways, Mr. Fielding, I wish to know from you if you remember that incident at all,

because at the present moment it is a very important one? Mr. Douglas had con-

demned the stresses or made an unfavourable report?—A. I don't remember it at all.

Q. Now, sir, I would like to ask you what means were taken by the Department
of Finance to ascertain that the financial undertakings entered into by the Bridge

Company in its agreement of October, 1903, had been carried out? By that I mean
its undertaking contained in one of the clauses- to issue $200,000 of stock which would

have to be taken up in full and paid in cash and the proceeds employed in settling the

discount on the original bonds of the Bridge Company before this guarantee was given ?

That was a condition that had been imposed by the government?—A. I remember that

the conditions required that they should subscribe and pay up this stock. IMy rooollec-

tion iiS that they furnished a certificate of the oom^any, that tliat had Ixx^n done and
that we accepted it.

Q. You did not go beyond the certificate that had been furnished by the president

and the secretary of the Bridge Company to the efi'ect that that condition had been
fulfilled?—A. I think not.

Q. Did you hear at any time of the incident which has come out in this inquiry

of the sum of $94,900 out of that $200,000 of stock, which was reprosontod by a cheque

of Mr. Davis for that amount, which remained in the company's hands unexpended
and uncashed until 19'07?—A. I heard of that in 1907, not before.
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Q. You heard of it in 1907 ?—A. Yes, I heard of it. I can fix the time. I think

I heard of it soon after my return from Europe in the fall of last year.

Q. Did the department take any steps in consequence of that discovery at the

time ?—A. No. At the time I heard of it I understood that the cheque had been con-

verted into cash and this removed any question there might have been at an earlier

stage. The conditions of the Act in that respect had been complied with then what-

ever might be said as to the earlier proceedings.

Q. Had there been any inquiry by the government before the guaranteeing of the

bonds, any special inquiry, as to whether that condition, stipulated for in the agree-

ment of 1903, had been absolutely complied with?—^A. Nothing but the demanding,

the requiring of the certificate from the officers of the company that it had been done.

Q. Mr. Fielding, is the government responsible to the Bank of Montreal, or to

anybody else, for any amount beyond the sums that are connected with the issuing of

the guaranteed bonds? It has appeared that an advance has been made by the Bank
of Montreal to the Bridge Company for a very considerable sum. That is what leads-

me to ask that question ?—A. I think not although I do not know that I fully under-

stand what you have in your mind, Mr. Monk.

Q. Well, apart from the amounts that have been advanced by the Bank of Mont-
real to the Bridge Company upon the bonds, there is an amount of one hundred and
some thousand dollars which the Bridge Company owes the Bank of Montreal. Is the

government in any way responsible for that?—A. I do not know the particular sum,,

or what formed the particular sum. I recollect an incident though that may have had
some bearing on that. The Bank of Montreal would only advance to a certain margin
on the bonds and it was intimated to me that the company were short of money. On
my return from Europe last year—thoy needed money to pay ordinary every-day ex-

penses—and I think I said to Mr. Clouston—I am not quite sure at the moment;
whether I wrote to him or spoke to him verbally—that, of course, the running expenses

of the concern would have to be met and I hoped he would assist the company in what-

ever was necessary; but whatever was paid would have to come out of the guarantee;

we had no authority whatever to incur any obligations beyond that. The effect of my
request to Mr. Clouston was that the bank should not keep the company down to such

a small margin, but that they sheiuld iadvance more liberally within the guarantee.

Q. What I would like to know is whether there is any responsibility on the part

of the government to the bank for that advance?—A. If it is within the amount of

the guarantee, I would say yes. If it is beyond the amount of the guarantee, I would
say no. But I have always assumed that every dollar that anybody advanced under

recent conditions^ for the Quebec bridge, if it goes into the enterpise, the government

have got to see paid in one form or another.

Mr. Monk.—Probably as a matter of equity, but not as the exact amount foi*

which we are liable.

The Chairman.—There is an exhibit filed by Mr. Boss that may help you, Mr.
Monk. I think that is what you are getting at.

Hon. Mr. Fielding.—I do not think we would have any legal liability for any-

thing outside the amount of the bonds.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Would the Bank of Montreal have advanced such a large amount if it were?

—A. It is not in excess of the amount of the bonds.

Q. No, but it is outside of the bonds?—A. Well, the bank was advancing a cer-

tain peroentagei, 80 or 85, if I remember, and the eonsequence was the company were

not able to get the full value of their bonds, and I said to Mr. Clouston. I hoped he

would be a little more liberal and help them along. What I meant by that was that

they should advance them more liberally and not be exact as to the percentage. I

had no authority to incur any obligation outside of the bonds, and I certainly never

intended to. I should say that any money that was advanced by the Bank of Montreal
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in good faith and went into the work of the bridge legitimately in one form or other

—

the government should see them paid.

By Mr. Barker :

Q. You did not intend that they should advance beyond par ?—A. No.

Q. That is clear in your mind?—A. It was clear in my mind. Very little was

said about the matter further than that this necessary expense to keep the company
moving was to be met, and I hoped the bank would assist them.

Q. Within par?—A. I have never had any other intention than that it was to be

within par.

Mr. Parent.—They are still within par, too.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. Have you, Mr. Fielding, since the catastrophe, obtained any general statement

of the affairs of the Quebec Bridge Company, carefully prepared and audited under

the supervision of your department?—A. There has been considerable information

furnished, chiefly, I think, by the Railway Department. The Auditor of the Eailway

Department has been in communication with my officials and we have a general

knowledge of the affairs in that way. There has been no special audit of it in my
department. The audit has been made by an officer of the Department of Railways.

Q. Have you not some statement that would show exactly how the Quebec Bridge

Company is situated to-day?—A. I think probably there is such a statement amongst

the papers, if not in my department in the Railways Department.

Q. If it is in your department would you have any objection tO' producing it?—A.

If there are any documents in the Finance Department in relation to the matter, I

shall be happy to bring them down.

Q. Has there been any general statement sent into your department by the Que-
bec Bridge Company since the catastrophe?—A. I should have difficulty in answering
that. My officials could answer that better.

Q. If there is any such statement ?—A. I will give instructions to have it

brought down. Will you note that, Mr. Ross?
Mr. Ross.—There is none.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. The assistant accountant of the Railway Department has produced a statement
of certain accounts between the Quebec Bridge Company and the Phoenix Bridge
Company, and also between the Quebec Bridge Company and Mr. Davis but I thinlv

he only carried his inquiry back to a certain date. There are items in that statement
of a confused nature, some erroneous charges which I understand were afterwards
supposed to be oorrected. Have you gone into those diarges ?—A. No.

Q. Well, in order to ascertain the precise position of the Quebec Bridge Company
would it not, in your opinion, be necessary to have a complete statement of the
accounts between the constructing company and the Quebec Company from the begin-
ning?—A. I would hardly be able to answer that. That is a matter which would come
under the Railway Department because it relates to the making up of the estimates
and certificates which are engineering matters, the estimates being based upon certi-

flcates issued by the Railway Department, and if it be necessary, perhaps, for the
Railway Department to look into. It would not be so necessary for the Finance
Department because we take the certificates issued by the Kaihvny Department and
pay upon them.

Q. The government have ultimately to meet, perhaps, the liability of the con-
struction company, the Phoenix Bridge Company. Is it not essential for this com-
mittee, as well as the government, to know the exact slate of the account between the
Phoenix Bridge Company and the Quebec Bridge Company from the beginning?—A.
I think it is desirable.
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Q. I ask that because I requested Mr. Bell to give me a complete statement and
that gentleman said he had not gone far enough b^ack in the accounts to furnish us
with that sort of statement with regard to the substructure as well as the superstruc-

ture. I think we ought to have such a statement?—A. I do not see any objection to hav-

ing it if anything has arisen during the course of the invostigation to suggest that

there is a neeid for further inquiry.

Mt. Barker.—I am referring now, at the moment to some items which were
charged in one account erroneously and there is no information showing how that

error was corrected.

The Chairman.—What is that?

Mr. Barker.—Take the Davis item of $35,000 which was said to have been charged
by Mr. Davis to the Quebec Bridge Company and it turned out afterwards the com-
pany had paid that money themselves. I would like to see all such transactions clearly

set forth amongst the papers.

Hon. Mr. Fielding.—I would almost think the officers of the Quebec Bridge Com-
pany would be able to give the committee that information.

Mr. Barker.—Mr. Bell was sent to Quebec, as I understand, to look into these

things and I would like to see a complete statement of the accounts between these two
companies from the very beginning having regard to the factj that the country prob-

ably has to pay whether the money was owing between one or the other or whether it

was owing simply by the Quebec Company.
The Chairman.—I think Mr. Bell explained that.

Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish).—I think Mr. Bell explained that he did not go back
of the Actj of 1903 because the Act siettled the whole thing.

~ The Chairman.—Yes, it was a new transaction, I think.

Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish).—You did not think it was necessary to go back of

that.

Mr. Barker.—The question arises in this way : the country probably will have to

pay whatever is due by the Quebec Bridge Company—that is possible, at all events,

as sureties. Now, if that is so the Quebec Bridge Company will be entitled to go into

the account from the beginning. There is no precluding, and there cannot be any pre-

cluding, that at all. I want to see the whole thing set out exactly on paper, I do not

want merely a partial statement, I want to see it all set out on paper. I want the

same information with regard to the substructure,,

Hon. Mr. Fielding.—I do not know how far that may be necessary. We certainly

have no objection to a statement of whatever information is useful.

Mr. Galliher.—You want, Mr. Barker, the account made out in detail?

Mr. Barker.—^Yes. For instance, if I were a surety and called upon to pay any

money I would ask for a statement between the Quebec company and the construction

company from the beginning.

Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish).—You have it already in black and white.

Mr. Barker.—)One sees in the statement produced what are said to be results,

but we know there were erroneous assertions made. For instance, there was the sum
of $250,000 said to have been put up by Quebec as a subsidy. That is not true.

Hon. Mr. Fielding.—I understand that was not a proper description. They had

agreed to pay $250,000 in instalments and they had paid all the instalments that

were due. It was hardily a eorrect description of the transaction although in «. sense it

was right.

The Chairman.—Are you not going beyond the inquiry ? You are speaking of

what the government may do.

Mr. Barker.—I was asking the Minister of Finance whether it would not be

necessary to go into this account from the beginning if the country is liable for pay-

ment ?

Hon. Mr. Fielding.—If anything has arisen in the investigation to show that the

Bridge Company hasi obtained recognition of acoountsi which were not proper, that
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would be a, desirable thing to^ investigate, but why could not the Quebec Bridge Com-
pany give that information ? They have all the books and facts. I should think the

company would be able to give evidence of that.

]\'Ir. Barker.—We have a right to ask anybody who knows the facts. I only sug-

gest that an officer of the government who is here should lay a statement before the

committee of the accounts from the beginning.

Hon. Mr. Fielding.—Would not evidence from the bridge company be the best

and most acceptable way of doing it ?

Mr. Barker.—I do not know that it would. There is another thing: I would not

oare to accept their statement, I would like to see our own side of the question.

Hon. Mr. Fielding.—If we wanted a statement, would we not have to get it from

the bridge company's officials ?

Mr. Barker.—The Quebec Bridge Company should have a statement from the

beginning naturally. But we have a right to get it from another source if we can.

Hon. Mr. Fielding.—I should judge that the bridge company should be asked to

produce it, they are the most capable.

Mr. Barker.—An officer of the government should look into the accounts and give

us a statement from the beginmng.

Hon. Mr. Fielding.—If there was any reason to believe there was anything that

occurred before the Act of 1903 which was not fair and sttraight and square, I do not

mean to say that that should shut out inquiry ; but unless there was anything to

imply transactions of that sort I do not see the need of going back to the inception

of the thing from the beginning.

Mr. Barker.—Well, we have had placed before us a statement prepared by !Mr.

Bell containing certain datia and in that statement there are certain items disclosed

by his investigation. When we come to a certain item of $35,000—I only take that

as an instance—we are told that is an error. Now I do not see that we have got any
accounts showing how that error was rectified although it is said to have been rectified.

Hon. Mr. Fielding.—Has Mr. Bell not explained that ?

Mr. Barker.—He has said it was af terwards rectified but I want to see on paper

how that was done. If this committee is expected to look into the actual situation we
want a complete statement. We do not want, for example, any errors or supposed cases

like the erroneous recital of facts in the statement referred to.

Hon. Mr. Fielding.—Well, that is not a substantial error. It is an erroneous
description, and should not have occurred.

Mr. Barker.—There is in Mr. Davis' accounts a reference to an estimate. No.
13 I think it is, for superstructure. I have no doubt there is an explanation of it,

but on the face of the accounts I do not see why Mr. Davis, who was building the
substructure, should have anything to do with the superstructure, and yet it is there.

I think these things ought to be so put that liereafter nobody will say, ' There are

lots of things that these gentlemen did not look into.'

Hon. Mr. Fielding.—I should think the officials of the bridge company could
answer that in a moment.

Mr. Barker.—I would rather have a gentlonian like ]Mr. Bell, who is a competent
man and has been doing the work from a certain date, to give us a.statement from
the very beginning.

The Chairman.—Well, Mr. Bell can do that for us.

Mr. Barker.—I was going to suggest that he be directed to do that.

Mr. Galliiier.^—I do not think Mr. Barker wants ^[r. Bell to go hack to all the
accounts, but to deal with a certain specific item.

Mr. Barker.—No, I want him to go hack to the aceountv^ froui tlie very begin-
ning. We do not know where that may lead us as bet\v(vn ourselves auil the bridge
company.

The Chairman.—But Mr. Bell has already found in his report that the $35,000
was merely a matter of accommodation between the Quc^bee Bridge Couipauy and "Nfr.

Davis.
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Mr. Barker.—We are entitled to have that Srt out on paper and see what tlie

transaction was.

The Chairman.—We will get Mr. Bell and if he understands what you want he
can prepare the desired statement.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. This amount, over and above and outside of the bonds, of some $147,000, I

think, which the Bank of Montreal advanced to the bridge company, was there any
letter passed from you to the bank upon that question?—A. If there was any it is

on the record. I am not quite sure but the whole file is down, and if there was any
such letter—I think I did write something to Mr. Clouston on the subject, and if so

it is on the til^.

Q. Would you mind producing a copy of that letter?

Mr. Ross.—Yes, it is here.

A. I think there is some letter on the subject. (After referring to file Exhibit

No. 43) I have the explanation of th,at, Mr. Monk, now that I look at these letters.

There was work done as to which the bank was making an advance, assuming that

the certificates would be issued as usual. The matter was in that condition when the

bridge fell and everything was stopped. We declined to go any further until we
could see what was going to happen. Meantime the bank had advanced a very con-

siderable sum of money, which, from the letter of Mr. Clouston I see here I judge to

be $156,000, (which would have been covered by the engineers' certificates if the bridge

'had not fallen. It was the catastrophe of the falling of the bridge which stopped

everything and left that amount uncovered. Any balance above that was the small

expenses, the office expenses and so on, as to which I asked Mr. Clouston. I have to

get my information from Mr. Ross, who reminds me that certificates were issued just

at that time which would have more than covered this advance, but in consequence of

the falling of the bridge all action was stopped.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. The advance was intercepted?—A. The work had been done and the certi-

ficates had been issued. If no accident had happened that advance of the Bank of

Montreal would have been covered by engineers' certificates and would not have

appeared as an advance on special account at all, but as part of the ordinary advance

under the guarantee. It was the stoppage of ever^ything after the falling of the bridge

which left that account standing in that way. Then the company needed money for

current expenses and I asked Mr. Clouston to try and help them along.

Q. I suppose the bank had anticipated the certificates ?—A. The bank had anti-

cipated these oeirtificates as respects this $155,000. They did not get the certificate's

arid the bridge company wanted more money, and I requested Mr. Clouston to help

them along just to keep the thing moving. That is the explanation of that apparently.

By Mr. Monk :

Q. Is the document to which you are referring already filed ?—A. These are

papers which pre in the po>Sisesision of the committee.

Q. The position to-day is this then, Mir. Fielding .—A. May I read the follow-

ing letter which Mr. Clouston wrote to me ? (Reads) :

Bank of Montreal.
Head Office,

Montreal, 11th October, 1907.

Hon. Mr. Fielding,

Minister of Finance,

Ottawa, Ont.

Dear Sir,—We are advised by our Quebec manager that there is due his branch

hj the Quebec Bridge and Railway Company, $155,408.88, representing temporary
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advances against engineers' certificates, interest accrued, and overdraft. Please

arrange for the msnal antliarity for the amount of these advances; and our Quebec
manager also asks that you will give authority to make advances of about $1,500 per

month, which our manager says will be required for office and sundry expenses, or

furnish him with a monthly sum sufficient to cover such requirements.

Yours faithfully,

(Sgd.) E. S. OLOUSTOX,
General Manager.

On the 21st October I wrote to Mr. Clouston as follows (reads) :

—

' Dear Mr. Clouston,—Referring to your letter of the 11th instant in relation

to the affairs of the Quebec Bi'idge Company, I understood from our conversation a

short time lago that, pending the completion of arrangements for repaying to the banl?

the advances already made to the company, the bank woiuld be willing to make such

fuxther advances as might be ,njeoes&ary to meet the company's urgent obligations and

current expenses, upon your receiving from me an assurance that the bank would be

pirotected by the government as respects such further advances.

I shall be glad if you will continue to advance to the Quebec Bridge Company
such sums as may be necessary to meet its urgent obligations and cun-ent expenses,

provided, of course, that such aums are certified by the chief engineer of the govern-

ment railways as correct and proper.

We are making arrangements, under authority of the Act of last session, to make
advances to the bridge company and to take over the bonds. The advances so made to

the company will be applied to the repayment of the loan which you have made to the

company on the credit of the bonds. Any further sums which you may advance under
this letter will be included in such repayment.

Yours faithfully,

E. S. Clouston, Esq., General Manager,
Banlv of Montreal, Montreal.'

Q. So as regards the bonds, Mr. Eielding, the position to-day is this : the govern-

ment has guaranteed $6,678,200 of bonds that are not marketed but are in the hands

of the Trust Company under the agreement arrived at ?—A. Part of them have been

returned to the treasury as against advances which we have made. We have given the

company $2,000,000 and a proportionate amount of the bonds have come back to our

hands.

Q. The $2,000,000 has been paid to the Bank of Montreal ?—A. Well, we pay it

to the company through the Bank of Montreal. Our authority is to loan it to the

company, but, of course, they owed it to the Banlv of Montreal and by arrangement

we pay it to the Bank of Montreal in discharge of obligations to that amount.

Q. Are you able to say from memory how much remains due at present—— ?—A.

No.

Q. On advances made by the bank ?—A. No.

Q. Have tlie former bonds of the company, called the interim bonds, that weore

discounted, given at a discount in payment to Mr. Davis, all been i\?turneii to the

govemnieint ?—A. I do not thinlc tlie government ever had them in any form as far

as my memory goes. I do not recall the government having possessed them.
The Chairman.—They were cancelled.

Hon. Mt. FieTvDing.—These were not guaranteed bonds.
6—14

(Sgd.) W. S. FIELDING,
Minister of Finance.
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By Mr. Monk:

Q. No, they were not guaranteed bionds, but tlaeire was a stipulation in the agree-

ment of October, 1903 that the discount on these bonds was to be paid by a new sub-

scription of stock ?—^A. Yes.

Q. That is why I ask you if you had ever made inquiry as to whether those bonds
had really been redeemed ?—A. I think we must have been satisfied that they were,

but I cannot recall the method.

Q. Nov/, sir, as regards the situation which is created for us by the catastrophe,

in regard to iwhich we have to particularly inquire, has the government taken any
steps towards finding out what our responsibilities are in regard to the bridge and what
are the responsibilities of the Phoenix Bridge Company? Have the government made
any inquiries as to the situation of the Phoenix Bridge Company, what its obligations

are and what its financial strength is to fulfil those obligations ?—A. There may have
been some such inquiry on the part of the Department of Railways and Canals. I
could not answer that, the whole matter has been dealt with by them.

Q. Then, the Finance Department has taken no steps?—A. No. The inquiry

that has been made, the commission of inquiry into the cause of the disaster and
everything of that sort, of course the committee is familiar with. That was the only
inquiry made to my knowledge.

Q. Do you know to-day, Mr. Fielding, anything about the Phoenix Bridge Com-
pany and its financial strength ?—A. No. I have heard passing gossip about it, but

I have no knowledge.

Q. And the government*is not in possession of any special report on the respon-

sibilities of the parties concerned?—A. I could not answer that. The matter has not

come under my personal knowledge.

Q. The reason, Mr. Fielding, I asked that question is, that it seems to me it is

not now so much a matter under the control of the Diepartment of Railways as under
the Department of Finance. You do not take that view of it yourself?—A. Oh, I

join responsibility with my brother ministers for everything. I do not draw any
distinction in that way.

Q. But your department has not instituted any special inquiry?—A. As to the

responsibility of the Quebec Company and the Phoenix Bridge Company?
Q. And the Phoenix Bridge Company?—A. ^o, it has not.

Q. Nor any special inquiry as to the state of affairs of the Quebec Bridge Com-
pany?—A. Whatever information we have on that subject has been brought before

the committee.

Mr. Chisholm (Antigonish) .—That must be determined by the courts. How
can the Finance Department determine the liability?

Mr. Monk.—I thought the Finance Department, after the catastrophe, would have

made inquiry as to the situation of affairs.

Hon. Mr. Fielding.—Well, it does not make much difference as to the responsibi-

lity of ministers ; we all have equal responsibilities. I would have thought it a matter

belonging more to the Department of aRilways than to the Department of Finance,

but that makes no difference as to the measure of . responsibility to the public.

The Chairman.—I think that goes a little beyond our inquiry anyway. If you

open that question there will be no end to it.

Mr. Monk.—I do not think so. I think it comes directly under the reference.

Hon. Mr. Fielding.—I do not think you need debate the matter; I cannot give

you any information about it

The Chairman.—(Reading from the order of reference) ' and what measures were

adopted by the government to ensure the preparation of suitable plans of construc-

tion and the proper execution of the same.' Surely it does not come within that?

Mr. Monk.—No.
The Chairman.—(Reading) ' and what security the government at present

possesses for the sums already received by, and guarantee given to the company.'
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Mr. Monk.—That is the financial aspect.

The Chairman.—But still the financial aspect is limited as to the security

received by the government for advances.

Mr. Monk.—Well, Mr. Chairman, I suppose I would have the right to ask any

ordinary witness if he knew that the Phoenix Bridge Company was financially capable

of standing this disaster, as to whether the bridge company had any assets.

The Chairman.—Except that I am suggesting you would be opening up a new
subject which would be a very lengthy one.

Mr. Monk.—It is not a new subject.

The Chairman.—It would be an unsatisfactory way. No man here could give

any evidence except by producing the Phoenix Bridge Company themselves.

Mr. Barker.—The only point is whether the Finance Department has made
inquiry ?

Mr. Monk.—We have before us the witness who would be supposed to know most
about this matter, and I was asking him as to whether he knew anything about the

financial position of the Phoenix Bridge Company. Surely that comes under the last

part of the order of reference, to find out what security we have for the advances

already made. The bridge has fallen. Who is responsible for the accident? Prima
facie it would be the Phoenix Bridge Company. It is very interesting for us to know
if we have any security by which we can claim the execution of the obligation. The
obligation apparently devolves upon the Phoenix Bridge Company of delivering to

us a complete bridge.

Mr. Galliher.—We cannot determine that, nor can the Department of Finance.

Mr. Monk.—But asking the question is perfectly right.

Mr. Barker.—It has been answered.

The Chairman.—I sun only trying to see that we do not go too far.

By Mr. Burker :

Q. Our position is really that of sureties, and even to take the bridge over. Is

not that the substance of the contract of 1903 ?—A. It is rather a legal question as to

what oiur position is.

Q. A business question ?—A. I would not call ourselves sureties, I would not
say SO'. It might be applicable however.

Q. What should we call ourselves, guarantors ?—A. I would call ourselves guar-
antoirs.

Q. That is another word for sureties, with an option, in certain events, to take
over the property ?—A. Yes.

Q. I presume the government regard that bridge as a necessity, as part of the
great Transcontinental Railway ?—A. I think even without the Transcontinental
Railway the government and parliament had decided that bridge tliere was necessary
in the public interest.

Q. The bridge having gone, have you, or the government, considered tJic exi>e-
diency of taking this work out of the hands of the Quebec Bridge Company ?

By Mr. Gnlliher :

Q. I think now we can interpose an objection ?—A. I have no objection to answer-
ing that question. The matter is under consideration at the present time.

By Mr. Monk :

Q. But you have come to no conclusion \\\yon it ?—A. Officially none. That is

to say there has been no official action tal^en which detormines it. We may have con-
clusions in our minds.

Q. When the guarantee was endorsed I suppose that wa.s done in your depart-
ment?—A. Yes.

C—14i
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Q. At that time you, I understand, were under the impression that the $200,000

had been actually paid in ?—A. Yes.

Q. Had you been aware that it had not been paid in would you have considered

it impropeir to guarantee the bonds ?—A. It is very difficult fot a man to say what
he would have done under a certain condition but apeaking offhand I think I would
not.

Q. You would not ?—A. I would have required evidence that the cash had been
paid.

Q. Would you have considered it, as a matter of business in your department,
sufficient that a gentleman had put a cheque, unmarked by any. bank, for a consider-
able sum like $200,000, thrust into the hands of the bank, would you, as Finance
Minister, have considered that a compliance with the statute ?—A. My impression is

I would not have thought it a compliance.

Q. I would have expected you to say that ?—A. I certainly was not aware of it

at the time.

By the Chairman :

Q. You were acting on Mr. Schreiber's certificate?—A. JSTo, it was not Mr.
Schreiber's certificate, it was a certificate given by the president and secretary of the

company that this money had been actually subscribed and paid up. That was the

certificate we accepted.

By Mr. Barker :

Q. When you entered into this agreement which recites that the provincial sub-'

sidy of $250,000 had been paid, you did not knjow that, I presume, as a fact ? You
accepted that statement?—A. That was the recital in the Act of parliament?

Q. I am speaking of that ?—A. Yes.

Q. It is recited in the agreement ?—^A. But it is also recited in the Act of parlia-

ment if I remember.

Q. No agreement is recited in the Act ?—A. Yes, in that way.

Q. You accepted that statement ?—A. I was under the impression that that correctly

desctribeid the situation. I learned afterwards that^the Quebec government had under-

taken to supply that amount of money in instalments. They had supplied all they

were called upon by their agreement, but the full amount had not been paid.

Q. At the time you accepted this statemetnt as correct ?—A. Yes. They came to

us. In the general negotiations I cannot quite tell who was respomsible. I cannot

recall from whom I obtained the recital.

Q. You did not investigate the strict, literal accuracy of this statement ?—^A. I

did not. I was aware the Quebec government had made a contract, but I did not turn

to their Act to ascertain the precise form in which it was done.

Q. Did you ascertain that at that time the bridge company was entitled to receive

a bonus or whether it had been transferred to anybody ?—A. I do not remember
any special inquiry about it.

Q. Did Mr. Cooper, as consulting engineer, act for the government directly ?—A.

I would think the records would have to show that
;
my impression is that Mr. Cooper

was not first chosen by the government, but was accepted by them as the highest
authority they could get.

Q. How do you mean ? Accepted and approved of as the consulting engineer
of the Quebec Bridge Company ?—A. I would prefer that the records should show
that, my memory of the matter is that the Quebec Bridge Company nominated Mr.
Cooper and that Mr. Schreiber said there could be no better man than Mr. Cooper,
and that as the interests of the Quebec Bridge Company and of the government were
identical there was no good reason why we should not accept him.

%
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Q. So far as your knowledge goes was Mr. Cooper ever employed and paid for

his services by the government ?—A. I could not state who paid him, we were cer-

tainly aware he was being employed.

Q. So far as your knowledge goes was he ever employed by the government with

any duty to the government exclusively, and did the government ever pay him for any

services?—A. I would have to have the records to show th^it.

Q. I ask you, speaking as a matter of memory ?—A. I could not speak from
memory, the papers no doubt would show that. My recollection is that Mr. Cooper

was nominated by the Quebec Bridge Company and that Mr. Schreiber advised us

that the interests of the Quebec Bridge Company, and of the government, were identi-

cal, and that as Mr. Cooper was a man of the very highest reputation in his profes-

sion we would be qiiite safe in accepting his advice; that is my general recollection

of it.

Q. You will not, I suppose press your memory so far a.s to say that was actually

put in the words you have used ?—A. I think it was in the general discussion between

Mr. Schreiber and myself, but if the papers say otherwise the papers will give t\ii>

correct story. ,

Q. I do not say the papers show otherwise, but you put it in short terms and it

struck me that it was hardly likely to happen in exactly those terms ?—A. That is

exactly what did happen; Mr. Schreiber said that Mr. Cooper was a man of great

eminence, and as the interests of the two concerns, the Quebec Bridge Company and
the government, were identical and not adverse, therefore the nominee of the Quebec
Bridge Company, if he were ^a man of sufficient eminence, could safely be accepted
by us ; that is my memory of it, but I do not say that I am absolutely correct.

Q. But you knew, as a fact, did you not, that he was employed as consulting
engineer to the Quebec Bridge Company—A. I think I did.

Q. And Mr. Schreiber approved of him in that capacity ?—A. That is my recol-

lection, but in a matter of engineering of that character I would not charge my
memory with the details.

Q. Can you recall when Mr. Blair resigned as minister ?—A. In the summer of

1903, I could not give the date, but it would be in July or August, I think.

Q. After he resigneid, I take it that you acted as minister ?—A. Either immedia-
tely or a very short time after, I took charge of the department.

Q. And who was appointed in the place of IMr. Blair ?—A. Mr. Emmerson was
appointed some months later.

Q. He was appointed some months later ?—A. Yes.

Q. And oip till the time Mr. Emmerson was appointed I presume you continued
as acting minister ?—A. Yes.

Q. After Mr. Emmerson came in did he take full charge of everything ?—A.
Oh, yes.

Q. I mean in connection with this matter ?—A. In connection with all matters
relating to his department, not this matter particularly.

Q. Did you have any conversation with him about it ?—A. I have no special
recollection, but I may have mentioned the matter te him.

Q. You took it up where you found it when ^fr. Blair went out, and ^[r.
Emmerson took it up where he found it when he was appointed ?—A. At all events I
dropped it when M_r. Emmerson was appointed. How far he took it up—he will have
to speak for himself.

By Mr. G^lUlier :

Q. You said in i*eply to a former question you did not care to Siiy what you would
do at a certain time and under certain conditions; I am afraid I will have to put a

question directly along that line. It is in evidence here that although $200,000 was
certified to as being paid under the terms of the statute on act^ount of the new stock.
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"there was in this a cheque for a oonsidierable amount by Mr. M. P. Davis. It has

been stated in evidence here that the money for that cheque was available from the

moment that it was received; it has also been stated in evidence that the bridge com-

pany did not think it was to the best interests of the company that JMr. Davis, who
was the contractor for the substructure, should have too large a holding of stock in

the bridge company. It has also been stated in evidence that this cheque was being

held and not converted into cash on the understanding that a portion of the shares

that would go to Mr. Davis for this cheque m the ordinary way, would be taken up
by others. Further, it wa^ stated in evidence that afterwards certain shares were

taken up by others and this cheque was then reduced to the amount of $94,900, and
that it was only some months after when the cheque was eventually converted into

cash. Now, I am giving you that statement of fact conoeming the matter because

you have stated to Mr. Barker that you did not consider that as paid in cash. Had
that point come up in the first instance when the cheque was piut in and had that

explanation of the company as regards the position of Mr. Davis been given—also the

fact that at any moment the cheque could have been converted into cash—with that

explanation before you, do you still say that the company had not substantially, if not
technically, complied with the requirements of the Act ?—A. That obliges me to say

again that it is so hard for one to say what he would have idone under certain condi-

tions because he has to listen to all the reasonings that are given to him, and which
urge him to adopt a certain course. But when I first learned that cheque had not at

the time been converted into cash, in other words, that the $200,000 was not actually

paiid in cash, I was surprised, that was what was contemplated; of course I had no

explanation at the time. Biut later on reasons were given why the company took this

course ; under those circumstances I do not know what I might possibly have done.

I still think where the statute required the payment of money in cash, although these

reasonings under other circumstances might be quite proper, and while under those

circumstances there may be reasons that show the good faith of the promoters, still

where the statute requires absolute payment in cash I think I would have to hold that

that cash would have to be in the treasury.

The Chairman.—I think this is quite clear that the statute requires payment in

cash, but could you not say this is a substantial compliance with the requirements of

the statute?—A. When I hear the explanation given4)y the company there is a great

deal of force in it, and I am not saying that it was not reasonable explanation, but

I do not think it was that strict compliance with the statute which I was bound to

consider.

Q. Had you been considering it as a busirijess man, without the provisions of the

statute, it might have been all right?—A. Yes.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. Now with regard to a question by Mr. Monk respecting the appointment of

another engineer, if the government had insisted upon going on and appointing another

engineer, what would your position have been with regard to Mr. Cooper, and what

would Mr. Cooper's action have been?—A. It would appear that we had to get the

services of Mr. Cooper under those terms or not at all.

Q. So that had you insisted upon going on and appointing another engineer you

would have lost the services of Mr. Cooper who had the highest reputation as a bridge

engineer?—A. That is the impression I would draw from the passage quoted by Mr.

Monk and from what little recollection I have of the facts.

Q. Now, just one more question. In reply to Mr. Monk in reference to some

advances under the first subsidy and also under the new bonds, you say the liability

of the government would be on the basis of the two sums, but the government would

have as an. asset against that, would they not? the substructure and the approaches?

—

A. Oh yes, so much of the work as is useful for the reconstruction is a substantial

and valuable asset.

Witness retired.
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Mr. Egbert C. Douglas, called, sworn and examined.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. Mr. Douglas, I find on page 41 of the report of the Royal Commission to

investigate the bridge disaster, the following (reads) :

—

' Owing to the terms of the subsidy agreement of November 12, 1900 (Exhibit

No. 12), it was necessary to have these amendments approved by the government, and
they were accordingly transmitted to Mr. Schreiber by the Quebec Bridge Company.
Mr. Schreiber handed the papers to Mr. Douglas for report shortly after they reached

his office, and on July 9, 1903, Mr. Douglas made his report in writing (Exhibit 63).

In it he advised the adoption of many of Mr. Cooper's suggestions, but criticized the

high unit stresses that were proposed, and the suggestion made in the memorandum
as to using the bridge for heavier rolling loads than those specified in the amendments.
He also advised that the Quebec Bridge Company be required to submit new specifi-

cations, and not merely amendments to the approved Hoare sx>ecifications.'

Will you please state in language as little technical as possible what was the nature of

this condemnation, or part condemnation, which you made of the specifications ?—A.

Well the

Q. What was it you found fault with ?—A. It was the excessive unit stresses of

the compression members and the general members of the structure. I cannot say

what would be the nature of it except technically. I cannot say how it worked out.

As I understand, the commission have reported that the Hoare specifications were a

sort of copy of the Department of Railways and Canals general specifications of

bridges of 1896, it was founded on the general specifications of 1896.

Q. Have you those ordinary specifications ?—A. Yes. And since that time there

was a specification written by myself in 1889. Then there is another specification in

1891; while my report of July 9, 1903, reconunended the adoption of some of Mr.
Cooper's increases of stresses and loadings, but condemned the unit stresses of the

general members of the structure. These general specifications of the Department of

Railways and Canals were for bridges up to 500 feet span, and did not embrace bridges

of excessive span, such as the Quebec bridge. Referring to my report, taking a typical

compression member, there would be a stress of 14,100 lbs. on the square inch ordinary
load and 18,150 extraordinary load. Mr. Cooper's recommended stress was 21,000

ordinary and 24,000 extraordinary.

Q. These figures you have just given are in the oi-dinary specifications prepared
by the department for bridges whose spans do not exceed 500 feet ?—A. Yes. But
you asked me what my reconmiendations amounted to ?

Q. Yes.—A. Well, it means just as I have expressed it.

Q. You did not find that sufficient for a bridge of these dimensions?—A. No. I
showed the difference between the stresses that I recommended ami the stresses that

Cooper reoommended.

Q. I see ?—A. It is in the report there. I advised the adoption of the 1S91
specification; as we had a subsidized bridge. Of course I only lookoti at it as a sub-
sidized brildge and I had nothing to do with it afterwards. I had nothing to do with
the superstructure.

Q. Are you the engineer in charge of that branch of the departinout ?—A. I am
a hydraulic and bridg^e engineer ; I do not claim to bo a stool export.

Q. And in that capacity you are employed by the department ?—A. Yos. to suix;r-
vise the foundations, the substructure as well as the sujK'rstructuix-'.

Q. You reported, if I understand you projiorly ?—A. TTpon iho woakncsses
of Mr. Cooper's amendments.

Q. On the bearing powers of the bridge?—A. The ultimato conclusion would be
the weaknesses, but the unit stresses are the most important ihmix in a bridsro. The
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first thing in a bridge is unit stresses, secondly the general design, and thirdly the

detail. In designing a bridge you design on the unit stresses first, that is so many
pounds to the square inch. That is matter where engineers differ.

Q. Have you expressed the difference between your own appreciation of what
the unit stresses ought to have been and what you found in Mr. Cooper's amendments
to the specifications ?—A. Yes,

The Chairman.—It is already stated.

The WiTNESS.-^I have stated it in my report as well as I can explain it. That
would be as clear as I could explain it.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. Was your report acted upon?—A. No, it was not acted upon. I suppose Mr.

Schreiber consulted with Mr. Cooper and they decided not to accept my recommenda-
tions.

Q. From the time you handed in this report to Mr. Schreiber had you anything

at all to do officially with the construction of the bridge?—A. No, I had nothing to

do with the construction of the bridge. The plans would come under me for examina-

tion.

Q. The plans would come under you ?—A. They did come under me for examina-
tion. I examined them to see that they were in accordance with Mr. Cooper's speci-

fications that had been adopted.

Q. How is the government's approval of plans given, is it by the signature of the

minister on the plans?—A. No, the approval is given by the signature of the chief

engineer; he approves. In the case of subsidized bridges we don't require the details,

the general design is sent into the department. I mean to say the Department of Rail-

V7ays and Canals do not come responsible for the details because they would have to

liave a large staff to examine plans and whoever became responsible for the details of

all subsidized bridges. In the case of subsidized bridges there is a certain loading and
a certain specification and the general design is sent in and approved, but the Depart-

ment of Railways and Canals does not render itself liable for all details of a bridge.

Q. The unit stresses are considered?—A. The unit stresses, yes, and the general

design.

Q. Do you remember the date of the approval o^^the plans by the government?

—

A. The approval was not by the government. The plans were not approved by the

government but by Mr. Schreiber.

Q. Well, by Mr. Schreiber?—A. That is, I think, in the documents, I don't

remember. They were approved at various times as they came in by Mr. Schreiber.

Q. The substructure was approved by Mr. Schreiber ?—A. The substructure I

am^ responsible for. I approved of the plans and examined the substructure and was
there at repeated times during construction; but as to the superstructure of the

collapsed bridge I was never on the work.

Q. Who modified the plan based on the main span of the superstructure ?—A. The
main span?

Q. Yes?—A. I do not know.

Q. Because the plan was altered you know?—A. I do not know. That ought to

be in the evidence, I have no personal knowledge of it. I think approval was made
on the 1,600 feet span and, of course, when it was altered to the 1,800 feet span Mr.

Schreiber approved of it. I presume the government would endorse it in that way. T

do not know whether there was an order in council sanctioning the increased span,

Q. Was the plan of that span ever officially approved?—A. The 1,800 feet span?

Q. Yes?—A. I presume so.

Q. And it was approved by whom?—A. It should have been approved by Mr.
Schreiber.

Q. Did you make any special report of that 1,800 foot span?—A. No, except as

to unit stresses.
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By the Chairman:

Q. What do you mean by ' unit stress ' ? Is that the individual piece or mem-
ber?—A. No, a unit stress is the number of pounds per square inch it is considered

judicious to stress the metal, for instance 10,000 pounds per square inch should be

the unit stress in a member of a bridge in the opinion of an engineer, but another

engineer may recommend 12,500

Q. That is tension?—A. A tension or compression stress, whichever it may be,

that it what is called unit stress.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. Are you in a position to state that this accident could have been avoided

by the adoption of the unit stresses you recommend?—A. To answer that question is

a very large statement, but I think

The Chairman.—You should hardly put that question, I think, Mr. Monk.

By Mr. Monk:

Q. Would it have increased the strength of the bridge?—A. It would have

increased the strength of the various members of the trusses, I can make this general

statement that if these suggestions had been adopted it would have increased the

weight of the bridge generally.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. Would that unit stress you recommend have any bearing on the bridge?—A.
It would have increased the weight of the members 30 or 40 per cent, 35 per cent any-

way, that is my opinion, considering the error in dead load weight disclosed by the

Commission.

Q. But speaking, generally it would ?—A. Yes. I might say that the experiments
that have been made as a result of the collapse of this bridge corroborate my recom-
mendations.

Q. Experiments made since?—A. Yes, experiments made by the Phoenix Bridge
Company.

By Mr. Galliher:

Q. That is since the collapse?—A. I say that the experiments made by the Quebec
Bridge Commission at Phoenixville bear out the contention that my recommended unit
stresses were not too low.

By the Chairman:

Q, Are there any other well known bridges built where the unit stresses are any
greater than those of the Quebec Bridge that you know of?—A. The bridge—of course
this is hearsay from the newspapers—the bridge at Blackwell's Island, New York,
which is a large cantilever, is being built with an excessive unit stress.

Q. 'Excessive unit stress,' that means ?—A. Too much stress on the metal.

By Mr. Barker:

Q. 'Excess' means too much stress, not that it is too strong?—A. Yes. too inucli

stress and by the newspapers I notice that since the collajise of the Quebec Bridge,

there has been a commission of engineers inquiring into that matter and I understand
they are now reinforcing some members of the Blackwell's Island bridge.

By Mr. Qdlliher:

Q. How long has that bridge been built?—A. It is being built now. The only
other bridge that was before me at the time I made that roport. tho longest bridge in

the world of the American type of cantilever was the Monongahela bridge and ^fr.

Cooper's stresses were much in excess of the stresses on that bridge.
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By the Chairman:

Q. Mr. Cooper is a man eminent in his profession?—A. I presume so.

Q. Is it only presumption?—A. I do not know anything about it, I met him on
the substructure.

Q. Is he not a man of very high standing in his profession?—A. Yes, he was.

Q. He was looked upon as the leader of his profession, was he not?—A. Not
exactly, not among professional men; a good many others were considered better

engineers.

Q. But on bridge building, though?—A. Yes, he had a -reputation on bridge

building; I have met him several times on the substructure; of course, I never go on
reputations ; I have seen too many of them. But he had .a great reputation, there is

no doubt about that.

By Mr. Monlc:

Q. Mr. Douglas, in the position you occupy in the department, what course do

y^u follow generally with regard to bridges that are subsidized ? I mean by that, how
do they first come under your observation?—A. Take the concrete example of the

Quebec bridge. I was instructed by Mr. Schreiber and handed a subsidy agreement

—

Q. I would like you to point out the course that is generally followed?—A. Well,

this is the course generally followed: he instructed me to visit and give estimates on
the cost of the Quebec bridge, handing me a subsidy agreement (which said there

should be $1,000,000 paid as subsidy to the Quebec Bridge Company. I take that

subsidy agreement and examine the plans, .and recommend their approval by Mr.
Schreiber; then I go down upon the work and examine it as it is constructed, and
monthly I give estimates on a percentage of the subsidy according to the amount of

work done that month by the Quebec Bridge Company. My final estimate is, I sup-

pose, among the papers. In my final estimate there appears the actual cost of the

substructure and the amount of subsidy paid on it.

Q. You have just referred to the Quebec bridge; did you pursue the usual course

in regard to the superstructure?—A. No, I e:<airii]cd Ihe plans of the superstructure,

but I was not instructed to inspect it.

Q. You were not instructed to inspect it?—A. No.
Q. In the case of other bridges subsidized by the^government is it you who gene-

rally have the task of preparing the progress estimates?—A. No, except in large sub-

sidies, not with regard to the small subsidies, except in a case like the Quebec bridge.

In the case of the smaller bridges the plans for the superstructure are forwarded, and
I recommend the approval of the plan, the plans are approved and Mr. Johnston, I

presume, inspects the bridge to see if it is constructed according to the approved plan

;

I do not go down; Mr. Johnston inspects the railway work and the bridges would be

embraced in his work of examining the railway, he would examine the bridge to see

that the bridge is completed and the subsidy would be paid on his estimate. It is only

the important bridges that I have been instructed to inspect.

Q. In the case of important bridges, do you inspect them during their progress?
•—A. During progress and afterwards on completion. I mean, take the Quebec bridge,

fwe could run test engines and train loads over it, as provided for in the specifications,

before accepting it.

Q. Did you do that inspection from time to time on the Quebec bridge?—A. I

inspected the substructure; I never saw the superstructure until it fell down; I was

not instructed to inspect it.

Q. Who inspected the superstructure for the government?—A. Mr. Hoare and

his assistants, I presume.

The Chairman.—I think there is no use wasting time on this evidence, this is

already on record.
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By Mr. Barker:

Q. The question I submit is a plain one, ^ Who did inspect it for the government' ?

•—^A. I understand the evidence before the commission says that !Mr. Johnston gave
the estimates; I do not know whether it means he inspected the construction.

By Mr. Monh:

Q. It was Mr. Johnston who was specially named by the government to make the

estimate?—A. Not by the government, it was Mr. Schreiber; the Quebec Bridge Com-
pany's work, I understand, starts at Quebec city and ends at the junction with the

Intercolonial Railway; it all comes in together; Mr. Johnston was inspecting the con-

struction of the roadbed of the Quebec Bridge Company, which includes the terminals,

&c., and I understand he gave the certificates of the amount of metal that was used

in the bridge and its cost.

Q. What is Mr. Johnston's ordinary position in the department ?—A. He is the

railway inspecting engineer.

By the Chairman:

Q. How long have you been in the Department of Hallways ?—A. Too long, 37

years, a long while.

Q. You went in as a young man ?—A. At 25.

By Mr. Barker ;

Q. Were you present at any of the discussions with Mr. Schreiber about these plans

and specifications ?—^A. Mr. Cooper came to Ottawa to consult with Mr. Schreiber

Q. Were you present at the consultation?—A. No, I was not present.

Q. Had you any discussion with anybody about these specifications, and if so,

was any question, or was any weight given to the question of economy in construction,

the saving of unnecessary expense?—A. No, there was no discussion in my presence

in regard to economy.

Q. To economy of expenditure, I mean ?—A. Yes, economy of expenditure.

Q. You did not hear anything about that ?—A. No.

Q. I ask that because I see here at page 40 of the report of the Royal Conrmissiou
that Mr. Cooper in a letter to Mr. Parent suggested that he be instructed, ' To make
such modifications in the adopted competitive plan when adapted to the new lengths,

as may tend to reduce the cost without reducing the carrying capacity or the stability

of the structure,' did you hear any question of that kind discussed ?—A. I have never

heard that discussed, but my general information is that Mr. Cooper decreased the

weight of metal in what is called the floor system, which recommendation I endorsed;

he lessened the dead load.

Q. These were recommended by you ?—A. Yes, he reduced the weight of the floor

system in his amendments.

Q. I see here, on page 41 that he, that is Mr. Cooper, ' was throughout impressed

with the necesisity of making his changes without adding to the financial denuriul on
the resources of the company'?—A. I do not know anything about that at all.

Q. You did not hear about that, that there was a discussion about keeping down
the cost of the bridge ?—^A. No, sir, except that he was cori^t as far as tlie II n-r

system was concerned, it lightened the dead load and the stresses as well.

Q. Your recommenldations for altering the unit stressf^^ "oiild hn\" r.ddod t "» tl;e

cost I presume ?—A. Oh, certainly.

Q. Materially ?—A. Yes, it would have added a groat weight of nict^l.

Q. And, therefore, to the cost of the bridge ?—A. To the cost of the bridge.

Q. When the change of span was made from 1,600 to 1,800 feet. I presume thnt

change of 200 feet was a very important addition?—A. Yes.

Q. To the structure ?—A. Yes.



196 SELECT COMMITTEE

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

Q. And required very serious consideration ?—A. Very serious consideration.

Q. Especiaily with the kno^\ledge that engineers have ?—A. Of bridges of that

kind.

Q. Of the spans of such a bridge ?—A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you pass any judgment upon that at all ?—A. No, I passed no judgment
upon it.

Q. Would that have rendered more necessary than ever, your provision as to the

stresses?—A. Certainly it incraesed the size of what have been proved the weaker
members.

Q. Your recommendation as to allowing for stresses was as to the span of 1,600

feet ?—A. ^To, the 1,800 feet span. It was afterwards, in July, 1903, after the adop-

tion of the 1,800 feet span.

Q. Was any change made to your knowledge, with regard to the stresses, between
the 1,600 feet and the 1,800 feet span ?—A. I am talking generally. The 1,600 feet

span, the contract was let by the Quebec Bridge Company under the specifications pre-

pared by Mr. Hoare.
^ Q. That is the 1,600 feet ?—A. The contract was let on the 1,600 feet span. Then
it was extended, the same contract, to the 1,'800 feet span as I understand.

Q. At Mr. Cooper's suggestion?—A. That was between the Quebec Bridge Com-
pany anid Mr. Cooper. I have no personal knowledge.

Q. But it was after the extension to 1,800 feet that you made your suggestion?

—

A. That I made my ofiicial report? Yes, it was after the adoption of the 1,800 feet

span. I presume it was due to the adoption of the 1,800 feet span that Mr. Cooper
proposed his amendments.

Q. You said that the tests made afterwards had proved the accuracy of your

statements ?—A. No, I did not say that. I did not say it proved their accuracy. I

say I made recommendations and subsequent tests corroborate my recommendations

as to unit stresses.

Q. They corroborate them?—A. Well, that is a diiferent expression.

Q. They showed the necessity for greater weight?—A. The experimental tests

show that the unit stresses were excessive, and that there should have been greater

weight of metal or area of cross-section in the various members of the bridge,

especially the compressive members.

Q. That is what you mean by corroborating? I take that as confirming some-

what your opinion?—A. Somewhat.

By Mr. GalWihr:

Q. Is not the tendency of modern engineering to dispense with the heavier class

of material, that is, an unnecessarily heavy class of material in bridges?—A. The
tendency in modern bridge building in the IJnited States is lessening the dead weight

by adopting what is called high carbon steel or nickel steel.

Q. And that, as I say, does away with unnecessarily heavy structures?—A. Yes.

If there is 40 or 50 per cent of nickel steel in a bridge that is 40 or 50 per cent

stronger than the ordinary steel or steel of the quality in the Quebec bridge. It

consequently lessens the dead weight.

Q. And lessens the dead weight?—A. Lessens the dead weight and is stronger.

By the Chairman:

Q. The dead weight is the weight of the bridga itself?—A. The weight of the

steel or other materials entering into the construction of the superstructure of a

bridge.

By Mr. GalLiher:

Q. The weight of the material?—A. The weight of the material. Nickel steel

costs more.
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Q. And that is the general tendency of modern engineering?—A. That is the

general tendency. In the Bl-ackwell's bridge what are called the eye-bars, that is the

tension members, are all nickel steel. In the Manhattan suspension bridge wh^t is

called the suspension truss is some 50 per cent nickel steel, and I presume that nickel

or high carbon steel is what the Quebec bridge will be built of ultimately. A span

of 1,800 feet may be considered excessive for ordinary structural steel

Witness discharged

Mr. Monk.—I understood that Mr. Ross, of the Finance Department, was to give

us a statement as to how the account stands with the Bank of Montreal.

The Chairman.—He has done that.

Mr. Monk.—There was a statement given by Mr. Parent to the government

showing the financial position of the company. Mr. Parent told us he has furnished

one to the government.

Mr. Boss.—Since the bridge collapsed?

Mr. Parent.—I never said that. We came to the government with an applica-

tion for assistance to meet our current expenditures. That is all I said.

Mr. Monk. —I remember, but I might be mistaken, that I asked you if you gave

to the government in writing a statement of your affairs.

Mr. Parent.—Oh, no, you won't find that in my evidence.

Mr. Monk.—^We want that, of course, from the company. I thought it had been

handed into the government.
Mr. Parent.—Mr. Bell gave you the whole thing from the company's standpoint.

Mr. Ross.—Let me read you what Mr. Parent said on the subject (reads) :

' By Mr. Monh :

' Q. Can you by examination of the books tell us what the liabilities are, outside

the liabilities to the Bank of Montreal and what the assets are ?—A. There might be,

for instance, you may have claims, there may be claims against them and you would

have to take the legal form of publicly calling for all claims against the company in

order to do that.

' Q. You might include only the claims that come in?—A. And the claims for

damages, and the assets, they would not be in the books.

' The Chairman.—The isecretary of the company should give that if any one dt)c?,

Mr. Bell would not know that.

^ Mr. Parent.—They owe salaries for the last month.

The Chairman.—Is that all you owe.

^Mr. Parent.—^Yes.

Mr. Monk.—Is there no floating debt ?

' Mr. Parent.—No, and there never has been any floating.

' Mr. Barker.—What about your liability to the Phoenix Bridge Company ?'

Mr. Barker.—Have we here a complete statement of the liabilities of the bridge

company including what may possibly be owing by ihciu to the Phcenix Bridge Com-
pany ?

Mr. Ross.—Well, I have just read Mr. Parent's view of the company's possible

liabilities, including tlie liability to the Phnonix Company.

Mr. Barker.—He says that is a possible loss ?

Mr. Ross.—That is a question of law, he says.

Mr. Barker.—But still they must know what they would have to pay to the bridge

company assuming that the bridge company was in no way in fault.

The Citairaian.—That is in Mr. Parent's statomont. is it not?

Mr. Ross.—I do not know I am sure. I was going on to observe that that has no

connjection with the government's relation \o the matto:*.



198 SELECT COMMITTEE

7-8 EDWARD VII., A. 1908

Mr. Barker.—For instance, the government might not be obliged to pay all the

guarantee. It depends upon how much the Quebec Company has to pay out.

Mr. Koss.—I would assume that the government, even if there is a liability to

the Phoenix Bridge Company
Mr. Parent.-—The last estimate was not paid.

Mr. Koss.—Supposing there was a liability there, is no obligation that I know of

by which the government will have to pay that liability.

Mr. Barker.—They would have to pay it to the Quebec Company who in turn

would pay it to the Phoenix Bridge Company.
Mr. Eoss.—I do not know that they would have to pay it to the Quebec Bridge

Ciompiany.

Mr. BARKER.^Up to the amount of their guarantee.

Mr. Koss.—Oh, not necessarily. The Act of 1907 is an enabling Act under which

the government can lend to the Bridge Company if they like.

Mr. Barker.—Supposing the Bank of Montreal, for example, have made an

advance, or is in any way liable to this Phoenix Bridge Company. They have got some-

body who is responsible to them or they may have a mortgage or lien on the bridge ?

Mr. Koss.—If the Phoenix Company have a mortgage or lien it is subject to the

bonds that the government or the Bank of Montreal hold. It is no concern of the

government what the Phoenix Bridge Company may claim against the Bridge Company.
Mr. Barker.—We want to show what the obligations of the Quebec Bridge Com-

pany are ; we want to know how much they owe anybody and everybody including the

Phoenix Bridge Company. It may turn out that the Phoenix Bridge Company will

siay they are not responsible and they may want every doiUar paid to them that is due.

Mr. Koss.—And on the other hand the Quebec Bridge Company may say just the

reverse, that there is a large liability on the pa,rt of the Phoenix Bridge Company.
The Chairman.—A statement might be made of the amount due to the Phoenix

Bridge Company at the time of the collapse of the bridge.

Mr. Galliher.—That is a matter with which we have nothing to do in this inquiry.

The Chairman.—I do not think it has anything to do with the inquiry.

Mr. Monk.—I want to ask Mr. Koss a question ; I asked Mr. Fielding if his

department had taken any steps to ascertain the financial situation of the Phoenix

Bridge Company, and I would like to ask you, Mr. Koss, if your department has taken
any steps in that direction ?

Mr. Koss.—I think the record shows that Mr. Fielding stated to this comjnittee

to-day that there have been no steps taken to ascertain the present financial situation

of the Phoenix Briidge Company, since the collapse of the bridge.

Committee adjourned.
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House of Commons,
Committee Eoom No. 62,

Wednesday, July 8, 1908,

The committee met at 3 o'clock pm., the chairman, Mr. A. K. Maclean, presiding.

The Chairman.—With reference to certain questions which were asked of Hon.
Mr. Fielding yesterday, I have received a letter from Mr. Eoss, of the Finance
Department, containing the following statement:

—

' I find on inquiry from the Department of Railways that Mr. Fielding was
appointed acting Minister of Railways on the 21st of July, 1903, and continued acting

minister of the department until the appointment of Mr. Emmerson on January 15,

1904.'

Mr. G. A. Bell, recalled and examined.

By the Chairman:

Q. There were certain matters referred to at the last sitting of the committee

concerning which Mr. Barker desired some further explanation?—A. I think I can

give the committee an explanation in connection with the item of $65,000 which I

think will satisfy them. I have already furnished an explanation in connection vrith

this item, but I will repeat it if you so desire. The $65,000 which is spoken of as

being over-paid is made up of two amounts, an over-payment of $30,000 and $35,000.

Now, the $30,000 over-payment was in connection with the Quebec government sub-

sidy. The Quebec government granted a subsidy in aid of the bridge of $250,000,

and that was to be paid in annual instalments of $30,000. After that subsidy was
granted the bridge company assigned to Mr. M. P. Davis, who was then the only con-

tractor on the work, being ths contractor for the substructure, all tlicir subsidies,

including this $250,000, and it was treated as if Mr. Davis had received $250,000 in

cash. Now, when they made this settlement, which appe^ars in the Act as $250,000

cash paid up in full, because at that time, as far as they were concerned, it had been

paid

Q. Mr. Davis accepted it ?—A. He accepted it and he knew he was only proinff to

receive it in instalments. But when this legislation of 1003 came up it was decided to

wipe this off and pay Mr. Davis the balance that was owing on the subsidy. He was

to assign bnck the subsidy and the balance that was due was to l>e paid him. That

was done. Now when the payment was made to ^Afr, Davis he should liave innnediatoly

assigned the balance to the Bridge Couipnny but there was some little delay and in

the meantime the payment of $30,000 became due and was paid to. him. As a result

he was overpaid $30,000. The other amount of $35,000 was on a note. There had

been accommodation notes floating between Mr. Davis and the ooni]iany and at the

time the settlement was made of his account the Bridge Company had drawn on him
for $35,000 and he had accepted it and in his books they wore debitoil witli $.^.'>.000.

When he rendered his account it was tak(Mi out of his hooks. That was in«dud«>l in

the settlement and he was paid $35,000, but wIumi iho uote came due the Bridtre Com-
pany met the note themselves as tliey had alw:iys ilone. Ho would aotvpt and noto debit

them in his books but they would not mod \hc uot*^ when it became duo. That made
$65,000. Mr. Davis had a contract nmning on tlio m^i-troaches and as is always done,

or usually done, progress estimates were givi n. As bis progress estimates bf^cnme due
10 per cent was retained as drawback. Now liis (Irawback reached in .\njru9t. IJKMJ.

—
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that was the last estimate that was made out—$73,000, or would have been $73,000,

but some time before that the company decided to make an advance to Mr. Davis on
account of drawback of $65,000. Instead of paying him the $65,000 in cash a cross

entry was made and the $65,000 which he owed them was placed against it, therefore,

bringing Mr. Davis' drawback down $65,000. One offset the other. Instead of the

Bridge Company owing a drawback of $73,000 odd, they owed $65,000 less than that

and that settled it. It was just a cross-entry, not a cash transaction. If the $65,000

had not been owing he would have received an advance of that amount in cash on
account of drawback out of bond account.

By Mr. Monk :

Q. V/as there a receipt given, is there a voucher for that ?—A. Yes, by the

engineers on the works, as is u.sual]y done. It is a common thing during the progress

of a work for the engineer to report that the work has advanced to a certain stage

and that a certain amount may be advanced on account of drawback. The directors

in this case acted upon it and they made the cross-entry.

Q. Did you see any resolution of the Board of Directors of the Bridge Com.pany ?

—A. Yes, I saw the entries in connection with it. I saw Mr. Hoare's certificate to

tjhe president and directors authorizing the payment of the $65,000 of drawback.

By the Chairman :

Q. There was a statement filed hj Mr. Hoss' the other day showing the amount
due the bank of Montreal. There was a credit taken of $2,000,000 in the amount.

How was that worked out, why is it put in that shape ?—A, As a credit ?

Q. Yes, the statement says ' less $2,000,000 repaid by the company under chapter

35 of the Act of 1907.' What does that mean ?—A. To all intents and purposes this

$2,000,000 was paid to the Bank of Montreal but the transaction took place as between

the Finance Department and the bridge company. That is the Finance Department
turned over the $2,000,000 to the Bridge Company. They paid off their debt, with it

and received back a proportion of the guaranteed bonds which they handed over to the

governm.ent as security for this loan of $2,000,000. This they were authorized to do

under the Act of last session. There was only a balance on the 30th April, 1908, of

$3,773,000. The debt of the Bridge Company to the Bank of Montreal was just

reduced by that amount of $2,000,000, leaving a balance of $3,773,223 due. It is

clearly set out in my report how the $65,000 was dealt with. I thought Mr. Barker

understood that.

By Mr. Monh :

Q. Was there a receipt given by Mr. Davis ?—A. Yes.

Q. You saw that ?—A. Yes, Mr. Davis acknowledged the receipt of the money.

The Chairmax.—Is there anything else that you desire to bring forward, Mr.

Monk, so that we can close up the evidence?

Mr. Monk.—I have no more witnesses that I would like to see summoned except

one. Mr. Barker wanted to know the last amount claimed by the Phoenix Bridge

Company. Mr. Bell could give that.

The Witness.—The last estimate returned on account of the Phosnix Bridge

Company was estimate No. 36, to 31st July, 1907, $3,376,450.09. Would you like the

payments and balance?

Mr. Monk.—Yes. •

The Witness.—The total payments to the 31st July, that is the total payments

to date in fact, were $3,061,372.81, leaving a balance of $215,077.28. I see a note here

* No estimate has been returned for work done and material delivered during August/

You see the bridge fell about the end of August, although there was a great deal of

material delivered and their estimate probably for that month would liav/? been

$50,000 or $60,000.
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Q. Can you tell us how much they would have been entitled to receive had they

finished the work ?—A. That is an engineering question.

The Chairman.—Mr. Parent can give you an idea better than anybody else. If

the bridge had been completed, Mr. Parent, how much would have been payable.

Mr. Monk.—A million 'i

Mr. Parent.—Oh no. It would have been half a million of dollars. The steel

was paid for all the time.

Mr. Monk.—As it arrived 'i

Mr. Parent.—As it arrived. In that estimate there we have got th.2 steel manu-
factured at the Phasnix Bridge Company's shops.

•The Cuairman.—Now, Mr. Monk what is it you v/ish to say ?

Mr. Monk.—There is one more witness I would like to examine and I would
suggest that he be summoned for Monday. The testimony of that witness will be

short and I think on Monday we can consider the report so as to be able to put it in

on Tuesday.

The Chairman.—We cannot let it go until Monday otherwise the House will

closie before we get the printing done. We have not yet decided what exhibits will go

in and there are a great number of them.

Mr. Galliher.—Who is your witness ?

Mr. Monk.—A man named Bechard. He used to be book-keeper for the Quebec
Bridge Company. He was employed by the company for a time and when the final

settlement took place and the payment of SSOOjOOO, I think, was made to the company
or to Mr. Davis, he made all the entries. He was asked to fix up the books in such a

way that these entries would go in properly. I would like to examine him.

Mr. Parent.—The man you want is ISTarcisse Bechard, I Imow him, but he cannot

give any information in reference to the matter, we could not get any information

from him ourselves that we have not already got.

Mr. Monk.—I am informed that he can give us valuable information and I

would like to have him summoned.
The Chairman.—^Well, we will summon him by telegraph to apiDear to-morrow.

Mr. Monk.—I wish also to file for the information of the committe? an appendix
to the sessional papers of the session held in Quebec in 1896. Vol. 1, containing a

very interesting report on the Quebec Bridge by C. E. Gauvin, and also a condensa-
tion of the report received from Sir Edward Sorrel, Mr. L. L. Light, Mr. E. A. Hoare.
and the Eiffel Company.

Mr. Parent.—That is about the location of the bridge, it does not refer to the

question before the committee at all.

The Chairman.—There i^ no objoetion to Mr. l^.fonk using these reports in the
House without being put in as exhibits here; I do not think that they arc pertinent
to the matter before the coimiiittee, and therefoi-e tliey should not be put upon the
record.

Committee adjourned.
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